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APPLICATION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL 

 Under Rule 7.205, Defendants-Appellants MorningLightMountain, LLC (“MLM”) 

Michael Goode (jointly, “Defendants”) petition the Court for leave to appeal from an order 

denying summary disposition on controlling questions of law.  

JURISDICTION 

The Court has appellate jurisdiction to grant applications for interlocutory appeals that 

are filed within 21 days after entry of the order to be appealed. MCR 7.203(B)(1); MCR 

7.205(A)(1). Defendants seek an interlocutory appeal from an order denying summary 

disposition (“SDO”), which the trial court entered on April 4, 2019. (SDO at 1 (APPX. 1a); 

Register of Actions (APPX. 18a).) This Application was timely filed 21 days later on April 25, 

2019. 

 
QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

1. This is a defamation action. Summary disposition is “an essential tool” in 

defamation actions to protect against “forbidden intrusions into the field of free expression.” 

Kevorkian v. American Med. Ass’n, 237 Mich. App. 1, 5 (1999). Should the Court grant leave to 

correct the errors of law in the SDO, as alleged in this Application, to protect Defendants’ 

First Amendment interests? 

2. If the Court grants leave and reverses the SDO, should the Court remand for 

entry of an order of dismissal with prejudice because further amendment would be futile? 
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ALLEGATIONS OF ERROR 

Scottsdale has sued MLM and Goode for an allegedly libelous statement posted at 

goodetrades.com, a blog reporting on news about penny-stock trading. The challenged 

statement—“If you have followed penny stocks and pump and dumps for a few years then you 

know Scottsdale Capital Advisors” (the “Statement”)—appears in an article titled “FINRA 

fines Scottsdale Capital Advisors $1.5 million” (the “Article”).  

To adequately plead a claim for defamation, a libel plaintiff must prove that the 

defendant: (1) made a false statement of fact, (2) that was defamatory, (3) which was “of and 

concerning” the plaintiff, (4) in the form of an unprivileged publication to a third party, (5) 

with a level of fault amounting to at least negligence on the part of the publisher, and (6) 

damages. Northland Wheels Roller Skating Ctr. v. Detroit Free Press, 213 Mich. App. 317, 323 

(1995). Defendants moved to dismiss the Third Amended Complaint under Rule 2.116(C)(8) 

because it failed to adequately plead several elements of a defamation claim. The trial court 

erroneously denied the motion for the following reasons: 

1. Failed to Apply Heightened Scrutiny to the Third Amended Complaint. A 

heightened pleading standard applies to defamation claims. Rouch v. Enquirer & News (After 

Remand) (“Rouch II”), 440 Mich. 238, 272–27 (1992) (Riley, J. concurring) (opining on what 

the C8 standard should be in a C10 case); Royal Palace Homes, Inc. v. Channel 7 of Detroit, Inc., 

197 Mich. App. 48, 52–53 (1992) (adopting Justice Riley’s concurrence for C8 cases). The trial 

court declined to apply the heightened standard, erroneously believing that it applies only in 

public-figure defamation actions despite Defendants providing caselaw showing that it also 

applies to private-figure claims. 

2. Failed to Consider the Statement in Context. A C8 motion is reviewed on the 

pleadings. MCR 2.116(G)(5) (review of a (C)(8) motion is limited to the pleadings). By court 

rule, the pleadings include both the complaint and the answer. MCR 2.110(A). Records attached 

to a pleading are part of the pleading for all purposes. Slater v. Ann Arbor Pub. Sch. Bd. of Educ., 

250 Mich. App. 419, 427 (2002). The trial court declined to consider the entire Article, which 
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Defendants attached to their Answer. Thus, it failed to consider the Statement in full context, 

as required under Sanders v. Evening News Association, 313 Mich. 334, 340 (1946), and Croton v. 

Gillis, 104 Mich. App. 104, 108 (1981). 

3. Failed to Address Rhetorical Hyperbole Argument. A viable defamation 

claim requires a provably false statement of “actual, objectively verifiable facts.” Milkovich v. 

Lorain Journal Co., 497 U.S. 1, 17–22 (1990). Nonfactual hyperbole is not provably false. The 

Statement hyperbole that isn’t provably false as a matter of law. The trial court failed to 

address this argument. 

4. Failed to Apply the Substantial-Truth Doctrine. Substantial truth is an 

absolute defense to a defamation claim. Collins v. Detroit Free Press, 245 Mich. App. 27, 33 

(2001). The article in which the Statement appears is based upon a decision from the Financial 

Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA Decision”), which recounts how Scottsdale 

facilitated pump-and-dump schemes in the penny stock market through culpable nonfeasance. 

Although the trial court had previously ruled that the challenged statement was substantially 

true, it incorrectly permitted an amended complaint that did not cure this defect by pleading 

material falsity. 

Although the Statement is neither false nor defamatory on its face, Scottsdale also 

alleges that the Statement is defamatory by implication. Scottsdale argues that the Statement 

implicitly accuses it of criminal behavior.  A court must, however, read the challenged 

statement in context, fairly and reasonably construing the entire article to determine whether 

the challenged statement is libelous. Sanders, 313 Mich. at 340; Croton, 104 Mich. App. at 108. 

A libel defendant “is not responsible for every defamatory implication a reader might draw 

from … true facts, absent evidence that [the defendant] intended the defamatory implication.” 

Royal Palace Homes, 197 Mich. App at 56. The Complaint does not plead a factual basis for 

Scottsdale’s alleged implication. Nor does it plead sufficient facts that, if proved, would show 

that Defendants intended that implication. And, in any event, the alleged implication is 

substantially true. The trial court failed to address these arguments. 
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5. Failed to Apply the Fair-Comment Privilege. Defendants invoked Michigan’s 

common law fair-comment privilege. This privilege can be overcome only by pleading and 

proving actual malice. Dadd v. Mount Hope Church, 486 Mich. 857 n.1 (2010) (quoting Van Vliet 

v. Vander Naald, 290 Mich. 365, 371 (1939)). Scottsdale has not pleaded facts that, if proved, 

would establish that Defendants knew the Statement was false or entertained serious doubts 

about the truth of the publication. The trial court failed to address Defendants’ argument that 

Scottsdale had failed to adequately plead an unprivileged publication to a third party. 

6. Erroneously Held that Scottsdale Adequately Pleaded Fault. Fault must be 

specifically pleaded in a defamation action. To adequately plead fault, a plaintiff must identify 

the level of fault that applies to the claim and allege facts that would establish that level of fault 

if proved. Rouch II, 440 Mich. at 279; Gonyea v. Motor Parts Fed. Credit Union, 192 Mich. App. 

74, 76–77 (1991). There are two levels of fault: negligence and actual malice. Ibid. The 

negligence standard applies in cases involving private figures; the actual-malice standard 

applies in cases involving public officials, public figures, and limited-purpose public figures. 

Ibid. Scottsdale alleges that it is a private figure and that MLM and Goode are the direct and 

proximate cause of its damages, (Third Am. Compl. ¶ 29 (APPX. 804a)), so it impliedly pleads 

the level of fault to be negligence. Negligence is defined as the failure to use the care that an 

ordinary person would use under the circumstances. MICH. CIV. J. INSTR. 10.02. Thus, in 

order to meet the heightened pleading standard, Scottsdale must allege what a reasonably 

careful reporter and reasonably careful publisher would have done under the circumstances, 

Michigan Microtech, Inc. v. Federated Publ’ns, Inc., 187 Mich. App. 178, 186 (1991), and then 

plead facts that, if proved, would show that Defendants failed to do those things, from the 

perspective of the “reasonable audience.” Air Wis. Airlines Corp. v. Hoeper, 71 U.S. 237, 246–

251 (2014). The trial court erroneously held that the Complaint satisfies these requirements. 
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GROUNDS FOR APPEAL 

 This is a defamation action. It implicates core First Amendment principles. Scottsdale, 

a regulated securities broker, has sued MLM and Goode for unfavorable press coverage of a 

steep fine that the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”) imposed against 

Scottsdale. Scottsdale has aggressively sued those who deigned to cover the story.  See, e.g., 

Scottsdale Cap. Advisors Corp. v. S&P Global, Inc., Civ. No. 18-1105 (D. Ariz. 2018) 

(defamation case dismissed by stipulation); Scottsdale Cap. Advisors Corp. v. The Deal, LLC, 

887 F.3d 17 (CA1 2018) (defamation case dismissed for lack of jurisdiction). Scottsdale even 

sued FINRA to stop its disciplinary proceeding. Scottsdale Cap. Advisors Corp. v. FINRA, 844 

F.3d 414 (CA4 2016) (injunctive action dismissed for lack of jurisdiction).  

The present lawsuit is about one thing: shutting down free speech. It is known as a 

“strategic lawsuit against public participation” or “SLAPP suit.” It is brought with the intent 

to censor the speaker’s message because it is unwanted, not because it is false or defamatory.  

The First Amendment no more allows a “litigation veto” than it does a “heckler’s 

veto.” The Court is particularly protective of First Amendment interests in libel cases lodged 

against the media. It has long favored early summary disposition to protect free-speech 

principles, and has repeatedly emphasized that early summary disposition is an “essential 

tool” for vindicating First Amendment rights. The Court grants interlocutory appeals to avoid 

the chilling effect on free speech that accompanies litigation. See e.g., Thomas M. Cooley Law 

Sch. v. Doe 1, 300 Mich. App. 245, 268 (2013) (on appeal by leave, this Court reversed a trial 

court’s order in a defamation case involving a private-figure plaintiff for several reasons, 

including the trial court’s erroneous conclusion that “defamatory statements per se were not 

entitled to First Amendment protections”); Levitt v. Digital First Media, No. 330946, 2017 

WL 2152729, at *4 (Mich. Ct. App. May 16, 2017) (on appeal by leave, this Court reversed a 

lower court’s order in a defamation case involving a private-figure plaintiff because “the sting 

of the article’s headline would not have a different effect on a reader than the literal truth.”). 

The SDO involves controlling questions of law on matters implicating the First 

Amendment. The trial court declined to apply heightened scrutiny when reviewing the 

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:12 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:12 PM



– xii – 
 

 

pleadings. It held that heightened scrutiny does not apply in libel cases involving private-figure 

plaintiffs, even though Defendants supplied multiple private-figure cases applying such 

scrutiny. At the same time, however, the trial court expressed openness to appellate guidance 

on this issue. (Motion Hr’g Tr. 32:24–34:12 (APPX. 50a–52a).)  

Challenged statements must also be viewed in light of the full article. Sanders, 313 

Mich. at 340; Croton, 104 Mich. App. at 108. Defendants supplied the entire article with their 

Answer, and relied upon the article in support of their motion. Although Rule 2.116(G)(5) 

requires C8 motions to be reviewed on the “pleadings,” a defined term that includes an 

Answer under Rule 2.110(A)(5), the court declined to review it. Applying a lower level of 

scrutiny to an incomplete version of the article precluded a proper assessment of Defendants’ 

motion, which is critical to protecting First Amendment interests. 

In addition, the court declined to decide whether the challenged statement is 

nonactionable rhetorical hyperbole; whether Scottsdale has pleaded a claim that, as alleged, 

cannot be proved false by any form of admissible evidence; or whether the Third Amended 

Complaint pleads around the fair-comment privilege. If the statement is not actionable 

hyperbole, not provably false, or privileged, there is no justification for allowing a “litigation 

veto” to proceed unabated. 

Moreover, the trial court erroneously held that the challenged statement is capable of 

defamatory meaning by implication. Although Michigan recognizes claims for defamation by 

implication, our courts do not permit libel plaintiffs to squelch true speech by manufacturing 

an actionable “implication” that is not fairly supported by the article. See Royal Palace Homes, 

197 Mich. App at 56; Nehls v. Hillsdale Coll., 178 F. Supp. 2d 771, 779 (ED Mich. 2001), aff’d 

65 Fed. Appx. 984 (CA6 2003) (citing Michigan law). Yet that is what the SDO permits here. 

Finally, even in private-figure actions,1 a plaintiff must plead facts that, if proved, 

would show that the Defendants intended the implication alleged. See Argument, Part IV.B, 

                                                 
1  Defendants dispute Scottsdale’s allegation that it is a private figure. Facts that would 

establish Scottsdale is a public figure are not pleaded in the Third Amended Complaint, so the 
time is not yet ripe for Defendants to seek summary disposition on the public-figure question. 
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infra. The Third Amended Complaint is devoid of any alleged facts on this intent question. 

Nor are there any reasonable inferences that can be drawn from the pleaded facts that satisfy 

the pleading requirement.  

Resolving these questions now would not only materially advance the timely and 

ultimate termination of this lawsuit, but it would also protect First Amendment interests that 

could not be adequately protected if Defendants must wait until an appeal of right (if one ever 

becomes necessary). Unlike the mine-run interlocutory appeal, where pleas to avoid the high 

cost of litigation are unpersuasive, the high cost of litigation in this case constitutes an injury to 

free-speech interests. Forcing a person to finance litigation to defend the exercise of their First 

Amendment rights chills speech—not only for the defendant, but for all of society. It leads to 

self-censoring to avoid the steep financial losses attendant to protracted litigation. The Court 

should grant leave to protect against the corrosive effect of litigation on First Amendment 

liberties. 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This case arises from the publication of an online article at goodetrades.com, a blog 

reporting on news about penny-stock trading.2 Scottsdale alleges that Goode wrote and MLM 

published the Article, which contains the challenged Statement: “If you have followed penny 

stocks and pump and dumps for a few years then you know Scottsdale Capital Advisors.” 

(APPX. 823a.) 

The Penny Stock Market 

 A “penny stock” is a security issued by a small company that trades at less than $5.00 

per share.3 Also known as “microcap stocks,” penny stocks are issued by companies, many of 

which do not file financial reports with the U.S. Securities & Exchange Commission.4 The 

SEC describes these securities as “among the most risky,” suffering from a scarcity of 

publicly-available information that allows “fraudsters [to] easily spread false information about 

microcap companies, making profits while creating losses for unsuspecting investors.”5 They 

are very speculative investments, and Congress has tightly regulated broker-dealers who 

facilitate penny-stock trading under the Exchange Act.6 

 One fraud particularly affecting penny stocks is the classic pump-and-dump scheme. 

The scheme involves touting a company’s stock through false and misleading statements to 

the marketplace to ignite a buying frenzy that “pumps” the price of a stock (usually a penny 

                                                 
2  This isn’t Scottsdale’s first lawsuit against a publisher for reporting on Scottsdale’s 

public discipline. See, e.g., Scottsdale Cap. Advisors Corp. v. S&P Global, Inc., Civ. No. 18-1105 
(D. Ariz. 2018) (defamation case dismissed by stipulation); Scottsdale Cap. Advisors Corp. v. 
The Deal, LLC, 887 F.3d 17 (CA1 2018) (defamation case dismissed for lack of jurisdiction). 
SCA even sued FINRA to stop its disciplinary proceeding. Scottsdale Cap. Advisors Corp. v. 
FINRA, 844 F.3d 414 (CA4 2016) (injunctive action dismissed for lack of jurisdiction). 

3  U.S. Secs. & Exch. Comm’n (“SEC”), Penny Stock Rules (May 9, 2013) (“PENNY 

STOCK RULES”) (available at http://bit.ly/SEC-Penny-Stock-Rules). 
4  SEC, Microcap Stock: A Guide for Investors, Introduction (Sept. 13, 2013) (available 

at http://bit.ly/SEC-Microcap-Guide). 
5  Ibid. 
6  PENNY STOCK RULES, supra at n.3. 
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stock). The hucksters then sell (or “dump”) their stocks at the “pumped” up price, realizing a 

handsome profit. Once they dump their shares and stop hyping the stock, the price falls and 

investors lose their money.7 

The Biozoom Scheme 

 Defendants’ report on news about the penny stock market, about including pump-and-

dump schemes affecting the market. One of the schemes they reported on involved the 

Biozoom stock. Entertainment Art, Inc., a company that sold leather handbags, abruptly 

announced in April 2013 that it was changing its name to Biozoom and was becoming a 

biomedical technology company.  

 Scottsdale is a broker dealer that facilitated penny-stock trading and claims to be one of 

the dominant companies in the microcap securities market for handling more than $125 

million worth of trades in 2015 alone.8 Scottsdale accepted the new Biozoom stocks for deposit 

and facilitated their trading in the microcap market. 

 From March–June 2013, at least eight people opened accounts with broker-dealers and 

deposited millions of shares of Biozoom stock. They falsely claimed that they had recently 

purchased the stock from Entertainment Art’s original shareholders and that the stock could 

be freely traded.9 After pumping the stock, the fraudsters dumped (i.e., sold) 14 million shares 

in three months. They netted almost $34 million, of which about $17 million was wired to 

overseas bank accounts.10 Eventually, the stock collapsed. 

 In July 2013, the SEC brought an enforcement action, U.S. Securities & Exchange 

Comm’n v. Tavella, to recover the ill-gotten gains and make swindled investors whole. Many of 

the trading accounts frozen through the SEC’s enforcement action were held at Scottsdale.11 

                                                 
7  SEC, “Pump-and-Dumps” and Market Manipulations (Jun. 25, 2013) (available at 

http://bit.ly/SEC-Pump-and-Dumps). 
8  Third Am. Compl. at 3, ¶ 11. (APPX. 801a). 
9  SEC v. Tavella, No. 13-4609 (SDNY), Compl. ¶¶ 3–5 (Jul. 3, 2013) (APPX. 832a–833a). 
10  Id. at 2–3, ¶¶ 6–7. 
11  Tavella, Stip. Order Granting Prelim. Inj., Asset Freeze, and Other Relief (R. 16, Jul. 
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Indeed, since the filing of this lawsuit, the SEC has entered an order sanctioning Scottsdale’s 

representative for facilitating the sale of 8.2 million Biozoom shares that generated $18.5 

million in gains—just over half the shares and half the gains—for the fraudsters.12 The 

representative’s offense was “fail[ing] to conduct a searching inquiry into facts surrounding 

the proposed sales” of unregistered Biozoom stock, despite the presence of “significant red 

flags.”13 

 Among other things, it was this same kind of failure to conduct searching inquiries that 

resulted in FINRA taking disciplinary action against Scottsdale. FINRA imposed a $1.5 

million fine against Scottsdale for “institutionaliz[ing] misconduct as its standard way of doing 

business,” among other aggravating factors.14 Part of the institutionalized misconduct included 

Scottsdale’s failure to revise its procedures to focus on potential sham transactions after 

botching its gatekeeping role in the Biozoom pump-and-dump scheme that led to the SEC’s 

enforcement action. 

 The statement that Scottsdale claims is libelous is contained within the Article, which 

was published after the Biozoom fraud. The Article includes extensive quotations from 

FINRA’s enforcement decision. It also includes a link to the decision.  

The statement at issue in this case does nothing more than correctly note that penny 

stocks were illegally traded through Scottsdale brokerage accounts. Despite the accuracy of the 

statement, Scottsdale has sued MLM and Goode because it objects to the “juxtaposition” of 

the Article’s headline in conjunction with the challenged statement. 

                                                                                                                                                         
16, 2013); Final J. Defs. Graciarena & Loureyro (R. 67, Dec. 8, 2014); Final Default J. against 
Tavella [and Others] (R. 69, Jan. 9, 2015). 

12  In re Timothy C. Scarpino, SEC No. 3-18483, Order Instituting Admin. and Cease-and-
Desist Proceedings, Making Findings, Imposing Remedial Sanctions, and a Cease-and-Desist 
Order (May 15, 2018). 

13  Id. at 2, Part III, Summary. 
14  Amended Extended Hr’g Panel Decision 105 at Part IV.A(1)(d), FINRA Dep’t of 

Enforcement v. Scottsdale Cap. Advisors Corp., No. 2014041724601 (Jun. 20, 2017) (the 
“FINRA Decision”) (APPX. 973a). 
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PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

 After Scottsdale filed its Original Complaint, but before serving it upon Defendants, 

Scottsdale filed its First Amended Complaint as a matter of right.15 The First Amended 

Complaint asserted a claim for defamation, alleging four libelous statements, and a claim for 

false light.16 On Defendants’ motion, the trial court dismissed the First Amended Complaint.17 

It correctly held that a corporation cannot maintain a false-light claim under Michigan, and 

that three of the four statements—including the Statement at issue on appeal—were 

inadequately pleaded.18 The trial court incorrectly held, however, that one of the statements 

was adequately pleaded under the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur. The trial court granted 

Scottsdale leave to amend its pleading to save the other statements, if Scottsdale felt it could 

do so. Defendants moved for reconsideration, explaining that the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur 

cannot apply in defamation actions because negligence cannot be presumed in defamation 

cases—a plaintiff must plead facts that, if proved, show that the defendant acted with actual 

malice or negligence.19 The Court declined to reconsider its ruling.20 

 Thereafter, Scottsdale filed a Second Amended Complaint, which tried to resurrect 

only one of the three dismissed statements.21 In other words, Scottsdale’s defamation claim 

shrank from four statements to two. One of the two statements is the Statement at issue on 

appeal. On Defendant’s motion, the trial court dismissed the Second Amended Complaint.22 

It agreed that: (1) its earlier res ipsa ruling was incorrect; and (2) the Second Amended 

Complaint failed to adequately plead fault as to either statement.23 The trial court granted 

                                                 
15  Register of Actions at 1 (APPX. 16a). 

16  First Am. Compl. ¶¶ 11–33 (APPX. 56a–60a). 
17  Memorandum Order Dismissing First Am. Compl. at 9–10 (APPX. 14a–15a). 
18  Ibid. 
19  Defendants’ Mot. for Reconsid. at 6–7 (APPX. 514a–515a). 
20  Order Denying Mot. for Reconsid. (APPX. 3a–4a). 
21  Second Am. Compl. (Nov. 13, 2018) (APPX. 575a). 
22  Order Dismissing Second Am. Compl. (Dec. 14, 2018) (APPX. 2a). 
23  See ibid.  
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Scottsdale leave to amend its complaint because Scottsdale had relied upon the earlier res ipsa 

ruling when crafting the Second Amended Complaint.24 

Scottsdale then filed its Third Amended Complaint, which asserted a claim for 

defamation based on just one statement: the Statement at issue on appeal. In other words, 

Scottsdale’s defamation claim has now shrunk from four statements to one. Defendants filed 

an Answer and a motion for summary disposition under C8.25 The motion argued that the 

Complaint failed to adequately plead a claim for defamation because the Statement is 

nonactionable hyperbole, substantially true, not defamatory, and protected under Michigan’s 

fair-comment privilege.26 Defendants also argued that the Third Amended Complaint failed to 

specifically plead fault.27 After Scottsdale filed its opposition brief and Defendants filed their 

reply, the trial court heard oral argument on the motion. The trial court denied Defendants’ 

motion in an oral ruling from the bench. Immediately thereafter, the trial court granted 

Defendants’ oral motion for a stay of proceedings pending appeal. The parties submitted a 

proposed order, which the trial court entered on April 4, 2019. This timely application for 

interlocutory review of the ruling followed.  

                                                 
24  Ibid. 
25  Register of Actions at 1 (APPX. 16a). 

26  Defendants’ Third Mot. Summ. Dispo. at 8–17 (Nov. 15, 2018) (APPX. 1000a–1009a). 
27  Id. at 17–18 (APPX. 1009a–1010a). 
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STANDARD OF REVIEW 

As with all appeals from summary disposition, the Court’s review is plenary. Associated 

Builders & Contractors v. Wilbur, 472 Mich. 117, 123 (2005). 

GOVERNING STANDARD 

Under MCR 2.116(C)(8), courts must dismiss a claim where the allegations on the face 

of the pleadings fail to state a claim recognized at law, such that no factual development could 

possibly justify recovery. Singerman v. Municipal Serv. Bureau, 455 Mich. 135, 139 (1997); Wade 

v. Michigan Dep’t of Corrections, 439 Mich. 158, 162–63 (1992). 

THE STATEMENT 

 “If you have followed penny stocks and pump and dumps for a few years then you 

know Scottsdale Capital Advisors.”28 

ARGUMENT 

Scottsdale has failed to meet the basic pleading standards for its defamation claim. The 

trial court erred: (1) in failing to apply the applicable heightened pleading standard to the 

defamation claim; (2) in failing to consider both the Complaint and Answer and all exhibits 

attached thereto when ruling on the motion to dismiss; and (3) in finding Scottsdale’s Third 

Amended Complaint to be adequately pleaded. 

 “When First Amendment freedoms are involved, this Court’s role takes on added 

importance.” Ireland v. Edwards, 230 Mich App 607, 613 (1998). An interlocutory appeal is 

necessary to vindicate MLM and Goode’s First Amendment rights against “forbidden 

intrusion into the field of free expression.” Id.29 “In recognition of the constitutional privilege 

                                                 
28  Third Am. Compl. ¶ 13 (Jan. 11, 2019) (APPX. 801a). 
29  See e.g., Thomas M. Cooley Law Sch. v. Doe 1, 300 Mich. App. 245, 268, 833 N.W.2d 331 

(2013) (on an appeal by leave, this Court reversed  a lower court’s order in a defamation case 
involving a private-figure plaintiff for several reasons including the lower court’s error in 
concluding that “defamatory statements per se were not entitled to First Amendment 
protections.”); Levitt v. Digital First Media, No. 330946, 2017 WL 2152729, at *4 (Mich. Ct. 
App. May 16, 2017) (on an appeal by leave, this Court reversed a lower court’s order in a 
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of free expression secured by the First and Fourteenth Amendments, the courts in libel actions 

have recognized the need for affording summary relief to defendants in order to avoid the 

‘chilling effect’ on freedom of speech and press.” Id. at n.4. “Summary judgment is [therefore] 

an integral part of the constitutional protection afforded defendants in actions such as this.” 

Id. MLM and Goode accordingly urge the Court to accept this case for expedited interlocutory 

review to guard not only their interests, but also “society’s interest in free expression.” Id. at 

613.  

I. SPECIAL PLEADING STANDARD: The trial court failed to apply the 
heightened First Amendment pleading standard that applies in all libel actions. 

In defamation actions, courts have a special, heightened duty to review the sufficiency 

of the allegations before them because of the constitutional implications for free speech. Bose 

Corp v. Consumers Union, 466 U.S. 485, 511 (1984). Michigan courts have taken this duty 

seriously, long ago adopting an Iqbal-like pleading standard that requires plaintiffs to 

specifically plead: (1) the defamatory words and the facts that would establish the words are 

false; (2) the facts identifying the publication of those words to a third party; (3) the level of 

fault that must be proved and the facts that would establish that the speaker acted with that 

level of fault; and (4) the harm suffered by the publication. Gonyea v. Motor Parts Fed. Credit 

Union, 192 Mich. App. 74, 76–77 (1991). Accord Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662 (2009) (federal 

plaintiffs must “plausibly” plead claims through specific factual allegations). Pleading specific 

facts is a “relatively simple requirement,” and defendants are entitled to summary disposition 

under C8 “on this ground alone” when plaintiffs fail to follow it. Rouch v. Enquirer & News 

(After Remand), 440 Mich. 238, 279 (1992) (“Rouch II”) (Riley, J., concurring).  

Defamation claims are subject to this heightened scrutiny, regardless of whether the 

plaintiff is a public figure or a private figure. Heightened scrutiny allows courts to resolve 

several questions of law on the pleadings, including whether a statement is capable of being 

                                                                                                                                                         
defamation case involving a private-figure plaintiff because “the sting of the article’s headline 
would not have a different effect on a reader than the literal truth.”). 
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defamatory; the nature of the speaker and the level of constitutional protections afforded to 

the statement; and whether actual malice exists, if the plaintiff is required to show that level of 

fault. Thomas M. Cooley Law Sch. v. Doe 1, 300 Mich. App. 245, 342 (2013). 

Scottsdale argues that the heightened scrutiny standard only applies in cases involving 

public figures, emphasizing that it has cast itself as a private figure in the Third Amended 

Complaint. This is incorrect. In Rouch II, a private-figure case reviewed on appeal from a C10 

ruling, Justice Riley opined that the pleadings in a defamation case should also be reviewed 

with the same kind of heightened scrutiny when challenged under C8. This Court long ago 

adopted Justice Riley’s concurrence for C8 appeals in private-figure cases. See, e.g., Royal 

Palace Homes, Inc. v. Channel 7 of Det., Inc, 197 Mich. App. 48, 52–53 (1992); Trost v. Buckstop 

Lure Co., Inc., 249 Mich. App. 580, 587 n.2 (2002). 

 Despite controlling caselaw applying Rouch II to private figure cases, the trial court 

refused to apply the required heightened scrutiny. In a ruling that conflated two separate and 

distinct concepts—heightened scrutiny of a complaint to protect a defendant’s First Amendment 

interests on one hand and the plaintiff’s duty to adequately plead the element of fault on the 

other—the trial court declined to review the pleadings under the heightened standard: 

[T]he Court has made a ruling with regard to whether there’s a 
heightened standard relating to this particular Plaintiff and the 
Court is standing by its earlier ruling that Plaintiff does not 
have to establish actual malice in the publication of this 
particular article and actually this particular phrase which is the 
only thing left in terms of an action. 

(Motion Hr’g Trans. 30:11-16 (Mar. 26, 2019) (APPX. 48a). Compare with Order on First Mot. 

Summ. Dispo. 3–5 (Oct. 4, 2018) (APPX. 8a–10a).) Thus, the trial court failed to properly 

examine Defendant’s motion.  

When subjecting Scottsdale’s defamation claim to the required heightened scrutiny, 

the claim fails. Scottsdale has not pleaded specific facts that support its defamation claim. For 

the reasons argued in Parts III, IV, and VI, infra, the Third Amended Complaint—like the first 
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three complaints—is filled with general allegations that are simply insufficient to satisfy the 

Iqbal-like pleading standard that applies.  

II. FULL ARTICLE NOT CONSIDERED: The trial court failed to consider the 
full Article, which is required under Michigan law to fully assess the context of 
the Statement. 

A court must read the challenged statement in context, fairly and reasonably 

construing the entire article to determine whether the challenged statement is libelous. 

Sanders v. Evening News Ass’n, 313 Mich. 334, 340 (1946); Croton v. Gillis, 104 Mich. App. 104, 

108 (1981). A statement “does not become actionable merely because it could be taken out of 

context.” Nehls v. Hillsdale Coll., 178 F. Supp. 2d 771, 779 (ED Mich. 2001), aff’d 65 Fed. 

Appx. 984 (CA6 2003) (citing Michigan law). 

A C8 motion is reviewed on the “pleadings.” MCR 2.116(G)(5) (review of a C8 motion 

is limited to the “pleadings”). By court rule, the pleadings include both the complaint and the 

answer. MCR 2.110(A). Records attached to a pleading are part of the pleading for all purposes. 

Slater v. Ann Arbor Pub. Sch. Bd. of Educ., 250 Mich. App. 419, 427 (2002). Thus, the trial court 

was required under both Sanders and Croton and under Rule 2.116(G)(5) to consider the entire 

Article when assessing the merits of Defendants’ motion. 

The entire Article includes the FINRA Decision and all of the other linked references in 

the Article. Scottsdale argued that the FINRA Decision is not part of the Article, citing Nucor 

Corp. v. Prudential Equity Gp., 659 S.E.2d 483, 485 (N.C. App. 2008), and Mandel v. O’Connor, 

99 S.W.3d 33, 37 (Mo. App. 2003), for the proposition that defamatory meaning is judged by the 

content within the “four corners of the publication.” Defendants do not quarrel with that 

statement of the law conceptually, but the four corners of a publication includes documents 

attached to the publication, Service Employees Int’l Union Local 5 v. Professional Janitorial Serv. of 

Houston, Inc., 415 S.W.3d 387, 402–403 (Tex. App. 2013), just like attachments to a complaint 

are part of the complaint, cf. Slater, 250 Mich. App. at 427. Neither Nucor Corp. nor Mandel 

involved online publications or publications with attachments. Links embedded in online 
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articles are the functional equivalent of attachments. See Adelson v. Harris, 973 F. Supp. 2d 467 

(SDNY 2013), aff’d 876 F.3d 413 (CA2 2017); Adelson v. Harris, 402 P.2d 665 (Nev. 2017) (so 

holding in response to a certified question from the federal court). Scottsdale can’t complain 

that the Article omits relevant information about the FINRA Decision, but then ignore that the 

Article provides the audience with a link to the decision—the digital equivalent of turning to a 

motion’s index of exhibits, finding the right exhibit number, and then flipping to the correct tab.  

The trial court declined to consider the FINRA Decision. (Motion Hr’g Tr. at 30:25–

31:6 (APPX. 48a–49a)). It is unclear whether the trial court rejected Adelson or failed to 

consider the FINRA Report under Sanders, Croton, and Rule 2.116(G)(5). Ibid. Either way, it 

failed to analyze the Statement in the context of the entire Article. It therefore failed to 

properly examine Defendant’s motion, for the reasons argued in Part V, infra. 

III. NOT PROVABLY FALSE: The trial court should have dismissed the 
defamation claim because the Statement is not provably false. 

 To be actionable, the Statement must be provably false. Ireland, 230 Mich. App. at 636 

(citing Milkovich v. Lorain Journal Co., 497 U.S. 1, 17–22 (1990)). In other words, the 

statement must state “actual, objectively verifiable facts.” Milkovich, 497 U.S. at 17–21. 

Nonfactual hyperbole is not provably false. As noted in Part IV.B, infra, Scottsdale has been 

connected to at least two pump-and-dump schemes in the years preceding publication of the 

Article. The Statement thus amounts to “everyone knows” about the connection, which is 

classic rhetorical hyperbole that is not actionable. Komarov v. Advance Magazine Publ’rs, Inc., 

691 N.Y.S.2d 298, 301–302 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 1999) (holding that a statement that plaintiff was as 

“well known” in the community as the notorious mobster John Gotti was rhetorical hyperbole 

that cannot be proven false and therefore not actionable). See also Hogan v. Winder, 762 F.3d 

1096, 1107–1108 (CA10 2014) (accusing someone of blackmail for threatening to sue a former 

employer was not actionable because, in context, it was nonactionable hyperbole); Fasi v. 

Gannett Co., 930 F. Supp. 1403 (D Haw. 1995) (“Frank ‘the Extortionist’ Fasi is at it again” 

was hyperbole, not a true accusation of criminal activity); Haberstroh v. Crain Publ’ns, Inc., 189 
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Ill. App. 3d 267 (1989) (saying a professor was on an “acid trip” was not an accusation of 

illegal drug use); McGilvray v. Springett, 68 Ill. App. 275 (1896) (statement that the plaintiff 

had stolen money from the town treasury “and everybody knows it” was not slanderous; 

bystanders understood this was not an accusation of larceny, but allegedly overbilling the town 

for services). 

 Scottsdale cannot objectively prove that those who followed penny stock pump-and-

dump schemes did not know of Scottsdale. It says that it could do so through a poll, (Third Am. 

Compl. ¶ 15 (APPX. 802a)), but we do not try cases by polling the community. Trials are not 

gameshows where people “text their vote” to the jury. The absence of any legal mechanism to 

conduct and admit such a poll into evidence only underscores that this is Komarov-style 

hyperbole, not a provable statement of fact.  

Scottsdale suggested at oral argument that it could offer expert testimony or a focus 

group. No amount of specialized skill or training can establish community knowledge (i.e., what 

is in the minds of a community) under Rule 702 of the Rules of Evidence; “mindreading” 

wouldn’t pass muster under Daubert. A focus group is just another name for a poll. (See Motion 

Hr’g Tr. 13:11–18; 18:16–19:9 (APPX. 31a, 36a–37a).) 

The trial court erroneously stated that this evidence-based line of argument is best 

raised in a C10 motion. (Motion Hr’g Tr. at 30:25–31:6 (APPX. 48a–49a).) Defendants 

respectfully disagree. Dismissal under C8 is appropriate when no factual development could 

possibly justify recovery. Maiden v. Rozwood, 461 Mich. 109, 119 (1999). Scottsdale has not 

proffered any method by which it could acquire and introduce admissible evidence on the 

question of community knowledge. Having failed to do so, a dismissal under C8 is proper. 

IV. SUBSTANTIALLY TRUE: Even if the Court were to conclude that the 
Statement is a statement of fact, the trial court should still have dismissed the 
defamation claim because the Statement is not materially false. 

A. As written, the Statement is not materially false. 

As it did in the First Amended Complaint, Scottsdale argues in the Third Amended 

Complaint that the Statement is false because it has “never been involved in any ‘pump and 
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dump’ schemes, has never been a defendant in any ‘pump and dump’ lawsuits, and has never 

been convicted of engaging in ‘pump and dump’ activity.” (Compare First Am. Compl. ¶ 15 

(APPX. 57a–58a) with Third Am. Compl. ¶ 15 (APPX. 802a).) Yet, on its face, the Statement 

doesn’t accuse Scottsdale of any of these things. The trial court agreed that the Statement 

doesn’t accuse Scottsdale of any of these things when it dismissed this Statement from the 

First Amended Complaint. (Order on First Mot. Summ. Dispo. at 7 (APPX. 12a).)Yet the trial 

court has now inexplicably allowed the Statement to proceed without Scottsdale curing the 

error. (See Motion Hr’g Tr. 29:18–31:18 (APPX. 47a–49a).) This was erroneous. 

B. The implication Scottsdale draws from the Statement is not reasonable; 
even so, it is substantially true. 

 Scottsdale alleges that the juxtaposition of the headline “FINRA fines Scottsdale 

Capital Advisors $1.5 million” against the Statement implies that FINRA fined Scottsdale for 

affirmatively participating in a criminal act: the pump and dump of penny stocks. (Third Am. 

Compl. ¶ 14 (APPX. 801a).) Thus, Scottsdale alleges the existence of a defamatory meaning by 

implication. 

 In a lengthy and strongly worded opinion in Locricchio v. Evening News Association, 438 

Mich. 84 (1991), the Michigan Supreme Court placed severe restrictions on “libel by 

implication.” Relying on Sanders v. Evening News Association, 313 Mich. 334 (1946), the Court 

held that, under Michigan law, “imposing liability on a media defendant for facts it publishes 

accurately and without material factual omissions about public affairs” is prohibited. 

Locricchio, 434 Mich. at 117. Noting that defamation by implication was not so “analytically 

distinct” as to “require a departure from the guiding principles of general libel and First 

Amendment libel law,” id. at 132, the Court emphasized the “severe constitutional” burden of 

proving falsity that a plaintiff must carry. Id. at 122. Locricchio renders it extremely difficult, if 

not practically impossible, to advance a defamation by implication claim under Michigan law. 

This is as it should be. The falsity requirement should be construed and applied in a manner 

that assures literally true speech is not punished. 
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 Courts look with extreme skepticism upon any theory that threatens to soften the 

requirement that a libel plaintiff plead and prove a specific false statement of fact. Emphasizing 

the principles articulated Locricchio, this Court has held that a libel defendant” is not 

responsible for every defamatory implication a reader might draw from his report of true facts, 

absent evidence that he intended the defamatory implication.” Royal Palace Homes, 197 Mich. 

App. at 56. A statement “does not become actionable merely because it could be taken out of 

context.” Nehls, 178 F. Supp. 2d at 779. There are no facts pleaded in the Third Amended 

Complaint that, if proven, would establish that Defendants intended to imply that Scottsdale 

was affirmatively committing pump-and-dump schemes, as opposed to serving as the means by 

which such schemes were accomplished. 

 As noted in Part II, supra, the Statement must be read in context, fairly and reasonably 

construing the entire article to determine whether the challenged statement is libelous. 

Sanders, 313 Mich at 340; Croton, 104 Mich App at 108. The FINRA Decision provides the 

context. It details how Scottsdale’s business is susceptible to sham transactions. 

 For example, FINRA noted, among Scottsdale’s many shortcomings, that the SEC had 

previously sued two of Scottsdale’s registered representatives in a case involving a pump-and-

dump scheme: a Panamanian-based pump-and-dump in 2008–2012 and a Bahamian-based 

pump-and-dump in 2008. FINRA Decision at 11–12 and nn. 18, 20, Part III.B(1)(a)(iv)(a) 

(APPX. 879a–880a). FINRA fined Scottsdale in part because FINRA directly tied the success 

of the $34 million Biozoom pump-and-dump scheme to Scottsdale’s lax anti-fraud safeguards, 

which it never improved despite being on notice that its existing safeguards were inadequate to 

detect and prevent fraud. Id. at 107, Part IV.A(3) (APPX. 975a). FINRA explained that, in 

accepting penny stocks for deposit in the earlier schemes, Scottsdale failed to exercise its 

gatekeeping role to safeguard against being used by its customers as a means to execute a pump-

and-dump fraud. 

 Scottsdale’s subsequent failure to adequately police transactions—as it was required to 

do under SEC Rule 17a-8, the Bank Secrecy Act (“BSA”), and its implementing regulations, 

see BSA, 31 U.S.C. § 5311, et seq.; 31 C.F.R. §1023.320(a)(2); and 17 C.F.R. § 240.17a-8 (SEC 
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regulation requiring brokers to follow the BSA and its rules)—signaled to FINRA that 

Scottsdale had not heeded the lessons of its earlier roles in pump-and-dump schemes. FINRA 

considered this an aggravating factor, which formed a basis for the $1.5 million fine: 

Finally, although [Scottsdale] was not charged in ... Ruettiger, 
Gibraltar I, Gibraltar II, and Tavella, those cases did involve 
alleged misconduct through accounts at [Scottsdale]. These 
cases put [Scottsdale] on notice of the risk of sham 
transactions and the use of nominees to conceal beneficial 
ownership and facilitate unlawful distributions of securities. 
They heightened the need for [Scottsdale] to be alert to red 
flags. In light of this history, it is aggravating that Scottsdale 
performed its gatekeeping function so poorly. 

FINRA Decision at 104, Part IV.A(1)(d) (emphasis supplied) (APPX. 972a). Scottsdale 

mischaracterizes the FINRA Decision when it alleges that the decision and the fine have 

“nothing to do” with Scottsdale’s role in pump-and-dump schemes. (See Third Am. Compl. 

¶ 14 (APPX. 801a).) 

 Under Section 5 of the Securities Act, the sale of securities without registration is 

unlawful unless an exemption exists. 15 U.S.C. § 77e(a)(1). In selling penny stocks without 

registration, Scottsdale “usually relie[d] on a ‘safe harbor’ exemption created by the [SEC], 

Rule 144.” FINRA Decision at 5, Part I.A (APPX. 873a). When a securities transaction 

involves “large blocks of thinly traded, little-known securities acquired in a chain of private 

transactions,” like the Biozoom stock, it is “a red flag that the SEC and FINRA have both said 

requires a ‘searching inquiry.’” Id. at 6, Part I.A(3) (APPX. 874a). “These red flags ought to 

have been investigated and properly resolved before the securities could be sold. [Scottsdale], 

however, blinded itself to the multiple red flags signaling that the transactions were unlawful 

public distributions of securities. It did not conduct the required searching inquiry. It 

[therefore] sold the securities without a reasonable basis for a Rule 144 exemption.” Id. at 7, 

Part I.A(3) (emphasis supplied) (APPX. 875a). 

 Explaining Scottsdale’s willful blindness, FINRA noted that “[Scottsdale] was on 

notice that its business was susceptible to sham transactions and the use of nominees to 
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conceal the true beneficial owners of securities. In four disciplinary actions involving 

Scottsdale’s own employees and customers, the SEC alleged that sham transactions and 

nominees were used in unlawful sales in violation of Section 5 of the Securities Act. Those 

unlawful sales in turn were used to facilitate fraud and manipulation.” FINRA Decision at 11, 

Part III.B(1)(a)(iv)(a) (emphasis added) (APPX. 878a). FINRA identified the nature of the 

fraud and manipulation, two of which involved pump-and-dump schemes. Id. at 11–12 (APPX. 

879a–880a). After detailing Scottsdale’s shortcomings in each of the earlier regulatory 

actions—including the Biozoom fraud—FINRA held that those actions “should have caused 

[Scottsdale] to take special care ... to revise its procedures to focus on potential sham 

transactions and the use of nominees. [Scottsdale] did not.” Id. at 13 (APPX. 881a). 

 Scottsdale tried to minimize the significance of its gatekeeping function, arguing that it 

was unfair to look back to the pump-and-dump schemes because no formal accusation had 

been made in the current disciplinary case that the challenged transactions were part of a 

pump-and-dump fraud. Id. at 13, Part III.B(1)(a)(iv)(b) (APPX. 881a). FINRA was unmoved: 

“It is not necessary, however, to prove that fraud occurred in order to conclude that 

[Scottsdale and other respondents] failed to perform their gatekeeping duty adequately.” Ibid. 

In trying to make the same argument here, (Third Am. Compl. ¶ 14 (APPX. 801a)), Scottsdale 

ignores the central thrust of the Article: a company—with a history of being used as a tool to 

execute pump-and dump schemes because of its repeated failure to take its gatekeeping 

function seriously—was fined $1.5 million for yet again not doing its job to adequately 

safeguard the investing public. 

 Although Scottsdale essentially concedes that anyone reading the FINRA Decision 

would understand this context, it argues that the “damage is done” before the reader gets to 

the FINRA report. (Opp’n 8, Mot. Summ. Dispo., Third Am. Compl. (APPX. 1029a).) This is 

just another way of saying the reader can’t be expected to read the entire article if it is too long. 

But that isn’t the law. A court must read the challenged statement in context, fairly and 

reasonably construing the entire article to determine whether the challenged statement is 

libelous. Sanders, 313 Mich. at 340; Croton, 104 Mich. App. at 108.  
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 Here, Scottsdale argues that the statement falsely implies that FINRA fined it $1.5 

million for its involvement in a penny stock pump-and-dump scheme, which it says is an 

“inference of criminal conduct.” (Opp’n 7, Part C.1, Mot. Summ. Dispo., Third Am. Compl. 

(APPX. 1028a).) This is unpersuasive for three reasons.  

First, FINRA is a civil regulatory authority that would have no authority to punish 

Scottsdale for criminal conduct. Keeping in mind that Air Wisconsin Airlines Corp. v. Hoeper, 

71 U.S. 237, 246–251 (2014), requires the Court to assess the challenged statement from the 

perspective of the reasonable audience—here, sophisticated consumers of news concerning 

the penny-stock market—the implication Scottsdale wishes to read into the statement is not 

reasonable. The reasonable audience for the Article would understand that FINRA fines are 

civil in nature.  

Second, even if the reasonable audience made that unreasonable inference, Scottsdale 

refuses to acknowledge that a libel defendant “is not responsible for every defamatory 

implication a reader might draw from his report of true facts, absent evidence that he 

intended the defamatory implication.” Royal Palace Homes, 197 Mich. App. at 56 (emphasis 

added). Scottsdale has not pleaded any facts from which the Court could reasonably infer 

that Defendants intended the implication that Scottsdale tries to read into the statement. 

Tellingly, Scottsdale could not cite a single fact pleaded in the complaint to establish this intent 

element. (See Opp’n 7–9, Mot. Summ. Dispo., Third Am. Compl. (APPX. 1028a–1030a).)  

Third, the implication of which Scottsdale complains is substantially true. Substantial 

truth is an absolute defense to a defamation claim. Collins v. Detroit Free Press, 245 Mich. App. 

27, 33 (2001). The doctrine precludes liability if the gist or sting of the statement is true. Ibid. 

“[A] statement is not considered false unless it would have a different effect on the mind of 

the reader from that which the pleaded truth would have produced.” Hawkins v. Mercy 

Health Servs., 230 Mich. App. 315, 332 n.12 (1998) (cleaned up).  

Here, the pleaded truth is that Scottsdale was fined for selling securities without a 

registration or an exemption from registration, not for engaging in pump-and-dump schemes. 
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(Third Am. Compl. ¶ 22 (APPX. 803a); Opp’n 8, Mot. Summ. Dispo., Third Am. Compl. 

(APPX. 1029a).) Yet the FINRA Decision details how and why FINRA tied the fine to 

Scottsdale’s failure to properly police transactions susceptible to pump-and-dump frauds. 

FINRA held that shares sold through Scottsdale were not exempt from registration because 

the exemption required Scottsdale to properly police transactions, which it did not do. (Id. at 12–

13.) Thus, in FINRA’s estimation, Scottsdale was partly responsible for the pump-and-dump 

schemes. Had Scottsdale done its job properly, innocent people would not have lost money.  

Scottsdale’s claim rests on the distinction between actively committing fraud and being 

used as a tool for fraudsters. A person who followed pump-and-dump schemes—i.e., the 

reasonable audience—would know the difference between these two things and understand 

from the linked FINRA Decision that Scottsdale was involved in pump and dumps as a tool. 

Moreover, the linked FINRA Decision shows that regulators found Scottsdale to be a willing 

tool because it “institutionalized misconduct as its standard way of doing business.” FINRA 

Decision at 105, Part IV.A(l)(d) (APPX. 973a). Anyone who followed pump-and-dump schemes 

would know of Scottsdale. Anyone who read the entire article (including the linked FINRA 

Decision) would also understand how Scottsdale was involved. At the same time, the 

reasonable audience—sophisticated consumers of news concerning penny stocks—would 

detect no meaningful difference between “engaging in” behavior and “being responsible 

for” that behavior. In both cases, the reasonable audience would understand Scottsdale was 

legally culpable for frauds perpetrated on the market. 

Importantly, however, even if the Court were to conclude that the FINRA Decision is 

not part of the Article and cannot be considered on a C8 motion, the main text of the Article 

still belies the inference that Scottsdale asserts. The first paragraph introduces Scottsdale as a 

broker that allows the deposit and sale of penny stocks. Article ¶ 1 (APPX. 823a). The first 

paragraph also contextualizes the Statement, reminding readers that many of the accounts 

frozen in connection with the Biozoom pump-and-dump scheme were at Scottsdale. Ibid.  

Accordingly, Scottsdale’s claim is barred under the substantial-truth doctrine. 
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V. FAIR-COMMENT PRIVILEGE: The trial court should have dismissed the 
defamation claim because the Article addresses a matter of public concern, 
making the Statement privileged under the common law fair-comment privilege. 

“The principle of ‘fair comment’ affords legal immunity for the honest expression of 

opinion on matters of legitimate public interest when based upon a true or privileged 

statement of fact.” Deitz v. Wometco West Mich. TV, 160 Mich. App. 367, 376 (1987). Although 

Deitz held that the fault standard for the fair-comment privilege is negligence in a private 

figure case, the Michigan Supreme Court held in Dadd v. Mount Hope Church, 486 Mich. 857 

(2010), that a plaintiff must prove untruth and actual malice” when the privilege applies in a 

private-figure case. Id. at 857 n.1.30  

Here, the statement is fair comment by a media defendant about disciplinary action 

taken against a regulated entity whose willful nonfeasance facilitated pump-and-dump 

frauds. Scottsdale says that “criminal matters” are not always matters of public interest, 

(Opp’n 11, Mot. Summ. Dispo., Third Am. Compl. (APPX. 1032a)), but that confuses the real 

issues of interest to the public in two respects. First, as noted in Part V, supra, the FINRA fine 

is a civil matter. Second, Defendants provide news to investors, including warnings about 

stock manipulation schemes to prevent them from being fleeced. The public has an interest in 

understanding how pump-and-dump schemes work, how they succeed (in part through 

companies like Scottsdale failing to police transactions), whether a scheme has been detected 

or is suspected (so that investors can protect themselves), and whether they have been 

victimized by a scheme (so they can seek redress), among other interests. Under Dadd, to 

overcome the privilege, Scottsdale must plead facts that, if proved, could establish actual 

malice. It has not done so. Therefore, the trial court should have dismissed the Third 

Amended Complaint for failing to plead an unprivileged publication of the Statement.  

                                                 
30  In a partial concurrence, Justice Markman traced the contours of the privilege. See 

Dadd, 486 Mich. at 860–862, 864–867 (Markman, J., concurring in part, dissenting in part). 
Justice Markman’s discussion of the privilege is consistent with the majority opinion. The 
Court differed over whether the jury was properly instructed. The majority did not believe it 
reversible error for the instructions to omit a reference to “actual malice,” finding the use of 
“reckless disregard” to be sufficient under the circumstances.  
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VI. FAULT NOT ADEQUATELY PLEADED: The trial court should have 
dismissed the defamation claim because Scottsdale’s general allegations of fault 
are legally insufficient to state a claim. 

 To adequately plead fault, a plaintiff must identify the level of fault that applies to the 

claim and allege facts that would establish that level of fault if proved. Gonyea, 192 Mich. App. 

at 76–77; Rouch II, 440 Mich. at 279. There are two levels of fault: negligence and actual 

malice. Ibid. The negligence standard applies in cases involving private figures; the actual-

malice standard applies in cases involving public officials, public figures, and limited-purpose 

public figures. Ibid. Scottsdale alleges that it is a private figure and that MLM and Goode are 

the direct and proximate cause of its damages, (Third Am. Compl. ¶ 29 (APPX. 804a)), so it 

impliedly pleads the level of fault to be negligence. 

 Negligence is defined as the failure to use the care that an ordinary person would use 

under the circumstances. MICH. CIV. J. INSTR. 10.02. Thus, in order to meet the Iqbal-like 

pleading standard, Scottsdale must allege what a reasonably careful reporter and reasonably 

careful publisher would have done under the circumstances, and then plead facts alleging that 

MLM and Goode failed to do those things. Michigan Microtech, Inc. v. Federated Publ’ns, Inc., 

187 Mich. App. 178, 186 (1991). These standards are intertwined with the “reasonable 

audience” standard. Air Wis. Airlines Corp., 71 U.S. at 246–251. The Complaint does not 

satisfy these pleading requirements. 

 Scottsdale alleges that a reasonably careful reporter “reads the documents he cites and 

would not report, or imply that a fine for procedural noncompliance is the equivalent of a fine 

for intentional pump and dump activity.” (Third Am. Compl. ¶ 24 (APPX. 803a)). Scottsdale 

would presumably have the Court draw an inference that Goode did not read the FINRA 

Decision. Yet the Article in which the Statement appears quotes from the FINRA Decision at 

length. Thus, the Article itself precludes this from being a reasonable inference. Lakeside 

Oakland Dev. v. H&J Beef Co., 249 Mich. App. 517, 530 n.4 (2002) (“[w]hen considering a 

motion under MCR 2.116(C)(8), ... any reasonable inferences or conclusions that can be drawn 

from the facts, are accepted as true.” (cleaned up) (emphasis added)). 
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 Scottsdale’s position is that a reasonable journalist would take the time to read source 

material, but: (1) a reasonable reader would not do so, even though the material forms part of 

the Article; and (2) the Court should not do so when assessing the sufficiency of the 

Complaint. Not only does the law presume that the reasonable reader reads the entire story, 

but in this case the law also presumes that they’re sophisticated readers. 

 Under Air Wisconsin, Goode and MLM can reasonably expect that the reasonable 

audience of visitors to the Website are people familiar with the microcap market, including the 

players in the market and their roles (e.g., depositor-sellers, broker-dealers, and buyers, etc.). 

Those readers, being versed in the industry, would conclude that Scottsdale was the means by 

which a pump-and-dump was accomplished, not that Scottsdale had itself engaged in illegal 

activity—particularly with the benefit of links to source documents. 

 Under Rouch II, a failure to plead both the level of fault that must be proved and the facts 

that would establish the speaker acted with that level of fault entitles MLM and Goode to 

summary disposition under MCR 2.116(C)(8). Rouch II, 440 Mich at 279 (Riley, J., 

concurring). Scottsdale’s failure to plead facts adequately supporting a claim of negligence is 

fatal to the Complaint and the trial court erred in denying summary disposition under MCR 

2.116(C)(8). 

VII. AMENDMENT FUTILE: The Court should preclude Scottsdale from trying 
to amend its Complaint. 

 Leave to amend should be withheld when amendment would be futile. Allegheny- 

Ludlam Corp. v. Michigan Dep’t of Treas., 207 Mich. App. 604, 605 (1994). Amendment would 

be futile in this case. The Statement is nonactionable hyperbole, and no amount of re-pleading 

will change that. Even if it could be construed as a statement of fact, it is substantially true 

when considered in light of FINRA’s disciplinary decision, it is not capable of defamatory 

meaning, and it is privileged.  
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CONCLUSION 

 This Court is solicitous of the First Amendment in libel cases lodged against the 

media. It favors early summary disposition to protect free-speech principles. It requires 

plaintiffs to specifically plead the level of fault that applies and facts supporting its existence. It 

prohibits general allegations. And it performs an independent examination of the record to 

ensure against forbidden intrusions into the field of free expression. Despite these well-

established standards, the trial court failed to apply the exacting level of scrutiny required in 

these cases. MLM and Goode urge the Court to accept their application for interlocutory 

review to stop this constitutionally infirm lawsuit. 

 In addition, the Statement is immunized from suit under the fair-comment privilege. 

Even absent such a privilege, the Statement would still be protected from liability under the 

substantial-truth doctrine. A reasonable person who reads the Article (an individual whom the 

law presupposes is a sophisticated reader) would conclude that Scottsdale was the means by 

which a pump-and-dump was accomplished, not that Scottsdale was engaging in illegal 

activity. Allowing this case to move forward under these circumstances without interlocutory 

review would only serve to chill protected speech. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, Defendants respectfully seek leave to proceed with an interlocutory 

appeal and remand this action for entry of an order of dismissal with prejudice. 

 Respectfully submitted, 
  

 BUTZEL LONG, P.C. 
 
Dated: April 25, 2019   
 JOSEPH E. RICHOTTE (P70902) 
 DOAA K. AL-HOWAISHY (P82089) 
 Stoneridge West 
 41000 Woodward Avenue 
 Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304 
 (248) 258-1616 
 richotte@butzel.com | al-howaishy@butzel.com  
 Counsel for MLM and Michael Goode 
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PENDING COMPLETION OF INTERLOCUTORY APPEAL 

For the reasons stated on the record, the Court denies Defendants I Motion for 

Summary Disposition of Third Amended Complaint. 

The Court grants Defendants' oral motion for a stay of proceedings pending 

completion of an interlocutory appeal that wiH be taken from this order denying summary 

disposition. 
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/s/ Margo J. Arnold (w/consent) 
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HON. ALEXANDER C. LIPSEY 

F, LED 
DEC 1 4 2018 
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KALAMAZOO, MICHIGAN 

ORDER GRANTING SUMMARY DISPOSITION 

The Court grants Defendants' Motion for Summary Disposition for the reasons 
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stated on the record. ~ t.}T\.(f-~ .2$ 9~S 10 ~ ~ M "1C1t~ ~ 
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SO ORDERED . 
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132 South Rodeo Drive, Fourth Floor 
Beverly Hills, CA 90212 

H. Rhett Pinsky (P18920) 
PINSKY, SMITH, FAYETTE & 
KENNEDY, LLP 
Attorney for Plaintiff 
146 Monroe Center Street, NW, Suite 805 
Grand Rapids, MI 49503 

RECEIVED 

Circuit Court File No. ~~~:!1I~IC~H~O~T~T!!Ej 

Hon. Alexander C. Lipsey 

ORDER DENYING 
DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR 
RECONSIDERATION 

Joseph E. Richotte (P70902) 
Doaa K. AI-Howaishy (P82089) 
BUTZEL LONG, PC 
Attorney for Defendants MLM and 
Goode 
Stoneridge West 
41000 Woodward Avenue 
Bloomfield Hills MI 48-:Yt]4-'-' ." - - . . -. , ; r:,~ t ~ :~;' .': 

!
' ~ i; a . . . . r·· -,., 

At a session of Court in the City and County of 
Kalan1azoo , State of Michigan, on 

this ~5day of October, 2018. 

PRESENT: HONORABLE ALEXANDER C. LIPSEY, Circuit Court Judge 

On October 4, 2018, this Court entered an Order and Opinion Denying Defendants' Motion 

for Summary Disposition, Pending now before tlus Court is Defendants' Motion for 

Reconsideration which was timely filed on October 25 , 2018 . Defendants argue that this Court 

committed palpable error by finding that there is no heightened pleading requirement in 

defamation cases, in reaching its decision about whether Plaintiff is a public or private figure, by 

- 3a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:28 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:28 PM



finding it could not review Defendants ' exhibits, by applying the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur, and 

by holding that Statement No. 2 is false and defamatory . 

Pursuant to MCR 2.119(F), a motion for rehearing or reconsideration is discretionary, and 

where a motion merely presents issues already ruled on by the COUli, either expressly or by 

reasonable implication, it will not be granted. MCR 2.1 19(F)(3 ). To be granted, "the moving 

party must demonstrate a palpable error by which the court and the parties have been misled and 

show that a different disposition of the moti9n must result from correction of the error." MCR 

2.119(F)(3). 

Having reviewed all materials relevant to Defendants ' Motion for Reconsideration, this 

Court finds that Defendants' motion presents the same issues already ruled on by this Court. 

Furthermore, this Court finds that Defendants have failed to demonstrate "a palpable error by 

which the court and the parties have been misled ." MCR 2.119(F)(3) . Therefore, Defendants ' 

Motion for Reconsideration is DENIED. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

- <'-
Dated: October~, 2018 

2 

Honorable Alexander C. Lipse;; 
Circuit Court Judge 
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PROOF OF MAILING 

I, 11i/4IJj!d-~ ,<~~i-tify that on 
this date I mailed ~copy of this document to the 
parties in interest at their above stated addresses 
via I B - '- first-class mail 

and/or 
o interoffIce mail. 

Dated: ) f \ " J ~r j 0 

Kelly L. Dolt r ,,' -
Law Clerk t6 the Han. Alexander C. Lipsey 
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STATE OF MICHIGAN 
IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE COUNTY OF KALAMAZOO 

******************** 

SCOTTSDALE CAPITAL 
ADVISORS CORPORA nON 

Plaintiff, 

v 

MORINGLIGHTMOUTAIN, LLC, 
MICHAEL GOODE AND DOES 1-10, 

Defendants. 

Jordan D. Susman (CA# 184593) 
HARDERLLP 
Attorney for Plaintiff 
132 South Rodeo Dr., 4th Floor 
Beverly Hills, CA 90212 
(424) 203-1600 

H. Rhett Pinsky (PI 8920) 
PINSKY, SMITH, FAYETTE & KENNEDY, LLP 
Local Counsel for Plaintiff 
146 Monroe Center St., NW - Suite 805 
Grand Rapids, MI 49503 
(616) 451-8496 

Circuit Court File No. 2018-0153-CZ 

Hon. Alexander C. Lipsey 

OPINION AND ORDER 

F I LED 
1 OCT 0 4 2018 1 

9TH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
COUNTY OF KALAM.<ZOO 

N 

Joseph E. Richotte (P70902) 
BUTZEL LONG, PC 
Attorney for Defendants 
41000 Woodward Avenue 
Bloomfield Hills, MI48304 
(248) 258-1616 

At a session of Court in the City and County of 
Kalamazoo, State of Michigan, on 

this 4th day of October, 2018. 

PRESENT: HONORABLE ALEXANDER C. LIPSEY, Circuit Court Judge 
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STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

Scottsdale Capital Advisors, the Plaintiff, is an investment banking company that partakes 

in penny stock trading. Penny stocks are smaller, non-SEC regulated stocks. Scottsdale was used 

by certain investors to perform a pump-and-dump scheme in order to alter the current stock value 

for a company called Biozoom. The Defendants, MomingLightMountain, Michael Goode, and 

Does 1-10, report via blog and social media posts about issues facing the trading and investment 

world. 

On April 17, 2017 and June 14, 2017, MomingLightMountain through the website 

GoodeTrades.com published two articles which Plaintiffs allege were defamatory. Plaintiff claims 

the April article contains at least three defamatory, false remarks. The Plaintiffs quote the 

following three: 

1. "If you have followed penny stocks and pump and dumps for a few years then you know 

Scottsdale Capital Advisors." 

2. "They [SCA] are one of the few brokers left that have continued to allow the deposit and 

sale of shares of illiquid penny stocks. Larger brokers and discount brokers stopped 

allowing that over five years ago." 

3. "When the big Biozoom (BIZM) pump happened back in 2013 many of the frozen accounts 

were at Scottsdale Capital." 

The June article contains at least one defamatory, false remark including the following: 

1. "Lest anyone think that these are just minor paperwork deficiencies with no real 

consequences, I remind you that one pump and dump alone, Biozoom, (BIZM) led to over 

$17 million in fraudulent profits for manipulators I insiders, and many of accounts were at 

Scottsdale Capital Advisors." 

2 
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Based on these alleged defamatory remarks, Plaintiff filed a summons and complaint on April, 

16, 2018 in the 9th Circuit Court of Kalamazoo County. The Defendants filed a Motion for 

Summary Disposition on June 7, 2018. Plaintiffs responded on August 17, 2018 and Defendants 

replied on August 20, 2018. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

(C)(8) 

A motion for summary disposition brought pursuant to MCR 2.116(C)(8) is appropriate 

when the opposing party has failed to state a claim on which relief can be granted. A Motion for 

Summary Disposition under MCR 2.1 16(C)(8) tests the legal sufficiency of the complaint solely 

on the basis of the pleadings. Beaudrie v Henderson , 465 Mich 124, 129 (2001). "[AlII well 

pleaded allegations are accepted as true, and construed most favorably to the non-moving party." 

Wade v Dep't of Corr, 439 Mich 158, 162-163 (1992). A mere statement of conclusions, 

unsupported by factual allegations, is not sufficient to state a cause of action. ETT Ambulance Svc 

Corp v Rockford Ambulance, Inc, 204 Mich App 392, 395 (1994). A motion under MCR 

2.1 16(C)(8) may be granted only where the claims alleged are "so clearly unenforceable as a matter 

oflaw that no factual development could possibly justify recovery." Wade at 163. 

ANALYSIS 

Through the parties' filed briefs, there are three issues at bar. First, there is a question 

regarding the standard of review. Second, there is a question what exhibits and evidence are 

admissible under review of MCR 2.1 16(C)(8). Third, there is a question whether the initial and 

amended complaint (the Complaint) properly give asserted factual basis for all the elements 

necessary to allege a defamation case. 

1. THE STANDARD OF REVIEW IS NOT ALTERED JUST BECAUSE THE CASE 
AT BAR INVOLVES AN ALLEGED DEFAMATION. 

3 
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The first issue is whether there is a heightened scrutiny when reviewing defamation cases in 

the scope of MCR 2.116(C)(8). Defendant, the moving party, claims that there is a heightened 

scrutiny when reviewing a defamation case for legal sufficiency based on its pleadings. The 

Plaintiff properly states that this claim is without merit. The two cases the Defendants cite to, Bose 

Corp. v Consumers Union and Thomas M Cooley Law School v Does 1, are improperly interpreted. 

466 US 485 (1984); 300 Mich App 245 (2013). In Bose Corp. , the Supreme Court references 

decisions made in light of New York Times Co v Sullivan. 466 at 487-86. This case pertains to 

public officials. In defamation cases, most states impart a higher standard for public officials to 

prove "actual malice" before a proper claim can be made. New York Times Co v Sullivan, 376 US 

254,268 (1964). 

Furthermore, the Defendant's citation of Thomas M Cooley Law School v Does 1 also fails 

to appreciate the different standard between a public official or figure and a private one. The 

Defendant does not assert that the Plaintiff is a public official or figure, and thus by Michigan law 

the Plaintiff is not required to prove "actual malice" since proof or assertion of "actual malice" is 

reserved for defamation cases in which a public figure is the victim of the alleged defamatory 

remarks. Peter fish v Frantz, 168 Mich App 43, 52 (1988). 

Further, this Court should not fmd that the Plaintiff is a public figure, even though neither party 

has argued such. A public figure is a "person who by his accomplishments, fame, or mode of 

living, or by adopting a calling which gives the public a legitimate interest in his act ivies, affairs, 

and character, has become a public personage. Arber v Sahlin, 382 Mich 300, n 4 (1969). 

Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corporation does not avail itself, intentionally or otherwise, to the 

public domain. By its nature of investment banking, the average population does not know the 

company by name and surely does not have a legitimate interest in its affairs. 

4 
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For these reasons, this Court should not implement a higher standard as the Defendant 

suggests, but instead maintain a normal course of action regarding MCR 2.1 16(C)(8) that reviews 

only .pleadings for legal sufficiency in light of the alleged wrongdoing. At bar, only normal 

defamation is being asserted by a private party. 

2. THE EXIDBITS AND EVIDENCE PRODUCED IN THE MOVING PARTY'S 
ORIGINAL BRIEF FOR SUMMARY DISPOSITION ARE NOT CONSIDERED 
WHEN REVIEWING WHETHER OR NOT THE ORIGINAL AND AMENDED 
COMPLAINT SUFFICIENTLY PLEADS A CLAIM IN WIDCH RELIEF CAN BE 
GRANTED. 

The second issue is whether the Defendants' attached exhibits to their brief for their Motion 

for Summary Disposition are reviewable by this Court when deciding on a Motion brought under 

MCR 2.116(C)(8). The Plaintiff is correct that a Motion for Summary Disposition brought under 

MCR 2.116(C)(8) allows for the court to review only the pleadings already on file as evidence to 

support the moving party's Motion. Dalley v Dykema Gossett, 287 Mich App 296, 305 (2010). 

Because of this, the exhibits that were introduced via the Defendant's Motion are not to be 

reviewed when determining the Motion. This Court should only review the prior pleadings, both 

the original and the amended complaint, and any documents that were previously, properly 

submitted to the Court. 

3. THE ORIGINAL AND AMENDED COMPLAINT SUFFICIENTLY ASSERT AT 
LEAST ONE FACTUAL BASIS FOR WIDCH TIDS COURT CAN GRANT 
RELIEF THAT IS BEING REQUESTED. 

For recovery under MCR 2.116(C)(8), the moving party must prove that the Complaint 

does not establish the elements of the alleged wrongdoing with proper, factual basis. For a party 

to succeed in a defamation claim, the complainant must establish and prove that there were (I) 

false and defamatory statements concerning the plaintiff from an (2) unprivileged communication 

to a third party from (3) fault amounting at least to negligence on the part of the publisher and (4) 
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either actionability of the statement irrespective of the special harm or the existence of special 

harm caused by publication. Mitan v Campbell, 474 Mich 21, 25 (2005). 

While the parties may disagree on the some peripheral facts outside of the pleading, the 

issue before this Court is whether the Complaint by the Plaintiff establishes enough asserted factual 

basis for the Complaint to be properly pleaded. Harte-Hanks Communications, Inc v Connaughton, 

491 US 657, 685 (1989). In the Complaint, there are four statements made by the Defendant's 

publication that the Plaintiff alleges to rise to the level of defamation. Only one of the statements 

need to be properly pleaded for the Motion for Summary Disposition to be denied. 

When analyzing each statement, the question is not whether there is enough evidence to 

make a legal determination as to whether the Defendant is culpable, but rather the Complaint 

properly asserts a legal stance in which relief can be granted by this Court. In their brief, the 

Defendant does not address the second and fourth elements of defamation. Instead, the Defendant 

claims that either the Plaintiff did not establish in their Complaint that the statements were false 

or defamatory and/or that the duty of care, negligence, has not been met. 

The Plaintiff asserts in the Complaint that the Defendant should have known that the 

statements were false, or in the least acted in reckless disregard when it published the articles.! 

While this statement does not have alleged evidence to prove directly that the Defendant knew of 

the claim's falsity, this assertion implies a fact basis. If the Defendants were journalist that work 

within the realm of the investment banking, as they do, then they would likely know if the 

statements were intentionally false. 

This argument is convincing for two reasons. First, applying the legal theory of res ipsa 

loquitor, the Defendant's statements were made about a realm that they claim to have a lot of 

1 Amended Complaint, 1126, April 20, 2018. 
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experience in. If the statements prove to be false, then by its very nature they also meet the third 

element's standard that requires negligence on behalf of the wrongdoer. Second, Defendants have 

refused to retract, correct, or apologize for the statements and thus were on notice about their 

potential falsity.2 If this court deems the statements to be false, then it consequently also determines 

that the Defendant's actions were negligent when reporting false statements. Because of this, only 

the falsity or defamatory nature will need to be assessed per statement within the Complaint. 

A. "If you have followed penny stocks and pump and dumps for a few years then you know 
Scottsdale Capital Advisors." 

The first statement from the April 2017 article implies that Scottsdale is associated with pump 

and dump schemes. The Court is not currently worried about whether this statement is true or false, 

but is ONLY worried about whether the Complaint fIled by the Plaintiff properly asserts a factual 

basis that this statement by Defendant is false or defamatory. Defendants argue that this statement 

is factual because the statement does not explicitly state the Plaintiffs have never been a defendant 

in any pump and dump lawsuit, but claim that the Plaintiffs are still associated with pump and 

dump schemes because oftheir broker-dealer status in penny stocks. 

The Plaintiff asserts that this statement implies that Scottsdale Capital Advisors are conducting 

pump and dump schemes. The Complaint alleges that the Plaintiff has never been a defendant and 

has never been convicted for engaging in pump and dump schemes. This is a strong argument 

since the Defendant's statements are not commenting on the Plaintiff's status in legal matters, but 

instead stating that pump and dump activity has been associated with the Scottsdale Capital 

Advisors. The Complaint does not properly allege a factual basis to refute this, for this reason the 

Defendant is correct, the Complaint does not properly give a basis to claim the first statement is 

false. 

2 Amended Complaint. ~ 23. April 20, 2018. 
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B. "They [SCA] are one of the few brokers left that have continued to allow the deposit and 
sale of shares of illiquid penny stocks. Larger brokers and discount brokers stopped 
allowing that over five years ago." 

The second statement pertains to the amount of brokers who still partake in transactions of 

illiquid penny stocks. The Complaint attempts to prove this statement's falsity by asserting many 

large brokers continue to trade in penny stocks. The Defendant's statement asserts that all large 

brokers have stopped using this penny stock method. The alleged statements made by Defendants 

could shed a poor light on the Plaintiff in regards to what is common practice and whether the 

Plaintiff is following normal standards within the practice. 

While the Defendant claims the statement is not false because some large brokers still trade in 

existing shares of penny stocks, instead of purchasing new penny stocks, this is not asserted in the 

statement and the Complaint properly asserts a basis to prove that statement #2 is false. Further, 

the statement is inherently defamatory by implying the practices of Scottsdale Capital Advising is 

not in line with others in its field. Tills statement would likely affect the opinions of its viewers, 

even if not illegal, that the practices by the Plaintiff are unusual and not for the betterment of its 

clients. For this reason, this statement is likely false and defamatory. 

C. "When the big Biozoom (BIZM) pump happened back in 2013 many of the frozen accounts 
were at Scottsdale Capital." 

This last statement from the April 2017 article is not false nor defamatory. The assertion in the 

Complaint states that "only a handful of accounts at SCA were frozen as a result of Biozoom 

trading. The difference between "many" and "only a handful" is meritless. Further, the Complaint 

asserts that seA has never been a defendant in any lawsuit involving Biozoom stock. Once again, 

the statement by the Defendants do not declare that the Plaintiff was involved in a Biozoom related 

lawsuit, and thus the Complaint does not properly assert a factual basis for the claim. 

8 
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D. "Lest anyone think that these are just minor paperwork deficiencies with no real 
consequences, I remind you that one pump and dump alone, Biozoom (BIZM) led to over 
$17 million in fraudulent profits for manipulators I insiders, and many of their accounts 
were at Scottsdale Capital Advisors." 

The final statement comes from the June 2017 article. Defendant's statement in the June article, 

unlike statement #2 from the April article, does not imply any wrongdoing by Scottsdale Capital 

Advisors and only states that the accounts that were wrongfully partaking in the pump and dump 

scheme were being held through the Plaintiff. The Complaint asserts that this statement by 

Defendant implies the Plaintiff was handling the trading of Biozoom stock and that it was involved 

in lawsuits regarding the same matter. 

The Complaint seems to be making assertions regarding statements that were never made. The 

statement from the June 2017 article by the Defendants does not claim the Plaintiff is a party to a 

lawsuit involving Biozoom stock nor does it state that the Plaintiff was partaking in the pump and 

dump scheme. The only claim is that many of the accounts that were taking part in pump and dump 

were held at Scottsdale Capital Advisors. For this reason, this statement is also not properly 

pleaded in the Complaint to assert that it is factually false . 

CONCLUSION 

As noted above, all of the legality hinges on the falsity or defamatory nature of each 

statement and whether the Complaint has properly asserted a basis on which the overall claim 

can stand. Statement #1 , #3, and #4 are not sufficiently pleaded because the Complaint does not 

assert facts that prove these statements were false. However, Statement #2 likely does meet this 

standard. Because of this, the overall Complaint is sufficiently pleaded when viewed in light 

favorable to the non-moving party. 
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As to Count II, Invasion of Privacy; False Light, the Court having determined that 

Plaintiff Corporation would have no expectation of privacy Count II fails to state a claim under 

MCR 2.l16(C)(8). 

For the reasons cited above, Defendants' Motion for Summary Disposition is DENIED. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

Dated: October 4, 2018 
Honorable Alexander C. Li 
Circuit Court Judge 

PROOF OF MAILING 

·-t--. ·1 """ WJ }:;Oi) I , I JI? I ,-- , certify that on this date October 4, 2018 I mailed a copy of this document 
to the parties in interest at their above stated addresses via first-class mail and/or interoffice mail. 

. ' \ 
~VIUdt ~, kthXV 
Denise H. Wilson 
Judicial Aide to the Hon. Alexander C. Lipsey 
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REGISTER OF ACTIONS
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Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corp. vs MorningLightMountain, LLC et al. §
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Case Type: CZ - General Civil
Date Filed: 04/16/2018

Location: Civil Division
Judicial Officer: Lipsey, Alexander C.

PARTY INFORMATION

Lead Attorneys
Defendant Does 1-10

Defendant Goode, Michael Joseph E. Richotte
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Defendant MorningLightMountain, LLC Joseph E. Richotte
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Plaintiff Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corp. H Rhett Pinsky
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EVENTS & ORDERS OF THE COURT
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04/16/2018 Summons and Complaint - Civil - New Filing ^
04/17/2018 Notice of Review by Business Court Judge
04/20/2018 Amended Complaint
05/11/2018 Notice of Removal to Federal Court
05/25/2018 Stipulation with Order Regarding:

Fixing Deadline to Response to First Amended Complaint
05/25/2018 Substitution of Attorney and Order
05/29/2018 Court of Appeals - Supreme Court - Remand for:

Remanded from the Western Distict of Michigan
06/07/2018 Answer to Amended Complaint ^
06/07/2018 Motion for Summary Disposition

First Amended Complaint - with Brief in Support
06/07/2018 Praecipe
06/07/2018 Proof of Service
06/07/2018 Notice of Scheduled Proceeding ^

on Defendants Motion for Summary Disposition
06/27/2018 Civil Proceedings Scheduling Order MCR 2.401 ^
08/02/2018 Stipulation

Stipulation to Amend Scheduling Order
08/14/2018 Adjournment - Stipulation and Order

to Amend Scheduling Order
08/15/2018 Notice of Scheduled Proceeding ^
08/17/2018 Response to: (Specify)

in Opposition to Motion for Summary Disposition of First Amended Complaint
08/17/2018 Proof of Service

Reply in support of Defendants' Motion for Summary Disposition of First Amended Complaint
08/20/2018 Response to: (Specify)

Reply in support of Defendants' Motion for Summary Disposition of First Amended Complaint
08/20/2018 Proof of Service

on Plaintiff's Response in Opposition to Motion for Summary Disposition of First Amended Complaint
08/20/2018 Motion for Pro Hac Vice

Plaintiff's Motion for Temporary Admission of Out of State Attorney, Nicholas A. Kurtz with supporting documentation
08/20/2018 Proof of Service

on Plaintiff's Motion for Temporary Admission of Out of State Attorney, Nicholas A. Kurtz with supporting documentation
08/21/2018 Order for Pro Hac Vice

as to Nicholas A. Kurtz
08/22/2018 Motion for Summary Disposition  (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Lipsey, Alexander C.) 
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Result: Held
09/14/2018 Notice of Scheduled Proceeding ^

Amended Trial date- orginial set for the wrong date
09/18/2018 Proof of Service

Plaintiff's First Set of Interrogatories to Defendants; Request for Production to Defendants
10/04/2018 Opinion ^
10/09/2018 Miscellaneous Filing
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Notice of Withdrawal of Plaintiff's Counsel Nicholas A. Kurtz
10/09/2018 Proof of Service

of Notice of Withdrawal of Plaintiff's Counsel Nicholas A. Kurtz
10/22/2018 Transcript

Motion for Summary Disposition - Wednesday, August 22, 2018
10/22/2018 List of Witnesses that may be Produced
10/22/2018 Proof of Service

of Plaintiff's Witness List
10/22/2018 Proof of Service

Served" Defendants' First Interrogatories, and First Request for Records
10/22/2018 Proof of Service

Defendant's Answers to Plaintiff's First set of Interrogatories and Request for Production
10/25/2018 Motion for Reconsideration - Relief from Judgment ^

with Proof of Service
10/25/2018 Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration ^

Order Denying Defendants' Motion for Reconsideration with proof of service
10/30/2018 Return of Document
11/13/2018 Amended Complaint

Defendants' Consent for Plaintiff to File Second Amended Complaint with Reliance on Jury Demand
11/13/2018 Proof of Service

of Defendants' Consent for Plaintiff to File Second Amended Complaint and Plaintiff's Second Amended Complaint and Reliance on Jury Demand
11/15/2018 Answer to Amended Complaint ^

Answer to Plaintiffs' First Amended Complaint with Affirmative and Other Defenses and Reliance on Jury Demand
11/15/2018 Motion for Summary Disposition

of Second Amended Complaint
11/15/2018 Brief - Memorandum

Supporting Motion for Summary Disposition of Second Amended Complaint
11/15/2018 Praecipe
11/15/2018 Proof of Service

of Motion for Summary Disposition of Second Amended Complaint, Answer to Plaintiff's First Amended Complaint with Affirmative and Other 
Defenses

11/15/2018 Notice of Scheduled Proceeding ^
of Motion for Summary Disposition scheduled for December 6 @ 1:30 pm

11/26/2018 Motion for Pro Hac Vice
Plaintiff's Motion for Temporary Admission of Out of State Attorney with supporting documentation

11/27/2018 Order for Pro Hac Vice
as to Jordan Susman

11/29/2018 List of Witnesses that may be Produced
Preliminary Witness List

11/29/2018 Proof of Service
of Defendants' Preliminary Witness list, Defendants' Second Interrogatories, and Defendants' Second Requests for Records

11/30/2018 Notice of Scheduled Proceeding ^
Defendants' Motion for Summary Disposition rescheduled from 12/06/2018 due to court scheduling conflict- parties also emailed notice on 
11/30/2018

12/03/2018 Response to: (Specify)
Plaintiff's Response in Opposition to Motion for Summary Disposition of Second Amended Complaint

12/03/2018 Proof of Service
Plaintiff's Response in Opposition to Motion for Summary Disposition of Second Amended Complaint

12/10/2018 Response to: (Specify)
Reply in Support of Motion for Summary Disposition of Second Amended Complaint

12/10/2018 Proof of Service
of Defendants' Reply in Support of Motion for Summary Disposition on Second Amended Complaint

12/10/2018 Motion for Pro Hac Vice
Plaintiff's Motion for Temporary Admission of Out of State Attorney with supporting documentation

12/11/2018 Order for Pro Hac Vice
12/14/2018 Motion for Summary Disposition  (2:30 PM) (Judicial Officer Lipsey, Alexander C.) 

Rescheduled from 12/06/2018- parties were emailed notice of the change in date and time on 11/30/2018- tjc

Parties Present

12/06/2018 Reset by Court to 12/14/2018

Result: Held
12/14/2018 Motion for Summary Disposition

Granted for the reasons stated on the record. However, Plaintiff's has 28- days to file an Amended Complaint.
12/19/2018 Transcript

of Hearing on Motion for Summary Disposition that was held on Friday, December 14, 2018 @ 2:45 pm
01/11/2019 Amended Complaint

Plaintiff's Third Amended Complaint and Jury Demand
01/11/2019 Proof of Service

of Plaintiff's Third Amended Complaint, Plaintiff's Responses to Defendants' Second Requests for Records, and Plaintiff's Answers to Defendants' 
Second Interrogatories

02/01/2019 Motion for Summary Disposition
02/01/2019 Brief - Memorandum

Brief in support of Defendants' Motion for Summary Disposition
02/01/2019 Praecipe

Defendants' Motion for Summary Disposition
02/01/2019 Proof of Service

Defendants' Motion for Summary Disposition; Brief in support; Praecipe
02/01/2019 Answer to Amended Complaint ^

Defendants' Joint Answer to Third Amended Complaint with Reliance on Jury Demand
02/04/2019 Notice of Scheduled Proceeding ^

of Motion for Summary Disposition
02/06/2019 CANCELED Settlement Conference  (1:30 PM) (Judicial Officer Lipsey, Alexander C.) 

Other (specify)

12/26/2018

Page 2 of 3

4/24/2019https://9ccagencyaccess.kalcounty.com/CaseDetail.aspx?CaseID=227798
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Continued to 02/06/2019 - Stipulation and Order - Does 1-10; Goode, Michael; MorningLightMountain, LLC; Scottsdale Capital 
Advisors Corp.

03/20/2019 Opposition to:
Plaintiff's Response in Opposition to Motion for Summary Disposition of Third Amended Complaint

03/20/2019 Proof of Service
Plaintiff's Response in Opposition to Motion for Summary Disposition of Third Amended Complaint

03/22/2019 Response to: (Specify)
Defendant's Reply in Support of Motion for Summary Disposition of Third Amended Complaint

03/25/2019 Proof of Service
Defendant's Reply in Support of Motion for Summary Disposition of Third Amended Complaint

03/26/2019 Motion for Summary Disposition  (10:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Lipsey, Alexander C.) 
Result: Held

04/04/2019 Order Denying Motion for Summary Disposition
Omnibus Order Denying Motion for Summary Disposition and Granting Stay of Proceedings Pending Completion of Interlocutory Appeal

04/08/2019 Reporter -Recorder Certificate-Ordering Transcript on Appeal
04/08/2019 Transcript

March 26, 2019 - Motion for Summary Disposition
04/09/2019 CANCELED Civil Jury Trial  (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Lipsey, Alexander C.) 

Other (specify)

01/15/2019
Continued to 04/16/2019 - Stipulation and Order - Does 1-10; Goode, Michael; MorningLightMountain, LLC; Scottsdale Capital 
Advisors Corp.

04/16/2019 Reset by Court to 04/09/2019

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Defendant Goode, Michael
Total Financial Assessment  514.00
Total Payments and Credits  514.00
Balance Due as of 04/24/2019 0.00

10/19/2018 Transaction Assessment  18.00
10/19/2018 Counter Receipt # 2018-04608  Goode, Michael  (18.00)
11/19/2018 Transaction Assessment  333.00
11/19/2018 Counter Receipt # 2018-05082 Goode, Michael (333.00)
12/14/2018 Transaction Assessment 63.00
12/14/2018 Counter Receipt # 2018-05451  Goode, Michael  (63.00)
02/04/2019 Transaction Assessment  40.00
02/04/2019 Counter Receipt # 2019-00456  Goode, Michael  (40.00)
03/22/2019 Transaction Assessment 5.00
03/22/2019 Counter Receipt # 2019-01299  Goode, Michael  (5.00)
04/12/2019 Transaction Assessment  55.00
04/12/2019 Counter Receipt # 2019-01675  Goode, Michael  (55.00)

Defense Attorney Richotte, Joseph E.
Total Financial Assessment  40.00
Total Payments and Credits 40.00
Balance Due as of 04/24/2019 0.00

06/07/2018 Transaction Assessment  20.00
06/07/2018 Counter Receipt # 2018-03284  Richotte, Joseph E.  (20.00)
02/04/2019 Transaction Assessment 20.00
02/06/2019 Mail Receipt # 2019-00645 Richotte, Joseph E. (20.00)

Plaintiff Attorney Gordon, Deborah L.
Total Financial Assessment 280.00
Total Payments and Credits  280.00
Balance Due as of 04/24/2019 0.00

04/16/2018 Transaction Assessment 260.00
04/16/2018 Counter Receipt # 2018-01597  Gordon, Deborah L. (260.00)
08/21/2018 Transaction Assessment  20.00
08/21/2018 Mail Receipt # 2018-03624  Gordon, Deborah L.  (20.00)

Plaintiff Attorney Pinsky, H Rhett
Total Financial Assessment  40.00
Total Payments and Credits 40.00
Balance Due as of 04/24/2019 0.00

11/27/2018 Transaction Assessment  20.00
11/27/2018 Mail Receipt # 2018-05213  Pinsky, H Rhett  (20.00)
12/11/2018 Transaction Assessment 20.00
12/11/2018 Mail Receipt # 2018-05396 Pinsky, H Rhett (20.00)
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STATE OF MICHIGAN 

9TH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT COURT  

FOR THE COUNTY OF KALAMAZOO 

 

SCOTTSDALE CAPITAL ADVISORS CORPORATION, 

 

                    Plaintiff,  

 

v Case No.:  2018-0153-CZ 

  

MORNINGLIGHTMOUNTAIN, LLC,  

MICHAEL GOODE, and DOES 1-10, 

  

       Defendants. 

__________________________________/ 

 

MOTION FOR SUMMARY DISPOSITION  

BEFORE THE HONORABLE ALEXANDER C. LIPSEY, CIRCUIT JUDGE 

Kalamazoo, Michigan - March 26, 2019 

 

APPEARANCES: 

 

For the Plaintiff:          MS. MARGO ARNOLD, (CA#278288) 

             HARDER LLP 

             132 South Rodeo Drive, Fourth Floor 

                                Beverly Hills, California 90212 

                 (424) 203-1600 

              

For the Defendant:              MR. JOSEPH RICHOTTE, (P70902) 

                                BUTZEL LONG, P.C. 

                                41000 Woodward Avenue 

                                Stoneridge West Building 

                                Bloomfield Hills, MI 48304 

                                (248) 593-2094 

 
                                                          

AUDIO/VIDEO RECORDED   

  

TRANSCRIBED BY:               Ms. Rebecca S. Quarry, CER 8376 

           Certified Electronic Recorder 

           (269) 377-7330 
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   Kalamazoo, Michigan 

   Tuesday, March 26, 2019 - 10:18 a.m. 

    THE CLERK:  Court is now in session.  Please be 

seated.   

    THE COURT:  Okay. 

    THE CLERK:  Court calls the case of Scottsdale 

Capital Advisors Corporation versus MornignLightMountain, 

LLC.  Case number 2018-0153-CZ.  Please state your 

appearances for the record. 

    MS. ARNOLD:  Good morning, your Honor, Margo Arnold 

for the Plaintiff. 

    MR. RICHOTTE:  Good morning, your Honor, Joe 

Richotte, appearing on behalf of the Defendants and present 

with me this morning is Mr. Goode. 

    THE COURT:  Good morning.  We are here on another 

motion for summary disposition filed by Defendants citing MCR 

2.116(C)(8).   

    Mr. Richotte, it is your motion. 

    MR. RICHOTTE:  Thank you, your Honor. 

    Your Honor, we had an opportunity yesterday morning 

to file our reply to the response brief from the Plaintiff’s.  

I just want to hit a couple of high points and then ask if 

the Court has any questions that I can address. 

    The first is an issue that has been recurring here 

and that is the special standard of review that we believe 
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applies in this First Amendment cases.  Of course with 

respect to that issue the Court had in the first motion for 

summary disposition addressed that issue believing it only 

applied to a public figure litigation.  We had supplied some 

additional cases here with this motion outlining why we 

believe that also applies to a private figure case.   

     With respect to the statement itself -- as the 

Court knows we have gone from four statements to two 

statements to one statement.  With the remaining statement 

that we have here we believe that this falls within the scope 

of the doctrine on rhetorical hyperbole.  And while I might 

agree with what I suspect sister Counsel will argue that the 

Komarov case is not perhaps 100 percent fact for fact on 

point the legal principle we believe is the same and that is 

statements of the everyone knows variety are not provably 

false. 

    One of the core problems that we pointed out in our 

opening brief is that the complaint relies on this notion of 

polling the community.  If you ask enough people then you 

would have a sufficient quantum of evidence, if you will, 

that people in fact do not know this, but, of course, as we 

pointed out in our opening brief there is no mechanism in the 

law to allow for polling the community in that fashion and so 

there isn’t really a viable means of proving the falsity of 

the statement, of course, that is the whole point of the 
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rhetorical hyperbole doctrine is if a statement is not 

provably false than it isn’t actionable. 

    Even if the Court believes that it is provably 

false and that there is a vehicle for them to introduce such 

evidence we believe that the substantial truth of the 

statement also renders this not actionable. 

    Importantly Scottsdale does not argue that the 

actual words of the statement are false.  Indeed, the Court 

has already agreed with Defendants that the statements are 

literally true.  

    What we are here about is an alleged implication 

and that is that there is an inference of criminal conduct by 

the juxtaposition of the headline that FINRA fined Scottsdale 

1.5 million for its involvement in a penny stock pump and 

dump scheme. 

    First FINRA is a civil regulatory authority and 

that would have no authority to punish Scottsdale for 

criminal conduct.  Keeping in mind that Air Wisconsin -- the 

Supreme Court case that talks about the reasonable audience 

standard we have to keep in mind here that the reasonable 

audience is a sophisticated consumer of news regarding the 

penny stock market and the implication that Scottsdale wishes 

to read into the statement is not reasonable from that 

perspective. 

    A reasonable audience for the article would 
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understand that FINRA fines are civil in nature only. 

    Second even if the reasonable audience made that 

unreasonable inference Scottsdale refuses to acknowledge that 

a liable defendant is not responsible for every defamatory 

implication that a reader may draw from the report of true 

facts absent evidence and -- this is the important point -- 

that he intended the defamatory implication. 

    One of the main issues, your Honor, as you will 

recall when you dismissed the last version of the complaint, 

is you acknowledged that the Plaintiff has to plead that fact 

even if it is difficult for them to do so.  Even if they 

believe that the evidence is within our possession there is 

still an obligation for them to plead facts and what I think 

is rather telling is its opposition brief Scottsdale does not 

cite to a single pleaded fact to establish that intent 

element.   

    Third, your Honor, the implication that they are 

actually drawing here, we believe is substantially true even 

if the Court feels compelled to reach that issue.  Of course, 

a statement is not considered false unless it would have a 

different effect on the mind of the reader from which the 

pleaded truth would have produced. 

    Here the pleaded truth, of course, is that 

Scottsdale was fined for selling securities without a 

registration or an exemption for registration.   
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    But, of course, Scottsdale doesn’t dispute that 

Defendants’ analysis of the FINRA panel’s decision outlines 

why FINRA tied the fine to Scottsdale’s failure to properly 

police transactions that are susceptible to pump and dump 

transactions.   

    Thus, in FINRA’s estimation because Scottsdale 

didn’t properly police transactions that it was required to 

police that it was partly responsible for the pump and dump 

schemes.  That’s why the fine was increased or at least set 

at the 1.5 level as an aggravating factor. 

    Had Scottsdale done its job properly frankly 

innocent people would not have lost money and the reasonable 

audience, again sophisticated consumers of securities news 

would detect no meaningful difference between engaging in 

behavior and being responsible for that behavior.  In both 

cases the reasonable audience would understand that 

Scottsdale was culpable for the frauds perpetrated on the 

market.   

    The next element, of course, your Honor, is 

defamatory meaning -- and before we go any further there is a 

footnote in Scottsdale’s brief where it asks for sanctions, 

we of course have responded with a footnote of our own 

outlining that, of course, the issue of sanctions we believe 

is inappropriate here where we are reraising arguments 

necessary to preserve issues for appeal. 
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    With respect, your Honor, to the element itself, 

the defamatory meaning Scottsdale argues first that we can’t 

really get to the FINRA report for contextual purposes on the 

defamatory meaning because that article is not part of -- or 

excuse me -- that report is not part of the article.   

    They cite cases from North Carolina and Missouri.  

Nucor Corp and Mandel for the proposition that the defamatory 

meaning has to be judged within the four corners of the 

document -- the four corners of the article and frankly we 

don’t quarrel with that notion.   

    Where we differ is on the idea of attachments.  

Hyperlinks as we have cited in our brief, the Slater case and 

the Adelson case -- attachments to a document are no 

different than you would think of an attachment to a 

complaint, it is part of the document.  When you click on a 

link it would be no different than flipping to a tab on a 

motion where you are going to an exhibit and that is what the 

link provided for here.  It allowed readers to click over to 

the FINRA website and within ten keystrokes, three clicks of 

a mouse they have the document in front of them.   

    Now certainly, it is a long document.  We have, I 

am sure, exhausted the patience of the clerk’s office with 

the number of times we have filed the full 110 pages of that 

document, your Honor, but the fact is it is part of the 

report, it has to be considered under the case law that we 
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have cited and Scottsdale’s response that damage is already 

done before you get the link doesn’t really change the 

analysis.  They are assuming that the reader would be 

essentially too lazy to read through the entirety of the 

FINRA report with, but the law doesn’t presume laziness in 

the reasonable audience.  It presumes that they will read 

that document and that is why the whole article including its 

attachments have to be considered. 

    Your Honor, with respect to the fair comment 

privilege this would only, of course, be reached if the Court 

were to find against us on these first several elements, the 

challenged statement is privileged under Michigan’s fair 

comment privilege and we seem to have a disagreement in 

briefs as to the nature of the privilege that we are 

asserting.   

    We do contend that it is the fair comment 

privilege, not the public interest privilege.  The fair 

comment privilege still remains intact and has been recently 

called the qualified privilege in the Dadd case.  That is a 

2010 case from Michigan Supreme Court.  I would also note, 

your Honor, that that is a private figure case where the 

Supreme Court held that Plaintiffs must prove untruth and 

actual malice when that privilege applies.   

    On indeed and partial concurrence Justice Markman 

traced the contours of the privilege.  Where Justice Markman 

- 27a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:28 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:28 PM



 

 
 

10 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

and Justice Corrigan diverged from majority in that opinion, 

your Honor, was really on the language of the jury 

instruction, not on the nature of the scope of the privilege.  

So I think in this case, Justice Markman’s concurrence is 

rather instructive on where that privilege stands today.   

    The principal of fair comment affords legal 

immunity for the honest expression of opinion on matters of 

legitimate public interest when based upon a true or 

privileged statement of fact.  Now here, of course, we have 

no disagreement between the parties that that statement 

itself is literally true.  The issue comes down to whether it 

is a matter of legitimate public interest.   

    We agree that conceptually Rouch outlines the idea 

that not every criminal matter is a matter of public 

interest, of course, some still are.  Where I think we have 

some disagreement between two parties is that there is really 

different issues that are in play here. 

    First of course, FINRA is a civil fine as we talked 

about earlier so we are not talking about criminal matters, 

although I suspect what we are going to hear is that that 

there is some analogues, of course, within the securities act 

that violations of certain regulations can be criminal 

violations, but again reasonable audience looking at FINRA 

taking action would understand that that is civil in nature. 

    But more importantly, your Honor, the Defendants 
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provide news to investors.  They include warnings about stock 

manipulation schemes to prevent them from being fleeced.  The 

public has an interest in understanding how pump and dump 

schemes work, how they succeed, in part through companies 

like Scottsdale failing to police transactions, whether a 

scheme has been detected or is suspected so the investors can 

take action to protect themselves and whether they have been 

victimized by a scheme so that they can seek redress and, of 

course, these are just a handful of the legitimate public 

interest that are served by this reporting.   

    So to overcome the privilege Scottsdale must plead 

and prove actual malice under Dadd even if it claims to be a 

public figure -- or excuse me -- a private figure, but, of 

course, it has not done so as we have already discussed.   

    Finally, your Honor, on the issue of fault.  

Scottsdale alleges that a reasonable journalist reads the 

documents he cites.  We tend to agree with that as a concept.  

The article here in which the statement appears quotes 

extensively from the FINRA report and so I think the only 

reasonable inference that eh Court can draw from that is that 

Mr. Goode did, in fact, read the article -- or excuse me -- 

read the report. 

    Scottsdale also alleges that a reasonable 

journalist would not report or imply that a fine for 

procedural noncompliance is the equivalent of a fine for 
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intentional pump and dump schemes.  Of course, as we have 

already discussed the Court has ruled that the Defendants did 

not report this.  So if we are going to proceed by the 

implication theory that requires Scottsdale to plead facts 

from which the Court can infer that the Defendants intended 

the implication so that you see the tie in as we were talking 

earlier. 

    In their opening-- or excuse -- in our opening 

brief and as we have already laid out here this morning 

Scottsdale has not pleaded any facts.  That is a core 

deficiency in the complaint that has not been remedied with 

this third amended complaint.  It merely points to the 

conclusory allegation that Defendants “acted negligently.”  

But that, of course, is insufficient.  That is a legal 

conclusion that will not carry them across the finish line. 

    With that, your Honor, I would like to see if the 

Court has any questions before yielding the floor to opposing 

Counsel. 

    THE COURT:  Well, I am going to ask you to yield 

the floor because I want to hear both sides of this 

particular coin so. 

    MR. RICHOTTE:  Very good.  Thank you, your Honor. 

    THE COURT:  (Inaudible).   

    MS. ARNOLD:  To start -- pardon me -- with whether 

or not there is a heightened pleading standard for defamation 
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when there is a private figure.  The extra cases cited by 

Defendants do not state that there is a heightened pleading 

standard for every element.  The cases cited explain that 

there is a specific pleading standard for the defamatory 

statement.  

    And here in our case we’ve specifically plead the 

defamatory statement as well as attached it to the complaint.  

So to the extent that they have offered new arguments for 

this I believe that we sufficiently addressed them in our 

amended complaint.   

    Moving to the next issue as to whether or not the 

defamatory statement is hyperbolic.  Everyone knows is not a 

exaggerated automatically hyperbolic statement.  It would be 

possible to determine whether or not everyone knows that 

Scottsdale is associated with pump and dump schemes by 

seeking the testimony of an expert or putting a focus group 

into evidence.  There are many ways to do this where it is 

not an everyone knows hyperbolic exaggerated statement.   

    Moving next to the defamatory meaning of statement 

number one.  We argue that you would consider the full 111 

page report because you look at that four corners of the 

defamatory article to determine the context.  You look at 

more than just the statement because it may be an opinion 

piece, it may be a satirical place in the onion, you look at 

that to get the full content.   
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    But to expect a reasonable reader to go to every 

cite in a report or to look up every referenced report in an 

article would essentially be setting the standard that an 

article could be completely defamatory, but as long as it is 

citing to another report that gets it right it -- the reader 

is supposed to be reading that report and coming to the 

conclusion of, oh this article may have gotten it wrong, but 

I now understand because I have done my own research.   

    It is just not reasonable to assume that a reader 

is going to look at an article where it is expecting to get 

an accurate report of the news and then do its own research 

into all of the cites that that article came from. 

    Defendants argue that the statement is 

substantially true and therefore cannot be liable for 

defamation.   

    First we claim that this article is defamatory for 

two respects.   

    First that it falsely makes the association that 

Scottsdale Capital Advisors is known as a pump and dump.  

That is not true.  The article doesn’t claim that it is true.  

The -- I apologize -- the report doesn’t claim that it is 

true. 

    The second defamatory meaning that we have from the 

article is that FINRA fined Scottsdale for its involvement in 

pump and dump activity.   

- 32a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:28 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:28 PM



 

 
 

15 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

    Now the reasonable audience would interpret this as 

meaning that it wasn’t -- that it was fined for some sort of 

involvement when the reality is the report was explaining 

that FINRA fined Scottsdale for failing to adhere to some 

administrative requirements.  Specifically that it did not 

have registration to act as it did and it did not meet an 

exception for -- to be -- not have registration.  This is 

substantially different than being involved in pump and dump 

activity. 

    While there may be some concerns that it is 

failures to act in a way to get an exemption, for instance to 

have safeguards that may have prohibited pump and dump 

activity from occurring by its clients, that is in no way 

suggesting that it was actively involved in pump and dump 

activity.  

    Essentially this would be saying that -- someone 

saying there is a warrant out for my arrest for unpaid 

parking tickets is the same as a warrant out for my arrest 

because of a hit and run.  While, yes the same thing is true, 

there is a warrant out there, what I did is substantially 

different and in the eyes of a reasonable reader that would 

create a material difference in how they view the defamatory 

implication from that statement. 

    Defendant has also argued that we have failed to 

claim -- proficiently plead defamation by implication because 
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a defendant is not liable for every inference that a reader 

makes.   

    This is absolutely true, however the defendant is 

liable for the reasonable implications that a reader would 

draw and we plead that it was reasonable for a reader to 

assume that a headline reading FINRA fines Scottsdale and the 

first line of the article being, if you are familiar with 

pump and dumps you are familiar with Scottsdale that the 

implication is reasonable Scottsdale has been fined for 

involvement in pump and dump activity. 

    Additionally a defendant is liable for defamation 

by implication if it has omitted a fact that creates a false 

implication and that is exactly what happened here.  

Defendants did not write in their article that Scottsdale was 

fined for failing to have a registration, rather it says 

Scottsdale was fined and then goes on to talk at length about 

its involvement in alleged pump and dump activity. 

    Defendants for the first time raise the argument 

that their article is protected by the fair comment privilege 

and if we look -- putting aside our argument as whether or 

not they were discussing fair comment versus public -- fair 

public interest -- if we look at fair comment the rule is 

that it protects honest opinion based on true fact -- true or 

privileged fact.   

    Here we do not have an honest opinion based on true 
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or privileged fact.  We have an article that is saying it is 

reporting on a FINRA decision.  This isn’t an opinion, this 

is a statement of fact and it is not based on a true fact 

either.  If the report, which again the Court has seen -- it 

is 100 pages -- is very clear that FINRA has fined Scottsdale 

for an administrative failure.  It did not have the proper 

registration and did not fall into an exemption.   

    To opine then that this means that they were held -

- they were fined for pump and dump activity or are 

affiliated with pump and dump activity is not an opinion 

based on this true fact, rather it is creating a new fact 

based on this report.   

    Finally, your Honor, with respect to negligence I 

believe we all agree that in Michigan the negligence standard 

is that the Defendants’ actions have to measure to those of a 

reasonably careful journalist.  And here Scottsdale pleads 

that a reasonable journalist reads the documents he cites and 

would not report or imply that a fine for procedural 

noncompliance is the equivalent of a fine for intentional 

pump and dump activity.   

    We adequately plead that Defendants were negligent 

because they created the implication of false statement 

number one that FINRA fined Scottsdale 1.5 million for 

participating in illegal pump and dump schemes despite the 

fact that the report that they are contending to report on 
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states that they were fined -- not for their involvement in a 

pump and dump scheme, but for the administrative failure to 

have a registration or qualify for an exemption.   

    Given the pleading standard of whether or not the 

pleadings assumed -- taken to be true and in the lights most 

favorable to the Plaintiff sufficiently give the Defendant 

notice of the claims and plead the elements sought -- this 

should -- excuse me -- I believe Plaintiffs have adequately 

pled their cause of action and that this should be dis -- 

denied. 

    THE COURT:  Thank you. 

    MR. RICHOTTE:  Your Honor, I have a habit of 

telling you I will be brief and then I go long.  I will try 

to -- try to stick to it this time.   

    THE COURT:  Standard for attorneys. 

    MR. RICHOTTE:  Let’s see.  Let’s start with 

hyperbole.  It is possible to prove through an expert or a 

focus group.  What we don’t have is any way of knowing how 

you could establish community knowledge through an expert.  

An expert might have special knowledge or training on a 

particular issues, but what is in the minds of a community is 

really beyond the -- if you will pardon the expression -- 

expertise of an expert.   

    When we talk about focus groups we run into the 

problem that we are really still talking about a poll.  A 
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focus group is by nature going to be limited.  This is a 

online article, which I am sure is why it has drawn the 

attention of Scottsdale to this courtroom.  How is it that we 

are going to poll a focus group from all across the country 

and get everybody here to talk about what their views are -- 

and then of course even then that is not going to be 

everybody, it is going to be a subset of everybody so how you 

extrapolate that for the jury I think still raises ultimate 

proof problems. 

    Within the question about defamatory meaning and 

whether you can consider the report, I will assume at this 

point, your Honor, for argument purposes that the Court will 

actually consider the report, what we get down to is really a 

fundamental disagreement as to whether linked out information 

is part of the article and if the Court were to read the 

Adler case from Nevada and there’s both a -- I should say all 

-- there is three cases, there is a Federal District Court 

decision where the matter originated.  It then went up to 

the, I believe, 10th Circuit governs Nevada -- or is that a - 

the 9th -- 

    MS. ARNOLD:  9th Circuit. 

    MR. RICHOTTE:  -- it is 9th Circuit.  Our friends 

in the 9th Circuit certified the question to the Nevada 

Supreme Court and both the Federal District Court and the 

Nevada Supreme Court found that linked out information is 
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something that should be considered when assessing the action 

ability of an article.  

    With respect, your Honor, to substantial truth I 

would like to focus a moment on the warrant analogy because I 

think it is a good one, but I also think it is very helpful 

to us.  If a news report -- if a police blogger for example 

in you local newspaper were to have a story in there that 

somebody had an arrest warrant period.  No explanation.  Just 

there is an arrest warrant.  If you know this person either 

let them know or bring it to the attention of the police.  

All right.  But it doesn’t talk about parking, it doesn’t 

talk about what the underlying charge is.   

    Would the person have a cause of action to come 

into court and say, well, Judge, they didn’t tell everybody 

that it was just a parking ticket, now I have got people in 

the community thinking I am some very bad vicious criminal 

because I have an arrest warrant.   

    What we are really talking about at that point 

isn’t the accuracy of the news -- we are not even talking 

about fair implications, what we are talking about is 

editorial control over the paper.  

    And that is really what is going on here.  If you 

actually go back to the statement that we are all talking 

about.  It is sometimes easy to overlook as we dive in.  The 

statement is, if you have followed penny stocks and pump and 
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dumps for a few years than you know Scottsdale Capital 

Advisors.  Well, what is that you know?  Right.  Not that 

they have been involved in a pump and dump scheme because 

remember the juxtaposition here is the headline.  FINRA fines 

Scottsdale 1.5 million.  Doesn’t say why they fine them 1.5 

million.  It says fined them 1.5 million.  If you follow pump 

and dumps than you know Scottsdale Capital Advisors.   

    If the Court goes back and takes a look at that 

opening paragraph it introduces the reader to the topic that 

is being discussed.  Scottsdale and the fine that it is going 

to be talking about. 

    The second paragraph is where we actually start 

talking about the FINRA report and when we talk about the 

FINRA report there is a huge excerpt there talking about John 

Hurry and the deviousness -- it is an actual quote from the 

FINRA report -- all right -- that the deviousness of what 

happened with respect to Scottsdale’s failure to comply with 

regulatory requirements merited an increase in the fine. 

    And indeed I would like to point the Court to page 

11 of our opening brief where we talk about the Panamanian 

pump and dump from 2008 to 2012 to the Bahamian  pump and dump 

in 2008 and those are in the FINRA panel decision, pages 11 

and 12. 

    Later on after FINRA has talked about Scottsdale’s 

role in those two pump and dumps -- and it is talking about 
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aggravating factors for the $1.5 million fine FINRA writes 

finally, although -- and I am going to use Scottsdale as 

opposed to the company or the other reference that is used as 

an oblique reference to Scottsdale -- finally although 

Scottsdale was not charged in Reuttiger, Gibraltar I, 

Gibraltar II and Tavella -- and those are cases that tie back 

to those pump and dumps -- those cases did involve alleged 

misconduct through accounts at Scottsdale.  Those cases put 

Scottsdale on notice of the risk of sham transactions and the 

use of nominees to conceal beneficial ownership and 

facilitate unlawful distributions of securities.  They 

heightened the need for Scottsdale to be alert to red flags.  

In light of this history it is aggravating that Scottsdale 

performed its gatekeeping function so poorly. 

    So part of this $1.5 million fine -- we are not 

contending that all of it -- is attributable to pump and 

dumps, but FINRA specifically noted you have a history of 

facilitating pump and dumps by your nonfeasance.  You aren’t 

doing what you are required to do and people are getting 

scammed.  It put you on notice.  You have to improve your 

policing function if you are to continue to do business with 

FINRA.   

  And Scottsdale’s response was, we do just fine, 

thank you very much, we don’t need to improve.  Well 

Scottsdale saw that -- excuse me -- FINRA saw that 
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differently and decided that a $1.5 million fine was 

necessary to coerce Scottsdale into improving its actions. 

    When you talk about a $1.5 million fine and you 

talk about everybody knowing Scottsdale -- anybody in the 

securities market -- at least the penny stocks side of the 

securities market that has followed pump and dumps would be 

aware of the Panamanian scheme, would be aware of the 

Bahamian scheme, be aware of the litigation that was 

surrounding that and would be aware that it was Scottsdale 

that assisted inserting those shares into the market. 

    So under those circumstances, your Honor, we 

believe that the substantial truth is evident from the 

article.   

    On the final issue of privilege and whether what we 

are talking about here is an opinion it seems pretty clear to 

me that if you are talking about -- and this goes back as 

well to the rhetorical hyperbole side of things, everybody 

knows, right, if you have been paying attention to penny 

stocks over the last few years you know about frauds that 

have gone on in the market.  If you know of frauds that have 

gone on in the market then you would know of the Panamanian 

scheme, of the Bahamian scheme.   

    So we get back to is it a fair comment to say, kind 

of, here we go again, right, if you’ve paid attention you 

know about these guys and here is what FINRA has done about 
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their failure to uphold their end of the regulatory scheme.   

    So given that, your Honor, unless the Court has any 

questions I would be happy to take a seat. 

    THE COURT:  Thank you.   

    MS. ARNOLD:  Just a couple points. 

    THE COURT:  Sure. 

    MS. ARNOLD:  Going back to the arrest analogy and 

whether or not we are trying to stifle editorial opinion by 

going into -- the Defendants did just say that FINRA issued a 

fine, but explained what they believed the fine was for.  

There is a substantial difference in saying that somebody was 

fined by FINRA or by saying somebody was arrested.   

    The reader can draw their own conclusions, but when 

the publisher is explaining what that fine is for or what 

that arrest is for they are telling the reader this is what 

she should be thinking, this is the implication of this fine 

and in that they are creating a negative defamatory 

conclusion.  In this case if Defendants had just written 

FINRA fines Scottsdale that would leave the readier to draw 

their own conclusions as to how severe that fine is.   

    That is not what Defendants did.  Defendants went a 

step further and said FINRA fines Scottsdale  and that that 

fine was associated with pump and dump activity which draws 

the reader to conclude that this wasn’t just a mere fine, but 

one associated with pump and dump activity.  Something that’s 
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both illegal and frowned upon in the investment community. 

    To discuss substantial truth going into the report 

-- the FINRA report and how it went through the history of 

pump and dumps and some of Scottsdale’s client’s affiliations 

with such pump and dumps, FINRA never stated in its report 

that Scottsdale was affirmatively participating in or 

allowing pump and dump activities to occur.  Rather it said 

that enough of these have happened and that FINRA was not 

satisfied with Scottsdale changing its gatekeeping activities 

to prevent this. 

    Now Scottsdale disagreed and in fact they have 

appealed this FINRA decision, but their failure to adequately 

gate keep to FINRA’s expectation does not mean that they were 

actively involved in pump and dump activity or doing anything 

beyond their administrative duties.   

    To say that it is substantial true that people in t 

the investment community who are familiar with pump and dump 

activities and familiar with penny stocks would then be 

familiar with Scottsdale essentially defeats the hyperbole 

argument.  If that is something that would could prove is 

substantially true than it is not hyperbole, it is capable of 

being proved -- proven true or false.   

    However, it is not substantially true because they 

have not been associated with pump and dump activity.  They 

have been associated with failing to properly gate keep, to 
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receive an exemption to a registration requirement.  They 

have been associated with administrative failure, again, 

which they are appealing.  They are not associated with pump 

and dump activity or affirmatively acting within the pump and 

dump schemes. 

    If your Honor has any questions I am happy to 

answer them at this time. 

    THE COURT:  No, no question as this point. 

    MR. RICHOTTE:  Your Honor, I appreciate the Court 

indulging and extended argument this morning. 

    THE COURT:  Sure. 

    MR. RICHOTTE:  I want to focus -- I will make these 

kind of my final remarks and reply -- the focus that 

Scottsdale is asking the Court to hone in on is the 

juxtaposition between the headline, FINRA fines Scottsdale 

Capital Advisors 1.5 million and the opening statement -- the 

lead if you will of the article, which is sentence 1, 

paragraph 1, if you have followed penny stocks and pump and 

dumps for a few years then you know Scottsdale Capital 

Advisors, herein referred to as Scottsdale Capital. 

    Your Honor, if we go back to what the reasonable 

audience would understand when they look at this, who is 

Scottsdale Capital Advisors?  What is their role in the 

securities market?  Their role is essentially to facilitate 

the entry of stocks in the marketplace.  They don’t -- they 
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may trade on behalf of their clients if you will, but their 

role isn’t to create the stock.  All right.  Their role is to 

simply provide a means, a vehicle by which stock enters the 

market. 

    So what would a reasonable audience member 

understand from that?  They would understand that the company 

that is supposed to be policing these transactions has been 

involved in pump and dump schemes that clearly got past 

whatever policing functions had been created internally.  All 

right.   

    But I think you also have to zoom out from the 

headline and the lead.  You have to take a look at the rest 

of the article.  And, of course, we have talked about the 

FINRA report itself, I don’t need to exhaust the Court’s 

patience on that issue.  Even if you look at just the rest of 

the first paragraph.  They are one the of the few brokers 

left -- brokers, so now we have -- even for people who might 

have a marginal knowledge of the market we have identified 

these people as brokers -- that continue to allow the deposit 

and sale of shares in illiquid penny stocks.  So we have now 

defined who is Scottsdale, what do they do, what is their 

role in the securities market?  Larger brokers and discount 

brokers stopped allowing that over five years ago.  Right.  

That statement is no longer part of this action either.   

    When the big Biozoom pump happened in 2013 many of 
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the frozen accounts were at Scottsdale Capital.  So again 

this is further evidence that we are not talking about a 

person who has concocted a scheme, what we are talking about 

is a business that -- and I -- we used this analogy, I think 

back on our very first motion, right, to the bank -- right -- 

where laundered funds are deposited and the bank is supposed 

to have things in place to stop that from happening, right, 

they are supposed to have reports that go out to (Inaudible) 

-- 

    THE COURT:  (Inaudible). 

    MR. RICHOTTE:  Yes, exactly, your Honor.  So nobody 

would confuse the bank for having engaged in the money 

laundering, right, it is the unwitting tool. 

    Now, here, right the unwitting nature of 

Scottsdale’s participation according to FINRA is no longer 

really that unwitting, right.  When you have consistently 

been snookered by people who are looking to commit frauds on 

the market you have got to pay a little bit more attention 

and up your game and they didn’t do that.  All right.   

    That, of course, is the second, third and ongoing 

paragraphs of the article, right.  So, of course, we 

referenced the fine, we give people a link to it and then we 

give an expert -- excerpt.  And what does the excerpt talk 

about?  Right.  The excerpt talks about -- right -- all of 

the problems and why it is that FINRA issued the fine.   
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    So it isn’t as if reading this article you get the 

conclusion you are fined for pump and dumps, right.  It is 

very clear you have violated a bunch of regulatory 

provisions, this is a civil regulatory institution, you have 

been fined civilly, right, and we understand in part why 

because you have been engaged in lax oversight that has 

allowed these pump and dumps.   

    So, again, what does the reasonable audience 

understand.  That is the touchstone under Air Wisconsin.  

There is really no confusion here from the standpoint of the 

reader.  What is it that is being conveyed?  It isn’t that 

Scottsdale has engaged in pump and dump activity.  All right.   

It is that Scottsdale has been the conduit through which pump 

and dump activity has occurred because of inadequate 

oversight.  

    Thank you, your Honor. 

    THE COURT:  Thank you.  

    This matter is before the Court on summary 

disposition motion under Michigan Court Rule 2.116(C)(8).   

    This is kind of the third time through so I think 

parties are clear that the Court is clear that the function 

at this particular juncture is for the Court to analyze in 

this case the third amended complaint as to whether -- 

looking simply at the pleadings -- whether the Plaintiff has 

-- has or has not stated a claim upon which relief can be 
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granted.   

    I would note parties have made substantial 

arguments regarding what can or cannot be shown in terms of 

whether the Plaintiff actually falls under a -- I guess I 

will take the last argument -- under a lax enforcement 

mechanism, an active engagement in pump and dump or some 

other status which would cause the public to lose faith in 

the Plaintiff. 

    The Court has -- and I will take a little diversion 

here -- the Court has made a ruling with regard to whether 

there’s a heightened standard relating to this particular 

Plaintiff and the Court is standing by its earlier ruling 

that Plaintiff does not have to establish actual malice in 

the publication of this particular article and actually this 

particular phrase which is the only thing left in terms of an 

action. 

    But, the question still needs to be determined as 

to the other pieces that the Defendant has raised -- so 

called barriers to going forward with this action based upon 

the latest amended complaint.   

    I would note the question of negligence, hyperbole, 

of whether in fact there is falsehood involved, where in fact 

the statement itself is defamatory in nature goes to, in 

essence, proofs that may or may not be available to the 

Plaintiff.  The arguments raised, the citation as to the 
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various -- both the FINRA report, which the Court understands 

is rather elaborate and had a whole lot of matters that don’t 

necessarily touch on this particular issue, all of those are 

considerations that the Court might well determine in a 

(C)(10) motion as dispositive of this proceeding, but I am 

not considering this as dispositive in a (C)(8) proceeding. 

    Looking at the amended complaint the Court is 

satisfied that the issue at this point has been properly 

raised so that it can be properly disposed of by this Court 

upon full exposition of the underlying facts.  I’m convinced 

that the parties have so narrowed the -- sharpened the focus, 

I guess, is the best way of saying it, of this matter as to 

the specific legal issues as related to the facts that -- as 

each side sees it that a court can, in fact, grant relief 

either by way of dismissal or of affirmation to the 

respective parties. 

    So for that reason the Court is going to deny 

motion for summary disposition under 2.116(C)(8). 

    Ms. Arnold, I guess you can prepare a quick order -

- 

    MS. ARNOLD:  Yes, your Honor. 

    THE COURT:  -- for the reasons stated on the 

record. 

    MR. RICHOTTE:  Your Honor, just a few housekeeping 

matters -- 
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    THE COURT:  Sure. 

    MR. RICHOTTE:  -- based on that ruling.  The first 

is taking a look at the docket sheet I saw that we have trial 

scheduled for rather early -- 

    THE COURT:  I saw that this morning too. 

    MR. RICHOTTE:  -- next month. 

    THE COURT:  And I am not sure that that is really 

going to give you guys much of a period to do discovery if 

nothing else. 

    MR. RICHOTTE:  I would agree, your Honor.  Perhaps 

Counsel can work out a case management order and submit that 

for your consideration. 

    THE COURT:  That would be acceptable.  I -- we have 

narrowed down the particular, I guess, focus in terms in 

terms of statements to the point where I think things can be 

fairly efficiently handled, but it still is going to require 

a little bit of time and probably some exchange in documents 

so I would -- yes, if you can provide a reasonable scheduling 

criteria in this case.  I hate disrupting people’s summers 

but my suspicion is we could probably get to this sometime in 

mid to late summer. 

    MR. RICHOTTE:  Okay. 

    THE COURT:  I think that would be good. 

    MR. RICHOTTE:  All right.  And on that note, your 

Honor, I hope you will understand the spirit of which this is 
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offered, it is fairly common in these kinds of cases for a 

Defendant to seek an interlocutory review -- 

    THE COURT:  Sure. 

    MR. RICHOTTE:  -- because there are appellate 

standards that -- 

    THE COURT:  Yep. 

    MR. RICHOTTE:  -- come into play in defamation 

actions. 

    THE COURT:  Yep. 

    MR. RICHOTTE:  I can talk further obviously with 

Mr. Goode after this as to whether he intends to pursue that, 

but at least preliminary indications that I have from him 

were that he would like to pursue that option.  So what I 

would like to do is first ask the Court -- before we go into 

the scheduling issue -- 

    THE COURT:  Sure. 

    MR. RICHOTTE:  -- for a stay as the Court may be 

aware I have to ask the Court for a stay before I would even 

be able to -- 

    THE COURT:  Stay of proceedings. 

    MR. RICHOTTE:  Stay of the proceedings, right 

before proceeding to the Court of Appeals.  I would like to 

at least make that oral motion now. 

    THE COURT:  Yeah.  Ms. Arnold, do you have any 

position on that? 
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    MS. ARNOLD:  No.  No objection. 

    THE COURT:  You probably object, but you don’t 

really have any position that can be winnable in front of the 

Court at that point.  Court will grant your request for a 

stay of these proceedings pending an interlocutory appeal.  

Quite honestly I -- well, I guess, it probably wasn’t ripe 

earlier because the Court had dismissed each of the other 

amended complaints, but I anticipated that you would want to 

at least test the Court with regard to the question of public 

versus private and that is fine and you may have some other 

things so I have no problem with going ahead and getting 

guidance from that standpoint. 

    MR. RICHOTTE:  All right.  I appreciate that, your 

Honor. 

    THE COURT:  No problem. 

    MR. RICHOTTE:  In that case I will be more than 

happy to prepare that order, we can I am sure exchange them 

and submit them as stipulated orders for the Court’s entry. 

    THE COURT:  No problem.  Thank you -- 

    MR. RICHOTTE:  All right.  

    THE COURT:  -- very much.  I appreciate it. 

    T MR. RICHOTTE:  hank you, your Honor. 

    THE COURT:  Yep.  Court will stand in recess. 

    (At 11:08 a.m., proceeding concluded)  
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STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 

COUNTY OF KALAMAZOO )  

 

 

 I certify that this transcript, consisting of 35 pages, is a 

complete, true, and correct transcript to the best of my 

ability of the proceedings held and testimony taken in this 

case on Tuesday, March 26, 2019, before the Honorable 

Alexander C. Lipsey, Circuit Judge. 

 

Dated: 04.06.19     

      ___________________________ 

      Rebecca S. Quarry (CER 8376) 

      25477 Silver Oaks Blvd 

      Mattawan, MI 49071 

      (269) 377-7330 
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STATE OF MICHIGAN 
IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE COUNTY OF KALAMAZOO 

SCOTTSDALE CAPITAL ADVISORS CORP., 
an Arizona corporation, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

MORNINGLIGHTMOUNTAIN, LLC, a 
Michigan limited liability company d/b/a 
GoodeTrades.com; MICHAEL GOODE, an 
individual; and DOES 1-10, inclusive, 

Defendants. 

Case No: I8-0I53-CZ 
Hon. Alexander C. Lipsey 

F I LED I APR 202018 
9TH CIRCUIT COURT 

COUNlY OF KALAMAZOO 
KAlAM MICHIGAN 

PLAINTIFF'S FIRST COMPLAINT AND JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiff Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corp., for its Complaint against 

MorningLightMountain, LLC d/b/a GoodeTrades.com and Michael Goode, alleges as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. Plaintiff Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corp. ("SCA") is a successful securities 

broker-dealer. 

2. In an effOli to smear SCA's reputation, MorningLightMountain, LLC d/b/a 

GoodeTrades.com and Michael Goode (collectively, "Defendants") published two articles on 

their website, www.goodetrades.com. on April 17,2017 and June 14,2017 which contained 

numerous false, defamatory, and highly misleading statements of and concerning SCA. Among 

other things, the articles falsely alleged that SCA is involved in penny stock "pump and dump" 

schemes and improperly permits the trading of penny stocks. 

1 
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3. By this action, SCA seeks to clear its good name and hold Defendants liable for 

the harm caused by their misconduct. 

THE PARTIES 

4. Plaintiff Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corp. is, and at all times relevant hereto was, 

a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Arizona, with its principal place of 

business in Maricopa County, Arizona. 

5. SCA is informed and believes and based thereon alleges that Defendant 

MorningLightMountain, LLC d/b/a GoodeTrades.com ("MorningLightMountain") is, and at all 

times relevant hereto was, a corporation organized under the laws of the Michigan, with its 

principal place of business in Eaton County, Michigan. SCA is informed and believes and based 

thereon alleges that MorningLightMountain owns and operates the website goodetrades.com. 

6. SCA is informed and believes and based thereon alleges that Defendant Michael 

Goode ("Goode") is an individual who resides in Kalamazoo County, Michigan. Upon 

information and belief, Goode is the sole owner and officer of Defendant 

MorningLightMountain. 

7. SCA is informed and believes and based thereon alleges that the fictitiously-

named defendants sued herein as Does 1 through 10, and each of them, are in some manner 

responsible or legally liable for the actions, events, transactions and circumstances alleged 

herein. The true names and capacities of such fictitiously-named defendants, whether individual, 

corporate, or otherwise, are presently unknown to SCA, and SCA will seek leave of Court to 

amend this Complaint to asseli the true names and capacities of such fictitiously-named 

defendants when the same have been ascertained. For convenience, each reference to a named 

defendant herein shall also refer to Does 1 through 10. All defendants, including 

2 
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MorningLightMountain, LLC d/b/a GoodeTrades.com, Michael Goode, and those referred to 

herein as Does 1 through 10, are collectively referred to herein as "Defendants." 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

8. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because they have minimum 

contacts with the State of Michigan, and defendant Goode is a domiciliary of the State of 

Michigan. 

9. Venue in Kalamazoo is proper because Defendant resides in Kalamazoo County. 

10. The amount in controversy exceeds Twenty Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00) 

exclusive of interest, costs, and attorney fees and the matter is otherwise within the jurisdiction 

of this Court. 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

11. Founded in 2002, SCA is a full service broker-dealer focused on serving the 

microcap securities market, often referred to as the OTC market. In this time, SCA has grown to 

become one of the dominant companies in the OTC market, with more than $125 million wOlih 

of trades in 2015. 

12. On April 17,2017, Defendants published an article written by Goode on the 

website goodettrades.com, entitled "FINRA fines Scottsdale Capital Advisors $1.5 million" (the 

"April Article"): https://www.goodetrades.com120 17 /04/finra-fines-scottsdale-capital-advisors-l-

5-millionl. A true and correct copy of the April Article is attached hereto as Exhibit 1 and 

incorporated by this reference. 

13. The April Article contained numerous statements that are defamatory and outright 

false, including: 

a. False Statement #1: "If you have followed penny stocks and pump and dumps 

3 
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for a few years then you know Scottsdale Capital Advisors." 

In truth, SCA has never been involved in any "pump and dump" schemes, has never been 

a defendant in any "pump and dump" lawsuits, and has never been convicted of engaging in 

"pump and dump" activity. 

b. False Statement #2: "They [SCA] are one of the few brokers left that have 

continued to allow the deposit and sale of shares of illiquid penny stocks. Larger brokers and 

discount brokers stopped allowing that over five years ago." 

In truth, numerous large brokers continue to trade in penny stocks, including without 

limitation, interactive brokers, Merrill Lynch, Charles Schwab, Scottrade, Cor Clearing, and 

TradeKing. 

c. False Statement #3: "When the big Biozoom (BIZM) pump happened back in 

2013 many of the frozen accounts were at Scottsdale Capital." 

In truth, only a handful of accounts at SCA were frozen as a result of Biozoom trading. 

Moreover, SCA has never been a defendant in any lawsuit involving the trading of Biozoom 

stock. 

14. On June 14,2017, Defendants published a second article written on 

goodetrades.com by Goode, entitled "SEC Sues Alpine Securities, continuing a run of bad news 

for owner John Hurry" (the "June Article"): https:llwww.goodetrades.com/2017/06/ sec-sues

alpine-securities-continuing-a-run-of-bad-news-for-owner-john-hurry/. A true and correct copy 

of the June Article is attached hereto as Exhibit 2 and incorporated by this reference. 

15. The June Article contains statements that are defamatory and outright false, 

including: 

a. False Statement #1: "Lest anyone think that these are just minor paperwork 
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deficiencies with no real consequences, I remind you that one pump and dump alone, Biozoom 

(BIZM) led to over $17 million in fraudulent profits for manipulators / insiders, and many of 

their accounts were at Scottsdale Capital Advisors." 

In truth, other than hosting a handful of accounts that traded in Biozoom shares, SCA had 

nothing to do with the trading of Biozoom shares. Moreover, as discussed above, SCA has never 

been involved in any "pump and dump" schemes (including any "pump and dumps" involving 

Biozoom shares), has never been a defendant in any "pump and dump" lawsuits, and has never 

been convicted of engaging in "pump and dump" activity. 

16. On September 21,2017, SCA's counsel sent a letter to Defendants identifying the 

foregoing false statements in the April Aliicle and June Article (collectively, the "Articles"), and 

demanding that Defendants remove each one and publish a retraction, correction, and apology as 

to each of those statements. Defendants have failed and refused to comply with SCA's demand. 

17. The false, defamatory, and highly misleading statements written and published by 

Defendants have caused and are continuing to cause SCA economic harm and damage to its 

reputation. Accordingly, SCA has no alternative but to file this lawsuit for compensatory 

damages, punitive damages, and injunctive relief, as explained more fully herein. 

COUNT ONE 
(Against All Defendants) 

(Defamation) 

18. SCA incorporates by reference all of the preceding paragraphs as though fully 

restated herein. 

19. Defendants wrote and published the defamatory statements of fact about SCA 

referred to in Paragraphs 13 and 15 herein (collectively, the "Defamatory Statements"). 
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20. The Defamatory Statements are false. Moreover, the statements, individually and 

jointly, tend to so harm the reputation of Plaintiff as to lower its reputation in the community or 

deter third persons from associating or dealing with it. 

21. The Defamatory Statements involve materially false implications. 

22. The Defamatory Statements have caused SCA to be damaged. 

23. Defendants have refused to retract, correct or apologize for the Defamatory 

Statements after being given notice and ample time to do so. 

24. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants' conduct, SCA has suffered 

damages to its reputation and business interests in an amount to be determined at trial, and in an 

amount not less than the jurisdictional minimum of this Court. SCA's damages may also be 

presumed because the Defamatory Statements impute to SCA offenses regarded by public 

opinion as involving moral turpitude, and unfitness for the proper conduct of its lawful business, 

trade, and profession. 

25. SCA is a private figure for purposes of a defamation analysis. 

26. Notwithstanding SCA's status as a private figure, at the time the Defamatory 

Statements were published, Defendants knew the Defamatory Statements were false andlor acted 

in reckless disregard of whether the Defamatory Statements were true or false. As such, in 

addition to compensatory damages andlor presumed damages, SCA is entitled to an award of 

punitive damages in an amount to be determined at trial. 

COUNT TWO 
(Against All Defendants) 

(Invasion of Privacy: False Light) 

27. SCA incorporates by reference all of the preceding paragraphs as though fully 

restated herein. 
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28. Defendants' publication of the Defamatory Statements also caused there to be 

publicity concerning SCA that placed SCA in a false light in the public eye. 

29. By publishing the Defamatory Statements, Defendants broadcast to the public in 

general, or to a large number of people, information that was umeasonable and highly 

objectionable by attributing to SCA characteristics and/or conduct that were false and placed 

SCA in a false position. 

30. At the time Defendants published statements, they knew the Defamatory 

Statements were false and/or acted in reckless disregard as to the falsity of the publicized matter 

and the false light in which SCA would be placed. 

31. Defendants' conduct was not for any proper purpose, nor was it within the scope 

of Defendants' authority or otherwise immune or privileged. 

32. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants' conduct, Plaintiff has suffered 

damages in an amount to be determined at trial, and in an amount not less than the jurisdictional 

minimum of this Court. 

33. Defendants' conduct deliberately and intentionally injured the Plaintiff; their acts 

were willful and malicious and are not dischargeable in bankruptcy. 

JURY TRIAL DEMAND 

SCA hereby demands a jury trial of all issues in this case. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, SCA requests that judgment be entered against the Defendants, and each 

of them, as follows: 

A. For compensatory, consequential, exemplary, and punitive damages in an amount 

to be determined at trial; 
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B. For pre- and post-judgment interest on the foregoing sum at the highest lawful 

rate from entry of judgment until paid in full; 

C. For an injunction enjoining further publication of the Defamatory Statements; 

D. For SCA's costs of suit; and 

E. For all other relief the Court deems appropriate. 

Dated: April 19, 2018 Respectfully submitted, 

D~BORAH GORDON LAW 

By----'jJ~' _1-~----=--?-__ _ 

AND 

Deborah L. Gordon (P27058) 
Attorney for Plaintiff 
33 Bloomfield Hills Parkway, Suite 220 
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304 
(248) 258-2500 
dgordon@deborahgordonlaw.com 

H. Rhett Pinsky (P 18920) 
Pinsky, Smith, Fayette & Kennedy LLP 
146 Momoe Center Street, NW, Suite 805 
Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503 
(616) 451-8496 
hpinsky@pstklaw.com 

HARDERLLP 

By ~ ( .y/rul--
Charles J. H~rder (pro hac vice to be filed) 
Jordan Susman (pro hac vice to be filed) 
132 S. Rodeo Drive, Fourth Floor 
Beverly Hills, California 90212 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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4/19/2018 FINRA fines Scottsdale Capital Advisors $1.5 million - Goode Trades 

GOODE TRADES 
The Best Source for Stock Promotion & Penny Stock News and Insight 

FINRA fines Scottsdale Capital 
Advisors $1.5 million 
April 17. 2017 I By Michael Goode I All Categories. Fraud. Microcap. SEC actions 

If you have followed penny stocks and pump and dumps for a few years then you 

know Scottsdale Capital Advisors (hereafter referred to as Scottsdale Capital). They are 

one of the few brokers left that have continued to allow the deposit and sale of shares 

in illiquid penny stocks. Larger brokers and discount brokers stopped allowing that 

over five years ago. When the big Biozoom (BIZM) pump happened back in 2013 many 

of the frozen accounts were at Scottsdale Capital. 

On March 31st. FINRA fined Scottsdale Capital $1.5 million. Unfortunately I cannot find 

any public posting of that news so the prior link is to a Stockwatch article (full article 

only available to subscribers; see this copy If not a subscriber). In addition to the fine. 

John Hurry, owner of Scottsdale Capital, was permanently banned from working in the 

securities industry. 

The full 111-page FINRA decision can be found on their website. Unfortunately FINRA 

prevents direct-linking so you need to go to http://disciplinaryactionsJinra.org/Search/ 

and then enter "John Hurry" as the name. I have downloaded a copy of the deCision in 

case they delete it. 

Excerpt from the deCision: 

Hurry's violation of his duty to observe high standards of commercial honor and 

just and equitable principles of trade was purposeful and egregious. These two 

qualities lead us to conclude that Hurry is a threat to investors and the integrity of 

the markets. Our concern is compounded by our credibility findings. We found 

that he repeatedly testified falsely. and that there was a pattern of doing so when 

he thought no contradictory evidence would come to light. 

When misconduct is intentional, General Principle 1 provides that adjudicators 

should 572 assess sanctions that exceed the recommended range in the 

Guidelines. Principal Consideration 13 also focuses on whether a respondent's 

misconduct is the result of an intentional act, recklessness, or negligence.573 

When a violation is egregious, the GUidelines often suggest more severe 

sanctions. In egregious cases in connection with violations of Rule 2010 and 

Section 5, the specific Guidelines recommend that an individual be suspended for 

up to two years or barred. 

Even though he has no diSCiplinary history. the devious nature of Hurry's violation 

evidences disregard for regulatory requirements. an aggravating factor under 

General Principle 2 and Principal Consideration 10.574 We have no confidence 

that if he remained in the securities industry he would not again devise a way to 

evade the law and regulatory requirements. For this reason also, we believe Hurry 

is a threat to the investing public. 

The decision also shows just how remunerative running Scottsdale Capital has been 

for Hurry - in 2014 he and his wife made "approximately $6.2 million in directors' 

fees and $1.45 million in net income." 

Disclaimer. No position in any stocks mentioned and I have no relationship with 
anyone mentioned in this post. This b/og has a terms of use that is Incorporated 
by reference into this post; you can find all my disclaimers and disclosures there 

as well. 

https:/Iwwvv.goodetrades.com/2017/04/finra-fines-scottsdale-capital-advisors-1-5-millionl 1/2 - 63a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:28 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:28 PM



- 64a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:28 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:28 PM



< 4/19/2018 SEC Sues Alpine Securities, continuing a run of bad news for owner John Hurry - Goode Trades 

GOODE TRADES 
The Best Source for Stock Promotion & Penny Stock News and Insight 

SEC Sues Alpine Securities, 
continuing a run of bad news for 
owner John Hurry 
June 14,2017 I By Michael Goode I All Categories, All Categories, Fraud, Microcap, SEC actions, 

Stock Promotions 

As I wrote back in April, FINRA fined Scottsdale Capital Advisors $1.5 million for doing 

a really poor job at preventing illegal sales by penny stock insiders (FINRA Rule 2010). 

The owner, johnj. Hurry, was barred from the industry. The full 111-page FINRA 

decision can be found on their website. Unfo~tunately FINRA prevents direct-linking so 

you need to go to http://disciplinaryactionsJinra.org/Search/ and then enter "john 

Hurry" as the name. I have downloaded a copy of the decision in case they delete it. 

From the FINRA report: 

The Respondent firm violated FINRA Rule 2010 by selling securities without 

registration and Without an exemption, in contravention of Section 5 of the 

Securities Act of 1933. The firm's owner, Respondent john Hurry, also 

violated Rule 2010, because he engaged in activities designed to enable the 

unlawful transactions and evade regulatory scrutiny. 

The Respondent firm and its Chief Compliance Officer, Respondent Timothy 

DiBlasi, violated NASD Rules 301 O(a) and (b) and FINRA Rule 2010 by 

failing to establish and maintain a supervisory system, including written 

supervisory procedures, reasonably designed to ensure that the firm 

complied with Section 5 of the Securities Act. 

The Respondent firm and its President, Respondent Michael Cruz, violated 

NASD Rule 301 O(b) and FINRA Rule 2010 by failing to supervise and failing 

to respond appropriately to numerous red flags indicative of unlawful 

unregistered distributions. 

The Respondent firm is fined $1.5 million. Hurry is barred in all capacities. 

He would also be fined $100,000, but, in light of the bar, the fine is not 

imposed. DiBlasi is suspended for two years and fined $50,000. Cruz is 

suspended for two years and fined $50,000. In addition, Respondents are 

ordered to pay costs, for which they are jointly and severally liable. 

From the same FINRA report, john "Hurry is a threat to the investment public." The 

SEC must agree because on june 5, 2017 they sued Alpine Securities, which is another 

broker specializing in penny stocks owned by John Hurry. 

The FINRA report on Scottsdale and Hurry describes the close relationship among 

them, Alpine Securities, and CSCT, which was based in the Cayman Islands. 

Respondent Hurry thus owns and controls all three firms involved in the 

transactions at 

issue in this proceeding-Scottsdale, Alpine, and CSCT. In fact, the three firms were 

almost a 

self-contained system for processing and distributing microcap securities. CSCT 

did all its 

business through Scottsdale, and Scottsdale in turn did all its business with 

Alpine. Alpine's 

current CEO described Alpine as a small"boutique" clearing firm with a focus on 

(he kind of 

business bmught to it by CSCT. No independent third party was involved in 
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preparing, 

approving, or clearing the deposits of stock certificates by CSCT at Scottsdale for 

resale. 

SEC litigation release against Alpine Securities 

SEC complaint against Alpine securities (PDF) 

From the litigation release against Alpine Securities: 

Securities and Exchange Commission v. Alpine Securities Corporation 

Civil Action No. 7:17-CV-4179 (S.D.I'l.Y., filed June 5,2017) 

SEC CHARGES BROKERAGE FIRM WITH FAILING TO COMPLY WITH ANTI-MONEY 

LAUNDEHING LAWS 

Washington D.C., Jun. 5, 2017 - The Securities and Exchange Commission today 

charged a Salt Lake City-based brokerage firm with securities law violations 

related to its alleged practice of clearing transactions for microcap stocks that 

were used in manipulative schemes to harm Investors. 

To help detect potential securities law and money-laundering violations, broker

dealers are required to file Suspicious Activity Reports (SARs) that describe 

suspicious transactions that take place through their firms. The SEC's complaint 

alleges that Alpine Securities Corporation routinely and systematically failed to 

file SARs for stock transactions that it flagged as suspicious. When it did file SARs, 

Alpine Securities allegedly frequently omitted the very information that formed 

the bases for Alpine knowing, suspecting, or having reason to suspect that a 

transaction was suspicious. As noted in the complaint, guidance for preparing 

SARs from the U.S. Treasury Department's Financial Crimes Enforcement Network 

(FinCEN) clearly states that "[elxplaining why the transaction is suspicious is 

critical." 

The SEC's complaint charges Alpine Securities with thousands of violations of 

Section 17(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 17a-S. 

From the complaint, the SEC alleges: 

This case concerns Alpine's practices relating to filing Suspicious Activity 

Reports ("SARs") with the u.s. Treasury Department's Financial Crimes 

Enforcement Network 

("FinCEN"). Alpine acts as a clearing firm for many microcap over-the-counter 

("OTC") stock 

transactions. Since 2011, Alpine has cleared thousands of deposits of microcap 

securities, rnost 

of them involving Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corp. ("Scottsdale") as the 

introducing iJmker, 

and many of which were used as part of various stock manipulation and other 

schemes 

Alpine's alleged failures with regard to filing suspicious activity reports (SARs) seem 

egregious: 

Systematically omitting from at least 1,950 SARs material, "red-flag" information 

of 

which It was aware and was required to report under its own BSA Compliance 

Program, such as a customer or issuer's criminal or regulatory history, evidence 

of 

stock promotion, or whether a customer was a foreign financial institution, 

including 

at least 1,150 SARs which inciucled only the customer name, date of deposit, 

dollar 

value of deposit, and the name of the security deposited; 
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• Filing SARs only on the deposit of stock in approximately 1,900 instances in 

which 

the stock was subsequently liquidated, but failing to file required SARs on 

subsequent 

related transactions such as the liquidation, or transfer of funds resulting from 

the 

liquidation, even though it had identified the deposit of the security as suspicious; 

and 

• Failing to file at least 250 SARs within the required 30 days after the date the 

suspicious activity was detected. 

Alpine has previously been investigated and cited by FINRA for inadequate SARs in 

2012 and 2015. 

Lest anyone think that these are just minor paperwork deficiences with no real 

consequences, I remind you that one pump and dump alone, Biozoom (BIZM), led to 

over $17 million in fraudulent profits for manipulators I inSiders. and many of their 

accounts were at Scottsdale Capital Advisors. 

One interesting thing I noticed: this lawsuit against Alpine Securities came on june 5th, 

which is exactly the day that the bar against a couple employees of Scottsdale Capital 

Advisors began. From the FINRA complain from April (emphasis mine): 

V. CONCLUSION 

The Firm, Scottsdale Capital Advisors, violated FINRA Rule 2010. Accordingly, it is 

ordered to pay a fine of$ 1.5 million. john j. Hurryviolated FINRA Rule 2010. For 

his 

misconduct he is barred from association with any FINRA member in any 

capacity. He would be 

fined $100,000, but, in light ofthe bar, the fine is not imposed. Timothy B. DiBlasi 

violated 

NASD Rules 301 O(a) and (b) and FINRA Rule 2010. For his misconduct, he is 

suspended for 

! two years from association with any FINRA member in any capacity and fined 

$50,000. D. 

q 

Michael Cruz violated NASD Rule 301 O(b) and FINRA Rule 2010. For his 

misconduct, he is 

suspended for two years from association with any FINRA member in any 

capacity and fined 

$50,000. 

Respondents are also ordered to pay costs in the amount of$22, 124.29, which 

includes a 

$750 administrative fee and $21,374.29 for the cost of the transcript. If this 

decision becomes 

FINRA's final disciplinary action, Hurry's bar will take immediate effect. DiBlasi's 

and Cruz's 

suspension will begin with the opening of business on June 5, 2017 The fines 

and assessed costs 

shall be due on a date set by FINRA, but not sooner than 30 days after this 

decision becomes 

FINRA's final disciplinary action in this proceeding. 

Disclaimer. I have no position in any stock mentioned above. I was long BIZM 

when trading in it was suspended by the SEC and lost money because of that. I 

have no relationship with any parties mentioned above. This blog has a terms of 

use that is incorporated by reference into this post; you can find all my 

disclaimers and disclosures there as well. 
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One thought on "SEC Sues Alpine 
Securities, continuing a run of bad 
news for owner John Hurry" 

krs1 says: 

June 14, 2017 at4:22 pm 

This is why you're a millionaire imo. Because you do what others 

don't! Nice work. Thanks for posting! 
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]n toe lkalama?oo <!Countp <!Circuit <!Court 
jfor toe ~tate of fflicOigan 

SCOTTSDALE CAPITAL ADVISORS 
CORPORATION, 

Plaintiff. 

v. 

MORNINGLIGHTMOUNTAIN, LLC, 
MICHAEL GOODE, and 
DOES 1-10, 

Defendants. 

HARDERLLP 
Charles J. Harder (CA# 184593) 
Jordan D. Susman (CA# 246116) 
132 South Rodeo Drive, Fourth Floor 
Beverly Hills, California 90212 
(424) 203-1600 
charder@harderllp.com 
jsusman@harderllp.com 
Counsel for Scottsdale Capital Advisors 
Pro Hac Vice Pending 

PINSKY, SMITH, FAYETTE & 
KENNEDY, LLP 
H. Rhett Pinsky (P18920) 
146 Monroe Center Street, NW, Suite 805 
Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503 
(616) 451-8496 
hpinsky@psfklaw.com 
Counsel for Scottsdale Capital Advisors 

Civil No. 18-0153-CZ 

HON. ALEXANDER C. LIPSEY 

BUTZEL LONG, P.C. 
Joseph E. Richotte (P70902) 
Doaa K. AI-Howaishy (P82089) 
Stoneridge West 
41000 Woodward Avenue 
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304 
(248) 258-1616 
richotte@butzel.com 
al-howaishy@butzel.com 
Counsel for MLM and Michael Goode 

ANSWER TO PLAINTIFF'S FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT 
WITH AFFIRMATIVE AND OTHER DEFENSES 
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Under MCR 2.108, as amended by the Stipulated Order Fixing Deadline to 

Respond to First Amended Complaint, Defendants MorningLightMountain, LLC 

("MLM"), and Michael Goode jointly answer Plaintiff Scottsdale Capital Advisors 

Corp. (" SCA") First Amended Complaint as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. Plaintiff Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corp. ("SCA") is a successful 

securities broker-dealer. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode admit that SCA is a broker-dealer of securities. 

They deny the allegation that SCA is a "successful" broker-dealer for lack of 

knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief about whether it is true. 

2. In an effort to smear SCA's reputation, MorningLightMountain, LLC 

d/b/a GoodTrades.com and Michael Goode (collectively, "Defendants") published 

two articles on their website, www.goodetrades.com. on April 17, 2017 and June 14, 

2017 which contained numerous false, defamatory, and highly misleading statements 

of and concerning SCA. Among other things, the articles falsely alleged that SCA is 

involved in penny stock "pump and dump" schemes and improperly permits the 

trading of penny stocks. 

ANSWER: MLM admits that it operates the website www.goodetrades.com 

(the "Website"). MLM admits that it published, and Goode admits that he caused 

MLM to publish, on the Website an article on April 17, 2017, and an article on June 

14,2017. MLM and Goode deny the rest of the allegations in Paragraph 2 as untrue. 

3. By this action, SCA seeks to clear its good name and hold Defend-

ants liable for the harm caused by their misconduct. 

ANSWER: Denied. 
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THE PARTIES 

4. Plaintiff Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corp. is, and at all times relevant 

hereto was, a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Arizona, with its 

principal place of business in Maricopa County, Arizona. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode deny the allegations for lack of knowledge or 

information sufficient to form a belief about whether they are true. 

5. SCA is informed and believes and based thereon alleges that Defend-

ant MorningLightMountain, LLC d/b/a GoodeTrades.com (" MorningLightMoun

tain") is, and at all times relevant hereto was, a corporation organized under the laws 

of the [State of] Michigan, with its principal place of business in Eaton County, 

Michigan. SCA is informed and believes and based thereon alleges that Morning

LightMountain owns and operates the website goodtrades.com. 

ANSWER: Denied. In the interest of judicial economy, however, MLM ad

mits the following: (1) it is a limited liability corporation organized under the laws of 

the State of Michigan; (2) its principal place of business is Kalamazoo County; and 

(3) it operates the Website. 

6. SCA is informed and believes and based thereon alleges that Defend-

ant Michael Goode (" Goode") is an individual who resides in Kalamazoo County, 

Michigan. Upon information and belief, Goode is the sole owner and officer of De

fendant MorningLightMountain. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode admit these allegations. 

7. SCA is informed and believes and based thereon alleges that the ficti-

tiously-named defendants sued herein as Does 1 through 10, and each of them, are 

in some manner responsible or legally liable for the actions, events, transactions and 

circumstances alleged herein. The true names and capacities of such fictitiously-

-3-
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named defendants, whether individual, corporate, or otherwise, are presently un

known to SCA, and SCA will seek leave of Court to amend this Complaint to assert 

the true names and capacities of such fictitiously-named defendants when the same 

have been ascertained. For convenience, each reference to a named defendant herein 

shall also refer to Does 1 through 10. All defendants, including MorningLightMoun

tain, LLC d/b/a GoodeTrades.com, Michael Goode, and those referred to herein as 

Does 1 through 10, are collectively referred to herein as "Defendants." 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode lack knowledge or information sufficient to form 

a belief about whether the Doe defendants exist or have engaged in any acts giving 

rise to liability. For purposes of answering the First Amended Complaint, MLM and 

Goode treat the term Defendants as applying only to them. None of their answers 

shall be construed to admit the existence or liability of the Doe defendants or to in 

any way answer for the Doe defendants. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

8. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because they 

have minimum contacts with the State of Michigan, and defendant Goode is a dom

iciliary of the State of Michigan. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode submit to the personal jurisdiction of the Court 

without objection. 

9. Venue in Kalamazoo is proper because Defendant [sic] resides in Kal-

amazoo County. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode are unable to admit or deny this allegation be

cause it does not specify which Defendant resides in Kalamazoo County. In the int

erest of judicial economy, however, MLM and Goode admit that venue is proper in 
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the Kalamazoo County Circuit Court under MCL 600.1621(a) because Goode re

sides in Kalamazoo County. 

10. The amount in controversy exceeds Twenty Five Thousand Dollars 

($25,000.00) exclusive of interest, costs, and attorney fees and the matter is other

wise within the jurisdiction of this Court. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode admit that SCA seeks to recover an amount in 

excess of $25,000, but they deny that SCA is entitled to any recovery. 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

11. Founded in 2002, SCA is a full service broker-dealer focused on serv-

ing the microcap securities market, often referred to as the OTC market. In this time, 

SCA has grown to become one of the dominant companies in the OTC market, with 

more than $125 million worth of trades in 2015. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode admit that SCA is a broker-dealer that services 

the microcap securities market, which is often referred to as the OTC [over-the

counter] market. MLM and Goode deny the rest of the allegations in Paragraph 11 

for lack of knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief about whether they 

are true. 

12. On April 17, 2017, Defendants published an article written by Goode 

on the website goodtrades.com, entitled" FINRA fines Scottsdale Capital Advisors 

$1.5 million" (the "April Article") : https://goodtrades.com/2017/04/finra-fines

scottsdale-capital-advisors-l-S-million/. A true and correct copy of the April Article 

is attached hereto as Exhibit 1 and incorporated by this reference. 

ANSWER: MLM admits that it published, and Goode admits that he caused 

MLM to publish the April Article. They also admit that Exhibit 1 is a true and correct 
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copy of the April Article. MLM and Goode deny the rest of the allegations in Para

graph 12 for lack of knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief about 

whether they are true. 

13. The April Article contained numerous statements that are defamatory 

and outright false, including: 

a. False Statement #1: "If you have followed penny stocks and pump 

and dumps for a few years then you know Scottsdale Capital Advi

sors. " 

In truth, SCA has never been involved in any "pump and dump" schemes, 

has never been a defendant in any "pump and dump" lawsuits, and has never been 

convicted of engaging in "pump and dump" activity. 

b. False Statement #2: "They [SCA] are one of the few brokers left 

that have continued to allow the deposit and sale of shares of illiq

uid penny stocks. Larger brokers and discount brokers stopped al

lowing that over five years ago. " 

In truth, numerous large brokers continue to trade in penny stocks, including 

without limitation, interactive brokers, Merrill Lynch, Charles Schwab, Scottrade, 

Cor Clearing, and TradeKing. 

c. False Statement #3: "When the big Biozoom (BIZM) pump hap

pened back in 2013 many of the frozen accounts were at Scottsdale 

Capital. " 

In truth, only a handful of accounts at SCA were frozen as a result ofBiozoom 

trading. Moreover, SCA has never been a defendant in any lawsuit involving the trad

ing of Biozoom stock. 
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ANSWER: MLM and Goode admit that the April Article contains the three 

quoted statements in Paragraphs 13a, 13b, and 13c. They deny SCA' s characteriza

tion of those statements as false and defamatory. Without in any way limiting their 

defenses, MLM and Goode answer the unnumbered "in truth" sentences that fol

low Paragraphs 13a-13c as follows: 

Regarding the unnumbered "in truth" sentence after Paragraph 13a, MLM 

and Goode deny SCA' s averment that it has never been involved in any pump-and

dump schemes. Involvement in a scheme can be direct or indirect, and knowing or 

unknowing. Without limiting their defenses in any way, MLM and Goode note that 

SCA admits to being" involved" in the Biozoom pump-and-dump scheme, acknowl

edging that Biozoom accounts traded through SCA were frozen through enforce

ment activity initiated by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (" SEC "). 

MLM and Goode deny the rest of the allegations in the unnumbered paragraph for 

lack of knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief about whether they are 

true. 

Regarding the unnumbered "in truth" sentence after Paragraph 13b, MLM 

and Goode deny SCA' s allegations for lack of knowledge or information sufficient 

to form a belief about whether they are true. 

Regarding the unnumbered "in truth" sentence after Paragraph 13c, chal

lenged Statement No.3 does not state that "many SCA accounts" were frozen; it 

says "many of the frozen accounts" were at SCA. In connection with United States 

Sees. & Exeh. Comm)n v. Tavella, Civ. No. 13-4609 (SDNY), an enforcement action 

filed in connection with the Biozoom pump-and-dump scheme to recover ill-gotten 

gains and make investors whole, the SEC obtained temporary restraining orders 

freezing the Biozoom stocks of 10 defendants. SCA held accounts for 5 of the 10 
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defendants. See Exhibit A, Complaint (R. 1, JuI. 3, 2013); Exhibit B, Stipulation and 

Order Granting Prelim. Inj., Asset Freeze, and Other Relief (R. 15-1, JuI. 16, 2013); 

Exhibit C, Biozoom Fair Fund Notice. In the final judgments in Tavella, 7 of the 10 

defendants agreed to pay funds or Biozoom shares, or cancel Biozoom shares, held 

in SCA accounts. See, e.g., Exhibit D, Final J. Defs. Graciarena and Loureyro (R. 67, 

Dec. 8, 2014); Exhibit E, Final Default J. and Order Granting Inj. and Other Relief 

Against Defendants Tavella, Ficicchia, Blaya, Hernando, Lorenzo, Bagattin, Gold

man, and Ferrari (R. 69, Jan. 9, 2015). 

Regarding the unnumbered "in truth" sentence after Paragraph Be, MLM 

and Goode deny SCA' s allegation that it has never been a defendant in any lawsuit 

involving the trading of Biozoom stock for lack of knowledge or information suffi

cient to form a belief about the truth of the allegation. MLM and Goode do note, 

however, that the SEC recently filed United States Sees. & Exch. Comm)n v. Villena, 

Civ. No. 18-04309 (SDNY), an enforcement action filed in connection with the Bio

zoom pump-and-dump scheme. On the same day the SEC filed the Villena case, 

Timothy Scarpino, who worked for SCA during the Biozoom pump-and-dump 

scheme, entered into an administrative settlement with the SEC. Exhibit F, In the 

Matter of Timothy C. Scarpino, SEC No. 3-18483, Order Instituting Admin. and 

Cease-and-Desist Proceedings, Making Findings, Imposing Remedial Sanctions, 

and a Cease-and-Desist Order. Although Scarpino neither admitted nor denied the 

SEC allegations, the SEC found, based on Scarpino)s settlement offer, that: 

From late May 2013 to mid-June 2013, Timothy Scarpino ("Scar
pino"), then a registered representative at registered broker dealer 
[SCA], willfully violated Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act 
when he engaged in the illegal distribution of the securities of Bio
zoom, Inc. (" Biozoom" or "BIZM") by offering and selling shares of 
BIZM, which was quoted on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board 
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(((OTCBB"), on behalf of four Argentine customers (the ((Argen
tines "). The scope of this illegal distribution was massive, as Scarpino 
offered and sold approximately 8.2 million BIZM shares, which con
stituted almost 14% ofBIZM's total outstanding shares, and over 40% 
of BIZM 's total number of shares that did not bear a restrictive legend. 
The Argentines reaped proceeds of over $18.5 million from the less 
than four weeks of trading activity facilitated by Scarpino. 

Id. at 2, Part III, Summary. The SEC also found, again based on Scarpino Js settlement 

offer, that the illegal distribution of securities occurred because Scarpino ((failed to 

conduct a searching inquiry into facts surrounding the proposed sales" of the unreg

istered Biozoom stock despite the presence of (( significant red flags." Id. 

Among other things, it was this same failure to conduct searching inquiries 

for a claimed registration exemption that resulted in the Financial Industry Regula

tory Authority ((( FINRA") taking disciplinary action against SCA. Exhibit G, 

FINRAv. Scottsdale Capita I Advisors Corp., No. 2014041724601, Amended Extended 

Hr'g Panel Decision (Jun. 20, 2017). FINRA imposed a $1.5 million fine against 

SCA for an (( egregious" violation and SCA' s (( institutionalization of the miscon

duct as its standard way of doing business," among other aggravating factors. Part 

of the institutionalized pattern of misconduct included SCA' s failure to revise its 

procedures to focus on potential sham transactions after its role in the Biozoom 

pump-and-dump that led to the SEC's Tavella enforcement action. Id. at 11-12, 101-

102,104. 

Finally, MLM and Goode deny the rest of the allegations in Paragraph 13, 

including each of its subparts, for lack of knowledge or information sufficient to form 

a belief about whether they are true. 

14. On June 14, 2017, Defendants published a second article written on 

goodetrades.com by Goode, entitled (( SEC Sues Alpine Securities, continuing a run 
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of bad news for owner John Hurry" (the "June Article"): https://www.good

trades .com/ 2017 / 06 / sec-sues-alpine-securities-continuing-a-run-of-bad-news-for

owner-john-hurry/ . A true and correct copy of the June Article is attached hereto as 

. Exhibit 2 and incorporated by this reference. 

ANSWER: MLM admits that it published, and Goode admits that he caused 

MLM to publish the June Article. They also admit that Exhibit 2 is a true and correct 

copy of the June Article. MLM and Goode deny the rest of the allegations in Para

graph 12 for lack of knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief about 

whether they are true. 

15. The June Article contains statements that are defamatory and outright 

false, including: 

a. False Statement #1: "Lest anyone think that these are just minor 

paperwork deficiencies with no real consequences, I remind you 

that one pump and dump alone, Biozoom (BIZM) led to over $17 

million in fraudulent profits for manipulators / insiders, and many 

of their accounts were at Scottsdale Capital Advisors." 

In truth, other than hosting a handful of accounts that traded in Biozoom 

shares, SCA had nothing to do with the trading of Biozoom shares. Moreover, as 

discussed above, SCA has never been involved in any "pump and dump" schemes 

(including any "pump and dumps" involving Biozoom shares), has never been a de

fendant in any "pump and dump" lawsuits, and has never been convicted of engag

ing in "pump and dump" activity. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode admit that the June Article contains the quoted 

statement in Paragraph 15a. They deny SCA' s characterization of that statement as 

false and defamatory. 
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Regarding the unnumbered "in truth" sentence after Paragraph 15a, MLM 

and Goode deny SeA's averments and incorporate their answers to the unnumbered 

"in truth" paragraphs after Paragraphs 13a and 13c, without in any way limiting their 

defenses. 

16. On September 21, 2017, SeA's counsel sent a letter to Defendants 

identifying the foregoing false statements in the April Article and June Article (col

lectively, the "Articles"), and demanding that Defendants remove each one and 

publish a retraction, correction, and apology as to each of those statements. Defend

ants have failed and refused to comply with SeA's demand. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode admit that SeA's counsel sent a letter to them 

demanding that they remove the four statements identified in Paragraphs 13a-13c 

and 15a, and publish a retraction, correction, and apology. MLM and Goode also 

admit that they did not remove the statements or publish a retraction, correction, or 

apology. MLM and Goode deny that the statements are false or that they had any 

duty to comply with seA's demand. MLM and Goode deny the rest of the allega

tions in Paragraph 16 as untrue in the manner and form stated. 

17. The false, defamatory, and highly misleading statements written and 

published by Defendants have caused and are continuing to cause SeA economic 

harm and damage to its reputation. Accordingly, SeA has no alternative but to file 

this lawsuit for compensatory damages, punitive damages, and injunctive relief, as 

explained more fully herein. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode deny that the four statements identified in Par

agraphs 13a-13c and 15a are false, defamatory, or highly misleading. They deny the 

rest of the allegations in Paragraph 17 for lack of knowledge or information sufficient 

to form a belief about whether they are true. 
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COUNT 1 
DEFAMATION 

18. seA incorporates by reference all of the preceding paragraphs as 

though fully restated herein. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode incorporate by reference all of their answers to 

the preceding paragraphs as though fully restated herein. 

19. Defendants wrote and published the defamatory statements of fact 

about SeA referred to in Paragraphs l3 and 15 herein (collectively, the "Defamatory 

Statements") . 

ANSWER: MLM admits to publishing, and Goode admits to writing, the four 

statements identified in Paragraphs l3a-l3c and 15a. They deny that the statements 

are defamatory. They also deny that each of the statements are "statements of fact" 

or "about SeA." MLM and Goode deny the rest of the allegations in Paragraph 19 

for lack of knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief about whether they 

are true. 

20. The Defamatory Statements are false. Moreover, the statements, indi-

vidually and jointly, tend to so harm the reputation of Plaintiff as to lower its reputa

tion in the community or deter third persons from associating or dealing with it. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode deny these allegations as untrue. 

21. The Defamatory Statements involve materially false implications. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode deny these allegations as untrue. 

22. The Defamatory Statements have caused SeA to be damaged. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode deny that the four statements identified in Par

agraphs l3a-l3c and 15a are defamatory. They deny that the statements have caused 

SeA damages for lack of knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief about 
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whether it is true. 

23. Defendants have refused to retract, correct or apologize for the De-

famatory Statements after being given notice and ample time to do so. 

Answer: MLM and Goode admit that they did not retract the four state

ments identified in Paragraphs 13a-13c and 15a. They deny that the statements are 

incorrect, false, or defamatory. The law does not require an apology. MLM and 

Goode deny that SCA gave them "ample time" to respond to SCA's demands; seA 

demanded a response within 24 hours. MLM and Goode deny the rest of the alle

gations in Paragraph 23 as untrue in the manner and form stated. 

24. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants ' conduct, SCA has suf-

fered damages to its reputation and business interests in an amount to be determined 

at trial, and in an amount not less than the jurisdictional minimum of this Court. 

seA's damages may also be presumed because the Defamatory Statements impute 

to seA offenses regarded by public opinion as involving moral turpitude, and unfit

ness for the proper conduct of its lawful business, trade, and profession. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode deny the allegations as untrue as to themselves. 

They deny the rest of the allegations in Paragraph 24 for lack of knowledge or infor

mation sufficient to form a belief about whether they are true. 

25. SeA is a private figure for purposes of a defamation analysis. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode deny this allegation as untrue. 

26. Notwithstanding SeA's status as a private figure, at the time the De-

famatory Statements were published, Defendants knew the Defamatory Statements 

were false and/or acted in reckless disregard of whether the Defamatory Statements 

were true or false. As such, in addition to compensatory damages and/or presumed 
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damages, SeA is entitled to an award of punitive damages in an amount to be deter

mined at trial. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode deny the allegations as untrue as to themselves. 

They deny the rest of the allegations in Paragraph 26 for lack of knowledge or infor

mation sufficient to form a belief about whether they are true. 

COUNT 2 
INVASION OF PRIVACY: FALSE LIGHT 

27. SeA incorporates by reference all of the preceding paragraphs as 

though fully restated herein. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode incorporate by reference all of their answers to 

the preceding paragraphs as though fully restated herein. 

28. Defendants' publication of the Defamatory Statements also caused 

there to be publicity concerning SeA that placed SeA in a false light in the public 

eye. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode deny that the statements referenced in Para

graph 13a-13c and 15a were defamatory or caused there to be publicity concerning 

SeA that placed it in a false light in the public eye. MLM and Goode deny the rest 

of the allegations in Paragraph 28 for lack of knowledge or information sufficient to 

form a belief about whether they are true. 

29. By publishing the Defamatory Statements, Defendants broadcast to 

the public in general, or to a large number of people, information that was unreason

able and highly objectionable by attributing to seA characteristics and/or conduct 

that were false and placed SeA in a false position. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode deny that the statements referenced in Para

graph 13a-13c and 15a are defamatory, that the information in the statements was 
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unreasonable or highly objectionable, or that the statements attributed to SeA char

acteristics and/or conduct that were false or placed SeA in a false position. MLM 

and Goode deny the rest of the allegations in Paragraph 29 for lack of knowledge or 

information sufficient to form a belief about whether they are true. 

30. At the time Defendants published statements, they knew the Defama-

tory Statements were false and/or acted in reckless disregard as to the falsity of the 

publicized matter and the false light in which SeA would be placed. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode deny that the statements referenced in Para

graph 13a-13c and 15a are false or defamatory, that they acted in reckless disregard 

for the truth, or that SeA was placed in a false light. MLM and Goode deny the rest 

of the allegations in Paragraph 30 for lack of knowledge or information sufficient to 

form a belief about whether they are true. 

31. Defendants' conduct was not for any proper purpose, nor was it within 

the scope of Defendants' authority or otherwise immune or privileged. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode deny these allegations as untrue as to them

selves. They deny the rest of the allegations in Paragraph 31 for lack of knowledge or 

information sufficient to form a belief about whether they are true. 

32. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants' conduct, Plaintiff has 

suffered damages in an amount to be determined at trial, and in an amount not less 

than the jurisdictional minimum of this court. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode deny the allegations as untrue as to themselves. 

They deny the rest of the allegations in Paragraph 32 for lack of knowledge or infor

mation sufficient to form a belief about whether they are true. 
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33. Defendants' conduct deliberately and intentionally injured the Plain-

tiff; their acts were willful and malicious and not dischargeable in bankruptcy. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode deny the allegations as untrue as to them

selves. They deny the rest of the allegations in Paragraph 33 for lack of knowledge 

or information sufficient to form a belief about whether they are true. 

AFFIRMATIVE AND OTHER DEFENSES 

Under MCR 2.111(F), MLM and Goode assert the following special, affirm

ative, and other defenses that may apply in whole or in part to the claims that seA 

purports to assert in the First Amended Complaint, without assuming the burden of 

proof on any matters where the burden rests with SCA or any other party. 

MLM and Goode give notice that they lack knowledge or information suffi

cient to form a belief as to the truth of many of the allegations in the First Amended 

Complaint. Until they avail themselves of their rights to discovery, they cannot de

termine which, if any, of the following defenses will be asserted at trial or by dispos

itive motion. These defenses are pleaded to preserve MLM and Goode's right to 

assert them at trial or by motion, to give fair notice of their intention to assert these 

defenses, and to avoid a waiver of any defenses . 

MLM and Goode reserve the right to assert all special, affirmative, and other 

defenses that may appear or become available during discovery in this case. They 

also reserve the right to amend their Answer under MCR 2.118(A)(1), or to seek 

leave from the Court to amend their Answer under MCR 2.118 (A) (2) if necessary, 

to assert such defenses. 

Subject to the foregoing, SCA' s claims and requests for relief are barred in 

whole or in part for one or more of the following reasons: 

L The Complaint fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. 
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2. The challenged statements are not actionable because they are state-

ments of opinion, not statements of fact. 

3. The challenged statements are not materially false. 

4. The challenged statements are not defamatory. 

5. The challenged statements are not "of and concerning" SCA. 

6. SCA has failed to plead fault with the specificity required by law. 

7. SCA is a public figure for purposes of this lawsuit. 

8. If SCA is a public figure, the challenged statements are not actionable 

because MLM and Goode did not know any of the statements were false. 

9. If SCA is a public figure, the challenged statements are not actionable 

because MLM and Goode did not act with reckless disregard for whether they were 

false (i.e., with "actual malice"). 

10. If SCA is a public figure, the challenged statements are not actionable 

because SCA cannot prove, with clear and convincing evidence, that MLM and 

Goode published the statements with actual malice. 

11. If SCA is a private figure, the challenged statements are not actionable 

because MLM and Goode did not negligently publish them. 

12. The challenged statements are privileged under the statutory fair-

report privilege codified at MCL 600.2911. 

13. None of the challenged statements give rise to any defamatory infer-

ence or innuendo because of the omission of material facts. 

14. The challenged statements are matters of legitimate public interest 

and concern and received from reliable and official sources, and are privileged under 

(a) the common law and statutes of Michigan; (b) Article I, Section 5 of the Michi

gan Constitution of 1963; and (c) the First Amendment to the U. S. Constitution. 
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15. SCA is libel-proof. 

16. MLM and Goode are not the proximate cause of any damages SeA 

claims to have suffered; SCA or persons other than MLM and Goode caused SCA's 

damages. 

17. SCA is barred from recovering punitive and/or exemplary damages 

because that would violate Article I, Section 5 of the Michigan Constitution of 1963 

and the First Amendment to the United States Constitution. 

18. All of the constitutional and legal defenses applicable to libel actions 

apply equally to SCA's alternative theory of recovery, ((Invasion of Privacy: False 

Light. )) 

19. The facts about which SCA complains were not private, nor were they 

highly offensive to the reasonable person. 

20. SCA has no right or expectation of privacy with regard to the subject 

matter of the publications at issue. 

21. SCA cannot sue on the challenged statements under the doctrine of 

judicial estoppel. 

22. SCA cannot sue on the challenged statements under the doctrine of 

collateral estoppel. 

23. If SCA was damaged as alleged, then SCA failed to reasonably mitigate 

its damages. 

24. All special, affirmative, and other defenses asserted by a Doe defend-

ant who becomes identified or by any other defendant later added to this action, 

which MLM and Goode adopt and incorporate as additional defenses. 
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RELIANCE ON JURY DEMAND 

MLM and Goode rely on SCA' s demand for a jury trial on all issues that can 

be tried to a jury, but object to SCA' s demand for a jury trial on its request for in

junctive relief. There is no right to a trial by jury on equitable issues. Smith v. Uni

versity of Detroit, 145 Mich. App. 468 (1985). 

RELIEF REQUESTED 

WHEREFORE, MLM and Goode respectfully request that the Court: 

1. Dismiss the First Amended Complaint with prejudice; 

2. Declare this lawsuit "frivolous" within the meaning of MCR 

2.114(F), MCR 2.625(A)(2), and MCL 600.2591. SCA's primary purpose in initi-

ating this strategic lawsuit against public participation is to harass or injure MLM 

and Goode; SCA has no reasonable basis to believe that the facts underlying its legal 

position are true; and/or SCA's legal position is devoid of arguable merit. 

3. Grant such other and further relief as it deems appropriate. 

Dated: JUNE 6, 2018 

BH2568773.1 

Respectfully submitted, 

fB. BUTZ 

Stoneridge West 
41000 Woodward Avenue 
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304 
(248) 258-1616 
richotte@butzel.com 
al-howaishy@butzel .com 
Counsel for MLM and Michael Goode 
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UNITED BT ATESJ:nSTRICTCOURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT 'OF NEW YORK 

SECURITI.ES AND ·EXCHANQE 
COMMISSION, . 

Plajntiff, 

v. 

MAGDALENA TA. VELLA, 
ANDRES HORACIOFICICCHlA, GONZALO 
GARCIA BI.,AY A, LUCIA MARIAN A 
HERt"TANDO, CEC,ILIA DE LORENZO, 
ADRIANA ROSA BAGA rrw, 
DANIELA PATRICIA-GOLDMAN, 
MARIANO P.A.BLO FERRARl, 
MARlA.NO GRACIARENA, and 
FERNANDO LOUREYRO, 

Defendants . . 

COMPLAINT 

.. Plaintiff Securities and Exchange ' Commission (the "Commission") for its 

Complaint. aileges as follows: 

1. The Commission brings this civil la",l enforcement action against 

Magdalena Tavella, Andres Horacio ficicchia, Gonzalo Garcia Blaya, Lucia Mariana 

Hernando, Cecilia De Lorenzo, Adriana Rosa Bagattin, Daniela Patricia Goldman, and 

Mariano Pablo ·Ferrari (collectively, the "Selling Defendants")dn an emergency basis to 

prevent millions of dollars of proceeds from unlavvnll sales of secmities being transferred 

out of the .country. Over the past month, the Selling Defendants have sold almost $34 

million .wbrth of securities in Biozoom, Inc. rBibzoom") (f/k/aEritertaiimient'Ary, Inc.), 

a pClmy stock company traded on the Over-the-Counter BUlietin.Board ("OTCBB"), and 
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millions rhore shares. are sitting in defendants' brokerage account{and likely to .Oe sold 

unlawfully to the pUblic. No registration . statement was in effect for the Selling 

Defendants ' resale of securiti~s, thus their sales were in Violation .of Se~tion 5 of the 

Securities Act of ,1933.' (the "Securities Act") [15 U.S.C. § 77eL 'Further, alinost$17 
. . 

million of the Selling Defendants ' .m-gotten proceeds have been transferred, out of the 

United States.Onle~s. an ass'et freez~ covering the ,Seliing Defendahts '. Bio~oom shares IS. ,. . ;.. "':. ;~. 

issued, the unlawful sales of sec~rittes ahd tr~sfer or ' dissip~tionof the proceeds from 

sales of the securities,willlikeir continue. 

2. The Commission ' ~lso brings this civil law enforcement action against 

Mariano Graciarena and Fernando Loureyro. These defendants recently deposited over a 

total of approximately 4.4 million shares of Biozoom stock into their respective 

brokerage accounts. Like tli~ shares sold by the Selling Defendants, there is no 

registration statement in effect permitting the lawful resale of the Bio:zoom shares held by 

Graciarena and Loureyro. BecauseGI~aciarena and Loureyrq are:likely to engage in The 

sale of securities in viol.a.tion of Section 5 of the Securities Act, the Commission seeks to 

enjoin them from offering for resale their Biozoom shares until such time as a registration 

statement is filed and in em~~ct. 

3. From March '2013 to )ime 2013, clefendatits opened brokerage accounts at' 

broker-dealers and deposited rnillions of shares of Biozoom, Inc, (f/kla Entenairunent 

Art, Inc.) thaftheyclain~,eddid:n.ot ,bear ~ rest~'ictive legeI1d and were free-tniding shares, 

All of the defendants daimed that they had purchased all or sonie of their shares frOID, 

some of the original shareholders of Entertainment Art in transactions between' 

November 2012 and Man.:h 2013. 

2 

', . , ; " . 
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4. To bolster "their claims, each of the defendants subrriitted stock purchase 

agreements dated between November 2012 and March 2013that purportedly evidenced 

their purchase of Entertainment Art stock from the former Entertainment Art 

shareholders. Based on "these stock purchase agreements and other documentation, the 

defendants - between March 2013 !illd June 2013 - deposited a total of 20,130,000 shares 

of Biozoom into their brokerage accounts. 

5. The defendants could not, however, have purchased any of their shares 

from the original Entertainment Art shareholders as they claimed because those 

shareholders ceased to have any interest in the company on or around May 2009 -more 

than three years earlier than the defendants' claimed purchases. 

6. Almost immediately after defendants deposited shares of Biozoom in their 

brokerage accounts, Biozoom began issuing a series of press releases and a stock 

promotional campaign for the company began. Following these press releases and stock 

promotionalcampaign, from May 16,2013 to June 21, 2013, the company's stock price 

and volume increased ,dr.amatically, For example, prior to May 16, 2013, no shares in 

Biozoom had traded. However, from May 16,2013 to JlU1e21, 2013, Biozoom's stock 

price shot past $4 per share, with total volume of mOre than 87 million shares, 

7. During this same period, eight of the defendants sold millions of Biozoom 

shares int9 the rising market - reaping millions of dollars in proceeds as a result. in 

total, over an approximately one month period from May 16,2013 - June 17,2013, eight 

of the defendaritssolda total of over 14 million shares of Biozoom stock into the public 

markets for proceeds of almost $34 million. 

3 
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8. None of these sales were made pursuant to an effective registration 

statement. By engaging in the foregoing conduct, the eight Selling Defendants violated 

the registration provisions of the federal securities laws, Sectioris5(a) and 5(c) ,cif the 

Securities ~ct of 1933 ("Securities Act") [I51JS.C. lSU.S.C. , § ,§77e(a)and'i7e(~)l 

9. While the remaining two ,defendants - Graciarena 'and Loureyro - h~lve :yet 

to sell any of their Biozoom ,shares" they are likely to do so unless restrained'. They 

recently deposited millions of shares into their respective, brokerage accourits, claiming 

(as the other defendants) that these shares imve no restrictive legerld and are available for 

resale to the public. Therefore, the Commission seeks an order pursuant to Securities Act 

Section 20(b) [15 U.S.C. 77t(b)] to enjoin them from violations of Sections 5(a) and 5(c) 

of the Securities Act. 

.TIJRlSDICTION Al'IDVENUE 

10. The SEC brings this action pursuant to Section 5 [15 U.S:C. § 77e] and 

Section 20Cb) of the Secmities Act of 1933 ("SecUlities Ad") [15 U.S,c. § 77t(b)]. 

Defendants have dire~py or indirectly made use of the meatls ' or instrumentalities of 

interstate commerce, or of the mails, or the facilities of a national securities exchange in 

connection with the acts, practices, transactions, anclc()Urses of busine~s allcged in this 

Complaint. 

11. This ,Co:urt,has jurisdiction over this action ,pursuant t9 Section 22 of the 

Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77v], and 28 U,S.c. § 1331. 

12. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to Section 22(a) of the Securities 

Act [15 U.S.C. §77v], because certaiil acts, practices, and courses ofbusihess constituting 

the violations alleged herein have occurred within the Southern District of New York. 

4 
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13. Defendants will, unless restrained and enjoined, continue t6 engage in the 

acts, practices, transactions, and courses of business alleged in this Complaint~ orin acts, 

practices, transactions; and courses~ of business of similar p~ort.and 0 bj ecL . '. '. 

THE OEFENDANTS 

14. Defendant Andres Horacio Ficicchia resides ih Buenos Aires, Argentina 

and is an Argentine citizen. 

15. Defendant Gonzalo Garcia Blaya resides in Buenos Aires, Argentina, and: 

is an iugentine citiien. 

16. Defendant.Luciana Mariana Hernando resides in Buenos Aires, Argentina, 

and is an Argentine citizen. 

17. Defendant Cecilia De Lorenzo resides in Buenos Aires, Argentina, and is 

an r'\rgentinc citizen. 

18. Defendant Magdalena Tavella resides in Buenos Aires, Argentina, and is 

,m .Argentinc citizen. 

19. Defendgnt Adriana Rosa Bagattin resides in Buenos Aires, Argentina, and 

is an Argentine citizen. 

20. Defendant Daniela Patricia Goldman resides in Buenos Aires, Argentina, 

and is an Argentine citizen. 

21. Defendant Mariano Pablo Ferrari resides in Buenos Aires, Argentina, and 

is an Argentine citizen. 

22. Defendant Mariano Graciarenaresides in Buenos Aires, Argentina, and is 

an Argentine citizen. 

5 
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23. Defendant Fernando Loureyro resideE; in Buenos Aires, Argentina, and is 

an Argentine citizen. 

OTHER RELEVANT ENTITIES 

24. Biozoom, Inc. (f/kJa Entertaininent Arts, Inc.) is a Nevada corpqration 

with its principal place of business in Kassel, Gt;rmany. Biozoom purports to be in the 

business of researching, developing, and licensing teclmologiesrelating to the mobile 

remote collection of biomedical data as well as bilateral diagnostiC communication. 

Biozoom?s common stock is registered with the Commission pursuant to Section 12 of 

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 ("Exchange Act") [15 U.S.C. §781) and is quoted on 

the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board ("OTCBB") under the trading symbol "BIZM." 

25. Legend Securities ("Legend") is a registered broker-dealer located in New . 

York:, New York_ 

26_ Scottsdale Capital Advisors ("Scottsdale") IS a registered broker-dealer 

located in Phoenix, Arizona. 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

A. The Creation of Entertainment Art and Initial Sale of Company 

27_ On June 15, 2007, Entertainment Art was ·incorporated pnder the laws of 

the state of Nevada. In public filings, Entertainment .Art represented that it was a 

developr11ental stage company fomled to design, produce, and sell a line of leather bags, 

with offices located ,in \Vest Hempstead, New York. Entertainment Art was controlled 

by the three members of company management. 

28_ From November 2007 through March 2008, Entertainment Art offered and 

sold a total of 61 0,000 shares to 34 different investors in private placement ti-ansactions_ 
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A share certificate reflecting Entertainment Alt share ownership . was issued to each 

investor. 

29. On July 18, 2008, Entertainment Art filed it FOlm S-1 registration 

statement with the. Commission to register the resale 'transactions for the 34 shareholders 

who acquired Entertainment Art stock in these private placements (;'the Form S-l 

Shareholders"). In particular, of the tota11,810,000 shares 'outstandi'ng at the ti~~ of the 

Fornl S-1, Enteltainment Art's ' S-l covered 610,000, or approximately one-third, of the 

company's then outstanding shares. 

30. The remaining 1,200,000 shares of Entertainment Art stock were held by 

the three company officers in three identical 400,000 share blocks. 

31. On May 1, 2009, Entenainment Art announced, in a public filing with the 

Commission, that the three Entertainment Art officers sold their total 1,200,000 shares of 

Entertainment Art ' t6 Medford Financial Ltd. ("Medford Financial"), a Belizean entity, 

for a purchase price of $120,000. 

32. Contrary .. to this disclosure, however, Medford Financial purchased more 

than 1;200,000 'shares of Entertainment Art. In fact, Medford Financial also purchased 

all of the 610,000 shares that had been purchased by the Form S-1 shareholders. Thus, in 

tills transaction, Medford Financial purchased all of the outstanding shares, including the 

shares then held by the Form S-1 Shareholders. 

33. . Each of the Foml 'S-1 shareholders received their illltial investment .back, 

with an additiomi..1; small return on . their investment. Th~s, by on ~r around May 2009, 

each of the Fonn 3-1 shareholders had no remaining shares or other interest in 

Entertainment Art. 
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34. According to company filings, on June 30, 2009, Entertainment Art's 

board of directors approved the implementation of a· 33: 1 forward split for Entertainment 

Art stock without correspondinglY increasing the authorized shares of common stock for 

Entertaiiunent Art . . On July 21, ;2009, the''forward split became effective, and asa'result 

of the forward split, the company had 59,730,000 shares of common stock outstanding

which was ail owned by Medford Financia~. 

B. Another Sale of Entertainment Art and Acquisition of 'BiozOOIli 
Technology 

35. On October 25, 2012, Entertainment Art reported, in a public filing with 

the Commission, that on October 19 Medford Financial sold 39,600,000 common shares 

of Entertainment Art in a private transaction with Le Mond Capital for a purchase price 

of $430,000, which equates to apprqximatCly $0.01 per share. 

36. Le Mond Capital 'purports to be a foreign entity based in the British Virgin 

Islands. As a result of the sale, ' Entertainment Art disclosed that Le Mond . Capital 

controlled over 66.3% ohhe Company's issued and outstanding common stock. 

37 . However, on information and belief, Le Mond Capital purchased the 

entire company from Medford F)nancial - and all of 59,730,000 outstanding shares. 

38. The owner of Le MondCapital, Sara Deutsch, became Entertainment 

Art's new President, Chief Executi~e ' Officer, Principal Executive Officer, Treasurer, 

Chief Financial Officer, Secretary, Tl:~asurer, ·and Dire~tor. On information~<;I belief, 

Deutsch is a resident ofBuehos Aires; .. Aigen:tina. 

39. From September 2011 to at least October 2012, Deutsch wprked as a 

11lanagerofMagda1ena's Party. According to the business' website, Magdal¢na' s Party is 
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a restaurant located in Buenos Aires, Argentina. According to another website describing 

Magdalena's Party, it is co-owned by Deutsch, defendant Magdalena Tavella, and others. 

40. On March 12, 2013, Entertainment Art filed a Form 8-K with · the 

Commission in which it rumounceda drrunatic change in its business operations from a 

company that developed fashionable leather bags to a company that was involved in the 

biomedical industry. In particular, Entertainment Art announced a transaction pursuant 

to which its newly formed subsidiary, Biozoom Technologies, Inc., acquired certain 

patents, licenses, and related assets from each of three sepmate companies: Opsolution 

Spectroscopic Systems, Opsolution NanoPhotonics, and Opsolution GmBH, (the 

"Opsolution acquisition") in exchange for cash of $50,000 and 39 million shares of 

Entertainment Art common stock. 

41. Entertainment Art described that, through Biozoom, it was now in the 

business of "researching, developing, and licensing technologies relating to the mobile 

remote collection of biomedical data as well as bilateral diagnostic communication." 

42. Entertainment Alt further disclosed that - as of immediately after closing 

of the Opsolution acquisition and filing of the Form ·S-K - Deutsch would step down as 

CEO ruld Chief Finru1cial Officer of Entertainment Art, but would stay on as a Director 

only. 

43. As a result of the transaction, the 59,730,000 outstanding shares of 

Entertainment r\rt were allocated in the following manner. First, Le Mond Capital 

returned 39,000,000 shares to the company, and then those 39,000,000 shares were 

. allocated - as shares bearing a restrictive leaend - to four entities that were associated 

with the Opsolution entities. 
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44. Thus, after these allocations, 20,730,000 shares of Entertainment Art 

remained. Le Mond Capital retained 600,000 of these shares bearing a restrictive legend. 

Theremaining 20,130,000 shares - which represented the ,total shares. ~urchased by the 

Form S-l Sha:reholdei~(andsubsequently sold in the MedfordFinanGi<iltr~sacti()n on or 

around May 2009) - were unallocated. 

45 . On April 1,2013, Entertainment Art changed its name to Biozoom, under 

the trading symbol "BIZM" oil the OTe Bulletin' Board. 

C. Defendants Dcposit Biozoom Shares In Their Newly Open cd 
Brokerage Accounts 

46. From January 2013 to May 2013, brokerage accounts were opened at 

Legend, a registered broker-dealer based in New Yotk, in the name of four of the 

defendants : Ficicchia, Blaya, Hernando, and De Lorenzo. 

47. In May 2013, brokerage accounts were opened at Scottsdale, a registered 

broker-dealer based in Phoenix, Arizona, in the name of another four defendants: 

Tavella, Bagattin, Goldman, and Ferrari. 

48. Accorclingto the account Qpening docwlJentation - nnd as reflected in the 

table below - with one exception, none of the defendanl') worked in fields related to 

securities. 

Blaya Music producer-stock investments 

Hernando MarketihKManager 

De Lorenzo Self-employed marketing specialist 
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Bagattin · 

Ferrari 

Goldman 

1. Accounts at Legend 

Andres Horacio Ficicchia 

intelled:milproperty, and patent law 

Retired Teacher 

Sales and Marketing 

Delicatessen owner 

49. Defend.ant Ficicchia opened his account at Legend on or about January 24, 

2013 and funded the account with $26,000 cash. 

50. On November 30, 2012, Entertainment Art's transfer agent issued an 

Entertainment Art certificate for l65,000 shares to Ficicchia. 

51. On iv1:arch 13, 2013, Entertaiml:ent Art's transfer agent issued an 

Entertairlllent Art certificate for 1,237,500 shares to Ficicchiu. 

52. The certifi.cate for 1,237,500 shares was accompanied by a corporate 

certification stating that Deutsch certified - at a board meeting of Entertainm.ent Art on 

March 22, 2013 - the comparJy approved the issuanceofthat certificate to Ficicchia. 

53. In order to deposit the certitlcate for 1,237,500 shares and the certificate of 

165,000 shares of Entertainment Art into his brokerage account at Legend, defendant 

Ficicchia completed a "Deposit for Securities Request Certificate Questionnaire" that was 

required by Legend, and provided additional documentation. 
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54. The documentatipn .reflected th'!.t Ficicchia acquired the 1;237,500 shares 

pursuant to two private sales that were completed on February 19,2013: (1) apurchase.cif 

412,500 shares from Investor A and,(2) a purchase of 825,000 shares . from Investor B. 

The documentation also reflected that Ficicchia paid. a total of approximately $6,300 for 

these shares, which equals approximately $.005 'per shar.e. For the following reasons, the 

documentation submitted by FiCicchi'?t was false. 

55. Investor A was one of the Form S-1 shareholders who had-sold his shares 

of Entertainment Art on or around May '2009 - almost four years before Ficicchia's 

claimed purchase of shares fTom Investor A. Investor B was purportedly a shareholder 

that acquired its shares from some of the Form S-1 shareholders in 2011 - approximately 

two years after the FOlm S-1 shareholders actually sold their shares. 

56. The documentation further retlected that Defendant Ficicchia acquired the 

165,000 shares pursuant to a private sale that was completed on November 30, 2012 with 

Investor C - shares that he acquired for $24,750, which equals $0.15 per share. Investor 

Cwas also one of the:FolmS-1 Shareholders .who had sold his shares of Enter~ainment 

Art on or around May 2009 - over three years before Ficicchia's claimed purchase of 

shares from Investor C. 

57. On March 5, 2013, Ficicchia deposited 165,000 shares of Entertaillllent 

Art not bearing a restrictive legend into his brokerage account at Legend; and then on 

Mmch 27,2013, Ficicchia deposited an additional 1,237,500 shares (again not bearing a 

restrictive legend) - for a total of 1,402,500 ~hares. 

58. On April 1, 2013, due , to the name change of Ente11ainment Art to 

Biozoom, these shares becanle Biozoom shares,. Thus, defendant Ficicchia held 
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1,402,500 shares of Biozoom that were purportedly available to be sold on the public 

markets. 

Gonzalo Garcia Bia:ya 

59. On or about March 26, 2013, defendant BIC;l.ya opened an account at 

. Legend and funded this account with $26,000 cash. 

60. On March 22, 2013 - just four days prior to opening this account -

Entertainment Art's transfer agent issued a certificate for 1,485,000 Entertainment Art 

shares to Blaya. 

61. In order to deposit his certificate for 1,485,000 shares of Entertainment 

Art into his brokerage accow1t at Legend, defendant Blaya completed a "Deposit for 

Securities Request Certificate Questiormaire" that was required by Legend, and provided 

additional documentation. For the following reasons, the documentation submitted by 

Blaya was false . 

62. The documentation reflected that Blaya acquired the 1,485,000 shares in 

four sepm-ate private s.ales that were completed on March 4, 2013 : (1) a purchase of 

165,000 shares from Investor D; (2) a purchase of 495,000 shares from investor E; (3) a 

purchase of 165,000 shares from Investor f; and (4) a purchase of 660,000 shares from 

Investor G. The documentation also retlected that Blaya paid a total of approximately 

$6,765 for these shares, which equals approximately $.005 per share. 

63. Each of Investors D; E, F, ·and G were Form S-l Shareholders who had 

sold their Entertainment Art shares on or around May 20'09 -almost four years before 

Blaya's claimed purchase of shares from these investors. 
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64. On April 16,2013, Blaya deposited 1,485,000 shares of Entertainnient Art 

not bearing a restrictive legend into his brokerage account at Legend. As a result of the 

business name change on April. 1, 2013" these shares became, Biozoom shares. Thus, 

defendant Blaya held 1,485,000 shares 'of Biozoom that were purportedly available to be 

sold on the public markets. 

Luciana Mariana Hernando 

65. On or about March 7, 2013, defendant Hernando opened an account at 

Legend and funded the account with $50,000 cash. 

66. On March 22,2013, Entertainment Art's transfer agent issued a certificate 

for 1,815,000 Entertainment Art'shares to Hernando. 

67. In order to deposit her 1,815,000 shares of Entertainment Art into her 

brokerage accOlmt at Legend, defendant Hemanclo completed a ·"Deposit for Securities 

Request Certificate Questionnaire" that was required by Legend, and provided additional 

documentation. For the following reasons, the doc.:wnentation submitted by Hernando 

was false. 

68. The docwnentation reflected that Hemanclo acquired the 1,815,000 shares 

pursuant to two separate private sales that were completed on 'March 5, 2013: (1) a 

purchase of 1,650,000 shares 'from Investor H; and (2) a purchase of 165,000 shares fIom 

Investor 1. The documentation also retlectecl that I-Iermmdo paid a total of approximately 

$5,445 for these shares, which equals approximately $.003 per share. 

69 . Both Investors H and I were Form S-1 shareholders who had sold their 

Entertainment Art shares on or arolind May 2009 - almost four years before Hernando's 

claimed purchase of shares from these investors. 
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70. On May 14, 2013, defendant Hemando deposited 1,815,000 shares of 

Entertainment Art not bearing a restrictive legend into her brokerage account at Legend 

Securities. As a result of the business name change on , April 1, 2013, these shares 

became Biozoom shares. Thus, deferidant Hernando held 1,815',000 shares of Biozoom 

that were purportedly available to be sqld on the public markets. 

Cecilia De Lorenzo 

71. On or about February 4,2013, defendant De Lorenzo opened an account at 

Legend and fLIDded the account with $5'0,000 cash. 

72. On March 13,2013, Entertainment Art's transfer agent issued a certificate 

for 2,062,500 shares to De Lorenzo. 

73. The certificate was accompanied by a corporate certification stating that 

Deutsch certified - at a board meeting of Entertainment Art on MaTch 22, 2013 - the 

company approved the issuance of the above certificate to De Lorenzo , 

74. In order to deposit her 2,062,500 shares of Entertainment Art into her 

brokerage account at L,egend, De Lorenzo completed a "Deposit for Securities Request 

Certificate Questionnaire" that was required , by Legend, and provided additional 

documentation. For the following reasons, the documentation submitted by De Lorenzo 

was false, 

75, The documentation reflected that De Lorenzo acquired the 2,062,500 

shares pursuant to two separate private sales that were completed on February 19, 2013 -

the same day as the purported purchases of Entertainment Art stock by Ficicchia: (1) a 

purchase of 1,650,000 shares from Investor J; and (2) a purchase of 412,500 shares from 
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Investor K. The documentation also reflected that Defendant De Lorenzo paid a total of 

approximately $8,300 for these shares; which equals approximately $.004 per share. 

76. Hoth Investors J and K, however, were Form S-l shareholders who had 

sold their EntertainmeotArt shares on or around May 2009 - almost four years before 

defendant De Lorenzo's claimed purchase of shares fi'om these investors. 

77. On March 22, 2013, defendant De'Lorenzo deposited 2,062,500 shares of 

Entertainment Art not bearing a restrictive legend into 'her brokerage account at Leg~nd. 

As a result of the business name change on April 1,2013, these shares became Biozoom 

shares. Thus, defendant De Lorenzo held 2,062,500 shares of Biozoom that purportedly 

could be sold on the public markets. 

2. Accounts at Scottsdale 

Magdalena Tavella 

78. On March 22, 2013, Entertainment All'S stock t.ransfer agent issued a 

cer,tificate for 1,815,000 shares of Enteltainment Art to Tavella. 

79. On or ",bout May 16; 2013, defendant Tavella opened an account at 

Scottsdale. 

80. In order to deposit her 1,815,000 shares of Entertain,ment Art into her 

brokerage account, Scottsdale, using information and document:'ltion provided " by 

Tavella, completed a securities deposit checklist. For the following reasons, the 

documentation submitted by Tavella was false. 

81: The documentation reflected that Tavella acquired the 1,815,000 shares 

pursuanttothree separate private sales that were completed 00 March 5,2013 - the same 

day as the purported purchases of Entertainment Art by defendant f-kmartdo: 0) a 
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purchase of 165,000 shares from Investor L; (2) a purchase of 165,000 shares from 

Investor M; and (3) a purchase of 1,485,000 shares from Investor N . The documentation . " . 

reflected that Tavella paiq a total of approximately $9,075 for these shares, which equals 

approximately $.006 per share. 

82. Investors Land M were two of the Form S-I ' shareholders who had sold · 

their shares of En,tertainment Art on or around May 2009 - almost ' four years before 

TavelIa's claimed purchase of shares from them. Investor N was purportedly a 

shareholder that acquired its shares from some of the Form S-l shareholders in March 

2011 - almost two years after the Form S-l shareholders sold their shares. 

83. On May 22, 2013, defendant Tavella deposited 1,815,000 shares of 

Entertainment Art not bearing a restrictive legend into her brokerage account at 

Scottsdale. As a result of the business name change on April 1, 2013 , these shares 

became Biozoom shares. Thus, defendant Tavella hejd 1,815,000 shares ofBiozoom that 

\vere purportcdly available to be sold on the public markets. 

Adriana Rosa Bagattin . 

84. On March 13, 2013, Entertainment Art's transfer agent issued a certiflcate 

for 2,310,000 Entertainment Art shares to defendant Bagattin. 

8-). On or about May 10, 2013 , defendant Bagattin opened an accolmt at 

Scottsdale. 

86 . In order to deposit her 2,310,000 shares of Entertaimnent Art into her 

brokerage accolmt, Scottsdale, using information and documentation provided by 

Bagattin, completed a securities deposit checklist. For the following reasous, the 

documentation submitted by Bagattin was false . 
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87. The documentation reflected that Bagattin 'acquired the 2,310,000 shares 

pursuant to three private sales that were completed on February 26, 2013: (1) a purchase 

of 1,650,000 shares from Investor 0; (2) a purchase of 330,000 shares from Investor P; 

and (3) a purchase of330,000 shares from Investor Q. The documentation reflected that 

Defendant Bagartin paid approximately $6,930 for these shares, which equals 

approximately $.003 per share. 

88. Each ofInvestors 0, P, andQ, however, were FOrin S-l Shareholders who 

had sold their Entertainment Art shares on or around May 2009 - almost four years 

before defendant Bagattin's claimed purchase of shares from these persons. 

89. On May 22, 2013, Bagattin deposited 2,310,000 shares of Entertainment 

Art not bearing a restrictive legend into her brokerage account at Scottsdale. As a result 

of the business nanle change on April 1, 2013 , these shares became Biozoom shares. 

Thus, defendant Bagattin held 2,310,000 shares of Biozoom that were purportedly 

available to be sold on the public markets. 

Daniela Patricia Goldn,lan 

90. On March 22, 2013, Enteliainrnent Ali's transfer agent issued a certificate 

for 2,485,000 Entertainment Ali shares to Goldman. 

91. On or about May 13, 2013 , defendant Goldman opened an account at 

Scottsdale. 

92. In order to deposit her 2,485,000 shares of Entertairuuent AIt into her 

brokerage account, Scottsdale, using documentation and information provided by 

Goldman, completed a securities deposit checklist. For the foHowing reasons, the 

documentation submitted by Goldman was false. 
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93. The documentation reflected that Goldman acquired the 2,485,000 shares 

'pursuant to two private sales that were completed on March 4, 2013: (1) a purchase of 

1,485,000 shares from Investor R; .and (2) a purchase of 1,000,000 shares from Investor 

S. The documentation also reflected that Goldman paid approximately $7,455 for these 

shares, which equals approximately $.003 per share. 

94. InvestorR purportedly obtained its shares from some of the · Foml S-l 

Shareholders in March 2011 - almost two years after the Form S-I ' shareholders sold 

their shares. Investor S was one of the Fonn S-l shareholders and sold his shares on or 

arolmd May 2009 - almost four years before defendant Goldman's ,claimed purchase of 

shares from him. 

95. On May 22, 2013 , Goldman deposited 2,485,000 shares of Entertainment 

Art not bearing a restrictive legend into her brokerage accotmt at Scottsdale, As a resuli 

of the business name change on April 1, 2013, these shares became Biozoom shares. 

Thus, defendant Goldman held 2,485,000 shares of Biozoom that were purportedly 

available for sale on the"public markets. 

Mariano Pablo Ferrari 

96 . 011 March 22, 2013, Entertainment Art's transfer agent.issued a certificate 

for 2,310,000 Entertainment Art shares to Ferrari. 

97. On or about May 20, 2013 , Ferrari opened an account at Scottsdale. 

98. In order to deposit his 2,310,000 shares of Entertainment Art into his 

brokerage account, Scottsdale, using documentation and information provided by ferrari, 

completed a securities deposit checklist. For the folJowing reasons, the documentation 

provided by Ferrari, was false. 
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99. The documentation reflected that Ferrari acquired the 2,310,000 shares 

pursuant to two private sales that were completed on March 5, 2013: (1) a purchase of 

1,650,000 shares from Investor T; and (2) a purchase of 660,000 shares frOIIl, Investor U. 

The documentation also reflected that Goldman paid approximately $9,240 for these 

shares, or approximately $.004 per share. 

100. Investor T was one of the Form S-l shareholders and sold his :Sliares on or 

around May 2009 - almost four years before defendant Ferrari's claimed purchase of 

shares from him. Investor U purportedly obtained its shares from some of the Form S-1 

shareholders in September 2009. 

101 . On May 22,2013, Ferrari deposited 2,310,000 shares of Entertainment Art 

not bearing a restrictive legend into his brokerage account at Scottsdale. As a result of 

the business name change on April 1,2013, these shares became Biozoom shar'es. Thus, 

defendant Ferrari held 2,310,000 shares of Biozoom that were purportedly available for 

sale on the public markets. 

Two Other Accounts i.r~;N'ames of Defendants Graciarellfl and Loureyro 

102, On March 22, 2013, Manhattan Transfer issued a certificate for 2,145,000 

Entertainment Art shares to Graciarena and 2,300,000 Entertainment Art shares to 

Loureyro. Graciarena and Loureyro submitted documentation reflectil1g that-they had 

obtained their shares in the same maimer as the other eight defendants - i.e. - by 

purportedly purchasing shares from the Fonn S-l shareholders. 

103 . On or about June 14, 2013, Fernando Lomeyro and Mariano Graciarena 

opened separate accounts at Scottsdale. Like the other eight defendants, both stated in 

brokerage firm documents that thGY resided in Buenos Aires, Argentina. 
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104. On June 18,2013, these shares were deposited in the brokerage accounts 

of these two individuals. To date, none of these shares have been sold. 

105. In sum, from November 2012 to Jlme 2013, the ten defendant accounts 

received a total of 20,130,000 shares of Entertainment Art. These 'shares represented all 

of the shares that were unallocated , after the Opsolution acquisition. Moreover, these 

shares represented 100% percent of the total shares without a restrictive ' legend 

outstanding in Biozoom at the time, and more ·than 33% percent of the totaloutstariding 

shares of Biozoom. 

D. Defendants Sell Millions of Biozoom Shares 

106. BegiIUling on May 22, 2013 - and after nearly all of the defendants had 

deposited their Biozoom shares not bearing a restrictive legend in their accounts -

Biozoom began issuing a series of press releases in which it claimed it "created the 

world's first portable, lumdheld conswner device" to instantly and llon-invasively 

measure c,ertain biomarkers. These claims were also made by other entities, including 

Global Financial, Inc., Stock Preacher.com, among others. 

107. Following these positive claims concerning Biozoom's prospects, the 

accounts in the nan1C of eight of the selling defendants sold substantial amounts of their 

Biozoom stock that did not bear a restrictive legend for massive proceeds. In particular, 

and as reflected in the chart below, eight of the defendants sold 14,078,406 shares of 

BIZM stock for proceeds of$33,997,152. 

~;Defe~{mui't;,,:. '. ~:S~·~i~n}p'J~r < p~.t~: Sold : ;;"<' ·TPr.~ce:edS.~:; .. ':< >:~~~~J;~:;:WT 

BI~--- 1,312,053 __ 
1
_.5116/13--6/]3;81 $3;014,965 172;9_47 ___ 

1 
DeLorenzo ! 1,328;000 6117113-6118113 ! $4,809,836 \ 734,500 
Hernando T l,815,QOO --6;'6113 -6/17/13 ]J5,048,217 i 0 ______ --' 
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·:Defclldant · •. ,. 'I: Shares ' Sol~ i,e ?;J:~_~ te~:S6.ld ~"~.:<, / .: ;Proceeds:i:;!;;; 'fShares;' ;{i.:!/~\{'; 
'.. . . :'Re~iihii1u' 

Ficcichia 1,402,500 I 5/2Q/13 - 6/5113 $1,979,389' . i '272-;6201 .. 

Tavella 1,592,444 I 617/13 - 6/11/13 $3,116,894 382,9567
' . 

J3agattin 2,176,726 6/10/13 - 6118/13 ! $6,223,310 133,724 
Ferrari 1,994;038. 617/13 - 6/19113 ! $5,456,690 3i.5,962 
Goldman 2,457,645 5/28/13 ~ 6/6113 I $3,771,761 . 27,355 

108. All of the eight selling defendants placed their 'orders to. ~ell Biozoom 

stock in the same mann~r - via e-mail and instantm~ssage to either Legend or Scottsdale. 

109. Upon selling shares in Biozoom, several of the defendants instructed their 

brokerage firms to wire the proceeds of their sales to foreign bank accounts in various 

countries: 

<> Ficicchia: On Jlme 7, 2013, defendant Ficicchia instructed Legend, to wire $1 

million to Alpine Securities, Inc., a registered clearing broker~dealeL Alpine 

provides clearing services for Scottsdale, and as described ' earlier, Ficicchia 

opened an account at Scottsdale on or around June 10, 2013 and funded it with 

this $1 million. On June 25, 2013 - the same day as the Commission's order 

suspending trading in Biozoom - Ficicchia instructed Scottsdale to wire $325,000 

to a bank account in Cyprus. This wire was not executed. Ficicchia's brokerage 

account at Legend currently has a cash balan.ce of slightly over $1 million; -and 

Fici.cchia's brokerage account at Scottsdale currently has a cash balance of 

approximately $328,000. 

On or around June 10,2013, Ficicchia opened an account ·at ScottSdale and funded this account 
with $lmillion from his account at Legend. Ficicchia's "Shares Remaining" column reflects Biozoom 
purchases that he has made in his account at Scottsdale. ' 

2 Tavella's "Shares Remaining" cohimn includes 160,400 Biozoom shares that. she purchased in the 
open market 011 June 19, 2013. 
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/I Blaya: On June 14, 2013, Blaya instructed Legend to wire "all settled funds 

except $30,000" to an account held in Geneva, SWitzerland. This wire was not 

executed. This account currently has a cash balance of approximately $3 .5 

rriillion. 

/I Hernando: On June l3, 2013, Hernando instructed his broker-dealer, Legend, to 

wire "all available settled cash" in her account, which at th~ time, was 

approximately $600,000, to an account held at Hellenic Bank Public Company 

Limited in Lemesos, Cyprus. This wire was executed. On June 17, 2013, 

Hernando instructed his broker-dealer, Legend, to wire $2 million, again to an 

account held at Hellenic Bank Public Company Limited in Lemesos, Cyprus. 

This wire was not executed by Legend. This account has a cash balance of 

approximately $4.5 million. 

3 Dc Lorenzo: De Lorenzo has not yet attempted to wire any money out of her 

account. De Lorenzo has a bank account in Dar Es Salaam. The account has a 

cash balance of,approximately $4.8 million. 

(I Tavella : On June 25, 2013 - the day of the Commission's order suspending 

trading in the securities of Biozoom - Tavella attempted to wire approximately 

$2,450,000 out of her account at Scottsdale to a bank account in S1. Vincent and 

the Grenandines. This wire has not been executed . The current cash balance in 

Tavella's brokerage (iccount is approximately $2.4 7 million. 

<) Bagattin : On Jlme 20, 2013, Bagattin instructed Scottsdale to wIre 

approximately $4.33 million to a bank accowlt in Cyprus. This wue was 

executed. On June 24, 2013, Bagattininstructed Scottsdale to send an additional 
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approximately $1.89 million to the same bank account. This wire was also 

executed. The current cash balance in Bagattin's brokerage account is $3,000. 

• Goldman: On June 11, 2013, GoJdman instructed Scottsdale to wire 

approximately $3.77 million to an account held at a bank in Geneva, Switzerland 

- a bank where Blaya also holds an account. This wire was executed. The cash 

balance in Goldman's account is $0. 

G Ferrari: On June 19, 2013~ Ferrari instructed Scottsdale to wire $500;000 to an 

account held at a bank in Panama. This wire was executed. On June 24, 2013, 

Ferrari instructed Scottsdale to wire an additional $4.9 million, this time to a bank 

in Belize. This wire was also executed. The cash balance in Ferrari's account is 

$0. 

F. No Registration Statement Was In EiTect At the Time Defen9ants Sold 
Biozoom Shares 

110, Section 5 of the Securities Act makes it unlawful for any person, directly or 

indirectly, to offer or sell securities, using the U.S. mails or interstate cormnerce, unless such 

offer or sale is registered with the Conmlission, 

Ill. No registration statement was in effect for the shm'es sold by the Selling 

Defendants. 

112. No registration statement 1S In effect for the Biozoom shares held by 

defendants Graciarena and LOUTeyro. 

G. -BiozoOll1 Is A Penny Stock As Defilled By The Sccuriti~s Exchange Act 
of 1934 ("Exchange Act") 

113 . Biozoom's stock is a "pemlY stock" as defined by the Exchange Act. At 

times relevant to this Complaint, the stock's shares traded at less than $5.00 per share. 

During. the same time period, Biozoom's stock did not meet any of the exceptions to 
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penny stock classification pursuant to Section 3(a)(51) and Rule 3a51-1 of the Exchange 

Act. 

114. For example, the . company's stock: (1) did not trade on a national 

securities exchange; (2) was not an "NMS stock," as defined in 17 C.F.R. § 

242.242.600(b)(47); (3) did not have net tangible assets (i.e., total assets less intangible 

assets and liabilities) in excess of$5,OOO,OOO; and (4) did rieit have average revenue of at 

least $6,000,000 for the last three ·years. (See Exchange Act, Rule 3a51-1(g).) 

COUNT I 

VIOLATION OF SECTION 5 OF THE SECURITIES ACT, 15 U.S.c. §77e 

(Defendants Tavella, Ficicchia, Blava, Hernando, De Lorenzo. Bagattin, Ferrari, 
Goldman) 

ll5 . Paragraphs 1 through 114 are hereby re-alleged and incorporated by 

reference. 

116. Defendants, by engagmg It1 the conduct described above, directly or 

indirecily, and without a registration statement in effect as to such securities : 

(a) made use of means or instruments of transportation or communication 

in · interstate commerce or of the mails to sell, through the use or 

medium of a prospectus or otherwise; or 

(b) can-ied or caused to be can-ied through the mails or in interstate 

commerce, by any means or instruments of transportation, securities 

for the purpose of sale or for delivery after sale. 

117. Defendants, by engaging in the conduct described above, also directly or 

indirectly, made use of the means or instruments of transportation or communication in 

interstate commerce or of the mails to offer to sell or offer to buy through the use or 
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medium of any prospectus or otherwise securities, without a registration statement having 

been fried as to those securities. 

118. By engaging in the foregoing conduct, Defendants directly or indirectly, 

violated, and unless restrained and enjoined will continue to violate Sections Sea) and 

5(c) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.c. §§ 77e(a) and 77e(c)]. 

COUNTII 

INJUNCTION PURSUANT TO SECTION20(b) OF THE SECURITIES ACT 

(Defendants Graciarena and Loureyro) 

119. Paragraphs 1 tm'ough 114 are re-alleged and incorporated by reference 

herein. 

120. Securities Act Section 20(b) provides that '\vhenever it shall appear to the 

Conunission that any person is engaged in or is about to engage in any acts or practices 

which constitute or will constitute a violadon of the provisions of this titlc, the 

Commission may in its discretion, bring an action in district.court to enjoin such acts or 

practices . .. " 

121. Defendants Graciarena and Loureyro have deposited shares of Biozoom in 

their respective brokerage accounts. Those shares do not bear a restrictive legend. 

However, no registration statement is in effect for the offer oJ sale of those shares . 

122. Unless restrained ane! enjoined, Graciarena and Loureyro me likely to 

offer or sell their Biozoom shares to the public in violation of Section 5 of the Securities 

Act. 
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, the Conunission respectfully rS!quests that this Court: 

I. 

Issue fmdings of fact and conClusions of law that defendants Ficicchia, Blaya, 

Hernando, De Lorenzo, Tavella, Goldrn~, Bagattin, and Ferrari committed the violations 

charged and alleged herein. 

II. 

Enter an order temporarily restraining and enjoining defendants Ficicchia, Blaya, 

Hernando, De Lorenzo, Tavella, Goldman, Bagattin, Ferrari, Graciarena, and Loureyro, 

their officers, agents, servants, employees, attorneys and those persons in active concert or 

pcu"ticipation with defendants who receive achwl notice of the Order, by personal service or 

otherwise, and each of them from, directly or indirectly, engaging in the transactions, acts, 

practices or COUl"ses of business described above, or in conduct of similar purport and object, 

in violation of Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.c. §§ 77e(a) and 77e(c)]. 

III. 

Enter an order freezing the brokerage accounts and any assets of defendants 

Ficicchia, Blaya, Hernando, De Lorenzo, Tavella, Goldman, Bagattin, and Ferrari derived 

from the sale of Biozoom stock; and, freezing the brokerage accounts of defendants 

Graciarena and Loureyro holding Biozoom shares. 

IV. 

Enter an order requmng defendants Ficicchia, Blaya, Hernando, De Lorenzo, 

Tavella, Goldman, Bagattin, and Fenari to rehlrn to the United States any proceeds from the 

sale of Biozoom stock that have been transferred abroad and those proceeds which are 
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returned be frozen in a domestic bank during the. pendency of this action to preserve such 

assets for the satisfaction of disgorgement. 

V. 

Enter an Order of Permanent Injunction restraining and enj()ining defendants 

Ficicchia, Blaya, Hernando, De Lorenzo, Tavella, Goldman, Bagattin, Ferrari, Graciarena, 

and Loureyro, their officers, agents, servants, employees, attorneys and those persons in 

active concert or participation 'vVith defendantS who receive actual notice of the Order, by 

personal service or otherwise, and each of them from, directly or indirectly, engaging in the 

tnmsactions, acts, practices or courses of business described above, or in conduct of sinlilar 

purport and object, in violation of Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act [15 U.S .C. §§ 

77e(a) and 77e(c)]. 

VI. 

Enter an Order requmng defendants Ficicchia, Blaya, Hernando, De Lorenzo, 

Tavella, Goldman, Bagattin, and Ferrari to disgorge the ill-gotten gains received as a result 

of the violations alleged herein, including prejudgment interest. 

VII. 

Issue an Order imposing upon defendants Ficicchia, Blaya, Hernando, De Lorenzo, 

Tavella, Goldman, Bagattin, and Fenari appropliate civil penalties pursuant 10 Section 20(c1) 

oftlle Securities Act [15 U.S.c. §77t(d)]. 

VIII. 

Issue an order permanently and unconditionally barring, pursuant to Section 20(g) of 

the SecUlities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t(g)], tlle Selling Defendants ii-om participating in an 
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offering of penny .stock as defined by Exchange Act Section 3(a)(51) [15 U.S.C. § 

78c(a)(51)] and Rule3a51-1 thereunder [17 C.F.R. § 240.3a51-1]. 

IX. 

Retain jurisdiction of this action in accordance with the principles of equity and the 

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure in order to implement and carry out the terms of all orders 

and decrees that may be entere.d or to entertain any suitable application or motion. for 

additional relief within the jurisdiction ofthls Court. 

X. 

Grant such other relief as this Court deems appropriate. 

Dated: July 3, 2013 

: " 

O/counsel: 

David J. Gottesman 
Patrick M. Bryan 

Antonia Chion 
Ricky Sachar 
Deborah J. Tarasevich 
Scott M. Lowry 
Jernue B. Krasner 

UNITED STATES SECURlTIES AND 
EXCHANGE COMIVllSSION 

BY:_~L~rl£L/..~ 
Richard E. Simpson ([(S5859) 
U.S. Securities and Exchange Conmussion 
100 F Street, NE 
Wasrungton, DC 20549 
Telephone: (202) 551-4420 
SimnsonR(@,sec.gov 

U.S. Se.curities and Exchange Commission 
100 F Street, NE 
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Washington, DC 20549 

. . :.' 
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Case 1: 13-cv-04609-NRB Document 15-1 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOrr.fBER1'i DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

Filed 07/16/13 Page 1 of 7 

LJS i j i..' SDN'r' 

1410004 / 0010 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE 
COMMISSION, 

DOCU \ 'lENT 
U . FCTI~ ON [C "\LLY FILED 

Plaintiff. 

v. 

MAGDALENA TA VELLA, 
ANDRES HORACrO FICICCHIA, GONZALO 
GARCIA BLA Y A, LUCIA MARIANA 
HERNANDO, CECILIA DE LORENZO, 
ADRlANA ROSA BAGA TTIN, 
DANlELA PA 1RIClA GOLDMAN, 
MARIANO PABLO FERRARI, 
~OGRAC~A,Md 

FERNANDO LOUREYRO, 

Defendants. 

Civil Action No. 13-CN-4609 (NRB) 

ludge Naomi ReiceBuchwald 

STIPULATION AND ORDER GRANTING PRELIMlNARY INJUNCTION, ASSET 
FREEZE. AND OTHER RELIEF 

This cause having come before the Court previously on July 3, 2013, on Plaintiff 

Securities Md Exchange Commission's ("Commission's") Motion for a Temporary Restraining 

Order and Asset Freeze and For an Order to Show Cause Why a Preliminary Injunction Should 

Not Be Issued, the Court having considered the Commission's Complaint, motion, supporting 

memorandum of law, and the exhibits and declarations submitted in support of the Plaintiff's 

motion, and the Plaintiff and all Defendants by counsel having appeared and, without admitting 

any wrongdoing, consented to the entry of this Order, this Court finds as follows: 

), On July 3, 2013, this CXlUI1 entered an order that, among other rel ief granted, 

enjoined the disposition, sale, transfer, pledge, encumbrance, assignment, concealment, or other 
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Case 1:13-cv-04609-NRB Document 15-1 Filed 07/16/13 Page 2 of 7 

disposal of stock ofBiozoom, Inc. (hereafter "Biozoom") or the proceeds derived from the sale 

thereof; froze accounts holding funds or assets of the Defendants; and ordered preservation of 

documents related to Biozoom, any proceeds from the sale or transfer ofBiozoom stm:k, or 

related to accounts through which Biozoom stock was traded or proceeds derived from the sale 

thereof were deposited, and all communications concerning the foregoing. The Order entered 

on July 3, 2013 also set a hearing for this matter on July ]7, 2013 at 11:00 a.m. 

2. There is no admission by Defendants that the allegations in the Complaint filed by 

the Commission are true or accurate. 

3. Defendants have consented and stipulated to the entry of this Order, which 

continues the asset freeze and other relief set forth below, pending final adjudication ofthls case 

or until further order of this Court. 

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED: 

A. ASSET FREEZE ORDER 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that, until a final adjudication on the merits may be had, 

Defendants and each of their agents, servants, employees, attorneys-in-fact, and those persons in 

active concert or participation with them who receive actual notice ofthis Order by personal 

service or otherwise, end each of them, hold and retain within their control, and otherwise 

prevent any disposition, sllIe, transfer, pledge, encumbrance, assignment, dissipation, 

ooncealment, or other disposal whatsoever of any shares of Biozoom and all proceeds derived 

from sales ofBiozoom stock under their control or over which they exercise actual or apparent 

investment or other authority, wherever located, in whatever form such assets may presently 

exist, or in any account whatsoever. 
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Case 1 :13-cv-04609-NRB Document 15-1 Filed 07/16/13 Page 3 of 7 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the freeze described in this Section A, includes but is 

not limited to all Biozoom stock and all funds in the following accounts (hereafter, "Group A 

Accounts"): 

(i) Andres Horacio Ficicchia's account at Legend Securities, Inc. with 

account number ending in "CICC". 

(ii) Andres Horacia Ficicchia's account at Scottsdale Capital Advisors, 

Inc. with account number ending 2927. 

(iii) Gonzalo Garcia S1aya's account at Legend Securities, Inc. with 

account number ending in "LA YA". 

(iv) Luciana Mariana Hernando's account at Legend Securities, Inc. 

with acc<>unt nwnber ending in "ANDO". 

(v) Cecilia De Lorenzo's account at Legend Securities, Inc. with 

account number ending in ~ENzon. 

(vi) Magdalena Tavella' s account Scottsdale Capital Advisors, Inc. 

with account number ending 3831 . 

(vii) Adriana Rosa Bagattin's account at Scottsdale Capital Advisors, 

Inc. With account Dumber ending 5435 . 

. (viii) Daniela Patricia Goldman's account at Scottsdale Capital 

Advisors, Inc. with account number ending 3536. 

(ix) Mariano Pablo Fenari's account at ScottsdaJe Capital Advisors. 

[nco with account number ending 5327. 

IT IS FURTIIER ORDERED that the freeze described in this Section A further includes 

but is not limited to all Biozoom stock, and all proceeds from the sale or disposition ofBiozoom 
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Case 1 :13-cv-04609-NRB Document 15-1 Filed 07/16/13 Page 4 of 7 

stock in any other accounts whatsoever, including but not limited to the following accounts 

(hereafter, "Group B Accountsj, whether deposited directly or transferred from another account: 

(i) Luciana Mariana Hernando's account at Hellenic Bank Public 

Company Limited in Lemesos, Cyprus, with an accOunt number ending in - 13 01. 

Oi) Adriana Rosa Bagattin's accouot at FBME Bank Limited in 

Nicosia. Cyprus, with an account Dumber ending in - 644. 

(iii) Daniela Patricia Goldman's account at CBH Compagnie Bancaire 

Helvetique SA in Geneva, Switzerland with an account Dumber ending in - 345. 

(iv) _ Mariano Pablo Ferrari's accouDt at HSBC Bank in Panama City, 

Panama. with an account number ending in - 590. 

(v) Mariano Pablo Ferrari's account at Choice Bank Limited in ·Belize 

City, Belize, with an account nwnber ending in - 521. 

IT IS HEREBY FURTIiER ORDERED that any financial or brokerage institution or 

other person or entity holding any funds or other assets derived or related to the sale ofBiozoom 

stock,. in the name of, for the benefit of, or under the control of defendants, their agents, servants, 

employees, attorneys-in-fact, and those persons in·active concert or participation with them, 

wherever located, shall hold and retain within their control and prohibit the withdrawal, removal, 

transfer or other disposal of any such funds or other assets except as otherwise ordered by this 

Court. including all shares ofBiozoom held on behalf of Defendants, and including but not 

limited to: (a) all funds and Biozoom stock in the Group A Accounts; and (b) all funds in the 

Group B Accounts that are proceeds from the sale ofBiozoom stock, whether deposited directly 

in those accounts or transferred from other accounts. 

B. PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION FROM VIOLATIONS 
OF SECURITIES ACT SECTION 5 
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IT ]S HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that 

Defendants and Defendant's agents, servants. employees, attorneys, and all persons in active 

concert or ~cipation with them who receive' acrual notice oftbis order by persooaJ service or 

otherwise shall be and are hereby preliminarily restrained and enjoined, pending entry of a Final 

Judgment in this action, from violating SeCtion 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 

77e] by, directly or indirectly. in the absence of any8pplicable ex:emption: 

(a) Unless a registration Statement is in effect as to a security, making use of any 

means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce 

or of the II1ails to sell such security through the usc or medium of any prospectus 

or otherwise; or 

(c) MaJdng use of any means or instruments of transportation or communication in 

interstate commerce or of the mails to offer to sell or offer to buy through the use or medium of 

'any prospectus or otherwise any security, unless a registration statement has been filed with the ' 

Commissjo~ as to such security. or while the registration statement is the subject of a refusal 

order or stop order or (prior to the effective date of the registration statement) any public 

proceeding or examination under Section 8 of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77h]. 

c:. ORDER PROHIBmNG DESTRUCTION OF RECORDS 

IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants and their agents, servants, 

employees, attorneys-in-fact, and those persons in active concert or participation with them who 

receive actual notice ofthis Order by personal seMce or otherwise, and each of them, are hereby 

restrained from destroying, mutilating, concealing. altering, or disposing of any document 

referring or relating in any manner to any transactions involving. or related in any way to 

Biozoom, any proceeds from the sale or transfer of Biozoom stock, any accounts hoEding or 
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Case 1 :13-cv-04609-NRB Document 15-1 Filed 07/16/13 Page 6 of 7 

through which Biozoom stock was traded or proceeds derived from sales were deposited, 

including but not limited to the Group A Accounts and Group B Accounts, and any 

communications concerning the foregoing. As used in this Order, "document" means the 

original and all non-identical copies (whether non-identical because of handwritten notation or 

otherwise) of all written or graphic matter, whether in paper. electronic, or any other fonn, 

however produced, and any other tangible record, or electronic data compilation capable of 

reproduction in tangible form, including. without limitation, correspondence, memoranda, 

minutes, telephone records, e-mails, reports, studies, telexes, diaries, calendar entries, contracts, 

letters of agreement, and including any and all e>tisting drafts of)ll documents. 

D. ORDER PROVIDING ALTERNATIVE MEANS OF SERVICE 

IT]S HEREBY FURllIER ORDERED that, pursuant to Rule 4 of the Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure, service of all pleadings and other papers, this Order and all documents fi led in 

support thereof, and all other documents to be served in this action, may be made personally, by 

facsimile, by overnight courier, or by electronic mail upon each Defendant, his or her attorney, 

his or her U .S. agents or hls or her foreign agents to the extent permitted by law, or by an 

alternative provision for service pennitted by Rule 4 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, or 

as this Court may direct by further order. 

E. ORDER IS BINDING ON ALL PERSONS WITH ACTUAL NOTICE OF 
THE ORDER 

IT IS HEREBY FURTIIER ORDERED, that this Order shall be, and is, binding upon 

each Defendant, and each of his or ber agents, servants, employees, attorneys-in-fact, and those 

persons in active concert or participation with him or her who receive actual notice of this Order 

by personal service, facsimile service, or service in accordance with Section D of this Order, or 

otherwise. 
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Case 1 :13-cv-04609-NRB Document 15-1 Filed 07/16/13 Page 7 of 7 

F. OTHER RELIEF 

IT IS HEREBY FURTIlER ORDERED, that the United States Marshall in any district in 

which any Defendant resides, transacts business or may be found is authorized and directed to 

make service of process upon any Defendant at the request of the Commission. 

G. TIME FOR DEFENDANTS TO RESPOND TO COMPLAINT 

Defendants shall answer or otherwise respond to the Commission' s Complaint on or 

before August 26, 2013. 

IT IS HEREBY FURTIIER ORDERED that this Stipulation and Order may be modified 

for good cause shown, and this Court shall retain jurisdiction of this matter for all purposes. 

IT IS HEREBY FURTIffiR ORDERED that pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil 

Procedure 65(c), no security is required ofllie Commission. 

SO. ORDERED: 

Dated this ~ day ofJuly, 2013. 4~_ 
~ . ~Le/ 

Judge Naomi Reicc Buchwald 

STIPULATED AND AGREED: FORDFEL
--~~-?~o~n~~~S~5~85~9)~~ '/t.ftaJ~~B4· -ce~A~.~~g-e~r----------
David J. Gottesman (admitted pro hac vice) McLaughlin & St=, LLP 
Patrick M. Bryan (admitted pro hac vice) 260 Madison Avenue 
U.s. Securities & Exchange Commission New York, NY l0016-2404 
100 F Street. NE Washington, DC 20549 Telephone (202) 44S-6216 
Telephone: (202) 551-4420 Fax: (202) 448-0066 

. Fax: (202) 772-9245 sschusterUi.!mclaughlinstern.com 
SimpsonR@sec.gov blanger@mc]augblinstem.com 
GottesmanD@scc.gov 
BryanP@sec.gov 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE 
COMMISSION, 

Plaintiff, 
v. 

MAGDALENA TA VELLA, 
ANDRES HORACIO FICICCHIA, GONZALO 
GARCIA BLA Y A, LUCIA MARIANA 
HERNANDO, CECILIA DE LORENZO, 
ADRIANA ROSA BAGATTIN, 
DANIELA PATRICIA GOLDMAN, 
MARIANO PABLO FERRARI, MARIANO 
GRACIARENA, and 
FERNANDO LOUREYRO, 
Defendants. 

Civil Action No. 13-CIV -4609 
Judge Naomi Reice Buchwald 

BIOZOOM, INC. FAIR FUND NOTICE 

The United States Securities and Exchange Commission authorized this Notice. 
This is not a solicitation from a lawyer. 

If you purchased or otherwise acquired Biozoom, Inc. ("Biozoom"; OTCBB ticker: BIZM; 
CUSIP: 09072TIOO) common shares in the United States during the Relevant Period, on or 
between May 16, 2013 and June 25, 2013, you are eligible for damages if the shares were sold at a 
loss or continue to be held. Per the Plan of Allocation you may be entitled to receive a monetary 
payment from the Biozoom Fair Fund ("Fair Fund"). 

Background 

On July 3, 2013, the Securities and Exchange COlmnission ("SEC" or "Commission") filed a complaint in 
United States District COUli Southem District of New York alleging that Magdalena Tavella, Andres Horacio 
Ficicchia, Gonzalo Garcia Blaya, Lucia Mariana Hemando, Cecilia De Lorenzo, Adriana Rosa Bagattin, Daniela 
Pah'icia Goldman, and Mariano Pablo Fenari (collectively, the "Defendants") had unlawfully sold to the public 
almost $34 million worth of securities in Biozoom (f/kJa Entertainment Art, Inc.) a penny stock company traded 
on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board. No regish'ation statement was in effect for the selling Defendants' 
resale of secUlities and thus their sales were in violation of Section 5 of the SecUlities Act. Though the 
Defendants claimed that they had purchased the stock between November 2012 and March 2013 from the 
original shareholders, this was impossible because those original shareholders ceased to have any interest in the 
company more than tlu'ee years earlier than the selling Defendants' claimed purchases. 

From March 2013 to June 2013, Defendants opened brokerage accounts at broker-dealers and deposited millions 
of shares ofBiozoom that they claimed did not bear a restrictive legend and were free-trading shares. All of the 
Defendants claimed that they had purchased all or some of their shares from some of the original shareholders of 
Entertainment Ali in transactions between November 20 12 and March 2013 . 

On July 9, 2013, a Temporaty Restraining Order ("TRO") was granted freezing the brokerage accounts of the 
Defendants holding Biozoom shares and any accounts held by financial institutions or brokers that have the 
proceeds of the Biozoom sales on behalf of the Defendants. Pursuant to the Final Judgment, a Fair Fund was 
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established to distribute the disgorged funds for the benefit of investors pursuant to the Fair Fund provisions 
of Section 308(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of2002 ("Sarbanes-Oxley"), 15 U.S.C. § 7246(a) . 

In partial satisfaction of the amounts owed by Defendants, Defendants accounts that were frozen 
pursuant to the TRO, were ordered to be tumed over. To date, the Commission recovered from the 
frozen assets a total of $16,117,936. The Commission invested $16,022,574 with United States 
Depal1ment of the Treasury at the Bureau of the Fiscal Service ("BFS") . It is doubtful, but possible, that 
additional funds will be recovered from the Defendants from various foreign sources . 

Plan of Allocation 

The purpose of this distribution is to compensate investors in the Defendants' misrepresentations and 
omissions in its sale ofBiozoom common stock. 

The Net Available Fair Fund for the Biozoom distribution will be allocated to Eligible Claimants 
according to the Plan of Allocation relative to the total disgorgement. The calculations made pursuant to 
the Plan of Allocation are not intended to be estimates of the amounts that investors might have been 
able to recover. Nor are the calculations pursuant to the Plan of Allocation intended to be estimates of 
the amounts that will be paid to Eligible Claimants. Appendix I to the Distribution Plan details the Plan 
of Allocation methodology and calculation which is designed to equitably distribute the Fair Fund to 
those Eligible Investors who suffered economic losses . Appendix I to the Distribution Plan is posted on 
the Fair Fund website at www.BiozoomFairFund.com. 

Preliminary calculations will be made for all Eligible Claimants on a pro rata basis detennined by an 
Eligible Claimant's investment in Biozoom common stock divided by the sum of all Eligible Claimants' 
investments in the Biozoom common stock. After the preliminary calculations have been made, any 
Eligible Claimant whose preliminary calculation amount is less than the Distribution De Minimis 
Amount of $10 will be removed from the pool of Eligible Claimants. 

Final calculations will then be made for all remaining Eligible Claimants on a pro rata basis as 
described above, but excluding Eligible Claimants whose preliminary calculation amounts are less than 
the Distribution De Minimis Amount, to anive at a Recognized Claim amount. In the event that the 
number of claims submitted by Eligible Claimant(s) is such that the Eligible Claimant(s) would receive 
a recovery in excess of their Recognized Claim amount, the recovery per claim is limited to the 
Recognized Claim. The excess amount in the Fair Fund shall be distributed to the U.S Treasury. 

Fund Administration 

On August 25, 2015, the Commission issued an Order appointing KCC as the Distribution Agent, to 
assist in overseeing the administration and distribution of the Fair Fund in coordination with 
Commission staff, pursuant to the tem1S of the Distribution Plan. 

Fair Fund 

The Fair Fund is a "Qualified Settlement Fund" ("QSF") as defined in U.S . Treas. Reg. Sec. 1.468B-1 et 
seq. The distribution is intended to compensate you for losses incuned with respect to your investment 
in Biozoom common stock as a result of the conduct described in the Order. 

Generally, your distribution is not income to you to the extent of your basis in your investment. 
However, you must reduce your basis by the amount of your distribution. If your distribution exceeds 
your tax basis in your investment, then the excess is includable in your income as capital gain. Any 
such capital gain is long-tenn capital gain, unless you disposed of your investment before holding it for 
longer than one year. If you do not have reasonable access to records indicating the tax basis of your 
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investment, then you may assume that your tax basis is zero and that the entire losses component of your 
distribution is includable in your income as capital gain. The QSF is not required to - and will not -
issue a Form 1099 to you with respect to the losses component of the distribution. 

You should consult your tax advisor or accountant as to the treatment of the payment you are receiving 
under this Fair Fund, as the Distribution Agent and the SEC cannot provide you with tax advice. 

How to Participate 

If you believe you are a Potential Claimant and would like to participate, you must follow the enclosed 
instructions and complete the Proof of Claim Fonn included in this packet. Fill out the Proof of Claim 
Form completely, sign it, include copies of all required supporting documentation, and return it in the 
enclosed envelope to the Distribution Agent's address listed below. 

Excluded Parties shall mean Defendants, Biozoom, and all other entities or individuals who improperly 
helped in establishing a market for, and escalating the price of, Biozoom stock, based on the stock 
trading of those entities or individuals . 

The submission of the Proof of Claim Form and the receipt and acceptance of a distribution by an 
Eligible Claimant is not intended to be a release of an Eligible Claimant's rights and claims against any 
party. 

Deadline to Submit a Claim 

More Information 

Website 

Write 

Phone 

Investor Options for this Fair Fund 

Submit a Claim 

Do Nothing 

Questions 

October 31,2016 

www.BiozoomFairFund.com 

Biozoom Fair Fund 
Distribution Agent 
c/o KCC 
P.O. Box 30233 
College Station, TX 77842-3233 

1-855-730-8647 

The only way to get a payment from the Fair Fund. 

Receive no payment. 

This notice provides only summary information regarding the Fair Fund. We strongly recommend that 
you read the Distribution Plan, including the Plan of Allocation, and other relevant case documents in 
their entirety for more complete details. The documents can be found at www.BiozoomFairFund.com. 

If you need assistance completing the Proof of Claim Form or if you have any questions about this Fair 
Fund, you may obtain more information by VtStt1l1g the Fair Fund website at 
www.BiozoomFairFund.com. by calling the dedicated toll-free number at 1-855-730-8647 or sending an 
email inquirytoinfo@BiozoomFairFund.com. 
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Special Notice to Brokers and Nominees 

If you purchased or held Biozoom common stock for the beneficial interest of a person or organization 
other than yourself, within fourteen (14) calendar days of receipt of this Fair Fund Notice you must 
either: (1) request additional copies of the Fair Fund Notice and Proof of Claim Form from the 
Distribution Agent, and, within fourteen (14) calendar days of receipt of such copies, send copies by 
first-class mail directly to beneficial owners ; or (2) provide a list of the names and last known addresses 
of the beneficial owners (preferably in excel format) to the Distribution Agent by email to 
notifications@Gilardi.com or by mail to the following address: 

Biozoom Fair Fund 
c/o KCC 

P.O. Box 30233 
College Station, TX 77842-3233 

If you choose to mail the Fair Fund Notice and Proof of Claim Fonn yourself, you may obtain from the 
Distribution Agent (without cost to you) as many additional copies of these documents as you will need 
to complete the mailing. If you choose the second option, KCC will send a copy of the Fair Fund Notice 
and Proof of Claim F onn to the persons andlor entities whose names and address you supply. 

In either case, you may obtain reimbursement for reasonable administrative costs actually incurred in 
connection with fOlwarding the Fair Fund Notice that would not have been incuned but for the 
obligation to forward the Fair Fund Notice and Proof of Claim Form, upon submission of appropriate 
documentation to the Distribution Agent. 

Regards, 

KCC 
Distribution Agent 
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Case 1:13-cv-04609-NRB Document 67 Filed 12/08114 Page 1 of 6 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

SECUIUTIES AND EXCHANGE 
COMMISSION, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

MAGDALENA TA VELLA, 
ANDRES HORACIO FICICCIIIA, GONZALO 
GARCIA I3LA Y A, LUCIA MARIANA 
HERNANDO, CECILIA DE LORENZO, 
ADRIANA ROSA BAGATfIN, 
DANIELA PATRICIA GOLDMAN, 
MARIANO PABLO FERRARI, 
MARIANO GRACIARENA, and 
foERNANDO LOUREYRO, 

Defendants. 

USl)C ~I;' ': 

DOC(;I\I[\T i ; 

ELECTRO;\IC:\LI. \' FILED II 
DOC#: ~II 
DATE FIL~D: J,2/08/~ 

Civil Action No_ J3-CIV-4609 (NRB) 

Judge Naomi Reice Buchwald 

FINAL .JUDGMENT AS TO DEFENDANTS MARIANO GRACIARENA 
AND FERNANDO LOUREYRO 

The Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC" or "Plaintiff') having filed a 

Complaint and Defendants Mariano Graciarena ("Graciarena") and Fernando Loureyro 

("Loureyro") (collectively, the "Defendants" for purposes of this Final judgment), having 

entered a general appearance; consented to the Court's jurisdiction over Defendants and the 

subject matter of this action; consented to entry of this Final Judgment without admitting or 

denying the allegations of the Complaint (except as to jurisdiction); waived findings of fact and 

conclusions of law; and waived any right to appeal from this Final Judgment: 
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Case 1:13-cv-04609-NRB Document 67 Filed 12/08/14 Page 2 of 6 

I. 

IT IS HERERY ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that within three (3) days 

of service upon him of a copy of this Final Judgment, Graciarena shall provide written 

instruction in the form attached to Alpine Securities and Scottsdale Capital Advisors to return 

Entertainment Art, Inc. (currently known as Riozoom, Inc.) stock certificate number 1115, 

representing 2.145 million shares issued in the name Mariano Augusto Graciarena and deposited 

into Scottsdale Capital Advisors brokerage account -xxxxx8720 bearing his name, to the 

company's transfer agent, VStock Transfer, LLC, 18 Lafayette Place, Woodmere, NY 11598, 

with instructions that the transfer agent cancel the certificates, as "cancellation" is defined in 

Securities Exchange Act Rule 17 Ad-19(a)(I) [17 CFR §240.17 Ad-19(a)( I)]. Graciarena shall 

copy the Plaintiff on all correspondence to or from Alpine Securities or the company's transfer 

agent concerning cancellation of the foregoing stock certificate. 

II. 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that within three (3) days 

of service upon him of a copy of this Final Judgment, Loureyro shall provide written instruction 

in the torm attached to instruct Alpine Securities and Scottsdale Capital Advisors to return 

Entertainment Art, Inc. (currently known as Biozoom, Inc.) stock certificate number 1111, 

representing 2.3 million shares issued in the name Fernando Loureyro and deposited into 

Scottsdale Capital Advisors brokerage account -xxxxx7518 bearing his name, to the company's 

transfer agent, VStock Transfer, LLC, 18 Lafayette Place, Woodmere, NY 11598, with 

instructions that the transfer agent cancel the certificates, as "cancellation" is defined in 

Securities Exchange Act Rule 17 Ad-19(a)(l) [17 CFR §240.17 Ad-19(a)(l)]. Loureyro shall 

2 
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Case 1:13-cv-04609-NRB Document 67 Filed 12/08114 Page 3 of 6 

copy the Plaintiff on all correspondence to or from Alpine Securities or the company's transfer 

agent concerning cancellation of the foregoing stock certificate. 

III. 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that Defendants shall 

relinquish all claim, title or interest in Entertainment Art, Inc. (currently known as Biozoom, 

Inc.) stock certificates held in their name, except as necessary to effectuate the cancellations 

described in paragraphs I and II of this Final Judgment. 

IV. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that the Consent is 

incorporated herein with the same force and effect as if fully set forth herein, and that 

Defendants shall comply wi th all of the undertakings and agreements set forth therein. 

V. 

IT IS fURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that this Court shall retain 

jurisdiction of this matter for the purposes of enforcing the terms of this Final Judgment. 

Dated: ~.t(, 2014 L ~/----- ~ / ' ( .-" 

"a..v~ . _'_. .OJ <-v~_ 
Hon. Naomi Reicc Buchwald 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 
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EXHIBIT A 
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Case 1:13-cv-04609-NRB Document 67 Filed 12/08/14 Page 5 of 6 

Date: ______ , 2014 

Alpine Securities 
Attn.: Legal - Physical Certificate Deposit 
39 Exchange Place 
Salt Lake City, UT 84111 

Scottsdale Capital Advisors 
Attn _: D. Michael Cruz 
7170 E. McDonald Drive 
Scottsdale, AZ 85253 

Re : Entertainment Art, Inc. (currently known as Biozoom, Inc.) stock certificate 
number _IllS - Alpine Securities brokerage account~ 

To Whom It May Concern: 

By this Jetter, I am instructing Alpine Securities and Scottsdale Capital Advisors to retuIJl 

Entertainment Art , Inc_ (currently known as Biozoom, Inc.) stock certificate number 1115 

(representing 2.145 million shares issued in the name Mariano Augusto Graciarena and 

deposited into Scottsdale Capital Advisors brokerage account #_ 8720 in my name) to the 

company's transfer agent, VStock Transfer, LLC, J 8 Lafayette Place, Woodmere, NY 11598, 

with instructions that the transfer agent cancel the certificates, as "cancellation" is defined in 

Securities Exchange Act Rule 17Ad-19(a)(l) [17 CFR §240.17Ad-19(a)(I)]. 

Enclosed for your information is a copy of an order of the U.S. District Court for the 

Southern District of New York directing the cancellation of the above-reference certificate. 

cc: Patrick M . Bryan 
U.S . Securities and Exchange Commission 
100 F. Street, NE 
Washington, DC 20005 

Sincerely, 

Buenos Aires, Argentina 
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Case 1:13-cv-04609-NRB Document 67 Filed 12/08/14 Page 6 of 6 

Date: _______ , 2014 

Alpine Securities 
Attn. : Legal - Physical Certificate Deposit 
39 Exchange Place 
Salt Lake City, UT 841 11 

Scottsdale Capital Advisors 
Attn .: D. Michael Cruz 
7170 L McDonald Drive 
Scottsdale, AZ 85253 

Re: Entertainment Art, Inc. (currently known as Biozoom, Inc.) stock certificate 
number 1111 - Alpine Securities brokerage account H_~7~5,-,18,,--__ _ 

To Whom It May Concern: 

By this letter, I am instructing Alpine Securities and Scottsdale Capital Advisors to return 

Entertainment Art, Inc . (currently known as Biozoom, Inc.) stock certificate number IIII 

(representing 2.3 million shares issued in the name Fernando Loureyro and deposited into 

Scottsdale Capital Advisors brokerage account # _ 7518 in my name) to the company's 

transfer agent, VStock Transfer, LLC, 18 Lafayette Place, Woodmere, NY 11598, with 

instructions that the transfer agent cancel the certificates, as "cancellation" is defined in 

Securities Exchange Act Rule 17 Ad-19(a)( 1) [17 CFR §240.17 Ad-19(a)( I )] . 

Enclosed for your inforn1ation is a copy of an order of the U.S. District Court for the 

Southern District of New York directing the cancellation of the above-reference certificate. 

cc: Patrick M. Bryan 
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission 
100 F. Street, NE 
Washington, DC 20005 

Sincerely, 

Buenos Aires, Argentina 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE 
COMMISSION, 

Plaintiff. 

Y. 

MAGDALENA TA VELLA, 
ANDRES I-IORA.CIO FJCICCHIA, GONZALO 
GARCIA BLAY A, LUCIA MARIANA 
HERNANDO. CECILIA DE LORENZO, 
ADRIANA ROSA BAGATTIN, 
DANIELA PATRICIA GOLDMAN , 
MARIANO PABLO fERRAR.I , 
MAIUANO GRACIARENA, and 
FERNANDO LOUREYRO, 

Defendants. 

USOC SONY 

DOCUMENT 

ELECTRONICALLY FILED 

DOC #: ___ -:--_~ 
DATE FILED: 1/ (1 ( 1..i) is 

Civil Action No. 13-CIV-4609 

.fudge Naomi Reice Buchwald 

FINAL DEFAULT .JUDGMENT AND ORDER GRANTING INJUNCTIVE AND 
OTHER RELIEF AGAINST DEFENDANTS MAGDALENA TAVELLA, ANDRES 

HORACIO FICICCHIA, GONZALO GARCIA BLAYA, LUCIA MARIANA 
HERNANDO, CECILIA DE LORENZO, ADRIANA ROSA BAGA TTIN, DANIELA 

PATRICIA GOLDMAN, AND MARIANO PABLO FERRARI 

WHEREAS this matter came before this Court on the Motion of Plaintiff Securities 

and Exchange Commission ("Commission"), seeking entry of a judgment by default, and 

providing the relief requested in its Complaint against defenci,mts Magdalena Tavella, 

Andres Horacio Ficicchia. Gonzalo Garcia Blaya, Lucia Mariana Hernando, Cecilia De 

Lorenzo. Adriana Rosa Bagattin, Daniela Patricia Goldman, and Mariano Pablo Ferrari 

(collectively. the "Defaulting Defendants" ); and 

WHEREAS the Court has entered a Memorandum and Order dated January 6, 

2015, in which the Court concluded that the Commission is entitled to a final judgment 
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Case 1:13-cv-04609-NRB Document 69 Filed 01/09/15 Page 2 of 9 

against the Defaulting Defendants that permanently enjoins them from violating Section 

5 of the Securities Act of 1933 ("Securities Act") p 5 U.S.c. ~ 77(e)], (2) orders the 

Defaulting Defendants to individually disgorge ill-gotten gains, and (3) imposes civil 

penalties; and 

WHEREAS the Court deferred judgment to afford the Commission an 

0PPol1unity to supplement its submission as to the amount of prejudgment interest that 

should be disgorged; and 

WHEREAS the Commission has submitted a proposed order " in lieu of such 

supplemental submission on prejudgment interest," which the Court interprets as 

abandoning the Commission's claim to prejUdgment interest on the disgorgement 

amounts; it is hereby 

ORDERED THAT: 

I. 

Defaulting Defendants, their agents. servants, employees, attorneys, and all 

persons in active concert or pat1icipation with them who receive actual notice of this final 

judgment by personal service or otherwise arc permanently restrained and enjoined from 

violating, directly or indirectly, Section 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.c. § 

77eJ by, in the absence of any applicable exemption: 

(a) Unless a registration statement is in effect as to a security, making use of 

any means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate 

commerce or of the mails to sell such security through the use or medium 

of any prospectus or otherwise; 
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(b) Unless a registration statement is in effect as to a security, carryll1g or 

causing to be carried through the mails or in interstate commerce , by any 

means or instruments of transportation, any such security for the purpose 

of sale or for delivery after sale; or 

(c) Making use of any means or instruments of transportation or 

communication in interstate commerce or of the mails to offer to sell or 

offer to buy through the use or medium of any prospectus or otherwise any 

security, unless a registration statement has been filed with the 

Commission as to such security, or while the registration statement is the 

subject of a refusal order or stop order or (prior to the effective date of the 

registration statement) any public proceeding or examination under 

Section 8 of the Securities Act rl5 U.S.c. § 77h] . 

It. 

Defaulting Defendants (Magdalena Tavella: Andres Horacio Ficicchia, Gonzalo 

Garcia Blaya, Lucia Mariana Hernando: Cecilia De Lorenzo, Adriana Rosa Bagattin: 

Daniela Patricia Goldman, and Mariano Pablo Ferrari) are permanently baITed from 

participating in an offering of penny stock, including engaging in activities with a broker, 

dealer, or issuer for purposes of issuing, trading, or inducing or attempting to induce the 

purchase or sale of any penny stock as defined by Section 3(a)(51) of the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934 [15 U.S.c. §78c(a)(51) and Rule 3a51-1 thereunder [17 C.F.R. § 

240.3a51-1 ]. 
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Ill. 

Defendants are liable for disgorgcment (representing profits gained as a result of 

the conduct alleged in the Complaint), and civil penalties pursuant to Section 20(d) of the 

Securities [15 U.S.C. § 77t(d)], in the following amounts: 

:-: --Defendant 
i 

Disgorgement I. Civil Penalty T~ 
Amount I 

kaDO--C-la-Ie-n-a-'I-'a-v-e-lIa--+-$-' 3,1 07,819 I $160,000 ____ --+_$_3._,_26_)7_,_8_1 (_) __ . 

, Andres Horacio $1 ,948.339 ~ $2.108.339 
Ficicchia I 
~--------+-------~~--------+------~ 

I $160,000 Gonza10 Garcia 
Blaya 

Lucia Mariana 
Hernando 

$3.008,200 

I $5,042.771 
! 

$3 , 168.200 

I 

$160.000 $5,202,771 

i f--.-.----. --.---- - ----+--.----- -+------ --1 

Cecilia De Lorenzo $4.801,536 

Adriana Rosa 
Bagattin 

$6,216,380 

$160,000 $4,961.536 

$160.000 $6,376.380 

~---.------+--------+---------+------~ 

Daniela Patricia 
Goldman 

$3 ,764.306 $160,000 $3.924,306 

~.-------~'.-------~-------+------~ 

Mariano Pablo I $5,447,450 
Ferrari ! '----______ I _____ _ ---'------------"-----.---~ 

$160.000 $5 ,607,450 

Defendants shall satisfy these obligations within ten business days and make payment of 

all f'unds to the Commission. which shall provide detailed ACH transfer/Fedwire 

instructions upon request. The Defendants shall satisfy these obligations from proceeds 

contained in their variOliS accounts including, but not limited to , the following: 

• Andres Horacio Ficicchia's account at Legend Securities, Inc. with account 

number ending in "CICC'. 

4 
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• Andres Horacio Ficicchia's account at Scottsdale Capital Advisors, Inc. with 

account number ending 2927. 

• Gonzalo Garcia Blaya's account at Legend Securities, Inc . with account number 

ending in "LAY A". 

• Luciana Mariana Hernando's account at Legend Securities, Inc. with account 

number ending in "ANDO". 

• Luciana Mariana Hernando's account at Hellenic Bank Public Company Limited 

in Lemesos, Cyprus , with an account number ending in - 1301. 

• Cecilia De Lorenzo's account at Legend Securities, Inc. with account number 

ending in "ENZO". 

• Magdalena Tavella's account Scottsdale Capital Advisors, Inc . with account 

number ending 3831 . 

• Adriana Rosa Bagattin's account at Scottsdale Capital Advisors, Inc. with account 

number ending 5435 . 

• Adriana Rosa Bagattin's account at FBME Bank Limited in Nicosia, Cyprus, with 

an account number ending in - 644. 

• Daniela Patricia Goldman's account at Scottsdale Capital Advisors, Inc. with 

account number ending 3536. 

• Daniela Patricia Goldman's account at CBH Compagnie Bancaire Helvetique SA 

in Geneva, Switzerland with an account number ending in - 345. 

• Mariano Pablo Ferrari's account at Scottsdale Capital Advisors, Inc. with account 

number ending 5327. 
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Mariano Pablo Ferrari's account at HSBC Bank in Panama City, Panama, with an 

account number ending in - 590. 

• Mariano Pablo Ferrari's account at Choicc Bank Limited in Belize City, Belize, 

with an account number ending in - 521. 

IV. 

In partial satisfaction of the amounts owed by Defendants pursuant to this Final 

Judgment, the following entities shall transfer all funds and BIZM shares held in 

Defaulting Defendants' accounts (including the accounts listed below) and make payment 

such funds and shares held in Defaulting Defendants ' names to the Commission, which 

shall provide detailed ACH transferiFedwire instructions upon request : 

A. Legend Securities LLC 

1. Gonzalo Garcia Blaya 

2. Lucia Mariana Hernando 

3. Andres Horacio Ficicchia 

4. Cecilia De Lorenzo 

B. Scottsdale Capital Advisors 

I. Magdalena Tavella 

2. Daniela Patricia Goldman 

3. Adriana Rosa Bagattin 

4. Mariano Pablo Ferrari 

5. Andres Horacio Ficicchia 

Payment may also be made directly from a bank account via Pay.gov through the SEC 

website at http ://'vvwW.SCc .I!Ov/about/offices/ofm.htm. Payment may also be made by 
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certitied check. bank cashier's check, or United States postal money order payable to the 

Securities and Exchange Commission, which shall be delivered or mailed to 

Enterprise Services Center 
Accounts Receivable Branch 
6500 South MacArthur Boulevard 
Oklahoma City, OK 73169 

and shall be accompanied by a letter identifying the case title, civil action number, and 

name of this Court; the name of the defendant in this action; and specifying that payment 

is made pursuant to this Final Judgment. Defaulting Defendant payer shall 

simultaneously transmit photocopies of each such payment and letter to the 

Commission's counsel in this action: Patrick M. Bryan, 100 F Street, N.E., Washington. 

D.C. 20549-4030. Defaulting Defendants relinquish all legal and equitable right, title, 

and interest in all funds paid pursuant to this Final Judgment, and no part of the funds 

shall be returned to Defaulting Defendants. The Commission may enforce the Court's 

judgment for disgorgemcnt by moving for civil contempt (and/or through other collection 

procedures authorized by law) at any time after ten days following entry of this Final 

Judgment. 1n response to any such civil contempt motion by the Commission, Defaulting 

Defendants may assert any legally permissible defense. 

v. 

Further to the Stipulation and Order Granting Preliminary Injunction, Asset 

Freeze. and Other Relief, entered on 7117/20 13 (the "Asset Freeze Order") freezing the 

assets of Defendants, including those held in the accounts referenced above in Section III 

and previously enumerated in the Asset Freeze Order, the Court finds that such assets are 

the proceeds of the violations alleged in the Commission's Complaint. Accordingly, 

pursuant to the Court's personal jurisdiction over Defaulting Defendants, Del1mlting 
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Defendants are hereby ordered to repatriate the referenced assets by 30 days after entry of 

a judgment or default, to the Commission, which shall provide detailed ACH 

transferlFedwire instructions upon request, and to execute any consents, pleadings, or 

other legal documents as the Commission may require to effect the transfer of such assets 

in accordance with this Final Judgment with the understanding that such assets shall be 

used to satisfy disgorgement only. 

VI. 

The Commission shall deposit the funds received pursuant to sections 111 , IV, and 

V of this Final Judgment into an interest bearing account which , together with any 

interest and income earned thereon (collectively, the "Fund"), shall be held in the interest 

bearing account until further order of the Court. 

The Commission may by motion propose a plan to distribute the Fund subject to 

the Court's approval. Such a plan may provide that Fund shall be distributed pursuant to 

the Fair Fund provisions of Section 308(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002_ 

Regardless of whether any such Fair Fund distribution is made, amounts ordered to be 

paid as civil penalties pursuant to this Judgment shall be treated as penalties paid to the 

government for all purposes. including all tax purposes. To preserve the deterrent effect 

or the civil penalty. Defendants shall not, after onset or reduction of any award of 

compensatory damages in any Related Investor Action based on any payment of 

disgorgement in this action, argue that he, she or it is entitled to, nor shall he, she or it 

further benelit by, offset or reduction of such compensatory damages award by the 

amount of any part of Defendant's payment of a civil penalty in this action ("Penalty 

Offset"). If the court in any Related Investor Action grants such a Penalty Offset, the 

s 
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Defendant beneficiary of such Penal tv Offset shall, within 30 days after entry of a final 
." "' 

order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Commission's counsel in this action and pay 

the amount of the Penalty Offset to the United States Treasury or to a Fair rund, as the 

Commission directs. Such a payment shall not be deemed an additional civil penalty and 

shall not be deemed to change the amount of the civil penalty imposed in this Judgment. 

For purposes of this paragraph, a "Related Investor Action" means a private damages 

action brought against a Defendant in this action by or on behalf of one or more investors 

based on substantially the same facts as alleged in the Complaint in this action. 

Defenclants shall pay post-judgment interest on any delinquent amounts pursuant to 28 

USC § 196 I. 

VII. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that this Court 

shall retain jurisdiction over this mat1er for the purposes of enforcing the terms of this Final 

Judgment. 

VIII. 

RULE S4(b) CERTlFlCATION 

There being no just reason for delay, pursuant to Rule 54(b) of the Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure. the clerk is ordered to enter this Final Judgment fOlthwith and without 

further notice. 

DATED January 9. 2015. 

L'l2/'~d 
NAOMI REICE BUCHWALD 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
Before the 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 
Release No. 10496/ May 15, 2018 

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 
Release No. 83236/ May 15, 2018 

INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940 
Release No. 33097/ May 15, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 
File No. 3-18483 

In the Matter of 

TIMOTHY C. SCARPINO, 

Respondent. 

ORDER INSTITUTING 
ADMINISTRA TIVE AND CEASE-AND
DESIST PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 8A OF THE SECURITIES ACT 
OF 1933, SECTIONS 15(b) AND 21C OF 
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 
1934, AND SECTION 9(b) OF THE 
INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT, MAKING 
FINDINGS, AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL 
SANCTIONS AND A CEASE-AND-DESIST 
ORDER AND NOTICE OF HEARING 

I. 

The Securities and Exchange Commission ("Commission") deems it appropriate and in the 
public interest that public administrative and cease-and-desist proceedings be, and hereby are, 
instituted against Timothy C. Scarpino ("Scarpino" or "Respondent") pursuant to Section 8A of the 
Securities Act of 1933 ("Securities Act"), Sections IS(b) and 21 C of the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934 ("Exchange Act"), and Section 9(b) of the Investment Company Act ("Investment 
Company Act") . 

II. 

In anticipation of the institution of these proceedings, Respondent has submitted an Offer 
of Settlement (the "Offer") which the Commission has determined to accept. Solely for the 
purpose of these proceedings and any other proceedings brought by or on behalf of the 
Commission, or to which the Commission is a party, and without admitting or denying the findings 
herein, except as to the Commission's jurisdiction over him and the subject matter of these 
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proceedings, which are admitted, and except as provided herein in Section IV, Respondent 
consents to the enuy of this Order Instituting Administrative and Cease-and-Desist Proceedings, 
Pursuant to 8A of the Securities Act of 1933, Sections 15(b) and 21C of the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934, and Section 9(b) of the Investment Company Act, Making Findings, and Imposing 
Remedial Sanctions and a Cease-and-Desist Order and Notice of Hearing ("Order"), as set forth 
below. 

[II. 

On the basis of this Order and Respondent's Offer, the Commission finds I that: 

Summary 

From late May 2013 to mid-June 2013, Timothy Scarpino ("Scarpino"), then a registered 
representative at registered broker-dealer Scottsdale Capital Advisors ("Scottsdale"), willfully 
violated Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act when he engaged in the illegal distribution of 
the securities ofBiozoom, Inc. ("Biozoom" or "BIZM") by offering and selling shares ofBIZM, 
which was quoted on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board ("OTCBB"), on behalf of four 
Argentine customers (the "Argentines"). The scope of this illegal distribution was massive, as 
Scarpino offered and sold approximately 8.2 million BIZM shares, which constituted almost 14% 
ofBIZM's total outstanding shares, and over 40% ofBIZM's total number of shares that did not 
bear a restrictive legend. The Argentines reaped proceeds of over $18.5 million from the less than 
four weeks of trading activity facilitated by Scarpino. 

Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act make it unlawful for any person, directly or 
indirectly, to offer or sell securities by any means or instruments of transportation or 
communication in interstate commerce unless a regisu'ation statement has been filed with the 
Commission with respect to Section 5(c) and is in effect with respect to Section 5(a), or an 
applicable exemption from registration applies. This govems resales of deposited securities, such 
as Scarpino's sales of the BIZM shares on behalf of the Argentines. No regisu'ation statement was 
in effect as to Scarpino's BIZM offers and sales, and no exemption from registration was 
applicable to them. Although brokers may rely on an exemption under Section 4(a)(4) of the 
Securities Act, this exemption would be available to Scarpino for the offers and sales ofBIZM 
only if, after engaging in a reasonable inquiry into the facts sUlTounding the proposed sales, 
Scarpino was not aware of facts indicating that the customers would be engaging in an unlawful 
distribution of securities. Moreover, because Scarpino was presented with red flags of a potential 
unlawful disu'ibution, he needed to conduct a searching inquilY to determine that the proposed 
sales were not Palt of an unlawful distribution of securities. Despite these significant red flags, 
Scarpino failed to conduct a searching inquilY into facts surrounding the proposed sales, and 
thereby violated Sections 5(a) and S(c) of the Securities Act. 

Respondent 

The findings herein are made pursuant to Respondent's Offer of Settlement and are not binding on any 
other person or entity in this or any other proceeding. 
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1. Timothy Scarpino, 35, resides in Scottsdale, Arizona. Scarpino was, from 2009 
until 2013, a registered representative at Scottsdale. ClllTently, he is not working in the securities 
industry. 

Relevant Entity 

2. Scottsdale has been registered with the COlmnission as a broker-dealer with its 
principal place of business in Scottsdale, Arizona since May 2002. 

A. Scarpino Opens Foreign Accounts at Scottsdale Based on Referrals from James 
Benjamin Panther II 

3. In or around early May 2013 , James B. Panther II ("Panther"), a longtime 
Scottsdale customer, infonned Scarpino and Scottsdale ' s owner (the "Owner") that Panther 
plmmed to refer several individuals to open brokerage accounts and deposit stock certificates at 
Scottsdale. The Owner told Scarpino that Panther had refeITed significant business to Scottsdale 
in the past and that Scarpino should provide special treatment to Panther's refelTals because 
Panther was an important customer. 

4. On May 2, 2013 , Scarpino emailed an associate of Panther's ("Panther 
Associate"), writing that Panther had suggested that Scottsdale might be able to assist Panther 
Associate in "depositing OTC/Pinksheet stocks." Scarpino attached Scottsdale account opening 
forms for foreign customers to his email. 

5. Panther Associate provided Scarpino the names and email addresses of four 
individuals who Panther was refeITing to Scottsdale - the Argentines. Scarpino then emailed 
each of the Argentines offering to assist them in opening accounts and depositing shares at 
Scottsdale. 

6. Starting on May 10, 2013, the Argentines opened accounts at Scottsdale with 
Scarpino as their registered representative. During the account-opening process, Scarpino 
leamed that the Argentines shared several unusual characteristics, which suggested that they 
might be acting in concert. In particular, Scarpino knew: 

• Each of the Argentines stated that they intended to deposit physical celtificates of 
BIZM stock in significant amounts, ranging from 1.815 million to 2.37 million 
shares for a total of 8.2 million shares; and 

• Each of the Argentines requested the ability to place orders with Scarpino via 
instant message, which was not a functionality that Scottsdale offered its 
customers. 

7. The initial account opening documents Scarpino received for each of the 
Argentines listed Panther as the refeITal source. In response to inquiries from Scarpino and 
compliance personnel at Scottsdale, however, the Argentines claimed they did not know Panther. 
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Ultimately, Panther's name was deleted from each of the account opening documents and the 
referring source was left blank. 

B. Panther Confirms His Connections to Biozoom and the Argentines 

8. On May 15,2013, Scarpino and the Owner flew on the Owner's private jet to meet 
with Panther in Califomia to discuss the Argentines. During their meeting, Panther told Scarpino 
that the Argentines planned to deposit share certificates into their respective accounts for trading. 

9. Panther explained that he worked with Biozoom and similar start-up companies to 
maintain their share prices. Panther also told Scarpino and the Owner that the Argentines could 
bring a good amount of business to Scottsdale. 

10. In return for what Panther suggested could be significant trading commissions to 
Scottsdale, he confirmed specific accommodations for the accounts, several of which he had 
previously requested. These acconunodations included permitting the Argentines to place trades 
through instant message and significantly reducing commissions for the Argentines. Although 
some of these requests ran contrary to existing Scottsdale policies, the Owner directed Scarpino 
to grant them for Panther's referrals. 

11. Panther's confirn1ation that he was connected with both Biozoom and the 
Argentines was a red flag that the Argentines were potentially affiliates of BIZM. 

C. Scarpino Was Aware of Red Flags as He Deposited Substantial Amounts of Penny 
Stock for the Argentines 

12. On May 16,2013 - the day after Scarpino's meeting with Panther - the Argentines 
began working with Scarpino to deposit physical certificates ofBiozoom stock into their new 
accounts . Scarpino knew that these celtificates had been sent to Scottsdale from another broker
dealer that had rejected the Argentines' attempted deposits of the same certificates. 

13 . Each Argentine completed a Deposit Securities Request Questionnaire ("DSRQ"), 
which was necessary for the celtificates to be deposited. These DSRQs required the Argentines 
to, among other things, explain how they obtained their shares and whether they planned to trade 
the shares in concert with anyone else. The Argentines' completed DSRQs provided no 
information on Panther's relationship or involvement with the Argentines, even though Scarpino 
knew that Panther had referred them to Scottsdale and was connected both to them and to BIZM. 

14. The Argentines' DSRQs and related documentation raised numerous red flags of a 
potential umegistered distribution, which Scarpino knew or should have known: 

• The Argentines were depositing a large volume of BIZM stock, which had no 
significant public trading in its history. Collectively, the Argentines' celtificates 
represented 8.92 million BrZM shares, which constituted approximately 15% of 
BIZM's total outstanding shares, and approximately 44% of BIZM's total shares 
not bearing a restrictive legend; 
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• The Argentines claimed to have purchased their 8.9 million shares ofBIZM at 
prices between $0.003 and $0.005 per share, spending a total of only 
approximately $33,000; and 

• All of the Argentines' certificates had been issued less than two months earlier, 
and they all purportedly acquired their shares in transactions with investors in 
Biozoom's predecessor company between Febmary 26 and March 5, 20l3 .2 

IS. Because, as described above, Scarpino knew that the Argentines were connected 
to Panther and fUlther knew that Panther had previously discussed Biozoom with Scarpino and 
the Owner, the numerous and significant red flags raised by the Argentines ' share deposits -
including the percentage of B1ZM shares they controlled, nominal amounts they supposedly paid 
for the shares, the recent issuance of their share celtificates, and other evidence of their 
cOlU1ections to one another and to Panther - should have raised significant questions for Scarpino 
about their possible involvement in an unregistered distribution ofBIZM stock coordinated by 
Panther. Scarpino, however, took no additional steps to investigate this possibility, and did not 
infonn anyone else at Scottsdale about the accumulation of red flags of which he was aware. 

D. Scarpino Was Aware of Additional Red Flags During the Unregistered Distribution 
of BIZM Stock 

16. From May 28,2013 until June 19, 20l3, Scarpino offered and sold approximately 
8.2 million BIZM shares through the OTCBB for proceeds of nearly $18.6 million on behalf of the 
Argentines. Given that the Argentines claimed to have paid a total of $32,700 for all of their 
deposited shares, they realized aggregate returns of more than 56,000% on Scarpino's sales of the 
shares they had supposedly purchased less than four months earlier. 

17. No registration statement was filed or in effect with regards to Scarpino's offers 
and sales of the BIZM shares and no exemption from the registration requirements was available 
for those sales. Throughout the trading period, even more red flags of an illegal unregistered 
distribution appeared: 

• The Argentines began liquidating their BIZM shares almost immediately after they 
were cleared for trading; 

• Scarpino's offers and sales occurred amid a dramatic spike in trading ofBIZM. 
Prior to May 16,2013, the stock ofBIZM and its predecessor company had traded 
once since its inception in 2007, a 300 share trade in November 2012 for $l.02 per 
share. From May 16, 2013 to June 19, 20l3, BlZM's stock price increased from a 
statting price of $1 .1 0 per share to as high as $4.50 per share. Over the same 
period, daily volume spiked from 10,000 shares to a high of 11.6 million shares. 

Biozoom came into existence on April 1, 2013 via a reverse merger with a penny stock company named 
Entertainment Art, Inc . ("EERT") , followed by a name and ticker change. EERT was formed in 2007. 
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This market was completely inconsistent with the prior trading history of BIZM and 
its predecessor company; 

• This spike in activity coincided with a promotional campaign touting BIZM in 
radio, web, and print ads. The promotional campaign also involved mailers put 
out by third party media sources and was supported by numerous press releases 
issued by the company; and 

• As Scarpino completed liquidating all or substantially all of the BIZM shares on 
behalf of an Argentine, that Argentine quickly asked Scarpino to wire out the 
proceeds to offshore accounts. In total, between June 11 and June 24, the four 
Argentines requested to wire out nearly $17 million, all of which was proceeds 
from the sale of the recently-deposited and sold BIZM shares. 

18. On June 25, 20l3, the COlmnission suspended trading in the BIZM securities. On 
July 3, 2013, the Commission charged four of the Argentine customers and others with violating 
Sections 5(a) and (c) of the Securities Act. The Conm1ission obtained default judgments against all 
defendants in that matter. The Court granted injunctive relief and ordered the Argentines to pay 
disgorgement of $18,535,955 and penalties of $640,000. 

E. Scarpino Did Not Engage in a Reasonable Inquiry 

19. Sections 5(a) and 5( c) of the Securities Act prohibit the offer and sale of securities 
through interstate commerce or the mails, unless a registration statement is filed with the 
Commission and is in effect, or the offer and sale are subject to an exemption. 15 U.S.c. §§ 
77e(a) and (c) . 

20. Section 4(a)(4) of the Securities Act exempts from the registration requirements 
of Section 5 "brokers' transactions executed upon customers' orders on any exchange or in the 
over-the-counter market but not the solicitation of such orders." 15 U.S.c. § 77d(4) . Rule 
144(g)(4) provides that for a transaction to qualify as a "brokers' transaction" under Section 
4(a)(4), the broker must engage in a "reasonable inquiry" prior to the transaction, and after such 
inquiry he must not be "aware of circumstances indicating that the person for whose account the 
securities are sold is an underwriter3 with respect to the securities or that the transaction is a part 
ofa distribution of securities of the issuer." 15 U.S.c. § 77d(a)(4); 17 CFR § 230. 144(g)(4). 

21. The "reasonable inquiry" should consider, among other factors: 

• the length of time the seller has held the securities; 

• the nature of the transaction in which the securities were acquired; and 

Section 2(a)(ll) of the Securities Act defines an underwriter as "any person who has purchased from an 
issuer, with a view to, or offers or sells for an issuer in connection with, the distribution of any security, or 
participates or has a direct or indirect participation in any such undertaking, or participates or has a 
participation in the direct or indirect underwriting of any such undertaking." 15 U.S.C. § 77b(a)(II). 
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• the number of shares of the class outstanding or the relevant trading volume. 
Notes to 17 CFR § 230. 144(g)(4). 

)) However, certain facts and circumstances sUlTounding the transaction might 
require additional inquiry in order for the broker to rely on the Section 4(a)(4) exemption. For 
example: 

A dealer who is offered a modest amount of a widely traded security by a responsible 
customer, whose lack of relationship to the issuer is well known to him, may ordinarily 
proceed with considerable confidence. On the other hand, when a dealer is offered a 
substantial block of a little-known security, either by persons who appear reluctant to 
disclose exactly where the securities came from, or where the surrounding circumstances 
raise a question as to whether or not the ostensible sellers may be merely intermediaries 
for controlling persons or statutory underwriters, then searching inquiry is called for. 

Distribution by Broker-Dealers of Unregistered Securities, Securities Act Rei. No. 4445 (Feb. 2, 
1962) (emphasis added). See also Bloo/l~field et af., Exchange Act Rei. No. 71632, at 5 (Feb. 27, 
2014) ("The accounts received large blocks of privately obtained shares of obscure penny stocks. 
Although the securities initially traded at low prices and in low volumes, the prices of, and 
trading volume in, these securities quickly escalated around the time of large deposits into the [ ] 
accounts. The escalation in prices and trading volume was generally associated with coordinated 
transactions among the various [] accounts and often accompanied by spam email campaigns 
touting the issuers' prospects. Once prices had risen substantially, the accounts started selling 
blocks of stocks. Eventually the stocks' prices collapsed. These indicia raised red flags of a 
possible unlawful distribution and market manipulation."); Midas Securities, LLC and Jay S. 
Lee, Exchange Act Rei. No. 66200, at 14 (Jan. 20, 2012) (holding that because "[t]he amount of 
inquiry required necessarily varies with the circumstances of the proposed transaction," in 
certain circumstances, a broker-dealer may need to "conduct a searching inquiry to assure itself 
that ... proposed sales [are] exempt from the registration requirements and not pa11 of an 
unlawful distribution. "). 

23. When conducting a reasonable inquilY, a registered representative may not rely on 
others, such as counsel's advice, to fulfill his reasonable inquilY obligation. Wonsover v. SEC, 
205 F.3d 408, 415-16 (D.C. Cir. 2000) (rejecting registered representative's reliance on clearing 
fim1, the transfer agent, counsel, and reliance on the clearance of sales by the "Restricted Stock 
Department" of his finn); see also World Trade Financial Corp. v. SEC, 739 F.3d 1243, 1249 
(9th Cir. 2014) (rejecting argument that duty of reasonable inquiry was satisfied by reliance on 
third parties in conformity with industJy practice and stating "brokers rely on third parties at their 
own peril, and will not avoid liability through that reliance when the duty of reasonable inquilY 
rests with the brokers"). 

24. It is not sufficient "for [the registered representative] merely to accept 'self-
serving statements of his sellers and their counsel without reasonably exploring the possibility of 
contradictory facts. ,,, Distribution by Broker-Dealers of Unregistered Securities, Securities Act 
ReI. No. 4445 (Feb. 2, 1962) (quoting SEC v. Culpepper, 270 F.2d 241,251 (2d Cir. 1959)). Nor 
maya broker "rely upon the absence of restrictive legends on the stock ce11ificates when the 
circumstances slllTounding the transaction indicate the need for a thorough investigation." 
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Transactions in the Securities of Laser Arms Corporation by Certain Broker-Dealers, Exch. Act 
ReI. No. 34-28878, 1991 WL 292009 (Feb. 14, 1991). 

25. No registration statement was filed or in effect as to Scarpino's offer and sale of the 
81ZM shares on behalf of the Argentines and no exemption from the registration requirements was 
available for these sales. Scarpino made use of means or insh-uments of transportation or 
communication in interstate commerce or of the mails to offer to sell, sell, and deliver after sale the 
BIZM shares to the public. 

26. Scarpino was presented with numerous and significant red flags raised by the 
deposits of BIZM shares and subsequent sales of those shares, which should have raised questions 
as to whether the Argentines were engaged in an unlawful distribution by, for example, acting as 
undelwriters. These red flags included: 

• the Argentines opened new accounts and delivered physical certificates representing a 
large block of thinly traded and low-priced securities; 

• the deposited share certificates had been recently issued and represented a large 
percentage of the float for the security; 

• the Argentines had a pattem of depositing physical share certificates, immediately 
selling the shares and then wiring out the proceeds to offshore accounts; 

• there was a sudden spike in volume, coupled with a rising price in, a thinly traded and 
low-priced security; and 

• Scarpino had reason to believe the Argentines were acting in concert with one another 
and in coordination with an affiliate of the issuer. 

27. Throughout the process of opening the Argentines ' accounts, depositing their 
certificates, and then offering and selling those shares into the market on behalf of the 
Argentines, Scarpino was confronted with red flag after red flag that he was facilitating an 
unregistered distribution of those shares . Despite the presence of these ample and glaring red 
flags, Scarpino did not perfol1n a "reasonable inquiry" regarding the facts and circumstances 
surrounding those transactions, let alone the "searching inquiry" he was required to perform. 

Violation 

28. As a result of the conduct described above, Scarpino willfully violated Sections 5(a) 
and 5(c) of the Securities Act. 

IV. 

Pursuant to this Order, Respondent Scarpino agrees to additional proceedings in this 
proceeding to detem1ine what, if any, civil penalties pursuant to Section 8A(g) of the Securities 
Act against Respondent Scarpino are in the public interest. In connection with such additional 
proceedings: (a) Respondent Scarpino agrees that he will be precluded from arguing that he did 
not violate the federal securities laws as described in this Order; (b) Respondent Scarpino agrees 
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that he may not challenge the validity of this Order; (c) solely for the purposes of such additional 
proceedings, the allegations of the Order shall be accepted as and deemed true by the hearing 
officer; and (d) the hearing officer may determine the issues raised in the additional proceedings on 
the basis of affidavits, declarations, excerpts of swom deposition or investigative testimony, and 
documentary evidence. 

v. 

In view of the foregoing, the Commission deems it appropriate and in the public interest to 
impose the sanctions agreed to in Respondent Scarpino's Offer. 

Accordingly, pursuant to Section 8A of the Securities Act, Sections 15(b) and 21C of the 
Exchange Act, and Section 9(b) of the Investment Company Act, it is hereby ORDERED that: 

A. Respondent Scarpino shall cease and desist from cOlmnitting or causing any 
violations and any future violations of Sections 5(a) or 5(c) of the Securities Act. 

B. Respondent Scarpino be, and hereby is: 

baned £l'om association with any broker, dealer, investment adviser, municipal 
securities dealer, municipal advisor, transfer agent, or nationally recognized 
statistical rating organization; 

prohibited from serving or acting as an employee, officer, director, member of 
an advisOlY board, investment adviser or depositor of, or principal underwriter 
for, a registered investment company or affiliated person of such investment 
adviser, depositor, or principal underwriter; and 

baned £l'om participating in any offering of a pelmy stock, including: acting as 
a promoter, finder, consultant, agent or other person who engages in activities 
with a broker, dealer or issuer for purposes of the issuance or trading in any 
pelmy stock, or inducing or attempting to induce the purchase or sale of any 
penny stock, 

with the right to apply for reentry after five (5) years to the appropriate self
regulatory organization, or if there is none, to the Commission. 

C. Any reapplication for association by Respondent Scarpino will be subject to the 
applicable laws and regulations governing the reentry process, and reentry may be 
conditioned upon a number of factors, including, but not limited to, the satisfaction 
of any or all of the following: ( a) any disgorgement ordered against the 
Respondent, whether or not the COlmnission has fully or patiially waived payment 
of such disgorgement; (b) any arbitration award related to the conduct that served as 
the basis for the Commission order; ( c) any self-regulatOly organization arbitration 
award to a customer, whether or not related to the conduct that served as the basis 
for the Commission order; and (d) any restitution order by a self-regulatOlY 
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organization, whether or not related to the conduct that served as the basis for the 
Commission order. 

D. Payment must be made in one of the following ways: 

(I) Respondent may transmit payment electronically to the Conunission, which 
will provide detailed ACH transfer/Fedwire instructions upon request; 

(2) Respondent may make direct payment from a bank account via Pay.gov 
tlu·ough the SEC website at http://www.sec.gov/about/offices/ofm.htm; or 

(3) Respondent may pay by certified check, bank cashier's check, or United 
States postal money order, made payable to the Secmities and Exchange 
Corm11ission and hand-delivered or mailed to: 

Enterprise Services Center 
Accounts Receivable Branch 
HQ Bldg., Room 181, AMZ-341 
6500 South MacArthur Boulevard 
Oklahoma City, OK 73169 

Payments by check or money order must be accompanied by a cover letter identifying Timothy 
Scarpino as a Respondent in these proceedings, and the file number of these proceedings; a copy of 
the cover letter and check or money order must be sent to Antonia Chi on, Associate Director, 
Division of Enforcement, Securities and Exchange Commission, 100 F St., NE, Washington, DC 
20549. 

It is fUliher ORDERED, pursuant to Rule 100(c) of the Cormnission's Rules of Practice, 17 
C.F.R. § 20l.100(c), in the interest of justice and without prejudice to any party to the proceedings, 
that a public hearing for the purpose of taking evidence on the questions set forih in Section IV 
hereof shall be convened at a time and place to be fixed by, and before, an Administrative Law 
Judge to be designated by fmiher order as provided by Rule 110 of the Cormnission' s Rules of 
Practice, 17 C.F.R. § 201.110, following the entry of a fmal judgment against the last remaining 
defendant(s) in any action(s) arising out of or related to the facts in this Order ("Related Actions"). 

If Respondent Scarpino fails to appear at a hearing after being duly notified, Respondent 
Scarpino may be deemed in default and the proceedings may be detennined against him upon 
consideration of this Order, the allegations of which may be deemed to be tme as provided by 
Rules 155(a), 220(f), 221(f), and 310 of the Cormnission's Rules of Practice, 17 C.F.R. §§ 
20 l.l55(a), 20 l.220(f), 20 l.221 (f), and 20 l.31 O. 

This Order shall be served forthwith upon Respondent Scarpino personally or by certified 
mail. 

It is further ORDERED pursuant to Rule 100(c) of the Cormnission's Rules of Practice, 17 
C.F.R. § 20l.100(c), in the interest of justice and without prejudice to any party, that the 
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Administrative Law Judge shall issue an initial decision no later than 150 days from the date of the 
entJy of a final judgment in any Related Actions. 

VI. 

It is further Ordered that, solely for purposes of exceptions to discharge set fOl1h in Section 
523 of the Bankmptcy Code, II U.s.c. § 523 , the findings in this Order are hue and admitted by 
Respondent, and fm1her, any debt for disgorgement, prejudgment interest, civil penalty or other 
amounts due by Respondent under this Order or any other judgment, order, consent order, decree 
or settlement agreement entered in connection with this proceeding, is a debt for the violation by 
Respondent of the federal securities laws or any regulation or order issued under such laws, as set 
forth in Section 523(a)(19) of the Bankmptcy Code, 11 U.S.c. § 523(a)(19). 

By the Commission. 

Brent J. Fields 
Secretmy 
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FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY 
OFFICE OF HEARING OFFICERS 

DEPARTMENT OF ENFORCEMENT, 

Complainant, 

v. 

SCOTTSDALE CAPITAL ADVISORS 
CORPORATION 
(CRD No. 118786), 

JOHN J. HURRY 
(CRD No. 2146449), 

TIMOTHY B. DIBLASI 
(CRD No. 4623652), 

and 

D. MICHAEL CRUZ 
(CRD No. 2450344), 

Respondents. 

Disciplinary Proceeding 
No. 2014041724601 

Hearing Officer-LOM 

AMENDED EXTENDED HEARING 
PANEL DECISION! 

June 20, 2017 

The Respondent firm violated FINRA Rule 2010 by selling securities without 
registration and without an exemption, in contravention of Section 5 of the 
Securities Act of 1933. The firm's owner, Respondent John Hurry, also 
violated Rule 2010, because he engaged in activities designed to enable the 
unlawful transactions and evade regulatory scrutiny. 

The Respondent firm and its Chief Compliance Officer, Respondent Timothy 
DiBlasi, violated NASD Rules 3010(a) and (b) and FINRA Rule 2010 by 
failing to establish and maintain a supervisory system, including written 

I The original Extended Hearing Panel Decision has been amended to correct a factual error. The amendment does 
not change the substance of the decision. 
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supervisory procedures, reasonably designed to ensure that the itrm 
complied with Section 5 of the Securities Act. 

The Respondent film and its President, Respondent Michael Cruz, violated 
NASD Rule 3010(b) and FINRA Rule 2010 by failing to supervise and failing 
to respond appropIiately to nmnerous red flags indicative of unlawful 
unregistered disbibutions. 

The Respondent finn is fmed $1.5 million. Hurry is barred in all capacities. 
He would also be fined $100,000, but, in light of the bar, the fine is not 
imposed. DiBlasi is suspended for two years and fined $50,000. Cruz is 
suspended for two years and fined $50,000. In addition, Respondents are 
ordered to pay costs, for which they are jointly and severally liable. 

Appearances 

For the Complainant: Jeffrey D. Pariser, Esq., Gregory R. Firehock, Esq., Laura Leigh 
Blackston, Esq., and Heather L. Freiburger, Esq., Depm1ment of Enforcement, Financial Industry 
Regulatory Authority. 

For the Respondents: Kevin 1. Hamisch, Esq., Michael 1. Edney, Esq., and Ryan E. Meltzer, 
Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP. 
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DECISION 

I. INTRODUCTION 

A. The Respondent Firm 

The Respondent fllTIl, Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corporation ("Scottsdale" or the 
"Finn"), is primarily engaged in the business of liquidating peilly stocks for its customers 
without registration. The sale of securities without registration is unlawful unless an exemption 
exists. In selling securities without registration, Scottsdale usually relies on a "safe harbor" 
exemption created by the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), Rule 144. But the 
securities at issue here did not qualify for the Rule 144 exemption. Thus, the sales were 
unlawful. 

1. The Firm Relied On The Rule 144 Exemption 

SEC Rule 144 is highly detailed and technical. It both restricts some transactions and 
pennits others that meet cel1ain conditions. It comes into play where securities have been 
acquired from the issuer or an affiliate in an unregistered private transaction. Such securities 
typically are marked with a restrictive legend, and the holder may not sell such securities in the 
public marketplace unless an exemption applies to the sale. 

In detennining whether a sale of securities is exempt from registration under Rule 144, a 
broker-dealer must conduct an inquiry that focuses primarily on identifying the individual who is 
the beneficial owner of the securities to be sold, analyzing that person's relationship (if any) to 
the issuer ofthe securities, investigating the circumstances of that person's acquisition of the 
securities, and calculating how long the person has held the securities. Rule 144 imposes 
different holding periods on affiliates and non-affiliates of an issuer before they can resell the 
issuer's securities. In some circumstances, the holder can "tack" his holding period to that of his 
predecessor in the chain of holders to meet the applicable holding period. 

The purpose of the Rule 144 inquiry is to ensure that the transaction is not a subterfuge 
for an issuer or its affiliates to distribute securities to the public while evading the disclosure 
requirements that accompany registration. Representations made by the parties interested in 
selling the securities must be carefully scmtinized by a broker-dealer finn because of the 
incentive to misrepresent the circumstances and conceal the tme beneficial owners. 

2. The Firm Lacked A Basis For "Tacking" To Achieve The Required 
Holding Period Under SEC Rule 144 

In the transactions at issue, the purp0l1ed beneficial owners claimed that neither they nor 
their predecessors were affiliates of the issuer. Their lack of affiliate status was critical to their 
ability to sell the shares pursuant to SEC Rule 144 because of the shol1er holding period and 
fewer restrictions on non-affiliates. 
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Even as non-affiliates, however, none of the purpOlted beneficial owners of the shares 
that Scottsdale accepted for resale had held the shares long enough to qualify for the Rule 144 
safe harbor holding period. Each seller therefore claimed that the applicable Rule 144 holding 
period was satisfied by tacking his holding period to the holding period of a prior holder. 

In the transactions at issue, one prior holder claimed that he had forgiven a loan that he 
had made to the issuer and had exchanged the right to payment on the loan for stock. One of the 
prior holders forgave a promissory note that the issuer had used to pay him for consulting 
services. Another prior holder claimed to have extended an oral line of credit to the issuer and 
then to have accepted shares in satisfaction of a sum owed on the line of credit. A third prior 
holder forgave a portion of a promissory note extending an open-ended line of credit. 

Each of these prior holders received the shares around the same time that he transfelTed 
them. Thus, the prior holder did not actually hold the shares long enough for his successor to 
satisfy the applicable holding period by tacking, creating an impediment to resale. 

To overcome that impediment, the sellers of the securities claimed the benefit of another 
tacking provision under Rule 144. Rule 144 provides that where a holder of a security exchanges 
that security for another of the same issuer's securities, without any additional compensation, the 
holder may tack the holding period of the first security to the holding period of the second. The 
theory is that the exchange of one security for another of the same issuer does not change the 
nature of the holder's capital at risk, so the holding period for the new security can tack back to 
the date the old security was acquired. The sellers here characterized their prior holders' 
exchanges of notes for stock as exchanges of one security for another. On that basis, the sellers 
claimed that they could tack back to the inception of the prior holders' loans. 

Whether the first instrument in the chain was a security is thus a threshold issue. The 
Firm treated the prior holders' promissory notes and lines of credit as securities and the 
conversion of that debt into stock as the exchange of one security ofthe issuer for another 
seclllity of the same issuer. As a result, the Firm concluded that the sellers were permitted to tack 
their holding period all the way back to the inception of the prior holders' loans. 

The Finn en·ed. The promissory notes and lines of credit were not securities. Rather, they 
were ordinary debt liabilities. Accordingly, the purpOlted beneficial owners could not establish 
the requisite holding period, and the Rule 144 exemption did not exist. 

3. The Firm Also Failed To Address Red Flags Signaling Unlawful 
Distributions 

The transactions at issue involved persons seeking to sell large blocks of thinly traded, 
little-known securities acquired in a chain of private transactions originating with the issuer
generally a red flag that the SEC and FINRA have both said requires a "searching inquiry." TIle 
sellers acquired the shares from the prior holders and sought to resell the shares almost 
immediately. The immediate resale of a large block of stock that has never been the subject of 
registration disclosures strongly suggests an attempt to distribute securities to the public without 
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registration. In addition, there were a large number of discrepancies and suspicious 
circumstances indicating that sham transactions, false documents, and nominees were being used 
to evade the securities laws and effect unlawful securities sales without registration. 111ese red 
flags ought to have been investigated and appropriately resolved before the securities could be 
sold. 

The Finn, however, blinded itself to the multiple red flags signaling that the transactions 
were unlawful public distributions of securities. It did not conduct the required searching inquiry. 
It sold the securities without a reasonable basis for a Rule 144 exemption. Because of the 
suspicious circumstances known to the Finn, it also was not entitled to the so-called "broker's 
exemption" under Section 4(4) of the Securities Act for ordinary trading. 

B. Other Respondents 

1. John Hurry 

Scottsdale is owned indirectly by Respondent John Hun), and his wife, Justine HlllTY, 
tlu·ough other entities they own and control. John Hun), also owns the clearing finn that handles 
Scottsdale's business, Alpine Securities Corporation ("Alpine"), and an off-shore foreign 
financial institution ("FFI") located in the Cayman Islands, Cayman Securities Clearing and 
Trading SECZ, Ltd. ("CSCT"). 

Hull)' set up CSCT in 2013 to act as a conduit through which other FFls could deposit 
penny stocks at Scottsdale for resale in the U.S. securities market. During the relevant period, 
December 1,2013, tlu·ough June 30, 2014, CSCT deposited billions of shares of penny stocks for 
resale by Scottsdale. All the transactions at issue were routed through CSCT to Scottsdale. 

2. Timothy DiBlasi 

Respondent Timothy DiBlasi became Scottsdale's chief compliance officer ("CCO") 
sh0l11y before the events at issue, and he remains its CCo. He maintains, however, that his 
responsibilities do not extend to the Film's Rule 144 business. 

3. Michael Cruz 

Respondent Michael Cruz was the Firm's president, but now serves as general counsel to 
the collection of Hurry enterprises. During the relevant period, ClUZ had final approval authority 
over the Rule 144 transactions at issue. In that role, he reviewed the infOlmation collected by 
others and determined whether it was sufficient to approve a deposit of stock certificates for 
resale. Everyone at the Finn, including Henry Diekmann, who headed the Firm's Rule 144 team 
at the time of the transactions at issue, and who is now the Finn's president, considered Cruz 
responsible for Rule 144 compliance. 
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C. Parties To The Transactions At Issue 

This case concerns Scottsdale's sales of stock issued by tlu-ee little-known companies
Neuro-Hitech Inc. ("NHPI"), VoipPa1.com ("VPLM"), and Orofino Gold Corp. ("ORFG"). 
CSCT deposited millions of the three issuers' shares in cel1ificate fonn at Scottsdale for resale. 
Alpine cleared them, and Scottsdale sold them into the U.S. securities market pursuant to Rule 
144 without registration. 

In making the deposits ofNHPI, VPLM, and ORFG stock, CSCT acted on behalf of three 
other FFIs: (i) Montage Securities ("Montage"), (ii) Titan International Securities ("Titan"), and 
(iii) Unicorn International Securities ("Unicorn"). Montage was located in Panama; Titan and 
Unicorn were in Belize. The FFIs, in tum, pm-pol1ed to act for the benefit of other entities, which 
were represented to be owned by individuals identified in documents as the beneficial owners of 
the shares. 

II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

FINRA's Department of Enforcement ("Enforcement") filed the Complaint on May 15, 
2015 . After an extension of time, Respondents filed an Answer on June 26, 2015. On December 
11,2015, Respondents filed a motion for summary disposition that challenged FINRA's 
authority to bring a disciplinary action for misconduct associated with the sale of unregistered 
securities. Briefmg on the motion was completed on January 29,2016. The Hearing Officer 
issued an Order on Febmary 26, 2016, denying the motion and finding that FINRA has authority 
to bring this proceeding. 

The hearing ran a total of 12 days in two sessions. The first session in Los Angeles, 
California, was held June 13-24, 2016. The second session in Washington, D.C. was held July 
11-12,2016. Ten witnesses testified at the hearing, including two experts. 2 In addition, the full 
transcript of an on-the-record interview ("OTR") was admitted into evidence, along with more 

2 In addition to Hurry, DiBlasi, and Cruz, the following persons testified: Henry Diekmann, the Firm's current 
president; Jay Noiman, a former Scottsdale employee who served as CCO until DiBlasi took on that responsibility; 
David Byrne, a FINRA examiner who is a manager of the AML Investigative Unit; Craig D'Mura, a former 
Scottsdale employee who worked for a couple of months at CSCI; Christopher Frankel, the current CEO of Alpine; 
Marc Menchel, Respondents' expert; and Brian Underwood, Enforcement's rebuttal expert. 

References to hearing testimony are in the following format: "Hearing Ir. (last name of witness), page of 
transcript." For example, Hurry's testimony is cited as "Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1542-43." 
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than 200 other exhibits.3 On September 9, 2016, Enforcement and Respondents each filed one 
post-hearing briee 

III. FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

A. Jurisdiction 

FINRA has jurisdiction to bring this proceeding against Scottsdale, Hurry, and DiBlasi 
because they are currently registered, and the Complaint charges them with misconduct 
conmlitted while they were registered. FINRA has jurisdiction as to Cruz although he is no 
longer registered, because the Complaint was filed within two years of the time he was registered 
and it charges him with misconduct committed while he was registered.5 

B. Background 

We provide substantial background regarding Respondents and others connected to the 
transactions at issue to provide the context needed to understand the transactions, the Firm's 

3 Gregory V. Ruzicka, who worked at CSCT during the relevant period, gave an OTR on May 27, 2015. The OTR 
became an exhibit. Complainant's exhibits are referred to with the prefix "cx" and an identifying number. 
Respondents' exhibits are referred to with the prefix "RX" and an identi:(ying number. Joint exhibits are referred to 
with the prefix "JX" and an identi:(ying number. Ruzicka's OTR is CX-178. 

4 References to the post-hearing briefs are as follows: Enf PH Br. and Resp. PH Br. Respondents attached graphs 
and other materials to their post-hearing brief that were not offered or admitted into evidence. Respondents 
apparently created the graphs after the hearing based on exhibits that were admitted into the record. However, the 
graphs were not subject to any testimony explaining their creation or testing their accuracy. Respondents' post
hearing brief also contained references to website articles that were not admitted into the record. No copies of the 
articles were attached to the post-hearing brief Respondents have not asked permission to reopen the record to 
admit any of these materials. Respondents simply refer and rely on the non-record materials . The Hearing Panel has 
not considered any of the following items (or assertions made in argument based on them) in formulating its 
decision: 

• Huperzine A in Alzheimer's Disease-website article relating to NHPI (Resp. PH Br. 5, n.9); 
• Same (Resp. PH Br. 7, n.20)~ 

• OTCMarkets.com website on VPLM (Resp. PH Br. 7, n.22); 
• The Markets OTCQB website article on VPLM (Resp. PH Bf. 7, n.23); 
• Historical price figures derived from data on OTCMarkets.com CRespo PH Br. 12, n.58); 
• A purported page from a FINRA Continuing Education Module (Resp. PH Br. 17, n.86; Appendix 

A); 

• Graphs generated by Respondents purporting to use data in JX-264 and JX-268 CRespo PH Br. 19, 
n.94; Appendix B); 

• Graphs generated by Respondents purporting to use data in JX-279 and JX-281 CRespo PH Br. 25, 
n.129; Appendix C) ; 

• Graphs generated by Respondents purporting to use data in JX-308 and JX-310 CRespo PH Br. 29, 
n.155; Appendix D); and 

• Statement about trading volume attributable to CSCT's sales ofORFG CRespo PH Bf. 29, n.156; 
statement made without reference to source of information or record citation). 

5 FINRA By-Laws, Art. IV, Section 6; Art. V, Section 4. 
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culture, and the Respondents' failure to take reasonable action in response to obvious red flags in 
connection with the transactions at issue. The background also provides infonnation important in 
assessing the witnesses ' credibility, and in evaluating the Respondents' likely future compliance 
with the laws and regulations goveming Scottsdale' s business. 

1. Respondents 

a. Scottsdale 

i. The Firm's Focus On Rule 144 Business 

Scottsdale, which is located in Scottsdale, Arizona, has been a FINRA member since 
2002. 6 During the relevant period, the Finn had approximately 14 to 20 employees. 7 

Scottsdale's principal business is the deposit and liquidation of penny stocks for its 
customers. 8 Throughout the proceeding, the pelmy stocks sold by Scottsdale were also referred to 
as "microcap" securities.9 Scottsdale sells most of these securities without registration. The 
primary exemption that Scottsdale relies on is Rule 144, so it has a dedicated Rule 144 team to 
review deposits of stock celtificates for resale, and its procedures are oriented to Rule 144.10 

Scottsdale obtains customers by advertising in OTC Markets and through referrals. I I 

ii. The Firm's Direct Business With FFIs 

Prior to HlllTY'S creation of CSCT in 2013, Scottsdale did business with FFls directly. 
Two of the FFls involved in this case (Titan and Unicom) had pre-existing direct relationships 
with Scottsdale before they started doing business through CSCT. 12 

6 CX-1, at3-9. 

7 Hearing If. (Cruz) 116; Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1496. 

8 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1318; Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 83; Hearing If. (Noiman) 1180. DiBlasi aclmowledged that during 
the relevant period penny stock transactions accounted for most of the Firm's revenues, and that over 95% of the 
transactions that Scottsdale executed for its customers involved penny stocks, most of them unregistered. Hearing 
Ir. (DiBlasi) 1923. 

9lvlicrocap securities may be defined as low-priced stock issued by small companies with a market capitalization of 
$300 million or less. lvlicrocap securities are generally more volatile and less liquid than the stock of larger 
companies. Most important, because many microcap issuers do not file financial reports with the SEC, it may be 
difficult for investors to obtain information about the management, products, services, and finances of microcap 
issuers. https://www.sec.gov/investor/pubs/microcapstock.htm. Ihe SEC has expressed concern that the lack of 
publicly available information about microcap issuers can enable the spread of false information that misleads 
investors. fd. Many microcap securities trade in the "over-the-counter" ("OIC") market instead of a national 
exchange such as the New York Stock Exchange or NASDAQ. fd. 

10 Hearing If. (Cruz) 577, 583 ; Hearing Ir. (DiBlasi) 1952-54; Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 818-19, 875-76, 884-86; 
Hearing If. (Hurry) 1600. 

11 Hearing If. (Cruz) 116. 

12 Hearing If. (Cruz) 192; Hearing II. (Diekmann) 727,817-18; Hearing If. (Noiman) 1140-52. 
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iii. The Firm's Disciplinary History 

Scottsdale has been disciplined previously for selling umegistered securities and having 
inadequate supervisory procedures and written supervisory procedures ("WSPs") to detect and 
prevent the sale ofumegistered securities. In October 2011, the Finn settled these and other 
charges, agreeing to a censure and a total fIne for all the charges of$125,000 ("2011 
Settlement"). 13 

The Finn has also settled other types of disciplinary charges against it, which are relevant 
to the sanctions detenninations. In 2009, it agreed to a censure and a $7,500 fIne to settle charges 
that it had bought bonds from customers at unfair prices ("2009 AWC,,).14 In August 2012, the 
Finn settled charges that it had failed to take appropriate action after being on notice that one of 
its representatives had been using his name and CRD number in stock promotion press releases. 
The Finn agreed to a censure and a $7,500 fIne ("2012 A WC"). 15 In 2015, the Finn agreed to a 
censure and a fIne of $10,000 to settle charges that it had submitted reports to FINRA for the 
Order Audit Trail System that were inaccurate, incomplete, or in the wrong fonnat (,'2015 
AWC,,).16 

iv. The Firm Had Notice That Sham Transactions And The 
Use Of Nominees Were A Risk In Its Rule 144 Business 
With FFIs 

(a) Four PlioI' SEC Disciplinary Actions 

We fmd that prior to the events at issue in this case, the Finn was on notice that its 
business was susceptible to sham transactions and the use of nominees to conceal the true 
benefIcial owners of securities. In four disciplinary actions involving Scottsdale's own 
employees and customers, the SEC alleged that sham transactions and nominees were used in 
unlawful sales in violation of Section 5 of the Securities Act of 1933. Those unlawful sales in 
tum were used to facilitate fraud and manipulation. 

In December 2011 , two of Scottsdale's registered representatives were named in an SEC 
complaint ("Ruettiger") involving the supposed assignment of portions of a convertible note to 
satisfy the applicable Rule 144 holding period, the use of nominees to conceal the identity ofthe 
true benefIcial owners, the use of a "pump-and-dump,,17 scheme to manipulate the market for the 
stock, and an unlawful distribution of securities without registration. According to the complaint, 

13 eX-12. 

14 eX-II. 

IS eX-13. 

16 CX-14. 

17 "Purnp-and-dwnp" schemes involve the touting of a company's stock (typically small, so-called "microcap" 
companies) through false and misleading statements to the marketplace. https://www.sec.gov/answers/ 
pum pdump.htm. 
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Scottsdale's registered representatives handled some of the accounts involved in the scheme, and 
one of them had an interest in an entity that received and sold some of the securities. TIle 
complaint alleged that a single person had used 16 Panamanian corporations to conceal his 
identity and enable him to sell approximately $6 million of stock without registration. 18 

In March 2013, the SEC filed a complaint ("Gibraltar F') against a number of people and 
entities alleging a market manipulation scheme that was facilitated by a Scottsdale customer, 
Gibraltar. TIlat complaint alleged that individual defendants had secretly sold shares through 
Gibraltar while simultaneously promoting the stocks and encouraging others to buy. It also 
alleged that Gibraltar had provided false affidavits and misleading statements that allowed an 
individual defendant to secretly sell shares of companies he was promoting. 19 

In April 2013, the SEC filed a second complaint against Gibraltar and its owner 
("Gibraltar fF'), alleging that they had facilitated unlawful sales of securities without registration 
through the use of nominees. According to that complaint, Gibraltar liquidated low-price, thinly 
traded stocks on behalf of its clients, often during periods of suspicious promotion. Gibraltar 
assisted its clients to incorporate international business corporations ("IBCs") and encouraged 
them to use nominee officers and directors so that their identities would remain confidential. The 
SEC charged that two persons had opened "fake nominee accounts" at Scottsdale.2o 

Gibraltar had been a direct customer of Scottsdale since before the spring of 20 10, at least 
two years before the SEC filed charges against it. 21 It shut down after the filing of the two 
Gibraltar complaints, and some of its customers transferred to Titan, one of the FFIs involved in 
this case.22 

In July 2013, the SEC filed an action against ten Argentinians, four of whom had opened 
accounts at Scottsdale ("Tavella") . That complaint alleged that the defendants had submitted 
false documentation to accompany their securities deposit checklist at Scottsdale, and sold 
millions of shares into the public markets without registration in violation of Section 5. TIle 
defendants claimed that they had purchased their shares fi'om fonner shareholders, but the fOimer 
shareholders had already sold their shares years before. Thus, the transactions in which the 
defendants claimed that they had acquired the shares were a sham. 23 

18 SEC v. Ruettiger, No. 2:11 -cv-2011 (D. Nev. filed Dec. 16,2011), available at https:!/www.SEC.gov/litigation/ 
com plaints/20l1 / com p22198. pdf. 

19 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 195-99; SEC v. Carrillo Huettel, No. 13 Civ . 1735 (S.D.N.Y. filed Mar. 15,2013), available at 
https://www.SEC.govllitigationicomplaints/20 13/comp-pr20 13-39. pdf. 

20 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 185-192; SEC v. Gibraltar Global Sec. , Inc., No. 13 Civ. 2575 (S.D.N.Y. filed Apr. 18,2013), 
available at https:!/www.sec.gov/litigationlcomplaints/2013/comp22683.pdf. 

21 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1912-13. 

22 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 727. 

23 SEC v. Tavella, No. 13-cv-4609 (S.D.N.Y. filed July 3, 2013), available at https:!/www.SEC.gov/litigationi 
complaints/2013/comp-pr20l3-122. pdf. 
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These regulatory actions should have caused the Film to take special care when dealing 
with FFIs, and to revise its procedures to focus on potential sham transactions and the use of 
nominees. The Finn did not. Its main reaction to Ruettiger was to eliminate the branch office 
involved in the case. Cruz believed that the misconduct identified in the Gibraltar cases was 
"isolated.,,24 Scottsdale's cutTent president, Diekmann, who was the head ofthe Rule 144 team 
when the Tavella complaint was filed, testified that he could not remember if the Finn conducted 
any investigation of the four Argentinians named in the Tavella complaint who had Scottsdale 
accounts .25 In Diekmann's vie\".' it was "just impossible to know that there was somebody else 
behind this . ,,26 Cruz similarly said, "[I]t's almost impossible to detect these nominees, that 
they're going to be . .. misrepresenting the- you know, the true identity of these persons. ,,27 

Although the Finn changed some procedures as a result of Tavella (it would not accept more 
than 9.9% of a security at anyone time from its customers and it instituted a stock watch list to 
monitor trading and promotions), Diekmann could not remember doing anything different to 
address the problem of nominees .28 

(b) Respondents' Arguments Minimizing Significance Are 
Rejected 

In their post-hearing brief, Respondents argue that the SEC complaints are not relevant 
because they were classic pump-and-dump cases, and no charge is made here that the 
transactions at issue were paIi of a pump-and-dump fraud. It is not necessmy, however, to prove 
that fraud OCCUlTed in order to conclude that Respondents failed to perfonn their gatekeeping 
duty adequately. The focus here is on Respondents' failure (i) to recognize as a threshold matter 
that the traIlS actions lacked a legal underpimling, and (ii) to respond appropriately to an 
accumulation of red flags and suspicious circumstances, either conducting fUIiher investigation 
to make sure an exemption existed or declining to sell the securities. 

Respondents also claim that references in the prior complaints to nominees were 
"peripheral. ,,29 To the contrary, the use of nominees was critical to facilitating the fraud and 
manipulation charged in those cases . 'vVe reject Respondents ' attempt to brush aside the SEC 
complaints . 

Cruz took a different approach at the hearing to minimizing the significance of the SEC 
complaints, which we also reject. He insisted on a benign definition of the tenn "nominee" to 
mean only someone designated to act on behalf of another. He declined to view the Ruettiger 
complaint as raising a concem about the use of nominees. He said, "I wasn't sure if this is a 

24 Hearing If. (Cruz) 219. 

25 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 732-33. 

26 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 732. 

27 Hearing If. (Cruz) 213-14. 

28 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 733-34. 

29 Resp. PH Br. 36-37. 
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situation where the-the nominees here that are being listed were purposely hiding their identity. 
It could be, but . . . that just was not my takeaway when I was looking at this . .. Complaint. ,,3o 
When asked whether the allegation of "fake nominee entities" gave him pause, Cruz responded, 
"I have no idea what fake - I mean, if it's an entity - I mean, if it - I don 't know what they mean 
by 'fake. " ,31 Cruz refused to admit that the complaint in Ruettiger put him on notice of the 
possibility of nominees hiding the actual true beneficial owner of securities. He testified, "I 
would say this is probably not a case that gave me a great concern about the nominee issue, per 
se . ... TIlere might be a nominee issue in there. I guess I don't know the context ofthat.,,32 

We find Cruz's refusal to acknowledge the plain impOlt of the SEC's allegations in 
Ruettiger and the other complaints disingenuous . Even Respondents' expelt agreed that 
Scottsdale was on notice that its customers could be nominees for beneficial owners as of the 

I . d ' I ' 33 re evant peno 111 t liS case. 

(c) Later Actions Confirm Risk Of Sham Transactions And 
Nominees 

The risky nature of Scottsdale's Rule 144 business with Ft'Is became undeniable in the 
summer of 20 14, when the SEC and criminal authorities initiated two new proceedings charging 
that celtain Scottsdale customers and others had used sham transactions and nominees to sell 
penny stocks unlawfully without registration. TIlese proceedings were brought based on 
extensive evidence gathered through the use of undercover agents, cooperating witnesses, and 
recorded conversations. TIle allegations appeared well founded, and they finally caused 
Scottsdale and CSCT to react. 

TIle SEC filed a complaint on July 11 , 2014 ("Amogear"), charging five individuals with 
llsing nominee accounts in FFI trading to conceal beneficial ownership and facilitate a pump
and-dump scheme. TIle SEC alleged that Titan had agreed to assist in the scheme and that 
Alpine, the clearing finn, was involved in readying shares for trading in connection with the 
scheme. In reaction to Amogear, Scottsdale froze its FFI trading for a couple of months. 34 

On September 8, 2014, prosecutors filed an indictment in federal district COUlt in New 
York ("Bandfielcf') that charged Titan, Unicorn, and several individuals with whom Scottsdale 
and CSCT did business with securities fraud, tax fraud, and a money-laundering conspiracy. 
Those individuals included the following persons, who were also involved in the transactions at 
issue here : Cern ("Jimmy") Can at Unicorn; Kelvin Leach and Rolm Knowles at Titan; and 
Robelt Bandfield and Andrew Godfrey, who purpolted to represent customers of Montage, 

30 Hearing If. (Cruz) 191. 

31 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 192. 

32 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 184. 

33 Hearing Ir. (Menchel) 2488-89. 

34 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 705- 12; Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 204-08; CX-250. 
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Unicol11, and Titan and appeared in connection with numerous sub-accounts and sub-sub
accounts at Scottsdale. According to the indictment, Robett Bandfield claimed in a recorded 
conversation that he had created Titan and more than 5000 sham companies. In that 
conversation, he explained how repOliing requirements could be circumvented and beneficial 
ownership concealed by using nominees. 35 After the indictment was unsealed and became public, 
CS CT' s business su bstantiall y diminished.3 6 

h. Jo]m Hurry 

Indirectly, through a trust and a holding company, Jolm Hun)' and his wife, Justine 
Hun)" own Scottsdale.37 From the Fi1111 's inception in 2002 until December 2012, Respondent 
Hun), was a registered representative, among other roles. 38 John Hun'y again registered with the 
Finn in October 2014, and remains registered today.39 Hun), admitted in his Answer to the 
Complaint that he has been the Film's director since 2002. However, at the hearing, he claimed 
that he first became a director of Scottsdale in January 2013. Justine Hull)' became its second 
director in May 2013 .40 

Scottsdale has been highly profitable for Hun)' and his wife. According to the Annual 
Audited Repott Fonn for Scottsdale during the year beginning July 1,2013, and ending June 30, 
2014, the Finn paid $6,222,550 in directors' compensation. Since John and Justine Hun), were 
the Finn's only directors, this expense presumably was paid to them. 41 The Finn paid other 

35 CX-244; CX-226; Hearing If. (Cruz) 224-30; Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1725-26, 1781 . 

36 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 237-38; Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1529-30. 

37 CX-1 , at 7-9; CX-5; Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 81-82. 

38 CX-15, at 11. 

39 CX-15, at 4-5. 

40 CX-1, at 3-9 (showing the Finn 's direct owners and directors); CX-17, at 1. In his Answer, Hurry admitted that he 
had been a director of Scottsdale since 2002. Answer ~ 16. At the hearing, however, Hurry denied that he had been a 
director of Scottsdale before January 2013 . He did so despite the fact that his signature appeared over the 
designation "sole director" in a December 2012 document authorizing the creation of the Firm's Management 
Committee. At the hearing, he claimed that the designation as sole director was a typographical error and that he was 
acting president prior to January 2013, not sole director. CX-3; Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1306-09. Cruz testified as to the 
December 2012 document that Hurry had established the Firm 's Management Comm ittee in his capacity as director 
of the Fim1. Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 74-76. 

Ihe conflict between the Answer and Hurry 's testimony is inexplicable. We find the conflict between Hurry's 
testimony and the Firm ' s record of the creation of the Management Committee disturbing, because it reflects a lack 
of transparency and accountability. We find the typographical error e>..vlanation with regard to something as 
important as corporate authority to designate the responsibilities of senior management-particularly in a simple ' 
one-page document- not credible. Ihere is no explanation for the conflict between Hurry's testimony that he was 
not a director of the Firm in December 2012 and Cruz's testimony that he was. Ihe conflict in the evidence on this 
point diminishes Hurry 's credibility. 

41 RX-42, at 7, 11 . \.\!hen Cruz officially became Scottsdale ' s president in lvIarch 2014, it was by unanimous consent 
of the Board of Directors, John and Justine Hurry. CX-4. 
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compensation of $1,665,574 and professional and consulting fees of $1 ,13 8, 090. When these 
payments and other expenses were subtracted from the Finn's gross profit of $11,569,817, the 
Film reported net income of $1,446,655 . Because Scottsdale is an S corporation, this income 
flowed through to the shareholders. In the next year, ending June 30, 2015, although the Finn 
repOlted only $589 in net income, the Film paid directors' compensation of $3,255,200.42 

During the relevant period, Respondent Huny also was the indirect owner of Scottsdale's 
clearing film, Alpine, which is located in Salt Lake City, Utall. Huny has been its director since 
March 2011,43 and has been registered with Alpine since May 15,2015.44 

In 2013, Hl1lTY established CSCT, the Cayman Islands broker-dealer through which the 
securities at issue were deposited at Scottsdale.45 HlllTY owns CSCT,46 and, as more fully 
discussed below, he made decisions, both large and small, about how it conducted its business .47 

Despite the highly specialized nature of CSCT's business, Hurry hired Gregory Ruzicka-an 
out-of-work Califomia real estate attomey who had no prior experience in the securities broker
dealer industry, much less in the specialized business of liquidating microcap securities-to run 
CSCT.48 Ruzicka went down to the Cayman Islands in October 2013 to take on his CSCT 
duties.49 Huny then monitored Ruzicka's activities almost daily, right down to his cigarette 
breaks, and visited the Cayman Islands at least monthly. 50 

Although HUITY attempted to conceal the extent of his involvement in CSCT's business, 
he admits that he spoke with the three CSCT customers involved in this case (Montage, Titan, 
and Unicom), and that he personally visited two of them, Montage in Panama and Unicom in 
Belize.5l He claims that he did not solicit business for CSCT, but, as discllssed below, that claim 
is not credible. 

42 RX-42, at 27. See also the Fim,'s FOeUS Reports for 2013-Q4, 2014-QI , 20l4-Q2, 2015-Q3, 2015-Q4, and 
2016-Q-l , and the sWllmary of them created by Enforcement. eX-6 through eX-lO. 

43 eX-IS, at3, II; eX-18. 

44 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1307. 

45 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1329; Hearing If. (Noiman) 1117-18; e X-29. 

'16 eX-I 78, at 40-41 . 

47 Hearing If. (Huny) 1333-35. 

48 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1631; eX-I 78, at 13-24. Ruzicka had limited experience in the early 1980s with intrastate 
real estate lim ited partnership offerings. In that context, he handled post-foreclosure unlawful detainers, relief from 
automatic bankruptcy stays, and receiverships on commercial properties. eX-I78, at 15-18. 

49 eX-I 78, at 20. 

50 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1437-40; eX-I78, at 138-41, 151-52; eX-132; eX-133. 

51 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1406-08, 1412-14, 1421-22. 
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That HUlTY was in charge was obvious to his employees and to CSCT customers. Ruzicka 
refened to him as '"the big boss.,,52 As noted below, one ofthe persons at Scottsdale who 
approved CSCT to become a Scottsdale customer did not even consider rejecting CSCT's 
application because he knew that HUlTY had brought CSCT to the Film. 53 Similarly, Ruzicka said 
that CSCT never considered using any broker-dealer except Scottsdale because ofHuny54 As 
Hun)' acknowledged, customers also sought direct contact with him because he is "highest on 
the totem pole.,,55 

Respondent HUlTY thus owns and controls all three finns involved in the transactions at 
issue in this proceeding-Scottsdale, Alpine, and CSCT. In fact, the three finns were almost a 
self-contained system for processing and distributing microcap securities. CSCT did all its 
business through Scottsdale,56 and Scottsdale in tum did all its business with Alpine.57 Alpine's 
CUlTent CEO described Alpine as a small "boutique" clearing film with a focus on the kind of 
business brought to it by CSCT.58 No independent third pat1y was involved in preparing, 
approving, or clearing the deposits of stock cel1ificates by CSCT at Scottsdale for resale. 

c. Timothy DiBlasi 

DiBlasi first entered the securities industry in 2002. From December 2002 through March 
2012, he was a compliance analyst at First Investors Corporation in New Jersey. DiBlasi has 
been associated with Scottsdale since April 2012. In June 2012, he became the Finn's anti
money laundering chief officer ("AMLCO"). In October 2013, shOl1ly before the events at issue, 
DiBlasi became the Finn's CCO, and he remains the Finn's CCO today. Prior to joining the 
Finn, DiBlasi had limited experience in microcap securities, and he had not handled the type of 
restricted stock deposits that are the bulk of Scottsdale's business. 59 

52 CX-240; Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1764-65. 

53 Hearing If. (Noiman) 1079, 1103, 1105-06, 1117-18. See also CX-29, at 10,25 (fomls to establish CSCI as a 
Scottsdale customer listed Hurry as referral or source of the business). 

54 CX-I78, at 108. 

55 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1432. 

56 Ruzicka testified that CSCI never considered using a firm other than Scottsdale because of Hurry. CX-I78, at 
108. 

57 Hearing If. (Cruz) 143, 306, 382; Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 759; Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2293. Ihe person Hurry 
hired to run CSCI, Gregory Ruzicka, described CSCI as an "adjunct" of Hurry's operations at Scottsdale. CX-i78, 
at 34. 

58 Hearing If. (Frankel) 2342-43. Alpine did do business with other FFIs in addition to CSCI during the relevant 
period. Hearing If. (Frankel) 2343. 

59 Hearing If. (DiBlasi) 1919-21 ; Hearing Ir. (Cruz) i22; CX-19. 
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d. Michael Cruz 

Cruz entered the securities business in 1994, when he began working at a San Francisco 
investment banking film on undelwritings, asset-backed securities, and private placements. After 
approximately six years, he joined FINRA's predecessor, NASD, starting in its San Francisco 
office as a cause examiner and then moving to New York as a cycle examiner. He then took a job 
with Citigroup Smith Bamey in their central risk group, repOliing to the General Counsel and 
CCO. Subsequently, he moved with his family to Arizona and passed the bar there. hl Arizona, 
he first worked for Wells Fargo in its audit depatiment and then took a similar position at 
Countrywide in its bank legal department. He left Countrywide when Bank of America acquired 
it, and he began working at Scottsdale in May 2008. 60 

Cruz has held Series 7, 24, and 63 licenses. However, since January 29, 2015, he has not 
been registered through Scottsdale. He clmently is the general counsel for the holding companies 
that own Scottsdale and its clearing flIm, Alpine. 6

! 

At the beginning of the relevant period, Cruz was listed on the Fum's Fonn BD as legal 
counsel and member of the Management Committee.62 Cruz officially became the Finn's 
president by a board resolution dated March 17, 2014. He testified that, at least since December 
1,2013, he had been acting as defacto president.63 The Film amended its FOlm BD on March 
31, 2014, to disclose that Cruz was the president, as well as legal counsel. 64 

During the relevant period, Cruz approved Rule 144 deposits, includmg the transactions 
at issue.65 Cruz signed the Deposited Securities Checklist ("Checklist") for the transactions at 
issue under the heading" 144 Compliance Approval." Between that heading and his signature is 
the statement "[B]ased on the infOlmation received and reviewed as described in this Deposited 
Securities Checklist, SCA [Scottsdale] reasonably believes the subject securities are free 
trading. ,,66 

60 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 72-73, 557-59, 661; CX-20. 

61 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 72-73; CX-20. 

62 eX-17, at 1. 

63 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 78-79; CX-4. Cruz said that the original plan had been for Justine Hurry to be president of the 
Firm. Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 79. Cruz's testimony that he was the acting president in December is inconsistent with 
Hurry's testimony that he was president at that time. Ihis conflict concerning who was in charge illustrates the 
Firm' s lack of appropriate supervisory procedures that clearly delegated authority and created accountability. 

64 CX-I7, at 7. 

65 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 693-94. 

66 RX-I , at 2, 79, 159; RX-2, at 2, 107; R..-",<-3 , at 2. 
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Cruz acted as the conduit between senior management of the Finn and the board of 
directors, John and Justine Huny 67 

2. Other Key Figures At Scottsdale 

a. Henry DiekmalUl 

.Mer graduating from college with a degree in history, Diekmann spent approximately a 
year as a financial trainee with Morgan Stanley. He then was an insurance salesman for four 
months . After that, he was unemployed for about a year-and-a-halfbefore he joined Scottsdale in 
March 2010 as an office assistant. In January 2011, he moved to the Finn ' s Rule 144 team, 
where he spent two years before being promoted to head the team. Although many members of 
the team were lawyers, Diekmann is not. He had no experience with low-priced securities or in 
clearing unregistered securities for trading before he joined Scottsdale. He was trained to review 
deposits by Cruz and another person who worked on the Rule 144 team. 68 

During the relevant period, Diekmann focused solely on reviewing CSCT deposits. But 
he did not have authority to approve a deposit of cel1ificates. Final approval authority rested with 

Cruz. 69 

Since January 2015, Diekmann has been the Film's president. 70 As the Film's cutTent 
president, Diekmann now has the authority that once belonged to Cruz. 71 

h. Eric Miller 

Eric Miller was a Scottsdale salesman. He called potential customers and assisted in 
conducting due diligence on new accounts.72 Miller sometimes refelTed clients to Ruzicka at 
CSCT. 73 

Although Miller did not testify at the hearing, there is substantial evidence that he was 
involved with Unic0111 's deposits. Miller had a relationship with Unic0111 because it had been 
Scottsdale's direct customer before moving its business to CSCT, and he continued to have 
contact with UniC0111 even after it stat1ed doing business with Scottsdale through CSCT, as 
Diekmann admitted. 74 

67 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 80-82. 

68 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 686-90. 

69 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 694, 886. 

70 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 685; Hearing If. (DiBlasi) 1954. 

71 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 129-30,583-84; Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 685-86,694,908-09. 

72 Hearing If. (Cruz) 116-17; Hearing Ir. (Noiman) 1075-76; CX-29, at 9. 

7J CX-I78, at 167-68. 

74 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 858, 934-35 . 
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TIle fact that Miller continued to have at least some direct contact with Unicom is 
significant for the following four reasons: 

First, the evidence regarding Miller casts doubt on the effectiveness of the Fiml's 
compliance and supervisory effolis. Diekmann claimed that Miller' s direct contact with Unicom 
was prohibited and that Miller was "written up" a number of times for cOlTesponding by email 
with Unicom. Diekmann did not identify any written prohibition against direct contact with 
Unicom, but he said that the prohibition was something that was a matter of business practice at 
the Finn. 75 The supposed prohibition is inconsistent with the record, which contains a number of 
emails to and from Unicom that include Miller as a sender or recipient. 76 Moreover, in some 
Unicom emails, DiekmatUl is a recipient along with Miller. 77 TIl ere is no evidence that 
Diekmann protested Miller's involvement or reprimanded him. If Miller was "written up" a 
number of times for contact with Unicom, as Diekmann testified, it apparently had little effect. 
Diekmann's testimony regarding the supposed prohibition was not credible. 

Second, the emails indicate that Miller was a "back door" for Scottsdale in dealing with 
Unicom. Although the Unicom deposits supposedly came through CSCT, Miller and others at 
Scottsdale conesponded directly with Unicom persolUlel and directed Unicom as to what needed 
to be done. 

For example, Miller engaged in extensive email cOlTespondence with Natalie Bannister at 
Unicom in November 2013 about setting up its account with CSCT. Miller instructed her that the 
stock celiificates to be deposited at Scottsdale had to be made out in CSCT's name and sent by 
CSCT to Scottsdale. Bannister indicated that she did not like transfelTing ownership to CSCT, 
"especially with it not in writing." Miller insisted, "These are impoliant details ." He said that the 
account at Scottsdale was in CSCT's name and the "celi[tificate deposit] NEEDS to be in 
[CSCT's] name, that is all there is to it.,,78 Thus, it was Scottsdale-not CSCT-that was making 
the atTangements and instructing the customer on what had to be done. 

J\/Iiller shepherded Unicom's due diligence packages through CSCT. In March 2014, he 
instructed Unicom staff and Ruzicka to get together on the telephone to discuss which 
documents were needed and could be provided for a deposit. 79 Similarly, in May 2014, Miller 
engaged in email cOlTespondencedirectlywithUnicom's Back Office Manager, Chinique Lewis, 
asking her about ORFG, one of the stock deposits at issue in this case. He asked her-not 
Ruzicka-how the package was coming along. Then Lewis em ailed Miller-not Ruzicka-to 
ask ifthere was "[a]nything on the [ORFG] as yet?" At that point, Miller emailed her back 

75 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 1664-65. 

76 See eX-216. 

77 See eX-119. 

78 eX-270. 

7g eX-171 . 
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directing her to call Ruzicka and have him call Miller. so Miller' s last instruction in the 
correspondence appears to us to reflect an awareness that Scottsdale should be seen to be dealing 
only with and through CSCT, when, in fact, Scottsdale, through Miller, was continuing to guide 
the business with Unicorn. 

In April 2014, when Diekmann was unable to obtain the infonnation he needed on a 
deposit of stock celtificates by Unicol11 from Ruzicka at CSCT, he emailed Miller a copy of his 
request to Ruzicka, saying he had not received a response. And Miller, in turn, forwarded the 
email directly to two persons at Unicorn, Cem Can and Chinique Lewis, asking them to "please 
address this ASAP. " SI Diekmann denied that he had asked Miller to obtain the infonnation for 
him, but the conespondence has no other reasonable explanation. Diekmann's testimony in this 
regard was not credible .s2 

In May 2014, Miller obtained information from Chinique Lewis at Unicol11 about the 
purpolted beneficial owner ofthe entity that had deposited VPLM stock through Unicorn for sale 
by Scottsdale and forwarded that to Diekmann. TIle email cOlTespondence was included in the 
VPLM due diligence package. S3 

TIle degree to which Miller conesponded directly with Unicol11 and managed the Unic011l 
deposits raises the question whether there was any need for CSCT at all. As discussed below in 
the credibility section, HlllTY'S decision to route Scottsdale's FFI business tlu·ough CSCT had 
little discel11ible business rationale. His implementation of that decision and staffing of CSCT 
with Ruzicka, who was unqualified to run CSCT, coupled with the evidence of Miller's 
continuing role as a "back door" to Scottsdale, demonstrate that CSCT was a fa9ade . 

Third, we interpret certain email cOlTespondence be1\veen Miller and a client as 
suggesting that the Finn assisted its clients "all the time" to conceal beneficial ownership of 
stock. Scottsdale supposedly had a policy not to accept business from Canadian citizens residing 
in Canada, but, when a client in the Bahamas asked on behalf of a friend whether a Canadian 
citizen residing in Canada could do business with Scottsdale, Miller suggested that the friend set 
up a corporation to do the business. Miller called it a "work around." The client responded, "If 
they get a corporation set up US, Panama, Belize or wherever won[ ' ]t your Compliance want to 
know who is beneficial owner?" Miller responded, "Yes they will but the account holder is the 
corporation. TlUSt me on this one, we do it all the time. "s4 

80 CX-311 , at 1. 

81 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 1668-71; CX-221. 

82 CX-221 ; Hearing If. (Diekmann) 1665-71. In denying that he intended for ivIiller to obtain the infonnation from 
Unicorn that Ruzicka had failed to supply, Dieknl ann testified that he had no interest whatever in whether he 
obtained the information. Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1665-71. Ihat statement is not credible. If he had no interest, 
there would have been no reason to send the email to Miller. 

8J R,'{-3, at 17. 

84 CX-210; Hearing If. (Diekmann) 1672-77. 
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We are unconvinced by Diekmann 's benign reading of this con-espondence. He testified 
that he thought that the client was asking something different, "Won't your compliance know 
that a Canadian resident owns the LLC and, therefore, won 't they reject the deposit or account 
opening?,,85 Diekmann's interpretation is a rewriting of the client ' s words . It ignores that 
Miller's implicit point was that the corporation would be identified as the account holder, not the 
Canadian owner. 111at is why the Canadian 's deposit would not be rejected. Furthennore, 
Diekmann 's interpretation does not reflect the tone of Miller's comments. When Miller 
suggested that the shares could be put in the name of the corporation, he treated that as a magical 
solution to the problem, saying "and wa-Ia! We get it done that way. ,,86 Finally, if Diekmatm 's 
interpretation of the question were con-ect, then Miller never answered the question. Miller never 
explained why the Finn would not reject the deposit if it knew that a Canadian resident owned 
the LLC. 

Fourth, according to Diekmatm, after Miller left the Finn in April 2016, the Finn 
discovered that he had set up his work email to be forwarded to his personal email. 87 111is means 
that Miller could have engaged in communications with FFIs like Unicom "off the record," 
avoiding oversight. Although Diekmatm testified that all of Scottsdale's emails remained on its 
system, and were not removed by Miller, Diekmann provided no basis for knowing whether that 
was true . Diekmann testified that the Finn had asked Miller to confinn he had not removed any 
emails from the Finn's system but that Miller had not responded.88 

11le inquiry suggests that the Firm in fact does not know whether Miller removed emails 
from the Firm's system. There was no evidence that the Finn employed any technical analysis of 
its systems to find out if emails or other information had been deleted. There also was no 
evidence that the Finn made any effort to recover any email correspondence that Miller might 
have had with customers using only his personal email. Thus, it is undisputed that Miller 
communicated directly with Unicom, and it is impossible to know the number or substance of all 
those communications. 

Given the allegations against Unicom and Cem Can in the Bandfield indictment, the 
inability to review Miller's communications with them is a serious concem. The Fum's 
reaction-simply to ask Miller to confirm he did not remove any emails from the Scottsdale 's 
system-is an inadequate response. If Miller took emails from Scottsdale's system or deleted 
them, he would hardly be likely to confess to that wrongdoing. 111at is particularly so where the 
emails were with persons subject to a criminal indictment and might place Miller under 
suspicion. 111e request to a potential wrongdoer to confmn that he committed no wrongdoing is 
almost farcical. The inadequacy of the Finn's response milTors the inadequacy of its checklist 

85 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1673. 

86 eX-210, at 5. 

87 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1662-63. 

88 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1663-64. 
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approach to Rule 144 due diligence and contributes to our conclusion that stringent sanctions are 
required here. 

c. Jay Nobnan 

Jay Noiman joined Scottsdale in September 2011 and left at the end of December 2014. 89 

Priorto October 20l3, when DiBlasi became CCO, Noiman was the Finn 's CCO. 90 He was on 
the Management Committee from approximately January 2013 through January 2014. He served 
as vice chainnan of the Management Committee and second in command after Cruz. During the 
relevant period, Noiman was the trading manager and had responsibility for supervising the 
traders and sales staff. He identified DiBlasi as his supervisor. 91 

Noiman was responsible for reviewing the blotter for restricted stocks. He focused on 
FFls,92 and he approved the account opening documents for CSCT, which was an FFI. Noiman 
never considered not approving the CSCT account. He knew at the time that it was a refelTaI 
from Hun)'. 93 

Noiman also signed documents in the due diligence packages for the transactions in this 
case. His signature appears on the Checklist under the heading "Broker Approval." Between the 
heading and Noiman's signature was the statement that he had carefully reviewed the Checklist 
and the suppolting documents and that to the best of his knowledge "any resale will be made in 
compliance with finn policy and all applicable laws. ,,94 By that language, the Checklist makes it 
appear that Noiman was certifying that he believed that the transaction would comply with the 
law. 

Noiman testified, however, that his signature signified only that all the necessary fon11s 
were in the file-a check-the-box function. 95 The patties stipulated that Noiman's signatures on 
the documents in the three due diligence packages meant the same thing: he checked that the 
documents were filled out but did not substantively approve or review them. 96 Thus, Noiman's 
signature on the Checklist created only a fayade of compliance and accountability. 

89 Hearing Ir. (Noiman) 1041-42. 

90 Hearing Ir. (Noiman) 1043. 

91 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 81 , 564; Hearing Ir. (Noiman) 1043-44. 

92 Hearing Ir. (Noiman) 1045-46, 1049-51. 

93 Hearing Ir. (Noiman) 1139-40. 

94 RX-l , at 2; RX-2, at 2; R,,'<::-3 , at 2. 

95 Hearing Ir. (Noiman) 1156-68, 1171-73. 

96 Hearing Ir. (Noiman) 1172-73. 
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During the relevant period, Noiman, like Miller, had contact with one of the FFIs 
involved in this case, Titan.97 Noiman talked with Rohn Knowles of Titan at least monthly and 
sometimes weekly and engaged in email cOlTespondence with Knowles. 98 Both Titan and 
Knowles were defendants in the Bandfield indictment. As discussed below, Noiman obtained 
infonnation directly from Knowles, which he forwarded to Cruz, to resolve a serious potential 
problem with a CSCT deposit ofVPLM stock. CSCT's staff was not involved.99 11ms, Noiman 
was another "back door" to a CSCT customer, raising once again the question why CSCT even 
existed. 

3. CSCT And Its Key Figures 

a. Gregory V. Ruzicka 

Prior to joining CSCT, G-regory Ruzicka was a real estate attomey in NewpOli Beach, 
Califomia. He began his legal career advising exclusively on real estate issues and continued in 
the real estate field. He did not advise on the federal securities lavvs. loo Before begitU1ing work at 
CSCT, Ruzicka had no experience with Rule 144 or any ofthe other exemptions from 
registration under the federal securities laws .lol Nor did Ruzicka have any prior experience with 
Cayman Islands law, the Bank Secrecy Act, or anti-money laundering rules and regulations. 102 

Ruzicka met John HUlTY in 2002 when HutTY hired him to do some work on a 
commercial real estate issue. From time to time after that, Ruzicka did work for HUlTY, but none 
of that work involved the securities laws or Hun)"s broker-dealer business. l03 

Later, Ruzicka suffered a substantial financial setback that left him out of work and 
adrift. 104 At this point, Ruzicka asked Hun)' to give him ajob at a bicycle shop that Hun), 
owned. HUlTY admitted that he was "kind of taken back a little bit.,,105 Hun), proposed instead 

97 Prior to the events at issue, Noiman was involved in the customer due diligence on Titan when it was a direct 
customer of Scottsdale. On January 18, 2012, Noiman signed a due diligence form as a principal of the Firm 
representing that to the best of his knowledge the infoD11ation provided by Titan was true and correct. Noiman also 
signed the form as the person giving compliance approval. eX-242, at 48. 

98 Hearing Tf. (Noiman) 1185-87. Ruzicka was under the impression that Titan "had a special pipeline to 
Scottsdale." eX-I78, at 110. He spoke of a young woman as being the "private liaison for Titan." eX-I78, at 110. 

99 eX-296; eX-294; Hearing Tf. (Noiman) 1187-98. See inji'a at_. 

100 eX-I78, at 12-20. 

101 eX-178, at 22-23 . 

102 eX-I78, at 18-19, 22-24. 

103 eX-I78, at 25-29 

104 eX-I78, at 14-15, 19-20, 30, 38, 54. 

105 Hearing Tf. (Hurry) 1631 , 1635-36. Hurry told D'Mura that Ruzicka had asked, "Would you be able to help me 
out? Is there any position or something? Could I work at your bike shop or your ice cream shop? You know, you 
don't have to pay me a lot, but at this point, I don't have anything. I have $50 in my pocket." Hearing Tf. (D'Mura) 
2262. 
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that Ruzicka go to the Cayman Islands to lUn Huny's operation there . According to Ruzicka, 
Huny told him that Ruzicka would be running the business and acting as HlllTY'S lawyer. I 06 
Ruzicka had been to the Cayman Islands once before to go scuba diving, but he was willing to 
relocate because he had been through such a hard time and wanted a "change of scenery. ,,107 
Huny told Ruzicka that he had 30 days to read about Rule 144,108 so Ruzicka read Rule 144, the 
Securities Act of 1933, and what he could find on the intemet about the Rule 144 exemption.109 

In mid-October 2013, HUlTY flew with Ruzicka in HlllTY'S private plane to the Cayman 
Islands so that Ruzicka could begin work. llo Ruzicka remained with CSCT until mid-October 
2014. 111 

Diekmann testified that if CSCT had been his business, Ruzicka would not have been his 
choice to lUn the Cayman Islands broker-dealer. Ruzicka lacked securities experience, and he 
seemed disorganized, sending materials to Scottsdale piecemeal and failing to follow 
instructions. 112 

Ruzicka never had a securities license or registered with FINRA. Consequently, FINRA 
had no jurisdiction to compel him to testify. Ruzicka testified voluntarily at an OTR, and he 
considered testifying voluntarily at the hearing. However, after being contacted by counsel for 
Respondents, as discussed below in the credibility section, Ruzicka declined to testify. 
Consequently, Ruzicka 's entire OTR was admitted into evidence. 

h. Craig D'Mura 

Craig D'Mura graduated from Arizona State University in May 2006 and sholtly 
afterward began work at Vanguard Group in the retirement patticipant services depaltment. After 
a year and a half, he went to law school at Syracuse University. Although he finished law school, 
he never took the bar examination and did not become licensed as atl attomey. He retumed to 
Phoenix and statted a broker training pro gratn in 2010. However, he did not feel that being a 
broker was his "calling. ,,113 

D'Mura was unemployed in summer of2011. He responded to atl adveltisement on 
Craigslist for an operations position at Scottsdale. In July or August 2011, after an interview with 

106 eX-I 78, at 38-40. 

107 eX-I78, at 54. 

108 e X-l 78, at 40. 

109 eX -I 78, at 22, 62-63. 

110 eX-I 78, at 37. 

III eX-I 78, at 231. 

112 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 759-61 , 765. 

113 Hearing If. (D'Mura) 2246-47. 
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Justine Huny, Scottsdale hired him. Prior to his work at Scottsdale, D'Mura was not even aware 
ftI · .. . d 114 o le mlcrocap secuntles 111 ustry. 

After two or three weeks in the operations position, D'Murajoined the Rule 144 team. 
His training was ongoing. By summer of2013, he v.ras handling more complicated deposits and 
was able to review files as a principal. However, he did not review deposits by FFIs. liS 

In summer of 20 13, Huny began discussing with Scottsdale staff his plan to open a 
broker-dealer in the Cayman Islands, and Cmz asked D'Mura ifhe might be interested in 
working there. D'Mura began filling out the paperwork necessary ifhe took the position in the 
Cayman Islands, and in January 2014, he flew with HUlTY in Hun'y's private airplane to the 
Cayman Islands to visit and consider a position with CSCT. 116 D'Mura decided to take tile 
position, returned to Phoenix for a few days, and then went back to the Cayman Islands on 
January 28, 2014. He stayed with CSCT only about six weeks. After concluding that the situation 
was intolerable and would never improve, he left on March 14,2014.117 

c. CSCT 

i. Hurry Set Up CSCT 

In early 2013, Huny set up CSCT in tile Cayman Islands. ll8 He became its director and 
intended to have overall management supervision of it and its business."9 Through a chain of 
entities, a Hurry family trust owns CSCT, and Hun), and his wife serve as co-tmstees of the 
trust. 120 

Hull)' claimed that he set up CSCT because Alpine, his U.S. clearing finn, wanted to be 
relieved of IRS tax withholding obligations. According to HlllTY, Alpine wanted to do business 
only with FFIs that had agreed with the IRS to take on tax withholding obligations, thereby 
becoming what is known as a qualified internlediary ("QI,,).121 Huny testified that withholding 
obligations are complicated and burdensome. 122 He also testified that there are risks in getting 

114 Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2247-48. 

115 Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2248-51. 

116 Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2252-58. 

117 Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2266, 2306-09. 

118 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1329, 1333-34. 

119 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1394-95; CX-160, at 3. 

120 CX-21 , at 2. 

121 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1373-74, 1552-61; Hearing Ir. (Frankel) 2345-46, 2349-51. Resp. PH Br. 8. 

122 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1554-57. 
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the papelwork wrong and incUlTing penalties, and that there were tax advantages to generating 
and retaining funds offshore. 123 

Hurry's testimony was at a high level of generality, and there was no corroborating 
evidence to show the analysis. 111ere was no evidence regarding how Alpine made the decision 
that it would only do business with Qls, or who made the decision. 111ere was no evidence other 
than HUrTy's testimony to demonstrate that CSCT made business sense. It is unclear how the 
expense of establishing and staffing a separate offshore office was less burdensome than 
Alpine's withholding obligations, or why the same goal of eliminating Alpine's 'vvithholding 
obligation could not have been achieved less expensively by requiring the Finn's FFI customers 
to obtain QI celtification in order to do business with Scottsdale and Alpine. Moreover, since 
Hun), ultimately bore the costs regardless of which entity had the obligation, Alpine or CSCT, 
we are not persuaded that the claimed reason for creating CSCT made sense. 124 

Nor did the creation of CSCT make sense from the perspective of achieving regulatory 
compliance. As Cruz agreed, it is easier to spot problems with direct accounts than through an 
FFI like CSCT that operated as an intennediary for sub-accounts and sub-sub-accounts. 125 

Hun)"s intense involvement in CSCT's operations did not abate after he hired Ruzicka in 
October 2013 to run CSCT's day-to-day operations. Hun'y located and rented office space for 
CSCT before Ruzicka began work and then continued to closely oversee the details of 
establishing and opening the office after Ruzicka an'ived. Hurry obtained a floor plan from 
Ruzicka, told Ruzicka it was not cOITect, and asked Ruzicka to take measurements and create a 
revision. 126 Hun)' provided Ruzicka with contact information for shippers to ship fumiture HUlry 
had found for the office. 127 HUrTY reviewed the proposed CSCT website design and asked about 
the costS. 128 HUITY made the final decision on hiring a bookkeeper129 and all the decisions on 

. 130 entenng contracts. 

123 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1554-57. 

124 Hurrry testified that he had allocated between $4 and $5 million for the project and had invested well over seven 
figures in CSCI. Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1552. \Vhen asked what he had taken out of CSCI, he said "Zero." Hearing 
If. (Hurry) 1553. 

125 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 220. 

126 CX-48; CX-50; CX-52; CX-55; CX-75. 

127 CX-52; CX-53. 

128 CX-49; CX-84. 

129 CX-I78, at 43-44. 

130 CX-178, at 46. 
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Hun), il1stmcted Ruzicka on fundamental business operations, as well. For example, he 
explained to Ruzicka that he should open a separate bank account for customer funds to keep 
their funds separate from CSCT's funds. 131 

Hun), decided that CSCT should be in the Special Economic Zone within the Cayman 
Islands, and that it should apply to be exempt from regulation by the Cayman Islands Monetary 
Authority ("CIMA"). In addition, Huny instmcted Ruzicka to apply to the IRS for QI status.132 

Although Ruzicka expressed concems about the obligations and representations associated with 
QI status and was reluctant to make the required representations without fUliher study, Huny 
insisted that Ruzicka do it. 133 

Hun)' detennined the fees and commissions CSCT clients would pay. He instmcted 
Ruzicka to take whatever Scottsdale charged CSCT and tack on 200 basis points. 134 Hun'y in tum 
obtained a discount from Scottsdale on its charges to CSCT.135 By this means, he kept the cost of 
doing business through CSCT roughly the same as doing business directly with Scottsdale. 
Otherwise, the rerouting of the FFI business through CSCT would have made no economic sense 
for the customers. However, there was no evidence that it made economic sense for HutTY to 
keep customer expenses roughly the same as they would have been working directly with 
Scottsdale when he was incurring substantial extra expenses setting up and staffing the e:x.ira 
office in the Cayman Islands. 136 

Hun), was intimately involved in setting up CSCT's technical systems. HUlTY made the 
anangements for computer software for CSCT and instructed Ruzicka to download Office 2010 
for two users.13? Similarly, Huny selected computer equipment for CSCT and brought it down to 
the Cayman Islands in mid-January 2014 at the same time that he brought D'Mura to look at 
joining CSCT. D'Mura testified that HUlTY set up the office network for CSCT l3S When Ruzicka 
showed HUlry the information he platmed to send to clients, HUlTY told him he should make it 
look better atld instructed him on how to do that. Huny told Ruzicka to print to PDF and get a 
clean file to email customers. He advised Ruzicka that he could do that on his computer. 139 

131 CX-83. 

132 CX-I78, at 48-53 . 

133 CX-I05; CX-I07; CX-178, at 50-53. 

134 CX-178, at 106-09. 

135 Hearing If. (Cruz) 141-43; Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2294-95. 

136 Hurry and Diekmann testified that routing the FFI business through CSCI was actually a little less expensive for 
customers than dealing with Scottsdale directly. Hearing If. (Hurry) 1642-44; Hearing II. (Diekmann) 1652-53. If 
true, that testimony further undercuts the business justification for CSCI. 

137 CX-94; Hearing II. (Hurry) 1461. 

138 Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2263, 2266-68. 

139 CX-77; CX-78 . 
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Ruzicka, by contrast, was fairly unsophisticated about technology. He was vague on even 
identifying the programs that he used at CSCT 140 

ii. Hurry Micro-Managed CSCT's Business 

Although HUlTY portrayed Ruzicka as being in charge of CSCT, 141 the evidence is 
otherwise. HurTY micro-managed CSCT, and he bullied Ruzicka and D'Mura to get them to do 
what he wanted them to do. Hurry also closely tracked CSCT's business with Scottsdale and 
with its FFI customers. 

Ruzicka considered himself to be only an intennediary.142 Hurry dictated what should be 
done, and Ruzicka complied. Ruzicka said with respect to Hun)" "You don't discuss; you do as 
you are ordered.,,143 For example, when Ruzicka protested that he was not comfortable with 
signing off on the QI application, Huny responded, "Stupid, just do it." Ruzicka said that he 
"kind of dropped the subject at that point. ,,144 Ruzicka signed off, despite his discomfort, because 
he knew if he did not "there is a ticket back to LA coming tomorrow. ,,145 

Similarly, although Ruzicka thought that Unicorn engaged in some suspicious trading and 
constant pressure from Cern Can at Unicorn gave him the "creeps," Ruzicka did not think he had 
authority to terminate the relationship with Unicorn. If he had done so without clear authority 
from Hun)" he thought that would have been his last day at CSCT 146 D'Mura confinned that 
neither he nor Ruzicka could tern1inate a client relationship, and, although they hated dealing 
with Cem Can at Unicorn, they did not consider it an option to tUITl away the business. 147 

Some of the initial customers of CSCT were pre-existing customers of Scottsdale. When 
Ruzicka asked the commonsense question why the pre-existing business was going to flow 
through the new entity, Hun"y told him to shut up . After that, Ruzicka just did as he was told.148 

Ruzicka testified in his OTR, and D'Mura testified at the hearing, that Hurry banaged 
them \,vith telephone calls while they were working at CSCT HurTY called Ruzicka almost ever), 
day, sometimes multiple times, He called D'Mura less often, probably a couple of times a week 

140 eX-77; eX-178, at 24-25 . 

141 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1433, 1436, 1549-50. Hurry claimed that he hired Ruzicka to fulfill an "executive role." 
Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1648. 

142 eX-l78, at 46. 

143 eX-l78, at 51. 

144 eX-178, at 51-52. 

145 eX-22; eX- l78, at 52-53. 

146 eX-l78, at 177-80, 188-89. 

147 Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2283-86. 

148 eX-l78, at 79-80. 
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111e calls could come at all hours as well. 149 Often the calls were followed by demanding, abrupt, 
and increasingly impatient emails saying "call me. ,,150 In one email, HUlTY wrote "Your phone is 
not working TURN IT ON. I need a call.,,151 In another he wrote, "Call me in 60 minutes. DO 
YOU NOT UNDERSTAND THAT?,,152 In another the subject line was "pick up your 
phone!!!!!!! !,,153 

Hun), developed an Excel spreadsheet to track various aspects ofCSCT's business. 
Although HlllTY characterized it in his testimony as an "empowennent tool" that enabled his 
people to track their work for themselves without his having to keep track oftheir progress,154 
that characterization is not consistent with the evidence. 

The spreadsheet tracked daily gross production, number of trades placed, celtificate 
deposits approved, new celtificate deposits received, and number of new accounts. It also tracked 
Ruzicka's stalt and finish times. 155 Ruzicka said that in telephone calls HlllTY would even ask 
about how many cigarettes he had smoked during the day. 156 An email from HUlTY cOlToborated 
Ruzicka's testin10ny. In the email, HUlTY told Ruzicka "Need all the below," including start time, 
finish time, and "number of cig breaks.,,157 HUlTY acknowledged that the email included an 
inquil)' about cigarette breaks, but he claimed that he was tl)'ing to help Ruzicka get himself 
organized. He claimed to know that Ruzicka was only in the office for ten minutes in an hour, 
which meant things were not getting done. 15S 

Hurry wanted the numbers prepared every day, even if he did not ask for the infonnation 
every day. Ruzicka and D'Mura prepared themselves for HUlTY'S frequent telephone calls and 

. tried to have talking points and updated infonnation ready to go if HUlTY should cal1. 159 

Hun), tracked Ruzicka's and D'Mura's contacts with CSCT customers, including the 
FFIs involved in the transactions at issue. Ruzicka testified that in their frequent telephone calls 
Hun), would ask him about whether he had talked to Rohn Knowles at Titan or Cem Can at 

149 Hearing IT. (D'Mura) 2301-02; eX-l78, at 67-73. 

150 eX-63; eX-68; eX-71; eX-74; eX-118; eX-121; eX-126; eX-l27. 

151 eX-121. 

152 eX-l27. 

153 eX-118. 

154 Hearing IT. (Huny) 1433-39. 

155 eX-131; Hearing If. (Hurry) 1433-34. 

156 eX-I78, at 140-41. 

157 eX-133; Hearing If. (Hurry) 1438-39. 

158 Hearing IT. (Huny) 1438-40. 

159 eX-I78, at 140-41; Hearing If. (D'Mura) 2301 -04; Hearing If. (Hurry) 1436-40. 
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Unicom or other particular people from the Bahamas, Panama, or Belize.16o D'Mura testified that 
Huny would ask about customers, not pruticular deposits, but he and Ruzicka did discuss with 
Huny how they were doing on specific deposits.16

! For example, in email cOlTespondence and 
telephone conversations, Ruzicka discussed with Hurry the amount of trading in at least two of 
the symbols at issue here, NHPI and VPLM. 162 

D'Mura decided to leave CSCT and the Caymrul Islands, in prut, as a result of HUlTY'S 
constant demrulds. Huny had called on a day that Ruzicka was attending a wedding as best man 
and D'Mura was working at his rented condominium instead of the office. Hunyexpressed 
aggravation that neither of them was in the office ruld spoke of "having a come to Jesus moment" 
when he anived in the Cayman Islands in a few days .163 D 'Mura then packed his bag and said 
good-bye to Ruzicka, who expressed the wish that he could leave, too. However, Ruzicka said he 
had nowhere to go and no altemative. D 'Mura left before Huny anived; Ruzicka stayed. 164 

Eventually, in October 2014, Ruzicka also left CSCT. Its business had dwindled in 
reaction to the SEC complaint in Amogear and the Bandjield indictment. 165 According to 
Ruzicka, in October 2014 Huny offered him other positions back in the United States, but 
Ruzicka concluded that he "did not want to work any long[ er] for that man," refelTing to Huny. 
Ruzicka said, "I don 't care what he offered, you know. Incremental value of that last dollar just 
was not worth it.,,166 

iii. Hurry Prospected For CSCT Customers 

CSCT did not advertise167 or engage in cold-calling to try to generate business.168 HlIlTY'S 
business plan was for CSCT to develop clients through contacts and referTals,169 but Ruzicka, 
who had no prior industry experience, had no network he could cultivate for potential customers. 

160 CX-178, at 74-77, 84-85. 

161 I-Iearing If. (D 'Mura) 2304-05. 

162 CX-132. 

163 Hearing If. (D 'Mura) 2308-09. Hwry confinl1ed that he was frustrated that Ruzicka and D'Mura were not in the 
office. Hearing If. (Hurry) 1602-03. When people called CSCI and did not get an answer, they called Alpine trying 
to find Hurry. Hearing If. (Hurry) 1622-23. 

164 Hearing If. (D 'Mura) 2306-10. 

165 Hearing If. (Cruz) 237-38. 

166 CX-l78, at 232. 

167 CX-178, at 218. In contrast, even though Scottsdale had been in business for ten years, it advertised for business. 
Hearing If. (Cruz) 116. 

168 Hearing If. (D'Mura) 2279-80. 

169 CX-160, at3; Hearing If. (Hurry) 1393. 
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Customers simply appeared seeking to establish a business relationship with CSCT. They 
were refen'ed to CS CT by Hlll1'Y or by someone at Scottsdale or Alpine. 170 Ruzicka testified at 
his OTR that he had an "express representation" that two of the FFIs involved in tins case, Titan 
and Unicom, were refened by Huny 171 Ruzicka did not know how Montage ''found'' CSCT 172 

At the hearing, Huny flatly contradicted Ruzicka's testimony that HurTY had refen'ed 
Titan and Unicom to CSCT I73 We do not credit Hurry's testimony because he gave the 
testimony only after he knew that Ruzicka would not appear at the hearing to dispute Hun-y's 
statement. To the extent that Hun), means that the refenal came from someone at Scottsdale, we 
do not regard that as proving that Hurt)' was not the ultimate source of the refenal, even if he 
made the link to CSCT through Scottsdale. HurTY had a pre-existing relationship with Titan 
while it was a direct customer of Scottsdale, 174 and he admitted talking to existing Scottsdale 
customers about llls plan to establish CSCT I75 He also admitted, as discussed below, to talking 
directly to Titan and other customers even after they became CSCT customers. 

Hun)' admits that he had at least one face-to-face meeting with Ivlontage in Panamal76 

and another face-to-face meeting with Unicom in Belize. 177 He flew to Central America in 
Janual)' 2014 for these meetings, after dropping offD'Mura on his initial visit to CSCT He did 
not take Ruzicka with him. 17S 

At the hearing, Hlll1'Y claimed not to recall discussing business with either Montage or 
Unicom during these visits. 179 Hmry claimed that he went to Montage because Ruzicka had 
asked him to evaluate a back-office system Montage was using to see if it would be suitable for 
CSCT. Hun), did not identify the nature ofthe system. He said that in the end they detennined 
that it was not suitable for CSCT. He did not explain why it was unsuitable. ISO 

We do not find HmTY's testimony with respect to Ins visit with Montage credible. 
Ruzicka was not technologically sophisticated and was too subordinate to suggest such a thing to 

170 eX-I78, at 104, 167-68. 

171 eX-l78, at 203-04. 

172 eX-l78, at 203. 

173 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1410, 1416. 

174 Hurry was listed as the registered representative and financial consultant for Iitan when it was a direct customer 
of Scottsdale. Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1413-14, 1610-12; eX-242, at 44, 48. 

175 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1401-06. 

176 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1412-13,1612-13. 

177 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1406, 1422, 1613-14. 

178 Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2300-01; Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1617-19. 

179 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1406, 1618-19. 

180 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1612-13, 1617-19. 
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Hun-y. Fmthelmore, D' Mura testified that he remembered no discussion of evaluating a back 
office system. lSI Hl11Ty's testimony was vague and lacked specificity, and, again, Huny gave his 
testimony only after it was clear that Ruzicka would not appear at the hearing. Hl11TY knew he 
would not be contradicted. 

Huny counseled Ruzicka to do business with Montage and, in particular, to do business 
with a person who was not identified in Montage documents as being connected with it. Ruzicka 
testified in his OTR that he was unclear about the role of a Montage contact with whom Huny 
spoke from time to time. When Ruzicka asked Huny about the contact, Huny said to him "Hey, 
that's fine, you can intelface with that guy. He 's part of the operation."ls2 Tlus evidence shows 
that HlllTY knew more about Montage than Ruzicka did, and that Huny was instructing Ruzicka 
with regard to customer dealings. 

Huny claimed at the hearing that he only went to Belize to meet with Cem Can at 
Unicol11 (both named defendants in the Bandfield indictment) because Ruzicka asked lum to do 
so. According to HlllTY, Ruzicka was trying to open the account and Can had requested a 
meeting with Hun)'. HlllTy said it is not uncommon for people to want to meet the owner of a 
business. 183 However, in somewhat inconsistent testimony, Huny testified that he did not recall 
discussing business during his visit with Unicol1l. 184 

Huny's hearing testimony was impeached by his OTR. In his OTR, Huny testified that 
Cem Can had asked him whether it would be better to do business with Scottsdale or CSCT. 
Huny told him that it might be quicker to go directly to Scottsdale, but there could be "holdups" 
because of potential withholding there. On the other hand, because CSCT was a QI, Huny told 
Can the "holdup" would be eliminated. ISS 

There was additional evidence that Huny discussed business with Unicol1l. In late 
January 2014, Chinique Lewis of Unicol1l sent an email to Eric Miller, Diekmrull, and Ruzicka 
asking for Huny to join a call on the processes and procedures to be used in connection with 
Unicol11 's business with CSCT and Scottsdale. She said from "our personal face to face 
conversation with Mr. Huny, I am celtain he will not mind getting on a ca11. ,,186 

With respect to the request to involve him on a call with Unicol11, Hun), testified that it 
was no more than the common desire to deal with the person at the head of an organization. IS? 

181 Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2300-0 I. 

182 eX-I 78, at 123-24. 

183 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1613-14. 

184 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1406. 

185 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1407-10, 1421-22. 

186eX_119. 

187 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1432 
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We find his explanation unconvincing. He traveled to a potential CSCT client without taking 
Ruzicka, the designated head ofCSCT, discussed that client doing business with CSCT, and was 
viewed by the client as an impOltant participant in the client's business dealings with CSCT. 

Although he denied it, HutTY provided other leads and refen-als to Ruzicka, too. In an 
email dated November 17, 2013, for example, Hurry wrote to Ruzicka, "Refen-als and Leads call 
me on them." In the email, HutTY provided a couple of names and telephone numbers. One of 
those named was an "Andrew Fanner.,,188 On November 20, 2013, Ruzicka wrote Hun-y that he 
had tried to call "Andy" at the number HUlTY had given him but the call did not go through. That 
same day HUlTY provided another telephone number. I 89 Hun-y maintained he had identified the 
people in the email to Ruzicka not as prospects or potential customers but because they knew 
FFls. 190 

HUlry revealed that, in fact, he was guiding Ruzicka's customer dealings, when he 
volunteered that Ruzicka did not in the end talk to the people HUlTY had identified in the email. 
Hurry said that he had afterward found out that they had some "issues" and had told Ruzicka, 
"Don't bother. ,,191 

D'Mura testified that while he was at CSCT Hun)' and Ruzicka met with another 
potential customer, Caledonian Securities. CSCT received over 50 Caledonian deposits 
afterward. 192 

Despite this evidence that Hun), was critical to developing CSCT's business, Hun), 
portrayed himself as offering only slight help to Ruzicka. He claimed that all he did was to 
recommend to Ruzicka that he get a book ofintemational fmancial institutions and prospect for 
cllstomers lIsing that. 193 This testimony is not credible. Since Ruzicka and D'Mura engaged in no 
cold calling, they had no use for a book to help them prospect for customers. 194 Fmthennore, 
such an approach to business promotion-cold calling people out of a book-was not likely to 
be successful. HUlTY would celtainly have known that, and he would not have been satisfied with 

188 CX-51. 

189 CX-62. 

190 Hearing Ir. 1401-04; CX-51. 

191 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1404. 

192 Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2295-97. D'Mura testified that he received the initial docwnents from Caledonian in the 
last week before he left Scottsdale and laid them out on a table to review, so he was well aware of the volwl1 e 
submitted to CSCI. Ihe Caledonian-related deposits were not passed on to Scottsdale before he left CSCI. Hearing 
Ir. (D'Mura) 2317. 

193 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1403-04. 

194 Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2279. 
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that approach to marketing CSCT. He wanted CSCT to be successful and worked hard to make it 
195 so. 

iv, Hurry Tried To Conceal His Involvement "Vith CSCT 

Both Ruzicka and D'Mura had the impression that secrecy was impoliant to Huny 
Ruzicka said that Hun), "flat told me, 'I'm going to Caymans, because that way I don't have to 
give anything to anybody. ",196 D'Mura testified that when he first flew down to the Caymans 
with HutTy, HUlTY spent time discussing with him the privacy laws of the Cayman Islands. HUlTY 
noted that some of them were criminal, not just civil. 197 In so doing, HUlTY stressed the serious 
consequences if a person failed to comply. 

Hun), denied any particular interest in secrecy.198 Hun)"s denial is not credible. We find 
that he was intensely concemed with secrecy and concealing his involvement with CSCT's 
customers and business. His concem was manifested in the following ways. 

(a) Use Of Email Address That Hid His Identity 

Hun), used an email address that hid his identity. When Ruzicka statied working at 
CSCT, he used as his work email addressgr@csct.ky. The address identified him by his initials, 
the finn by its initials, atld the Cayman Islatlds location by the last two letters. Ruzicka set up a 
similar email addressforHUlTy.usingHutTY·sfirstinitialandlastnatne:jhUlTy@csct.ky.199 

Hun), had an e)"1reme reaction to his email address . Ruzicka said that HUtTY "just 
crucified me." Hurry told Ruzicka that the address was too long, and instructed Ruzicka to 
change the individual identifier to X.200 Thus, during the relevant period Hunfs email address at 
CSCT was x@csct.ky, which did not identify Huny 

At the hearing, HUlTY repeated the same explanation for changing his email address. He 
testified that he wanted an address that was Sh011.201 

We find HUtTy's explanation to be false. He volunteered elsewhere in his testimony that 
his main email address is JHutTy@hunycom. 202 Thus, Hunfs main email address is constructed 
in the same way that Ruzicka initially constructed Hun)"s address at CSCT. If that construction 

195 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1417-18; eX-l78, at 74-75, 135-42. 

196 eX-l78, at 36. 

197 Hearing If. (D'Mura) 2259. 

198 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1361-62, 1364-65. 

199 eX-l78, at 146-47. 

200 eX-l78, at 146-47. 

201 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1459. 

202 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1426. 

35 

- 196a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:28 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:28 PM



was not too long for HlllTY'S main email address, then it was not too long for his CSCT address. 
Flllthennore, we find that the choice of x instead of an identifier such as JH was designed to 
conceal Hun)"s involvement in CSCT business and perhaps give him the possibility of denying 
that it was his address. Finally, the extreme nature of his reaction to the initial email address
making Ruzicka feel almost "crucified"-strongly suggests that Hurt)' was concemed with 
something more important than having a sholt email address. 

(b) Assertion Of Attorney-Client Privilege 

Hun), insisted on asselting the attomey-client privilege even where it was not 
appropriate. HUITY almost always marked his emails with Ruzicka as attomey-client privileged. 
He did so even when his emails simply asked Ruzicka to call him and when his emails concemed 
only floor plans and office fumiture and the like, which emails neither sought nor received nor 
reflected any legal advice.203 In contrast, Ruzicka rarely marked his emails to HUITyas 
privileged,204 even though HUITY instlUcted Ruzicka that he should mark all his email 
correspondence with Hun), as attomey-client privileged. 205 

Hun)' claimed at the hearing that he marked his emails privileged because Ruzicka 
advised him to use the privilege designation.206 That claim is not credible in light of Ruzicka's 
practice of not marking his emails with Hurry as privileged. Nor is HlllTY'S claim consistent with 
the written record that it was Hurry who instructed Ruzicka to use the privilege designation, not 
the other way around. We find that Hun'y wanted all his cOlTespondence with Ruzicka marked 
privileged because he believed that he might be able to shield that corTespondence from future 
regulatory sClUtiny or litigation discovelY Similarly, in his hearing testimony, HUITY sometimes 
used the phrase "on advice of counsel" in his answer, as though it were a talisman against more 
probing inquiry or criticism. 207 

(c) Avoiding 'Wlitten Record 

Hun), tried to avoid creating a written record. Ruzicka wrote in an email to Diekmann 
that Hurry had directed him to take a patticular deposit, specifying the symbol, SVLE. Diekmann 
forwarded the email to Hurry and DiBlasi. When Hurry saw the email, he "tore" into Ruzicka 

203 eX-48; eX-49; eX-50; eX-51; eX-52; eX-55; CX-58; eX-62; eX-63; eX-71; eX-75; eX-77; eX-78; eX-79; 
eX-83; eX-84; eX-92; eX-94; eX-I07; eX-129; eX-151. 

204 eX-53; eX-62; eX-75; eX-77; eX-79; eX-84; CX-151. 

205 eX-53 and eX-84. 

206 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1485. 

207 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1333-35. 
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"like you wouldn't believe. ,,208 HUll), told Ruzicka something to the effect of "Never put in 
writing that I am directly involved in business decisions. ,,209 

Ruzicka said that HUll), did not want any pellnanent record of his communications. 21o For 
that reason he communicated with Ruzicka primarily through FaceTime, the iPhone tool for 
video communications. HUITY called Ruzicka frequently, sometimes as many as four times in a 
day. He called early in the moming and as late as 9:30 p.m.; he called on weekends as well as 
business days. Ruzicka viewed the video calls as invasive, but HUll), told him that he used 
FaceTime because it was free .211 Notably, emails are similarly "free" communications once you 
have paid the intemet provider, and HutTy would have incurred no additional expense ifhe had 
communicated with Ruzicka by email. 

HUll), disputed Ruzicka's testimony that he did not want a written record of his 
communications with CSCT.212 However, D' Mura conftrmed that HUtTy did not want a written 
record of his involvement in CSCT business. D 'Mura testifted that HutTy expressed to him and 
Ruzicka both speciftcally and generally not to send him documents. 213 

(d) Use Of FaccTimc To Conceal Contacts With Customers 

HUll), also communicated with CSCT customers (including all tlu'ee FFIs involved in this 
case) using FaceTime, thereby concealing his contacts with them. HUll), would call Ruzicka at 
CSCT and ask Ruzicka to call a customer on CSCT's landline. ll1en Ruzicka would hold his 
iPhone nex1. to the landline telephone so that Hun-y and the customer could talk. Ruzicka did not 
paIticipate in the calls, although he had to be present to hold the telephones together. This 
maImer of conducting the telephone conversation would avoid a record that HUITY had talked to 
the customer. To the ex1.ent there was any record, it v.rould appear that HutTy had only called 
CSCT. Ruzicka testwed at his OTR that this happened roughly a dozen times and that HUlTY had 
conversations in this manner with Rohn Knowles and Kelvin Leach at Titan, Cem Can at 
Unicolll , aIld all individual at Montage. 214 

In hearing testimony, D'Mura similarly described a FaceTime conference call with 
Caledonian. CaledoniaIl was on the speaker phone in the CSCT office and HUll), was on the 
iPhone. Ruzicka would hold the telephones next to each other. D'Mura remembered at least one 

208 eX-In, at 155-61. 

209 eX-In, at 161. 

210 eX-In, at 70. 

2ll eX-178, at 67-71. 

212 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1540. 

2lJ Hearing If. (D'Mura) 2300. 

214 eX-In, at 118-27. 
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other time that such a FaceTime conference happened. 215 D'Mura believed that it was Hun)"s 
idea to conduct the calls this way.216 

Hun), does not deny that he conducted telephone calls with CSCT customers in this 
manner. However, he gives the practice an ilmocent explanation. He claims that he used the 
iPhone app because it cost less and because he found it difficult to do a conference call on his 
cell phone. He claimed that Ruzicka was a participant in the call, disputing Ruzicka's OTR 
testimony after he knew that Ruzicka would not appear at the hearing. 217 

We find HllITY'S explanation not credible. HUlTY generally did not conduct his business in 
such a frugal manner. He flew back and forth to the Cayman Islands in his own private airplane, 
and flew to Panama and Belize from there to meet with Montage and Unicom.218 He funded 
expensive offices for CSCT219 and provided Ruzicka and D'Mura with housing when they 
worked there. 22o He instructed Ruzicka to buy Hl1ll'Y a seven-seat vehicle to use while he was in 
the Cayman Islands. 221 He liked to tell people how rich he is. 222 It is unlikely that the costs 
associated with a dozen intemational telephone calls would trouble him much. 

We also find HUtTY'S asseltion that he used FaceTime because he was too technologically 
challenged to figure out how to do a conference call on his cell phone not credible. Hurry was 
technologically sophisticated enough to set up CSCT's computer network.223 He instructed 
Ruzicka on how to use PDFs and other software, and he created an elaborate Excel 
spreadsheet. 224 When he was asked whether he was aware that his use of FaceTime to speak with 
customers would conceal his involvement in a conversation with the customers, HUtTY answered 
evasively, avoiding a direct yes or no.225 

Hun)' testified that he statted using FaceTime in February 2014. 226 Coincidentally, his 
email traffic with Ruzicka and D'Mura at CSCT dropped to nearly nothing. 227 We find a 

215 Hearing If. (D'Mura) 2297-98. 

216 Hearing If. (D'Mura) 2302-03. 

217 Hearing If. (Huny) 1540-42. 

218 Hearing If. (D'Mura) 2252-58,2300-01; Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1412-13, 1613-14, 1617-19. 

219 eX-I78, at 35. 

220 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1447, 1649-51; Hearing If. (D'Mura) 2265, 2316-17. 

221 eX-58. 

212 eX-I78, at 26, 70. 

223 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1461; Hearing If. (D'Mura) 2263, 2266-68; eX-94. 

224 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1433-34; eX-l78, at 24-25; eX-77; eX-131. 

225 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1541. 

226 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1540. 

227 Resp. PH Bf. 45. 
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significant connection between the two events . HlllTY'S purposeful use of FaceTime enabled him 
to stop creating a trail of emails . 

C. The Firm's General Practice For Reviewing Deposits 

Everything that Scottsdale knew about a deposit when the Finn concluded that it could 
sell the deposited securities pursuant to the Rule 144 exemption is contained in a due diligence 
package for the deposit. 228 Generally, at the top of the package is a two-page Deposited 
Securities Checklist ("Checklist"). That is followed by various other documents, including a 
Beneficial Ownership Declaration signed by the purpolted beneficial owner of the shares 
deposited for resale by Scottsdale. 229 

Scottsdale's general process for reviewing and approving a deposit of stock certificates 
was for a person on the Rule 144 team to assemble the due diligence package, working from the 
Checklist. Then, the person who had put together the file (sometimes refelTed to as the first 
reviewer) would go to Cruz and talk with him about it. Depending on the complexity of the 
deposit, the talk could take 15 minutes to an hour. Cruz did not review every page in the file. He 
would read through the Checklist and ask questions. He might ask to see particular documents 
and conduct Google sear"ches while sitting together with the initial reviewer. 23o 

The Finn heavily depended upon the representations made in the Beneficial Ownership 
Declaration for its conclusion that the purpolted beneficial owner was not an affiliate of the 
issuer and was the person who had the economic interest in the shares on deposit. Diekmann 
initially denied that the persons signing as beneficial owners could be lying. He testified that he 
saw no reason for them to lie, and he emphasized that the document is very clear about the 
infonnation it requests. Only upon being pressed did he eventually agree that if someone were 
acting as a nominee for a secret beneficial owner one would expect them to lie.231 We find his 
testimony on this subject evasive. 

Cruz similarly focused on the fact that the Beneficial Ownership Declaration was the tool 
that the Finn used to find out who owned the shares. 232 He stressed that the Declaration was 
"unequivocal," and that the parties to the transactions understood the Finn's expectations when 
they made parallel representations regarding the person identified as the beneficial owner. 233 

When asked whether larlguage on Unicom's website offering to appoint nominee officers and 
directors would be a red flag to him, Cruz responded that it "could have been." He suggested that 
the way he would deal with that red flag would not be to seek independent verification. Rather, 

228 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1916-17. 

229 RX-l , at 1-2, 11-12, 78-79, 88-89, 158-59, 169-70; R.",{-2, at 1-2, 12-13,106-07, 117-18; RX-3, at 1-2, 11-12. 

230 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 694-96; Hearing If. (Cruz) 278. 

231 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1895-96. 

232 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 201-03 . 

233 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 202. 
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he would simply emphasize to the interested persons the impoltance of disclosure. He said that 
the Firm \-vould "reiterate and make sure they understand the purpose of our fonns and ... that 
they need to - to disclose the under! ying beneficial owner. ,,234 

Cruz testified that during the relevant period, from December 2013 tlu'ough June 30, 
2014, the Finn did not conduct a specific search for nominees .235 Diekmann testified that he 
thought the Finn 's general practice would pick up a problem with nominees, but he could not 
cite any particular procedures that were geared to do that. He said the "procedures in sum" would 
address the nominee problem. 236 Cruz confinned, hov,'ever, that the tenn "nominee" appears 
nowhere in the Finn 's policies and procedures. 23 i 

Given the complexity of the analysis required, and the high potential for interested patties 
to obfuscate and make misrepresentations, we find the Finn's general process for final approval 
inadequate. A conversation that may last fifteen minutes and not involve review of all the 
documents in the file is not enough to atlalyze the content of the representations and understatld 
whether the business transactions made sense. We also find that the Finn 's reliatlce on the 
honesty of the interested patties filling out the fOlms was umeasonable in light of the high 
potential for the use of nominees. 

We at'e concemed that the Finn's general process for revie\v and approval was so poor 
when the processing of microcap stock celtificates for resale to the public was its primary 
business . VIle are fmiher concemed because the transactions at issue here were typical of 
Scottsdale 's business . Cruz testified that the Finn 's customers typically were persons v"ho made 
loans to issuers and then sold the loans to others who then attempted to profit by exchanging 
them for shares. TIms, the Film's lack of a good process for review atld approval was not a minor 
aspect of the Finn 's business.238 

D. Transactions 

TIle Finn followed a check-the-box approach to its Rule 144 reviews, without evaluating 
and independently verifying the infonnation it gathered. TIlis approach is apparent from the 
following in-depth analysis of the three NHPI deposits. The Finn followed the same approach 
with the VPLM and ORFG deposits, which we discuss in less detail. 

234 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 307-08. 

235 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 199-202, 211-13; Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 908-10. 

236 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 922. 

237 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 666-67. 

238 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 352-53. 
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1. NHPI (Three Unicorn deposits deIived from Collins promissory note) 

a. Due Diligence Package 

i. Purported Beneficial Owners 

CSCT made three NHPI deposits. They all came from Unicom, which, in turn, purpOlted 
to act on behalf of other supposedly independent entities: Sky Walker, Inc. ("Sky Walker"), 
Swiss National Securities ("Swiss National"), and Ireland Offshore Securities ("Ireland 
Offshore"). TIle beneficial owner of Sky Walker is identified on the Checklist a<; Patrick Gentle; 
the beneficial owner of Swiss National is identified on a separate Checklist as Talal Fanni 
(apparently a misspelling, since the person signed documents as Talal Fouani); and the beneficial 
owner of It'eland Offshore is identified on the third Checklist as Jeff Cox. 239 

Each purported beneficial owner signed a Beneficial Ownership Declaration representing 
that he was not an affiliate of the issuer, that the issuer was not to his knowledge a shell, and that 
the securities were free trading, without resale restrictions under Rule 144. TIle documents were 
not witnessed or notarized. No address, telephone number or other contact infonnation was given 
for the purpOlted beneficial owner. 240 

Scottsdale did nothing to identify the purpOlted beneficial owners more specifically. 
While it did a Google search combining the name of the beneficial owner with the words 
"securities fraud" and put the fU'st page ofthe initial index of results in the due diligence 
package, it did not search for the person's name alone, or the person's name in combination with 
the name of the entity through which he acquired the shares, or the person's name along with the 
names of the issuer and issuer's principals . 241 

TIle purpose of the Google search using the name ofthe purported beneficial owner with 
the words securities fraud is unclear in light of the fact that Diekmann testified that a "hit" on 
such a search indicating that a person was engaged in some SOlt of securities fraud would be 
um-elated to beneficial ownership.242 TI1at testimony demonstrates the check-the-box attitude of 
the Finn. Diekmann was insensitive to the possibility that if a person was engaged in securities 
fraud, then the representations made by that person and others connected to a deposit could be 
false. 

As discussed beIO\.v, the three deposits shared the same origin. 

239 RX-1, at 1-2, 11-12,78-79, 88-89, 158-59, 169-70. 

240 10\:_1, at 11-12, 88-89, 169-70. 

241 10\:-1 , at 67, 152, 223. The Finn misspelled Fouani's name when it did the Google search, illustrating its careless 
approach to conducting due diligence. 10\:-1 , at 67. 

242 Hearing Tf. (Diekmann) 927. 
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ii. Prior Holder Transaction 

The Checklists for the Sky Walker, Swiss National, and Ireland Offshore deposits state 
that the issuer, NHPI, gave a $10,000 promissory note dated May 1,2012, to someone named 
11lOmas Collins. Each NHPI depositor purports to tack back its holding period to that date and 
that note. 243 

A copy of the May 2012 promissory note is included with the Sky Walker and Ireland 
Offshore deposits. The note was due and payable no later than July 1, 2012. It provided that if 
NHPI did not pay the note by the due date, Collins would have the right to convert the debt into 
common shares. No address or contact information is given for the company or for Collins. 
Although the note provided that Collins would have a right of conversion upon the company's 
default, it contained no provision for either party to give notice to the other in the event of a 
default. The signatures for NHPI and Collins were not witnessed or notarized. 244 

According to the attomey opinion in the due diligence package, the May 2012 note was 
the company's promise to pay Collins a fee for services. 245 The unaudited financial statements in 
the due diligence package similarly indicated that the note was for consulting services. 246 

With respect to Collins' identity and possible connection to the issuer, the due diligence 
package contains a statement signed by Collins declaring that he had never been an affiliate of 
the issuer. Again, the statement is not witnessed or notarized, and no contact information is 

'd d 247 prOVl e . 

The issuer did provide the stock transfer agent with an address for Collins when it 
instructed the transfer agent to issue new unrestricted shares to him, as reflected in the 
instructions to the transfer agent, which are in the due diligence package. Collins had a Texas 
address. 248 Also in the due diligence package is the transfer agent's list of shareholders, which 
showed that all active shareholders ofNHPI had U.S. addresses. 249 

Scottsdale did not nm a Google search on Collins using the address contained in the due 
diligence package. Nor did it search to see whether Collins had any links to the other persons on 
the NHPI shareholder list. Rather, it ran a Google search linking Collins' name to the words 
"securities fraud." Apparently, a person named Thomas Collins had been involved in a securities 
fi-aud, but the Finn obtained an SEC litigation release indicating that that person had died prior to 

243 RX-I, at I , 78,158 . 

244RX_I,atlO6,183. 

245 RX-I, at 22, lOl , 178. 

246 RX-I , at 40, 122, 198. 

247 RX-l, at 25. 

248 RX_I , at31. 

2'19 R-'<-I, at 37. 
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1997. The Finn never detennined the identity of the patticular Thomas Collins involved in the 
NHPI deposits . 250 

iii. Acquisition Of Shares By Depositors 

Collins gave Sky Walker, Swiss National, and Ireland Offshore each a separate $50,000 
note dated September 1,2013 . The notes were to be paid in full by November 7,2013. The notes 
specified that in the event of a default the entire sum would become due. 251 Each note was 
ostensibly secured by a Stock Pledge Agreement pledging 20 million shares ofNHPI,252 which, 
at the time, Collins did not own. TIlese notes, like the note between Collins and NHPI, contain 
no address or contact infOlmation for any patty atId no provision for either palty to give notice to 
the other in the event of a default. TIley are neither witnessed nor notarized. 253 

TIle next items in the chronology at°e tlu'ee Note Satisfaction Agreements dated 
September 16, 2013. These three identical Agreements indicate that Collins had already 
defaulted on the $50,000 note, although the due date was not until November 7,2013. Each 
depositor declared a desire to take title to the NHPI shares described in the pledge agreement. 254 
TIle Securities Deposit Pre-Review Request Unicom submitted for Swiss National likewise gives 
September 16, 2013, as the date of acquisition, refelTing to the Note Satisfaction Agreement,255 
as does the Deposited Securities Request FOlm submitted for Ireland Offshore. 256 

On November 15, 2013, more than a year after the due date f01' the May 2012 note, the 
issuer and Collins purportedly entered into a note conversion agreement whereby Collins agreed 
to forgive 90% oftlle note in return for 90 million shares ofNHPI. 257 The Note Conversion 
Agreement included in the due diligence package, like the May 2012 promissory note, contains 
no address or contact infonnation for the company or for Collins and is not witnessed or 
notarized. The Note Conversion Agreement does not explain why the conversion occurred so 

250 10,\_1 , at 57-58. 

251 10'\-1, at 32, 112, 190. 

252 RX-l, at 113-16, 191-94. 

253 10'\-1 , at 32, 112, 190. 

254 RX-I , at 33, 117, 195. 

255 RX-I , at 13. 

256 RX-l, at 161. Other docwnents give conflicting, later dates as the acquisition date. Some documents represent 
that the three depositors acquired the securities on Novem ber 25, 2013, pursuant to a Stock Purchase Agreement. 
10'\-1, at II , 19, 88, 98, 169. However, the due diligence package for NHPI contains no Stock Purchase Agreement. 
Another docwnent says that the acquisition date was Novem ber 15, 2013, the same date that Collins entered into the 
Note Conversion Agreement ancl the shares were issued to him . RX-I, at 81. The Firm did not resolve the 
discrepancy between the September acquisition clate ancl the November acquisition clates before selling the 
securities. 

257 10,\_1, at I, 78, 158. 
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long after the default or how the remaining unpaid 10% of the May 2012 promissory note was to 
be treated. 258 

NHPI issued the 90 million shares to Collins on November 15,2013, the same day as the 
. 259 note conversion agreement. 

Although the exact date that Collins assigned the shares to the three beneficial owners is 
not clear, it was at most a few days after NHPI issued the shares to Collins . 11ms, the transaction 
between the issuer and Collins, the issuance of the stock, and the transactions between Collins 
and the three purpolted beneficial owner entities all happened almost simultaneously. 

Although the transactions happened almost simultaneously, the value given to the shares 
differed substantially. 111ere is no evidence of a corporate event or other explanation for the 
variance. In retul11 for forgiving a debt of $9,000, Collins obtained 90 million shares, but each 
beneficial owner entity forgave a debt of $50,000 for its 20 million shares . No money actually 
changed hands in these transactions. 

iv. Issuer Filings 

Although NHPI had once been a repOlting company with the SEC, it stopped being a 
repolting company in 2009 . After that it made less frequent and less regular filings on OTC 
Markets. 26o On November 20, 2013, a few days after the NHPI shares were issued and around 
the time that Sky Walker, Swiss National, and Ireland Offshore acquired the shares, the issuer 
filed an ammal rep0l1 for the year ending December 31,2012. 261 In the November 20,2013 
repolt, NHPI mainly discussed its phat111aceutical business atld then stated in a single sentence 
that it had entered into the oil and gas business . It declared that fUlther disclosure related to the 
oil and gas business was in atl Interim Infonnation and Disclosure Statement for the period 
ended November 20, 2013. 262 

In the annual repolt filed on November 20, 2013, notes to unaudited financial statements 
declared that NHPI had given Collins a promissory note for unspecified consulting services.263 

Scottsdale relied upon this disclosure to verify the existence of the May 1,2012 promissory note, 
which was critical to the ability of the beneficial owners to sell the securities without registration. 

258 R.,"'\:-I , at 26-28, 106-09, 184-86. 

259 RX-I , at 29. 

260 Hearing Ir. (Byrne) 2069-75 ; CX-255; CX-256; CX-260; CX-261 ; R.,"'\:-I, at 130. 

261 CX-256. Diekmann testified that it appeared that the company had had a gap in its reporting prior to its 
November 2013 filing. Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 939. However, he did not believe that such a gap would be 
suspicious, even if it were as long as two-and-a-half years. Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1011 -13. 

262 CX-256, at 4. One page from the Interim Information and Disclosure Statement was in the due diligence package 
for the NHPI deposits. But that page did not contain the disclosure relating to the oil and gas business. R.,"'\:-I at 39. 

263 R.,",\:-I , at 40. 
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TIle only evidence that the note existed, however, was created about the same time as the 
transactions leading up to the sale of securities into the public markets . 

In order to determine that NHPI was not a shell, Scottsdale relied on the representation by 
the president ofNHPIthat it was not a shell. 264 It also relied on descriptions of the company's 
assets and liabilities in unaudited financial statements contained in the annual report filed in 
November 2013 and in a quatterl y rep01t filed about the same time to cover the period ending 
June 30, 2012. However, those descriptions were vague; they showed mostly unspecific cash 
assets, not physical assets. In the annual rep01t, for example, the company reported that it had 
less than $28,000 in a checking account, accounts receivable over $600,000, unspecified 
inventory over $70,000, and investment assets over $750,000. TIle financial statements also 
show that the issuer had inclllTed some expenses. The financial statements do not provide, 
however, any indication of the nature of the expenses or the business activities that supposedly 
gave rise to them. TIle issuer disclosed no verifiable facts. 265 

TIle company's public filings created a significant discrepancy between the disclosure in 
those filings and the NHPI deposits . TIle interim financial rep01t for the period ending November 
20, 20l3, states that 981,408,909 shat'es were outstanding, of which 970,326,182 were 
restricted. 266 TIlat means that only around 11 million shares were free-trading shares. But the 
tlu-ee depositors deposited 60 million for resale to the public. There is no evidence that the Finn 
investigated this discrepancy. 

v. Attomey Opinion Letter 

The Finn relied upon an attomey opinion letter stating that the shares could be issued as 
free trading shares and sold pursuant to Rule 144. However, that opinion made plain that the 
attomey relied on certifications by the principal officers ofNHPI. TIle attomey assumed that all 
signatures were genuine and the facts set f01th in the celtificates were cOlTect. 267 TIle attomey 
relied on the company's filings for his conclusion that the company was actively marketing its 
phannaceutical products and exploring one or more strategic alliances and licensing 
alTangements .268 Similarly, the attomey relied on company filings as showing that NHPI was 
actively pursuing the acquisition of mineral rights leases. 269 The attomey did not independently 
verify the facts in his opinion letter. 

264 RX-I, at 24. 

265 RX-I , at 38-40. 

266 RX-I , at 43 . 

267 RX-I , at 20. 

268 R'X-l , at 21. 

269 RX- I, at 21. 
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vi. Scottsdale Approval And Sales 

During the first week of February 2014, Noiman and Cruz approved the first NHPI 
deposit, Sky Walker, for resale by Scottsdale. At the time, the 20 million shares were given an 
estimated value of $268,000.270 Noiman and Cruz approved the Swiss National NHPI deposit on 
April 9, 2014, which \vas given a value of $98,000. 271 They approved the Ireland Offshore NHPI 
deposit at the end of April 2014 with a given value of $82,000.272 

Sales ofNHPI shares began on February 26, 2014, and continued through May 7,2014. 
Periodically, Scottsdale would wire out the proceeds of the sales ofNHPI and other securities in 
the CSCT account. 273 As with all transactions conducted with CSCT and its customers, after 
Scottsdale wired the proceeds of the sales to CSCT's bank account, Scottsdale did not know 
where the funds flowed after that. 274 Thus, it did not knO\v who received the economic benefit. 

vii. Promotional Activity 

In December 2013 , not long after the series of transactions by which the purpOlted 
beneficial owners acquired their shares ofNHPI, there was promotional activity regarding NHPI, 
as reflected in the due diligence file for the NHPI deposits. Diekmaml testified that he would 
have looked at the promotional activity but he did not recall doing so. He asselted that 
promotional activity was not necessarily a red flag, but that he might try to see if there was a link 
to the customer. He acknowledged, hovirever, that it would be difficult to know if a customer was 
behind the promotion if a nominee were being used. 275 

In February and March 2014, there also was promotional activity regarding NHPI. 276 In a 
February 19, 2014 email , Ruzicka wrote to Diekmann that Unicol11 was patticuiarly eager to 
trade NHPI. Diekmatm did not remember the email, and did not think it palticularly remarkable. 
He said that no customer wants "to miss an 0ppoltunity to trade. ,,277 Scottsdale sold NHPI shares 
deposited by CSCT during February and March 2014, when the promotional activity was 

. 278 ongolllg. 

270 RX-I , at 78-79 (Sky Walker). 

271 R..,'<-I, at 1-2. 

271 R..X-I, at 158-59. 

273 JX-268 . 

274 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 661-62. 

275 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1014-16; R..,'<-I, at 132-33; CX-262, at 6. 

276 CX-262, at 2-5; CX-263. 

277 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 1016-18. 

278 JX-268. 
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b. Red Flags Signifying A Scheme To Evade The Securities Laws 

Even aside from the fact that the May 2012 promissory note was not a security, as 
discussed below, the circumstances of the tlu"ee NHPI deposits raised a number of red flags 
signaling that the transactions were likely sham transactions using nominees to conceal the 
identity of the persons actually benefiting from the sale of securities. Some, but not all , of the red 
flags are listed below. 

First, Collins and NHPI entered the agreement to convelt the note he held from the 
company to shares-and NHPI issued the shares-almost simultaneously with his execution of 
three separate agreements to transfer a pOltion of those shares to Sky Walker, Swiss National, 
and Ireland Offshore. The almost simultaneous transactions are compelling evidence that the 
patties were not truly independent. The suspect nature ofthe transactions is heightened by the 
identical tenns of the notes to Sky Walker, Swiss National, and Ireland Offshore. 

Respondents attempted to rebut any suspicion arising from the timing and identical tenns 
of the Sky Walker, Swiss National, and Ireland Offshore transactions. Diekmann testified that he 
assumed that one person had put together the 10atl transactions for Collins, and that was why the 
three entities had agreed with Collins to the same loan telms. He acknowledged that he did not 
know who that person might be, but he did not think it was a red flag that Sky Walker, Swiss 
National, and Ireland Offshore agreed to the same tenns or that the satne documents were used 
for the three loan transactions. 279 We find that Diekmann 's unverified hypothesis did not excuse 
the failure to investigate this red flag. 

Second, Collins entered into the agreement with the three depositors, along with the 
agreement pledging NHPI shares as security, before he actually had any shares. However, he 
represented in the pledge agreement that he held title to them already. It should have been a 
concern that Collins apparently misrepresented his ownership. It also is suspicious that the 
depositors would loan him $50,000 each without verifying that he owned the shares . It is even 
more suspicious that Collins would take on a $150,000 obligation without knowing whether he 
could obtain the shat"es . TIle facts SUppOlt the conclusion that Collins entered into the agreement 
with the depositors because he (or whoever was pretending to be Collins) was affiliated with the 
issuer and knew that the shares could be obtained. FUlther investigation was required before 
proceeding to sell the securities . 

Third, the documents relating to the NHPI transactions in 2012 lack impoltant elements 
that would pelmit verification. For example, the 2012 Collins-NHPI promissory note bears no 
physical address, telephone number, or other contact information for Collins or NHPI. Similarly, 
the documents relating to the loan notes Collins gave the three depositors do not include any 
contact information for Collins or for the depositors. The lack of contact infonnation is odd 
because there is no provision for where and how payment should be made. It is almost as though 
there is no expectation of payment. 

279 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 1699-1700. 
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Fou.rth, the obviously impossible September date declaring Collins in default on the notes 
held by the depositors-even before the notes became due on November 7, 20 13-should have 
been investigated. TIle fact that the identical mistake was made in three separate documents 
supposedly involving independent par1ies is suspicious. If the par1ies were independent, one 
would have expected someone to notice the mistake. TIlat is par1icularly so where the erTor was 
not a transposition of numbers but, rather, an incorTect month. TIle en'or would have been easier 
to spot. 

Diekmann testified that the September 16, 2013 date on the note satisfaction agreement 
had to be a typographical erTOr. "In all likelihood," he said, '"that's supposed to read November 
16, 2013.,,280 When asked about the fact that the same elTor appears in all three note satisfaction 
agreements signed by Sky Walker, Swiss National , and Ireland Offshore, Diekmann said that 
wa's not surprising. He noted that the agreements were all executed the same day, and 
hypothesized that someone must have done a search and replace function to change the words 
without noticing the mistake. 281 Cruz similarly explained the date as a typographical erTOr. He 
testified that even though the same mistake OCCUlTed in connection with the documentation for 
i dl .. I . ?8? t lree purp0l1e y separate transactIons rt gave 11m no pause. - -

Between hearing days, Respondents obtained a copy of the relevant stock cer1ificate, 
which was then introduced into evidence. It showed a transfer date of November 21 , 2013. TIley 
argue that this proves that the September date was a typographical elTor. 283 

Respondents miss the point. Nothing in the due diligence package shows that the Finn 
noticed or investigated the discrepancy before selling the securities. FUl1hennore, if the 
September date was a typographical en'or generated by a search and replace function in 
documents goveming supposedly independent transactions, that only increases the appearance of 
coordination among the par1ies to those trarlsactions. 

Fifth, Diekmann admitted that there was no evidence contemporaneous with the May 
2012 note to show that the note existed. 284 TIle only evidence that the 2012 promissory note from 
NHPI to Collins existed was created after Collins purp0l1ed to convert the note to NHPI shares. 
Rather than confir1l1ing the existence of the note, the timing of the late filing suggests the 
fabrication of false evidence to suppor1 the tacking period necessary for the exemption. 

Sixth, it is peculiar that Collins did not enforce his right to conversion of the shares at the 
time ifNHPI defaulted in July 2012 on the $10,000 promissory note. There is no expiarlation 
why he would have waited more tharl a year'-until November 20 13-to do so. 

280 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 949,1835-37. 

281 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 949-52, 956. 

282 Hearing If. (Cruz) 365-66, 390-98. 

283 RX-115; Resp. PH Br. 15. 

284 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 939. 
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Seventh, there were signs that NHPI was a shell. TIle change from being in the 
phannaceutical business to entering the oil and gas business, without any explanation for why, 
when, and how it had done so, was not consistent with a real business plan. TIle Finn collected 
no infonnation regarding the change in business, and the attomey opinion letter, which relied on 
representations by the interested parties and assumed the asserted facts to be true, was not a 
sufficient basis for concluding that NHPI \:vas not a shell. 

Respondents maintained that the oil and gas business \-vas added to NHPI's 
phannaceutical business as a "supplement" to its business line. 285 We reject tIllS characterization. 
TIlese were radically different businesses that involved different expertise and different business 
models. 

Eighth, the transactions have an air of fantasy. Collins supposedly took the $10,000 note 
in exchange for unspecified consulting services-no money changed hands. And then he took 
shares in return for forgiving the note-no money changed hands. When Collins supposedly 
bOlTowed $50,000 each from Sky Walker, Swiss National, and Ireland Offshore, nothing in the 
documents provided how, when, or where he would receive the money. TIlere is no evidence that 
any money changed hands then either. Collins merely entered into a promissory note with each 
purported lender in which he pledged to give them stock if he defaulted; and then he defaulted. 
No money changed hands when Sky Walker, Swiss National, and Ireland Offshore took the 

?86 pledged shares.-

Ninth, there is little evidence to support the value given to the NHPI securities. Within 
the span of a few months the value ofNHPI shares varied substantially without any explanation. 
In November 2013, Collins received 90 million shares in retum for forgiving $9,000 of his loan 
to NHPI. Simultaneously, he realized $150,000 for 60 million of those shares. By early Febl1lary 
2014, the 20 million shares in the Sky Walker deposit were estimated to have a value of 
$268,000. TIl ere is no evidence of a basis for the increase in value. Then, in April 2014 the value 
of the shares held by Swiss National and Ireland Offshore declined to less than $lOO,OOO-again, 
without explanation. TIlis is particularly suspicious in light of the promotional activity that 
OCCUlTed in February and March 2014. 

285 Resp. PH Br. 16 and n.80. 

286 Diekmann testified that the only evidence the Firm had that the September 1, 2013 notes between Collins and the 
three depositors existed was the notes themselves. He never asked for documentation showing that $50,000 actually 
was transferred from Sky Walker to Collins. He was satisfied that the docwnent looked like a loan to an individual 
and not an effort by a small company to raise capital. Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 943-45. 
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2. VPLM (Montage deposit derived frol11 Kippiug oral line of credit) 

a. Due Diligence Package 

i. Purported Beneficial Owner 

TIlere was evidence in the record about two VPLM deposits by CSCT. TIle one included 
in the allegations of the Complaint was through Montage for the fmther benefit of VHB 
Intemational. The Checklist identifies Victor Bretel as the president of VHB Intemational. The 
deposit ,vas for 9.3 million shares.287 

ii. Prior Holder Transaction 

In the Montage deposit, the prior holder in the VPLM chain was an entity called 
Locksmith Financial. The Checklist noted that Locksmith Financial was affiliated with Richard 
Kipping, who was the former president of VPLM. TIle Checklist stated, however, that Kipping 
was no longer an affiliate of the issuer because he had resigned more than two years earlier. 2SS 

In concluding that Kipping was not an affiliate, the Checklist relied on an attomey 
opinion dated September 6, 2013, stating that Kipping had resigned more than two years 
before .289 As discussed below, that attomey opinion 'Nas insufficient to SUppOlt the conclusion 
that Kipping was no longer an affiliate of VPLM. Cruz testified at the hearing that the Fin11 also 
relied on a December 16, 2013 letter signed by VPLM's Chain11an, Thomas Sawyer, which 
made a representation that Locksmith was not an affiliate of the issuer. 29o TIle Sawyer letter 
declared that the patties to the sale of securities from Locksmith to VHB Intemational (discussed 
below) were not affiliates of the issuer. 291 

TIle Checklist for the VPLM deposit indicated that the depositor had satisfied the Rule 
144 holding period by tacking back to a "verbal [oral] line of credit" whereby the prior holder, 
Locksmith, had loaned the issuer, VPLM, $58,636.24. TIle Checklist stated that the last advance 
on the line of credit was made July 6, 2012. 292 

An August 15, 2013 written agreement purpolted to document and f0l111alize the oral line 
of credit. According to the 2013 document, Locksmith agreed in 2012 to advance funds as loans 

287 R.,,'<-2, at 1. 

288 RX-2, at 1, 268. 

289 RX-2, at 1, 19-2l. 

290 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 441. 

291 R.,,'<-2, at 23-24. 

292 RX-2, at 1. 
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against a revolving line of credit and had received the right to demand payment in full or in patt 
. ?93 at any tune.-

On the same day, August 15, 20 l3, a debt settlement agreement was executed between 
the issuer and Locksmith. In that document, the issuer indicated that it wanted to settle the 
amount it owed Locksmith by giving stock to Locksmith. The parties agreed to settle the 
company's $58,636.24 debt as of July 31, 2012.294 

Although VPLM did not issue the shares to Locksmith until September 2013,295 the 
Beneficial Ownership Declat'ation later signed by Bretel treated the date on which Locksmith 
acquired the shares as August 1, 2012. 296 The depositor thus relied on tacking his holding period 
to Locksmith's oral line of credit. 

iii. Acquisition Of Shares By Depositor 

On August 23, 20 l3, Locksmith entered into a stock purchase agreement with VHB 
Intell1ational. It was roughly a week after Locksmith had memorialized the purported oral line of 
credit and before the shares were actually issued. The aggregate purchase price for the stock was 
$240,000.297 There is no evidence explaining why Locksmith was able to sell the shares for more 
than four times the value placed on the shares when Locksmith and the issuer entered into the 
debt settlement agreement only days before. 298 111e buyer, VHB Intell1ational, purported to 
acquire the shares for investment and not with a view to resale or distribution. 299 

Although Victor Bretel was identified as the beneficial owner ofVHB hltell1ational, 
Andrew Godfrey signed the Stock Purchase Agreement.30o The Finn made an inquiry, and 
Montage responded that Godfrey "handles day to day operations due to Mr. Victor Bretel's 
travel schedule." Montage represented that Bretel remained the beneficial owner of VHB 
International. 301 Diekmatm testified that the response was, as far as he was concerned, 
sufficient. 302 

29J Rt'C-2, at 26-27. 

294 Rt'C-2, at 28. 

295 Rt'C-2, at 12. 

296 Rt'C-2, at 13. 

297 RX-2, at 33. 

298 RX-2, at 32. 

299 Rt'C-2, at 35. 

JOO Rt'C-2, at 37. 

JOl Rt'C-2, at 38. 

J02 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1744-45. 

51 

- 212a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:28 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:28 PM



iv, Issuer Filings 

The Finn relied on public filings for proof of the existence of the oral line of credit. TIle 
Fiml characterized the oral line of credit as "generally disclosed" in the issuer's annual repOli for 
September 30, 2012. 303 The annual report for the period ending September 30, 2013, which was 
only published on November 6,20 13-after the oral line of credit had been memorialized in 
writing- attached a grid showing that the issuer had settled many of its debts and payments for 
professional services by issuing VPLM stock. According to the grid, on August 15, 2013, VPLM 
issued a little over 29.3 million shares to Locksmith Financial as a debt settlement. 304 

The grid actually raised more red flags . It showed that the company regularly followed a 
practice of compensating affiliates and others with stock. During the period from October 12, 
2011 , through August 15,2013, VPLM issued shares to Locksmith three times and shares to 
Locksmith's owner, the fonner president of VPLM, Richard Kipping twice. Thus, during the 
two-year period, Kipping received, either directly or through Locksmith, roughly 80 million 
shares of VPUvI. In fact , according to the grid, during the same period the company issued more 
than 185 million shares to various persons and entities, including Delmis Chang, the issuer's 
president, rnlOmas Sawyer, its Chainnan and CEO, and Carl Mattera, an authorized signatory for 
the issuer. 305 

Curiously, in May 2013 VHB Intemational received directly from the issuer 
approximately 2.4 million shares of VPLM. Tins was only a few months before it received the 29 
million shares from Locksmith Financia1. 306 That VHB had already received shares directly from 
the issuer raised a red flag that it might be an affiliate or might be coordinating its acquisition 
and resales of shares with others who were affiliates . There is no evidence that Scottsdale took 
note of that red flag. 

v, Scottsdale Approval And Sales 

On February 10, 2014, Noiman and Cruz approved the VPLM shares deposited by VHB 
Intemational for sale to the public. 307 Sales began on February 20, 2014, and continued through 
June 5, 2014. Periodically, Scottsdale wired out the proceeds from those and other sales for the 
account of CS CT. 308 

303 RX-2, at I. 

304 10'<:-2, at 40. 

305 10'<:_2, at 40 (excluding an additional 265 million shares issued to consummate an acquisition of another 
company) . 

306 RX-2, at 40. 

307 R-X-2, at 2. 

308 JX-2Sl. 
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b. Red Flags Signifying A Scheme To Evade The Securities Laws 

A number of red flags were raised by this VPLM deposit. Here we discuss two that 
required the Finn to conduct fmther inquiry to establish that an exemption existed. 

First, the Finn knew that Kipping had been an affiliate of the issuer at some point. This 
red flag required heightened scrutiny of the transaction. The Finn failed, however, to gather 
sufficient evidence to conclude that Kipping \-vas no longer an affiliate. 

There is no copy of a resignation letter in the due diligence package. Scottsdale did not 
even have a specific resignation date. It had a vague statement in a legal opinion that Kipping 
had resigned from the issuer over two years before. The attol11ey declared that she had reviewed 
documents filed with the SEC and had dete1111ined that Locksmith was not an affiliate or control 
person of the issuer, but she did not specify the documents she reviewed or explain how she 
alTived at her conclusion. She did not say she had seen the resignation letter. The attol11ey fUlther 
stated that Locksmith and Kipping had represented to her that they were not controlled by any of 
the officers or directors ofthe issuer. In making that statement, the attol11ey was little more than 
a conduit for representations by the interested palties .309 Diekmann was unaware of anything that 
anyone at Scottsdale did to conf1l1n that Kipping no longer had any duties as president of the 
issuer. 310 

Cruz vaguely testified that he thought the Film had some SOlt of resignation or 
acknowledgement of Kipping's resignation in the file .311 Cruz may have been refen'ing to the 
December 16, 2013 letter from VPLM's Chaitman, \vhich represented that none of the parties to 
the sale of the securities to VHB Intemational had been an affiliate of the company within 90 
days of the sale.312 TI1at bare representation provides no detail whatever. It does not indicate 
when Kipping might have resigned as an officer of VPLM or provide any other verifiable fact. 
For purposes of ensuring that an issuer is not behind a chain of transactions designed to effect a 
public distribution without registration, a representation by a principal of the issuer must be 
viewed more skeptically. 

Even more impOitant, from the outset, Scottsdale had affilmative evidence in its due 
diligence package indicating that Kipping might be affiliated with the issuer regardless of 
whether he had resigned as president. Under Rule 144, if Locksmith and Kipping held 10% or 
more of the issuer, they would be affiliates for purposes ofthe exemption. TIle grid showed that 
Kipping, either directly or through Locksmith, had received 80,318,000 shares ofVPLM 
between October 2011 and August 2013. 313 The total outstanding shares of the company at the 

309 R..,,\-2, at 19-21. 

310 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 1719-20. 

311 Hearing If. (Cruz) 440-41. 

312 R..,,\-2, at 23-24. 

313 R..,,\-2, at 40. 
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time that Scottsdale evaluated the deposit were 730,460,237.314 Thus, Kipping and Locksmith 
received at least a 10.996% ownership interest in VPLM and Kipping could have been an 
affiliate regardless of whether he was still an officer of the company. 

TI1ere were other signs that Kipping could have been an affiliate . In the due diligence file 
is the first page of results from a Google search for "Richard Kipping + securities fraud." One of 
the results dated May 15, 2013, contains a fragment of content apparently refelTing to VPUvL 
TI1at fragment says, "So Richard Kipping still has personal interest in this pelUlY scam. ,,315 

Another entry dated May 7,2013, also refers to VPLM and says, "TIle next few days will show 
if the stock can keep its unprecedented . .. in fraud look at the shareholders Richard kip ping 
pretty much owns the . . . ,,316 TI1e Google search page was filed in the package, apparently 
without anyone looking at the full stories conceming Kipping or following up on his ownership 
of VPLM shares . 

If Scottsdale had conducted fUl1her due diligence, it might have discovered that Kipping 
was indeed an affiliate of VPLM. During the relevant period, the Board of Directors of VPLM 
ordered a review of Kipping and Locksmith 's debt conversions to VPLM stock. TIle resulting 
"forensic audit" dated June 5, 2014, described Kipping as a director and shareholder of VPLM. It 
indicated that, at the time of the August 15,2013 stock conversion that was the basis for tacking 
VHB Intemational's holding period, Kipping had executive responsibilities at both VPLM and 
Locksmith, including check signing privileges at VPLM. 

TIle accountant who perfolmed the forensic audit opined that many aspects of the August 
15, 2013 agreement purpolting to memorialize the earlier oral line of credit were problematic. 
Many of the items that appeared to him to indicate that the arrangement was not a true arms
length transaction were facts known to Scottsdale at the time it approved the sale of VHB 
Intemational's shares based on tacking to the oral line of credit. Among other things, the 
accountant noted that the written memorialization was a year after the purpol1ed oral line of 
credit. He also noted that the stock for debt agreement did not specify any pal1icular tenns for the 
conversion, and he viewed Locksmith's right to demand payment in full or pat1 at any time as 
onerous.317 

TIle forensic audit illustrates that an objective analysis of the facts known to Scottsdale 
would raise strong doubt that Kipping was independent ofVPLM at the time of the August 15, 
2013 agreement and stock conversion. 

Second, the grid attached to the November 2013 public filing shows that the issuer had a 
pattem of paying for services and its business expenses ""ith stock. It iss ued much of this stock to 

314 RX-2, at 1. 

315 10'C-2, at 95 . 

316 RX-2, at 95. 

317 RX-292, at 6-7. 
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company insiders .318 TIle pattem suggests that the issuer may have substituted the issuance of 
stock for compensation to insiders and business partners, leaving them to realize any monetary 
benefit by selling the stock to others . TIle constant flow of new issuer stock looks like a two-step 
process for unlawfully distributing securities into the public marketplace without registration. 

TIlis pattem is particularly troubling because all three parties in the chain of holders for 
the deposit-Kipping, Locksmith, and VHB Intemational-were on the list of persons and 
entities that had convelted debt to shares .319 TIlis was a red flag that they and the issuer could be 
coordinating. "TIle Finn should have fUlther investigated before concluding that the transaction 
was exempt under Rule 144. 

3. VPLM (Titan deposit derived from Kipping and Locksmith through 
the Lees) 

a. Due Diligence Package 

i. Purported Beneficial Owner 

CSCT deposited another 13 million shares of VPLM for the benefit of Titan and for the 
nllther benefit of Cumbre Company. The Checklist identified Patrick Gentle as the ultimate 
beneficial owner of Cumbre and the VPUvi stock. 320 

We discuss the evidence regarding this transaction as evidence of other similar conduct 
for purposes of sanctions and as additional evidence that CSCT was no more than a fayade . 
Scottsdale continued to deal directly with the FFI and to ignore CSCT. 

ii. Plior Holder Transactions 

This is the one transaction that was not derived from the conversion of a debt liability 
into shares. However, it also traces back to Kipping and Locksmith in a chain of holders. 

TIle Checklist identified two prior holders, Jung Ju Lee and Soon Deuk (Kang) Lee. 321 

Jung Ju Lee acquired l.S million shares by a Stock Purchase Agreement dated June 12, 2012, 
from Richard Kipping. In that Stock Purchase Agreement, Kipping represented that he was not 
an affiliate of the issuer and had not been an affiliate at least for the previous 90 days. An 
attachment to the Stock Purchase Agreement indicated that Lee paid Kipping $13,000 for the 
shares. A copy of a check written to Locksmith for $13,000 was attached. It appears to be written 
by Brooks K-9 Services Ltd., but it bears a notation saying "re VPLM celis. " 322 Nothing in the 

318 Rt'<-2, at 40. 

319 RX-2, at 40. 

320 RX-2, at 106. 

321 Rt'<-2, at 106. 

322 Rt'<-2, at 126-29. 
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due diligence package explains the connection between Brooks K-9 Services and Lee or the 
nature of Brooks K-9 Services. 

Jung Ju Lee acquired another 500,000 shares for $5,000 from Locksmith Financial 
pursuant to a Stock Purchase Agreement dated October 19, 2012. Locksmith made the same 
representation that it was not an affiliate of the issuer. Kipping signed on behalf of Locksmith. 
Another check from Brooks K-9 Services Ltd. was attached. 323 

Soon Deuk (Kang) Lee acquired three million shares of VPLM from Locksmith by a 
Stock Purchase Agreement dated August 1, 2012, for $20,000. Locksmith represented that it ,vas 
not an affiliate of the issuer. Kipping signed on behalf of Locksmith. 324 

iii. Acquisition Of Shares By Depositor 

Cumbre acquired five million shares ofVPLM from Soon Deuk (Kang) Lee on January 
10, 2014. 325 In a separate document written to Cumbre, Lee confilmed receipt of $60,000 for the 
shares. 326 On January 13,2014, in a separate document, Jung Ju Lee similarly confinned receipt 
of $20,000 for 500,000 shares ofVPLM.327 

iv. Scottsdale Approval 

On May 29,2014, Noiman and Cruz signed the Checklist approving the shares ofVPLM 
for sale.328 

v. Blackout Period On Trading VPLM Shares 

On June 5,2014, Thomas Sawyer, the ChaUTIlan of the Board of Directors of VPLM, sent 
Titan by email a signed declaration notifyulg it ofa blackout period statiing June 6, 2014, on 
trading VPLM stock by celiain "covered persons." Covered persons were defined to include 
dU'ectors, officers, and holders of 10% or more of the company's outstanding shares, among 
others. Richard Kipping (and his assigns) and Locksmith were on the list of covered persons. So 
was VHB Intemational. The list also included FFls and broker-dealers. Montage, Titan, Alpine, 
and Scottsdale were all on the list. 329 Noiman discussed the blackout notice with Titan and 
requested a copy.330 

J23 10'\-2, at 136-39. 

324 10'\-2, at 147-49. 

325 10'\-2, at 160. 

326 RX-2, at 155. 

327 RX-2, at 145. 

328 RX-2, at 107. 

329 CX-294. 

330 10'\-104. 
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On June 6, 2014, a lawyer named David Wise, who had often done work for Scottsdale, 
wrote an email to Sawyer claiming to represent unnamed clients on the covered-person list and 
tlu'eatening to sue Sawyer and others for "slow[ing] down or prevent[ing] the transfer of shares 
by my clients." 'Vise called the blackout notice an attempt to prevent sales of VPLM stock in 
order to conduct a promotional campaign to raise the share price. He characterized Sawyer's 
actions as "clearly illegal" and said he would be calling the SEC.33l 

On June 6, 2014, Wise sent a copy of his email to Sawyer to Kelvin Leach at Titan and to 
both Noiman and Diekmann at Scottsdale. His cover note to them was breezy: "Hi Guys, See 
below. David." 111e tenor of the cover note indicates that Scottsdale and Titan were working 
closely together to address the problem ofthe blackout notice. 

On June 9, 2014, Titan forwarded the blackout notice to Noiman, and Noiman 
immediately fOlwarded it to ClUZ.332 111at same day, Noiman also fOlwarded the Wise email to 
Cruz.333 The Finn stopped selling VPLM shares held by VHB Intemational in order to 
. . 334 
mvesl1gate. 

On June 11, 2014, Titan received what appears to be an unsigned clarifying 
memorandum from Sawyer stating that the broker-dealers and FFls such as Scottsdale and Titan 
were only on the list because they had been known to trade VPLM stock for covered persons. 
111e memorandum declared that the broker-dealers and FFls were still free to trade on behalf of 
non-covered persons. Titan forwarded the clarification that same day to Noiman and 
Diekmann,335 and Noiman forwarded it to CruZ. 336 The clarifying memorandum did not take 
Kipping (and his assigns), Locksmith, or VHB Intemational off the list of covered persons. Nor 
did it explain why they were listed as covered persons. When Noiman forwarded the clarification 
to Cruz on June 11 , 2014, he wrote that "Titan received the attached after David Wise's VPLM 
notice. ,,33 7 

On June 24, 2014, a lawyer claiming to represent VPLM wrote to Noiman as Scottsdale's 
"Compliance Officer." Scottsdale had requested the transfer of two stock certificates, and the 
lawyer stated that the stock certificates appeared to be owned by covered persons. Kipping (and 
his assigns), Locksmith, and VHB Intemational were on the attached list of covered persons . 
One of the t\"O stock certificates identified, 2985, related to the VPLM deposit by Titan on 

331 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 578-79. Wise provided an attorney opinion letter on which the Firm relied in connection with 
the ORFG stock deposit. R...."I(-3 , at 70. Wise also went to the Cayman Islands to assist Ruzicka for a couple of weeks 
after D'Mura left. Hearing If. (Hurry) 1603-04. 

332 CX-294. 

333 Hearing Ir. (Noiman) 1265-67; R...."I(-l 04 

334 Hearing If. (Cruz) 442-43; JX-2S1. 

335 CX-295. 

336 CX-296. 

337 CX-296. 
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behalf of Cumbre. 338 The other, 2228, may relate to a VPLM deposit not part of the record in this 
case. TIle ce1tificate number for the deposit by VHB Intemational is 2525. 339 

Notably, although the Titan deposit on behalf ofthe Lees nominally came through CSCT, 
Ruzicka was not included on any of the cOITespondence about the blackout period.340 TIle 
con-espondence reveals that Scottsdale, through Noiman, was continuing to manage FFI deposits 
without regard to CSCT. CSCT was perfonning no real function in connection with the VPLM 
d . 341 eposlt. 

b. Red Flags Signifying A Scheme To Evade The Securities Laws 

Given what Scottsdale already had in its file on VPLM, it should not have approved the 
VPLM shares deposited by Cumbre for resale without obtaining better evidence that Kipping 
was not arl affiliate of the issuer. The Lee transactions closely followed the VHB Inte11lational 
transaction and revealed a pattem-Kipping was continually acquiring and selling large blocks 
of VPLM shares. 'When coupled with the infonnation from the grid showing that VPLM 
followed a practice of issuing stock to insiders in settlement of its debts, the circumstances raised 
a strong suspicion that the issuer or an affiliate was unlawfully distributing securities without 
registration in a two-step process designed to obscure what was actually happening and who was 
benefiting from the sales of stock. 

4. ORFG (Unicorn deposit derived from Forward line of credit) 

a . Due Diligence Package 

i. Purported Beneficial Owner 

In connection with the deposit of approximately 13.2 million shares of ORFG, CSCT 
acted for Unic011l, and Unic011l acted for an entity called Media Central, which named Geovanni 
Moh as the beneficial owner. 342 Media Central was identified as a Belize corporation, and Moh 

338 RX-2, at 106-09. 

339 RX-2, at 3. 

340 When Ruzicka was shown the blackout notice at his OIR, he expressed shock. He testified that he had never seen 
it, and that if he had he would not have processed the VPLM deposit for resale. He would have e}"'Pected Scottsdale 
to treat it as a problem or red flag. CX-I78 at 257-60. 

341 In the middle of explaining what he did in connection with investigating the VPLM blackout, Cruz made a half
hearted assertion that CSCT was involved, saying, "J asked or I briefed with CSCT to-to get an explanation if 
they-if they could." Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 442-43. We do not find that testimony credible. There is no corroborating 
evidence of any kind, and his testimony about CSCT, in contrast to his detailed testimony about Wise, was vague. 
Cruz did not say he had a conversation with Ruzicka-who was the only person at CSCI. Rather Cruz referred to 
CSCT in the abstract. Nor did Cruz say anything about the content of what he "asked" or "briefed" when he 
supposedly had contact with CSCT. 

342 Rt'\-3, at 1. 
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was identified as a citizen of Belize. 343 Media Central was originally incorporated on February 
14, 2014, under the name Lock Investments Ltd. Only two weeks later, on February 27,2014, 
the name was changed to Media Centra1. 344 Nothing in the due diligence package explains the 
reason for the name change or whether there was any change in the identity of the principals of 
the company. 

ii. Prior Holder Transaction 

Media Central claimed that it had satisfied the holding period for a non-affiliate by 
tacking to a prior holder 's note as of September 1, 2012. 345 TIle prior holder was a person named 
Casey Forward. He purpOltedly took the issuer ' s note in retu111 for an open-ended line of credit 
up to the maximum amount of $600,000. TIle note provided that the issuer would pay on "loans, 
advances and debt as of August 31 , 2011 .. . with interest on the principal balance outstanding 
from time to time" up to a principal amount of $600,000.346 The note provided Forward with a 
right to convert any pOltion of the unpaid principal amount of note to restricted common stock. 
TIlis right was open-ended and did not specify a patticular amount that could be converted or a 
patticulat· date when the conversion could take place. 34 

7 Futthennore, the note provided that the 
holder could transfer in whole or in palt any pOltion of the note without the prior consent of the 
company. Any such transfer was at the discretion of the holder.348 

Forward subsequently assigned a $50,000 pOltion of the note to an entity called Anything 
Media in exchange for shat'es of Anything Media. As described on the first page of the Deposited 
Securities List, that transaction was reflected in an Assignment atld Modification Agreement 
dated January 18, 2014, by which ORFG agreed to modify the tenns of the original note. 349 

iii. Acquisition Of Shares By Depositor 

On April 16, 2014, Anything Media sold 15 million shat'es of ORFG to Media Central for 
$75,000 purSUatlt to a stock purchase agreement. However, at that time, Anything Media did not 
own the shares. It acquired shares ofORFG only a few days afterward, on April 22, 2014, when 
it converted a $9,000 pOltion of the note into 15 million shares ofORFG. 35o There is nothing in 
the due diligence package to explain why Anything Media sold ORFG shares before it actually 
owned them. Nor is there anything to explain why the shares could be sold for $75,000 when 

343 RX-3, at 9, 13 . 

344 RX-3 , at 15-16. 

345 RX-3 , at 36-41 . 

346 RX-3 , at 36. 

347 RX-3, at 38. 

348 R,.,'X-3 , at 40. 

349 RX-3 , at 1, 42-45. 

350 R,.,'X-3, at 1. 
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they only had a value of $9,000 when they were convelted a few days later. ClUZ testified that he 
did not consider these matters red flags that required fmther inquiry and that the Finn did not 
conduct fmther inquiry based on these matters .35 1 

iv. Scottsdale Approval And Sales 

On June S, 2014, Noiman and Cruz signed the Checklist for ORFG approving the sale of 
securities. 352 Sales began June 11 , 2014, and continued through the end of the relevant period on 
June 30,2014. Periodically, Scottsdale would wire out the proceeds along \vith the proceeds 
from the sales of other securities out of CSCT's account.353 

v. Promotional Activity 

From early May through early July, ORFG was the subject of multiple promotions.354 

Cruz testified that the promotions were consistent with the reviewer 's findings on the Checklist. 
He said he probably would have looked at a couple of pages of printouts showing the existence 
of promotions. TIle Fitm typically would look to see whether the customer had any involvement 
and whether the promotions were having any effect on the trading done in the security. 355 

h. Red Flag Signifying A Scheme To Evade The SecuIities Laws 

We discuss here only one of the red flags itl the ORFG deposit. TIle initial transaction 
underlying the deposit made no business sense. With respect to the original line of credit, no 
reasonable company would agree to bOlTOW money on a line of credit that permitted the lender to 
convelt the debt to stock at any time in any amount at the holder ' s discretion. Celtainlya 
company would not agree that the open-ended conversion option could be assigned to an 
unknown third patty without the issuer's prior consent. Under such an agreement the company 
would not know whether it was going to be required to pay back some or all of the money it 
bon'owed on the line of credit or whether it would be required to issue shares. Nor could it know 
to whom the conversion option might be assigned. It could not manage its finances or be certain 
of its shareholder dynamics and corporate control. 

As the forensic audit of the Kipping-Locksmith loan found with respect to the open
ended line of credit in that transaction, the onerous tenns from the issuer's perspective were a 
sign that the loan was not an arms-length transaction. Unless the Fil111 investigated and 
discovered some sensible explanation, it could not lawfully sell the securities. 

351 Hearing I f. (Cruz) 533-34. 

352 RX-3 , at 2. 

353 JX-31 O. 

354 CX-303, at 17-25. 

355 Hearing If. (Cruz) 537-38. 
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E. Credibility 

1. Ruzicka 

As noted above, Ruzicka was never registered with FINRA and was never subject to its 
jurisdiction. He voluntarily testified at an OTR, and considered testifying voluntarily at the 
hearing. Throughout the first week of the hearing, Enforcement reported at the end of each day 
on the likelihood of Ruzicka appearing.356 On Friday of the first week, Enforcement a1mounced 
that Ruzicka had agreed to appear the following Monday.357 

However, Ruzicka changed his mind over the weekend and never appeared. He 
apparently changed his mind because of a text that Respondents' counsel sent to him on the 
Saturday after the first week of hearing. That tell..1:, although portrayed by counsel afterward as 
nothing more than a request to talk, appears to us to have been an attempt to sow distrust 
between Ruzicka and Enforcement counsel. It made Ruzicka angry at the way he thought he was 
being pOl1rayed by Enforcement at the hearing and umvilling to be "put tlu'ough hell" by 

. 358 appeanng. 

Respondents ' counsel telephoned Ruzicka on Saturday but only received an automated 
instruction to leave a message or text. Respondents' counsel then left him a text saying the 
following, which included quotations from Enforcement's opening statement: 

You may want to know how FINRA has been characterizing you during the first 
week of the hearing. For example, you were "hapless," "malleable," and "bereft 
of other options." You may want to know the other side of what FINRA is telling 
you. I would welcome the oppol1unity to discuss .359 

After receiving the text from Respondent 's counsel, Ruzicka texted Enforcement counsel 
saying, in pal1, "If even veracity, I am done. ,,36o We interpret Ruzicka's response to mean he was 
offended at the portrayal of him as desperate and easily manipulated, and to mean that he would 
not appear at the heal"ing if that was an accurate picture of Enforcement' s comments about him. 

Enforcement repol1ed at the hearing that it had neither confinned nor denied to Ruzicka 
what Respondents ' counsel told him in the tell..1:. Enforcement took the position that it could not 
reveal what was said in the proceeding because it was confidentia1.361 

356 Initially, the discussions of Ruzicka's likely participation were off the record. Later, they were on the record. 
Hearing Tr. (remarks of counsel) 748, 840-41 , 1032, 1275, 1277. 

357 Hearing Tr. (remarks of counsel) 1275, 1277. 

358 Hearing Tf. (counsel reading text into record) 1288. 

359 Hearing T r. (counsel reading text into record) 1288. 

360 Hearing Tf. (counsel reading text into record) 1287. 

361 Hearing Tf. (remarks of counsel) 1299. 
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Enforcement argued that Respondents ' counsel had violated at least the spirit of the 
sequestration order in the case; Respondents' counsel asserted that the sequestration order was 
about witness testimony and that counsel's quotations from Enforcement's opening statement did 
not violate the order. The Hearing Officer declined to rule on the charge of misconduct. 362 

Based on legal analysis separate from the alleged misconduct of Respondents' counsel, as 
laid out at the hearing on the record, the Hearing Officer admitted the entire transcript of 
Ruzicka's OTR. The Hearing Officer declared that the Hearing Panel would determine the 
probative value and weight to give the OTR after it had reviewed the OTR in the context of the 
evidence at the hearing, taking into account the circumstances that led to the admission of the 
OTR in lieu of live testimony from Ruzicka. 363 

The Hearing Panel now specifically finds that Ruzicka's testimony at his OTR was 
credible. It was consistent with other evidence in the record and corToborated by D'Mura's 
testimony. \Vherever Ruzicka's testimony is cited here, it is cited because we credit it. 

We reject Respondents ' arguments for discounting Ruzicka 's testimony. 

First, Respondents assert that it is unfair to rely upon Ruzicka's testimony because they 
did not have an opportunity to cross-examine him.364 The short answer to that argument is that 
Respondents' counsel was responsible for that lack of opportunity to cross-examine the witness. 
Respondents cannot complain about it now. 

Second, Respondents argue that Ruzicka was angry and biased against HlllTY, so his OTR 
should not be viewed as reliable. 365 After review of the transcript, we conclude that, although 
Ruzicka evidently did not like the way Huny treated him, Ruzicka was truthful as to the facts 
and as to Hurry's intimidating and controlling manner. 

Third, Respondents claim that Ruzicka gave inconsistent infonnation in a prior telephone 
call with FINRA staff. 366 However, the inconsistency was explained by the fact that Ruzicka still 
felt "beholden" to Huny at the time of the telephone call. By the time of the OTR he did not feel 
that way.367 

362 Hearing Ir. (remarks of Hearing Officer) 1302. 

363 Hearing Ir. (remarks of Hearing Officer) 1302-05. Ihere had always been uncertainty about whether Ruzicka 
would give testimony at the hearing. In light of that uncertainty, the parties had earlier briefed the issue of whether 
the OIR should be admitted. Ihe Hearing Officer's ruling was informed by that earlier briefing. 

364 Resp. PH Br. 44 and n.253. 

365 Resp. PH Br. 44 and n.253. 

366 Hearing Ir. (remarks of counsel) 1296. 

367 Hearing Ir. (remarks of counsel) 1298. 
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Fourth, Respondents claim that Ruzicka gave an affidavit inconsistent with his OTR. 
TIley assert that Ruzicka swore that Montage, Titan, and Unicom came to CSCT through a 
refelTaI from Scottsdale. However, Ruzicka signed that affidavit at Hurry's request while still 
working for I-Iuny 368 By the time of his OTR, Ruzicka no longer worked for Huny For that 
reason, we credit his OTR testimony that he was told that Titan and Unicorn came to CSCT 
through Huny Moreover, the affidavit saying that the three FFls were refelTed by Scottsdale is 
not inconsistent with Ruzicka's understanding that ultimately Huny was behind the refenaI. 
Even if Hun"y persuaded the FFIs to do business with Scottsdale tlu"ough CSCT, it would be 
consistent with his desire for secrecy for him to anange for someone at Scottsdale to make the 
necessary introductions. 

Finally, \\le observe that although Ruzicka's OTR testimony is valuable, his absence from 
the hearing deprived the Extended Hearing Panel of what would have been helpful live testimony 
and the opportunity for the Panel to ask him questions. Ruzicka's absence also encouraged Hlmy 
to dispute the OTR testimony without fear of being contradicted, as discussed below. TIle 
distrust sown by Respondents' counsel impeded our adjudicatory process . 

2. Hurry 

A.s indicated above in connection with specific testimony, we repeatedly found that HUiTY 
was not credible. Many of HlIITY'S self-serving explanations were not convincing on their face. 
His testimony was often inconsistent with other reliable evidence. Much of what he said also 
conflicted with Ruzicka's OTR testimony, which we find more credible than Hun"y's 
uncolToborated asseliions. 

Hun)"s ostensible purpose for setting up CSCT -to relieve Alpine of IRS withholding 
obligations-was not supported by any evidence that it made business sense. Rather, we 
conclude from Cruz's and Diekmann's testimony regarding heightened regulatory scmtiny in the 
period leading up to the establishment of CSCT, and the filing ofthe four prior SEC complaints 
against Scottsdale customers and employees, that Huny sought to insulate his business from 
regulatory oversight by moving Scottsdale's FFI business offshore. This conclusion is reinforced 
by the fact that Scottsdale personnel continued to manage the FFI business with entities such as 
Unicorn and Titan (through Miller and Noiman). They needed to do that because Ruzicka was 
not qualified to run a broker-dealer, paIticularly one in the highly specialized business of 
liquidating microcap stock purSUaIlt to Rule 144. Moreover, CSCT got its business tlu"ough 
Hun), and Scottsdale. CSCT did not, and indeed could not, operate as an independent entity. 
CSCT served no function that Scottsdale could not have perfonned without it. 

368 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1565-69, 1638-39; R..,",\-11 O. 
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Hun), disputed that Ruzicka was not qualified to run CSCT and emphasized how 
accomplished Ruzicka was. 369 His testimony in this regard was not credible. It is plain from 
Ruzicka's inquiry about working in Hurry's bike shop that Ruzicka had no relevant experience 
and was desperate. 37o D'Mura described trying to educate Ruzicka about the securities industI), 
and the elements for free-trading securities . D'Mura said it was "rough going" and that Ruzicka 
"wasn 't picking it Up. ,,371 D'Mura said that Ruzicka was anxious, stressed, and not capable of 
handling due diligence on microcap deposits by himself. 372 Even more important for our 
purposes here, D'Mura testified that he had conversations with Hun), about Ruzicka's 
difficulties and how Ruzicka was not "getting it.,,3?3 Thus, contraI), to his heaI'ing testimony, 
HlllTY knew that Ruzicka was not capable of running CSCT. 

Hun)"s asseltion that he had little to do with CSCT was disproved. D' Mura testified that 
HutTY frequently bombarded him and Ruzicka with telephone calls about CSCT business and 
that he and Ruzicka tried to prepare for those calls with updated infonnation about deposits. 
D'Mura pOltrayed HUlTY as an intense and constant presence in their lives while they worked at 
CSCT, and emails cOlToborate that testimony. Emails show that HutTY oversaw every detail of 
CSCT's business, and Hun)' admitted that he traveled to the Cayman Islands at least once a 
month. He so closely oversaw the CSCT operation that he claimed to know that Ruzicka was in 
the office only ten minutes out of evel), hour. 

To the extent that Cruz, Diekmann, D '~/lura, and Ruzicka all testified that Ruzicka, not 
HUtTY, rail the daily operations of CSCT, as Respondents asselt in their post-hearing brief,374 we 
do not view that testimony as contradicting the evidence that HutTy was deeply involved in 

369 Hearing If (Hurry) 1574-77. When asked why he did not hire someone who had broker-dealer experience and 
who knew about FFIs to run CSCI , Hurry said that he hired Ruzicka to play an "executive role," someone who was 
"an all-around person, somebody who had some entrepreneurial skills, some management skills, proven to be able to 
do that." Hearing If. (Hurry) 1648. 

370 Hearing If (Hurry) 1631 , 1635-36. 

371 Hearing If (D'Mura) 2273-77. 

J72 Hearing If (D'Mura) 2277-78. 

J7J Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2274-77. D'Mura may not have been emphatic about Ruzicka's difficulties-he testified 
that it was against his self-interest to cause Hurry to fire Ruzicka-but D'Mura did raise concerns with Hurry. 
Hearmg If (D'Mura) 2314-15. 

Email correspondence corroborates D'Mura's judgment that Ruzicka did not understand the business. For example, 
in May 2014, Ruzicka sought Diekmann' s approval to consider a deposit of 11 million shares with an ostensible 
value of two million dollars. Diekmann wrote back that the issuer's shares traded in so little volwne-roughly 3,500 
per day-that it would take a "bazillion" years to sell the entire deposit Dielmlann said it was inappropriate to set 
the value that high and the transaction was the kind that should be avoided. CX-241. 

Ihis email correspondence also illustrates that CSCI served no real function independent of Scottsdale. Ruzicka 
sought Diekmann's guidance before even considering the deposit. Ruzicka was not independently vetting deposits 
before presenting them to Scottsdale. CX-241 , at 2. 

m Resp. PH Br. 45. 
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CSCT's business. Ruzicka was responsible for the day-to-day processing of paper, but Hurry 
was responsible for bringing in business, cultivating the clients, and making all impoltant 
decisions. Ruzicka, an out-of-work real estate attomey, did not have the background to do more 
than process the paper as directed. For Hlmy to maintain that he left Ruzicka on his own to 
prospect for customers and manage client relationships defies belief. 

Based on D'Mura's testimony and various emails, Hun-y's contention that he was not 
concemed with secrecy was false. D'Mura testified that HUtTY emphasized to him the privacy 
laws of the Cayman Islands, and D'Mura thought Hurry was very concerned about secrecy. 
Hun)"s concem with secrecy was manifested in multiple ways, from his admitted use of 
FaceTime to confer with Montage, Titan, Unicom, and other customers, to his obsession with 
labeling evel), email to and from Ruzicka as privileged, to his use of an email address that did 
not reveal its c0l111ection to him, to his refusal to use emails to discuss business and insistence on 
using telephone calls to do that. 

Ruzicka' s testimony only confinns D'Mura's. Ruzicka testified that Hurry told him that 
he was moving the FFI business to the Caymans precisely because he would not have to "give 
anything" to anyone. According to Ruzicka, HutTy was fanatical about not creating a record of 
his involvement with CSCT. 

As for HutTy's effolts to develop business for CSCT, HlIlTY admitted having telephone 
calls with principals of Montage, Titan, and Unicorn, and he admitted personally visiting 
Montage in Panama and Unicom in Belize. Although he claimed that he discussed a back-office 
system with Montage at Ruzicka ' s request, his testimony was vague and unspecific. There was 
no cOlToboration for Hun-y's asseltion, and he only made it when he knew that Ruzicka would 
not appear at the hearing to contradict him. Similarly, as to HlIlTY'S initial asseltion that he did 
not discuss business with Unicom when he went to Belize, HlIlTY was impeached by his own 
OTR testimony. In his OTR he testified that he discussed pros and cons of doing business with 
Scottsdale directly or going through CSCT. Emails showed that Hurry provided other leads and 
refelTals to Ruzicka, and D':tvIura testified that HlIlTY was involved in developing Caledonian as 
a CSCT customer. 

We fUlther find HutTy not credible when he testified that he could not remember anything 
about his meetings with IvIontage in Panama and Unicom in Belize. Hun), appeared to have 
excellent recall of other infonnation and events. He testified in detail about the intricacies of 
taxation in the Cayman Islands and how it differed for Canadians and U.S. citizens, as well as the 
way the special economic zone in the Caymans operates. 375 He also testified about the Cayman 
Islands Monetary Authority, CIMA, and its information sharing agreement with the SEC, noting 

375 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1554-65, 1647-48. 
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that the original agreement was in 2005 and that it was updated in 2012. 376 He insisted that he 
knew the exact days on which Ruzicka and D'Mura began at CSCT. 377 

We observe that Hurry appeared to be a canny, sophisticated, controlling, and hard
driving businessman. HllITY's attempt to pOltray himself as a distant figure , far removed from 
CSCT's business was not credible. Although he claimed that he likes to empower his people to 
run their businesses on their own,378 that is demonstrably untrue. 

3. DiBlasi 

We find DiBlasi's testimony that he was the CCO-but not in connection with the Finn's 
Rule 144 business-astonishing.379 Almost all of the Finn 's business involved Rule 144 sales. 
As explained below in discussing DiBlasi's violation, DiBlasi was responsible for the WSPs, and 
nothing in the WSPs clearly allocated Rule 144 compliance to Cruz. Indeed, during much of the 
relevant period, the WSPs assigned the CCO specific responsibilities in connection with Rule 
144.380 DiBlasi's testimony may accurately reflect what he believes his job responsibilities to be, 
but, if so, his designation as CCO was misleading. 

4. Cruz 

Cruz's testimony was vague and unreliable. He often said he could not recall whether he 

had looked at various materials in conducting his due diligence reviews but that he "could" have 
done so .381 Cruz also changed his testimony or made it vaguer as he was testifying ifhe became 

uncomfOltable with his original statement. For example, he said that the change in NHPI's 
business from pharmaceuticals to oil and gas was not so impOltar1t because the company's 
"management team had been stable. It's not the situation where we had a roaming management 
team.,,382 But when asked how he knew that the management team was stable, he could point to 
nothing in the due diligence package or elsewhere. He ended by denying that he had said that the 
management team had been stable, saying, "I didn't see any change of - evidence of a change of 
management. 1 didn't use 'stable. ",383 When pressed whether certain items were red flags calling 
for a searching inquiry about the issuer, Cruz resOlted to general statements such as it "depends 

376 Hearing Ir. (Huny) 1630. 

377 Hearing Ir. (Huny) 1620, 1624. 

378 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1550. 

379 Hearing Ir. (DiBlasi) 1921-23, 1946-47, 1952-53, 1965-66. 

380 Hearing Ir. (DiBlasi) 1967-73. 

381 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 279, 284, 292-96, 301-03, 308. 

382 Hearing If. (Cruz) 288. 

383 Hearing If. (Cruz) 288-91. 
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on the facts and the circumstances. ,,384 He never explained any basis for determining which facts 
and circumstances would trigger the duty to conduct a searching inquiry. 

5. DiekmalUl 

We find Diekmann's testimony vague, evasive, and unreliable. He characterized 
documents in ways that on their face the documents did not support, such as the Miller email 
indicating that a Canadian citizen could conceal himself by using a corporate entity as the owner 
of his Scottsdale account. Diekmann asserted that the Finn's procedures would root out a 
nominee problem but could point to nothing in the procedures that was designed to do that. 385 He 
was insensitive to suspicious circumstances such as a Google search that tumed up information 
suggesting that a person was engaged in securities fraud,386 or the identical terms and 
circumstances of the three supposedly independent NHPI deposits. 387 He contradicted his own 
OTR testimony.388 He repeatedly resisted admitting that inconsistencies and suspicious 
circumstances could signify that a transaction was a sham until he had to admit what was 
obvious. 389 

Given Diekmarill's position as the Finn's cutTent president, we are concemed about his 
ability to ensure that the Finn responds appropriately in the future to obvious red flags and 
suspicious circumstances. This concem bears on the need for stringent sanctions, as discussed 
below. 

Illustrative of the issue is Diekmann's testimony regarding information on Unicom's 
website. Unicom advertised the use of nominees to give customers an "extra level of 
confidentiality" because the customer's "name will not show up. ,,390 At his OTR, Diekmaml 
testified that he had not seen this page of the Unicom website before his OTR, but ifhe had it 
would have caused him concem whether the true beneficial owner was being disclosed.391 At the 
hearing he testified differently. He said that he would not be concemed about the information on 
Unicom's website because he had seen nothing on the website that suggested that Unicom was 
offering to affinnatively lie about beneficial ownership.392 When asked whether Unicom would 

384 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 293. 

385 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 737-38. 

3S6 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 927. 

387 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1853-54, 1901-04. 

388 Diekmann testified at his OIR that a print-out from the Unicorn website caused him concern about whether 
Patrick Gentle was the true beneficial owner of stock deposited at Scottsdale in his name. At the hearing, however, 
he denied that the information on the Unicorn site was a concern. Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 925-30. 

389 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1881-84, 1886-87. 

390 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1818-19. 

391 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1875-78. 

392 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1819. 
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have had to offer to lie about the beneficial owner before the website language would concem 
him, Diekmann alls\vered "Yes. ,,393 TIlat is not consistent with his alld the Finn's gatekeeping 
function. 

A second example of Diekmann's insensitivity to suspicious circumstances is his 
response to questions conceming all email exchange between one of the Rule 144 staff members 
and Titan. The staff member sent all email to Ryan Mendez at Titan saying that Scottsdale had 
multiple sub accounts at Scottsdale with Andrew Godfrey as the authorized signer. She requested 
a statement from Godfrey that explained the purpose for the multiple entities and provided an 
explallation of "allY distinguishing features among the separate entities." She then named the 
eight entities. 394 

Godfrey provided an astoundingly broad alld vague response: 

[The eight companies] al"e holding company's [sic] that are used to invest in 
development and exploration stage compallies that engage in local, regional, 
multinational, global, spoliing, manufacturing, wholesale, transpOliation, 
technology and eco friendly compallies, etc., etc. Each investment is placed into a 
holding company based on investment criteria such as location, industry, long or 
shOli-term investment etc., etc. 

Godfrey made no distinction alnong the compallies . He provided no facts that could be verified. 
TIle response was undated and addressed "To Whom It May Concem." Godfrey provided no 
address, telephone number, or other contact infonnation for himself or any of the companies. 
TIle response was forwarded by email f)"om Titan to Scottsdale. 395 

Diekmal1l1 characterized Godfrey's response as reasonable. 396 We do not find it so. It 
lacks specificity and has no indicia of reliability or authenticity. 

Finally, Diekmalm displayed a lack of the skepticism, analytic acuity, alld ingenuity that 
are required to pelfonn the broker-dealer's gatekeeping function in the Rule 144 context. He 
testified that the identical documentation for the NHPI transactions did not trouble him because 
some unidentified person could have put Collins together ""ith the three patiies seeking to sell 
the NHPI shares they acquired from him. When asked whether that unidentified person could be 
the secret beneficial owner of the three sub-sub-accounts, he said that there was nothing in the 
documentation indicating that was so. He fmiher declared that he did not know how you would 

393 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1875. 

394 CX-247. 

395 CX-248. 

396 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 891. 
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investigate whether it was so. He seemed content not to know who the unidentified person was 
and to assume that it was a person who had put the three depositors in touch with Collins. 397 

Diekmann said that '<there's always a risk that there could be some puppet master pulling 
the s[t]rings .,,398 But he expressed frustration at the thought that the Firm could and should have 
done more to ascertain whether a puppet master was at work. As he remarked regarding the 
Argentinian nominees in the Tavella case, "It's just impossible to know that there was somebody 
else behind this. ,,399 

For purposes of assessing the Film's abi lity to avoid violations in the future and crafting 
remedial sanctions, his remarks cause LIS concem. Diekmann said that what happened with NHPI 
happens all the time.4oo 

6. Experts 

a. Marc Menchel 

We give little weight to the testimony of Respondents' expeti, Marc Menchel. Although 
he opined that Scottsdale's procedures were reasonable and consistent "vith industry custom and 
practice, his experience related to Rule 144 was both a long time ago and in a much different 
context than Scottsdale's business. Menchel ran a Rule 144 desk at a large broker-dealer more 
than 30 years ago. That desk did not concentrate the way Scottsdale does on large blocks 
(100,000 shares or more) of microcap stocks.401 

Furthennore, Menchel did not opine on the sufficiency of Scottsdale's due diligence in 
the context of the specific transactions at issue. He did not review the exhibits or the 
investigative testimony. While he did look at all the relevant due diligence packages, he did not 
review them with the idea of "second guessing" the Finn's handling ofthe deposits. He merely 
looked to see whether the due diligence packages contained the sOlis of items that one would 
expect them to contain.402 Essentially, Respondents' expert, like Respondents, took a check-the
box look at the due diligence packages . 

Finally, Menchel's opinion seemed influenced by his admittedly idiosyncratic view that 
Regulatory Notice 09-05 goes beyond Rule 144, and his claim that many of the red flags listed in 
the Regulatory Notice are not really red flags for purposes of Rule 144.403 Menchel's opinion 

397 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1901-03. 

398 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 720. 

399 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 732. 

400 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1901 , 1903. 

401 Hearing Ir. (Menchel) 2459-6l. 

402 Hearing Ir. (Menchel) 2478-80, 2496-98, 2529-33, 2554-65, 2572-73, 2575. 

'103 Hearing Ir. (Menchel) 2503-07,2515-24. 
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similarly seemed influenced by his view that FINRA has no authority to charge a broker-dealer 
firm with a Rule 2010 violation for a Securities Act violation, a view that he admits has no 
decisional support.404 Menchel's opinion regarding FINRA's authority is contrary to the Hearing 
Officer' s prior detennination in the Order dated February 26, 2016, that FINRA has jurisdiction 
to bring this case. We decline to accept Menchel's view for the reasons stated in that Order, 
which we do not repeat here.405 

b. Brian Underwood 

\Ve find the opinion of Enforcement's expert, Brian Underwood, more reliable, more 
persuasive, and entitled to greater weight than Menchel's. His experience with Rule 144 was 
more extensive and more recent. Until retiring in 2008, Underwood served as the Chief 
Compliance Officer of two major broker-dealers for a combined period of almost 20 years. 111e 
broker-dealers traded microcap securities on a fairly frequent basis and their Rule 144 desks 
reported to Underwood through one of his direct reports.406 He also served on two NASD 
working groups in the 1990s that reviewed roughly 300 sets of policies and procedures as part of 
an effort to develop a model set of procedures. 407 Underwood has maintained a consulting 
practice since he retired, and in that capacity he has more recently seen between 20 and 25 entire 
policies and procedures of different finns. 408 

Underwood also reviewed more of the materials relating to the pmiiculars of this case, 
including the pleadings, the pmiies' memoranda, the exhibits, and the OTRs conducted in 
connection with the investigation.409 He, unlike Menchel, evaluated the substance of Scottsdale's 
due diligence and whether it was consistent with industry custom and practice.410 

Underwood expressed the following opinions, among others, which we find consistent 
with our own views and supportive of our conclusions: 

(i) In its WSPs, the Finn did not adequately address the risk of nominees being used 
to conceal the identity of the beneficial owners of the shares- it did not even 
mention the risk.411 

404 Hearing Ir. (NIenchel) 2593-99. 

405 See also KeD Financial Inc., Exchange Act Release No. 80340, slip op. at 5-6 & nn.8-13 (SEC lvIar. 29, 2017). 

406 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2609, 2615-21. 

407 Hearing If. (Underwood) 2711-12. 

408 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2712-13. 

409 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2619-20. 

410 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2651-57, 2665-67, 2669-71 , 2673-78, 2685-89, 2691-94. 

411 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2682-83 . 
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(ii) The Finn's practice of placing all FFIs on its red flag list was counterproductive 
because it did nothing to nalTOW the focus to the kinds of anomalies that required 
a searching inquiry.412 

(iii) 111e Finn ' s general practice of accepting the registered agent ' s address without 
requiring the physical address of the entities and persons purporting to own the 
shares was inconsistent with industry custom and practice.413 

(iv) Even though the Finn gathered large volumes of paper in cOlU1ection with the 
transactions, it failed to analyze the infonnation, did not identify issues raised by 
the files , and did not conduct the type of searching inquiry necessary to resolve 
those issues .414 As Underwood testified, a searching inquiry "means asking 
questions . It means not just assuming an answer that is possible to explain the 
transaction when there are other ans"vers that might not properly explain or satisfy 
the question. It means asking and inquiring and doing it independently . ... ,,415 

(v) Underwood made plain that a broker-dealer cam10t go forward with a Rule 144 
transaction simply because it finds it too difficult to determine the identity of the 
beneficial owner. The broker-dealer must have reliable evidence of the identity of 
the purpolted beneficial owner. Othelwise it cannot proceed with the 
transaction.416 

Underwood also explained that it would be typical in the industry to use other resources 
in addition to the intemet to verify representations by the interested patties and make sure that 
those parties were not actually paJticipating in an unregistered distribution of securities. With 
respect to whether the issuer is a shell, for example, it is not enough to obtain a representation 
from the issuer's principal as to its non-shell status . Underwood said that it would be common in 
the industry to obtain what is known as a "Bradstreet report. " That report "can be quite 
enlightening in tenus both of [the issuer' s] operations, revenues, assets, who the key officers and 
directors are, shareholders- a great deal of infonuation that is not necessarily available simply 
b · h . ,,41 7 Y gomg on t e mtemet. . 

Underwood concluded that a finn engaged in Rule 144 sales would also have more 
detailed written procedures that "would describe who did what, when, and how.,,418 He said that 

412 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2685-86, 2752-55. 

413 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2679-80. 

414 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2689. 

41 5 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2694. 

416 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2734. 

417 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2661. 

418 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2677-78 . 

71 

- 232a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:28 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:28 PM



a finn would "anticipate questions that would be investigated with respect to issuers, with 
respect to sellers, with respect to the transfers of securities. ,,419 Furthemlore, they would analyze 
the infonnation collected and would "independently satisfy themselves to clear any red flags that 
arose. And that did not happen in any of these instances in my opinion. ,,420 He declared that the 
Finn did not meet the industry custom and practice for the conduct of this type of business.421 

F. Law And Regulations Relating to Section 5 

1. It Is Unlawful To Sell Securities Without Registration, Unless An 
Exemption Exists 

It is unlawful for a finn to sell securities without an effective registration statement in 
place unless an exemption applies. Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act prohibit the "sale" 
and "offer for sale" of securities in interstate commerce unless a registration statement has been 
filed or is in effect, or an exemption from registration applies. 422 TIle prohibition applies to "any 
person,,,423 and the Securities Act defines "person" broadly to include both individuals and 
entities such as corporations and partnerships.424 TIle prohibition also applies to any person who 
"directly or indirectly" sells or offers to sell securities.425 TIlliS, Section 5 may be violated by a 
person who does not pass title to the securities but who is involved in the process of offering the 
securities for sale. 426 

TIle registration requirements are not merely technical-they are the "heart" of the 
Securities Act.427 They serve to protect investors by promoting t1.111 disclosure of infonnation 
thought necessary to infonned investment decisions.428 As the preamble to the Securities Act 

419 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2678. 

420 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2678. 

421 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2689. 

422 15 US.C § 77e(a), § 77e(c) See also Ronald S. Bloomfield, Exchange Act Release No. 71632,2014 SEC LEXIS 
698, at *20-21 (Feb. 27, 2014). A violation of Securities Act Section 5 also is a violation ofFINRA Rule 2010, 
which requires members and associated persons to conduct their business consistent with high standards of 
commercial honor and just and equitable principles of trade. Midas Sec., Exchange Act Release No. 66200,2012 
SEC LEXIS 199, at *46 n.63 (Jan. 20,2012); Dep 't ofEnforcementv. Padilla, No. 2006005786501, 2012 FINRA 
Discip. LEXIS 46, at *1 n.2 (NAC Aug. 1,2012). 

423 15 US.C. § 77e(a), § 77e( c) 

424 15 US.C. § 77b(a)(2). 

425 15 USC. § 77e(a), § 77e(c). 

,126 Pinlerv. Dahl, 486 US. 622,642-47 (1988). 

427 ACAP Fin. Inc., Exchange Act Release No. 70046, 2013 SEC LEXIS 2156, at *28 (July 26,2013) (quoting 
Pinterv. Dahl, 486 US. at 638), ajJ'd, 783 F.3d 763 (lOth Cir. 2015) 

428 SEC v. Elliott, 2012 US. Dist. LEXIS 82992, at *1 (June 12,2012); Bloomfield, 2014 SEC LEXIS 698, at *21 ; 
ACAP, 2013 SEC LEXIS 2156, at *28 (quoting Pinter, 486 US. at 638); Dep 't of Enforcement v. KCD Fin., Inc., 
No. 2011025851501, 2016 FINRA Discip. LEXIS 38, at *49 (NAC Aug. 3,2016), ajf'd, KCD Fin. Inc., Exchange 
Act Release No. 80340, slip op. at 5-6 & nn.8-13 (SEC NIar. 29, 2017). 
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states, the purpose of the Act is "[t]o provide full and fair disclosure ofthe character of securities 
4 1 9 ... and to prevent frauds." -

2. Sales Are Not Exempt If They Involve A DistIibution By An 
"Unci erw liter" 

A sale of securities is not exempt from registration if it involves a distribution of 
securities to the public. The Securities Act distinguishes between a distribution- which requires 
registration- and ordinary trading, which does not. In general, a distribution involves the sale of 
a substantial block of securities that is accompanied by sales solicitations, recommendations and 
other promotional activities that may induce investors to make investment decisions without the 
benefit of accurate infonnation concerning the issuer, its management, and its plans and 
prospects. That is the reason registration is required. In contrast, ordinary trading by an 
individual investor who has little or no influence over the issuer is not accompanied by the same 
promotional pressures, and, consequently, the same protections are less necessary.430 

The distinction between a distribution and ordinary trading is reflected in Section 4(a)(1) 
of the Securities Act, which exempts a securities transaction from registration if it does not 
involve "an issuer, underwriter, or dealer.,,431 In this case, the tenn "underwriter" is critical. TIle 
tenn is not limited to financial industry professionals. It encompasses individual investors "if 
they act as links in a chain of transactions through which securities move from an issuer to the 
public.'il32 Section 2(a)(11) of the Securities Act broadly defines the term to include "any 
person" who has purchased from an issuer "with a view to .. . the distribution of any security.,,433 

Because it is difficult to know whether a person acquired securities '\;vith a view to" 
distributing them to the public, the sUlTounding circumstances and the investor's actions after 
acquiring the securities must be analyzed. For example, when a person acquires securities from 
the issuer in a non-public transaction and shortly thereafter resells, the circumstances suggest that 
the person acquired the securities with a view to distribution, which would make that person an 
underwriter. 11le transactions function like a two-step indirect distribution and may be a public 
offering in disgllise.434 

429 Securities Act of 1933, Pub. L. No. 22, § 1, 48 Stat. 74, ch. 38. 

430 See the Preliminary Note to Rule 144 ("If any person sells a non-exempt security to any other person, the sale 
must be registered unless an exemption can be found for the transaction."). 

431 See generally Hicks, Resales ofRestricled Securities at § 2.4, 12-13, § 2: 1 0, 22-23, § 2.11, 23-24 (2015 ed.) See 
the Preliminary Note to Rule 144 ("Section 4(1) of the Securities Act prav ides one such exemption for a transaction 
'by a person other than an issuer, underwriter, or dealer. "'). 

432 Preliminary Note to Rule 144. 

433 15 U.S.C. § 77b(a)(11). See also SEC v. McNamee , 481 F.3d 451,455 (7th Cir. 2007). 

434 See generally Hicks, Resales of Restricted Securities at § 4: 1 01 , 250 (2015 ed.). See the Prelim inary Note to Rule 

144. 
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3. Broker-Dealer Has The Bw"den Of Showing A Reasonable Basis For 
An Exemption 

Once a prima faci e case is made out, as it was here,435 a broker-dealer has the burden of 
showing that it had a reasonable basis at the time it sold the securities for concluding that an 
exemption from registration existed.436 Exemptions from the registration requirements are 
affinnative defenses that must be established by the person claiming the exemption.437 The 
Securities Act requires a broker-dealer and its associated persons to act as gatekeepers to prevent 
unlawful distributions, and the responsibility rests on them to take all steps reasonable in the 
circumstances to assure themselves that an exemption applies before they sell securities without 

. . 438 
regIstratIOn. 

A broker-dealer's duty to investigate is not satisfied by simply checking boxes on a 
checklist. Rather, a fi1111 must examine the information it receives with a skeptical eye because 
the interested parties have an incentive to mislead and deceive a fi1111 in order to facilitate their 
sale of securities. A broker-dealer must independently investigate suspicious facts to satisfy itself 
that an exemption exists. As the SEC has explained, 

A dealer who offers to sell, or is asked to sell a substantial amount of securities 
must take whatever steps are necessary to be sure that this is a transaction not 
involving an issuer, person in a control relationship with an issuer[,] or an 
underwriter. For this purpose, it is not sufficient for him merely to accept "self
serving statements of his sellers and their counsel without reasonably exploring 
the possibility of contrary facts. ,,439 

E . fi . . . d 1 440 A d' I xemptlOns rom regIstratIOn reqUlrements are construe nan"ow y. ccor l11g y, 
evidence in support of an exemption must be "explicit, exact, and not built on mere conc1usory 
statements. ,,441 

It is impoltant to bear in mind that there are two distinct burdens in this case. While it 
was Enforcement's burden to prove the elements of its claims, it was the Firm's burden before 

435 See infra p. 80. 

436 Bloomfield, 2014 SEC LEXIS 698, at *23; ACAP, 2013 SEC LEXIS 2156, at *29 (citations omitted); Dep 't of 
Enforcement v. Midas Sec., UC, No. 2005000075703, 2011 FIJ\TRA Discip. LEXIS 62, at *11 & n.8 (NAC Mar. 3, 
2011), aff'd, 2012 SEC LEXIS 199, at *28 & n.36 . 

437 Midas Sec. , 2011 FINRA Discip. LEXIS 62, at *28 & n.36, *38. 

438 Padilla, 2012 FINRA Discip. LEXIS 46, at "'29. 

439 Laser Arms Corp., 50 S.E.C 489, 503 (Feb. 14, 1991) (quoting Distribution by Broker-Dealers of Unregistered 
Securities, Exchange Act Release No. 4445, 1962 SEC LEXIS 74 (Feb. 2, 1962)). 

440 Midas Sec. , 2011 FINRA Discip. LEXIS at *11-12 (quoting SEC v. Blazon, 609 F. 2d 960, 968 (9th Cir 1979). 

441 Midas Sec., 2011 FINRA Discip. LEXIS at *12 (quoting Robert G. Weeks, Exchange Act Release No. 48684, 
2003 SEC LEXIS 2572, at "'42 n.34 (Oct. 23, 2003). 
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selling the securities to establish a reasonable basis for the existence of an exemption from 
registration. 

4. Respondents Claim Two Exemptions 

With respect to the transactions at issue, Respondents claim that Rule 144 applied to the 
transactions, or, failing that, the so-called "broker' s exemption" in Section 4(a)(4) of the 
Securities Act for ordinary unsolicited trading.442 

a. SecUlities Act Rule 144 

The SEC adopted Rule 144 both to provide a "safe harbor" for certain transactions and to 
protect against transactions by non-professionals as a means of circumventing the registration 
requirements. Among other things, Rule 144 restricts the resale of securities acquired directly or 
indirectly from the issuer or an affiliate in a transaction not involving a public offering. The SEC 
defines such securities as "restricted securities," and requires an owner of restricted securities to 
hold them for a length of time before reselling them in another transaction without registration. 
TIle holding period and other conditions for resale differ if the holder of the restricted securities 
is an affiliate or non-affiliate. 443 TI1US, the identity of the person selling the securities and the 
nature of any relationship that person might have to the issuer become important to the 
exemption analysis. 

Rule 144 defines an affiliate of an issuer as a person who directly or indirectly controls or 
is controlled by or is under common control with the issuer. Although Rule 144 does not define 
control, it is commonly understood that the definition in SEC Rule 405 of Regulation C applies. 
It defines control as "the possession, direct or indirect, of the power to direct or cause the 
direction of the management and policies of a person whether through the ownership of voting 
securities, by contract, or otherwise." Control depends on the totality of the circumstances and 
does not tum simply on ,,,,hether a person is an officer of a company or the holder of a certain 
amount of stock.444 

TIle identity of the issuer is important, too. TIle Rule 144 safe harbor is not available for 
shell companies. A shell company is defined as an issuer "with no or nominal operations and no 
or nominal non-cash assets. , ,445 

A person who satisfies the applicable conditions of Rule 144 is deemed not to be engaged 
in a distribution of the securities and therefore not to be an underwriter for purposes of the 

442 Resp. PH Br. at 2-5. 

443 17 C.F.R § 230.1 44. See generally Hick<>, Resales afRestricted Securities at § 2.4, 12-13, § 2: 1 0, 22-23, § 2.11 , 

23-24 (2015 ed.). 

444 SEC v. Zenergy Int '1, Inc., 141 F. Supp. 3d 846, 853-54 (N.D. Ill. 2015). 

445 Id. at 853 . 
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Securities Act.446 The burden is on the person claiming an exemption under Rule 144 to prove 
that all the applicable conditions have been met. 447 

11le provisions of Rule 144( d)(3) relating to tacking are impoltant here because tacking 
was the only way that the sellers in the transactions at issue could satisfy the required holding 
period. 11lere are two categories of tacking. One category applies where a person who acquires 
restricted securities cannot personally meet the applicable holding requirement, but he is able to 
tack the holding period of another person to his. 11le other category applies where a person seeks 
to tack the period of time he has held restricted securities to the time he held other securities of 
the same issuer. 448 

Both categories are relevant in this case. First, to establish the requisite holding period, 
the purpolted beneficial owners needed to tack their holding period to that of the prior holders. 
11leir ability to tack depended on the prior holders not being affiliates of the issuer. Second, in 
connection with the transactions charged in the Complaint, the prior holders needed to tack their 
acquisition of the securities to the earlier inception of the debt obligation exchanged for the 
securities . In order to do that, the debt obligation had to be a security. Rule 144 pennits tacking 
based on the exchange of a security for another security of the same issuer (as long as no 
additional consideration is involved).449 

In this case, Respondents claim that they had sufficient evidence that the sellers of the 
securities at issue were not affiliates ofthe issuers, the issuers were not shell companies, and the 
sellers had met the applicable holding period for the securities. We conclude that they did not. 

h. Broker's Exemption Under Section 4(4) 

Respondents argue they were entitled to the so-called broker's exemption under Section 
4(4) of the Securities Act even if the transactions at issue were not exempt under Rule 144.450 

446 See generally Hicks, Resales a/Restricted Securities at § 4: 1, 86 (2015 ed.). 

447 See Rule 144(b). 

448 See generally Hicks, Resales a/Restricted Securities at § 4: 139,318 (2015 ed.). 

449 See generally Hicks, Resales a/Restricted Securities at § 4: 139, 318-19 (2015 ed.). Rule 144( d)(3) contains the 
provisions governing tacking. Two provisions are relevant here. Rule 144(d)(3)(iv) provides that securities that are 
acquired as a result of a default on a bona fide pledge of the securities shall be deemed to have been acquired when 
they were acquired by the pledger. However, if the securities were pledged without recourse they shall be deemed to 
have been acquired by the pledgee at the time of the pledge. Rule 144(d)(3)(ii) pennits a person to tack the period of 
time he has held certain restricted securities to the period of time he has held related securities of the same issuer. It 
provides for tacking where the securities to be sold were acquired from the issuer solely in exchange for other 
securities of the same issuer. 

4jOResp. PH Br. 4-5. 
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Section 4(4) is intended to exempt ordinary trading transactions that a broker may be asked to 
execute.451 

As discussed above, a person can be an underwriter within the meaning of the Securities 
Act ifhe acquires the securities from an issuer or affiliate ofthe issuer with a view to 
distribution. In order to ensure that the person offering restricted securities for resale is not acting 
as an lll1derwriter, it is necessary for a broker to evaluate the circumstances in which that person 
acquired restricted securities and offers them for resale. A broker cannot be a mere order taker. It 
must make whatever inquiries are necessary under the circumstances to ensure that its customer 
is not an underwriter.452 

111is exemption is not available when the broker "knows or has reasonable ground [ s] to 
believe" that his customer is an undenvriter, since in that event the broker would also violate 
Section 5 by pmticipating in a non-exempt transaction.453 As FINRA has stated, "[T]his 
exemption is available only if a broker is not a\Nare, after a reasonable inquiry, of circumstances 
indicating that the selling customer is participating in a distribution of securities. ,,454 

Contrary to Respondents' arguments, we conclude that Respondents were confronted by 
abundant evidence that they were likely pmticipating in unlawful distributions of securities. They 
cannot claim that they \-vere unaware of facts signifying that possibility or the need to conduct 
[mther inquiry. 

5. Both Exemptions Required A "Searching Inquiry" To Ensure That 
No Underwriter Was Involved 

Neither the Rule 144 exemption nor the broker's exemption is available if the person 
selling the securities is an underwriter within the meaning of the Securities Act. Accordingly, 
where there are red flags indicating the possibility that a person may be acting as an underwriter, 
both exemptions require that a broker make a "searching inquiry" to satisfy itself that an 
exemption applies. Only then can a broker ensure that it does not pmticipate in an unlawful 
d· 'b' f . d .. 455 lstn utlOl1 0 unreglstere secuntles. 

111e SEC observed over half a century ago, "[W]here the smTounding circumstances raise 
a question as to whether or not the ostensible sellers may be merely intennediaries for 
controlling persons or statutory underwriters, then searching inquiry is called for. ,,456 

451 World Trade Fin. COIp., Exchange Act Release No. 66114,2012 SEC LEXIS 56, at *26 (Jan. 6, 2012). 

452 Bloomfield, 2014 SEC LEXIS 698, at *24-25 & nn.35-36. 

453 Bloomfield, 2014 SEC LEXIS 698, at '~24 ; World Trade Financial Corp. , 2012 SEC LEXIS 56, at "'26 & n.31. 

4 54 CX-197 at 2 (emphasis supplied). 

455 CX-l97. 

456 Bloomfield, 2014 SEC LEXIS 698, at *26-27. 
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6. FINRA Guidance On Red Flags Signaling That UmlerwIiter May Be 
Involved 

In Regulatory Notice 09-05, FINRA published guidance on the specific kinds of facts that 
give rise to the duty of conducting a searching inquiry.457 In that guidance, FINRA made plain 
that "[a]ll finns must have procedures reasonably designed to avoid becoming pmticipants in the 
potential umegistered distribution ofsecurities.,,458 It further explained, "Before selling securities 
in reliance on an exemption, a finn must take reasonable steps to ensure that the trmlsaction 
qualifies for the exemption .... ,,459 

Regulatory Notice 09-05 identifies a non-exhaustive list of red flags that signal the 
"possibility of an illegal, umegistered distribution.,,46o TIlese red flags are by no means 
comprehensive. TIley are merely illustrative. The generally recognized red flags in the Notice 
include the following: 461 

1. A customer opens a new account and delivers physical celtificates that represent a 
large block of thinly traded or low-priced securities. 

2. A customer has a pattem of depositing physical share certificates, immediately selling 
the shares, and then wiring out the proceeds of the resale. 

3. A customer deposits share cettificates that are recently issued or represent a large 
percentage of the float for the security. 

4. Share certificates reference a company or customer name that has been changed or 
that does not match the name on the account. 

5. TIle lack of a restrictive legend on deposited shares seems inconsistent with the date 
the customer acquired them or the nature ofthe transaction in which they were 
acquired. 

6. TIlere is a sudden spike in investor demand for a thinly traded or low-priced security, 
coupled with a rising price. 

7. TIle company was a shell company when it issued the shares . 

8. A customer with little or no assets at the film receives an electronic transfer or joumal 
transactions of large amounts oflow-priced unlisted securities . 

457 CX-197. 

458 CX-197, at 2. 

459 CX-197, at 2. 

460 CX-197, at l. 

461 CX-197, at3-4 . 
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9. The issuer has been through several recent name changes, business combinations or 
recapitalizations, or the company's officers are also officers of numerous similar 
compames. 

10. TIle issuer's SEC filings are not cUlTent, are incomplete, or are nonexistent. 

G. Ethical Violations (First Cause Of Action-Scottsdale And Hurry) 

TIle First Cause of Action charges that Scottsdale and HUlTY violated FINRA Rule 2010 
by acting in contravention of Section 5 of the Securities Act. It alleges that during the relevant 
period, Scottsdale sold millions of shares of securities without registration and without an 
exemption. It further alleges that HUtTY was a necessary participant and substantial factor in the 
unlmvful transactions tlu'ough his close management and control of all the entities involved in the 
process of depositing, approving, and reselling the securities, and tlu'ough his prospecting for 
CSCT customers. TIle Complaint alleges that HU11), took actions to evade regulatory scrutiny and 
enable the Fi11n to make the unlawful sales. 

1. Rule 2010 

FINRA Rule 2010 requires FINRA members and their associated persons to "observe 
high standards of commercial honor and just and equitable principles of trade" in the conduct of 
their business. TIle Rule requires members of the securities industr), not merely to conform to 
legal and regulatory requirements, but to conduct themselves with integrity, fairness, and 

461 
honesty. -

Scienter is not required for a Rule 2010 violation. Rather, the SEC has established a 
disjunctive test for a Rule 2010 violation that applies either (i) to intentional or conscious bad 
conduct or (ii) to a failure to meet ethical n011ns, regardless of intention. TIle SEC has held that 
Rule 2010 may be violated if the respondent has acted either in bad faith or unethically.463 In the 
context of a Rule 2010 violation, the SEC has defined bad faith as a dishonest belief or purpose, 

'162 Robert Marcus Lane, Exchange Act Release No. 74269,2015 SEC LEXIS 558, at *22 n.20 (Feb. 13,20 15) 
(discussing NASD predecessor to FThTRA Rule 2010: "[T]his general ethical standard . . . is broader and provides 
more l1exibility than prescriptive regulations and legal requirements. [FINRA Rule 20 10] protects investors and the 
securities industry from dishonest practices that are unfair to investors or hinder the functioning of a free and open 
market, even though those practices may not be illegal or violate a specific rule or regulation.") (internal quotations 
omitted). 

' 163 Blair Alexander West, Exchange Act Release No. 74030,2015 SEC LEXIS 102, at *20 (Jan. 9, 2015); Thomas 
W. Heath, III , Exchange Act Release No. 59223,2009 SEC LEXIS 14, at *13-17 & nn.9-16 (Jan. 9, 2009), aff'd, 
586 F.3d 122, 130 (2d Cir. 2009), cert denied, 2010 U.S. LEXIS 3029 (Apr. 5,2010) (discussing NYSE predecessor 
of Rule 201 0); Dep 't of Enforcement v. Shvarts, No. CAF980029, 2000 NASD Discip. LEXIS 6, at ':' 11-18 (NAC 
June 2, 2000). 
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and unethical conduct as conduct inconsistent with the moral norms or standards of professional 
conduct. 464 

Because the securities industry is built on trust, any ethical failure damages the industry 
generally by casting doubt on the integrity of its participants. An ethical failure also casts doubt 
on the ability of the particular miscreant to confonn to ethical nonns in the future. Enforcement 
of FINRA Rule 2010 is therefore fundamental to FINRA's regulatory mission, which, as 
expressed in FINRA's Sanction Guidelines, "is the building of public confidence in the fmancial 
markets. ,,465 

2. Enforcement Established A Prima Facie Case Of A Section 5 
Violation 

TIle elements of a prima facie case for violation of Section 5 are the following: (i) 
respondents sold or offered to sell securities; (ii) through use of interstate facilities or the mails 
(the jurisdictional means) ; and (iii) when no registration statement was filed or in effect as to 
those securities. Scienter is not an element.466 A Section 5 violation does not require a showing 
that the sale actually facilitated a fraud. A sale without registration and without an exemption is 
an unlawful distribution of securities regardless of whether it is proven to be cOIUlected to a 
fraud. 

Enforcement established a prima facie case. It proved that from December 1, 2013, 
through June 30, 2014, Scottsdale sold shares ofthree issuers, NHPI, VPLM, and ORFG, using 
the jurisdictional means and without registration.467 

Respondents do not dispute these facts . TIley argue only that the transactions were 
.l'. •• 468 exempt 1rom reglstratlOn. 

3. The Firm Lacked A Reasonable Basis For An Exemption 

Scottsdale failed to have a reasonable basis for an exemption at the time that it sold the 
securities in the transactions at issue. 

464 Edward S. Brokaw, Exchange Act Release No. 70883, 2013 SEC LEXIS 3583, at *33 (Nov. 15,2013). See also 
Simpson v. Bear. Steams & Co., No. C07950030, 1997 NASD Discip. LEXIS 13, at *27 n.9 (NAC Jan. 29, 1997) 
("Tenn ' bad faith' is not simply bad judgment or negligence, but rather it implies the conscious doing of a wrong 
because of dishonest purpose or moral obliquity .... "). 

465 FINRA Sanction Guidelines at 1 (2016) (Overview), https ://www.finra.orglindustrylsanction-guidelines. 

466 Bloonifield, 2014 SEC LEXIS 698, at *22 & n.29. See also SEC v. Cavanagh, 445 F.3d 105, 111 n.13 (2d Cir. 
2006); SECv. Calvo, 378 F.3d 1211 , 1214-15 (lIth Cir. 2004). 

467 R..-,\-I ; RX-2; RX-3 ; JX-268; JX-281; JX-31 O. 

'168 Resp. PH Br. 2-5. 
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First, in its due diligence the Film did not even address the question whether the debt 
obligation was a security, despite having lawyers on its Rule 144 review team and despite 
Respondent Cruz being a lawyer with significant experience in the securities laws. It had no 
foundation for the tacking necessary to achieve the required holding period because the 
promissory notes and lines of credit on which the tacking was based were not securities. 

Second, the documentation to supp0l1 the Rule 144 exemption was rife with 
discrepancies and suspicious circumstances- all of which raised red flags strongly suggesting 
that the chain of transactions leading to deposits at Scottsdale were sham transactions using false 
documents and nominees to conceal the identity of the beneficial o\vners . 

Although the Film compiled thick due diligence packages for the transactions, it did so 
with a "check-the-box" attitude. It did not appropriately evaluate the information in the due 
diligence packages, did not investigate the many red flags, and did not independently verify the 
infolmation received from the interested pat1ies. The due diligence packages created only the 
false appearance of due diligence. 

The Finn's conduct was unethical and did not meet the industry nonns. The persons 
involved in the Rule 144 review did not obtain any meaningful infOlmation about the individuals 
and entities involved in the transactions. Diekmann confessed that he knew nothing about the 
purpOlied beneficial owner of one of the deposits other than that the person was a client of 
CSCT's client. Scottsdale knew little more about any ofthem. It failed to pelfonn its 
gatekeeping function. The testimony of Enforcement 's expert only confinns our conclusion that 
the Finn failed to conduct itself in a manner consistent with industry non11S. 

a. The Prior Holders' Debt Obligations Were Not SecuIities 
Available For Tacking 

i. Reves Governs 'Vhether Note Is A Security 

Not every note or debt obligation is a security.469 The Supreme Com1's decision in Reves 
govems the analysis. 4 

70 Any note with a teml of more than nine months is presumed to be a 
security unless it resembles one of the judicially enumerated instruments that are not securities, 
such as a note delivered in connection with consumer finance or a mOltgage. In Reves, the COllrt 
set the analytic framework for detelmining whether a note bears a resemblance to one of the 
enumerated instruments or should be held to be a security. Four factors may be considered in 
deciding whether a note is a security: 

(i) whether the seller's purpose is to raise money for general use of business or to 
finance substantial investments, and the buyer is motivated by the profit to be 

469 Reves v. Ernst & Young , 494 U.S. 56, 65-67 (J990). 

470 I d. 
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generated, in contrast to a note to facilitate a minor purchase or sale or to 
C01Tect for cash-flow difficulties ; 

(ii) whether the note involves an individual transaction or common trading for 
speculation or investment; 

(iii) whether there is a reasonable public expectation that the note would be viewed 
as security; and 

(iv) whether another regulatory scheme applies that would reduce risk of the 
instrument.471 

In another case, the COlllt later summed up the distinguishing characteristic of a security 
as "any instrument that might be sold as an investment. ,,472 

As we explain below, we conclude that none ofthe debt obligations held by the prior 
holders were securities. 111at includes the NHPI note in payment for consulting services, the oral 
line of credit to VPLM, and the outstanding balance on the ORFG line of credit. As a result, 
when the prior holder accepted stock in satisfaction of the debt, it was not an exchange of 
securities that would sUPPOtt tacking. 

ii. NHPI 

It is plain that the note written by NHPI to Collins, the prior holder in the chain of 
holders, was not a security. Vol e observe at the outset that the note's telll1 was much shotter than 
the nine months required to presume a note to be a security-roughly two months. But it also 
fails the test set fotth in Reves. NHPI did not enter into the note agreement in order to ftnance its 
general business or to make a substantial investment. Nor was Collins motivated by some proftt 
to be generated from the note. According to documents in the due diligence package, the note 
was 110 more than a promise to pay Collins $10,000 for consulting services. FmthemlOre, the 
note was issued in a single transaction. A note that "merely reflects a single transaction" and is 
"not offered to the public" is not a security.'173 Nor could there be any public expectation that an 
individual note promising to pay for services was a security. The fOlllth factor, whether another 
regulatory scheme applied and diminished the need for treating the instnul1ent as a security, is 
inapplicable where no other factor suppOtts labeling the note a security. 

471 Id at 65-67. See also Bass v . .Janney MontgomelY Scott, Inc., 210 F.3d 577, 583-86 (6th Cir. 2000). 

' 172 SEC v. Edwards, 540 US. 389, 393 (2004) . See also Frankfurt v. Mega Entertainment Group II, 2016 US. Dist. 
LEXIS 73613, at *11 (N.D. IlL June 7, 2016) (stating that "only those notes that were issued in an investment 
context" are securities) . 

473 New Earthshell Corp. v . .Jobookit Holdings Ltd, 201 5 US. Dist. LEXIS 27141 , at *10-11 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 5, 
2015) 
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As another similar note was aptly described by a federal district court, the note held by 
Collins was "akin to an 'IOU' for services rendered.',474 

iii. VPLM 

With respect to the issue of whether the oral line of credit eJ\.iended by Locksmith to 
VPLM was a security, the focus at the hearing was on whether there is any distinction between 
an oral agreement and a written agreement. Diekmann maintained that there is no difference 
between an oral line of credit and a written line of credit for purposes of Rule 144 and tacking. 
He understood that in either case the successor holder could tack back to an advance on the line 
of credit . He based his understanding on his experience with the treatment of written lines of 
credit and discussions with legal counsel- who exactly he could not recall. 475 

In their post-hearing brief,476 Respondents relied on a Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals 
decision, Canadian Imperial Bank.477 TIleir reliance is misplaced. The issue in Canadian 
Imperial Bank was whether a private plaintiffhad sufficiently pleaded the existence of a security 
for purposes of establishing subject matter jurisdiction. TIle plaintiff alleged that a certificate of 
deposit from a Bahama bank was a security, but no document was attached that could be 
analyzed for purposes of jurisdiction. TIle Cotui held that the complaint did not allege sufficient 
facts to establish jurisdiction, but it hastened to say that its decision did not mean that only 
written instruments can be securities, noting that oral promises of patiicipation in a profit sharing 
plan have been held to be investment contracts even where not evidenced in writing.478 TIle 
COllli 's remarks regarding oral promises as investment contracts provide no basis for concluding 
that the oral credit line here wa'S a security. 

TIle oral line of credit, unlike an oral promise of patiicipation in a profit sharing plan, was 
not represented to be an investment. Nor was it easily tradeable as an investment. There was no 
means of being certain of the terms, confident of the effective transfer of rights, or sure that those 
rights might later be enforced. Accordingly, the oral line of credit was not a security. 

Moreover, even if \Nritten, the line of credit did not meet the Reves test. 11le line of credit 
was a loan to the issuer by a single individual. Such an individual transaction would not be 
viewed as a security by the public and would not ordinarily be traded as an investment. 

474 SEC v. Garber, 959 F. Supp. 2d 374, 377 (S.D.N. Y. 2013). 

475 Hearing IT. (Diekmann) 1711-17. 

476 Resp. PH Br. 22 n.114. 

477 Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce Trust Co. v. Fingland, 615 F. 2d 465 (7th Cir. 1980). 

478 ld at 466-67 & n.5. 
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iv.ORFG 

The open-ended line of credit extended by Forward to ORFG for $600,000 was not a 
security. As discussed above in connection with the other debt conversion transactions, it did not 
meet the Reves test. It was an individual transaction that was not designed to trade as an 
investment. Nor would the public view it as a security.479 

b. The Firm Ignored Red Flags 

Even if the notes had been securities, the transactions were not entitled to the safe harbor 
of Rule 144. Many of the red flags set forth in Regulatory Notice 09_05480 existed in the 
transactions at issue. The foHowing red flags are examples: 

• All the stock deposits in the transactions at issue consisted oflarge blocks of thinly 
traded, low-priced stocks issued by obscure companies. (Reg. Notice 09-05 Red Flag 1). 

• CSCT had a pattern of making large deposits of thinly traded microcap stocks, selling the 
securities, and inmlediately wiring out the proceeds. Respondents knew that CSCT was 
acting on behalf of its FFI customers involved in the transactions and that the FFls also 
engaged in the same pattern while acting on behalf of other entities and individuals. 
Despite the pattern, Scottsdale did nothing to investigate who actually was receiving the 
funds from the securities sales. Because the only account at Scottsdale was in the name of 
CSCT, Scottsdale could not and did not track where the proceeds ultimately went. It 
could not tell if the proceeds went to the different purported beneficial owners or to other 
persons who were repeatedly engaging in the deposit and inmlediate resale of securities. 
(Reg. Notice 09-05 Red Flag 2). 

• The deposited shares were recently issued, which suggested that the issuer or its control 
persons could be initiating a distribution . Nothing in the due diligence packages indicates 
that Scottsdale took any note of that fact. (Reg. Notice 09-05 Red Flag 3). 

• Although the issuer claimed not to be a shell corporation, there was little evidence of 
ongoing business operations. The Firm mainly relied on a representation by a principal of 
the issuer that the entity was not a shell. (Reg. Notice 09-05 Red Flag 7). 

• Two of the issuers involved in this case had business histories that suggested shell status. 
Only a few months before the deposit ofNHPI securities at Scottsdale, l\T}-IPI, a 
pharnlaceutical company, announced it was going into the oil and gas business. ORFG, 

479 Furthermore, even if the note had been a security. Forward did not transfer the ORFG note for securities of 
ORFG. He transferred a portion of the note for securities of a different entity. Anything Media. He also did so in 
connection with an agreement by ORFG to modifY the terms of the original line of credit. His exchange involved 
securities of a different issuer and different consideration. Accordingly, Media Central was not entitled to tack back 
to Forward' s original note. 

480 See supra pp. 78-79 . 
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which described itself as an automotive detailing company that used casual patt-time 
labor as required, similarly indicated it was considering going into mineral exploration 
and set forth atl atlticipated payment schedule for three unspecified mining concessions. 
In both cases, the new business venture was radically different from the old line of 
business, the infol111ation regat-ding either line of business was scant, and the company's 
purported resources did not appeat· sufficient to engage in the new line of business. (Reg. 
Notice 09-05 Red Flags 7 and 9). 

Finally, we note that it is critical in a Rule 144 tratIsaction to know the identity of the 
purported beneficial owners and any relationship they might have to the issuers or affiliates of 
the issuers of the shares they seek to sell. Even after collecting voluminous documents, the Film 
in fact knew nothing about the purported beneficial owners or about the businesses through 
which they held the securities except their names . Diekmat1ll, who headed the Rule 144 teatl1 at 
the time of the transactions at issue, admitted that he knew nothing about the purported beneficial 
owner of one of the NHPI deposits other thatl that the person was a customer ofUnicom. 481 The 
Finn knew little more than that about any of the other purported beneficial owners involved in 
the transactions at issue. Diekmann 's testimony is a stark confession that the Fil1n did not 
perform its gatekeeping function and did not adhere to high statldards of commercial honor and 
just atId equitable principles oftrade. 

c. Respondents' Arguments Are Unavailing 

i. NHPI 

Respondents ' at'guments relating to the NHPI deposits rest on treating the representations 
by the interested parties in the documentation for the NHPI deposits as though they were true. 
For example, Scottsdale asserts that Collins was not an affiliate of NHPI, and therefore he could 
freely sell the stock derived from his note in the fall of2013 regardless of any tacking to the 
inception of the May 2012 note. 482 Respondents then reason that Collins' transactions with Sky 
Walker, lrelatld Offshore, and Swiss National could not be fake 10atI transactions, as 
Enforcement portrays them, because, as a non-affiliate holder for more than a year, Collins could 
simply have sold the shares to the three depositors. Respondents conclude that there could be no 
reason to fake the loan transactions. Respondents likewise assert that the beneficial owners of 
Sky V·lalker, Ireland Offshore, and Swiss National were not affiliates ofNHPI based on the 
representations to that effect by the interested parties. 483 

In making arguments that depend upon the truth of the representations made by the 
interested parties, Respondents only demonstrate their continuing lack of appropriate response to 

481 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 911 - 13, 919. 

482 In so arguing, the Firm abandons the basis on which the deposit was justified at the time Scottsdale sold the 
shares. On its Checklist for the transaction, the Firm relied on tacking back to the inception of the May 2012 note. 
RX-l , at 1. 

'183 Resp. PH Br. 13-15. 
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the suspicious circumstances and glaring red flags raised by the NHPI deposits. As the SEC has 
noted, a broker-dealer may not rely on representations by interested parties because those 
interested patties have an incentive to make misrepresentations. 484 

li. VPLM 

Again, Scottsdale's arguments largely assume the truth of the representations by the 
interested parties. TIley asseli that they reasonably relied on those representations. 485 We reject 
Respondents ' position. Red flags signaled that the transaction could be a scheme to evade the 
registration requirements while distributing securities to the public . The Firm could not sell the 
securities unless it investigated fmiher and obtained better suppOli for an exemption. 

Scottsdale also argues that Enforcement failed to prove that any proceeds of the sales of 
VPLM flowed back to the issuer or that there were atly links between the issuer and the persons 
involved in selling VPLM stock through CSCT and Scottsdale.4s6 As discussed above, the Finn 
misunderstands the law. It was not Enforcement's burden to prove who was behind the 
transactions; rather, it was Respondents' burden to probe the suspicious circumstances and 
establish that the transaction was entitled to the Rule 144 exemption before the Finn sold the 
securities. 

lii. ORFG 

As with the other transactions, Respondents' arguments assume the truth of the 
representations in the transaction documents. For instance, they argue that the Finn obtained 
satisfactory evidence that the transaction met the requirements of Rule 144 because the Finn 
obtained a letter from ORFG's Chainnan and CEO dated May 19,2014, confinningthat Media 
Central and its purpOlied owner were not affiliates of the company. 

Given that the underlying transaction-the $600,000 open-ended credit line giving the 
holder discretion to convert stock at will-made no sense, it was unreasonable to rely on that 
letter as the only evidence that the seller was not an affiliate. If the chain of transactions were 
reall y a series of steps in a distri buti on for the ultimate benefit of the issuer or those persons 
controlling the issuer, then such a representation by the issuer's Chairman and CEO would be in 
service of the unlawful distribution of securities without registration. 

4. Hurry's Violation 

TIle First Cause of Action also charges that Hut,-y was a necessary patiicipant and 
substantial factor in the unlawful transactions, through his close management and control of all 
the entities involved in the process of depositing, approving, and reselling the securities, and 

'184 Laser Arms, 1991 SECLEXIS 257, at *36. 

485 Resp. PH Br. 21 . 

486 Resp. PH Br. 22. 

86 

- 247a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:28 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:28 PM



through his prospecting for CSCT customers. It expressly alleges that Hurry purposely 
established CSCT as a means of evading regulatory scrutiny and enabling the Film to make the 
unlawful sales . Enforcement proved the charges. 

a. Hurry 'Vas A Necessary Participant And Substantia] Factor 

Section 5 makes it unlawful for a person to offer or sell securities without registration. 
Liability, however, is not limited to the person or entity that ultimately passes title to the 
security. C0U11s have developed tlle "necessary pat1icipantlsubstantial factor" test as a way of 
holding other persons involved with the transactions accountable under Section 5 as offerors or 
sellers.487 The "necessary pat1icipantisubstantial factor" test is based on statutory language in 
Section 5, which imposes liability on persons who "directly or indirectly" offer or sell securities 
in violation of Section 5. 488 

The "necessary pat1icipantisubstantial factor" test distinguishes between those persons 
who have only a de minimis or insubstantial role in securities sales in violation of Section 5 and 
those who should be liable. TIle test is more than a "but for" test. Even if a person is necessary to 
the completion of the transaction, such as a transfer agent might be, that does not necessarily 
mean the person was a substantial factor in the violation. Determining whether someone was a 
substantial factor in the unlawful sales is a fact issue requiring eJo..,iensive analysis. 489 

It is not clear that the "necessary pat1icipantisubstantial factor" test is appropriate here. 
Hurry is not charged with offering 6r selling securities in violation of Section 5. He is charged 
with an ethical violation under Rule 2010. He does not have to be proven to be an offeror or 
seller in order to be proven to have violated Rule 2010. 

The parties briefed HUl1)"S liability using the "necessary paJ1icipantisubstantial factor" 
test, however, and we use it to assist in determining whether HUrt), was sufficiently linked to the 
transactions at issue to hold him liable for violating Rule 2010 in connection with them. We also 
separately apply the more familiar standard for Rule 2010 violations, which we discuss below. 

Based on the above factual record and analysis, which we do not repeat in detail here, we 
conclude that Hurry was a necessary pm1icipant and a substantial factor in the transactions . He 
was sufficiently linked to the transactions to hold him accountable for his conduct in connection 
with them. His role was not de minimis or insubstantial. 

We reject HUrt)"s argument that he cannot be linked to the transactions at issue . He 
assel1s that there is "not a single document relating to the stocks in question with [his] name 

487 SEC v. CMK1II! Diamonds, Inc., 729 F.3d 1248, 1255 (9th Cir. 20l3). 

488 SEC v. Boock, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 95363, at *47 & n.17 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 25, 2011). 

489 CMKi\;f Diamonds, 729 F.3d at 1255-57; SEC v. Blackburn, 2015 U.S. Dist LEXIS 178325, *8-9 (E.n La. Sept. 
11,2015). 
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anywhere on it.,,49o While there was little in the way of a paper trail directly linking Hurry to the 
patiicular transactions at issue, the absence of such a direct link was the result of HUlTY's own 
demonstrated obsession with secrecy. He purposely concealed his involvement in CSCT's 
business. It is not surprising that there is not a single document relating to the deposits at issue 
with his natIIe on it, because he made sure of it. 

In fact, HlllTy was the master puppeteer for all the FFI business that flowed through 
CSCT to Scottsdale and, ultimately, to public investors. CSCT existed only because he 
established and closely matIaged it. Given Ruzicka 's lack of experience, qualifications, and 
contacts, CSCT could not have survived without Hun'Y's active involvement. We reject HlllTY'S 
asseltion that, because Ruzicka had decades of experience as a real estate lawyer who ran his 
own law finn, hiring Ruzicka to run CSCT was a reasonable and logical decision. 491 

With respect to the patiicular transactions at issue, there is sufficient evidence of a link 
between HUlTY and the FFls that made the deposits. Hun)' developed CSCT's business with the 
three FFls that engaged in those transactions, Montage, Titan, and Unicom. As set forth more 
fully above, Huny admits that he flew to PatIatna to see Montage and to Belize to see Unicom 
and that he discussed with Unicom doing its business through CSCT. He admits to talking to the 
principals of Montage, Titan, and Unicom multiple times using FaceTime. He admits to creating 
the spreadsheet that tracked CSCT deposits, including those by Montage, Titan, and Unicom. 
D'Mura testified that he atId Ruzicka talked about deposits with Huny, and an email shows that 
Hurry specifically discussed trading in NHPI and VPLM with Ruzicka. Ruzicka testified that 
Hun)' told him to deal with a specific contact at Montage. Both Ruzicka atId D'Mura said they 
disliked dealing with Cem CatI at Unicom, but that they knew that they had no authority to 
decline his business without HUlTY's consent. 

Hun)"s direct contact with the tlu'ee FFls involved in the tratIsactions at issue made him 
a substantial factor in their transactions. He did not take Ruzicka with him when he flew to 
PatIama atId Belize to talk to Montage and Unicom, atId Ruzicka testified in his OTR that he did 
not patiicipate in Hun)"s FaceTime calls with customers. Huny was the critical link between 
CSCT and the three FFls. Hun-y's impOliatlCe was reflected in Unicom's demand for HUlTY to 
join a telephone call with Miller, Diekmann, atId Ruzicka to discuss the processes atId 
procedures to be used in comlection with Unicom's business with Scottsdale tlu'ough CSCT. 
\\Thenever something beyond paper-pushing was involved, Hun-y's input was necessary. We 
reject HlllTY'S argument that he merely displayed the nonnal interest of an owner in the overall 
financial pelfonnance of his fU111.

492 His involvement in CSCT's business was intense atId 
pervasIve. 

490 Resp. PH Br. 45. 

491 Resp. PH Br. 43-44. 

492 Resp. PH Br. 46-47. 
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Huny fmiher argues that the case law only imposes liability under Section 5 where the 
defendant has either sold the umegistered securities himself or has taken concrete steps 
necessaJY to effectuate those sales, such as negotiating transactions, issuing opinion letters, or 
directing the issuance of shares . He contends that he engaged in no such activities here.493 

We reject the argument. As noted above, HUITY is not charged with a Section 5 violation, 
but, rather, a Rule 2010 violation. Unethical conduct in violation of Rule 2010 is not constrained 
by case law defining who is liable as a statutory seller under Section 5. In any event, substantial 
participation is a broad concept without precise bounds . One who conceives of and plans a 
scheme, or one who is a substantial motivating factor behind it, can be liable under Section 5.494 

To hold otherwise would allow a person to mastermind a Section 5 violation, and, by directing 
others to pelfonn the mechanical tasks necessaJY to effect the sale of securities without 
registration, escape liability. 

h. Hurry Acted In Bad Faith 

FINRA Rule 2010 is a broad ethical principle that may be violated either by conduct that 
fails to meet ethical norms, regardless of intention, or conduct that is undeliaken in bad faith . We 
find here that, in connection with the business he routed through CSCT, HUITY acted in bad faith 
and violated FINRA Rule 2010. We conclude that he was engaged in a scheme to evade the 
securities laws, in paJiicular the registration requirements of Section 5. 

Huny claimed that he established CSCT because Alpine wanted to shed its IRS tax 
withholding obligations, but there was no evidence that it made business sense to set up aJl office 
in the Cayman Islands to do that. In fact, the inseriion of CSCT into the process of preparing 
stock celiifIcates for resale to the public made no business sense because, due to the discounts 
Scottsdale eA1:ended to CSCT, HUITY's enterprises as a collective group made no more money 
than when Scottsdale was handling the business directly-but CSCT imposed additional costs. 

111at HUITY had no legitimate business reason for setting up CSCT is fmiher apparent 
from the way the Fiml handled the business purp01iedly routed through CSCT. 111e Finn, 
through Miller and Noiman, continued to deal directly with the FFIs and often handled issues 
that arose with the deposits without involving Ruzicka or CSCT. Rather than independently 
preparing deposits for submission to Scottsdale, Ruzicka also sought guidance from Diekmaml 
as to what deposits he should consider. 

Fmiher casting doubt on the legitimacy of Huny's reasons for setting up CSCT, 
DiekmaJ111 testified that an individual in Belize or Panama could have a direct account with 

493 Resp. PH Br. 46 and n.261. 

494 SEC v. Elliolt, 2011 U.S Dist. LEXIS 91946, at "'20 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 17, 2011). See also SEC v. Holschuh, 694 F. 
2d 130, 139-40 (7th Cir. 1982); SEC v. Friendly Power Co., 49 F. Supp. 2d 1363, 1372 (S.D. Fla. 1999) (a person 
has indirectly sold a security to the public if he has "em ployed or directed others to sell .. or has conceived of and 
planned the scheme by which the unregistered securities were offered or sold"). 
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Scottsdale without going through an FFI like Unicom or CSCT. 495 Cruz admitted that it would be 
easier to conduct due diligence on a direct customer of the Finn than a customer who came 
tlu'ough an FFI such as CSCT or Unicom.496 In fact, the creation ofCSCT diminished 
Scottsdale ' s access to infol111ation about the purported beneficial owners, and neither Scottsdale 
nor Alpine, Huny's clearing fiml, knew where the proceeds from sales of the securities were 
flowing. 497 This testimony raises the question of the purpose served by the multiple layers of 
entities-if not to conceal the identity of the true beneficial owners of the securities . 

Hun)"s bad faith was amply proven by his elaborate stratagems for concealing his 
involvement in CSCT's business, including his use of the "x" email address at CSCT, his 
insistence on using the attomey-client privilege in inappropriate circumstances, and his use of 
FaceTime to conceal his contacts with customers. He specifically wrote to Ruzicka in an email 
that there should be no written record of Huny's involvement, which is powerful evidence of 
Hun)" s scheme to avoid regulatory scrutiny. Ruzicka testified in his OTR that I-llmy told him he 
was going to the Cayman Islands so that he would not have to "give anything to anyone. " 

Hun)"s actions betray an attitude antithetical to the public interest, and his attempt to 
evade regulatory scrutiny is inconsistent with his duties as a securities professional. He failed to 
adhere to high standards of conunercial honor and just and equitable principles of trade, thereby 
violating FINRA Rule 2010. 

H. Supervisory Violations (Second And Third Causes Of Action-DiBlasi And 
Cruz) 

1. NASD Rule 3010 Imposes Supervisory Duties 

NASD Rule 301O(a) mandates that each member firm "shall establish and maintain a 
system to supervise" the activities of its associated persons. It fUlther mandates that a finn's 
supervisol)' system be "reasonably designed to achieve compliance with the applicable securities 
laws and regulations, and with applicable NASD Rules. " 

Rule 301O(a)(1) provides that a finn ' s supervisory system "shall provide, at a minimum," 
for the "establishment and maintenance of written procedures ." Rule 3010(b) details 
requirements for WSPs. Rule 3010(b)(1) requires that a member fmn "shall establish, maintain, 
and enforce written procedures to supervise the types of business in which it engages." Those 
WSPs must be "reasonably designed to achieve compliance with applicable secmities laws and 
regulations, and with the applicable Rules ofNASD." 

Rule 30 lO(b )(3) further requires that the WSPs set forth the titles, registration status, 
locations and responsibilities of each of its supervisOl), personnel, and that assignments be made 

495 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 1675. 

496 Hearing If. (Cruz) 220. 

497 Hearing If. (Cruz) 661-62; Hearing Ir. (Frankel) 2349-50. 
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covering all relevant areas of the firm's business and the applicable securities laws and FINRA 
Rules. Finns are required to preserve a record of these designations and their effective dates for 
at least three years. Under Rule 3010(b)(4), a finn is required to amend its WSPs as changes 
occur in its supervisory system. 

Broadly speaking, WSPs are a written set of policies and procedures that describe 
concrete steps to supervise a finn's activities. They identify who is responsible for taking those 
steps and set up a system of documentation to allow for review and ensure proper 
implementation. Every broker-dealer finn must create, maintain, update, and adhere to those 
policies and procedures. 498 Those policies and procedures contribute to the establishment and 
maintenance of a supervisory system that is reasonably designed to achieve compliance with the 
laws, regulations, and JUles applicable to the fmn's business. To achieve accountability and 
ensure compliance, the WSPs must be clear and accurate regarding the allocation of supervisory 
responsibilities. 

2. DiBlasi's Violation 

a. Charge 

The Second Cause of Action charges that Scottsdale and DiBlasi, the Film's CCO, 
violated NASD Rules 3010(a) and (b) and FINRA Rule 2010. The Complaint alleges that 
DiBlasi failed to establish a supervisory system, including WSPs, reasonably designed to ensure 
compliance with Section S. This failure OCCUlTed even though DiBlasi knew that the Fim1 had 
been sanctioned once before in settling prior charges of selling unregistered nonexempt 
securities. Among other things, the Complaint charges that the Finn's WSPs were deficient 
because they did not set fOl1h clear responsibilities for its personnel and did not provide for a 
reasonable inquiry into beneficial ownership. The Complaint alleges that the WSPs did not 
require that the Finn's personnel take steps to independently verify the self-serving 
representations made by pat1ies interested in the transactions and did not address the possible use 
of nominees to obscure the identity of the true beneficial owners of unregistered securities 
deposited at the Film for resale. Enforcement proved the charge. 

b. DiBlasi Had Responsibility For The Firm's \VSPs 

Throughout the relevant period, DiBlasi was the Film's CCO; and he is still the Finn's 
CCO. DiBlasi contends, however, that he has never had responsibility for the Firm's Rule 144 
business. He asserts that he does only what he calls "broker-dealer compliance," and not Rule 
144 compliance.499 According to DiBlasi, the Finn 's fonner president, Cruz, had responsibility 

498 Dep 't of Enforcement v. Ranni, No. 20080117243, 2012 FlNRA Discip. LEXIS 6, at * 15-16 (OHO Mar. 9, 
2012). 

499 Hearing Ir. (DiBlasi) 1921-22, 1927, 1952-53, 1976-77. DiBlasi described what he meant by broker-dealer 
compliance. He makes sure that the Firm's filings, such as the Form BD and the Forms U4 and U5, are done . He 
maintains records and makes sure correspondence and em ails are reviewed. He summed up his work as taking care 
of a 11 the "back office" tasks . Hearing If. (DiBlasi) 1976-77. 
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for Rule 144 procedures and everyone deferred to him.500 DiBlasi agreed that ClUZ had a 
longstanding practice regarding responsibilities for Rule 144 compliance. 501 

\'A/ e reject DiBlasi's asseliion that he had no responsibility for the Finn's procedures in 
connection with the Finn's Rule 144 business for two reasons . First, in the circumstances of this 
case, the assertion is inconsistent with his designation as the Finn's Chief Compliance Officer; 
and, second, the asseliion is inconsistent with the WSPs themselves, as is plain from reading 
them. 

First, DiBlasi is the sole person disclosed on the Finn's F01l11 BD as CCO. 111ere is no 
co_CCO. 502 11Ult means that DiBlasi has been identified to the Firm's reglilator as the one person 
responsible for establishing and maintaining the Fir111'S WSPs. 

11le Finn ' s WSPs were required to cover its Rule 144 business, since the Fir111 's business 
is almost entirely the liquidation ofumegistered microcap stocks. DiBlasi acknowledged in his 
testimony that during the relevant period 95% of the transactions Scottsdale did for its customers 
involved penny stocks, and penny stocks accounted for most of the Finn's revenue. 503 111at 
business required heightened attention to compliance issues, as DiBlasi knew. TIle Finn had 
previously settled regulatory charges that it had improperly sold unregistered securities without 
an applicable exemption.504 

In these circumstances, the designation CCO can'ied with it responsibility for the WSPs 
relatirlg to the Finn's Rule 144 business. DiBlasi's abdication of responsibility as to that business 
is fundcunentally incompatible with what it means to be the Finn's CCO. 

'vVe rej ect DiBlasi's asseliion that Enforcement is trying to hold him liable by viliue of 
his title alone. 505 Rule 3010 requires the designation and disclosure of a person responsible for 
establishing and maintaining a finn's procedures. By definition under the Rule, the person 
disclosed as the CCO has responsibility for the Firm's WSPs. 111e Rule fmiher sets a standard 
for the design of those procedures, which must be reasonably designed to achieve compliance 
with the laws and regulations applicable to the finn's business. 11le designation and disclosure of 
a finn's CCO is more than a meculingless title. It is one of the buildirlg blocks of a supervisory 
system reasonably designed to achieve compliance, and the CCO designation cat1'ies with it 

500 Hearing If. (DiBlasi) 1944-47, 1952-53, 1965-66. 

501 Hearing If. (DiBlasi) 1970. According to DiBlasi, his predecessor as ceo had no responsibility for Rule 144 
compliance either. Id. 

502 Hearing If. (DiBlasi) 1981. 

503 Hearing If. (DiBlasi) 1923, 1946. 

504 Hearing Ir. (DiBlasi) 1923-24; CX-12. 

505 Resp. PH Br. 38 n.220. 
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responsibilities. If DiBlasi is not can'ying out those responsibilities, then the disclosure on the 
Finn 's Fonn BD is false and misleading.506 

Second, throughout the relevant period the Finn's WSPs expressly provided that the 
CCO-DiBlasi-had the duty to establish, maintain, and enforce all of the Finn's WSPs. There 
were two sets of WSPs during the relevant period, the May 2013 WSPs that were in effect in 
October 2013 when DiBlasi became CCO, and the modified WSPs that became effective in May 
2014. The main body of both sets of WSPs expressly assigned to the CCO responsibility to 
"[ e ]stablish, maintain and update, as required the finn rules and procedures" and specified that 
that responsibility included Appendix A and Appendix B to the WSPS. 507 Appendix A to both 
sets of\VSPs listed principals and branches. 508 Appendix B to both sets of WSPs expressly 
assigned to DiBlasi, by name, the responsibility to "[ e] stabl ish, maintain and update, as required, 
the finn rules and procedures. ,,509 Appendix B assigned to Cruz, Diekmann, and others various 
operational tasks in conducting Rule 144 due diligence, but it did not assign them responsibility 
for the WSPS.510 

DiBlasi conceded that there was no written delegation in the 2013 WSPs that gave 
responsibility for Rule 144 policies and procedures to anyone other than the CCO.5Jl Moreover, 
the 2013 WSPs expressly imposed celtain specific responsibilities on the CCO in connection 
with sales of unregistered securities . The main body of the WSPs included a specific section 
dealing with Rule 144 stock that was headed "Rule 144 Restricted and Control Stock Sales. ,,512 

In that section, the 2013 WSPs stated that the CCO was responsible for establishing procedures 
reasonably designed to ensure that a stock certificate was validly issued and owned by the 
customer. 513 ImpOltantly, the 2013 WSPs also provided that the CCO should establish 

506 The cases cited by Respondents are not relevant here . The cases did not involve the issue of whether a CCO was 
responsible for a finn's WSPs. Dep 't of Enforcement v. Mutual Servo Corp. , No. EAF0400630001, 2008 FINRA 
Discip. LEXIS 62, at *90-93 (OHO Dec. 16,2008) (compliance department subordinates who were told to abandon 
red flag blotter review did not have supervisory responsibility for that review); Dep 't of Enforcement V. Kemweis, 
No. C02980024, 2000 NASD Discip. LEXIS 49, at "'67-70 (OHO Feb. 16, 2000) (Director of Compliance held not 
to have line responsibility for unsuitable trading by registered representatives). 

507 CX-179, at 6 ("The Chief Compliance Officer ("CCO') is responsible for the establishm ent and maintenance [of 
Scottsdale's] policies and procedures. "); CX-180, at 6 (same). 

508 CX-179, at 158; CX-180, at 151 . 

509 Hearing Tf. (DiBlasi) 1930; CX-181, at 2 (DiBlasi assigned to "[ e]stablish, maintain and update, as required the 
finn rules and procedures, includes Appendices A and B"); CX-182, at 2 (same). It appears that Appendix B to the 
May 2013 WSPs were modified on November 13,2013, to identify DiBlasi by name as responsible for the WSPs. 
CX-181, footer bearing date of " II 11312013." 

510 CX-181, at 8-9; CX-182, at 8-9. For example, Appendix B assigned to Diekmann responsibility for Rule 144 
stock deposit due diligence and approval. CX-181 , at 9; CX-182, at 9. 

5ll Hearing Tf. (DiBlasi) 1933, 1945, 1955-56. 

512 CX-179, at 63-65 (Rule 144 Restricted and Control Stock Sales, 8.18 through 8.18.11). 

513 CX-179, at 64 (8.18.2). 
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procedures to ensure that the resale of such a security was made in reasonable reliance on an 
exemption from registration.sl4 111e 20 l3 \VSPs fmther provided that the CCO should be notified 
and consulted regarding the processing of Rule 144 sales .515 11ley also specified that the CCO 
was responsible for "developing and implementing policies and procedures that provide for the 
review, approval and resale of Rule 144 transactions. "S16 

Neveltheless, DiBlasi argues that he was not responsible for the 2013 WSPs because he 
inherited them. 517 111e fact that the 2013 WSPs already existed when DiBlasi became CCO, 
however, does not absolve him of responsibility to examine them, and, if necessary, to amend 
them.

sls 
As noted above, Rule 3010 contemplates that amendments should be made to WSPs if 

there are changes in a firm's supervisOlY processes, so that the WSPs accurately reflect what the 
finn is doing. Indeed, sholtly after DiBlasi became the Finn ' s CCO, in November 20l3, the Finn 
modified Appendix B to identify DiBlasi by name as the person responsible for establishing, 
maintaining, and updating the Fil111's WSPs, including Appendices A and B. SI9 If Cmz had 
responsibility for WSPs to the eA1ent that they related to its Rule 144 business, the cOlTection 
could and should have been made in November 2013. 

DiBlasi also attempts to explain away aspects of the 2013 WSPs that contradict his 
position-such as the specific assignment of Rule 144 compliance tasks to the CCO. He testified 
that the 2013 WSPs "didn't accurately reflect how the division of responsibility was set up 
tlU'oughout the company. And it needed to be cOlTected. "S20 The 2013 WSPs, however, clearly 
stated that DiBlasi was responsible for the Finn's policies and procedures and made him 
specifically responsible for policies and procedures relating to the Film's Rule 144 business. His 
disclaimer of responsibility Calmot oven-ide that plain statement. 

Approximately six months after DiBlasi became CCO, in May 2014, the WSPs were 
modified.52J Even then, however, the WSPs did not clearly reflect the division of responsibility 
that DiBlasi described in his testimony. 111e WSPs did not say that Cruz had responsibility for all 
aspects of Rule 144 compliance, including the WSPs relating to Rule 144. 

In place of the CCO, the main body of the modified WSPs designated the "General 
Principal" as responsible for developing procedures to ensure that a stock celtificate was validly 
issued and owned by the customer, and that the resale of such a security was made in reasonable 

514 Hearing Ir. (DiBlasi) 1940-41; CX-179, at 64 (8.18.2). 

515 CX-179, at 64 (8.18 .3). 

516 CX-179, at 64 (8.18.3). 

517 Hearing Ir. (DiBlasi) 1932-33. See Resp. PH Br. 38-39. 

518 Ranni, 2012 FINRA Discip. LEXIS 6, at *27 & n.93. 

519 CX-182, at 2. 

520 Hearing Ir. (DiBlasi) 1969. 

521 Hearing Ir. (DiBlasi) 1921, 1932-33, 1939-42. 
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reliance on an exemption.522 Similarly, the modified WSPs instructed that the General Principal 
should be consulted in connection with Rule 144 transactions. Under the modified WSPs, the 
General Principal \,,'as responsible for developing and implementing Rule 144 policies and 
procedures. 523 

Although the title "General Principal" might appear to refer to a single person, the tenn 
General Principal was defined in the modified WSPs as the "}../Ianagement Committee. ,,524 TIle 
WSPs declared that the Management Committee had been set up to serve in the role of president 
of the Finn. 525 TIle Management Committee was defined in yet another location to consist of 
four persons-including DiBlasi. 526 Accordingly, even under the modified WSPs, as a member 
of the Management Committee, DiBlasi still retained some vaguely defined responsibility for 
Rule 144 transactions . 

DiBlasi relies on the delegation to the Management Committee in arguing that he had no 
responsibility for compliance matters related to the Finn's Rule 144 business. He maintains that 
the specific assignment of responsibility for the \VSPs to him by name in Appendix B did not 
"overwrite" the provision in the main body of the WSPs refelTing to the Management 
Committee. 527 

Given the ambiguity of the delegation of responsibility in the main body of the WSPs
ostensibly to the General Principal but actually to a committee that included DiBlasi-we think 
the clear, explicit assignment of responsibility for the WSPs to DiBlasi by name contained in 
Appendix B forecloses DiBlasi 's argument. That conclusion is bolstered by the description in the 
main body of the WSPs of the CCO's duties, which include responsibility for the FilTIl's policies 
and procedures. 

DiBlasi's argument also is undennined by the fact that he took actions in connection with 
certificate deposits . For example, he signed a foreign account application by Unicorn under the 
label "Compliance Approval. ,,528 Furihermore, others at the Finn reached out to him in 
connection with issues regarding celtificate deposits. For example, Diekmann had concerns 
about a deposit because Ruzicka said that the customer was pressing to start trading a stock when 

522 CX-ISO, at 64 (S. IS.2). 

523 CX-ISO, at 64 (S.IS.3). 

524 CX- i SO, at 7 (Compliance and Supervision 1.1.2). 

525 Hearing Ir. (DiBlasi) 1972; CX-180, at 7. 

526 Hearing Ir. (DiBlasi) 1933-34, 1939-40, 1942-43. Ihe other mem bers of the Management Committee were Cruz, 
Jay Noiman, and Elizabeth Arndt. Hearing If. (Noiman) 1065-66; Hearing If. (DiBlasi) 1972. 

527 Hearing Ir. (DiBlasi) 1974-75. 

528 Hearing If. (DiBlasi) 1956-57. DiBlasi maintained that his signature meant nothing more than that a foreign 
financial institution was involved. Hearing If. (DiBlasi) 1957. \Vhatever it meant, DiBlasi's signature appeared 
under the heading "Compliance Approval," and it demonstrated that he was involved in some type of compliance 
review in connection with the Firm's penny stock accounts. 
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there was zero market for it, so Diekmalll forwarded the conespondence to DiBlasi. Diekmatill 
said that he did so because he thought Ruzicka 's comment called into question whether the 
deposit should have been approved by Scottsdale in the first place. He sent the email to DiBlasi 
because DiBlasi was the CCO. 529 

c. The Firm's VVSPs " ' ere Not Reasonably Designed To Ensure 
Compliance With Section 5 

i. The WSPs Did Not Accurately Reflect The Way The Firm 
Conducted Its Rule 144 Business 

TIle Finn's WSPs were not reasonably designed to ensure compliance with Section 5 
because they did not accurately reflect the way the Finn conducted its Rule 144 business. 
DiBlasi testified that Cruz was the principal responsible for Rule 144 compliance and the 
establishment of policies and procedures relating to that business. Cruz testified that DiBlasi 
never had any role in the Rule 144 review process. 530 Cruz created the procedures for Rule 144 
transactions that were in effect during the relevant period, the Finn 's OTC Restricted Stock 
Deposit Procedures, dated November 2012. 531 He testified, however, that during the relevant 
period DiBlasi had responsibility for updating them.532 

Accepting Respondents' testimony about the allocation of responsibilities, during the 
relevant period the WSPs should have clearly said which aspects of the WSPs were Cruz's 
responsibility and which were DiBlasi's . Neither the 2013 WSPs nor the modified WSPs had any 
clear indication of who was responsible for what. 

DiBlasi admitted that the 2013 WSPs did not accurately reflect the 'way the Finn was 
operating its Rule 144 business .533 We fUlther find that the modified WSPs also did not 
accurately reflect the way the Finn operated its business. 

DiBlasi ' s testimony revealed that the modified WSPs allocated responsibility to a 
committee that no longer existed. DiBlasi testified that in January 2014 the Management 
Committee disbanded. He said that Justine Huny took on the Committee's responsibilities in 
February 2014. TIlen, in March 2014, Cruz officially became president of the Finn and took on 

529 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 782-87; CX-222a. 

530 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 563-64. 

531 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 582; R,.'C-27. 

532 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 665-66; R,.'C-27 . 

Confusion over who had responsibility for the WSPs apparently is nothing new at the Finn . Cruz did not remember 
who the CCO was at the time he created the Rule 144 procedures, and he did not recall anyone specifically 
delegating to him the responsibility for creating the procedures. Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 665-66. When asked who now 
has responsibility to update the Rule 144 procedures, Cruz testified, "I believe that responsibility now falls on ReillY 
Diekmann as president and also as head of the 144 cert team." Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 584. 

533 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 783-86; CX-222a. 
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the responsibilities ofthe Management Committee. The Committee never reconstituted itself 
again-and yet in May 2014 the Finn put in place the modified WSPs that supposedly gave Rule 
144 compliance responsibility to the Management Committee. 534 

Even if the Management Committee had been functioning in May 2014, we find that the 
modified \VSPs were misleading regarding the allocation of responsibilities, and, therefore, not 
reasonably designed to achieve compliance. TIley purported to designate a registered principal as 
responsible for compliance with Rule 144. Rule 3010 requires that supervisory responsibilities 
be delegated to an appropriately registered principal. But, in bct, the WSPs delegated 
responsibility for Rule 144 procedures to a group of people. In so doing, the WSPs obscured who 
had responsibility, making it more difficult to hold anyone accountable for compliance oversight 
over the bulk of the Finn 's business . 

TIlis failure to clearly indicate who was responsible for Rule 144 compliance is 
patticularly egregious here. It would have been relatively simple to designate Cruz the 
responsible principal, since everyone agreed that he was . 

It is fundamental that a finn 's WSPs must clearly designate responsibilities to 
appropriately registered persons atld must accurately reflect the way a member finn conducts its 
business . That is why Rule 3010 specifies that supervisOly responsibilities be assigned to an 
appropriately registered principal. TIle person responsible for supervising a patticular line of 
business must have the appropriate background to do it. That is also why a finn 's WSPs must 
address the particular business atld the patticular circumstances of a firm . Only then will the 
\VSPs be well designed to reasonably ensure compliance. 535 

ii. The \\'SPs Did Not Require A Reasonable Inquiry Into 
Beneficial Ownership 

We also find that Scottsdale's WSPs were not reasonably designed to achieve compliance 
with Section 5 because the WSPs failed to require a reasonable inquiry into the identity of the 
purp01ted beneficial owners of the stock the Fiml was selling. TI1e WSPs do not discuss the 
concept of nominees, and the Finn 's principals responsible for approval of stock deposits did not 
focus on the potential problem of nominees in conducting their review. The due diligence files 
for the transactions at issue demonstrate that the Fiml ' s general practice for reviewing stock 
deposits was inadequate to identify and investigate situations in which nominees might be 
conceal ing the identity of the true beneficial owners of securities. Diekmann testified that he 
knew nothing about the purported beneficial owner of Sky Walker but that the person was a 

534 Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1973. DiBlasi's testimony that Justine Hurry briefly served as president of the Firm in 
February 2014 is corroborated by the Firm 's Foml BD Amendment dated February 13, 2014, which lists Justine 
Hurry as president, as well as a director, of the Firm. CX-17, at 3. That docwnent identifies Cruz as legal counsel 
since May 2008. CX-17, at 3. 

535 See NASD Notice to Members 99-45 (June 1999), http ://v,ww.finra .org/sites/defaultifileslNoticeDocumenti 
p004311 .pdf. 
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customer of Unicol1l. The lack of focus on the potential use of nominees to conceal the identity 
of the true beneficial owners is particularly egregious in light of the four prior SEC actions 
charging that nominees had been used to facilitate fi'aud and manipUlation. 

The Finn's listing of every FFI on its red flag list was not sufficient to address beneficial 
ownership or to ensure that an unlawful distribution was not occUlTing. The WSPs did not 
indicate why or what should be done in response to the red flag designation. When asked what 
additional scrutiny comes from the red flag designation, Diekmann could not think of any. He 
said that the designation ' just reflects the heightened risk. ,,536 To recognize a heightened risk but 
provide no guidance for dealing with it is not reasonable. WSPs must provide a "reliable 
mechanism" for identifying securities sales that should be investigated or halted. 537 

3. Cruz's Violation 

The Third Cause of Action charges that Cruz failed to adequately and meaningfully 
analyze the collected documents and infonnation. Consequently, he and the staff he supervised 
failed to respond appropriately to red flags strongly indicating that the transactions were not 
entitled to an exemption. He approved the deposits for resale based on a cursory collection and 
verification effort. Enforcement proved the charges. 

l1lere is no dispute that Cmz supervised the processing of deposits for resale pursuant to 
Rule 144. He drafted the FiITn's procedures for handling restricted stock sold pursuant to Rule 
144 and other fOl1l1S used to process deposits . For each transaction, he also met with the person 
who had put to gether the due diligence file to support the Rule 144 exemption. After talking with 
the person, he gave the final approval that allowed Scottsdale to trade the securities without 
registration. He was critical to the transactions, and, even though the WSPs did not identify him 
as the responsible person, everyone at the Finn looked to Cruz as the person responsible for Rule 
144 compliance. 

Cruz violated his responsibility in two ways. 

First, Cruz failed to analyze whether the debt obligations that fOlmed the foundation for 
tacking were securities. In light of the circumstances, this failure was egregious . Diekma1U1, who 
is not a lawyer, was incapable of recognizing and cOITecting Cruz's en·or. The members of the 
Rule 144 team who were lawyers did not have experience with penny stocks before they came to 
the Finn and were trained by Cruz and the Film's personnel. Everyone depended on Cruz's 
analysis and expel1ise. As an experienced securities lawyer, Cruz should have recognized the 
problem. But he failed to meaningfully analyze the infol1l1ation in the due diligence packages. 

Second, Cruz failed to react appropriately to myriad red flags. As set f011h above in 
connection with each transaction, the stock deposits were rife with discrepancies and suspicious 

536 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 990. 

537 Midas Sec., 2012 SEC LEXIS 199, at *51 . 
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circumstances that constituted red flags. However, Cruz and his staff did not make the required 
"searching inquiry" or obtain independent verification. 

Cruz ' s failure is egregious because he knew that the Finn was acting as a gatekeeper, 538 

and that broker-dealer finns playa critical role in helping to prevent illegal unregistered resales 
of restricted securities into the public markets . 539 He also acknowledged that at the time of the 
events at issue he was aware of the red flags in Regulatory Notice 09_05. 540 It is well established 
that the "duty of supervision includes the responsibility to investigate 'red flags' that suggest that 
misconduct may be occUlTing and to act upon the results. ,,541 

Cruz argues, however, that he was an effective supervisor. He notes that he created the 
Rule 144 manual, the due diligence questionnaire, and beneficial ownership declaration, and that 
the Finn dedicated one-third of its staff to petfonning due diligence reviews on stock deposits. 
He states that he insetted himself into the review process as a second set of eyes and additional 
resource when Scottsdale began accepting stock deposits from customers ofsub-FFIs. He also 
asserts that the due diligence packages at issue contained all the required paperwork and that 
there is no instance of an issue being brought to Cruz ' s attention and him ignoring it. Finally, he 
maintains that the "rigor" of the stock deposit reviews under his leadership is demonstrated by 
the fact that Scottsdale frequently rejected stock deposits. 542 

All of this is beside the point. Cruz is charged with failing to respond appropriately to 
specific red flags identified in connection with the transactions at issue. TIle mere creation of 
paperwork does not qualify as effective supervision. As FINRA noted in conjunction with 
Regulatory Notice 09-05, in Rule 144 transactions, representations made by the interested parties 
have to be evaluated with a skeptical eye. Independent verification may be required. Instead, 
Cruz guided the staff through a check-the-box exercise. 

Even \",hen Cruz acknowledged that something might be a red flag, he indicated that his 
response would not be to obtain independent verification. Rather, his response would be merely 
to remind the interested patties of the infoll11ation that needed to be disclosed. TIlis is a totally 
inadequate response to a red flag. 

Cruz's testimony regarding language on Unicom's website illustrates the problem. TIle 
language on the website indicated that Unicom would appoint nominees for its customers so that 
their names would not appear as atl officer or director of the company on their account at 

538 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 86. 

539 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 89. 

540 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 84-90. 

541 KeD Fin, Inc. , 2016 FINRA Discip. LEXIS 38, at *70 (quoting Michael T. Studer, 57 SEC. 1011, 1023-24 
(2004), aff'd, 260 F. App 'x 342 (2d Cir. 2008)). See also Ronald Pellegrino, Exchange Act Release No. 59125, 
2008 SEC LEXIS 2843, at *33 (Dec. 19, 2008). 

542 Resp. PH Br. 40-41 . 
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Unicom. Cruz said he did not recall seeing that language at the time he reviewed Unicom's 
deposits, but he agreed that if he had it "could have been" a red flag. In response to that red flag, 
however, he did not say that he would have sought independent verification of the identity of 
Unicom's customers. Rather, he indicated that Scottsdale would merely emphasize to the 
interested parties that "they needed to - to disclose the underlying beneficial owner. ,,543 In other 
words, he would continue to rely on the representations of the interested parties. 

Cruz argues that he supervised more actively than did respondents in other disciplinary 
proceedings in which supervisory violations were found. 544 Even if that were true (which we are 
not persuaded it is), the fact that other supervisors in other cases did even less tharl Cruz to 
respond to red flags is no excuse. 11le standard for reasonable supenrision is not merely 
something marginally better than bad. Moreover, whether supervision is reasonable depends on 
1 . I . f 1 545 t le partlcu ar' clrcUlnstarlces 0 eac 1 case. 

Cruz also argues that Enforcement is improperly second-guessing Cruz ' s exercise of 
reasoned business judgment, and that Enforcement has failed to provide affinnative evidence 
that his judgments were lllcOlTect. 546 11lis argument is enoneous in two regards. 

First, the argument ignores the record. The transactions at issue were rife with red flags 
that could not be ignored, but Cruz did ignore them. 

Second, the argument confuses the burden on the Finn when it detennined that an 
exemption existed with the burden of proof in litigation. Cruz, acting on behalf of the Finn, had 
the burden of developing a reasonable basis for believing that an exemption existed before the 
securities could be sold without registration . Enforcement proved that he and the Finn did not 
have a reasonable basis for believing that an exemption existed, but nevertheless Cruz approved 
the sale of the securities at issue without registration. 111at is all that Enforcement had to prove 
for the supervisory violation. 

In sum, Cruz did not make sure that the trarlsactions met the legal requirements for an 
exchange of securities, and he was oblivious to numerous red flags strongly suggesting that the 
transactions at issue were sharn transactions using nominees to effect unlawful distributions of 
securities without registration. He violated his supervisory duties. 

IV. SANCTIONS 

In considering the appropriate sanction for a violation, adjudicators in FINRA 
disciplmary proceedings look to FINRA's Sar1ction Guidelines ("Guidelines"). 11le Guidelines 

543 Hearing I f. (Cruz) 307-08. 

544 Resp. PH Br. 41 n.236. 

545 Eg. , Dep '[ of Enforcement v. Wedbush Sec., Inc. , No. 20070094044, 2014 FINRA Discip. LEXIS 40, at *27-28 
(NAC Dec. 11 , 2014). 

546 Resp. PH Br. 41 . 
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contain recommendations for sanctions for many specific violations, depending on the 
circumstances. They also contain overarching Principal Considerations and General Principles, 
both of which are applicable in all cases .547 

The Guidelines are intended to be applied with attention to the regulatory mission of 
FINRA-to protect investors and strengthen market integrity.548 The Guidelines caution that 
sanctions must be significant enough to prevent and discourage future misconduct by a 
respondent and to deter others from similar misconduct. Sanctions also should encourage 
improved business practices.549 

Applying the Guidelines, we first discuss below the appropriate sanctions for the Finn, 
DiBlasi, and ClUZ. We separately discuss the sanction for Huny 

A. Scottsdale 

As authorized by the Guidelines, we aggregate all the Finn 's violations. 55o The violations 
are inextricably intet1wined and are the result of a systemic failure at the Firm-the Finn's 
failure to have procedures in place that would reasonably ensure compliance and the Finn's 
failure to respond appropriately to red flags led to the Finn 's failure to have a reasonable basis 
for an exemption before selling the securities . FUl1hennore, as discussed below, the Panel 
believes stringent sanctions are wan-anted here, and separately sanctioning the Finn for the 
different violations, even at the high end of the range of recommended sanctions, would not 
adequately remediate the Finn's misconduct. We view the Finn's systemic failure to perfonn its 
gatekeeping function better addressed as a whole, rather than in piecemeal fashion. 

The Finn violated FINRA Rule 2010 because, in connection with the transactions at 
issue, it did not have a reasonable basis for an exemption. Selling securities without registration 
and without an exemption violated Section 5. The Guidelines contain specific recommendations 
for this type of violation. The Guidelines recommend a fine of $2,500 to $73,000, but in 
egregious cases the fine may be higher. In egregious cases, a finn may also be suspended with 
respect to any or all activities or functions for up to 30 business days or until procedural 
deficiencies are remedied.551 

TIle Finn, tlu'ough DiBlasi, failed to have in place WSPs reasonably designed to achieve 
compliance with Section 5. For deficient WSPs, the Guidelines recommend a fme ranging from 
$1,000 to $37,000. They also suggest that adjudicators consider suspending a finn with respect 

547 FINRA Sanction Guidelines (2016) ("Guidelines"), http://www .fima org/ind ustry/sanction-guidelines. 

548 Guidelines at 1, Overview. 

549 Guidelines at 2, General Principle No. 1. 

550 Guidelines at 4, General Principle No. 4. 

551 Guidelines at 24. 
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to any or all relevant activities or functions for up to 30 business days or until the supervisory 
procedures are amended to confonn to the rule requirements. 552 

TIle Finn, through Cruz, failed to supervise its Rule 144 process appropriately. The Finn, 
through Cruz, failed to adequately and meaningfully analyze the infonnation collected and thus 
failed to respond appropriately to red flags that the transactions were unlawful distributions. For 
a failure to supervise, the Guidelines recommend a fine of $5,000 to $73,000. In egregious cases, 
they suggest that adjudicators consider suspending a finn with respect to any or all relevant 
activities or functions for up to 30 business days . An even longer suspension may be imposed, up 
to two years, or the finn may be expelled, where the case involves systemic supervision 
failures. 553 

We find the Finn's violations to be egregious. \'Ale also find that there are a large number 
of aggravating factors that increase the need for stringent sanctions. TIlere are no mitigating 
factors . 

1. Aggravating Factors 

a. Specific Plincipal Considerations Related To Section 5 
Violations 

One of the specific Principal Considerations in a case involving a Section 5 violation is 
whether the respondent attempted to comply with an exemption.554 We conclude here that the 
Fiml did not truly attempt to comply. Rather, it created the appearance of compliance. Although 
the Finn created thick due diligence packages, it did not meaningfully evaluate the information 
in those packages. If it had, it would have known it could not sell the securities without fUliher 
investigation and the development of a reasonable basis for an exemption. V,le fUliher find it 
aggravating that the Finn expended its resources on creating the appearance of compliance, 
rather than true compliance, because such conduct is deceptive and displays a lack of regard for 
the applicable law and regulatory requirements. This aggravating factor applies not only to the 
Finn but to Cruz, on whom everyone at the Fiml depended for Rule 144 compliance. 

Another specific Principal Consideration is the share volume and dollar amount of the 
transactions involved. 555 TIle transactions at issue involved millions of shares and resulted in 

552 Guidelines at 103. 

553 Guicielines at 102. 

554 Guidelines at 24. 

555 Guidelines at 24. See also Guidelines at 7, General Principal Consicieration 18 . 
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proceeds of more than $1.75 million.556 11le amounts involved are substantial and constitute an 
aggravating factor. 

A third specific Principal Consideration is vihether the respondent implemented 
reasonable procedures to ensure that it did not participate in an umegistered distribution .557 11le 
Finn's procedures were not reasonable. To the contrary, they seemed designed to obscure who 
was responsible for Rule 144 compliance and they failed to require specific, reliable evidence to 
suppOtt the application of an exemption. Nor did the Finn implement good practices. 
Scottsdale's staff uncritically relied on the self-serving representations of the interested parties. 
When they did notice a discrepancy, the staff assumed an innocent explanation or accepted a 
plainly unreliable representation from the interested patties, rather than pursuing the "searching 
inquiry" that was required. This aggravating factor applies to DiBlasi, as the CCO, and to Cmz, 
as the person ultimately responsible for Rule 144 compliance, as well as the Finn. 

A fOllIth specific Principal Consideration is whether the respondent disregarded red flags 
suggesting the presence of an unregistered distribution.558 As discussed above, the Finn 
repeatedly failed to identify and disregarded numerous red flags indicating that the transactions 
were unlawful distributions of securities. The multiplicity of red flags is another aggravating 
factor. 111is aggravating factor applies to Cruz as well as the Finn. 

h. Specific Principal Considerations Related To Deficient WSPs 

One of the specific Principal Considerations relating to deficient WSPs is whether those 
deficiencies allowed violative conduct to occur or to escape detection. We find here that the 
WSPs allowed violations to occur. The failure to provide guidance on dealing with discrepancies 
and suspicious circumstances allowed those involved with Rule 144 review to proceed in a rote 
fashion, without analyzing the infonnation they collected. This aggravating factor applies to both 
the Finn and DiBlasi. 

Another specific Principal Consideration is whether the deficiencies made it difficult to 
detennine the individuals responsible for specific areas of supervision or compliance. We find 
that the failure to clearly and accurately delineate responsibility lessened transparency and 
accountability, making regulatory oversight more difficult. It is patticularly aggravating that the 
person designated CCO should disclaim responsibility for the vast majority of the Finn 's 
business . 111is aggravating factor applies to both the Finn and DiBlasi. 

556 JX-26S (NHPI-Related Activity in CSCT Account: Total Net Proceeds of $264,71 1.70); IX-2S1 (VPLM-Related 
Activity in CSCT Account: Total Net Proceeds of $1 ,40S, 173.39); JX-31 0 (ORFG-Related Activity in CSCT 
Account: Total Net Proceeds of $91 ,40S.43). 

557 Guidelines at 24. See also Guidelines at 6, General Principal Consideration 5. 

558 Guidelines at 24. 
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c. Specific Principal Considerations Related To Failure To 
Supervise 

One of the specific Principal Considerations in comlection with a failure to supervise is 
whether the respondent ignored red flags waming of the need for additional supervisory scrutiny. 
Another is the nature, e;-.1ent, size, and character of the underlying misconduct. Both of these are 
aggravating factors in this case. The Finn, through CIUZ, ignored multiple red flags that the 
transactions required additional scrutiny. The transactions were substantial and were typical of 
the bulk of the Finn 's business . The supervisory failure was in fact built into the Finn's standard 
practice for processing Rule 144 stock deposits, which is an aggravating factor. 111ese 
aggravating factors apply to both the Finn and Cruz. 

d. General Principal Considerations 

Several general Principal Considerations are relevant to this case. 55 9 Principal 
Consideration 1 is a respondent's relevant disciplinary history.56o Scottsdale has a disciplinary 
history, and some of that history involves misconduct like the misconduct here. As noted above, 
in the 2011 A WC the Finn settled charges that it had sold unregistered securities and that it had 
inadequate supervisory procedures and WSPs to detect and prevent the sale of unregistered 
securities . The Finn resolved other charges in the 2009, 2012, and 2015 A WCs. Finally, 
although the Fiml was not charged in connection with the four SEC cases, Ruettiger, Gibraltar I, 
Gibraltar II, and TaveUa, those cases did involve alleged misconduct through accounts at the 
Finn. These cases put the Finn on notice of the risk of sham transactions and the use of 
nominees to conceal beneficial ownership and facilitate unlawful distributions of securities . They 
heightened the need for the Finn to be alelt to red flags . In light of this history, it is aggravating 
that Scottsdale pelTOImed its gatekeeping function so poorly. 

Principal Consideration 2 concems whether a respondent has accepted responsibility for 
and acknowledged the misconduct prior to detection and intervention. The Firm here has not. It 
maintains that its procedures are "market-leading" and create an "unfriendly environment" for 
stock manipulation. 56l The facts do not suppoli that characterization. 

FUtthennore, in light of the fact that the transactions at issue involved persons who have 
been indicted for engaging in securities fraud and other crimes, it is patticularly aggravating that 
the Fiml 's CUtTent president, DiekmatU1, testified that if any of the three deposits at issue were 
presented to him today-NHPI, VPLM, or ORPG- he would approve it. He expressed no 
qualms. 562 This means that the person in charge of approving stock deposits as satisfying the 
Rule 144 exemption is likely to commit the same violations again. 

559 Guidelines at 6-7. 

560 Guidelines at 6, General Principal Consideration 1. 

561 Resp. PH Br. 37-38. 

562 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 1799-80. 
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Adding to our conce111S in this regard, Cruz echoed Diekmatm. Cruz said that, despite the 
evidence presented to him during his testimony relating to the five celtificate deposits charged in 
the Complaint (tlu"ee NHPI, one VPLM, and one ORFG), he believed that the Rule 144 
exemption applied and the transactions complied with Section 5. 563 

Principal Consideration 8 is whether a respondent engaged in numerous acts or a pattem 
of misconduct. 564 Principal Consideration 16 is whether the misconduct is abenant behavior. 565 

Scottsdale engaged in a patte111 of misconduct and it was not abenant behavior. Indeed, the Finn 
institutionalized its misconduct, by papering its files with documents that it did not meaningfully 
analyze. It is aggravating that the misconduct is actually the standard way the Finn conducts all 
its business. Moreover, Cruz testifIed that the patte111 of deposits based on buying loan notes and 
exchanging them for stock was a typical transaction for the Finn. Because it was typical he saw 
nothing suspicious in it. TIlese aspects of the misconduct are aggravating as to both the Film and 
Cruz. 

Principal Consideration 13 is whether the misconduct was the result of an intentional act, 
recklessness or negligence. 566 TIle Finn's misconduct was not the product of negligence. It acted 
intentionally when it created and implemented the procedures for reviewing deposits of stock 
celtificates for resale that created a false appearance of compliance. This aggravating factor 
applies not only to the Finn but to both DiBlasi and Cruz. 

Principal Consideration 18 focuses on the number, size, and character of the 
transactions. 567 TIle transactions at issue had many red flags indicating that they were schemes to 
evade the securities laws and the scrutiny that comes with registration. Given that character, it is 
aggravating that, as a result of Scottsdale's failure to pelf 01111 its gatekeeping function, millions 
of dollars of securities were sold to the investing public without the safeguards that accompany 
registration. 

e. General Principles 

TIle Guidelines instruct adjudicators to take into account celtain General Principles 
applicable to all sanction detenninations. 568 One of those General Principles is that disciplinary 
sanctions should be designed to deter misconduct, both by the respondent and by others, and 
should uphold high standards of business conduct. Adjudicators should impose sanctions that are 

563 Hearing If. (Cruz) 555. 

564 Guidelines at 6, General Principal Consideration 8. 

565 Guidelines at 7, General Principal Consideration 16. 

566 Guidelines at 7, General Principal Consideration 13. 

567 Guidelines at 7, General Principal Consideration 18. 

568 Guidelines at 2-5. 
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meaningful and significant enough to accomplish these goals, and the sanctions should reflect the 
seriousness of the misconduct at issue. 569 

TIle Finn's business is almost entirely the processing of penny stock deposits for resale 
into the public marketplace. In light of that fact, it is aggravating that the Finn had a check-the
box approach to its review of the deposits, without meaningful analysis of the multitude of red 
flags. TIle confession by Diekmann, the cunent president of the Finn, that, even after compiling 
a thick due diligence book, he knew nothing about the beneficial owner of one of the NHPI 
deposits is disturbing. It suggests that the person who now has authority to give final approval to 
stock deposits for resale has no understanding of what is required to ensure that the Finn does 
not pruticipate in an unlawful distribution of securities without registration. TIle sanctions here 
must be stringent to deal with the seriousness of the misconduct and to sho'vv the Finn that it 
crumot simply continue with its business in its usual fashion. We believe that only a substantial 
srulction will deter the Finn from future misconduct. 

Another General Principle is that disciplinary sanctions should be more severe for 
recidivists in order to deter ruld prevent future misconduct. The imposition of more severe 
sanctions emphasizes the need for cOlTective action.57o As noted above, the Finn has a 
disciplinary history. It has been disciplined for selling unregistered securities and for other 
violations. In light of this history, it is appropriate to impose more severe sanctions. 

f. Overview 

TIle mission of FINRA's regulatory ruld disciplinary process is to protect investors and 
promote market integrity. In fulfilling that mission, adjudicators ruoe not limited to the sanctions 
reconunended in the Guidelines. Based on the facts and circumstances presented in each case, 
adjudicators may impose srulctions that fall outside the rrulges recommended and may consider 
aggravating and mitigating factors in addition to those listed in the Guidelines .571 

2. Potential Mitigating Factor 

Principal Consideration 3, which is applicable to all sanctions detelminations, concems 
whether, prior to detection or intervention by a regulator, a finn voluntarily employed conective 
measures to avoid reCUlTence of misconduct. This might be ruogued to be a mitigating factor. 

The Finn maintains that it enhrulced its procedures after the SEC filed the complaints in 
the four cases involving nominees. In pruticular, it claims that it enhanced its reviews of stock 
promotions and notes that it ended all conunissioned representatives at the Finn. It asserts that its 
requirement of a beneficial ownership declaration is a "market-leading practice" that has been 

569 Guidelines at 2, General Principle 1. 

570 Guidelines at 2, General Principle 2. 

571 Guidelines at 1. 
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adopted as a recommended method for detennining beneficial ownership. It also points to its use 
of a Red Flag List and a Stock Watch List as enhancements to its reviews. 572 

\Ve find that whatever changes the Finn made in its procedures were insufficient to be 
mitigating. To some degree, they appear to be more of the same. TIley created the appearance of 
compliance without actual compliance. Even with the so-called enhancements, the Firm's 
procedures were woefully lacking. TIle record is replete with red flags that the Film and Cmz 
ignored. 

3. Sanction 

In light of the egregious nature of the Finn's violation, the Firm's institutionalization of 
the misconduct as its standard way of doing business, and the other aggravating factors set fOlth 
above, we believe that a stringent sanction is appropriate. Only such a sanction will serve the 
remedial purposes of the disciplinary process. TIle Finn must be deterTed from similar 
misconduct in the future. We impose on Scottsdale a fine of $1. 5 million. 

B. Hurry 

Hurry's violation of his duty to observe high standards of commercial honor and just and 
equitable principles of trade was purposeful and egregious. TIlese two qualities lead us to 
conclude that Hurry is a threat to investors and the integrity of the markets . Our concem is 
compounded by our credibility findings . We found that he repeatedly testified falsely, and that 
there was a pattem of doing so when he thought no contradictory evidence would come to light. 

When misconduct is intentional, General Principle 1 provides that adjudicators should 
assess sanctions that exceed the recommended range in the Guidelines. 57 3 Principal 
Consideration 13 also focuses on whether a respondent's misconduct is the result of an 
intentional act, recklessness, or negligence. 574 When a violation is egregious, the Guidelines 
often suggest more severe sanctions. In egregious cases in comlection with violations of Rule 
2010 and Section 5, the specific Guidelines recommend that an individual be suspended for up to 
two years or ban·ed. 

Even though he has no disciplinary history, the devious nature of Hurry's violation 
evidences disregard for regulatory requirements, an aggravating factor under General Principle 2 
and Principal Consideration 10.575 We have no confidence that ifhe remained in the securities 
industry he would not again devise a way to evade the law and regulatory requirements. For this 
reason also, we believe HlIlTY is a threat to the investing public. 

572 Resp. PH Br. 37-38. 

57J Guidelines at 2, General Principle 2. 

574 Guidelines at 7, General Principal Consideration 13. 

m Guidelines at 2, General Principle 2; Guidelines at 6, General Principal Consideration 10. 
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As discussed in connection with the Finn's violation and sanction, the scheme enabled 
large amounts of stock celtificates to be sold in a number of transactions without the protections 
of registration and without an exemption. Under Principal Consideration 18, the size ofthe 
transactions is an aggravating factor. 

Finally, we note that HUtTY had by far the most to gain financially from setting up CSCT 
and enabling shares deposited from offshore customers to be shielded from scrutiny. He and his 
wife own all three entities involved in the process: CSCT, Scottsdale, and Alpine. And although 
Respondents emphasize that the patticular transactions at issue did not generate a huge amount 
of money, the microcap securities liquidation business as a whole was highly remunerative for 
Hun), and his wife. We earlier noted that, from Scottsdale alone, in 2014 they received 
approximately $6.2 million in directors' fees and $1.45 million in net income. TI1e compensation 
for all other employees and for professional and consulting fees for that year totaled less than 
half that-approximately $2.7 million. It was to RlllTY'S financial advantage to facilitate the 
processing of FFI deposits and to minimize regulatol), oversight. TI1e misconduct added to his 
financial gain and is an aggravating factor under Principal Consideration 17.576 

We bar RUtTY from associating with any FINRA member in at1y capacity and believe it 
appropriately remedial to fine him $100,000. In light of the bar, however, we do not impose the 
fine . 

C. DiBlasi 

TIle Guidelines provide with respect to atl individual who is responsible for deficient 
WSPs that in egregious cases he may be suspended in any or all capacities for up to one year. 
TIle Guidelines also provide for a fine ranging from $1,000 to $37,000. 

In this case we find more stringent sanctions appropriately remedial. DiBlasi's violation 
was egregious, and there are aggravating factors . The WSPs created the appearatlCe of a set of 
procedures designed to achieve compliance, but they did not accurately reflect the way the Finn 
actually handled its Rule 144 deposits. TIley did not even reflect DiBlasi's true role. Even though 
he was purportedly the CCO, he claimed that he had nothing to do with the vast majority of the 
Finn 's business . Essentially, he performed back-office functions for the Firm. The result of the 
deficiencies in the WSPs was that violations OCCUlTed and regulatory efforts to determine the 
persons responsible were hindered. 

We suspend DiBlasi from associating with any FINRA member finn in any capacity for 
two yeat"S atld fine hinl $50,000. 

D. Cruz 

TIle Guidelines provide with respect to an individual supervisor who fails to respond to 
red flags that, in egregious cases, atl adjudicator should consider suspending the person in any or 

576 Guidelines at 7, General Principal Consideration 17. 
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all capacities for up to two years or balTing him. A fine of $5,000 to $73,000 also may be 
imposed. 

Cruz's violation was egregious. As a lawyer with considerable background in the 
securities laws, he had the background that others did not to scrutinize the due diligence 
packages and identify red flags. Furthennore, as the person at the Finn everyone else depended 
upon for Rule 144 compliance, he knew that he was critical to the Finn 's pelfonnance of its 
gatekeeping duty. He was the principal at the Film who gave final approval to the sales of 
deposited securities, signing under a celiification that the transactions, to his knowledge, were 
lawful. In light of these circumstances and the many aggravating factors identified above, Cmz's 
failure to recognize and appropriately address multiple red flags was inexcusable. 

We suspend Cruz from associating with any FINRA member finn in any capacity for two 
years and fine him $50,000. 

E. Respondents' Arguments For Lesser Sanctions Rejected 

We rej ect Respondents ' arguments for lesser sanctions. They asseli that the relief 
requested by Enforcement CaImot be reconciled with the Guidelines because the sanctions are 
more stringent than the recommended range. 577 However, the Guidelines are not absolute. They 
are recommendations. As provided in the Overview, adjudicators may impose sanctions outside 
the recommended range where the patiicular facts and circumstances make that appropriate. 578 

Weare concemed that the misconduct here is the Finn's standard approach to processing 
deposits of stock celiificates for sale. As long as the Finn continues with that check-the-box 
approach, without a meaningful evaluation of the information it collects, it is a risk to public 
investors . More stringent sanctions are necessary to emphasize the necessity for cOlTective action 
and to remediate the violation. 

Respondents also compare their case to other cases involving Section 5 and supervisory 
violations, asseriing that in those other cases the misconduct was worse and the sanctions less. 579 

TIle appropriateness of sanctions, however, depends on the facts and circumstances of the 
paIiicular case aIId CaImot be detennined by comparison to sanctions in other cases that involve 
different facts and cirCUl11staIICes.580 FUlihennore, Respondents ' misconduct v,'as faI' more 
egregious thaII Respondents acknowledge. 

577 Resp. PH Br. 47. 

578 Guidelines at 1. 

579 Resp. PH Br. 47-49. 

580 See, e.g., WiLLiam Scholander, Exchange Act Release No. 77492, 2016 SEC LEXIS 1209, at *42 & n.65 (Mar. 
31 ,2016). 
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With respect to disciplinary history, Respondents argue that the individual Respondents 
have no disciplinary histOry.581 It is well established that the absence of a disciplinary history is 
not mitigating as to sanctions. A wrongdoer should not be rewarded for acting in accord with his 
duties as a securities professional. 582 

In sum, we find that the sanctions we impose here are necessary, appropriate and 
remedial. They serve the twin goals of protecting public investors and contributing to market 
integrity. 583 

v. CONCLUSION 

The Firm, Scottsdale Capital Advisors, violated FINRA Rule 2010. Accordingly, it is 
ordered to pay a fine of$1.5 million. John J. Hurry violated FINRA Rule 2010. For his 
misconduct he is barred from association with any FINRA member in any capacity. He would be 
fined $100,000, but, in light of the bar, the fine is not imposed. Timothy B. DiBlasi violated 
NASD Rules 3010(a) and (b) and FINRA Rule 2010. For his misconduct, he is suspended for 
two years from association with any FINRA member in any capacity and fined $50,000. D. 
Michael Cruz violated NASD Rule 3010(b) and FINRA Rule 2010. For his misconduct, he is 
suspended for two years from association with any FINRA member in any capacity and fined 
$50,000. 

Respondents are also ordered to pay costs in the amount of$22,124.29, which includes a 
$750 administrative fee and $21,374.29 for the cost of the transcript. Ifthis decision becomes 
FINRA's final disciplinary action, Hurry's bar will take immediate effect. DiBlasi's and Cruz's 
suspension will begin with the opening of business on August 21, 2017. The fines and assessed 
costs shall be due on a date set by FINRA, but not sooner than 30 days after this amended 
decision becomes FINRA's final disciplinary action in this proceeding. 

S81 Resp. PH Br. 47. 

ucinda O. McConathy 
Hearing Officer 
For the Extended Hearing Panel 

S82 See, e.g., Kenny A. Akindemowo, Exchange Act Release No. 78352,2016 SEC LEXIS 2522, at *5 & n.5 (July 18, 
2016). See also Guidelines at 6 and n.2. 

S83 The Hearing Panel has considered and rejects without discussion any other arguments made by the Parties that . 
are inconsistent with this decision. 
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Copies to : Scottsdale Capital Advisors (via ovemight and first-class mail) 
John J. Hut,-y (via ovemight and first-class mail) 
Timothy B. DiBlasi (via ovemight and first-class mail) 
D. Michael Cruz (via ovemight and first-class mail) 
Kevin J. Harnisch, Esq. (via electronic and first-class mail) 
Ryan E. Meltzer, Esq. (via electronic mail) 
Michael Edney, Esq. (via electronic mail) 
Jeffrey D. Pariser, Esq. (via electronic and first-class mail) 
Gregory R. Firehock, Esq. (via electronic mail) 
Laura Blackston, Esq. (via electronic mail) 
Heather Freiburger, Esq. (via electronic mail) 

III 

- 272a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM



3Jn toe 1kalama?oo ([ountp ([irruit ([ourt 
jfor toe ~tate of jMiroigan 

SCOTTSDALE CAPITAL ADVISORS 
CORPORATION, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

MORNINGLIGHTMOUNTAIN, LLC, 
MICHAEL GOODE, and 
DOES 1-10, 

Defendants. 

HARDERLLP 
Charles J. Harder (CA# 184593) 
Jordan D. Susman (CA# 246116) 
132 South Rodeo Drive, Fourth Floor 
Beverly Hills, California 90212 
(424) 203-1600 
charder@harderllp.com 
jsusman@harderllp.com 
Counsel for Scottsdale Capital Advisors 
Pro Hac Vice Pending 

PINSKY, SMITH, FAYETTE & 
KENNEDY, LLP 
H. Rhett Pinsky (P18920) 
146 Monroe Center St., NW, Suite 805 
Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503 
(616) 451-8496 
hpinsky@psfldaw.com 
Counsel for Scottsdale Capital Advisors 

Civil No. 18-0153-CZ 

HON. ALEXANDER C. LIPSEY 

F m r.- n 
. ~."' ~~.. ~,:.,I 

~ O_7-2~18J 
9TH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

COUNTY OF KAL4MAZOO 
KALAMAZOO MICHIGAN 

BUTZEL LONG, P.C. 
Joseph E. Richotte (P70902) 
Doaa K. AI-Howaishy (P82089) 
Stoneridge West 
41000 Woodward Avenue 
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304 
(248) 258-1616 
richotte@butzel.com 
al-howaishy@butzel.com 
Counsel for MLM and Michael Goode 

MOTION FOR SUMMARY DISPOSITION OF 
FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT 

- 273a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM



Defendants MorningLightMountain, LLC ("MLM") and Michael Goode 

ask the Court to dismiss the First Amended Complaint with prejudice for failure to 

state a claim upon which relief can be granted. 

Dated: JUNE 6, 2018 

Respectfully submitted, 

J PH E. RICH TTE (P70902) 
DOAA K. AL-HOWAISHY (P82089) 
Stoneridge West 
41000 Woodward Avenue 
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304 
(248) 258-1616 
richotte@butzel.com 
al-howaishy@butzel.com 
Counsel for MLM and Michael Goode 

- 274a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM



3Jn tbe 1kalama?oo ([ountp ([irtuit ([ourt 
jfor tbe ~tate of iMitbigan 

SCOTTSDALE CAPITAL ADVISORS 
CORPORATION, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

MORNINGLIGHTMOUNTAIN, LLC, 
MICHAEL GOODE, and 
DOES 1-10, 

Defendants. 

HARDERLLP 
Charles J. Harder (CA# 184593) 
Jordan D. Susman (CA# 246116) 
132 South Rodeo Drive, Fourth Floor 
Beverly Hills, California 90212 
(424) 203-1600 
charder@harderllp.com 
jsusman@harderllp.com 
Counsel for Scottsdale Capital Advisors 
Pro Hac Vice Pending 

PINSKY, SMITH, FAYETTE & 
KENNEDY, LLP 
H. Rhett Pinsky (P18920) 
146 Monroe Center St., NW, Suite 805 
Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503 
(616) 451-8496 
hpinsky@psfldaw.com 
Counsel for Scottsdale Capital Advisors 

Civil No. 18-0153-CZ 

HON. ALEXANDER C. LIPSEY 

BUTZEL LONG, P.C. 
Joseph E. Richotte (P70902) 
Doaa K. AI-Howaishy (P82089) 
Stoneridge West 
41000 Woodward Avenue 
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304 
(248) 258-1616 
richotte@butzel.com 
al-howaishy@butzel.com 
Counsel for MLM and Michael Goode 

MEMORANDUM SUPPORTING 
MOTION FOR SUMMARY DISPOSITION OF 

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT 

- 275a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

INDEX OF AUTHORITIES ............................................................................ ........ iii 

INDEX OF EXHIBITS ............................................................................................. vi 

QUESTIONS PRESENTED ................................................................................... vii 

INTRODUCTION ..................................................................................................... 1 

SPECIAL STANDARD OF REVIEW FOR 
FIRST AMENDMENT CASES ................................................................................ 5 

ARGUMENT ............................................................................................................. 7 

1. No Defamation: Scottsdale has not plausibly pleaded the elements for 
libel as to any of the allegedly defamatory statements ..................................... 7 

A. Fault Not Pleaded: The Complaint fails to plead facts establishing that 
MLM and Mr. Goode acted negligently ............................................... 7 

B. April Article: None of the three statements identified in the April 
Article adequately pleads a claim for libel ............................................ 9 

(1) Scottsdale has not pleaded facts sufficient to show that 
Statement No.1 is false ............................................................ 9 

(2) Scottsdale has not pleaded facts sufficient to show 
that Statement No.2 is false or capable of defamatory 
meaning .................................................................................. 10 

(3) Scottsdale has not pleaded facts sufficient to show 
that Statement No.3 is false or capable of defamatory 
meaning; and the statement is protected by the 
fair-report privilege ................................................................ 10 

C. JuneArticle: The statement identified in the June Article does 
not support a claim for defamation, either ......................................... 12 

2. No False Light: The Complaint does not adequately plead a claim for 
invasion of privacy by false light .................................................................... 14 

-i-

- 276a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM



A. No Corporate Right to Privacy. Corporations cannot assert a 
claim for invasion of privacy because they have no legal right to 
privacy ................................................................................................. 14 

B. No Private Facts. The challenged statements are all about 
matters of public record, which cannot support a privacy claim ........ 15 

C. No False Statement. Scottsdale does not adequately allege that 
the challenged statements are false ..................................................... 15 

D. No Actual Malice Pleaded. Scottsdale does not adequately allege 
that MLM and Mr. Goode published the challenged statements 
with actual malice ............................................................................... 15 

3. Dismissal with Prejudice: Scottsdale cannot cure the flaws in the Complaint by 
further amendment ........................................................................................ 16 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF ............................................................................................ 17 

-ii-

- 277a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM



INDEX OF AUTHORITIES 

CASES 

Allegheny-Ludlam Corp. v. Michigan Dept. ofTreas., 
207 Mich. App. 604 (1994) ................................................................................... 16 

Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 
556 U. S. 662 (2009) ............................................................................................... 6 

Booth NewspapersJ Inc. v. Kent County Treas., 
175 Mich. App. 523 (1989) .................................................................................... 14 

Bose Corp. v. Consumers Union, 
466 U.S. 485 (1984) ................................................................................................ 6 

Croton v. Gillis, 
104 Mich. App. 104 (1981) ............................................................................... 7,13 

Dalley v. Dykema Gossett, 
287 Mich. App. 296 (2010) ..................................................................................... 6 

Doe v. Mills, 
212 Mich. App. 73 (1995) ...................................................................................... 15 

Early Detection Ctr'J P.e. v. New York Life Ins. Co., 
157 Mich. App. 618 (1986) .................................................................................... 16 

Gonyea v. Motor Parts Fed. Credit Union, 
192 Mich. App 74 (1991) ................................................................................. 6, 8, 9 

Ireland v. Edwards, 
230 Mich. App. 607 (1998) ............................................................................... 6, 15 

Kevorkian v. American Med. AssJn, 
237 Mich. App. 1 (1999) .......................................................................................... 6 

Locricchio v. Evening News Ass I n, 
438 Mich. 84 (1991) .............................................................................................. 11 

Nehlsv. Hillsdale Coll., 
178 F. Supp. 2d 771 (ED Mich. 2001) .................................................................... 7 

- iii-

- 278a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM



Northland Wheels Roller Skating Ctr. v. Detroit Free Press, 
213 Mich. App. 317 (1995) .................................................................................. 7,9 

Rouch v. Enquirer & News (After Remand), 
440 Mich. 238 (1992) ...................................................................................... 6, 8, 9 

Sanders v. Evening News Ass I n, 
313 Mich. 334 (1946) ......................................................................................... 7,14 

Singerman v. Municipal Servo Bureau, 
455 Mich. 135 (1997) ............................................................................................... 6 

Slaterv. Ann Arbor Pub. Sch. Bd. ofEduc., 
250 Mich. App. 419 (2002) .............................................................................. 4,12 

Thomas M. Cooley Law School v. Doe 1, 
300 Mich. App. 245 (2013) ..................................................................................... 7 

STATUTES 

31 u. S. C. § 3512(a)(2)(G) ....................................................................................... 13 

31 U.S.C. § 3518 ....................................................................................................... 13 

M. C. L. § 600.2911(3) .............................................................................................. 12 

REGULATIONS 

31 C.F.R. § 1023.320 ............................................................................................... 13 

RULES 

MCR 2.110(A) ............................................................................................................ 5 

MCR 2.116(G)(5) ....................................................................................................... 5 

TREATISES 

R. Sack, Defamation § 12:3.5 (5th ed. 2018) ............................................................ 14 

Restatement (Second) of Torts § 6521 Comment c (1997) ...................................... 14 

- iv-

- 279a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM



OTHER AUTHORITIES 

Mich. Civ.J. Instr. 10.02 ............................................................................................ 8 

-v-

- 280a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM



ANSWER 

EXHIBIT 

A 

B 

C 

D 

E 

F 

G 

INDEX OF EXHIBITS 

DESCRIPTION 

Tavella Complaint, R. 1 (SDNY JuI. 3, 2013) 

Tavella Stipulation & Order Granting Prelim. Inj., Asset Freeze, and 
Other Relief, R. 16 (SDNY JuI. 16, 2013) 

Tavella Biozoom Fair Fund Notice 

Tavella Final]. Defs. Graciarena & Loureyro, R. 67 
(SDNY Dec. 8, 2014) 

Tavella Final Default]. & Order Granting Inj. and Other Relief Against 
Defs. Tavella, Ficicchia, Blaya, Hernando, Lorenzo, Bagattin, Gold
man, and Ferrari, R. 69 (SDNY Jan. 9, 2015) 

In the Matter o/Timothy C. Scarpino, Order Instituting Admin. and 
Cease-and-Desist Proceedings, Making Findings, Imposing Remedial 
Sanctions, and a Cease-and-Desist Order (May 15, 2018) 

FINRAv. Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corp., Am. Extended Hr'g Panel 
Decision Gun. 20, 2017) 

-vi-

- 281a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM



QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

This is a defamation action. As a matter of constitutional law, all torts predi

cated upon defamation, including invasion-of-privacy claims, must satisfy a special, 

heightened pleading standard that demands detailed facts supporting each element of 

the claim. 

QUESTION NO.1: Has Scottsdale satisfied the special, heightened pleading re
quirements required under constitutional law for its defama
tion claim? 

QUESTION NO.2: Corporate entities like Scottsdale have no legally cognizable 
right to privacy. Should the Court dismiss Scottsdale's pri
vacy claim for failure to state a proper claim? 

QUESTION NO.3: If not, has Scottsdale satisfied the special, heightened plead
ing requirements required under constitutional law for its 
defamation-based privacy claim? 

- vii-

- 282a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM



Under MCR 2.116(C)(8), MLM and Mr. Goode offer this Memorandum in 

support of their Motion to dismiss the First Amended Complaint ("Complaint") 

with prejudice on summary disposition for failure to state a claim upon which relief 

can be granted. 

INTRODUCTION 

This is a defamation action. Scottsdale has sued MLM and Mr. Goode for al-

legedly libelous statements posted in online articles at goodetrades.com, a blog re

porting on news about penny-stock trading. 

A "penny stock" refers to a security issued by a very small company that 

trades at less than $5.00 per share.1 Also known as "microcap stocks," penny stocks 

are issued by companies, many of which do not file financial reports with the U. S. 

Securities & Exchange Commission.2 The SEC describes these securities as "among 

the most risky," suffering from a scarcity of publicly-available information that allows 

"fraudsters [to] easily spread false information about microcap companies, making 

profits while creating losses for unsuspecting investors."3 They are very speculative 

investments, and Congress has tightly regulated broker-dealers who facilitate penny

stock trading under the Exchange Act. 4 

One fraud particularly affecting penny stocks is the classic pump-and-dump 

scheme. The scheme involves touting a company's stock through false and mislead-

U. S. Sees. & Exch. Comm'n, Penny Stock Rules (May 9, 2013) ("PENNY 
STOCK RULES") (available at http://bit.ly/SEC-Penny-Stock-Rules). 

2 United States Sees. & Exch. Comm'n, Microcap Stock: A Guide for Investors, 
Introduction (Sept. 13, 2013) ("Microcap Guide") (available at http://bit.ly/ SEC
Micro cap-Guide). 

3 Id. 

4 PENNY STOCK RULES, supra at n.l 
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ing statements to the marketplace to ignite a buying frenzy that" pumps" the price of 

a stock (usually a penny stock). The hucksters then sell (or" dump") their stocks at 

the "pumped" up price, realizing a handsome profit. Once they dump their shares 

and stop hyping the stock, the price falls and investors lose their money.s 

MLM and Mr. Goode reported on pump-and-dump schemes, including one 

involving stock in Biozoom, which was touted as a biomedical technology company. 

Before April 2013, Biozoom was known as Entertainment Art, Inc., and it produced 

leather bags. In April 2013, it announced that it was changing its name to Biozoom 

and exiting the leather-bag business to develop biomedical technology. From March 

2013 (the month before the announcement) to June 2013, at least eight people opened 

accounts with broker-dealers and deposited millions of shares of Biozoom that they 

(falsely) claimed were purchased from the original shareholders of Entertainment Art 

in the previous few months and could be freely traded.6 From May 16,2013 to June 

17, 2013, these people sold 14 million shares yielding almost $34 million, of which 

nearly $17 million was wired to overseas bank accounts'? Eventually, the stock col

lapsed. The SEC brought an enforcement action, U. S. Securities & Exchange Comm)n 

v. Tavella, to recover the ill-gotten gains and make swindled investors whole. 8 

Scottsdale, a broker-dealer that facilitated penny-stock trading and claims to 

be one of the dominant companies in the microcap securities market for handling 

S U. S. Sees. & Exch. Comm'n, "Pump-and-Dumps" and Market Manipula
tions Gun. 25, 2013) (available at http://bit.ly/SEC-Pump-and-Dumps). 

6 Answer Exh. A, U. S. Sees. & Exch. Comm)n v. Tavella, Civ. No. 13-4609 
(SDNY), Complaint at 2, <if<if 3-5 GuI. 3, 2013). 

7 Id. at 2-3, <if<if 6-7. 

8 See Answer Exh. C, Tavella Biozoom Fair Fund Notice at 2, Plan of Allocation 
(" The purpose of this distribution is to compensate investors in the [Tavella] defend
ants misrepresentations and omissions in its sale of Biozoom common stock.") 
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more than $125 million worth of trades in 2015 alone,9 accepted Biozoom stocks for 

deposit and facilitated trading in the microcap market. Many of the trading accounts 

frozen through the SEC's enforcement action were held at Scottsdale.10 And, notably, 

since Scottsdale filed this lawsuit against MLM and Mr. Goode, the SEC entered an 

order sanctioning Scottsdale's representative Timothy Scarpino for facilitating the 

sale of 8.2 million Biozoom shares that generated $18.5 million in gains-just over 

half the shares and half the gains-for the fraudsters.u His offense was "fail[ing] to 

conduct a searching inquiry into facts surrounding the proposed sales" of unregis

tered Biozoom stock, despite the presence of "significant red flags. "12 

Among other things, it was this same kind of failure to conduct searching in

quiries that resulted in the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority taking discipli

nary action against Scottsdale.13 FINRA imposed a $1.5 million fine against Scotts

dale for "institutionaliz[ing] misconduct as its standard way of doing business," 

among other aggravating factors,14 Part of the institutionalized misconduct included 

9 Complaint at 3, en 11. 

10 Answer Exh. B, U. S. Sees. & Exch. Comm I n v. Tavella, Civ. No. 13-4609 
(SDNY), Stipulation and Order Granting Prelim. Inj., Asset Freeze, and Other Relief 
(R. 16,Jul. 16,2013); Answer Exh. D, Final]. Defs. Graciarena and Loureyro (R. 67, 
Dec. 8, 2014); Answer Exh. E, Final Default]. and Order Granting Inj. and Other 
Relief Against Defendants Tavella, Ficicchia, Blaya, Hernando, Lorenzo, Bagattin, 
Goldman, and Ferrari (R. 69, Jan. 9, 2015). 

11 Answer Exh. F, In the Mattero/Timothy C. Scarpino, SEC No. 3-18483, Order 
Instituting Admin. and Cease-and-Desist Proceedings, Making Findings, Imposing 
Remedial Sanctions, and a Cease-and-Desist Order (May 15, 2018). 

12 Id. at 2, Part III, Summary. 

13 Answer Exh. G, FINRAv. Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corp., No. 2014041724 
601, Amended Extended Hr'g Panel Decision Gun. 20, 2017) (available at http:// 
bit.ly/FINRA-Panel-Decision). 

14 Id. at 107, Part IV(A)(3). 
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Scottsdale's failure to revise its procedures to focus on potential sham transactions 

after botching its gatekeeping role in the Biozoom pump-and-dump scheme that led 

to the SEC's enforcement action. IS 

FINRA had equally harsh words for Scottsdale's owner,John Hurry. FINRA 

found that he "violat[ ed] his duty to observe high standards of commercial honor and 

just and equitable principles of trade," and it was "purposeful and egregious," which 

led FINRA to conclude that" [he] is a threat to investors and the integrity of the mar

kets. " 16 Worse yet, FINRA found that Mr. Hurry "repeatedly testified falsely, and 

that there was a pattern of doing so when he thought no contradictory evidence would 

come to light. "17 FINRA barred Mr. Hurry from associating with any other FINRA 

member for any reason.18 Scottsdale and Mr. Hurry are appealing this decision. 

Which brings us to this lawsuit. The statements that Scottsdale claims are li

belous are contained within two articles written by Mr. Goode and published by MLM 

about three years after the Biozoom fraud. (The articles are attached to the Com

plaint, and are therefore "a part of the pleading for all purposes. "19) Both articles 

include extensive quotations from FINRA proceedings, SEC press releases, and court 

records from SEC enforcement actions. They also include links and citations to those 

source records. 

The first article (the "April Article") reported on FINRA' s sanctions against 

Scottsdale and Mr. Hurry. The second article (the "June Article") was a follow-up 

article about FINRA's 111-page decision and new SEC enforcement action against 

IS Id. at 11-12, 101-102, 104. 

16 Id. at 107, Part IV(B). 

17 Ibid. 

18 Id. at 108. 

19 Slaterv. Ann Arbor Pub. Sch. Bd. ofEduc., 250 Mich. App. 419, 427 (2002). 
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another company with close ties to Scottsdale and Mr. Hurry. Scottsdale doesn't ar

gue that the reporting about the FINRA and SEC actions is inaccurate. Rather, it 

plucks a few sentences from the articles and claims that they wrongfully accuse it of 

actively engaging in a pump-and-dump scheme. In context, however, the articles do 

nothing more than note that penny stocks were illegally traded through Scottsdale 

brokerage accounts. And the notion that these articles damaged Scottsdale in any 

way-much less in some way unique and independent of (a) FINRA castigating and 

fining Scottsdale, (b) FINRA excommunicating Mr. Hurry from the securities indus

try, and (c) the SEC's Biozoom enforcement actions-is risible. 

This lawsuit is about one thing: shutting down free speech. It is commonly 

known as a "strategic lawsuit against public participation." It is brought with the in

tent to censor the speaker's message because it is unwanted, not because it is false or 

defamatory. But the First Amendment no more allows a "litigation veto" than it does 

a "heckler's veto. " 

For the reasons that follow, the Court should dismiss the Complaint with prej

udice for failing to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. 

SPECIAL STANDARD OF REVIEW FOR 
FIRST AMENDMENT CASES 

As in all cases, motions for summary disposition brought under MeR 

2.116(C)(8) in defamation actions test the legal sufficiency of the complaint.20 The 

Court must limit its review to the pleadings-which by court rule includes both the 

complaint and the answer.21 The Court must take the well-pleaded factual allegations 

20 Singerman v. Municipal Servo Bureau, 455 Mich. l35, l39 (1997). 

21 MCR 2.116(G)(5) (review of a (C)(8) motion is limited to the pleadings); 
MCR 2.110(A) (defining a pleading to include complaints and answers). 
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as true and construe them in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.22 

Importantly, however, under Bose Corp. v. Consumers Union, courts have a spe

cial, heightened duty under the First Amendment to review the sufficiency of the al

legations and evidence before them in defamation actions because of the constitu

tional implications for free speech.23 Michigan courts take this duty seriously. Recog

nizing that summary disposition is "an essential tool" to protect against "forbidden 

intrusions into the field of free expression," 24 our courts long ago adopted an Iqbal

like pleading standard that requires plaintiffs to specifically plead: (1) the defamatory 

words and the facts that would establish that the words are false; (2) the facts identi

fying the publication of those words to a third party; (3) the level of fault that must be 

proved and the facts that would establish that the speaker acted with that level of fault; 

and (4) the harm suffered by the publication.25 Pleading specific facts is a "relatively 

simple requirement"; defendants are entitled to summary disposition under MeR 

2.116(C)(8) "on this ground alone" when plaintiffs fail to follow it.26 

Also important, in Thomas M. Cooley Law Schoolv. Doe 1, the Michigan Court 

of Appeals held that the heightened pleading requirement in defamation cases per

mits courts to resolve several questions of law on the pleadings, including: (1) 

whether a statement is capable of being defamatory; (2) the nature of the speaker 

22 Dalley v. Dykema Gossett, 287 Mich. App. 296, 304-305 (2010). 

23 Bose Corp. v. Consumers Union, 466 U. S. 485 (1984). 

24 Kevorkian v. American Med. Ass)n, 237 Mich. App. 1, 5 (1999) (citing Ireland 
v. Edwards, 230 Mich. App. 607, 613 and n.4 (1998)). 

25 Gonyea v. Motor Parts Fed. Credit Union, 192 Mich. App 74, 76-77 (1991). Ac
cord Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U. S. 662 (2009) (requiring plaintiffs in federal cases to 
"plausibly" plead claims through specific factual allegations). 

26 Rouch v. Enquirer & News (After Remand), 440 Mich. 238, 279 (1992) ("Rouch 
Ir') (Riley,]., concurring). 
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and the level of constitutional protections afforded to the statement; and (3) 

whether actual malice exists, if the plaintiff is required to show that level of fault. 27 

In making these assessments, a court must read the challenged statement in context, 

fairly and reasonably construing the entire article to determine whether the chal

lenged statement is libelous.28 A statement (( does not become actionable merely be

cause it could be taken out of context. "29 

ARGUMENT 

The Complaint does not state a claim under the heightened pleading stand

ard for defamation cases. And, from what is pleaded, the Court can hold that the 

challenged statements are incapable of a defamatory meaning as a matter oflaw. 

1. No Defamation: Scottsdale has not plausibly pleaded the elements for 
libel as to any of the allegedly defamatory statements. 

In Michigan, a libel plaintiff must prove that the defendant: (1) made a false 

statement, (2) that was defamatory, (3) which was (( of and concerning the plaintiff, 

(4) in the form of an unprivileged publication to a third party, (5) with a level offault 

amounting to at least negligence on the part of the publisher, and (6) thereby dam

aged the plaintiff.30 

A. Fault Not Pleaded: The Complaint fails to plead facts establishing 
that MLM and Mr. Goode acted negligently. 

To adequately plead fault, a plaintiff must identify the level of fault that ap-

27 Thomas M. Cooley Law Schoolv. Doe 1,300 Mich. App. 245, 342 (2013). 

28 Sandersv. Evening News Ass)n, 313 Mich. 334, 340 (1946); Croton v. Gillis, 104 
Mich. App. 104, 108 (1981). 

29 Nehls v. Hillsdale Coli., 178 F. Supp. 2d 771, 779 (ED Mich. 2001), ajpd 65 
Fed. Appx. 984 (CA6 2003) (citing Michigan law). 

30 Northland Wheels Roller Skating Ctr. v. Detroit Free Press, 213 Mich. App. 317, 
323 (1995) (citing Rouch II). 
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plies to the claim and allege facts that would establish that level of fault if proved.31 

There are two levels of fault: negligence and actual maliceY The negligence stand

ard applies in cases involving private figures; the actual-malice standard applies in 

cases involving public officials and public figures. 33 Scottsdale alleges that it is a pri

vate figure and that MLM and Mr. Goode are the direct and proximate cause of its 

damages,34 so it impliedly pleads the level of fault to be negligence. 

Negligence is defined as the failure to use the care that an ordinary person 

would use under the circumstances.3S Thus, in order to meet the Iqbal-like pleading 

standard, Scottsdale must plead facts as to what a reasonable reporter and publisher 

would have done under the circumstances and then plead that MLM and Mr. Goode 

failed to do it. It does not do this for any of the challenged statements in either of 

the two articles. 

To the extent that Scottsdale apparently tries to plead actual malice in the 

alternative - "notwithstanding [its] status as a private figure, ... [MLM and Mr. 

Goode] knew that the [challenged statements] were false and/or acted in reckless 

disregard of whether [ they] were true or false" - the Complaint is likewise devoid 

of any factual allegations supporting how they knew the statements were false or why 

they were reckless in their alleged disregard of the truth. 

Under Rouch II, a failure to plead both the level of fault that must be proved 

and the facts that would establish that the speaker acted with that level of fault entitles 

MLM and Mr. Goode to summary disposition under MCR 2.116(C)(8) "on this 

31 Gonyea, 192 Mich. App. at 76-77; Rouch II, 440 Mich. at 279. 

32 Ibid. 

33 Ibid. 

34 Complaint at 6, <if 25. 

3S Mich. Civ.]. Instr. 10.02 
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ground alone. "36 The failure to plead any facts supporting negligence or actual malice 

is fatal to the Complaint. 

B. April Article: None of the three statements identified in the April 
Article adequately pleads a claim for libel. 

(1) Scottsdale has not pleaded facts sufficient to show that 
Statement No. 1 is false. 

lfyou have followed penny stocks and pump and dumps for 
a few years then you know Scottsdale Capital Advisors. 

To be actionable, the challenged statement must be false. 37 Scottsdale has not 

plausibly pleaded that Statement No.1 in the April Article is false. 

Not False. Scottsdale alleges that Statement No.1 is false because it has 

"never been involved in any 'pump and dump' schemes, has never been a defendant 

in any 'pump and dump' lawsuits, and has never been convicted of engaging in 

'pump and dump' activity. "38 But, on its face, Statement No.1 doesn't accuse 

Scottsdale of any of these things. It simply says that those who have followed pump

and-dumps know about Scottsdale. And that statement is true by Scottsdale's own 

allegations. It admits that it's a broker-dealer in penny stocks.39 It also admits that 

accounts traded through Scottsdale were frozen in connection with the Biozoom 

pump-and-dump scheme.40 It is factually accurate to note that observant readers, 

who have followed news about pump-and-dumps (particularly the "big Biozoom 

pump") would be familiar with Scottsdale's name.41 

36 Rouch II, 440 Mich. at 279 (Riley,]., concurring). 

37 Northland Wheels, 213 Mich. App. at 323. 

38 First Am. Compi. at 4, unnumbered paragraph immediately after <if 13a. 

39 Id. at 3, <if 11. 

40 Id. at 4, <if 13c and unnumbered paragraph immediately thereafter. 

41 Id. at Exh. 1, <if 1. 
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(2) Scottsdale has not pleaded facts sufficient to show that 
Statement No.2 is false or capable of defamatory meaning. 

They are one of the few brokers left that have continued to allow the 
deposit and sale of shares of illiquid penny stocks. Larger brokers 
and discount brokers stopped allowing that over five years ago. 

Scottsdale has failed to plausibly plead a claim for libel based on this state

ment because it is neither false nor defamatory. 

Not False. Statement No.2 says that Scottsdale is one of the few brokers that 

still allow both the deposit and trade of penny stock. Scottsdale says Statement No. 

2 is false because many other brokers still trade in penny stocks.42 But there is a 

difference between trading existing shares of penny stocks and accepting the deposit 

of new shares. Scottsdale does not allege that any of the brokers it identifies in the 

Complaint accept the deposit of new penny stocks. Thus, it has not pleaded facts 

showing that Statement No.2 is false. 

Not Defamatory. In any event, nothing about Statement No.2 is defamatory. 

It does not say or imply that there is anything illegal or improper about accepting 

the deposit of shares of penny stocks. Indeed, the statement acknowledges that a 

few other brokers do, in fact, accept penny stocks for deposit. It simply notes that 

most brokers have exited this segment of the securities market. There is nothing 

defamatory in stating that Scottsdale and a few others continue to serve a niche area. 

(3) Scottsdale has not pleaded facts sufficient to show that 
Statement No.3 is false or capable of defamatory meaning; 
and the statement is protected by the fair-report privilege. 

(( When the big Biozoom (BIZM) pump happened back in 2013 
many of the frozen accounts were at Scottsdale Capital. )) 

Scottsdale has likewise failed to plausibly plead a claim for libel based on this 

statement because it too is neither false nor defamatory. The statement is also pro-

42 Id. at 4, unnumbered paragraph immediately after 'H13b. 
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tected under the statutory fair-report privilege. 

Not False. Statement No.3 says that "many of the frozen [Biozoom] ac

counts)) were at Scottsdale. Scottsdale alleges that this is false for two reasons, but 

both reasons are non-sequiturs. 

First, Scottsdale says that" only a handful)) of Scottsdale accounts were fro

zen because of the Biozoom scam.43 This may well be true-and the Court must 

accept this allegation as true for purposes of this Motion - but that isn't what MLM 

and Mr. Goode said. They said that" many of the frozen accounts)) were at Scotts

dale. While the number of frozen accounts might represent a small percentage of 

Scottsdale's overall brokerage accounts, they represent" many)) of the accounts fro

zen in the Biozoom enforcement litigation. Tellingly, Scottsdale does not allege oth-

erwlse. 

Second, Scottsdale says it has" never been a defendant in any lawsuit involv

ing the trading of Biozoom stock. ))44 Even accepting this as true, Statement No.3 

doesn't say that Scottsdale was sued in connection with the Biozoom scam. It simply 

notes that accounts at Scottsdale were frozen. 

Not Defamatory. A defamatory communication is one that "tends so to 

harm the reputation of persons so as to lower them in the estimation of the commu

nity or to deter others from associating or dealing with them. ))45 Publishing the mere 

fact that accounts were frozen at Scottsdale is not defamatory. Criminals frequently 

use third parties to facilitate their wrongdoing. Embezzlers may deposit their ill-got

ten gains in bank accounts. When the government learns of the theft, it seizes the 

funds in the bank accounts for restitution and other purposes. No one would ever 

43 Id. at 4, unnumbered paragraph immediately after <if l3c. 

44 Ibid. 

45 Locricchio v. Evening News Ass)n, 438 Mich. 84, 115 (1991). 
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credibly argue that a newspaper reporting on such seizures defames the bank. Here, 

the brokerage accounts and the funds acquired from trading Biozoom stocks are like 

the embezzled funds and Scottsdale is like the bank. Reporting that Biozoom ac

counts at Scottsdale were frozen in connection with a pump-and-dump scheme no 

more lowers Scottsdale's reputation in the community than it would lower the 

bank's reputation. 

Privileged Statement. Finally, Statement No.3 is protected by the statutory 

fair-report privilege, which provides: "Damages shall not be awarded in a libel ac

tion for the publication or broadcast of a fair and true report of matters of public record 

•••. "46 The U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York froze the de-

fendants' Biozoom accounts in connection with the SEC's enforcement action in 

Tavella. 47 Most of the Tavella defendants had trading accounts at Scottsdale for Bi

ozoom stock that were frozen and/or recovered. 48 Accordingly, the statement is a 

fair and true report of a matter of public record. It is not actionable. 

c. June Article: The statement identified in the June Article does not 
support a claim for defamation, either. 

Lest anyone think that these are just minor paperwork deficien
cies with no real consequences) I remind you that one pump and 
dump alone) Biozoom (BIZM) led to over $17 million in fraud
ulent profits for manipulators/insiders) and many of their ac
counts were at Scottsdale Capital. 

Scottsdale plucks this sentence out of a three-page article without regard for 

its context. As noted earlier, the Court must fairly and reasonably construe the en-

46 MCL 600.2911(3) (emphases added). 

47 Answer at 7-8, Answer to CompI. <JI13, and Answer Exhs. A-E. (The exhib
its are part of the pleadings under MCR 2.113(F)(2». See also Slater, 250 Mich. App. 
at 427. 

48 Answer at 7-8, Answer to CompI. <JI13, and Answer Exhs. A-E. 
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tire article to determine whether a statement is libelous. 49 

The challenged statement in the June Article comes after quoting excerpts 

from FINRA's disciplinary order against Scottsdale and Mr. Hurry for doing an ex

ceedingly poor job at preventing illegal sales by penny-stock insiders.5o The state

ment also follows extended excerpts from an SEC press release and the SEC's law

suit against Scottsdale-affiliate Alpine Securities Corporation, which cleared thou

sands of suspicious deposits of penny stock introduced by Scottsdale.51 The Patriot 

Act requires broker-dealers to monitor and report suspicious trading activity to help 

crack down on money laundering. 52 Charging Scottsdale's affiliate with thousands 

of reporting violations, the SEC alleged in its complaint that Scottsdale's affiliate 

routinely and systematically failed to file Suspicious Activity Reports ("SARs") 

with the U.S. Treasury Department's Financial Crimes Enforcement Network for 

stock transactions that the affiliate had internally flagged as suspicious.53 And, when 

it did file SARs, the affiliates allegedly omitted the very information that formed the 

bases for knowing, suspecting, or having reason to suspect that a transaction was 

suspicious.54 

49 Sanders, 313 Mich. at 340; Croton, 104 Mich. App. at 108. 

50 Complaint Exh. 2 at 1-2. 

51 Ibid (citing Us. Sees. & Exeh. Comm)n v. Alpine Sees. Corp., No. 17-04179 
(SDNY) (R. 1, Comp!., Jun. 5, 2017), and quoting SEC Litig. Release No. 23853 
Gun. 5, 2017) (available at http://bit.ly/SEC-Alpine-Litigation-Release). 

52 31 U.S.C. §§ 3512(a)(2)(G) and 3518; 31 C.F.R. § 1023.320. 

53 Complaint Exh. 2 at 2. 

54 Ibid. Interestingly, although not offered in support of the Motion because it 
is beyond the pleadings, a federal court has since ruled that the SARs, when filed, 
were so "woefully inadequate" as a matter of law as to warrant partial summary 
judgment for the government. Alpine Sees. Corp., No. 17-04179 (SDNY), Order on 
Mot. for Summ. J., R. 101 at 65 (Mar. 30, 2018). 
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The challenged statement must be assessed against this backdrop. By failing 

to investigate and report suspicious activity, opportunities are lost to prevent crim

inal activity, including securities fraud. The challenged statement gives an example 

of how investors lost tens of millions of dollars to securities fraud when a broker-

dealer was asleep at the switch. It contains nothing false. Given the FINRA discipli

nary action, Scottsdale has an adjudicated track record of failing to diligently inves

tigate penny stocks before accepting them for deposit, which in the case ofBiozoom 

permitted fraudsters to steal almost $34 million from investors through trading fa

cilitated by Scottsdale. On this point, it is noteworthy that Scottsdale has not alleged 

that the first sentence in the June Article is false: (( As I wrote back in April, FINRA 

fined Scottsdale Capital Advisors $1.5 million for doing a really poor job at preventing 

illegal sales by penny stock insiders. "55 

2. No False Light: The Complaint does not adequately plead a claim for in
vasion of privacy by false light. 

A. No Corporate Right to Privacy. Corporations cannot assert a claim 
for invasion of privacy because they have no legal right to privacy. 

Businesses cannot maintain tort claims for invasion of privacy, by false light 

or otherwise. In Booth Newspapers.) Inc. v. Kent County Treasurer, the Michigan Court 

of Appeals held that corporations have no right to privacy under the State constitu

tion or at common-law: (( Since the right to privacy is primarily designed to protect 

the feelings and sensibilities of human beings rather than to safeguard property, 

business, or other pecuniary interests, the courts have denied this right to corpora

tions and other institutions. "56 Scottsdale is erroneously attempting to assert a right 

55 Complaint Exh. 2 at 1, <if 1 (emphasis added). 

56 Booth Newspapers.) Inc. v. Kent County Treas., 175 Mich. App. 523, 528-529 
(1989). See also R. Sack, Defamation § 12:3.5 (5th ed. 2018) (citing Restatement 
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it does not have. The Court should not permit it to do so. 

B. No Private Facts. The challenged statements are all about matters 
of public record, which cannot support a privacy claim. 

Even if corporations could assert privacy claims, it is blackletter law that in

formation already a matter of public knowledge or of public record cannot serve as 

the basis for an invasion of privacy claim. 57 Here, Scottsdale's connection to the 

Biozoom pump-and-dump is a matter of public record in the SEC enforcement pro

ceedings in Tavella, Villena, and Scarpino, and in the FINRA disciplinary proceeding 

against Scottsdale and Mr. Hurry. Discussing these matters of public record, com

plete with links to the source documents, defeats any possible privacy claim. 

C. No False Statement. Scottsdale does not adequately allege that the 
challenged statements are false. 

The heightened First Amendment pleading and proof standards apply equally 

to privacy torts predicated upon defamation.58 So, because Scottsdale hasn't ade

quately pleaded that the challenged statements are false for defamation purposes, it 

also hasn't adequately pleaded falsity for its privacy claim. 

D. No ActualMalice Pleaded. Scottsdale does not adequately allege that 
MLM and Mr. Goode published the challenged statements with ac
tual malice. 

Even if corporations could assert privacy claims and the relevant public rec

ords did not automatically defeat Scottsdale's claim, it would still fail as pleaded. The 

elements of this claim are: (1) that the defendant broadcast a communication to the 

(Second) of Torts § 6521 Comment c (1997), and collecting State and federal cases 
applying this rule). 

57 Cf. Doe v. Mills, 212 Mich. App. 73, 82 (1995) (so holding in a case involving 
a claim for invasion of privacy by public disclosure of embarrassing facts). 

58 Ireland, 230 Mich. App. at 624. 
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public or a large number of people; and (2) the communication placed the plaintiff in 

a light that would be highly offensive to a reasonable person; with (3) knowledge that 

the publicized matter was false or reckless disregard for the false light in which the 

plaintiff would be placed. 59 The communications at issue are the same challenged 

statements that Scottsdale relies upon for its defamation claim; there are no new facts 

offered in support of its privacy claim. Although Scottsdale generically alleges that 

MLM and Mr. Goode « knew» that the challenged statements were false (or that they 

recklessly disregarded their falsity), the Complaint is devoid of any facts alleging how 

they knew the statements were false or why they recklessly disregarded whether the 

statements were false. Under Rouch II, this automatically dooms the claim. 

3. Dismissal with Prejudice: Scottsdale cannot cure the flaws in the Com
plaint by further amendment. 

Leave to amend should be withheld when amendment would be futile. 60 

Amendment would be futile in this case because: (1) all of the statements are true 

when considered in light of FINRA's disciplinary proceeding and the SEC's en

forcement proceedings; and (2) corporations cannot assert privacy claims. Accord

ingly, the Court should dismiss this case with prejudice. 

II 
II 
II 
II 
II 
II 

59 Early Detection Ctr'J P.C. v. New York Life Ins. Co., 157 Mich. App. 618, 630 
(1986). 

60 Allegheny-Ludlam Corp. v. Michigan Dept. of Treas. , 207 Mich. App. 604, 605 
(1994). 
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

For these reasons, MLM and Mr. Goode respectfully request that the Court 

grant summary disposition in their favor under MCR 2.116(C)(8) and dismiss the 

Complaint with prejudice. 

Dated: JUNE 6, 2018 

Respectfully submitted, 

fQ BUTZEL 

Stoneridge West 
41000 Woodward Avenue 
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304 
(248) 258-1616 
richotte@butzel.com 
al-howaishy@butzel.com 
Counsel for MLM and Michael Goode 

-17 -

- 299a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM



- 300a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM



UNITED STATES,DISTRICT'COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT. OF NEW YORK 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE 
COMMISSION, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

MAGDALENA 1AVELLA, 
A.NDRES HORACrOFICICCHlA, GONZALO 
GARClA BLAYA, LUCIA MARIANA 
HERt\rA.NDO;CECILIADE LORENZO, 
ADRIANA ROSA BAGA ITIN, 
DANIELA PATRICIAGOLDiviA..N, 
MARIANO PABLO FERRARI, 
MARlA.NO GRA .. CIARENA, and 
FERNANDO LOUREYRO, 

Defendants. 

COMPLAINT 

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange ·Conunission (the "Commission") for its 

Complaint alleges as follows: 

l. The Commission brings this civil 1m",' enforcement action .against 

Magdalena Tavella, Andres Horacio Ficicchia, Gonzalo Gcu'cia Blaya, Lucia Mariana 

Hernando, Cecilia De Lorenzo, Adriana Rosa Bagattin, Daniela Patricia Goldman, and 

Mariano Pa,blci Ferrari (collectively, the "Selling Defendants") on an emergency basis to 

preverit l11illioDsof ciollarsof proceeds from unlawfi.ll sales of securities being transfen-ed 

out of the country. Over the past month, the Selling Defendants have sold almost $34 

million wOlihofseeurities in Biozoom, Inc. ("Biozoom") (f/k/aEritertaihrrient'A;,i):, Inc.), 

a penny stock company traded on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board ("OlCBB"), and 

9 
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millions more shares are sitting in defendants' brokerage accounts and likely to be sold 

UJlJawfully to the pUblic. No registration . statement was in effect for the Selling 

Defendants' resale of securities, thus their sales were in violation of Section 50f the 

Securities Act of 1933 (the "Securities Act") [15 U.S.C. § 77e]. Fui1:her, almost $17 

million of the SellIng ]jefend~ts' ill:..gotten proceeds havebeen .transferre"ct o~tof the 

United States.' UnIess :an ass'et freeze covering the S~lling Defendant~f Biozoom shares is .' ..... ' . . 

issued, the · unlawful S<ll~S of secunties ,and tr;msferordissip~tion oftbe proceeds frolfl . 

sales of the securities, Will Iikeiy contirme. 

2. The Commission also brings this civil law enforcement action against 

Mariano Graciarena and Fernando Loureyro. These defendants recently deposited over a 

total of approximately 4.4 million shares of Biozoom stock into their respective 

brokerage accounts . Like the shares sold by the Selling Defendants, there is no 

registration statement in effect permitting the lawful resale of the Biozoom shares held by 

Graciarena and Lourcyro. Because Graciarena and Lourcyro are likely to engage in the 

sale of securities in viol~tion of Section 5 of the Securities Act, the Commission seeks to 

enjoin them from offering for resale their Biozoom shares until such time as a registration 

statement isfilec1 and in effect. 

3. From March 2013 to June 2013, defendants opened brokerage accounts at 

broker-dealers and deposited millions of shares of Biozoom, Inc. (£'k/a Emeltainment 

Art, Inc.) that they claimed did not bear a restrictive legend and were free-tradirig shares, 

All of the defendants claimed that they had purchased all or some of their shares from 

some of the original shareholders of Entertainment r\rt in ll'ansactidns between 

November 2012 and March 2013. 

2 
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4. To bolster 'their claims, each of the defendants submitted stock purchase 

agreements dated between November 2012 and March 2013 that purportedly evidenced 

their purchase of Entertainment Art stock , from the former Ent~rtainment Ali: , 

sharehoiaers. Based on these stock purchase agreements and other documentation, the 

defendants - between March 2013 and June 2013 - deposited ,a total of 20,130,000 shares 

ofBiozoominto their brokerage accounts. 

5. The oefendants collid not, however, have' purchased any of their shares 

from the original Entertainment .Art shareholders as they claimed because those 

shareholders ceased to have any interest in the company on or around May 2009 -more 

than three years earlier than the defendants' claimed purchases, 

6. Almost immediately after defendants deposited shares of Biozoom.in their 

brokerage accounts, Biozoom began issuing a series of press releases and a stock 

promotional campaign for the company began, Following these press releases and stock 

promotional campaign, from May 16, 2013 to June 21,2013, the company 's stock price 

and volume increased dramatically, For example, prior to May 16, 2013 , no shares in 

Biozoom had traded. However, from May 16,2013 to June 21, 2013 , Biozoom's stock 

price shot past $4 per share, with total volume of more tha.n 87 million shares, 

7, During thi s same period, eight of the defendants sold millions of Biozoom 

shares il1tO the rising market - reaping millions of dollars in proceeds as a result. In 

total, over an approximately one l110nthperiocl from May 16, 20.13 - J lme 17, 2013 , eight 

of the deftndaritssold a total of over 14 million sharesofBiozoom stock into the public 

markets for pl'oceeds of almost $34 million, 

3 
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8. None of these sales were made pursuant to an effective registration 

statement. By engaging in the foregoing conduct, the eight Selling Defendants violated 

the registration provisions of the federal securities)aws, Sectioris 5 (a) and, S(c) of the 

Securities-Act of 1933: ("Securities Ace') [lS U .S. C. 15 HS:C.§§ 77e(a) and 77e{ ~)r 

9, . While ~the ·remainingtwodefendants - Graciareriaand Loureyro"':'have·yet 

to seILanyof.their'·Biozoom~hcires,they are iikelyto ,dosO· unless ·~estr~ined . . The)'. 

recently deposited millions of shares into their respective brcike~age accounts, claiming . 

(as the other defendants) that these shares have no restrictive legend and are available for 

resale to the public. Therefore, the Commission seeks an order pursuant to Securities Act 

Section 20(b) [15 U.S.C. 77t(b)] to enjoin them from violations of Sections 5(a) and 5(c) 

of the Securities Act 

.nJRISDICTION AND VENUE 

10. The SEC brings Lhis action pursuant to Seclion 5 [15 U.S .C. § 77e] and 

Section 20Cb) of the Secmities Act of 1933 ("Securities Act") [15 U.S;c. § 77t(b)] . 

Defendants have direcrly or indirectly made use of the memls -or instrumentalities of 

interstate commerce, or of the mails, or the facilities of a national securities exchange in 

connection with the acts, practices, transactions, and courses of business alleged in tllis 

Complaint. 

11 . This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 22 of the 

Securities Act[15 US.C. § 77v], and 28 U.S.c. § 1331. 

12. Venue is proper in this COUlt pursuant to Section 22(a) of the Securities 

Act [15 U.S .C. §77-vj, because certain acts, practices, and courses of business constituting 

the violations alleged herein have occurred within the Southern District of New York. 

4 
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13. DefendCil1ts will, unless restTamed and enjoined, continue to engage irithe 

acts, practices" transactions, and coursesqf ,business . alle~ed in tills · Complaint, ()r :inacts, 

practices,·transacticins; and courses ~fbusiness()fsinii1¥ purport and object. 

THE DEFEND.AN1:S 

14. Defendant Andres 'Horacio :Ficicchiaresides ' ih Buenos Aires; Argentinil 

and is an .Argentinecitizen: 

15. Defendant Gonza:lo ' Garcia Bhl.ya resides in Buenos Aires, Argentina, and · 

is an .A.rgentine citiien. 

16. Defendant Luciana Mariana Hernando resides in Buenos Aires, Argentina, 

and is an Argentine citizen. 

17. Defendant Cecilia De Lorenzo resides in Buenos Aires, Argentina, and is 

an .Argentine citizen. 

18. Defendant Magdalena Ta.vella resides . in Buenos Aires, l\.rgentina, GL.'1d is 

em .r'\rgentine citizen. 

19. Defendant Adriana Rosa Bagattin resides in Buenos Aires, Argentina, and 

is an Argentine citizen. 

20. Defendant Daniela Patricia Goldman resides in Buenos Aires, Argentina, 

and is an Argentine citizen. 

21. Defendant Mariano Pablo Ferrari resides in Buenos Aires, Argentina, and 

is an Argentine citizen. 

22. Defendant Mariano Graciarenaresides in Buenos Aires, Argentina, and is 

an Aigentine citizen. 

5 

- 305a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM



, , , 

23. Defendant Fernando Loureyro reside~ in Buenos Aires, Argentina, and is 

an Argentine citizen. 

OTHER RELEVANT ENTITIES ·, 

24. , Blozoom, Inc. ef/kJa Entertainment Alis, Inc.) is a Nevada corporation ' 

with its principal' place of business ill Kassel, Germany. Biozoom puiportsto be in the 

busi~es~· of res,earthing, developing; andli~ensi1:ig ' teClmologies,:r~lating t~' :the : mobile,' " 
., . . ..... ;". :' ,- " ... 

remote collection of'biomedicru' data a~ 'well ,', asbIlaterru di~g~os~iccominUnicatio~. ' . . , . . : . . . 

Biozoom's ·common stock is ~egistered with theC~inmission purs~allt to Section 12 of 

the Secw-ities Exchange Act of 1934 ("Exchange Act") [15 U.S.C. §78l] and is quoted on 

the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board ("OTCBE") under the trading symbol "BIZM." 

25. Legend Secw-ities ("Legend") is a registered broker-dealer located in New , 

York, New York. 

26. Scottsdalc Capital Advisors ("Scottsdale") is a registered broker-dealer 

located in Phoenix, lIsizona, 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

A. The Creation of Entertainment Art and I:nitial Sale of Company 

27. On June 15, 2007, Entertainment Art was incorporated under the laws of 

the state of Nevada. In public filings, Entertainment ' Art represented that it was a 

developri1ental stage company fOID1ed to design, produce, and sell a line of leather 'bags, 

with ,offices located in West Hempstead, New York. Entertainment Art was controlled 

by thetffi:ee members of company management. 

28. From November 200'7 through March 20'0'8, Entertainment Art offered and 

sold a total 'OI 610,0'00 shares, to 34 different'investors in private placement transactions. 
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A share 'certificate reflecting , EntertairJ?1ent Art share ownership , was issued to ' each 

investor. 

29 . On July , 18, 2008, Entertmnrnent Art /filed a Form ,8-1 registration 

statement with the, Commission to register the-rescile transactions for the 34 shareholders, 

who acquired :Entertainment Art stock in these private placements ("theFormS-l ' 

Shareholde~s' ;);Inparticular, of the total 1,81 O,OOOshClIe~ outstanaingat-the tim~ , ofthe 
, .' 

~, .. 

F om1 S-l, ' Enteltairill1eht Art's' S-l covered 610,000, ' orappr~ximatelyone-thlrd,o:fthe ,,' 

company's then outstanding shares. 

30. The ,remaining 1,200,000 shares of Entertainment Art stock were held by 

the three company officers in three identical 400,000 share blocks. 

31. On May 1, 2009, Entenainment Art announced, in a public filing ,with the 

Commission, that the three Entertainment Art officers sold their total 1,200,000 shares of 

Entertainment Art t6 Medford Financial Ltd. ("Medford Financial"), a Belizean entity, 

for a purchase price of $120,000. 

32. 'Contrary ,tothi5 disclosure, however, Medford Financial purchased more 

than 1,200,000 shares of Entertainment Art. In fact, Medford Financial also purchased 

all of the 610,000 shares that had been purchased by the Form S-l shareholders. Thus, in 

this transaction, Medford Financial purchased all of the Qlltst<mding shares, including the 

shares then held by the Form S-1 Shareholders. 

33. ' Each of the FOlTIl S-l shareholders received their initial invesnnentback, 

with aii ac!dition~l, s'~all return on their investment. Th~s, by on or around May 2009, 

each of the Fonn S-l shareholders had no remaining shares or other interest in 

Entertainment Art. 
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34. According to companyfiliqgs, On June 30, 2009, Entertainment Art's 

board of directors approved the implementation of a· 33: 1 forward split for Entertainment 
.. ":- . .~'. ."... 

Art stock without correspondingly inct~~sing .the authorized shares of common stock for 

Entertainment Art. ,On July 21,20b9,the " forWar~spiit became ~ffedive, andasaresult ' 
.: .... , 

of the forward spli(th~ company ,had 59,73 0;000 shares Of common ' stock outstanding - .' 

which wasalroWn~d:pyMedfordFinancial~ 

B. .. Anothe~ Sale of Entert~inrrielit Art and Acquisition6iBi~:ioom . 
Technology 

35. On October 25, 2012; Entertainment Art reported, in a public filing with 

the Conmlission, thaton October 19 Medford Financial sold 39,600,000 common shares 

of Entertainment Art in a private transaction with Le Mond Capital for a purchase price 

of $430,000, which equates to approximately $0.01 per share, 

36. Le Mond Capital purports to be a foreign entity based in the British Virgin 

Islands. As a result of the sale, Entertainment J-\.rt disclosed that Le Mond Capital 

controlled over 66 .3% of the Company's issued and outstanding common stock. 

37. However, on infonnation and belief, Le Mond Capital purchased the 

entire company from Medford Financial - and all of 59,730,000 outstanding shares. 

38. The o\\'nerof 'Le MondCapital, Bara Deutsch, became Entertainment 

Art's new President, Chief ExecutiveOfTicer, Principal Executive Officer, Treasurer, 

Chief Financial · Officer, Secretary, Treasurer,and Director. On information and belief, 

Deutsch is a resident of Buenos Air~s, .. A.rgen:tjna. 

39. From September 2011 to at least October 2012, Deutsch worked as a 

manager of Magdalena's Party. Accbi.-dingto the business' website, Magdakna's Party is 
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a restaurant located .in Buenos Aires, Argentina. According to another website describing 

Magdalena's Party, it is co-owned by Deutsch, defendant Magdalena Tavella, and others. 

40. On March 12, 2013, Entertainment . Art filed a Form 8-K with · the 

Commission in which it armounced a dramatic chapge in its business operations from a 

company that developed.JaShioriableIeather bags to acompan{that was involved in the 

biomedical industry. In particUlar, Entertainment Art · announced a transactiori pursuant · 

to which its newly formed subsidiary, Biozoom Technologies, Inc., acquired certain 

patents, licenses, and related assets from each of three separate companies: Opsolution 

Spectroscopic Systems, Opsolution NanoPhotonics, and Opsolution GmBH, (the 

"Opsolution acquisition") in exchange for cash of $50,000 and 39 million shares of 

Entertainment An common stock. 

41. Entertainment Art described that, through Biozoom, it was now In the 

business of "researching, developing, and licensing technologies relating to the mobile 

remote collection of biomedical data as well as bilateral diagnostic communication." 

42. Entertainment Alt further disclosed that - as of immediately after closing 

of the Opsolution acquisition and filing of the Form 8-K - Deutsch would stcp down as 

CEO and Chief Financial Officer of Entertainment Art, but would stay on as a Director 

only. 

43. As a result of the transaction, the 59,730,000 outstanding shares of 

Entertainment /ut were allocated in the following .manner. First, Le Mond Capital 

retmned 39,000,000 shares to the company, and then those 39,000,000 shares were 

. allocated - as shares bearing a restrictive ieaend - to four entities that were associated 

with the Opsolution entities. 
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44. Thus, after these allocations, 20,730;000 shares of Entertainment Art 

remained. Le Mond CapitaLretained 600,000 of these shares bearing a restrictive legend. 

The remaining 20,130,000 shares ~ which .representedthetotalshares purchased by the 

Form S-1 Shareholders (and subsequently sold in the Medford-FinallCial transaction on or 

around May 2009) - were unallocated. 

45. . On April), 2013 , Entertainrilent Art chartged its narneto' Biozoom, under 

the trading symbol "BIZM" on the OTCBulletin Board. 

C. Defendants Deposit Biozoom Shares In Their Newly Opened 
Brokerage Accounts 

46. From January 2013 to May 2013, brokerage accounts were opened at 

Legend, a registered broker-dealer based in New York, in the name of four of the 

defendants: Ficicchia, Blaya, Hernando, and De Lorenzo. 

47. In May 2013, brokerage accounts were opened at Scot1sdale, a registered 

broker-dealer based in Phoernx, Arizona, in the nameoi' another four defendants: 

Tavella, Bagattin, Goldman, and Ferrari. 

48. Accorclingto the account opening docwnentation - and as reflected in the 

table below - with one exception, none of the defendant<; worked in fields related to 

securities. 

Blaya Music prClduceFstock investments 

J-Iemando Marketing Manager 

De Lorenzo Self-employed marketiilg specialist 
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Bagattin 

Ferrari 

Goldman 

1. Accounts at Legend 

Andres Horacio Ficicchia 

intelle'ctu"alproperty; .ilnd' patent 1aw ' 

Retired Teacher 

Salesan-d Marketing 

Delicatessen owner 

49, Defendant Ficicchia opened his account at Legend on or about January 24, 

2013 and funded the account with $26,000 cash. 

50. On November 30, 2012, Entertainment Art's transfer agent issued an 

Entertairmtent Art certificate for 165,000 shares to Ficicchia. 

51. On Mmch 13, 2013, Entertainment Art's transfer agent issued an 

Entertaillllent Art certificate for 1,237,500 shares to Ficicchia, 

52. The certificate for 1,23 7,500 shares was accompanied by a corporate 

certification stating that Deutsch certified - at a board meeting of Entenainment Art 011 . 

March 22, 2013 - the company approved the issuanceofthat certificate to Ficicchia. 

53. In order to deposit the certificate for 1,237,500 shares and the certificate of 

165,000 shares of Eritertainment .Art into his broker~gc account at Legend, defendant 

Ficicchiacompleted a "Deposit[or Securities Request Certificate Questionnaire" that was 

required by Legend, and provided additional documentation. 
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54. The documentation reflected that Ficicchia acquired the 1;237;500 shares 

pursuant to . two private sales that were completed on February 19> 2013: (l) a purchase of 

412,500 shares from Investor A and{2) a pur:chase 0[825,000 shares from Investor B. 

The documentation also reflected thatFicicchia paid. a total of approximately $6,300 for 

these shares, which equalS:approximately $.OOS ·pershare; For the following reasons, the 

documentation submitted by FlCicchia was false: 
• ,0. •• 

55. Investor A waS .oneofthe¥orin·S':'l shareholders who bad' sold his shares 

of Entertainment Art on . or around May 2009 - almost four years before Ficicchia's 

claimed purchase of shares .from Investor A. Investor B was purportedly a shareholder 

that acquired its shares from some of the Form S-1 shareholders in 2011 - approximately 

two years after the F01ID S-l shareholders actually sold their shares. 

56. The docw11entation further reilected that Defendant Ficicchia acquired the 

165,000 shareS pursuant to a private sale that was compleled on November 30, 20 L2 vv'lth 

Investor C - shares that he acquired for $24,750, which equals $0.15 per share. Investor 

C was also one of the FOIID 8-1 Shareholders who had sold his shares of Entertainment 

Art on or around May 2009 - over three years before Ficicchia's claimed purchase of 

shares from Investor C. 

57. On March 5, 2013, Ficicchia deposited 165,000 shares of Entertailll1ent 

Art not bearing a restrictive legend into his brokerage account at Legend; and then on 

March 27, 2013, Ficicchia deposited an additional 1,237,500 shares (again notbearing a 

restrictive legend) - for a total 00 ,462,s00 shares. 

58. On April 1, i013, due to the name change of Entertainment Art to 

Biozoom, these shares becal11e Biozoom shares. Thus, defendant Ficicchia held 
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1,402,500 shares of Biozoom that -were purportedly available to be sold on the public 

markets. 

GonzaloGarcia Blaya 

- -

59: On or about March 26, 2013; -defendant Blaya opened an account at 

_ Legend and funded this account with $26,000 cash. -

60. On March 22, 2013 ~ just four clays prior to opening, this account -

Entertainment Art's transfer agent issued a certificate for 1,485,000 Entertainment Art 

shares to Blaya. 

61. In order to deposit his certificate for 1,485,000 shares of Entertainment 

Art into his brokerage accow1t at Legend, defendant Blaya completed a "Deposit for 

Securities Request Certificate Questionnaire" that was required by Legend, and provided 

additional documentation. For the following reasons, the docun1entation submitted by 

Blaya was false. 

G2. The documentation reflected that Blaya acquired the 1,485,000 shares in 

four separate private sales that were completed on March 4, 2013: (1) a purchase of 

165,000 shares from Investor D; (2) a purchase of 495,000 shares from Investor E; (3) a 

purchase of 165,000 shares from Investor F; and (4) a purchase of 660,000 shares from 

Investor G. The documentation also retlected that Blaya paid a total of approximately 

$6,765 for these shares, which equals approx.imately $.005 per share. 

63. Each of Investors D, E, F, and G were Form 3-1 Shareholders who had 

soJd their Entertainment Art shares on or around May 2009 - almost four years before 

Blaya's claimed purchase of shares from these investors. 
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64. On April J6, 2013, Blayadeposited 1,485;000 shares cifEntertaihnient Art 

not bearing a restrictive legend into his :brokerage account at Legend. As a result of the 

business nmnechange on April 1, 2013, these sharesbecame,Bi0200m shares, Thus, 

defenciantBlaya held 1,485;000 shares of Biozoom that- werepurjJortedly avail~ble to be '. 

sold on the public markets. 

Luciana Mariana Hernariilo 

65. On or about March 7, 2013, defendant Hernando opened an account at 

Legend and funded the account With $50,000 cash. 

66. On March 22,.2013, Entertaimnent Art's transfer agent issued a certificate 

for 1,815;000 Entertainment Art shares to Hernando. 

67. In order to deposit her 1,815,000 shares of Entertainment Art into her 

brokerage aCColmt at Legend, defendant Hernando completed a "Deposit for Securities 

Request Certificate Questionnaire" that was required by Legend, and provided additional 

documentation. For ihe following reasons, the docwnentation submitted by Hernando 

was false . 

68. The documentation reflected that Hernando acquired the 1,815,000 shares 

pursuant to two separate private sales that were completed on March 5, 2013: (1) a 

purchase of 1 ,650,000 shares from Investor H; and (2) a purchase of 165,000 shares from 

Investor 1. The documentation also retlected that Hermmdo paid a total of apprpximateiy 

$5,445 for these shares, which equals approximately $.003 per shaTe. 

69. Both Investors H and I were Fom1 S-1 shareholders who had sold their 

Enteliainment Ali shares on or aro.lind May 2009 - almost four years before Hernando's 

claimed purchase of shares from these investors. 
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70. On May 14, 2013, defendant Hemando deposited 1,815,000 shares of 

Entertainment Art not bearing a restrictive legend into her brokerage account at Legend 

Securities. As a result of the business name change on April 1, 20l3, these shares 

became Biozoom shares. Thus, defendant Hemando held 1,815,000 shares of Biozoom 

that were purportedly available to be sold on the public markets. 

Cecilia De Lorenzo 

71. . On or about February 4, 2013,defenclant De Lorenzo opened an account at 

Legend and funded the account with $5'0,000 cash. 

72. On March 13,2013, Entertainment Art's transfer agent issued a certificate 

for 2,062,500 shares to De Lorenzo. 

73. The cenificate was accompanied by a corporate certification stating that 

Deutsch certified - at a board meeting of Entertainment Art on March 22, 2013 - the 

cllmpcUly approved the issuance of the above certificate to Dc Lorenzo. 

74. In order to deposit her 2,062,500 shares of Entertainment Art into her 

brokerage account at Legend, De Lorenzo completed a "Deposit for Securities Request 

Certificate Questionnaire" that was required by Legend, and provided additional 

documentation. For the following reasons, the documentation submitted by De Lorenzo 

was false. 

75. The documentation reflected that De Lorenzo acquired the 2,062,500 

shares pursuant 10 two separate private sales that were completed on February 19,2013 -

the same day as the purported purchases of Entertainment Art stock by Ficicchia: (1) a 

purchase of 1,650,000 shares .from Investor J; and ,(2) a purchase of 412,500 shares from 
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Investor K. The documentation also reflected that Defendant De Lorenzo paid a total of 

approximately $8,300 for these shares; which equa1sapproximately $.004 per share; 

76. Both Investors J and K,however; were Form S-l shareholders . who had 

sold their Entertainment ·Art shares on or around May 2009 - almost four years 'before 

defendant De Lorenzo's cHurned purchase of shares fromthese investors. ' 

77 . .• On March 22, 2013, defendant DeLorenzo deposited 2>062,500sh~esof 
. '. . . .' . 

Entertairrine~t Art not bearing a restrictive legend mtoher brokerageiccount atLegend . . . . . 

. . ," 

As areslilt ofthe business name change on Aprii 1,2013, these shares became Bio~OOI~ 

shares. Thus, defendant De Lorenzo held 2,062,500 shares .of Biozoorn that purportedly 

could be sold on the public markets. 

2. Accounts at Scottsdale 

Magdalena Tavella 

78. On March 22, 2013, Emertainrnent Art' s stock transfer agent issued a 

certificate for 1,815,000 shares of Entertainment Art to Tavella. 

79. On or about May 16, 2013, defendant Tavella opened an account at 

Scottsdale. 

80. In order to deposit her 1,815,000 shares of Entertainment Art into her 

brokerage account, Scottsdale, using information and docllmenultion provided by 

Tavella, completed a securities deposit checklist. For the following reasons, the 

docLUnentation submitted by Tavella was false. 

81. The documentation reflected that Tavella acquired the 1,815,000 shares 

pursuantto three separate private sales. that were completed on March 5, 2013 - the sal1)e 

day as the purported purchases of Entenainment Art by defendant Hernando: (1) a 
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purchase of 165,000 shares from Investor L; (2) a purchase of 165,000 shares from 

Investor M; and (3) a purchase of 1,485,000 shares from Investor N . The documeritation 
, , 

reflected that Tavella paid a totaLofapproximatel}' $9;075 fo~ these shares, which equals 

approximately $.006 per share; 

82 . .Investors Land M were two of the Form S-l shareholders who had sold 

their shares of Eritertainment Art on or around May 2009 - almost four years before 

TavelIa',s clilimed, 'purchase of share's from them. Investor N was pirrportedly a 

shareholder that acquired its shares from some of the FormS-1 shareholders in March 

2011 - almost two years after the Form S-1 shareholders sold their shares. 

83. On May 22, 2013, defendant Tavella deposited 1,815,000 shares of 

Entertainment Art not bearing a restrictive legend into her brokerage account at 

Scottsdale. As a result of the business name change on April 1, 2013, these shares 

became Biozoom shares. Thus, deienda.l1t Tavella hcid 1,815,000 shares ofBiozoom that 

were purportedly available to be sold on [he public markets. 

Adriana Rosa Bagattin , 

84 . On March 13, 2013 , Entertaillrnent Art' s transfer agent issued a certificate 

for 2,3 10,000 Entertainment Art sh~lres to defendant Bagattin, 

On or about May 10, 2013, defendant Bagattin opened an account at 

Scottsdale. 

86. In order to deposit her 2,310,000 shares of Entertainment Art into her 

brokerage account, Scottsdale, using information and documentation provided by 

Bagattin, cO~1pleted a securities deposit checklist. For the fbllowing reasons, the 

documentation submitted by Bagattinwas false ; 
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87. The documentation reflected thatBagattin acquired the 2,310,000 shares 

pursuant to three private sales that were completed on February 26, 2013: (1) apurchase 

of 1,650,000 shares from Investor 0; (2) a purchase ·of 330,000 ' shares from Investor P; 

and (3) a purchase 0030;000 shares from lnvestorQ. The documentation reflected that 

Defendant ' Bagattin paid approximately $6,930 for these shares, which equals 

approximately $;003 per share . 

. 88. Each of Investors 0, P,imdQ; howe'ver, wereFoim S-l Shareholders who 

had sold their Entertajnment Art shares on or around May 2009 - almost four years 

before defendant Bagattin's claimed purchase of shares from these persons. 

89. On May 22, 2013, Bagattin deposited 2,310,000 shares of Entertaimuerit 

Art not bearing a restrictive legend into her brokerage account at Scol1sdale. As a result 

of the business nanle change on April 1, 2013, these shares became Biozoom shares. 

Thus, defendant Bagattin held 2,310,000 shares of Biozoom that were purportedly 

available to be sold on the public markets. 

Daniela Patricia GoldJUan 

90. On March 22, 2013, Enteliainment Art's transfer agent issued a certificate 

for 2,485,000 Entertairlli1ent Ali shares to Goldman. 

91. On or about May 13, 20B, defendant Goldman opened an account at 

Scottsdale . 

92. In order to deposit her 2,485,000 shares of Entertainment .Art into her 

brokerage account, Scottsdale, using document.ation and information provided by 

Goldman, completed a securities deposit checklist For the following reasons, the 

documentation . submitted by Goldman was false. 
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93. The documentation repected that Goldman acquired the 2,485,000 shares 

. pursuant to two private sales that 'were completed on March 4, 2013: (1) a purchase of · 

1,485,000 shares from Investor R; .and (2) a purchase 'of 1,ooo,o6C)'shares from Investor:, 

S. The documentation a]so reflected that Goldman paid approximately $7,455 for these 

shares, ·which,equals approximately $.003 per share. 
. , .. . 

94. Investor: R purportedly ,obtained its sh~es fromsmne of the Form S-1 

Shareholders in March 2011 -almost two years after theFortn S~ 1 shareholders sold 

their shares. Investor S was one of the Form S-1 shareholders ;and sold .his shares on or 

arOlmd May 2009 - almost four years before defendant Goldman's claimed purchase of 

shares from him, 

95. On May 22,2013, Goldman deposited 2,485,000 shares of Entertainment 

Art not bearing a restrictive legend into her brokerage account at Scottsdale, As a result 

Of' 'lle buc;np~s n""'p "loaner!> on Apr'll I 70n t1le"c s'h"rps ber:.m· p RiO'lOOI11 sh<lre<: ..L l . .,,)JJ. ...... ..J J,.o...U.J..i""", ........ .1. .:J""'" .................. ,__ ... ..;, _ "-' .. I,..;..i,..... .....(.U .... .-_ _ ....... ___ _. 

Thus, defendant Goldman held 2,485,000 she-.res of Biozoom that were purportedly 

available for sale on the, public markets, 

Mariano Pablo Ferrari 

96, 011 March 22, 2013, Entertainmem Ali's transfer agent issued a c;ertificate 

for 2,3JO,000 Entertainment Art shares to Fenari, 

97, Onor about May 20, 2013, Ferrari opened 811 account at ScottsdaJe. 

98 . In order to deposit his 2,310,000 shares of Entertainment Art into his 

brokerage accOlmt, Scottsdale, using documentation and infoffi1ation provided by ferraTi, 

completed a securities deposit checklist. For the following reasons, the documentation 

provided by Ferrari was false. 
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99. The documentation reflected that Ferrari acquired the 2,31Q;00'Oshares 

pursuant to two private sales that were completed on March 5,2013: (1) a ,purchaseof 

1;650,000 shares from Investor T; and (2) aputchase 0[660,000 shares from'Investor U. 
.; .' , 

The documentation also reflected that Goldman paid approximately $9,2AO for these 

shares, orapproximately ·$:004 per share. 

100. . InvestorY"vas ()ne Of the ·Forrn . S~l shareholders and soldhis'shareson or, 

around May ' 2009 -almosfJoillyearsbefore defendant Ferrari's 'claimed purchase of 

shares from ·him. Investor U purportedly obtained its shares from some of the Form S-l 

shareholders in September 2009. 

101 . On May 22, 2013, Ferrari deposited 2,310,000 shares of Entertainment Art 

not bearing a restrictive legend into his brokerage account at Scottsdale. As a result of 

the business name change on April 1,2013, these shares became Biozoom shares. Thus, 

defendant Ferrari held 2,310,000 shares of Biozoom that \-vere purportedly available for 

saJe on the public markets. 

Two Other Accounts in.Nnmes of Defendants GraciareIl3 and Loureyro 

102. On March 22, 2013, Manhattan Transfer issued a certificate for 2,145,000 

Enteltainment An shares to Graciarena and 2,300,000 Entertainment Art shares to 

Loureyro. Graeiarena a.'1d Loureyro submilied documentation reneeting that they had 

obtained their shares in the same maImer as the other eight defendants - i.c. - by 

purpOIiedly purchasing shaTes from the Fonn S-1 shareholders. 

lC:i3 . On or about June 14, 2013, Fernando Loureyro and Mariano Graciarena 

opcned separate accounts at Scottsdale. Like the other ei~ht defendar;.ts, both stated in 

brokerage firm documents that they resided in Buenos Aires, Argentina. 
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104. On Jlll1e 18, 2013, these shares were deposited in the brokerage aCCOlll1ts 

of these· two individuals. To date, none of these shares have been sold. 

105. In sum, from November 2012 to Jlll1e 2013, the ten defendant accounts 

received a total of 20,130,000 shares of Entertainment Art. These shares represented an 

of the shares that were llilallocated . after the Opsolution acquisition. Moreover, these 

shares represented 100% percent of the. total shares without a restrictive ' iegend 

outstanding in Biozoorrt at the time, and mc;>re than 33% percent of the: total outstanding 

shares Of Biozoom. 

D. Defendants Sell Millions of Biozoom Shares 

106. Beginning on May 22, 2013 - and after nearly all of the defendants had 

deposited their Biozoom shares not bearing a restrictive legend in their aCCOlll1ts -

Biozoom began issuing a series of press releases in which it claimed it "created the 

world's first portable, handheld consumer device" to instantly and non-invasively 

measme certain biomarkers. These claims were also made by other entities, inCluding 

Global Financial, Inc., Stock PreacheLcom, among others. 

107. Following these positive claims concerning Biozoom's prospects, the 

accounts in the ~anle of eight of the selling defendants sold substantial amounts of their 

Biozoom stock that did Dot bear a restrictive legend for massive proceeds. In particular, 

and as reflected in the chan below, eight of the defendants sold 14,078,406 shares of 

BIZM stock for proceeds of$33,997,152. 

1

;·Defe:Q.dant;.,. '.:': . Sli'a·i:eS'.spI(~ ·.~" ··Date;:.Sold·. ·. ": -;, .. ~p.l'o.ceedsf':~;,·· · Sh·al'~ ~.::.~.r':i::: 'l 
',-' . . ' . ' . . Remamma . - I 

Blaya 1,312,053 j 5/16/13-6/13113 $3,014,965 1.'72'9~7 

De Lorenzo L 1,328,000 .\-6/17113 - 6118113 i $4,8'09,836 1734,500 
Hemando ! 1,815,000 ' 6~6113 -6/17/13 I $5,048,2-17 j 0 
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Ficcichia 
Tavella 

j?agattin 
, Ferrari 

' Goldman 

,, 1,402;500 
1~592,444 ' 

, 2,176,726 . 
1,994;038 
2,457;645 

15/20/13 -6/5/13,, $1 ,979,389 .j272;6201 
, 

16/7/13 -6/11i13 $3;116,894 ' .382,956"" 
6110113 ~6/18/13 ! $6,223,:Ho" ,,'133;724 
6/7/l3 -6/19/13 . f $5;456;690 315,962 
5/28113 - 6/61131 $3771,761 , 27,35'5 

108. All of the eight selling defendants placed their orders to: sl;l1 Biozoom 
. . . . . . ",'. 

stock inthesa;me manner -via e-mail and instant messageto either Legend or$cottsdale. 

109. Upon selling shares in Biozoom, several of the defendants instructed their 

brokerage firms to wire the proceeds of their sales to foreign bank accounts in various 

countries: 

.. Ficicchia: On Jlme 7, 2013 , defendant Ficicchia instructed Legend, to 'wire $1 

million to Alpine Securities, Inc., a registered clearing broker-dealer. Alpine 

provides clearing services for Scottsdale, and as described earlier, Ficicchia 

opened an accOlmt at Scottsdale on or around June 10, 2013 and funded it \-vi th 

this $1 million. On June 25, 2013 - the same day as the Conmlission' s order 

suspending trading in Biozoom - Ficicchia instructed Scottsdale to wire $325,000 

to a bank account in Cyprus. This wire was not executed. Ficicchia's brokerage 

accourital Legend currently has a cash balance of slightly over $1 million, and 

Ficicchia's brokerage account at Scottsdale currently has a cash balance of 

approximately $328;000. 

Oil or around June 10,20]3, Ficicchia openMan account at ScottSdale and funded this account 
with $1 million from his account at Legend. Ficicchia's "Shares Remaining;' co/umn': reflecls Biozoom 
purchases that he has made in his account at Scottsdale. 

Tavella's "Shares Remaining" column includes 160,400' Biozoom shares that she [JUlchased in the 
open market on June ]9,2013. 
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$ Blaya: On June 14, 2013"Blaya instructed Legend to wire "all settled funds 

except $30,000" to .anaccountheld in Geneva, Switzerland. This wire was not 

executed. This account currently has a cash balance of approximately $3.5 

million. 

• Hernando: On June 13,2013, Hernando instructed his broker-dealer, Legend, to 

. wire "all available · settled cash" in her account, which at the time, was 

approximately $600,000, to an account held at Hellenic Bank 'Public Company 

Limited in Lemesos, Cyprus. This wire was executed. On June 17, 2013, 

Hernando instructed his broker-dealer, Legend, to wire $2 million, again to an 

account held at Hellenic Bank Public Company Limited in Lemesos, Cyprus. 

This wire was not executed by Legend . This account has a cash balance of 

approximately $4.5 million. 

" Dc Lorenzo: De Lorenzo has not yet attempted to wire any money out of her 

account. De Lorenzo has a bank account in Dar Es Salaam. The account has a 

cash balance of approximately $4.8 million. 

G Tavclla: On JlU1e 25, 2013 - the day of the Commission's order suspending 

t rading in the securities of Biozoom - , Tavella attempted to wire approximately 

$2,450,000 out of her account at Scottsdale to a bank account in St. Vincent and 

the Grenandines, This wire has not beenexecutecl. The current cash balance in 

Tavella' s brokerage account is approximately $2.4 7 million. 

., Bagattin: On June 20, 2013, Bagattin instructed Scottsdale to WIre 

approximately $4.33 million to a bank account in Cyprus. This WIre \-vas 

executed. On June 24, 2013, Bagattin instructed Scottsdale to send an additional 

23 

- 323a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM



approximately $1.89 million to the same bank account. This wire was also 

executed. The current cash balance in:Bagattin'sbrokerage account is $3,000. 

• Goldman: On June 11, 2013, Goldman instructed Scottsdale to wire 

approximately $3.77 million to an account held at a bank in Geneva, Switzerland 

~a bank where Blaya also lioldsan account. This wire was executed. The cash 

balance in Goldman's accounfis·$O> 

eFerrari: On June 19, 2013, Ferrari instructed Scottsdakto wire $500;000 to an 

account held at a bank in Panama. This wire was executed. On June 24,2013, 

Ferrari instructed Scottsdale to wire an additional $4.9 million, this time to a bank 

in Belize. This wire was also executed. The cash balance in Ferrari's account is 

$0. 

F. No Registration Statemcnt Was In Effect At the Timc Defendants Sold 
Biozoom Shares 

110. Section 5 of the Securities Act makes it unlawful for any person, directly or 

indirectly, to offer or sell securities, using the U.S. mails or interstate cOlmnerce,unless such 

offer or sale is registered with the Commission. 

11 L No registration statement v,,'as in effect for the shmes sold by the Selling 

Defendants. 

112. No registration statenient lS m effect for the 13iozoom shares held by 

defendants Graciarena and Loureyro. 

G. Biozoom Is A Penny Stock As· Defined By The Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934 ("Exchange Act") 

113. Biozoom's stock is a "peru1)' stock" as defined by the Exchange Act. At 

times relevant to this ComplaiFlt, the stock's shares traded at less than .$S.OO per share. 

During the sa.'11e time period, Biozoom's stock did not meet any of the exceptions to 
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penny stock classification pursuantto Section 3(a)(51) and Rule 3a51-1 of the. Exchange 

Act. 

114. For example, :the company's stock: (1) did not trade on a national 

securities exchange; (2) was not an "NMS stock," as defined in 17 C.F.R. § 

242.242.600(b)( 47); (3) did not have net tangible assets (i :e., total assets less intangible 

assets and liabilities) in excess 0[$5,000,000; and (4) did not:have average revenue of at 

least$6,OOO;OOO for the lastthree·years. (See Exchange Act, Rule ;3a51-1(g).) 

COUNT I 

VIOLATION OF SECTION 5 OF THE SECURITIES ACT, 15 U.S.c. §77e 

(Defendants TaveIIa. Ficicchia. Blava. Hernando. Dc Lorenzo. Bagattin, Ferrari, 
Goldman) 

1 15 . Paragraphs 1 througb 11 4 are bereby re-alleged and incorporated by 

reference. 

116. Defendants, by engagmg m the conduct described above, directly or 

indirectly, and without a registrmion statement in effect as to such securities: 

(a) made use of means or instruments of transportation or communication 

in interstate commerce or of the mails to sell, through the use or 

medium of a prospectus or othenvise; or 

(b) can'ied or caused to be carried through the mails or in interstate 

conunerce, by any means or instruments of transportation, securities 

for the purpose of sale or for delivery after sale. 

1 J 7. Defendants, by engaging in the conduct described above, also directly or 

indirectly, made use of the means or instruments of transportation or communication in 

interstate commerce or of the mails to offer to sell or offer to buy through the use or 
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medium of any prospectus or otherwise securities, without a registration statement having 

been filed as to those securities. 

118. By engaging in the foregoing conduct, Defendants directly or indirectly, 

violated, and unless restrained· and enjoined wjH continue to violate Sections 5(a) and 

S(c) of the Securities Act [15 U.S,C. §§ 77e(a) and 77e(c)]. 

COUNTII 

INJUNCTION PURSUANT TO SECTION 20(b )OF THE SECURITIES ACT 

(Defendants :Graciarena and Loureyro) 

] ] 9. Paragraphs 1 through 114 are re-alleged and incorporated by reference 

herein. 

120. Securities Act Section lOCb) provides that "whenever it shall appear to the 

Commission that any person is engaged in or is about to engage in any acts or practices 

·which constitute or will constitute a violation of the provisions of this title , the 

Commission may in its discretion, bring an action in district court to enjoin such acts or 

practices .. . " 

121 . Defendants Graciarena and Loureyro have deposited shares of Biozoom in 

their respective brokerage accounts. Those shares do not bear a restrictive legend. 

However, no registration sta1ement is in effect for the offer of sale Of those shares. 

122. Unless restrained and enjoined, Graciarena and Loureyro are likely to 

offer or sell their Biozoom shares to the public in violation of Section 5 of the Securities 

Act. 
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PRL\. VER FOR RELillF 

V,lHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully r~quests that this Court: 

I. 

Issue [mdings of fact and conclusions of law that defendants Ficicchia, Blaya, 

Hernando, De Lorenzo, Tavella, Goldman, Bagattin, and Ferrari .committed the violations 

charged and alleged herein. 

II. 

Enter an order temporarily restraining and enjoining defendants Ficicchia, Blaya, 

Hernando, De Lorenzo, Tavella, Goldman, Bagattin, Ferrari, Graciarena, and Loureyro, 

tllcir officers, agents, servants, employees, attorneys and those persons in active concert or 

participation with defendants who receive actual notice of the Order, by personal service or 

othelwise, and each of them from, directly or indirectly, engaging in the trallsactions, acts, 

practices or courses of business described above, or in conduct of similar pw-port and object, 

in violation of Sections 5(a) and 5(c) ofthe Secw-ities Act [15 U.S.c. §§ 77e(a) and 77c(c)]. 

III. 

Enter ,m order freezing the brokerage accounts alld allY <iSsets of defendams 

Ficicchia, Blaya, Hernando, De Lorenzo, Tavella, Goldmal1, Bagattin, and Ferrari derived 

from the sale of Biozoom stock; and, freezing the brokerage accounts of defendants 

Graciarena and Loureyro holding Biozoom shares. 

IV. 

Enter an order rcqUlnng defendants Ficicchia, Blaya, Hernando, De Lorenzo, 

Tavella, Goldman, Bagattin, and Fenari to rehlrn to the United States any proceeds from the 

sale of Biozoom stock that have been transferred abroad and those proceeds which are 
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returned be fi'ozen in a domestic bank during the pendency of this action to preserve such 

assets for the satisfaction of disgorgement. 

v . 

. Enter an Order .0fPermanent Injunction restniining and enjoining defendants 

Ficicchia, Blaya, Hernando, De Lorenzo, Taverla, Goldman, Bagattin, Ferrari, Graciarena, 

and Loureyro, their cif.5cers,agents, serVants, employees,attomeys andthoseper.sons in 

active concert or participation with defendants who ' receive actual riotice of the Order, by 

personal service or otherwise, and each of them from, directly or indirectly, engaging in the 

transactions, acts, practices or courses of business described above, or in conduct of sinlilar 

purport and object, in violation of Sections 5(a) and Sec) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.c. §§ 

77e(a) and 77e(c)]. 

VI. 

Enter an Order requmng defendants Ficicchia, Blaya, Hernando, De Lorenzo, 

Tavella, Goldman, Bagattin, and Ferrari to disgorge the ill-gotten gains received as a result 

of the violations alleged herein, including prejudgment interest. 

VII. 

Issue an Order imposing upon detendants Ficicchia, Blaya, Hernando, Dc LoreIlZo, 

Tavelia, Goldman, Bagattin, and FelTari appropriate civil penalties pursuant to Section 20(cl) 

of the Securities Act [15 U.S .c. §77t(d)]. 

VIII. 

Issue an order permanently and unconditionally barring, pursuant to Section 20(g) of 

the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t(g)], the Selling Defendants fi'om participating in an 
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offering of penny stock 'as defined by Exchange Act Section 3(a)(51) [15 U.S.C. § 

78c(a)(51)] and Rule 3a51~1 thereunder[17 C.P.R. § 240.3a51-1]. 
,. , 

IX. 

Retain jurisdiction of this action in accordance with the principles of equity and the 

Pederal Rules of Civil Procedure in order to implement and carry. ,out the terms of all orders 

and decrees that may be entered or .toentcrtaiil .anysuitable application or motion for · 

.additional relief within the jurisdiction of this Court · 

x. 

Grant such other relief as this Court deems appropriate. 

Dated: July 3,2013 

Of counsel: 

David 1. Gottesman 
Patrick M . Bryan 

Antonia Chion 
Ricky Sachar 
Deborah 1. Tarasevich 
Scott M. Lowry 
Jennie B. KraSller 

UNITED STATES SECURlTIES AND 
EXCHA1"lGE COIVnVnSSION 

By:_i2dd£4_~ 
Richard E. Simpson (f~S5859) 
U.S. Securities and Exchange Conunission 
100 F Street, NE 
Washington, DC 20549 
Telephone: (202) 551-4420 
SirnpsonR!@.sec.gov 

U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission 
] 00 P Street, NE 
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Washington, DC 20549 
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Case 1: 13-cv-04609-N RB Document 15-1 Filed 07/16/13 Page 1 of 7 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHER.t"i DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 1 .: -:.. ". ~:=-. "::.--:...:::~:.:~ ':-:":':':'::=:--===--==-"1 

SECURlTIES AND EXCHANGE 
COMMISSION. 

Plaintiff. 

v, 

MAGDALENA TA VELLA, . 
ANDRES HORACrO FICICCHlA, GONZALO 
GARCIA BLA Y A, LUCIA MARIANA 
HERNANDO, CECILIA DE LORENZO, 
ADRIANA ROSA BAGA TI1N. 
DANJELA PA TRlClA GOLDMAN, 
MARlANO PABLO FERRARI, 
MARIANo GRAClARENA, and 
FERNANDO LOUREYRO, 

Defendants. 

, USl j \ ' SDNY 
DOC Li \ '1 ["!T 
r:,!. rC · I · r~, () '\l[ C ALI .. Y.Frl_ED 
l,f" ... ,I 

l! ,/\ J \~ :-: . - - - - - - .- - --- ----- --- 11 

~:. D '\ ! · I :·,~_I:~}.~~~2~=~~ ,:-~?j~f~o. 1 3 i i 

Civil Action No. 13-CN-4609 (NRB) 

ludge Naom i Reice Buchwald 

STIPULATION AND ORDER GRANTING PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION, ASSET 
FREEZE. AND OTHER RELIEF 

'Ibis cause having come before the Court previously on July 3, 2013, on Plaintiff 

Securities and Exchange Commission's ("Commission's") Motion for a Temporary Restraining 

Order and Asset Freeze and For an Order to Show Cause Why a Preliminary Injunction Should 

Not Be Issued, the Court having considered the Commission's Complaint, malian, supporting 

memorandum oflaw, and the exhibits and declarations submitted in support of the Plaintiff's 

motion, and the Plaintiff and all Defendants by counsel having appeared and. without admitting 

any wrongdoing, consented to the entry of this Order, this Court finds as follows: 

1. On July 3,20 i 3, this Coun entered an order that, among other relief granted, 

enjoined the disposition, sale, transfer, pledge, encumbrance, assignment, concealment, or other 
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07 / 16 / 2013 17: 59cfMe i:1.231-WekB09-NRB dbhrtW~Wl16esFTfe~ b77~7/13 Page 2 of 7 

Case 1: 13-cv-04609-NRB Document 15-1 Filed 07/16/13 Page 2 of 7 

disposal of stock ofBiozoom, Inc. (hereafter "Biozoom'') or the proceeds derived from the sale 

thereof; froze sccounts holding funds or assets of the Defendants; and ordered preservation of 

documents related to Biozoom, any proceeds from the sale or transfer ofBiozoom stock, or 

related to accounts through which Biozoom stock was traded or proceeds derived from the sale 

thereof were deposited, and all communications concerning the foregoing. The Order entered 

on July 3, 2013 also set a hearing for this matter on July J 7.2013 at 11 :00 a.m. 

2. There is no adm ission by Defendants that the allegations in the Complaint filed by 

the Commission are true or accurate. 

3. Defendants have consented and stipulated to the entry of this Order, which 

continues the asset freeze and other relief set forth below, pending final adjudication of this case 

or until further order of this Court. 

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED: 

A. ASSET FREEZE ORDER 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that, until a final adjudication on the merits may be had. 

Defendants and each of their agents, servants, employees, attorneys-in-fact, and those persons in 

active concert or participation with them who receive actual notice of this Order by personal 

service or otherwise. and each of them. hold and retain within their control, and otherwise 

prevent BIly disposition. sale, transfer, pledge, encumbrance, assignment, dissipation. 

ooncealment, or other disposal whatsoever of any shares of Biozoom and all proceeds derived 

from sales of Biozoom stock under their control or over which they exercise acrual or apparent 

investment or other authority, wherever located, in whatever form such assets may presently 

exist, or in any account whatsoever. 

1 
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Case 1:13-cv-04609-NRB Document 15-1 Filed 07/16/13 Page 3 of 7 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the freeze described in this Section A, includes but is 

not limited to all Biozoom stock and all funds in the folJowing accounts (hereafter, "Group A 

Accounts"): 

(i) Andres Horacio Ficicchia's account at Legend Securities, Inc, with 

account number ending in "ClCC". 

(ii) Andres Horacio Ficicchia's account at Scottsdale Capital Advisors, 

Inc. with account number ending 2927. 

(iii) Gonzalo Garcia Blaya's account at Legend Securities, Inc. with 

account number ending in "LAY A", 

(jv) Luciana Mariana Hernando's account at Legend Securities, Inc. 

with account number ending in uANDO", 

(v) Cecilia De Lorenzo's account at Legend Securities, Inc. with 

account number ending in uENZO", 

(vi) Magdalena Tavella's account Scottsdale Capital Advisors, Inc. 

with account number ending 383 J. 

(vii) Adriana Rosa Bagattin's account at Scottsdale Capital Advisors, 

Inc. with account Dumber cnding 5435 . 

. (viii) Daniela Patricia Goldman's account at Scottsdale Capital 

Advisors, Inc. with account number ending 3536. 

(ix) Mariano Pablo Ferrari's account at Scottsdale Capital Advisors, 

[nco with account number ending 5327. 

IT IS FURTIfER ORDERED that the freeze described in this Section A further includes 

but is not limited to all Biozoom stock, and all proceeds from the sale or disposition ofBiozoom 

· 3 
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Case1:13-cv-04609-NRB Documelit15-1 Filed07/16/13 Page4of7 

stock in any other accounts whatsoever, including but not limited to the following accounts 

(hereafter, "Group B Accotmtsj, whether deposited directly or transferred from another account: 

(i) Luciana Mariana Hernando's account at Hellenic Bank Public 

Company Limited in Lemesos, Cyprus, with an accOunt number ending in - 13 01. 

(Ii) Adriana Rosa Bagattin's acroUDt at FBME Bank Limited in 

Nicosia, Cyprus, with an account number cnding in - 644. 

(iii) Daniela Patricia Goldman's account at CBH Compagnie Bancaire 

Helvetique SA in Geneva. Switzerland with an account number ending in - 345. 

(iv) _ Mariano Pablo Ferrari's account at HSBC Bank in Panama City, 

Panama, with an account number ending in - 590. 

(v) Mariano Pablo Ferrari's account at Choice Bank Limited in Belize 

City, Belize, with an account number ending in - 521. 

IT IS HEREBY FURTI:lER ORDERED that any financial or brokerage institution or 

other person or entity holding any funds or otber assets derived or related to the sale of Biozoom 

stock, in the name of, for the benefit of, or under the control of defendants, their agents, servants, 

employees, attorneys-in-fact, and those persons in·active concert or participation with them, 

wherever located. shall hold and retain within their control and prohibit the withdrawal, removal, 

transfer or other disposal of any such funds or either assets except as otherwise ordered by this 

Court, including all shares ofBiozoom held on behalf of DefendantsJ and including but not 

limited to; (a) all funds and Biozoom stock in the Group A Accounts; and (b) all funds in the 

Group B Accounts that are proceeds from the sale of Biozoom stock, whether deposited directly 

ih those accounts or transferred from other accounts. 

B. PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION FROM VIOLATIONS 
OF SECURITIES ACT SECTION 5 

4 
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Case 1: 13-cv-04609-NRB Document 15-1 Filed 07/16/13 Page 5 of 7 

IT 18 HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that 

Defendants and Defendant's agents, servants. employees, attorneys, and all persons in active 

concert or participation wit/) them who receive' acrual notice of this order by persona! service or 

otherwise shall be and are hereby preliminarily restrained and enjoined, pending entry ofa Final 

Judginent in this action, from violating SeCtion 5(a) and S(c) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 

77e] by, directly or indirectly. in the absence of any applicable exemption: 

(8) Unless a registration Statement is in effect as to a security, making use of any 

means or instnnnentsoftransportation or communication in inter.>tate commerce 

or of tile mails to sell such security through the use or medium of any prospectus 

or otherwise;. or 

(c) Making use of any means or instruments of transportation or communication in 

interstate commerce or of the mails to offer to sell or offer to buy through the use or medium of 

'any prospectus or otherwise any security, unless a registration statement has been fircd with the . 

Commissi ot; as to such security, or While the registration statement is the subject of a refusal 

order or stop order or (prior to the effective date of the registration statement) any public 

proceeding or examination under Section 8 of the Securities Act [IS U.S .C. § 77h]. 

~ ORDER PROHIBmNG DESTRUCTION OF RECORDS 

IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants and their agents, servants, 

employees, attorneys-in-fact, and those persons in active concert or participation with them who 

receive actual notice ofthis Order by personal semce or otherwise, and each.ofthem. are hereby 

restrained from destroying. mutilating, concealing, alterine, or disposing of any document 

referring or relating in any·mannerto any transactions involving or related in any way to 

Biozoom, any proceeds from the sale ortransferofBiozoom stock, any accounts holding or 

5 
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Case 1 :13-cv-04609-NRB Document 15-1 Filed 07/16/13 Page 6 of 7 

through which Biozoom stock was traded Dr proceeds derived from sales were deposited, 

including but not limited to the Group A Accounts and Group B Accounts, and any 

communications concerning the foregoing. As used in this Order, "document" means the 

origjnal and all non-identical copies (whether non-identical because of handwritten notation or 

otherwise) of all 'Mitten or graphic matter, whether in paper, electronic, or any other fonn, 

however produced, and any other tangible record, or electronic data compilation capable of 

reproduction in tangible form, including, without limitation, correspondence, memoranda, 

minutes, telephone records, e-mails, reports, studies, telexes, diaries, calendar entries, contracts, 

letters of agreement, and including any and all existing drafts of all documents. 

D. ORDER PROVIDING ALTERNATIVE MEANS OF SERVICE 

IT lS HEREBY FURTIIER ORDERED that, pursuant to Rule 4 of the Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure, service of all pleadings and other papers, this Order and all documents filed in 

support thereof, and all other documents to be served inthls action, may be made personally, by 

facsimile, by overnight courier, or by electronic mail upon each Defendant, his or her attorney, 

his or her U.S. agents or IUs or her foreign agents to the extent permitted by law, or by an 

alternative provision for serviCe pennitted by RuJe 4 of the Federal · Rules of Civil Procedure, or 

as this Court may direct by further order. 

E. ORDER IS BINDING ON ALL PERSONS WITH ACTUAL NOTICE OF 
THE ORDER 

IT IS HEREBY FURTHER. ORDERED, that this Order shall be. and is, binding upon 

each Defendant, and each of his or her agents, se:rvants, employees, attorneys-in-fact, and those 

persons in active concert or participation with him or her who receive actual notice of this Order 

by personal service, facsimile service, or service in accordance with Section D of this Order, or 

othecwise. 

6 
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F. OTHER RELIEF 

IT IS HEREBY FURTI-IER ORDERED, that the United States Marshall in any district in 

which any Defendant resides, transacts business or may be found is authorized and directed to 

make service of process upon any Defendant at the request of the Commission. 

G. TIME FOR DEFENDANTS TO RESPOND TO COMPLAINT 

Defendants shall answer or otherwise respond to the Commission's Complaint on or 

before August 26, 2013. 

IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED that this Stipulation and Order may be modified 

for good cause shown, and this Court shall retain jurisdiction of this matter for all purposes. 

IT IS HEREBY FURTIIER. ORDERED that pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil 

Procedure 65(c), no security is required ofllie Commission. 

so. ORDERED: 

Dated this ~ day of July, 2013. L£~~ 
Judge Naomi Reice Buchwaid 

STIPULATED AND AGREED: 

~~fFF FORDFHND~ 

~--~-+;-on~~~S~58-5~~ '!.4a)~-B~· -ce-A-.-~--ge-r-. ----------
David J. Gottesman (admitted pro hac vice) McLaughlin & Stc:m, LLP 
Patrick M. Bryan (admitted pro hac vice) 260 Madison Avenue 
U .S_ Securities & Exchange Commission New York, NY 100 J 6-2404 
100 F Street. NE Washington, DC 20549 Telephone (202) 448-6216 
Telephone: (202) 55]-4420 Fax: (202) 448-0066 

. Fax: (202) 772-9245 sschusterUi>.mclaughlinstem.com 
SimpsonR@sec.gov blanger@mclaugblinstem.com 
GottesmanD@scc.gov 
I3ryanP@sec.gOY 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE 
COMMISSION, 

Plaintiff, 
v. 

MAGDALENA TA VELLA, 
ANDRES HORACIO FICICCHIA, GONZALO 
GARCIA BLA Y A, LUCIA MARIANA 
HERNANDO, CECILIA DE LORENZO, 
ADRIANA ROSA BAGATTIN, 
DANIELA PATRICIA GOLDMAN, 
MARIANO PABLO FERRARI, MARIANO 
GRACIARENA, and 
FERNANDO LOUREYRO, 
Defendants. 

Civil Action No . 13-CIV-4609 
Judge Naomi Reice Buchwald 

BIOZOOM, INC. FAIR FUND NOTICE 

The United States Securities and Exchange Commission authorized this Notice. 
This is not a solicitation from a lawyer. 

If you purchased or otherwise acquired Biozoom, Inc. ("Biozoom"; OTCBB ticker: BIZM; 
CUSIP: 09072TIOO) common shares in the United States during the Relevant Period, on or 
between May 16, 2013 and June 25, 2013, you are eligible for damages if the shares were sold at a 
loss or continue to be held. Per the Plan of Allocation you may be entitled to receive a monetary 
payment from the Biozoom Fair Fund ("Fair Fund"). 

Background 

On July 3, 2013 , the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC" or "Commission") filed a complaint in 
United States District Court Southem District of New York alleging that Magdalena Tavella, Andres Horacio 
Ficicchia, Gonzalo Garcia Blaya, Lucia Mariana Hemando, Cecilia De Lorenzo, Adriana Rosa Bagattin, Daniela 
Patricia Goldman, and Mariano Pablo Ferrari (collectively, the "Defendants") had unlawfully sold to the public 
almost $34 million wOlth of securities in Biozoom (f/kla Entertainment Alt, Inc.) a penny stock company traded 
on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board. No registration statement was in effect for the selling Defendants' 
resale of secUlities and thus their sales were in violation of Section 5 of the Securities Act. Though the 
Defendants claimed that they had purchased the stock between November 2012 and March 2013 from the 
original shareholders, this was impossible because those original shareholders ceased to have any interest in the 
company more than three years earlier than the selling Defendants ' claimed purchases. 

From March 2013 to June 2013, Defendants opened brokerage accounts at broker-dealers and deposited millions 
of shares ofBiozoom that they claimed did not bear a restrictive legend and were fj·ee-trading shares. All of the 
Defendants claimed that they had purchased all or some of their shares from some of the original shareholders of 
Enteltaimnent Art in transactions between November 20 12 and March 2013 . 

On July 9, 2013, a Tempormy Restraining Order ("TRO") was granted fj·eezing the brokerage accounts of the 
Defendants holding Biozoom shares and any accounts held by financial institutions or brokers that have the 
proceeds of the Biozoom sales on behalf of the Defendants. Pursuant to the Final Judgment, a Fair Fund was 
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established to distribute the disgorged funds for the benefit of investors pursuant to the Fair Fund provisions 
of Section 308(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 ("Sarbanes-Oxley"), 15 U.S .c. § 7246(a). 

In partial satisfaction of the amounts owed by Defendants, Defendants accounts that were frozen 
pursuant to the TRO, were ordered to be turned over. To date, the Commission recovered from the 
frozen assets a total of $16,117,936. The Commission invested $16,022,574 with United States 
Department of the Treasury at the Bureau of the Fiscal Service ("BFS"). It is doubtful, but possible, that 
additional funds will be recovered from the Defendants from various foreign sources . 

Plan of Allocation 

The purpose of this distribution is to compensate investors in the Defendants' misrepresentations and 
omissions in its sale ofBiozoom common stock. 

The Net Available Fair Fund for the Biozoom distribution will be allocated to Eligible Claimants 
according to the Plan of Allocation relative to the total disgorgement. The calculations made pursuant to 
the Plan of Allocation are not intended to be estimates of the amounts that investors might have been 
able to recover. Nor are the calculations pursuant to the Plan of Allocation intended to be estimates of 
the amounts that will be paid to Eligible Claimants. Appendix I to the Distribution Plan details the Plan 
of Allocation methodology and calculation which is designed to equitably distribute the Fair Fund to 
those Eligible Investors who suffered economic losses . Appendix I to the Distribution Plan is posted on 
the Fair Fund website at www.BiozoomFairFund.com. 

Preliminary calculations will be made for all Eligible Claimants on a pro rata basis detennined by an 
Eligible Claimant's investment in Biozool11 common stock divided by the sum of all Eligible Claimants' 
investments in the Biozoom COlmnon stock. After the preliminary calculations have been made, any 
Eligible Claimant whose preliminary calculation amount is less than the Distribution De Minimis 
Amount of $1 ° will be removed from the pool of Eligible Claimants. 

Final calculations will then be made for all remaining Eligible Claimants on a pro rata basis as 
described above, but excluding Eligible Claimants whose preliminary calculation amounts are less than 
the Distribution De Minimis Amount, to anive at a Recognized Claim amount. In the event that the 
number of claims submitted by Eligible Claimant(s) is such that the Eligible Claimant(s) would receive 
a recovery in excess of their Recognized Claim amount, the recovery per claim is limited to the 
Recognized Claim. The excess amount in the Fair Fund shall be distributed to the U.S Treasury. 

Fund Administration 

On August 25, 2015, the Commission issued an Order appointing KCC as the Distribution Agent, to 
assist in overseeing the administration and distribution of the Fair Fund in coordination with 
Commission staff, pursuant to the tem1S of the Distribution Plan. 

Fair Fund 

The Fair Fund is a "Qualified Settlement Fund" ("QSF") as defined in U.S. Treas. Reg. Sec. 1.468B-l et 
seq. The distribution is intended to compensate you for losses incuned with respect to your investment 
in Biozoom common stock as a result of the conduct described in the Order. 

Generally, your distribution is not income to you to the extent of your basis in your investment.: 
However, you must reduce your basis by the amount of your distribution. If your distribution exceeds 
your tax basis in your investment, then the excess is includable in your income as capital gain. Any 
such capital gain is long-tenn capital gain, unless you disposed of your investment before holding it for 
longer than one year. If you do not have reasonable access to records indicating the tax basis of your 

2 
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investment, then you may assume that your tax basis is zero and that the entire losses component of your 
distribution is includable in your income as capital gain. The QSF is not required to - and will not -
issue a Form 1099 to you with respect tothe losses component of the distribution. 

You should consult your tax advisor or accountant as to the treatment of the payment you are receiving 
under this Fair Fund, as the Distribution Agent and the SEC cannot provide you with tax advice. 

How to Participate 

If you believe you are a Potential Claimant and would like to participate, you must follow the enclosed 
instructions and complete the Proof of Claim Fonn included in this packet. Fill out the Proof of Claim 
Fonn completely, sign it, include copies of all required supporting documentation, and return it in the 
enclosed envelope to the Distribution Agent's address listed below. 

Excluded Parties shall mean Defendants, Biozoom, and all other entities or individuals who improperly 
helped in establishing a market for, and escalating the price of, Biozoom stock, based on the stock 
trading of those entities or individuals. 

The submission of the Proof of Claim Fonn and the receipt and acceptance of a distribution by an 
Eligible Claimant is not intended to be a release of an Eligible Claimant's lights and claims against any 
party. 

Deadline to Submit a Claim 

More Information 

Website 

Write 

Phone 

Investor Options for this Fair Fund 

Submit a Claim 

Do Nothing 

Questions 

October 31, 2016 

www.BiozoomFairFund.col11 

Biozoom Fair Fund 
Distribution Agent 
c/o KCC 
P.O. Box 30233 
College Station, TX 77842-3233 

1-855-730-864 7 

The only way to get a payment from the Fair Fund. 

Receive no payment. 

This notice provides only summary information regarding the Fair Fund. We strongly recommend that 
you read the Distribution Plan, including the Plan of Allocation, and other relevant case documents in 
their entirety for more complete details . The documents can be found at www.BiozoomFairFund.com. 

If you need assistance completing the Proof of Claim Form or if you have any questions about this Fair 
Fund, you may obtain more information by vlsltmg the Fair Fund website at 
www.BiozoomFairFund.com. by calling the dedicated toll-free number at 1-855-730-8647 or sending an 
email inquirytoinfo@BiozoomFairFund.com. 

:3 
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Special Notice to Brokers and Nominees 

If you purchased or held Biozoom common stock for the beneficial interest of a person or organization 
other than yourself, within fourteen (14) calendar days of receipt of this Fair Fund Notice you must 
either: (1) request additional copies of the Fair Fund Notice and Proof of Claim Fonn from the 
Distribution Agent, and, within fourteen (14) calendar days of receipt of such copies, send copies by 
first-class mail directly to beneficial owners ; or (2) provide a list of the names and last known addresses 
of the beneficial owners (preferably in excel format) to the Distribution Agent by email to 
notifications@Gilardi.com or by mail to the following address: 

Biozoom Fair Fund 
c/o KCC 

P.O. Box 30233 
College Station, TX 77842-3233 

If you choose to mail the Fair Fund Notice and Proof of Claim Fonn yourself, you may obtain from the 
Distribution Agent (without cost to you) as many additional copies of these documents as you will need 
to complete the mailing. If you choose the second option, KCC will send a copy of the Fair Fund Notice 
and Proof of Claim F onn to the persons and/or entities whose names and address you supply. 

In either case, you may obtain reimbursement for reasonable administrative costs actually incurred in 
connection with forwarding the Fair Fund Notice that would not have been incuned but for the 
obligation to forward the Fair Fund Notice and Proof of Claim Form, upon submission of appropriate 
documentation to the Distribution Agent. -

Regards, 

KCC 
Distribution Agent 
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Case 1:13-cv-04609-NRB Document 67 Filed 12/08/14 Page 1 of 6 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

SECURiTIES AND EXCHANGE 
COMMISSION, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

MAGDALENA TA VELLA, 
ANDRES HORACIO FICICCHIA, GONZALO 
GARCIA BLA YA, LUCIA MARIANA 
HERNANDO, CECILIA DE LORENZO, 
ADRIANA ROSA BAGATrIN, 
DANIELA PATRICIA GOLDMAN, 
MARIANO PABLO FERRARI, 
MARIANO GRACIARENA, and 
rER1"lANDO LOUREYRO, 

Defendants. 

US DC ~Il' -~ 

DOCCI\IE\T ': 

ELECTRO;\' I C:\ LL Y FlLE \) Ii 
DOC#: ~II 
DATEFIL~D: 12/08/~ 

Civil Action No . 13-CIV -4609 (NRB) 

Judge Naomi Reice Buchwald 

FINAL ,JUDGMENT AS TO DEFENDANTS MARIANO GRACIARENA 
AND FERNANDO LOURi<:YRO 

The Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC" or "Plaintiff') having filed a 

Complaint and Defendants Mariano Graciarena ("Graciarena") and Fernando Loureyro 

("Loureyro") (collectively, the "Defendants" for purposes of this Final Judgment), having 

entered a general appearance; consented to the Court's jurisdiction over Defendants and the 

subject matter of this action; consented to entry of this Final Judgment without admitting or 

denying the allegations of the Complaint (except as to jurisdiction); waived findings of fact and 

conclusions of law; and waived any right to appeal from thfs Final Judgment: 

--- ---------------------------------
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_ . . _._.-._._ ... . _-- ._._. __ .. _-------------

Case 1:13-cv-04609-NRB Document 67 Filed 12/08/14 Page 2 of 6 

1. 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that within three (3) days 

of service upon him of a copy of this final Judgment, Graciarena shall provide written 

instruction in the form attached to Alpine Securities and Scottsdale Capital Advisors to return 

Entertainment Art, Inc. (currently known as Biozoom, Inc.) stock certificate number 1115, 

representing 2.145 million shares issued in the name Mariano Augusto Graciarena and deposited 

into Scottsdale Capital Advisors brokerage account -xxxxx8720 bearing his name, to the 

company's transfer agcnt, VStock Transfer, LLC, 18 Lafayctte Place, Woodmere, NY 11598, 

with instructions that the transfer agent cance! the certificates, as "cancellation" is defined in 

Securities Exchange Act Rule 17 Ad-19(a)( I) [17 CFR §240. 17 Ad-19(a)( I)]. Graciarena shall 

copy the Plaintiff on all correspondence to or from Alpine Securities or the company's transfer 

agent concerning cancellation of the foregoing stock certificate. 

II. 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that within three (3) days 

of service upon him of a copy of this Final Judgment, Loureyro shall provide written instruction 

in the /orn1 attached to instruct Alpine Securities and Scottsdale Capital Advisors to return 

Entertainment Art, Inc . (currently known as Biozoom, Inc.) stock certificate number 1 I I 1, 

representing 2.3 million shares issued in the name Fernando Loureyro and deposited into 

Scottsdale Capital Advisors brokerage account -xxxxx7518 bearing his name, to the company's 

transfer agent, VStock Transfer, LLC, 18 Lafayette Place, Woodmere, NY 11598, with 

instructions that the transfer agent cancel the certificates, as "cancellation" is defined in 

Securities Exchange Act Rule 17Ad-19(a)(l) [17 CFR §240.17Ad-19(a)(I)]. Loureyro shall 

2 
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. __ . _ . __ . __ .- - - ---_._- --

Case 1:13-cv-04609-NRB Document 67 Filed 12/08114 Page 3 of 6 

copy the Plaintiff on all correspondence to or from Alpine Securities or the company's transfer 

agent concerning cancellation of the foregoing stock certificate. 

III. 

[T IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that Defendants shall 

relinquish all claim, title or interest in Entertainment Art, Inc. (currently known as Biozoom, 

Inc.) stock certificates held in their name, except as necessary to effectuate the cancellations 

described in paragraphs I and [I of this Final Judgment. 

IV. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that the Consent is 

incorporated herein with the same force and effect as if fully set forth herein, and that 

Defenciants shall comply with all of the undertakings and agreements set forth therein. 

V. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that this Court shall retain 

jurisdiction of this matter for the purposes of enforcing the terms of this Final Judgment. 

Dated : ~bvc.L(, 20]4 

L~_~~LLeC 
Hon. Naomi Rcice Buchwald 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 

3 
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EXHIBIT A 
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Date: ______ , 2014 

Alpine Securities 
Attn.: Legal - Physical Certificate Deposit 
39 Exchange Place 
Salt-Lake City, UT 84111 

Scottsdale Capital Advisors 
Ann.: D. Michael Cruz 
7170 E. McDonald Drive 
Scottsdale, AZ 85253-

Re: Entertainment Art, Inc. (currently known as Biozoom, Inc.) stock certificate 
number.11 15 - Alpine Securities brokerage account~ 

To Whom It May Concern: 

By this letter , I am instructing Alpine Securities and Scottsdale Capital Advisors to retUJl1 

Entertainment Art, Inc. (currently known as Biozoom, inc.) stock certificate number J 1 J 5 

(representing 2. 145 million shares issued in the name Mariano Augusto Graciarena and 

deposited into Scottsdale Capital Advisors brokerage account #_8720 in my name) to the 

company's transfer agent , VStock Transfer, LLC, J 8 Lafayette Place, Woodmere, NY J J 598, 

with instructions that the transfer agent cancel the certificates, as "cancellation" is defined in 

Securities Exchange Act Rule J 7 Ad- J 9(a)(I) [17 CFR §240.17 Ad- J 9(a)( I)]. 

Enclosed for your infonnation is a cory of an order of the U.S. District Court for the 

Southern District of Nev\,' York directing the cancellation of the above-reference certificate. 

cc: Patrick M . Bryan 
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission 
100 F. Street, NE 
Washington, DC 20005 

Sincerely, 

Mariano Augusto Graciaremt 
: ,:.:.:t~. " ... ' 

Buenos Aires, Argentina 
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Date: _______ ,2014 

Alpine Securities 
Attn .: Legal - Physical Certificate Deposit 
39 Exchange Place 
Salt Lake City, UT g4111 

Scottsdale Capital Advisors 
Attn.: D. Michael Cruz 
7170 12. McDonald Drive 
Scottsdale, AZ 85253 

Re : Entertainment Art, Inc. (currently known as Biozoom, Inc.) stock certificate 
number 1111 - Alpine Securities brokerage account H_1.!-7.:::.5.!..:18"-----

To Whom It May Concern: 

By this letter, I am instructing Alpine Securities and Scottsdale Capital Advisors to return 

Entertainment Art, Inc. (currently known as Biozoom, Inc.) stock certificate number I1II 

(representing 2.3 million shares issued in the name Fernando Loureyro and deposited into 

Scottsdale Capital Advisors brokerage account # _7518 in my name) to the company's 

transfer agent, VStock Transfer, LLC, 18 Lafayette Place, Woodmere, NY 11598, with 

instructions that the transfer agent cancel the certificates, as "cancellation" is defined in 

Securities Exchange Act Rule 17Ad-19(a)(I) (17 CFR §240.17Ad-19(a)(I)]. 

Enclosed for your inforn1atiol1 is a copy of an order of the U.S. District Court for the 

Southern District of New York directing the cancellation of the above-reference certificate. 

cc: Patrick M. Bryan 
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission 
100 F. Street, NE 
Washington, DC 20005 

Sincerely, 

Fernando Loureyro 

Buenos Aires, Argentina 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOlJTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

SECURlTIES AND EXCHANGE 
COMMISSION, 

Plaintiff 

v. 

MAGDALENA TA VELLA 
ANDRES HORACIO FICICCHIA, GONZALO 
GARCIA BLAYA, LUCIA MARIANA 
HERNANDO, CECILIA DE LORENZO, 
ADRIANA ROSA BAGATTIN , 
DANIELA PATRICIA GOLDMAN , 
MARIANO PABLO FERRARI, 
MARlANO GRACIARENA, and 
fERNANDO LOUREYRO, 

Defendants. 

USDC SONY 

DOCUMENT 
ELECTRONICALLY FILED 
DOC #: ___ ~_--
DATE FILED: 1/ G[ ( 2. i> Lc) 

Civil Action No. I3-CrV -4609 

Judge Naomi Reice Buchwald 

FINAL DEFAULT JUDGMENT AND ORDER GRANTING INJUNCTIVE AND 
OTHER RELIEF AGAINST DEFENDAKTS MAGDALENA TA VELLA, ANDRES 

HORACIO FICICCHIA, GONZALO GARCIA BLA VA, LUCIA MARIANA 
HERNANDO, CECILIA DE LORENZO, ADRIANA ROSA BAGA TTIN, DANIELA 

PATRICIA GOLDMAN, AND MARIANO PABLO FERRARI 

WHEREAS this mat1er came before this Court 011 the Motion of Plaintiff Securities 

and Exchange Commission ("Commission"), seeking entry of a judgment by default, and 

providing the relief requested in its Complaint against defendants Magdalena Tavella, 

Andres Horacio Fieicehia. Gonzalo Garcia Blaya, Lucia Mariana Hernando, Cecilia De 

Lorenzo, Adriana Rosa Bagattin, Daniela Patricia Goldman, and Mariano Pablo Ferrari 

(collectively, the "Defaulting Defendants"): and 

WHEREAS the Court has entered a Memorandum and Order dated January 6, 

20 15, in which the Court conel uded that the Commission is entitled to a fi nal judgment 
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against the Defaulting Defendants that permanently enjoins them from violating Section 

5 of the Securities Act of 1933 ("Secw-ities AcC) P 5 U.s.c. ~ 77(e)], (2) orders the 

Defaulting Defendants to individually disgorge ill-gotten gams, and (3) imposes civil 

penalties; and 

WHEREAS the Court deferred judgment to afford the Commission an 

opportunity to supplement its submission as to the amount of prejudgment interest that 

should be disgorged; and 

WHEREAS the Commission has submitted a proposed order "in lieu of such 

supplemental submission on prejudgment interest," which the Court interprets as 

abandoning the Commission's claim to prejudgment interest on the disgorgement 

amounts; it is hereby 

ORDERED THAT: 

I. 

Defaulting Defendants, their agents, servants, employees, attorneys, and all 

persons in active concert or participation 'vvith them \vho receive actual notice of this final 

judgmcnt by pcrsonal service or otherwise are permanently restrained and enjoined from 

violating. directly or indirectly, Section 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act [15 U.s.c. § 

77e] by, in the absence of any applicable exemption: 

(a) Unless a registration statement is in effect as to a security, making use of 

any means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate 

commerce or of the mails to sell such security through the use or medium 

of any prospectus or otherwise; 
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(b) Unless a registration statement is in effect as to a security, carryIng or 

causing to be carried through the mails or in interstate commerce, by any 

means or instruments of transportation. any such security for the purpose 

of sale or for delivery after sale; or 

(c) Making use of any means or instruments of transportation or 

communication in interstate commerce or of the mails to offer to sell or 

offer to buy through the use or medium of any prospectus or otherwise any 

security, unless a registration statement has been filed with the 

Commission as to such security, or while the registration statement is the 

subject of a refusal order or stop order or (prior to the effective date of the 

registration statement) any public proceeding or examination under 

Section 8 of the Securities Act rl5 U.S.c. ~ 77h] . 

II. 

Defaulting Defendants (Magdalena Tavella, Andres Horacio Ficicchia, Gonz alo 

Garcia Blaya, Lucia Mariana Hernando. Cecilia De Lorenzo, Adriana Rosa Baganin. 

Daniela Patricia Goldman, and Mariano Pablo Ferrari) are permanently baITed from 

p~rlicipating in an offering of' penny stock. including engaging in activities with a broker, 

dealer, or issuer for purposes of issuing, trading, or inducing or attempting to induce the 

purchase or sale of any penny stock as defined by Section 3(a)(51) of the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934 [15 U.S.c. §78c(a)(Sl) and Rule 3a51-1 thereunder [17 C.F.R. ~ 

240.3a51-1] . 
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III. 

Defendants are liable for disgorgement (representing profits gained as a result of 

the conduct alleged in the Complaint), and civil penalties pursuant to Section 20(d) of the 

Securities [15 U.S.c. § 77t(d)/, in the following amounts: 

--_. 

I 
T~ 

; Defenuant Disgorgcment Civil Penalty 
! Amount 

k'agda'ena Tacella $3,107,819 $160,000 [ $3,267,819 
I 

$1,948 ,339 i $160.000 $2.108,339 ! Andres Horacio 
Ficicchia I 

I 
I 

Gonzalo Garcia $3.008 ,200 $160,000 $3.168.200 
Blaya 

! 
, 

..•. _--
I $5,042.771 

i 

Lucia Mariana $160.000 $5,202,771 
I 
I 

Hernando 
! 

: 
, 

1--- -

Cecilia De Lorenzo $4.801.536 I $160,000 $4.961.536 

I 
Adriana Rosa I $6,216,380 $160.000 $6,376,380 
Bagartin 

I 

Daniela Patricia $3,764.306 I $160,000 $3.924.306 
Goldman 

- _. -

Mariano Pablo I $5,447,450 $160.000 $5 ,607.450 
Ferrari I I 

I 

Defendants shall satisfy these obligations within ten business days and make payment of 

all f"unds to the Commission, which shall provide detailed ACH transfer/Fedwire 

instructions upon request. The Del"endants shall satisfy these obligations from proceeds 

contained in their various accounts including, but not limited to, the following: 

• Andres Horacio Ficicchia's account at Legend Securities. Inc. \;,;ith account 

number ending in "CICC". 

4 
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• Andres Horacio Ficicchia's account at Scottsdale Capital Advisors, Inc . with 

account number ending 2927. 

• Gonzalo Garcia Blaya's account at Legend Securities, Inc. with account number 

ending in "LAY A" . 

• Luciana Mariana Hernando's account at Legend Securities, Inc. with account 

number ending in "ANDO". 

• Luciana Mariana Hernando's account at Hellenic Bank Public Company Limited 

in Lemesos, Cyprus, with an account number ending in - 1301. 

• Cecilia De Lorenzo's account at Legend Securities, Inc. with account number 

ending in "ENZO". 

• Magdalena Tavella' s account Scottsdale Capital Advisors, Inc. with account 

number ending 3831 . 

• Adriana Rosa Bagattin's account at Scottsdale Capital Advisors, Inc. with account 

number ending 5435. 

• Adriana Rosa Bagattin's account at FBME Bank Limited in Nicosia, Cyprus, with 

an account numher ending in - 644. 

• Daniela Patricia Goldman ' s account at Scottsdale Capital Advisors, Inc. with 

account number ending 3536. 

• Daniela Patricia Goldman' s account at CBH Compagnie Bancaire Helvetique SA 

in Geneva, Switzerland with an account number ending in - 345. 

• Mariano Pablo Ferrari ' s account at Scottsdale Capital Advisors, Inc . with acc~unt 

number ending 5327. 

5 
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Mariano Pablo Ferrari's account at HSBC Bank in Panama City, Panama, with an 

account number ending in - 590. 

• Mariano Pablo Ferrari's account at Choice Bank Limited in Belize City, Belize, 

with an account number ending in - 521 . 

IV. 

In partial satisfaction of the amounts owed by Defendants pursuant to this Final 

Judgnient , the following entities shall tnmsfer all funds and BIZM shares held in 

Defaulting Defendants' accounts (including the accounts listed below) and make payment 

such funds and shares held in Defaulting Defendants' names to the Commission, which 

shall provide detailed ACH transfer/Fedwire instructions upon request: 

A. Legend Securities LLC 

1. Gonzalo Garcia Blaya 

2. Lucia Mariana Hernando 

3. Andres HoracioFicicchia 

4. Cecilia De Lorenzo 

B. Scottsdale Capital Advisors 

1. Magdalena Tavella 

2. Daniela Patricia Goldman 

3. Adriana Rosa Bagauin 

4. Mariano Pablo Ferrari 

5. Andres Horacio Ficicchia 

Payment may also be made directly from a bank account via Pay.gov through the SEC 

website at http ://wviw.sec.l!ov/about/offices/ofm.htm. Payment may also be made by 

6 
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certified check. bank cashier's check, or United States postal money order payable to the 

Securities and Exchange Commission. which shall be delivered or mailed to 

Enterprise Services Center 
Accounts Receivable Branch 
6500 South MacArthur Boulevard 
Oklahoma City, OK 73169 

and shall be accompanied by a letter identifying the case title. civil action number, and 

name of this Court; the name of the defendant in this action: and specifying that payment 

is made pursuant to this Final Judgment. Defaulting Defendant payer shall 

simultaneously transmit photocopies of each such payment and letter to the 

Commission's counsel in this action: PatriCK M. Bryan, 100 F Street, N.E., Washington. 

D.C. 20549-4030. Defaulting Defendants relinquish all legal and equitable right, title, 

and interest in all funds paid pursuant to this Final Judgment, and no part of the funds 

shall be returned to Defaulting Defendants. 'fhe Coml11ission may enforce the COUl1's 

judgment for disgorgement by moving lor civii contempt (and/or through other collection 

procedures authorized by law) at any time after ten days following entry of this Final 

Judgment. 1n response to any such civil contempt motion by the Commission, Defaulting 

DefCndants may assert any legally permissible defense. 

v. 

Further to the Stipulation and Order Granting Preliminary Jnjullction, Asset 

Freeze. and Other Relief, entered on 7117/2013 (the ';Asset Freeze Order") freezing the 

assets of Defendants, including those held in the accounts referenced above in Section ITl 

and previously enumerated in the Asset Freeze Order, the Court finds that sllch assets are 

the proceeds of the violations alleged in the Commission's Complaint. Accordingly, 

pursuant to the Court's personal jurisdiction over Def~lulting Defendants , Defl:1L1lting 

7 
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Defendants are hereby ordered to repatriate the referenced assets by 30 days after entry of 

a judgment of default , to the Commission, which shall provide detailed ACH 

Lransfer/Fedwire instructions upon request and to execute any consents, pleadings, or 

other legal documents as the Commission may require to effect the transfer of such assets 

in accordance \vith this Final Judgment. with the understanding that such assets shall be 

lIsed to satisfy disgorgement only. 

VI. 

The Commission shall deposit the funds received pursuant to sections Ill, IV , and 

V of this Final Judgment into an interest bearing account which , together with any 

interest and income earned thereon (collectively, the "Fund''), shall be held in the interest 

bearing account until further order of the Court. 

The Commission Illay by motion propose a plan to distribute the Fund subject LO 

the Court's approval. Such a plan may provide that Fund shall be distributed pursuant to 

the Fair Fund provisions of Section 308(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

Regardless of whether any such Fair Fund distribution is made, amounts ordered to be 

paid as civil penalties pursuant to this Judgment shall be treated as penalties paid to the 

government for all purposes. including all tax purposes. To preserve the deterrent effect 

of the civil penalty, Defendants shall not, after offset or reduction of any award of 

compensatory damages in any Related Investor Action based on any payment of 

disgorgement in this action, argue that he, she or it is entitlcd to , nor shall hc, she or it 

further benctit by, offset or reduction of sllch compensatory damages aware! by the 

alllount or any part or Defendanr"s payment of a civil penalty in this action ("Penalty 

Offset"). If the court in any Related Investor Action grants such a Penalty Orfset, the 

s 
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Defendant beneficiary of such Penalty Offset shalL within 30 days after entry of a final 

order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Commission's counsel in this action and pay 

the amount of the Penalty Offset to the United States Treasury or to a Fair Fund, as the 

Commission directs. Such a payment shall not be deemed an additional civil penalty and 

shall not be deemed to change the amount of the civil penalty imposed in this Judgment. 

For purposes of this paragraph, a "Related Investor Action" means a private damages 

action brought against a Defendant in this action -by or on behalf of one or more investors 

based on substantially the same facts as alleged in the Complaint in this action_ 

Defendants shall pay post-judgment interest on any delinquent amounts pursuant to 28 

usc ~ 1961 . 

VII. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, AD.JUDGED, AND DECREED that this Court 

shall retain j unsdiction over this matter for the purposes of enforcing the terms of this Fi nal 

Judgment. 

VIII. 

RULE S4(b) CERTlFICA nON 

There being no just reason for delay, pursuant to Rule 54(b) of the Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure. the clerk is ordered to enter this Final Judgment fOlthwith and without 

f'urthcr notice . 

DATED January 9, 20]5 . 

L /./ 0 . 
·2/,~~ 

NAOM] REICE BUCHWALD 
UNITED STATES DISTR1CT JUDGE 

9 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
Before the 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 
Release No. 10496/ May 15, 2018 

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 
Release No. 83236/ May 15, 2018 

INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940 
Release No. 33097/ May 15, 2018 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 
File No. 3-18483 

In the Matter of 

TIMOTHY C. SCARPINO, 

Respondent. 

ORDER INSTITUTING 
ADMINISTRA TIVE AND CEASE-AND
DESIST PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 8A OF THE SECURITIES ACT 
OF 1933, SECTIONS 15(b) AND 21C OF 
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 
1934, AND SECTION 9(b) OF THE 
INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT, MAKING 
FINDINGS, AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL 
SANCTIONS AND A CEASE-AND-DESIST 
ORDER AND NOTICE OF HEARING 

I. 

The Securities and Exchange Commission ("Commission") deems it appropriate and in the 
public interest that public administrative and cease-and-desist proceedings be, and hereby are, 
instituted against Timothy C. Scarpino ("Scarpino" or "Respondent") pursuant to Section 8A of the 
Securities Act of 1933 ("Securities Act") , Sections 1S(b) and 21 C of the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934 ("Exchange Act") , and Section 9(b) of the Investment Company Act ("Investment 
Company AcC). 

II. 

In anticipation of the institution ofthese proceedings, Respondent has submitted an Offer 
of Settlement (the "Offer") which the Commission has detennined to accept. Solely for the 
purpose of these proceedings and any other proceedings brought by or 011 behalf of the 
Commission, or to which the Commission is a party, and without admitting or denying the findings 
herein, except as to the Commission's jurisdiction over him and the subject matter of these 
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proceedings, which are admitted, and except as provided herein in Section IV, Respondent 
consents to the entry ofthis Order Instituting Administrative and Cease-and-Desist Proceedings, 
Pursuant to 8A of the Securities Act of 1933, Sections 15(b) and 21 C of the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934, and Section 9(b) of the Investment Company Act, Making Findings, and Imposing 
Remedial Sanctions and a Cease-and-Desist Order and Notice of Hearing ("Order"), as set forth 
below. 

Ill. 

On the basis of this Order and Respondent' s Offer, the Commission finds 1 that: 

Summary 

From late May 2013 to mid-June 2013, Timothy Scarpino ("Scarpino"), then a registered 
representative at registered broker-dealer Scottsdale Capital Advisors ("Scottsdale"), willfully 
violated Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act when he engaged in the illegal distribution of 
the securities of Biozoom, Inc. ("Biozoom" or "BIZM") by offering and selling shares ofBIZM, 
which was quoted on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board ("OTCBB"), on behalf of four 
Argentine customers (the "Argentines"). The scope of this illegal distribution was massive, as 
Scarpino offered and sold approximately 8.2 million BIZM shares, which constituted almost 14% 
ofBIZM's total outstanding shares, and over 40% ofBIZM's total number of shares that did not 
bear a restrictive legend. The Argentines reaped proceeds of over $18.5 million from the less than 
four weeks of trading activity facilitated by Scarpino. 

Sections 5( a) and 5( c) of the SecUlities Act make it unlawful for any person, directly or 
indirectly, to offer or sell securities by any means or instruments of transportation or 
cOllli11unication in interstate commerce unless a registration statement has been filed with the 
Commission with respect to Section 5( c) and is in effect with respect to Section 5( a) , or an 
applicable exemption from registration applies. This governs resales of deposited securities, such 
as Scarpino's sales of the BIZM shares on behalf of the Argentines . No registration statement was 
in effect as to Scarpino's BIZM offers and sales, and no exemption from registration was 
applicable to them. Although brokers may rely on an exemption under Section 4(a)(4) of the 
Securities Act, this exemption would be available to Scarpino for the offers and sales ofBIZM 
only if, after engaging in a reasonable inquiry into the facts sUlTounding the proposed sales, 
Scarpino was not aware of facts indicating that the customers would be engaging in an unlawful 
distribution of securities . Moreover, because Scarpino was presented with red flags of a potential 
unlawful distribution, he needed to conduct a searching inquiry to detel111ine that the proposed 
sales were not pal1 of an unlawful distribution of securities. Despite these significant red flags , 
Scarpino failed to conduct a searching inquiry into facts sUlTounding the proposed sales, and 
thereby violated Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act. 

Respondent 

The findings herein are made pursuant to Respondent's Offer of Settlement and are not binding on any 
other person or entity in this or any other proceeding. 

2 
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1. Timothy Scarpino, 35, resides in Scottsdale, Arizona. Scarpino was, from 2009 
until 2013, a registered representative at Scottsdale. Currently, he is not working in the securities 
industlY 

Relevant Entitv 

2. Scottsdale has been registered with the COlmnission as a broker-dealer with its 
principal place of business in Scottsdale, Arizona since May 2002. 

A. Scarpino Opens Foreign Accounts at Scottsdale Based on Referrals from James 
Benjamin Panther II 

3. In or around early May 2013, James B. Panther II ("Panther"), a longtime 
Scottsdale customer, infonned S~arpino and Scottsdale's owner (the "Owner") that Panther 
planned to refer several individuals to open brokerage accounts and deposit stock certificates at 
Scottsdale. The Owner told Scarpino that Panther had refelTed significant business to Scottsdale 
in the past and that Scarpino should provide special treatment to Panther's refelTals because 
Panther was an important customer. 

4. On May 2,2013, Scarpino emailed an associate of Panther's ("Panther 
Associate"), writing that Panther had suggested that Scottsdale might be able to assist Panther 
Associate in "depositing OTClPinksheet stocks." Scarpino attached Scottsdale account opening 
forms for foreign customers to his email. 

5. Panther Associate provided Scarpino the names and email addresses of four 
individuals who Panther was refelTing to Scottsdale - the Argentines. Scarpino then emailed 
each of the Argentines offering to assist them in opening accounts and depositing shares at 
Scottsdale. 

6. Starting on May 10, 2013, the Argentines opened accounts at Scottsdale with 
Scarpino as their registered representative. During the account-opening process, Scarpino 
learned that the Argentines shared several unusual characteristics, which suggested that they 
might be acting in concert. In particular, Scarpino knew: 

• Each of the Argentines stated that they intended to deposit physical certificates of 
BIZM stock in significant amounts, ranging from 1.815 million to 2.37 million 
shares for a total of 8.2 million shares; and 

• Each of the Argentines requested the ability to place orders with Scarpino via 
instant message, which was not a functionality that Scottsdale offered its 
customers. 

7. The initial account opening documents Scarpino received for each of the 
Argentines listed Panther as the refelTal source. In response to inquiries from Scarpino and 
compliance personnel at Scottsdale, however, the Argentines claimed they did not know Panther. 
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Ultimately, Panther's name was deleted from each of the account opening documents and the 
refening source was left blank. 

B. Panther Confirms His Connections to Biozoom and the Argentines 

8. On May 15, 2013, Scarpino and the Owner flew on the Owner's private jet to meet 
with Panther in California to discuss the Argentines. DUling their meeting, Panther told Scarpino 
that the Argentines planned to deposit share certificates into their respective accounts for trading. 

9. Panther explained that he worked with Biozoom and similar start-up companies to 
maintain their share prices. Panther also told Scarpino and the Owner that the Argentines could 
bring a good amount of business to Scottsdale. 

10. In return for what Panther suggested could be significant trading commissions to 
Scottsdale, he confim1ed specific accommodations for the accounts , several of which he had 
previously requested. These accommodations included permitting the Argentines to place trades 
through instant message and significantly reducing commissions for the Argentines. Although 
some of these requests ran contrary to existing Scottsdale policies, the Owner directed Scarpino . 
to grant them for Panther's refenals. 

11. Panther's confirmation that he was connected with both Biozoom and the 
Argentines was a red flag that the Argentines were potentially affiliates of BIZM. 

C. Scarpino Was Aware of Red Flags as He Deposited Substantial Amounts of Penny 
Stock for the Argentines 

12. On May 16, 2013 - the day after Scarpino's meeting with Panther - the Argentines 
began working with Scarpino to deposit physical certificates ofBiozoom stock into their new 
accounts. Scarpino knew that these certificates had been sent to Scottsdale from another broker
dealer that had rejected the Argentines' attempted deposits of the same celiiticates. 

13. Each Argentine completed a Deposit Securities Request Questionnaire ("DSRQ"), 
which was necessary for the celiificates to be deposited. These DSRQs required the Argentines · 
to , among other things, explain how they obtained their shares and whether they planned to trade 
the shares in concert with anyone else. The Argentines' completed DSRQs provided no 
infonnation on Panther's relationship or involvement with the Argentines, even though Scarpino 
knew that Panther had referred them to Scottsdale and was connected both to them and to BIZM. 

14. The Argentines' DSRQs and related documentation raised numerous red flags of a 
potential unregistered distribution, which Scarpino knew or should have known: 

• The Argentines were depositing a large volume of BIZM stock, which had no 
significant public trading in its history. Collectively~ the Argentines' celiificates 
represented 8.92 million BIZM shares, which constituted approximately 15% of 
BIZM's total outstanding shares, and approximately 44% ofBIZM's total shares 
not bearing a restrictive legend; 
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• The Argentines claimed to have purchased their 8.9 million shares ofBIZM at 
prices between $0.003 and $0.005 per share, spending a total of only 
approximately $33,000; and 

• All of the Argentines' certificates had been issued less than two months earlier, 
and they all purportedly acquired their shares in transactions with investors in 
Biozoom's predecessor company between February 26 and March 5, 2013.2 

15. Because, as desclibed above, Scarpino knew that the Argentines were connected 
to Panther and further knew that Panther had previously discussed Biozoom with Scarpino and 
the Owner, the numerous and significant red flags raised by the Argentines' share deposits
including the percentage of BIZM shares they controlled, nominal amounts they supposedly paid 
for the shares, the recent issuance of their share certificates, and other evidence of their 
cOlmections to one another and to Panther - should have raised significant questions for Scarpino 
about their possible involvement in an unregistered distribution ofBIZM stock coordinated by 
Panther. Scarpino, however, took no additional steps to investigate tIllS possibility, and did not 
infonTI anyone else at Scottsdale about the accumulation of red flags of which he was aware. 

D. Scarpino Was Aware of Additional Red Flags During the Unregistered Distribution 
of BIZM Stock 

16. From May 28,2013 until June 19,2013, Scarpino offered and sold approximately 
8.2 million BrZM shares through the OTCBB for proceeds of nearly $18.6 million on behalf of the 
Argentines . Given that the Argentines claimed to have paid a total of $32,700 for all oftlleir 
deposited shares, they realized aggregate retums of more than 56,000% on Scarpino's sales of the 
shares they had supposedly purchased less than four months earlier. 

17. No registration statement was filed or in effect with regards to Scarpino's offers 
and sales of the BIZM shares and no exemption from the registration requirements was available 
for those sales . Throughout the trading period, even more red flags of an illegal unregistered 
distribution appeared: 

• The Argentines began liquidating their BTZM shares almost immediately after they 
were cleared for trading; 

• Scarpino's offers and sales occurred amid a dramatic spike in trading ofBIZM. 
Plior to May 16, 2013, the stock of BIZM and its predecessor company had traded 
once since its inception in 2007, a 300 share trade in November 2012 for $1.02 per 
share. From May 16,2013 to June 19,2013, BIZM's stock price increased from a 
staJ1ing plice of$1.10 per share to as high as $4.50 per share. Over the same 
period, daily volume spiked from 10,000 shares to a high of 11 .6 million shares. 

Biozoom came into existence on April 1, 2013 via a reverse merger with a penny stock company named 
Entertainment Art, Inc. ("EER T") , followed by a name and ticker change. EERT was f01111ed in 2007. 
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This market was completely inconsistent with the prior trading history ofBIZM and 
its predecessor company; 

• This spike in activity coincided with a promotional campaign touting BIZM in 
radio, web, and print ads. The promotional campaign also involved mailers put 
out by third party media sources and was supported by numerous press releases 
issued by the company; and 

• As Scarpino completed liquidating all or substantially all of the BIZM shares on 
behalf of an Argentine, that Argentine quickly asked Scarpino to wire out the 
proceeds to offshore accounts. In total, between June 11 and June 24, the four 
Argentines requested to wire out nearly $17 million, all of which was proceeds 
from the sale of the recently-deposited and sold BIZM shares. 

18. On June 25 , 2013, the Commission suspended trading in the BIZM secmities. On 
July 3,2013, the Commission charged four of the Argentine customers and others with violating 
Sections 5(a) and (c) of the Securities Act. The Conunission obtained default judgments against all 
defendants in that matter. The Court granted injunctive relief and ordered the Argentines to pay 
disgorgement of$18,535,955 and penalties of$640,000. 

E. Scarpino Did Not Engage in a Reasonable Inquiry 

19. Sections 5(a) and 5( c) of the Securities Act prohibit the offer and sale of securities 
through iliterstate c~mmerce or the mails, unless a registration statement is filed with the 
Commission and is in effect, or the offer and sale are subject to an exemption. 15 U.S.c. §§ 
77e(a) and (c). 

20. Section 4(a)(4) of the Securities Act exempts from the registration requirements 
of Section 5 "brokers' transactions executed upon customers' orders on any exchange or in the 
over-the-counter market but not the solicitation of such orders ." 15 U.S.c. § 77d(4) . Rule 
144(g)(4) provides that for a transaction to qualify as a "brokers' transaction" under Section 
4(a)(4), the broker must engage in a "reasonable inquiry" prior to the transaction, and after such 
inquiry he must not be "aware of circumstances indicating that the person for whose account the 
securities are sold is an undenvriter3 with respect to the securities or that the transaction is a pali 
ofa distribution of securities of the issuer." 15 U.S.c. § 77d(a)(4); 17 CFR § 230.144(g)(4). 

21 . The "reasonable inquiry" should consider, among other factors: 

• the length of time the seller has held the securities; 

• the nature of the transaction in which the securities were acquired; and 

Section 2(a)(1J) of the Securities Act defines an underwriter as "any person who has purchased from an 
issuer, with a view to, or offers or sells for an issuer in connection with, the distribution of any security, or 
participates or has a direct or indirect participation in any such undertaking, or participates or has a 
participation in the direct or indirect underwriting of any such undertaking." 15 U.S.c. § 77b(a)(JJ). 
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• the number of shares of the class outstanding or the relevant trading volume. 
Notes to 17 CFR § 230. 144(g)(4). 

22. However, certain facts and circumstances sUlTounding the transaction might 
require additional inquiry in order for the broker to rely on the Section 4(a)(4) exemption. For 
example: 

A dealer who is offered a modest amount of a widely traded security by a responsible 
customer, whose lack of relationship to the issuer is well known to him, may ordinarily 
proceed with considerable confidence. On the other hand, when a dealer is offered a 
substantial block of a little-known security, either by persons who appear reluctant to 
disclose exactly where the securities came from, or where the surrounding circumstances 
raise a question as to whether or not the ostensible sellers may be merely intermediaries 
for controlling persons or statutory underwriters, then searching inquiTJI is called for. 

Distribution by Broker-Dealers o/Unregistered Securities, Securities Act ReI. No. 4445 (Feb. 2, 
1962) (emphasis added). See also Blool1~field et aI., Exchange Act ReI. No. 71632, at 5 (Feb . 27, 
2014) ("The accounts received large blocks of privately obtained shares of obscure penny stocks. 
Although the securities initially traded at low prices and in low volumes, the prices of, and 
trading volume in, these securities quickly escalated around the time of large deposits into the [ ] 
accounts. The escalation in prices and trading volume was generally associated with coordinated 
transactions among the various [] accounts and often accompanied by spam email campaigns 
touting the issuers' prospects. Once prices had risen substantially, the accounts started selling 
blocks of stocks . Eventually the stocks' prices collapsed. These indicia raised red flags of a 
possible unlawful distribution and market manipulation.") ; Midas Securities, LLC and Jay S. 
Lee, Exchange Act ReI. No. 66200, at 14 (Jan. 20,2012) (holding that because "[t]he amount of 
inquiry required necessarily varies with the circumstances of the proposed transaction," in 
certain circumstances, a broker-dealer may need to "conduct a searching inquiry to assure itself 
that ... proposed sales [are] exempt from the registration requirements and not part of an 
unla wfl.ll di stri buti on. "). 

23. When conducting a reasonable inquiry, a registered representative may not rely on 
others, such as counsel ' s advice, to fulfill his reasonable inquiry obligation. WOl1sover v. SEC, 
205 F.3d 408 , 415-16 (D.C. Cir. 2000) (rejecting registered representative ' s reliance on clearing 
finn , the transfer agent, counsel, and reliance on the clearance of sales by the "Restricted Stock 
DepaJiment" of his fiI111); see also World Trade Financial Corp. v. SEC, 739 F.3d 1243, 1249 
(9th Cir. 2014) (rejecting argument that duty of reasonable inquiry was satisfied by reliance on 
third parties in confonnity with industry practice and stating "brokers rely on third parties at their 
own peril, and will not avoid liability through that reliance when the duty of reasonable inquiry 
rests with the brokers") . 

24. It is not sufficient "for [the registered representative] merely to accept ' self-
serving statements of his sellers and their counsel without reasonably exploring the possibility of 
contradictory facts.'" Distribution by Broker-Dealers 0/ Unregistered Securities , Securities Act 
ReI. No. 4445 (Feb . 2, 1962) (quoting SEC v. Culpepper, 270 F.2d 241,251 (2d Cir. 1959». Nor 
maya broker "rely upon the absence of restrictive legends on the stock certificates when the 
circumstances sUlTounding the transaction indicate the need for a thorough investigation." 
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Transactions in the Securities of Laser Arms Corporation by Certain Broker-Dealers, Exch. Act 
ReI. No. 34-28878, 1991 WL 292009 (Feb. 14, 1991). 

25. No registration statement was filed or in effect as to Scarpino's offer and sale of the 
BrZM shares on behalf ofthe Argentines and no exemption from the registration requirements was 
available for these sales . Scarpino made use of means or instruments of transportation or 
communication in interstate commerce or of the mails to offer to sell, sell , and deliver after sale the 
BIZM shares to the public. 

26. Scarpino was presented with numerous and significant red flags raised by the 
deposits ofBIZM shares and subsequent sales of those shares, which should have raised questions 
as to whether the Argentines were engaged in an unlawful distribution by, for example, acting as 
underwliters . These red flags included: 

• the Argentines opened new accounts and delivered physical certificates representing a 
large block of thinly traded and low-priced securities; 

• the deposited share certificates had been recently issued and represented a large 
percentage of the float for the security; 

• the Argentines had a pattem of depositing physical share certificates , immediately 
selling the shares and then wiring out the proceeds to offshore accounts ; 

• there was a sudden spike in volume, coupled with a rising price in, a thinly traded and 
low-priced security; and 

• Scarpino had reason to believe the Argentines were acting in conceli with one another 
and in coordination with an affiliate of the issuer. 

27. Throughout the process of opening the Argentines' accounts, depositing their 
certi fi cates, and then offering and selling those shares into the market on behalf of the 
Argentines , Scarpino was confronted with red flag after red flag that he was facilitating an 
unregistered distribution of those shares . Despite the presence of these ample and glaring red 
flags , Scarpino did not perf 01111 a "reasonable inquiry" regarding the facts and circumstances 
surrounding those transactions, let alone the "searching inquiry" he was required to perforin. 

Violation 

28 . As a result of the conduct described above, Scarpino willfully violated Sections 5(a) 
and 5( c) of the Securities Act. 

IV. 

Pursuant to this Order, Respondent Scarpino agrees to additional proceedings in this 
proceeding to detemline what, if any, civil penalties pursuant to Section 8A(g) of the Securities 
Act against Respondent Scarpino are in the public interest. In connection with such additional 
proceedings: (a) Respondent Scarpino agrees that he will be precluded from arguing that he did 
not violate the federal securities laws as described in this Order; (b) Respondent Scarpino agrees 
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that he may not challenge the validity of this Order; (c) solely for the purposes of such additional 
proceedings, the allegations of the Order shall be accepted as and deemed true by the hearing 
officer; and (d) the hearing officer may detennille the issues raised in the additional proceedings on 
the basis of affidavits, declarations, excerpts of sworn deposition or investigative testimony, and 
documentary evidence. 

v. 

In view of the foregoing, the Commission deems it appropriate and in the public interest to 
impose the sanctions agreed to in Respondent Scarpino's Offer. 

Accordingly, pursuant to Section 8A of the Securities Act, Sections I5(b) and 2IC of the 
Exchange Act, and Section 9(b) of the Investment Company Act, it is hereby ORDERED that: 

A. Respondent Scarpino shall cease and desist from cOlmnitting or causing any 
violations and any future violations of Sections 5(a) or 5(c) of the Securities Act. 

B . Respondent Scarpino be, and hereby is: 

baITed fi·om association with any broker, dealer, investment adviser, municipal 
securities dealer, municipal advisor, transfer agent, or nationally recognized 
statistical rating organization; 

prohibited from serving or acting as an employee, officer, director, member of 
an advisory board, investment adviser or depositor of, or principal underwriter 
for, a registered investment company or affiliated person of such investment 
adviser, depositor, or plincipal underwriter; and 

barred fi·om participating in any offering of a penny stock, including: acting as 
a promoter, finder, consultant, agent or other person who engages in activities 
with a broker, dealer or issuer for purposes ofthe issuance or trading in any 
penny stock, or inducing or attempting to induce the purchase or sale of any 
penny stock, 

with the right to apply for reentry after five (5) years to the appropriate self
regulatory organization, or if there is none, to the Conunission. 

C. Any reapplication for association by Respondent Scarpino will be subject to the 
applicable laws and regulations governing the reentry process, and reentry may be 
conditioned upon a number of factors, including, but not limited to, the satisfaction 
of any or all of the following: (a) any disgorgement ordered against the 
Respondent, whether or not the COlmnission has fully or partially waived payment 
of such disgorgement; (b) any arbitration award related to the conduct that served as 
the basis for the Commission order; (c) any self-regulatOlY organization arbitration 
award to a cllstomer, whether or not related to the conduct that served as the basis 
for the Commission order; and (d) any restitution order by a self-regulatory 
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organization, whether or not related to the conduct that served as the basis for the 
Commission order. 

D. Payment must be made in one of the following ways: 

(1) Respondent may transmit payment electronically to the Conmlission, which 
will provide detailed ACH transfer/Fedwire instructions upon request; 

(2) Respondent may make direct payment from a bank account via Pay.gov 
through the SEC website at http://www.sec.gov/about/offices/ofm.htm; or 

(3) Respondent may pay by certified check, bank cashier's check, or United 
States postal money order, made payable to the Securities and Exchange 
Commission and hand-delivered or mailed to: 

Enterprise Services Center 
Accounts Receivable Branch 
HQ Bldg. , Room 181 , AMZ-341 
6500 South MacArthur Boulevard 
Oklahoma City, OK 73169 

Payments by check or money order must be accompanied by a cover letter identifying Timothy 
Scarpino as a Respondent in these proceedings, and the file number of these proceedings; a copy of 
the cover letter and check or money order must be sent to Antonia Chion, Associate Director, 
Division of Enforcement, Securities and Exchange Commission, 100 F St., NE, Washington, DC 
20549. 

It is futiher ORDERED, pursuant to Rule 100(c) of the Commission's Rules of Practice, 17 
C.F.R. § 201.100(c), in the interest of justice and without prejudice to any patiy to the proceedings, 
that a public hearing for the purpose of taking evidence on the questions set fOlih in Section IV 
hereof shall be convened at a time and place to be fixed by, and before, an Administrative Law 
Judge to be designated by fUIiher order as provided by Rule 110 oftbe Commission ' s Rules of 
Practice, 17 C.F.R. § 201.110, following the entlY of a final judgment against the last remaining 
defendant(s) in any action(s) arising out of or related to the facts in this Order ("Related Actions"). 

If Respondent Scarpino fails to appear at a hearing after being duly notified, Respondent 
Scarpino may be deemed in default and the proceedings may be detennined against him upon 
consideration of this Order, the allegations of which may be deemed to be true as provided by 
Rules 155(a), 220(f), 22l(f), and 310 of the Commission's Rules of Practice, 17 C.F.R. §§ 
20 1.155(a), 20 1.220(f), 201 .221 (f), and 201 .310. 

This Order shall be served forthwith upon Respondent Scarpino personally or by certified 
mail. 

It is further ORDERED pursuant to Rule 100(c) of the Commission's Rules of Practice, 17 
C.F.R. § 201.1 OO( c), in the interest of justice and without prejudice to any party, that the 
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Administrative Law Judge shall issue an initial decision no later than 150 days from the date of the 
entry of a final judgment in any Related Actions. 

VI. 

It is further Ordered that, solely for purposes of exceptions to discharge set forth in Section 
523 of the Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S .c. § 523 , the findings ii1 this Order are hue and admitted by 
Respondent, and further, any debt for disgorgement, prejudgment interest, civil penalty or other 
amounts due by Respondent under this Order or any other judgment, order, consent order, decree 
or settlement agreement entered in connection with this proceeding, is a debt for the violation by 
Respondent of the federal securities laws or any regulation or order issued under such laws, as set 
forth in Section 523(a)(19) of the Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.c. § 523(a)(19): 

By the Commission. 

Brent J. Fields 
SecretaJY 
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FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY 
OFFICE OF HEARING OFFICERS 

DEP ARTMENT OF ENFORCEMENT, 

Complainant, 

v. 

SCOTTSDALE CAPITAL ADVISORS 
CORPORATION 
(CRD No. 118786), 

JOHN J . HURRY 
(CRD No. 2146449), 

TIMOTHY B. DIBLASI 
(CRD No. 4623652), 

and 

D. MICHAEL CRUZ 
(CRD No. 2450344), 

Respondents. 

Disciplinary Proceeding 
No. 2014041724601 

Hearing Officer-LOM 

AMENDED EXTENDED HEARING 
PANEL DECISION1 

June 20, 2017 

The Respondent firm violated FINRA Rule 2010 by selling securities without 
registration and without an exemption, in contravention of Section 5 of the 
Securities Act of 1933. The firm's owner, Respondent John Hurry, also 
violated Rule 2010, because he engaged in activities designed to enable the 
unlawful transactions and evade regulatory scrutiny. 

The Respondent firm and its Chief Compliance Officer, Respondent Timothy 
DiBlasi, violated NASD Rules 3010(a) and (b) and FINRA Rule 2010 by 
failing to establish and maintain a supervisory system~ including written 

1 The original Extended Hearing Panel Decision has been amended to correct a factual error. The amendment does 
not change the substance of the decision. 
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supervisory procedures, reasonably designed to ensure that the finn 
complied with Section 5 of the Securities Act. 

The Respondent finn and its President, Respondent Michael Cruz, violated 
NASD Rule 3010(b) and FINRA Rule 2010 by failing to supervise and failing 
to respond appropriately to numerous red flags indicative of unlawful 
unregistered distributions. 

The Respondent finn is fmed $1.5 million. Hurry is ban-ed in all capacities. 
He would also be fined $100,000, but, in light of the bar, the fme is not 
imposed. DiBlasi is suspended for tv\'o years and fined $50,000. Cruz is 
suspended for two years and fined $50,000. hI addition, Respondents are 
ordered to pay costs, for which they are jointly and severally liable. 

Appearances 

For the Complainant: Jeffrey D. Pariser, Esq., Gregory R. Firehock, Esq., Laura Leigh 
Blackston, Esq., and Heather L. Freiburger, Esq., Department of Enforcement, Financial Industry 
Regulatory Authority. 

For the Respondents: Kevin J. Hamisch, Esq., Michael J. Edney, Esq., and Ryan E. Meltzer, 
Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP . 
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DECISION 

I. INTRODUCTION 

A. The Respondent Firm 

The Respondent f11m, Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corporation ("Scottsdale" or the 
"Finn"), is ppmarily engaged in the business of liquidating penny stocks for its customers 
without registration. The sale of securities without registration is unlawful unless an exemption 
exists. In selling securities without registration, Scottsdale usually relies on a "safe harbor" 
exemption created by the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), Rule 144. But the 
securities at issue here did not qualify for the Rule 144 exemption. Thus, the sales were 
unlawful. 

1. The Firm Relied On The Rule 144 Exemption 

SEC Rule 144 is highly detailed and teclmical. It both restricts some transactions and 
pennits others that meet certain conditions. It comes into play where securities have been 
acquired from the issuer or an affiliate in an unregistered private transaction. Such securities 
typically are marked with a restrictive legend, and the holder may not sell such securities in the 
public marketplace unless an exemption applies to the sale. 

In detennining whether a sale of securities is exempt from registration under Rule 144, a 
broker-dealer must conduct an inquiry that focuses primarily on identifying the individual who is 
the beneficial ovmer of the securities to be sold, analyzing that person 's relationship (if any) to 
the issuer of the securities, investigating the circumstances of that person's acquisition of the 
securities, and calculating how long the person haS held the securities. Rule 144 imposes 
different holding periods on affiliates and non-affiliates of an issuer before they can resell the 
issuer's securities. In some circumstances, the holder can "tack" his holding period to that of his 
predecessor in the chain of holders to meet the applicable holding period. 

The purpose of the Rule 144 inquiry is to ensure that the transaction is not a subterfuge 
for an issuer or its affiliates to distribute securities to the public while evading the disclosure 
requirements that accompany registration. Representations made by the parties interested in 
selling the securities must be carefully scrutinized by a broker-dealer finn because of the 
incentive to misrepresent the circumstances and conceal the true beneficial owners. 

2. The Firm Lacked A Basis For "Tacking" To Achieve The Required 
Holding Period Under SEC Rule 144 

In the transactions at issue, the purported beneficial owners claimed that neither they nor 
their predecessors were affiliates of the issuer. Their lack of affiliate status was critical to their 
ability to sell the shares pursuant to SEC Rule 144 because of the sholter holding period and 
fewer restrictions on non-affiliates. 
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Even as non-affiliates, however, none of the purported beneficial owners ofthe shares 
that Scottsdale accepted for resale had held the shares long enough to qualify for the Rule 144 
safe harbor holding period. Each seller therefore claimed that the applicable Rule 144 holding 
period was satisfied by tacking his holding period to the holding period of a prior holder. 

In the transactions at issue, one prior holder claimed that he had forgiven a loan that he 
had made to the issuer and had exchanged the right to payment on the loan for stock. One of the 
prior holders forgave a proiilissory note that the issuer had used to pay him for consulting 
services. Another prior holder claimed to have extended an oral line of credit to the issuer and 
then to have accepted shares in satisfaction of a sum owed on the line of credit. A third prior 
holder forgave a portion of a promissory note extending an open-ended line of credit. 

Each of these prior holders received' the shares around the same time that he transferred 
them. Thus, the prior holder did not actually hold the shares long enough for his successor to 
satisfy the applicable holding period by tacking, creating an impediment to resale. 

To overcome that impediment, the sellers of the securities claimed the benefit of another 
tacking provision under Rule 144. Rule 144 provides that where a holder of a security exchanges 
that security for another of the same issuer's securities, without any additional compensation, the 
holder may tack the holding period of the first security to the holding period of the second. The 
theory is that the exchange of one security for another of the same issuer does not change the 
nature of the holder's capital at risk, so the holding period for the new security can tack back to 
the date the old security was acquired. The sellers here characterized their prior holders' 
exchanges of notes for stock as exchanges of one security for another. On that basis, the sellers 
claimed that they could tack back to the inception of the prior holders' loans . 

Whether the first instrument in the chain was a security is thus a threshold issue. The 
Firm treated the prior holders' promissory notes and lines of credit as securities and the 
conversion ofthat debt into stock as the exchange of one security of the issuer for another 
security of the sanle .issuer. As a result, the Firm concluded that the sellers were pennitted to tack 
their holding period all the way back to the inception of the prior holders' loans. 

The Finn erred. The promissory notes and lines of credit were not securities. Rather, they 
were ordinary debt liabilities. Accordingly, the purpotted beneficial owners could not establish 
the requisite holding period, and the Rule 144 exemption did not exist. 

3. The Firm Also Failed To Address Red Flags Signaling Unlawful 
Distributions 

The transactions at issue involved persons seeking to sell large blocks of thinly traded, 
little-known securities acquired in a chain of private transactions originating with the issuer
generally a red flag that the SEC and FINRA have both said requires a "searching inquilY" The 
sellers acquired the shares from the prior holders and sought to resell the shares almost 
i.111.111ediately. The inlmediate resale of a large block of stock that has never been the subject of 
registration disclosures strongly suggests an attempt to distribute securities to the public without 
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registration. In addition, there were a large number of discrepancies and suspicious 
circumstances indicating that sham transactions, false documents, and nominees were being used 
to evade the securities laws and effect unlawful securities sales without registration. ll1ese red 
flags ought to have been investigated and appropriately resolved before the securities could be 
sold. 

The Finn, however, blinded itself~o the multiple red flags signaling that the transactions 
were unlawful public distributions of securities . It did not conduct the required searching inquiry. 
It sold the securities without a reasonable basis for a Rule 144 exemption. Because ofthe 
suspicious circumstances known to the Firm, it also was not entitled to the so-called "broker' s 
exempti on" under Section 4(4) of the Securities Act for ordinary trading. 

B. Other Respondents 

1. Jolm Hun'Y 

Scottsdale is owned indirectly by Respondent John Hurry and his wife, Justine Hurry, 
through other entities they own and control. Jolm Hurry also owns the clearing finn that handles 
Scottsdale ' s business, Alpine Securities Corporation ("Alpine"), and an off-shore foreign 
financial institution ("FFI") located in the Cayman Islands, Cayman Securities Clearing and 
Trading SECZ, Ltd. ("CSCT"). 

Hurry set up CSCT in 2013 to act as a conduit through which other FFIs could deposit 
penny stocks at Scottsdale for resale in the U.S. securities market. During the relevant period, 
December 1,2013, through June 30, 2014, CSCT deposited billions of shares of pel my stocks for 
resale by Scottsdale. All the transactions at issue were routed through CSCT to Scottsdale. 

2. Timothy DiBlasi 

Respondent Timothy DiBlasi became Scottsdale' s chief compliance officer ("CCO") 
shOlily before the events at issue, and he remains its CCO. He maintains, however, that his 
responsibilities do not extend to the Finn 's Rule 144 business. 

3. Michael Cruz 

Respondent Michael Cruz was the Finn's president, but now serves as general counsel to 
the collection of Hurry enterprises. During the relevant period, Cruz had final approval authority 
over the Rule 144 transactions at issue. In that role, he reviewed the infonnation collected by 
others and detennined whether it was sufficient to approve a deposit of stock certificates for 
resale. Everyone at the Finn, including Henry Diekmann, who headed the Finn 's Rule 144 team 
at the time of the transactions at issue, and who is now the Finn's president, considered Cruz 
responsible for Rule 144 compliance. 
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C. Parties To The Transactions At Issue 

TIlis case concems Scottsdale's sales of stock issued by tlu'ee little-known companies
Neuro-Hitech Inc. ("NHPI"), VoipPaI.com ("VPLM"), and Orofino Gold Corp. ("ORFG"). 
CSCT deposited millions of the three issuers' shares in certificate fonn at Scottsdale for resale. 
Alpine cleared them, and Scottsdale sold them into the U.S. securities market pursuant to Rule 
144 without registration. 

In making the deposits ofNHPI, VPLM, and ORFG stock, CSCT acted on behalf of three 
other FFls: (i) Montage Securities ("Montage"), (ii) Titan Intemational Securities ("Titan"), and 
(iii) Unicom Intemational Securities ("Unicom"). Montage was located in Panama; Titan and 
Unicom were in Belize. The FFls, in tum, purported to act for the benefi:t of other entities, which 
were represented to be owned by individuals identified in documents as the beneficial owners of 
the shares. 

II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

FINRA's Department of Enforcement ("Enforcement") filed the Complaint on May 15, 
2015. After an extension oftime, Respondents filed an Answer on June 26,2015. On December 
11,2015, Respondents filed a motion for summary disposition that challenged FINRA's 
authority to bring a disciplinary action for misconduct associated with the sale of unregistered 
securities. Briefing on the motion was completed on January 29,2016. The Hearing Officer 
issued an Order on February 26, 2016, denying the motion and finding that FINRA has authority 
to bring this proceeding. 

The hearing ran a total of 12 days in two sessions. TIle first session in Los Angeles, 
Califomia, was held June 13-24,2016. TIle second session in Washington, D.C. was held July 
11-12,2016. Ten witnesses testified at the hearing, including two experts. 2 In addition, the full 
transcript of an on-the-record interview ("OTR") v,'as admitted into evidence, along with more 

2 In addition to Hurry, DiBlas~ and Cruz, the following persons testified: Henry Diekmann, the Firm's current 
president; Jay Noiman, a former Scottsdale employee who served as CCO until DiBlasi took on that responsibility; 
David Byrne, a FlNRA examiner who is a manager of the Alv1L Investigative Unit; Craig D'Mura, a former 
Scottsdale employee who worked for a couple of months at CSCT; Christopher Frankel, the current CEO of Alpine; 
Marc Menchel, Respondents' expert; and Brian Underwood, Enforcement's rebuttal expert. 

References to hearing testimony are in the following format: "Hearing Tr. (last name of witness), page of 
transcript." For example, Hurry's testimony is cited as "Hearing Tr. (HWTY) 1542-43." 
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than 200 other exhibits.3 On September 9, 2016, Enforcement and Respondents each filed one 
post-hearing brief.4 

III. FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

A. Jurisdiction 

FINRA has jurisdiction to bring this proceeding against Scottsdale, Hurry, and DiBlasi 
because they are currently registered, and the Complaint charges them with misconduct 
committed while they were registered. FINRA has jurisdiction as to Cruz although he is no 
longer registered, because the Complaint was filed within two years of the time he was registered 
and it charges him with misconduct committed while he was registered.5 

B. Background 

We provide substantial background regarding Respondents and others connected to the 
transactions at issue to provide the context needed to understand the transactions, the Firm's 

3 Gregory V. Ruzicka, who worked at CSCT during the relevant period, gave an OTR on May 27,2015 . The OTR 
became an exhibit. Complainant's exhibits are referred to with the prefix "cx" and an identifying number. 
Respondents' exhibits are referred to with the prefix "RX" and an identifYing number. Joint exhibits are referred to 
with the prefix "JX" and an identifying number. Ruzicka ' s OTR is CX-178. 

4 References to the post-hearing briefs are as follows: Enf. PH Br. and Resp. PH Br. Respondents attached graphs 
and other materials to their post-hearing brief that were not offered or admitted into evidence. Respondents 
apparently created the graphs after the hearing based on exhibits that were admitted into the record. However, the 
graphs were not subject to any testimony explaining their creation or testing their accuracy. Respondents' post
hearing brief also contained references to website articles that were not admitted into the record. No copies of the 
articles were attached to the post-hearing brief. Respondents have not asked permission to reopen the record to 
admit any of these materials. Respondents simply refer and rely on the non-record materials. The Hearing Panel has 
not considered any ofthe following items (or assertions made in argument based on them) in formulating its 
decision: 

• Huperiine A in Alzheimer' s Disease-website article relating to NHPI (Resp. PH Br. 5, n.9); 

• Same (Resp. PH Br. 7, n.20): 

• OTCMarkets.com website on VPLM (Resp. PH Br. 7, n.22); 
• The Markets OTCQB website article on VPLM (Resp. PH Br. 7, n.23); 
• Historical price figures derived from data on OTCMarkets.com CRespo PH Br. 12, n.58); 

• A purported page from a FINRA Continuing Education Module (Resp. PH Br. 17, n.86; Appendix 
A); 

• Graphs generated by Respondents purporting to use data in JX-264 and JX-268 CRespo PH Br. 19, 
n.94; Appendix B); 

• Graphs generated by Respondents purporting to use data in JX-279 and JX-281 CRespo PH Br. 25, 
n.l29; Appendix C); 

• Graphs generated by Respondents purporting to use data in JX-308 and JX-310 CRespo PH Br. 29, 
n.155; Appendix D); and 

• Statement about trading volume attributable to CSCT's sales of ORFG CRespo PH Br. 29, n.156; 
statement made without reference to source of information or record citation). 

5 FINRA By-Laws, Art. IV, Section 6; Art. V, Section 4. 
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culture, and the Respondents' failure to take reasonable action in response to obvious red flags in 
connection with the transactions at issue. The background also provides information important in 
assessing the witnesses' credibility, and in evaluating the Respondents' likely future compliance 
with the laws and regulations governing Scottsdale's business. 

1. Respondents 

a. Scottsdale 

i. The Firm's Focus On Rule 144 Business 

Scottsdale, which is located in Scottsdale, Arizona, has been a FINRA member since 
2002. 6 During the relevant period, the Firm had approximately 14 to 20 employees. 7 

Scottsdale's principal business is the deposit and liquidation of penny stocks for its 
customers. 8 Throughout the proceeding, the pelmy stocks sold by Scottsdale were also referred to 
as "microcap" securities. 9 Scottsdale sells most of these securities without registration. The 
primary exemption that Scottsdale relies on is Rule 144, so it ha<; a dedicated Rule 144 team to 
review deposits of stock celtificates for resale, and its procedures are oriented to Rule 144.10 

Scottsdale obtains customers by advertising in OTC Markets and through referrals. I I 

ii. The Firm's Direct Business '''ith FFls 

Prior to Hurry's creation of CSCT in 2013, Scottsdale did business with FFls directly. 
Two of the FFls involved in this case (Titan and Unicorn) had pre-existing direct relationships 
with Scottsdale before they started doing business through CSCT. 12 

6 CX-1, at3-9. 

7 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 116; Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1496. 

8 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1318; Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 83; Hearing Ir. (Noiman) 1180. DiBlasi aclmowledged that during 
the relevant period penny stock transactions accounted for most of the Firm's revenues, and that over 95% of the 
transactions that Scottsdale executed for its customers involved penny stocks, most of them unregistered. Hearing 
Ir. (DiBlasi) 1923. 

9 Microcap securities may be defined as low-priced stock issued by small companies with a market capitalization of 
$300 million or less. :tvlicrocap securities are generally more volatile and less liquid than the stock of larger 
companies. Most important, because many microcap issuers do not file financial reports with the SEC, it may be 
difficult for investors to obtain information about the management, products, services, and finances of microcap 
issuers. https://www.sec.gov/investor/pubs/microcapstock.htm. Ihe SEC has expressed concern that the lack of 
publicly available information about microcap issuers can enable the spread of false information that misleads 
investors. Id. Many microcap securities trade in the "over-the-counter" ("OIC") market instead of a national 
exchange such as the New York Stock Exchange or NASDAQ. Id. 

lO'Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 577,583; Hearing Ir. (DiBlasi) 1952-54; Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 818-19, 875-76, 884-86; 
Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1600. 

11 Hearing If. (Cruz) 116. 

12 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 192; Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 727, 817-18; Hearing Ir. (Naiman) 1140-52. 
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iii. The Firm's Disciplinary History 

Scottsdale has been disciplined previously for selling unregistered securities and having 
inadequate supervisory procedures and written supervisory procedures ("WSPs") to detect and 
prevent the sale of unregistered securities. In October 2011, the Finn settled these and other 
charges, agreeing to a censure and a total fIne for all the charges of$125,000 ("2011 
Settlement"). 13 

The Finn has also settled other types of disciplinary charges against it, which are relevant 
to the sanctions detenninations. In 2009, it agreed to a censure and a $7,500 fIne to settle charges 
that it had bought bonds from customers at unfair prices ("2009 A W C"). 14 In August 2012, the 
Finn settled charges that it had failed to take appropriate action after being on notice that one of 
its representatives had been using his name and CRD number in stock promotion press releases . 
The Finn agreed to a censure and a $7,500 fIne ("2012 A WC,,).15 In 2015, the Finn agreed to a 
censure and a fIne of $10,000 to settle charges that it had submitted reports to FINRA for the 
Order Audit Trail System that were inaccurate, incomplete, or in the wrong fonnat ("2015 
AWC,,).16 

iv. The Firm Had Notice That Sham Transactions And The 
Use Of Nomillees '''ere A Risk In Its Rule 144 Business 
With FFls 

(a) Four Prior SEC Disciplinary Actions 

We fInd that prior to the events at issue in this case, the Finn was on notice that its 
business was susceptible to sham transactions and the use of nominees to conceal the true 
benefIcial owners of securities. In four disciplinary actions involving Scottsdale's own 
employees and customers, the SEC alleged that sham transactions and nominees were used in 
unlawful sales in violation of Section 5 ofthe Securities Act of 1933. Those unlawful sales in 
tum were used to facilitate fraud and manipulation. 

In December 2011, two of Scottsdale's registered representatives were named in an SEC 
complaint ("Ruettiger") involving the supposed assignment of portions of a convertible note to 
satisfy the applicable Rule 144 holding period, the use of nominees to conceal the identity ofthe 
true benefIcial owners, the use of a "pump-and-dump,,17 scheme to manipUlate the market for the . 
stock, and an unlawful distribution of securities without registration. According to the complaint, 

13 CX-12. 

14CX_l1. 

15 CX-13. 

16 CX-14. 

17 "Purnp-and-dump" schemes involve the touting of a company' s stock (typically sm all, so-called "m icrocap" 
companies) through false and misleading statements to the marketplace. https://www.sec.gov/answers/ 
pumpdump.htm. 
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Scottsdale's registered representatives handled some of the accounts involved in the scheme, and 
one of them had an interest in an entity that received and sold some of the securities. The 
complaint alleged that a single person had used 16 Panamanian corporations to conceal his 
identity and enable him to sell approximately $6 million of stock without registration. 18 

In March 2013, the SEC filed a complaint ("Gibraltar 1') against a number of people and 
entities alleging a market manipulation scheme that was facilitated by a Scottsdale customer, 
Gibraltar. That complaint alleged that individual defendants had secretly sold shares through 
Gibraltar while simultaneously promoting the stocks and encouraging others to buy. It also 
alleged that Gibraltar had provided false affidavits and misleading statements that allowed an 
individual defendant to secretly sell shares of companies he was promoting. 19 

In April 2013, the SEC filed a second complaint against Gibraltar and its owner 
("Gibraltar 11'), alleging that they had facilitated unlawful sales of securities without registration 
through the use of nominees. According to that complaint, Gibraltar liquidated low-price, thinly 
traded stocks on behalf of its clients, often during periods of suspicious promotion. Gibraltar 
assisted its clients to incorporate international business corporations ("IBCs") and encouraged 
them to use nominee officers and directors so that their identities would remain confidential. The 
SEC charged that two persons had opened "fake nominee accounts" at Scottsdale. 2o 

Gibraltar had been a direct customer of Scottsdale since before the spring of 2010, at least 
hvo years before the SEC filed charges against it. 21 It shut down after the filing of the two 
Gibraltar complaints, and some of its customers transferred to Titan, one of the FFIs involved in 
this case. 22 

In July 2013, the SEC filed an action against ten Argentinians, four of whom had opened 
accounts at Scottsdale ("Tavella") . That complaint alleged that the defendants had submitted 
false documentation to accompany their securities deposit checklist at Scottsdale, and sold 
millions of shares into the public markets without registration in violation of Section 5. The 
defendants claimed that they had purchased their shares from fonner shareholders, but the fonner 
shareholders had already sold their shares years before. Thus, the transactions in which the 
defendants claimed that they had acquired the shares were a sham.23 

18 SEC v. Ruettiger, No. 2:1 l-cv-201 I (D. Nev . filed Dec. 16,2011), available at https://www.SEC.gov/litigationi 
com plaints/20 II I com p2219 8. pdf. 

19 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 195-99; SEC v. Carrillo Huettel, No. 13 Civ. 1735 (S.D.N.Y filed Mar. 15,2013), available at 
https://www.SEC.gov/litigationicomplaintsl20 13/comp-pr20 13-39. pdf. 

20 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 185-192; SEC v. Gibraltar Global Sec., Inc ., No. 13 Civ. 2575 (S.D.N.Y. filed Apr. 18,2013), 
available at https://www.sec.gov/litigationlcomplaints/20 13/comp22683. pdf. 

J 

21 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1912-13. 

22 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 727. 

23SECv. TaveIIa, No. 13-cv-4609 (S.D.N.Y. filed July 3,2013), available athttps://www.SEC.gov/litigationi 
complaints/20 13/com p-pr20 13-122. pdf. 
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These regulatory actions should have caused the Fiml to take special care when dealing 
with FFIs, and to revise its procedures to focus on potential sham transactions and the use of 
nominees. The Finn did not. Its main reaction to Ruettiger was to eliminate the branch office 
involved in the case. Cruz believed that the misconduct identified in the Gibraltar cases was 
" isolated.,,24 Scottsdale ' s current president, Diekmann, who was the head ofthe Rule 144 team 
when the Tavella complaint was filed, testified that he could not remember if the Finn conducted 
any investigation of the four Argentinians named in the Tavella complaint who had Scottsdale 
accounts. 25 In Diekmann 's view it was "just impossible to know that there was somebody else 
behind this. ,,26 Cruz similarly said, "[I]Cs almost impossible to detect these nominees, that 
they're going to be . . . misrepresenting the-you know, the true identity ofthese persons. ,,27 

Although the Finn changed some procedures as a result of Tavella (it would not accept more 
than 9.9% of a security at anyone time from its customers and it instituted a stock watch list to 
monitor trading and promotions), Diekmann could not remember doing anything different to 
address the problem of nominees. 28 

(b) Respondents' Arguments Minimizing Significance Are 
Rejected 

In their post-hearing brief, Respondents argue that the SEC complaints are not relevant 
because they were classic pump-and-dump cases, and no charge is made here that the 
transactions at issue were part of a pump-and-dump fraud . It is not necessary, however, to prove 
that fraud OCCUlTed in order to conclude that Respondents failed to perfonn their gatekeeping 
duty adequately. The focus here is on Respondents ' failure (i) to recognize as a threshold matter 
that the transactions lacked a legal underpinning, and (ii) to respond appropriately to an 
accumulation of red flags and suspicious circumstances, either conducting further investigation 
to make sure an exemption existed or declining to sell the securities. 

Respondents also claim that references in the prior complaints to nominees were 
"peripheral. ,,29 To the contrary, the lise of nominees was critical to facilitating the fraud and 
manipulation charged in those cases. \Ve reject Respondents ' attempt to blUsh aside the SEC 
complaints. 

CIUZ took a different approach at the hearing to minimizing the significance of the SEC 
complaints, which we also reject. He insisted on a benign definition of the teml "nominee" to 
mean only someone designated to act on behalf of another. He declined to view the Ruettiger 
complaint as raising a concern about the use of nominees. He said, "I wasn't sure if this is a 

14 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 219. 

25 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 732-33. 

26 Hearing Tr. (Diekm ann) 732. 

27 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 213-14. 

28 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 733-34. 

19 Resp. PH By. 36-37. 
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situation where the-the nominees here that are being listed were purposely hiding their identity. 
It could be, but . . . that just was not my takeaway when I wa<; looking at this ... Complaint.,,3o 
\\Then asked whether the allegation of "fake nominee entities" gave him pause, Cruz responded, 
" I have no idea what fake - I mean, if it ' s an entity - I mean, if it - I don't know what they mean 
by ' fake. ,,,31 Cruz refused to admit that the complaint in Ruettiger put him on notice of the 
possibility of nominees hiding the actual true beneficial owner of securities. He testified, "I 
would say this is probably not a case that gave me a great concem about the nominee issue, per 
se .... TIl ere might be a nominee issue in there. I guess I don't know the context ofthat.,,32 

We find Cruz ' s refusal to acknowledge the plain import of the SEC's allegations in 
Ruettiger and the other complaints disingenuous. Even Respondents ' expert agreed that 
Scottsdale was on notice that its customers could be nominees for beneficial owners as of the 

1 . d' hi 33 re evant peno 111 t S case. 

(c) Later Actions Confinn Risk Of Sham Transactions And 
Nominees 

TIle risky nature of Scottsdale's Rule 144 business "vith Ft'Is became undeniable in the 
summer of 2014, when the SEC and criminal authorities initiated TINO new proceedings charging 
that certain Scottsdale customers and others had used sham transactions and nominees to sell 
penny stocks unla\~if'ully without registration. TIlese proceedings were brought based on 
ex'1ensi ve evidence gathered through the use of undercover agents, cooperating witnesses, and 
recorded conversations. TIle allegations appeared well founded, and they finally caused 
Scottsdale and CSCT to react. 

TIle SEC filed a complaint on July 11 , 2014 ("Amogear"), charging five individuals with 
llsing nominee accounts in FFI trading to conceal beneficial ownership and facilitate a pump
and-dump scheme. TIle SEC alleged that Titan had agreed to assist in the scheme and that 
Alpine, the clearing finn, was involved in readying shares for trading in connection with the 
scheme. In reaction to Amogear, Scottsdale froze its FFI trading for a couple of months.3~ 

On September 8, 2014, prosecutors filed an indictment in federal district court in New 
York ("Bandfield") that charged Titan, Unic011l, and several individuals with whom Scottsdale 
and CSCT did business with securities fraud, tax fraud, and a money-laundering conspiracy. 
TIl0se individuals included the following persons, who were also involved in the transactions at 
issue here: Cern ("Jimmy") Can at Unicom; Kelvin Leach and Rohn Knowles at Titan; and 
Robert Bandfield and Andrew Godfrey, who purported to represent customers of Montage, 

30 Hearing If. (Cruz) 191. 

31 Hearing If. (Cruz) 192. 

31 Hearing If. (Cruz) 184. 

33 Hearing If. (Menchel) 2488-89. 

34 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 705-12; Hearing If. (Cruz) 204-08; CX-250. 
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Unicom, and Titan and appeared in connection with numerous sub-accounts and sub-sub
accounts at Scottsdale. According to the indictment, Robert Bandfield claimed in a recorded 
conversation that he had created Titan and more than 5000 sham companies. In that 
conversation, he explained how reporting requirements could be circumvented and beneficial 
ownership concealed by using nominees. 35 After the indictment was unsealed and became public, 
CS CT's business substantially diminished. 36 

b. John Hurry 

Indirectly, through a trust and a holding company, Jolm Hurry and his wife, Justine 
Hurry, own Scottsdale.37 From the Finn 's inception in 2002 until December 2012, Respondent 
HUlTY was a registered representative, anlOng other roles. 38 John Hurry again registered with the 
Fim1 in October 2014, and remains registered t~day. 39 HUtTY admitted in his Answer to the 
Complaint that he has been the Film's director since 2002. However, at the hearing, he claimed 
that he first became a director of Scottsdale in January 2013. Justine Hurry became its second 
director in May 2013.40 

Scottsdale has been highly profitable for Hurry and his wife. According to the Annual 
Audited Report Fonn for Scottsdale during the year beginning July 1,2013, and ending June 30, 
2014, the Finn paid $6,222,550 in directors' compensation. Since John and Justine Hurry were 
the Finn's only directors, this expense presumably was paid to them. 41 The Fum paid other 

35 CX-244; CX-226; Hearing If. (Cruz) 224-30; Hearing If. (Diekmann) 1725-26, 1781. 

36 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 237-38 ; Hearing Ir. (Hw-ry) 1529-30. 

J7 CX-l , at 7-9; CX-5 ; Hearing If. (Cruz) 81-82. 

38 CX -15, at 11. 

39 CX-IS , at 4-5. 

40 CX-l , at 3-9 (showing the Finn's direct owners and directors); CX-17, at I. In his Answer, Hurry admitted that he 
had been a director of Scottsdale since 2002. Answer ~ 16. At the hearing, however, Hurry denied that he had been a 
director of Scottsdale before January 2013 : He did so despite the fact that his signature appeared over the 
designation "sole director" in a December 2012 document authorizing the creation of the Firm 's Management 
Committee. At the hearing, he claimed that the designation as sole director was a typographical error and that he was 
acting president prior to January 2013, not sole director. CX-3 ; Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1306-09. Cruz testified as to the 
Decem ber 2012 document that Hurry had established the Firm's Management Committee in his capacity as director 
of the Firm . Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 74-76. 

Ihe conDict between the Answer and Hurry's testimony is ine>:plicable. We find the conflict between Hurry' s 
testimony and the Firm ' s record of the creation of the Management Committee disturbing, because it reflects a lack 
of transparency and accountability. We find the typographical error e)"'Planation with regard to something as 
important as corporate authority to designate the responsibilities of senior management-particularly in a simple 
one-page document-not credible. Ihere is no explanation for the conflict between Hllf0" s testimony that he was 
not a director of the Firm in December 2012 and Cruz' s testimony that he was. Ihe conflict in the evidence on this 
point diminishes Hurry's credibility. 

41 RX-42, at 7, 11. When Cruz officially became Scottsdale's president in March 2014, it was by unanimous consent 
of the Board of Directors, John and Justine Hurry. CX-4. 
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compensation of $1 ,665,574 and professional and consulting fees of $1,138,090. When these 
payments and other expenses were subtracted from the Firm's gross profit of $11,569,817, the 
Finn repOlied net income of $1,446,655. Because Scottsdale is an S corporation, tlus income · 
flowed through to the shareholders. In the ne}"i year, ending June 30, 2015, although the Fil111 
repOlied only $589 in net income, the Film paid directors' compensation of $3,255,200.42 

During the relevant period, Respondent Hurry also was the indirect owner of Scottsdale's 
clearing fim1, Alpine, which is located in Salt Lake City, Utah. Hun), has been its director since 
March 2011,43 and has been registered with Alpine since May 15, 2015.44 

In 2013, Hurry established CSCT, the Cayman Islands broker-dealer through which the 
securities at issue were deposited at Scottsdale.45 Hurry owns CSCT,46 and, as more fully 
discussed below, he made decisions, both large and small, about how it conducted its business .47 

Despite the highly specialized nature of CSCT's business, Hurry hired Gregory Ruzicka-an 
out-of-work Califomia real estate attomey who had no prior experience in the securities broker
dealer industry, much less in the specialized business of liquidating microcap securities-to run 
CSCT.48 Ruzicka went down to the Cayman Islands in October 2013 to take on his CSCT 
duties.49 Hurry then monitored Ruzick~' s activities almost daily, right down to his cigarette 
breaks, and visited the Cayman Islands at least monthly. 50 

Although Hun'y attempted to conceal the e}"ient of his involvement in CSCT's business, 
he admits that he spoke with the three CSCT customers involved in this case (Montage, Titan, 
and Unicom), and that he personally visited 1\;\'0 of them, Montage in Panama and Unicom in 
Belize.51 He claims that he did not solicit business for CSCT, but, as discussed below, that claim 
is not credible. 

42 RX-42, at 27. See also the Fim, 's FOeUS Reports for 2013-Q4, 2014-QI, 2014-Q2, 2015-Q3, 2015-Q4, and 
2016-Q-I, and the summary of them created by Enforcement. e X-6 through e X-Io. 

43 e X-IS, at3, 11 ; eX-18. 

44 Hearing Tf. (Hurry) 1307. 

45 Hearing Tf. (Hurry) 1329; Hearing Tf. (Noiman) 1117-18; eX-29. 

46 CX-178, at 40-41 . 

47 Hearing Tf. (Hurry) 1333-35. 

48 Hearing Tf. (Hurry) 1631; CX-I78, at 13-24. Ruzicka had limited experience in the early 1980s with intrastate 
real estate lim ited partnership offerings. In that conte}..1:, he handled post-foreclosure unlawful detainers, relief from 
automatic bankruptcy stays, and receiverships on commercial properties. eX-I 78, at 15-18. j 

49 eX-I78, at 20. 

50 Hearing Tf. (Hurry) 1437-40; eX-I 78, at 138-41 , lSI-52; eX-132; eX-133. 

51 Hearing Tf. (Hurry) 1406-08, 1412-14,1421-22. 
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That Hun'y was in charge was obvious to his employees and to CSCT customers. Ruzicka 
referred to him as "the big boss.,,52 As noted below, one ofthe persons at Scottsdale who 
approved CSCT to become a Scottsdale customer did not even consider r~iecting CSCT's 
application because he knew that Hurry had brought CSCT to the Firm. 53 Similarly, Ruzicka said 
that CSCT never considered using any broker-dealer except Scottsdale because of Huny 54 As 
Hun)' acknowledged, customers also sought direct contact with him because he is "highest on 
the totem pole.,,55 

Respondent Hurry thus owns and controls all three finns involved in the transactions at 
issue in this proceeding-Scottsdale, Alpine, and CSCT. In fact, the three firms were almost a 
self-contained system for processing and distributing microcap securities. CSCT did all its 
business.through Scottsdale,56 and Scottsdale in tum did all its business with Alpine.57 Alpine's 
current CEO described Alpine as a small "boutique" c1eariri.g fmn with a focus on the kind of 
business brought to it by CSCT. 58 No independent third party was involved in preparing, 
approving, or clearing the deposits of stock certificates by CSCT at Scottsdale for resale. 

c. Timothy DiBlasi 

DiBlasi first entered the securities industry in 2002. From December 2002 through March 
2012, he was a compliance analyst at First Investors Corporation in New Jersey. DiBlasi has 
been associated with Scottsdale since April 2012. In June 2012, he became the Finn's anti
money laundering chief officer ("AMLCO"). In October 2013, shOltly before the events at issue, 
DiBlasi became the Finn's CCO, and he remains the Film's CCO today. Prior to joining the 
Finn, DiBlasi had limited experience in microcap securities, and he had not handled the type of 
restricted stock deposits that are the bulk of Scottsdale's business . 59 

52 CX-240; Hearing If (Diekmann) 1764-65 

53 Hearing If. (Noiman) 1079, 1103, 1105-06, 1117-18. See also CX-29, at 10,25 (fomls to establish CSCI as a 
Scottsdale customer listed Hurry as referral or source of the business). 

54 CX-I78, at 108. 

55 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1432. 

56 Ruzicka testified that CSCI never considered using a fIrm other than Scottsdale because of Hurry. CX-I78, at 
108. 

57 Hearing If. (Cruz) 143,306,382; Hearing Tf (Diekmann) 759; Hearing If. (D'Mura) 2293. The person Hurry 
hired to run CSCI, Gregory Ruzicka, described CSCI as an "adjunct" of Hurry's operations at Scottsdale. CX-I78, 
at 34. 

58 Hearing If. (Frankel) 2342-43. Alpine did do business with other FFls in addition to CSCI during the relevant 
period. Hearing If. (Frankel) 2343. 

59 Hearing If. (DiBlasi) 1919-21; Hearing If (Cruz) 122; CX-19. 
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d. Michael Cruz 

Cruz entered the securities business in 1994, when he began working at a San Francisco 
investment banking finn on underwritings, asset-backed secmities, and private placements. After 
approximately six years, he joined FINRA's predecessor, NASD, starting in its San Francisco 
office as a cause examiner and then moving to New York as a cycle examiner. He then took a.i 0 b 
with Ci~igroup Smith Barney in their central risk group, repOliing to the General Counsel and 
CCO. Subsequently, he moved with his fanlily to Arizona and passed the bar there. In Arizona, 
he first \;J,lorked for \\1 ells Fargo in its audit depaliment and then took a similar position at 
Countrywide in its bank legal department. He left Countrywide when Bank of America acquired 
it, and he began working at Scottsdale in May 2008.60 

CIUZ has held Series 7,24, and 63 licenses. However, since January 29,2015, he has not 
been registered through Scottsdale. He cun-ently is the general counsel for the holding companies 
that own Scottsdale and its clearing finn, Alpine. 61 

At the beginning of the relevant period, CIUZ was listed on the Firm 's FOlTIl BD as legal 
counsel and member of the Management Conmlittee. 62 CIUZ officially became the Finn 's 
president by a board resolution dated March 17, 2014. He testified that, at least since December 
1, 2013, he had been acting as defacto president. 63 The Finn amended its Fonn BD on March 
31 , 2014, to disclose that CIUZ was the president, as well as legal counsel. 64 

During the relevant period, CIUZ approved Rule 144 deposits, including the transactions 
at issue.65 Cruz signed the Deposited Securities Checklist ("Checklist") for the transactions at 
issue under the heading " 144 Compliance Approval. " Between that heading and his signature is 
the statement " [B]ased on the infonnation received and reviewed as described in this Deposited 
Securities Checklist, SCA [Scottsdale] reasonably believes the subject securities are free 
trading. ,,66 

60 Hearing If. (Cruz) 72-73, 557-59, 661 ; CX -20. 

61 Hearing If. (Cruz) 72-73 ; CX -20 

62 CX-17 , at 1. 

63 Hearing If. (Cruz) 78-79; CX-4. Cruz said that the original plan had been for Justine Hurry to be president of the 
Firm. Hearing If. (Cruz) 79. Cruz's testimony that he was the acting president in December is inconsistent with 
Hurry' s testimony that he was president at that time. Ihis conflict concerning who was in charge illustrates the 
Firm ' s lack of appropriate superv isory procedures that clearly delegated authority and created accountability. 

64 CX-17, at 7. 

65 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 693-94. 

66 RX-l , at 2, 79, 159; R.X-2, at 2, 107; R.X-3, at 2. 
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Cruz acted as the conduit between senior management of the Finn and the board of 
directors, John and Justine Hurry. 67 

2. Other Key Figures At Scottsdale 

a. Henry Diekmalill 

Aster graduatil'l.g from college with a degree in history, Diekmann spent approximately a 
year as a fInancial trainee with Morgan Stanley. He then was an insurance salesman for four 
months . After that, he was unemployed for about a year-and-a-halfbefore he joined Scottsdale in 
March 2010 as an office assistant. In January 2011, he moved to the Fiml's Rule 144 team, 
where he spent two years before being promoted to head the team. Although many members of 
the team were lawyers, Diekmann is r10t. He had no experience with low-priced securities or in 
clearing unregistered securities for trading before he joined Scottsdale. He was trained to review 
deposits by Cruz and another person v,'ho worked on the Rule 144 team. 68 

During the relevant period, Diekmarm focused solely on reviewing CSCT deposits . But 
he did not have authority to approve a deposit of certificates. Final approval authority rested with 
CruZ.69 

Since January 2015, Diekmann has been the Finn's president. 70 As the Finn's CUlTent 
president, Diekmann now has the authority that once belonged to CruZ. 71 

b. Eric Miller 

Eric Miller was a Scottsdale salesman. He called potential customers and assisted in 
conducting due diligence on new accounts. 72 IvIiller sometimes referTed clients to Ruzicka at 
CSCT. 73 

.A..lthough Miller did not testify at the hearing, there is substantial evidence that he waC) 
involved with Unicol11 ' s deposits. Miller had a relationship with Unicol11 because it had been 
Scottsdale's direct customer before moving its business to CSCT, and he continued to have 
contact v"ith Unicol11 even after it staried doing business with Scottsdale through CSCT, as 
Diekmann admitted. 74 

67 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 80-82. 

68 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 686-90. 

69 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 694, 886. 

70 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 685; Hearing Ir. (DiBlasi) 1954. 

71 Hearing IT. (Cruz) 129-30, 583-84; Hearing IT. (Diekmann) 685-86, 694, 908-09. 

72 Hearing IT. (Cruz) 116-17; Hearing Ir. (Noiman) 1075-76; CX-29, at 9. 

7J CX-I78, at 167-68. 

74 Hearing IT. (Diekmann) 858, 934-35. 
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TIle fact that Miller continued to have at least some direct contact v,rith Unicol11 is 
significant for the following four reasons : 

First, the evidence regarding Miller casts doubt on the effectiveness ofthe Finn 's 
compliance and supervisory efforts . Diekmann claimed that Miller ' s direct contact with Unicorn 
was prohibited and that Miller was "written up" a number of times for corresponding by email 
with Unicol11. Diekmann did not ide~ltify any written prohibition against direct contact with 
Unicol11, but he said that the prohibItion was something that was a matter of business practice at 
the Finn.75 The supposed prohibition is inconsistent with therecord, which contains a number of 
emails to and from Unicol11 that include Miller as a sender or recipient. 76 Moreover, in some 
Unicol11 emails, Diekmann is a recipient along with Miller. 77 TIlere is no evidence that 
Diekmann protested Miller's involvement or reprimanded him. If Miller was "written up" a 
number of times for contact with Unicol11, as DiekmruID testified, it apparently had little effect. 
Diekmann's testimony regarding the supposed prohibition was not credible. 

Second, the emails indicate that Miller was a "back door" for Scottsdale in dealing with 
Unicol11. Although the Unicol11 deposits supposedly crune through CSCT, Miller and others at 
Scottsdale corresponded directly with Unicol11 personnel and directed Unicol11 as to what needed 
to be done. 

For example, Miller engaged in e)..iensive email con-espondence with Natalie Bannister at 
Unicol11 in November 2013 about setting up its account with CSCT. Miller instructed her that the 
stock celtificates to be deposited at Scottsdale had to be made out in CSCT's name ruld sent by 
eSCT to Scottsdale. BruIDister indicated that she did not like transfelTing ownership to CSCT, 
"especially with it not in \li7riting." Miller insisted, "TIlese are impOltant details ." He said that the 
account at Scottsdale was in CSCT's name and the "celt[tificate deposit] NEEDS to be in 
[CSCT's] nrune, that is all there is to it.,,7s TIms, it was Scottsdale-not CSCT-that was making 
the alTangements and instructing the customer on what had to be done . 

Miller shepherded Unicol11 's due diligence packages through CSCT. In March 2014, he 
instructed UnicOl11 staff and Ruzicka to get together on the telephone to discuss which 
documents were needed and could be provided for a deposit. 79 Similarly, in May 2014-, Miller 
engaged in email con'espondencedirectly\;t,rithUnicol11's Back Office Manager, Chinique Lewis, 
asking her about ORFG, one of the stock deposits at issue in this case. He asked her-not 
Ruzicka-how the package "vas coming along. Then Lewis emailed Miller-not Ruzicka-to 
ask ifthere was "[a]nything on the [ORFG] a<; yet?" At that point, Miller emailed her back 

75 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 1664-65_ 

76 See eX-216. 

77 See eX-119. 

78 eX -270. 

79 eX -17l. 
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directing her to call Ruzicka and have him call Miller.8o Miller's last instlUction in the 
cOlTespondence appears to us to reflect an awareness that Scottsdale should be seen to be dealing 
only with and through CSCT, when, in fact, Scottsdale, through Miller, was continuing to guide 
the business with Unicorn. 

In April 2014, when Diekmann was unable to obtain the information he needed on a 
deposit of stock certificates by Unicom from Ruzic.ka at CSCT, he emailed Miller a copy of his 
request to Ruzicka, saying he had not received a response. And Miller, in tum, forwarded the 
email directly to two persons at Unicom, Cem Can and Chinique Leviis, asking them to "please 
address this ASAP.,,81 Diekmaml denied that he had asked Miller to obtain the infonnation for 
him, but the con-espondence has no other reasonable explanation. Diekmaml's testimony in this 
regard was not credible. 82 

In May 2014, Miller obtained infonnation from Chinique Lewis at Unicom about the 
purported beneficial owner of the entity that had deposited VPLM stock through Unicom for sale 
by Scottsdale and forwarded that to Diekmaml. The email con-espondence was included in the 
VPLM due diligence package. 83 

The degree to which Miller con-esponded directly with Unicom and managed the Unicom 
deposits raises the question whether there was any need for CSCT at all. As discussed below in 
the credibility section, HurTY'S decision to route Scottsdale's FFI business through CSCT had 
little discernible business rationale . His implementation of that decision and staffing ofCSCT 
with Ruzicka, who was unqualified to IUn CSCT, coupled with the evidence of Miller' s 
continuing role as a "back door" to Scottsdale, demonstrate that CSCT was a fac;:ade. 

Third, we interpret certain email corTespondence between Miller and a client as 
suggesting that the Finn assisted its clients "all the time" to conceal beneficial ownership of 
stock. Scottsdale supposedly had a policy not to accept business from Canadian citizens residing 
in Canada, but, when a client in the Bahamas asked on behalf of a friend whether a Canadian 
citizen residing in Canada could do business with Scottsdale, Miller suggested that the friend set 
up a corporation to do the business. Miller called it a "work around." The client responded, "If 
they get a corporation set up US, Panama, Belize or wherever won[']t your Compliance want to 
know who is beneficial owner?" Miller responded, "Yes they \-vill but the account holder is the 
corporation. Trust me on this one, we do it all the time. ,,84 

80 CX-311, at 1. 

81 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 1668-71; CX-221. 

82CX_221; Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1665-71. In denying that he intended for Miller to obtain the information from 
Unicorn that Ruzicka had failed to supply, Diekm ann testified that he had no interest whatever in whether he 
obtained the information. Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1665-71 . Ihat statement is not credible. If he had no interest, 
there would have been no reason to send the email to Miller. 

8J RX-3, at 17. 

84 CX-21O; Hearing If. (Diekmann) 1672-77. 
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We are unconvinced by Diekrll<u111 's benign reading ofthis con"espondence. He testified 
that he thought that the client was asking something different, "Won't your compliance know 
that a Canadian resident owns the LLC and, therefore, won't they reject the deposit or account 
opening?,,85 Diek111aI111 's interpretation is a rewriting of the client's words . It ignores that 
Miller's implicit point was that the corporation would be identified as the account holder, 110t the 
Canadian owner. That is why the Canadian ' s deposit would not be rejected. Furthermore, 
DiekmaI1l1 's interpretation does not reflect the tone of Miller's cqmments. When Miller 
suggested that the shares could be put in the naI').1e of the corporation, he treated that as a magical 
solution to the problem, saying "and wa-la! We get it done that way. ,,86 Finally, if Diek111a.J.ul 's 
interpretation of the question were correct, then Miller never aIlswered the question. Miller never 
explained why the Finn would not reject the deposit if it knew that a CanadiaIl resident owned 
the LLC. 

Fourth, according to Diekmann, after Miller left the Fiml in April 2016, the Finn 
discovered that he had set up his work email to be fOl\~'arded to his personal email. 87 11lis means 
that Miller could have engaged in communications with FFIs like Unicorn "off the record," 
avoiding o\iersight. Although DiekmaIl11 testified that all of Scottsdale's emails remained on its 
system, and were not removed by Miller, Diekmaml provided no basis for knowing whether that 
was true. Diekmann testified that the Finn had asked Miller to confirm he had not removed any 
emails from the Finn's system but that Miller had not responded. 88 

The inquiry suggests that the Firm in fact does not know whether Miller removed emails 
from the Firnl's system. 111ere was no evidence that the Firm employed aIly technical aIlalysis of 
its systems to fmd out if emails or other information had been deleted. 111ere also was no 
evidence that the Finn made aIly effort to recover any email correspondence that Miller might 
have had with customers using only his personal email. 11ms, it is undisputed that Miller 
communicated directly with Unicorn, and it is impossible to know the number or substance of all 
those con111mnications. 

Given the allegations against Unicoll1 and Cem Can in the Bandfjeld indictment, the 
inability to review Miller's communications with them is a serious concern. The Firm's 
reaction-simply to ask Miller to confinn he did not remove aIly emails from the Scottsdale 's 
system-is an inadequate response. If Miller took emails from Scottsdale's system or deleted 
them, he would hardly be likely to confess to that wrongdoing. 111at is paI1icuiarly so where the 
emails were with persons subject to a criminal indictment aIld might place Miller under 
suspicion. 111e request to a potential wrongdoer to confinn that he c011Unitted no wrongdoing is 
almost farcical. 11le inadequacy of the Finn's response min"ors the inadequacy of its checklist 

85 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1673. 

86 CX-21O, at 5. 

87 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1662-63. 

88 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1663-64. 
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approach to Rule 144 due diligence and contributes to our conclusion that stringent sanctions are 
required here. 

c. Jay Noiman 

Jay Noimanjoined Scottsdale in September 2011 and left at the end of December 2014. 89 

Prior to October 2013, when DiBlasi became CCO, Noiman was the FitU1'S CCO. 90 He was on 
the Management Committee from approxitnately January 2013 through January'2014. He served 
as vice chainnan of the Management Committee and second in command after Cruz. Durit1g the 
relevant period, Noiman was the trading manager and had responsibility for supervising the 
traders and sales staff. He identified DiBlasi as his supervisor. 91 

Noiman was responsible for reviewing the blotter for restricted stocks. He focused on 
FFls,92 and he approved the account opening documents for CSCT, which was an FFI. Noiman 
never considered not approving the CSCT account. He knew at the titne that it was a refelTal 
from Hurry.93 

Noiman also signed documents in the due diligence packages for the transactions in this 
case. His signature appears on the Checklist under the heading "Broker Approval." Between the 
heading and Noiman's signature was the statement that he had carefully reviewed the Checklist 
and the suppOlting documents and that to the best of his knowledge "any resale will be made in 
compliance with finn policy and all applicable Imvs.,,94 By that language, the Checklist makes it 
appear that Noitnan was certifying that he believed that the transaction would comply with the 
law. 

Noiman testified, however, that his signature signified only that all the necessary fonns 
were in the file-a check-the-box function. 95 TIle paTties stipulated that Noiman 's signatures on 
the documents in the three due diligence packages meant the same thing: he checked that the 
documents were filled out but did not substantively approve or review them. 96 TIms, Noitnan's 
signature on the Checklist created only a fayade of compliance and accountability. 

89 Hearing If. (Noiman) 1041-42. 

90 Hearing If. (Noiman) 1043. 

91 Hearing If. (Cruz) 81, 564; Hearing If. (Noiman) 1043-44. 

92 Hearing If. (Noiman) 1045-46, 1049-5J. 

93 Hearing If. (Noiman) 1139-40. 

94 RX-1, at 2; R.."X-2, at 2; RX-3, at 2. 

95 Hearing If. (Noiman) 1156-68, 1171-73. 

96 Hearing If. (Noiman) 1172-73. 
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During the relevant period, Noiman, like Miller, had contact with one of the FFIs 
involved in this case, Titan.97 Noiman talked with Rolm Knowles of Titan at least monthly and 
sometimes weekly and engaged in email cOITespondence ";,,ith KnO\vles. 98 Both Titan and 
Knowles were defendants in the Bandjield indictment. As discussed below, Noiman obtained 
infonnaiion directly from Knowles, which he forwarded to Cruz, to resolve a serious potential 
problem with a CSCT deposit ofVPLM stock. CSCT's staff was not involved. 99 Thus, Noiman 
was another "back door" to a CSCT customer, raising once again the question why CSCT ev~l). 
existed. 

3. CSCT And Its Key Figures 

a. Gregory V. Ruzicka 

Prior to joining CSCT, Gregory Ruzicka was a real estate attomey in Newport Beach, 
California. He began his legal career advising exclusively on real estate issues and continued in 
the real estate field. He did not advise on the federal securities la'vvs. IOO Before beginning work at 
CSCT, Ruzicka had no experience with Rule 144 or any of the other exemptions from 
registration under the federal securities laws.IOI Nor did Ruzicka have any prior experience with 
Cayman Islands law, the Bank Secrecy Act, or anti-money laundering rules and regulations. l 

02 

Ruzicka met John Hun-y in 2002 when HUtTY hired him to do some work on a 
commercial real estate issue. From time to time after that, Ruzicka did work for Hun-y, but none 
of that work involved the securities laws or Hurry ' s broker-dealer business. lo3 

Later, Ruzicka suffered a substantial financial setback that left him out of work and 
adrift. 104 At this point, Ruzicka asked Huny to give him ajob at a bicycle shop that Hun}' 
owned. Hun-y admitted that he was "kind of taken back a little bit."lo5 Hurry proposed instead 

97 Prior to the events at issue, Noiman was involved in the customer due diligence on Titan when it was a direct 
customer of Scottsdale. On January 18, 2012, Noiman signed a due diligence form as a principal of the Fiml 
representing that to the best of his knowledge the infonnation provided by Titan was true and correct. Noiman also 
signed the form as the person giving compliance approval. eX-242, at 48 . 

98 Hearing Tf. (Noiman) 1185-87. Ruzicka was under the impression that Titan "had a special pipeline to 
Scottsdale." eX-I 78, at 110. He spoke of a young woman as being the "pnvate liaison for Titan." eX-I 78, at 110. 

99 eX-296~ eX-294~ Hearing Tf. (Noinlan) 1187-98. See infra at_ 

100 eX-I 78, at 12-20. 

101 eX-I 78, at22-23 . 

102 eX-I 78, at 18-19, 22-24. 

IOJ eX-I 78, at 25-29 

~ l ~ eX-178, at 14-15, 19-20, 30, .)8 , 54. 

105 Hearing Tf. (Hurry) 1631, 1635-36. Hurry told D'Mura that Ruzicka had asked, "Would you be able to help me 
out? Is there any position or something? Could I work at your bike shop or your ice cream shop? You know, you 
don't have to pay me a lot, but at this point, I don't have anything. I have $50 in my pocket." Hearing Tf. (D'Mura) 
2262. 
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that Ruzicka go to the Cayman Islands to IUn HUlry's operation there. According to Ruzicka, 
Hlllry told him that Ruzicka would be rUlU1ing the business and acting as Hurry's lawyer. I 06 
Ruzicka had been to the Cayman Islands once before to go scuba diving, but he was willing to 
relocate because he had been through such a hard time and wanted a "change of scenery. ,,107 
Hun), told Ruzicka that he had 30 days to read about Rule 144,108 so Ruzicka read Rule 144, the 
Securities Act of 1933, and what he could find on the internet about the Rule 144 exemption. I09 

In mid-October 2013, Hun'y flew with Ruzicka in Hurry's private plane to the Cayman 
Islands so that Ruzicka could begin work. I 10 Ruzicka remained with CSCT until mid-October 
2014. 111 

Diekmann testified that if CSCT had been his business, Ruzicka would not have been his 
choice to IUn the Cayman Islands broker-dealer. Ruzicka lacked securities experience, and he 
seemed disorganized, sending materials to Scottsdale piecemeal and failing to follow 
instructions. 112 

Ruzicka never had a securities license or registered with FINRA. Consequently, FINRA 
had no jurisdiction to compel him to testify. Ruzicka testified voluntarily at an OTR, and he 
considered testifying voluntarily at the hearing. However, after being contacted by counsel for 
Respondents, as discussed below in the credibility section, Ruzicka declined to testify. 
Consequently, Ruzicka's entire OTR was admitted into evidence. 

b. Craig D'Mura 

Craig D'Mura graduated from Arizona State University in May 2006 and shortly 
afterward began work at Vanguard Group in the retirement participant services department. After 
a year and a half, he went to law school at Syracuse University. Although he finished law school, 
he never took the bar examination and did not become licensed as an attomey. He retumed to 
Phoenix and started a broker training pro gram in 2010. However, he did not feel that being a 
broker was his "calling." 113 

D'Mura was unemployed in summer of2011. He responded to an adveltisement on 
Craigslist for an operations position at Scottsdale. In .Tuly or August 2011, after an interview with 

106 eX-178, at 38-40. 

107 eX-In, at 54. 

108 eX-In, at 40. 

109 eX-In, at 22, 62-63. 

110 eX-In, at 37. 

III eX-In, at 231. 

112 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 759-61, 765. 

113 Hearing If. (D'Mura) 2246-47. 
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Justine Hun)" Scottsdale hired him. Prior to his work at Scottsdale, D'Mura was not even aware 
ftl · .. . d 114 o le llllcrocap secuntJes In ustry. 

After two or three \,,'eeks in the operations position, D'Murajoined the Rule 144 team. 
His training was ongoing. By summer of20l3, he Vilas handling more complicated deposits and 
was able to review files as a principal. However, he did not review deposits by FFIs.115 

In summer of 20 13, Hun), began discussing with Sconsdale staff his plan to open a 
broker-dealer in the Cayman Islands, and Cmz asked D'Mura ifhe might be interested in 
working there. D 'Mura began filling out the paperwork necessary ifhe took the position in the 
Cayman Islands, and in January 2014, he flew with Hurry in HlllTY'S private airplane to the 
Cayman Islands to visit and consider a position Witll CSCT. 1l6 D'Mura decided to take the 
position, retumed to Phoenix for a few days, and then went back to tlle Cayman Islands on 
January 28, 2014. He stayed with CSCT only about six weeks. After concluding that tlle situation 
"vas intolerable and would never improve, he left on March 14, 20 14. ll7 

c. CSCT 

i. Hurry' Set Up CSCT 

In early 2013, Hurry set up CSCT in tlle Cayman Islands. lls He became its director and 
intended to have overall management supervision of it and its business .119 Through a chain of 
entities, a Hun)' family trust owns CSCT, and Hun), and his wife serve as co-tmstees ofthe 
tmst. 120 

Hun), claimed that he set up CSCT because Alpine, his U.S. clearing finn, wanted to be 
relieved of IRS tax withholding obligations. According to Hurry, Alpine wanted to do business 
only with FFls that had agreed with the IRS to take on tax withholding obligations, thereby 
becoming what is known as a qualified intemlediary ("QI,,).121 Hun")1 testified that withholding 
obligations are complicated and burdensome. 122 He also testified that there are risks in getting 

114 Hearing Tf. (D'Mura) 2247-48. 

115 Hearing Tf. (D'Mura) 2248-51. 

116 Hearing TI. (D'Mura) 2252-58 . 

117 Hearing TI. (D 'Mura) 2266, 2306-09. 

118 Hearing Tf. (Hurry) 1329, 1333-34. 

119 Hearing TI. (Hurry) 1394-95; CX-160, at 3.; 

120 CX-21 , at 2. 

121 Hearing Tf. (Hurry) 1373-74, 1552-61; Hearing Tf. (Frankel) 2345-46, 2349-51. Resp. PH Br. 8. 

122 Hearing TI. (Hurry) 1554-57. 
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the papen¥ork wrong and incUlTing penalties, and that there were tax advantages to generating 
and retaining funds offshore. I 23 

Hurry ' s testimony was at a high level of generality, and there was no corroborating 
evidence to show the analysis. There was no evidence regarding how Alpine made the decision 
that it would only do business with QIs, or who made the decision. TIlere was no evidence other 
than Hun'y ' s testimony to demonstrate that CSCT made business sense. It is unclear hOVil the 
expense of establishing and staffing a separate offshore office was less burdensome than 
Alpine's withholding obligations, or why the same goal of eliminating Alpine ' s withholding 
obligation could not have been achieved less expensively by requiring the Finll 's FFI customers 
to obtain QI certification in order to do business with Scottsdale and Alpine. Moreover, since 
Hun), ultimately bore the costs regardless of which entity had the obligation, Alpine or CSCT, 
we are not persuaded that the claimed reason for creating CSCT made sense. 124 

Nor did the creation of CSCT make sense from the perspective of achieving regulatory 
compliance. As Cruz agreed, it is easier to spot problems with direct accounts than through an 
FFI like CSCT that operated as an intennediary for sub-accounts and sub-sub-accounts .125 

Hun)"s intense involvement in CSCT's operations did not abate after he hired Ruzicka in 
October 2013 to run CSCT's day-to-day operations. Hurry located and rented office space for 
CSCT before Ruzicka began work and then continued to closely oversee the details of 
establishing and opening the office after Ruzicka alTived. Hurry obtained a floor plan from 
Ruzicka, told Ruzicka it was not con'ect, and asked Ruzicka to take measurements and create a 
revision. 126 HUlT)' provided Ruzicka with contact infonnation for shippers to ship fumiture HUlT)' 
had found for the office. 127 Hun-y reviewed the proposed CSCT website design and asked about 
the costS.128 Hurry made the final decision on hiring a bookkeeperl29 and all the decisions on 

. 130 entenng contracts. 

123 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1554-57. 

124 Hurrry testified that he had allocated between $4 and $5 million for the project and had invested well over seven 
figures in CSCI. Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1552. \\!hen asked what he had taken out of CSCI, he said "Zero" Hearing 
If. (Hurry) 1553. 

125 Hearing II. (Cruz) 220. 

126 CX-48; CX-50; CX-52; CX-55; CX-75 . 

127 CX-52; CX-53 . 

128 CX-49; CX-84. 

129 CX-l78, at 43-44. 

130 CX-l78, at 46. 
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Hun), instructed Ruzicka on fundamental business operations, as well. For example, he 
explained to Ruzicka that he should open a separate bank account for customer funds to keep 
their funds separate from CSCT's funds . 131 

Hurry decided that CSCT should be in the Special Economic Zone within the Cayman 
Islands, and that it should apply to be exempt f)·om regulation by the Cayman Islands Monetary 
Authority ("CIMA"). In addition, HUITY instructed Ruzicka to apply to the IRS for QI status. I 32 

Although Ruzicka expressed concems about the obligations and representations associated with 
QI status and was reluctant to make the required representations without further study, HUITY 
insisted that Ruzicka do it. 133 

Hun)' detennined the fees and commissions CSCT clients would pay. He insttucted 
Ruzicka to take whatever Scottsdale charged CSCT and tack on 200 basis points.134 Hun·y in tum 
obtained a discount from Scottsdale on its charges to CSCT. 135 By this means, he kept the cost of 
doing business through CSCT roughly the same as doing business directly with Scottsdale. 
Otherwise, the rerouting of the FFI business through CSCT would have made no economic sense 
for the customers. However, there was no evidence that it made economic sense for HUITY to 
keep customer expenses roughly the same as they would have been working directly with 
Scottsdale when he was incUlTing substantial extra expenses setting up and staffing the e».'i:ra 
office in the Cayman Islands.136 

Hun), was intimately involved in setting up CSCT's technical systems. HUITY made the 
amlllgements for computer sofhvare for CSCT and instructed Ruzicka to dovnuoad Office 2010 
for two users . 137 Similarly, HUITY selected computer equipment for CSCT and brought it down to 
the Cayman Islands in mid-January 2014 at the same time that he brought D'Mura to look at 
joining CSCT. D'Mura testified th·at HlllTY set up the office network for CSCT. 13S When Ruzicka 
showed HUlTY the infonnation he platmed to send to clients, HUlTY told him he should make it 
look better and instructed him on how to do that. HUlTY told Ruzicka to print to PDF and get a 
cleatl file to email customers. He advised Ruzicka that he could do that on his computer. 139 

131 CX-83. 

132 CX-ln, at 48-53. 

133 CX-105; CX-l07;CX-178, at 50-53. 

134 CX-178, at 106-09. 

135 Hearing If. (Cruz) 141-43; Hearing If. (D'Mura) 2294-95. 

136 Hurry and Diekmann testified that routing the FFI business through CSCI was actually a little less expensive for 
customers than dealing with Scottsdale directly. Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1642-44; Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1652-53. If 
true, that testimony further undercuts the business justification for CSCI. ; 

!37 CX-94; Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1461 . 

138 Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2263, 2266-68. 

139 CX-77; cx-n. 
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Ruzicka, by contrast, was fairly unsophisticated about technology. He was vague on even 
'd 'f' I tl h 140 1 entI ymg t le programs lat e used at CSCT 

ii. Hurry Micro-Managed CSCT's Business 

Although HlllTY portrayed Ruzicka as being in charge of CSCT, 141 the evidence is 
otherv,iise. Huny micro-managed CSCT, and he bullied Ruzicka and D'Mura to get them to do 
what he wanted them to do. Huny also closely tracked CSCT's business with Scottsdale and 
vlith its FFI customers. 

Ruzicka considered himselftci be only an intelmediary.142 HutTY dictated what should be 
done, and Ruzicka complied. Ruzicka said with respect to Hurry, "You don't discuss; you do as 
you are ordered.,,143 For example, when Ruzicka protested that he was not comfortable with 
signing off on the QI application, Huny responded, "Stupid, just do it." Ruzicka said tllat he 
"kind of dropped the subj ect at that point. ,,144 Ruzicka signed off, despite his discomfort, because 
he knew if he did not "there is a ticket back to LA coming tomonow.,,145 

Similarly, altllough Ruzicka thought that Unicom engaged in some suspicious trading and 
constant pressure from Cem Can at Unicom gave him the "creeps," Ruzicka did not think he had 
authority to temlinate the relationship with Unicom. Ifhe had done so without clear authority 
from Hun)" he thought that would have been his last day at CSCT 146 D'Mura confinned that 
neither he nor Ruzicka could tenninate a client relationship, and, although they hated dealing 
\vith Cem Can at Unicom, they did not consider it an option to tum away the business. 147 

Some of the initial customers of CSCT were pre-existing customers of Scottsdale. When 
Ruzicka asked the commonsense question why the pre-existing business was going to flo\;o,r 
through the new entity, Hun'y told him to shut up. After that, Ruzickajust did as he was told. 148 

Ruzicka testified in his OTR, and D'Mura testified at the hearing, that Hwry balTaged 
them with telephone calls while they were working at CSCT Hurry called Ruzicka almost every 
day, sometimes multiple times. He called D'Mura less often, probably a couple of times a week. 

140 eX-77; eX-I 78, at 24-25. 

141 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1433, 1436, 1549-50. Hurry claimed that he hired Ruzicka to fulfill an "executive role." 
Hearing If. (Hurry) 1648 

142 eX-I 78, at 46. 

143 eX-I 78, at 51. 

144 eX-I78, at 51-52. 

145 eX-22; CX-178, at 52-53. 

146 eX-I 78, at 177-80, 188-89. 

147 Hearing If. (D'Mura) 2283-86. 

148 eX-178, at 79-80. 
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TIle calls could come at all hours as \ve11. 149 Often the calls were followed by demanding, abrupt, 
and increasingly impatient emails saying "call me. ,,150 In one email, Hun'y wrote "Your phone is 
not v\fOrking TURN IT ON. I need a call.,,!5! In another he wrote, "Call me in 60 minutes . DO 
YOU NOT UNDERSTAND THAT?,,!52 In another the subject line \vas "pick up your 
phone!!!!!! !!,,153 

Hurry developed an Excel spreadsheet to track various aspects of CSCT's business. 
Although HurTY characterized it in his testimony as an "empowennent tool" that enabled his 
people to track their work for themselves without his having to keep track of their progress,154 
that characterization is not consistent with the evidence. 

TIle spreadsheet tracked daily gross production, number of trades placed, certificate 
deposits approved, new certificate deposits received, and number of new accounts . It also tracked 
Ruzicka's start and finish times. 155 Ruzicka said that in telephone calls Hurry would even ask 
about how many cigarettes he had smoked during the day. 156 An email from HurTY COlToborated 
Ruzicka's testimony. In the email, Hurry told Ruzicka "Need all the below," including start time, 
finish time, and "number of cig breaks.,,157 Hurry acknowledged that the email included an 
inquiry about cigarette breaks, but he claimed that he was trying to help Ruzicka get himself 
organized. He claimed to know that Ruzicka was only in the office for ten minutes in an hour, 
which meant things were not getting done. 158 

Hurry wanted the numbers prepared every day, even if he did not ask for the infonnation 
every day. Ruzicka and D'Mura prepared themselves for HurTY'S frequent telephone calls and 
tried to have talking points and updated infonnation ready to go if Hurry should call.!59 

HUtTY tracked Ruzicka's and D'Mura's contacts with CSCT customers, including the 
rrIs involved in the transactions at issue. Ruzicka testified that in their frequent telephone calls 
Hurry would ask him about whether he had talked to Rohn Knowles at Titan or Cern Can at 

149 Hearing If. (D'Mura) 2301-02; eX-I 78, at 67-73 . 

150 eX-63; eX-6S; eX-71 ; eX-74; eX-lIS; eX-121; eX-126; eX-I 27. 

151 eX-I 21. 

152 eX-I 27. 

15J eX-lIS. 

154 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1433-39. 

155 eX-13I; Hearing If. (Hurry) 1433-34. 

156 eX-I 78, at 140-41. 

157 eX-133; Hearing If. (Hurry) 1438-39. 

158 Hearing If. (Hurry) 143S-40. 

159 eX-I 78, at 140-41 ; Hearing If. (D'Mura) 2301-04; Hearing If. (Hurry) 1436-40. 

30 

- 403a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM



Unicom or other pariicular people from the Bahamas, Panama, or Belize.160 D'Mura testified that 
Hurry would ask about customers, not particular deposit'.>, but he and Ruzicka did discuss with 
Hun), how they \;I,'ere doing on specific deposits. 161 For example, in email con'espondence and 
telephone conversations, Ruzicka discussed with Hurry the amount of trading in at least two of 
the symbols at issue here, NHPI and VPLM.162 

_ D'Mura decided to leave CSCT and the Cayman Islands, in part, as a result of HlllTY'S 
constant demands . HurTY had called on a day that Ruzicka was attending a wedding as best man 
and D'Mura was working at his rented condominium instead of the office. HuTI)' expressed 
aggravation that neither ofthem was in the office and spoke of "having a come to Jesus moment" 
\l\,hen he arrived in the Cayman Islands in a few days.163 D'Mura then packed his bag and said 
good-bye to Ruzicka, who expressed the wish that he could leave, too. However, Ruzicka said he 
had nowhere to go and no altemative. D'Mura left before Hun), an'ived; Ruzicka stayed. 164 

Eventually, in October 2014, Ruzicka also left CSCT. Its business had dwindled in 
reacti on to the SEC complaint in Amogear and the B andfield indictment. 165 According to 
Ruzicka, in October 2014 Hun)' offered him other positions back in the United States, but 
Ruzicka concluded that he "did not want to work any long[ er] for that man," referTing to Hurry. 
Ruzicka said, "I don't care what he offered, you know. Incremental value of that last dollar just 
was not worih it. ,,[66 

iii. Hurry Prospected For CSCT Cust.omers 

CSCT did not advertise167 or engage in cold-calling to try to generate business. 168 HlllTY'S 
business plan was for CSCT to develop clients through contacts and referrals, 1 

09 but Ruzicka, 
who had no prior industry experience, had no network he could cliltivate for potential customers. 

160 eX-In, at 74-77, S4-S5 . 

161 Hearing TT (D'Mura) 2304-05. 

162 eX-132. 

i 63 Hearing Tr. (D'Mura) 230S-09. Hurry confinned that he was frustrated that Ruzicka and D'Mura were not in the 
office. Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1602-03 . \Vhen people called eSeT and did not get an answer, they called Alpine trying 
to find Hurry. Hearing TT CHurry) 1622-23. 

164 Hearing Tr. (D'Mura) 2306-10. 

165 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 237-3S. 

166 eX-In, at 232. 

167 eX-l7S, at 21 S. In contrast, even though Scottsdale had been in business for ten years, it advertised for business. 
Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 11 6. 

168 Hearing Tr. (D'Mura) 2279-S0. 

169 e X-160, at3; Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1393. 
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Customers simply appeared seeking to establish a business relationship with CSCT. They 
were refen-ed to CSCT by Hurry or by someone at Scottsdale or Alpine. 17o Ruzicka testified at 
his OTR that he had an "express representation" that two of the FFls involved in tlus case, Titan 
and Unicom, were referred by Hurry. 171 Ruzicka did not know how Montage "found" CSCT I72 

At the hearing, Hlll1"Y flatly contradicted Ruzicka's testimony that Hurry had referred 
Titan and Unic~l:n to CSCT I73 V·re do not credit Hurry's testimony because he gave the 
testimony only after he knew that Ruzicka would not appear at the hearing to dispute Hurry's 
statement. To the extent that Hurry means that the referral came from someone at Scottsdale, we 
do not regard that as proving that Hurry was not the ultimate source of the referral, even if he 
made the link to CSCT through Scottsdale. Hurry had a pre-existing relationship with Titan 
while it was a dir~ct customer of Scottsdale, 174 and he admitted talking to existing Scottsdale 
customers about his plan to establish CSCT 175 He also admitted, as discussed below, to talking 
directly to Titan and other customers even after they became CSCT customers. 

HUlTY admits that he had at least one face-to-face meeting with Montage in Panamal76 

and another face-to-face meeting with Unicom in Belize. 177 He flew to Central America in 
January 2014 for these meetings, after dropping off D'Mura on his initial visit to CSCT. He did 
not take Ruzicka with him.17s 

At the hearing, Hurry claimed not to recall discussing business with either Montage or 
Unicom during these visits. 179 Hlllry claimed that he went to Montage because Ruzicka had 
asked him to evaluate a back-office system Montage was using to see if it would be suitable for 
CSCT. Hun), did not identify the nature of the system. He said that in the end they detennined 
that it was not suitable for CSCT He did not explain why it was unsuitable. 180 

\Ve do not find HUITY's testimony \!,Iith respect to his visit with Montage credible. 
Ruzicka was not technologically sophisticated and was too subordinate to suggest such a thing to 

170 eX-178, at 104, 167-68. 

171 eX-I78, at 203-04. 

172 eX-I78, at 203. 

173 Hearing II. (Hurry) 1410, 1416. 

174 Hurry was listed as the registered representative and financial consultant for Iitan when it was a direct customer 
of Scottsdale. Hearing II. (Hurry) 1413-14, 1610-12; eX-242, at 44, 48. 

175 Hearing II. (Hurry) 1401-06. 

176 Hearing II. (Hurry) 1412-13, 1612-13. 

177 Hearing II. (Hurry) 1406, 1422, 1613-14. 

178 Hearing II. (D'Mura) 2300-01; Hearing If. (Hurry) 1617-19. 

179 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1406, 1618-19. 

180 Hearing II. (Hurry) 1612-13,1617-19. 
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Hurry. Furthermore, D'Mura testified that he remembered no discussion of evaluating a back 
office system. 181 Hurry's testimony was vague and lacked specificity, and, again, Hurry gave his 
testimony only after it was clear that Ruzicka would not appear at the hearing. Hurry knew he 
would not be contradicted. 

HlIlry counseled Ruzicka to do business with Montage and, in particular, to do business 
with a person who wac; not idel?tified in Montage documents as being connected with it. Ruzicka 
testified in his OTR that he was unclear about the role of a Montage contact with whom Hurry 
spoke from time to time. When Ruzicka asked Hurry about the contact, Hurry said to him "Hey, 
that's fine, you can interface with that guy. He's part of the operation.,,182 TIns evidence shows 
that HlIlTY knew more about Montage than Ruzicka did, and that HUlry was instructing Ruzicka 
with regard to customer dealings. 

Hurry claimed at the hearing that he only went to Belize to meet with Cem Can at 
Unic0111 (both named defendants in the Bandfield indictment) because Ruzicka asked him to do 
so. According to Hun-y, Ruzicka was trying to open the account and Can had requested a 
meeting with Hurry. Hurry said it is not uncommon for people to want to meet the owner of a 
business. 183 However, in somev,Ihat inconsistent testimony, Hurry testified that he did not recall 
discuc;sing business during his visit with Unicom. 184 

HlIlTY's hearing testimony Vi'as impeached by his OTR. In his OTR, Hurry testified that 
Cem Can had asked him whether it would be better to do business with Scottsdale or CSCT. 
Huny told him that it might be quicker to go directly to Scottsdale, but there could be "holdups" 
because of potential withholding there. On the other hand, because CSCT was a QI, Hurry told 
Can the "holdup" would be eliminated. 185 

There was additional evidence that Huny discussed business with Unicom. In late 
January 2014, Chinique Lewis ofUnic0111 sent an email to Eric Miller, Diekmann, and Ruzicka 
asking for Hurry to join a call on the processes and procedures to be used in connection with 
Unicol11 's business with CSCT and Scottsdale. She said fro111 "our personal face to face 
conversation with Mr. Hurry, I am certain he will not mind getting on a ca11.,,186 

With respect to the request to involve him on a call with Unicom, HUlry testified that it 
was no more than the common desire to deal with the person at the head of an organization.l87 

181 Hearing If. (D'Mura) 2300-01. 

182 eX-In, at 123-24. 

183 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1613-14. 

184 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1406. 

185 Hearing If. (HillTY) 1407-10, 1421-22. 

186ex_119. 

187 Hearing If. (HillTY) 1432 
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\Ve fmd his explanation unconvincing. He traveled to a potential CSCT client withouttaking 
Ruzicka., the designated head ofCSCT, discussed that client doing business with CSCT, and was 
viewed by the client as an important patticipant in the client's business dealings with CSCT. 

Although he denied it, Hurry provided other leads and referrals to Ruzicka., too. In an 
email dated November 17, 2013, for example, Hurry wrote to Ruzicka, "Referrals and Leads call 
me on them." In the email, Hurry provided a couple of names and telephone numbers. One of 
those natned was an ".Andrew Fanner.,,188 On' November 20, 2013, Ruzicka wrote Hurry that he 
had tried to call "Andy" at the number Hun·y had given him but the call did not go through. That 
same day HUlTY provided another telephone number.189 Hurry maintained he had identified the 
people in the email to Ruzicka not as prospects or potential customers but because they knew 
FFIs .190 

Hurry revealed that, in fact, he was guiding Ruzicka's customer dealings, when he 
volunteered that Ruzicka did not in the end talk to the people Hurry had identified in the email. 
Huny said that he had afterward found out that they had some "issues" and had told Ruzicka., 
"Don't bother. ,,191 

D'Mura testified that while he \,vas at CSCT HUlry and Ruzicka met with another 
potential customer, Caledonian Securities. CSCT received over 50 Caledonian deposits 
aften;vard. l92 

Despite this evidence that HutTY was critical to developing CSCT's business, HutTY 
portrayed himself as offering only slight help to Ruzicka. He claimed that all he did was to 
recommendto Ruzicka that he get a book of intemational filUU1cial institutions and prospect for 
customers using that. I 93 This testimony is not credible. Since Ruzicka and D'Mura engaged in no 
cold calling, they had no use for a book to help them prospect for customers. 194 Furthennore, 
such an approach to business promotion-cold calling people out of a book-was not likely to 
be successful. HutTY would cettainly have known that, and he would not have been satisfied with 

188 CX-51. 

189 CX-62. 

190 Hearing Ir. 1401-04; CX-51. 

191 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1404. 

192 Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2295-97. D'Mura testified that he received the initial documents from Caledonian in the 
last week before he left Scottsdale and laid them out on a table to review, so he was well aware of the volume 
submitted to CSCI. Ihe Caledonian-related deposits were not passed on to Scottsdale before he left CSCI. Hearing 
If. (D'Mura) 2317. 

193 Hearing II. (Hurry) 1403-04. 

194 Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2279. 
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that approach to marketing CSCT. He wanted CSCT to be successful and worked hard to make it 
195 so. 

iv. Hurry Tried To Conceal His Involvement 'With CSCT 

Both Ruzicka and D'Mura had the impression that secrecy was important to Hurry. 
Ruzicka said that Hun), "flat told me, 'I 'm going to Caymans, because that way I don 't have to 
give anything to anybody. ",196 D'Mura testified that when he first flew down to the Caymans 
with Hurry, Hurry spent time discussing with him the privacy laws of the Cayman Islands. HUtTY 
noted that some of them were criminal, not just civil. 197 In so doing, HUlTY stressed the serious 
consequences if a person failed to comply. 

Hun)' denied any particular interest in secrecy.198 Hun)"s denial is not credible. We find 
that he was intensely concerned with secrecy and concealing his involvement with CSCT's 
customers and business. His concern was manifested in the following ways. 

(a) Use Of Email Address That Hid His Identity 

Hun), used an email address that hid his identity. When Ruzicka started working at 
CSCT, he used as his work email addressgr@csct.ky. The address identified him by his initials, 
the finn by its initials, and the Cayman Islands location by the last two letters. Ruzicka set up a 
similar email addressforHUlTy. usingHurrY·sfirstinitialandlastname:jhun-y@csct.ky.199 

Hun), had an e"ireme reaction to his email address. Ruzicka said that HUlTY "just 
crucified me." Hun), told Ruzicka that the address was too long, and instructed Ruzicka to 
change the individual identifier to X.200 Thus, during the relevant period Hurry's email address at 
CSCT was x@csct.ky, which did not identify Hurry. 

At the hearing, HUlTY repeated the same explanation for changing his email address . He 
testified that he wanted an address that V,ras short. 201 

\Ve find Hun-y's explanation to be false. He volunteered elsev.rhere in his testimony that 
his main email address is JHurry@huny com. 202 Thus, Hun-y's main email address is constructed 
in the same way that Ruzicka initially constructed Hurry's address at CSCT. If that construction 

J95 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1417-18; eX -I 78, at 74-75, 135-42. 

196 eX-I 78, at 36. 

197 Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2259. 

198 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1361-62, 1364-65. 

199 eX-I78, at 146-47. 

200 eX-I78, at 146-47. 

20J Hearing If. (Hurry) 1459. 

102 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1426. 
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was not too long for HUlTY'S main email address, then it was not too long for his CSCT address. 
Furthennore, we find that the choice of x instead of an identifier such as JH was designed to 
conceal Hun)"s involvement in CSCT business and perhaps give him the possibility of denying 
that it was his address. Finally, the extreme nature of his reaction to the initial email address
making Ruzicka feel almost "crucified"-strongly suggests that HUrl), was concemed with 
something more important than having a short email address . 

(b) Assertion Of Attomey-Client Privilege 

Hun), insisted on asserting the attomey-client privilege even where it was not 
appropriate. Hurry almost always marked his em ails with Ruzicka as attomey-client privileged. 
He did so even when his emails simply asked Ruzicka to call him and when his emails co~cel11ed 
only floor plans and office fumiture and the like, which emails neither sought nor received nor 
reflected any legal advice.203 In contrast, Ruzicka rarely marked his emails to Hurry as 
privileged,204 even though Hul1)' instructed Ruzicka that he should mark all his email 
correspondence with Hun), as attomey-client privileged.205 

HUlry claimed at the hearing that he marked his em ails privileged because Ruzicka 
advised him to use the privilege designation.206 That claim is not credible in light of Ruzicka' s 
practice of not marking his emails with Hun-y as privileged. Nor is Hurry' s claim consistent with 
the written record that it was Huny who instructed Ruzicka to use the privilege designation, not 
the other way around. We find that Huny wanted all his correspondence \~I ith Ruzicka marked 
privileged because he believed that he might be able to shield that cOlTespondence from future 
regulatory scrutiny or litigation discovery. Similarly, in his hearing testimony, HUlry sometimes 
used the phrase "on advice of counsel" in his answer, as though it were a talisman against more 
probing inquiry or criticism.207 

(c) Avoiding Vhittell Record 

Hun), tried to avoid creating a written record. Ruzicka wrote in an email to Diekmann 
that Hun-y had directed him to take a particular deposit, specifying the symbol, SVLE. Diekmann 
forwarded the email to Hul1)' and DiBlasi. When HlIlTY saw the email, he "tore" into Ruzicka 

203 eX-48 ; eX-49; e x -so; eX-51 ; eX-52; eX -55; CX-58 ; eX-62; eX-63 ; CX-71; eX-75 ; eX-77; eX-78 ; eX-79; 
eX -83 ; eX-84; eX-92; CX-94; eX-107; eX-1 29; eX -lSI. 

204 eX-53; eX -62; eX-75 ; eX-77; e X-79; eX-84; CX-15I. 

205 eX-53 and eX-84. 

206 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1485. 

207 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1333-35. 
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"like you wouldn't believe. ,,208 Hurry told Ruzicka something to the effect of "Never put in 
writing that I am directly involved in business decisions. ,,209 

Ruzicka said that Hurry did not want any pennanent record of his communications. 210 For 
that reason he communicated with Ruzicka primarily through FaceTime, the iPhone tool for 
video communications. Hurry called Ruzicka frequently, sometimes as many as four times in a 
day. He called early in the moming and as late as 9:30 p.m. ; he called on \;<,Ieekends as \~~ll as 
business days. Ruzicka viewed the video calls as invasive, but Hurry told him that he used 
FaceTime because it was free. 211 Notably, emails are similarly "free" communications once you 
have paid the intemet provider, and Hurry would have incurred no additional expense if he had 
communicated with Ruzicka by email. 

Hurry disputed Ruzicka' s testimony that he did not want a written record of his 
communications with CSCT.212 However, D'Mura confimled that Hurry did not want a written 
record of his involvement in CSCT business. D'Mura testified that Hurry expressed to him and 
Ruzicka both specifically and generally not to send him documents .213 

(d) Use Of FaceTime To Conceal Contacts With Customers 

Hun), also communicated with CSCT customers (including all three .FFIs involved in this 
case) using FaceTime, thereby concealing his contacts with them. Hurry would call Ruzicka at 
CSCT and ask Ruzicka to call a customer on CSCT's landline. lllen Ruzicka would hold his 
iPhone next to the landline telephone so that Hurry and the customer could talk. Ruzicka did not 
participate in the calls, although he had to be present to hold the telephones together. This 
maImer of conducting the telephone conversation would avoid a record that Hurry had talked to 
the customer. To the ex"tent there was any record, it would appear that Hurry had only called 
CSCT. Ruzicka testified at his OTR that this happened roughly a dozen times and that HutTY had 
conversations in this manner with Rohn Knowles and Kelvin Leach at Titan, Cem Can at 
Unicom, aIld all individual at Ivlontage. 214 

In hearing testimony, D ' Mura similarly described a FaceTime conference call with 
Caledonian. Caledonian was on the speaker phone in the CSCT office and Hurry was on the 
iPhone. Ruzicka would hold the telephones next to each other. D'Mura remembered at lea.;;t one 

208 eX-I 78, at 155-61. 

209 eX-I 78, at 161. 

210 eX-I 78, at 70. 

2ll eX-I 78, at 67-71 . 

212 Hearing Ir. (Huny) 1540. 

213 Hearing If. (D'Mura) 2300. 

214 e X-I 78, at 118-27. 
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other time that such a FaceTime conference happened.215 D'Mura believed that it was Hurry's 
idea to conduct the calls this way.216 

Hun), does not deny that he conducted telephone calls with CSCT customers in tlus 
maImer. However, he gives the practice an ilmocent explanation. He claims that he used the 
iPhone app because it cost less and because he found it difficult to do a conference call on his 
cell phone. He claimed that Ruzicka was a participant in the call, disputing Ruzicka's OTR 
testimony after he knew that Ruzicka would not appear at the hearing. 217 

We find Hurry's explanation not credible. HUtTY generally did not conduct his business in 
such a frugal maImer. He flew back and forth to the Cayman Islands in his own private airplane, 
and flew to Panama and Belize from there to meet with Montage and Unicom.218 He funded 
expensive offices for CSCT219 and provided Ruzicka and D'Mura with housing when they 
worked there.22o He instructed Ruzicka to buy Hurry a seven-seat vehicle to use v"hile he was in 
the Cayman Islands.221 He liked to tell people how rich he is. 222 It is unlikely that the costs 
associated with a dozen intemational telephone calls would trouble him much. 

We also find Hurry's assertion that he used FaceTime because he \lvas too technologically 
challenged to figure out how to do a conference call on his cell phone not credible. HUtTY was 
teclmologically sophisticated enough to set up CSCT's computer network.223 He instructed 
Ruzicka on how to use PDFs and other software, and he created an elaborate Excel 
spreadsheet. 224 When he was asked whether he was aware that his use of FaceTime to speak with 
customers would conceal his involvement in a conversation with the customers, Hurry answered 

. I ·d· d· 715 evasive y, avO! mg a lrect yes or no.--

Hun)' testified that he started using FaceTime in February 2014.226 Coincidentally, his 
email traffic with Ruzicka and D'Mura at CSCT dropped to nearly nothing. 227 We find a 

215 Hearing If. (D'Mura) 2297-98. 

216 Hearing If. (D'Mura) 2302-03 . 

217 Hearing If. (Huny) 1540-42. 

218 Hearing If. (D'Mura) 2252-58, 2300-01; Hearing If. (Huny) 1412-1 3, 1613-14, 1617-19. 

219 eX-I 78, at35. 

220 Hearing If. (Huny) 1447, 1649-51; Hearing If. (D'Mura) 2265, 2316-17. 

221 eX-58. 

222 eX-I 78, at 26, 70. 

223 Hearing If. (Huny) 1461; Hearing If. (D'Mura) 2263, 2266-68; eX-94. 

224 Hearing If. (Hurry) '1433-34; eX-I 78, at 24-25; eX-77; eX-13!. 

225 Hearing If. (Huny) 154!. 

226 Hearing If. (Huny) 1540. 

227 Resp. PH Bf. 45. 
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significant connection between the two events. Hurry's purposeful use of FaceTime enabled him 
to stop creating a trail of emails. 

C. The Firm's General Practice For Reviewing Deposits 

Everything that Scottsdale knew about a deposit when the Film concluded that it could 
sell the deposited securities pursuant to the Rule 144 exemption is contained in a due diligence 
package for the deposit. 228 Generally, at the top of the package is a two-page Deposited 
Securities Checklist ("ChecklisC). That is followed by various other documents, including a 
Beneficial Ownership Declaration signed by the purported beneficial owner of the shares 
deposited for resale by Scottsdale. 229 

Scottsdale's general process for reviewing and approving a deposit of stock certificates 
was for a person on the Rule 144 team to assemble the due diligence package, working from the 
Checklist. Then, the person who had put together the file (sometimes refelTed to as the first 
reviewer) would go to Cmz and talk with him about it. Depending on the complexity of the 
deposit, the talk could take 1 S minutes to an hour. Cmz did not review every page in the file. He 
would read through the Checklist and ask questions. He might ask to see particular documents 
and conduct Google searches while sitting together with the initial reviewer. 23o 

The Finn heavily depended upon the representations made in the Beneficial Ownership 
Declaration for its conclusion that the purported beneficial owner was not an affiliate of the 
issuer and was the person who had the economic interest in the shares on deposit. Diekmann 
initially denied that the persons signing as beneficial owners could be lying. He testified that he 
saw no reason for them to lie, and he emphasized that the document is velY clear about the 
infonnation it requests. Only upon being pressed did he eventually agree that if someone were 
acting as a nominee for a secret beneficial owner one would expect them to lie. 231 We find his 
testimony on this subject evasive. 

Cmz similarly focused on the fact that the Beneficial Ownership Declaration was the tool 
that the Firm used to find out who owned the shares. 232 He stressed that the Declaration was 
"unequivocal," and that the patties to the transactions understood the Finn's expectations when 
they made parallel representations regarding the person identified as the beneficial owner. 233 

When asked whether language ori Unicom's website offering to appoint nominee officers and 
directors would be a red flag to him, ClUZ responded that it "could have been." He suggested that 
the way he would deal with that red flag would not be to seek independent verification. Rather, 

228 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 1916-17. 

229 RX-I, at 1-2, 11-12, 78-79, 88-89, 158-59, 169-70; RX-2, at 1-2, 12-13, 106-07, 117-18; R..X-3, at 1-2, 11-12. 

230 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 694-96; Heating II. (Cruz) 278. 

231 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 1895-96. 

232 Hearing If. (Cruz) 201-03. 

233 Hearing If. (Cruz) 202. 
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he would simply emphasize to the interested persons the importance of disclosure. He said that 
the Finn would "reiterate and make sure they understand the purpose of our fonns and ... that 
they need to - to disclose the underlying beneficial owner.,,234 

Cruz testified that during the relevant period, from December 2013 through June 30, 
2014, the Firm did not conduct a specific search for nominees .235 Diekmann testified that he 
thought the Finn's general practice would pick up a problem with nominees, but he could not 
cite any particular procedures that were geared to do that. He said the "procedures in sum" would 
~ddress the nominee problem.236 Cruz COnfll1lled, however, that the telm "nominee" appears 
nowhere in the Finn's policies and procedures . 237 

Given the complexity of the analysis required, and the high potential for interested parties 
to obfuscate and make misrepresentations, we find the Finn's general process for final approval 
inadequate. A conversation that may last fifteen minutes and not involve review of all the 
documents in the file is not enough to analyze the content ofthe representations and understand 
whether the business transactions made sense. We also find that the Finn's reliance on the 
honesty of the interested palties filling out the fonns Vi'as unreasonable in light of the high 
potential for the use of nominees. 

\Ve al'e concemed that the Film's general process for review and approval was so poor 
when the processing of microcap stock certificates for resale to the public was its primary 
business. \Ve are further concemed because the transactions at issue here were typical of 
Scottsdale ' s business. Cruz testified that the Finn's customers typically were persons who made 
loans to issuers and then sold the loans to others who then attempted to profit by exchanging 
them for shares . TI1llS, the Fiml ' s lack of a good process for review and approval was not a minor 
aspect of the Fum's business. 238 

D. Transactions 

TIle Finn followed a check-the-box approach to its Rule 144 reviews, without evaluating 
and independently verifying the infonnation it gathered. TIlis approach is apparent from the 
following in-depth analysis of the three NHPI deposits. TIle Finn followed the Salne approach 
with the VPLM and ORFG deposits , which we discuss in less detail. 

234 Hearing If. (Cruz) 307-08. 

235 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 199-202,211 -13; Hearing If. (Diekmann) 908-10. 

236 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 922. 

237 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 666-67. 

238 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 352-53. 
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1. NHPI (Three Unicorn deposits derived from Collins promissory note) 

a. Due Diligence Package 

i. Purported Beneficial Owners 

CSCT made three NHPI deposits. They all came from Unicom, which, in tum, purported 
to act on behalf of other supposedly independent entities: Sky \\1 alker, Inc. ("Sky Walker"), 
Swiss National Securities ("Swiss National"), and Ireland Offshore Securities ("Ireland 
Offshore"). The beneficial owner of Sky Walker is identified on the Checklist as Patrick Gentle; 
the beneficial owner of Swiss National is identified on a separate Checklist as Talal Fanni 
(apparently a misspelling, since the person signed documents as Talal Fouani); and the beneficial 
owner ofIreland Offshore is identified on the third Checklist as Jeff COX.239 

Each purpOlted beneficial owner signed a Beneficial Ownership Declaration representing 
that he was not an affiliate of the issuer, that the issuer was not to his knowledge a shell, and that 
the securities were free trading, without resale restrictions under Rule 144. The documents were 
not witnessed or notarized. No address, telephone number or other contact infonnation was given 
for the purported beneficial owner. 240 

Scottsdale did nothing to identify the purpOlted beneficial owners more specifically. 
While it did a Google search combining the name of the beneficial owner with the words 
"securities fraud" and put the first page of the initial index of results in the due diligence 
package, it did not search for the person's name alone, or the person's name in combination with 
the name of the entity tiu'ough which he acquired the shares, or tile person's name along with the 

f 1 · d . , . . I ?41 nanles 0 t le Issuer an Issuer s prll1Clpa s.-

The purpose of the Google search using the name of the purported beneficial owner with 
the words securities fraud is unclear in light of the fact that DiekmaIU1 testified that a "hit" on 
such a search indicating that a person was engaged in some sort of securities fraud would be 
unrelated to beneficial ownership.242 That testimony demonstrates the check-the-box attitude of 
the Finn. DiekmalUl was insensitive to the possibility that if a person was engaged in securities 
fraud, then the representations made by that person and others connected to a deposit could be 
false. 

As discussed below, the three deposits shared the SaIne origin. 

239 RX-I , at 1-2,11-12,78-79,88-89,158-59,169-70. 

240 RX-l, at 11-12, 88-89, 169-70. 

241 RX-l, at 67, 152, 223. The Finn misspelled Fouani's name when it did the Google search, illustrating its careless 
approach to conducting due diligence. RX-l, at 67. 

242 Hearing Tf. (Diekmann) 927. 
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ii. Prior Holder Transaction 

The Checklists for the Sky Walker, Swiss National, and Ireland Offshore deposits state 
that the issuer, NHPI, gave a $10,000 promissory note dated May 1, 2012, to someone named 
Thomas Collins. Each NHPI depositor purpol1s to tack back its holding period to that date and 
that note.243 

A copy ofthe May 2012 promissory note is included with the Sky Walker and Ireland 
Offshore deposits. The note was due and payable no later than July 1, 2012. It provided that if 
NHPI did not pay the note by the due date, Collins would have the right to convert the debt into 
conunon shares. No address or contact infOlmation is given for the company or for Collins . 
Although the note provided that Collins would have a right of conversion upon the company's 
default, it contained no provision for either party to give notice to the other in the event of a 
default. TIle signatures for NHPI and Collins were not witnessed or notarized. 244 

According to the attomey opinion in the due diligence package, the May 2012 note was 
the company's promise to pay Collins a fee for services .245 The unaudited financial statements in 
the due diligence package similarly indicated that the note was for consulting services .246 

With respect to Collins ' identity and possible connection to the issuer, the due diligence 
package contains a statement signed by Collins declaring that he had never been an affiliate of 
the issuer. Again, the statement is not witnessed or notarized, and no contact information is 
provided. 24

7 

TIle issuer did provide the stock transfer agent with an address for Collins when it 
instmcted the transfer agent to issue nev,' unrestricted shares to him, as reflected in the 
instmctions to the transfer agent, which are in the due diligence package. Collins had a Texas 
address. 248 Also in the due diligence package is the transfer agent's list of shareholders, which 
shm.ved that all active shareholders ofNHPI had U.S. addresses. 249 

Scottsdale did not nm a Google search on Collins using the address contained in the due 
diligence package. N0T did it search to see whether Collins had any links to the other persons on 
the NHPI shareholder list. Rather, it ran a Google search linking Collins' name to the words 
"securities fraud ." Apparently, a person named Thomas Collins had been involved in a securities 
fraud, but the Finn obtained an SEC litigation release indicating that that person had died prior to 

243 R.."X-1, at 1, 78, 158. 

244 RX-l , at 106, 183. 

245 RX-l, at 22, 101, 178. 

246 RX-l , at 40, 122, 198. 

247 RX-l , at 25. 

248 RX-l , at 31. 

249 R.."X-1 , at 37. 
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1997. The Film never determined the identity of the particular Thomas Collins involved in the 
NHPI deposits. 250 

iii. Acquisition Of Shares By Depositors 

Collins gave Sky Walker, Swiss National, and Ireland Offshore each a separate $50,000 
note dated September 1,2013 . The notes were to be paid in full by November 7, 2013. The notes 
specified that in the event of a default the entire sum would become due.25

! Each note \vas 
ostensi,bly secured by a Stock Pledge Agreement pledging 20 million shares ofNHPI,252 which, 
at the time, Collins did not own. These notes, like the note between Collins and NHPL contain 
no address or contact infOlmation for any party and no provision for either party to give notice to 
the other in the event of a default. They are neither witnessed nor notarized. 253 

The next items in the chronology are three Note Satisfaction Agreements dated 
September 16,2013. These three identical Agreements indicate that Collins had already 
defaulted on the $50,000 note, although the due date was not until November 7, 2013. Each 
depositor declared a desire to take title to the NHPI shares described in the pledge agreement. 254 
The Securities Deposit Pre-Review Request Unic0111 submitted for Swiss National likewise gives 
September 16, 2013, as the date of acquisition, referring to the Note Satisfaction Agreement,255 
as does the Deposited Securities Request F onn submitted for Ireland Offshore. 256 

On November 15, 2013, more than a year after the due date for the May 2012 note, the 
issuer and Collins purpOltedly entered into a note conversion agreement whereby Collins agreed 
to forgive 90% of the note in retu111 for 90 million shares ofNHPI. 25 7 The Note Conversion 
Agreement included in the due diligence package, like the May 2012 promissory note, contains 
no address or contact inf01111ation for the company or for Collins and is not witnessed or 
notarized. The Note Conversion Agreement does not explain wby the conversion occUlTed so 

250 10,{-1 , at 57-58 . 

251 10,{-I , at 32, 112, 190. 

252 R.X-l, at 113-16, 191-94. 

253 RX-l , at32, 112, 190. 

254RX_l , at33, 117, 195. 

255 RX-l, at 13 . 

256 RX-1, at 161. Other documents give conflicting, later dates as the acquisition date. Some documents represent 
that the three depositors acquired the securities on Novem ber 25, 2013, pursuant to a Stock Purchase Agreem ent. 
R.X-1 , at 11 , 19, 88, 98, 169. However, the due diligence package for NHPI contains no Stock Purchase Agreement. 
Another document says that the acquisition date was Novem ber 15, 2013, the same date that Collins entered irtto the 
Note Conversion Agreement and the shares were issued to him . R.X-l , at 81. The Firm did not resolve the 
discrepancy between the September acquisition date and the November acquisition dates before selling the 
securities. 

257RX_l , at 1, 78,158 . 
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long after the default or how the remaining unpaid 10% of the May 2012 promissory note was to 
be treated. 2.'iR 

NHPI issued the 90 million shares to Collins on November 15,2013, the same day as the 
. 259 note conversIOn agreement. 

Although the exact date that Collins assigned the shares to the three beneficial owners is 
not clear, it was at most a few days after NHPI issued the shares to Collins. l1ms, the transaction 
bet\~leen the issuer and Collins, the issuance of the stock., and the transactions betvveen Collins 
and the tlu'ee purported beneficial owner entities all happened almost simultaneously. 

Although the transactions happened almost simultaneously, the value given to the shares 
differed substantially. 111ere is no evidence of a corporate event or other explanation for the 
variance. In retUn1 for forgiving a debt of $9,000, Collins obtained 90 million shares, but each 
beneficial owner entity forgave a debt of $50,000 for its 20 million shares. No money actually 
changed hands in these transactions. 

iv. Issuer Filings 

Although NHPI had once been a reporting company with the SEC, it stopped being a 
repOlting company in 2009 .. AJter that it made less frequent and less regular filings on OTC 
Market'S.26o On November 20.2013, a few days after the NHPI shares were issued and around . . 
the time that Sky Walker, Swiss National, and Ireland Offshore acquired the shares, the issuer 
filed an annual report for the year ending December 31 , 2012. 261 In the November 20,2013 
repOlt, NHPI mainly discussed its pharmaceutical business and then stated in a single sentence 
that it had entered into the oil and gas business. It declared that further disclosure related to the 
oil and gas business was in an Interim Infonnation and Disclosure Statement for the period 

26' ended November 20,2013. -

In the aIllUal repOlt filed on November 20, 2013, notes to unaudited financial statements 
declared that NHPI had given Collins a promissory note for unspecified consulting services.263 

Scottsdale relied upon this disclosure to verify the existence of the May 1, 2012 promissory note, 
which wa'S critical to the ability of the beneficial o,vners to sell the securities without registration. 

258 R.I\:-l , at 26-28, 106-09, 184-86. 

259 RX-1 , at 29. 

260 Hearing Ir. (Byrne) 2069-75 ; CX-255; CX-256; CX-260; CX-261; R.."X-l , at 130. 

261 CX-256. Diekmann testified that it appeared that the company had had a gap in its reporting prior to its 
November 2013 filing. Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 939. However, he did not believe that such a gap would be 
suspicious, even if it were as long as two-and-a-half years. Hearing If. (Diekmann) 1011-13. 

262 CX-256, at 4. One page from the Interim Information and Disclosure Statement was in the due diligence package 
for the NHPI deposits. But that page did not contain the disclosure relating to the oil and gas business. RX-I at 39. 

263 RX-I, at40. 
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TIle only evidence that the note existed, however, was created about the same time as the 
transactions leading up to the sale of securities into the public markets. 

In order to determine that NHPI v,'as not a shell, Scottsdale relied on the representation by 
the president ofNHPIthat it was not a shel1. 264 It also relied on descriptions of the company's 
assets and liabilities in unaudited financial statements contained in the annual report filed in 
November ~O 13 and in a quarterly report filed about the same time to cover the period ending 
June 30,2012. However, those descriptions were vague; they showed mostly unspecific cash 
assets, not physical assets. In the annual report, for example, the company reported that it had 
less than $28,000 in a checking account, accounts receivable over $600,000, unspecified 
inventory over $70,000, and investment assets over $750,000. The financial statements also 
show that the issuer had in.curred some expenses. TIle financial statements do not provide, 
however, any indication of the nature ofthe expenses or the business activities that supposedly 
gave rise to them. TIle issuer disclosed no verifiable facts. 265 

The company's public filings created a significant discrepancy between the disclosure in 
those filings and the NHPI deposits . TIle interim financial report for the period ending November 
20,2013, states that 981,408,909 shares were outstanding, of which 970,326,182 were 
restricted. 266 TIlat means that only around 11 million shares were free-trading shares. But the 
three depositors deposited 60 million for resale to the pUblic. There is no evidence that the Finn 
investigated this discrepancy. 

v. Attorney Opinion Letter 

The Finn relied upon an attomey opinion letter stating that the shares could be issued as 
free trading shares and sold pursuant to Rule 144. However, that opinion made plain that the 
attorney relied on certifications by the principal officers ofNHP!. TIle attomey assumed that all 
signatures were genuine and the facts set forth in the certificates were correct. 267 The attomey 
relied onthe company's filings for his conclusion that the company was actively marketing its 
phannaceutical products and exploring one or more strategic alliances and licensing 
arTangements .268 Similarly, the attomey relied on company filings as showing that NHPI was 
actively pursuing the acquisition of mineral rights leases. 269 TIle attomey did not independently 
verify the facts in his opinion letter. 

264 RX-l , at 24. 

265 RX- l, at 38-40. 

266 RX-l , at 43. 

267 RX-l , at 20. 

268 RX-l , at 21. 

269 R-,\-l , at 21. 
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vi. Scottsdale Approval And Sales 

During the first week of February 2014, Noiman and Cruz approved the first NHPI 
deposit, Sky Walker, for resale by Scottsdale. At the time, the 20 million shares were given an 
estimated value of$268,000.270 Noiman and Cruz approved the Swiss National NHPI deposit on 
April 9, 2014, which \;t,/as given a value of $98,000.271 They approved the Ireland Offshore NHPI 
deposit at the end of Apri~ 2014 with a given value of $82,000.272 

Sales ofNHPI shares began on February 26, 2014, and continued through May 7, 2014. 
Periodically, Scottsdale would wire out the proceeds of the sales ofNHPI and other securities in 
the CSCT account. 273 As with all transactions conducted with CSCT and its customers, after 
Scottsdale wired the proceeds of the sales to CSCT's bank account, Scottsdale did not know 
where the funds flowed after that. 274 TI1U~, it did not know who received the economic benefit. 

vii. Promotional Activity 

In December 2013, not long after the series of transactions by which the purported 
beneficial owners acquired their shares ofNHPI, there was promotional activity regarding NHPI, 
as reflected in the due diligence file [or the NHPI deposits. Diekmann testified that he would 
have looked at the promotional activity but he did not recall doing so. He asselied that 
promotional activity was not necessarily a red flag, but that he might try to see if there was a link 
to the customer. He acknowledged, however, that it would be difficult to know if a customer was 
behind the promotion if a nominee were being used. 275 

In February and !vlarch 2014, there also was promotional activity regarding NHPI. 276 In a 
Febmary 19, 2014 email , Ruzicka wrote to DiekmalUl that Unicom was paJticularIy eager to 
trade NHPI. DiekmaJU1 did not remember the email, and did not think it patticularly remarkable. 
He said that no customer wants "to miss an oPPOttunity to trade. ,,277 Scottsdale sold NHPI shares 
deposited by CSCT during February and March 2014, when the promotional activity was 

. 278 
ongolllg. 

270 RX-l. at 78-79 (Sky Walker) . 

271 R.X-I , at 1-2. 

271 RX-I , at 158-59. 

m JX-268. 

274 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 661-62. 

275 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1014-16; 10'(-1 , at 132-33; CX-262, at 6. 

276 CX-262, at 2-5 ; CX-263. 

277 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1016-18. 

278 JX-268. 
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h. Red Flags Signifying A Scheme To Evade The Securities Laws 

Even aside from the fact that the May 2012 promissory note was not a security, as 
discussed below, the circumstances oftbe tlu"ee NHPI deposits raised a number of red flags 
signaling that the transactions were likely sham transactions using nominees to conceal the 
identity of the persons actually benefiting from the sale of securities. Some, but not all, of the red 
flags are listed below. 

First, Collins and NHPI entered the agi"eement to convert the note he held from the 
company to shares-and NHPI issued the shares-almost simultaneously with his execution of 
three separate agreements to transfer a pOliion of those shares to Sky Walker, Swiss National, 
and Ireland Offshore. TIle ahnost simultaneous transact~ons are compelling evidence that the 
patties were not truly independent. The suspect nature of the transactions is heightened by the 
identical terms of the notes to Sky Walker, Swiss National, and Ireland Offshore. 

Respondents attempted to rebut any suspicion arising from the timing and identical temlS 
of the Sky Walker, Swiss National, atld Ireland Offshore transactions. Diekmann testified that he 
assumed that one person had put together the loatl transactions for Collins, and that was why the 
three entities had agi"eed with Collins to the satne loan tenns. He acknowledged that he did not 
know who that person might be, but he did not think it \;t,las a red flag that Sky Walker, Swiss 
National, and Ireland Offshore agreed to the Satlle tell11S or that the satne documents were used 
for the three loan transactions. 279 We find that Diekmatm's unverified hypothesis did not excuse 
the failure to investigate this red flag. 

Second, Collins entered into the agreement with the three depositors, along with the 
agreement pledging NHPI shares as security, before he actually had any shares. However, he 
represented in the pledge agreement that he held title to them already. It should have been a 
COl1cem that Collins apparently misrepresented his ownership. It also is suspicious that the 
depositors would loan him $50,000 each without verifying that he owned the shares. It is even 
more suspicious that Collins would take on a $150,000 obligation without knowing whether he 
could obtain the shares . TIle facts SUppOlt the conclusion that Collins entered into the agreement 
with the depositors because he (or whoever was pretending to be Collins) was affiliated with the 
issuer and knew that the shares could be obtained. Further investigation was required before 
proceeding to sell the securities . 

Third, the documents relating to the NHPI transactions in 2012 lack important elements 
that would pe1111it verification. For exatllple, the 2012 Collins-NHPI promissory note bears no 
physical address, telephone number, or other contact information for Collins or NHPI. Similat"ly, 
the documents relating to the loan notes Collins gave the three depositors do 110t include any 
contact infonnation for Collins or for the depositors. The lack of contact infol1nation is odd 
because there is no provision for where and how payment should be made. It is almost as though 
there is no expectation of payment. 

279 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 1699-1700. 
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Fourth, the obviously impossible September date declaring Collins in default on the notes 
held by the depositors-even before the notes became due on November 7, 2013-should have 
been investigated. TI1e fact that the identical mistake was made in three separate documents 
supposedly involving independent palties is suspicious. If the palties were independent, one 
would have expected someone to notice the mistake.TIlat is particularly so where the error was 
not a transposition of numbers but, rather, an incOlTect month. TIle error would have been easier 
to spot. 

Diekmann testified that the September 16,2013 date on the note satisfaction agreement 
had to be a typographical en·or. "In all likelihood," he said, "that's supposed to read November 
16, 2013 .,,280 When asked about the fact that the same error appears in all three note satisfaction 
agreements signed by Sky Walker, S\¥iss National, andlreland Offshore, Diekmann said that 
was not surprising. He noted that the agreements were all executed the same day, and 
hypothesized that someone must have done a search and replace function to change the words 
without noticing the mistake.281 Cruz similarly explained the date as a typographical error. He 
testified that even though the same mistake occUlTed in connection with the documentation for 
I dl . . I . ?8? t lree purpolte y separate transactIons It gave 11m no pause. - -

Between hearing days, Respondents obtained a copy of the relevant stock celtificate, 
v"hich was then introduced into evidence. It shO\,ved a transfer date of November 21,2013. They 
argue that tlus proves that the September date was a typographical error. 283 

Respondents miss the point. Nothing in the due diligence package shows that the Finn 
noticed or investigated the discrepancy before selling the securities. FUlthennore, if the 
September date \vas a typographical elTor generated by a search and replace function in 
documents goveming supposedly independent transactions, that only increases the appearance of 
coordination among the pruties to those transactions. 

Fifth , Diekmann admitted that there was no evidence contemporaneous with the May 
20] 2 note to show that the note existed.284 111e only evidence that the 2012 promissory note from 
NHPI to Collins existed was created after Collins purported to convert the note to NHPI shru·es. 
Rather than confimling the existence of the note, the timing of the late filing suggests the 
fabrication of false evidence to SUppOlt the tacking period necessary for the exemption. 

Sixth, it is peculiar that Collins did not enforce his right to conversion of the shares at the 
time ifNHPI defaulted in July 2012 on the $10,000 promissory note. There is no explrulation 
why he would have waited more than a yeru'-until November 20 13-to do so. 

280 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 949,1835-37. 

281 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 949-52, 956. 

282 Hearing If. (Cruz) 365-66, 390-98. 

283 RX-115; Resp. PH Br. 15. 

284 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 939. 
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Seventh, there were signs that NHPI was a shell. TIle change from being in the 
phannaceutical business to entering the oil and gac; business, without any explanation for why, 
\",hen, and how it had done so, was not consistent with a real business plan. The Finn collected 
no infolmation regarciing the change in business, and the attorney opinion letter, which relied on 
representations by the interested parties and assumed the asserted facts to be tlUe, Vlas not a 
sufficient basis for concluding that NHPI was not a shell. 

Respondents maintained that the oil and gas business was added to NHPI's 
phannaceutical business as a "supplement" to its business line.285 We reject this characterization. 
TIlese were radically different businesses that involved different expertise and different business 
models. 

Eighth, the transactions have an air of fantasy. Collins supposedly took the $10,000 note 
in exchange for unspecified consulting services-no money changed hands . And then he took 
shares in return for forgiving the note-no money changed hands. When Collins supposedly 
bon-owed $50,000 each fro111 Sky Walker, Swiss National, and Ireland Offshore, nothing in the 
documents provided how, when, or where he \;>\Iould receive the money. TIlere is no evidence that 
any money changed hands then either. Collins merely entered into a promissory note with each 
purported lender in which he pledged to give them stock if he defaulted; and then he defaulted. 
No money changed hands when Sky Vhlker, Swiss National, and Ireland Offshore took the 

?86 pledged shares.-

Ninth, there is little evidence to supp0l1 the value given to the NHPI securities. Within 
the span of a few months the value of NHPI shares varied substantially without any explanation. 
In November 20 l3, Collins received 90 million shares in retum for forgiving $9,000 of his loan 
to NHPI. Simultaneously, he realized $150,000 for 60 million of those shares. By early Febmary 
2014, the 20 million shares in the Sky Walker deposit were estimated to have a value of 
$268,000. TIlere is no evidence of a basis for the increac;e in value. Then, in April 2014 the value 
of the shares held by S'wiss National and Ireland Offshore declined to less than $lOO,OOO-again, 
without explanation. TIlis is pm1icularly suspicious in light of the promotional activity that 
occun'ed in FeblUary and March 2014. 

285 Resp. PH Br. 16 and n.80. 

286 Diekmann testified that the only evidence the Firm had that the September I , 2013 notes between Collins and the 
three depositors existed was the notes themselves. He never asked for documentation showing that $50,000 actually 
was transferred from Sky Walker to Collins. He was satisfied that the document looked like a loan to an individual 
and not an effort by a small company to raise capital. Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 943-45. 
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2. VPLM (Montage deposit derived from Kipping oral line of credit) 

a. Due Diligence Package 

i. Purported Beneficial Owner 

TIlere \:vas evidence in the record about two VPLM deposits by CSCT. TIle one included 
in the allegations of the Complaint was through Montage for the further beriefit of VHB 
Intemational. TIle Checklist identifies Victor Bretel as the pi'esident of VHB Intemational. The 
deposit was for 9.3 million shares. 287 

ii. Prior Holder Transaction 

In the Montage deposit, the prior holder in the VPLM chain was an entity called 
Locksmith Financial. The Checklist noted that Locksmith Financial was affiliated with Richard 
Kipping, who was the former president of VPLM. TIle Checklist stated, however, that Kipping 
was no longer an affiliate of the issuer because he had resigned more than two years earlier. 288 

In concluding that Kipping was not an affiliate, the Checklist relied on an attomey 
opinion dated September 6, 2013, stating that Kipping had resigned more than two years 
before. 289 As discussed below, that attomey opinion was insufficient to SUppOlt the con~lusion 
that Kipping was no longer an affiliate of VPLM. Cruz testified at the hearing that the Fil11l also 
relied on a December 16, 2013 letter signed by VPUvI's ChaiI111an, TIlomas Sawyer, which 
made a representation that Locksmith was not an affiliate of the issuer.290 TIle Sawyer letter 
declared that the pmties to the sale of securities from Locksmith to VHB International (discussed 
below) were not affiliates of the issuer. 291 

TIle Checklist for the VPLM deposit indicated that the depositor had satisfied the Rule 
144 holding period by tackjng back to a "verbal [oral] line of credit" whereby the prior holder, 
Locksmith, had loaned the issuer, VPLM, $58,636.24. TIle Checklist stated that the last advance 
on the line of credit was made July 6, 2012.292 

An August 15, 2013 written agreement pUl'Polted to document and fOI1nalize the oral line 
of credit. According to the 2013 document, Locksmith agreed in 2012 to advance funds as loans 

287 RX-2, at 1. 

288 RX-2, at 1, 268. 

'289 RX-2, at 1, 19-21. 

290 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 441. 

291 R.",\ -2, at 23-24. 

292 RX-2, at 1. 

so 

- 423a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM



against a revolving line of credit and had received the right to demand payment in full or in part 
. 793 at any tIme.-

On the same day, August 15, 2013, a debt settlement agreement was executed between 
the issuer and Locksmith. In that document, the issuer indicated that it wanted to settle the 
amount it owed Locksmith by giving stock to Locksmith. The parties agreed to settle the 
company's $58,636.24 debt as of July 31, 2012.294 

Although VPLM did not issue the shares to Locksmith until September 2013,295 the 
Beneficial Ownership Declaration later signed by Bretel treated the date on which Locksmith 
acquired the shares as August 1, 2012. 296 The depositor thus relied on tacking his holding period 
to Locksmith's oral line of credit. 

iii. Acquisition Of Shares By Depositor 

On August 23, 2013, Locksmith entered into a stock purchase agreement with VHB 
International. It was roughly a week after Locksmith had memorialized the purpOlted oral line of 
credit and before the shares were actually issued. The aggregate purchase price for the stock was 
$240,000.297 There is no evidence explaining why Locksmith was able to sell the shares for more 
than four times the value placed on the shares when Locksmith and the issuer entered into the 
debt settlement agreement only days before. 298 TIle buyer, VHB Intemational , purpOlted to 
acquire the shares for investment and not with a view to resale or distribution. 299 

.Although Victor Bretel was identified as the beneficial owner of VHB International, 
A .. ndrew Godfrey signed the Stock Purchase Agreement.30o The Firm made an inquiry, and 
l\,10ntage responded that Godfrey "handles day to day operations due to Mr. Victor Bretel ' s 
travel schedule." Montage represented that Bretel remained the beneficial owner of VHB 
International. 301 Diekmann testified that the response was, as far as he was concerned, 
sufficient.302 

293 10'<-2, at 26-27, 

294 R.."X-2, at 28. 

295 R.."X-2, at 12. 

296 RX-2, at l3. 

297 RX-2, at 33. 

29810"X_2, at 32. 

299 10'<_2, at 35. 

300 RX-2, at 37. 

301 RX-2, at 38, 

302 Hearing If. (Diekmann) J 744-45. 
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iv. Issuer Filings 

The Finn relied on public filings for proof of the existence of the oral line of credit. The 
Finn characterized the oral line of credit as "generally disclosed" in the issuer's annual repolt for 
September 30, 2012. 303 The a1U1Ual report for the period ending September 30,2013, which was 
only published on November 6, 20 13-after the oral line of credit had been memorialized in 
writing-attached a grid showing that the issuer had settled many of its debts and payments for 
professional services by issuing VPLM stock. According to the grid, on August 15, 2013, VPLM 
issued a little over 29.3 million shares to Locksmith Financial as a debt settlement. 304 

11le grid actually raised more red flags. It showed that the company regularly followed a 
practice of compensating affiliates and others with stock. During the period from October 12, 
2011, through August 15,2013, VPLM issued shares to Locksmith three times and shares to 
Locksmith's ovmer, the fonner president ofVPLM, Richard Kipping tVv'ice. Thus, during the 
two-year period, Kipping received, either directly or through Locksmith, roughly 80 million 
shares of VPLM. In fact, according to the grid, during the same period the company issued more 
than 185 million shares to various persons and entities, including De1Ulis Chang, the issuer's 
president, rnlOma<; Sawyer, its Chainnan and CEO, and Carl Mattera, an authorized signatory for 
the issuer. 305 

Curiously, in May 2013 VHB Intemational received directly from the issuer 
approximately 2.4 million shares of VPLM. This was only a few months before it received the 29 
million shares from Locksmith Financial. 306 111at VHB had already received shares directly from 
the issuer raised a red flag that it might be an affiliate or might be coordinating its acquisition 
and resales of shares with others who were affiliates. 111ere is no evidence that Scottsdale took 
note of that red flag. 

v. Scottsdale Approval And Sales 

On February 10, 2014, Noiman and Cruz approved the VPLM shares deposited by VHB 
Inte111ational for sale to the public. 307 Sales began on February 20,2014, and continued through 
June 5, 2014. Periodically, Scottsdale wired out the proceeds from those and other sales for the 
account of CSCT. 308 

303 RX-2, at 1. 

304 RX-2, at 40. 

305 10'<_2, at 40 (excluding an addi.tional 265 million shares issued to consummate an acquisition of another 
company). 

306 RX-2, at 40. 

307 RX-2, at 2. 

308 JX-28 1. 

, 
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b. Red Flags Signifying A Scheme To Evade The Securities Laws 

A number of red flags \vere raised by this VPLM deposit. Here we discuss two that 
required the Finn to conduct further inquiry to establish that an exemption existed. 

First, the Firm knew that Kipping had been an affiliate of the issuer at some point. Tills 
red flag required heightened scrutiny of the transaction. The Firnl failed, however, to gather 
sufficient evidence to conclude that Kipping was no longer an affiliate. 

111ere is no copy of a resignation letter in the due diligence package. Scottsdale did not 
even have a specific resignation date. It had a vague statement in a legal opinion that Kipping 
had resigned from the issuer over two years before. The attorney declared that she had reviewed 
documents filed with the SEC and had deternlined that Locksmith was not an affiliate or control 
person ofthe issuer, but she did not specify the documents she reviewed or explain how she 
atTived at her conclusion. She did not say she had seen the resignation letter. The attorney further 
stated that Locksmith and Kipping had represented to her that they were not controlled by any of 
the officers or directors of the issuer. In making that statement, the attorney was little more than 
a cond~lit for representations by the interested palties.309 Diekmann was unaware of anything that 
anyone at Scottsdale did to confinn that Kipping no longer had any duties as president ofthe 
issuer. 310 

Cruz vaguely testified that he thought the Finn had some SOlt of resignation or 
acknowledgement of Kipping's resignation in the file. 3

!! Cruz may have been referring to the 
December 16, 2013 letter from VPLM 's Chairman, which represented that none of the parties to 
the sale of the securities to \/HB International had been an affiliate of the company within 90 
days of the sale.312 111at bare representation provides no detail whatever. It does not indicate 
when Kipping might have resigned as an officer of VPLM or provide any other verifiable fact. 
For purposes of ensuring that an issuer is not behind a chain of transactions designed to effect a 
public distribution without registration, a representation by a principal of the issuer must be 
vieyved more skeptically. 

Even more important, from the outset, Scottsdale had affirnlative evidence in its due 
diligence package indicating that Kipping might be affiliated with the issuer regardless of 
whether he had resigned as president. Under Rule 144, if Locksmith and Kipping held 10% or 
more of the issuer, they would be affiliates for purposes of the exemption. The grid showed that 
Kipping, either directly or through Locksmith, had received 80,318,000 shares ofVPLM 

3!' between October 2011 and Augmt 2013 . J The total outstanding shares of the company at the 

J09 RX-2, at 19-2l. 

JIO Hearing If. (Diekmann) 1719-20. 

Jll Hearing If. (Cruz) 440-41. 

JI2 RX-2, at 23-24. 

JIJ R.,,\-2, at 40. 
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time that Scottsdale evaluated the deposit v,'ere 730,460,237.314 Thus, Kipping and Locksmith 
received at least a 10.996% ownership interest in VPLM and Kipping could have been an 
affiliate regardless of whether he was still an officer of the company. 

There were other signs that Kipping could have been an affiliate. In the due diligence file 
is the first page of results from a Google search for "Richard Kipping + securities fraud." One of 
the results dated May 15, 2013, contains a fragment of content apparently referring to VPLM. 
That fragment says, "So Richard Kipping still has personal interest in this penny scam. ,,315 

Another entry dated May 7,2013, also refers to VPLM and says, "TIle nel\.1: few days will show 
if the stock can keep its unprecedented .. . in fraud look at the shareholders Richard kipping 
pretty much owns the . .. ,,316 TIle Google search page was filed in the package, apparently 
v"ithout anyone looking at the full stories concerning Kipping or following up on his ownership 
ofVPLM shares. 

If Scottsdale had conducted fmiher due diligence, it might have discovered that Kipping 
Vias indeed an affiliate of VPLM. During the relevant period, the Board of Directors of VPLM 
ordered a review of Kipping and Locksmith's debt conversions to VPLM stock. TIle resulting 
"forensic audit" dated June 5,2014, described Kipping as a director and shareholder ofVPLM. It 
indicated that, at the time of the August 15, 2013 stock conversion that was the basis for tacking 
VHB Intemational 's holding period, Kipping had executive responsibilities at both VPLM and 
Locksmith, including check signing privileges at VPLM. 

TIle accountant who perfolmed the forensic audit opined that many aspects of the August 
15, 2013 agreement purpolting to memorialize the earlier oral line of credit were problematic. 
Many of the items that appeared to him to indicate that the arrangement was not a tlUe arms
length transaction were facts known to Scottsdale at the time it approved the sale of VHB 
lntemational's shares based on tacking to the oral line of credit. Among other things, the 
accountant noted that the written memorialization was a year after the purported oral line of 
credit . He also noted that the stock for debt agreement did not specify any particular tenns for the 
conversion, and he viewed Locksmith's right to demand payment in full or part at any time a') 
onerous.317 

TIle forensic audit illustrates that an objective analysis of the facts known to Scottsdale 
would raise strong doubt that Kipping was independent of VPLM at the time ofthe August 15, 
2013 agreement and stock conversion. 

Second, the grid attached to the November 2013 public filing shows that the issuer had a 
pattem of paying for services and its business expenses with stock. It issued much of this stock to 

314 RX-2, at 1. 

31 S RX-2, at 95 . 

316 RX-2, at 95. 

317 RX_292, at 6-7. 
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company insiders. 318 The pattel11 suggests that the issuer may have substituted the issuance of 
stock for compensation to insiders and business pariners, leaving them to realize arlY monetary 
benefit by selling the stock to others. TIle constant flO\v of new issuer stock looks like a two-step 
process for unlawfully distributing securities into the public marketplace without registration. 

TIlis pattel11 is particularly troubling because all three parties in the chain of holders for 
the deposit-Kipping, Locksmith, arld VHB Intel11ational-\li1ere on the list of persons and 
entities that had convelied debt to shar·es. 319 TIlis was a red flag that they and the issuer could be 
coordinating. 'TIle Finn should have fmiher investigated before concluding that the transaction 
was exempt under Rule 144. 

3. VPLM (Titan deposit derived from Kipping and Locksmith through 
the Lees) 

a. Due Diligence Package 

i. Purported Beneficial Owner 

CS CT deposited another 13 million shares of VPLM for the benefit of Titan and for the 
fUliher benefit of Cumbre Company. TIle Checklist identified Patrick Gentle as the ultimate 
beneficial owner of Cumbre and the VPLM stock.32o 

We discuss the evidence regarding this transaction as evidence of other similar conduct 
for purposes of sanctions arld as additional evidence that CSCT was no more than a fayade . 
Scottsdale continued to deal directly with the FFI and to ignore CSCT. 

ii. Prior Holder Transactions 

This is the one transaction that wac;; not derived from the conversion of a debt liability 
into shares. However, it also traces back to Kipping and Locksmith in a chain of holders. 

TIle Checklist identified two prior holders, Jung Ju Lee and Soon Deuk (Kang) Lee.321 
Jung Ju Lee acquired l.5 million shares by a Stock Purchase Agreement dated June 12,2012, 
fro111 Richard Kipping. In that Stock Purchase Agreement, Kipping represented that he was not 
an affiliate of the issuer and had not been an affiliate at leac;;t for the previous 90 days. An 
attachment to the Stock Purchase Agreement indicated that Lee paid Kipping $l3,000 for the 
shares. A copy ofa check written to Locksmith for $13 ,000 was attached. It appear's to be written 
by Brooks K-9 Services Ltd., but it bears a notation saying .ore VPLM celtc;;. " 322 Nothing in the 

318 I0,(-2, at 40. 

319 R..X-2, at 40. 

320 I0,(-2, at 106. 

m I0,(-2, at 106. 

322 RX-2, at 126-29. 
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due diligence package explains the connection between Brooks K-9 Services and Lee or the 
nature of Brooks K-9 Services . 

.Tung Ju Lee acquired another 500,000 shares for $5,000 from Locksmith Financial 
pursuant to a Stock Purchase Agreement dated October 19, 2012. Locksmith made the same 
representation that it was not an affiliate of the issuer. Kipping signed on behalf of Locksmith . 
. t\.nother check from Brooks K-9 Services Ltd. was attached.323 

Soon Deuk (Kang) Lee acquired three million shares of VPLM from Locksmith by a 
Stock Purchase Agreement dated August 1,2012, for $20,000. Locksmith represented that it was 
not an affiliate of the issuer. Kipping signed on behalf of Locksmith. 324 

iii. Acquisition Of Shares By Depositor 

Cumbre acquired five million shares of VPLM from Soon Deuk (Kang) Lee on January 
10, 2014. 325 In a separate document written to Cumbre, Lee confmned receipt of $60,000 for the 
shares. 326 On January 13, 2014, in a separate document, Jung Ju Lee similarly confirmed receipt 
of $20,000 for 500,000 shares of VPLM. 327 

iv. Scottsdale Approval 

On May 29, 2014, N oiman and Cruz signed the Checklist approving the shaI~es of VPLM 
for sale.3 28 

v. Blackout Period On Trading VPLM Shares 

On June 5, 2014, Thomas Sawyer, the Chairman of the Board of Directors ofVPLM, sent 
Titan by email a signed declaration notifying it of a blackout period starting June 6, 2014, on 
trading VPLM stock by certain "covered persons." Covered persons were defined to include 
directors, officers, and holders of 10% or more of the company's outstaIlding shares, among 
others. Richard Kipping (and his assigns) and Locksmith were on the list of covered persons. So 
was VHB International. The list also included FFls and broker-dealers. Montage, Titan, Alpine, 
and Scottsdale were all on the hSt. 329 NoimaIl discussed the blackout notice with Titan and 
requested a copy.330 

J2J RX-2, at 136-39. 

J24 RX-2, at 147-49. 

J25 10'\-2, at 160. 

326 RX-2, at 155. 

J27 R..X-2, at 145. 

J2ll RX-2, at 107. 

J29 CX-294. 

JJO 10'\-104. 
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On June 6, 2014, a lawyer named David Wise, who had often done work for Scottsdale, 
wrote an email to Sawyer claiming to represent unnamed clients on the covered-person list and 
threatening to sue Sawyer and others for "slow[ing] dovm or prevent[ing] the transfer of shares 
by my clients. " Wise called the blackout notice an attempt to prevent sales of VPLM stock in 
order to conduct a promotional campaign to raise the share price. He characterized Sawyer's 
actions as "clearly illegal" and said he would be calling the SEC.33l 

On June 6,2014, Wise sent a copy of his email to Sawyer to Kelvin Leach at Titan and to 
both Noiman and Diekmann at Scottsdale. His cover note to them was breezy: "Hi Guys, See 
below. David." The tenor ofthe cover note indicates that Scottsdale and Titan were working 
closely together to address the problem of the blackout notice. 

On June 9,2014, Titan forwarded the blackout notice to Noiman, and Noiman 
immediately fonvarded it to CruZ.332 TIlat same day, Noiman also fonvarded the Wise email to 
Cruz. 333 The Finn stopped selling VPLM shares held by VHB Intemational in order to 
. . 334 I11veshgate. 

On June 11, 2014, Titan received what appears to be an unsigned clarifying 
memorandum from Sawyer stating that the broker-dealers and FFIs such as Scottsdale and Titan 
were only on the list because they had been k110wn to trade VPLM stock for covered persons. 
TIle memorandum declared that the broker-dealers and FFls were still free to trade on behalf of 
non-covered persons. Titan forwarded the clarification that same day to Noiman and 
Diekmann,335 and Noiman forwarded it to CruZ.336 The clarifying memorandum did not take 
Kipping (and his assigns), Locksmith, or VHB International off the list of covered persons. Nor 
did it explain \vhy they were listed as covered persons. When Noiman forwarded the clarification 
to Cruz on June 11 , 2014, he wrote that "Titan received the attached after David Wise ' s VPLM 
notice. ,,33 7 

On June 24, 2014, a lawyer claiming to represent VPLM \vrote to Noiman as Scottsdale's 
"Compliance Officer." Scottsdale had requested the transfer of two stock certificates, and the 
lawyer stated that the stock certificates appeared to be owned by covered persons. Kipping (and 
his assigns), Locksmith, and VEB Intemational were on the attached list of covered persons. 
One of the t\-\lO stock certificates identified, 2985, related to the VPLM deposit by Titan on 

JJI Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 578-79. Wise provided an attorney opinion letter on which the Firm relied in connection with 
the ORFG stock deposit. J0'\:-3, at 70. Wise also went to the Cayman Islands to assist Ruzicka for a couple of weeks 
after D'Mura left. Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1603-04. 

JJ2 CX-294. 

JJJ Hearing Tr. (Noiman) 1265-67; J0,\:-104. 

JJ4 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 442-43 ; JX-281 . 

m CX-295. 

JJ6 CX-296. 

JJ7 CX-296. 
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behalf ofCumbre. 338 The other, 2228, may relate to a VPLM deposit not part of the record in this 
case. 'TIle celtificate number for the deposit by VHB Intemational is 2525 .339 

Notably, although the Titan deposit on behalf of the Lees nominally came through CSCT, 
Ruzicka was not included on any of the con'espondence about the blackout period.340 TIle 
cOlTespondence reveals that Scottsdale, through N oiman, was continuing to manage FFI deposits 
witho~t regard to CSCT. CSCT was peliol111ing no real function in cOlUlection with the VPLM 

'. 341 depOSIt. 

h. Red Flags Signifying A Scheme To Evade The Securities Laws 

Given what Scottsdale already had in its file on VPLM, it should not have approved the 
VPLM shares deposited by Cumbre for resale without obtaining better evidence that Kipping 
was not an affiliate of the issuer. The Lee transactions closely followed the VHB Intemational 
transaction and revealed a pattem-Kipping was continually acquiring and selling large blocks 
of VPLM shares. When coupled with the infonnation from the grid showing that VPLM 
foIlowed a practice of issuing stock to insiders in settlement of its debts, the circumstances raised 
a strong suspicion that the issuer or an affiliate was unlawfully distributing securities without 
registration in a two-step process designed to obscure \lvhat "vas actually happening and who was 
benefiting from the sales of stock. 

4. ORFG (Unicorn deposit derived from FOl"'ward line of credit) 

a. Due Diligence Package 

i. Purported Beneficial Owner 

In connection with the deposit of approximately 13.2 million shares of ORFG, CSCT 
acted for Unicom, and Unicom acted for an entity called Media Central, which named GeovalUli 
Moh as the beneficial ovmer. 342 Media Central was identified as a Belize corporation, and Moh 

m RX-::?. at 1 06-09. 

339 RX-2, at 3. 

340 When Ruzicka was shown the blackout notice at his OTR, he expressed shock. He testified that he had never seen 
it, and that if he had he would not have processed the VPLM deposit for resale. He would have e>"'Pected Scottsdale 
to treat it as a problem or red flag . CX-l78 at 257-60. 

3,11 In the middle of explaining what he did in connection with investigating the VPLM blackout, Cruz made a half
hearted assertion that CSCT was involved, saying, "} asked or I briefed with CSCT to-to get an explanation if 
they-if they could." Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 442-43. We do not find that testimony credible. There is no corroborating 
evidence of any kind, and his testimony about CSCT, in contrast to his detailed testimony about Wise, was vague. 
Cruz did not say he had a conversation with Ruzicka-who was the only person at CSCT. Rather Cruz referred to 
CSCT in the abstract. Nor did Cruz say anything about the content of what he "asked" or "briefed" when he 
supposedly had contact with CSCT. 

342 RX-3, at I . 
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was identified as a citizen of Belize. 343 Media Central was originally incorporated on February 
14,2014, under the name Lock Investments Ltd. Only two weeks later, on February 27,2014, 
the name was changed to Media Centra1. 344 Nothing in the due diligence package explains the 
reason for the name change or whether there was any change in the identity of the principals of 
the company. 

ii. Prior Holder Transaction 

Media Central claimed that it had satisfied the holdirig period for a non-affiliate by 
tacking to a prior holder ' s note as of September 1, 2012. 345 TIle prior holder was a person named 
Casey Forward. He purportedly took the issuer's note in return for an open-ended line of credit 
up to the maximum amount of $600.,000. TIle note provided that the issuer would pay on "loans, 
advances and debt as of August 31, 2011 . .. with interest on the principal balance outstanding 
from time to time" up to a principal amount of $600,000. 346 The note provided Forward with a 
right to convert any portion of the unpaid principal amount of note to restricted common stock. 
This right was open-ended and did not specify a pruiicular amount that could be converted or a 
pruiiculru' date when the conversion could take place. 347 Furthernlore, the note provided that the 
holder could transfer in whole or in part any pOliion of the note without the prior consent of the 
company. ,A.ny such transfer was at the discretion of the holder. 348 

Forward subsequently assigned a $50,00.0 pOltion of the note to an entity called Anything 
Media in exchange for shru'es of Anything Media. As described on the first page of the Deposited 
Securities List, that transaction \·vas ref1ected in an Assignment ru1d Modification Agreement 
dated Jrumary 18, 2014, by \.vhich ORFG agreed to modify the tenns of the original note. 349 

iii. Acquisition Of Shares By Depositor 

On April 16,2014, Anything Media sold 15 million shares ofORFG to Media Central for 
$75,0.00 pursuant to a stock purchase agreement. However, at that time, Anything ivledia did not 
own the shares, It acquired shares of ORFG only a few days aften;vard, on April 22, 2014, when 
it converted a $9,0(J0 pOJ1ion of the note into 15 million shares of ORFG35o There is nothing in 
the due diligence package to explain why Anything Media sold ORFG sha!'es before it actually 
owned them. Nor is there anything to explain why the shares could be sold for $75,00.0 when 

343 'RX_3 , at 9, 13. 

344 RX-3, at 15-16. 

3'15 RX-3 , at 36-41. 

346 R.X-3, at 36. 

347 RX-3, at 38. 

348 RX-3 , at 40. 

3'19 R.X-3, at 1, 42-45 . 

350 RX-3, at I. 

59 

- 432a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM



they only had a value of $9,000 when they were converted a few days later. Cruz testified that he 
did not consider these matters red flags that required further inquiry and that the Finn did not 
conduct further inquiry based on these matters. 351 

iv. Scottsdale Approval And Sales 

On June 5, 2014, Noiman and Cruz signed the Checklist for ORFG approving the sale of 
securities. 352 Sales began Jlme 11,-20 14, and continued through the end of the relevant period on 
June 30, 2014. Periodically, Scottsdale would wire out the proceeds along with the proceeds 
from the sales of other securities out of CSCT's account.353 

v. Promotional Activity 

From early May through early July, ORFG was the subject of multiple promotions.354 

Cruz testified that the promotions were consistent with the reviewer ' s findings on the Checklist. 
He said he probably would have looked at a couple of pages of printouts showing the existence 
of promotions. TIle Firm typically would look to see whether the customer had any involvement 
and whether the promotions were having any effect on the trading done in the security. 355 

h. Red Flag Signifying A Scheme To Evade The Secmities Laws 

V"/e discuss here only one of the red flags in the ORFG deposit. TIle initial transaction 
underlying the deposit made no business sense. With respect to the original line of credit, no 
reasonable company would agree to borrow money on a line of credit that pemlitted the lender to 
convert the debt to stock at any time in any amount at the holder ' s discretion. Certainly a 

. company would not agree that the open-ended conversion option could be assigned to an 
unknown third pmty without the issuer 's prior consent. Under such an agreement the company 
v-.'Ould not know whether it was going to be required to pay back some or all of the money it 
bon'owed on the line of credit or whether it would be required to issue shares. Nor could it knO\v 
to \vhom the conversion option might be assigned . It could not manage its finances or be certain 
of its shareholder dynamics and corporate control. 

As the forensic audit of the Kipping-Locksmith loan found with respect to the open
ended line of credit in that transaction, the onerous tenns from the issuer 's perspective \-vere a 
sign t,hat the loan was not an anns-length transaction. Unless the Fi1111 investigated and 
discovered some sensible explanation, it could not lawfully sell the securities. 

351 Hearing II. (Cruz) 533-34. 

352 RX-3 , at 2. 

353 JX-31O. 

35·1 CX-303, at 17-25. 

355 Hearing II. (Cruz) 537-38 . 
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E. Credibility 

1. Ruzicka 

i\S noted above, Ruzicka was never registered· with FINRA and was never subject to its 
jurisdiction. He voluntarily testified at an OTR, and considered testifying voluntarily at the 
hearing. Throughout the first week of the hearing, Enforcement reported at the end of each day 
on the likelihood of Ruzicka appearing.356 On Friday of the first week, Enforcement announced 
that Ruzicka had agreed to appear the following Monday.357 

However, Ruzicka changed his mind over the weekend and never appeared. He 
apparentl y changed his mind because of a text that Respondents' counsel sent to him on the 
Saturday after the first week of hearing. That te)"1, although poru:ayed by counsel afterward as 
nothing more than a request to talk, appears to us to have been an attempt to sow distrust 
between Ruzicka and Enforcement counsel. It made Ruzicka angry at the way he thought he was 
being portrayed by Enforcement at the hearing and um'irilling to be "put through hell" by 

. 358 appeanng. 

Respondents ' counsel telephoned Ruzicka on Saturday but only received an automated 
instruction to leave a message or te)"1. Respondents ' counsel then left him a te)"1 saying the 
following, which included quotations from Enforcement 's opening statement: 

Y au may want to know how FINRA has been characterizing you during the first 
week of the hearing. For example, you were "hapless," "malleable," and "bereft 
of other opti ons ." You may want to know the other side of what FINRA is telling 
you. I would welcome the opportunity to discuss.359 

Aster receiving the teA"! from Respondent' s counsel, Ruzicka tex"!ed Enforcement counsel 
saying, in pati, " If even veracity, I am done.,,36o We interpret Ruzicka ' s response to mean he was 
offended at the portrayal of him as desperate and easily manipulated, and to mean that he would 
not appear at the hearing if that was an accurate picture of Enforcement' s comments about him. 

Enforcement repOlted at the hearing that it had neither confirmed nor denied to Ruzicka 
what Respondent'> ' counsel told him in the teA"!. Enforcement took the position that it could not 
reveal what was said in the proceeding because it was confidential. 361 

356 Initially, the discussions of Ruzicka 's likely participation were off the record. Later, they were on the record. 
Hearing If. (remarks of counsel) 748, 840-41 , 1032, 1275, 1277. 

357 Hearing Ir. (remarks of counsel) 1275, 1277. 

358 Hearing Ir. (counsel reading text into record) 1288. 

359 Hearing Ir. (counsel reading te>-.1: into record) 1288. 

360 Hearing Ir. (counsel reading text into record) 1287. 

361 Hearing Ir. (remarks of counsel) 1299. 
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Enforcement argued that Respondents' counsel had violated at least the spirit of the 
sequestration order in the case; Respondents' counsel asselted that the sequestration order was 
about witness testimony and that counsel's quotations from Enforcement's opening statement did 
not violate the order. TIle Hearing Officer declined to rule on the charge of misconduct.362 

Based on legal analysis separate from the alleged misconduct: of Respondents' counsel, as 
laid out at the hearing on the record, the Hearing Officer admit~~d the entire transcript of 
Ruzicka's OTR. TIle Hearing Officer declared that the Hearing Panel ,,,,ould determine the 
probative value and weight to give the OTR after it had reviewed the OTR in the context of the 
evidence at the hearing, taking into account the circumstances that led to the admission of the 
OTR in lieu of live testimony from Ruzicka. 363 

TIle Hearing Panel nOVi specifically finds that Ruzicka's testimony at his OTR was 
credible. It was consistent with other evidence in the record and con"oborated by D'Mura's 
testimony. Wherever Ruzicka' s testimony is cited here, it is cited because we credit it. 

\Ve reject Respondents' arguments for discounting Ruzicka's testinlony. 

Firs!' Respondents asselt that it is unfair to rely upon Ruzicka's testimony because they 
did not have an oppOltunity to cross-examine him. 364 The short answer to that argument is that 
Respondents ' counsel was responsible for that lack of oppOltunity to cross-examine the witness. 
Respondents cannot complain about it nov,'. 

Second, Respondents argue that Ruzicka was angry and biased against Hun)" so his OTR 
should not be viev,'ed as reliable.365 After review of the transcript, we conclude that, although 
Ruzicka evidently did not like the way HUll), treated him, Ruzicka was truthful as to the facts 
and as to HUlTY's intimidating and controlling manner. 

Third, Respondents claim that Ruzicka gave inconsistent information in a prior telephone 
call with FINRA staff.366 However, the inconsistency was explained by the fact that Ruzicka still 
felt "beholden" to HUll")' at the time of the telephone call. By the time of the OTR he did not feel 
that way.367 

362 Hearing Tr. (remarks of Hearing Officer) 1302. 

363 Hearing Tr. (remarks of Hearing Officer) 1302-05. There had always been uncertainty about whether Ruzicka 
would give testimony at the hearing. In light of that uncertainty, the parties had earlier briefed the issue of whether 
the OTR should be admitted. The Hearing Officer' s ruling was informed by that earlier briefing. 

364 Resp. PH Br. 44 and n.253. 

365 Resp. PH Br. 44 and n.253 . 

366 Hearing Tf. (remarks of counsel) 1296. 

367 Hearing Tr. (remarks of counsel) 1298. 
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Fourth , Respondents claim that Ruzicka gave an affidavit inconsistent with his OTR. 
TIley assert that Ruzicka swore that Montage, Titan, and Unicol11 came to CSCT through a 
refelTal from Scottsdale. However, Ruzicka signed that affidavit at Hurry's request while still 
working for Hun-y. 368 By the time of his OTR, Ruzicka no longer worked for HUITY. For that 
reason, \;J,'e credit his OTR testimony that he was told that Titan and Unicorn came to CSCT 
through Hurry. Moreover, the affidavit saying that the three FFls were refelTed by Scottsdale is 
not inconsistent with Ruzicka's understanding that ultimately HUtTY was behi,nd the refelTal. 
Even if Huny persuaded the FFls to do business with Scottsdale through CSCT, it would be 
consistent with his desire for secrecy for him to alTange for someone at Scottsdale to make the 
necessary introductions. 

Finally, we observe that although Ruzicka's OTR testimony is valuable, his absence from 
the hearing deprived the Extended Hearing Panel of what would have been helpful live testimony 
and the opportunity for the Panel to ask him questions. Ruzicka's absence also encouraged Hurry 
to dispute the OTR testimony without fear of being contradicted, as discussed below. The 
distrust sown by Respondents ' counsel impeded our adjudicatory process. 

2. Hurry 

As indicated above in cOlmection with specific testimony, we repeatedly found that Hurry 
"'ias not credible. Many of Huny's self-serving explanations were not convincing on their face. 
His testimony was often inconsistent with other reliable evidence. Much of what he said also 
conflicted with Ruzicka' s OTR testimony, which we find more credible than HUITY's 
uncon'oborated asseltions. 

Hurry ' s ostensible purpose for setting up CSCT -to relieve Alpine of IRS withholding 
obligations-was not suppOlted by any evidence that it made business sense. Rather, we 
conclude from Cruz 's and Diekmatm's testinlony regarding heightened regulatory scrutiny in the 
period leading up to the establishment of CSCT, and the filing of the four prior SEC complaints 
against Scottsdale custo.mers and employees, that Huny sought to insulate his business from 
regulatory oversight by moving Scottsdale's FFI business offshore. This conclusion is reinforced 
by the fact that Scottsdale personnel continued to manage the FFI business with entities such as 
Unicom and Titatl (through Miller and Noiman). They needed to do that because Ruzicka was 
not qualified to nm a broker-dealer, paJticularly one in the highly specialized business of 
liquidating microcap stock purSUaJlt to Rule 144. Moreover, CSCT got its business through 
Hun)' and Scottsdale. CSCT did not, atld indeed could not, operate as an independent entity. 
CSCT served no function that Scottsdale could not have perfonned without it. 

368 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1565-69, 1638-39; RX-llO. 
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Hun)' disputed that Ruzicka was not qualified to run CSCT and emphasized how 
accomplished Ruzicka was. 369 His testimony in this regard was not credible. It is plain from 
Ruzicka's inquiry about working in HUlTY's bike shop that Ruzicka had no relevant experience 
and Vias desperate.37o D'Mura described trying to educate Ruzicka about the securities industry 
and the elements for free-trading securities. D':tviura said it was "rough going" and that Ruzicka 
"wasn't picking it up.,,371 D'Mura said that Ruzicka was anxious, stressed, and not capable of 
handling due diligence on microcap deposits by himself. 372 Even more important forOtlr 
purposes here, D'Mura testified that he had conversations with Hun), about Ruzicka's 
difficulties and how Ruzicka was not "getting it. ,,373 Thus, contrary to his hearing testimony, 
Hun), kne\v that Ruzicka was not capable of running CSCT. 

HUrTY's assertion that he had little to do \'I'ith CSCT was disproved. D'Mura testified that 
Hun")' frequently bombarded him and Ruzicka with telephone calls about CSCT business and 
that he and Ruzicka tried to prepare for those calls with updated infol1nation about deposits. 
D'Mura portrayed Hurry as an intense and constant presence in their lives while they worked at 
CSCT, and emails cOlToborate that testimony. Emails show that HUlTY oversaw every detail of 
CSCT's business, and Hurry admitted that he traveled to the Cayman Islands at least once a 
month. He so closely oversaw the CSCT operation that he claimed to know that Ruzicka \",'as in 
the office only ten minutes out of evel)' hour. 

To the extent that Cruz, Diekmann, D'tvlura, and Ruzicka all testified that Ruzicka, not 
HUrTY, ran the dail y operations of CSCT, as Respondents asselt in their post-hearing brief,374 we 
do not view that testimony as contradicting the evidence that HUITY was deeply involved in 

369 Hearing Tf. (Hurry) 1574-77. \Vhen asked why he did not hire someone who had broker-dealer experience and 
who knew about FFls to run CSCT, Hurry said that he hired Ruzicka to play an "executive role," someone who was 
"an all-around person, somebody who had some entrepreneurial skills, some management skills, proven to be able to 
do that. " Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1648. 

)70 Hearing Tf. (Hurry) 1631 , 1635-36. 

371 Hearing Tf. (D'Mura) 2273-77. 

J72 Hearing Tf. (D'Mura) 2277-78. 

JiJ Hearing Tf. (D'Mura) 2274-77. D'Mura may not have been emphatic about Ruzicka's difficulties-he testified 
that it was against his self-interest to cause Hurry to fire Ruzicka-but D'Mura did raise concerns with HUrry. 
Hearing Tf. (D'Mura) 2314-15. 

Email correspondence corroborates D'Mura ' s judgm ent that Ruzicka did not understand the business. For exam pie, 
in May 2014, Ruzicka sought Diekn,ann's approval to consider a deposit of II million shares with an ostensible 
value of two million dollars. Diekmann wrote back that the issuer's shares traded in so little volwne-roughly 3,500 
per day-that it would take a "bazillion" years to sell the entire deposit Diekmann said it was inappropriate to set 
the value that high and the transaction was the kind that should be avoided. CX-241 . 

This email correspondence also illustrates that CSCT served no real function independent of Scottsdale. Ruzicka 
sought Diekmann's guidance before even considering the deposit Ruzicka was not independently vetting deposits 
before presenting them to Scottsdale. CX-241, at 2. 

374 Resp. PH Br. 45. 
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CSCT's business. Ruzicka was responsible for the day-to-day processing of paper, but Hurry 
was responsible for bringing in business, cultivating the clients, and making all important 
decisions. Ruzicka, an out-of-viork real estate attol11ey, did not have the background to do more 
than process the paper as directed. For Hurry to maintain that he left Ruzicka on his own to 
prospect for customers and manage client relationships defies belief. 

Based on O'Mura's testimony and various emails, Hurry's contention that he was not 
concel1led ,"vith secrecy was false. O'Mura testified that HlllTY emphasized to him the privacy 
laws of the Cayman Islands, and O'Mura thought Hurry was very concemed about secrecy. 
Huny's concel11 with secrecy was manifested in mUltiple ways, from his admitted use of 
FaceTime to confer with Montage, Titan, Unicol11, and other customers, to his obsession with 
labeling every email to and fi'om Ruzicka as privileged, to his use of an email address that did 
not reveal its cOlmection to him, to his refusal to use emails to discuss business and insistence on 
using telephone calls to do that. 

Ruzicka' s testimony only confinns D'Mura' s. Ruzicka testified that Hurry told him that 
he was moving the FFI business to the Caymans precisely because he would not have to "give 
anything" to anyone. According to Ruzicka, Hurry was fanatical about not creating a record of 
his involvement with CSCT. 

As for Hun-y's efforts to develop business for CSCT, Hurry admitted having telephone 
calls \vith principals of Montage, Titan, and Unicol1l, and he admitted personally visiting 
Montage in Panama and Unicol11 in Belize. Although he claimed that he discussed a back-office 
system with Montage at Ruzicka' s request, his testimony Vias vague and unspecific. There wac; 
no cOIToboration for HutTY'S asseliion, and he only made it when he knew that Ruzicka would 
not appear at the hearing to contradict him. Similarly, as to Hun-y's initial asseltion that he did 
not discuss business with Unicol1l when he went to Belize, Hurry wac; impeached by his own 
OTR testimony. In his OTR he testified that he discussed pros and cons of doing business with 
Scottsdale directly or going through CSCT. Emails showed that HutTy provided other leads and 
refelTals to Ruzicka, and O' IvIura testified that HutTY was involved in developing Caledonian as 
a CSCT customer. 

We fmiher find ButTY not credible ""hen he testified that he could not remember anything 
about his meetings with lvlontage in Panama and Unicom in Belize. I-Iuny appeared to have 
excellent recall of other infonllation and events. He testified in detail about the intricacies of 
taxation in the Cayman Islands and how it differed for Canadians and U.S . citizens, as well as the 
way the special economic zone in the Caymans operates. 375 He also testified about the Cayman 
Islands Monetary Authority, CIMA, and its information sharing agreement with the SEC, noting 

J75 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1554-65, 1647-48. 
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that the original agreement \vas in 2005 and that it was updated in 2012.376 He insisted that he 
knew the exact days on which Ruzicka and D'Mura began at CSCT.377 

We observe that Hurry appeared to be a canny, sophisticated, controlling, and hard
driving businessman. Hun-y's attempt to pOliray himself as a distant figure, far removed from 
CSCT's business was not credible. AJthough he clainled that he likes to empower his people to 
run their businesses on their own,378 that is demonstrably untrue. 

3. DiBlasi 

We find DiBlasi ' s testimony that he was the CCO-but not in connection with the Finn's 
Rule 144 business-astonishing.379 Almost all of the Finn's business involved Rule 144 sales. 
As explained below in discussing DiBlasi's violation, DiBlasi was responsible for the WSPs, and 
nothing in the WSPs clearly allocated Rule 144 compliance to Cruz. Indeed, during much ofthe 
relevant period, the V·,TSPs assigned the CCO specific responsibilities in connection with Rule 
144.380 DiBlasi's testimony may accurately reflect what he believes his job responsibilities to be, 
but, if so, his designation as CCO \vas misleading. 

4. Cruz 

Cruz ' s testimony was vague and unreliable. He often said he could not recall whether he 
had looked at various materials in conducting his due diligence reviews but that he "could" have 
done SO.381 Cruz also changed his testimony or made it vaguer as he was testifying ifhe became 
uncomfoliable with his original statement. For example, he said that the change in NHPI's 
business from phannaceuticals to oil and gas was not so impOltant because the company's 
"management team had been stable. It's not the situation where we had a roaming management 
team.,,382 But when asked how he knew that the management team vms stable, he could point to 
nothing in the due diligence package or elsewhere. I-Ie ended by denying that he had said that the 
management team had been stable, saying, " 1 didn 't see any change of - evidence of a change of 
management. I didn't use 'stable. ",383 When pressed whether certain items were red flags calling 
for a searching inquiry about the issuer, Cruz resolted to general statements such as it "depends 

376 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1630. 

J77 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1620, 1624. 

378 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1550. 

379 Hearing If. (DiBlasi) 1921-23, 1946-47, 1952-53, 1965-66. 

380 Hearing If. (DiBlasi) 1967-73. 

381 Hearing If. (Cruz) 279,284,292-96,301-03,308. 

382 Hearing If. (Cruz) 288. 

383 Hearing If. (Cruz) 288-91 . 
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on the facts and the circumstances.,,384 He never explained any basis for determining which facts 
and circumstances would trigger the duty to conduct a searching inquiry. 

5. Diekmann 

\Ve find Diekmann's testimony vague, evasive, and unreliable. He characterized 
documents in ways that on their face the documents did not support, such as the Miller email 
indicating that a Canadian citizen could conceal himself by using a corporate entity as the owner 
of his Scottsdale account. Diekmann asserted that the Firm's procedures would root out a 
nominee problem but could poinll0 nothing in the procedures that was designed to do that. 385 He 
was insensitive to suspicious circumstances such as a Google search that tumed up infomlation 
suggesting that a person was engaged in securities fraud,386 or the identical temlS and 
circumstances of the three supposedly independent NHPI deposits. 387 He contradicted his own 
OTR testimony.388 He repeatedly resisted admitting that inconsistencies and suspicious 
circumstances could signify that a transaction was a sham until he had to admit ,;o;lhat was 
obvious.389 

Given Diekmann ' s position as the Finn's curTent president, we are concemed about his 
ability to ensure that the Firm responds appropriately in the future to obvious red flags and 
suspicious circumstances. 111is concem bears on the need for stringent sanctions, as discussed 
below. 

Illustrative of the issue is Diekmann ' s testimony regarding infonnation on Unicol11's 
website. Unicol11 advertised the use of nominees to give customers an "e).."tra level of 
confidentiality" because the customer's "name will not show up. ,,390 At his OTR, Diekmann 
testified that he had not seen this page of the Unicol11 website before his OTR, but if he had it 
would have caused him concern whether the tme beneficial owner was being disclosed.

391 
At the 

hearing he testified differently. He said that he would not be concel11ed about the infolmation on 
Unic011l ' s website because he had seen nothing on the website that suggested that Unicol11 was 
offering to affirmatively lie about beneficial ownership .392 \Vhen asked whether l)nicom would 

384 Hearing Tf. (CruZ) 293 . 

385 Hearing Tf. (Diekmann) 737-38. 

386 Hearing Tf. (Diekmann) 927. 

387 Hearing Tf. (Diekmann) 1853-54, 1901-04. 

388 Diekmann testified at his OTR that a print-out from the Unicorn website caused him concern about whether 
Patrick Gentle was the true beneficial owner of stock deposited at Scottsdale in his name. At the hearing, however, 
he denied that the information on the Unicorn site was a concern. Hearing Tf. (Diekmann) 925-30. 

389 Hearing Tf. (Diekmann) 1881-84, 1886-87. 

390 Hearing Tf. (Diekmann) 1818-19. 

391 Hearing Tf. (Diekmann) 1875-78. 

392 Hearing T f. (Diekmann) 1819. 
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have had to offer to lie about the beneficial owner before the website language would concern 
him, Diekmann atls,vered "Yes. ,,393 11lat is not consistent with his and the Finn's gatekeeping 
fi.l11ction. 

A second exatnple of Diekmann's insensitivity to suspicious circumstances is his 
response to questions conceming an email exchange between one of the Rule 144 staff members 
and Titatl. The staff member sent atl email to Ryatl Mendez at Titan saying that Scottsdale had 
mUltiple sub accounts at Scottsdale with Andrew Godfrey as the authorized signer. She requested 
a statement from Godfrey that explained the purpose for the mUltiple entities and provided atl 
explanation of "atlY distinguishing features among the separate entities." She then named the 
eight entities. 394 

Godfrey provided an astoundingly broad atld vague response: 

[The eight companies] are holding company's [ sic] that are used to invest in 
development and exploration stage compatlies that engage in local, regional, 
multinational, global, sporting, manufacturing, wholesale, transpOltation, 
technology and eco friendly compatlies, etc., etc. Each investment is placed into a 
holding company based on investment criteria such as location, industry, long or 
short-tenn investment etc., etc. 

Godfrey made no distinction atnong the companies. He provided no facts that could be verified. 
11le response was undated and addressed "To \\Thom It May Concem." Godfrey provided no 
address, telephone number, or other contact infonnation for himself or any of the companies. 
11le response was forwarded by email from Titan to Scottsdale. 395 

Diekmann characterized Godfioey' s response as reasonable. 396 \Ve do not find it so. It 
lacks specificity atld has no indicia of reliability or authenticity. 

Finally, Diekmatl11 displayed a lack of the skepticism, analytic acuity, atld ingenuity that 
are required to pelfornl the broker-dealer's gatekeeping function in the Rule 144 conte1-1. He 
testified that the identical documentation for the NHPI transactions did not trouble him because 
some unidentified person could have put Collins together with the three pmties seeking to sell 
the NHPI shares they acquired from him. When asked whether that unidentified person could be 
the secret beneficial owner of the tluoee sub-sub-accounts, he said that there was nothing in the 
documentation indicating that was so. He fUlther declared that he did not know how you ,'>'ould 

393 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 1875. 

394 CX-247. 

395 CX-248 . 

396 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 891. 
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investigate whether it was so. He seemed content not to know who the unidentified person was 
and to assume that it was a person who had put the three depositors in touch with Collins.397 

Diekmann said that "there ' s always a risk that there could be some puppet master pulling 
the s[t]rings.,,398 But he expressed frustration at the thought that the Finn could and should have 
done more to ascertain whether a puppet master was at work. As he remarked regarding the 
Argentinian nominees in the Tavella case, "It 's just impossible to know that there was somebody 
else behind this . ,,399 

For purposes of a<;sessing the Fi1111 's ability to avoid violations in the future and crafting 
remedial sanctions, his remarks cause us conce111. Diekmann said that what happened with NHPI 
happens all the time. 4oo 

6. Experts 

a. Marc Menchel 

We give little weight to the testimony of Respondents ' expert, Marc Menchel. Although 
he opined that Scottsdale's procedures were reasonable and consistent with industry custom and 
practice, his experience related to Rule 144 was both a long time ago and in a much different 
conte)"1 than Scottsdale 's business. IvIenchel ran a Rul e 144 desk at a large broker-dealer more 
than 30 years ago . ll1at desk did not concentrate the way Scottsdale does on large blocks 
(l00,000 shares or more) of microcap stockS.401 

Furthennore, Menchel did not opine on the sufficiency of Scottsdale ' s due diligence in 
the contex1 of the specific transactions at issue. He did not review the exhibits or the 
investigative testimony. \Vhile he did look at all the relevant due diligence packages, he did not 
review them with the idea of "second guessing" the FinD 's handling of the deposits. He merely 
looked to see ·whether the due diligence packages contained the sOl1s of items that one would 
expect them to contain.402 Essentially, Respondents' expert, like Respondents, took a check-the
box look at the due diligence packages. 

Finally. Menchel 's opinion seemed influenced by his admittedly idiosyncratic view that 
Regulatory Notice 09-05 goes beyond Rule 144, and his claim that many of the red flags listed in 
the Regulatory Notice are not really red flags for purposes of Rule 144.403 Menchel ' s opinion 

397 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 1901 -03 . 

39S Hearing If. (Diekmann) 720. 

399 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 732. 

400 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 1901 , 1903. 

401 Hearing If. (1vfenchel) 2459-61. 

402 Hearing If. (1vfenchel) 2478-80, 2496-98, 2529-33, 2554-65, 2572-73, 2575. 

403 Hearing If. (Menchel) 2503-07, 2515-24. 
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similarly seemed influenced by his vie\v that FINRA has no authority to charge a broker-dealer 
firm with a Rule 2010 violation for a Securities Act violation, a view that he admits has no 
decisional SUPPOlt.404 Menchel 's opinion regarding FINRA's authority is contrary to the Hearing 
Officer' s prior detennination in the Order dated February 26, 2016, that FINRA has jurisdiction 
to bring this case. \Ve decline to accept Menchel's view for the reasons stated in that Order, 
which we do not repeat here. 405 

b. Brian Underwood 

\Ve fInd the opinion of Enforcement's expert, Brian Underwood, more reliable, more 
persuasive, and entitled to greater weight than Menchel's. His experience with Rule 144 was 
n~ore extensive and more recent. Until retiring in 2008, Underwood served as the Chief 
Compliance Officer of two major broker-dealers for a combined period of almost 20 years. 111e 
broker-dealers traded microcap securities on a fairly frequent basis and their Rule 144 desks 
reported to Underwood through one of his direct reports.406 He also served on two NASD 
working groups in the 1990s that reviewed roughly 300 sets of policies and procedures as pmi of 
an effolt to develop a model set of procedures. 407 Underwood has maintained a conSUlting 
practice since he retired, and in that capacity he has more recently seen between 20 and 25 entire 

I·· d d fd·= f" 408 po ICles an proce ures 0 luerent :1I1ns. 

Underwood also reviewed more of the materials relating to the paliiculars of this case, 
including the pleadings, the parties ' memoranda, the exllibits, and the OTRs conducted in 
connection with the investigation.409 He, unlike Menchel, evaluated the substance of Scottsdale's 
d d·l· d 1 I· . ·1 . d d · 410 ue I Igence an W let ler It was consIstent WIt 1 111 ustry custom an practIce. 

Underwood expressed the follo\;ving opinions, among others, which we fll1d consistent 
with our own views and supportive of our conclusions: 

(i) In its WSPs, the Finn did not adequately address the risk of nominees being used 
to conceal the identity of the beneficial owners of the shares-it did not even 
mention the risk.411 

'104 Hearing If. (lvIenchel) 2593-99. 

405 See also KeD FinanciaZlnc., Exchange Act Release No. 80340, slip op. at 5-6 & nn.8-13 (SEC Mar. 29, 2017). 

406 Hearing If. (Underwood) 2609, 2615-21. 

407 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2711-12. 

408 Hearing If. (Underwood) 2712-13. 

409 Hearing If. (Underwood) 2619-20. 

'110 Hearing If. (Underwood) 2651-57, 2665-67, 2669-71 , 2673-78, 2685-89, 2691-94. 

<Ill Hearing If. (Underwood) 2682-83 . 
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(ii) TIle Finn ' s practice of placing all FFls on its red flag list was counterproductive 
because it did n01hing to narrow the focus to the kinds of anomalies that required 
a searching inquiry.412 

(iii) TIle Finn ' s general practice of accepting the registered agent's address without 
requiring the physical address of the entities and persons purporting to own the 
shares was inconsistent with industry custom and practice.413 

(iv) Even though the Firm gathered large volumes of paper in connection with the 
transactions, it failed to analyze the infonnation, did not identify issues raised by 
the files, and did not conduct the type of searching inquiry necessary to resolve 
i1lose issues.414 As Underwood testified, a searching inquiry "means asking 
questions. It means not just assuming an answer that is possible to explain the 
transaction when there are other answers that might not properly explain or satisfy 
the question. 11 means asking and inquiring and doing it independently .... ,,415 

(v) Underwood made plain that a broker-dealer cannot go forward with a Rule 144 
transaction simply because it finds it too difficult to detennine the identity of the 
beneficial owner. The broker-dealer must have reliable evidence of the identity of 
the purpotted beneficial owner. Otherwise it cannot proceed with the 
trans acti on. 416 

Underwood also explained that it would be typical in the industry to use other resources 
in addition to the intemet to verify representations by the interested palties and make sure that 
those parties were not actually pruticipating in an unregistered distribution of securities. With 
respect to "vhether the issuer is a shell, for example, it is not enough to obtain a representation 
from the issuer's principal as to its non-shell status . Underwood said that it would be common in 
the industry to obtain what is known as a "Bradstreet repOlt." That repOlt "can be quite 
enlightening in tenns both of [the issuer 's] operations, revenues, assets, who the key officers and 
directors are, shareholders-a great deal of infonnation that is not necessarily available simply 
b · l ' ·,41 7 Y gomg on t le mtemet. ,. 

Undenvood concluded that a finn engaged in Rule 144 sales would also have more 
detailed \vritten procedures that ' '\·vould describe who did what, when, and how. ,,418 He said that 

m Hearing If. (Underwood) 2685-86, 2752-55 . 

'113 Hearing If. (Underwood) 2679-80. 

414 Hearing If. (Underwood) 2689. 

m Hearing If. (Underwood) 2694. 

416 Hearing If. (Underwood) 2734. 

417 Hearing If. (Underwood) 2661 . 

418 Hearing If. (Underwood) 2677-78. 
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a fiI1n would "anticipate questions that would be investigated with respect to issuers, with 
respect La sellers, with respect to the transfers ofsecurities .,,419 Furthermore, they would analyze 
the infoI1nation collected and would "independently satisfy themselves to clear any red flags that 
arose. And that did not happen in any of these instances in my opinion.,,42o He declared that the 
Fiml did not meet the industry custom and practice for the conduct of this type of business.421 

F. .Law And Regulations Relating to Section 5 

1. It Is Unlawful To Sell Securities Without Registration, Unless An 
Exemption Exists 

It is unlawful for a finn to sell securities v"ithout an effective registration statement in 
place unless an exemption app1ies . Sections Sea) and S(c) of the Securities Act prohibit the "sale" 
and "offer for sale" of securities in interstate commerce unless a registration statement has been 
filed or is in effect, or an exemption f)'om registration applies. 422 TIle prohibition applies to "any 
person,,,423 and the Securities Act defines "person" broadly to include both individuals and 
entities such as corporations and pat1nerships.424 TIle prohibition also applies to any person who 
"directly or indirectly" sells or offers to sell securities. 425 TIms, Section 5 may be violated by a 
person who does not pass title to the securities but who is involved in the process of offering the 
securities for sale. 42G 

The registration requirements are not merely technical-they are the "hear1" of the 
Securities Act.427 They serve to protect investors by promoting full disclosure of information 
thought necessary to infoI1ned investment decisions.428 As the preamble to the Securities Act 

'119 Hearing Tr. (Underwood) 2678 . 

4~U Hearing Tr. (Underwood) 2678 . 

421 Hearing Tr. (Underwood) 2689. 

422 15 US.C § 77e(a), § 77e(c). See also Ronald S. Bloonrfield, Exchange Act Release No. 71632, 2014 SEC LEXIS 
698, at *20-21 (Fcb. 27, 2014). A violation of Securities Act Section 5 also is a violation of FINRA Rule 2010, 
which requires members and associated persons to conduct their business consistent with high standards of 
commercial honor and ju'>t and equitable principles of trade. Midas Sec. , Exchange Act Release No. 66200,2012 
SEC LEXIS 199, at *46 n.63 (Jan. 20,2012); Dep 'L ofEn/orcemenl v. Padilla, No. 2006005786501,2012 FINR.4 
Discip. LEXIS 46, at *1 n.2 (NAC Aug. 1,2012). 

423 15 US.C § 77e(a), § 77e(c) . 

424 15 US.C § 77b(a)(2). 

m 15 US.C § 77e(a), § 77e(c). 

,126 Pinterv. Dahl, 486 US. 622,642-47 (1988). 

427 A CAP Fill. Inc., Exchange Act Release No. 70046,2013 SEC LEXIS 2156, at *28 (July 26,2013) (quoting 
Pinier v. Dahl, 486 US. at 638), aff'd, 783 F.3d 763 (10th Cir. 2015). 

428 SEC v. Elliott, 2012 US. Dist LEXIS 82992, at *1 (June 12, 2012); Bloomfield, 2014 SEC LEXIS 698, at *21; 
ACAP, 2013 SEC LEXIS 2156, at *28 (quoting Pinter, 486 US. at 638); Dep 't o/Enforcementv. KCD Fin., Inc. , 
No. 2011025851501, 2016 FI1\TRA Discip. LEA'1S 38, at *49 (NAC Aug 3, 2016), aff'd, KCD FiI7.Inc., Exchange 
Act Release No. 80340, slip op. at 5-6 & nn.8-13 (SEC lvIar. 29, 2017). 
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states, the purpose of the Act is "[t]o provide full and fair disclosure ofthe character of securities 
d . t f d" 429 . .. an to preven rau s." 

2. Sales Are Not Exempt If They Involve A Distribution By An 
"Underwriter" 

A sale of securities is not exempt from registration if it involves a distribution of 
securities to the pUblic. The Securities Act distinguishes between a distribution-which requires 
registration-and ordinary trading, which does not. In general, a distt:ibution involves the sale of 
a substantial block of securities that is accompanied by sales solicitations, recommendations and 
other promotional activities that may induce investors to make investment decisions without the 
benefit of accurate infom1ation conceming tl?e issuer, its management, and its plans and 
prospects. That is the reason registt'ation is required. In contrast, ordinary trading by an 
individual investor who has little or no influence over the issuer is not accompanied by the same 
promotional pressures, and, consequently, the same protections are less necessary.430 

The distinction between a distribution and ordinary trading is reflected in Section 4(a)(1) 
of the Securities Act, which exempts a securities transaction from registration if it does not 
invol ve "an issuer, underwriter, or dealer. ,,431 In this case, the tem1 ''under'Nriter'' is critical. The 
tenn is not limited to financial industry professionals. It encompasses individual investors "if 
they act as links in a chain of transactions through which securities move fro111 an issuer to the 
public.'of132 Section 2(a)(11) of the Securities Act broadly defines the tenn to include "any 
person" who has purchased fi'om an issuer "with a view to . .. the distribution of any security.,,433 

Because it is difficult to know whether a person acquired securities "with a view to" 
distributing them to the public, the sun-ounding circumstances and the investor's actions after 
acquiring the securities must be analyzed. For example, when a person acquires securities from 
the issuer in a non-public transaction and sh01tly thereafter resells, the circumstances suggest that 
the person acquired the securities with a view to distribution, which would make that person an 
underwriter. 111e transactions function like a two-step indirect distribution alid may be a public 
offering in disguise. 434 

429 Securities Act of 1933, Pub. L. No. 22, § 1, 48 Stat. 74, ch. 38. 

430 See the Preliminary Note to Rule 144 ("If any person sells a non-exempt security to any other person, the sale 
must be registered unless an exemption can be found for the transaction. "). 

431 See genera/(v Hicks, Resales ojRestricled Securities at § 2.4, 12-13, § 210, 22-23, § 2.11 , 23-24 (2015 ed.). See 
the Preliminary Note to Rule 144 ("Section 4(1) of the Securities Act prov ides one such exemption for a transaction 
' by a person other than an issuer, underwriter, or dealer. "'). 

432 Preliminary Note to Rule 144. 

433 IS U.S.C. § 77b(a)(II). See also SEC v. McNamee , 481 F.3d 451 , 455 (7th Cir. 2007). 

434 See generalt' Hicks, Resales of Restricted Securities at § 4: I 01,250 (2015 ed.). See the Preliminary Note to Rule 
144. 
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3. Broker-Dealer Has The Burden Of Showing A Reasonable Basis For 
An Exemption 

Once a prima faci e case is made out, as it was here,435 a broker-dealer has the burden of 
showing that it had a reasonable basis at the time it sold the securities for concluding that an 
exemption from registration existed.436 Exemptions from the registration requirements are 
afiim1ative defenses that must be establishe~ by the person claiming the exemption.437 111e 
Securities Act requires a broker-dealer and'its associated persons to act as gatekeepers to prevent 
unlawful distributions, and the responsibility rests on them to take all steps reasonable in the 
circumstances to assure themselves that an exemption applies before they sell securities without 

. . 438 
reglstratton. 

A broker-dealer's duty to investigate is not satisfied by simply checking boxes on a 
checklist. Rather, a finn must examine the infonnation it receives with a skeptical eye because 
the interested parties have an incentive to mislead and deceive a firm in order to facilitate their 
sale of securities. A broker-dealer must independently investigate suspicious facts to satisfy itself 
that an exemption exists. As the SEC has explained, 

A dealer who offers to sell, or is asked to sell a substantial amount of securities 
must take whatever steps are necessary to be sure that this is a transaction not 
involving an issuer, person in a control relationship with an issuer[,] or an 
underwriter. For this purpose, it is not sufficient for him merely to accept "self
serving statements of his sellers and their counsel without reasonably exploring 
the possibility of contrary facts. ,,439 

Exemptions from registration requirements are construed l1<uTowly.44o Accordingly, 
evidence in supp0l1 of an exemption must be "explicit, exact, and not built on mere conclusory 
statem ents. ,,44 I 

It is impOltant to bear in mind that there are two distinct burdens in this case. While it 
was Enforcement's burden to prove the elements of its claims, it was the Firm's burden before 

435 See infra p. 80. 

436 Bloomfield, 2014 SEC LEXlS 698, at *23 ; ACAP, 2013 SEC LEXIS 2156, at *29 (citations omitted); Dep 't C?f 
Enforcement v. Midas Sec., !LC, No. 2005000075703, 2011 FThTRA Discip. LEXIS 62, at *11 & n.8 (NAC :tvfar. 3, 
2011), aff'd, 2012 SEC LEXIS 199, at *28 & n.36. . 

437 Midas Sec. , 2011 FINRA Discip. LEXIS 62, at *28 & n.36, *38 . 

438 Padilla, 2012 FThTRA Discip. LEA'IS 46, at ~'29 . 

439 Laser Anns Corp., 50 S.E. C. 489, 503 (Feb. 14, 1991 ) (quoting Distribution by Broker-Dealers of Unregistered 
Securities; Exchange Act Release No. 4445, 1962 SEC LEXIS 74 (Feb. 2, 1962)). 

440 Midas Sec., 2011 FINRA Discip. LEXIS at *11-12 (quoting SEC v. Blazon, 609 F. 2d 960, 968 (9th Cir 1979). 

441 Midas Sec. , 2011 FINRA Discip. LEXIS at *12 (quoting Robert G. r'Veeks, Exchange Act Release No. 48684, 
2003 SEC LEXIS 2572, at *42 n.34 (Oct. 23, 2003). 
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selling the securities to establish a reasonable basis for the existence of an exemption from 
registration. 

4. Respondents Claim Two Exemptions 

With respect to the transactions at issue, Respondents claim that Rule 144 applied to the 
transactions, or, failing that, the so-called "broker's exemption" in Section 4(a)( 4) of the 
Securities Act [or ordinary unsolicited trading. 442 

a. Secmities Act Rule 144 

The SEC adopted Rule 144 both to provide a "safe harbor" for certain transactions and to 
protect against transactions by non-professionals as a means of circumventing the registration 
requirements. Among other things, Rule 144 restricts the resale of securities acquired directly or 
indirectly from the issuer or an affiliate in a transaction not involving a public offering. The SEC 
defines such securities as "restricted securities," and requires an owner of restricted securities to 
hold them for a length oftime before reselling them in another transaction without registration. 
TIle holding period and other conditions for resale differ if the holder of the restricted securities 
is an affiliate or non-affiliate .443 Thus, the identity of the person selling the securities and the 
nature of any relationship that person might have to the issuer become important to the 
exemption analysis . 

Rule 144 defines an affiliate of an issuer as a person who directly or indirectly controls or 
is controlled by or is under common control with the issuer. Although Rule 144 does not define 
control, it is commonly understood that the definition in SEC Rule 405 of Regulation C applies . 
It defines control as "the possession, direct or indirect, of the power to direct or cause the 
direction of the management and policies of a person whether through the ownership of voting 
securities, by contract, or othem1ise." Control depends on the totality of the circumstances and 
does not tum simply on \vhether a person is an officer of a company or the holder of a celiain 
amount of stock.444 

TIle identity of the issuer is impoltant, too. The Rule 144 safe harbor is not available for 
shell companies. A shell company is defined as an issuer "with no or nominal operations and no 
or nominal non-cash assets . , ,445 

A person who satisfi es the applicable conditions of Rule 144 is deemed not to be engaged 
in a distribution of the securities and therefore not to be an underwriter for purposes of the 

442 Res]). PH Br. at 2-5. 

443 17 C.F.R § 230.144. See generally Hicks, Resales ojRestricled Securities at § 2.4, 12-13, § 2: 1 0, 22-23, § 2.11 , 
23-24 (2015 ed.). 

444 SECv. Zenergy Int'l, Inc , 141 F. Supp. 3c1846, 853-54 (N.D. Ill. 2015). 

445 Id. at 853 . 
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Securities Act.446 The burden is on the person claiming an exemption under Rule 144 to prove 
that all the applicable conditions have been met. 447 

'I11e provisions of Rule 144( d)(3) relating to tacking are important here because tacking 
"vas the only way that the sellers in the transactions at issue could satisfy the required holding 
period. 111ere are two categories of tacking. One category applies where a person who acquires 
restricted securities cannot personally meet the applicable holding requir,ement, but he is able to 
tack the holding period of another person to his. The other category appiies where a person seeks 
to tack the period oftime he has held restricted securities to the time he held other securities of 
the same issuer. 448 

Both categories are relevant in this case. First, to establish the requisite holding period, 
the pUl'PoIted beneficial owners needed to tack their holding period to that of the prior holders. 
111eir ability to tack depended on the prior holders not being affiliates of the issuer. Second, in 
connection with the transactions charged in the Complaint, the prior holders needed to tack their 
acquisition of the securities to the earlier inception of the debt obligation exchanged for the 
securities. In order to do that, the debt obligation had to be a security. Rule 144 permits tacking 
based on the exchange of a security for another security of the same issuer (as long a'> no 
additional consideration is involved).449 

In this case, Respondents claim that they had sufficient evidence that the sellers of the 
securities at issue \",ere not affiliates of the issuers, the issuers were not shell companies, and the 
sellers had met the applicable holding period for the securities. \Ve conclude that they did not. 

h. Broker's Exemption Under Section 4(4) 

Respondents argue they ,,-'ere entitled to the so-called broker's exemption under Section 
4(4) of the Securities Act even if the transactions at issue \;>,fere not exempt under Rule 144.450 

446 See generally Hicks, Resales o.f'Restricted Securities at § 4: 1, 86 (2015 ed.). 

447 See Rule 144(b). 

4'18 See generally Hicks, Resales a/Restricted Securities at § 4: 139, 318 (2015 ed.). 

449 See generally Hicks, Resales o.fRestricled Securities at § 4: 139,318-19 (2015 ed.). Rule 1 44(d)(3) contains the 
provisions governing tacking. Two provisions are relevant here . Rule 1 44(d)(3)(iv) provides that securities that are 
acquired as a result of a default on a bona fide pledge of the securities shall be deemed to have been acquired when 
they were acquired by the pledger. However, if the securities were pledged without recourse they shall be deemed to 
have been acquired by the pledgee at the time of the pledge. Rule 1 44(d)(3)(ii) pemlits a person to tack the period of 
time he has held certain restricted securities to the period of time he has held related securities of the same issuer. It 
provides for tacking where the securities to be sold were acquired from the issuer solely in exchange for other 
securities of the same issuer. 

450Resp. PH Br. 4-5. 
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Section 4(4) is intended to exempt ordinary trading transactions that a broker may be asked to 
4<;1 execute. -

As discussed above, a person can be an underwriter within the meaning of the Securities 
Act ifhe acquires the securities from an issuer or affiliate of the issuer with a view to 
distribution. In order to ensure that the person offering restricted securities for resale is not acting 
as an wlderwriter, it is necessary for a broker to evaluate the circumstances in which tl:~t person 
acquired restricted securities and offers them for resale. A broker cannot be a mere order taker. It 
must make whatever inquiries are necessary under the circumstances to ensure that its customer 
is not an underwriter. 452 

111is exemption is not available when the broker "knows or has reasonable ground[s] to 
believe" that his customer is an underwriter, since in that event the broker would also violate 
Section 5 by participating in a non-exempt trarlsaction.453 As FINRA has stated, "[T]his 
exemption is available only if a broker is not aware, after a reasonable inquiry, of circumstances 
indicating that the selling customer is participating in a distribution of securities . ,,454 

Contrary to Respondents' arguments, we conclude that Respondents were confronted by 
abundant evidence that they were likely participating in unlawful distributions of securities. They 
cannot claim that they were unaware of facts signifying that possibility or the need to conduct 
fwther inquiry. 

5. Both Exemptions Required A "Searching Inquiry" To Ensure That 
No Underwriter \Vas Involved 

Neither the Rule 144 exemption nor the broker's exemption is available if the person 
selling the securities is an underwriter \;t,Iithin the meaning of the Securities Act. Accordingly, 
where there are red flags indicating the possibility that a person may be acting as an underwriter, 
both exemptions require that a broker make a "searching inquiry" lo satisfy itself that an 
exemption applies. Only then can a broker ensure that it does not participate in an unlawful 
distribution of unregistered secw:ities.455 

The SEC observed over half a century ago, " [\V]here the sWTounding circumstances raise 
a question as to whetl1er or not the ostensible sellers may be merely intel111ediaries for 

11 ' d . I 1 . . . . 11 d -C' ,,456 contro mg persons or statutory un erwnters, t len searc 11l1g mqUlry IS ca e lOr. 

451 World Trade Fin. Corp., Exchange Act Release No. 66114,2012 SEC LEXIS 56, at *26 (Jan. 6, 2012). 

452 Bloomjield, 2014 SECLEXIS 698, at *24-25 &nn.35-36. 

453 Bloomfield, 2014 SEC LEXIS 698, at *24; World Trade Financial COIp. , 2012 SEC LEXIS 56, at *26 & n.31 . 

454 CX-I97 at 2 (emphasis supplied). 

455 CX-l97. 

456 Bloon!field, 2014 SEC LEXIS 698, at *26-27. 
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6. FINRA Guidance On Red Flags Signaling That Underwriter May Be 
Involved 

In Regulatory Notice 09-05 , FINRA published guidance on the specific kinds of facts that 
give rise to the duty of conducting a searching inquiry.457 In that guidance, FINRA made plain 
that "[ a] 11 finns must have procedures reasonably designed to avoid becoming participants in the 
potential umegistered distribution ofsecUlities.,,458 It further explained, "Before selling secUlities 

in reliance on an exemption, a fiml must take reasonable steps to ensure that the transaction 
qualifies for the exemption .... ,,459 

Regulatory Notice 09-05 identifies a non-exhaustive list of red flags that signal the 
"possibility of an illegal, umegistered distribution.,,46o TIlese red flags are by no means 
comprehensive. TIley are merely illustrative. The generally recognized red flags in the Notice 
include the following: 461 

1. A customer opens a new account and delivers physical certificates that represent a 
large block of thinly traded or low-priced securities. 

2. A customer has a pattem of depositing physical share certificates, immediately selling 
the shares, and then wiring out the proceeds of the resale . 

3. A customer deposits share certificates that are recently issued or represent a large 
percentage of the float for the security. 

4. Share certificates reference a company or customer name that has been changed or 
that does not match the name on the account. 

5. The lack of a restrictive legend on deposited shares seems inconsistent with the date 
the customer acquired them or the nature of the transaction in which they were 

acquired. 

6. TIlere is a sudden spike in investor demand for a thinly traded or low-priced security, 
coupled ,.\lith a rising price. 

7. 'Dle company was a shell company when it issued the shares . 

8. A customer with little or no assets at the fil111 receives an electronic transfer or joumal 
transactions of large amounts of low-priced unlisted securities. 

457 CX-197. 

,158 CX-197, at 2. 

459 CX-197, at 2. 

460 CX-197, at 1. 

'161 CX-l 97, at3-4. 
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9. The issuer has been through several recent name changes, business combinations or 
recapitalizations, or the company' s officers are also officers of numerous similar 
compallles. 

10. TIle issuer' s SEC filings are not cun-ent, are incomplete, or are nonexistent. 

G. Ethical ViolatioJls (First Cause Of ActioJl-Scottsdale And Hurry) 

TIle First Cause of Action charges that Scottsdale and Hurry violated FINRA Rule 2010 
by acting in contravention of Section 5 of the Secutities Act. It alleges that during the relevant 
period, Scottsdale sold millions of shares of securities without registration and without an 
exemption. It further alleges that HutTY was a necessary participant and substantial factor in the 
unlawful transactions through his close management and control of all the entities involved in the 
process of depositing, approving, and reselling the secw-ities, and through his prospecting for 
CSCT customers. TIle Complaint alleges that Hurry took actions to evade regulatory scrutiny and 
enable the Firm to make the unlawful sales. 

1. Rule 2010 

FINRA Rule 2010 requires FINRA members and their associated persons to "observe 
high standards of commercial honor and just and equitable principles of trade" in the conduct of 
their business. TIle Rule requires members of the secw-ities industry not merely to confonn to 
legal and regulatory requirements, but to conduct themselves with integrity, faimess , and 

46? honesty. -

Scienter is not required for a Rule 2010 violation. Rather, the SEC has established a 
disjunctive test for a Rule 2010 violation that applies either (i) to intentional or conscious bad 
conduct or (ii) to a failure to meet ethical nonns, regardless of intention. TIle SEC has held that 
Rule 2010 may be violated if the respondent has acted either in bad faith or unethicaIly.463 In the 
context of a Rule 2010 violation, the SEC has defmed bad faith as a dishonest belief or purpose, 

462 Robert Marcus Lane, Exchange Act Release No. 74269, 2015 SEC LEXIS 558, at *22 n.20 (Feb. 13, 2015) 
(discussing NASD predecessor to FINRA Rule 2010: "[TJhis general ethical standard . .. is broader and provides 
more flexibility than prescriptive regulations and legal requirements. [FINRA Rule 2010J protects investors and the 
securities industry from dishonest practices that are unfair to investors or hinder the functioning of a free and open 
market, even though those practices may not be illegal or violate a specific rule or regulation.") (internal quotations 
omitted). 

j 

463 Blair Alexander West, Exchange Act Release No. 74030, 2015 SEC LEXIS 102, at *20 (Jan. 9, 2015); Thomas 
rv. Heath, 111, Exchange Act Release No. 59223,2009 SEC LEXIS 14, at *13-17 & nn.9-16 (Jan. 9, 2009), aIrd, 
586 F.3d 122, 130 (2d Cir . 2009), cert denied, 2010 U.S. LEXIS 3029 (Apr. 5,2010) (discussing NYSE predecessor 
of Rule 2010); Dep 'tofEnforcement v. Shvarts, No. CAF980029, 2000 NASD Discip. LEXIS 6, at *11 -18 (NAC 
June 2, 2000). 
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and unethical conduct as conduct inconsistent with the moral norms or standards of professional 
conduct. 464 

Because the securities industry is built on trust, any ethical failure damages the industry 
generally by cac;ting doubt on the integrity of its participants. An ethical failure also casts doubt 
on the ability of the particular miscreant to confonn to ethical nonns in the future. Enforcement 
of FINRA Rule 2010 is therefore fundamental to FINRA' s regulatory mission, which, as 
expressed in FINRA's Sanction Guidelines, "is the building of public confidence in the fmancial 
markets. ,,465 

2. Enforcement Established A Prima Facie Case Of A Section 5 
Violation 

TIle elements of a prima facie case for violation of Section 5 are the following: (i) 
respondents sold or offered to sell securities; (ii) through use of interstate facilities or the mails 
(the jurisdictional means); and (iii) when no registration statement was filed or in effect as to 
those securities . Scienter is not an element.466 A Section 5 violation does not require a showing 
that the sale actually facilitated a fraud. A sale without registration and without an exemption is 
an unlawful distribution of securities regardless of \vhether it is proven to be connected to a 
fraud. 

Enforcement established a prima facie case. It proved that from December 1, 2013, 
through June 30, 2014, Scottsdale sold shares of three issuers, NHPI, VPLM, and ORFG, using 
the jurisdictional means and without registration.467 

Respondents do not dispute these facts . TIley argue only that the transactions were 
fi 

. . 468 
exempt rom registratIOn. 

3. The Finn Lacked A Reasonable Basis For An Exemption 

Scottsdale failed to have a reac;onable basis for an exemption at the time that it sold the 
securities in the transactions at issue. 

464 Edward S. Brokaw, Exchange Act Release No. 70883, 2013 SEC LEXIS 3583, at *33 (Nov. 15, 20l3). See also 
Simpson v. Bear. Steams & Co., No. C07950030, 1997NASD Discip. LEXIS 13, at *27 n.9 (NAC .Tan 29, 1997) 
("Tenn 'bad faith' is not simply bad judgment or negligence, but rather it implies the conscious doing of a wrong 
because of dishonest purpose or III oral obliquity ... . "). 

465 FINRA Sanction Guidelines at I (2016) (Overview),. https /lwww.finra.orglindustrylsanction-guidelines. 
, 

466 Bloomfield, 2014 SEC LEXIS 698, at *22 & n.29. See also SEC v. Cavanagh, 445 F.3d 105, 111 n.13 (2d Cir. 

2006); SECv. Calvo, 378 F.3d 1211,1214-15 (11th Cir. 2004). 

467 RX-1; RX-2; RX-3 ; .lX-268; .lX-281 ; .lX-31 O. 

468 Resp. PH Br. 2-5. 
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First, in its due diligence the Finn did not even address the question whether the debt 
obligation was a security, despite having lawyers on its Rule 144 review team and despite 
Respondent Cruz being a lawyer with significant experience in the securities laws. It had no 
foundation for the tacking necessary to achieve the required holding period because the 
promissory notes and lines of credit on which the tacking was based were not securities. 

Second, the documentation to support the Rule 144 exemption was rife with 
discrepancies and suspicious circumstances-all ohvhich raised red flags strongly suggesting 
that the chain of transactions leading to deposits at Scottsdale were sham transactions using false 
documents and nominees to conceal the identity of the beneficial owners . 

Although the Finn compiled thick due diligence packages for the transactions, it did so 
with a "check-the-box" attitude. It did not appropriately evaluate the information in the due 
diligence packages, did not investigate the many red flags, and did not independently verify the 
infom1ation received from the interested parties . The due diligence packages created only the 
false appearance of due diligence. 

The Fim1 's conduct was unethical and did not meet the industry nonns. The persons 
involved in the Rule 144 review did not obtain any meaningful infonnation about the individuals 
and entities involved in the transactions. Diekmann confessed that he knew nothing about the 
purp0l1ed beneficial owner of one of the deposits other than that the person was a client of 
CSCT's client. Scottsdale knew little more about any of them. It failed to pelionn its 
gatekeeping function. The testimony of Enforcement's expel1 only confim1s our conclusion that 
the Firm failed to conduct itself in a manner consistent with industry nonns. 

a. The Prior Holders' Debt Obligations Were Not Secmities 
Available For Tacking 

i. Reves Governs \Vhether Note Is A Security 

Not every note or debt obligation is a security.469 The Supreme COUlt' s decision in Reves 
govems the analysis .47o .A . .ny note \vith a term of more· than nine months is presumed to be a 
security unless it resembles one of the judicially enumcrated instruments that are not securities, 
such as a note delivered in connection with consumer finance or a mOligage . In Reves, the C01l11 
set the analytic framework for detennining whether a note bears a resemblance to one of the 
enumerated instruments or should be held to be a security. Four factors may be considered in 
deciding whether a note is a security: 

(i) whether the seller's purpose is Lo raise money for general use of business or 10 

finance substantial investments, and the buyer is motivated by the profit to be 

469 Reves v. Ernst & Young, 494 U.S. 56, 65-67 (J 990). 

470 Ed. 
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generated, in contrast to a note to facilitate a minor purchase or sale or to 
conect for cash-flow difficulties; 

(ii) whether the note involves an individual transaction or common trading for 
speculation or investment; 

(iii) whether there is a reasonable public expectation that the note would be viewed 
as security; and 

(iv) whether another regulatory scheme applies that would reduce risk of the 
instrument. 471 

In another case, the COUlt later summed up the distinguishing characteristic of a security 
as "any instrument that might be sold as an investment.,,472 

As Vie explain below, we conclude that none of the debt obligations held by the prior 
holders were securities . 111at includes the NHPI note in payment for consulting services, the oral 
line of credit to VPLM, and the outstanding balance on the ORFG line of credit. As a result, 
when the prior holder accepted stock in satisfaction of the debt, it was not an exchange of 
securities that would support tacking. 

ii. NHPI 

It is plain that the note written by NHPI to Collins, the prior holder in the chain of 
holders, was not a security. \Ve observe at the outset that the note 's teml was much shol1er than 
the nine months required to presume a note to be a security-roughly two months. But it also 
fails the test set fOl1h in Reves. NHPI did not enter into the note agreement in order to finance its 
general business or to make a substantial investment. Nor \~iaS Collins motivated by some profit 
to be generated from the note. According to documents i.n the due diligence package, the note 
was no more than a promise to pay Collins $10,000 for consulting services. Furthell11ore, the 
note was issued in a si.ngle transaction. A note that "merely reflects a single transaction" and is 
"not offered to the public" is not a security.'1 73 Nor could there be any public expectation that an 
individual note proll1ising to pay for services was a security. The fouIth factor, whether another 
regulatory scheme applied and diminished the need for treating the instrument as a security, is 
inapplicable where no other factor SUppOlts labeling the note a security. 

471 Jd at 65-67. See also Bass v . .!anney MontgomelJ' Scott, [nc., 21 0 F.3d 577, 583-86 (6th Cir. 2000). 

,172 SEC v. Edwards, 540 U.S 389, 393 (2004). See also Fran/ifurt v. Mega Entel1ainmentGroup 11,2016 U.S. Dist. 
LEXIS 73613, at *11 (N.D. Ill. June 7,2016) (stating that "only those notes that were issued in an investment 
context" are securities) . 

473 New EGl1hshell COip. v . .!obookit Holdil1gs Ltd, 2015 U.S Dist. LEXIS 27141 , at *10-11 (SDN.Y. Mar. 5, 
2015) 
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As another similar note was aptly described by a federal district court, the note held by 
Collins was "akin to an 'IOU' for services rendered.',474 

iii. VPLM 

With respect to the issue of whether the oral line of credit eAiended by Locksmith to 
VPLM wa<; a security, the focus at the hearing was on whether there is any distinction bet\:veen 
an oral agreement and a written agreement. Diekmann maintained that there is no difference 
between an oral line of credit and a written line of credit for purposes of Rule 144 and tacking. 
He understood that in either case the successor holder could tack back to an advance on the line 
of credit. He based his understanding on his experience with the treatment of written lines of 
credit and discussions with legal counsel-who exactly he could not recall. 475 

In their post-hearing brief,476 Respondents relied on a Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals 
decision, Canadian Imperial Bank.477 TIleir reliance is misplaced. TIle issue in Canadian 
imperial Bank was whether a private plaintiffhad sufficiently pleaded the existence of a security 
for purposes of establishing subject matter jurisdiction. TIle plaintiff alleged that a certificate of 
deposit from a Bahama bank was a security, but no document was attached that could be 
analyzed for purposes of jurisdiction. TIle COUlt held that the complaint did not allege sufficient 
facts to establish jurisdiction, but it hastened to say that its decision did not mean that only 
written instruments can be securities, noting that oral promises of participation in a profit sharing 
plan have been held to be investment contracts even where not evidenced in writing. 47s TI1e 
COl1It 's remarks regarding oral promises as investment contracts provide no basis for concluding 
that the oral credit line here wa<; a security. 

TIle oral line of credit, unlike an oral promise ofpatticipation in a profit sharing plan, \:t.l as 

not represented to be an investment. Nor was it easily tradeable as an investment. There was no 
means of being certain of the tenns, confident of the effective transfer of rights , or sure that those 
rights might later be enforced. Accordingly, the oral line of credit was not a security. 

IvIoreover, even if written, the line of credit did not meet the Reves test. 111e line of credit 
was a loan to the issuer by a single. individual. Such an individual transaction would not be 
vie\.ved as a security by the public and would 110t ordinm-ily be traded as an investment. 

474 SEC v. Garber, 959 F. Supp. 2cl374, 377 (S.D.N.Y. 2013). 

475 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1711-17. 

476 Resp. PH Br. 22 n. l14. 

477 Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce TmSl Co. v. Fingland, 615 F. 2cl465 (7th Cir. 1980). 

478 Id at 466-67 & n.5. 
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iv. ORFG 

The open-ended line of credit extended by Forward to ORFG for $600,000 was not a 
security. As discussed above in connection with the other debt conversion transactions, it did not 
meet the Reves test. It was an individual transaction that was not designed to trade as an 
investment. Nor would the public view it as a security.479 

b. The Firm Ignored Red Flags 

Even if the notes had been securities, the transactions were not entitled to the safe harbor 
of Rule 144. Many of the red flags set forth in Regulatory Notice 09_05480 existed in the 
transactions at issue. The following red flags are examples: 

• All the stock deposits in the transactions at issue consisted oflarge blocks of thinly 
traded, low-priced stocks issued by obscure companies. (Reg. Notice 09-05 Red Flag 1). 

• CSCT had a pattern of making large deposits of thinly traded microcap stocks, selling the 
securities, and immediately wiring out the proceeds. Respondents knew that CSCT "vas 
acting on behalf of its FFI customers involved in the transactions and that the FFls also 
engaged in the same pattern while acting on behalf of other entities and individuals. 
Despite the pattern, Scottsdale did nothing to investigate who actually was receiving the 
funds from the securities sales. Because the only account at Scottsdale was in the name of 
CSCT, Scottsdale could not and did not track where the proceeds ultimately went. It 
could not tell ifthe proceeds went to the different purported beneficial owners or to other 
persons who were repeatedly engaging in the deposit and immediate resale of securities. 
(Reg. Notice 09-05 Red Flag 2). 

• The deposited shares were recently issued, which suggested that the issuer or its control 
persons could be initiating a distribution. Nothing in the due diligence packages indicates 
that Scottsdale took any note of that fact. (Reg. Notice 09-05 Red Flag 3). 

• Although the issuer claimed not to be a shell corporation, there was little evidence of 
ongoing business operations. The Finn mainly relied on a representation by a principal of 
the issuer that the entity was not a shell. (Reg. Notice 09-05 Red Flag 7) . 

• Two of the issuers involved in this case had business histories that suggested shell status. 
Only a few months before the deposit ofNHPI securities at Scottsdale, NHPI, a 
pharmaceutical company, announced it was going into the oil and gas business. ORFG, 

479 Furthermore, even ifthe note had been a security, Forward did not transfer the ORFG note for securities of 
ORFG. He transferred a portion of the note for securities of a different entity, Anything Media. He also did so in 
connection ,'lith an agreement by ORFG to modifY the terms of the original line of credit. His exchange involved 
securities of a different issuer and different consideration. Accordingly, Media Central was not entitled to tack back 
to Forward's original note. 

480 See supra pp. 78-79 . 
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which described itself as an automotive detailing company that used casual part-time 
labor as required, similarly indicated it was considering going into mineral exploration 
and set f0l1h an anticipated payment schedule for three unspecified mining concessions. 
In both cases, the new business venture was radically different from the old line of 
business, the infol11lation regarding either line of business was scant, and the company 's 
purported resources did not appear sufficient to engage in the new line of business. (Reg. 
Notice 09-05 Red Flags 7 and 9). 

Finally, we note that it is critical in a Rule 144 transaction to know the identity of the 
purported beneficial owners and any relationship they might have to the issuers or affiliates of 
the issuers of the shares they seek to sell. Even after collecting voluminous documents, the Fiml 
in fact knew nothing about the purpOlted beneficial owners or about the businesses through 
which they held the securities except their names . Diekmatm, who headed the Rule 144 team at 
the time of the transactions at issue, admitted that he knew nothing about the purported beneficial 
owner of one of the NHPI deposits other thatl that the person was a customer ofUnicom. 481 TIle 
Finn knew little more than that about any of the other purported beneficial owners involved in 
the transactions at issue. Diekmann 's testimony is a stark confession that the Finn did not 
perConn it') gatekeeping function and did not adhere to high standards of commercial honor and 
just and equitable principles of trade. 

c. Respondents' Arguments Are Unavailing 

i. NHPI 

Respondents' arguments relating to the NHPI deposits rest on treating the representations 
by the interested patties in the documentation for the NHPI deposits as though they were true. 
For example, Scottsdale asserts that Collins was not an affiliate of NHPI, and therefore he could 
freel y sell the stock derived from his note in the fall of 20 13 regardless of any tacking to the 
inception of the May 2012 note.482 Respondents then reason that Collins ' transactions with Sky 
Walker, lrelatld Offshore, atld Swiss National could not be fake 10atl transactions, as 
Enforcement pOltrays them, because, as a non-affiliate holder for more than a year, Collins could 
simply have sold the shares to the three depositors. Respondents conclude that there could be no 
reason to fake the loan transactions. Respondents likewise asseli that the beneficial owners of 
Sky Walker, Ireland Offshore, and Swiss National \;<,'ere not affiliates ofNHPI based on the 
representations to that effect by the interested paliies. 483 

In making arguments that depend upon the tmth of the representations made by the 
interested pmties, Respondents only demonstrate their continuing lack of appropriate response to 

481 Hearing IT. (Diekmann) 911-13, 919. 

482 In so arguing, the Firm abandon,> the basis on which the deposit was justified at the time Scottsdale sold the 
shares. On its Checklist for the transaction, the Finn relied on tacking back to the inception of the May 2012 note . 
I0'<-I , at I. 

483 Resp. PH Br. 13-15. 
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the suspicious circumstances and glaring red flags raised by the NHPI deposits. As the SEC has 
noted, a broker-dealer may not rely on representations by interested pruties because those 
interested patties have an incentive to make misrepresentations. 484 

ii. VPLM 

Again, Scottsdale's arguments largely assume the truth of the representations by the 
interested parties . TIley 'assett that they reasonably relied on those representations.485 We reject 
Respondents ' position. Red flags signaled that the transaction could be a scheme to evade the 
registration requirements while distributing securities to the public. The Firm could not sell the 
securities unless it investigated further and obtained better support for an exemption. 

Scottsdale also argues that Enforcement failed to prove that any proceeds of the sales of 
VPLM flowed back to the issuer or that there were any links between the issuer ruld the persons 
involved in selling VPLM stock through CSCT and Scottsdale.4s6 As discussed above, the Firm 
misunderstands the law. It was not Enforcement's burden to prove who was behind the 
transactions; rather, it was Respondents' burden to probe the suspicious circumstances and 
establish that the transaction was entitled to the Rule 144 exemption before the Firm sold the 
secmities. 

iii. ORFG 

As with the other transactions, Respondents ' arguments assume the truth of the 
representations in the transaction documents. For instrulce, they argue that the Finn obtained 
satisfactory evidence that the transaction met the requir'ements of Rule 144 because the Firm 
obtained a letter from ORFG's Chainnan and CEO dated May 19,2014, confinningthat Media 
Central and its purported owner were not affiliates of the company. 

Given that the underlying transaction-the $600,000 open-ended credit line giving the 
holder discretion to convert stock at will-made no sense, it was umeasonable to rely on that 
Jetter as the only evidence that the seller was not 3.11 affiliate. If the chain oftrrulsactions were 
really a series of steps in a distribution for the ultimate benefit of the issuer or. those persons 
controlling the issuer, then such a representation by the issuer 's Chairman and CEO would be irl 
service ofthe unlawful distribution of securities without registration. 

4. Hurry's Violation 

TIle First Cause of Action also charges that Hurry was a necessary participant and 
substarltial factor in the unlawful transactions, through his close marlagement arld control of all 
the entities involved irl the process of depositing, approving, and reselling the securities, and 

484 Laser Arms, 1991 SEC LEXIS 257, at *36. 

485 Resp. PH Br. 21. 

486 ReS]). PH Br. 22. 
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through his prospecting for CSCT customers. It expressly alleges that Hurry purposely 
established CSCT as a means of evading regulatory scrutiny and enabling the Film to make the 
unlm:vful sales. Enforcement proved the charges. 

a. Huny Was A Necessary Participant And Substantial Factor 

Section 5 makes it unlawful for a person to offer or sell securities without registration. 
Liability, however, is not limited to tli.~ person or entity that ultimately passes title to the 
security. Courts have developed the "necessary participant/substantial factor" test as a way of 
holding other persons involved with the transactions accountable under Section 5 as offerors or 
sellers .487 The "necessary patiicipant/substantial factor" test is based on statutory language in 
Section 5, which imposes liability on persons who "di.rectly or indirectly" offer or sell securities 
in violation of Section 5. 488 

The "necessary participant/substantial factor" test distinguishes between those persons 
who have only a de minimis or insubstantial role in securities sales in violation of Section 5 and 
those who should be liable. The test is more than a "but for" test. Even if a person is necessary to 
the completion of the transaction, such as a transfer agent might be, that does not necessarily 
mean the person was a substantial factor in the violation. Detennilling whether someone was a 
substantial factor in the unlawful sales is a fact issue requiring extensive analysis. 489 

It is not clear that the "necessary palticipant/substantial factor" test is appropriate here. 
Hurry is not charged with offering or selling securities in violation of Section 5. He is charged 
\;>"ith an ethical violation under Rule 2010. He does not have to be pl'Oven to be an offeror or 
seller in order to be proven to have violated Rule 2010. 

TIle parties briefed Hun-y 's liability using the "necessary patticipant/substantial factor" 
test, however, and we use it to assist in determining whether Hun-y was sufficiently linked to the 
transactions at issue to hold him liable for violating Rule 2010 in connection with them. We also 
separately apply the more familiar standard for Rule 2010 violations, which we discuss below. 

Based on the above factual record and analysis, which we do not repeat in detail here, we 
conclude that Hun-y was a necessal-Y patticipant and a substantial factor in the transactions . He 
was sufficiently linked to the transactions to hold him accountable for his conduct in connection 
with them. His role was not de minimis or insubstantial. 

\Ve reject Hun-y's argument that he cannot be linked to the transactions at issue. He 
asselts that there is "not a single document relating to the stocks in question with [his] name 

487 SEC v. CA1KM Diamonds, Inc. , 729 F.3d 1248, 1255 (9th CiT. 2013). 

488 SEC v. Boock, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 95363, at *47 & n.l7 (S.D.NY. Aug. 25, 2011). 

489 C1IIIKM Diamonds, 729 F.3d at 1255-57; SEC v. Blackburn, 201 5 U. S. Dist. LEXIS 178325, *8-9 (E.D La. Sept. 
11 , 2015) . 
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anywhere on it.,,49o While there was little in the way of a paper trail directly linking Hurry to the 
pruticular transactions at issue, the absence of such a direct link vvas the result of Hun'y's own 
demonstrated obsession with secrecy. He purposely concealed his involvement in CSCT's 
business. It is not surprising that there is not a single document relating to the deposits at issue 
with his nrune on it, because he made sure of it. 

In fact, HurTY \~'as the master puppeteer for ~V the FFI bll';iness that flowed through 
CSCT to Scottsdale and, ultimately, to public investors. CSCT existed only because he 
established and closely mrulaged it. Given Ruzicka 's lack of experience, qualifications, and 
contacts, CSCT could not have survived without Hun'y's active involvement. \Ve reject HUtTY 'S 
asseltion that, because Ruzicka had decades of experience as a real estate lawyer who ran his 
own law finn, hiring Ruzicka to run CSCT was a reaSonable ruld logical decision. 491 

With respect to the particular transactions at issue, there is sufficient evidence of a link 
between HutTy and the FFls that made the deposits. Hun), developed CSCT's business with the 
three FFls that engaged in those transactions, Montage, Titan, and Unicom. As set forth more 

. fully above, Huny admits that he flew to Panama to see Montage and to Belize to see Unicom 
and that he discussed with Unicom doing its business tlu'ough CSCT. He admits to talking to the 
principals of Montage, Titan, and Unicom mUltiple times using FaceTime. He admits to creating 
the spreadsheet that tracked CSCT deposits, including those by Montage, Titan, and Unicol11. 
D'Mura testified that he ruld Ruzicka talked about deposits with Hun)" and an email shows that 
HUtTY specifically discussed trading in NHPI and VPLM with Ruzicka. Ruzicka testified that 
HUll), told him to deal with a specific contact at Montage. Both Ruzicka ruld D'Mura said they 
disliked dealing with Cem Crul at Unicol11, but that they knew that they had no authority to 
decline his business without Hun'Y's consent. 

Hun)"s direct contact with the tlu'ee FFls involved in the transactions at issue made him 
a substrultial factor in their transactions. He did not take Ruzicka with him when he flew to 
Prulama ruld Belize to talk to Montage and Unicol11, and Ruzicka testified in his OTR that he did 
not pruticipate in HUI1)"s FaceTime calls with customers. Huny was the critical link between 
CSCT and the tlu'ee FFls. Huny's impOltance was reflected in Unicorn ' s demruld for HurTY to 
join a telephone call with Miller, Diekmann, and Ruzicka to discuss the processes ruld 
procedures to be used in cOIU1ection with Unicol11 's business with Scottsdale tlu'ough CSCT. 
\A/henever something beyond paper-pushing was involved, HUI1'y's input was necessary. Vh 

reject Hun'y ' s argument that he merely displayed the nOlmal interest of an owner in the overall 
financial pelfonnance of his fill11 .492 His involvement in CSCT's business was intense ruld 
pervasIve. 

'190 Resp. PH Br. 45. 

491 Resp. PH Br. 43-44. 

'192 Resp. PH Br. 46-47. 
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Huny further argues that the case law only imposes liability under Section 5 where the 
defendant has either sold the um-egistered securities himself or has taken concrete steps 
necessalY to effectuate those sales, such as negotiating transactions, issuing opinion letters, or 
directing the issuance of shares. He contends that he engaged in no such activities here.493 

\Ve reject the argument. As noted above, HUrTY is not charged with a Section 5 violation, 
but, rather, a Rule 2010 violation. Unethical conduct in violation of Rule 2010 is not constrained 
by case law defIning who is liable as a statutory seller under Section 5. In any event, substantial 
participation is a broad concept without precise bounds. One who conceives of and plans a 
scheme, or one who is a substantial motivating factor behind it, can be liable under Section 5.494 

To hold otherwise would allow a person to mastermind a Section 5 violation, and, by directing 
others to perfonn the mechanical tasks necessary to effect the sale of securities wit.hout 
registration, escape liability. 

b. Hurry Acted In Bad Faith 

FINRA Rule 2010 is a broad ethical principle that may be violated either by conduct that 
fails to meet ethical nonns, regardless of intention, or conduct that is undeltaken in bad faith. We 
find here that, in cOlmection with the business he routed through CSCT, Hun'y acted in bad faith 
and violated FINRA Rule 2010. \lIle conclude that he was engaged in a scheme to evade the 
securities laws, in particular the registration requirements of Section 5. 

Huny claimed that he established CSCT because Alpine \",anted to shed its IRS tax 
withholding obligations, but there was no evidence that it made business sense to set up an office 
in the Cayman Islands to do that. In fact, the insertion of CSCT into the process of preparing 
stock celtifIcates for resale to the public made no business sense because, due to the discounts 
Scottsdale eA1:ended to CSCT, Hun-y's enterprises as a collective group made no more money 
than \,,,hen Scottsdale was handling the business directly--but CSCT imposed additional costs . 

That ~mTY had no legitimate business reason for setting up CSCT is further apparent 
frol11 the way the Finn handled the business purportedly routed through CSCT. The Finn, 
through Miller and Noiman, continued to deal directly with the FFIs and often handled issues 
that arose with the deposits without involving Ruzicka or CSCT. Rather than independently 
preparing deposits for submission to Scottsdale, Ruzicka also sought guidance from Diekmann 
as to what deposits he should consider. 

Fmther casting doubt on the legitimacy of Huny' s reasons for setting Up CSCT, 
Diekmann testified that an individual in Belize or Panama could have a direct account with 

493 Resp. PH Br. 46 and n.26 1. 

494 SEC v. EllioLt, 20 II U.S. Dist. LEXIS 91946, at *20 (S.D.N. Y. Aug. 17, 2011). See also SEC v. Holschuh, 694 F. 
2d 130, 139-40 (7th Cir. 1982); SEC II. Friendly Power Co., 49 F. Supp. 2d 1363, 1372 (S.D. Fla. 1999) (a person 
has indirectly sold a security to the public if he has "employed or directed others to sell ... or has conceived of and 
planned the scheme by which the unregistered securities were offered or sold"). 
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Scottsdale without going through an FFI like Unicorn or CSCT.495 Cruz admitted that it would be 
easier to conduct due diligence on a direct customer of the Finn than a customer viho came 
through an FFI such as CSCT or Unicom.496 In fact, the creation of CSCT diminished 
Scottsdale's access to inf01111ation about the purported beneficial o\vners, and neither Scottsdale 
nor Alpine, Hurry's clearing finn, knew where the proceeds from sales of the securities were 
flowing. 497 This testimony raises the question of the purpose served by the mUltiple layers of 
entities-if not to conceal the identity of the true beneficial owners of the securit.ies. 

Hurry 's bad faith \l,l as amply proven by his elaborate stratagems for concealing his 
involvement in CSCT's business, including his use of the "x" email address at CSCT, his 
insistence on using the attorney-client privilege in inappropriate circumstances, and his use of 
FaceTime to conceal his contacts with customers . He specifically wrote to Ruzicka in an email 
that there should be no written record of Hurry's involvement, which is powerful evidence of 
Hlllry 'S scheme to avoid regulatory scmtiny. Ruzicka testified in his OTR that I-hmy told him he 
was going to the Cayman Islands so that he would not have to "give anything to anyone. " 

Hun)"s actions betray an attitude antithetical to the public interest, and his attempt to 
evade regulatory scmtiny is inconsistent with his duties as a securities professional. He failed to 
adhere to high standards of commercial honor and just and equitable principles of trade, thereby 
violating FINRA Rule 2010. 

H. Supervisory Violations (Second And Third Causes Of Action-DiBlasi And. 
Cruz) 

1. NASD Rule 3010 Imposes Supervisory Duties 

NASD Rule 301O(a) mandates that each member fi1111 "shall establish and maintain a 
system to supervise" the activities of its associated persons. It fUlther mandates that a finn 's 
supervisory system be "reasonably designed to achieve compliance with the applicable securities 
la\,vs and regulations, and with applicable NASD Rules." 

Rule 301O(a)(l) provides that a finn ' s supervisory system "shall provide, at a minimum," 
for the "establ ishment and maintenance of written procedures." Rule 301 O(b) details 
requirements for \VSPs. Rule 3010(b)(l) requires that a member finn "shall establish, maintain, 
and enforce written procedures to supervise the types of business in which it ·engages. " Those 
WSPs must be "reasonably designed to achieve compliance with applicable securities laws and 
regulations, and with the applicable Rules ofNASD." 

Rule 301O(b)(3) fUliher requires that the WSPs set forth the titles, registration status, 
locations and responsibilities of each of its supervisol)' personnel, and that a<;signments be made 

495 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 1675. 

496 Hearing If. (Cruz) 220. 

,197 Hearing If. (Cruz) 661-62; Hearing If. (Frankel) 2349-50. 
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covering all relevant aJ'eas of the fim1's business and the applicable securities laws and FINRA 
Rules. Finns are required to preserve a record of these designations aJ1d their effective dates for 
at least three years. Under Rule 301 O(b)( 4), a fmn is required to amend its WSPs as changes 
occur in its supervisory system. 

Broadly speaking, WSPs are a written set of policies and procedures that describe 
concrete steps to supervise a finn 's activities. 111ey identify who is responsible for taking thos~. 
steps and set up a system of documentation to allow for review and ensure proper 
implementation. Every broker-dealer finn must create, maintain, update, and adhere to those 
policies and procedures. 498 Those policies and procedures contribute to the establishment and 
maintenance of a supenlisory system that is reasonably designed to achieve compliance \;vith the 
la\:<,Is, regulations, and rules applicable to the finn's business. To achieve accountability and 
ensure compliaJ1ce, the WSPs must be clear and accurate regarding the allocation of supervisory 
responsibilities. 

2. DiBlasi's Violation 

a. Charge 

111e Second Cause of Action charges that Scottsdale and DiBlasi, the Firm's CCO, 
violated NASD Rules 3010(a) aJ1d (b) and FINRA Rule 2010. 111e Complaint alleges that 
DiBlasi failed to establish a supervisory system, including WSPs, reasonably designed to ensure 
compliance \)I' ith Section 5. This failure occlmed even though DiBlasi knew that the Firm had 
been sanctioned once before in settling prior charges of selling unregistered nonexempt 
securities. Among other things, the Complaint charges that the Fim1 ' s WSPs were deficient 
because they did not set f011h clear responsibilities for its persormel and did not provide for a 
reasonable inquiry into beneficial ownership. 111e Complaint alleges that the WSPs did not 
require that the Finn's personnel take steps to independently verify the self-serving 
representations made by parties interested in the transactions and did not address the possible use 
of nominees to obscure the identity of the. true beneficial owners of unregistered securities 
deposited at the Fim1 for resale. Enforcement proved the charge. 

b. DiBlasi Had Responsibility For The Firm's WSPs 

111roughout the relevant period, DiBlasi was the Finn 's CCO; aJ1d he is still the Finn's 
CCO. DiBlasi contends, however, that he has never had responsibility for the Firm's Rule 144 
business . He assel1s that he does only what he calls "broker-dealer compliance," and not Rule 
144 compliance.499 According to DiBlasi, the Finn 's fonner president, Cruz, had responsibility 

~98 Dep 't of ElI,forcement v. Ranni, No. 20080117243, 2012 FINRA. Discip. LEXIS 6, at * 15-16 (OHO Mar. 9, 
2012). . 

499 Hearing IT. (DiBlasi) 1921-22, 1927, 1952-53, 1976-77. DiBlasi described what he meant by broker-dealer 
compliance. He makes sure that the Fiml 's filings, such as the Foml BD and the Forms U4 and US , are done. He 
maintains records and makes sure correspondence and em ails are reviewed. He summed up his work as taking care 
orall the "back office" tasks. Hearing IT. (DiBlasi) 1976-77. 
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for Rule 144 procedures and everyone deferred to him.500 DiBlasi agreed that Cruz had a 
longstanding practice regarding responsibilities for Rule 144 compliance. 501 

We reject DiBlasi's assertion that he had no responsibility for the Finn's procedures in 
connection yvith the Finn 's Rule 144 business for two reasons. First, in the circumstances of this 
case, the assertion is inconsistent with his designation as the Finn 's Chief Compliance Officer; 
and, second, the asseltion is inconsistent with the WSPs themselves, as is plain from reading 
them. 

First, DiBlasi is the sole person disclosed on the Fil11l's F0l111 BD as CCO. There is no 
co_CCO. 502 TIlat means that DiBlasi has been identified to the Finn's regulator as the one person 
responsible for establishing and maintainIng the Finn's WSPs. 

TI1e Film's WSPs were required to cover its Rule 144 business, since the Finn 's business 
is almost entirely the liquidation of unregistered microcap stocks. DiBlasi acknowledged in his 
testimony that during the relevant period 95% of the transactions Scottsdale did for its customers 
involved penny stocks, and pelmy stocks accounted for most of the Fiml's revenue. 503 That 
business required heightened attention to compliance issues, as DiBlasi knew. TIle Finn had 
previously settled regulatory charges that it had improperly sold unregistered securities without 
an applicable exemption.504 

In these circumstances, the designation CCO calTied with it responsibility for the \VSPs 
relating to the Film's Rule 144 business. DiBlasi ' s abdication of responsibility as to that business 
is fundamentally incompatible with what it means to be the Finn's CCO. 

\Ve rej ect DiBlasi ' s assertion that Enforcement is trying to hold him liable by virtue of 
his title alone. 505 Rule 3010 requires the designation and disclosure of a person responsible for 
establishing and maintaining a finn's procedures. By definition under the Rule, the person 
disclosed as the CCO has responsibility for the Firm 's \VSPs . TIle Rule fmiher sets a standard 
for the design of those procedures, vi/hich must be reasonably designed to achieve compliance 
with the laws and regulations applicable to the finn's business. TIle designation and disclosure of 
a finn's CCO is more than a meaningless title. It is one of the building blocks of a supervisory 
system reasonably designed to achieve compliance, and the CCO designation calTies with it 

500 Hearing If. (DiBlasi) 1944-47, 1952-53, 1965-66. 

501 Hearing If. (DiBlasi) 1970. According to DiBlasi, his predecessor as ceo had no responsibility for Rule 144 
compliance either. Id. 

502 Hearing If. (DiBlasi) 1981. j 

503 Hearing If. (DiBlasi) 1923, 1946. 

504 Hearing If. (DiBlasi) 1923-24; CX-12. 

505 Resp. PH Br. 38 n.220. 
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responsibilities . If DiBlasi is not canying out those responsibilities, then the disclosure on the 
Firm 's F on11 BD is false and misleading. S06 

Second, throughout the relevant period the Finn's WSPs expressly provided that the 
CCO-DiBlasi-had the duty to establish, maintain, and enforce all ofthe Finn's WSPs. There 
were two sets of \VSPs during the relevant period, the May 2013 \VSPs that were in effect in 
October 2013 when DiBlasi became CCO, and the modified WSPs that became effective in May 
2014. The main body of both sets of WSPs expressly assigned to the CCO responsibility to 
"[ elstablish, maintain and update, as required the finn rules and procedures" and specified that 
that responsibility included Appendix A and Appendix B to the WSPs.S07 Appendix A to both 
sets of WSPs listed principals and branches. S08 Appendix B to both sets of WSPs expressly 
assigned to DiBlasi, by name, the responsibility to "[ e]stablish, maintain and update, as required, 
the finn IUles and procedures . "S09 Appendix B assigned to CIUZ, Diekmann, and others various 
operational tasks in conducting Rule 144 due diligence, but it did not assign them responsibility 
for the WSPs.5lO 

DiBlasi conceded that there was no written delegation in the 2013 WSPs that gave 
responsibility for Rule 144 policies and procedures to anyone other than the CCO.5Jl Moreover, 
the 2013 WSPs expressly imposed celiain specific responsibilities on the CCO in connection 
with sales of unregistered securities. The main body of the \VSPs included a specific section 
dealing with Rule 144 stock that was headed "Rule 144 Restricted and Control Stock Sales. "S 12 
In that section, the 2013 \"/SPs stated that the CCO \vas responsible for establishing procedures 
reasonably designed to ensure that a stock certificate was validly issued and ov.rned by the 
customer.5!3 ImpOliantly, the 2013 WSPs also provided that the CCO should establish 

506 The cases cited by Respondent~ are not relevant here. The cases did not involve the issue of whether a CCO was 
responsible for a fim1 's WSPs. Dep 't OfEI?forcement v. Mutual Servo CO/p., No. EAF0400630001 , 2008 FINRA 
Discip. LEXIS 62, at *90-93 (OHO Dec. 16, 2008) (compliance department subordinates who were told to abandon 
red flag blotter review did not have supervisory responsibility for that review); Dep 't of E'?forcement V. Kemweis, 
No. C029S0024, 2000 NASD Discip. LEXIS 49, at *67-70 (OHO Feb. 16, 2000) (Director of Compliance held not 
to have line responsibility for unsuitable trading by registered representatives) 

507 CX-179, at 6 ("The Chief Compliance Officer CCCO') is responsible for the establishment and maintenance [of 
Scottsdale' s] policies and procedures. "); ex -180, at 6 (sam e). 

508 CX-179, at 158; CX-180, at 151. 

509 Hearing Tf. (DiBlasi) 1930; CX-1Sl, at 2 (DiBlasi assigned to "[ e ]stablish, maintain and update, as required the 
fim rules and procedures, includes Appendices A and B"); CX-182, at :2 (same). It appears that Appendix B to the 
:tvIay 2013 WSPs were modified on November 13, :2013, to identify DiBlasi by name as responsible for the WSPs. 
CX -1 81 , footer bearing date of " 111131:20 13" 

510 CX-181, at 8-9; CX-182, at 8-9. For example,.Appendix B assigned to Diekmann responsibility for Rule 144 
stock deposit due diligence and approval. CX-18i , at 9; C'X-182, at 9. 

5Jl Hearing Tf. (DiBlasi) 1933, 1945, 1955-56. 

512 CX-179, at 63-65 (Rule 144 Restricted and Control Stock Sales, 8.18 through 8.18.11). 

513 CX-179, at64 (8.182) 
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procedures to ensure that the resale of such a security was made in reasonable reliance on an 
exemption [rom registralion. 514 TIle 2013 \VSPs further provided that the CCO should be notified 
and consulted regarding the processing of Rule 144 sales.515 TIley also specified that the CCO 
was responsible for "developing and implementing policies and procedures that provide for the 
revie\v, approval and resale of Rule 144 transactions. ,,51 G 

Nevertheless, DiBlasi argues that he was not responsible for the 2013 WSPs because he 
inherited them.5li TIle fact that the 2013 WSPs already existed when DiBlasi became CCO, 
however, does not absolve him of responsibility to examine them, and, if necessary, to amend 
them.sls As noted above, Rule 3010 contemplates that amendments should be made to WSPs if 
there are changes in a firm's supervisory processes, so that the WSPs accurately reflect what the 
fiml is doing. Indeed, shortly after DiBlasi became the Finn's CCO, in November 2013, the Finn 
modified Appendix B to identify DiBlasi by name as the person responsible for establishing, 
maintaining, and updating the Finn's WSPs, including Appendices A and B.519 If Cruz had 
responsibility for WSPs to the e1.'1ent that they related to its Rule 144 business, the correction 
could and should have been made in November 2013 . 

DiBlasi also attempts to explain away aspects of the 2013 WSPs that contradict his 
position-such as the specific assignment of Rule 144 compliance tasks to the CCO. He testified 
that the 2013 WSPs "didn'l accurately reflect how the division of responsibility was set up 
tlu"oughout the company. And it needed to be cOlTected.,,520 The 2013 \VSPs, however, clearly 
stated that DiBlasi was responsible for the Fiml ' s policies and procedures and made him 
specifically responsible for policies and procedures relating to the Finn ' s Rule 144 business. His 
disclaimer of responsibility cmmot oven"ide that plain statement. 

Approximately six months after DiBlasi became CCO, in May 2014, the WSPs were 
modified. 521 Even then, hov,Iever, the WSPs did nol clem"ly reflect the division of responsibility 
that DiBlasi described in his testimony. TIle WSPs did not say that Cruz had responsibility for all 
aspects of Rule 144 compliance, including the \VSPs relating to Rule 144. 

In place of the ceo, the main body of the modified WSPs designated the "General 
Principal" as responsible for developing procedures to ensure that a stock celiificate was validly 
issued and owned by the customer, and that the resale of slIch a security was made in reasonable 

514 Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1940-41 ; CX-l 79, at 64 (8.18.2). 

SIS CX-179, at 64 (8.183). 

516 CX-l 79, at 64 (8.18.3). 

51 7 Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1932-33. See Resp. PH Br. 38-39. 

518 Ranni, 2012 FINRA Discip. LEXIS 6, at *27 & TI.93. 

519 CX-182, at 2. 

520 Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1969. 

521 Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1921 , 1932-33, 1939-42. 
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reliance on an exemption. 522 Similarly, the modified WSPs instructed that the General Principal 
should be consulted in connection with Rule 144 transactions. Under the modified WSPs, the 
General Principal was responsible for developing and implementing Rule 144 policies and 

523 procedures . 

. Although the title "General Principal" might appear to refer to a single person, the term 
General Principal was defined in the modified WSPs as the ":tvIanagement Committee. ,,524 TIle 
\VSPs declared that the Management Committee had been set up to serve in the role of president 
of the Finn.525 TIle Management Committee was defined in yet another location to consist of 
four persons-including DiBlasi. 526 Accordingly, even under the modified WSPs, as a member 
of the Management Committee, DiBlasi still retained some vaguely defined responsibility for 
Rule 144 transactions. 

DiBlasi relies on the delegation to the Management Committee in arguing that he had no 
responsibility for compliance matters related to the Firm's Rule 144 business. He maintains that 
the specific assignment of responsibility for the \VSPs to him by name in Appendix B did not 
"overwrite" the provision in the main body of the WSPs refelTing to the Management 
Committee. 527 

Given the ambiguity of the delegation of responsibility in the main body of the WSPs
ostensibly to the General Principal but actually to a committee that included DiBlasi-we think 
the clear, explicit assignment of responsibility for the \VSPs to DiBlasi by name .contained ill 
Appendix B forecloses DiBlasi 's argument. That conclusion is bolstered by the description in the 
main body of the \VSPs of the CCO's duties, which include responsibility for the Finn's policies 
and procedures. 

DiBlasi 's argument also is undennined by the fact that he took actions in connection with 
certificate deposits. For example, he signed a foreign account application by Unicol11 under the 
label "Compliance Approval. ,,528 FUlihennore, others at the Finn reached out to him in 
connection with issues regarding celtificate deposits. For example, Diekmann had concems 
about a deposit because Ruzicka said that the customer was pressing to start trading a stock when 

522 cx-J 80, at 64 (8.18.2). 

523 CX- J 80, at 64 (8. J 8.3). 

52,1 CX- i 80, at 7 (Compliance and Supervision J .1 .2). 

525 Hearing Ir. (DiBlasi) 1972; CX·180, at 7. 

526 Hearing Ir. (DiBlasi) 1933-34, 1939-40, 1942-43. Ihe other mem bers of the Management Comm ittee were Cruz, 
Jay Noiman., and Elizabeth Arndt. Hearing Tf. (Noiman) 1065-66; Hearing Ir. (DiBlasi) 1972. 

527 Hearing Ir. (DiBlasi) J 974-75 . 

528 Hearing Ir. (DiBlasi) 1956-57. DiBlasi maintainecllhat his signature meant nothing more than that a foreign 
financial institution was involved. Hearing Ir. (DiBlasi) J 957. \\/hatever it meant, DiBlasi' s signature appeared 
under the heading "Compliance Approval," and it demonstrated that he was involved in some type of compliance 
review in connection with the Firm ' s penny stock accounts. 

95 

- 468a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM



there was zero market for it, so Diekmann forwarded the cOlTespondence to DiBlasi. Diekmann 
said that he did so because he thought Ruzicka ' s comment called into question whether the 
deposit should have been approved by Scottsdale in the first place. He sent the email to DiBlasi 
because DiBlasi v,'as the CCO.529 

c. The Firm's '''SPs "'ere Not Reasonably Designed To Ensure 
Compliance With Section 5 

i. The WSPs Did Not Accurately Reflect The Way The Firm 
Conducted Its Rule 144 Business 

111e Finn's WSPs were not reasonably designed to ensure compliance with Section 5 
because they did not accurately reflect the viay the Finn conducted its Rule 144 business. 
DiBlasi testified that Cruz was the principal responsible for Rule 144 compliance and the 
establishment of policies and procedures relating to that business . Cruz testified that DiBlasi 
never had any role in the Rule 144 review process. 530 Cruz created the procedures for Rule 144 
transactions that were in effect during the relevant peIiod, the Firm's OTC Restricted Stock 
Deposit Procedures, dated November 2012. 531 He testified, however, that during the relevant 
period DiBlasi had responsibility for updating them.532 

Accepting Respondents' testimony about the allocation of responsibilities, during the 
relevant period the \VSPs should have clearly said which ac;pects of the WSPs were Cruz's 
responsibility and which were DiBlasi 's. Neither the 2013 WSPs nor the modified \VSPs had any 
clear indication of v"ho was responsible for what. 

DiBlasi admitted that the 2013 \VSPs did not accurately reflect the way the Finn was 
operating its Rule 144 business.533 \Ve fUIther find that the modified WSPs also did not 
accurately reflect the way the Finn operated its business. 

DiBlasi's testimony revealed that the modified WSPs allocated responsibility to a 
committee that no longer existed. DiBlac;i testified that in January 2014 the Management 
Committee disbanded. He said that Justine HUll)' took on the Committee 's responsibilities in 
February 2014. 111en, in Ma):ch 2014, Cruz officially became president of the Finn and took on 

529 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 782-87: CX-222a. 

530 Hearing If. (Cruz) 563-64. 

531 Hearing If. (Cruz) 582; RX-27. 

532 Hearing If. (Cruz) 665-66; R..,'{-27 . 

Confusion over who had responsibility for the WSPs apparently is nothing new at the Finn . Cruz did not remember 
who the CCO was at the time he created the Rule 144 procedures, and he did not recall anyone specifically 
delegating to him the responsibility for creating the procedures. Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 665-66. When asked who now 
has responsibility to update the Rule 144 procedures, Cruz testified, "I believe that responsibility now falls on Hemy 
Diekmann as president and· also as head of the 144 cert team ." Hearing If. (Cruz) 584. 

533 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 783-86; CX-222a. 
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the responsibilities of the Management Committee. The Committee never reconstituted itself 
again-and yet in May 2014the Finn put in place the modified WSPs that supposedly gave Rule 
144 compliance responsibility to the lvianagement Commit1ee. 534 

Even if the Management Conunittee had been functioning in May 2014, we find that the 
modified WSPs were misleading regarding the allocation of responsibilities, and, therefore, not 
reasonably designed to achieve compliance. They purpOlied to designate a registered principal as 
responsible for compliance with Rule 144. Rule 3010 requires that supervisory responsibilities 
be delegated to an appropriately registered principal. But, in fact, the WSPs delegated 
responsibility for Rule 144 procedures to a group of people. In so doing, the WSPs obscured who 
had responsibility, making it more difficult to hold anyone accountable for compliance oversight 
ovel: the bulk of the Fil111 ' s business. 

This failure to clearly indicate who was responsible for Rule 144 compliance is 
pmiicularly egregious here. It would have been relatively simple to designate Cruz the 
responsible principal, since everyone agreed that he was . 

It is fundamental that a finn 's WSPs must clearly designate responsibilities to 
appropriately registered persons and must accurately reflect the way a member finn conducts its 
business. 111at is why Rule 3010 specifies that supervisory responsibilities be assigned to an 
appropriately registered principal. 111e person responsible for supervising a pmiicular line of 
business must have the appropriate background to do it. That is also why a finn 's 'VSPs must 
address the paJiicular business and the particular circumstances of a finn . Only then will the 
WSPs be well designed to reasonably ensure compliance.535 

ii. The WSPs Did Not Require A Reasonable Inquiry Into 
Beneficial Ownership 

We also find that Scottsdale's 'VSPs were not reasonably designed to achieve complim1ce 
v;rith Section 5 because the WSPs failed to require a reasonable inquiry into the identity of the 
purported beneficial owners of the stock the Fil111 was selling. 111e WSPs do not discuss the 
concept of nominees , and the Finn's principals responsible for approval of stock deposits did not 
focus on the potential problem of nominees in conducting their reviev\l. The due diligence files 
for the transactions at issue demonstrate that the Finn 's general practice for reviewing stock 
deposits was inadequate to identify and investigate situations in which nominees might be 
concealing the identity of the true beneficial owners of securities. Diekmann testified that he 
knew nothing about the purpOlied beneficial ovmer of Sky Walker but that the person was a 

53'1 Hearing If. (DiBlasi) 1973 . DiBlasi ' s testimony that Justine Hurry briefly served as president of the Finn in 
February :2014 is corroborated by the Firm ' s F oml BD Am endment dated February 13, 2014, which lists Justine 
Hurry as president, as well as a director, of the Firm . CX-17. at 3. That document identifies Cruz as legal counsel 
since May 2008. CX-17, at 3. 

535 See NASD Notice to Members 99-45 (.Tune 1999), http ://v,rww.finra .org/sites/defaultJfiles/NoticeDocumentJ 
p004311.pdf. 
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customer of Unicom. The lack of focus on the potential use of nominees to conceal the identity 
of the tlUe beneficial owners is patticularly egregious in light of the four prior SEC actions 
charging that nominees had been used to facilitate fraud and manipulation. 

TIle Fil1l1 's listing of every FFI on its red flag list was not sufficient to address beneficial 
ownership or to ensure that an unlawful distribution was not occUlTing. The WSPs did not 
inqi.cate 'why or what should be done in response to the red flag designation. When asked what 
additional scrutiny comes from the red flag designation, Diekmann could not think of any. He 
said that the designation "just reflects the heightened risk.,,536 To recognize a heightened risk but 
provide no guidance for dealing with it is not reasonable. WSPs must provide a "reliable 
mechanism" for identifying securities sales that should be investigated or halted. 537 

3. Cruz's Violation 

The Tbird Cause of Action charges that Cruz failed to adequately and meaningfully 
analyze the collected documents and infonnation. Consequently, he at1d the staff he supervised 
failed to respond appropriately to red flags strongly indicating that the transactions were not 
entitled to at1 exemption. He approved the deposits for resale based on a cursory collection atld 
verification effOlt . Enforcement proved the charges . 

111ere is no dispute that Cruz supervised the processing of deposits for resale pursuant to 
Rule 144. He drafted the Finn 's procedures for handling restricted stock sold pursuant to Rule 
144 and other fon11s used to process deposits . For each transaction, he also met with the person 
who had put together the due diligence file to support the Rule 144 exemption. A.iter talking with 
the person, he gave the final approval that allowed Scottsdale to trade the securities without 
registration. He yvas critical to the transactions, and, even though the WSPs did not identify him 
as the responsible person, everyone at the Fil1l1 looked to Cruz as the person responsible for Rule 
144 compliance, 

Cruz violated his responsibility in two ways. 

First, Cruz failed to analyze whether the debt obligations that fonned the foundation for 
tacking were securities. In light of the circumstatlCes, this failure was egregious. Diekmann, who 
is not a lawyer, was incapable of recognizing and cOlTecting Cruz 's en"or. The members of the 
Rule 144 team who were lawyers did not have experience with penny stocks before they came to 
the Finn and were trained by ClUZ and the Film 's personnel. Everyone depended on Cruz's 
analysis atld expeltise. As at1 experienced securities lawyer, Cruz should have recognized the 
problem. But he failed to meaningfully at1alyze the infonnation in the due diligence packages. 

Second, Cruz failed to react appropriately to myriad red flags . As set fOlth above in 
connection with each transaction, the stock deposits were rife with discrepancies atld suspicious 

536 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 990, 

537 Midas Sec. , 2012 SEC LEXIS 199, at '"51. 
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circumstances that constituted red flags . However, Cruz and his staff did not make the required 
"searching inquiry" or obtain independent verification. 

Cruz ' s failure is egregiOl.ls because he knew that the Fiml was acting as a gatekeeper,538 
and that broker-dealer fillns playa critical role in helping to prevent illegal umegistered resales 
of restricted securities into the public markets . 539 He also acknowledged that at the time of the 
events at issue he was aware of the red flags in Regulatory Notice 09_05.540 It is well established 
that the "duty of s~pervision includes the responsibility t~ investigate ' red flags ' that suggest that 
misconduct may be occun'ing and to act upon the results. ,,541 

Cruz argues, however, that he Vias an effective supervisor. He notes that he created the 
Rule 144 manual, the due diligence questionnaire, and beneficial ownership declaration, and that 
the Finn dedicated one-third of its staff to pelfonning due diligence revie\vs on stock deposits. 
He states that he inselted himself into the review process as a second set of eyes and additional 
resource when Scottsdale began accepting stock deposits from customers of sub-FFIs . He also 
asselts that the due diligence packages at issue contained all the required paperwork and that 
there is no instance of an issue being brought to Cruz ' s attention and him ignoring it. Finally, he 
maintains that the "rigor" of the stock deposit reviews under his leadership is demonstrated by 
the fact that Scottsdale frequently rejected stock deposits .542 

All of this is beside the point. Cruz is charged with failing to respond appropriately to 
specific red flags identified in connection viith the transactions at issue . TIle mere creation of 
paperwork does not qualify as effective supervision. As FINRA noted in conjunction with 
Regulatory Notice 09-05 , in Rule 144 transactions, representations made by the interested patties 
have to be evaluated with a skeptical eye. Independent verification may be required. Instead, 
Cruz guided the staff through a check-the-box exercise . 

Even when Cruz acknowledged that something might be a red flag, he indicated that his 
response would not be to obtain independent verification. Rather, his response would be merely' 
to remind the interested paTties of tile infol111ation that needed to be disclosed. TIlis is a totally 
inadequate response to a red flag. 

Cruz's testimony regarding language on Unicom' s \.vebsite illustrates the problem. TIle 
language on the website indicated that Unicom \.vould appoint nominees for its customers so that 
their names would not appear as atl officer or director of the cOmpatlY on their account at 

538 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 86. 

539 Hearing TI". (Cruz) 89. 

5,10 Hearing Tf. (Cruz) 84-90. 

541 KeD Fin, Inc. , 2016 FINRA Discip. LEXIS 38, at *70 (quoting Michael T Studer, 57 SEC. lOll , 1023-24 
(2004), aff'd, 260 F. App'x 342 (2cl Cir. 2008»). See also Ronald Pellegrino, Exchange Act Release No. 59125, 
2008 SEC LEXIS 2843, at *33 (Dec 19, 2008) 

542 Resp. PH Br. 40-41. 
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Unicol11. Cruz said he did not recall seeing that language at the time he reviewed Unicorn's 
d~posits, but he agreed that if he had it "could have been" a red flag. In response to that red flag, 
however, he did not say that he would have sought independent verification of the identity of 
Unicol11's customers. Rather, he indicated that Scottsdale would merely emphasize to the 
interested paIiies that "they needed to - to disclose the underlying beneficial owner. ,,543 In other 
,,-lords, he would continue to rely on the representations of the interested parties. 

Cruz argues that he supervised more actively than did respondents in other disciplinary 
proceedings in which supervisory violations were found .544 Even if that were true (which we are 

not persuaded it is), the fact that other supervisors in other cases did even less than Cruz to 
respond to red flags is no excuse . The staIldard for reasonable supervision is not merely 
something marginally better thari bad. Moreover, whether supervision is reasonable depends on 
1 . I . f h 545 t le partlcu ar circumstances 0 . eac case. 

Cruz also argues that Enforcement is improperly second-guessing Cruz ' s exercise of 
reasoned business judgment, and that Enforcement has failed to provide affil111ative evidence 
I I · · d . 546 TI . . . d t lat 11S JU gments were mcon·ect. 11S argument IS elToneous 111 two regar s. 

First, the argument ignores the record. TIle transactions at issue were rife with red flags 
that could not be ignored, but Cruz did ignore them. 

Second, the argument confuses the burden on the Finn when it detennined that an 
exemption existed with the burden of proof in litigation. Cruz, acting on behalf of the Firn1, had 
the burden of developing a reasonable basis for believing that an exemption existed before the 
securities could be sold without registration. Enforcement proved that he and the Finn did not 
have a reasonable basis for believing that an exemption existed, but neveliheless Cruz approved 
the sale of the securities at issue without registration. Tllat is all that Enforcement had to prove 
for the supervisory violation . 

In sum, Cruz did not make sure that the transactions met the legal requirements for an 
exchange of securities, and he was oblivious to numerous red flags strongly suggesting that the 
transactions at issue were sham transactions using nominees to effect unlawful distributions of 

securities without registration. He violated his supervisory duties. 

IV. SANCTIONS 

In considering the appropriate sanction for a violation, adjudicators in FINRA 
disciplinary proceedings look to FINRA 's Sanction Guidelines ("Guidelines"). TIle Guidelines 

543 Hearing I f. (Cruz) 307-08. 

544 Resp. PH Br. 41 n.236. 

54 5 E.g. , Dep '[ of Enforce men! v. Wedbush Sec., Inc., No. 20070094044, 2014 FINl<A Discip. LEXIS 40, at *27-28 
(NAC Dec. 11 , 2014). 

546 Resp. PH Br. 41. 
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contain recommendations for sanctions for many specific violations, depending on the 
circumstances. They also contain overarching Principal Considerations and General Principles , 
both of'vvhich are applicable in all cases. 547 

The Guidelines are intended to be applied with attention to the regulatory mission of 
FINRA-to protect investors and strengthen market integrity. 548 The Guidelines caution that 
sanctions must be significant enough to preve~1t and discourage future misconduct by a 
respondent and to deter others from similar misconduct. Sanctions also should encourage 
improved business practices. 549 

Applying the Guidelines, we first discuss below the appropriate sanctions for the Finn, 
DiBlasi, and Cruz. We separately discuss the sanction for Huny 

A. Scottsdale 

As authorized by the Guidelines, we aggregate all the Film's violations. 55o The violations 
are inell.1:ricably inteltwined and are the result of a systemic failure at the Firm-the Finn 's 
failure to have procedures in place thatwould reasonably ensure compliance and the Finn's 
failure to respond appropriately to red flags led to the Fiml 's failure to have a reasonable basis 
for an exemption before selling the securities. FUlthennore, as discussed below, the Panel 
believes stringent sanctions are wan-anted here, and separately sanctioning the Finn for the 
different violations, even at the high end of the range of recommended sanctions, would not 
adequately remediate the FU1ll 'S misconduct. We view the Finn's systemic failure to pelionn its 
gatekeeping function better addressed as a '\Thole, rather than in piecemeal fashion. 

TIle Fiml violated FINRA Rule 2010 because, in connection with the transactions at 
issue , it did not have a reasonable basis for an exemption. Selling securities without registration 
and without an exemption violated Section S. TIle Guidelines contaul specific recommendations 
for this type of violation. The Guidelines recommend a fine of $2,SOO to $73,000, but in 
egregious cases the fine may be higher. In egregious cases, a fin11 may also be suspended with 
respect to any or all activities or functions for up to 30 business days or until procedural 
deficiencies are remedied. 551 

TIle Fiml, tlu-ough DiBlasi, failed to have in place WSPs reasonably designed to achieve 
compliance with Section S. For deficient WSPs, the Guidelines recommend a fine ranging from 
$1,000 to $37,000. They also suggest that adjudicators consider suspending a finn with respect 

5'1; FINRA Sanction Guidelines (2016) ("Guidelines"), http ://www . finra .orglind ustry/sanction-gui delines 

548 Guidelines at 1, Overview. 

549 Guidelines at 2, General Principle No.1 . 

550 Guidelines at 4, General Principle No.4. 

551 Guidelines at 24. 
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to any or all relevant activities or functions for up to 30 business days or until the supervisory 
procedures are amended to conform to the rul~ requirem~nts.552 

TIle Finn, tlu·ough Cmz, failed to supervise its Rule 144 process appropriately. The Finll, 
through Cmz, failed to adequately and meaningfully analyze the infonnation cqllected and thus 
failed to respond appropriately to red flags that the transactions were unlawful distributions. For 
a failure to supervise, the Guidelines recommend a fine of $5:000 to $73,000. In egregious cases, 
they suggest that adjudicators consider suspending a fiml with respect to any or all relevant 
activities or functions for up to 30 business days. A.n even longer suspension may be imposed, up 
to two years, or the finn may be expelled, where the case involves systemic supervision 
failures. 553 

We find the Finn's violations to be egregious. We also find that there are a large number 
of aggravating factors that increase the need for stringent sanctions. TIlere are no mitigating 
factors. 

1. Aggravating Factors 

a. Specific PIincipal Considerations Related To Section 5 
Violations 

One of the specific Principal Considerations in a case involving a Section 5 violation is 
whether the respondent attempted to comply with an exemption .554 We conclude here that the 
Fiml did not tmly attempt to comply. Rather, it created the appearance of compliance. Although 
the Finn created thick due diligence packages, it did not meaningfully evaluate the infonnation 
in those packages. If it had, it would have knovm it could not sell the securities without further 
investigation and the development of a reasonable basis for an exemption. V.,Te further find it 
aggravating that the Firm expended its resources on creating the appearance of compliance, 
rather than tme compliance, because such conduct is deceptive and displays a lack of regard for 
the applicable law and regulatory requirements. This aggravating factor applies not only to the 
Finn bi.lt to Cruz, on whom everyone at the Fiml depended for Rule 144 compliance . 

. Another specific Principal Consideration is the share volume and dollar amount of the 
transactions involved.555 TIle transactions at issue involved millions of shares and resulted in 

552 Guidelines at 103. 

m Guidelines at 102. 

554 Guidelines at 24. 

555 Guidelines at 24. See also Guidelines at 7, General Principal Consideration 18. 

102 

- 475a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:50:45 PM



proceeds of more than $l.75 million. 556 111e amounts involved are substantial and constitute an 
aggravating factor. 

A third specific Principal Consideration is whether the respondent implemented 
reasonable procedures to ensure that it did not patticipate in an unregistered distribution.557 111e 
Finn ' s procedures were not reasonable . To the contrary, they seemed designed to obscure who 
was responsible for Rule 144 compliance and they failed to require specifi<?, reliable evidence to 
SUpp01t the application of an exemption. Nor did the Finn implement good practices. 
Scottsdale ' s staff uncritically relied on the self-serving representations of the interested parties. 
\\Then they did notice a discrepat1cy, the staff assumed an innocent explat1ation or accepted a 
plainly unreliable representation from the interested patties, rather than pursuing the "searching 
inquiry" that was required. 111is aggravating factor applies to DiBlasi, as the CCO, and to Cruz, 
as the person ultimately responsible for Rule 144 compliance, as well as the Firm. 

A fourth specific Principal Consideration is whether the respondent disregarded red flags 
suggesting the presence of an unregistered distribution.558 As discussed above, the Finn 
repeatedly failed to identify and disregarded numerous red flags indicating that the transactions 
were unlawful distributions of securities. The multiplicity of red flags is another aggravating 
factor. 111is aggravating factor applies to Cruz as well as the Finn. 

h. Specific Principal Considerations Related To Deficient 'VSPs 

One ofthe specific Principal Considerations relating to deficient WSPs is whether those 
deficiencies allowed violative conduct to occur or to escape detection. \Ve find here that the 
\VSPs allowed violations to occur. The failure to provide guidat1ce on dealing with discrepancies 
and suspicious circumstances allowed those involved with Rule 144 review to proceed in a rote 
fashion, without analyzing the infonnation they collected. This aggravating factor applies to both 
the Film and DiBlasi. 

Another specific Principal Consideration is whether the deficiencies made it difficult to 
detennine the individuals responsible for specific area'> of supel-vision or c0l11pliat1ce. \Ai e find 
that the failure to clearly and accurately delineate responsibility lessened transparency and 
accountability, making regulatory oversighll110re difficult . It is particularly aggravating that the 
person designated CCO should disclaim responsibility for the vast majority of the Finn 's 
business. 111is aggravating factor applies to both the Finn and DiBlasi. 

556 JX-26S (NI-lPI-Related Activity in CSCT Account: Total Net Proceeds of $264,711 .70); JX-2S 1 (VPLM-Related 
Activity in CSCT Account: Total Net Proceeds of $1 ,408, 173.39); JX-31 0 (ORFG-Related Activity in CSCT 
Account: Total Net Proceeds of $91 ,408.43). 

557 Guidelines at 24. See also Guidelines at 6, General Principal Consideration 5. 

558 Guidelines at 24. 
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c. Specific Principal Considerations Related To Failure To 
Supervise 

One of the specific Principal Considerations in comlection with a failure to supervise is 
whether the respondent ignored red flags waming of the need for additional supervisory scrutiny. 
Another is the nature, eJ-...'1ent, size, and character of the underlying misconduct. Both of these are 
aggravating factors in this case. The Finn, through Cruz, ignored multiple red flags that the 
transactions required additional scrutiny. The transactions were substantial and were typical of 
the bulk of the Fin11 's business. TIle supervisory failure was in fact built into the Finn's standard 
practice for processing Rule 144 stock deposits , which is an aggravating factor. TIlese 
aggravating factors apply to both the Finn and Cruz. 

d. General Principal Considerations 

Several general Principal Considerations are relevant to this case. 559 Principal 
Consideration 1 is a respondent' s relevant disciplinary history.56o Scottsdale has a disciplinary 
history, and some of that history involves misconduct like the misconduct here. As noted above, 
in the 2011 A \VC the Fin11 settled charges that it had sold unregistered securities and that it had 
inadequate supervisory procedures and WSPs to detect and prevent the sale of unregistered 
securities. The Fiml resolved other charges in the 2009, 2012, and 2015 AV,,lCs . Finally, 
although the Finn was not charged in cOlll1ection with the four SEC cases, Ruettiger, Gibraltar I, 
Gibraltar II, and Tavella, those cases did involve alleged misconduct through accounts at the 
Firm. These cases put the Finn on notice of the risk of sham transactions and the use of 
nominees to conceal beneficial ownership and facilitate unlawful distributions of securities. They 
heightened the need for the Fi111l to be alert to red flags. In light of this history, it is aggravating 
that Scottsdale perfonned its gatekeeping function so poorly. 

Principal Consideration 2 concems whether a respondent has accepted responsibility for 
and acknowledged the misconduct prior to detection and intervention. The Finn here has not. It 
maintains that its procedures are "market-leading" and create an "unfriendly envirorunent" for 
stock manipulation. 56! The facts do n01 suppOIi that characterization. 

Furthermore, in light of the fact that the transactions at issue involved persons who have 
been indicted for engaging in securities fraud and other crimes, it is patticularly aggravating that 
the Finn's cun-ent president, Diekmann, testified that if any of the three deposits at issue were 
presented to him today-NHPI, VPLM, or ORFG-he would approve it. He expressed no 
qualms.562 TIl is means that the person in charge of approving stock deposits as satisfying the 
Rule 144 exemption is likely to commit the satne violations again. 

559 Guid'elines at 6-7. 

560 Guidelines at 6, General Principal Consideration 1. 

561 Resp. PH Br. 37-38. 

562 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 1799-80. 
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Adding to our concerns in this regard, Cruz echoed DiekmalUl. Cruz said that, despite the 
evidence presented to him during his testimony relating to the five certificate deposits charged in 
the Complaint (three NHPI, one VPLM, and one ORFG), he believed that the Rule 144 
exemption applied and the transactions complied viith Section 5.563 

Principal Consideration 8 is whether a respondent engaged in numerous acts or a pattern 
of misconduct. 564 Principal Consideration 16 is whether the misconduct is aberTant behavior. 565 

Scottsdale engaged in a pattern of misconduct and it was not aberTant behavior. Indeed, the Firm 
institutionalized its misconduct, by papering its files with documents that it did not meaningfully 
analyze. It is aggravating that the misconduct is actually the standard way the Finn conducts all 
its business. Moreover, Cruz testified that the pattern of deposits based on buying loan notes and 
exchanging them for stock was a typical transaction for the Finn. Because it was typical he sav,' 
nothing suspicious in it. TIlese aspects of the misconduct are aggravating as to both the Firm and 
Cruz. 

Principal Consideration 13 is whether the misconduct was the result of an intentional act, 
recklessness or negligence. 566 TIle FirTl1's misconduct was not the product of negligence. It acted 
intentionally when it created and implemented the procedures for reviewing deposits of stock 
celtificates for resale that created a false appearance of compliance. This aggravating factor 
applies not only to the Finll but to both DiBlasi and Cruz. 

Principal Consideration 18 focuses on the number, size, and character of the 
transactions .567 TIle transactions at issue had many red flags indicating that they were schemes to 
evade the securities la\;vs and the scrutiny that comes with registration. Given that character, it is 
aggravating that, at; a result of Scottsdale ' s failure to perfornl its gatekeeping function, millions 
of dollars of securities were sold to the investing public withoutthe safeguards that accompany 
registration. 

e. General Principles 

TIle Guidelines instruct adjudicators to tak~ into account certain General Principles 
applicable to all sanction detel111inations 5 G8 One of those General Principles is that disciplinary 
sancLions should be designed Lo deter misconduct, both by the respondent and by others, and 
should uphold high standards of business conduct. Adjudicators should impose sanctions that are 

563 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 555 . 

564 Guidelines at 6, General Principal Consideration 8. 

565 Guidelines at 7, Genebl Principal Consideration 16. 

566 Guidelines at 7, General Principal Consideration 13. 

567 Guidelines at 7, General Principal Consideration 18. 

568 Guidelines at 2-5. 
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meaningful and significant enough to accomplish these goals, and the sanctions should reflect the 
seriousness of the misconduct at issue.569 

TIle Finn's business is almost entirely the processing of penny stock deposits for resale 
into the public marketplace. In light of that fact, it is aggravating that the Finn had a check-the
box approach to its review of the deposits , \;J"ithout meaningful analysis of the multitude of red 
flags. TIle confession by Diekmann, the cun-ent president of the Finn, that, even after compiling 
a thick due diligence book, he knew nothing about the beneficial ovmer of one of the NHPI 
deposits is disturbing. It suggests that the person who now has authority to give final approval to 
stock deposits for resale has no understanding of what is required to ensure that the Finll does 
not patticipate in an unlawful distribution of securities without registration. TI1e sanctions here 
must be stringent to deal with the seriousness of the misconduct and to show the Finn that it 
catmot simply continue with its business in its usual fashion. We believe that only a substantial 
sanction ""ill deter the Finn from future misconduct. 

Another General Principle is that disciplinary sat1ctions should be more severe for 
recidivists in order to deter and prevent future misconduct. TI1e imposition of more severe 
sanctions emphasizes the need for con-ective action.57o As noted above, the Finll has a 
disciplinary history. It has been disciplined for selling unregistered securities and for other 
violations . In light of this history, it is appropriate to impose more severe sanctions. 

f. Overview 

TIle mission of FINRA 's regulatory atld disciplinary process is to protect investors and 
promote market integrity. In fulfilling that mission, adjudicators at°e not limited to the sanctions 
recommended in the Guidelines. Based on the facts atld circumstances presented in each case, 
adjudicators may impose sanctions that fall outside the ranges recommended and may consider 
aggravating and mitigating factors in addition to those listed in the Guidelines. 57I 

2. Potential Mitigating Factor 

Principal Consideration 3, which is applicable to all sanctions detenninations, concell1s 
\~'hether, prior to detection or intervention by a regulator, a finn voluntarily employed conective 
measures to avoid recun-ence of misconduct. This might be at°gued to be a mitigating factor. 

TI1e Finn maintains that it enhat1ced its procedures after the SEC filed the complaints in 
the four cases involving nominees. In patticular, it claims that it enhanced its reviews of stock 
promotions and notes that it ended all commissioned representatives at the Finn. It asserts that its 
requirement of a beneficial ownership declaration is a "market-leading practice" that has been 

569 Guidelines at 2, General Principle 1. 

570 Guidelines at 2, General Principle 2. 

571 Guidelines at 1. 
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adopted as a recommended method for detennining beneficial ownership. It also points to its use 
of a Red Flag List and a Stock Watch List as enhancements to its reviews. 572 

We find that whatever changes the Fiml made in its procedures were insufficient to be 
mitigating. To some degree, they appear to be more of the same. 11ley created the appearance of 
compliance without actual compliance. Even with the so-called enhancements, the Fiml 's 
procedures were woefully lacking. The record is replete with red flags that the Finn and Cruz 
ignored. 

3. Sanction 

In light of the egregious nature of the Firnl ' s violation, the Finn's institutionalization of 
the misconduct as its standard way of doing business, and the other aggravating factors set fOl1h 
above, we believe that a stringent sanction is appropriate. Only such a sanction will serve the 
remedial purposes of the disciplinary process. 11le Finn must be detelTed from similar 
misconduct in the future. \Ve impose on Scottsdale a fine of $l. 5 million. 

B. Hurry 

Huny's violation of his duty to observe high standards of commercial honor and just and 
equitable principles of trade Vi'as purposeful and egregious. 111ese two qualities lead us to 
conclude that Hurry is a threat to investors and the integrity of the markets. Our concern is 
compounded by our credibility findings. We found that he repeatedl y testified falsely, and that 
there \,vas a pattern of doing so \vhen he thought no contradictory evidence would come to light. 

When misconduct is intentional, General Principle 1 provides that adjudicators should 
assess sanctions that exceed the recOlmnended range in the Guidelines .57 3 Principal 
Consideration 13 also focuses on vilhether a respondent's misconduct is the result of an 
intentional act, recklessness, or negligence,574 \Vhen a violation is egregious, the Guidelines 
often suggest more severe sanctions. In egregious cases in connection with violations of Rule 
2010 and Section 5, the specific Guidelines recommend that an individual be suspended for up to 
two years or batTed. 

Even though he has no disciplinaty history, the devious nature of Hurry 's violation 
evidences disregard for regulatory requirements, an aggravating factor under General Principle 2 
and Principal Consideration 10.575 We have no confidence that ifhe remained in the securities 
industry he would not again devise a \vay to evade the law atld regulatory requirements . For this 
reason also , we believe HUtTY is a threat to the investing public. 

m Resp. PH Br. 37-38. 

57J Guidelines at 2, General Principle 2. 

574 Guidelines at 7, General Principal Consideration 13 . 

575 Guidelines at 2, General Principle 2; Guidelines at 6, General Principal Consideration 10. 
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As discussed in connection with the Firm's violation and sanction, the scheme enabled 
large amounts of stock celtificates to be sold in a number of transactions without the protections 
of registration and without an exemption. Under Principal Consideration 18, the size of the 
transactions is an aggravating factor. 

Finally, we note that Hurry had by far the most to gain financially from setting up CSCT 
and enabling shares deposited from offshore customers to be shielded from scrutiny. He and his 
wife own all three entities involved in the process : CSCT, Scottsdale, and Alpine. And although 
Respondents emphasize that the patticular transactions at issue did not generate a huge amount 
of money, the microcap securities liquidation business as a whole was highly remunerative for 
Hun)' and his \;<,rife. We earlier noted that, from Scottsdale alone, in 2014 they received 
approximately $6.2 million in directors' fees and $1.45 million in net income. TIle compensation 
for all other employees and for professional and consulting fees for that year totaled less than 
half that-approximately $2.7 million. It was to Hun"y's financial advantage to facilitate the 
processing of FFI deposits and to minimize regulatory oversight. TIle misconduct added to his 
financial gain and is atl aggravating factor under Principal Consideration 17.576 

\Ve bar HUlTY from associating with any FINRA member in any capacity and believe it 
appropriately remedial to fine him $100,000. In light of the bar, however, we do not impose the 
fine. 

C. DiBlasi 

The Guidelines provide with respect to an individual who is responsible for deficient 
WSPs that in egregious cases he may be suspended in any or all capacities for up to one year. 
TIle Guidelines also provide for a fine ranging from $1 ,000 to $37,000. 

In this case \-\le find more stringent sanctions appropriately remedial. DiBlasi's violation 
was egregious, and there are aggravating factors . The WSPs created the appearatlCe of a set of 
procedures designed to achieve compliance, but they did not accurately reflect the way the Finn 
actually handled its Rule 144 deposits . They did not even reflect DiBlasi ' s true role. Even tho·ugh 
he was pllrpoltedly the CCO, he claimed that he had nothing to do with the vast majority of the 
Finn 's business. Essentially, he perfol11led back-office functions for the Firm. The result of the 
deficiencies in the WSPs was that violations occurred atld regulatory effolts to detennine the 
persons responsible were hindered. 

\Ve suspend DiBlasi from associating \.'\Iith any FINRA member finn in any capacity for 
two years atld fine him $50,000. 

D. Cruz 

TIle Guidelines provide with respect to an individual supervisor who fails to respond to 
red flags that, in egregious cases, atl adjudicator should consider suspending the person in atly or 

576 Guidelines at 7, General Principal Consideration 17. 
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all capacities for up to two years or balTing him. A fi.ne of $5,000 to $73,000 also may be 
imposed. 

Cruz 's violation was egregious . As a layvyer with considerable background in the 
secUlities laws, he had the background that others did not to scrutinize the due diligence 
packages and identify red flags. Furthennore, as the person at the Finn everyone else depended 
upon for Rule 144 compliance, he Imew that he was critical to the Fiml's pelfonnance of its 
gatekeeping duty. He was the principal at the Finn who gave final approval to the sales of 
deposited securities, signing under a celtification that the transactions, to his knowledge, were 
lawful. In light of these circumstances and the many aggravating factors identified above, Cruz's 
failure to recognize and appropriately address multiple red flags was inexcusable. 

We suspend Cruz from associating with any FINRA member finn in any capacity for two 
years and fine him $50,000. 

E. Respondents' Arguments For Lesser Sanctions Rejected 

\Xi e rej ect Respondents' arguments for lesser sanctions. TIley assert that the relief 
requested by Enforcement camlOt be reconciled with the Guidelines because the sanctions are 
more stringent than the recommended range. 577 However, the Guidelines are not absolute. TIley 
are recommendations. As provided in the Overview, adjudicators may impose sanctions outside 
the recommended range where the particular facts and circumstances make that appropriate. 578 

\Ve are concemed that the misconduct here is the Finn's standard approach to processing 
deposits of stock celtificates for sale. As long as the Fum continues with that check-the-box 
approach, without a meaningful evaluation of the infonnation it collects, it is a risk to public 
investors . More sttingent sanctions are necessary to emphasize the necessity for cOtTective action 
and to remediate the violation. 

Respondents also compcu'e their case to other cases involving Section 5 and supervisory 
violations, asselting that in those other cases the misconduct was worse and the sculctions less .579 

TIle appropriateness of:'>anctions, however, depends on the facts and circumstances of the 
pcuticulcu' case culd ccumot be detelmined by comparison to sanctions in other cases that involve 
different facts and circumstculces. 580 FUlthennore, Respondents ' misconduct was far more 
egTegious than Respondents acknowledge. 

577 Resp. PH Br. 47. 

578 Guidelines at 1. 

579 Resp. PH Br. 47-49. 

580 See, e.g., William Seha/ander, Exchange Act Release No. 77492, 2016 SEC LEXIS 1209, at *42 & D.6S (1vfar. 
31 ,2(16) . 
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With respect to disciplinary history, Respondents argue that the individual Respondents 
have no disciplinary history.581 It is well established that the absence of a disciplinary history is 
not mitigating as to sanctions. A wrongdoer should not be rewarded for acting in accord with his 
duties as a securities professional. 582 . 

In sum, we find that the sanctions we impose here are necessary, appropriate and 
remedial. They serve the twin goals of protecting public investors and contributing to market 
integrity. 583 

v. CONCLUSION 

The Firm, Scottsdale Capital Advisors, violated FINRA Rule 2010. Accordingly, it is 
ordered to pay a fine of$1.5 million. John J. Hurry violated FINRA Rule 2010. For his 
misconduct he is barred from association with any FINRA member in any capacity. He would be 
fined $100,000, but, in light of the bar, the fine is not imposed. Timothy B. DiBlasi violated 
NASD Rules 301O(a) and (b) and FINRA Rule 2010. For his misconduct, he is suspended for 
two years from association with any FINRA member in any capacity and fined $50,000. D. 
Michael Cruz violatedNASD Rule 3010(b) and FINRA Rule 2010. For his misconduct, he is 
suspended for two years from association with any FINRA member in any capacity and fined 
$50,000. 

Respondents are also ordered to pay costs in the amount of $22, 124.29, which includes a 
$750 administrative fee and $21,374.29 for the cost of the transcript. Ifthis decision becomes 
FINRA's final disciplinary action, Hurry's bar will take immediate effect. DiBlasi's and Cruz's 
suspension will begin with the opening ofbusiness on August 21, 2017. The fines and assessed 
costs shall be due on a date set by FINRA, but not sooner than 30 days after this amended 
decision becomes FINRA's final disciplinary action in this proceeding. 

S81 Resp. PH Br. 47. 

ucinda O. McConathy 
Hearing Officer 
For the Extended Hearing Panel 

S82 See, e.g., Kenny A. Akindemowo, Exchange Act Release No. 78352,2016 SEC LEXIS 2522, at *5 & n.5 (July 18, 
2016) . See also Guidelines at 6 and n.2. 

583 The Hearing Panel has considered and rejects without discussion any other arguments made by the Parties that 
are inconsistent with this decision. 
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Copies to: Scottsdale Capital Advisors (via ovemight and first-class mail) 
John J. Huny (via ovemight and first-class mail) 
Timothy B. DiBlasi (via ovemight and first-class mail) 
D. Michael Cruz (via ovemight and first-cla<;s mail) 
Kevin J. Hamisch, Esq. (via electronic and first-class mail) 
Ryan E. Meltzer, Esq. (via electronic mail) 
Michael Edney, Esq. (via electronic mail) 
Jeffrey D. Pariser, Esq. (via electronic and first-class mail) 
Gregory R. Firehock, Esq. (via electronic mail) 
Laura Blackston, Esq. (via electronic mail) 
Heather Freiburger, Esq. (via electronic mail) 

III 
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Miche lle L. Guardiola hereby states that, on June 6, 20 18, she served a copy of the 

Answer to Firs! Amended Complaint, Praecipe, Motion for Summary Disposition of First 

Amended Complaint and this Proof or Service via Federal Express, addressed to Plaintifl's 
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HARDER LLP PINSKY, SMITH, FAYETTE & 
Charles J. Harder (CA# 184593) KENNEDY, LLP 
Jordan D. Susman (CA# 246 I 16) H. Rhett Pinsky (PI8920) 
132 South Rodeo Drive, Fourth Floor 146 Monroe Center St., NW, Suite 805 
Beverly Hill s, California 90212 Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503 
Federal Express Federal Express 

Tracking No. 7724 1243 5476 Tracking No. 7724 12468272 

I declare that under the penalty of perjury that the statements above are true to the best 
of my infonnation, knowledge and belief. 

~ BUTZEL LONG 

MA'dJJh ulatJAdJi& 
MICHELLE L. GUARDIOLA 
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STATE OF MICHIGAN 
KALAMAZOO COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT 

9TH CtRCUn COURT 
COUNT\' Of KALAMAZOO 

,---,KA=,~~OQ .. MtCHt9",,-=AN::.---.I 

SCOTTSDALE CAPITAL 
ADVISORS CORPORATION, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

MORNINGLIGHTMOUNTAIN, LLC, 
MICHAEL GOODE, and DOES 1-10, 

Defendants. 

Charles J. Harder (CA #184593) (pro hac vice to be filed) 
Jordan Susman (CA #246116) (pro hac vice to be filed) 
Nicholas A. Kurtz (CA #232705) (pro hac vice filed) 
HARDERLLP 
Attorney for Plaintiff 
132 South Rodeo Dr., 4th Floor 
Beverly Hills, CA 90212 
4241203-1600 

H. Rhett Pinsky (PI8920) 
PINSKY, SMITH, FAYETTE & KENNEDY, LLP 
Local Counsel for Plaintiff 
146 Monroe Center St., NW - Suite 805 
Grand Rapids, MI 49503 
616/451-8496 

File No.: 2018-0153-CZ 

Hon. Alexander C. Lipsey 

Joseph E. Richotte (P70902) 
BUTZEL LONG, PC 
Attorney for Defendants 
41000 Woodward Avenue 
Bloomfield Hills, MI 48304 
248/258-1616 

PLAINTIFF'S RESPONSE IN OPPOSITION TO MOTION FOR SUMMARY 
DISPOSITION OF FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT 

Plaintiff Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corp. ("SCA"), submits its Response in Opposition 

to Defendants' MCR 2.116(C)(8) Motion to Dismiss ("Motion"). 

INTRODUCTION 

This action arises from Defendants' online publication of false, defamatory, and highly 

misleading statements (collectively, the "Defamatory Statements") in two different articles on 
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Defendants' website, www.goodetrades.com. As alleged in the operative First Amended 

Complaint ("F AC"), Defendants published the Defamatory Statements with the intent to smear 

SCA's reputation. (F AC at ~ 2). It is therefore not surprising that the Motion begins with a three 

and a half page vilification of the penny stock industry-including ad hominin attacks on SCA and 

one of its principals-that is better suited for a closing statement than a motion to dismiss. Only 

on page 4 of the Motion do Defendants begin to discuss the allegations in the FAC. (Motion at p. 

4) ("Which brings us to this lawsuit.") 

In an effort to escape liability for the Defamatory Statements, Defendants argue that the 

Defamatory Statements must be read "in context." (Motion at p. 5). SCA agrees. Indeed, it is 

precisely when one reads the Defamatory Statements in context that their falsity shines through, 

as they falsely imply that (1) SCA was involved in the pump and dump of penny stocks, (2) SCA 

was fined for its involvement in the pump and dump of penny stocks, (3) SCA was involved in the 

pump and dump of Biozoom stock, and (4) SCA is engaged in trading that other, more reputable, 

brokers do not allow. Even if the Defamatory Statements themselves are true, which they are not, 

the implications they create are materially false and therefore actionable. See Hawkins v. Mercy 

Health Servs., Inc., 230 Mich. App. 315, 327 (1998). 

LEGAL STANDARD 

Ordinarily, one would not quibble with the legal standards alleged in a party's motion. 

Here, however, Defendants' Motion is rife with misleading legal standards that require 

correction. 

First, "[0 ]nly the pleadings may be considered" when deciding a motion for summary 

disposition based upon MCR 2.116(C)(8). MCR 2.116(G)(5). Defendants try to evade this rule 

by attaching exhibits to their answer and then asking the Court to consider those exhibits. (See 

{00093293;l} 21 Page 
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Motion at p. 12, fns. 47,48). This is improper, because "[a] party may not support a motion 

under subrule (C)(8) with documentary evidence such as affidavits, depositions, or admissions." 

Dalley v. Dykema Gossett, 287 Mich. App. 296, 305 (2010). 

Second, the fact that "only the pleadings may be considered" when deciding a motion for 

summary disposition does not mean that all of the pleadings are treated equally. In particular, 

only the allegations in the complaint should be deemed true and in the light most favorable to 

plaintiff Dalley, 287 Mich. App. At 304-05; Sarkar v. Doe, 318 Mich. App. 156, 178 (2016) 

("all factual allegations made in the complaint must be viewed in a light most favorable to the 

nonmoving party and accepted as true"). Defendants' flout this legal standard by treating the 

allegations in their answer (including the exhibits thereto) as true. This is improper. 

Third, Defendants incorrectly allege that Michigan requires a heightened pleading 

standard in defamation cases based upon the First Amendment. (Motion at p. 6). In fact, the 

first case cited by Defendants, Bose Corp. v. Consumers Union, 466 U.S. 485 (1984) says 

nothing about the pleadings in a defamation case. And the other case cited by Defendants, 

Gonyea v. Motor Parts Fed. Credit Union, 192 Mich. App 74 (1991) says nothing about the First 

Amendment. Defendants are merely playing fast a loose with the holdings in the cases they rely 

upon. 

Fourth, Defendants allege that the Court must read the Defamatory Statements in context 

to determine whether they are libelous, because they may have been "taken out of context." 

(Motion at p. 7). Although technically true, Defendants fail to mention that context is a two-way 

street, as Michigan recognizes claims for defamation by implication. Hawkins, 230 Mich. App. 

at 329-30. In order to determine if a statement is libelous, the "publication is to be considered as 

a whole, including the character of the display of its headlines when the article is published in a 

{OO093293;1} 31Page 
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newspaper, and the language employed therein." Sanders v. Evening News Ass 'n, 313 Mich. 

334,340 (1946). Indeed, when one reads the Defamatory Statements in context, their 

defamatory nature becomes readily apparent. 

ARGUMENT 

A. The Complaint Sufficiently Alleges The Elements of Libel 

A cause of action for libel has four components: (1) a false and defamatory statement 

concerning the plaintiff; (2) an unprivileged communication to a third party; (3) fault amounting 

to at least negligence on the part of the publisher; and (4) either actionability of the statement 

irrespective of special harm or the existence of special harm caused by the publication. 

Hawkins, 230 Mich. App. at 324-26. 

Further, a cause of action for defamation by implication if the plaintiff proves that the 

defamatory implications are materially false, and "that such a cause of action might succeed even 

without a direct showing of any actual literally false statements." Hawkins, 230 Mich. App. at 

329-30. Accordingly, "even if defendant's statements were true, if the implications the 

statements created were false, the question of whether the statements were defamatory must be 

left up to the jury." Am. Transmission, Inc. v. Channel 7 of Detroit, Inc., 239 Mich. App. 695, 

702. 

"A communication is defamatory if it tends to harm an individual's reputation so as to 

lower him in the estimation ofthe community or deter others from associating with him." Iacco 

v. Bohannon, 70 Mich. App. 463, 466 (1976). "Direct accusations or inferences of criminal 

conduct or wrongdoing are not protected as opinion. There is no First Amendment protection for 

a charge which could reasonably be understood as imputing specific criminal conduct or other 

{00093293;1} 41Page 
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wrongful acts." Hodgins v. Times Herald Co., 169 Mich. App. 245, 253-54 (1988) (internal 

citations omitted). 

1. The False Statements in the April Article are False and Defamatory 

Read as a whole, the April Article falsely implies that SCA was wrongfully involved in 

the pump and dump of certain penny stocks-and fined $1.5 million by FINRA for said 

involvement. Over and over again, the April Article falsely imputes criminal conduct and 

wrongdoing to SCA. Even if one concludes that each of three false statements identified in the 

F AC is true (which SCA strongly contests), the implications created by those statements are false 

and defamatory. 

a. False Statement #1 is False 

The headline of the April Article states: "FINRA fines Scottsdale Capital Advisors $1.5 

million." This is immediately followed by False Statement #1: "If you have followed penny 

stocks and pump and dumps for a few years then you know Scottsdale Capital Advisors." 

This juxtaposition alone makes it appear that SCA was fined $1.5 million for its involvement in 

the pump and dump of penny stocks. See Sanders v. Evening News Ass'n, 313 Mich. 334, 340, 

(1946) ("publication is to be considered as a whole, including the character of the display of its 

headlines when the article is published in a newspaper, and the language employed therein.") 

Defendants concede that False Statement #1 is defamatory, but try to escape liability by 

arguing that False Statement #1 is not false. (Motion at p. 9). Defendants' argument must fail

particularly at the pleadings stage-because False Statement #1 clearly implies something that is 

materially false: that SCA has been involved in "pump and dump" schemes. Nowhere in the 

April Article do Defendants inform their readers that SCA has never been involved in any "pump 

and dump" scheme, has never been a defendant in any "pump and dump" lawsuit, and has never 
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been convicted of engaging in "pump and dump" activity. Given the placement of False 

Statement # 1 under a headline regarding a $1.5 million fine by FINRA, a reader could only 

conclude that SCA was fined for its involvement in a pump and dump. Moreover, the April 

Article quotes extensively from a FINRA decision that has nothing to do with any pump and 

dump scheme. Consequently, the implications created by False Statement #1 are false. 

b. False Statement #2 is False and Defamatory 

False Statement #1 is followed immediately by False Statement #2: "They [SeA] are 

one of the few brokers left that have continued to allow the deposit and sale of shares of 

illiquid penny stocks. Larger brokers and discount brokers stopped allowing that over five 

years ago." As Defendants acknowledge, context is everything, and False Statement #2 is false 

and defamatory when read in context. 

False Statement #2 is false because numerous large brokers continue to trade in penny 

stocks, including without limitation, interactive brokers, Merrill Lynch, Charles Schwab, 

Scottrade, Cor Clearing, and TradeKing. (F AC ~ 13). Defendants try to wiggle their way out of 

the statement's falsity by claiming that the deposit and sale of penny stocks is different than the 

"trading" of penny stocks. This is a distinction without a difference, as stocks cannot be traded if 

they are not deposited and sold. 

False Statement #2 is clearly defamatory, because it implies that SCA is doing something 

that "larger brokers and discount brokers stopped allowing" five years earlier. False Statement 

#2 is preceded by statements that SCA was fined $1.5 million and SCA is involved in the pump 

and dump of penny stocks. Read in context the implication is clear: unlike larger brokers and 

discount brokers, SCA is engaged in the illegal pump and dump of penny stocks. Because False 

Statement #2 paints SCA as a pariah company, engaging in trades that other company do not 
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"allow", it lowers SCA in the esteem of the community and deters people from dealing with it, 

and is therefore defamatory. See Locricchio v. Evening News Ass'n, 438 Mich. 84, 115 (1991) (a 

defamatory statement "tends so to harm the reputation of persons so as to lower them in the 

estimation of the community or to deter others from associating or dealing with them"). 

c. False Statement #3 is False, Defamatory, and Not Privileged 

False Statement #3 states: "When the big Biozoom (BIZM) pump happened back in 

2013 many of the frozen accounts were at Scottsdale Capital." This statement immediately 

follows False Statements #1 & 2, and it reinforces everything that came before. 

The April Article falsely implies that SCA was fined $1.5 million for its involvement in 

the pump and dump of penny stocks. Between the headline and False Statements #1 & 2, the 

April Article has already alleged that: (I) FINRA fined SCA $1.5 million; (2) SCA is involved in 

the pump and dump of penny stocks, and; (3) SCA engages in trades that other more reputable 

firms do not allow. False Statement #3 ties the forgoing statements together by making it appear 

that SCA was fined $1.5 million for the pump and dump of Biozoom stock. Indeed, the very 

next sentence states: "On March 31 st FINRA fined Scottsdale Capital $1.5 million." 

Read in context, False Statement #3 alleges that SCA did something illegal, because the 

Biozoom accounts at SCA were frozen and then SCA was fined $1.5 million. It is patently 

untrue that SCA did anything illegal with regard to the trading of Biozoom stocks. Therefore 

False Statement #3 is false. 

False Statement #3 is also defamatory because it implies that SCA was fined $1.5 million 

for having accounts that traded in Biozoom. Defendants attempt to escape liability by 

disingenuously proclaiming that SCA is merely like a bank holding embezzled funds. (Motion at 

p.12). Defendants' analogy collapses if the hypothetical bank was (1) accused of allowing 
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certain types of accounts and transactions that more reputable banks do not allow, (2) if the 

article was headlined "Bank fined $1.5 million by FDIC," and (3) if the article stated: "if you 

follow embezzlement schemes, then you know this bank." In context, False Statement #3 is 

merely one part in Defendants' scurrilous hit piece on SCA. 

Defendants' allegation that False Statement #3 is protected by the fair report privilege 

misses the point, because it excludes everything that comes before and after it in the April 

Article. Because of the false statements that precede it, and the misleading statements that 

follow it, the implications of False Statement #3 are materially false and defamatory. Those 

false and defamatory implications overcome the fair report privilege. See Rouch v. Enquirer & 

News of Battle Creek, 427 Mich. 157, 175 (1986) (the fair report privilege is a qualified 

privilege, which may be overcome by a showing of malice). 

2. The F AC Sufficiently Pleads Fault 

Defendants argue that the F AC does not plead facts sufficient to show that Defendants 

acted negligently because SCA "must plead facts as to what a reasonable reporter and publisher 

would have done under the circumstances." (Motion at p. 8). This standard has been 

constructed out of whole cloth, and Defendants do not cite any authority for the proposition that 

a plaintiff alleging defamation "must plead facts as to what a reasonable reporter and publisher 

would have done under the circumstances." Indeed, online searches of Michigan case law for 

the terms "reasonable reporter" and "reasonable publisher" yield no results. 

Read as a whole, the F AC contains numerous facts demonstrating that the False 

Statements were published negligently and with malice. 

First, as discussed herein, the April Article is a scurrilous hit piece that implies that SCA 

was fined for its involvement in a pump and dump of penny stocks-allegations that are 
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materially false and defamatory. (FAC ~ 21) ("The Defamatory Statements involve materially 

false implications.") 

Second, the F AC alleges that Defendants refused to retract, correct or apologize for the 

False Statements even after being given notice of their falsity and ample time to do so. (FAC ~~ 

16,23). Consequently, the FAC contains factual allegations showing how Defendants knew the 

False Statements were false, and why Defendants were reckless in their disregard of the truth. 

Finally, Defendants' reliance on Rouch, 427 Mich. 157 is misplaced, because it is based 

upon dicta in a concurring opinion. In order to be controlling precedent, an opinion must be 

concurred in by a majority of the court. Groening v. McCambridge, 282 Mich. 135, 140 (1937). 

3. The False Statement in the June Article is False and Defamatory 

False Statement #1 in the June Article states: "Lest anyone think that these are just 

minor paperwork deficiencies with no real consequences, I remind you that one pump and 

dump alone, Biozoom (BIZM) led to over $17 million in fraudulent profits for 

manipulators I insiders, and many of their accounts were at Scottsdale Capital Advisors." 

Defendants argue that this False Statement has been plucked out of context, and "the Court must 

fairly and reasonably construe the entire article whether [the] statement is libelous." (Motion at 

pp. 12-13). SCA wholeheartedly agrees. When False Statement #1 is read in context, it clearly 

implies that SCA was involved in the pump and dump of Biozoom stock, which it was not. 

The June Article begins by saying: "FINRA fined SCA $1.5 million for doing a really 

poor job at preventing illegal sales by penny stocks insiders." The June Article then quotes 

extensively from the FINRA Hearing Panel Decision ("FINRA Panel Decision") that fined SCA 

$1.5 million. This is followed by extensive quotes from a complaint filed by the SEC against 

Alpine Securities on June 5, 2017 ("SEC Complaint"). Of critical importance, neither the 
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FINRA Panel Decision, nor the SEC Complaint, accused SCA of any wrongdoing with regard to 

the trading of Biozoom stock. It is for this reason that the juxtaposition of False Statement # 1 

with the allegations of wrongdoing by John Hurry and Alpine is so pernicious: it falsely implies 

that SCA was involved in the pump and dump of Biozoom stock, when SCA has never been 

involved in any "pump and dump" schemes (including any "pump and dumps" involving 

Biozoom shares), has never been a defendant in any "pump and dump" lawsuits, and has never 

been convicted of engaging in "pump and dump" activity. 

Instead of acknowledging these truths, Defendants falsely allege that SCA "permitted 

fraudsters to steal almost $34 million from investors." (Motion at p. 14). Contrary to the 

allegations in the Motion, SCA does not have a track record-adjudicated or otherwise-of 

"permit[ting] fraudsters to steal" any money from investors. SCA has never "permitted 

fraudsters to steal" money from investors. By this accusation in the Motion, Defendants 

continue to disparage SCA and misrepresent that SCA was involved in the pump and dump of 

Biozoom stocks. 

B. The Complaint Sufficiently Alleges The Elements of False Light 

To state a claim for false light in Michigan, a plaintiff must allege: (1) publication of a 

false statement harmful to plaintiffs interest; (2) the intention that the publication cause harm, 

recognition of likely harm, or negligence to likely harm; and (3) knowledge that the statement is 

false or reckless disregard to its veracity. See Kollenberg v. Ramirez, 127 Mich. App. 345, 352 

(1983); see also Derderian v. Genesys Health Care Sys., 263 Mich. App. 364,385 (2004) ("In 

order to maintain an action for false-light invasion of privacy, a plaintiff must show that the 

defendant broadcast to the public in general, or to a large number of people, information that was 

unreasonable and highly objectionable by attributing to the plaintiff characteristics, conduct, or 

{OOO93293;1} 10 I P ag e 
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beliefs that were false and placed the plaintiff in a false position."). All of these elements are 

present in the F AC. 

First, the F AC alleges that Defendants published false statements that harmed SCA. 

Specifically, Defendants falsely published that SCA is involved in the pump and dump of stocks 

(F AC ~~ 12-15); that SCA engages in suspect trading practices eschewed by other brokers (F AC 

~~ 12-13); that SCA's involvement in pump and dump schemes has caused harm to third parties 

(FAC ~~ 12-15). 

Second, the F AC alleges that Defendants were, at a minimum, negligent to the likely 

harm of their false publication. (FAC ~~ 16,23,26,30). 

Third, the F AC alleges, "At the time Defendants published statements, they knew the 

Defamatory Statements were false and/or acted in reckless disregard as to the falsity of the 

publicized matter and the false light in which SCA would be placed." (FAC ~ 30). 

1. SCA May Plead A Claim For False Light 

Defendants argue that SCA, as a business, is precluded from pleading a claim for false 

light. Defendants are, at best, confused. 

First, no Michigan court has ever held that a business cannot maintain a claim for false 

light. Indeed, the case cited by Defendant, Booth Newspapers, Inc. v. Kent County Treas., 175 

Mich. App. 523 (1989) says nothing about false light. 

Second, several business plaintiffs have brought cases for false light in Michigan under 

Michigan law. In Thomas M Cooley Law Sch. v. Kurzon Strauss, LLP, 978 F. Supp. 2d 849 

(W.D. Mich. 2013), affd, 759 F.3d 522 (6th Cir. 2014), a law school brought claims against a 

law firm and attorneys for defamation, tortious interference with business relations, breach of 

contract, and false light. The false light claim was dismissed because the law school was a 

{00093293;1} lllPage 
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...... _._._----_ ............. ... _ ... _ ---- -------

public figure and unable to establish actual malice-not because it was a business asserting a 

right it did not have. Id. at 859-60. And in Northland Wheels Roller Skating Ctr., Inc. v. Detroit 

Free Press, Inc., 213 Mich. App. 317, 330 (1995), the court dismissed the business-plaintiffs 

false light claim because the statements at issue were not defamatory-not because it did not 

have a right to bring the claim. 

Third, although characterized as an invasion of privacy tort, false light is, in fact, closely 

related to defamation. See Battaglieri v. Mackinac Ctr. For Pub. Policy, 261 Mich. App. 296, 

304 (2004) ("this cause of action [false light] is similar to a defamation claim"). The "gravamen 

of this tort [false light] is that a defendants publication attributed to the plaintiff characteristics, 

conduct, or beliefs that were false and placed the plaintiff in a false position." Id at 303-04. As 

alleged in the FAC, the gravamen ofSCA's claim for false light is "Defendants broadcast to the 

public in general, or to a large number of people, information that was unreasonable and highly 

objectionable by attributing to SCA characteristics and/or conduct that were false and placed 

SCA in a false position." (F AC ~ 29). 

Accordingly, SCA is permitted to plead a claim for false light. 

2. False Light Is A Different Tort Than Public Disclosure Of Private Facts 

Defendants allege that SCA must plead the disclosure of private facts to maintain a claim 

for false light. Defendants are wrong as a matter of law. 

Public disclosure of private facts is a different tort than false light. See Battaglieri, 261 

Mich. App. at 300 ("The common-law right of privacy is said to protect against four types of 

invasion of privacy. 1. Intrusion upon the plaintiffs seclusion or solitude, or into his private 

affairs. 2. Public disclosure of embarrassing private facts about the plaintiff. 3. Publicity which 

places the plaintiff in a false light in the public eye. 4. Appropriation, for the defendant's 

{00093293;l} 12 I P a g e 

- 498a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:51:00 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:51:00 PM



advantage, of the plaintiffs name or likeness. "); see also Dalley v. Dykema Gossett, 287 Mich. 

App. 296, 306 (2010) ("Today, the invasion of privacy tort has evolved into four distinct tort 

theories: (1) the intrusion upon another's seclusion or solitude, or into another's private affairs; 

(2) a public disclosure of private facts about the individual; (3) publicity that places someone in a 

false light in the public eye; and (4) the appropriation of another's likeness for the defendant's 

advantage."). 

Here, SCA' s claim against Defendants is for false light-the third theory of invasion 

pri vacy-not public disclosure of public facts. Defendants' attempt to impose the elements of a 

different tort on SCA's false light claim must therefore be rejected. 

3. The Defamatory Statements Are False 

As discussed extensively above, the Defamatory Statements in the April and June 

Articles are false. Over and over again, Defendants falsely stated and/or implied that SCA is 

involved in the pump and dump of penny stocks, that SCA was fined for its involvement in the 

pump and dump of penny stocks, that SCA was involved in the pump and dump of Biozoom 

stocks, and that SCA is engaged in trading that "larger brokers and discount brokers stopped 

allowing" five years earlier. All ofthe foregoing statements are false. 

4. The F AC Sufficiently Pleads Fault 

Defendants incorrectly claim that the F AC does not sufficiently plead fault to maintain 

SCA's claim for false light. (Motion at pp. 15-16) As discussed above, the April Article is a 

scurrilous hit piece that implies SCA was fined for its involvement in a pump and dump of penny 

stocks-allegations that are materially false and defamatory. (FAC tj\ 21) ("The Defamatory 

Statements involve materially false implications.") Second, the F AC alleges that Defendants 

refused to retract, correct or apologize for the False Statements even after being given notice of 
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their falsity and ample time to do so. (FAC,-r,-r 16,23). Consequently, the FAC contains factual 

allegations showing how Defendants knew the False Statements were false, and why Defendants 

were reckless in their disregard of the truth. 

Again, Defendants' reliance on Rouch, 427 Mich. 157 is misplaced, because it is based 

upon dicta in a concurring opinion. 

C. Leave To Amend Should Be Granted If Necessary 

Leave to amend a pleading "shall be freely given when justice so requires." MCR 

2.118(A)(2). "Michigan's court rule regarding the amendment of pleadings provides for a liberal 

handling of requests to amend." Clapham v. Yanga, 102 Mich. App. 47, 52 (1980); see also 

Hanon v. Barber, 99 Mich. App. 851, 859 (1980) (only when amendment would be "futile, or of 

bad faith, or the result of undue delay or dilatory motive" should leave to amend be denied). 

Should the Court determine that the current complaint is somehow lacking, SCA 

respectfully requests an opportunity to amend. 

CONCLUSION 

As demonstrated herein, the F AC alleges sufficient facts to state causes of action for 

Defamation and False Light against Defendants. Therefore, the Motion should be denied. 

Dated: August 15,2018 

{OOO93293;1} 

PINSKY, SMITH, FAYETTE & KENNEDY, LLP 
Local Counsel for Plaintiff 

By: 

H. Rhett Pinsky (P18920 
146 Monroe Center NW, Suite 805 
Grand Rapids, MI 49503 
(616) 451-8496 
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INTRODUCTION 

Before Defendants reply to SCA' s response, it is useful to pause and recap where 

we are: FINRA ruled that SCA failed to exercise reasonable controls before accepting high

risk penny stocks for deposit, which allowed fraudsters to engage in a pump-and-dump 

scheme using Biozoom penny stocks. The Securities and Exchange Commission sanctioned 

an SCA representative for his role in allowing that to happen. SCA doesn't deny any of this. 

Rather than spending time and money on rehabilitating its business practices, SCA 

is wasting a lot of other people's time and money by bullying those who reported on its 

public discipline with frivolous lawsuits. l Its purpose is transparent: to silence critical 

speech and make a quick buck in the process. This is why SCA works so hard to downplay 

and obfuscate the heightened standard of review in First Amendment cases. It's also why 

SCA runs away from the exhibits in Defendants' Answer that show this lawsuit was filed in 

bad faith. SCA hasn't been defamed or cast in a false light. The real problem is that it has 

been fairly, accurately, and publicly rapped on the knuckles for bad business practices-and 

SCA doesn't like it. 

The Michigan Supreme Court held in Locricchio v. Evening News Association that pub

lic interest reporting must be protected from frivolous litigation and accorded maximum pro

tection and great latitude.2 The Court should put an end to SCA' s strategic lawsuit against 

public participation ("SLAPP"). 

LEGAL STANDARD 

SCA spends a good deal of time obfuscating the standard of review so it can justify 

ignoring the damning exhibits attached to Defendants' Answer. It's wrong for three reasons: 

See, e.g., Scottsdale Cap. Advisors Corp. v. S&PGloba~ Inc., Civ. No.I8-lIOS (D Ariz. 
2018) (suing four people; motion to dismiss pending); Scottsdale Cap. Advisors Corp. v. The 
Deal) LLC, 887 F.3d 17 (CAl 2018) (defamation case dismissed for lack of jurisdiction). 
seA even sued FINRA to stop its disciplinary proceeding. Scottsdale Cap. Advisors Corp. v. 
FINRA, 844 F.3d 414 (CA4 2016) (injunctive action dismissed for lack of jurisdiction). 

2 Locricchio v. Evening News AssJn) 438 Mich. 84, 113 (1991). 
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First, Rule 2.116(G)(5) says that "only the pleadings may be considered when the 

motion is based on" Rule 2.116(C)(8). At the same time, Rule 2.110(A)(5) defines a plead-

ing to include an answer to a complaint. So, the plain language of the rule says the Court 

may consider both the complaint and the answer. 

Second, SCA says Defendants can't rely on the exhibits to their Answer, citing Dal

ley v. Dykema Gossett.3 But Dalley merely states the well-worn rule that the court can't go 

beyond the pleadings when deciding a motion under Rule 2.116(C)(8): "A motion brought 

under [Rule 2.116](C)(8) tests the legal sufficiency of the complaint solely on the basis of the 

pleadings." 4 The Michigan Court of Appeals has unambiguously held that" [a]n exhibit at

tached to or referred to in a pleading becomes part of the pleadings for all purposes. "5 Thus, 

the Answer and its exhibits are fair game for this Motion. 

Third, SCA complains that considering the Answer and its exhibits would conflict 

with the rule that "only" the allegations in a complaint should be deemed true and in the 

light most favorable to it.6 But the word" only" never appears in the Dalley or Sarkar cases 

that SCA cites. Defendants agree that the Court must treat the allegations in SCA's com

plaint as true, but caselaw does not require the Court to treat the Answer as untrue. Unless 

the Answer denies or directly conflicts with allegations in the Complaint, the Court should: 

(1) accept the Answer and exhibits as true; and (2) construe them in the light most favorable 

to SCA, just like it would for allegations in the Complaint. 

HEIGHTENED PLEADING REQUIREMENT 

SCA knows it can't meet the heightened pleading standard for First Amendment 

cases, so it accuses Defendants of making it up. Its protestations do not withstand scrutiny. 

3 SCA's Br. at 2-3 (citing Dalley v. Dykema Gosset, 287 Mich. App. 296,305 (2010». 

4 Dalley, 287 Mich. App. at 304 (emphasis added). 

5 Slaterv. Ann Arbor Pub. Schs. Bd. ofEduc., 250 Mich. App. 419, 427 (2002) (em
phases added). 

6 SCA's Br. at 3 (citing Dalley, 287 Mich. App. at 304-305, and Sarkar v. Doe, 318 
Mich. App. 156, 178 (2016». 
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First, SCA argues Bose Corp. does not set is a higher pleading standard.7 While true, 

it misses the point. Bose Corp. says courts have a heighted duty under the constitution to 

rigorously review the sufficiency of defamation complaints to make sure pleading require

ments are met. In other words, because of the weighty constitutional interests at stake, Bose 

Corp. requires courts to sit up a little straighter and review the pleadings more closely than 

they would in the run-of-the-mill case. 

Second, Gonyea recognizes a higher pleading standard for defamation cases. We are 

a notice-pleading state.8 Yet a defamation claim "must be specifically pleaded."9 Why? Be

cause of the First Amendment interests at stake in such cases, as Justice Riley explained in 

his concurring opinion in Rouch 1/.10 While SCA says Justice Riley's concurrence is non

binding, the Michigan Court of Appeals long ago adopted his analysis as its own.11 

ARGUMENT 

1. Substantial Truth: Invoking defamation "by implication" doesn't avoid the 
substantial-truth inquiry. 

SCA makes a bald assertion that the false statements "involve materially false im

plications" without identifying the implications and pleading facts as to why the statements 

give rise to those implications.12 It claims the freedom to craft those explanations on the fly 

in its brief.13 Even assuming SCA could square that argument with it is strict pleading obli-

7 SCA's Br. at 3 (citing Bose Corp. v. Consumers Union, 466 U.S. 485 (1984)). 

8 See Dalley, 287 Mich. App. at 305 (quoting Roberts v. Mecosta County Hosp., 470 
Mich. 679, 700 n.17 (2004) (the court rules create a "notice pleading environment")). 

9 Gonyea v. Motor Parts Fed. Credit Union, 192 Mich. App 74, 77 (1991). 

10 Rouch v. Battle Creek Enquirer (On Remand) (Rouch Il), 440 Mich. 238,272 (1992) 
(Riley, ]., concurring). See also MacGriff v. Van Antwerp, 327 Mich. 200, 204-205 (1950) 
(Butzel, J.) (specific allegations must be pleaded to avoid immunity or privilege in cases 
alleging defamation). 

11 See, e.g., Trostv. Buckstop Lure Co., Inc., 249 Mich. App. 580, 587 n.2 (2002) (where 
a defamation plaintiff fails to plead his claim with specificity, the proper recourse is to move 
for summary disposition under Rule 2.116(C)(8), citing Justice Riley's concurrence). 

12 First Am. CompI. ("FAC") 'If 21. 

13 SCA Br. at 3-4. 
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-------------------------------------_ ................................ _ ._-

gations, the substantial-truth doctrine still applies to claims of defamation by implication.14 

When concocting its storyline, SeA never explains how those "implications" withstand a 

plain reading of the linked FINRA records and other publicly-available information (at

tached to the Answer), which objectively disprove SeA's fabricated implications. 

2. No Fault: Nothing in seA's Response proves fault is pleaded adequately. 

Defendants observed in their opening brief that defamation plaintiffs must identify 

the proper level of fault-either actual malice (if a public figure) or negligence (if a private 

figure)-and plead facts that would establish that level of fault if proved. IS 

For actual malice, SeA does not plead how a defendant knew the statements were 

false or why they were reckless in their alleged disregard of the truth. All it can muster is: 

we told them the statements were defamatory after publication, and they refused to retract 

the articles.16 But fault is assessed at the time of publication, not at the time of a retraction 

demand.17 Retraction demands are relevant only to a damages analysis.18 

For negligence, SeA says there is no such thing as a "reasonable reporter" or "rea

sonable publisher" standard.19 It missed Michigan Microtech) Inc. v. Federated Publications 

Inc., which specifically mentions both the "reasonably careful publisher" and "reasonably 

careful journalist" standard.20 These standards are intertwined with the "reasonable audi

ence" standard.21 A reasonably careful journalist and publisher can reasonably expect that 

those who visit goodetrades.com are sophisticated readers-i.e., people familiar with the 

14 Collins v. Detroit Free Press, 245 Mich. App. 27, _ (2001) (citing Hawkins v. MenU' 
Health Servs.) Inc., 230 Mich. App. 315, 333-336 (1998); American Transmission} Inc. v. Chan
nellofDetroi; Inc., 239 Mich. App. 695, 701-705 (2000». 

IS Defendants' Br. at 7-8. 

16 seA Br. at 8-9. 

17 Peisnerv. Detroit Free Press, 104 Mich. App. 59, 64 (1981), mod. on other grounds, 421 
Mich. 125 (1984). 

18 M.C.L. § 600.2911(2)(b). 

19 SeA Br. at 8. 

20 Michigan Microtech} Inc. v. FederatedPublJns Inc., 187 Mich. App. 178, 186 (1991). 

21 Air Wis. Airlines Corp. v. Hoeper, 571 u.s. 237, 246-251 (2014). 
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microcap market. Those readers, being well versed in the industry, would conclude that 

SCA was the means by which a pump-and-dump was accomplished, not that SCA had itself 

engaged in illegal activity-particularly with the benefit oflinks to source documents. 

3. No False Light: SeA admits its false-light claim is based on a privacy interest it 
doesn't have. 

SCA says Defendants are "confused" about Michigan law on false light.22 They're 

not. Booth Newspapers held that businesses have no privacy interest.23 SCA confirms that 

its false-light claim is "for ... invasion [of] privacy. "24 It seems pretty clear that SCA, a 

corporate entity, is alleging a claim based on the invasion of a privacy interest it doesn't 

have. 

4. No Second Amended Complaint: Leave to amend should not be granted unless 
seA presents a meritorious basis for amendment. 

After filing two complaints, SCA has still not sufficiently pleaded claims for defa

mation and false light. Before it gets a third bite at the apple, it should-at a minimum-be 

required to file a motion with a draft pleading so that the Court can evaluate whether De

fendants should be forced to incur more time and expense on this SLAPP suit. 

Dated: August 17, 2018 

22 SeA Br. at 11. 

Respectfully submitted, 

P . RICH TE (P70902) 
DOAA K. AL-HOWAISHY (P82089) 
Stoneridge West 
41000 Woodward Avenue 
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304 
(248) 258-1616 
richotte@butzel.com 
al-howaishy@butzel.com 
Counsel for MLM and Michael Goode 

23 Booth Newspapers) Inc. v. Kent County Treas., 175 Mich. App. 523 (1989). 

24 SCA Br. at 13. 
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H. Rhett Pinsky (P 18920) 
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Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503 
(616) 451-8496 
hpinsky@psfklaw.com 
Counsel for Scottsdale Capital Advisors 

PROOF OF SERVICE 

Michelle L. Guardiola hereby states that on August 17, 2018, she served a copy of the 

Reply in Support of Defendants' Motion for Summary Disposition of First Amended Complaint 

and this Proof of Service via Federal Express, addressed to Plaintiff's counsel at the following 

addresses: 
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HARDERLLP 
Charles 1. Harder (CA# 184593) 
10rdan D. Susman (CA# 246116) 
132 South Rodeo Drive, Fourth Floor 

Beverly Hills, California 90212 

Federal Express 

Tracking No. 7730 0025 7168 

PINSKY, SMITH, FAYETTE & 
KENNEDY, LLP 
H. Rhett Pinsky (P 18920) 
146 Monroe Center St., NW, Suite 805 

Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503 

Federal Express 

Tracking No. 773000274333 

I declare that under the penalty of perjury that the statements above are true to the best 

of my information, knowledge and belief. 

~ BUTZE L LONG 

U{ch1UtL.~ 
MICHELLE L. GUARDIOLA 
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DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION 

Under Rule 2.119(F), Defendants MorningLightMountain, LLC, and Michael 

Goode (jointly, "Defendants") respectfully ask the Court to reconsider its Opinion and 

Order partially denying their Motion for Summary Disposition under Rule 2.116(C)(8). 

JURISDICTION 

Motions for reconsideration must be filed within 21 days after the date stamped 

on the opinion. M.C.R 2.116(F)(I). The Court issued its Opinion on October 4, 

2018, making any motion for reconsideration due by October 25,2018. (Exhibit 1, 

Opinion.) This Motion was timely filed on October 25, 2018. 

LEGAL STANDARD 

Motions for reconsideration are governed by Rule 2.119(F)(3). Generally, and 

without restricting the Court's discretion, a motion for rehearing or reconsideration 

that merely presents the same issues ruled on by the court, either expressly or by rea-

sonable implication, will not be granted. M.C.R. 2.l19(F)(3). The moving party must 

show a palpable error by which the court and the parties have been misled and show 

that a different disposition of the motion must result from correction of the error. Ibid. 

ARGUMENT 

1. Heightened Review: The Court committed palpable error when it held 
there is no heightened pleading requirement in defamation cases. 

The Court held that it "should not implement a higher standard as the Defend

ant suggests, but instead maintain a normal course of action regarding MCR 2.l16(C)(8) 

that reviews only pleadings for legal sufficiency in light of the alleged wrongdoing." (Ex

hibit 1 at 5.) This is a mistake oflaw. Michigan caselaw imposes a heightened pleading 

standard for defamation claims. 
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To support its holding, the Court explained that Defendants "improperly in

terpreted" Bose Corp. v. Consumers Unt'on, 466 U.S. 485 (1984), and Thomas M. Coo

ley Law School v. Doe 1, 300 Mich. App. 245 (2013), stating that these cases pertain 

to public officials and public figures, whereas this is (allegedly) a private-figure case. 

(Exhibit 1 at 4.) But the distinction between public and private figures is irrelevant to 

the scrutiny that must be brought to bear when assessing whether a defamation claim 

is properly pleaded - the distinction goes only to the level of fault that applies in a given 

case. The heightened scrutiny of the pleadings applies to all defamation cases, re

gardless of whether the plaintiff is a public or private figure. Rouch v. Enqut'rer & News 

(After Remand) ("Rouch Ir'), 440 Mich. 238, 272-27 (1992) (Riley, J. concurring) 

(in a prz'vate-jigure case reviewed on appeal from a (C)(lO) ruling, Justice Riley noted 

that the pleadings in a defamation case are also to be reviewed with heightened scru

tiny when challenged under (C)(8)). Although stated in a concurrence, "Justice Riley's 

position [in his concurring opinion in Rouch II is consistent with previous decisions of 

this Court." Royal Palace Homes) Inc. v. Channel 7 of De trot'; Inc., 197 Mich. App. 48, 

52-53 (1992) (also apparently a pn'vate-ftgure case). See also Trost v. BuckStop Lure Co.) 

Inc., 249 Mich. App. 580, 587 n.2 (2002) (observing, in aprivate-ftgurecase, that Justice 

Riley outlined the proper procedure for (C)(8) challenges). 

Thus, the Court made a clear error of law by ruling that it was not required to 

performed a heightened review of the Complaint to determine whether SCA had 

pleaded each element of its defamation claims. 

2. SeA's Status: The Court committed palpable error when it reached the 
issue of whether SCA is a public or private figure. 

When discussing the applicable standard of review, the Court added that it 

"should not find that the Plaintiff is a public figure, even though neither party has ar-

3 
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gued such." (Exhibit 1 at 4.) The Court explained « [SCA] does not avail itself, inten

tionally or otherwise, to the public domain. By its nature of investment banking, the 

average population does not know the company by name and surely does not have a 

legitimate interest in its affairs." Ibid. This reasoning is flawed for five reasons: 

First, this was not an issue presented in our motion, and thus beyond the 

scope of the Court's analysis at this juncture. The Court was limited to the pleadings 

when rendering its decision. M.C.R. 2.116(G)(5). 

Second, SCA is a publicly regulated business subject to oversight from the U.S. 

Securities & Exchange Commission. The Court offers no legal support for its conclu

sion of law that the public has no legitimate interest in the business dealings of a pub

licly regulated company. 

Third, the Court has overlooked controlling caselaw that says the « average pop

ulation" is the wrong cohort for the analysis. As noted in Defendants' Reply, the U.S. 

Supreme Court has adopted a "reasonable audience" standard. Air Wis. Airlhies Corp. 

v. Hoeper, 571 U.S. 237, 246-251 (2014). The reasonable audience in this case is not 

the average population. It is those who visit goodtrades.com, which reports on mat

ters relevant to the microcap market. A reasonably careful journalist and a reasonably 

careful publisher can reasonably expect that those who visit goodetrades.com are so

phisticated readers who are well versed in the industry and that they would conclude 

that SCA was the means by which illegal activity was implemented-particularly with 

the benefit of links to source documents. 

Fourth, the Court conflates two distinct concepts: public-figure plaintiffs and 

cases involving matters of public concern. Defendants' Motion addressed the latter, 

not the former. 
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A public figure "attains that status by voluntarily assuming a role of special 

prominence in the affairs of society, whereas a private figure has not assumed an influ

ential role in society." Lakeshore Cmty. Hosp.) Inc. v. Perry, 212 Mich. App. 396, 403 

(1995). There is also the limited-purpose public figure, which is a person who places 

himself in "the forefront of particular public controversies." Gertz v. Welch, 418 U.S. 

323,345 (1974). To determine whether someone is a limited-purpose public figure, a 

"court must look to the nature and extent of the individual's participation in the con

troversy." New Franklin Enters. v. Sabo, 192 Mich. App. 219, 222 (1991). 

Matters of public concern, on the other hand, are of "legitimate news inter

est; that is, a subject of general interest and of value and concern to the public at the 

time of publication." City of San Diego v. Roe, 543 U.S. 77, 84 (2004). 

In every defamation case involving a public figure, a limited-purpose public fig

ure, or a matter of public concern, actual malice is a live issue. New York Times Co. v. 

Sullivan, 376 u.s. 254, 281-282 (1964) (public officials); Curtis PubPg Co. v. Butts, 

38 U.S. 130 (1967) (public figures); Dun & Bradstreetv. Greenmoss Builders) Inc., 472 

U.S. 749, 763 (1985) (limiting private figures to actual damages absent actual malice). 

Fifth, and finally, because Defendants moved under Rule 2.116(C)(8), hold

ing that SCA is not a public figure arguably forecloses (impermissibly) Defendants 

from developing a record to prove that SCA is a general or limited-purpose public 

figure. While SCA may claim it is a private figure, facts adduced during discovery 

may prove that it has injected itself into a public controversy, which can be used on 

a (C)(10) motion brought after the close of discovery. 

3. Exhibits to Defendants' Pleadings: The Court erroneously held that it could 
not review Defendants' exhibits. 

At oral argument, the Court stated that it must look to the pleadings-both 

the Complaint and the Answer-and to the documents attached to those pleadings 
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that are necessary to give meaning to the parties' allegations and denials. (Exhibit 2, 

Motion Tr. 30:3-23 (Aug. 22, 2018).) Yet, in its Opinion, the Court held "the ex

hibits that were introduced via the Defendants' Motion are not to be reviewed when 

determining the Motion." (Exhibit 1 at 5.) But the only documents attached to the 

Motion are the same documents attached to the Answer. Thus, the exhibits to Defend

ants' Motion are part of the pleadings. By its own reasoning, the Court was required 

to view those documents when ruling on this motion. The Court should therefore 

grant reconsideration of this portion of its Opinion. 

4. Fault and Res Ipsa Loquitur: The Court erred by applying the doctrine of 
res ipsa loquitur, which cannot be used to prove fault in defamation cases. 

The Court's Opinion conflates falsity and fault, which are two distinct elements 

that require different proofs. See Locricchio v. Evening News Ass)n, 438 Mich. 84, 117-

123 (1991). Error, alone, is not negligence. Assuming arguendo that this is a private-fig

ure case, Statement No.2 must be provably false and Defendants must have failed to 

exercise the degree of care that a reasonable journalist or publisher would have under 

the circumstances. The Court ruled, however, that proof of falsity is ipso facto proof that 

Defendants failed to exercise the requisite standard of care: "applying the legal theory 

of res ipsa loquitor, the Defendant's statements were made about a realm that they claim 

to have a lot of experience in. If the statements prove to be false, then by its very nature 

they also meet the third element's standard that requires negligence on behalf of the 

wrongdoer." (Exhibit 1 at 6-7.) This reasoning incorrectly interprets and misapplies 

the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur. 

Res ipsa loquitur is a principle of tort law that allows one to infer negligence from 

the very nature of an injury, despite the absence of direct evidence regarding how any 

particular person behaved. "The doctrine implies that the court does not know, and 
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cannot find out, what actually happened in the individual case. Instead, the finding of 

likely negligence is derived from knowledge of the causes of the type or category of 

accidents involved." Restatement (Third) of Torts § 17 (2010) (emphasis added). It is 

applied in negligence cases where there is an injury for which there is no direct evi

dence that a particular individual caused it, but the nature of the injury is such that it 

must have been caused as a result of negligence. Hence the thing speaks for itself. 

No Michigan court has ever applied this doctrine to a claim of defamation. In

deed, the doctrine cannot apply in defamation cases because a false statement is never 

automatically the result of actual malice or negligence. Even assuming arguendo that 

this is a private-figure case, at the pleading stage, SCA must plead how the reasonable 

reporter and publisher would have acted differently than Defendants did in this situa

tion. Rouch II, 440 Mich. at 279 (Riley, J., concurring) ("The relatively simple re

quirement of pleading facts to support allegations of material falsity, negligence, or reckless 

disregard for the truth should be followed ... in defamation actions, and, pursuant to 

MCR 2.116(C)(8), defendant should have been entitled to summary disposition on this 

ground alone a decade ago." (emphasis added». But the Complaint does not make any 

allegations of what a reasonable reporter or publisher would have done differently. With

out that connection spelled out in the Complaint, SCA has failed to plead facts estab

lishing why Defendants are at fault if Statement No.2 is false. Thus, they have failed 

to adequately plead a required element with the required specificity as to that statement. 

5. Falsity and Defamatory Meaning: The Court erred when it held that State
ment No.2 is "likely false and defamatory." 

The Court held that Statement No.2 is "likely" false and defamatory. (Ex

hibit 1 at 8.) This is erroneous for two reasons. 
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First, as to falsity, the Court held: "[w]hile the Defendant[s] claim[] the state

ment is not false because some large brokers still trade in existing shares of penny 

stocks, instead of purchasing new penny stocks, this is not asserted in the state

ment." Ibid. This is a facially incorrect statement of fact. Statement No. 2 reads: 

"They [Plaintiff] are one of the few brokers left that have continued to allow the 

deposit and sale of shares of illiquid penny stock. Larger brokers and discount brokers 

stopped allowing that over five years ago." Ibid. (emphasis added). Depositing shares 

and selling shares are two different activities. As written, Statement No.2 says few 

brokers still allow both activities. The Complaint only identifies brokers who still 

trade penny stocks. (CompI. 'If 13(b).) Nowhere in the Complaint does SCA identify 

any other brokers who still accept shares for deposit. Thus, it has not sufficiently al

leged that the statement as written -" deposit and sale" - is false. 

Second, as to defamatory meaning, the Court held that Statement No.2 is 

"inherently defamatory" by implying that SCA engages in practices not in line with 

others in its field. Ibid. But that is the language of defamation per se, and this is a claim 

for defamation per quod. For something to be "inherently defamatory" it must "ei

ther hold a person up to contempt, ridicule, or scorn, impute crime, impute unchas

tity in a woman, or impute a loathsome disease." Bufalino v. Maxon Bros.) Inc., 368 

Mich. 140,151-152 (1962). Indeed, the Michigan Supreme Court has held that saying 

someone is in a particular line of business is "not in and of itself defamatory," if it is a 

"perfectly legitimate business"-i.e., a legal one. Ibid. Plainly, a federally regulated 

business is a lawful business; the Court implicitly acknowledges as much. (See Exhibit 1 

at 8 (" This statement [about SCA' s business practices] ... even if not illegal ... ".) 
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For these reasons, the Court committed palpable error when it ruled that 

SCA had adequately pleaded falsity and defamatory meaning with the specificity re

quired for defamation actions. It should therefore reverse these rulings. 

RELIEF REQUESTED 

For these reasons, the Could should: 

(1) HOLD that SCA's defamation claim is subject to heightened pleading 

requirements, even assuming arguendo this is a private-figure case; 

(2) HOLD that the Court can review the exhibits attached to Defendants' 

Answer when considering a motion under MCR 2.l16(C)(8); 

(3) HOLD that the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur cannot be applied in defa-

mation cases as a substitute for pleading fault with the required specificity; 

(4) HOLD that SCA has failed to adequately plead falsity, defamatory 

meaning, or fault with the specificity required in defamation actions; and 

(5) GRANT full summary disposition in Defendants' favor, dismissing 

this action in its entirety under Rule 2.116(C)(8). 

Dated: OCTOBER 25, 2018 
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RECEIVED 

STATE OF MICHIGAN OCT 11 2018 
IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE COUNTY OF KALAW~OO 

******************** JOSEPH E. RlCHOTTE 

SCOTTSDALE CAPITAL 
ADVISORS CORPORATION 

Plaintiff, 

v 

MORINGLIGHTMOUT AIN, LLC, 
MICHAEL GOODE AND DOES 1-10, 

Defendants. 

. ,,,,) 

Jordan D. Susman (CA# 184593) 
HARDERLLP 
Attorney for Plaintiff 
132 South Rodeo Dr., 4th Floor 
Beverly Hills, CA 90212 
(424) 203-1600 

H. Rhett Pinsky (P 18920) 
PINSKY, SMITH, FAYETTE & KENNEDY, LLP 
Local Counsel for Plaintiff 
146 Monroe Center St., NW - Suite 805 
Grand Rapids, MI 49503 
(616) 451-8496 

Circuit Court File No. 2018-0153-CZ 

Hon. Alexander C. Lipsey 

OPINION AND ORDER 

F I LED 
~' I OCT 0 4 2018 ] 

9TH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
COUNTY OF KAlAMAZOO 

N 

Joseph E. Richotte (P70902) 
BUTZEL LONG, PC 
Attorney for Defendants 
41000 Woodward Avenue 
Bloomfield Hills, MI 48304 
(248) 258-1616 

At a session of Court in the City and County of 
Kalamazoo, State of Michigan, on 

this 4th day of October, 2018. 

PRESENT: HONORABLE ALEXANDER C. LIPSEY, Circuit Court Judge 
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STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL mSTORY 

Scottsdale Capital Advisors, the Plaintiff, is an investment banking company that partakes 

in penny stock trading. Penny stocks are smaller, non-SEC regulated stocks. Scottsdale was used. 

by certain investors to perform a pump-and-dump scheme in order to alter the current stock value 

for a company called Biozoom. The Defendants, MorningLightMountain, Michael Goode, and 

Does 1-10, report via blog and social media posts about issues facing the trading and investment 

world. 

On April 17,2017 and June 14,2017, MorningLightMountain through the website 

GoodeTrades.com published two articles which Plaintiffs allege were defamatory. Plaintiff claims 

the April article contains at least three defamatory, false remarks. The Plaintiffs quote the 

following three: 

1. "If you have followed penny stocks and pump and dumps for a few years then you know 

Scottsdale Capital Advisors." 

2. "They [SCA] are one of the few brokers left that have continued to allow the deposit and 

sale of shares of illiquid penny stocks. Larger brokers and discount brokers stopped 

allowing that over five years ago." 

3. "When the big Biozoom (BIZM) pump happened back in 2013 marty of the frozen accounts 

were at Scottsdale Capital." 

The June article contains at least one defamatory, false remark including the following: 

1. "Lest anyone think that these are just minor paperwork deficiencies with no real 

consequences, I remind you that one pump and dump alone, Biozoom, (BIZM) led to over 

$17 million in fraudulent profits for manipulators I irisiders, and many of accounts were at 

Scottsdale Capital Advisors." 
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Based on these alleged defamatory remarks, Plaintiff filed a summons and complaint on April, 

16, 2018 in the 9th Circuit Court of Kalamazoo County. The Defendants filed a Motion for 

Summary Disposition on June 7, 2018. Plaintiffs responded on August 17, 2018 and Defendants 

replied on August 20,2018. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

(C)(8) 

A motion for summary disposi~ion brought pursuant to MCR 2.116(C)(8) is appropriate 

when the opposing party has failed to stat~ a claim on which relief can be granted. A Motion for 

Summary Disposition under MCR 2.116(C)(8) tests the legal sufficiency of the complaint solely 

on the basis of the pleadings. Beaudrie v Henderson, 465 Mich 124, 129 (2001). "[A]ll well 

pleaded allegations are accepted as true, and construed most favorably to the non-moving party." 

Wade v Dep't of Corr, 439 Mich 158, 162-163 (1992). A mere statement of conclusions, 

unsupported by factual allegations, is not sufficient to state a cause of action. EIT Ambulance Svc 

Corp v Rockford Ambulance, Inc, 204 Mich App 392, 395 (1994). A motion under MCR 

2.1 16(C)(8) may be granted only where the claims alleged are "so clearly unenforceable as a matter 

of law that no factual development could possibly justify recovery." Wade at 163. 

ANALYSIS 

Through the parties' filed briefs, there are three issues at bar. First, there is a question 

regarding the standard of review. Second, there is a question what exhibits and evidence are 

admissible under review of MCR 2.116(C)(8). Third, there is a question whether the initial and 

amended complaint (the Complaint) properly give asserted factual basis. for all the elements 

necessary to allege a defamation case. 

1. THE STANDARD OF REVIEW IS NOT ALTERED JUST BECAUSE THE CASE 
AT BAR INVOL YES AN ALLEGED DEFAMATION. 
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The first issue is whether there is a heightened scrutiny when reviewing defamation cases in 

the scope of MCR 2.1 16(C)(8). Defendant, the moving party, claims that there is a heightened 

scrutiny when reviewing a defamation case for legal sufficiency based on its pleadings. The 

Plaintiff properly states that this claim is without merit. The two cases the Defendants cite to, Bose 

Corp. v Consumers Union and Thomas M Cooley Law School v Does 1, are improperly interpreted. 

466 US 485 (1984); 300 Mich App 245 (2013). In Bose Corp., the Supreme Court references 

decisions made in light of New York Times Co v Sullivan. 466 at 487-86. This case pertains to 

public officials. In defamation cases, most states impart a higher standard for public officials to 

prove "actual malice" before a proper claim can be made. New York Times Co v Sullivan, 376 US 

254,268 (1964). 

Furthermore, the Defendant's citation of ThomasM Cooley Law School v Does 1 also fails 

to appreciate the different standard between a public official or figure and a private one. The 

Defendant does not assert that the Plaintiff is a public official or figure, and thus by Michigan law . 

the Plaintiff is not required to prove "actual malice" since proof or assertion of "actual malice" is 

reserved for defamation cases in which a public figure is the victim of the alleged defamatory 

remarks. Peterfish v Frantz, 168 Mich App 43, 52 (1988). 

Further, this Court should not find that the Plaintiff is a public figure, even though neither party 

has argued such. A public figure is a "person who by his accomplishments, fame, or mode of 

living, or by adopting a calling which gives the public a legitimate interest in his act ivies, affairs, 

and character, has become a public personage. Arber v Sahlin, 382 Mich 300, n 4 (1969). 

Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corporation does not avail itself, intentionally or otherwise, to the 

public domain. By its nature of investment banking, the average population does not know the 

comp8I).y by name and surely does not have a legitimate interest in its affairs. 
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For these reasons, this Court should not implement a higher standard as the Defendant 

suggests, but instead maintain a normal course of action regarding MCR 2.116(C)(8) that reviews 

only pleadings for legal sufficiency in light of the alleged wrongdoing. At bar, only nonnal 

defamation is being asserted by a private party. 

2. THE EXIDBITS AND EVIDENCE PRODUCED IN THE MOVING PARTY'S 
ORIGINAL BRIEF FOR SUMMARY DISPOSITION ARE NOT CONSIDERED 
WHEN REVIEWING WHETHER OR NOT THE ORIGINAL AND AMENDED 
COMPLAINT SUFFICIENTLY PLEADS A CLAIM IN WHICH RELIEF CAN BE 
GRANTED. 

The second issue is whether the Defendants' attached exhibits to their brief for their Motion 

for Summary Disposition are reviewable by this Court when deciding on a Motion brought under 

MCR 2.1l6(C)(8). The Plaintiff is correct that a Motion for Summary Disposition brought under 

MCR 2.ll6(C)(8) allows for the court to review only the pleadings already on file as evidence to 

support the moving party's Motion. Dalley v Dykema Gossett, 287 Mich App 296, 305 (2010). 

Because of this, the exhibits that were introduced via the Defendant's Motion are not to be 

reviewed when determining the Motion. This Court should only review the prior pleadings, both 

the original and the amended complaint, and any documents that were previously, properly 

submitted to the Court. 

3. THE ORIGINAL AND AMENDED COMPLAINT SUFFICIENTLY ASSERT AT 
LEAST ONE FACTUAL BASIS FOR WHICH TmS COURT CAN GRANT 
RELIEF THAT IS BEING REQUESTED. 

For recovery under MCR 2.116(C)(8), the moving party must prove that the Complaint 

does not establish the elements of the alleged wrongdoing with proper, factual basis. For a party 

to succeed in a defamation claim, the complainant must establish and prove that there were (1) 

false and defamatory statements concerning the plaintiff from an (2) unprivileged communication 

to a third party from (3) fault amounting at least to negligence on the part of the publisher and (4) 
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either actionability of the statement irrespective of the special hann or the existence of special 

harm caused by publication. Mitan v Campbell, 474 Mich 21,25 (2005). 

While the parties may disagree on the some peripheral facts outside of the pleading, the 

issue before this Court is whether the Complaint by the Plaintiff establishes enough asserted factual 

basis for the Complaint to be properly pleaded. Harte-Hanks Communications, Inc v Connaughton, 

491 US 657, 685 (1989). In the Complaint, there are four statements made by the Defendant's 

publication that the Plaintiff alleges to rise to the level of defamation. Only one of the statements 

need to be properly pleaded for the Motion for Summary Disposition to be denied. 

When analyzing each statement, the question is not whether there is enough evidence to 

make a legal determination as to whether the Defendant is culpable, but rather the Complaint 

properly asserts a legal stance in which relief can be granted by this Court. In their brief, the 

Defendant does not address the second and fourth elements of defamation. Instead, the Defendant 

claims that either the Plaintiff did not establish in their Complaint that the statements were false 

or defamatory and/or that the duty of care, negligence, has not been met. 

The Plaintiff asserts in the Complaint that the Defendant should have known that the 

statements were false, or in the least acted in reckless disregard when it published the articles. l 

While this statement does not have alleged evidence to prove directly that the Defendant knew of 

the claim's falsity, this assertion implies a fact basis. If the Defendants were journalist that work 

within the realm of the investment banking, as they do, then they would likely know if the 

statements were intentionally false. 

This argument is convincing for two reasons. First, applying the legal theQry of res ipsa 

loquitor, the Defendant's statements were made about a realm that they claim to have a lot of 

1 Amended Complaint, ~ 26, April 20, 2018. 
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experience in. If the statements prove to be false, then by its very nature they also meet the third 

element's standard that requires negligence on behalf of the wrongdoer. Second, Defendants have 

refused to retract, correct, or apologize for the statements and thus were on notice about their 

potential falsity. 2 If this court deems the statements to be false, then it consequently also determines 

that the Defendant's actions were negligent when reporting false statements. Because of this, only 

the falsity or defamatory nature will need to be assessed per statement within the Complaint. 

A. "If you have followed penny stocks and pump and dumps for a few years then you know 
Scottsdale Capital Advisors." 

The first statement from the April 2017 article implies that Scottsdale is associated with pump 

and dump schemes. The Court is not currently worried about whether this statement is true or false, 

but is ONL Y worried about whether the Complaint filed by the Plaintiff properly asserts a factual 

basis that this statement by Defendant is false or defamatory. Defendants argue that this statement 

is factual because the statement does not explicitly state the Plaintiffs have never been a defendant 

in any pump and dump lawsuit, but claim that the Plaintiffs are still associated with pump and 

dump schemes because of their broker-dealer status in penny stocks. 

The Plaintiff asserts that this statement implies that Scottsdale Capital Advisors are conducting 

pump and dump schemes. The Complaint alleges that the Plaintiffhas never been a defendant and 

has never been convicted for engaging in pump and dump schemes. This is a strong argument 

since the Defendant's statements are not commenting on the Plaintiffs status in legal matters, but 

instead stating that pump and dump activity has been associated with the Scottsdale Capital 

Advisors. The Complaint does not properly allege a factual basis to refute this, for this reason the 

Defendant is correct, the Complaint does not properly give a basis to claim the first statement is 

false. 

2 Amended Complaint, 11 23, April 20, 2018. 
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B. "They [SCA] are one of the few brokers left that have continued to allow the deposit and 
sale of shares of illiquid penny stocks. Larger brokers and discount brokers stopped 
allowing that over five years ago." 

The second statement pertains to the amount of brokers who still partake in transactions of 

illiquid penny stocks. The Complaint attempts to prove this statement's falsity by asserting many 

large brokers continue to trade in penny stocks. The Defendant's statement asserts that all large 

brokers have stopped using this penny stock method. The alleged statements made by Defendants 

could shed a poor light on the Plaintiff in regards to what is common practice and whether the 

Plaintiff is following normal standards within the practice. 

While the Defendant claims the statement is not false because some large brokers still trade in 

existing shares of penny stocks, instead of purchasing new penny stocks, this is not asserted in the 

statement and the Complaint properly asserts a basis to prove that statement #2 is false. Further, 

the statement is inherently defamatory by implying the practices of Scottsdale Capital Advising is 

not in line with others in its field. This statement would likely affect the opinions of its viewers, 

even if not illegal, that the practices by the Plaintiff are unusual and not for the betterment of its 

clients. For this reason, this statement is likely false and defamatory. 

C. "When the big Biozoom (BIZM) pump happened back in 2013 many of the frozen accounts 
were at Scottsdale Capital." 

This last statement from the April 2017 article is not false nor defamatory. The assertion in the 

Complaint states that "only a handful of accounts at SCA were frozen as a result of Biozoom 

trading. The difference between "many" and "only a handful" is meritless. Further, the Complaint 

asserts that SCA has never been a defendant in any lawsuit involving Biozoom stock. Once again, 

the statement by the Defendants do not declare that the Plaintiffwas involved in a Biozoom related 

lawsuit, and thus the Complaint does not properly assert a factual basis for the claim. 
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D. "Lest anyone think. that these are just minor paperwork deficiencies with no real 
consequences, I remind you that one pump and dump alone, Biozoom (BIZM) led to over 
$17 million in fraudulent profits for manipulators / insiders, and many of their accounts 
were at Scottsdale Capital Advisors." 

The final statement comes from the June 2017 article. Defendant's statement in the June article, 

unlike statement #2 from the April article, does not imply any wrongdoing by Scottsdale Capital 

Advisors and only states that the accounts that were wrongfully partaking in the pump and dump 

scheme were being held through the Plaintiff. The Complaint asserts that this statement by 

Defendant implies the Plaintiff was handling the trading ofBiozoom stock and that it was involved 

in lawsuits regarding the same matter. 

The Complaint seems to be making assertions regarding statements that were never made. The 

statement from the June 2017 article by the Defendants does not claim the Plaintiff is a party to a 

lawsuit involving Biozoom stock nor does it state that the Plaintiff was partaking in the pump and 

dump scheme. The only claim is that many of the accounts that were taking part in pump and dump 

were held at Scottsdale Capital Advisors. For this reason, this statement is also not properly 

pleaded in the Complaint to assert that it is factually false. 

CONCLUSION 

As noted above, all of the legality hinges on the falsity or defamatory nature of each 

statement and whether the Complaint has properly asserted a basis on which the overall claim 

can stand. Statement #1, #3, and #4 are not sufficiently pleaded because the Complaint does not 

assert facts that prove these statements were false. However, Statement #2 likely does meet this 

standard. Because of this, the overall Complaint is sufficiently pleaded when viewed in light 

favorable to the non-moving party. 
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As to Count II, Invasion of Privacy; False Light, the Court having detennined that 

Plaintiff Corporation would have no expectation of privacy Count II fails to state a claim under 

MCR 2.116(C)(8). 

For the reasons cited above, Defendants' Motion for Summary Disposition is DENIED. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

Dated: October 4, 2018 
Honorable Alexander C. Li 
Circuit Court Judge 

PROOF OF MAILING 

I, "h ;11 k tV) J.so ~Jcertify that on this date October 4,2018 I mailed a copy of this document 
to the parties in interest at their above stated addresses via first-class mail and/or interoffice mail. 

vcLa1Uit Jt. l~ 
Denise H. Wilson 
Judicial Aide to the Hon. Alexander C. Lipsey 
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Kalamazoo, Michigan 

Wednesday, August 22, 2018 - 9:01:29 a.m. 

THE CLERK: All rise. 

Kalamazoo County 9th Circuit Court is now in 

session. The Honorable Alexander C. Lipsey presiding. 

Please be seated. 

THE COURT: Okay. 

THE CLERK: Court calls the case of Scottsdale 

Capital versus MorningLightMountain, LLC; case number 2018-

0153-CZ. 

Please state your appearances for the record. 

MR. RICHOTTE: Hi. Good morning, your Honor. 

Joe Richotte appearing on behalf of the defendant. 

MR. KURTZ: Good morning, your Honor. Nicholas 

Kurtz on behalf of the plaintiff. 

MR. GOODE: Good morning, your Honor. Michael 

Goode the defendant and the sole member of the corporate 

defendant MorningLightMountain, LLC. 

THE COURT: Okay. 

Good morning . You may be seated . 

We are here on kind of a roundabout journey. 

But, we're here on a Motion for Summary Disposition under 

2.116(C) (8), basically dealing with the sufficiency of the 

plead--pleadings allegation under C8 - alleges that there 
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is no--no claim on which relief can be granted as a matter 

of law. 

The court has had an opportunity to review the 

submission of the parties and, I guess, Mr. Richotee it's 

your motion. 

MR. RICHOTTE: Thank you, your Honor. 

Your Honor, since you've had an opportunity to 

review the submissions I'd like to spend oral argument this 

morning hitting some of the high points in the motion, and 

seeing if your Honor has any questions for me to answer. 

First and foremost, I think, is the disagreement 

between the parties when it comes to what you can consider 

on a C8. As we've argued in our briefing papers, the court 

rule specified that you can consider the pleadings. 

Pleadings are defined by the court rule to include the 

answer. 

I know there's a disagreement as to materials 

that are attached to the answer, but we've supplied some 

case law that demonstrates that you can in fact view 

anything that's attached to, because it becomes 

incorporated into the pleadings. So, just like you'd 

consider the articles that are attached by the plaintiff to 

their complaint, you can also consider the materials that 

are attached to our answer. 
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In addition, there was a point made in the 

response brief that the court can only consider the 

allegations in the complaint. I would respectfully 

disagree with that. 

While, I think it is somewhat unusual on a C8 

motion for somebody to have entered an answer and to ask 

the court to consider that, I think the proper approach 

would be just as you would with the complaint, view any 

allegations in there as true, but view them in the light 

most favorable to the plaintiff, unless, of course, it's a 

straight out denial and then of course you would have to 

consider what the--what the complaint alleges. 

Turning to the defamations count, your Honor, I 

think the primary issue that we have is a failure to 

adequately plead fault. In a defamation action there is 

either a negligent standard or an actual malice standard, 

and that depends based on First Amendment law whether you 

have somebody who is a private figure or a public figure. 

Here Scottsdale is alleging that it is a private 

figure and so is trying to take advantage of the less 

stringent negligence standard. But, we have a disagreement 

as to what that standard means. 

There is a reasonably careful publisher and a 

reasonably careful journalist standard that would apply 
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here, and there's also, according to a recent Supreme Court 

decision, U.S. Supreme Court out of 2014, Air Wisconsin 

versus Hoeper, which we've cited in our reply; a reasonable 

audience standard that also informs that analysis. 

So, the question becomes what would a reasonably 

careful journalist have done given the expected audience of 

readers or hearers of the statement. 

Here there's no allegations in the complaint 

regarding what we as a publisher or as journalist should 

have done differently, right. If you're going to argue 

that a reasonably careful journalist would have done X, you 

have to plead what that X is and we don't have that here. 

What we do have at most in their response brief 

is an indication that there was a retraction demand, but 

that retraction demand came after publication. And, the 

case law is pretty clear that you have to take a look at 

the statement and the negligence at the time of 

publication. 

Similarly, and I think this more of a corollary, 

the statute indicates that retraction goes to damages, 

right, and not to the issue of fault. 

If however, actual malice were to apply, and they 

do appear to plea that in the alternative, and even if they 

were to tell you at oral argument that they aren't really 
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trying to plead actual malice in the alternative it's still 

relevant to the pleadings on the false like claim. Right. 

So, we're going to have to talk about actual malice either 

way. 

To--to plead actual malice, you have to allege 

that the statement was either made knowingly false or made 

with a reckless disregard for the truth. Right. We have 

to know how we knew that this was false, or why we were 

reckless for allegedly disregarding it. 

Again, we get back to the same issue of the 

retraction demand, is really the only issue that they 

raise, but that is a post-publication analysis that doesn't 

really apply. 

When you talk about reckless disregard you're 

talking about either a high degree of awareness of the 

publications probable falsity, or you have to be able to 

prove that the defendant entertained a serious doubt as to 

the truth of the publication. 

But, here in both articles, Judge, there is a 

link out to the source documents. So, the question really 

becomes what more could a reasonable publisher have done 

under those circumstances. And, certainly if we're citing 

to underlining litigation documents how we would have a 

serious doubt that those documents contained falsity or 
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errors is certainly not clear from the complaint. 

I would also note, Judge, that although we have 

investigated, even if they were to allege that there was a 

failure to investigate the accuracy of the information, our 

courts held in Smith versus Anonymous Joint Enterprises 

that a failure to investigate the accuracy of information, 

even if a reasonably prudent person would have done so, 

isn't enough to meet the reckless disregard standard. Of 

course, again, here we have just an indication just from 

links and the excessive quote--extensive quotes rather, 

from those underlining source documents that investigation 

did in fact occur. 

If we get past the fault issue, Judge, which I 

think is primarily fatal to their claim, we're then going 

to get into the actual statements themselves. I know that 

the parties have a disagreement as to how you would read 

those various statement. We read them, frankly, as not 

false. 

Anyone who has followed penny-stocks for the last 

few years would know about a company that was, at least, 

involved in the sense of providing a platform for trading 

that resulted in about a thirty some odd million dollar 

fraud that the SEC has been investigating and pursuing 

vigorously, as has FINRA, which is the self-regulatory 
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authority for the securities market. 

The second statement is that there are few 

brokers left who have continued to allow deposit sale of 

shares of illiquid penny-stocks. Larger brokers and 

discount brokers stopped allowing that over 5-years ago. 

For that, your Honor, it's not false, because 

there is a distinction, although they try to say, you know, 

pay no attention to the man behind the curtain when it 

comes to the difference between the deposit and the trading 

of stocks. 

I think the best way to consider this, Judge, is 

the concept of grandfathering, right. We're very familiar 

with that in the law. Something that was prohibited now 

becomes--or excuse me, was permitted becomes prohibited. 

You allow the person who was doing something properly to 

continue on until natural time would--would bring them into 

compliance. 

We're more or less in that kind of situation 

here. There's no allegations in the complaint that there 

are any other companies that accepted a deposit of shares 

for trade. That's step one of the process. If you don't 

deposit shares as they indicate, you then can't trade them. 

These other companies that are identified in the 

complaint as doing the training, certainly, we'll accept 
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that true for purposes of C8; that's their allegation we 

have to accept it as true. But, there's a difference 

between those companies allowing shares that are already in 

the market place that continue to be traded versus bringing 

new shares in. 

Now, it may it be that they'll stand up here and 

say, Judge, of course, there are other companies that do 

that, but, that's not pleaded in the complaint. Certainly, 

since they're making such a big deal of the fact that this 

apparently niche market carries with it some stigma, then I 

think it's on them when it comes to the pleading to 

establish those underlining facts to support their claim. 

But, beyond that it's not defamatory for that 

simple purpose that identifying somebody as working in a 

niche market is not itself defamatory. 

The third statement in the April article is that 

when the big Biozoom pump happened back in 2013 many of the 

frozen accounts were at Scottsdale. What we have here is a 

disagreement in terminology. Right. 

Their view of the world is of all of the accounts 

that we have this is a fraction of the business. Fair 

enough, but that's not what we alleged. Right. 

The articles statement is that many of the 

accounts involved in that scheme were seized and frozen at 
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Scottsdale. I don't think there's any disagreement that 

that is literally true. 

Then they go on to say that Scottsdale has never 

been a defendant in any lawsuit involving the trading of 

Biozoom stock. Again, that may very well be, but that's 

not what the statement says. So, if we're here on an 

allegation of falsity there's going to have to be some 

indication that they were--or excuse me, that the statement 

itself indicated that they were a defendant. 

We don't believe that it's defamatory as well, 

because the fact, again, that something was frozen in the 

ordinary course of business is not in and of itself 

defamatory. 

Then finally, we have the privilege statement 

issue. We have the fair-report privilege by statute. I 

would note, your Honor, that there is going to be some 

disagreement between the parties on this because they view 

the fair-report privilege as a qualified privilege and they 

cite the Rouch decision in their response. 

I took a look at Rouch last night as we were 

preparing for this morning, and there's act--it's 

interesting. If you read the opinion there's actually two 

sections in the Rouch opinion - one that discusses the 

fair-report privilege and one that discusses the common law 
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of public interest privilege. 

The page that they cite to is actually to the 

common law qualified public interest privilege; not to the 

fair-report privilege that we're relying on. 

I think when we're talking about the statutory 

fair-report privilege, the only sense in which it can be 

qualified is that you have to actually meet the predicate, 

right, that it is a report on a public proceeding. 

Once you get to that point, the question is, is 

it fair and true, right, which is really just another 

falsity analysis that we've already just discussed. So, I 

don't think that there's any dispute, or at least there 

should be, that the fair-report privilege would certainly 

immunize that third statement. 

Then we move to the June article where there is a 

reminder that the Biozoom fraud cost 17 million dollars in 

profits to manipulators and insiders with many of those 

accounts at Scottsdale. 

If you go through the June article you'll see 

that it's much longer. It contains many more excerpts from 

the underlining FINRA opinion. We're talking 111 pages 

that FINRA goes through and details what went wrong at 

Scottsdale. Right. There's no accusation, contrary to 

what I suspect you'll hear in oral argument, that we've 
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accused Scottsdale of being involved or being part of or a 

mastermind or anything like that with respect to the pump

and-dump scheme. 

But, what we're saying is, FINRA has identified 

you as having lacks internal controls, and those lacks 

internal controls allow somebody to commit a fraud through 

you. Not that you did anything intentionally, but your 

failure to do your job on the regulatory side is what 

caused or at least allowed for this fraud to move forward. 

So, I think that's a fairly important fact that 

shouldn't get lost in the--the details of this morning's 

argument. 

The very last issue here, Judge, relates to the 

False Light complaint. Of everything else that's in our 

papers, I want to focus this morning only on the fact that 

Booth Newspapers specifies that there is no privacy 

interest for a corporation. 

The response to that is, well nobody has said 

that a corporation can't bring a False Light claim; that 

mayor may not be true. But, what they tell you later on 

in their brief is that invasion of privacy is now 

delineated in four or five different torts. 

What that really means is that there's four or 

five different ways to end a privacy. So, the question is 
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do you have an underlining privacy interest that can be 

protected in that space. The answer is no. Under Booth 

Newspapers it's very clear there's no privacy interest, 

which reminds me of the old Latin phrase we all learned in 

law school, right, nemo dat quod non habet - you can't get 

what you don't have. The corollary being nobody can take 

from you what you don't have. I can't invade a privacy 

interest if you don't have one. 

So, for that reason we would ask that the False 

Light count be dismissed, and we do believe that it would 

be appropriate for the court to dismiss this with 

prejudice. But, certainly if the court is inclined to give 

them a third opportunity to plead that they should have to 

do that by motion so that we can all talk about whether 

they have met the standard before we have to incur 

additional time on this file. 

Thank you, your Honor, unless you have any 

questions. 

THE COURT: Nope. You covered each of the 

points. I'll hear what Mr. Kurtz has to say. I'll 

probably have some questions after that. 

So, you may proceed. 

MR. KURTZ: Thank you, your Honor. 

I may go a little bit in reverse or easiest to 
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first. 

I just want to point out some--some issues. On 

the leave to amend issue, I would respectfully disagree 

that this would not be third bite at the apple if your 

Honor believes that the complaint does not have sufficient 

allegations. This is the first amended complaint, but the 

only allegation that was changed was the location of the 

defendants. 80--so, to suggest a third bite at the apple 

really isn't fair. 

80, again, if your Honor feels that the--the 

allegations are not sufficient, I believe there are 

additional allegations that can be alleged, obviously, 

depending on your Honor's ruling. 

First, on the procedural aspect of can we 

consider these exhibits to an answer. Your Honor's 

practiced longer than I have. I've only been around, you 

know, 13-years or so. I've never seen it done. That 

doesn't mean it can't be done. 

But, in--in the legal authority cited every case 

that's cited by them and even us in considering documents 

attached to pleadings - the only case as cited show it as a 

complaint, which makes sense. Because, if the defendants 

are challenging the sufficiency of a complaint that may 

only partially refer to documents then the court needs to 
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see the document sin whole. 

Just like here - if they're challenging that the 

statement alleged to be defamatory must be read in context 

then it makes sense. The judge--the court needs to see the 

entire article. 

So, that's just from a common sense practical 

aspect, otherwise this would be a total end-run around this 

initial challenge to the pleadings procedure, and you could 

literally file an answer that basically says whatever you 

want it to say, attach whatever documents you want and then 

tell the court - well, you have to assume these are true. 

You know, as a practical matter it doesn't make sense. 

On the--the legal aspect of it, I will point out 

that MeR 2.13(F) in relation to this issue says that 

documents attached to the pleadings may be accepted. It 

refers specifically to written instruments and the cases 

have interpreted that as, you know, legally binding 

documents that show an obligation such as a contracted 

deed, a trust document - some of those things. 

I have a couple cases--obviously, these--this was 

brought up in a reply. I can cite them to you if you want, 

but I think it's, you know, it's well-laid out in the rule 

and in the cases that interpreted that, your Honor, should 

consider really only the pleadings and what is necessary to 
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interpret the allegations of the complaint. 

Addressing some of counsel's other comments. The 

standards on fault. I think what is being overlooked here 

is the allegations of intent where we did allege 

allegations of malice. You know, from a--from a big 

picture standpoint this gets into the next issue of falsity 

and--and whether the statements are defamatory. 

As alleged, and from a big picture scenario, what 

we are alleging is that the defendants acted in a smear 

campaign to defame my client. Now, within that was this 

intentional use of juxtaposition and statements created by 

themselves to infuse these implications into otherwise 

public facts or public documents. 

So, they're kind of a corollary and I'll just 

point out that, you know, obviously in defamation cases in 

a lot of tort cases things like intent, malice have to be 

proved by circumstantial evidence, because the wrong-doers 

they simply don't stand up and say, you got me, I did it -

I'm a bad person. 

happens. 

I mean, that's just--that's what 

So, it has to be proven through these underlining 

issues. So, when counsel says, well you shouldn't look at 

the failure to retract after give--being given notice of 

the falsity and whey some of the statements are wrong. You 
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should only look at that for damages or it shouldn't be 

considered in--in this intent scenario, because it was 

after the publication. I don't think that's completely 

true, because, again, you have to look at the whole picture 

of what was going on. 

Obviously, the intent at the time of publication 

is important, but this other circumstantial evidence goes 

on to prove that. The fact that somebody, we're alleging, 

publishes a lie, is presented with the true, and continues 

to maintain the lie, I think is relevant to show that 

intent or malice. 

On the--the issue of falsity and whether the 

statements are defamatory, which I think is really 

intertwined here. As we point out, and as counsel even 

referred, this is really something where I think we're both 

reasonable people. There's a difference of opinion. I 

think reasonable readers would have a difference of 

opinion, and this is where there's a question for the jury. 

As we point out, our focus and our response is 

really, and I'll get into it a little more, this kind of 

implication. So, they don't come out and just say, 

Scottsdale Crap--Scottsdale Capital are crooks. You know, 

they just don't come out and say it. It's this kind of 

innuendo, this implication by piecing together certain 
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things that when taken together simply are not true. 

So, you have to look at the--the whole article or 

both of the articles and say what would a reasonable reader 

really interpret that as meaning. And, if we're having 

this reasonable debate any common juror is going to have 

that. So, I think this is truly an issue that can't be 

decided as a matter of law. 

Getting into the specifics, and again, this kind 

of implication/justification--or juxtaposition, your Honor, 

mayor may not be familiar with, you know, what was 

commonly referred to these days as "click-bait". I think 

this is one kind of form of that, which is you create a 

headline. You create a slogan. You create some kind of 

issue that's sexy, that drives people to your site. They 

want to click on the link to get to your article. That's 

what happened here. 

The headlines, the first couple statements, 

especially in the first article all have different-

different points to make, but they present this big picture 

that supposed to look sexy so that you come and read the 

article. That is Scottsdale Capital - they've been fined a 

million and a half dollar. Scottsdale Capital they're 

involved in pump-and-dump schemes. Scottsdale Capital 

they're not like everybody else - no one else does this 
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stuff - they're--they're doing shady--shady business. 

So, when taken into the context--and that's at 

the beginning, your Honor, and that's all linked at the 

beginning. That's--that's the "click-bait. That's what's 

created by defendants. This isn't what counsel was 

referring to as the FINRA or the SEC articles or statement. 

This is not any of that. This is specifically created 

verbiage by the defendant to get you to come to their site. 

So, that's also in line with the intent, but also 

here the juxtaposition and the imposition. 

So, if we look at it clear--and the--you know, 

this goes back to the--to the reasonable debate. Said in 

isolation, as counsel's pulled out some of these statement 

that says - well, this context of the statement is not 

true. He's forgotten that their own argument initially 

was, well everything needs to be read in context. 

So, when we read it in context the fine against 

Scottsdale Capital has nothing to do with them being 

involved in a pump-and-dump scheme. But, that's the 

headline - Scottsdale Capital fined 1.5 million. The very 

next sentence, if you know pump-and-dump schemes you know 

Scottsdale Capital. 

So, any logical person is going to read those 

combined and say, well they got fined a million and a half 
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dollars for pumping and dumping. That's categorically not 

true, and I don't think defendants are going to say that 

that's true. They're just going to say, well each sentence 

on its own is true. You know, Scottsdale Capital did get 

fine a million and a half dollars. That's true. 

Well, your Honor, corne on let's--let's be 

realistic here. So, I'm kind of beating a dead horse, but 

it's, you know, obviously, is--as a--an attorney that has 

spent a lot of work in defamation law and, you know, 

honestly plaintiff's work. Maybe I'm a little bias. 

But, you know, this is--this is something I've 

seen throughout my years of practice where--when alleged-

when defendants have alleged defamation come--come up and 

say, well it's--it's partially true. I'm giving you some 

of the--I've giving you the SEC reporter. I'm giving you a 

link to go look at the documents. 

Well, they're not, you know, they're not giving 

you the whole story because they're creating this "click

bait". They're creating this tag-line. They're creating 

this slogan to get people to their site and drive in 

business and then say, well for the real story go somewhere 

else. I got you here. I'm driving up my numbers. I'm 

getting advertising revenue. But, if you want the truth, 

ah go somewhere else. For me that's--that's all 
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intertwined in this falsity defamation and intent. 

The last--counsel brought up an issue about the 

fair-report privilege. I'll just add on a procedural 

statement, they only argue it applies to one statement so 

it wouldn't knock out the complaint. From a bigger 

standpoint, I think it's commonly held that First Amendment 

privileges, whether statutory or not, are all under the 

backdrop of being a qualified privilege, because First 

Amendment defenses in general can always be overcome by 

showing of malice. So, the fair-report privilege, along 

the lines of the First Amendment, I don't see why it would 

be any different in this scenario. 

So, if your Honor has any questions I'd be happy 

to--to field them. 

THE COURT: Okay. 

I don't have any--don't have any questions for 

today. There are a lot of issues that, depending on my 

ruling, may weight a later time. But, for today I'm 

satisfied. 

and--

MR. RICHOTTE: I appreciate that, your Honor, 

THE COURT: Thank you. 

MR. RICHOTTE: --thank you so much for your time. 

THE COURT: Yep. 
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MR. KURTZ: Your Honor, I'm not sure if you're 

contemplating a brief reply. 

THE COURT: You may. 

MR. KURTZ: Thank you-

THE COURT: Go ahead. 

MR. KURTZ: --your Honor. 

Your Honor, I will--I know I promised earlier I 

would hit the highpoints and then ended up taking a little 

longer. 1--1 do plan on only hitting a few highpoints on-

on counsel's argument. 

With respect to fault. The suggestion that there 

are allegations of malice in the complaint, I think, don't 

bear scrutiny if you actually read through the complaint. 

They alleged that it's an intentional smear campaign and 

they do allege in a very generic, unsupported way these 

facts lead to an implication. 

What they don't allege in the complaint is what 

that implication is. We're hearing a lot about it in the 

briefing, but you don't get to manufacture those 

implications on the fly to respond to counsel's argument. 

You have to put them in--into the document themselves. 

Counsel also indicates that you typically prove 

malice by circumstantial evidence, and that's certainly 

true. I do a lot of criminal defense work and that's how 
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prosecutors have to prove their cases in 99-percent of the 

world. 

But, you still have to from a pleading standpoint 

allege what the facts are that would support that 

allegation of malice. So, when we get a retraction demand 

that says, these things aren't true - well, that's just 

them saying it's not true. It doesn't tell us why they 

think that it's untrue. I think we're left with, when it 

comes to falsity, and I'll segue into that, yes we're 

certainly going to tell you if a particular isn't false, 

right. Headline - FINRA fines Scottsdale Capital 1.5 

million dollars. That's alleged as "click-bait H and yet 

it's true. Right. There's no question that you can go to 

a public record and FINRA has fined them 1.5 million 

dollars. 

They keep saying that the articles alleged they 

were involved, and I emphasize that word "involvedH in a 

pump-and-dump scheme. That's not what we say. What we say 

is, if you've followed pump-and-dump schemes then you're 

familiar with this entity. Why? Because, they happen to 

have lacks controls that have resulted in fraudulent 

activity being conducted through their platform. Right. 

That's the essence of FINRA allegations. 

So, they want to talk about context and they say, 
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we suspect that counsel is going to get up here and forget 

that he made the argument early about having to consider 

the totality of the article. Well, you do have to consider 

the totality of the article, and that includes 111-page 

opinion that says, Scottsdale you did this wrong. The 

people at your company were asleep at the switch. 

And, if you dig into that 111-pages, Judge, and 

1--1 know you probably don't want too. But, if you--if you 

dig into it what you will see is allegations that 

Scottsdale principal John Hur--yeah, John Hurry was 

essentially ex-communicated from the securities market 

because of his absolute refusal to acknowledge any 

wrongdoing, and lies that he reportedly told the FINRA. 

Now, I'm sure that there's a disagreement from 

Mr. Hurry as to whether he lied to FINRA. That's FINRA's 

finding and I get that. But, that is the context for this 

article, right. It's that you have a company that has not 

done its job. It has been fined and here's links out to 

those underlining articles. So, it's not so much "click

bait" as it's a portal to explain to people. 

This isn't something that you're going to 

necessarily find if you just run a Google search for 

Scottsdale Capital. But, if you come to Good Trades, which 

is an online platform that does a lot of news on the penny-
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stock market, right. This is something that's relevant in 

that market. 

And--you know, so when you look at this in--in 

totality, we can't forget why they were fined 1.5 million. 

I think that's the point that plaintiffs want to gloss 

over. I think if you--if you keep in mind the why, you get 

to this is not a materially false statement. 

Very last statement, Judge, is I'm privilege-

counsel said that, you know, well First Amendment 

privileges are qualified. I don't know that I would make 

that broad of generalization, but if we assume, even just 

for argument sake, that that were true this is a statutory 

privilege. We're not alleging when it comes to that 

privilege that it's based on the First Amendment. 

It may have its origins in the First Amendment in 

the sense that the legislature is looking to protect free 

speech. But, the legislature is certainly free to bestow 

an unqualified privilege so long as you fit within its 

parameters, and that's what we alleged that we do here. 

So, I would--I would just urge the court to keep that 

distinction in mind as it considers the privilege analysis. 

Thank you, your Honor. 

THE COURT: Thank you. 

This matter is before the court on a Motion for 
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Summary Disposition filed by defendant MorningLightMoutain, 

LLC, Michael Goode and DOES 1-10. 

Under 2.116(C) (8), as the court has indicated C8 

motions require the court to look at the pleadings and 

determine if on C8 motions if the complaint states any 

cause of action that can be granted relief by the court. 

It's designed to establish whether in fact 

there's a cognoscible legal issue that's being present, as 

opposed to C10s, which relate to whether there's material 

facts in dispute requiring a trier of fact to resolve it, 

or any of the other sections of 2.116(C); statute of 

limitations, matter having already been adjudicated, 

etcetera. 

In essence, this is, as parties have indicated, 

this is a defamation action filed by the plaintiff based 

upon two major--two articles; one on April 17 of 2017, and 

June 14 of 2017, which MorningLightMoutain on its website 

published two articles that plaintiff alleges were 

defamatory. 

The April article is alleged to contain three--at 

least three defamatory or false remarks; specifically, 

quote, "if you have followed penny-stocks and pump-and

dumps for a few years and you know the Scottsdale Cap 

advisors". Second was, "they, Scottsdale are one of the 
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few holders left that continue--have continued to allow 

deposit and sale of shares of illiquid penny-stocks. 

Larger brokers and discount brokers stopped allowing that 

over 5-years ago." Third, alleged in--item was, "when the 

big Biozoom pump happened back in 2013 many of the frozen 

accounts were at Scottsdale." 

The June article there's alleged one defamatory 

or false remark, which was, quote, "lest anyone think that 

these are just minor paperwork deficiencies with no real 

consequences, I remind you that one pump-and-dump along, 

Biozoom led to over 17 million dollars in fraudulent 

profits for manipulators/insiders, and many of those 

accounts were at Scottsdale Capital Advisors." 

Based upon those alleged defamatory statements 

plaintiff filed a complaint April 16 of this year. That 

complaint--the parties actually move these proceedings to 

federal court, which then by agreement of the parties ended 

up moving back here with the result in a Motion for Summary 

Disposition file on June 7 of this year; response filed by 

plaintiffs on August 17 and a reply to that response filed 

by the defendants on August 20. 

It appears that there are three issues that the 

parties have argued. First of all, is the question of the 

standard of review. Second, there's a question of what 
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exhibits are admissible under C8 motions. And, third, 

whether there was--the initial and amendments complaint 

properly give asserted factual basis for the elements 

necessary to allege a defamation case. 

The question of heightened scrutiny, I believe, 

while in some ways tempting to side with--with defendants 

based upon the Bose Corporation and the Thomas Cooley 

School, the court is not persuaded that simply because the, 

you know, in this case Scottsdale is a commercial entity 

that it in fact fits within the standards required to 

assert that they are a public official, we'll call it the 

entity that is subject to the higher scrutiny of actual 

malice as opposed to, quote/unquote, "negligence" 

defamation. 

In fact that were the case, quite frankly, any 

public entity, any business, would be subject to that 

heighten scrutiny for any defamation action they chose to 

file in court. And, I don't believe that the case law or 

the intent of the legal process is that all commercial 

entities have to attain that particular standard. 

That may ultimately be the direction the process 

goes, but from our court's perspective I am not willing to 

extend that further standard of actual malice to this case. 

Although, as parties have alleged or have argued today 
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there is at least whiffs of claims of actual malice 

throughout this particular process. 

This court also in one sense believes that 

looking at C8 motions, they do require that the court not 

only look at the allegations, but those attachments that 

give meaning to the allegations, as opposed to necessarily 

substantive support, if you will, of the allegations, which 

I characterize as being more in the line of possible C10 

motions at a later time. 

The allegations of defamation should in and of 

themselves establish that there is or is not negligence and 

should or should not have those specifically set forth in 

the complaint, and theoretically the--the answer to the 

complaint such that someone reading those two documents 

understand at least what the--what the case is about, what 

the specifics of wrongdoing are alleged in the complaint, 

and what denies, if any, exist with regard to the answer. 

In that regard, I think that the court is bound 

to look at the actual pleading documents, and only those 

items that are attached that in fact are necessary to give 

meaning to the actual allegations and denials that occur 

within those pleading documents. 

At this point, the court is going to address the 

case with that narrow focus; that narrow reference. 

FTP - VIDEO -I 2018, 8/22/2018 PAGE #30 

- 559a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:51:17 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:51:17 PM



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Looking then at the basics. In order to 

establish a defamation action, the complainant must 

establish and the ultimately it must be proof that there 

were false or defamatory statements concerning the 

plaintiff. That there was an unprivileged communication to 

a third party, in this case would be to the public. And, 

that false amounting to at least negligence on the part of 

the publisher and actual--and actionability of the 

statement with respective to the special harm or existence 

of a special harm caused by the publication. That cites to 

the Mitan versus Campbell case, 476--474 Mich 21. 

While the parties may disagree as to some of the 

peripheral facts outside the pleadings, the issue before 

the court is whether--by the plaintiff established enough 

asserted factual basis for the complaint to be properly 

indicated as pleaded. 

Those four statements made by the defendant's 

publication that plaintiff alleges arises to a level of 

defamation each can be examined individually. I would 

simply say that in order for the, quote/unquote, 

"complaint" to survive just one of them needs to be 

property pled in order to go forward. 

The court notes that defendant has provided the 

court with the option of--of dismissing the complaint 
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without prejudice to the plaintiff refiling once a--and 

these are not the words of the defendant, but basically 

once they get their complaint in order. I'll leave it to 

the ultimate decision in this matter as to whether that 

avenue needs to be taken. 

As you look at each of the--the particular 

statements, the questions is not whether there's enough 

evidence to make a legal determination as to whether the 

defendant is in fact culpable, but rather whether the 

complaint property asserts a legal stance, which relief can 

in face be granted by this court. 

I would note that in their brief the defendant 

does not address the second or fourth element of 

defamation. Instead, they--the claims of either plaintiffs 

that do not establish a complaint such as the statements 

were false or defamatory, and that there was a duty of care 

and negligence have not been met. That was the primary 

focus. 

Plaintiff asserts that the complaint--in the 

complaint that defendant should have known that the 

statements were false or at least acted in reckless 

disregards when it--when it issued the public articles--or 

published the articles. This statement does not have 

alleged evidence to prove directly the defendant knew of 

FTP - VIDEO -I 2018, 8/22/2018 PAGE #32 

- 561a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:51:17 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:51:17 PM



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

the claims falsity. This certain--assertion is based and 

applies bias. 

If the defendant were journalist that worked 

within the realm of investigative--investment banking as 

defendant do, they would likely know the statements were 

intentionally false. That's, I think a little bit of a 

stretch given the fact that these rely on, I guess, source 

information, which would at least lead to statements that 

would direct a reader to any further inquiry if they in 

fact desired. 

I had some concerns with regard to the question 

of misleading as opposed to false, which goes, I guess, to 

the bottom line or early assertions of whether something 

is--is a false statement or is--in the old terms mere 

puffery and that the courts have long recognized did not 

rise to a level of defamation. 

But, in this particular case, I think that with 

at least regard to some of the statements, 1--1 don't need 

to go down that particular path. 

First statement - "if you have followed penny

stocks and pump-and-dumps for a few years then you know 

Scottsdale Capital Advisors." That does imply that 

Scottsdale is associated with pump-and-dumps schemes. 

However, I'm not worried at this point about whether that 
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statement's true or false, but only whether the complaint 

filed by the plaintiff property asserts a factual basis 

that the statement by the defense--defendant is false or 

defamatory. 

Defendants argue the statement is factual, 

because the statement does not explicitly state plaintiffs 

have--the plaintiffs have never been a defendant in a pump

and-dump lawsuit. But, the claim by the plaintiff is 

still--are still associate with pump-and-dump schemes, 

because of their broker/dealer status with regard to penny

stocks. 

The plaintiff asserts that this statement implies 

that Scottsdale Capital advertisement--advertiser--advisors 

are--are conducting pump-and-dump schemes. And, the 

complaint alleges that the plaintiff has never been a 

defendant, has never been convicted for engaged in pump

and-dump schemes, and this clearly is a strong argument 

since the defendant's statement--statements are not 

commenting--commenting on the plaintiff's status in legal 

matters, but instead stating that pump-and-dump activities 

have been associated with Scottsdale Capital Advisors. 

In that context, I do not believe that the 

complaint states a factual basis to establish a defamatory 

action. 
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As to the second matter - that's SCA is one of 

the few brokers left that have continued to allow the 

deposit and sale of shares of illiquid penny-stocks. 

Larger brokers and discount brokers stopped allowing that 

over 5-years ago. This basically indicates who still 

participates in the transactions. 

Plaintiff's complaint attempts to prove the 

statements falsity by asserting that many large broke-

brokers continue to trade in penny-stocks. Defendant's 

statements assert that all large broker--brokers have 

stopped using this penny-stock method. The implication 

that defendant makes--that defendant makes sheds poor light 

on the defendant (sic) in regards to what is common 

practice and whether the plaintiff is following normal 

standards of practice. 

While the defendant claims the statement is not 

false, because some large brokers still trade in existing 

shares of penny-stocks instead of purchasing new penny

stocks. This is not asserted in the statement and the 

complaint properly asserts that--on the basis to prove that 

statement number two, again, isn't false--is false. 

Further, the statement is inherently defamatory 

when applying the practices of Scottsdale Capital is not in 

line with the others in the field. This statement would 
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likely affect the opinion of its viewers even if not 

illegal. That the practices of the plaintiff are unusual 

and not for the (inaudible) of its client. Therefore, if 

proved this could be false and/or defamatory. 

As to statement three, that Biozoom happened back 

in 2013 and that many of the frozen accounts were at 

Scottsdale. The last--this last statement on April 2017 

article is not false or defamatory. Assertion that the 

complaint states that only a handful of accounts at SCA 

were frozen as a result of Biozoom trading. The 

difference, however, between many and only a handful, I 

think is meritless. 

Further, the complaint asserts that SCA has never 

been a defendant in a lawsuit involving Biozoom stock. 

Once again that statement the defendant did not declare 

that plaintiff was involved in the Biozoom related lawsuit, 

and thus the complaint clearly does not establish a factual 

basis to allege defamation with regard to that particular 

claim. 

Finally, the lest anyone think - the June 2017 

article, "lest anyone think that there are--that these are 

just minor paperwork deficiencies with no real 

consequences, I remind you that one pump-and-dump alone, 

Biozoom, led to over $17 million dollars in fraudulent 
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profits for manipulators/insiders, and many of their 

accounts were at Scottsdale Capital Advisors", closed 

quote. 

That does not imply any wrongdoing on the part of 

Scottsdale. It only states that the accounts that were 

wrongfully partaking in the pump-and-dump schemes were 

being through the plaintiff. The complaint asserts that 

this statement by the defendant implies that defendant 

(sic) was handing--handling the trading of Biozoom stock 

that was involved in lawsuits regarding the same matter. 

However, the claim--this complaint seems--making 

assertions regarding statements that were in fact never 

made. The statement in the June 2017 article by the 

defendant does not claim that plaintiff was a party to the 

lawsuit involving Biozoom, nor does it state that the 

plaintiff was partic--partaking in the pump-and-dump 

scheme. The only claim is that many of the accounts that 

were taking part in this pump-and-dump scheme were held at 

Scottsdale Capital Advisors. 

Based on that, the court does not believe that 

claim is properly plead in the complaint. 

Looking at this as whole, I am not going to 

dismiss the case under 2.116(C) (8). 

However, I would note that statements one, three 
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and four have not been sufficiently plead to form a basis 

for an action in this case. 

Number two, at least meets the standard of 

possibility of a cause of action. 

Therefore, the complaint is not dismissed at this 

particular point. However, I do believe that unless there 

is an amendment as to ones--statements one, three and four 

that those alleged allegations are not sufficient under C8 

to go forward and that they will not be allowed to go 

forward on that basis. 

Ultimately, I guess, that means plaintiff has, at 

least opportunity, if they believe they have something that 

will in fact provide a factual basis, at least allegations, 

as to one, three and four - they may choose to amend. 

Otherwise, we will simply go forward on Count--on the 

statement number two with regard to any further litigation 

in this matter. 

this. 

that. 

Mr--I guess, Mr. Richotte-

MR. RICHOTTE: Yes. 

THE COURT: --if you could prepare the order on 

MR. RICHOTTE: Your Honor, I'd be happy to do 

If I can also ask if the court has a ruling today 
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on the False Light count? 

THE COURT: Yes. 

On the False Light count, I believe that--. 

Well, my ruling would be that the False Light count is not 

viable under C8. In essence, for the reasons argued by the 

defendant; mainly that this is no expectation privacy in-

in a corporation. This is certainly a public corporation. 

MR. RICHOTTE: I will be happy to prepare that 

order and work opposing counsel to get that submitted to 

your Honor. 

THE COURT: Thank you. 

MR. RICHOTTE: If I may have just a moment to 

confer? 

THE COURT: You may. 

MR. RICHOTTE: I may have one question for the 

court after this. 

THE COURT: Sure. 

(At 9:58:21 a.m., sidebar conversation between 

Attorney Richotte and Michael Goode) 

MR. RICHOTTE: Thank you, your Honor. It turns 

out I don't have an additional question. 

THE COURT: That's fine. 

MR. KURTZ: Your Honor, if I may pose some 

logistical question--
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THE COURT: Yes. 

MR. KURTZ: --if you'll entertain those. 

My interpretation is if we want to amend on those 

other statements we can. Do we want to send some kind of 

deadline or--or have that--

THE COURT: 

MR. KURTZ: 

THE COURT: 

Yeah. 

--as part of the order as well? 

1--1 think--yeah, I think that 

probably makes some sense. 

1--1--. Well, yeah, we getting--we getting the 

end of vacation seasons. 

So, we'll do 14-days to amend, and then if you do 

amend the defendant has, under the rules, a period of time 

to respond--to file an answer. 

MR. KURTZ: And, to be somewhat (inaudible) it 

sounds like you had to prepare a written something-

THE COURT: Something--something written-

MR. KURTZ: --or--

THE COURT: --I will--. What I can do is--1 can 

whip this up. Technically, as this is a business court 

case you're entitled to have a document prepared and I will 

so prepare it and issue that opinion. 

MR. KURTZ: 1--1 really appreciate that, because 

we didn't have the forethought of having a court recorder 
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and my note taking is not the best. 

THE COURT: No, that's fine. That's fine. 

I mean, technically it is recorded, but by the 

same token that doesn't really give you a whole flavor in 

my--my transcriptionist regularly admonishes me that I 

mumble too much, so a written document probably is a better 

one for you anyway. 

MR. KURTZ: Fair enough. 

And, do we want to--. I'm a logistical guy. 

THE COURT: Sure. 

MR. KURTZ: Do we want to do a time frame on the

-doing the order? 

MR. RICHOTTE: Sure. 

Your Honor, perhaps if you're going to issue the 

opinion does it make sense for the court to issue or you 

still want us to have a separate order to that effect? 

THE COURT: I think a--I think a separate order 

just from the standpoint of you guys indicating what it is 

that you understand in terms of direct. 

I will--I will issue the opinion and then give 

you, I think, a week to fashion the order after you get the 

opinion. 

MR. KURTZ: Really appreciate it, your Honor. 

That works nicely. 
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I forget. 

THE COURT: Okay. 

We'll do that. I'll make a note to myself before 

MR. RICHOTTE: Any other logistics? 

MR. KURTZ: I'm done. 

MR. RICHOTTE: No. No. That's all right. I 

just wanted to make sure we--we got everything covered. 

All right. 

THE COURT: Okay. 

MR. RICHOTTE: Your Honor, we'll wait for the 

opinion--

THE COURT: Yep. 

MR. RICHOTTE: --and then get crafting an order 

after that. 

THE COURT: Okay. 

No problem. Court will stand in recess. 

MR. KURTZ: Thank you. 

MR. RICHOTTE: Thank you. 

(At 10:02:18 a.m., proceedings concluded) 
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5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

I certify that this transcript consisting of 43 pages, is a 

complete, true, and correct transcript of the MOTION FOR SUMMARY 

DISPOSITION to the best of my ability, of the proceedings held 

in this case on Wednesday, August 22, 2018, before the Honorable 

Alexander C. Lipsey. 

October 17, 2018 

Date 

FTP - VIDEO -I 2018, 8 /22/2018 

Rebecca Abbs-Kucks CER #7921 
PO BOX 24 
Vicksburg, MI 49097 
269-352-9227 

PAGE #43 
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SCOTTSDALE CAPITAL ADVISORS 
CORPORATION, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

MORNINGLIGHTMOUNTAIN, LLC, 
MICHAEL GOODE, and 
DOES 1-10, 

Defendants. 

HARDERLLP 
Charles J. Harder (CA# 184593) 
Jordan D. Susman (CA# 246116) 
132 South Rodeo Drive, Fourth Floor 
Beverly Hills, California 90212 
(424) 203-1600 
charder@harderllp.com 
j susman@harderllp.com 
Counsel for Scottsdale Capital Advisors 
Pro Hac Vice Pending 

PINSKY, SMITH, FAYETTE & 
KENNEDY, LLP 
H. Rhett Pinsky (PI8920) 
146 Monroe Center St., NW, Suite 805 
Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503 
(616) 451-8496 
hpinsky@psfklaw.com 
Counsel for Scottsdale Capital Advisors 

Civil No. 18-0153-CZ 

HON. ALEXANDER C. LIPSEY 

BUTZEL LONG, P.C. 
Joseph E. Richotte (P70902) 
Doaa K. AI-Howaishy (P82089) 
Stoneridge West 
.41000 Woodward Avenue 
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304 
(248) 258-1616 
richotte@butzel.com 
al-howaishy@butzel.com 
Counsel for MLM and Michael Goode 

PROOF OF SERVICE 

Michelle L. Guardiola hereby states that on August 17, 2018, she served a copy of the 

Defendants' Motion for Reconsideration of Order on Summary Disposition Under Rule 

2.1 16(C)(8) and this Proof of Service via Federal Express, addressed to Plaintiff's counsel at 

the following addresses: 
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HARDERLLP 
Charles J. Harder (CA# 184593) 
Jordan D. Susman (CA# 246116) 
132 South Rodeo Drive, Fourth Floor 

Beverly Hills, California 90212 

PINSKY, SMITH, FAYETTE & 
KENNEDY, LLP 
H. Rhett Pinsky (PI8920) 
146 Monroe Center St., NW, Suite 805 

Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503 

I declare that under the penalty of perjury that the statements above are true to the best 

of my information, knowledge and belief. 

(f2 BUTZEL LONG 

k~L.Wdb. 
MICHELLE 1. GUARDIOLA 
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STATE OF MICIDGAN 
IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE COUNTY OF t1ALAMA2{)o 

SCOTTSDALE CAPITAL ADVISORS CORP., 
an Arizona corporation, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

MORNINGLIGHTMOUNTAIN, LLC, a 
Michigan limited liability company d/b/a 
GoodeTrades.com; MICHAEL GOODE, an 
individual; and DOES 1-10, inclusive, 

Defendants. 

CASE NO. 2018-0153-CZ 

Hon. Alexander C. Lipsey 

PLAINTIFF'S SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT AND JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiff Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corp., for its Complaint against 

MorningLightMountain, LLC d/b/a GoodeTrades.com and Michael Goode, alleges as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. Plaintiff Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corp. ("SCA") is a successful securities 

broker-dealer. 

2. In an effort to smear SCA's reputation, MorningLightMountain, LLC d/b/a 

GoodeTrades.com and Michael Goode (collectively, "Defendants") published an miicle on their 

website, www.goodetrades.com. which contained false, defamatory, and highly misleading 

statements of and concerning SCA . . Among other things, the articles falsely alleged that SCA IS 

involved in penny stock "pump and dump" schemes mld improperly permits the trading of penny 

stocks. 

3. By this action, SCA seeks to clear its good name and hold Defendants liable for 

{00094972;1} 

- 575a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:51:17 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:51:17 PM



the harm caused by their misconduct. 

THE PARTIES 

4. Plaintiff Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corp. is, and at all times relevant hereto was, 

a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Arizona, with its principal place of 
It 

business in Maricopa County, Arizona. 

5. SCA is infonned and believes and based thereon alleges that Defendant 

MorningLightMountain, LLC d/b/a GoodeTrades.com ("MorningLightMountain") is, and at all 

times relevant hereto was, a corporation organized under the laws of the Michigan, with its 

principal place of business in Eaton County, Michigan. SCA is infonned and believes and based 

thereon alleges that MorningLightMountain owns and operates the website goodetrades.com. 

6. SCA is informed and believes and based thereon alleges that Defendant Michael 

Goode ("Goode") is an individual who resides in Kalamazoo County, Michigan. Upon 

infonnation and belief, Goode is the sole owner and officer of Defendant 

MorningLightMountain. 

7. SCA is infonned and believes and based thereon alleges that the fictitiously-

named defendants sued herein as Does 1 through 10, and each of them, are in some manner 

responsible or legally liable for the actions, events, transactions and circumstances alleged 

herein. The true names and capacities of such fictitiously-named defendants, whether individual, 

corporate, or otherwise, are presently unknown to SCA, and SCA will seek leave of Court to 

amend this Complaint to assert the true names and capacities of such fictitiously-named 

defendants when the same have been ascertained. For convenience, each reference to a named 

defendant herein shall also refer to Does 1 through 10. All defendants, including 

MorningLightMountain, LLC d/b/a GoodeTrades.com, Michael Goode, and those referred to 

herein as Does 1 through 10, are collectively referred to herein as "Defendants." 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

8. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because they have minimum 

contacts with the State of Michigan, and defendant Goode is a domiciliary of the State of 

{00094972;l} 
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Michigan. 

9. Venue in Kalamazoo County is proper because Defendant Goode resides in 

Kalamazoo County. 

10. The amount in controversy exceeds Twenty Five Thousand Dollars ($25 ,000.00) 

exclusive of interest, costs, and attorney fees and the matter is otherwise within the jurisdiction 

of this Court. 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

11. Founded in 2002, SCA is a full service broker-dealer focused on serving the 

microcap securities market, often referred to as the OTC market. In this time, SCA has grown to 

become one of the dominant companies in the OTC market, with more than $125 million worth 

of trades in 2015 . 

12. On April 17, 2017, Defendants published an article written by Goode on the 

website goodettrades.com, entitled "FINRA fines Scottsdale Capital Advisors $1.5 million" (the 

"Article"): https://www.goodetrades.coml20 17 /04/finra-fmes-scottsdale-capital-advisors-I-5-

million!. A true and correct copy of the Article is attached hereto as Exhibit 1 and incorporated 

by this reference. 

13. The Article contained statements that are defamatory and outright false, 

including: 

a. False Statement #1: "If you have followed penny stocks and pump and dumps 

for a few years then you know Scottsdale Capital Advisors." 

False Statement #1 is immediately preceded by the headline: "FINRA fines Scottsdale 

Capital Advisors $1 .5 million." This juxtaposition makes it appear that SCA was fined $1 .5 

million for its involvement in the pump and dump of penny stocks. Given the placement of False 

Statement #1 under a headline regarding a $1.5 million fine by FINRA, a reader could only 

conclude that SCA was fined for its involvement in a pump and dump. Moreover, the Article 

quotes extensively from a FINRA decision that has nothing to do with any pump and dump 

scheme. In addition, False Statement #1 falsely alleges and/or implies that SCA is so heavily 

{00094972;1} 
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involved in the illegal pump and dump of penny stocks that it is identified and known by the 

association. This is false. Because SCA has never been involved in any "pump and dump" 

schemes, has never been a defendant in any "pump and dump" lawsuits, has never been charged 

. by FINRA or any regulatory agency with involvement in a "pump and dump" scheme, and has 

never been filled for its involvement in a "pump and dump", the implications created by False 

Statement #1 in the context of the Article are false and defamatory. 

b. False Statement #2: "They [SCA] are one of the few brokers left that have 

continued to allow the deposit and sale of shares of illiquid penny stocks. Larger brokers and 

discount brokers stopped allowing that over five years ago." 

In truth, numerous large brokers continue to trade in penny stocks, including without 

limitation, interactive brokers, Merrill Lynch, Charles Schwab, Scottrade, Cor Clearing, and 

TradeKing. 

14. On September 21,2017, SCA's counsel sent a letter to Defendants identifying the 

foregoing false statements in the Article, and demanding that Defendants remove each one and 

publish a retraction, correction, and apology as to each of those statements. Defendants have 

failed and refused to comply with SCA's demand. 

15. The false, defamatory, and highly misleading statements written and published by 

Defendants have caused and are continuing to cause SCA economic harm and damage to its 

reputation. Accordingly, SCA has no alternative but to file this lawsuit for compensatory 

damages, punitive damages, and injunctive relief, as explained more fully herein. 

COUNT ONE 

(Against All Defendants) 

(Defamation) 

16. SCA incorporates by reference all of the preceding paragraphs as though fully 

restated herein. 

17. Defendants wrote and published the defamatory statements of fact about SCA 

refened to in Paragraph 13 herein (collectively, the "Defamatory Statements"). 

{00094972;l} 
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18. The Defamatory Statements, whether by themselves or by implication, are false. 

Moreover, the statements, individually and jointly, tend to harm the reputation of Plaintiff as to 

lower its reputation in the community or deter third persons from associating or dealing with it. 

19. The Defamatory Statements involve materially false implications. 

20. The Defamatory Statements have caused SCA to be damaged. 

21 . Defendants have refused to retract, COlTect or apologize for the Defamatory 

Statements after being given notice and ample time to do so. 

22. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants' conduct, SCA has suffered 

damages to its reputation and business interests in an amount to be determined at trial, and in an 

amount not less than the jurisdictional minimum of this Court. SCA' s damages may also be 

presumed because the Defamatory Statements impute to SCA offenses regarded by public 

opinion as involving moral turpitude, and unfitness for the proper conduct of its lawful business, 

trade, and profession. 

23. SCA is a private figure for purposes of a defamation analysis. 

24. Notwithstanding SCA' s status as a private figure, at the time the Defamatory 

Statements were published, Defendants knew the Defamatory Statements were false and/or acted 

in reckless disregard of whether the Defamatory Statements were true or false. As such, in 

addition to compensatory damages and/or presumed damages, SCA is entitled to an award of 

punitive damages in an amount to be determined at trial. 

JURY TRIAL DEMAND 

SCA hereby demands a jury trial of all issues in this case. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, SCA requests that judgment be entered against the Defendants, and each 

of them, as follows: 

A. For compensatory, consequential, exemplary, and punitive damages in an amount 

to be determined at trial; 

B. For pre- and post-judgment interest on the foregoing sum at the highest lawful 

{00094972;lj 
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rate from entry of judgment until paid in full ; 

C. For an injunction enjoining further publication of the Defamatory Statements; 

D. For SCA' s costs of suit; and 

E. For all other relief the COUli deems appropriate. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 26th day of October, 2018. 

{00094972;1} 

PINSKY, SMITH, FAYETTE & KENNEDY, 
LLP 
Local Counsel for Plaintiff 

HARDERLLP 

BY~~~~~~ __ ~ __ ~~-b~ __ __ 
Charles 1. Harder (pro hac vice tel ed) 
Jordan Susman (pro hac vice to be filed) 
132 S. Rodeo Drive, Fomih Floor 
Beverly Hills, California 90212 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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GOODE TRADES 
The Best Source for Stock Promotion & Penny Stock News and Insight 

FINRA fines Scottsdale Capital 
Advisors $1.5 million 
April 17,2017 I By Michael Goode I All Categories, Fraud, Microcap, SEC actions 

If you have followed penny stocks and pump and dumps for a few years then you 

know Scottsdale Capital Advisors (hereafter referred to as Scottsdale Capital). 

They are one of the few brokers left that have continued to allow the deposit and 

sale of shares in illiquid penny stocks. Larger brokers and discount brokers 

stopped allowing that over five years ago. When the big Biozoom (BIZM) pump 

happened back in 2013 many of the frozen accounts were at Scottsdale Capital. 

On March 31 st, FINRA fined Scottsdale Capital $1.5 million. Unfortunately I 

cannot find any public posting of that news so the prior link is to a Stockwatch 

article (full article only available to subscribers; see this copy if not a subscriber). 

In addition to the fine, John Hurry, owner of Scottsdale Capital, was permanently 

banned from working in the securities industry . 
." . . ) '- i 

The full 111-page FINRA decision can be found on their website. Unfortunately 

FINRA prevents direct-linking so you need to go 

to http://disciplinaryactionsJinra.org/Search/ and then enter "John Hurry" as the 

name. I have downloaded a copy of the decision in case they delete it. 

Excerpt from the decision: 

Hurry's violation of his duty to observe high standards of commercial 

honor and just and equitable principles of trade was purposeful and 

egregious. These two qualities lead us to conclude that Hurry is a threat to 

investors and the integrity of the markets. Our concern is compounded by 

our credibility findings. We found that he repeatedly testified falsely, and 

that there was a pattern of doing 50 when he thought no contradictory 

evidence would come to light. 
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When misconduct is intentional, General Pr inciple 1 provides that 

adjudicators should 572 assess sanctions that exceed the recommended 

range in the Guidelines. Principal Consideration 13 also focuses on 

whether a respondent's misconduct is the result of an intentional act, 

recklessness, or negligence.573 When a violation is egregious, the 

Guidelines often suggest more severe sanctions. In egregious cases in 

connection with violations of Rule 2010 and Section 5, the specific 

Guidelines recommend that an ind ividual be suspended for up to two 

years or barred. 

Even though he has no disciplinary history, the devious nature of Hurry's 

violation evidences disregard for regulatory requirements, an aggravating 

factor under General Principle 2 and Principal Consideration 10.574 We 

have no confidence that if he remained in the securities industry he would 

not again devise a way to evade the law and regu latory requirements. For 

this reason also, we believe Hurry is a threat to the investing public. 

The decision also shows just hov: remunerative running Scottsdale Capital has 

been for Hurry - in 2014 he and his wife made "approximately $6.2 million in 

directors' fees and $1.45 million in net income." 

Disclaimer. No position in any stocks mentioned and I have no relationship 

with anyone mentioned in this post. This blog has a terms of use that is 

incorporated by reference into this post; you can find all my disclaimers 

and disclosures there as well. 

This site uses Akismet to reduce spam. Learn how your comment data is 

processed. 
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STATE OF MICHIGAN 
KALAMAZOO COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT 

SCOTTSDALE CAPITAL 
ADVISORS CORPORATION, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

MORNINGLIGHTMOUNTAIN, LLC, 
MICHAEL GOODE, and DOES 1-10, 

Defendants. 

Jordan D. Susman (CA#184593) 
HARDERLLP 
Attorney for Plaintiff 
132 South Rodeo Dr., 4th Floor 
Beverly Hills, CA 90212 
424/203-1600 

H. Rhett Pinsky (P18920) 
PINSKY, SMITH, FAYEITE & KENNEDY, LLP 
Local Counsel for Plaintiff 
146 Monroe Center St., NW - Suite 805 
Grand Rapids, MI 49503 . 
616/451-8496 

File No.: 2018-0153-CZ 

Hon. Alexander C. Lipsey 

Joseph E. Richotte (P70902) 
BUTZEL LONG, PC 
Attorney for Defendants 
41000 Woodward Avenue 
Bloomfield Hills, MI 48304 
248/258-1616 

PROOF OF SERVICE 

Erika Dech, Legal Assistant at Pinsky, Smith, Fayette & Kennedy LLP, states that on 
October 26, 2018, she served PLAINTIFF'S SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT AND 
JURy DEMAND upon Joseph E. Richotte, BUTZEL LONG, PC, 41000 Woodward Avenue, 
Bloomfield Hills, MI 48304 and Jordan D. Susman, H.ARDER LLP, 132 South Rodeo Dr., 
4'h Floor, Beverly Hills, CA 90212 via first class mail, ~ag~~ 

k) . . 
ErikaDech~ 

IIP age 
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SCOTTSDALE CAPITAL 
ADVISORS CORPORATION, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

MORNINGLIGHTMQUNTAIN, LLC, 
MICHAEL GOODE, and 
DOES 1-10, 

Defendants. 

HARDER LLP 
Charles J. Harder (CA# 184593) 
Jordan D. Susman (CA# 246116) 
132 South Rodeo Drive, Fourth Floor 
Beverly Hills, California 90212 
(424) 203-1600 
charder@harderllp.com 
jsusman@harderllp.com 
Counsel for Scottsdale Capital Advisors 
Pro Hac Vice Pending 

PINSKY, SMITH, FAYETTE & 
KENNEDY, LLP 
H. Rhett Pinsky (P18920) 
146 Monroe Center Street, NW, Suite 805 
Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503 
(616) 451-8496 
hpinsky@psfldaw.com 
Counsel for Scottsdale Capital Advisors 

Civil No. 18-0153-CZ 

HON. ALEXANDER C. LIPSEY 

BUTZEL LONG, P.C. 
Joseph E. Richotte (P70902) 
Doaa K. AI-Howaishy (P82089) 
Stoneridge West 
41000 Woodward Avenue 
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304 
(248) 258-1616 
l'ichotte@butzel.com 
al-howaishy@butzel.com 
Counsel for MLM and Michael Goode 

ANSWER TO PLAINTIFF'S FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT 
WITH AFFIRMATIVE AND OTHER DEFENSES 
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Under MCR 2.108, Defendants MorningLightMountain, LLC ("MLM))), 

and Michael Goode jointly answer Plaintiff Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corp. 's Second 

Amended Complaint as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. Plaintiff Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corp. ("SCA))) is a successful 

securities broker-dealer. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode admit that SCA is a broker-dealer of securities. 

They deny the allegation that SCA is a "successful)) broker-dealer for lack of knowledge 

or information sufficient to form a belief about whether it is true. 

2. In an effort to smear SCA's reputation, MorningLightMountain, LLC 

d/b / a GoodTrades .com and Michael Goode (collectively, "Defendants))) published 

an article on their website, www.goodetrades.com. which contained false, defama

tory, and highly misleading statements of and concerning SCA. Among other things, 

the articles falsely alleged that SCA is involved in penny stock "pump and dump)) 

schemes and improperly permits the trading of penny stocks. 

ANSWER: MLM admits that it operates the website www.goodetrades.com 

(the "Website))). MLM admits that it published, and Goode admits that he caused 

MLM to publish, an article on the Website. MLM and Goode deny the rest of the alle

gations in Paragraph 2 as untrue. 

3. By this action, SCA seeks to clear its good name and hold Defendants 

liable for the harm caused by their misconduct. 

ANSWER: Denied as untrue. SCA' s primary purpose in initiating this strate

gic lawsuit against public participation is to harass or injure MLM and Goode; SCA 

has no reasonable basis to believe that the facts underlying its legal position are true; 
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and/or SCA's legal position is devoid of arguable merit. 

THE PARTIES 

4. Plaintiff Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corp. is, and at all times relevant 

hereto was, a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Arizona, with its 

principal place of business in Maricopa County, Arizona. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode deny these allegations for lack of knowledge or 

information sufficient to form a belief about whether they are true. 

5. SCA is informed and believes and based thereon alleges that Defend-

ant MorningLightMountain, LLC d/b/a GoodeTrades.com ("MorningLightMoun

tain") is, and at all times relevant hereto was, a corporation organized under the laws 

of the [State of] Michigan, with its principal place of business in Eaton County, 

Michigan. SCA is informed and believes and based thereon alleges that Morning

LightMountain owns and operates the website goodtrades.com. 

ANSWER: Denied. In the interest of judicial economy, however, MLM ad

mits the following: (1) it is a limited liability corporation organized under the laws of 

the State of Michigan; (2) its principal place of business is Kalamazoo County; and 

(3) it operates the Website. 

6. SCA is informed and believes and based thereon alleges that Defend-

ant Michael Goode ("Goode") is an individual who resides in Kalamazoo County, 

Michigan. Upon information and belief, Goode is the sole owner and officer of De

fendant MorningLightMountain. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode admit these allegations. 

7. SCA is informed and believes and based thereon alleges that the ficti-

tiously-named defendants sued herein as Does 1 through 10, and each of them, are 

-3-
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in some manner responsible or legally liable for the actions, events, transactions and 

circumstances alleged herein. The true names and capacities of such fictitiously

named defendants, whether individual, corporate, or otherwise, are presently un

known to SCA, and SCA will seek leave of Court to amend this Complaint to assert 

the true names and capacities of such fictitiously-named defendants when the same 

have been ascertained. For convenience, each reference to a named defendant herein 

shall also refer to Does 1 through 10. All defendants, including MorningLightMoun

tain, LLC d/b/a GoodeTrades.com, Michael Goode, and those referred to herein as 

Does 1 through 10, are collectively referred to herein as "Defendants." 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode lack knowledge or information sufficient to form 

a belief about whether the Doe defendants exist or have engaged in any acts giving 

rise to liability. For purposes of answering the First Amended Complaint, MLM and 

Goode treat the term Defendants as applying only to them. None of their answers shall 

be construed to admit the existence or liability of the Doe defendants or to in any way 

answer for the Doe defendants. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

8. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because they 

have minimum contacts with the State of Michigan, and defendant Goode is a dom

iciliary of the State of Michigan. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode submit to the personal jurisdiction of the Court 

without objection. 

9. Venue in Kalamazoo County is proper because Defendant Goode re-

sides in Kalamazoo County. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode admit this allegation. 

-4-
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10. The amount in controversy exceeds Twenty Five Thousand Dollars 

($25,000.00) exclusive of interest, costs, and attorney fees and the matter is other

wise within the jurisdiction of this Court. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode admit that SCA seeks to recover an amount in 

excess of $25,000, but they deny that SCA is entitled to any recovery. 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

11. Founded in 2002, SCA is a full service broker-dealer focused on serv-

ing the microcap securities market, often referred to as the OTC market. In this time, 

SCA has grown to become one of the dominant companies in the OTC market, with 

more than $125 million worth of trades in 2015. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode admit that SCA is a broker-dealer that services 

the microcap securities market, which is often referred to as the OTC [over-the

counter] market. MLM and Goode deny the rest of the allegations in Paragraph 11 

for lack of knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief about whether they 

are true. 

12. On April 17, 2017, Defendants published an article written by Goode 

on the website goodtrades.com, entitled "FINRA fines Scottsdale Capital Advisors 

$1.5 million" (the" Article"): https://goodetrades.com/2017/04/finra-fines-scotts

dale-capital-advisors-1-5-million/. A true and correct copy of the Article is attached 

hereto as Exhibit 1 and incorporated by this reference. 

ANSWER: MLM admits that it published, and Goode admits that he caused 

MLM to publish the Article on the Website. They deny that Exhibit 1 is a true and 

correct copy of the Article because it omits the materials linked or otherwise incor

porated into the Article. A true and correct copy of the Article with the linked ma

terials are attached to this Answer as Exhibit A. Together, Exhibit 1 and Exhibit A 
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constitute the Article. 

13. The Article contained statements that are defamatory and outright 

false, including: 

a. False Statement #1: "If you have followed penny 
stocks and pump and dumps for a few years then you 
know Scottsdale Capital Advisors. " 

False Statement #1 is immediately preceded by the headline: "FINRA fines 

Scottsdale Capital Advisors $1.5 million." This juxtaposition makes it appear that 

SCA was fined $1.5 million for its involvement in the pump and dump of penny 

stocks. Given the placements of False Statement #1 under a headline regarding a $1.5 

million fine by FINRA, a reader could only conclude that SCA was fined for its in

volvement in a pump and dump. Moreover, the Article quotes extensively from a 

FINRA decision that has nothing to do with any pump and dump scheme. In addi

tion, False Statement #1 falsely alleges and/or implies that SCA is so heavily in

volved in the illegal pump and dump of penny stocks that it is identified and known 

by the association. This is false. Because SCA has never been involved in any" pump 

and dump" schemes, has never been a defendant in any" pump and dump" lawsuits, 

has never been charged by FINRA or any regulatory agency with involvement in 

"pump and dump" scheme, and has never been fined for its involvement in a "pump 

and dump", the implications created by False Statement #1 in the context of the Ar

ticle are false and defamatory. 

b. False Statement #2: "They [SCA] are one of the 
few brokers left that have continued to allow the de
posit and sale of shares of illiquid penny stocks. Larger 
brokers and discount brokers stopped allowing that 
over five years ago. " 

In truth, numerous large brokers continue to trade in penny stocks, including 
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without limitation, interactive brokers, Merrill Lynch, Charles Schwab, Scottrade, 

Cor Clearing, and TradeKing. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode admit that the Article contains the two quoted 

statements in Paragraphs 13a and 13b. They deny SCA' s characterization of those 

statements as false and defamatory as untrue. Finally, MLM and Goode deny the 

rest of the allegations in Paragraph 13, including each of its subparts, for lack of 

knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief about whether they are true. 

14. On September 21, 2017, SCA's counsel sent a letter to Defendants 

identifying the foregoing false statements in the Article, and demanding that De

fendants remove each one and publish a retraction, correction, and apology as to each 

of those statements. Defendants have failed and refused to comply with SCA' s de

mand. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode admit that SCA' s counsel sent a letter to them 

on September 12, 2017 demanding, among other things, that they remove the two 

statements identified in Paragraphs 13a and 13b, and publish a retraction, correction, 

and apology. A true and correct copy of this letter is attached to this Answer as Ex

hibit B. MLM and Goode responded on September 13,2017. A true and correct copy 

of their response is attached to this Answer as Exhibit C. MLM and Goode admit 

that they did not remove the statements or publish a retraction, correction, or apol

ogy. They deny that the statements are false or that they had any duty to comply with 

SCA's demand. MLM and Goode deny the rest of the allegations in Paragraph 14 as 

untrue in the manner and form stated. 

15. The false, defamatory, and highly misleading statements written and 

published by Defendants have caused and are continuing to cause SCA economic 

harm and damage to its reputation. Accordingly, SCA has no alternative but to file 
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this lawsuit for compensatory damages, punitive damages, and injunctive relief, as 

explained more fully herein. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode deny that the statements identified in Para

graphs 13a and 13b are false, defamatory, or highly misleading. They deny the rest of 

the allegations in Paragraph 15 for lack of knowledge or information sufficient to form 

a belief about whether they are true. 

COUNT 1 
DEFAMATION 

16. SCA incorporates by reference all of the preceding paragraphs as 

though fully restated herein. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode incorporate by reference all of their answers to 

the preceding paragraphs as though fully restated herein. 

17. Defendants wrote and published the defamatory statements of fact 

about SCA referred to in Paragraph 13 herein (collectively, the "Defamatory State

ments"). 

ANSWER: Goode admits to writing, and MLM admits to publishing the state

ments identified in Paragraphs 13a and 13b, but they deny that the statements are de

famatory. They also deny that either of the statements is a "statement of fact" in the 

manner and form stated. MLM and Goode deny the rest of the allegations in Para

graph 17 for lack of knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief about 

whether they are true. 

18. The Defamatory Statements, whether by themselves or by implica-

tion, are false. Moreover, the statements, individually and jointly, tend to harm the 

reputation of Plaintiff as to lower its reputation in the community or deter third per

sons from associating or dealing with it. 
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ANSWER: MLM and Goode deny these allegations as untrue. 

19. The Defamatory Statements involve materially false implications. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode deny these allegations as untrue. 

20. The Defamatory Statements have caused SCA to be damaged. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode deny that the statements identified in Paragraphs 

13a and 13b are defamatory. They deny that the statements have caused SCA dam

ages for lack of knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief about whether it 

is true. 

21. Defendants have refused to retract, correct or apologize for the De-

famatory Statements after being given notice and ample time to do so. 

Answer: MLM and Goode admit that they did not retract the two statements 

identified in Paragraphs 13a and 13b. They deny that the statements are incorrect, 

false, or defamatory. The law does not require an apology. MLM and Goode deny 

that SCA gave them "ample time" to respond to SCA's demands; SCA demanded 

a response within 24 hours. MLM and Goode deny the rest of the allegations in Par

agraph 21 as untrue in the manner and form stated. 

22. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants ' conduct, SCA has suf-

fered damages to its reputation and business interests in an amount to be determined 

at trial, and in an amount not less than the jurisdictional minimum of this Court. SCA' s 

damages may also be presumed because the Defamatory Statements impute to SCA 

offenses regarded by public opinion as involving moral turpitude, and unfitness for 

the proper conduct of its lawful business, trade, and profession. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode deny the allegations as untrue. 
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23. SCA is a private figure for purposes of a defamation analysis. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode deny this allegation as untrue. 

24. Notwithstanding SCA's status as a private figure, at the time the De-

famatory Statements were published, Defendants knew the Defamatory Statements 

were false and/or acted in reckless disregard of whether the Defamatory Statements 

were true or false. As such, in addition to compensatory damages and/or presumed 

damages, SCA is entitled to an award of punitive damages in an amount to be deter

mined at trial. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode deny the allegations as untrue. 

AFFIRMATIVE AND OTHER DEFENSES 

Under MCR 2.111(F), MLM and Goode assert the following special, affirm

ative, and other defenses that may apply in whole or in part to the claims that SCA 

purports to assert in the Second Amended Complaint, without assuming the burden 

of proof on any matters where the burden rests with SCA or any other party. 

MLM and Goode give notice that they lack knowledge or information suffi

cient to form a belief as to the truth of many of the allegations in the Second 

Amended Complaint. Until they avail themselves of their rights to discovery, they 

cannot determine which, if any, of the following defenses will be asserted at trial or 

by dispositive motion. These defenses are pleaded to preserve MLM and Goode's 

right to assert them at trial or by motion, to give fair notice of their intention to assert 

these defenses, and to avoid a waiver of any defenses. 

MLM and Goode reserve the right to assert all special, affirmative, and other 

defenses that may appear or become available during discovery in this case. They 

also reserve the right to amend their Answer under MCR 2.118(A)(1), or to seek 
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leave from the Court to amend their Answer under MCR 2.118(A)(2) if necessary, 

to assert such defenses. 

Subject to the foregoing, SCA' s claims and requests for relief are barred in 

whole or in part for one or more of the following reasons: 

1. The Complaint fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. 

2. The challenged statements are not actionable because they are state-

ments of opinion, not statements of fact. 

3. The challenged statements are not materially false. 

4. The challenged statements are not defamatory. 

5. The challenged statements are not "of and concerning" SCA. 

6. SCA has failed to plead fault with the specificity required by law. 

7. SCA is a public figure for purposes of this lawsuit. 

8. If SCA is a public figure, the challenged statements are not actionable 

because MLM and Goode did not know any of the statements were false. 

9. If SCA is a public figure, the challenged statements are not actionable 

because MLM and Goode did not act with reckless disregard for whether they were 

false (i.e., with "actual malice"). 

10. If SCA is a public figure, the challenged statements are not actionable 

because SCA cannot prove, with clear and convincing evidence, that MLM and 

Goode published the statements with actual malice. 

11. If SCA is a private figure, the challenged statements are not actionable 

because MLM and Goode did not negligently publish them. 

12. The challenged statements are privileged under the statutory fair-

report privilege codified at MeL 600.2911. 

13. None of the challenged statements give rise to any defamatory infer-

ence or innuendo because of the omission of material facts. 
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14. The challenged statements are matters of legitimate public interest 

and concern and received from reliable and official sources, and are privileged under 

(a) the common law and statutes of Michigan; (b) Article I, Section 5 of the Michi

gan Constitution of 1963; and (c) the First Amendment to the U. S. Constitution. 

15. SCA is libel-proof. 

16. The incremental-harm doctrine prevents SCA from recovering damages. 

17. MLM and Goode are not the proximate cause of any damages SCA claims 

to have suffered; SCA or persons other than MLM and Goode caused SCA's damages. 

18. SCA is barred from recovering punitive and/or exemplary damages 

because that would violate Article I, Section 5 of the Michigan Constitution of 1963 

and the First Amendment to the United States Constitution. 

19. SCA cannot sue on the challenged statements under the doctrine of 

judicial estoppel. 

20. SCA cannot sue on the challenged statements under the doctrine of 

collateral estoppel. 

21. SCA has suffered no damages. 

22. If SCA was damaged as alleged, then SCA is limited to its actual dam

ages because it has failed to plead and prove that Defendants acted with actual malice. 

23. If SCA was damaged as alleged, then SCA failed to reasonably mitigate 

its damages. 

24. All special, affirmative, and other defenses asserted by a Doe defend-

ant who becomes identified or by any other defendant later added to this action, 

which MLM and Goode adopt and incorporate as additional defenses. 
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RELIANCE ON JURY DEMAND 

MLM and Goode rely on SCA' s demand for a jury trial on all issues that can 

be tried to a jury, but object to SCA's demand for a jury trial on its request for in

junctive relief. There is no right to a trial by jury on equitable issues. Smith v. Uni

versity of Detroit, 145 Mich. App. 468 (1985) . 

. RELIEF REQUESTED 

WHEREFORE, MLM and Goode respectfully request that the Court: 

1. DISMISS the Second Amended Complaint with prejudice; 

2. DECLARE this lawsuit "frivolous" within the meaning ofMCR 2.114(F), 

MCR 2.625(A)(2), and MCL 600.2591, and AWARD Defendants their reasonable 

attorney fees and costs. SCA's primary purpose in initiating this strategic lawsuit 

against public participation is to harass or injure MLM and Goode; SCA has no rea

sonable basis to believe that the facts underlying its legal position are true; and/or 

SCA's legal position is devoid of arguable merit. 

3. Grant such other and further relief as it deems appropriate. 

Dated: November 14, 2018 

AAS07866.4 

Respectfully submitted, 

PH . RIC OTTE (P70902) 
DOAA K. AL-HOW AISHY (P82089) 
Stoneridge West 
41000 Woodward Avenue 
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304 
(248) 258-1616 
richotte@butzel.com 
al-howaishy@butzel.com 
Counsel for MLM and Michael Goode 
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GOODE TRADES 
The Best Source for Stock Promotion & Penny Stock News and Insight 

FINRA fines Scottsdale Capital 
Advisors $1.5 million 
April 17, 2017 I By Michael Goode I All Categories, Fraud, Microcap, SEC actions 

If you have followed penny stocks and pump and dumps for a few years then you 

know Scottsdale Capital Advisors (hereafter referred to as Scottsdale Capital). 

They are one of the few brokers left that have continued to allow the deposit and 

sale of shares in illiquid penny stocks. Larger brokers and discount brokers 

stopped allowing that over five years ago. When the big Biozoom (BIZM) pump 

happened back in 2013 many of the frozen accounts were at Scottsdale Capital. 

On March 31 st, FINRA fined Scottsdale Capital $1.5 million. Unfortunately I 

cannot find any public posting of that news so the prior link is to a Stockwatch 

article (full article only available to subscribers; see this copy if not a subscriber). 

In addition to the fine, John Hurry, owner of Scottsdale Capital, was permanently 

banned from working in the securities industry. 

The full 111-page FINRA decision can be found on their website. Unfortunately 

FINRA prevents direct-linking so you need to go 

to http://disciplinaryactions.finra.org/Search/ and then enter "John Hurry" as the 

name. I have downloaded a copy of the decision in case they delete it. 

Excerpt from the decision: 

Hurry's violation of his duty to observe high standards of commercial 

honor and just and equitable principles of trade was purposeful and 

egregious. These two qualities lead us to conclude that Hurry is a threat to 

investors and the integrity of the markets. Our concern is compounded by 

our credibility findings . We found that he repeatedly testified falsely, and 

that there was a pattern of doing so when he thought no contradictory 

evidence would come to light. 
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When misconduct is intentional, General Principle 1 provides that 

adjudicators should 572 assess sanctions that exceed the recommended 

range in the Guidelines. Principal Consideration 13 also focuses on 

whether a respondent's misconduct is the result of an intentional act, 

recklessness, or negligence.573 When a violation is egregious, the 

Guidelines often suggest more severe sanctions. In egregious cases in 

connection with violations of Rule 2010 and Section 5, the specific 

Guidelines recommend that an individual be suspended for up to two 

years or barred. 

Even though he has no disciplinary history, the devious nature of Hurry's 

violation evidences disregard for regulatory requirements, an aggravating 

factor under General Principle 2 and Principal Consideration 10.574 We 

have no confidence that if he remained in the securities industry he would 

not again devise a way to evade the law and regulatory requirements. For 

this reason also, we believe Hurry is a threat to the investing public. 

The decision also shows just how remunerative running Scottsdale Capital has 

been for Hurry - in 2014 he and his wife made "approximately $6.2 million in 

directors' fees and $1.45 million in net income." 

Disclaimer. No position in any stocks mentioned and I have no relationship 

with anyone mentioned in this post. This blog has a terms of use that is 

incorporated by reference into this post; you can find all my disclaimers 

and disclosures there as well. 

This site uses Akismet to reduce spam. Learn how your comment data is 

processed. 
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GOODE TRADES 
The Best Source for Stock Promotion & Penny Stock News and Insight 

SEC Freezes accounts used in illegal 
sales of unregistered shares of 
Biozoom $BIZM 
July 3, 2013 I By Michael Goode I All Categories, All Categories, Fraud, Microcap, Stock 

Promotions, Very Important Posts 

Earlier today the SEC announced that it froze accounts of eight different 

Argentinians who had illegally sold unregistered shares of Biozoom (BIZM). Two 

others who had not yet sold shares also had their accounts frozen. A week ago 

the SEC suspended trading in Biozoom. See my original post on the Biozoom 

promotion as well as the Promotion Stock Secrets post on the individuals behind 

the promotion. 

SEC press release 

SEC complaint 

The sheer number of shares sold and the profits involved are impressive. Here is 

a good description of what transpired from the SEC press release: 

The SEC's complaint alleges that from March to June 2013, the ten 

defendants received more than 20 million shares of Entertainment Art, 

which was one-third of the company's total outstanding shares. In a one

month period beginning in mid-May, eight of them sold more than 14 

million shares. The sales yielded almost $34 million, of which almost $17 

million was wired to overseas bank accounts. Their U.s. brokerage 

accounts, which include approximately $16 million in cash, are subject to 

the asset freeze. 

The ten defendants in the litigation are: Magdalena Tavella, Andres Horacio 

Ficicchia, Gonzalo Garcia Blaya, Lucia Mariana Hernando, Cecilia De Lorenzo, 

Adriana Rosa Bagattin, Daniela Patricia Goldman and Mariano Pablo Ferrari 
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(Mariano Graciarena and Fernando Loureyro are also named but had not yet 

sold shares). The defendants claimed to have purchased shares in Biozoom (then 

known as Entertainment Art Inc.) from the company's original seed shareholders 

between November 2012 and March 2013, but those shareholders had already 

sold all their shares back in 2009. 

Despite the SEC's quick action, over $17m in illicit profits were already wired 

overseas and are now beyond the reach of American authorities. Most likely 

none of the individuals whose names appeared on the accounts were behind the 

fraud. It is believed by many that Francisco Abelian has controlled scheme from 

the start. 

The US brokerages used by the defendants are well-known to everyone who is 

familiar with the penny stock world: Legend Securities and Scottsdale Capital 

Advisors. 

For further details, I suggest reading Promotion Stock Secret's post on this 

litigation (same post as here). 

Disclaimer: I am net long 1700 shares of BIZM (long 11,700 shares in one 

account and short 10,000 shares in another account); I have no positions in 

any other stock mentioned and no relationship with any parties mentioned 

above. This blog has a terms of use that is incorporated by reference into 

this post; you can find all my disclaimers and disclosures there as well. 

4 thoughts on "SEC Freezes accounts used in 
illegal sales of unregistered shares of Biozoom 
$BIZM" 

Michael Goode says: 

July21, 2013 at 5:41 pm 

BIZM got a DTCI DTCC global lock. Read more about that here: 

http://promotionstocksecrets.com/what-are-dtc-chills-and-Iocks

and-how-can-they-affect-mel 
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xerty says: 

July 22,2013 at 3:37 am 

Do you know who gets stuck holding the bag for these 

illegal/unregistered stock sales? Clearly these guys walked with 

$17M, but is it their trade counter parties, the brokers who 

accepted the shares, or someone else who gets stiffed? 

Michael Goode says: 

July 22,2013 at 11 :48 am 

That is a good question. In this case the shares they sold did 

exist (share counterfeiting happens sometimes) although 

they were not free-trading. So the trades stand and whoever 

bought those shares still has them. It is too late to go back 

and bust the trades made days or weeks ago. 

xerty says: 

July 24, 2013 at 11 :40 am 

So I guess it's the average shareholder of the company 

who lost, since they just got diluted by the addition of 

these new, duplicate shares. In fact, they got diluted for 

the full $34M amount, not just the $17M amount the 

criminals escaped with, since the funds seized by the 

SEC tend to go to the Treasury if they can't figure out a 

directly harmed party to reimburse. With 60M shares 

outstanding, this scam resulted in a 1/3 loss of value for 

prior shareholders. 

This site uses Akismet to reduce spam. Learn how your comment data is 

processed. 
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Press ReLease 

SEC Obtains Freeze on Proceeds from 
Unlawful Distribution of Biozoom Securities 
FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 

2013-122 

Washington, D. C., July 3, 2013 - The Securities and Exchange Commission today announced charges against 

eight Argentine citizens who unlawfully sold millions of shares of Biozoom, Inc. in unregistered transactions. The 

SEC also obtained an emergency order to freeze assets in the U.S. brokerage accounts of the eight defendants 

and two other Argentine citizens who had Biozoom shares but had not yet sold them. The action follows last 

week's suspension of trading in Biozoom due to concerns that some shareholders may be unlawfully distributing 

its securities. 

Biozoom, formerly Entertainment Art, Inc., announced in April that it was changing its name and moving from 

producing leather bags to developing biomedical technology. The SEC's complaint alleges that from March to June 

2013, the ten defendants received more than 20 million shares of Entertainment Art, which was one-third of the 

company's total outstanding shares. In a one-month period beginning in mid-May, eight of them sold more than 14 

million shares. The sales yielded almost $34 million, of which almost $17 million was wired to overseas bank 

accounts. Their U.S. brokerage accounts, which include approximately $16 million in cash, are subject to the asset 

freeze. 

The SEC's complaint, filed in U.S. District Court in Manhattan, charges the eight defendants - Magdalena Tavella, 

Andres Horacio Ficicchia, Gonzalo Garcia Blaya, Lucia Mariana Hernando, Cecilia De Lorenzo, Adriana Rosa 

Bagattin, Daniela Patricia Goldman and Mariano Pablo Ferrari - along with two others, Mariano Graciarena and 

Fernando Lou reyro , who received shares but have yet to sell them. 

"Today's action, along with the SEC's trading suspension order last week, demonstrate the SEC's ability and 

commitment to act swiftly to halt ongoing illegal conduct and preserve assets," said Antonia Chion, Associate 

Director in the SEC's Division of Enforcement. 

According to the SEC's complaint, when the defendants deposited the Biozoom stock into their U.S. brokerage 

accounts, they claimed to have acquired the bulk of the shares in March 2013 from Entertainment Art shareholders 

who purchased them in private placements that began in 2007. Each of the defendants provided stock purchase 

agreements between them and the former shareholders purportedly sigped by the defendants and those 

shareholders. The SEC alleges that the documents were false because the Entertainment Art investors had sold 

all of their stock in the company in 2009, almost four years earlier. The defendants' shares of Biozoom were 

deposited into their accounts as shares that purportedly could be freely traded and the defendants sold them even 

though no registration statement was filed with the SEC for any of the sales transactions, in violation of U.S. law. 

In addition to the temporary restraining order and asset freeze granted by the court, the SEC is seeking preliminary 

and permanent injunctions, return of the selling defendants' allegedly ill-gotten sale proceeds, and civil penalties. 

The SEC also seeks preliminary and permanent injunctions against the non-selling defendants, Graciarena and 

Loureyro, because of the likelihood that both defendants will offer or sell their Biozoom shares to the public in 

violation of the registration requirements of U.S. securities law. 
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Ricky Sachar, Scott Lowry, Deborah Tarasevich, Jennie Krasner, and Robert Nesbitt conducted the SEC's 

investigation, which is continuing. Patrick M. Bryan will lead the litigation. The SEC acknowledges the assistance 

of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA). 

### 

Related Materials 

• SEC Complaint 
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tJNI'X'ED STATESDISTRtCTC0URT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

SECURlTIES AND EXCHANGE 
COMMISSION, . 

. Plaintiff; 

v. 

MAGDALENA: TAVELLA, 
ANDRES HORACIO FICICCmA, GONZALO 
GARCIA BLA YA, LUCIA MARlANA 
HERi\)'ANDO, CECILIA DE LORENZO, 
ADRIANA ROSA BAGATTIN, 
DANIELA PATRICIA GOLDMAN, 
MARIANO PABLO FERRARI, 
MARIANO GRACIARENA, and 
FERNANDO LOUREYRO, 

Defendants. 

COMPLAlNT 

lj) 
.. . ', .. ':,';, 

. . ' ..... '.'() ...... '.".'....................... ' . . ." ., 
.. ' "., 1;$' . 

,," . .,' " .. .. Z!1.' Im:~ '." . ' . 
, . . (,0:' l'Y. . 

..•.•... ~~~~~ .. . 
(.I'~".""' .•. " ...•. f ......... > .....•.. : ... ~.' . . " ........ ~.'Ym~"'.'.: ... ~.' ......... '.' .... . ~., :; .. o>~. "",.~ ... " . 
"C;'~: .' ':. 01.)/'. . ... 

~ •. .• ,} 1 ;,.... . j,~ '. ' 

<ls.f. '. '<J "'; , / L, /' :q/? . '.1\. "'-J ~ ,/ 
Jury Trial Demanded !RS ',": -/ 

V 

Plaintiff Secnrities and Exchange Commission (the "Col11mission") for its 

Complaint ,illeges as fcili~ws: 

1. The Commission brings this civil law enforcement action against 

Magdalena Tavella, Andres Horacio Ficicchia, GonznloGarcia Blaya, Lucia lv1ariam~ 

Hernando, Cecilia De Lorenzo, Adriana Rosa Bagattin, Daniela Patricia Goldl11an, and 

Mariano Pablo Ferrari (collectively, the "Selling Defendants") on an emergency basis to 

prevent millions of dollars of proceeds from unlawful sales of securities being transferred 

out of the country. Over the past month, the Selling Defendants have sold almost $34 

million worth of securities in Biozooni, Inc. C'Biozoom") (f/kJaEntertaiilmenfAit, Inc.), 

a penny stock company traded on theOver~the-Counter Bulletin Board ("OTCBB"), and 
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, . . : 

millions· more shares are sittingindeferid~ts' brdkerage accounts'aIldlikely to be . sold . " . . . 

Unlawfully to the .public. Nb'registxation::statement Was i~letfect, fortlieSelling 
, "" 

Defendants' resale of.se~Uriti~s,thusth~irs~le~ Were in~iolati9nofSection,50f the 

;- " ....... ' .. '" .. " . .' :::.. . , " "';:. <-.... ,: .: 

million of the Se1!ingDefendants'm~~ottenproceedshavebeen~aIisierred~utof the 

United States. Unless anassetfreezecQveringtheSeliingDefendants' ~ioz66mSharesis .. ' 
. . ..' , 

issued, the· unlawful sales of securities.aIld traIlsfer o~'dissipationofthe proceeds frarp. 

sales of the securities.Willlikely continue. 

2. The Commission also brings this civil law enforcement action against 

Mariano Graciarena and Fernando Loureyro. These defendaIlts recently deposited over a 

total of approximately 4.4 million shares of Biozoom stock into their respective 

brokerage accounts. Like 'the shares sold by the Selling DefendaIlts, there is no 

registration statement in effectpennitting the lawful resale of tile Biozoom shares held by 

Graciarena and Loureyro. Because Graciarena and Loureyro are likely to engage in, the 

sale of securities in viol,~tion of Section 5 of the Securities Act, the Commission seeks to 

enjoin them from offering for resale their Biozoom shares until such time as a registration 

statement is filed and in effect.. 

3. From March 2013toJime 2013, defendmitsopened brokerage accounts at 

broker-dealers and deposited millions of. shares of Biozoom, Inc. (f/kla Entertainment 

Art, Inc.) that they claim,ed did not bear a restrictive legend and were free-trading shares. 

All of the defendants cl~ilnedthaf they had purchased all or some· of their shares from 

some of the original' shareholders. Of Entertaimnent Art in transactions between 

November 2012 and March 2013. 

2 
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4. To bolster their claims, each of the deferidantssubmitted stock purchase 

agreements dated be.tween November 2012 and March 201.3· thaLpurportedlyevidenced 

their. purchase of EnterWnment Art stock ·fromtheforrner i EnteriainnlentAit 

shareholders .. Based on these stockpurchase.agre<:?merl1.s;iaddi()W~r.dQGumentation,the ' 
" ',C .. : .... , ... ,": .. ' -, :..... , , 

defendants - betw~enMarch20 13 and June 20 13- deposfte#a.'totalof20.130,OOO shares 
• ",' '. '., ""I 

ofBiozoorri into their brokeJ:age accounts. 
. ". . 

5. The defendants could not, however, have. purch~sedimy of their shares 

from the original Entertainment Art shareholders ai!hey .claimed because those 

shareholders ceased to have any interest in the company on or around May 2009 -more 

than three years earlier than the defendants' claimed purchases. 

6. Almost immediately after defendarits deposited shares of Biozoom .in their 

brokerage accounts, Biozoom began issuing a series of press releases and a stock 

promotional campaign for the company began. Following these press releases and stock 

promotional campaign, from May 16,2013 to June 21, 2013~ the company's stock price 

and volume increased .\}r,amatically. For example,priodo May 16, 2013, no shares in 

Biozoom had traded. However, from May 16, 2013 to J~me41,2013, Biozoom's stock 

price shot past $4 per share, with total volume of more thrul 87 million shares. 
. .. 

7. During this same period, eight oftbe defendants sold millions of Biozoom 

shares into the rising market -' reaping millions of dollars. in proceeds as a result In 

total, over an approximately one month periodfromM~y 1'6,2013 - June 17,2013, eight 

of the defendants sold a total of over 14 million shareso:fBiozoom stock into the public 

markets forproceeds of almost $34 million .. 

3 
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8. None ·of these sales were made pursuant to aneffecfive registration 

statement. By engaging in.the foregoing conduct, the eight SellingDefendant~violated 
. . 

theregistr~tion provisioqsQf the federal securities.la'i'{s, 8ectiotis5(a)and 5(c).ofthe 

Securities Act of 1933 ("SecuritIes Ad'). [15 .US;C;i5U.S.C.§,§.77~(ajlw.d77e(c)J~ .. 

9. While the remaining .two.defendants·-GraciarenaaridLOW~yro-J:laveyet 
, ,", , ' " ,";', ,. , ' " . .' 

to sell any of their Biozoomshates, they i+relikely. to do sounlessrestrainecL They, 

recently deposited lllillions of shares into' their respective. brokerage· accounts, claiming 

(as. the other defendants) that these shares have no restrictive legend and are available for 

resale to the public. Therefore, the Commission seeks an order pursuant to Securities Act 

Section 20(b) [15 U,S.C. 77t(b)] to enjoin them fromviolationsofSections Sea) and 5(c) 

of the Securities Act.. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE· 

10. The SEC brings this action pursuant to Section 5 [15 U.S.C. § 77e] and 

Section 20Cb) of the SecmitiesAct of 1933 ("Securities Act")jlS U.S.C. § 77t(b)]. 

Defendants havedirestly or indirectly made use ofthemeal1s'orinstrumentalitiesof 

interstate commerce, or of the mails, or the facilities of a national secI.Jrities exchange in 

connection with the acts, practices, transactions, and courses of business alleged in this 

Complaint. 

11. This Court has jmisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 22 of the 

Securities Act{15U.S.C.§ 77vJ, and 28U.S.C. § 1331. 

12; Venllc is propetin this .COUlt pursuant1oSecli6ri22(a) of the Securities 

Act [15 US.C. §77v], because certaiilacts, practices,and courses of business constituting 

the violations alleged herein have occurred within the Southern DistriCt of New York. 

4 
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13. Defendants Will, Unless restralned and enjoined, continue to engage in the 
, , 

I ,.' 

acts,practices, transactions, and, courses of business alleged in this Complaint, orin acts, 

, practh~es, transactions, an~lc91irs~s()f businesS'dfsitnil~p~6rtan(:Io 9ject. ' ' 

'fHEDEFENDANTS 

14. DefendantAndresBoracioFiciccruatesides in Buenos Aires; Argentina 

and is an Argentine Citizen. 

15. Defendant Gonzalo Garcia Blaya resides ih Buenos Aires, Argentina; and " 

is an Argentine citizen. 

16. Defendant Luciana Mariana Hernando resides in Buenos Aires, Argentina, 

and is an Argentine citizen. 

17. Defendant Cecilia De Lorenzo resides in Buenos Aires, Argentina, and is 

an Argentine citizen. 

18. Defendant Magdalena Tavella resides in Buenos Aires, Argentina, and is 

,m Argentine citizen. 

19. Defendant Adriana Rosa Bagattin resides in Buenos Aires, Argentina, and 

is an Argentine citizen. 

20. Defendant Daniela Patricia Goldman resides in Buenos Aires, Argentina, 

and is an Argentine citizen. 

21. Defendant Mariano Pablo Ferrari resides irlBuenos Aires, Argentina, and 

is an Argentine citizen. 

22. Defendant Mariano Graci arena resides in Buenos Aires, Argentina, and is 

an Argentine citizen. 
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. .... 23 . ; Def'Ji.9aniFe(Ii~dQL"4'<'''f6~r'~ia~~';j~a~e~!\S;~r~s.'t~~g~4ii"~,; ~di; ·· .. 

art ~g~r:i;~~Rjji~eIi~ " ., .. :.:.:.~ '.',':':; ;":.,: "".,. 
'i' 

'. --- . 
).. " 

:.> : . '. 
j ", 

t:·.;" 
.-: ' 

,-,,'; - I ~, 

.. busfness' .. of resea:rchihg,deyelbP.itig; 'and< lic~ii·si~g :techrio19gi'eS>rer51!ip.'g , tOjthi ;i~q~ne ;,'·' . ' .. ' 

. reirtote ' :~~lle~tion Of " biomedic~l " d'ata ' as " ~~h'~': as'" 15iiate;~L:<difi~~ci·sti~··.cqmi:~ation: .: .. ' 
:, . " .. '.' .. ':: 

Biozoom~scomrnon. stock is regist~~ed' with~ th~ : 6~!mUis~i6;ptir~~antto S~cti&n)2. of ' .... 

. the Securiti'es' Exchange Act of 1934 ("Exchahg~ 'Act") [15 U.S.C·.§7S1] and isq~Qted on .: 
. . . .. , ' " . 

the Ovei~the-CounterBunetin Board ("OTCBB';}lihder the trading symbol "B1ZM.i; · .' . 

. 25: . Legend Securities ("Legend") : isaregisteredbroker~dea1e~ lo2atedin.New '.< 
, . . .' . . .... ' . , , ... , ....... , 

York,Nevy'Yorlc. 

'. 26. Scottsdale Capital Advisors ("S~ottsdale") is a ~egister~d broker-dealer ...• 

. located in Phoenix, Arizona. 
" , f . 

...... 
."" . : : " . ' 

. -"'\ . .. ' The Creation of Enterti.ljrim:entA.jt~ndjI)liti,atS#f~6f<;:Qiripaliy.,; 
.' ......... :./<:,-' .' .-'-' 

·27.. ,On June 15, 2007;EnteJiril~1nknt.A.rt'\vM~in¢,btP6r?te~; :u.ndE;r thel~ws : of ..... . 

the'.state of Nevada. " In' PtiBlicfilin~s,<~0~~;~~i~lneni ;~ArJ./ep.r~~~#ted '~!i~t · · it · was ':'~a .... . 

..-d,cYeI( 1)·Iilehtal:.,stage· co.mpany fonrie~l topesign;yiQd~~~~, ?,l1d'~7Ir. k .I~.ge oOeat~~r~ags, '. 
.' ·'l.:"/'·'~':~"'·' ;.',1,-'::';-;.;.:," ' . .' '.::.' '; .. , '.. , :.'.:.,.: .. " ..... ' .. '.:' ;: .... : .. ;" ... ,".'., . ,'.:': .: . -' ".: 

·i,ith' o'ffi'~es lo.~ated . in West Hempstead'; Nciyj York. . Eilteltainment Art ,was controlled 
,,':L." ,.' "f:'" ' .. ~ , ":~'.: "',.'.;.,.' 

.•.. by' the'tbi~~ ;me;nber~()f~o;np~lymai1ag~i~d~.t; ... ! .. ':"." . '.' .. ' 

. ''28. , Fro~ 'NQven1ber2.b07:tl:tQ~~~:0~t8~! ZOO(Ftritei~~ipI~~j1f0:9ffer~d; ~d '. 

: seiler .~ :,tqta( 'of'6 1:0;9.00 ~hares; to .. 24 diff~ren(.jlwestor~, Inpri vate . pl~c~fu~nt: tl'ansacti~ns, · 
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A share certificate reflecting Entertainment Alt share ownership was issued to each 

investor. 

29. On July 18,2008, Entert~nmenfAl;t filed it Form 8-1 registration 

statement 'With the. Commission to register :theresruetransactions .f6itlieJ4shareliolders 
'. . . . ,.,". ". ,',' . -, -:' 

who acCJ.uired> Entertainment Art stock in theseptivateplacements (''the FonnS-! 
" , ". ',"'" . . .' 

Shareholders"). ,In particular, of the total 1,810;000 ,sharesoutstandingatthe time;oftile', 

ForrilS-l, Entertainment Art's S~lcovered61O,000; or approximately one-third, of the ,,' 

company's then outstanding shares. 

30. The.remaining 1,200,000 shares of EI1tertainmentArt stock were held by 

the three company officers in three identical 400,000 share blocks. 

31. On May 1,2009, Enteltainment Art announced, in a public filing with the 

Commission, that the three Entertainment Art officers sold their total 1,200,000 shares of 

Entertainment Art to Medford Financial Ltd. ("Medford Financial"), a Belizean entity, 

for a purchase price of $120,000. 

32. Contrary..,to this disclosure, however, Medford Financial purchased more 

than 1,200,000 shares of Entertainment Art. In fact, Medford Financial also purchased 

all of the 610,000 shares that had been purchased by the Fonn S-l shareholders. Thus, in 

this transactioI1, Medford Financial purchased all of the outstanding shares, including the 

shares then held by the Form S-1 Shareholders. 

33. Each of the Fornl S~ 1 shareholders received their initial investment back, 

with anadditiona~, small return on their investment. Thus, by on or around May 2009, 

each of the Fonn S~l shareholders had no rem~ini~g shares or other interest in 

Entertainment Art. 
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34. According to company filings, on June 30, 2009, EntertairunentArt's 

board ot directors. approved the.implementation of.a33:1 forward split forEnteitainment 

Art stock withoufcorrespondinglyillcreai>mgtheau'thorized shares ofcoimIlonstockfor 

Entertainment Art. On July 21,2009 ;thefonvardsplit became effective; and as a result .. 
,., . .. ,': " ." " . " ""," .. " ,';'.' :. ' 

of the forward· split, tliecompany.had59,730jOOOshares of commonstockoutstatlding ...... 
, . . "" "",'. . '", . '. . . ', .... "", '.. ..' 

which was all owned by Medford Financial . 

B. Another Sale of.Entertainment Art and Acquisition of BiozoQm 
Technology 

35. On October 25, 2012, Entertainment Art reported, in a public filing with 

the Commission, that on October 19 Medford Financial sold 39,600,000 commonshares 

of Entertainment Art in a private transa~tion with Le Mond Capital for a purchase price 

of$430,OOO, which equates to approximatdy $0.01 per share. 

36. Le Mond Capital purports to be a foreign entity based in the British Virgin 

Islands. As a result of the sale, Entertainment Art disclosed that Le Mond· Capital 

controlled over 66.3% of the Company's isslied and outstanding common stock. 

37. HowevdL on. information and belief, Le Mond Capital purchased the 

entire company from Medford Fiflal1Cial- and all of 59,730,000 outstanding shares. 

38. The owner of LeMond Capital; Sara Deutsch, became Entertainment 

Art's new President, Chief ExecutiVe .Officer, Principal Executive Officer, Treasurer, 

Chief Financial Officer, Secretary, Tl'(':asurerjand Director. On information and belief: 

Deutsch is a resident of Buenos Aires, Argentina. 

39. From September 2011 to at.1eastOctober 2012, Deutsch worked as a 

manager of Magdalena's Party. Accordingtothe business' website, Magdalena's Party is 
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a restaurant located in Buenos Aires, Argentina. According to another website describing 

Magdalena's Party, it is co~oWnedbyDeutsch, defendant Magdalena Tavella, and others. 

40. On Mal"ch 12, 2013, Entertainment Art filed a Form 8-K with the 

Commission in which it rumoUnceda drrunaticchange in its businessJoperations from a 

company that developed fasbionable leather bags to a company that was involved in the . 

biomedical industry. In particular, Entertainnient Art rumounced a transactionpursi.lant 

to which its newly formed subsidiary, Biozoom Techllologiesi Inc., acquired certain 

patents, licenses, and related assets from· each of three separate companies; Opsolution 

Spectroscopic Systems, Opsolution NanoPhotonics, and Opsolution GmBH, (the 

"Opsolution acquisition") in exchange for cash of $50,000 and 39 million shares of 

Entertainment Art common stock. 

41. Entertainment Art described that, through Biozoom, it was now in the 

business of "researching, developing, and licensing technologies relating to the mobile 

remote collection of biomedical data as well as bilateral diagnostic communication." 

42. Entertai.nment Alt further disclosed that - as of immediately after closing· 

of the Opsolution acquisition and filing of the Form. 8~K - Deutsch would step down as 

CEO and Chief Financial Officer of Enteliainment Art, but would stay on as a Director 

only. 

43. As a result of the transaction, the 59,730,000 outstru1ding shares of 

Entertainment Art were allocated in the following manner. First, Le Mond Capital 

returned 39,000,000 shares to the company,and then those 39,000,000 shares were 

. allocated - as shares bearing a restrictive legend - to four entities that were associated 

with the Opsolution entities. 
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44. Thus, .after these allocations, 20,730,000 shares of. Entertainment Art 

remained. Le Mond Capital ret~ined600~OOO of these shares bearing a restrictive legend. 

The remaining 20,130,000 shares '- which represented the.totalsharespurc;hased by the 

Form S-1 Shareholder~ (and subsequently sold in the Medford Fillarici~ltrans<lctionon or 

around May 2009) - were unallocated. 

45. On April 1,2013; Entertainment ArtchWigedits name to Biozoom,under 

the trading symbol "BIZM" 011 the OTe Bulletin Board. 

C. Defendants Deposit Biozoom Shares In Their Newly Opened 
Brokerage Accounts 

46. From January 2013 to May 2013, brokerage accounts were opened at 

Legend, a registered broker-dealer based in New York, in the name of four of the 

defendants: Ficicchia, Blaya, Hernando, and De Lorenzo. 

47. In May 2013, brokerage accounts were opened at Scottsdale, a registered 

broker-dealer based in Phoenix, Arizona, in the name '01' another four defendants; 

Tavella, Bagattin, Goldman, and Fel1'ari . 

. 48. According to the account opening documentation - and as reflected in the 

table below with one exception, none of the clefe~dants worked in fields related to 

securities. 

Blaya Music u' rooIUc(~r-~:toc~K 

Hernando Marketing.Manager 

De Lorenzo Self-employed marketing specialist 

10 
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Bagattin 

Ferrari 

Goldman 

1. Accounts at Legend 

Andres Horacio }i'icicchia 

intellectual property, and patent law 

Retired Teacher 

Sales andMarketing 

Delicatessen owner 

49. Defendant Ficicchia opened his account at Legend on or about January 24, 

2013 ,md funded the account with $26,000 cash. 

50. On November 30, 2012, Entertainment Art's transfer agent issued an 

Entertairunent Art certificate for 165,000 shares to Ficicchia. 

51. On March 13, 2013, Entertainment Art's transfer agent issued an 

Entertainment Alt celtificate for 1,237,500 shares to Ficicchia. 

52. The certificate for 1,237,500 shares was accompanied by a corporate 

certification stating that Deutsch certified - at a board meeting of Entertainment Art on 

March 22,2013 - the company approved the issuance of that certificate to Ficicchia. 

53. In order to deposit the certificate for 1,237,500 shmes and the certificate of 

165,000 shares of Entertainment Art into his brokerage account at Legend, defendant 

Ficicchia completed a "Deposit for Securities Request Certificate Questionnaire" that was 

required by Legend, and provided additional documentation. 

11 
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54. The documentation TefleCted· that Ficicchia acquired the 1,237,500 shares 

pursuantto two private salesthatwere completed onFebrtlary 19,2013:(1) a purchase Of 

412,500 shares from Investor Aand~2ya purchase of 825,000 shares from Investor B. 

The documentation also reflected th~{Ficicchia p~icla total· of approximately .$6,300 for 

these shares; which eqtlalsapproxiInately$.005per share .. For the followi1lgreasons, tpe 

documentation submitted byFiCicchiawas false. 

55. Investor A~as.6ne6ftheForniS-l shatehbld~rs who hac1so1dhis shares 

of Entertainment Art on or around May 2009 - almost four years before Ficicchia's 

claimed purchase of shares from Investor A. Investor B was purportedly a shareholder 

that acquired its shares from some of the Form 8-1 shareholders in 2011 - approximately 

two years aiter the Fonn S-1shareholders actually sold their shares. 

56. The docurnentationfurther reflected that Defendant Ficicchia acquired the 

165,000 shares pursuant toa private salethat was completed on November 30, 2012 with 

Investor C - shares that he acquired for $24, 750, which equals $0.15 per share. Investor 

Cwas also one of the FOlUl S-1 Shareholders who had sold his shares of Entertainment 

Art on or around May 2009 - over three years before Ficicchia's claimed purchase of 

shares from Investor C. 

57. On March 5, 2013, Ficlcchia deposited 165,000 shares of Entertaillllent 

Art not bearing a restrictive legend into his brokerage account at Legend; and then on 

Mmch 27, 2013, Ficicchia deposited all additional 1,237,500 shares (again not bearing a 

restrictive legend) - for a total of 1,402,500 shares. 

58. On April 1, 2013, due to the name change of Ente1141nment Art to 

Biozoom, these shares became Biozoom shares. Thus, defendant Ficicchia held 
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1,402,500 shares of Biozoom that were purportedly available to be sold on the public 

markets. 

Gonzalo Garcia Blaya 

59. On or about March 26, 2013; defendant Blaya opened an, account at 

Legend and funded this account with $26,000 cash .. 

60. On March 22, 2013 - justfour days prior to opening this account -

Entertainment Art's transfer agent issued a certificate for 1,485,000 Entertainment Art 

shares to Blaya. 

61. In order to deposit his certificate for 1,485,000 shares of Entertainment 

Art into his brokerage account at Legend, defendant· Blaya completed a "Deposit for 

Securities Request Celtificate Questionnaire" that was required by Legend, and provided 

additional documentation. For the foHowing reasons, the documentation submitted by 

Blaya was false. 

62. The documentation reflected that Blaya acquired the 1,485,000 shares in 

four separate private sales that were completed on March 4, 2013: (1) a purchase of 

165,000 shares from Investor D; (2) a purchase of 495,OOOsh~es from Investor E; (3) a 

purchase of 165,000 shares from Investor F; and (4) a purchase of 660,000 shares from 

Investor G. The documentation also re11ected that Blayapaid a total of approximately 

$6,765 forthese shares, which equals approximatelY$.OOSper share. 

63. Each of Investors D, E, F, and G were Form 3-1 Shareholders who had 

sold their Entertainment Art shares on or around May 2009 - almost four years before 

Blaya's claimed purchase of shares from these investors. 
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64. On April 16, 2013, Blaya deposited 1,485,000 shares 6fEntertainni~nt.Art 

not bearing a restrictive legend into his brokerage account at Legend. As ar~s"Ultof .thb 

business name change on April. 1, 2013.> thesesharesbecafue ,Biozoomshares,Thus, 

defendant Blaya held 1,485,000 shares of Biozoom¢at wer.e purportedly available to be . 

soldon the public markets. 

Luciul1u.Marial1a Hemando 

65. On or about March 7, 2013, defendant Hernando opened an account at 

Legend and funded the accountwith$50,000 cash. 

66. On March 22,2013,. Entertainment Art's transfer agent issued a certificate 

for 1,815;000 EntertainmentArt shares to Hemando. 

67. In order to deposit her 1,815,000 shares of Entertainment Art into her 

brokerage account at Legend, defendant Hemando completed a "Deposit for Securities 

Request Certificate Questionnaire" that was required by Legend, and provided additional 

documentation. For the following reasons, the documentation sllbmitted by Hemando 

was false. 

68. The doclID1entati.onreflected that Hernando acquired the 1,815,000 shares 

pursuant to two separate private sales that were completed on March 5, 2013: (1) a 

purchase of 1,650,000 sharesfrom Investor H; and (2) a purchase of 165,000 shares from 

Investor 1. The documentation also reflected that Hernando paid a total of approximately 

$5,445[01' these shares, whicheqm'tls approximately $.003 per share. 

69. Both Investors H and I were Form 8-1 shareholders who had sold their 

Entertainment Nt shares on or around May 2009 - almost four years before Hemando's 

claimed purchase of shares fromtheseiMestors. 
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70. On May 14,2013, defendant Hemarido deposited 1,815,000 shan;ls .of 

Entertainment Art n.otbearing a restrictive .legend int.o her br.okerage.accQunt at Legerid 

Securities. As a result of the business namechtinge on April 1, 2013, these shat'es 
. . . 

became Biozo.om shares. Thus, defendant Hernando held 1,815;000 shares· of Biozoom 

that were purportedly available to be s.olq.onth~ public markets, 

Cecilia De Lorenzo 

71. On or about February 4, 2Q13;defendai1t DeLorenzo opened an account at· 

Legend and flmdedthe account with $50,000 cash. 

72. On March 13,2013, Entertainment Art's transfer agent issued a certificate 

for 2,062,500 shares to De Lorenzo. 

73. The certificate was accompanied by a corporate certification stating that 

Deutsch certified - at a b.oard meeting .of Entertainment Art .on March 22, 2013 - the 

company approved the issuance of the above certificate to De Lorenzo. 

74. In .order to deposit her 2,062,500 shares of Entertainment Art into her 

brokerage account at Legend, De Lorenz.o completed a "Dep.osit for Securities Request 

Certificate Questionnaire" that was required by Legend, and provided additional 

documentation. For the following reasons, the documentation submitted by De Lorenzo 

was false. 

75. The. documentation ref1ected that De Lorenzo acquired the 2,062,500 

shares pursuant to two separate private sales that were completed on February 19,2013-

the san1C day as the purported purchases of Entertainment Art stock by Ficicchia: (1) a 

purchase of 1,650,000 sharesfromlnve~torJ; and (2) apurchaseof412,500 shares from 
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Investor K. The documentation also· reflected thafDefendant De Lorenzo paid· a total of 
. . 

approximately $8,300forthese·shares; whicheql.lC).ls approximC).tely$.004 per share;· 

76. Hath Investors J andK,however,were FormS.,! shareholders who had 

sold their Entertainment Art shares on or around.May 2009 - almost.four years before 

defendant De Lorenzo's claimed purchase of shares from these investors.· 

77. On March 22, 2013, defendant DeLorenzoc1eposited~,b62,500sh~esof 
: .. , ',: . 

Entertainment Art not bearing a restrictive legerid. iutoher brokerage account atLeg¢nd. 

As a result of the business name change on April 1, 2013, these shares .became Bioz.oom 

shares. Thus, defendant De Lorenzo held 2,062,500 shares of Biozoom that purportedly 

could be sold on the public markets. 

2. Accounts at Scottsdale 

Magdalena Tavella 

78. On March 22, 2013, Entertainment Art's stock tnmsfer agent issued a 

certificate for 1,815,000 shares of Entertainment Art to Tavella. 

79. On.or about May 16, 2013, defendant Tavella opened an account at 

Scottsdale. 

80. In order to deposit her 1,815,000 shares of Entertainment Art into her 

brokerage account, Scottsdale, using information and documentation provided by 

Tavella, completed a securities deposit checklist. For the following reasons, the 

doctUnentation submitted by Tavella was false. 

81. The documentation reflected that Tavella acquired the 1,815,000 shares 

pmsuantto three separate plivate sales that were completed on March 5,2013- the same 

day as the purported purchases of Entertainment Art by defendant Hemando: (I) a 
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---,'-

Inv,estor'M; ,and' (3) apurbh1is,eof 1;48 ~1QOb 's~~es from itive~~oi N,: ',. Th¢~~6ei.ffile~t~tion · 
, .. '- . . . .." - .: .. , - . ' .. - ..... .. : .: ~ : . .... ... , ~'''. ..:. . " . ;' ... :. . . ':'. 

reflected 'that Tav¢lIa ,pajcV'~ :total9f:' approxim~telY $9,075 'f~~lliese :sli~~~;, which~q~als " ,,' 
- .. ' ' '." ,,<.;~ ,":--. :~/:;/'.., .. "...' -~'..: .. : . . ':'.' .. ; .':, . . , .. ,.: .. : ; 

,. appro~jmateiY$,006per shirre. ' ' .. :, 

,.::. .. 
i .. · ,·: • .. :/:i ~: ... 

,i 

,82. ' Jnvesto,rs;t 'iand .~; y;,~re , tWo· ofthe ' F()rnl: ;~ 1,' shatehb.ldiis ,who> h~dsOld ,',. ' , 

their shar;s6(El\i~rt~G~rfi:e~t~t: ;bii ;o'r ' aroiti1d' Mayi2dO§··~ a~qiL;f~'h~ '. y'ear~· , b,~f~re;" .,' , ' 

Tavella'S c1~imed ptifchai~ : 6{1~haris i from , theni~ ' IrtV6~~'6ri N ,, ~~~;(pWP6rtedl~ .a , :"':' .. : , .. -

"; ... 

shareholder that acquiredjts shares 'from some of the FormS~lsh<U'eholders in March " 
- - .. --' .- . - -' '-.: " 

2011 - almost two year$ after the,Form S-1 shareholders sold their shares ~ 

83. On May 22, 2013, defendant Tavella deposited 1,8J5,000 shares of 

Entertainment Art not bearing a restrictive legend into her broker~ge accou!1t at 

Scottsdale, As a result oLthe busiiwss name change on ApriLl; ,20i3, these shares 
, " 

became Biozoom shares. Tluis, defe~qant ravella held 1,815,000 ,shar~s6fBiozoomthat 
,. : .. ' .' . -

were purportedly available to be sold' on the public markets. 

Adriana Rosa Bagatti'l ; 

84.. ' OnM.m;~l~ 13;20l3,Entertaimnent Art's tral1Sfer agentisslICd a certificate 

for 2,31 0,000 Entertaimncl.?-tAii Share$ '!odefendant Bagattin. ', 
" · ;"1 :, 

, On 'or~bO:iit~ ;May Ib{ i 013;defendant B~gattiri op6~led , iui ,aecoi.mt at " 
,': -.... 85. 

'. :':.~ 

Scottsdale. 
, _ : . 

86 . In order :todeposlt ~~r 2,310,000 shares of Entel~ailuneIl~ Art into her 
, , ' 

' brokerage account, Sc6ftsdale'; ' usi~g ' information and doclime~tati6n provided by , 

Bagattin, completed a ,~e~utWes de1?osit checklist. 

documentation 'submitteq byBag~ttin Y/S'lS false. 
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81. Thed~c~~htati6ii r~fl~cted : th~t;;1?~i~ttiht:~9ciuired :~;~} lOiQOO shjfes .. 
. -'.' ,.:.:," ." :i" 

.._;3.,~.~.~. ~~ .. •. 
:'('.' 

Defendant BE)gattin -' paidapproxim~tely ,'$6;930' • foi :thbse ~l1ar~s, : .whi.2hequais '. .: ,.:. ',' .... ,./:.. ',," '" 

. approxim,atelY$.003 per share. , ;.<;,:,' 

8 '8~ ', Eachdfrnvestors 0;P,~d,qLh~4i~¥t:;gf~ Fbrtn : S;r:Shar~h6Ide·A' ~h.6\···.· 
. ~ )',: : . 

had sold their Ente'rt~nrnent Art shares · on or around 'l'1ay2009 ,- almost four, ,years . 

before defendant Bagattin's claimed purchase ofs4ares from ·these persons. 

89. On May 22, 2013, Bagattin deposited 2,310,000 shares of Entertaimnent 

. Art not bearing a restrictive legend into her brokerage aci6unt at' Scottsdale. As a resl,lit 

of th~ b~sinessname change on April 1, 2013, ~ilieseshares became Biozoom s.hares: .' 
I: " 

Thus, defelidimt Bagattin held 2,310,OOQ shares of Bioi oom that were purpqrtedly,' . 

available to besoJd on the public markets. 

Daniela Patricia Goldman 
. . . : . . 

90, On March 22, 2013, Enteliaimne~tAlt~s trahsferagentissued a certificate' . 

. Scqttsdale, 

92 . . " In ' order.to deposit her 2,485,09q ' sl~,ar~{~i Ente.rtaiIllrient Art into her 

brokerage accoupt; Scott~dale, .using doct!ineh~1ti6;1~ditifotn1ation provided by 

Goldman,corhpleted a securities ' dep'()sit ,c1)e?k,l~st . -f,or/ tJ1e foli9Wipg reasons, th~ 
... ::..... :t',:-
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. : .:' 

. ..-. . 

93. Thedo~urpenta\iOX1:;feflecteq '.fuatGOI:d~anacqiJii~d:Jh{2,4·85jOOO spares ' 
. . . . . .. ; :." .... ..... .' .... . '.' " .' ' ..... .' .... ..' . .' : (. ....' . ~. . ... 

. ;;' " . <:.::::~ .. , J:.",.: : .. ;::' . 

. ' :·p,ur~~~m to .. twdPriY~W$~IY$ :W~~~;~ef¢ ;comM~ted })n ,MW9~\4} '~p'ifi: ::(1~ ii,)pW:i.pa~~of •.• :.: 

; YA85;QOOishares .ftqnLI~\fe$f0r: ;RY;~Q(i)a. ~fu:ch~~~ ;:6i : 1 ;6dS}&h&:':~piire~; fronii;lriY~~t6n: : •. ' 
·s.· Jihe' docurnentati~n '~lso ' refly'~~~i "t~at'. GOld~::~~aid":aPlx~~~~~f:;~" ~~~45~:· i.o; iliese .. •. . ); 

. shates,whi ch· eqml1s " ~pproxii~ate'lY'$ :09 3 ,pe~\;shiu-e. ..' 
! • -. > :' !'... . ........... : -. 

.~. ' .. " . 
.. . '. _ ....:, ,: .' .' . . , : . ..,. . . : ..... ;:.. ,,:!:.: -" " ,.;. . .~·1, _ , .. ". . ; . . 

94> Investop.' R: purpo);j:edly .obtained it$sh~ies ' froirl} ~ome < ofthe : fonn :S~ I .. . . 

Sharehb1ders ' in Ma;6h<:2.6l:(- '~lhl(j~t :tw~·: Y~~~ ' ~ft~r t11~ ':F&~"!$~'i-{;i~,~eB9i~ers ' sold 
. ". :.: 

their shares. Investor S wason~ of the Form S ~Jsharehoidets;and $~idhis shares on or . 

around May 2009 - almost four years before defendant Goldman's :claimedpurchase of 

shares from him . 

. 95. On May 22, 2013 , Goldman deposited 2,485,000 shares ofEnteliaimnent 

Art not bearing a restrictive legend into her brokerag~ account at S.~o~tsdale . As a result 
. ,.' 

of the ' business name change on April 1, 2013, these shares ])ieCan1~ 'Biozoom share~. 
" .. '.' .... 

. Thus, defendant Goidman held 2,485,000 shares of Biozoo~ :iliat . \vere purportedly 

available for sale on thy/ public markets. 

Mariano,Pablo Ferrari 

. 96. On March 22, 2013; Enteriaimnent Ali' S transfei~', ~g~l~i' iss'ued a .certificate 
,.' .. ' .. >:.<:.",' '::'.: 

for 2;310;000 Entertaiilri1ent' Artshal'esto Feinri. . • "0; /:>' , . 
'.. .' .' . -'. ,. .' "./. ... :: ..... 

On,orabbutMay 20, 2o. i~; Fetrari opened ~in: ac;countat'ScQttsdaJe . 
. ~ . '. . , - ... ' ... , --' .. ' .'. . . 

98 . In Order to " dep~sit ,hIS. 2.,3JO,OOO : shar~s,; ofEritertaiA~~nt Art into his ,.. . .... .' ..... .... . - . 

brokerage account, Scottsd~le; ,tising docume'ntation rind inforfu~t(~ripl'o~'ided by Ferrari, 
. .'. ': ' ... ' .,'- ... ' '.' 

completed a securities c;Iegosit che9kJist For the:folloy.'ing ~ea·$.dh~i 'tbed,OCUlllcntatiori 
.', :.: .... :;.:-.> ..... 

.·.provid~<i,by Ferrari wa.s. false; .. 
, .. , 
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:".':'- .' 

: 99.. :The , dOGumentation reflc;:cted , that 'Ferrari flcquired the 2:3,1 Q,60'0' : shar~s 
, , .. : ... :1.':.·. ~ ~ .. " .' \ \.--. ' . :' 

'~;!;:~~o:q::~r;e[::::;;~;~~:~:;;;~~::;:?~t.:J;~:;,~~~~~::;~f; " .... 
~The "docfunetitatibti': ilisQ. , refkct~cI (tha{ " 0~ldm~) pai(r.·. flPproXirri~teJy ;$ 9~24pr!f9r i thcs:e ',. 

" ' .. . - .. . .~ . . ' ." . r .~". . 

shares; 6r,'~pprm(ima~~IYi9q4perfshare: . '. .:.;;',')..' .• ", 

. . ' •. 1 00. • .inve;tor T W6s0":' ~f~~Fa~:S:ISh=~~ld~r':7dS;!1~1~jjsi~r0ri~J/ •.•.... 
'IlrO,ung May 2009 ~ ' ~lino~t ~f9tir. years . beforedefenqilnti F~i1'a.ri1 s -cr~iJ:fi~9 : iWi9has~'df- · .' 

.. : .\ .... ;-. ..r . 

· share.s 'ftom ,him. Investor U purport~dlyobtained its shares frorrt$ohie, ciqhefol1U~- i 

shareholders in September 2009; 

101. On May 22,2013, Ferrari deposited 2,310,000 shares of Entertainment Art 

not bearing a restrictive legend into his brokerage account at Scottsdale. Asa result of . 

. the. b~!siness na.rne change on April 1, 2013, these shares became BiozoQm sha.res.: Thus; 
. .' . " . .. . :. 

defencIant Ferrari held 2,310,000 .shares of Biozoom'that were purportedlyavailableJor ' .. 
. . . , .' . ,. . 

sale on the public nlarkets. 
: . .' . . 

, . . : . . 

Two Othcr Accounts ill. NaIilcsofDefendants GraciarClla and Lom"cyro 
J-: ".' . . ' . 

102. On March 22, 20 13,JvlanlJ.attan Transfer issued a. certificate for),.}4~,OOO 
,.; 

Entertainment Art shares .to Gra~iarena and 2,300~OOO Enteriainment Art sbltres . to ' 
., ,.' •... • •. • . ;'; •.•• ,. • .... , •• • ·.f •• 

'. LOlrreyro .Graci.areri~ :~d L'o~reyro ~subll1itted doclUnentatiOl1.refkytiri.~ ;th~f~ .~~:d~rhaci . 

obtained their shares in :the same. maTllleras the other .eightdefenclru1ts- ' i.e. J by • . 

. piu-pOl'tedly pui'chasing shares'from: the 'Fohn' S- i shareholders. 

i 03, .On or about June 14, '2013, Fernando Loureyro rn1d Mari~no :Ciraciaremt 

opened . sepflra~e accoun,ts at Sco):tsclale. :Like , the other eight defendfu:its,bQtli ~i4ted in ' 
. . . . ." . ... ". . ' . , . . '. . ..' . . .. . , .' ~ " .' . 

. brokerage flrrn docum.ent~t11~tJhe,yr~sided: iijBueqos A,iI~es, Argen'tina . . ' 
'. . . ,. . ... ' .... 
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104. On June 18, 2013, these shares were deposited in the brokerage accounts 

of these two individuals. To date, none of these shares have been sold. 

105. . In sum, from November 2012 to Jtme 2013, the ten .defendant accounts 

received a total of 20, 130,000 shares of Entertainment Art. These shares represented an 

of the shares that were unallocated after the Opsolution acquisition. Moreover, these 

shares represented 100% percent of the total shares without a restrictive legend 

outstanding in Biozoom at the time,and more than 33% percent of the total ()utstanding 

shares of Biozoom. 

D. Defendants Sell Millions of Biozoom Shares 

106. BegilUling on May 22, 2013 _. ,md aner nearly all of the defendants had 

deposited their Biozoom shares not bearing a restrictive legend in their accOlmts -

Biozoom began issuing a series of press releases in which it claimed it "created the 

world 'sfirst portable, h,mdheld consumer device" to instantly and non-invasively 

measure certain biomarkers. These claims were also made by other entities, including 

Global Financial, Inc., Stock Preacher.com, among others. 

107. Following these positive claims concerning Biozoom's prospects, the 

accounts in the name of eight of the selling defend,mts sold substantial amounts of their 

Biozoom stock that did Dot bear a restrictive legend for massive proceeds. In particular, 

and as reflected in the chart below, eight of the defendcmts sold 14,078,406 shares of 

BIZM stock for proceeds of$33,997,152. 
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">, ' ;iDef~h~ant ';':'~':.' : : s~~:.~:'~~01?~:~ ~~,~t~~t~,gJ?~J::~~~!f~;':~ 'ft??~~~~"wtf~;t~~fl{~~~;~f'!~~~::; •. 
" Fi'ccicma ' . :J.l402,50'O'';,. :''5/2Q/:l3 ,~;6/5/U ,;" $i'979 '389~,(' ;,;2.1~;62Q,I,,';, 

' r'r' ,]] " "1 "5' 9"1) '4' '44' .".'0<.' "'6' /"7'/1"'3"""': 6"1"1'/"1.'3' .... $"') "1"1"6' "'8'"9'4'''''' ''' '·:n'S·2··9'··(l6·" :/. '" .... ·'."J.'ave a "J : ; ;"'i ." :'0',' ... ' . /~i ,, ' .. ' .. D ' ~. ; ' .. ', ",'(:-,;"" <J.'~,.; . 

. ; Bag~ttin .. ' .'2;1'76/1'20. :': :,i \60 Oi.lj ~ i5zt8/13; )$6',2~3(3T6i;,,::ji33 ;17Q4;";": .: ..... 
': ;"Feria-rt ., . "1 ,Q94:;C38.;-' ('6i1 /1 l·~:6J;t.9/i'3 : 1$$;;~~6f(j~td'>ti>31S;9'62'···. 

'- ' " 
1 .08, · .All of the , ~~ght sellifig ~defenci~ts 'p~a~~dtheii " ofd~r~/toi §eJ1., Bi'oi~,dm · . 

" ": . .-:. . . .': .... , ", : . '....;. ' . .... :r::._ .;'-: "::.(;";.;"" ~:':: ... ' ~>:_ .. 

stode ·iry ,the . same maim~r - via:e"m~il :~~.· ih$.tanr~e$.~~ge~t9~it~e.~>i:~~:~h~/?f:' ~fg~~dhle: 
1.09. Upon selling. sh~es in Bi6ioom, ~~v¢tai ' of thedefe.rid~ts" ipstructed:their 

brokerage firms to wire the proceeds of their sales to foreign bank ~ccounts in vlilious 

countries: 

. . 

.0 Ficicchia: On June 7, 2013, defendant Ficicchia instructed Legend, to vVlre $1 

million to Alpine Securities, Inc" a registered clearing broker-dealer. Alpine 
,;,', " ':', ' 

provides clearing services for Scottsdale, and as describedc::~lier,Ficicchi<l 

opened an account at Scottsdale on or around June 10, 2013 and fund~d it with 
. ,... .. 

this $1 million, . On June 25, 2013 - the same day as ,th~Coinmission's order 
. ::h'" 

suspending trading in Biozoom - Ficicchia instDl~ted SCQttsdaie to Wire $325,000 
',:.: .. 

to a bank accom~till CypDlS. This wiry was not execlited, jTiSic~hia's bi'okenlge 
' .. 

account at Leg~nclcurrei1tly'ilas , a cas\lbai(\ll,ce q(siighhy ' ov~I:/ffil ' n~illi6h,;'~~11d 
I' , •••• '. • • .:. .' • • •• • . • .: .' ~. ... ',' . ; •.. ,'... r .. " . .-". 

Ficicchia's brokerii.ge · account · at Scottsdale c;urrentiyMs , a :'c~sh bal<lnce of 
.' 

~ppi;oximately $328,00.0. 
, "., .'. . . , . .. : 

. ,,' . .. -,- .. 

- - -'----7'. -'-.~-- . . 
.1 011 or aroUl)d June .1 0, 2013, Ficiccl;iaop'en~dan accotintilt ' S~pitsda'Ieadd ' funded' this atcoullt 
with $ Imillion from his ~c,coiintatLegend , :- Flcic~hia's :i'Sh'aresReiJlali1J~g'> ·t~Ip,inii ; ~e:f1ecis :B.r9zo'om' 
purchases that 'he has hiadeiwhisac.coui1t at-SeQrtsdaic, ';" , . . ' :"" .. ",: ,. . '. ,.," . ".; 

. ." . .- ., .. ', ,".. . .", .:',: :-' . ; .. :' . 
2 Tavella'.s " ~Shar~s Rem~ining>; :coIilimdilclucIes '1,60,406 )3iozoom shaf~s: t11a'( sheplu-chrised in the 
open 'markeHil;June 19,2013. . .. " , , .. , . ". . .. .... j' .. . . , '. 
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• 

., 

. . . 

Blaya: On June :14, . 2013, :'Blayalp.struc;t~d .L~g~n<lto wir~ u~ll settlelftinds 

; except $3 o,odO"ho :an . ~Gc6url:t';'h"e~d in Gene.va, .S:i.i~ed~i ;Tl1}S wir~ Nf~.S .D,O·t . 
- .. 

rriilHolr 
'" :', 

,',' " .. ,.'," . 

.. . . : ~. 

wire , "~lla~ailable settled i~ash': iii h~i.;' ;accQi.lnt~which , a{,· th~ tirrid~ . was' . 
"', '...' .. " . " ... ' ... '. '. , ... ,','. . 

Limited in Lemesos, Cyprus . . ' This Wire was executed. ' On June 17, 2013, 

Hernando instructed his broker-dealer, Legend, to wire $2 million, again to an 

account held at Hellenic Bank Public Company Limited in: Lemesos; Cyprus, 

This wire was not executed by Legend, This account has a cash balance of 

approximately $4,5 milli0J1 . 

., Dc Lorenzo: De Lorenzo has not yet attempted to wire any money out of her 

account De Lorenzo has a bank account in Dar Es Salaam. The account has a 

cash balance of,approximatdy $4.8 million . 

., Tavclla: On: June 25, 2013 - the day of the Commis~ion's order suspending 

trading in the securities of Biozoom - Tavella attempted to wire approximately 
',,;.' 

$2,450,000 out of h~r accou~i[~t Scottsdale to a bank accoun{in St. Vincent and , '. . .' . . . 
. : .,'. " . 

the .Grenandines: This wlt'ehas not been executed. The CUlTent cash balance jn 

Tavella's brokerage account is approximately $2,4 7 rhillion. 

o Bagattin: On . Jime 20; i013, Bagartin instn.;cted Scottsdale to wire 
. '. . . 

approximately $4.33 million to a barik accOlmt in Cyprus. This ' wire WaS. 

executed. On June 24, ,201,3/ Bagatti.1l:instructed Scottsdale to send an additional 
" ,' .. ,...., .. '" . ,.'.. . 
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/.' 

:". : .... 

: ! . - ... 

appr<;ii<imately $1.89million'jo t~~ . s~e:' ba:nk iccounL , This wire' wasaiso . 
. . .'.-' . ...... . . - . 

. .. e~~c~ted i Jhe .c~ii:«n(caSh~q~J#¢~ 'f*.#~@ttin~, s ~?r9.k,erag;y.Ac~o,untiS' $3,,669: .• · . 
. ,.;" :,.:' .;: •••• : ".: ';,',.',;::, •• ' : - . • I • 

• . ,' ~.oJ(hllari: On June 11, 2013, Goldman instructed Scottsdale to wire . 
........ .';,.:..;;:.: ... ;:1:,: .' .• ,' .:' : " .', .. '.' ... " ' . 1, .. 

.' :a~proximatelY $3,77millio~ :~; '~ accourir'h~icl ' at abaIJ1Ci~~%n~v~:S~ttz~dillld , ..'; .. 
. : . ~ :. / " , ,~ " . . -. .. /. , . . . ' . 

~ a b~n1c where Bla~a ~ls.q ~ h8i;~~. :ap,~d~~Mt.·· This iv\iife' v!~'§y~~cllte~ ; : The cash 

b~;ance inG61dman',s accQunhi~ :$q,i , :''-' .... ' 
.... :;'-:::>:~.--~: ... , ,.' '. ..: ... . , 

• Ferrari: On June 19, 2013, Ferrari instructed Scottsdale to wire $500,000 to an 
.. ' ....• ' _ .. : ".,: ..• 1·' .' ' . • . .. : • . ... , 

account held at a bank in ~an~a,Thi~ : wire was executed,OnJune 24,~013; 
Ferrari instructed Scottsdct.1e io ·wire an additional $4.9 million, this time to a bank . . 

in Belize, This wire was also executed. The cash balance in Ferrari's ~cGo\lllt is 

$0. 

F. No Registration StMerilcnt 'WasJnEffect At the Time Defcl1!lant~SoJd 
Biozoom Shares .... '. . 

110, Section 5 of the Securities Act makes it lllllawfi.tl for any person, directly or 

indirectly, to offer or sell securities, using the U.S. mails or interstate conunerce, unless such 
, . 

;'(' 

offer or sale is registered with the Conunissiol1: 

111. No registratio~l stateq'lent was ir;, effect , for the shares sold by the Selling 

.. ·Defend~nts. ..' - ' ' .. ' 

' .. .... 

' 112. No registration stC\tr;:m¢nt IS in . effect foi: llie Biozoom shares held by 

. defel1cJants Gl'aciarena and Low-eyro. 

G . ,Biozoom Is A Pen.i:iy~t<>:ckAsPefihe(~ ,By The Seclil"ities Exchange Act 
of 1934 ("Ex'change Ad") '.' . ..... . 

113. Bioz()Qri1'S stock is ;8, . "Pe.rin,Y~~9.ck"as ;a:~fi?~d ; 9y ·t~e · ~xchange Act. At 

times relevant to this ·. Cornpla,inti; ihe~to2k; s~Baresti~decl , at kss thari $5~ OO · peJshate. 
. :., ...... , .. ,' .'. ..' :., - " . 
..' ,... :. . ,': : 

Dtlring: the Same time· period, Bioz9~rri;~ stock did l1otmeet.miy of the exceptioris to 
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penny stock classification pursuant to Section 3(a)(51) and Rule 3a51-1 of the Exchange 

Act. 

114. For example, the company's stock: (1) did not trade on a national 

securities exchange; (2) was not an "NMS stock/' as defined in 17 C.F.R. § 

242.242.600(b)(47); (3) did not have net tangible assets (j.e".total assets less intangible 

assets and liabilities) in excess 0[$5,000,000; and (4) did not have average revenue of at 

least $6,000,000 for the last three years. (See Exchange Act, Rufe 3a51-1(g).) 

COUNT I 

VIOLATION OF SECTION 5 OF THE SECURITIES ACT, 15 U.S.C. §77e 

(Defendants TavelIa, Ficicchia, Blaya, Hernando, De Lorenzo, Bagattin, Ferrari, 
Goldman) 

115. Paragraphs 1 through 114 are hereby re-alleged and incorporated by 

reference. 

116. Defendants, by engaging 111 the conduct described above, directly or 

indirectly, and without a registration statement in effect as to such securities: 

(a) made use of means or instruments of transportation or communication 

in interstate commerce or of the mails to sell, through the use or 

medium of a prospectus or otherwise; or 

(b) can-ied or caused to be carried through the mails or in interstate 

conuneree, by any means or instruments of transportation, secmities 

for the purpose of sale or for delivery after sale. 

117. Defendants, by engaging in the conduct described above, also directly or 

indirectly, made use of the means or instruments of transportation or communication in 

interstate commerce or of the mails to offer to sell or offer to buy through the use or 
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medium of any prospectus or otherwise securities, without a registration .statement having 

been filed as to those securities. 

118. By engaging in the foregoing conduct~ Defendants directly or indirectly, 

violated, and unless restrained and enjoined will continue to violate Sections 5(a) and 

5(c) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C.§§ 77e(a) and 77e(c)]. 

COUNT II 

INJUNCTION PURSUANT TO SEqTION 20(b )OF THE SECURITIES ACT 

(Defendants Graciarena and Loureyro) 

119. Pamgraphs 1 through 114 are re-alleged and incorporated by reference 

herein. 

120. Securities Act Section 20Cb) provides that "whenever it shall appear to the 

Conunission that any person is engaged in or is about to engage in any acts or practices 

which constitute or will constitute a violation of the provisions of this title, the 

Commission may in its c1iscretion,bring an action in district court to enjoin such acts or 

practices ... " 

121. Defendants Graciarena and Loureyro have deposited shErres of Biozoom in 

their respective brokerage accounts. Those shares do not bear a restrictive legend. 

However, no registration statement is in effect for the offer of sale of those shares. 

122. Unless restrained anel enjoined, Graciarena and Loureyro are likely to 

offer or sell their Biozoom shares to the public in violation of Section 5 of the Securities 

Act. 

26 

- 634a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:51:17 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:51:17 PM



PRAYER FORRELillF 

WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully ryquests that this Court: 

I. 

Issue fmdings of fact andconc1usions ·of law that defendants Ficicchia, Blaya; 

Hernando, De Lorenzo, Tavella, Goldm!ID, B(1gattin, and Ferrari conmiittedthe violations 

charged and alleged herein. 

II. 

Enter an order temporarily restraining and enjoining defendants Ficicchia, Blaya, 

Hernando, De Lorenzo, Tavella, Goldman, Bagattin, Ferrari, Graciarena, and Loureyro, 

their officers, agents, servants, employees, attorneys and those persons in active concert or 

participation with defendants who receive actual notice of the Order, by personal service or 

ot.herwise, and each of them from, directly or indirectly, engaging in the transactions, acts, 

practices or COUl'ses of business described above, or in conduct of similar pUl'pOlt and object, 

in violation of Sections 5(a) and S(c) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a) and 77e(c)]. 

III. 

Enter an order freezing the brokerage accounts and any assets of defendants 

Ficicchia, Blaya, Hernando, De Lorenzo, Tavella, Goldman, Bagattin, and Ferrari derived 

from the sale of Biozoom stock; and, freezing the brokerage accounts of defendants 

Graciarena and Loureyro holding Biozoom shares. 

IV. 

Enter an order requiring defendants Ficicchia; Blaya, Hernando, De Lorenzo, 

Tavella, Goldman, Bagattin, and Ferrari to return to the United States any proceeds from the 

sale of Biozoom sto.ck that have been transferred abroad and those proceeds which are 
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returned be frozen in a domestic bankduring the p~ndency of this action to preserve such 

assets for the satisfaction of disgorgement. 

V. 

Enter an Order of Permanent Injunction restraining and enjoining defendants 

Ficicchla, Blaya, Hernando, De LorenZ(), TavelIa,Goldrnan,. Bagattin, Ferrari, Graciarena, 

and Loureyro, their officers, agents, serVants, employees, attorneys and those persons in 

active concert or participation with defendants who·receive actual notice of the Order,by 

personal service or otherwise, and each of them from, directly or indirectly, engaging in the 

transactions, acts, practices or courses of business described above, or in conduct of similar 

purport and object, in violation of Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 

77e(a) and 77e(c)]. 

VI. 

Enter an Order requiring defendants Ficicchla., Blaya, Hernando, De Lorenzo, 

Tavella, Goldman, Bagattin, and Ferrari to disgorge the ill-gotten gains received as a result 

of the violations alleged herein, including prejudgment interest. 

VII. 

Issue an Order imposing upon detendants Ficicchia, Blaya, Hernando, De Lorenzo, 

Tavella, Goldman, Bagattin, ,md Ferrari appropriate civil penalties pursuant to Section 20(c1) 

of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §77t(d)]. 

VIII. 

Issue an order permanently and unconditionally barring, pursuant to Section 20(g) of 

the SecUl1ties Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t(g)], the Selling Defendants from participating in an 
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offering of penny stock as defined by Exchange Act Section 3(a)(51) [15 U.S.C. § 

78c(a)(51)] and Rule3a51-1 thereunderJ17 C.F.R. § 240.3a51-1]. 

IX ... 

Retain jurisdiction. of this action in accordance With the principles of equity and the 

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure in order to implement and carry. out the ternis of all orders 

and decrees that may be entered or to entertain any suitabk application or. motion :for 

additional relief within the jurisdiction oftlllsCourt 

X. 

Grant such other relief as this Court deems appropriate. 

Dated: July 3, 2013 

O/counsel: 

David J. Gottesman 
Patrick M. Bryan 

Antonia Chion 
Ricky Sachar 
Deborah 1. Tarasevich 
Scott M. Lowry 
Jennie B. Krasner 

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND 
EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

~~h!t~~859) < 

U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission 
100 F Street, NE 
Washington, DC 20549 
Telephone: (202) 551-4420 
SimnsonR@sec.gov 

U. S. Securities and Exchange Commission 
100 F Street, NE 
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Washington, DC 20549 
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FINRA fines Scottsdale Capital $1.5-million (U.S.) 

2017-04-1210:42 ET - Street Wire 
Also Street Wire (U-VPLM) Voip Pal.com Inc 
by Mike Caswell 
The Financial Industry Regulatory Authority has 
imposed a $1.5-million penalty on Arizona 
brokerage Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corp. and 
has permanently banned its owner, John Hurry. (All 
figures are in U.S. dollars.) FINRA found that 
Scottsdale facilitated the sale of tens of millions of 
unregistered shares in penny stocks while ignoring 
indications that insiders were behind the sales. The 
shares that it sold included those of a Vancouver
linked OTC Markets company, Voip Pal.com 
Inc. LINKED IN 
John Hurry 
The sanctions are contained in a 111-page decision 
that FINRA released on March 31, 2017. The 
decision is a loss for Mr. Hurry and for Scottsdale, 
which had claimed that it was simply the broker on 
the sales. The firm also said that it had adequate 
procedures in place to detect insider activity, and 
would not accept deposits that involved more than 
10 per cent of a company's shares. 
FINRA, however, has found that Scottsdale ignored 
many indications that it was selling shares for 
insiders in unregistered transactions. The firm 
allowed sellers to operate through nominees and 
through an entity incorporated in the Cayman 
Islands. Its way of doing business amounted to 

, "institutionalization of the misconduct," FINRA has 
found. Scottsdale's procedures only created the 
appearance of compliance. 
The sanctions stem from Scottsdale's sale of shares 
in three companies, including Voip Pal.com, in 2013 
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and 2014. According to FINRA, the sales generated 
$1.7-million in proceeds. It should have been clear 
to Scottsdale that the share transactions leading to 
those sales required some investigation, the 
decision states. Insiders (who would normally be 
subject to heightened reporting requirements) 
looked to be connected to the selling, according to 
FINRA. 
With Voip Pal.com, most of the shares were initially 
issued to an entity controlled by the company's 
former president, Vancouver resident Richard 
Kipping. (Mr. Kipping is not a respondent in FINRA's 
case, and the regulator has not made any finding 
against him.) In accepting the shares for deposit and 
subsequent sale, Scottsdale made little effort to 
determine if Mr. Kipping was an insider, FINRA says. 
The firm knew that he had been Voip Pal.com's 
president, but it did nothing to determine if he 
remained an insider. It did not obtain his resignation 
letter or even a date for his resignation, according to 
FINRA. 
Even more important, Scottsdale ignored indications 
that Mr. Kipping remained an insider through his 
ownership of more than 10 per cent of the 
company's shares, FINRA says. Documents in 
Scottsdale's possession showed that Mr. Kipping 
had received 80 million shares of Voip Pal.com in 
the two years prior to that date. That amounted to 
10.99 per cent of the company's total issued shares. 
The circumstances raised a strong suspicion that 
Voip Pal.com was "unlawfully distributing securities 
without registration in a two-step process designed 
to obscure what was actually happening and who 
was benefiting from the sales of stock," the decision 
states. 
While FINRA's decision mostly cites Mr. Hurry and 
Scottsdale for selling shares in Voip Pal.com and 
two other companies, the decision indicates that Mr. 
Hurry was engaged in other dubious dealings. In 
2013, he set up an entity in the Cayman Islands that 
he named Cayman Securities Clearing and Trading 
SECZ Ltd. According to FINRA, he formed Cayman 
Securities to act as a conduit for offshore institutions 
to deposit shares at Scottsdale for eventual sale into 
the U.S. markets. Over a seven-month period, 
Cayman Securities deposited billions of shares with 
Scottsdale, FINRA says. 
The risky nature of those dealings was exposed in 
the summer of 2014, according to the decision. The 
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission and 
criminal authorities began proceedings against 
some customers of Scottsdale and Cayman 
Securities. After those charges became public, the 
business of Cayman Securities substantially 
declined, FINRA says. 
(Included in those actions was an indictment filed in 
New York on Sept. 8, 2014, against an Oregon man 
named Bob Bandfield. Prosecutors claimed that Mr. 
Bandfield ran a massive money laundering 
operation that contributed to the manipulations of 
over 40 publicly traded companies. He set up an 
offshore system that allowed insiders of U.S. . .. .. 
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and is now serVing six years in jail. His co
defendants included West Vancouver's Gregg 
Mulholland and Kelowna's Phil Kueber. Both also 
pleaded guilty, with Mr. Mulholland receiving 12 
years in jail and Mr. Kueber awaiting sentencing.) 
Meanwhile Mr. Hurry and his wife were profiting 
substantially, according to FINRA's decision. In the 
year ended June 30, 2014, the firm paid $6.2-million 
in compensation to its directors. Since Mr. Hurry and 
his wife were the only directors, this money must 
have gone to them, FINRA says. 
While much of the decision deals with violations of 
securities rules, it also contains a few snippets that 
show Mr. Hurry's relationship with his employees 
was not always a fond one. Two of those employees 
stated that he would contact them at all times of the 
day and on weekends. If he could not reach them, 
he would start to send demanding, abrupt and 
increasingly impatient e-mails. In one e-mail, he 
wrote: "Your phone is not working TURN IT ON. I 
need a call." Another read: "Call me in 60 minutes. 
DO YOU NOT UNDERSTAND THAT?" Mr. Hurry 
also maintained a spreadsheet that detailed much of 
their activity, including the amount of time that they 
spent on cigarette breaks. 
The ban for Mr. Hurry prevents him from associating 
with any FINRA member in any capacity. In effect, 
he can no longer be a brokerage employee. FINRA 
also fined two Scottsdale employees, Timothy 
DeBlasi and Michael Cruz. They each must pay 
$50,000 and serve a two-year ban. 
Voip Pal.com remains an active company, listing an 
address in Bellevue, Wash. The stock closed at four 
cents Monday. The company was not a respondent 
in the case or in any other action. 
© 2017 Canjex Publishing Ltd. All rights reserved. 
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FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY 
OFFICE OF HEARING OFFICERS 

DEPARTMENT OF ENFORCEMENT, 

Complainant, 

v. 

SCOTTSDALE CAPITAL ADVISORS 
CORPORATION 
(CRD No. 118786), 

JOHN J. HURRY 
(CRD No. 2146449), 

TIMOTHY B. DIBLASI 
(CRD No. 4623652), 

and 

D. MICHAEL CRUZ 
(CRD No. 2450344), 

Respondents. 

Disciplinary Proceeding 
No. 2014041724601 

Hearing Officer-LOM 

AMENDED EXTENDED HEARING 
PANEL DECISION1 

June 20, 2017 

The Respondent firm violated FINRA Rule 2010 by selling securities without 
registration and without an exemption, in contravention of Section 5 of the 
Securities Act of 1933. The firm's owner, Respondent John Hurry, also 
violated Rule 2010, because he engaged in activities designed to enable the 
unlawful transactions and evade regulatory scrutiny. 

The Respondent firm and its Chief Compliance Officer, Respondent Timothy 
DiBlasi, violated NASD Rules 3010(a) and (b) and FINRA Rule 2010 by 
failing to establish and maintain a supervisory system, including written 

I The original Extended Hearing Panel Decision has been amended to correct a factual error. The amendment does 
not change the substance of the decision. 
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supervisory procedures, reasonably designed to ensure that the firm 
complied with Section 5 of the Secmities Act. 

The Respondent finn and its President, Respondent Michael Cruz, violated 
NASD Rule 3010(b) and FINRA Rule 2010 by failing to supervise and failing 
to respond appropIiately to numerous red flags indicative of unlawful 
unregistered distributions. 

The Respondent finn is fmed $1.5 million. Hurry is baned in all capacities. 
He would also be fined $100,000, but, in light of the bar, the fme is not 
imposell. DiBlasi is suspended for two years and fmed $50,000. Cruz is 
suspended for two years and fined $50,000. In addition, Respondents are 
ordered to pay costs, for which they are jointly and severally liable. 

Appearances 

For the Complainant: Jeffrey D. Pariser, Esq., Gregory R. Firehock, Esq., Laura Leigh 
Blackston, Esq., and Heather L. Freiburger, Esq., Department of Enforcement, Financial Industry 
RegulatOlY Authority. 

FOl'the Respondents: Kevin J. Harnisch, Esq., Michael J. Edney, Esq., and Ryan E. Meltzer, 
Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP. 
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DECISION 

I. INTRODUCTION 

A. The Respondent Finn 

TIle Respondent ftnn, Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corporation ("Scottsdale" or the 
"Finn"), is primarily engaged in the business of liquidating penny stocks for its customers 
without registration. The sale of securities without registration is unlawful unless an exemption 
exists. In selling securities without registration, Scottsdale usually relies on a "safe harbor" 
exemption created by the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), Rule 144. But the 
securities at issue here did not qualify for the Rule 144 exemption. Thus, the sales were 
unlawful. 

1. The Finn Relied On The Rule 144 Exemption 

SEC Rule 144 is highly detailed and technical. It both restricts some transactions and 
pennits others that meet certain conditions. It comes into play where securities have been 
acquired from the issuer or an affiliate in an umegistered private transaction. Such securities 
typically are marked with a restrictive legend, and the holder may not sell such securities in the 
public marketplace unless an exemption applies to the sale. 

In detennining whether a sale of securities is exempt from registration under Rule 144, a 
broker-dealer must conduct an inquiry that focuses primarily on identifying the individual who is 
the beneficial owner ofthe securities to be sold, analyzing that person's relationship (if any) to 
the issuer ofthe securities, investigating the circumstances ofthat person's acquisition of the 
securities, and calculating how long the person has held the securities. Rule 144 imposes 
different holding periods on affiliates and non-afftliates of an issuer before they can resell the 
issuer's securities. In some circumstances, the holder can ''tack'' his holding period to that of his 
predecessor in the chain of holders to meet the applicable holding period. 

The purpose of the Rule 144 inquiry is to ensure that the transaction is not a subterfuge 
for an issuer or its affiliates to distribute securities to the public while evading the disclosure 
requirements that accompany registration. Representations made by the parties interested in 
selling the securities must be carefully scmtinized by a broker-dealer fiml because of the 
incentive to misrepresent the circumstances and conceal the tme beneficial owners. 

2. The Finn Lacked A Basis For "Tacking" To Achieve The Require(l 
Holding Period Under SEC Rule 144 

In the transactions at issue, the purpol1ed beneficial owners claimed that neither they nor 
their predecessors were affiliates ofthe issuer. Their lack of affiliate status was critical to their 
ability to sell the shares pursuant to SEC Rule 144 because of the shol1er holding period and 
fewer restrictions on non-affiliates. 
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Even as non-affiliates, however, none of the purported beneficial owners of the shares 
that Scottsdale accepted for resale had held the shares long enough to qualify for the Rule 144 
safe harbor holding period. Each seller therefore claimed that the applicable Rule 144 holding 
period was satisfied by tacking his holding period to the holding period of a prior holder. 

In the transactions at issue, one prior holder claimed that he had forgiven a loan that he 
had made to the issuer and had exchanged the right to payment on the loan for stock. One of the 
prior holders forgave a promissory note that the issuer had used to pay him for consulting 
services. Another prior holder claimed to have extended an oral line of credit to the issuer and 
then to have accepted shares in satisfaction of a sum owed on the line of credit. A third prior 
holder forgave a portion of a promissory note e:x.1:ending an open-ended line of credit. 

Each of these prior holders received the shares around the same time that he transferred 
them. Thus, the prior holder did not actually hold the shares long enough for his successor to 
satisfy the applicable holding period by tacking, creating an impediment to resale. 

To overcome that impediment, the sellers of the securities claimed the benefit of another 
tacking provision under Rule 144. Rule 144 provides that where a ho lder of a security exchanges 
that security for another of the same issuer's securities, without any additional compensation, the 
holder may tack the holding period of the first security to the holding period of the second. The 
theory is that the exchange of one security for another of the same issuer does not change the 
nature ofthe holder's capital at risk, so the holding period for the new security can tack back to 
the date the old security was acquired. The sellers here characterized their prior holders' 
exchanges of notes for stock as exchanges of one security for another. On that basis, the sellers 
claimed that they could tack back to the inception ofthe prior holders' loans. 

Whether the first instrument in the chain was a security is thus a threshold issue. The 
Finn treated the prior holders' promissory notes and lines of credit as securities and the 
conversion ofthat debt into stock as the exchange of one security of the issuer for another 
security of the same issuer. As a result, the Finn concluded that the sellers were pennitted to tack 
their holding period all the way back to the inception of the prior holders' loans. 

The Finn elTed. The promissory notes and lines of credit were not securities. Rather, they 
were ordinary debt liabilities. Accordingly, the purported beneficial owners could not establish 
the requisite holding period, and the Rule 144 exemption did not exist. 

3. The Firm Also Failed To A(ldress Red Flags Signaling Unlawful 
Distdbutions 

The transactions at issue involved persons seeking to sell large blocks ofthinly traded, 
little-known securities acquired in a chain of private transactions originating with the issuer
generally a red flag that the SEC and FINRA have both said requires a "searching inquiry." The 
sellers acquired the shares from the prior holders and sought to resell the shares almost 
immediately. The immediate resale of a large block of stock that has never been the subject of 
registration disclosures strongly suggests an attempt to distribute securities to the public without 
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registration. In addition, there were a large number of discrepancies and suspicious 
circumstances indicating that sham transactions, false documents, and nominees were being used 
to evade the securities laws and effect unlawful securities sales without registration. TIlese red 
flags ought to have been investigated and appropriately resolved before the securities could be 
sold. 

TIle Firm, however, blinded itself to the multiple red flags signaling that the transactions 
were unlawful public distributions of securities. It did not conduct the required searching inquiry. 
It sold the securities without a reasonable basis for a Rule 144 exemption. Because ofthe 
suspicious circumstances known to the Firm, it also was not entitled to the so-called "broker's 
exemption" under Section 4(4) of the Securities Act for ordinary trading. 

B. Other Respondents 

1. John Hurry 

Scottsdale is owned indirectly by Respondent John Hun), and his wife, Justine Hurry, 
through other entities they own and control. John Hurry also owns the clearing finn that handles 
Scottsdale's business, Alpine Securities Corporation ("Alpine"), and an off-shore foreign 
financial institution ("FFI") located in the Cayman Islands, Cayman Securities Clearing and 
Trading SECZ, Ltd. ("CSCT"). 

Hun), set up CSCT in 2013 to act as a conduit through which other FFIs could deposit 
penny stocks at Scottsdale for resale in the U.S. securities market. During the relevant period, 
December 1, 2013, through June 30, 2014, CSCT deposited billions of shares of penny stocks for 
resale by Scottsdale. All the transactions at issue were routed through CSCT to Scottsdale. 

2. Timothy DiBlasi 

Respondent Timothy DiBlasi became Scottsdale's chief compliance officer ("CCO") 
shortly before the events at issue, and he remains its CCO. He maintains, however, that his 
responsibilities do not extend to the Finn's Rule 144 business. 

3. Michael Cruz 

Respondent Michael Cmz was the Finn's president, but now serves as general counsel to 
the collection of Hurry enterprises. During the relevant period, Cmz had final approval authority 
over the Rule 144 transactions at issue. In that role, he reviewed the information collected by 
others and determined whether it was sufficient to approve a deposit of stock celtificates for 
resale. Everyone at the Firm, including Henry Diekmann, who headed the Finn's Rule 144 team 
at the time ofthe transactions at issue, and who is now the Finn's president, considered Cmz 
responsible for Rule 144 compliance. 
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C. Parties To The Transactions At Issue 

This case concems Scottsdale's sales of stock issued by three little-known companies
Neuro-Hitech hIC. ("NHPI"), VoipPal.com ("VPLM"), and Orofino Gold Corp. ("ORFG"). 
CSCT deposited millions of the three issuers' shares in certificate fonn at Scottsdale for resale. 
Alpine cleared them, and Scottsdale sold them into the U.S. securities market pursuant to Rule 
144 without registration. 

In making the deposits ofNHPI, VPLM, and ORFG stock, CSCT acted on behalf of three 
other FFIs: (i) Montage Securities ("Montage"), (ii) Titan Intemational Securities ("Titan"), and 
(iii) Unicom Intemational Securities ("Unicom"). Montage was located in Panama; Titan and 
Unicom were in Belize. The FFIs, in tum, purported to act for the benefit of other entities, which 
were represented to be owned by individuals identified in documents as the beneficial owners of 
the shares. 

II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

FINRA's Department of Enforcement ("Enforcement") filed the Complaint on May 15, 
2015. After an extension of time, Respondents filed an Answer on June 26, 2015. On December 
11,2015, Respondents filed a motion for summary disposition that challenged FINRA's 
authority to bring a disciplinary action for misconduct associated with the sale of unregistered 
securities. Briefing on the motion was completed on January 29,2016. The Hearing Officer 
issued an Order on February 26,2016, denying the motion and finding that FINRA has authority 
to bring this proceeding. 

The hearing ran a total of 12 days in two sessions. The first session in Los Angeles, 
Califomia, was held June 13-24,2016. The second session in Washington, D.C. was held July 
11-12,2016. Ten witnesses testified at the hearing, including two experts.2 In addition, the full 
transcript of an on-the-record interview ("OTR") was admitted into evidence, along with more 

2 In addition to Hurl)', DiBlasi, and Cruz, the following persons testified: Henry Diekmann, the Firm's current 
president; Jay Noiman, a former Scottsdale employee who served as CCO until DiBlasi took on that responsibility; 
David Byrne, a FINRA examiner who is a manager of the AML Investigative Unit; Craig D'Mura, a former 
Scottsdale employee who worked for a couple of months at CSCI; Christopher Frankel, the current CEO of Alpine; 
Marc Menchel, Respondents' expert; and Brian Underwood, Enforcement's rebuttal expert. 

References to hearing testimony are in the following format: "Hearing Ir. (last name of witness), page of 
transcript." For example, Hurry's testimony is cited as "Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1542-43." 
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than 200 other exhibits.3 On September 9, 2016, Enforcement and Respondents each filed one 
post-hearing brief.4 

III. FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

A. Jurisdiction 

FINRA has jurisdiction to bring this proceeding against Scottsdale, Hurry, and DiBlasi 
because they are currently registered, and the Complaint charges them with misconduct 
committed while they were registered. FINRA has jurisdiction as to Cruz although he is no 
longer registered, because the Complaint was filed within two years of the time he was registered 
and it charges him with misconduct committed while he was registered.5 

B. Background 

We provide substantial background regarding Respondents and others connected to the 
transactions at issue to provide the context needed to understand the transactions, the Firm's 

3 Gregory V. Ruzicka, who worked at CSCT during the relevant period, gave an OTR on May 27,2015. The OTR 
became an exhibit. Complainant's exhibits are referred to with the prefix "cx" and an identifying number. 
Respondents' exhibits are referred to with the prefix "RX" and an identifYing number. Joint exhibits are referred to 
with the prefix "JX" and an identifYing number. Ruzicka's OTR is CX-178. 

4 References to the post-hearing briefs are as follows: Enf. PH Br. and Resp. PH Br. Respondents attached graphs 
and other materials to their post-hearing brief that were not offered or admitted into evidence. Respondents 
apparently created the graphs after the hearing based on exhibits that were admitted into the record. However, the 
graphs were not subject to any testimony explaining their creation or testing their accuracy. Respondents' post
hearing brief also contained references to website articles that were not admitted into the record. No copies of the 
articles were attached to the post-hearing brief. Respondents have not asked permission to reopen the record to 
admit any of these materials. Respondents simply refer and rely on the non-record materials. The Hearing Panel has 
not considered any of the following items (or assertions made in argument based on them) in formulating its 
decision: 

• Huperzine A in Alzheimer's Disease-website article relating to NHPI (Resp. PH Br. 5, n.9); 
• Same (Resp. PH Br. 7, n.20); 
• OTCMarkets.com website on VPLM (Resp. PH Br. 7, n.22); 
• The Markets OTCQB website article on VPLM CRespo PH Br. 7, n.23); 
• Historical price figures derived from data on OTCMarkets.com CRespo PH Br. 12, n.58); 
• A purported page from a FINRA Continuing Education Module (Resp. PH Br. 17, n.86; Appendix 

A); 
• Graphs generated by Respondents purporting to use data in JX-264 and JX-268 CRespo PH Br. 19, 

n.94; Appendix B); 
• Graphs generated by Respondents purporting to use data in JX-279 and JX-281 CRespo PH Br. 25, 

n.l29; Appendix C); 
• Graphs generated by Respondents purporting to use data in JX-308 and JX-310 CRespo PH Br. 29, 

n.155; Appendix D); and 
• Statement about trading volume attributable to CSCT's sales ofORFG (Resp. PH Br. 29, n.l56; 

statement made without reference to source of information or record citation). 

5 FINRA By-Laws, Art. IV, Section 6; Art. V, Section 4. 
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culture, and the Respondents' failure to take reasonable action in response to obvious red flags in 
connection with the transactions at issue. The background also provides infomlation important in 
assessing the witnesses' credibility, and in evaluating the Respondents' likely future compliance 
with the laws and regulations goveming Scottsdale's business. 

1. Respomlents 

a. Scottsdale 

i. The Finn's Focus On Rule 144 Business 

Scottsdale, which is located in Scottsdale, Arizona, has been a FINRA member since 
2002. 6 During the relevant period, the Film had approximately 14 to 20 emp loyees. 7 

Scottsdale's principal business is the deposit and liquidation of penny stocks for its 
customers. 8 Throughout the proceeding, the pelllly stocks sold by Scottsdale were also referred to 
as "microcap" securities.9 Scottsdale sells most of these securities without registration. The 
primary exemption that Scottsdale relies on is Rule 144, so it has a dedicated Rule 144 team to 
review deposits of stock certificates for resale, and its procedures are oriented to Rule 144.10 

Scottsdale obtains customers by advertising in OTC Markets and through refenalsY 

ii. The Firm's Direct Business With FFIs 

Prior to RutTY'S creation of CSCT in 2013, Scottsdale did business with FFls directly. 
Two ofthe FFIs involved in this case (Titan and Unicom) had pre-existing direct relationships 
with Scottsdale before they started doing business through CSCT. 12 

6 CX-1, at 3-9. 

7 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 116; Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1496. 

8 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1318; Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 83; Hearing If. (Noiman) 1180. DiBlasi acknowledged that during 
the relevant period penny stock transactions accounted for most of the Firm's revenues, and that over 95% of the 
transactions that Scottsdale executed for its customers involved penny stocks, most of them unregistered. Hearing 
If. (DiBlasi) 1923. 

9 Microcap securities may be defined as low-priced stock issued by small companies with a market capitalization of 
$300 million or less. Microcap securities are generally more volatile and less liquid than the stock of larger 
companies. Most important, because many microcap issuers do not file financial reports with the SEC, it may be 
difficult for investors to obtain information about the management, products, services, and finances of microcap 
issuers. https://www.sec.gov/investor/pubs/microcapstock.htm. Ihe SEC has expressed concern that the lack of 
publicly available information about microcap issuers can enable the spread of false information that misleads 
investors.ld. Many microcap securities trade in the "over-the-counter" ("OIC") market instead of a national 
exchange such as the New York Stock Exchange or NASDAQ. Id. 

10 Hearing If. (Cruz) 577,583; Hearing Ir. (DiBlasi) 1952-54; Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 818-19, 875-76, 884-86; 
Hearing If. (Hurry) 1600. 

11 Hearing If. (Cruz) 116. 

12 Hearing If. (Cruz) 192; Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 727, 817-18; Hearing If. (Noiman) 1140-52. 
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iii. The Finn's Disciplinary History 

Scottsdale has been disciplined previously for selling unregistered securities and having 
inadequate supervisory procedures and written supervisory procedures ("WSPs") to detect and 
prevent the sale of unregistered securities. In October 2011, the Finn settled these and other 
charges, agreeing to a censure and a total fine for all the charges of $125,000 ("2011 
Settlement"). 13 

The Finn has also settled other types of disciplinary charges against it, which are relevant 
to the sanctions detenninations. In 2009, it agreed to a censure and a $7,500 fine to settle charges 
that it had bought bonds from customers at unfair prices ("2009 AWC,,).14 In August 2012, the 
Finn settled charges that it had failed to take appropriate action after being on notice that one of 
its representatives had been using his name and CRD number in stock promotion press releases. 
TIle Film agreed to a censure and a $7,500 fine ("2012 AWC")Y In 2015, the Finn agreed to a 
censure and a fine of $10,000 to settle charges that it had submitted reports to FINRA for the 
Order Audit Trail System that were inaccurate, incomplete, or in the wrong fonnat (,'2015 
AWC,,).16 

iv. The Finn Had Notice That Sham Transactions And The 
Use Of Nominees Were A Risl{ In Its Rule 144 Business 
'Vith FFls 

(a) Four Prior SEC Disciplinary Actions 

We find that prior to the events at issue in this case, the Finn was on notice that its 
business was susceptible to sham transactions and the use of nominees to conceal the true 
beneficial owners of securities. In four disciplinary actions involving Scottsdale's own 
employees and customers, the SEC alleged that sham transactions and nominees were used in 
unlawful sales in violation of Section 5 of the Securities Act of 1933. TIlose unlawful sales in 
tum were used to facilitate fraud and manipulation. 

In December 2011, two of Scottsdale's registered representatives were named in an SEC 
complaint ("Ruettiger") involving the supposed assignment of portions of a convertible note to 
satisfy the applicable Rule 144 holding period, the use of nominees to conceal the identity ofthe 
true beneficial owners, the use of a "pump-and-dump,,17 scheme to manipulate the market for the 
stock, and an unlawful distribution of securities without registration. According to the complaint, 

13 eX-12. 

14 eX-II. 

15 eX-l3. 

16 eX-14. 

17 "Pump-and-dump" schemes involve the touting of a company's stock (typically smalL so-called "microcap" 
companies) through false and misleading statements to the marketplace. https:llwww.sec.gov/answers/ 
pumpdump.htm. 
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Scottsdale's registered representatives handled some of the accounts involved in the scheme, and 
one ofthem had an interest in an entity that received and sold some of the securities. The 
complaint alleged that a single person had used 16 Panamanian corporations to conceal his 
identity and enable him to sell approximately $6 million of stock without registration. 18 

In March 2013, the SEC filed a complaint ("Gibraltar 1') against a number of people and 
entities alleging a market manipulation scheme that was facilitated by a Scottsdale customer, 
Gibraltar. That complaint alleged that individual defendants had secretly sold shares through 
Gibraltar while simultaneously promoting the stocks and encouraging others to buy. It also 
alleged that Gibraltar had provided false affidavits and misleading statements that allowed an 
individual defendant to secretly sell shares of companies he was promoting. 19 

In April 2013, the SEC filed a second complaint against Gibraltar and its owner 
("Gibraltar 11'), alleging that they had facilitated unlawful sales of securities without registration 
through the use of nominees. According to that complaint, Gibraltar liquidated low-price, thinly 
traded stocks on behalf of its clients, often during periods of suspicious promotion. Gibraltar 
assisted its clients to incorporate international business corporations ("IBCs") and encouraged 
them to use nominee officers and directors so that their identities would remain confidential. The 
SEC charged that two persons had opened "fake nominee accounts" at Scottsdale,zo 

Gibraltar had been a direct customer of Scottsdale since before the spring of 2010, at least 
two years before the SEC filed charges against it. 21 It shut down after the filing of the two 
Gibraltar complaints, and some of its customers transferred to Titan, one of the FFIs involved in 
this case.22 

In July 2013, the SEC filed an action against ten Argentinians, four of whom had opened 
accounts at Scottsdale ("Tavella"). That complaint alleged that the defendants had submitted 
false documentation to accompany their securities deposit checklist at Scottsdale, and sold 
millions of shares into the public markets without registration in violation of Section 5. The 
defendants claimed that they had purchased their shares from fonner shareholders, but the fonner 
shareholders had already sold their shares years before. Thus, the transactions in which the 
defendants claimed that they had acquired the shares were a sham. 23 

18 SEC v. Ruettiger, No. 2:11-cv-2011 (D. Nev. filed Dec. 16,2011), available at https:llwww.SEC.gov/litigationi 
complaints/20111comp22198.pdf. 

19 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 195-99; SEC v. Carrillo Huettel, No. 13 Civ. 1735 (S.D.N.Y. filed Mar. 15,2013), available at 
https:llwww.SEC.govllitigationicomplaints/2013/comp-pr2013-39.pdf. 

20 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 185-192; SEC v. Gibraltar Global Sec., Inc., No. 13 Civ. 2575 (S.D.N.Y. filed Apr. 18,2013), 
available at https:l/www.sec.gov/litigation/complaints/2013/comp22683.pdf. 

21 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 1912-13. 

22 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 727. 

23 SECv. Tavella, No. 13-cv-4609 (S.D.N.Y. filed July 3,2013), available athttps:llwww.SEC.govllitigationi 
complaints/20 13/comp-pr2013-122.pdf. 
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These regulatory actions should have caused the Finn to take special care when dealing 
with FFIs, and to revise its procedures to focus on potential sham transactions and the use of 
nominees. The Finn did not. Its main reaction to Ruettiger was to eliminate the branch office 
involved in the case. ClUZ believed that the misconduct identified in the Gibraltar cases was 
"isolated.,,24 Scottsdale's CUlTent president, Diekmann, who was the head of the Rule 144 team 
when the Tavella complaint was filed, testified that he could not remember if the Finn conducted 
any investigation of the four Argentinians named in the Tavella complaint who had Scottsdale 
accounts. 25 In Diekmann's view it was "just impossible to know that there was somebody else 
behind this.,,26 ClUZ similarly said, "[I]1's almost impossible to detect these nominees, that 
they're going to be '" misrepresenting the-you know, the tlUe identity of these persons. ,,27 
Although the Film changed some procedures as a result of Tavella (it would not accept more 
than 9.9% of a security at anyone time from its customers and it instituted a stock watch list to 
monitor trading and promotions), Diekmann could not remember doing anything different to 
address the problem ofnominees.28 

(b) Respondents' Arguments Minimizing Significance Are 
Rejected 

In their post-hearing brief, Respondents argue that the SEC complaints are not relevant 
because they were classic pump-and-dump cases, and no charge is made here that the 
transactions at issue were part of a pump-and-dump fraud. It is not necessary, however, to prove 
that fraud occulTed in order to conclude that Respondents failed to perfOlm their gatekeeping 
duty adequately. The focus here is on Respondents' failure (i) to recognize as a threshold matter 
that the transactions lacked a legal underpinning, and (ii) to respond appropriately to an 
accumulation of red flags and suspicious circumstances, either conducting fUliher investigation 
to make sure an exemption existed or declining to sell the securities. 

Respondents also claim that references in the prior complaints to nominees were 
"peripheral. ,,29 To the contrary, the use of nominees was critical to facilitating the fraud and 
manipulation charged in those cases. We reject Respondents' attempt to blUsh aside the SEC 
complaints. 

ClUZ took a different approach at the hearing to minimizing the significance ofthe SEC 
complaints, which we also reject. He insisted on a benign definition of the tenn "nominee" to 
mean only someone designated to act on behalf of another. He declined to view the Ruettiger 
complaint as raising a concem about the use of nominees. He said, "I wasn't sure if this is a 

24 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 219. 

25 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 732-33. 

26 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 732. 

27 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 213-14. 

28 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 733-34. 

29 Resp. PH Br. 36-37. 
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situation where the-the nominees here that are being listed were purposely hiding their identity. 
It could be, but ... that just was not my takeaway when I was looking at this ... Complaint.,,3o 
When asked whether the allegation of "fake nominee entities" gave him pause, Cruz responded, 
"I have no idea what fake I mean, if it's an entity - I mean, if it - I don't know what they mean 
by 'fake. ",31 Cruz refused to admit that the complaint in Ruettiger put him on notice of the 
possibility of nominees hiding the actual true beneficial owner of securities. He testified, "I 
would say this is probably not a case that gave me a great concern about the nominee issue, per 
se .... TIlere might be a nominee issue in there. I guess I don't know the context ofthat.',32 

We find Cruz's refusal to acknowledge the plain import of the SEC's allegations in 
Ruettiger and the other complaints disingenuous. Even Respondents' expert agreed that 
Scottsdale was on notice that its customers could be nominees for beneficial owners as of the 

I . d' h' 33 re evant peno 111 t 1S case. 

(c) Later Actions Confinn Risk Of Sham Transactions And 
Nominees 

The risky nature of Scottsdale's Rule 144 business with FFIs became undeniable in the 
summer of 2014, when the SEC and criminal authorities initiated two new proceedings charging 
that certain Scottsdale customers and others had used shanl transactions and nominees to sell 
penny stocks unlawfully without registration. TIlese proceedings were brought based on 
extensive evidence gathered through the use of undercover agents, cooperating witnesses, and 
recorded conversations. TIle allegations appeared well founded, and they finally caused 
Scottsdale and CSCT to react. 

The SEC filed a complaint on July 11,2014 ("Amogear"), charging five individuals with 
using nominee accounts in FFI trading to conceal beneficial ownership and facilitate a pump
and-dump scheme. TIle SEC alleged that Titan had agreed to assist in the scheme and that 
Alpine, the clearing finn, was involved in readying shares for trading in connection with the 
scheme. hI reaction to Amogear, Scottsdale froze its FFI trading for a couple of months. 34 

On September 8, 2014, prosecutors filed an indictment in federal district court in New 
York ("Band field") that charged Titan, Unicorn, and several individuals with whom Scottsdale 
and CSCT did business with securities fraud, tax fraud, and a money-laundering conspiracy. 
TIlOse individuals included the following persons, who were also involved in the transactions at 
issue here: Cern ("Jimmy") Can at Unicorn; Kelvin Leach and Rohn Knowles at Titan; and 
Robert Bandfield and Andrew Godfrey, who purported to represent customers of Montage, 

30 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 191. 

31 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 192. 

32 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 184. 

33 Hearing Tr. (M:enchel) 2488-89. 

34 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 705-12; Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 204-08; CX-250. 
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Unicom, and Titan and appeared in cOlmection with numerous sub-accounts and sub-sub
accounts at Scottsdale. According to the indictment, Robert Bandfield claimed in a recorded 
conversation that he had created Titan and more than 5000 sham companies. hI that 
conversation, he explained how repolting requirements could be circumvented and beneficial 
ownership concealed by using nominees. 35 After the indictment was unsealed and became public, 
CSCT's business substantially diminished.36 

h. John Hurry 

Indirectly, through a trust and a holding company, John Huny and his wife, Justine 
Huny, own Scottsdale.37 From the Finn's inception in 2002 until December 2012, Respondent 
Huny was a registered representative, among other roles.38 John Hun'y again registered with the 
Finn in October 2014, and remains registered today.39 Huny admitted in his Answer to the 
Complaint that he has been the Finn's director since 2002. However, at tile hearing, he claimed 
that he first became a director of Scottsdale in January 2013. Justine Huny became its second 
director in May 2013.40 

Scottsdale has been highly profitable for Huny and his wife. According to the Annual 
Audited Report Fonn for Scottsdale during the year beginning July 1, 2013, and ending June 30, 
2014, the Finn paid $6,222,550 in directors' compensation. Since John and Justine Huny were 
the Finn's only directors, this expense presumably was paid to them. 41 The Finn paid other 

35 CX-244; CX-226; Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 224-30; Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 1725-26, 1781. 

36 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 237-38; Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1529-30. 

37 CX-l, at 7-9; CX-5; Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 81-82. 

38 CX-15, at 11. 

39 CX-15, at 4-5. 

40 CX-l, at 3-9 (showing the Finn's direct owners and directors); CX-17, at 1. In his Answer, Hurry admitted that he 
had been a director of Scottsdale since 2002. Answer ~ 16. At the hearing, however, Hurry denied that he had been a 
director of Scottsdale before January 2013. He did so despite the fact that his signature appeared over the 
designation "sole director" in a December 2012 document authorizing the creation of the Firm's Management 
Committee. At the hearing, he claimed that the designation as sole director was a typographical error and that he was 
acting president prior to January 2013, not sole director. CX-3; Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1306-09. Cruz testified as to the 
Decem ber 2012 document that Hurry had established the Firm's Management Comm ittee in his capacity as director 
of the Firm. Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 74-76. 

The conflict between the Answer and Hurry's testimony is inexplicable. We find the conflict between Hurry's 
testimony and the Firm's record of the creation of the Management Committee disturbing, because it reflects a lack 
of transparency and accountability. We find the typographical error eA-planation with regard to something as 
important as corporate authority to designate the responsibilities of senior management-particularly in a simple 
one-page document-not credible. There is no explanation for the conflict between Hurry's testimony that he was 
not a director of the Firm in December 2012 and Cruz's testimony that he was. The conflict in the evidence on this 
point diminishes Hurry's credibility. 

41 RX-42, at 7, 11. When Cruz officially became Scottsdale's president in March 2014, it was by unanimous consent 
of the Board of Directors, John and Justine Hurry. CX-4. 
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compensation of $1,665,574 and professional and consulting fees of$1,138,090. When these 
payments and other expenses were subtracted from the Film's gross profit of $11,569,817, the 
Finn reported net income of$1,446,655. Because Scottsdale is an S corporation, this income 
flowed through to the shareholders. In the ne},..'1 year, ending June 30, 2015, although the Finn 
reported only $589 in net income, the Finn paid directors' compensation of $3,255,200.42 

During the relevant period, Respondent Hurry also was the indirect owner of Scottsdale's 
clearing film, Alpine, which is located in Salt Lake City, Utah. Hurry has been its director since 
March 2011,43 and has been registered with Alpine since May 15,2015.44 

In 2013, Run'y established CSCT, the Cayman Islands broker-dealer through which the 
securities at issue were deposited at Scottsdale.45 HutTY owns CSCT,46 and, as more fully 
discussed below, he made decisions, both large and small, about how it conducted its business.47 

Despite the highly specialized nature of CSCT's business, HutTY hired Gregory Ruzicka-an 
out-of-work Califomia real estate attomey who had no prior experience in the securities broker
dealer industry, much less in the specialized business of liquidating microcap securities-to lUn 
CSCT.48 Ruzicka went down to the Cayman Islands in October 2013 to take on his CSCT 
duties.49 RutTY then monitored Ruzicka's activities almost daily, right down to his cigarette 
breaks, and visited the Cayman Islands at least monthly. 50 

Although Hun'y attempted to conceal the extent of his involvement in CSCT's business, 
he admits that he spoke with the three CSCT customers involved in this case (Montage, Titan, 
and Unicom), and that he personally visited two of them, Montage in Panama and Unicom in 
Belize.51 He claims that he did not solicit business for CSCT, but, as discussed below, that claim 
is not credible. 

42 RX-42, at 27. See also the Finn's FOeUS Reports for 2013-Q4, 2014-Q1, 2014-Q2, 2015-Q3, 20l5-Q4, and 
2016-Q-1, and the summaI)' of them created by Enforcement. CX-6 through eX-lO. 

43 eX-IS, at 3, 11; eX-18. 

44 Hearing Ir. (HUfI)') 1307. 

45 Hearing Ir. (HUfI)') 1329; Hearing Ir. (Noiman) 1117-18; eX-29. 

46 eX-l78, at 40-41. 

47 Hearing Ir. (HUfI)') 1333-35. 

48 Hearing Ir. (HUfI)') 1631; eX-178, at 13-24. Ruzicka had limited experience in the early 1980s with intrastate 
real estate limited partnership offerings. In that context, he handled post-foreclosure unlawful detainers, relief from 
automatic bankruptcy stays, and receiverships on commercial properties. eX-l78, at 15-18. 

49 eX-l78, at 20. 

50 Hearing Ir. (HUfI)') 1437-40; eX-l78, at 138-41, 151-52; eX-132; eX-133. 

51 Hearing Ir. (HUfI)') 1406-08, 1412-14, 1421-22. 
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ll1at Huny was in charge was obvious to his employees and to CSCT customers. Ruzicka 
refened to him as "the big boss.,,52 As noted below, one of the persons at Scottsdale who 
approved CSCT to become a Scottsdale customer did not even consider rejecting CSCT's 
application because he knew that HUITY had brought CSCT to the Finn.53 Similarly, Ruzicka said 
that CSCT never considered using any broker-dealer except Scottsdale because of Hun-y. 54 As 

Hurry acknowledged, customers also sought direct contact with him because he is "highest on 
the totem pole.,,55 

Respondent HUlTY thus owns and controls all three finns involved in the transactions at 
issue in this proceeding-Scottsdale, Alpine, and CSCT. In fact, the three fums were almost a 
self-contained system for processing and distributing microcap securities. CSCT did all its 
business through Scottsdale,56 and Scottsdale in tum did all its business with Alpine.57 Alpine's 
cunent CEO described Alpine as a small "boutique" clearing finn with a focus on the kind of 
business brought to it by CSCT. 58 No independent third party was involved in preparing, 
approving, or clearing the deposits of stock celtificates by CSCT at Scottsdale for resale. 

c. Timothy DiBlasi 

DiBlasi first entered the securities industry in 2002. From December 2002 through March 
2012, he was a compliance analyst at First Investors Corporation in New Jersey. DiBlasi has 
been associated with Scottsdale since April 2012. In June 2012, he became the Film's anti
money laundering chief officer ("AMLCO"). In October 2013, shortly before the events at issue, 
DiBlasi became the Film's CCO, and he remains the Finn's CCO today. Prior to joining the 
Finn, DiBlasi had limited experience in microcap securities, and he had not handled the type of 
restricted stock deposits that are the bulk of Scottsdale's business. 59 

52 CX-240; Hearing'rr. (Diekmann) 1764-65. 

53 Hearing Ir. (Noiman) 1079, 1103, 1105-06, 1117-18. See also CX-29, at 10,25 (forms to establish CSCI as a 
Scottsdale customer listed Hurry as referral or source of the business ). 

54 CX-l78, at 108. 

55 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1432. 

56 Ruzicka testified that CSCI never considered using a firm other than Scottsdale because of Hurry. CX-178, at 
108. 

57 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 143,306, 382; Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 759; Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2293. Ihe person Hurry 
hired to run CSCI, Gregory Ruzicka, described CSCI as an "adjunct" of Hurry's operations at Scottsdale. CX-l78, 
at 34. 

58 Hearing Ir. (Frankel) 2342-43. Alpine did do business with other FFls in addition to CSCI during the relevant 
period. Hearing Ir. (Frankel) 2343. 

59 Hearing Ir. (DiBlasi) 1919-21; Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 122; CX-19. 
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d. Michael Cruz 

Cruz entered the securities business in 1994, when he began working at a San Francisco 
investment banking ftnn on underwritings, asset-backed securities, and private placements. After 
approximately six years, he joined FINRA's predecessor, NASD, starting in its San Francisco 
office as a cause examiner and then moving to New York as a cycle examiner. He then took a job 
with Citigroup Smith Barney in their central risk group, reporting to the General Counsel and 
CCO. Subsequently, he moved with his family to Arizona and passed the bar there. In Arizona, 
he ftrst worked for Wells Fargo in its audit department and then took a similar position at 
Countrywide in its bank legal depatiment. He left Countrywide when Bank of America acquired 
it, and he began working at Scottsdale in May 2008.60 

Cruz has held Series 7,24, and 63 licenses. However, since January 29,2015, he has not 
been registered through Scottsdale. He currently is the general counsel for the holding companies 
that own Scottsdale and its clearing fmn, Alpine.61 

At the beginning of the relevant period, Cruz was listed on the Finn's Fonn BD as legal 
counsel and member of the Management Committee.62 Cruz officially became the Film's 
president by a board resolution dated March 17, 2014. He testifted that, at least since December 
1,2013, he had been acting as defacto president.63 The Finn amended its Fonn BD on March 
31,2014, to disclose that Cruz was the president, as well as legal counsel. 64 

During the relevant period, Cruz approved Rule 144 deposits, including the transactions 
at issue.65 Cruz signed the Deposited Securities Checklist ("Checklist") for the transactions at 
issue under the heading" 144 Compliance Approval." Between that heading and his signature is 
the statement "[B]ased on the infonnation received and reviewed as described in this Deposited 
Securities Checklist, SCA [Scottsdale] reasonably believes the subject securities are free 
trading. ,,66 

60 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 72-73,557-59,661; CX-20. 

61 Hearing Tf. (Cruz) 72-73; CX-20. 

62 CX-17, at 1. 

63 Hearing Tf. (Cruz) 78-79; CX-4. Cruz said that the original plan had been for Justine Hurry to be president of the 
Firm. Hearing Tf. (Cruz) 79. Cruz's testimony that he was the acting president in December is inconsistent with 
Hurry's testimony that he was president at that time. This conflict concerning who was in charge illustrates the 
Firm's lack of appropriate supervisory procedures that clearly delegated authority and created accountability. 

64 CX-17, at 7. 

65 Hearing Tf. (Diekmann) 693-94. 

66 RX-l, at 2, 79, 159; RX-2, at 2, 107; RX-3, at 2. 
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ClUZ acted as the conduit between senior management of the Finn and the board of 
directors, John and Justine Hun-y.67 

2. Other Key Figures At Scottsdale 

a. Henry Diekmann 

After graduating from college with a degree in history, Diekmann spent approximately a 
year as a financial trainee with Morgan Stanley. He then was an insurance salesman for four 
months. After that, he was unemployed for about a year-and-a-halfbefore he joined Scottsdale in 
March 2010 as an office assistant. In January 2011, he moved to the Finn's Rule 144 team, 
where he spent two years before being promoted to head the team. Although many members of 
the team were lawyers, Diekmann is not. He had no experience with low-priced securities or in 
clearing unregistered securities for trading before he joined Scottsdale. He was trained to review 
deposits by ClUZ and another person who worked on the Rule 144 team. 68 

During the relevant period, Diekmann focused solely on reviewing CSCT deposits. But 
he did not have authority to approve a deposit of certificates. Final approval authority rested with 
ClUZ.69 

Since January 2015, Diekmann has been the Finn's president. 7o As the Film's cun'ent 
president, Diekmann now has the authority that once belonged to ClUZ. 71 

b. Eric .Miller 

Eric Miller was a Scottsdale salesman. He called potential customers and assisted in 
conducting due diligence on new accounts.72 Miller sometimes referred clients to Ruzicka at 
CSCT.73 

Although Miller did not testify at the hearing, there is substantial evidence that he was 
involved with Unicol11's deposits. Miller had a relationship with Unicol11 because it had been 
Scottsdale's direct customer before moving its business to CSCT, and he continued to have 
contact with Unicol11 even after it started doing business with Scottsdale through CSCT, as 
Diekmann admitted. 74 

67 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 80-82. 

68 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 686-90. 

69 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 694, 886. 

70 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 685; Hearing Ir. (DiBlasi) 1954. 

71 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 129-30, 583-84; Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 685-86,694,908-09. 

72 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 116-17; Hearing Ir. (Noiman) 1075-76; CX-29, at 9. 

73 CX-l78, at 167-68. 

74 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 858, 934-35. 
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TIle fact that Miller continued to have at least some direct contact with Unic011l is 
significant for the following four reasons: 

First, the evidence regarding Miller casts doubt on the effectiveness ofthe Film's 
compliance and supervisory efforts. Diekmann claimed that Miller's direct contact with Unic011l 
was prohibited and that Miller was "written up" a number oftimes for corresponding by email 
with Unic011l. Diekmaml did not identify any written prohibition against direct contact with 
Unic011l, but he said that the prohibition was something that was a matter of business practice at 
the Firm.75 The supposed prohibition is inconsistent with the record, which contains a number of 
emails to and from Unic011l that include Miller as a sender or recipient. 76 Moreover, in some 
Unic011l emails, Diekmaml is a recipient along with Miller. 77 There is no evidence that 
Diekmann protested Miller's involvement or reprimanded him. If Miller was "written up" a 
number of times for contact with Unic011l, as Diekmann testified, it apparently had little effect. 
Diekmann's testimony regarding the supposed prohibition was not credible. 

Second, the emails indicate that Miller was a "back door" for Scottsdale in dealing with 
Unic011l. Although the Unic011l deposits supposedly came through CSCT, Miller and others at 
Scottsdale con-esponded directly with Unic011l personnel and directed Unic011l as to what needed 
to be done. 

For example, Miller engaged in e:x.iensive email correspondence with Natalie Bannister at 
Unic011l in November 2013 about setting up its account with CSCT. Miller instmcted her that the 
stock celtificates to be deposited at Scottsdale had to be made out in CSCT's name and sent by 
CSCT to Scottsdale. Bannister indicated that she did not like transfelTing ownership to CSCT, 
"especially with it not in writing." Miller insisted, "TIlese are impOltant details." He said that the 
account at Scottsdale was in CSCT's name and the "cert[tificate deposit] NEEDS to be in 
[CSCT's] name, that is all there is to it.,,78 Thus, it was Scottsdale-not CSCT-that was making 
the atTangements and instmcting the customer on what had to be done. 

Miller shepherded Unicorn's due diligence packages through CSCT. In March 2014, he 
instmcted Unic011l staff and Ruzicka to get together on the telephone to discuss which 
documents were needed and could be provided for a deposit. 79 Similarly, in May 2014, Miller 
engaged in email con-espondencedirectlywithUnic011l.sBackOfficeManager.Chinique Lewis, 
asking her about ORFG, one of the stock deposits at issue in this case. He asked her-not 
Ruzicka-how the package was coming along. Then Lewis emailed Miller-not Ruzicka-to 
ask ifthere was "[a]nything on the [ORFG] as yet?" At that point, Miller emailed her back 

75 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 1664-65. 

76 See eX-216. 

77 See CX-119. 

78 eX-270. 

7geX-171. 
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directing her to call Ruzicka and have him call Miller.80 Miller's last instruction in the 
con'espondence appears to us to reflect an awareness that Scottsdale should be seen to be dealing 
only with and through CSCT, when, in fact, Scottsdale, through Miller, was continuing to guide 
the business with Unicorn. 

In April 2014, when Diekmatm was unable to obtain the infonuationhe needed on a 
deposit of stock cettificates by Unicorn from Ruzicka at CSCT, he emailed Miller a copy of his 
request to Ruzicka, saying he had not received a response. And Miller, in tum, forwarded the 
email directly to two persons at Unicorn, Cem Can and Chinique Lewis, asking them to "please 
address this ASAP. ,,81 Diekmann denied that he had asked Miller to obtain the infotmation for 
him, but the cotTespondence has no other reasonable explanation. Diekmann's testimony in this 
regard was not credible.82 

In May 2014, Miller obtained infOlmation from Chinique Lewis at Unicorn about the 
purpOlted beneficial owner of the entity that had deposited VPLM stock through Unicorn for sale 
by Scottsdale and forwarded that to Diekmatm. The email con'espondence was included in the 
VPLM due diligence package. 83 

The degree to which Miller corresponded directly with Unicorn and managed the Unicorn 
deposits raises the question whether there was any need for CSCT at all. As discussed below in 
the credibility section, Hun'y's decision to route Scottsdale's FFI business through CSCT had 
little discernible business rationale. His implementation of that decision and staffing ofCSCT 
with Ruzicka, who was unqualified to run CSCT, coupled with the evidence of Miller's 
continuing role as a "back door" to Scottsdale, demonstrate that CSCT was a fa9ade. 

Third, we interpret certain email con'espondence between Miller and a client as 
suggesting that the Firnl assisted its clients "all the time" to conceal beneficial ownership of 
stock. Scottsdale supposedly had a policy not to accept business from Canadian citizens residing 
in Canada, but, when a client in the Bahamas asked on behalf of a friend whether a Canadian 
citizen residing in Canada could do business with Scottsdale, Miller suggested that the friend set 
up a corporation to do the business. Miller called it a "work around." The client responded, "If 
they get a corporation set up US, Panama, Belize or wherever won[']t your Compliance Watlt to 
know who is beneficial owner?" Miller responded, "Yes they will but the account holder is the 
corporation. Trust me on this one, we do it all the time.,,84 

80 CX-311, at l. 

81 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 1668-71; CX-221. 

82 CX-221; Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 1665-71. In denying that he intended for Miller to obtain the infonnation from 
Unicorn that Ruzicka had failed to supply, Diekmann testified that he had no interest whatever in whether he 
obtained the information Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 1665-71. That statement is not credible. Ifhe had no interest, 
there would have been no reason to send the email to Miller. 

83 RX-3, at 17. 

84 CX-21O; HearingTr. (Diekmann) 1672-77. 
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We are unconvinced by Diekmann's benign reading oftlus conespondence. He testified 
that he thought that the client was asking something different, "Won't your compliance know 
that a Canadian resident owns the LLC and, therefore, won't they reject the deposit or account 
opening?,,85 Diekmann's interpretation is a rewriting of the client's words. It ignores that 
Miller's implicit point was that the corporation would be identified as the account holder, not the 
Canadian owner. TIlat is why the Canadian's deposit would not be rejected. Furthermore, 
Diekmann's interpretation does not reflect the tone of Miller's comments. When Miller 
suggested that the shares could be put in the name of the corporation, he treated that as a magical 
solution to the problem, saying "and wa-la! We get it done that way. ,,86 Finally, if Diekmatm's 

interpretation of the question were cOITect, then Miller never answered the question. Miller never 
explained why the Firm would not reject the deposit if it knew that a Canadian resident owned 
the LLC. 

Fourth, according to Diekmann, after Miller left the Finn in April 2016, the Finn 
discovered that he had set up his work email to be forwarded to his personal email. 87 This means 
that Miller could have engaged in communications with FFIs like Unicorn "off the record," 
avoiding oversight. Although Dieknlann testified that all of Scottsdale's emails remained on its 
system, and were not removed by Miller, Diekmann provided no basis for knowing whether that 
was hue. Diekmann testified that the Film had asked Miller to confilm he had not removed any 
emails from the Film's system but that Miller had not responded. 88 

The inquiry suggests that the Firm in fact does not know whether Miller removed emails 
from the Film's system. TIlere was no evidence that the Fil1n employed any technical analysis of 
its systems to find out if emails or other infolmation had been deleted. There also was no 
evidence that the Finn made atly effort to recover any email conespondence that Miller might 
have had with customers using only his personal email.TIms.itis undisputed that Miller 
communicated directly with Unicorn, and it is impossible to know the number or substance of all 
those communications. 

Given the allegations against Ulucorn and Cem Can in the Bandfield indictment, the 
inability to review Miller's communications with them is a serious concern. The Finn's 
reaction-simply to ask Miller to confinn he did not remove any emails from the Scottsdale's 
system-is an inadequate response. If Miller took emails from Scottsdale's system or deleted 
them, he would hardly be likely to confess to that wrongdoing. That is particularly so where the 
emails were with persons subject to a criminal indictment and might place Miller under 
suspicion. The request to a potential wrongdoer to confirm that he committed no wrongdoing is 
almost farcical. TIle inadequacy of the Finn's response min'ors the inadequacy of its checklist 

85 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 1673. 

86 CX-21O, at 5. 

87 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 1662-63. 

88 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 1663-64. 
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approach to Rule 144 due diligence and contributes to our conclusion that stringent sanctions are 
required here. 

c. Jay Noiman 

Jay Noimanjoined Scottsdale in September 2011 and left at the end of December 2014.89 

Prior to October 2013, when DiBlasi became CCO, Noiman was the Firm's CCO. 90 He was on 
the Management Committee from approximately January 2013 through January 2014. He served 
as vice chainnan of the Management Committee and second in command after Cruz. During the 
relevant period, Noiman was the trading manager and had responsibility for supervising the 
traders and sales staff. He identified DiBlasi as his supervisor.91 

Noiman was responsible for reviewing the blotter for restricted stocks. He focused on 
FFls,92 and he approved the account opening documents for CSCT, which was an FFI. Noiman 
never considered not approving the CSCT account. He knew at the time that it was a refelTal 
from Hurry. 93 

Noiman also signed documents in the due diligence packages for the transactions in this 
case. His signature appears on the Checklist under the heading "Broker Approval." Between the 
heading and Noiman's signature was the statement that he had carefully reviewed the Checklist 
and the supporting documents and that to the best of his knowledge "any resale will be made in 
compliance with film policy and all applicable laws.,,94 By that language, the Checklist makes it 
appear that Noiman was celtifying that he believed that the transaction would comply with the 
law. 

Noiman testified, however, that his signature signified only that all the necessary forms 
were in the file-a check-the-box function. 95 The palties stipulated that Noiman's signatures on 
the documents in the three due diligence packages meant the same thing: he checked that the 
documents were filled out but did not substantively approve or review them. 96 TIlUS, Noiman's 
signature on the Checklist created only a fa<;ade of compliance and accountability. 

89 Hearing Tr. (Noiman) 1041-42. 

90 Hearing Tr. (Noiman) 1043. 

91 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 81, 564; Hearing Tr. (Noiman) 1043-44. 

92 Hearing Tr. (Noiman) 1045-46, 1049-51. 

93 Hearing Tr. (Noiman) 1139-40. 

94 RX-1, at 2; RX-2, at 2; RX-3, at 2. 

95 Hearing Tr. (Noiman) 1156-68, 1171-73. 

96 Hearing Tr. (Noiman) 1172-73. 
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During the relevant period, Noiman, like Miller, had contact with one of the FFls 
involved in this case, Titan.97 Noiman talked with Rohn Knowles of Titan at least monthly and 
sometimes weekly and engaged in email correspondence with Knowles. 98 Both Titan and 
Knowles were defendants in the Bandfield indictment. As discussed below, Noiman obtained 
infonnation directly from Knowles, which he forwarded to Cruz, to resolve a serious potential 
problem with a CSCT deposit of VPLM stock. CSCT's staffwas 110t involved. 99 Thus, Noiman 
was another "back door" to a CSCT customer, raising once again the question why CSCT even 
existed. 

3. CSCT Aml Its Key Figures 

a. Gregory V. Ruzicka 

Prior to joining CSCT, Gregory Ruzicka was a real estate attol11ey in Newport Beach, 
Califol11ia. He began his legal career advising exclusively on real estate issues and continued in 
the real estate field. He did not advise on the federal securities laws.100 Before beginning work at 
CSCT, Ruzicka had no experience with Rule 144 or any ofthe other exemptions from 
registration under the federal securities laws. 101 Nor did Ruzicka have any prior experience with 
Cayman Islands law, the Bank Secrecy Act, or anti-money laundering rules and regulations. 1 02 

Ruzicka met John Hurry in 2002 when Hurry hired him to do some work on a 
commercial real estate issue. From time to time after that, Ruzicka did work for RutTY, but none 
ofthat work involved the securities laws or HutTY's broker-dealer business.103 

Later, Ruzicka suffered a substantial financial setback that left him out of work and 
adrift. 104 At this point, Ruzicka asked Huny to give him a job at a bicycle shop that Hurry 
owned. Hurry admitted that he was "kind of taken back a little bit.,,105 Huny proposed instead 

97 Prior to the events at issue, Noiman was involved in the customer due diligence on Titan when it was a direct 
customer of Scottsdale. On January 18, 2012, Noiman signed a due diligence form as a principal of the Firm 
representing that to the best of his knowledge the information provided by Titan was true and correct. Noiman also 
signed the form as the person giving compliance approval. eX-242, at 48. 

98 Hearing Tf. (Noiman) 1185-87. Ruzicka was under the impression that Titan "had a special pipeline to 
Scottsdale." eX-I78, at 110. He spoke of a young woman as being the "private liaison for Titan." CX-I78, at 110. 

99 CX-296; CX-294; Hearing Tr. (Noiman) 1187-98. See infra at_. 

100 CX-I78, at 12-20. 

101 CX-I78, at 22-23. 

102 CX-I78, at 18-19, 22-24. 

103 CX-I78, at 25-29 

104 CX-I78, at 14-15, 19-20,30,38,54. 

105 Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1631, 1635-36. Hurry told D'Mura that Ruzicka had asked, "Would you be able to help me 
out? Is there any position or something? Could I work at your bike shop or your ice cream shop? You know, you 
don't have to pay me a lot, but at this point, I don't have anything. I have $50 in my pocket." Hearing Tr. (D'Mura) 
2262. 
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that Ruzicka go to the Cayman Islands to run Huny's operation there. According to Ruzicka, 
Huny told him that Ruzicka would be running the business and acting as HUtTy'S lawyer. 1 

06 

Ruzicka had been to the Cayman Islands once before to go scuba diving, but he was willing to 
relocate because he had been through such a hard time and wanted a "change of scenely. ,,107 

HutTY told Ruzicka that he had 30 days to read about Rule 144/°8 so Ruzicka read Rule 144, the 
Securities Act of 1933, and what he could find on the intemet aboutthe Rule 144 exemption. 109 

In mid-October 2013, Huny flew with Ruzicka in HutTy'S private plane to the Cayman 
Islands so that Ruzicka could begin work. 110 Ruzicka remained with CSCT until mid-October 
2014.111 

Diekmann testified that if CSCT had been his business, Ruzicka would not have been his 
choice to run the Cayman Islands broker-dealer. Ruzicka lacked securities experience, and he 
seemed disorganized, sending materials to Scottsdale piecemeal and failing to follow 
instructions. 112 

Ruzicka never had a securities license or registered with FINRA. Consequently, FINRA 
had no jurisdiction to compel him to testify. Ruzicka testified voluntarily at an OTR, and he 
considered testifying voluntarily at the hearing. However, after being contacted by counsel for 
Respondents, as discussed below in the credibility section, Ruzicka declined to testify. 
Consequently, Ruzicka's entire OTR was admitted into evidence. 

h. Craig D'Mura 

Craig D'Mura graduated from Arizona State University in May 2006 and shortly 
afterward began work at Vanguard Group in the retirement pmticipant services department. After 
a year and a half, he went to law school at Syracuse University. Although he finished law school, 
he never took the bar examination and did not become licensed as an attomey. He retumed to 
Phoenix and stmted a broker training program in 2010. However, he did not feel that being a 
broker was his "calling. ,,113 

D'Mura was unemployed in summer of2011. He responded to an adveltisement on 
Craigslist for an operations position at Scottsdale. In July or August 2011, after an interview with 

106 eX-l78, at 38-40. 

107 eX-l 78, at 54. 

108 eX-l 78, at 40. 

109 eX-178, at 22, 62-63. 

110 eX-l78, at37. 

111 CX-l78, at 231. 

112 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 759-61, 765. 

113 Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2246-47. 
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Justine Hun)" Scottsdale hired him. Prior to his work at Scottsdale, D'Mura was not even aware 
f I · .. . d 114 o tIe lTI1CrOCap secunties 111 ustry. 

After two or three weeks in the operations position, D'Murajoined the Rule 144team. 
His training was ongoing. By summer of2013, he was handling more complicated deposits and 
was able to review files as a principal. However, he did not review deposits by FFIs. 115 

In summer of 20 13, HullJ' began discussing with Scottsdale staff his plan to open a 
broker-dealer in the Cayman Islands, and Cruz asked D'Mura ifhe might be interested in 
working there. D'Mura began filling out the paperwork necessary if he took the position in the 
Cayman Islands, and in January 2014, he flew with Hurry in HutTY'S private airplane to the 
Cayman Islands to visit and consider a position with CSCT.116 D'Mura decided to take the 
position, retumed to Phoenix for a few days, and then went back to the Cayman Islands on 
Janual)' 28, 2014. He stayed with CSCT only about six weeks. After concluding that the situation 
was intolerable and would never improve, he left on March 14, 2014. 117 

c. CSCT 

i. Hun'Y Set Up CSCT 

In early 2013, Hurry set up CSCT in the Cayman Islands,us He became its director and 
intended to have overall management supervision of it and its business.119 Through a chain of 
entities, a HutTY family trust owns CSCT, and HullJ' and his wife serve as co-trustees of the 
trust. 120 

Hun), claimed that he set up CSCT because Alpine, his U.S. clearing finn, wanted to be 
relieved of IRS tax withholding obligations. According to Hurry, Alpine wanted to do business 
only with FFIs that had agreed with the IRS to take on tax withholding obligations, thereby 
becoming what is known as a qualified intennediary ("QI,,).121 Hun), testified that withholding 
obligations are complicated and burdensome. 122 He also testified that there are risks in getting 

114 Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2247-48. 

115 Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2248-51. 

116 Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2252-58. 

117 Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2266, 2306-09. 

118 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1329, 1333-34. 

119 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1394-95; eX-160, at 3. 

120 CX-21, at 2. 

121 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1373-74, 1552-61; Hearing Ir. (Frankel) 2345-46,2349-51. Resp. PH Br. 8. 

122 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1554-57. 

26 

- 671a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:51:17 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:51:17 PM



the paperwork wrong and incurring penalties, and that there were tax advantages to generating 
and retaining funds offshore. 123 

HutT)"s testimony was at a high level of generality, and there was no cOlToborating 
evidence to show the analysis. There was no evidence regarding how Alpine made the decision 
that it would only do business with Qls, or who made the decision. TIlere was no evidence other 
than Hurry's testimony to demonstrate that CSCT made business sense. It is unclear how the 
expense of establishing and staffing a separate offshore office was less burdensome than 
Alpine's withholding obligations, or why the same goal of eliminating Alpine's withholding 
obligation could not have been achieved less expensively by requiring the Finn's FFI customers 
to obtain QI celtification in order to do business with Scottsdale and Alpine. Moreover, since 
RutT)' ultimately bore the costs regardless of which entity had the obligation, Alpine or CSCT, 
we are not persuaded that the claimed reason for creating CSCT made sense.124 

Nor did the creation of CSCT make sense from the perspective of achieving regulatory 
compliance. As Cruz agreed, it is easier to spot problems with direct accounts than through an 
FFI like CSCT that operated as an intennediary for sub-accounts and sub-sub-accounts. 125 

HutT)"s intense involvement in CSCT's operations did not abate after he hired Ruzicka in 
October 2013 to run CSCT's day-to-day operations. RutTY located and rented office space for 
CSCT before Ruzicka began work and then continued to closely oversee the details of 
establishing and opening the office after Ruzicka arrived. Hurry obtained a floor plan from 
Ruzicka, told Ruzicka it was not correct, and asked Ruzicka to take measurements and create a 
revision. 126 RutTY provided Ruzicka with contact information for shippers to ship fumiture RutT)' 
had found for the office. 127 RutTY reviewed the proposed CSCT website design and asked about 
the costS. 128 Rurry made the final decision on hiring a bookkeeper129 and all the decisions on 

. 130 entenng contracts. 

123 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1554-57. 

124 HUnTY testified that he had allocated between $4 and $5 million for the project and had invested well over seven 
figures in CSCI. Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1552. When asked what he had taken out ofCSCI, he said "Zero." Hearing 
Ir. (Hurry) 1553. 

125 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 220. 

126 CX-48; CX-50; CX-52; CX-55; CX-75. 

127 CX-52; CX-53. 

128 CX-49; CX-84. 

129 CX-l78, at 43-44. 

130 CX-l78, at 46. 
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Hun), instructed Ruzicka on fundamental business operations, as well. For example, he 
explained to Ruzicka that he should open a separate bank account for customer funds to keep 
their funds separate from CSCT's funds. l3l 

Huny decided that CSCT should be in the Special Economic Zone within the Cayman 
Islands, and that it should apply to be exempt from regulation by the Cayman Islands Monetary 
Authority ("CIMA"). hI addition, Hun'y instructed Ruzicka to apply to the IRS for QI status. 132 

Although Ruzicka expressed concems about the obligations and representations associated with 
QI status and was reluctant to make the required representations without further study, Hurry 
. . d 1 R . k d . 133 111s1ste t Iat UZIC a 0 It. 

Hun)' detennined the fees and commissions CSCT clients would pay. He instructed 
Ruzicka to take whatever Scottsdale charged CSCT and tack on 200 basis points. 134 Hurry in tum 
obtained a discount from Scottsdale on its charges to CSCT.135 By this means, he kept the cost of 
doing business through CSCT roughly the same as doing business directly with Scottsdale. 
Otherwise, the rerouting of the FFI business through CSCT would have made no economic sense 
for the customers. However, there was no evidence that it made economic sense for HutTY to 
keep customer expenses roughly the same as they would have been working directly with 
Scottsdale when he was incurring substantial extra expenses setting up and staffing the extra 
office in the Cayman Islands. 136 

Huny was intimately involved in setting up CSCT's technical systems. Hurry made the 
an'angements for computer software for CSCT and instructed Ruzicka to download Office 2010 
for two users.137 Similarly, Hurry selected computer equipment for CSCT and brought it down to 
the Cayman Islands in mid-January 2014 at the same time that he brought D'Mura to look at 
joining CSCT. D'Mura testified that Hurry set up the office network for CSCT.138 When Ruzicka 
showed Huny the infomlation he planned to send to clients, Hurry told him he should make it 
look better and instructed him on how to do that. Hll1l'Y told Ruzicka to print to PDF and get a 
clean file to email customers. He advised Ruzicka that he could do that on his computer.139 

131 CX-83. 

132 CX-l78, at 48-53. 

133 CX-105; CX-107; CX-178, at 50-53. 

134 CX-l78, at 106-09. 

135 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 141-43; Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2294-95. 

136 Hurry and Diekmann testified that routing the FFI business through CSCI was actually a little less expensive for 
customers than dealing with Scottsdale directly. Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1642-44; Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1652-53. If 
true, that testimony further undercuts the business justification for CSCI. 

137 CX-94; Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1461. 

138 Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2263, 2266-68. 

139 CX-77; CX-78. 
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Ruzicka, by contrast, was fairly unsophisticated about technology. He was vague on even 
identifying the programs that he used at CSCT. 140 

ii. Hurry Micro-Managed CSCT's Business 

Although Hurry portrayed Ruzicka as being in charge of CSCT, 141 the evidence is 
otherwise. Hurry micro-managed CSCT, and he bullied Ruzicka and D'Mura to get them to do 
what he wanted them to do. HutTY also closely tracked CSCT's business with Scottsdale and 
with its FFI customers. 

Ruzicka considered himselfto be only an intennediary.142 Hun'y dictated what should be 
done, and Ruzicka complied. Ruzicka said with respect to Huny, "You don't discuss; you do as 
you are ordered.,,143 For example, when Ruzicka protested that he was not comfo11able with 
signing off on the QI application, HutTY responded, "Stupid, just do it." Ruzicka said that he 
"kind of dropped the subject at that point.,,144 Ruzicka signed off, despite his discomfort, because 
he knew if he did not "there is a ticket back to LA coming tomOlTow. ,,145 

Similarly, although Ruzicka thought that UniGom engaged in some suspicious trading and 
constant pressure from Cem Can at Unicom gave him the "creeps," Ruzicka did not think he had 
authority to tenninate the relationship with Unicom. Ifhe had done so without clear authority 
from Huny, he thought that would have been his last day at CSCT.146 D'Mura confinned that 
neither he nor Ruzicka could tenninate a client relationship, and, although they hated dealing 
with Cem Can at Unicom, they did not consider it an option to tum away the business. 147 

Some of the initial customers of CSCT were pre-existing customers of Scottsdale. When 
Ruzicka asked the commonsense question why the pre-existing business was going to flow 
through the new entity, Hurry told him to shut up. After that, Ruzicka just did as he was told. 148 

Ruzicka testified in his OTR, and D'Mura testified at the hearing, that HutTY barraged 
them with telephone calls while they were working at CSCT. Huny called Ruzicka almost evelY 
day, sometimes multiple times. He called D'Mura less often, probably a couple of times a week. 

140 CX-77; eX-l78, at 24-25. 

141 Hearing Ir. (Huny) 1433, 1436, 1549-50. Hurry claimed that he hired Ruzicka to fulfill an "executive role." 
Hearing Ir. (Huny) 1648. 

142 eX-l'78, at 46. 

143 eX-l78, at 51. 

144 eX-178, at 51-52. 

145 CX-22; eX-178, at 52-53. 

146 CX-l78, at 177-80, 188-89. 

147 Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2283-86. 

148 CX-178, at 79-80. 
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TIle calls could come at all hours as well. 149 Often the calls were followed by demanding, abmpt, 
and increasingly impatient emails saying "call me.,,150 In one email, Hurry wrote "Your phone is 
not working TURN IT ON. I need a call.,,151 In another he wrote, "Call me in 60 minutes. DO 
YOU NOT UNDERSTAND THAT?,,152 hI another the subject line was "pick up your 
phone!!!!!!! !,,153 

Hurry developed an Excel spreadsheet to track various aspects of CSCT's business. 
Although Hun'y characterized it in his testimony as an "empowelment tool" that enabled his 
people to track their work for themselves without his having to keep track of their progress,154 
that characterization is not consistent with the evidence. 

The spreadsheet tracked daily gross production, number of trades placed, certificate 
deposits approved, new certificate deposits received, and number of new accounts. It also tracked 
Ruzicka's start and finish times. 155 Ruzicka said that in telephone calls Hurry would even ask 
about how many cigarettes he had smoked during the day. 156 An email from Hun'y cOlToborated 
Ruzicka's testimony. hI the email, HUlTY told Ruzicka "Need all the below," including start time, 
finish time, and "number of cig breaks.,,157 HUlTY acknowledged that the email included an 
inquiry about cigarette breaks, but he claimed that he was trying to help Ruzicka get himself 
organized. He claimed to know that Ruzicka was only in the office for ten minutes in an hour, 
which meant things were not getting done. 158 

Hurry wanted the numbers prepared every day, even if he did not ask for the infomlation 
every day. Ruzicka and D'Mura prepared themselves for HUlTY'S frequent telephone calls and 
tried to have talking points and updated infonnation ready to go if Hurry should call. 159 

HUlry tracked Ruzicka's and D'Mura's contacts with CSCT customers, including the 
FFIs involved in the transactions at issue. Ruzicka testified that in their frequent telephone calls 
Huny would ask him about whether he had talked to Rohn Knowles at Titan or Cem Can at 

149 Hearing Tr. (D'Mura) 2301-02; eX-l78, at 67-73. 

150 eX-63; eX-68; eX-71; eX-74; eX-118; eX-121; eX-126; CX-l27. 

151 eX-121. 

152 eX-127. 

153 eX-118. 

154 Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1433-39. 

155 eX-131; Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1433-34. 

156 eX-l78, at 140-41. 

157 CX-133; Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1438-39. 

158 Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1438-40. 

159 eX-l78, at 140-41; Hearing Tr. (D'Mura) 2301-04; Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1436-40. 
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Unicom or other particular people from the Bahamas, Panama, or Belize.160 D'Mura testified that 
Hurry would ask about customers, not particular deposits, but he and Ruzicka did discuss with 
Hurry how they were doing on specific deposits. 161 For example, in email correspondence and 
telephone conversations, Ruzicka discussed with HutTY the amount of trading in at least two of 
the symbols at issue here, NHPI and VPLM. 162 

D'Mura decided to leave CSCT and the Cayman Islands, in part, as a result of Hurry's 
constant demands. Hurry had called on a day that Ruzicka was attending a wedding as best man 
and D'Mura was working at his rented condominium instead of the office. Hurry expressed 
aggravation that neither ofthem was in the office and spoke of "having a come to Jesus moment" 
when he arrived in the Cayman Islands in a few days. 163 D'Mura then packed his bag and said 
good-bye to Ruzicka, who expressed the wish that he could leave, too. However, Ruzicka said he 
had nowhere to go and no altemative. D'Mura left before Hurry arrived; Ruzicka stayed. 164 

Eventually, in October 2014, Ruzicka also left CSCT. Its business had dwindled in 
reaction to the SEC complaint in Amogear and the Bandfield indictment.165 According to 
Ruzicka, in October 2014 Huny offered him other positions back in the United States, but 
Ruzicka concluded that he "did not want to work any long[ er] for that man," referring to Hurry. 
Ruzicka said, "I don't care what he offered, you know. Incremental value of that last dollar just 
was not worth it.,,166 

iii. Hurry Prospected For CSCT Customers 

CSCT did not advertise167 or engage in cold-calling to try to generate business. 168 Hun'y's 
business plan was for CSCT to develop clients through contacts and refen'als,169 but Ruzicka, 
who had no prior industry experience, had no network he could cultivate for potential customers. 

160 CX-l78, at 74-77,84-85. 

161 Hearing Tr. (D'Mura) 2304-05. 

162 CX-132. 

163 Hearing Tr. (D'Mura) 2308-09. Hurry confinned that he was frustrated that Ruzicka and D'Mura were not in the 
office. Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1602-03. When people called CSCT and did not get an answer, they called Alpine trying 
to find Hurry. Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1622-23. 

164 Hearing Tr. (D'Mura) 2306-10. 

165 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 237-38. 

166 CX-178, at 232. 

167 CX-l78, at 218. In contrast, even though Scottsdale had been in business for ten years, it advertised for business. 
Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 116. 

168 Hearing Tr. (D'Mura) 2279-80. 

169 CX-160, at 3; Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1393. 
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Customers simply appeared seeking to establish a business relationship with CSCT. TIley 
were referred to CSCT by Hurry or by someone at Scottsdale or Alpine. 170 Ruzicka testified at 
his OTR that he had an "express representation" that two of the FFIs involved in this case, Titan 
and Unic0111, were referred by HutTy.l7l Ruzicka did not know how Montage ''found'' CSCT.I72 

At the hearing, HUtTY flatly contradicted Ruzicka's testimony that Hurry had referred 
Titan and Unic0111 to CSCT.173 We do not credit Hurry's testimony because he gave the 
testimony only after he knew that Ruzicka would not appear at the hearing to dispute Hurry's 
statement. To the extent that Huny means that the referral came from someone at Scottsdale, we 
do not regard that as proving that Huny was not the ultimate source of the refen'al, even if he 
made the link to CSCT through Scottsdale. Hurry had a pre-existing relationship with Titan 
while it was a direct customer of Scottsdale, 174 and he admitted talking to existing Scottsdale 
customers about his plan to establish CSCT.175 He also admitted, as discussed below, to talking 
directly to Titan and other customers even after they became CSCT customers. 

Huny admits that he had at least one face-to-face meeting with Montage in Panama 176 

and another face-to-face meeting with Unic0111 in Belize. 1
?7 He flew to Central America in 

January 2014 for these meetings, after dropping offD'Mura on his initial visit to CSCT. He did 
not take Ruzicka with him. 1 78 

At the hearing, HUtTY claimed not to recall discussing business with either Montage or 
Unicom during these visits. 179 Huny claimed that he went to Montage because Ruzicka had 
asked him to evaluate a back-office system Montage was using to see if it would be suitable for 
CSCT. Huny did not identify the nature of the system. He said that in the end they detennined 
that it was not suitable for CSCT. He did not explain why it was unsuitable.18o 

We do not find HUtTY'S testimony with respect to his visit with Montage credible. 
Ruzicka was not technologically sophisticated and was too subordinate to suggest such a thing to 

170 CX-l78, at 104,167-68. 

171 CX-l78, at 203-04. 

172 CX-178, at 203. 

173 Hearing Ir. (Huny) 1410, 1416. 

174 Hurry was listed as the registered representative and financial consultant for Iitan when it was a direct customer 
of Scottsdale. Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1413-14, 1610-12; CX-242, at 44,48. 

175 Hearing Ir. (Huny) 1401-06. 

176 Hearing Ir. (Huny) 1412-13, 1612-13. 

177 Hearing Ir. (Huny) 1406,1422, 1613-14. 

178 Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2300-01; Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1617-19. 

179 Hearing Ir. (Huny) 1406, 1618-19. 

180 Hearing Ir. (Huny) 1612-13, 1617-19. 
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Hurry. Furthelmore, D'Mura testified that he remembered no discussion of evaluating a back 
office system. 181 HutTY'S testimony was vague and lacked specificity, and, again, Hurry gave his 
testimony only after it was clear that Ruzicka would not appear at the hearing. Hurry knew he 
would not be contradicted. 

Hun-y counseled Ruzicka to do business with Montage and, in patiicular, to do business 
with a person who was not identified in Montage documents as being connected with it. Ruzicka 
testified in his OTR that he was unclear about the role of a Montage contact with whom HutTY 
spoke from time to time. When Ruzicka asked HutTY about the contact, HutTY said to him "Hey, 
that's fine, you can interface with that guy. He's pali of the operation.,,182 This evidence shows 
that Hurry knew more about Montage than Ruzicka did, and that HutTY was instructing Ruzicka 
with regard to customer dealings. 

HutTY claimed at the heat'ing that he only went to Belize to meet with Cem Can at 
Unicorn (both named defendants in the Bandfield indictment) because Ruzicka asked him to do 
so. According to Hurry, Ruzicka was trying to open the account and Can had requested a 
meeting with Hurry. Hurry said it is not uncommon for people to want to meet the owner of a 
business. 183 However, in somewhat inconsistent testimony, Hun-y testified that he did not recall 
discussing business during his visit with Unicorn.184 

HutTY's hearing testimony was impeached by his OTR. In his OTR, HutTY testified that 
Cem Can had asked him whether it would be better to do business with Scottsdale or CSCT. 
Hun-y told him that it might be quicker to go directly to Scottsdale, but there could be "holdups" 
because of potential withholding there. On the other hand, because CSCT was a QI, HutTY told 
Can the "holdup" would be eliminated.18s 

There was additional evidence that Hun-y discussed business with Unicorn. In late 
January 2014, Chinique Lewis of Unicorn sent an email to Eric Miller, Diekmann, and Ruzicka 
asking for Hutl'y to join a call on the processes and procedures to be used in connection with 
Unicorn's business with CSCT and Scottsdale. She said from "our personal face to face 
conversation with Mr. HUlTy, I am celiain he will not mind getting on a ca11.,,186 

With respect to the request to involve him on a call with Unicorn, Hun-y testified that it 
was no more than the common desire to deal with the person at the head of an organization. 187 

181 Hearing II. (D'Mura) 2300-0l. 

182 CX-178, at 123-24. 

183 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1613-14. 

184 Hearing II. (Hurry) 1406. 

185 Hearing II. (Hurry) 1407-10, 1421-22. 

186 CX-119. 

187 Hearing II. (Hurry) 1432 
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We find his explanation unconvincing. Re traveled to a potential CSCT client without taking 
Ruzicka, the designated head of CSCT, discussed that client doing business with CSCT, and was 
viewed by the client as an important participant in the client's business dealings with CSCT. 

Although he denied it, RutTY provided other leads and refelTals to Ruzicka, too. hl an 
email dated November 17, 2013, for example, RUlTY wrote to Ruzicka, "RefelTals and Leads call 
me on them." In the email, RutTY provided a couple of names and telephone numbers. One of 
those named was an "Andrew Fanner. ,,188 On November 20, 2013, Ruzicka wrote RutTY that he 
had tried to call "Andy" at the number RUlTY had given him but the call did not go through. That 
same day Run'y provided another telephone number. 189 RutTY maintained he had identified the 
people in the email to Ruzicka not as prospects or potential customers but because they knew 
FFIs.190 

Rurry revealed that, in fact, he was guiding Ruzicka's customer dealings, when he 
volunteered that Ruzicka did not in the end talk to the people RUlTY had identified in the email. 
RutTY said that he had afterward found out that they had some "issues" and had told Ruzicka, 
"Don't bother. ,,191 

D'Mura testified that while he was at CSCT RutTY and Ruzicka met with another 
potential customer, Caledonian Securities. CSCT received over 50 Caledonian deposits 
afterward. 192 

Despite this evidence that Run), was critical to developing CSCT's business, Run), 
portrayed himself as offering only slight help to Ruzicka. Re claimed that all he did was to 
recommend to Ruzicka that he get a book of intemational financial institutions and prospect for 
customers using that. 193 This testimony is not credible. Since Ruzicka and D'Mura engaged in no 
cold calling, they had no use for a book to help them prospect for customers.194 Futthennore, 
such an approach to business promotion-cold calling people out of a book-was not likely to 
be successful. RutTY would celtainly have known that, and he would not have been satisfied with 

188 CX-51. 

189 CX-62. 

190 Hearing Ir. 1401-04; CX-51. 

191 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1404. 

192 Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2295-97. D'Mura testified that he received the initial documents from Caledonian in the 
last week before he left Scottsdale and laid them out on a table to review, so he was well aware of the volume 
submitted to CSCI. Ihe Caledonian-related deposits were not passed on to Scottsdale before he left CSCI. Hearing 
Ir. (D'Mura) 2317. 

193 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1403-04. 

194 Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2279. 

34 

- 679a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:51:17 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:51:17 PM



that approach to marketing CSCT. He wanted CSCT to be successful and worked hard to make it 
195 so. 

iv. Hurry Tried To Conceal His Invohrement 'Vith CSCT 

Both Ruzicka and D'Mura had the impression that secrecy was important to Hun')'. 
Ruzicka said that Hurry "flat told me, 'I'm going to Caymans, because that way I don't have to 
give anything to anybody. ",196 D'Mura testified that when he first flew down to the Caymans 
with Hurry, Hun'y spent time discussing with him the privacy laws of the Cayman Islands. Hurry 
noted that some of them were criminal, not just civil. 197 In so doing, HutTY stressed the serious 
consequences if a person failed to comply. 

Hurry denied any particular interest in secrecy.198 Hurry's denial is not credible. We find 
that he was intensely concerned with secrecy and concealing his involvement with CSCT's 
customers and business. His concern was manifested in the following ways. 

(a) Use Of Email A(ldress That Hid His Identity 

Hurry used an email address that hid his identity. When Ruzicka started working at 
CSCT, he used as his work email addressgr@csct.ky. The address identified him by his initials, 
the fum by its initials, and the Cayman Islands location by the last two letters. Ruzicka set up a 
similaremail addressforHurry.usingHutTY·sfirstinitialandlastname:jhutTy@csct.ky.199 

HutTY had an extreme reaction to his email address. Ruzicka said that Hurry ''just 
clUcified me." Hurry told Ruzicka that the address was too long, and instlUcted Ruzicka to 
change the individual identifier to X.200 Thus, duting the relevant period Hun'y's email address at 
CSCT was x@csct.ky, which did not identify Hurry. 

At the hearing, Hurry repeated the same explanation for changing his email address. He 
testified that he wanted an address that was sh011.201 

We find HutTy'S explanation to be false. He volunteered elsewhere in his testimony that 
his main email address is JHurry@hurry.com. 202 Thus, HutTY'S main email address is constlUcted 
in the same way that Ruzicka initially constlUcted HutTY'S address at CSCT. If that consttuction 

195 Hearing Ir. (Runy) 1417-18; eX-l78, at 74-75,135-42. 

196 eX-l78, at 36. 

197 Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2259. 

198 Hearing Ir. (Runy) 1361-62, 1364-65. 

199 eX-l78, at 146-47. 

200 eX-l78, at 146-47. 

201 Hearing Ir. (Runy) 1459. 

202 Hearing Ir. (Runy) 1426. 
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was not too long for HUtTY'S main email address, then it was not too long for his CSCT address. 
Furthennore, we find that the choice of x instead of an identifier such as JH was designed to 
conceal HutTY's involvement in CSCT business and perhaps give him the possibility of denying 
that it was his address. Finally, the eAireme nature of his reaction to the initial email address
making Ruzicka feel almost "crucified"-strongly suggests that Hurry was concemed with 
something more important than having a short email address. 

(b) Assertion Of Attonley-Client Privilege 

Huny insisted on asserting the attomey-client privilege even where it was not 
appropriate. Hurry almost always marked his emails with Ruzicka as attomey-client privileged. 
He did so even when his emails simply asked Ruzicka to call him and when his emails concemed 
only floor plans and office fumiture and the like, which emails neither sought nor received nor 
reflected any legal advice. 203 In contrast, Ruzicka rarely marked his emails to Hurry as 
privileged,204 even though Hurry instructed Ruzicka that he should mark all his email 

d . 1 H 1"'1 d 205 correspon ence W1t 1 uny as attomey-c lent PIW1 ege . 

HutTY claimed at the hearing that he marked his emails privileged because Ruzicka 
advised him to use the privilege designation. 206 That claim is not credible in light of Ruzicka's 
practice of not marking his emails with Hurry as privileged. Nor is Hurry's claim consistent with 
the written record that it was Hun'y who instructed Ruzicka to use the privilege designation, not 
the other way around. We find that Hurry wanted all his cOlTespondence with Ruzicka marked 
privileged because he believed that he might be able to shield that con'espondence from future 
regulatory scrutiny or litigation discovery. Similarly, in his hearing testimony, Hurry sometimes 
used the phrase "on advice of counsel" in his answer, as though it were a talisman against more 
probing inquiry or criticism.207 

(c) A,'oiding '''litten Record 

Huny tried to avoid creating a written record. Ruzicka wrote in an email to Diekmann 
that Hun'y had directed him to take a pat1icular deposit, specifying the symbol, SVLE. Diekmann 
fOlwarded the email to HUtTY and DiBlasi. When Hurry saw the email, he ''tore'' into Ruzicka 

203 eX-48; eX-49; eX-50; eX-51; eX-52; eX-55; CX-58; eX-62; eX-63; CX-71; eX-75; eX-77; eX-78; eX-79; 
CX-83; eX-84; eX-92; eX-94; eX-107; eX-129; CX-15I. 

204 CX-53; eX-62; eX-75; eX-77; eX-79; eX-84; eX-15I. 

205 eX-53 and eX-84. 

206 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1485. 

207 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1333-35. 
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"like you wouldn't believe. ,,208 Hurry told Ruzicka something to the effect of "Never put in 
writing that I am directly involved in business decisions. ,,209 

Ruzicka said that HutTY did not want any pelmanent record of his communications.21o For 
that reason he communicated with Ruzicka primarily through FaceTime, the iPhone tool for 
video communications. HutTY called Ruzicka frequently, sometimes as many as four times in a 
day. He called early in the morning and as late as 9:30 p.m.; he called on weekends as well as 
business days. Ruzicka viewed the video calls as invasive, but Hurry told him that he used 
FaceTime because it was free?l1 Notably, emails are similarly "fioee" communications once you 
have paid the internet provider, and Hurry would have incurred no additional expense if he had 
communicated with Ruzicka by email. 

Hurry disputed Ruzicka's testimony that he did not want a written record of his 
communications with CSCT. 212 However, D'Mura confilmed that HutTY did not want a written 
record of his involvement in CSCT business. D'Mura testified that Hurry expressed to him and 
Ruzicka both specifically and generally not to send him documents. 213 

(d) Use Of FaceTime To Conceal Contacts 'With Customers 

Hurry also communicated with CSCT customers (including all three FFIs involved in this 
case) using FaceTime, thereby concealing his contacts with them. Huny would call Ruzicka at 
CSCT and ask Ruzicka to call a customer on CSCT's landline. Then Ruzicka would hold his 
iPhone next to the landline telephone so that Huny and the customer could talk Ruzicka did not 
participate in the calls, although he had to be present to hold the telephones together. This 
manner of conducting the telephone conversation would avoid a record that Hurry had talked to 
the customer. To the extent there was any record, it would appear that Hurry had only called 
CSCT. Ruzicka testified at his OTR that this happened roughly a dozen times and that HutTY had 
conversations in this manner with Rohn Knowles and Kelvin Leach at Titan, Cem Can at 
Unicorn, and an individual at Montage. 214 

In hearing testimony, D'Mura similarly described a FaceTime conference call with 
Caledonian. Caledonian was on the speaker phone in the CSCT office and Huny was on the 
iPhone. Ruzicka would hold the telephones next to each other. D'Mura remembered at least one 

208 ex-l78, at l55-6l. 

209 eX-l 78, at 161. 

210 ex-I 78, at 70. 

211 ex-l78, at 67-71. 

212 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1540. 

213 Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2300. 

214 eX-178, at 118-27. 
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other time that such a FaceTime conference happened. 215 D'Mura believed that it was Huny's 
idea to conduct the calls this way.216 

Huny does not deny that he conducted telephone calls with CSCT customers in this 
manner. However, he gives the practice an innocent explanation. He claims that he used the 
iPhone app because it cost less and because he found it difficult to do a conference call on his 
cell phone. He claimed that Ruzicka was a participant in the call, disputing Ruzicka's OTR 
testimony after he knew that Ruzicka would not appear at the hearing. 217 

We find Huny's explanation not credible. Huny generally did not conduct his business in 
such a fmgal manner. He flew back and forth to the Cayman Islands in his own private airplane, 
and flew to Panama and Belize from there to meet with Montage and Unicorn.218 He funded 
expensive offices for CSCT219 and provided Ruzicka and D'Mura with housing when they 
worked there.22o He instmcted Ruzicka to buy HutTY a seven-seat vehicle to use while he was in 
the Cayman Islands.221 He liked to tell people how rich he is.222 It is unlikely that the costs 
associated with a dozen international telephone calls would trouble him much. 

We also find HutTY'S assertion that he used FaceTime because he was too technologically 
challenged to figure out how to do a conference call on his cell phone not credible. Hun"y was 
teclmologically sophisticated enough to set up CSCT's computer network.223 He instmcted 
Ruzicka on how to use PDFs and other software, and he created an elaborate Excel 
spreadsheet. 224 When he was asked whether he was aware that his use of FaceTime to speak with 
customers would conceal his involvement in a conversation with the customers, Huny answered 
evasively, avoiding a direct yes or no. 225 

Huny testified that he started using Face Time in F ebmary 2014. 226 Coincidentally, his 
email traffic with Ruzicka and D'Mura at CSCT dropped to nearly nothing. 227 We fmd a 

215 Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2297-98. 

216 Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2302-03. 

217 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1540-42. 

218 Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2252-58,2300-01; Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1412-13, 1613-14, 1617-19. 

219 eX-I78, at 35. 

220 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1447, 1649-51; Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2265, 2316-17. 

221 eX-58. 

222 CX-I78, at 26, 70. 

223 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1461; Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2263, 2266-68; eX-94. 

224 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1433-34; eX-I78, at 24-25; eX-77; eX-131. 

225 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1541. 

226 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1540. 

227 Resp. PH Br. 45. 
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significant connection between the two events. HutTY'S purposeful use of FaceTime enabled him 
to stop creating a trail of emails. 

C. The Finn's General Practice For Reviewing Deposits 

Everything that Scottsdale knew about a deposit when the Firm concluded that it could 
sell the deposited securities pursuant to the Rule 144 exemption is contained in a due diligence 
package for the deposit.228 Generally, at the top ofthe package is a two-page Deposited 
Securities Checklist ("Checklist"). That is followed by various other documents, including a 
Beneficial Ownership Declaration signed by the purported beneficial owner of the shares 
deposited for resale by Scottsdale.229 

Scottsdale's general process for reviewing and approving a deposit of stock certificates 
was for a person on the Rule 144 team to assemble the due diligence package, working from the 
Checklist. Then, the person who had put together the file (sometimes referred to as the first 
reviewer) would go to Cruz and talk with him about it. Depending on the complexity of the 
deposit, the talk could take 15 minutes to an hour. Cruz did not review every page in the file. He 
would read through the Checklist and ask questions. He might ask to see palticular documents 
and conduct Google searches while sitting together with the initial reviewer. 230 

The Firnl heavily depended upon the representations made in the Beneficial Ownership 
Declaration for its conclusion that the purported beneficial owner was not an affiliate of the 
issuer and was the person who had the economic interest in the shares on deposit. Diekmann 
initially denied that the persons signing as beneficial owners could be lying. He testified that he 
saw no reason for them to lie, and he emphasized that the document is very clear about the 
information it requests. Only upon being pressed did he eventually agree that if someone were 
acting as a nominee for a secret beneficial owner one \vould expect them to lie.231 We find his 
testimony on this subject evasive. 

Cruz similarly focused on the fact that the Beneficial Ownership Declaration was the tool 
that the Finn used to find out who owned the shares. 232 He stressed that the Declaration was 
"unequivocal," and that the patties to the transactions understood the Finn's expectations when 
they made parallel representations regarding the person identified as the beneficial owner. 233 

When asked whether language on Unicorn's website offering to appoint nominee officers and 
directors would be a red flag to him, Cruz responded that it "could have been." He suggested that 
the way he would deal with that red flag would not be to seek independent verification. Rather, 

228 Hearing II. (Diekmann) 1916-17. 

229 10'(_1, at 1-2,11-12, 78-79,88-89, 158-59, 169-70; RX-2, at 1-2, 12-13, 106-07, 117-18; RX-3, at 1-2, 11-12. 

230 Hearing II. (Dielanann) 694-96; Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 278. 

231 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1895-96. 

232 Hearing II. (Cruz) 201-03. 

233 Hearing II. (Cruz) 202. 
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he would simply emphasize to the interested persons the importance of disclosure. He said that 
the Finn would "reiterate and make sure they understand the purpose of our fonns and ... that 
they need to - to disclose the underlying beneficial owner.,,234 

Cruz testified that during the relevant period, from December 2013 through June 30, 
2014, the Finn did not conduct a specific search for nominees. 235 Diekmann testified that he 
thought the Finn's general practice would pick up a problem with nominees, but he could not 
cite any palticular procedures that were geared to do that. He said the "procedures in sum" would 
address the nominee problem.236 Cruz confinned, however, that the tenn "nominee" appears 
nowhere in the Film's policies and procedures. 237 

Given the complexity of the analysis required, and the high potential for interested parties 
to obfuscate and make misrepresentations, we find the Finn's general process for final approval 
inadequate. A conversation that may last fifteen minutes and not involve review of all the 
documents in the file is not enough to analyze the content of the representations and understand 
whether the business transactions made sense. We also find that the Finn's reliance on the 
honesty of the interested parties filling out the fonns was unreasonable in light of the high 
potential for the use of nominees. 

We are concemed that the Fiml's general process for review and approval was so poor 
when the processing of microcap stock certificates for resale to the public was its primary 
business. We are further concemed because the transactions at issue here were typical of 
Scottsdale's business. Cruz testified that the Fum's customers typically were persons who made 
loans to issuers and then sold the loans to others who then attempted to profit by exchanging 
them for shares. TIms, the Finn's lack of a good process for review and approval was not a minor 
aspect ofthe Film's business.238 

D. Transactions 

TIle Fiml followed a check-the-box approach to its Rule 144 reviews, without evaluating 
and independently verifying the infonnation it gathered. This approach is apparent from the 
following in-depth analysis of the three NHPI deposits. The Finn followed the same approach 
with the VPLM and ORFG deposits, which we discuss in less detail. 

234 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 307-08. 

235 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 199-202,211-13; Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 908-10. 

236 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 922. 

237 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 666-67. 

238 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 352-53. 
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1. NHPI (Three Unicorn deposits deIivell from Collins promissory note) 

a. Due Diligence Package 

i. Purported Beneficial Owners 

CSCT made three NHPI deposits. They all came from Unico111, which, in tU111, purported 
to act on behalf of other supposedly independent entities: Sky Walker, Inc. ("Sky Walker"), 
Swiss National Securities ("Swiss National"), and Ireland Offshore Securities ("Ireland 
Offshore"). The beneficial owner of Sky Walker is identified on the Checklist as Patrick Gentle; 
the beneficial owner of Swiss National is identified on a separate Checklist as Talal Fanni 
(apparently a misspelling, since the person signed documents as Talal Fouani); and the beneficial 
owner of Ireland Offshore is identified on the third Checklist as Jeff Cox. 239 

Each purported beneficial owner signed a Beneficial Ownership Declaration representing 
that he was not an affiliate of the issuer, that the issuer was not to his knowledge a shell, and that 
the securities were free trading, without resale restrictions under Rule 144. The documents were 
not witnessed or notarized. No address, telephone number or other contact infonnation was given 
for the purported beneficial owner. 240 

Scottsdale did nothing to identify the purported beneficial owners more specifically. 
While it did a Google search combining the name of the beneficial owner with the words 
"securities fraud" and put the first page of the initial index of results in the due diligence 
package, it did not search for the person's name alone, or the person's name in combination with 
the name ofthe entity through which he acquired the shares, or the person's name along with the 
names of the issuer and issuer's principals. 241 

The purpose of the Google search using the name ofthe purported beneficial owner with 
the words securities fraud is unclear in light of the fact that Diekmann testified that a "hit" on 
such a search indicating that a person was engaged in some sort of securities fraud would be 
um-elated to beneficial ownership.242 That testimony demonstrates the check-the-box attitude of 
the Finn. Diekmann was insensitive to the possibility that if a person was engaged in securities 
fraud, then the representations made by that person and others connected to a deposit could be 
false. 

As discussed below, the three deposits shared the same origin. 

239 RX-l, at 1-2,11-12,78-79,88-89,158-59,169-70. 

240 RX-l, at 11-12,88-89, 169-70. 

241 RX-l, at 67, 152,223. The Finn misspelled Fouani's name when it did the Google search, illustrating its careless 
approach to conducting due diligence. RX-l, at 67. 

242 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 927. 
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ii. Prior Holder Transaction 

The Checklists for the Sky Walker, Swiss National, and Ireland Offshore deposits state 
that the issuer, NHPI, gave a $10,000 promissory note dated May 1, 2012, to someone named 
TIlomas Collins. Each NHPI depositor purports to tack back its holding period to that date and 
that note. 243 

A copy ofthe May 2012 promissory note is included with the Sky Walker and Ireland 
Offshore deposits. TIle note was due and payable no later than July 1, 2012. It provided that if 
NHPI did not pay the note by the due date, Collins would have the right to conveli the debt into 
common shares. No address or contact information is given for the company or for Collins. 
Although the note provided that Collins would have a right of conversion upon the company's 
default, it contained no provision for either party to give notice to the other in the event of a 
default. The signatures for NHPI and Collins were not witnessed or notarized.244 

According to the attorney opinion in the due diligence package, the May 2012 note was 
the company's promise to pay Collins a fee for services. 245 The unaudited financial statements in 
the due diligence package similarly indicated that the note was for consulting services. 246 

With respect to Collins' identity and possible connection to the issuer, the due diligence 
package contains a statement signed by Collins declaring that he had never been an affiliate of 
th~ issuer. Again, the statement is not witnessed or notarized, and no contact infonnation is 
provided. 247 

TIle issuer did provide the stock transfer agent with an address for Collins when it 
instmcted the transfer agent to issue new unrestricted shares to him, as reflected in the 
instmctions to the transfer agent, which are in the due diligence package. Collins had a Texas 
address. 248 Also in the due diligence package is the transfer agent's list of shareholders, which 
showed that all active shareholders ofNHPI had U.S. addresses?49 

Scottsdale did not mn a Google search on Collins using the address contained in the due 
diligence package. Nor did it search to see whether Collins had any links to the other persons on 
the NHPI shareholder list. Rather, it ran a Google search linking Collins' name to the words 
"securities fraud." Apparently, a person named Thomas Collins had been involved in a securities 
fraud, but the Fiml obtained an SEC litigation release indicating that that person had died prior to 

243 RX-l, at 1, 78,158. 

244 RX-l, at 106, 183. 

245 RX-l, at 22, 101, 178. 

246RX_l, at 40, 122, 198. 

247 RX-l, at 25. 

248 RX-l, at 31. 

249 RX-l, at 37. 
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1997. The Finn never detennined the identity of the particular Thomas Collins involved in the 
NHPI deposits. 250 

iii. Acquisition Of Shares By Depositors 

Collins gave Sky Walker, Swiss National, and Ireland Offshore each a separate $50,000 
note dated September 1, 2013. The notes were to be paid in full by November 7,2013. The notes 
specified that in the event of a default the entire sum would become due.251 Each note was 
ostensibly secured by a Stock Pledge Agreement pledging 20 million shares ofNHPI,252 which, 
at the time, Collins did not own. These notes, like the note between Collins and NHPI, contain 
no address or contact infolmation for any party and no provision for either party to give notice to 
the other in the event of a default. They are neither witnessed nor notarized. 253 

The next items in the chronology are three Note Satisfaction Agreements dated 
September 16, 2013. These three identical Agreements indicate that Collins had already 
defaulted on the $50,000 note, although the due date was not until November 7,2013. Each 
depositor declared a desire to take title to the NHPI shares described in the pledge agreement. 254 
The Securities Deposit Pre-Review Request Unicorn submitted for Swiss National likewise gives 
September 16, 2013, as the date of acquisition, refen-ing to the Note Satisfaction Agreement, 255 
as does the Deposited Securities Request FOlm submitted for Ireland Offshore. 256 

On November 15,2013, more than a year after the due date for the May 2012 note, the 
issuer and Collins purpOltedly entered into a note conversion agreement whereby Collins agreed 
to forgive 90% of the note in retUl11 for 90 million shares ofNHPI. 257 The Note Conversion 
Agreement included in the due diligence package, like the May 2012 promissory note, contains 
no address or contact infonnation for the company or for Collins and is not witnessed or 
notarized. The Note Conversion Agreement does not explain why the conversion occurred so 

250RX_1, at 57-58. 

251 RX-1, at 32, 112, 190. 

252 RX-1, at 113-16, 191-94. 

253 RX-1, at 32, 112, 190. 

254RX_1, at33, 117, 195. 

255 RX-1, at 13. 

256 RX-1, at 161. Other documents give conflicting, later dates as the acquisition date. Some documents represent 
that the three depositors acquired the securities on November 25, 2013, pursuant to a Stock Purchase Agreement. 
RX-1, at 11, 19,88,98, 169. However, the due diligence package for NHPI contains no Stock Purchase Agreement. 
Another document says that the acquisition date was November 15, 2013, the same date that Collins entered into the 
Note Conversion Agreement and the shares were issued to him. RX-1, at 8l. The Firm did not resolve the 
discrepancy between the September acquisition date and the November acquisition dates before selling the 
securities. 

257RX_1, at 1,78,158. 
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long after the default or how the remaining unpaid 10% of the May 2012 promissory note was to 
be treated. 258 

NHPI issued the 90 million shares to Collins on November 15,2013, the same day as the 
. 259 note conversiOn agreement. 

Although the exact date that Collins assigned the shares to the three beneficial owners is 
not clear, it was at most a few days after NHPI issued the shares to Collins. l1ms, the transaction 
between the issuer and Collins, the issuance ofthe stock, and the transactions between Collins 
and the three purported beneficial owner entities all happened almost simultaneously. 

Although the transactions happened almost simultaneously, the value given to the shares 
differed substantially. There is no evidence of a corporate event or other explanation for the 
variance. In retulll for forgiving a debt of $9,000, Collins obtained 90 million shares, but each 
beneficial owner entity forgave a debt of $50,000 for its 20 million shares. No money actually 
changed hands in these transactions. 

iv. Issuer Filings 

Although NHPI had once been a repOlting company with the SEC, it stopped being a 
repolting company in 2009. After that it made less frequent and less regular filings on OTC 
Markets. 26o On November 20, 2013, a few days after the NHPI shares were issued and around 
the time that Sky Walker, Swiss National, and Ireland Offshore acquired the shares, the issuer 
filed an annual report for the year ending December 31,2012.261 In the November 20,2013 
report, NHPI mainly discussed its phmmaceutical business mId then stated in a single sentence 
that it had entered into the oil and gas business. It declared that fmther disclosure related to the 
oil mId gas business was in an Interim Infonnation and Disclosure Statement for the period 
ended November 20, 20 13?62 

In the annual report filed on November 20, 2013, notes to unaudited financial statements 
declared that NHPI had given Collins a promissory note for unspecified consulting services.263 

Scottsdale relied upon this disclosure to verify the existence ofthe May 1, 2012 promissolY note, 
which was critical to the ability of the beneficial owners to sell the securities without registration. 

258 RX-1, at 26-28, 106-09, 184-86. 

259 RX-1, at 29. 

260 Hearing Ir. (Byrne) 2069-75; CX-255; CX-256; CX-260; CX-261; RX-1, at 130. 

261 CX-256. Diekmann testified that it appeared that the company had had a gap in its reporting prior to its 
November 2013 filing. Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 939. However, he did not believe that such a gap would be 
suspicious, even if it were as long as two-and-a-halfyears. Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1011-13. 

262 CX-256, at 4. One page from the Interim Information and Disclosure Statement was in the due diligence package 
for the NHPI deposits. But that page did not contain the disclosure relating to the oil and gas business. RX-1 at 39. 

263 RX-1, at 40. 
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TIle only evidence that the note existed, however, was created about the same time as the 
transactions leading up to the sale of securities into the public markets. 

In order to detelmine that NHPI was not a shell, Scottsdale relied on the representation by 
the president ofNHPI that it was not a shell.264 It also relied on descriptions of the company's 
assets and liabilities in unaudited financial statements contained in the alillual repoli filed in 
November 2013 and in a quarterly report filed about the same time to cover the period ending 
June 30, 2012. However, those descriptions were vague; they showed mostly unspecific cash 
assets, not physical assets. In the annual repoli, for example, the company repolied that it had 
less than $28,000 in a checking account, accounts receivable over $600,000, unspecified 
inventory over $70,000, and investment assets over $750,000. TIle financial statements also 
show that the issuer had incurred some expenses. The fmancial statements do not provide, 
however, any indication ofthe nature of the expenses or the business activities that supposedly 
gave rise to them. The issuer disclosed no verifiable facts. 265 

The company's public filings created a significant discrepancy between the disclosure in 
those filings and the NHPI deposits. TIle interim financial report for the period ending November 
20,2013, states that 981,408,909 shares were outstanding, of which 970,326,182 were 
restricted.266 That means that only around 11 million shares were free-trading shares. But the 
three depositors deposited 60 million for resale to the pUblic. There is no evidence that the Film 
investigated this discrepancy. 

v. Attorney Opinion Letter 

The Finn relied upon an att0111ey opinion letter stating that the shares could be issued as 
free trading shares and sold pursuant to Rule 144. However, that opinion made plain that the 
att0111ey relied on certifications by the principal officers ofNHPI. The att0111ey assumed that all 
signatures were genuine and the facts set forth in the certificates were con"ect.267 TIle att0111ey 
relied on the company's filings for his conclusion that the company was actively marketing its 
phannaceutical products and exploring one or more strategic alliances and licensing 
atTangements. 268 Similarly, the att0111ey relied on company filings as showing that NHPI was 
actively pursuing the acquisition of mineral rights leases.269 TIle att0111ey did not independently 
verify the facts in his opinion letter. 

264 RX-l, at 24. 

265 RX-l, at 38-40. 

266 RX-l, at 43. 

267 RX-l, at 20. 

268 RX-l, at 21. 

269 RX-l, at 21. 
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vi. Scottsdale Approval Ami Sales 

During the first week of February 2014, Noiman and Cruz approved the first NHPI 
deposit, Sky Walker, for resale by Scottsdale. At the time, the 20 million shares were given an 
estimated value of $268,000?70 Noiman and Cruz approved the Swiss National NHPI deposit on 
April 9, 2014, which was given a value of $98,000.271 They approved the heland Offshore NHPI 
deposit at the end of April 2014 with a given value of $82,000. 272 

Sales ofNHPI shares began on February 26,2014, and continued through May 7,2014. 
Periodically, Scottsdale would wire out the proceeds of the sales ofNHPI mId other securities in 
the CSCT account. 273 As with all transactions conducted with CSCT and its customers, after 
Scottsdale wired the proceeds of the sales to CSCT's bank account, Scottsdale did not know 
where the funds flowed after that. 274 Thus, it did not know who received the economic benefit. 

vii. Promotional Activity 

In December 2013, not long after the series of transactions by which the purported 
beneficial owners acquired their shares ofNHPI, there was promotional activity regarding NHPI, 
as reflected in the due diligence file for the NHPI deposits. Diekmmm testified that he would 
have looked at the promotional activity but he did not recall doing so. He asserted that 
promotional activity was not necessarily a red flag, but that he might try to see if there was a link 
to the customer. He acknowledged, however, that it would be difficult to know if a customer was 
behind the promotion if a nominee were being used?75 

In February and Mm"ch 2014, there also was promotional activity regarding NHPI. 276 In a 
February 19,2014 email, Ruzicka wrote to Diekmann that Unicol1l was particularly eager to 
trade NHPI. Diekmann did not remember the email, and did not think it particulm'ly remarkable. 
He said that no customer wants "to miss an 0ppol1unity to trade. ,,277 Scottsdale sold NHPI shares 
deposited by CSCT during February and Mm'ch 2014, when the promotional activity was 

• 278 ongolllg. 

270 RX-l, at 78-79 (Sky Walker). 

271 RX-l, at 1-2. 

272 RX-l, at 158-59. 

273 JX-268. 

274 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 661-62. 

275 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1014-16; RX-l, at 132-33; CX-262, at 6. 

276 CX-262, at 2-5; CX-263. 

277 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1016-18. 

278 JX-268. 
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h. Red Flags Signifying A Scheme To Evade The Secmities Laws 

Even aside from the fact that the May 2012 promissory note was not a security, as 
discussed below, the circumstances ofthe three NHPI deposits raised a number of red flags 
signaling that the transactions were likely sham transactions using nominees to conceal the 
identity of the persons actually benefiting from the sale of securities. Some, but not all, of the red 
flags are listed below. 

First, Collins and NHPI entered the agreement to convert the note he held from the 
company to shares-and NHPI issued the shares-almost simultaneously with his execution of 
three separate agreements to transfer a portion of those shares to Sky Walker, Swiss National, 
and Ireland Offshore. The almost simultaneous transactions are compelling evidence that the 
parties were not truly independent. The suspect nature of the transactions is heightened by the 
identical terms of the notes to Sky Walker, Swiss National, and Ireland Offshore. 

Respondents attempted to rebut any suspicion arising from the timing and identical tenns 
of the Sky Walker, Swiss National, and Ireland Offshore transactions. Diekmann testified that he 
assumed that one person had put together the loan transactions for Collins, and that was why the 
three entities had agreed with Collins to the same loan terms. He acknowledged that he did not 
know who that person might be, but he did not think it was a red flag that Sky Walker, Swiss 
National, and Ireland Offshore agreed to the same tenns or that the same documents were used 
for the three loan transactions. 279 We find that Diekmann's unverified hypothesis did not excuse 
the failure to investigate this red flag. 

Second, Collins entered into the agreement with the three depositors, along with the 
agreement pledging NHPI shares as security, before he actually had any shares. However, he 
represented in the pledge agreement that he held title to them already. It should have been a 
concem that Collins apparently misrepresented his ownership. It also is suspicious that the 
depositors would loan him $50,000 each without verifying that he owned the shares. It is even 
more suspicious that Collins would take on a $150,000 obligation without knowing whether he 
could obtain the shares. The facts suppol1 the conclusion that Collins entered into the agreement 
with the depositors because he (or whoever was pretending to be Collins) was affiliated with the 
issuer and knew that the shares could be obtained. Fut1her investigation was required before 
proceeding to sell the securities. 

Thi I'd, the documents relating to the NHPI transactions in 2012 lack impol1ant elements 
that would pennit verification. For exanlple, the 2012 Collins-NHPI promissory note bears no 
physical address, telephone number, or other contact infonnation for Collins or NHPI. Similarly, 
the documents relating to the loan notes Collins gave the three depositors do not include any 
contact infonnation for Collins or for the depositors. The lack of contact infOlmation is odd 
because there is no provision for where and how payment should be made. It is almost as though 
there is no expectation of payment. 

279 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1699-1700. 
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Fourth, the obviously impossible September date declaring Collins in default on the notes 
held by the depositors-even before the notes became due on November 7, 20 13-should have 
been investigated. TIle fact that the identical mistake was made in three separate documents 
supposedly involving independent parties is suspicious. Ifthe patties were independent, one 
would have expected someone to notice the mistake. That is patiicularly so where the en"or was 
not a transposition of numbers but, rather, an inconect month. The enor would have been easier 
to spot. 

Diekmann testified that the September 16, 2013 date on the note satisfaction agreement 
had to be a typographical error. "hl all likelihood," he said, ''that's supposed to read November 
16, 2013. ,,280 When asked about the fact that the same en"or appears in all three note satisfaction 
agreements signed by Sky Walker, Swiss National, and Ireland Offshore, Diekmann said that 
was not surprising. He noted that the agreements were all executed the same day, and 
hypothesized that someone must have done a search and replace function to change the words 
without noticing the mistake. 281 Cruz similarly explained the date as a typographical enor. He 
testified that even though the same mistake occun"ed in connection with the documentation for 
three purportedly separate tratlsactions it gave him no pause.282 

Between hearing days, Respondents obtained a copy ofthe relevant stock celiificate, 
which was then introduced into evidence. It showed a transfer date of November 21,2013. They 
argue that this proves that the September date was a typographical enor. 283 

Respondents miss the point. Nothing in the due diligence package shows that the Finn 
noticed or investigated the discrepancy before selling the securities. Furthennore, if the 
September date was a typographical error generated by a search and replace function in 
documents governing supposedly independent transactions, that only increases the appearance of 
coordination among the patiies to those transactions. 

Fifth, Diekmann admitted that there was no evidence contemporaneous with the May 
2012 note to show that the note existed. 284 TIle only evidence that the 2012 promissory note from 
NHPI to Collins existed was created after Collins purported to conveli the note to NHPI shat"es. 
Rather than confilming the existence of the note, the timing of the late filing suggests the 
fabrication of false evidence to suppOli the tacking period necessary for the exemption. 

Sixth, it is peculiar that Collins did not enforce his right to conversion ofthe shares at the 
time ifNHPI defaulted in July 2012 on the $10,000 promissory note. There is no explanation 
why he would have waited more than a yeat"-until November 20 13-to do so. 

280 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 949, 1835-37. 

281 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 949-52, 956. 

282 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 365-66, 390-98. 

283 RX-115; Resp. PH Br. 15. 

284 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 939. 
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Seventh, there were signs that NHPI was a shell. The change from being in the 
phannaceutical business to entering the oil and gas business, without any explanation for why, 
when, and how it had done so, was not consistent with a real business plan. TIle Firnl collected 
no infonnation regarding the change in business, and the attorney opinion letter, which relied on 
representations by the interested parties and assumed the asselted facts to be true, was not a 
sufficient basis for concluding that NHPI was not a shell. 

Respondents maintained that the oil and gas business was added to NHPI's 
phannaceutical business as a "supplement" to its business line.285 We reject this characterization. 
These were radically different businesses that involved different expeltise and different business 
models. 

Eighth, the transactions have an air of fantasy. Collins supposedly took the $10,000 note 
in exchange for unspecified consulting services-no money changed hands. And then he took 
shares in return for forgiving the note-no money changed hands. When Collins supposedly 
borrowed $50,000 each from Sky Walker, Swiss National, and Ireland Offshore, nothing in the 
documents provided how, when, or where he would receive the money. There is no evidence that 
any money changed hands then either. Collins merely entered into a promissory note with each 
pUl-polted lender in which he pledged to give them stock if he defaulted; and then he defaulted. 
No money changed hands when Sky Walker, Swiss National, and Ireland Offshore took the 
pledged shares. 286 

Ninth, there is little evidence to support the value given to the NHPI securities. Within 
the span of a few months the value ofNHPI shares varied substantially without any explanation. 
In November 2013, Collins received 90 million shares in retum for forgiving $9,000 of his loan 
to NHPI. Simultaneously, he realized $150,000 for 60 million ofthose shares. By early February 
2014, the 20 million shares in the Sky Walker deposit were estimated to have a value of 
$268,000. l1lere is no evidence of a basis for the increase in value. Then, in April 2014 the value 
of the shares held by Swiss National and Ireland Offshore declined to less than $100,000-again, 
without explanation. TIlis is palticularly suspicious in light ofthe promotional activity that 
occurred in February and March 2014. 

285 Resp. PH Br. 16 and n.80. 

286 Diekmann testified that the only evidence the Firm had that the September 1, 2013 notes between Collins and the 
three depositors existed was the notes themselves. He never asked for documentation showing that $50,000 actually 
was transferred from Sky Walker to Collins. He was satisfied that the document looked like a loan to an individual 
and not an effort by a small company to raise capital. Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 943-45. 
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2. VPLM (Montage deposit deIived from l(ipping oral line of credit) 

a. Due Diligence Package 

i. PUlllortell Beneficial Owner 

TIlere was evidence in the record about two VPLM deposits by CSCT. TIle one included 
in the allegations ofthe Complaint was through Montage for the fmiher benefit ofVHB 
Intemational. The Checklist identifies Victor Bretel as the president of VHB Intemational. The 
deposit was for 9.3 million shares.287 

ii. PIior Holder Transaction 

In the Montage deposit, the prior holder in the VPLM chain was an entity called 
Locksmith Financial. The Checklist noted that Locksmith Financial was affiliated with Richard 
Kipping, who was the former president of VPLM. The Checklist stated, however, that Kipping 
was no longer an affiliate ofthe issuer because he had resigned more than two years earlier. 288 

In concluding that Kipping was not an affiliate, the Checklist relied on an attomey 
opinion dated September 6, 2013, stating that Kipping had resigned more than two years 
before.289 As discussed below, that attomey opinion was insufficient to suppoti the conclusion 
that Kipping was no longer an affiliate of VPLM. Cruz testified at the hearing that the Firm also 
relied on a December 16, 2013 letter signed by VPLM's Chairman, Thomas Sawyer, which 
made a representation that Locksmith was not an affiliate of the issuer.290 The Sawyer letter 
declared that the patiies to the sale of securities from Locksmith to VHB Intemational (discussed 
below) were not affiliates of the issuer. 291 

TIle Checklist for the VPLM deposit indicated that the depositor had satisfied the Rule 
144 holding period by tacking back to a ''verbal [oral] line of credit" whereby the prior holder, 
Locksmith, had loaned the issuer, VPLM, $58,636.24. TIle Checklist stated that the last advance 
on the line of credit was made July 6,2012.292 

An August 15,2013 written agreement purported to document and formalize the oral line 
of credit. According to the 2013 document, Locksmith agreed in 2012 to advance funds as loans 

287 RX-2, at l. 

288 RX-2, at 1, 268. 

289 RX-2, at 1, 19-21. 

290 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 44l. 

291 RX-2, at 23-24. 

292 RX-2, at 1. 
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against a revolving line of credit and had received the right to demand payment in full or in part 
. 293 at any tune. 

On the same day, August 15,2013, a debt settlement agreement was executed between 
the issuer and Locksmith. In that document, the issuer indicated that it wanted to settle the 
amount it owed Locksmith by giving stock to Locksmith. The parties agreed to settle the 
company's $58,636.24 debt as of July 31,2012.294 

Although VPLM did not issue the shares to Locksmith until September 2013,295 the 
Beneficial Ownership Declaration later signed by Bretel treated the date on which Locksmith 
acquired the shares as August 1, 2012. 296 The depositor thus relied on tacking his holding period 
to Locksmith's oral line of credit. 

iii. Acquisition Of Shares By Depositor 

On August 23,2013, Locksmith entered into a stock purchase agreement with VHB 
Intemational. It was roughly a week after Locksmith had memorialized the purported oral line of 
credit and before the shares were actually issued. The aggregate purchase price for the stock was 
$240,000.297 There is no evidence explaining why Locksmith was able to sell the shares for more 
than four times the value placed on the shares when Locksmith and the issuer entered into the 
debt settlement agreement only days before. 298 The buyer, VHB Intemational, purported to 
acquire the shares for investment and not with a view to resale or distribution. 299 

Although Victor Bretel was identified as the beneficial owner of VHB Intemational, 
Andrew Godfrey signed the Stock Purchase Agreement.30o The Finn made an inquiry, and 
Montage responded that Godfrey "handles day to day operations due to Mr. Victor Bretel' s 
travel schedule." Montage represented that Bretel remained the beneficial owner of VHB 
Intemational. 301 Diekmann testified that the response was, as far as he was concemed, 
sufficient.302 

293 RX-2, at 26-27. 

294 RX-2, at 28. 

295 RX-2, at 12. 

296 RX-2, at 13. 

297 RX-2, at 33. 

298 RX-2, at 32. 

299 RX-2, at 35. 

300 RX-2, at 37. 

301 RX-2, at 38. 

302 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1744-45. 
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iv. Issuer Filings 

TIle Finn relied on public filings for proof ofthe existence of the oral line of credit. The 
Finn characterized the oral line of credit as "generally disclosed" in the issuer's annual report for 
September 30,2012.303 The annual repoli for the period ending September 30,2013, which was 
only published on November 6, 20 13-after the oral line of credit had been memorialized in 
writing-attached a grid showing that the issuer had settled many of its debts and payments for 
professional services by issuing VPLM stock. According to the grid, on August 15, 2013, VPLM 
issued a little over 29.3 million shares to Locksmith Financial as a debt settlement. 304 

The grid actually raised more red flags. It showed that the company regularly followed a 
practice of compensating affiliates and others with stock. During the period from October 12, 
2011, tlu'ough August 15, 2013, VPLM issued shares to Locksmith three times and shares to 
Locksmith's owner, the fonner president of VPLM, Richard Kipping twice. TIms, during the 
two-year period, Kipping received, either directly or tln'ough Locksmith, roughly 80 million 
shares of VPLM. In fact, according to the grid, during the same period the company issued more 
than 185 million shares to various persons and entities, including Demlis Chang, the issuer's 
president, TIlomas Sawyer, its Chairnlan and CEO, and Carl Mattera, an authorized signatory for 
the issuer. 305 

Curiously, in May 2013 VHB International received directly from the issuer 
approximately 2.4 million shares of VPLM. This was only a few months before it received the 29 
million shares from Locksmith Financial. 306 TIlat VHB had already received shares directly from 
the issuer raised a red flag that it might be an affiliate or might be coordinating its acquisition 
and resales of shares with others who were affiliates. TIlere is no evidence that Scottsdale took 
note of that red flag. 

v. Scottsdale Approval And Sales 

On Febmary 10,2014, Noiman and Cmz approved the VPLM shares deposited by VHB 
International for sale to the public.307 Sales began on Febmary 20,2014, and continued through 
June 5, 2014. Periodically, Scottsdale wired out the proceeds from those and other sales for the 
account of CSCT. 308 

303 RX-2, at 1. 

304 RX-2, at 40. 

305 RX-2, at 40 (excluding an additional 265 million shares issued to consummate an acquisition of another 
company). 

306 RX-2, at 40. 

307 RX-2, at 2. 

308 JX-281. 
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h. Red Flags Signifying A Scheme To Evade The Securities Laws 

A number of red flags were raised by this VPLM deposit. Here we discuss two that 
required the Finn to conduct fmther inquiry to establish that an exemption existed. 

First, the Finn knew that Kipping had been an affiliate of the issuer at some point. This 
red flag required heightened scrutiny of the transaction. The Film failed, however, to gather 
sufficient evidence to conclude that Kipping was no longer an affiliate. 

There is no copy of a resignation letter in the due diligence package. Scottsdale did not 
even have a specific resignation date. It had a vague statement in a legal opinion that Kipping 
had resigned from the issuer over two years before. The attomey declared that she had reviewed 
documents filed with the SEC and had detelmined that Locksmith was not an affiliate or control 
person of the issuer, but she did not specify the documents she reviewed or explain how she 
anived at her conclusion. She did not say she had seen the resignation letter. The attomey further 
stated that Locksmith and Kipping had represented to her that they were not controlled by any of 
the officers or directors of the issuer. In making that statement, the attomey was little more than 
a conduit for representations by the interested palties.309 Diekmann was unaware of anything that 
anyone at Scottsdale did to confinn that Kipping no longer had any duties as president of the 
issuer.31o 

Cruz vaguely testified that he thought the Finn had some SOlt of resignation or 
acknowledgement of Kipping's resignation in the file. 311 Cruz may have been refelTing to the 
December 16, 2013 letter from VPLM's Chaimlan, which represented that none ofthe parties to 
the sale of the securities to VHB Intemational had been an affiliate of the company within 90 
days ofthe sale. 312 That bare representation provides no detail whatever. It does not indicate 
when Kipping might have resigned as an officer of VPLM or provide any other verifiable fact. 
For purposes of ensuring that an issuer is not behind a chain of transactions designed to effect a 
public distribution without registration, a representation by a principal ofthe issuer must be 
viewed more skeptically. 

Even more important, from the outset, Scottsdale had affhmative evidence in its due 
diligence package indicating that Kipping might be affiliated with the issuer regardless of 
whether he had resigned as president. Under Rule 144, if Locksmith and Kipping held 10% or 
more of the issuer, they would be affiliates for purposes of the exemption. The grid showed that 
Kipping, either directly ortlu'ough Locksmith, had received 80,318,000 shares ofVPLM 
between October 2011 and August 2013.313 The total outstanding shares of the company at the 

309 RX-2, at 19-21. 

310 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1719-20. 

3ll Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 440-41. 

312 RX-2, at 23-24. 

313 RX-2, at 40. 
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time that Scottsdale evaluated the deposit were 730,460,237.314 Thus, Kipping and Locksmith 
received at least a 10.996% ownership interest in VPLM and Kipping could have been an 
affiliate regardless of whether he was still an officer of the company. 

TIlere were other signs that Kipping could have been an affiliate. In the due diligence file 
is the first page of results from a Google search for "Richard Kipping + securities fraud." One of 
the results dated May 15, 2013, contains a fragment of content apparently refening to VPLM. 
That fragment says, "So Richard Kipping still has personal interest in this penny scam.,,315 
Another entry dated May 7,2013, also refers to VPLM and says, "TIle next few days will show 
if the stock can keep its unprecedented ... in fraud look at the shareholders Richard kipping 
pretty much owns the ... ,,316 TIle Google search page was filed in the package, apparently 
without anyone looking at the full stories concerning Kipping or following up on his ownership 
of VPLM shares. 

If Scottsdale had conducted fmiher due diligence, it might have discovered that Kipping 
was indeed an affiliate of VPLM. During the relevant period, the Board of Directors of VPLM 
ordered a review of Kipping and Locksmith's debt conversions to VPLM stock. The resulting 
"forensic audit" dated June 5, 2014, described Kipping as a director and shareholder ofVPLM. It 
indicated that, at the time of the August 15, 2013 stock conversion that was the basis for tacking 
VHB International's holding period, Kipping had executive responsibilities at both VPLM and 
Locksmith, including check signing privileges at VPLM. 

TIle accountant who perfonned the forensic audit opined that many aspects ofthe August 
15,2013 agreement pm-POliing to memorialize the earlier oral line of credit were problematic. 
Many of the items that appeared to him to indicate that the arrangement was not a true al1ns
length transaction were facts known to Scottsdale at the time it approved the sale of VHB 
International's shares based on tacking to the oral line of credit. AnlOng other things, the 
accountant noted that the written memorialization was a year after the pm-potted oral line of 
credit. He also noted that the stock for debt agreement did not specify any patticular tenns for the 
conversion, and he viewed Locksmith's right to demand payment in full or patt at any time as 
onerous. 317 

TIle forensic audit illustrates that an objective analysis of the facts known to Scottsdale 
would raise strong doubt that Kipping was independent ofVPLM at the time of the August 15, 
2013 agreement and stock conversion. 

Second, the grid attached to the November 2013 public filing shows that the issuer had a 
pattern of paying for services and its business expenses with stock. It issued much of this stock to 

314 RX-2, at 1. 

315 RX-2, at 95. 

316 RX-2, at 95. 

317 RX-292, at 6-7. 
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company insiders. 318 TIle pattel1l suggests that the issuer may have substituted the issuance of 
stock for compensation to insiders and business patiners, leaving them to realize any monetaty 
benefit by selling the stock to others. TIle constant flow of new issuer stock looks like a two-step 
process for unlawfully distributing securities into the public marketplace without registration. 

TIlis pattel1l is particularly troubling because all three paliies in the chain of holders for 
the deposit-Kipping, Locksmith, and VHB Intel1lational-were on the list of persons and 
entities that had convelied debt to shares. 319 TIlis was a red flag that they and the issuer could be 
coordinating. TIle Firm should have fmiher investigated before concluding that the transaction 
was exempt under Rule 144. 

3. VPLM (Titan deposit deIived from Kipping and Locksmith through 
the Lees) 

a. Due Diligence Paclmge 

i. Purported Beneficial Owner 

CSCT deposited another 13 million shares of VPLM for the benefit of Titan and for the 
fmiher benefit of Cumbre Company. TIle Checklist identified Patrick Gentle as the ultimate 
beneficial owner ofCumbre and the VPLM stock.320 

We discuss the evidence regarding this transaction as evidence of other similar conduct 
for purposes of sanctions and as additional evidence that CSCT was no more than a fa9ade. 
Scottsdale continued to deal directly with the FFI and to ignore CSCT. 

ii. PIior Holder Transactions 

This is the one transaction that was not derived from the conversion of a debt liability 
into shares. However, it also traces back to Kipping and Locksmith in a chain of holders. 

TIle Checklist identified two prior holders, Jung Ju Lee and Soon Deuk (Kang) Lee. 321 

Jung Ju Lee acquired 1.5 million shares by a Stock Purchase Agreement dated June 12, 2012, 
from Richard Kipping. In that Stock Purchase Agreement, Kipping represented that he was not 
an affiliate ofthe issuer and had not been an affiliate at least for the previous 90 days. An 
attachment to the Stock Purchase Agreement indicated that Lee paid Kipping $13,000 for the 
shares. A copy of a check written to Locksmith for $13,000 was attached. It appears to be written 
by Brooks K-9 Services Ltd., but it bears a notation saying "re VPLM celis." 322 Nothing in the 

318 RX-2, at 40. 

319 RX-2, at 40. 

320 RX-2, at 106. 

321 RX-2, at 106. 

322 RX-2, at 126-29. 
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due diligence package explains the connection between Brooks K-9 Services and Lee or the 
nature of Brooks K-9 Services. 

Jung Ju Lee acquired another 500,000 shares for $5,000 from Locksmith Financial 
pursuant to a Stock Purchase Agreement dated October 19, 2012. Locksmith made the same 
representation that it was not an affiliate of the issuer. Kipping signed on behalf of Locksmith. 
Another check from Brooks K-9 Services Ltd. was attached.323 

Soon Deuk (Kang) Lee acquired three million shares of VPLM from Locksmith by a 
Stock Purchase Agreement dated August 1, 2012, for $20,000. Locksmith represented that it was 
not an affiliate of the issuer. Kipping signed on behalf of Locksmith. 324 

iii. Acquisition Of Shares By Depositor 

Cumbre acquired five million shares of VPLM from Soon Deuk (Kang) Lee on January 
10,2014.325 hI a separate document written to Cumbre, Lee confinned receipt of $60,000 for the 
shares. 326 On January 13, 2014, in a separate document, Jung Ju Lee similarly confinned receipt 
of $20,000 for 500,000 shares ofVPLM.327 

iv. Scottsdale Approval 

On May 29,2014, Noiman and ClUZ signed the Checklist approving the shares ofVPLM 
for sale.328 

v. Blaclwut Period On Trading VPLlVI Shares 

On June 5,2014, Thomas Sawyer, the Chairnlan ofthe Board of Directors ofVPLM, sent 
Titan by email a signed declaration notifying it of a blackout period stalting June 6, 2014, on 
trading VPLM stock by celtain "covered persons." Covered persons were defined to include 
directors, officers, and holders of 10% or more of the company's outstanding shares, among 
others. Richard Kipping (and his assigns) and Locksmith were on the list of covered persons. So 
was VHB International. The list also included FFIs and broker-dealers. Montage, Titan, Alpine, 
and Scottsdale were all on the list. 329 Noiman discussed the blackout notice with Titan and 
requested a copy.330 

323 RX-2, at 136-39. 

324 RX-2, at 147-49. 

325 RX-2, at 160. 

326 RX-2, at 155. 

327RX_2, at 145. 

328 RX-2, at 107. 

329 CX-294. 

330 RX-I04. 
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On June 6, 2014, a lawyer named David Wise, who had often done work for Scottsdale, 
wrote an email to Sawyer claiming to represent unnamed clients on the covered-person list and 
threatening to sue Sawyer and others for "slow[ing] down or prevent[ing] the transfer of shares 
by my clients." Wise called the blackout notice an attempt to prevent sales of VPLM stock in 
order to conduct a promotional campaign to raise the share price. He characterized Sawyer's 
actions as "clearly illegal" and said he would be calling the SEC.331 

On June 6, 2014, Wise sent a copy of his email to Sawyer to Kelvin Leach at Titan and to 
both Noiman and Diekm.ann at Scottsdale. His cover note to them was breezy: "Hi Guys, See 
below. David." The tenor of the cover note indicates that Scottsdale and Titan were working 
closely together to address the problem ofthe blackout notice. 

On June 9, 2014, Titan forwarded the blackout notice to Noiman, and Noiman 
immediately forwarded it to CruZ.332 That same day, Noiman also forwarded the Wise email to 
CruZ.333 The Finn stopped selling VPLM shares held by VHB hltemational in order to 
. . 334 111vestlgate. 

On June 11, 2014, Titan received what appears to be an unsigned clarifying 
memorandum from Sawyer stating that the broker-dealers and FFls such as Scottsdale and Titan 
were only on the list because they had been known to trade VPLM stock for covered persons. 
The memorandum declared that the broker-dealers and FFls were still free to trade on behalf of 
non-covered persons. Titan forwarded the clarification that same day to Noiman and 
Diekmann,335 and Noiman fOlwarded it to CruZ.336 The clarifying memorandum did not take 
Kipping (and his assigns), Locksmith, or VHB hltemational off the list of covered persons. Nor 
did it explain why they were listed as covered persons. When Noiman fOlwarded the clarification 
to Cruz on June 11,2014, he wrote that "Titan received the attached after David Wise's VPLM 
notice. ,,337 

On June 24,2014, a lawyer claiming to represent VPLM wrote to Noiman as Scottsdale's 
"Compliance Officer." Scottsdale had requested the transfer of two stock celiificates, and the 
lawyer stated that the stock certificates appeared to be owned by covered persons. Kipping (and 
his assigns), Locksmith, and VHB Intemational were on the attached list of covered persons. 
One of the two stock celiificates identified, 2985, related to the VPLM deposit by Titan on 

331 Hearing If. (Cruz) 578-79. Wise provided an attorney opinion letter on which the Finn relied in connection with 
the ORFG stock deposit. RX-3, at 70. Wise also went to the Cayman Islands to assist Ruzicka for a couple of weeks 
after D'Mura left. Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1603-04. 

332 CX-294. 

333 Hearing If. (Noiman) 1265-67; RX-104. 

334 Hearing If. (Cruz) 442-43; JX-281. 

335 CX-295. 

336 CX-296. 

337 CX-296. 
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behalf of Cumbre. 338 The other, 2228, may relate to a VPLM deposit not palt of the record in this 
case. The celtificate number for the deposit by VHB International is 2525. 339 

Notably, although the Titan deposit on behalf of the Lees nominally came through CSCT, 
Ruzicka was not included on any of the cOll'espondence about the blackout period.34o The 
cOlTespondence reveals that Scottsdale, through N oiman, was continuing to manage FFI deposits 
without regard to CSCT. CSCT was perfonning no real function in connection with the VPLM 
d . 341 eposlt. 

h. Red Flags Signifying A Scheme To Evade The Secmities Laws 

Given what Scottsdale ah'eady had in its file on VPLM, it should not have approved the 
VPLM shares deposited by Cumbre for resale without obtaining better evidence that Kipping 
was not an affiliate of the issuer. The Lee transactions closely followed the VHB International 
transaction and revealed a pattern-Kipping was continually acquiring and selling large blocks 
ofVPLM shares. When coupled with the infonnation from the grid showing that VPLM 
followed a practice of issuing stock to insiders in settlement of its debts, the circumstances raised 
a strong suspicion that the issuer or an affiliate was unlawfully distributing securities without 
registration in a two-step process designed to obscure what was actually happening and who was 
benefiting from the sales of stock. 

4. ORFG (Unicorn deposit derived from Forward line of credit) 

a. Due Diligence Package 

i. Purporte(l Beneficial Owner 

In connection with the deposit of approximately 13.2 million shares ofORFG, CSCT 
acted for Unicorn, and Unicorn acted for an entity called Media Central, which named Geovanni 
Moh as the beneficial owner. 342 Media Central was identified as a Belize corporation, and Moh 

338 RX-2, at 106-09. 

339 RX-2, at 3. 

340 When Ruzicka was shown the blackout notice at his OTR, he expressed shock. He testified that he had never seen 
it, and that if he had he would not have processed the VPLM deposit for resale. He would have expected Scottsdale 
to treat it as a problem or red flag. CX-I78 at 257-60. 

341 In the middle of explaining what he did in connection with investigating the VPLM blackout, Cruz made a half
hearted assertion that CSCT was involved, saying, "I asked or I briefed with CSCT to-to get an explanation if 
they-if they could." Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 442-43. We do not find that testimony credible. There is no corroborating 
evidence of any kind, and his testimony about CSCT, in contrast to his detailed testimony about Wise, was vague. 
Cruz did not say he had a conversation with Ruzicka-who was the only person at CSCT. Rather Cruz referred to 
CSCT in the abstract. Nor did Cruz say anything about the content of what he "asked" or "briefed" when he 
supposedly had contact with CSCT. 

342 RX-3, at 1. 
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was identified as a citizen of Belize. 343 Media Central was originally incorporated on Febmary 
14,2014, under the name Lock Investments Ltd. Only two weeks later, on Febmary 27,2014, 
the name was changed to Media Centra1.344 Nothing in the due diligence package explains the 
reason for the name change or whether there was any change in the identity of the principals of 
the company. 

ii. Prior Holder Transaction 

Media Central claimed that it had satisfied the holding period for a non-affiliate by 
tacking to a prior holder's note as of September 1, 2012. 345 The prior holder was a person named 
Casey Forward. He purportedly took the issuer's note in retum for an open-ended line of credit 
up to the maximum amount of $600,000. The note provided that the issuer would pay on "loans, 
advances and debt as of August 31,2011 '" with interest on the principal balance outstanding 
from time to time" up to a principal amount of $600,000.346 The note provided Forward with a 
right to convert any pOltion of the unpaid principal amount of note to restricted common stock. 
This right was open-ended and did not specify a particular amount that could be convelted or a 
patticular date when the conversion could take place. 347 Furthennore, the note provided that the 
holder could transfer in whole or in part any portion of the note without the prior consent of the 
company. Any such transfer was at the discretion of the holder. 348 

Forward subsequently assigned a $50,000 pOltion of the note to an entity called Anything 
Media in exchange for shares of Anything Media. As described on the first page of the Deposited 
Securities List, that transaction was reflected in an Assignment and Modification Agreement 
dated JatlUary 18,2014, by which ORFG agreed to modify the tenns of the original note. 349 

iii. Acquisition Of Shares By Depositor 

On April 16, 2014, Anything Media sold 15 million shat'es ofORFG to Media Central for 
$75,000 purSUatlt to a stock purchase agreement. However, at that time, Anything Media did not 
own the shares. It acquired shares ofORFG only a few days afterward, on April 22, 2014, when 
it convelted a $9,000 portion ofthe note into 15 million shares of ORFG. 350 There is nothing in 
the due diligence package to explain why Anything Media sold ORFG shares before it actually 
owned them. Nor is there anything to explain why the shares could be sold for $75,000 when 

343 RX-3, at 9, 13. 

344 RX-3, at 15-16. 

345 RX-3, at 36-41. 

346 RX-3, at 36. 

347 RX-3, at 38. 

348 RX-3, at 40. 

349 10"\:_3, at 1, 42-45. 

350 RX-3, at 1. 
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they only had a value of $9,000 when they were converted a few days later. Cruz testified that he 
did not consider these matters red flags that required fmiher inquiry and that the Finn did not 
conduct fmiher inquiry based on these matters. 351 

iv. Scottsdale Approval And Sales 

On June 5, 2014, N oiman and Cruz signed the Checklist for ORFG approving the sale of 
securities.352 Sales began June 11,2014, and continued through the end of the relevant period on 
June 30, 2014. Periodically, Scottsdale would wire out the proceeds along with the proceeds 
from the sales of other securities out of CSCT's account.353 

v. Promotional Activity 

From early May through early July, ORFG was the subject of multiple promotions.354 

Cruz testified that the promotions were consistent with the reviewer's findings on the Checklist. 
He said he probably would have looked at a couple of pages of printouts showing the existence 
of promotions. TIle Finn typically would look to see whether the customer had any involvement 
and whether the promotions were having any effect on the trading done in the security.355 

b. Re(l Flag Signifying A Scheme To Eva(le The Securities Laws 

We discuss here only one of the red flags in the ORFG deposit. TIle initial transaction 
underlying the deposit made no business sense. With respect to the original line of credit, no 
reasonable company would agree to bon"ow money on a line of credit that pennitted the lender to 
conveli the debt to stock at any time in any amount at the holder's discretion. Certainly a 
company would not agree that the open-ended conversion option could be assigned to an 
unknown third party without the issuer's prior consent. Under such an agreement the company 
would not know whether it was going to be required to pay back some or all of the money it 
borrowed on the line of credit or whether it would be required to issue shares. Nor could it know 
to whom the conversion option might be assigned. It could not manage its finances or be celiain 
of its shareholder dynamics and corporate control. 

As the forensic audit of the Kipping-Locksmith loan found with respect to the open
ended line of credit in that transaction, the onerous tenns from the issuer's perspective were a 
sign that the loan was not an anns-Iength transaction. Unless the Finn investigated and 
discovered some sensible explanation, it could not lawfully sell the securities. 

351 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 533-34. 

352 RX-3, at 2. 

353 JX-31O. 

354 CX-303, at 17-25. 

355 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 537-38. 
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E. Credibility 

1. Ruzicka 

As noted above, Ruzicka was never registered with FINRA and was never subject to its 
jurisdiction. He voluntarily testified at an OTR, and considered testifying voluntarily at the 
hearing. Throughout the first week of the hearing, Enforcement reported at the end of each day 
on the likelihood of Ruzicka appearing. 356 On Friday of the first week, Enforcement announced 
that Ruzicka had agreed to appear the following Monday. 357 

However, Ruzicka changed his mind over the weekend and never appeared. He 
apparently changed his mind because of a text that Respondents' counsel sent to him on the 
Saturday after the first week of hearing. That text, although portrayed by counsel aftelward as 
nothing more than a request to talk, appears to us to have been an attempt to sow distmst 
between Ruzicka and Enforcement counsel. It made Ruzicka angry at the way he thought he was 
being portrayed by Enforcement at the hearing and unwilling to be "put through hell" by 
appearing. 358 

Respondents' counsel telephoned Ruzicka on Saturday but only received an automated 
instmction to leave a message or text. Respondents' counsel then left him a text saying the 
following, which included quotations from Enforcement's opening statement: 

You may want to know how FINRA has been characterizing you during the first 
week of the hearing. For example, you were "hapless," "malleable," and "bereft 
of other options." You may want to know the other side of what FINRA is telling 
you. I would welcome the opportunity to discuss. 359 

After receiving the text from Respondent's counsel, Ruzicka texted Enforcement counsel 
saying, in part, "If even veracity, I am done.,,36o We interpret Ruzicka's response to mean he was 
offended at the portrayal of him as desperate and easily manipulated, and to mean that he would 
not appear at the hearing if that was an accurate picture of Enforcement's comments about him. 

Enforcement reported at the hearing that it had neither confilmed nor denied to Ruzicka 
what Respondents' counsel told him in the text. Enforcement took the position that it could not 
reveal what was said in the proceeding because it was confidential.361 

356 Initially, the discussions of Ruzicka's likely participation were off the record. Later, they were on the record. 
Hearing Ir. (remarks of counsel) 748, 840-41, 1032, 1275, 1277. 

357 Hearing Ir. (remarks of counsel) 1275, 1277. 

358 Hearing Ir. (counsel reading te}..i into record) 1288. 

359 Hearing Ir. (counsel reading te}..i into record) 1288. 

360 Hearing Ir. (counsel reading te}..i into record) 1287. 

361 Hearing Ir. (remarks of counsel) 1299. 
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Enforcement argued that Respondents' counsel had violated at least the spirit of the 
sequestration order in the case; Respondents' counsel asserted that the sequestration order was 
about witness testimony and that counsel's quotations from Enforcement's opening statement did 
not violate the order. The Hearing Officer declined to lUle on the charge of misconduct. 362 

Based on legal analysis separate from the alleged misconduct of Respondents' counsel, as 
laid out at the hearing on the record, the Hearing Officer admitted the entire transcript of 
Ruzicka's OTR. The Hearing Officer declared that the Hearing Panel would detennine the 
probative value and weight to give the OTR after it had reviewed the OTR in the context of the 
evidence at the hearing, taking into account the circumstances that led to the admission of the 
OTR in lieu of live testimony from Ruzicka. 363 

The Hearing Panel now specifically finds that Ruzicka's testimony at his OTR was 
credible. It was consistent with other evidence in the record and corroborated by D'Mura's 
testimony. Wherever Ruzicka's testimony is cited here, it is cited because we credit it. 

We reject Respondents' arguments for discounting Ruzicka's testimony. 

First, Respondents assert that it is unfair to rely upon Ruzicka's testimony because they 
did not have an opportunity to cross-examine him.364 The short answer to that argument is that 
Respondents' counsel was responsible for that lack of opportunity to cross-examine the witness. 
Respondents cannot complain about it now. 

Second, Respondents argue that Ruzicka was angry and biased against Huny, so his OTR 
should not be viewed as reliable. 365 After review of the transcript, we conclude that, although 
Ruzicka evidently did not like the way Huny treated him, Ruzicka was tlUthful as to the facts 
and as to Hurry's intimidating and controlling ma1l1ler. 

Third, Respondents claim that Ruzicka gave inconsistent infonnation in a prior telephone 
call with FINRA staff. 366 However, the inconsistency was explained by the fact that Ruzicka still 
felt "beholden" to Huny at the time of the telephone call. By the time of the OTR he did not feel 
that way.367 

362 Hearing Tr. (remarks of Hearing Officer) 1302. 

363 Hearing Tr. (remarks of Hearing Officer) 1302-05. There had always been uncertainty about whether Ruzicka 
would give testimony at the hearing. In light of that uncertainty, the parties had earlier briefed the issue of whether 
the OTR should be admitted. The Hearing Officer's ru1ing was informed by that earlier briefing. 

364 Resp. PH Br. 44 and n.253. 

365 Resp. PH Br. 44 and n.253. 

366 Hearing Tr. (remarks of counsel) 1296. 

367 Hearing Tr. (remarks of counsel) 1298. 
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Fourth, Respondents claim that Ruzicka gave an affidavit inconsistent with his OTR. 
TIley assert that Ruzicka swore that Montage, Titan, and Unicom came to CSCT through a 
refetTal from Scottsdale. However, Ruzicka signed that affidavit at Hurry's request while still 
working for Huny 368 By the time of his OTR, Ruzicka no longer worked for HutTy. For that 
reason, we credit his OTR testimony that he was told that Titan and Unicorn came to CSCT 
through Hurry. Moreover, the affidavit saying that the three FFIs were refen'ed by Scottsdale is 
not inconsistent with Ruzicka's understanding that ultimately HutTY was behind the refen·al. 
Even if HutTy persuaded the FFIs to do business with Scottsdale through CSCT, it would be 
consistent with his desire for secrecy for him to atTange for someone at Scottsdale to make the 
necessary introductions. 

Finally, we observe that although Ruzicka's OTR testimony is valuable, his absence from 
the hearing deprived the E:lo..iended Hearing Panel of what would have been helpful live testimony 
and the opportunity for the Panel to ask him questions. Ruzicka's absence also encouraged HutTy 
to dispute the OTR testimony without fear of being contradicted, as discussed below. The 
distrust sown by Respondents' counsel impeded our adjudicatory process. 

2. Hurry 

As indicated above in connection with specific testimony, we repeatedly found that HutTY 
was not credible. Many of HUtTY'S self-serving explanations were not convincing on their face. 
His testimony was often inconsistent with other reliable evidence. Much of what he said also 
conflicted with Ruzicka's OTR testimony, which we find more credible than HutTy'S 
uncotToborated ass ertions. 

HUtTy's ostensible purpose for setting up CSCT-to relieve Alpine of IRS withholding 
obligations-was not suppOlted by any evidence that it made business sense. Rather, we 
conclude from Cruz's and Diekmann's testimony regarding heightened regulatory scrutiny in the 
period leading up to the establishment of CSCT, and the filing of the four prior SEC complaints 
against Scottsdale customers and employees, that HutTy sought to insulate his business from 
regulatory oversight by moving Scottsdale's FFI business offshore. This conclusion is reinforced 
by the fact that Scottsdale personnel continued to manage the FFI business with entities such as 
Unicom and Titan (through Miller and Noiman). They needed to do that because Ruzicka was 
not qualified to run a broker-dealer, partiCUlarly one in the highly specialized business of 
liquidating microcap stock pursuant to Rule 144. Moreover, CSCT got its business through 
HutTY and Scottsdale. CSCT did not, and indeed could not, operate as an independent entity. 
CSCT served no function that Scottsdale could not have perfonned without it. 

368 Hearing If. (Huny) 1565-69, 1638-39; RX-11O. 
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Hun-y disputed that Ruzicka was not qualified to run CSCT and emphasized how 
accomplished Ruzicka was.369 His testimony in this regard was not credible. It is plain from 
Ruzicka's inquiry about working in Hurry's bike shop that Ruzicka had no relevant experience 
and was desperate. 37o D'Mura described trying to educate Ruzicka about the securities industl-Y 
and the elements for free-trading securities. D'Mura said it was "rough going" and that Ruzicka 
"wasn't picking it up.,,371 D'Mura said that Ruzicka was anxious, stressed, and not capable of 
handling due diligence on microcap deposits by himself. 372 Even more important for our 
purposes here, D'Mura testified that he had conversations with Hun-y about Ruzicka's 
difficulties and how Ruzicka was not "getting it. ,,373 Thus, contrat-y to his hearing testimony, 
Hurry knew that Ruzicka was not capable of mnning CSCT. 

Hun-y's asseltion that he had little to do with CSCT was disproved. D'Mura testified that 
Hurry frequently bombarded him and Ruzicka with telephone calls about CSCT business and 
that he and Ruzicka tried to prepare for those calls with updated infonnation about deposits. 
D'Mura pOltrayed Hurry as an intense and constant presence in their lives while they worked at 
CSCT, and emails corroborate that testimony. Emails show that Hun'y oversaw every detail of 
CSCT's business, and Hurry admitted that he traveled to the Cayman Islands at least once a 
month. He so closely oversaw the CSCT operation that he claimed to know that Ruzicka was in 
the office only ten minutes out of evel-Y hour. 

To the extent that Cmz, Diekmann, D'Mura, and Ruzicka all testified that Ruzicka, not 
Hurry, ran the daily operations of CSCT, as Respondents assert in their post-hearing brief,374 we 
do not view that testimony as contradicting the evidence that HutTY was deeply involved in 

369 Hearing Tr. (Runy) 1574-77. When asked why he did not hire someone who had broker-dealer experience and 
who knew about FFls to run CSCT, Hurry said that he hired Ruzicka to play an "executive role," someone who was 
"an all-around person, somebody who had some entrepreneurial skills, some management skills, proven to be able to 
do that." Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1648. 

370 Hearing Tr. (Runy) 1631, 1635-36. 

371 Hearing Tr. (D'Mura) 2273-77. 

372 Hearing Tr. (D'Mura) 2277-78. 

373 Hearing Tr. (D'Mura) 2274-77. D'Mura may not have been emphatic about Ruzicka's difficulties-he testified 
that it was against his self-interest to cause Hurry to fire Ruzicka-but D'Mura did raise concerns with Hurry. 
Hearing Tr. (D'Mura) 2314-15. 

Email correspondence corroborates D'Mura's judgment that Ruzicka did not understand the business. For example, 
in May 2014, Ruzicka sought Diekmann's approval to consider a deposit of 11 million shares with an ostensible 
value of two million dollars. Diekmann wrote back that the issuer's shares traded in so little volume-roughly 3,500 
per day-that it would take a "bazillion" years to sell the entire deposit. Diekmann said it was inappropriate to set 
the value that high and the transaction was the kind that should be avoided. CX-241. 

This email correspondence also illustrates that CSCT served no real function independent of Scottsdale. Ruzicka 
sought Diekmann's guidance before even considering the deposit. Ruzicka was not independently vetting deposits 
before presenting them to Scottsdale. CX-241, at 2. 

374 Resp. PH Br. 45. 
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CSCT's business. Ruzicka was responsible for the day-to-day processing of paper, but Hurty 
was responsible for bringing in business, cultivating the clients, and making all important 
decisions. Ruzicka, an out-of-work real estate attomey, did not have the background to do more 
than process the paper as directed. For Hurry to maintain that he left Ruzicka on his own to 
prospect for customers and manage client relationships defies belief. 

Based on D'Mura's testimony and various emails, Hurry's contention that he was not 
concemed with secrecy was false. D'Mura testified that Hurry emphasized to him the privacy 
laws ofthe Cayman Islands, and D'Mura thought Hurry was very concemed about secrecy. 
Hurry's concem with secrecy was manifested in multiple ways, from his admitted use of 
FaceTime to confer with Montage, Titan, Unicom, and other customers, to his obsession with 
labeling every email to and from Ruzicka as privileged, to his use of an email address that did 
not reveal its cOIU1ection to him, to his refusal to use emails to discuss business and insistence on 
using telephone calls to do that. 

Ruzicka's testimony only confinns D'Mura's. Ruzicka testified that Hurry told him that 
he was moving the FFI business to the Caymans precisely because he would not have to "give 
anything" to anyone. According to Ruzicka, Hurry was fanatical about not creating a record of 
his involvement with CSCT. 

As for HutTY'S efforts to develop business for CSCT, HutTY admitted having telephone 
calls with principals of Montage, Titan, and Unicom, and he admitted personally visiting 
Montage in Panama and Unicom in Belize. Although he claimed that he discussed a back-office 
system with Montage at Ruzicka's request, his testimony was vague and unspecific. There was 
no corroboration for Hurry's assertion, and he only made it when he knew that Ruzicka would 
not appear at the hearing to contradict him. Similarly, as to HutTY'S initial asseltion that he did 
not discuss business with Unicom when he went to Belize, Hurry was impeached by his own 
OTR testimony. In his OTR he testified that he discussed pros and cons of doing business with 
Scottsdale directly or going through CSCT. Emails showed that HutTY provided other leads and 
referrals to Ruzicka, and D'Mura testified that Hurry was involved in developing Caledonian as 
a CSCT customer. 

We futther find HutTY not credible when he testified that he could not remember anything 
about his meetings with Montage in Panama and Unicom in Belize. Hurry appeared to have 
excellent recall of other infonnation and events. He testified in detail about the intricacies of 
taxation in the Cayman Islands and how it differed for Canadians and U.S. citizens, as well as the 
way the special economic zone in the Caymans operates. 375 He also testified about the Cayman 
Islands Monetary Authority, CIMA, and its infonnation sharing agreement with the SEC, noting 

375 Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1554-65, 1647-48. 
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that the original agreement was in 2005 and that it was updated in 2012.376 He insisted that he 
knew the exact days on which Ruzicka and D'Mura began at CSCT.377 

We observe that Hurry appeared to be a canny, sophisticated, controlling, and hard
driving businessman. Hurry's attempt to pOltray himself as a distant figure, far removed from 
CSCT's business was not credible. Although he claimed that he likes to empower his people to 
run their businesses on their own,378 that is demonstrably untrue. 

3. DiBlasi 

We find DiBlasi's testimony that he was the CCO-but not in connection with the Finn's 
Rule 144 business-astonishing.379 Almost all of the Finn's business involved Rule 144 sales. 
As explained below in discussing DiBlasi's violation, DiBlasi was responsible for the WSPs, and 
nothing in the WSPs clearly allocated Rule 144 compliance to Cruz. Indeed, during much of the 
relevant period, the WSPs assigned the CCO specific responsibilities in connection with Rule 
144.380 DiBlasi's testimony may accurately reflect what he believes his job responsibilities to be, 
but, if so, his designation as CCO was misleading. 

4. Cruz 

Cruz's testimony was vague and unreliable. He often said he could not recall whether he 
had looked at various materials in conducting his due diligence reviews but that he "could" have 
done so.381 Cruz also changed his testimony or made it vaguer as he was testifying ifhe became 
uncomfortable with his original statement. For example, he said that the change in NHP1's 
business from phannaceuticals to oil and gas was not so important because the company's 
"management team had been stable. It's not the situation where we had a roaming management 
team.,,382 But when asked how he knew that the management team was stable, he could point to 
nothing in the due diligence package or elsewhere. He ended by denying that he had said that the 
management team had been stable, saying, "1 didn't see any change of - evidence of a change of 
management. 1 didn't use 'stable. ,,,383 When pressed whether celtain items were red flags calling 
for a searching inquiry about the issuer, Cruz resorted to general statements such as it "depends 

376 Hearing Tr. (Huny) 1630. 

377 Hearing Tr. (Huny) 1620, 1624. 

378 Hearing Tr. (Huny) 1550. 

379 Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1921-23, 1946-47, 1952-53, 1965-66. 

380 Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1967-73. 

381 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 279,284,292-96,301-03,308. 

382 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 288. 

383 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 288-91. 
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on the facts and the circumstances.,,384 He never explained any basis for detennining which facts 
and circumstances would trigger the duty to conduct a searching inquiry. 

5. Diekmalll1 

We find Diekmann's testimony vague, evasive, and unreliable. He characterized 
documents in ways that on their face the documents did not support, such as the Miller email 
indicating that a Canadian citizen could conceal himself by using a corporate entity as the owner 
of his Scottsdale account. Diekmann asserted that the Finn's procedures would root out a 
nominee problem but could point to nothing in the procedures that was designed to do that. 385 He 
was insensitive to suspicious circumstances such as a Google search that tUl11ed up infonnation 
suggesting that a person was engaged in securities fraud,386 or the identical tel111S and 
circumstances ofthe three supposedly independent NHPI deposits.387 He contradicted his own 
OTR testimony. 388 He repeatedly resisted admitting that inconsistencies and suspicious 
circumstances could signify that a transaction was a sham until he had to admit what was 

b · 389 o VIOUS. 

Given Diekmann's position as the Film's cun'ent president, we are concel11ed about his 
ability to ensure that the Film responds appropriately in the future to obvious red flags and 
suspicious circumstances. This concel11 bears on the need for stringent sanctions, as discussed 
below. 

Illustrative ofthe issue is Diekmann's testimony regarding infolmation on Unicol11's 
website. Unicol11 adveliised the use of nominees to give customers an "extra level of 
confidentiality" because the customer's "name will not show Up.,,390 At his OTR, Diekmaml 
testified that he had not seen this page of the Unicol11 website before his OTR, but ifhe had it 
would have caused him concel11 whether the true beneficial owner was being disclosed.391 At the 
hearing he testified differently. He said that he would not be concel11ed about the infonnation on 
Unicol11's website because he had seen nothing on the website that suggested that Unic0111 was 
offering to affilmatively lie about beneficial ownership.392 When asked whether Unic0111 would 

384 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 293. 

385 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 737-38. 

386 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 927. 

387 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1853-54,1901-04. 

388 Diekmann testified at his OIR that a print-out from the Unicorn website caused him concern about whether 
Patrick Gentle was the true beneficial owner of stock deposited at Scottsdale in his name. At the hearing, however, 
he denied that the information on the Unicorn site was a concern. Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 925-30. 

389 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1881-84, 1886-87. 

390 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1818-19. 

391 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1875-78. 

392 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1819. 
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have had to offer to lie about the beneficial owner before the website language would concern 
him, Diekmann answered "Yes. ,,393 That is not consistent with his and the Finn's gatekeeping 
function. 

A second example of Diekmann's insensitivity to suspicious circumstances is his 
response to questions conceming an email exchange between one of the Rule 144 staff members 
and Titan. The staff member sent an email to Ryan Mendez at Titan saying that Scottsdale had 
mUltiple subaccounts at Scottsdale with Andrew Godfrey as the authorized signer. She requested 
a statement from Godfrey that explained the purpose for the multiple entities and provided an 
explanation of "any distinguishing features among the separate entities." She then named the 
eight entities. 394 

Godfrey provided an astoundingly broad and vague response: 

[The eight companies] are holding company's [sic] that are used to invest in 
development and exploration stage companies that engage in local, regional, 
multinational, global, sporting, manufacturing, wholesale, transpoliation, 
teclmology and eco friendly companies, etc., etc. Each investment is placed into a 
holding company based on investment criteria such as location, industry, long or 
shOli-tenn investment etc., etc. 

Godfrey made no distinction among the companies. He provided no facts that could be verified. 
The response was undated and addressed "To Whom It May Concem." Godfrey provided no 
address, telephone number, or other contact infonnation for himself or any ofthe companies. 
The response was forwarded by email from Titan to Scottsdale.395 

Diekmann characterized Godfrey's response as reasonable.396 We do not find it so. It 
lacks specificity and has no indicia of reliability or authenticity. 

Finally, Diekmann displayed a lack of the skepticism, analytic acuity, and ingenuity that 
are required to perfonn the broker-dealer's gatekeeping function in the Rule 144 context. He 
testified that the identical documentation for the NHPI transactions did not trouble him because 
some unidentified person could have put Collins together with the three patties seeking to sell 
the NHPI shares they acquired from him. When asked whether that unidentified person could be 
the secret beneficial owner of the three sub-sub-accounts, he said that there was nothing in the 
documentation indicating that was so. He fmiher declared that he did not know how you would 

393 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1875. 

394 CX-247. 

395 CX-248. 

396 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 891. 
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investigate whether it was so. He seemed content not to know who the unidentified person was 
and to assume that it was a person who had put the three depositors in touch with Collins.397 

Diekmann said that ''there's always a risk that there could be some puppet master pulling 
the s[t]rings. ,,398 But he expressed frustration at the thought that the Firm could and should have 
done more to ascertain whether a puppet master was at work. As he remarked regarding the 
Argentinian nominees in the Tavella case, "It's just impossible to know that there was somebody 
else behind this. ,,399 

For purposes of assessing the Film's ability to avoid violations in the future and crafting 
remedial sanctions, his remarks cause us concel1l. Diekmann said that what happened with NHPI 
happens all the time.4oo 

6. Experts 

a. Marc Mencltel 

We give little weight to the testimony of Respondents' expert, Marc Menchel. Although 
he opined that Scottsdale's procedures were reasonable and consistent with industlY custom and 
practice, his experience related to Rule 144 was both a long time ago and in a much different 
conte}..'i than Scottsdale's business. Menchel ran a Rule 144 desk at a large broker-dealer more 
than 30 years ago. That desk did not concentrate the way Scottsdale does on large blocks 
(100,000 shares or more) of micro cap stoCks.401 

FUlihennore, Menchel did not opine on the sufficiency of Scottsdale's due diligence in 
the context of the specific transactions at issue. He did not review the exhibits or the 
investigative testimony. While he did look at all the relevant due diligence packages, he did not 
review them with the idea of "second guessing" the Finn's handling of the deposits. He merely 
looked to see whether the due diligence packages contained the SOlis of items that one would 
expect them to contain.402 Essentially, Respondents' expeli, like Respondents, took a check-the
box look at the due diligence packages. 

Finally, Menchel's opinion seemed influenced by his admittedly idiosyncratic view that 
Regulatory Notice 09-05 goes beyond Rule 144, and his claim that many of the red flags listed in 
the Regulatory Notice are not really red flags for purposes of Rule 144.403 Menchel's opinion 

397 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 1901-03. 

398 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 720. 

399 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 732. 

400 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 1901, 1903. 

401 Hearing Tr. (1vfenchel) 2459-61. 

402 Hearing Tr. (1vfenchel) 2478-80, 2496-98, 2529-33, 2554-65, 2572-73, 2575. 

403 Hearing Tr. (1vfenchel) 2503-07,2515-24. 
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similarly seemed influenced by his view that FINRA has no authority to charge a broker-dealer 
finn with a Rule 2010 violation for a Securities Act violation, a view that he admits has no 
decisional SUppolt.404 Menchel's opinion regarding FINRA's authority is contrary to the Hearing 
Officer's prior determination in the Order dated Febtuary 26,2016, that FINRA has jurisdiction 
to bring this case. We decline to accept Menchel' s view for the reasons stated in that Order, 
which we do not repeat here. 405 

h. Blian Underwood 

We find the opinion of Enforcement's expert, Brian Underwood, more reliable, more 
persuasive, and entitled to greater weight than Menchel's. His experience with Rule 144 was 
more extensive and more recent. Until retiring in 2008, Underwood served as the Chief 
Compliance Officer of two major broker-dealers for a combined period of almost 20 years. TIle 
broker-dealers traded micro cap securities on a fairly frequent basis and their Rule 144 desks 
repolted to Underwood through one of his direct repolts.406 He also served on two NASD 
working groups in the 1990s that reviewed roughly 300 sets of policies and procedures as part of 
an effort to develop a model set of procedures. 407 Underwood has maintained a consulting 
practice since he retired, and in that capacity he has more recently seen between 20 and 25 entire 
policies and procedures of different films. 408 

Underwood also reviewed more of the materials relating to the patticulars of this case, 
including the pleadings, the palties' memoranda, the exhibits, and the OTRs conducted in 
connection with the investigation.409 He, unlike Menchel, evaluated the substance of Scottsdale's 
due diligence and whether it was consistent with industry custom and practice.410 

Underwood expressed the following opinions, among others, which we find consistent 
with our own views and suppOltive of our conclusions: 

(i) In its WSPs, the Finn did not adequately address the risk of nominees being used 
to conceal the identity of the beneficial owners of the shares-it did not even 
mention the risk.411 

404 Hearing Ir. (Menchel) 2593-99. 

405 See also KeD Financial Inc., Exchange Act Release No. 80340, slip op. at 5-6 & nn.8-13 (SEC Mar. 29, 2017). 

406 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2609,2615-21. 

407 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2711-12. 

408 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2712-13. 

409 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2619-20. 

410 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2651-57,2665-67,2669-71,2673-78,2685-89,2691-94. 

411 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2682-83. 

70 

- 715a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:51:32 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:51:32 PM



(ii) The Finn's practice of placing all FFls on its red flag list was counterproductive 
because it did nothing to natToW the focus to the kinds of anomalies that required 
a searching inquiry. 412 

(iii) The Film's general practice of accepting the registered agent's address without 
requiring the physical address of the entities atId persons purporting to own the 
shares was inconsistent with industry custom and practice.413 

(iv) Even though the Finn gathered large volumes of paper in connection with the 
transactions, it failed to analyze the infornlation, did not identify issues raised by 
the files, and did not conduct the type of searching inquiry necessary to resolve 
those issues.414 As Underwood testified, a searching inquilY "means asking 
questions. It meatIS not just assuming an answer that is possible to explain the 
transaction when there are other atlsWers that might not properly explain or satisfy 
the question. It means asking and inquiring and doing it independently .... ,,415 

(v) Underwood made plain that a broker-dealer cannot go forward with a Rule 144 
transaction simply because it finds it too difficult to detennine the identity of the 
beneficial owner. The broker-dealer must have reliable evidence of the identity of 
the purported beneficial owner. Otherwise it cannot proceed with the 
transaction. 416 

Undelwood also explained that it would be typical in the industry to use other resources 
in addition to the internet to verify representations by the interested parties and make sure that 
those patties were not actually patticipating in an unregistered distribution of securities. With 
respect to whether the issuer is a shell, for example, it is not enough to obtain a representation 
from the issuer's principal as to its non-shell status. Undetwood said that it would be common in 
the industry to obtain what is known as a "Bradstreet report." That report "can be quite 
enlightening in tenns both of [the issuer's] operations, revenues, assets, who the key officers and 
directors are, shareholders-a great deal of infornlation that is not necessarily available simply 
by going on the internet.,,417 

Undelwood concluded that a finn engaged in Rule 144 sales would also have more 
detailed written procedures that "would describe who did what, when, and hOW.,,418 He said that 

412 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2685-86, 2752-55. 

413 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2679-80. 

414 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2689. 

415 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2694. 

416 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2734. 

417 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2661. 

418 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2677-78. 
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a finu would "anticipate questions that would be investigated with respect to issuers, with 
respect to sellers, with respect to the transfers of securities. ,,419 Furthenuore, they would analyze 
the infonuation collected and would "independently satisfy themselves to clear any red flags that 
arose. And that did not happen in any of these instances in my opinion.,,42o He declared that the 
Fil1U did not meet the industry custom and practice for the conduct of this type ofbusiness.421 

F. Law And Regulations Relating to Section 5 

1. It Is Unlawful To Sell Securities 'Vithout Registration, Unless An 
Exemption Exists 

It is unlawful for a fil1U to sell securities without an effective registration statement in 
place unless an exemption applies. Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act prohibit the "sale" 
and "offer for sale" of securities in interstate commerce unless a registration statement has been 
filed or is in effect, or an exemption from registration applies. 422 The prohibition applies to "any 
person,,,423 and the Securities Act defines "person" broadly to include both individuals and 
entities such as corporations and partnerships.424 The prohibition also applies to any person who 
"directly or indirectly" sells or offers to sell securities.425 Thus, Section 5 may be violated by a 
person who does not pass title to the securities but who is involved in the process of offering the 
securities for sale.426 

TIle registration requirements are not merely technical-they are the "heatt" of the 
Securities Act.427 They serve to protect investors by promoting full disclosure of inf01mation 
thought necessary to infonued investment decisions.428 As the preamble to the Securities Act 

419 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2678. 

420 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2678. 

421 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2689. 

422 15 U.S.C. § 77e(a), § 77e(c). See also Ronald S. Bloomfield, Exchange Act Release No. 71632,2014 SEC LEXIS 
698, at *20-21 (Feb. 27, 2014). A violation of Securities Act Section 5 also is a violation ofFINRA Rule 2010, 
which requires members and associated persons to conduct their business consistent with high standards of 
commercial honor and just and equitable principles of trade. Midas Sec., Exchange Act Release No. 66200, 2012 
SEC LEXIS 199, at *46 n.63 (Jan. 20,2012); Dep 't ofEnforcementv. Padilla, No. 2006005786501,2012 FINRA 
Discip. LEXIS 46, at *1 n.2 (NAC Aug. 1,2012). 

423 15 U.S.C. § 77e(a), § 77e(c). 

424 15 U.S.C. § 77b(a)(2). 

425 15 U.S.C. § 77e(a), § 77e(c). 

426 Pinterv. Dahl, 486 U.S. 622, 642-47 (1988). 

427 ACAP Fin. Inc., Exchange Act Release No. 70046,2013 SECLEXIS 2156, at *28 (July 26,2013) (quoting 
Pinterv. Dahl, 486 U.S. at 638), aff'd, 783 F.3d 763 (10th Cir. 2015). 

428 SEC v. Elliott, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 82992, at *1 (June 12,2012); Bloomfield, 2014 SEC LEXIS 698, at *21; 
ACAP, 2013 SEC LEXIS 2156, at *28 (quoting Pinter, 486 U.S. at 638); Dep 't of Enforce men tv. KCD Fin., Inc., 
No. 2011025851501,2016 FINRA Discip. LEXIS 38, at *49 (NAC Aug. 3, 2016), aif'd, KCD Fin. Inc., Exchange 
Act Release No. 80340, slip op. at 5-6 & nn.8-13 (SEC Jvfar. 29, 2017). 
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states, the purpose of the Act is "[t]o provide full and fair disclosure ofthe character of securities 
... and to prevent frauds." 429 

2. Sales Are Not Exempt If They Iuvoh'e A DistIibutiou By Au 
"UudelwIiter" 

A sale of securities is not exempt from registration if it involves a distribution of 
securities to the public. The Securities Act distinguishes between a distribution-which requires 
registration-and ordinary trading, which does not. In general, a distribution involves the sale of 
a substantial block of securities that is accompanied by sales solicitations, recommendations and 
other promotional activities that may induce investors to make investment decisions without the 
benefit of accurate infonnation concerning the issuer, its management, and its plans and 
prospects. That is the reason registration is required. In contrast, ordinary trading by an 
individual investor who has little or no influence over the issuer is not accompanied by the same 
promotional pressures, and, consequently, the same protections are less necessary.430 

The distinction between a distribution and ordinary trading is reflected in Section 4(a)(1) 
of the Securities Act, which exempts a securities transaction from registration if it does not 
involve "an issuer, underwriter, or dealer. ,,431 In this case, the tenn ''underwriter'' is critical. The 
ternl is not limited to financial industry professionals. It encompasses individual investors "if 
they act as links in a chain oftransactions through which securities move from an issuer to the 
public.'.432 Section 2(a)(1l) of the Securities Act broadly defines the tenn to include "any 
person" who has purchased from an issuer "with a view to ... the distribution of any security. ,,433 

Because it is difficult to know whether a person acquired securities "with a view to" 
distributing them to the public, the surrounding circumstances and the investor's actions after 
acquiring the securities must be analyzed. For example, when a person acquires securities from 
the issuer in a non-public transaction and shortly thereafter resells, the circumstances suggest that 
the person acquired the securities with a view to distribution, which would make that person an 
underwriter. The transactions function like a two-step indirect distribution and may be a public 
offering in disguise.434 

429 Securities Act of 1933, Pub. L. No. 22, § 1,48 Stat. 74, ch. 38. 

430 See the Preliminary Note to Rule 144 ("If any person sells a non-exempt security to any other person, the sale 
must be registered unless an exemption can be found for the transaction. "). 

431 See generally Hicks, Resales of Restricted Securities at § 2.4, 12-13, § 2:10, 22-23, § 2.11,23-24 (2015 ed.). See 
the Preliminary Note to Rule 144 ("Section 4(1) of the Securities Act provides one such exemption for a transaction 
'by a person other than an issuer, underwriter, or dealer. "'). 

432 Preliminary Note to Rule 144. 

433 15 U.S.C. § 77b(a)(11). See also SEC v. McNamee, 481 F.3d 451,455 (7th Cir. 2007). 

434 See generally Hicks, Resales of Restricted Securities at § 4: 101,250 (2015 ed.). See the Preliminary Note to Rule 
144. 
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3. Broker-Dealer Has The Burden Of Showing A Reasonable Basis For 
An Exemption 

Once a prima faci e case is made out, as it was here,435 a broker-dealer has the burden of 
showing that it had a reasonable basis at the time it sold the securities for concluding that an 
exemption from registration existed.436 Exemptions from the registration requirements are 
affinnative defenses that must be established by the person claiming the exemption.437 The 
Securities Act requires a broker-dealer and its associated persons to act as gatekeepers to prevent 
unlawful distributions, and the responsibility rests on them to take all steps reasonable in the 
circumstances to assure themselves that an exemption applies before they sell securities without 

. . 438 re glstratlOn. 

A broker-dealer's duty to investigate is not satisfied by simply checking boxes on a 
checklist. Rather, a finn must examine the infonnation it receives with a skeptical eye because 
the interested palties have an incentive to mislead and deceive a finn in order to facilitate their 
sale of securities. A broker-dealer must independently investigate suspicious facts to satisfy itself 
that an exemption exists. As the SEC has explained, 

A dealer who offers to sell, or is asked to sell a substantial amount of securities 
must take whatever steps are necessary to be sure that this is a transaction not 
involving an issuer, person in a control relationship with an issuer[,] or an 
underwriter. For this purpose, it is not sufficient for him merely to accept "self
serving statements of his sellers and their counsel without reasonably exploring 
the possibility of contrary facts. ,,439 

E . Ii ... d I 440 A d· I xemptlOns rom reglstratlOn reqmrements are construe narrow y. ccor mg y, 
evidence in support of an exemption must be "explicit, exact, and not built on mere conclusory 
statem ents. ,,441 

It is important to bear in mind that there are two distinct burdens in this case. While it 
was Enforcement's burden to prove the elements of its claims, it was the Firm's burden before 

435 See infra p. 80. 

436 Bloomfield, 2014 SEC LEXIS 698, at *23; ACAP, 2013 SECLEXIS 2156, at *29 (citations omitted); Dep 't of 
Enforcement v. Midas Sec., LLC, No. 2005000075703, 2011 FINRA Discip. LEXIS 62, at *11 & n.8 (NAC Mar. 3, 
2011), aff'd, 2012 SEC LEXIS 199, at *28 & n.36. 

437 Midas Sec., 2011 FINRA Discip. LEXIS 62, at *28 & n.36, *38. 

438 Padilla, 2012 FINRA Discip. LEXIS 46, at *29. 

439 Laser Alms Corp., 50 S.E.c. 489,503 (Feb. 14, 1991) (quoting Distribution by Broker-Dealers of Unregistered 
Securities, Exchange Act Release No. 4445, 1962 SEC LEXIS 74 (Feb. 2, 1962)). 

440 Midas Sec., 2011 FINRA Discip. LEXIS at *11-12 (quoting SEC v. Blazon, 609 F. 2d 960,968 (9th Cir 1979). 

441 Midas Sec., 2011 FINRADiscip. LEXIS at *12 (quoting Robert G. Weeks, Exchange Act Release No. 48684, 
2003 SEC LEXIS 2572, at *42 n.34 (Oct. 23, 2003). 
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selling the securities to establish a reasonable basis for the existence of an exemption from 
registration. 

4. Respondents Claim Two Exemptions 

With respect to the transactions at issue, Respondents claim that Rule 144 applied to the 
transactions, or, failing that, the so-called "broker's exemption" in Section 4(a)(4) of the 
Securities Act for ordinary unsolicited trading. 442 

a. Securities Act Rule 144 

The SEC adopted Rule 144 both to provide a "safe harbor" for certain transactions and to 
protect against transactions by non-professionals as a means of circumventing the registration 
requirements. Among other things, Rule 144 restricts the resale of securities acquired directly or 
indirectly from the issuer or an affiliate in a transaction not involving a public offering. The SEC 
defines such securities as "restricted securities," and requires an owner of restricted securities to 
hold them for a length oftime before reselling them in another transaction without registration. 
TIle holding period and other conditions for resale differ ifthe holder of the restricted securities 
is an affiliate or non_affiliate.443 Thus, the identity of the person selling the securities and the 
nature of any relationship that person might have to the issuer become important to the 
exemption analysis. 

Rule 144 defines an affiliate of an issuer as a person who directly or indirectly controls or 
is controlled by or is under common control with the issuer. Although Rule 144 does not define 
control, it is commonly understood that the definition in SEC Rule 405 of Regulation C applies. 
It defines control as '"the possession, direct or indirect, of the power to direct or cause the 
direction of the management and policies of a person whether through the ownership of voting 
securities, by contract, or otherwise." Control depends on the totality ofthe circumstances and 
does not tum simply on whether a person is an officer of a company or the holder of a certain 
amount of stock.444 

The identity ofthe issuer is impOliant, too. TIle Rule 144 safe harbor is not available for 
shell companies. A shell company is defined as an issuer "with no or nominal operations and no 
or nominal non-cash assets.',445 

A person who satisfies the applicable conditions of Rule 144 is deemed not to be engaged 
in a distribution of the securities and therefore not to be an underwriter for purposes of the 

442 Resp. PH Br. at 2-5. 

443 17 C.F.R § 230.144. See generally Hicks, Resales of Restricted Securities at § 2.4, 12-l3, § 2: 1 0, 22-23, § 2.11, 
23-24 (2015 ed.). 

444 SECv. Zenergy Int'1, Inc., 141 F. Supp. 3d 846,853-54 (N.D. Ill. 2015). 

445 Id. at 853. 
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Securities Act.446 TIle burden is on the person claiming an exemption under Rule 144 to prove 
that all the applicable conditions have been met.447 

TIle provisions of Rule 144(d)(3) relating to tacking are important here because tacking 
was the only way that the sellers in the transactions at issue could satisfy the required holding 
period. TIlere are two categories of tacking. One category applies where a person who acquires 
restricted securities cannot personally meet the applicable holding requirement, but he is able to 
tack the holding period of another person to his. The other category applies where a person seeks 
to tack the period oftime he has held restricted securities to the time he held other securities of 
1 . 448 t le same issuer. 

Both categories are relevant in this case. First, to establish the requisite holding period, 
the purported beneficial owners needed to tack their holding period to that of the prior holders. 
TIleir ability to tack depended on the prior holders not being affiliates ofthe issuer. Second, in 
connection with the transactions charged in the Complaint, the prior holders needed to tack their 
acquisition of the securities to the earlier inception ofthe debt obligation exchanged for the 
securities. In order to do that, the debt obligation had to be a security. Rule 144 pennits tacking 
based on the exchange of a security for another security of the same issuer (as long as no 
additional consideration is involved).449 

In this case, Respondents claim that they had sufficient evidence that the sellers of the 
securities at issue were not affiliates ofthe issuers, the issuers were not shell companies, and the 
sellers had met the app licable holding period for the securities. We conclude that they did not. 

h. Broker's Exemption Under Section 4(4) 

Respondents argue they were entitled to the so-called broker's exemption under Section 
4(4) of the Securities Act even if the transactions at issue were not exempt under Rule 144.450 

446 See generally Hicks, Resales of Restricted Securities at § 4: 1,86 (2015 ed.). 

447 See Rule 144(b). 

448 See generally Hicks, Resales of Restricted Securities at § 4:139,318 (2015 ed.). 

449 See generally Hicks, Resales of Restricted Securities at § 4: 139,318-19 (2015 ed.). Rule 144(d)(3) contains the 
provisions governing tacking. Two provisions are relevant here. Rule 144( d)(3)(iv) provides that securities that are 
acquired as a result of a default on a bona fide pledge of the securities shall be deemed to have been acquired when 
they were acquired by the pledger. However, if the securities were pledged without recourse they shall be deemed to 
have been acquired by the pledgee at the time of the pledge. Rule 144(d)(3)(ii) permits a person to tack the period of 
time he has held certain restricted securities to the period of time he has held related securities of the same issuer. It 
provides for tacking where the securities to be sold were acquired from the issuer solely in exchange for other 
securities of the same issuer. 

450Resp. PH Br. 4-5. 
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Section 4(4) is intended to exempt ordinary trading transactions that a broker may be asked to 
execute.451 

As discussed above, a person can be an underwriter within the meaning of the Securities 
Act ifhe acquires the securities from an issuer or affiliate of the issuer with a view to 
distribution. hl order to ensure that the person offering restricted securities for resale is not acting 
as an underwriter, it is necessary for a broker to evaluate the circumstances in which that person 
acquired restricted securities and offers them for resale. A broker cannot be a mere order taker. It 
must make whatever inquiries are necessary under the circumstances to ensure that its customer 
is not an underwriter. 452 

TIlis exemption is not available when the broker "knows or has reasonable ground[s] to 
believe" that his customer is an underwriter, since in that event the broker would also violate 
Section 5 by participating in a non-exempt transaction.453 As FINRA has stated, "[T]his 
exemption is available only if a broker is not aware, after a reasonable inquiry, of circumstances 
indicating that the selling customer is participating in a distribution of securities. ,,454 

Contrary to Respondents' arguments, we conclude that Respondents were confronted by 
abundant evidence that they were likely participating in unlawful distributions of securities. They 
cannot claim that they were unaware of facts signifying that possibility or the need to conduct 
further inquiry. 

5. Both Exemptions Required A "Searching Inquiry" To Ensure That 
No Underwriter Was Involved 

Neither the Rule 144 exemption nor the broker's exemption is available ifthe person 
selling the securities is an underwriter within the meaning of the Securities Act. Accordingly, 
where there are red flags indicating the possibility that a person may be acting as an underwriter, 
both exemptions require that a broker make a "searching inquiry" to satisfy itself that an 
exemption applies. Only then can a broker ensure that it does not participate in an unlawful 
distribution of unregistered securities.455 

TIle SEC observed over half a century ago, "[W]here the sUlTounding circumstances raise 
a question as to whether or not the ostensible sellers may be merely intennediaries for 
controlling persons or statutory underwriters, then searching inquiry is called for.,,456 

451 World Trade Fin. Corp., Exchange Act Release No. 66114,2012 SEC LEXIS 56, at *26 (Jan. 6,2012). 

452 Bloomfield, 2014 SEC LEXIS 698, at *24-25 & nn.35-36. 

453 Bloomfield, 2014 SEC LEXIS 698, at *24; World Trade Financial Corp., 2012 SEC LEXIS 56, at *26 & n.31. 

454 CX-197 at 2 (emphasis supplied). 

455 CX-l97. 

456 Bloomfield, 2014 SEC LEXIS 698, at *26-27. 

77 

- 722a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:51:32 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:51:32 PM



6. FINRA Guidance On Red Flags Signaling That UnderwIiter May Be 
Involved 

In Regulatory Notice 09-05, FINRA published guidance on the specific kinds of facts that 
give rise to the duty of conducting a searching inquiry.457 In that guidance, FINRA made plain 
that "[a]U firms must have procedures reasonably designed to avoid becoming participants in the 
potential unregistered distribution of securities. ,,458 It further explained, "Before selling securities 
in reliance on an exemption, a finn must take reasonable steps to ensure that the transaction 
qualifies for the exemption .... ,,459 

Regulatory Notice 09-05 identifies a non-exhaustive list of red flags that signal the 
"possibility of an illegal, unregistered distribution.,,46o TIlese red flags are by no means 
comprehensive. TIley are merely illustrative. The generally recognized red flags in the Notice 
include the following: 461 

1. A customer opens a new account and delivers physical certificates that represent a 
large block ofthinly traded or low-priced securities. 

2. A customer has a pattem of depositing physical share certificates, immediately selling 
the shares, and then wiring out the proceeds ofthe resale. 

3. A customer deposits share certificates that are recently issued or represent a large 
percentage of the float for the security. 

4. Share certificates reference a company or customer name that has been changed or 
that does not match the name on the account. 

5. TIle lack of a restrictive legend on deposited shares seems inconsistent with the date 
the customer acquired them or the nature of the transaction in which they were 
acquired. 

6. TIlere is a sudden spike in investor demand for a thinly traded or low-priced security, 
coupled with a rising price. 

7. The company was a shell company when it issued the shares. 

8. A customer with little or no assets at the finn receives an electronic transfer or joumal 
transactions of large amounts of low-priced unlisted securities. 

457 CX-197. 

458 eX-I 97, at 2. 

459 eX-I 97, at 2. 

460 CX-197, at l. 

461 eX-197, at 3-4. 
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9. TIle issuer has been through several recent name changes, business combinations or 
recapitalizations, or the company's officers are also officers of numerous similar 
compa11les. 

10. The issuer's SEC filings are not cutTent, are incomplete, or are nonexistent. 

G. Ethical Violations (First Cause Of Action-Scottsdale And Hurry) 

The First Cause of Action charges that Scottsdale and RUlTY violated FINRA Rule 2010 
by acting in contravention of Section 5 of the Securities Act. It alleges that during the relevant 
period, Scottsdale sold millions of shares of securities without registration and without an 
exemption. It fUliher alleges that RUtTy was a necessary patiicipant and substantial factor in the 
unlawful transactions through his close management and control of all the entities involved in the 
process of depositing, approving, and reselling the securities, and through his prospecting for 
CSCT customers. The Complaint alleges that Runy took actions to evade regulatory scmtiny and 
enable the Finn to make the unlawful sales. 

1. Rule 2010 

FINRA Rule 2010 requires FINRA members and their associated persons to "observe 
high standards of commercial honor and just and equitable principles oftrade" in the conduct of 
their business. The Rule requires members of the securities industry not merely to confonn to 
legal and regulatory requirements, but to conduct themselves with integrity, faimess, and 
honesty.462 

Scienter is not required for a Rule 2010 violation. Rather, the SEC has established a 
disjunctive test for a Rule 2010 violation that applies either (i) to intentional or conscious bad 

. conduct or (ii) to a failure to meet ethical nonns, regardless of intention. The SEC has held that 
Rule 2010 may be violated if the respondent has acted either in bad faith or unethically.463 In the 
conte:ll.'i of a Rule 2010 violation, the SEC has defined bad faith as a dishonest belief or purpose, 

462 Robert Marcus Lane, Exchange Act Release No. 74269, 2015 SEC LEXIS 558, at *22 n.20 (Feb. 13,2015) 
(discussing NASD predecessor to FINRA Rule 2010: "[T]his general ethical standard ... is broader and provides 
more flexibility than prescriptive regulations and legal requirements. [FINRA Rule 2010] protects investors and the 
securities industry from dishonest practices that are unfair to investors or hinder the functioning of a free and open 
market, even though those practices may not be illegal or violate a specific rule or regulation.") (internal quotations 
omitted). 

463 Blair Alexander West, Exchange Act Release No. 74030, 2015 SEC LEXIS 102, at *20 (Jan. 9, 2015); Thomas 
W. Heath III, Exchange Act Release No. 59223,2009 SEC LEXIS 14, at *13-17 & nn.9-16 (Jan. 9, 2009), aff'd, 
586 F.3d 122, 130 (2d Cir. 2009), cert denied, 2010 U.S. LEXIS 3029 (Apr. 5,2010) (discussing NYSE predecessor 
of Rule 2010); Dep 't of Enforcement v. Shvarts, No. CAF980029, 2000NASD Discip. LEXIS 6, at *11-18 (NAC 
June 2, 2000). 
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and unethical conduct as conduct inconsistent with the moral nonns or standards of professional 
conduct. 464 

Because the securities industry is built on trust, any ethical failure damages the industry 
generally by casting doubt on the integrity of its participants. An ethical failure also casts doubt 
on the ability of the patticular miscreant to confonn to ethical nonns in the future. Enforcement 
ofFINRA Rule 2010 is therefore fundamental to FINRA's regulatory mission, which, as 
expressed in FINRA's Sanction Guidelines, "is the building of public confidence in the financial 
markets. ,,465 

2. Enforcement Established A PI"ima Facie Case Of A Section 5 
Violation 

The elements of a prima facie case for violation of Section 5 are the following: (i) 
respondents sold or offered to sell securities; (ii) through use of interstate facilities or the mails 
(the jurisdictional means); and (iii) when no registration statement was filed or in effect as to 
those securities. Scienter is not an element.466 A Section 5 violation does not require a showing 
that the sale actually facilitated a fraud. A sale without registration and without an exemption is 
an unlawful distribution of securities regardless of whether it is proven to be connected to a 
fraud. 

Enforcement established a prima facie case. It proved that from December 1, 2013, 
through June 30, 2014, Scottsdale sold shares of three issuers, NHPI, VPLM, and ORFG, using 
the jurisdictional means and without registration.467 

Respondents do not dispute these facts. They argue only that the transactions were 
Co •• 468 exempt lrom regIstratIOn. 

3. The Firm Lacked A Reasonable Basis For An Exemption 

Scottsdale failed to have a reasonable basis for an exemption at the time that it sold the 
securities in the transactions at issue. 

464 Edward S. Brokaw, Exchange Act Release No. 70883,2013 SEC LEXIS 3583, at *33 (Nov. 15,2013). See also 
Simpson v. Bear, Steams & Co., No. C07950030, 1997 NASD Discip. LEXIS 13, at *27 n.9 (NAC Jan. 29, 1997) 
("Tenn 'bad faith' is not simply bad judgment or negligence, but rather it implies the conscious doing of a wrong 
because of dishonest purpose or moral obliquity .... "). 

465 FINRA Sanction Guidelines at 1 (2016) (Overview), https:llwww.finra.orglindustrylsanction-guidelines. 

466 Bloomfield, 2014 SEC LEXIS 698, at *22 & n.29. See also SEC v. Cavanagh, 445 F.3d 105, 111 n.13 (2d Cir. 
2006);SECv. Calvo, 378 F.3d 1211,1214-15 (11thCir. 2004). 

467 RX-l; RX-2; RX-3; JX-268; JX-281; JX-31 O. 

468 Resp. PH Br. 2-5. 
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First, in its due diligence the Finn did not even address the question whether the debt 
obligation was a security, despite having lawyers on its Rule 144 review team and despite 
Respondent Cmz being a lawyer with significant experience in the securities laws. It had no 
foundation for the tacking necessary to achieve the required holding period because the 
promissory notes and lines of credit on which the tacking was based were not securities. 

Second, the documentation to support the Rule 144 exemption was rife with 
discrepancies and suspicious circumstances-all of which raised red flags strongly suggesting 
that the chain of transactions leading to deposits at Scottsdale were sham transactions using false 
documents and nominees to conceal the identity of the beneficial owners. 

Although the Firm compiled thick due diligence packages for the transactions, it did so 
with a "check-the-box" attitude. It did not appropriately evaluate the information in the due 
diligence packages, did not investigate the many red flags, and did not independently verify the 
infonnation received from the interested parties. The due diligence packages created only the 
false appearance of due diligence. 

TIle Finn's conduct was unethical and did not meet the industry nonns. The persons 
involved in the Rule 144 review did not obtain any meaningful infonnation about the individuals 
and entities involved in the transactions. Diekmann confessed that he knew nothing about the 
purported beneficial owner of one of the deposits other than that the person was a client of 
CSCT's client. Scottsdale knew little more about any of them. It failed to petfonn its 
gatekeeping function. The testimony of Enforcement's expert only confinns our conclusion that 
the Finn failed to conduct itself in a manner consistent with industry nonns. 

a. The Prior Holders' Debt Obligations Were Not Secmities 
Available For Tacldng 

i. Reves GovelllS Whether Note Is A Secmity 

Not every note or debt obligation is a security.469 TIle Supreme Court's decision in Reves 
govenlS the analysis.47o Any note with a tenn of more than nine months is presumed to be a 
security unless it resembles one of the judicially enumerated instmments that are not securities, 
such as a note delivered in connection with consumer finance or a mottgage. In Reves, the Court 
set the analytic framework for detennining whether a note bears a resemblance to one of the 
enumerated illStmments or should be held to be a security. Four factors may be considered in 
deciding whether a note is a security: 

(i) whether the seller's purpose is to raise money for general use of business or to 
finance substantial investments, and the buyer is motivated by the profit to be 

469 Reves v. Ernst & Young, 494 U. S. 56, 65-67 (1990). 

47°ld. 
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generated, in contrast to a note to facilitate a minor purchase or sale or to 
correct for cash-flow difficulties; 

(ii) whether the note involves an individual transaction or common trading for 
speculation or investment; 

(iii) whether there is a reasonable public expectation that the note would be viewed 
as security; and 

(iv) whether another regulatory scheme applies that would reduce risk of the 
instrument.471 

In another case, the Court later summed up the distinguishing characteristic of a security 
as "any instrument that might be sold as an investment.,,472 

As we explain below, we conclude that none of the debt obligations held by the prior 
holders were securities. That includes the NHPI note in payment for consulting services, the oral 
line of credit to VPLM, and the outstanding balance on the ORFG line of credit. As a result, 
when the prior holder accepted stock in satisfaction ofthe debt, it was not an exchange of 
securities that would support tacking. 

ii. NHPI 

It is plain that the note written by NHPI to Collins, the prior holder in the chain of 
holders, was not a security. We observe at the outset that the note's tenn was much shorter than 
the nine months required to presume a note to be a security-roughly two months. But it also 
fails the test set forth in Reves. NHPI did not enter into the note agreement in order to finance its 
general business or to make a substantial investment. Nor was Collins motivated by some profit 
to be generated from the note. According to documents in the due diligence package, the note 
was no more than a promise to pay Collins $10,000 for conSUlting services. Furthelmore, the 
note was issued in a single transaction. A note that "merely reflects a single transaction" and is 
"not offered to the public" is not a security.473 Nor could there be any public expectation that an 
individual note promising to pay for services was a security. The fOUl1h factor, whether another 
regulatory scheme applied and diminished the need for treating the instrument as a security, is 
inapplicable where no other factor suppo11s labeling the note a security. 

471 Id at 65-67. See also Bass v. Janney Montgomery Scott, Inc., 210 F.3d 577,583-86 (6th Cir. 2000). 

472 SECv. Edwards, 540 U.S. 389, 393 (2004). See also Frankfurtv. Mega Entel1ainmentGroup 11,2016 U.S. Dist. 
LEXIS 73613, at *11 (N.D. Ill. June 7, 2016) (stating that "only those notes that were issued in an investment 
context" are securities). 

473 New Earthshell Corp. v. Jobookit Holdings Ltd, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 27141, at *10-11 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 5, 
2015) 
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As another similar note was aptly described by a federal district court, the note held by 
Collins was "akin to an 'IOU' for services rendered.,,474 

iii. VPLM 

With respect to the issue of whether the oral line of credit e1.iended by Locksmith to 
VPLM was a security, the focus at the hearing was on whether there is any distinction between 
an oral agreement and a written agreement. Diekmann maintained that there is no difference 
between an oral line of credit and a written line of credit for purposes of Rule 144 and tacking. 
He understood that in either case the successor holder could tack back to an advance on the line 
of credit. He based his understanding on his experience with the treatment of written lines of 
credit and discussions with legal counsel-who exactly he could not recall.475 

In their post-hearing brief,476 Respondents relied on a Seventh Circuit Couti of Appeals 
decision, Canadian Imperial Bank.477 TIleir reliance is misplaced. The issue in Canadian 
Imperial Bank was whether a private plaintiff had sufficiently pleaded the existence of a security 
for purposes of establishing subject matter jurisdiction. The plaintiff alleged that a cetiificate of 
deposit from a Bahama bank was a security, but no document was attached that could be 
analyzed for purposes of jurisdiction. The Court held that the complaint did not allege sufficient 
facts to establish jurisdiction, but it hastened to say that its decision did not mean that only 
written instruments can be securities, noting that oral promises of patticipation in a profit sharing 
plan have been held to be investment contracts even where not evidenced in writing.478 The 
Couti's remarks regarding oral promises as investment contracts provide no basis for concluding 
that the oral credit line here was a security. 

TIle oral line of credit, unlike an oral promise of patticipation in a profit sharing plan, was 
not represented to be an investment. Nor was it easily tradeable as an investment. There was no 
meatlS of being certain of the tenns, confident of the effective transfer of rights, or sure that those 
rights might later be enforced. Accordingly, the oral line of credit was not a security. 

Moreover, even if written, the line of credit did not meet the Reves test. The line of credit 
was a loan to the issuer by a single individual. Such an individual transaction would not be 
viewed as a security by the public and would not ordinarily be traded as an investment. 

474 SEC v. Garber, 959 F. Supp. 2d 374, 377 (S.D.N.Y. 2013). 

475 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1711-17. 

476 Resp. PH Br. 22 n.114. 

477 Canadian fmperialBank of Commerce Trust Co. v. Fingland, 615 F. 2d 465 (7th Cir. 1980). 

478 fa. at 466-67 & n.5. 
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iv.ORFG 

The open-ended line of credit extended by Forward to ORFG for $600,000 was not a 
security. As discussed above in connection with the other debt conversion transactions, it did not 
meet the Reves test. It was an individual transaction that was not designed to trade as an 
investment. Nor would the public view it as a security.479 

b. The Firm Ignored Red Flags 

Even if the notes had been securities, the transactions were not entitled to the safe harbor 
of Rule 144. Many of the red flags set forth in Regulatory Notice 09_05480 existed in the 
transactions at issue. The following red flags are examples: 

• All the stock deposits in the transactions at issue consisted oflarge blocks of thinly 
traded, low-priced stocks issued by obscure companies. (Reg. Notice 09-05 Red Flag 1). 

• CSCT had a pattern of making large deposits of thinly traded microcap stocks, selling the 
securities, and immediately wiring out the proceeds. Respondents knew that CSCT was 
acting on behalf of its FFI customers involved in the transactions and that the FFls also 
engaged in the same pattern while acting on behalf of other entities and individuals. 
Despite the pattern, Scottsdale did nothing to investigate who actually was receiving the 
funds from the securities sales. Because the only account at Scottsdale was in the name of 
CSCT, Scottsdale could not and did not track where the proceeds ultimately went. It 
could not tell if the proceeds went to the different purported beneficial owners or to other 
persons who were repeatedly engaging in the deposit and immediate resale of securities. 
(Reg. Notice 09-05 Red Flag 2). 

• The deposited shares were recently issued, which suggested that the issuer or its control 
persons could be initiating a distribution. Nothing in the due diligence packages indicates 
that Scottsdale took any note of that fact. (Reg. Notice 09-05 Red Flag 3). 

• Although the issuer claimed not to be a shell corporation, there was little evidence of 
ongoing business operations. The Firm mainly relied on a representation by a principal of 
the issuer that the entity was not a shell. (Reg. Notice 09-05 Red Flag 7). 

• Two of the issuers involved in this case had business histories that suggested shell status. 
Only a few months before the deposit ofNHPI securities at Scottsdale, NHPI, a 
pharmaceutical company, announced it was going into the oil and gas business. ORFG, 

479 Furthermore, even if the note had been a security, Forward did not transfer the ORFG note for securities of 
ORFG. He transferred a portion of the note for securities of a different entity, Anything Media. He also did so in 
connection with an agreement by ORFG to modifY the terms of the original line of credit. His exchange involved 
securities of a different issuer and different consideration. Accordingly, Media Central was not entitled to tack back 
to Forward's original note. 

480 See supra pp. 78-79. 

84 

- 729a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:51:32 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:51:32 PM



which described itself as an automotive detailing company that used casual part-time 
labor as required, similarly indicated it was considering going into mineral exploration 
and set forth an anticipated payment schedule for three unspecified mining concessions. 
In both cases, the new business venture was radically different from the old line of 
business, the infOlmation regarding either line of business was scant, and the company's 
purported resources did not appear sufficient to engage in the new line of business. (Reg. 
Notice 09-05 Red Flags 7 and 9). 

Finally, we note that it is critical in a Rule 144 transaction to know the identity of the 
purported beneficial owners and any relationship they might have to the issuers or affiliates of 
the issuers of the shares they seek to sell. Even after collecting voluminous documents, the Finn 
in fact knew nothing about the purported beneficial owners or about the businesses through 
which they held the securities except their names. Diekmann, who headed the Rule 144 team at 
the time of the transactions at issue, admitted that he knew nothing about the purported beneficial 
owner of one of the NHPI deposits other than that the person was a customer ofUnicom.481 The 
Film knew little more than that about any of the other purported beneficial owners involved in 
the transactions at issue. Diekmatm's testimony is a stark confession that the Finn did not 
peliOlm its gatekeeping function and did not adhere to high standards of commercial honor and 
just and equitable principles oftrade. 

c. Respondents' Arguments Are Unavailing 

i. NHPI 

Respondents' arguments relating to the NHPI deposits rest on treating the representations 
by the interested parties in the documentation for the NHPI deposits as though they were true. 
For example, Scottsdale asserts that Collins was not an affiliate of NHPI, and therefore he could 
freely sell the stock derived from his note in the fall of2013 regardless of any tacking to the 
inception of the May 2012 note. 482 Respondents then reason that Collins' transactions with Sky 
Walker, Ireland Offshore, and Swiss National could not be fake loan transactions, as 
Enforcement portrays them, because, as a non-affiliate holder for more than a year, Collins could 
simply have sold the shares to the three depositors. Respondents conclude that there could be no 
reason to fake the loan transactions. Respondents likewise assert that the beneficial owners of 
Sky Walker, Ireland Offshore, and Swiss National were not affiliates ofNHPI based on the 

. h.f'f' b l' d' 483 representattons to t at euect y t Ie 111tereste patiles. 

In making arguments that depend upon the truth of the representations made by the 
interested patiies, Respondents only demonstrate their continuing lack of appropriate response to 

481 Hearing If. (Diekmann) 911-13,919. 

482 In so arguing, the Firm abandons the basis on which the deposit was justified at the time Scottsdale sold the 
shares. On its Checklist for the transaction, the Firm relied on tacking back to the inception of the May 2012 note. 
RX-1, at 1. 

483 Resp. PH Br. 13-15. 
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the suspicious circumstances and glaring red flags raised by the NHPI deposits. As the SEC has 
noted, a broker-dealer may not rely on representations by interested parties because those 
interested parties have an incentive to make misrepresentations. 484 

ii. VPLM 

Again, Scottsdale's arguments largely assume the tmth ofthe representations by the 
interested parties. They assert that they reasonably relied on those representations.485 We reject 
Respondents' position. Red flags signaled that the transaction could be a scheme to evade the 
registration requirements while distributing securities to the public. The Firm could not sell the 
securities unless it investigated further and obtained better support for an exemption. 

Scottsdale also argues that Enforcement failed to prove that any proceeds of the sales of 
VPLM flowed back to the issuer or that there were any links between the issuer and the persons 
involved in selling VPLM stock through CSCT and Scottsdale.486 As discussed above, the Finn 
misunderstands the law. It was not Enforcement's burden to prove who was behind the 
transactions; rather, it was Respondents' burden to probe the suspicious circumstances and 
establish that the transaction was entitled to the Rule 144 exemption before the Finn sold the 
securities. 

iii.ORFG 

As with the other transactions, Respondents' arguments assume the tmth of the 
representations in the transaction documents. For instance, they argue that the Fiml obtained 
satisfactory evidence that the transaction met the requirements of Rule 144 because the Finn 
obtained a letter from ORFG's Chainnan and CEO dated May 19,2014, confinningthat Media 
Central and its purported owner were not affiliates of the company. 

Given that the underlying transaction-the $600,000 open-ended credit line giving the 
holder discretion to conveli stock at will-made no sense, it was unreasonable to rely on that 
letter as the only evidence that the seller was not an affiliate. If the chain of transactions were 
really a series of steps in a distribution for the ultimate benefit of the issuer or those persons 
controlling the issuer, then such a representation by the issuer's Chainnan and CEO would be in 
service ofthe unlawful distribution of securities without registration. 

4. Hurry's Violation 

The First Cause of Action also charges that Huny was a necessary patiicipant and 
substantial factor in the unlawful transactions, through his close matlagement and control of all 
the entities involved in the process of depositing, approving, and reselling the securities, and 

484 Laser Arms, 1991 SEC LEXIS 257, at *36. 

485 Resp. PH Br. 21. 

486 Resp. PH Br. 22. 
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through his prospecting for CSCT customers. It expressly alleges that Hurty purposely 
established CSCT as a means of evading regulatory scrutiny and enabling the Finn to make the 
unlawful sales. Enforcement proved the charges. 

a. Hurry Was A Necessary Participant And Substantial Factor 

Section 5 makes it unlawful for a person to offer or sell securities without registration. 
Liability, however, is not limited to the person or entity that ultimately passes title to the 
security. Courts have developed the "necessary participant/substantial factor" test as a way of 
holding other persons involved with the transactions accountable under Section 5 as offerors or 
sellers.487 The "necessary participant/substantial factor" test is based on statutory language in 
Section 5, which imposes liability on persons who "directly or indirectly" offer or sell securities 
in violation of Section 5.488 

The "necessaty participant/substantial factor" test distinguishes between those persons 
who have only a de minimis or insubstantial role in securities sales in violation of Section 5 and 
those who should be liable. The test is more than a "but for" test. Even if a person is necessary to 
the completion ofthe transaction, such as a transfer agent might be, that does not necessarily 
mean the person was a substantial factor in the violation. Detennining whether someone was a 
substantial factor in the unlawful sales is a fact issue requiring extensive analysis. 489 

It is not clear that the "necessary participant/substantial factor" test is appropriate here. 
Hurry is not charged with offering or selling securities in violation of Section 5. He is charged 
with an ethical violation under Rule 2010. He does not have to be proven to be an offeror or 
seller in order to be proven to have violated Rule 2010. 

The parties briefed Huny's liability using the "necessary participant/substantial factor" 
test, however, and we use it to assist in detetmining whether Hurty was sufficiently linked to the 
transactions at issue to hold him liable for violating Rule 2010 in connection with them. We also 
separately apply the more familiar standard for Rule 2010 violations, which we discuss below. 

Based on the above factual record and analysis, which we do not repeat in detail here, we 
conclude that Hurry was a necessaty participant and a substantial factor in the transactions. He 
was sufficiently linked to the transactions to hold him accountable for his conduct in connection 
with them. His role was not de minimis or insubstantial. 

We reject Hurry's argument that he cannot be linked to the transactions at issue. He 
asserts that there is "not a single document relating to the stocks in question with [his] name 

487 SEC v. CMKM Diamonds, Inc., 729 F.3d 1248, 1255 (9th Cir. 2013). 

488 SEC v. Boock, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 95363, at *47 & n.17 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 25, 2011). 

489 CMKM Diamonds, 729 F.3d at 1255-57; SEC v. Blackburn, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 178325, *8-9 (B.D. La. Sept. 
11,2015). 
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anywhere on it.,,49o While there was little in the way of a paper trail directly linking Hurry to the 
particular transactions at issue, the absence of such a direct link was the result of Huny's own 
demonstrated obsession with secrecy. He purposely concealed his involvement in CSCT's 
business. It is not surprising that there is not a single document relating to the deposits at issue 
with his name on it, because he made sure of it. 

In fact, Hurry was the master puppeteer for all the FFI business that flowed through 
CSCT to Scottsdale and, ultimately, to public investors. CSCT existed only because he 
established and closely managed it. Given Ruzicka's lack of experience, qualifications, and 
contacts, CSCT could not have survived without HutTY'S active involvement. We reject Hun-y's 
assertion that, because Ruzicka had decades of experience as a real estate lawyer who ran his 
own law finn, hiring Ruzicka to run CSCT was a reasonable and logical decision.491 

With respect to the particular transactions at issue, there is sufficient evidence of a link 
between HutTY and the FFIs that made the deposits. Huny developed CSCT's business with the 
three FFIs that engaged in those transactions, Montage, Titan, and Unicom. As set f011h more 
fully above, Hurry admits that he flew to Panama to see Montage and to Belize to see Unicom 
and that he discussed with Unicom doing its business through CSCT. He admits to talking to the 
principals of Montage, Titan, and Unicom multiple times using FaceTime. He admits to creating 
the spreadsheet that tracked CSCT deposits, including those by Montage, Titan, and Unicom. 
D'Mura testified that he and Ruzicka talked about deposits with Huny, and an email shows that 
Huny specifically discussed trading in NHPI and VPLM with Ruzicka. Ruzicka testified that 
Huny told him to deal with a specific contact at Montage. Both Ruzicka and D'Mura said they 
disliked dealing with Cem Can at Unicom, but that they knew that they had no authority to 
decline his business without Hun"y's consent. 

Huny's direct contact with the tlu"ee FFIs involved in the transactions at issue made him 
a substantial factor in their transactions. He did not take Ruzicka with him when he flew to 
Panama and Belize to talk to Montage and Unicom, and Ruzicka testified in his OTR that he did 
not participate in HutTY's FaceTime calls with customers. Hun"y was the critical link between 
CSCT and the three FFIs. Huny's importance was reflected in Unicom's demand for HutTY to 
join a telephone call with Miller, Diekmatm, and Ruzicka to discuss the processes and 
procedures to be used in connection with Unicom's business with Scottsdale through CSCT. 
Whenever something beyond paper-pushing was involved, HutTY'S input was necessary. We 
reject HutTY'S argument that he merely displayed the nonnal interest of an owner in the overall 
financial perfonllance of his finn. 492 His involvement in CSCT's business was intense and 
pervasive. 

490 Resp. PH Br. 45. 

491 Resp. PH Br. 43-44. 

492 Resp. PH Br. 46-47. 
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Hurry fmiher argues that the case law only imposes liability under Section 5 where the 
defendant has either sold the unregistered securities himself or has taken concrete steps 
necessary to effectuate those sales, such as negotiating transactions, issuing opinion letters, or 
directing the issuance of shares. He contends that he engaged in no such activities here.493 

We reject the argument. As noted above, Hun'y is not charged with a Section 5 violation, 
but, rather, a Rule 2010 violation. Unethical conduct in violation of Rule 2010 is not constrained 
by case law defining who is liable as a statutory seller under Section 5. ill any event, substantial 
participation is a broad concept without precise bounds. One who conceives of and plans a 
scheme, or one who is a substantial motivating factor behind it, can be liable under Section 5.494 

To hold otherwise would allow a person to mastermind a Section 5 violation, and, by directing 
others to perfolm the mechanical tasks necessary to effect the sale of securities without 
registration, escape liability. 

h. Hurry Acted In Bad Faith 

FINRA Rule 2010 is a broad ethical principle that may be violated either by conduct that 
fails to meet ethical nOlms, regardless of intention, or conduct that is undetiaken in bad faith. We 
find here that, in connection with the business he routed through CSCT, Hurry acted in bad faith 
and violated FINRA Rule 2010. We conclude that he was engaged in a scheme to evade the 
securities laws, in particular the registration requirements of Section 5. 

Hun-y claimed that he established CSCT because Alpine wanted to shed its IRS tax 
withholding obligations, but there was no evidence that it made business sense to set up an office 
in the Cayman Islands to do that. In fact, the insertion of CSCT into the process of preparing 
stock celiificates for resale to the public made no business sense because, due to the discounts 
Scottsdale extended to CSCT, HutTY'S enterprises as a collective group made no more money 
than when Scottsdale was handling the business directly-but CSCT imposed additional costs. 

That Hurry had no legitimate business reason for setting up CSCT is further apparent 
from the way the Film handled the business purportedly routed through CSCT. The Firm, 
through Miller and Noiman, continued to deal directly with the FFIs and often handled issues 
that arose with the deposits without involving Ruzicka or CSCT. Rather than independently 
preparing deposits for submission to Scottsdale, Ruzicka also sought guidance from Diekmann 
as to what deposits he should consider. 

Further casting doubt on the legitimacy of Hun-y's reasons for setting up CSCT, 
Diekmann testified that an individual in Belize or Panama could have a direct account with 

493 Resp. PH Br. 46 and n.261. 

494 SEC v. Elliott, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 91946, at *20 (SD.N.Y. Aug. 17,2011). See also SEC v. Holschuh, 694 F. 
2d 130, 139-40 (7th Cir. 1982); SEC v. Friendly Power Co., 49 F. Supp. 2d 1363, 1372 (S.D. Fla. 1999) (a person 
has indirectly sold a security to the public if he has "employed or directed others to sell ... or has conceived of and 
planned the scheme by which the unregistered securities were offered or sold"). 
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Scottsdale without going through an FFI like Unicom or CSCT.495 Cruz admitted that it would be 
easier to conduct due diligence on a direct customer of the Finn than a customer who came 
through an FFI such as CSCT or Unicom.496 In fact, the creation ofCSCT diminished 
Scottsdale's access to information about the purported beneficial owners, and neither Scottsdale 
nor Alpine, Hurry's clearing finn, knew where the proceeds from sales of the securities were 
flowing. 497 This testimony raises the question of the purpose served by the multiple layers of 
entities-if not to conceal the identity of the true beneficial owners of the securities. 

HUlry's bad faith was amply proven by his elaborate stratagems for concealing his 
involvement in CSCT's business, including his use ofthe "x" email address at CSCT, his 
insistence on using the attomey-client privilege in inappropriate circumstances, and his use of 
FaceTime to conceal his contacts with customers. He specifically wrote to Ruzicka in an email 
that there should be no written record of HmTY's involvement, which is powelful evidence of 
HUlTY's scheme to avoid regulatory scrutiny. Ruzicka testified in his OTR that HUl1"Y told him he 
was going to the Cayman Islands so that he would not have to "give anything to anyone." 

Hurry's actions betray an attitude antithetical to the public interest, and his attempt to 
evade regulatory scrutiny is inconsistent with his duties as a securities professional. He failed to 
adhere to high standards of commercial honor and just and equitable principles of trade, thereby 
violating FINRA Rule 2010. 

H. Supervisory Violations (Second And Third Causes Of Action-DiBlasi And 
Cruz) 

1. NASD Rule 3010 Imposes Supervisory Duties 

N AS D Rule 301 O( a) mandates that each member finn "shall establish and maintain a 
system to supervise" the activities of its associated persons. It fm1her mandates that a film's 
supervisory system be "reasonably designed to achieve compliance with the applicable securities 
laws and regulations, and with applicable NASD Rules." 

Rule 3010(a)(1) provides that a finn's supervisory system "shall provide, at a minimum," 
for the "establishment and maintenance of written procedures." Rule 301 O(b) details 
requirements for WSPs. Rule 301O(b)(1) requires that a member finn "shall establish, maintain, 
and enforce written procedures to supervise the types of business in which it engages." Those 
WSPs must be "reasonably designed to achieve compliance with applicable securities laws and 
regulations, and with the applicable Rules ofNASD." 

Rule 301O(b )(3) fm1her requires that the WSPs set f011h the titles, registration status, 
locations and responsibilities of each of its supervisory persOlll1el, and that assignments be made 

495 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 1675. 

496 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 220. 

497 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 661-62; Hearing Tr. (Frankel) 2349-50. 
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covering all relevant areas of the finn's business and the applicable securities laws and FINRA 
Rules. Finns are required to preserve a record ofthese designations and their effective dates for 
at least three years. Under Rule 301 O(b)( 4), a finn is required to amend its WSPs as changes 
occur in its supervisory system. 

Broadly speaking, WSPs are a written set of policies and procedures that describe 
concrete steps to supervise a finn's activities. They identify who is responsible for taking those 
steps and set up a system of documentation to allow for review and ensure proper 
implementation. Every broker-dealer finn must create, maintain, update, and adhere to those 
policies and procedures.498 Those policies and procedures contribute to the establishment and 
maintenance of a supervisory system that is reasonably designed to achieve compliance with the 
laws, regulations, and mles applicable to the finn's business. To achieve accountability and 
ensure compliance, the WSPs must be clear and accurate regarding the allocation of supervisory 
responsibilities. 

2. DiBlasi's Violation 

a. Charge 

The Second Cause of Action charges that Scottsdale and DiBlasi, the Finn's CCO, 
violated NASD Rules 3010(a) and (b) and FINRA Rule 2010. The Complaint alleges that 
DiBlasi failed to establish a supervisory system, including WSPs, reasonably designed to ensure 
compliance with Section 5. This failure occurred even though DiBlasi knew that the Finn had 
been sanctioned once before in settling prior charges of selling unregistered nonexempt 
securities. Among other things, the Complaint charges that the Finn's WSPs were deficient 
because they did not set forth clear responsibilities for its persolmel and did not provide for a 
reasonable inquiry into beneficial ownership. The Complaint alleges that the WSPs did not 
require that the Finn's personnel take steps to independently verify the self-serving 
representations made by parties interested in the transactions and did not address the possible use 
of nominees to obscure the identity of the tme beneficial owners of unregistered securities 
deposited at the Finn for resale. Enforcement proved the charge. 

b. DiBlasi Had Responsibility For The Firm's \VSPs 

Throughoutthe relevant period, DiBlasi was the Film's CCO; and he is still the Film's 
CCO. DiBlasi contends, however, that he has never had responsibility for the Firm's Rule 144 
business. He asselis that he does only what he calls "broker-dealer compliance," and not Rule 
144 compliance.499 According to DiBlasi, the Film's fonner president, Cmz, had responsibility 

498 Dep 't of Enforcement v. Ranni, No. 20080117243,2012 FINRA Discip. LEXIS 6, at *15-16 (OHO Mar. 9, 
2012). 

499 Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1921-22, 1927, 1952-53, 1976-77. DiBlasi described what he meant by broker-dealer 
compliance. He makes sure that the Finn's filings, such as the FOnl1 BD and the Forms U4 and U5, are done. He 
maintains records and makes sure correspondence and em ails are reviewed. He summed up his work as taking care 
of all the "back office" tasks. Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1976-77. 
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for Rule 144 procedures and everyone deferred to him.500 DiBlasi agreed that Cmz had a 
longstanding practice regarding responsibilities for Rule 144 compliance. 501 

We reject DiBlasi's assertion that he had no responsibility for the Film's procedures in 
connection with the Film's Rule 144 business for two reasons. First, in the circumstances of this 
case, the assertion is inconsistent with his designation as the Finn's Chief Compliance Officer; 
and, second, the asseliion is inconsistent with the WSPs themselves, as is plain from reading 
them. 

First, DiBlasi is the sole person disclosed on the Film's Fonn BD as CCO. There is no 
co_CCO.502 That means that DiBlasi has been identified to the Finn's regulator as the one person 
responsible for establishing and maintaining the Film's WSPs. 

The Finn's WSPs were required to cover its Rule 144 business, since the Film's business 
is almost entirely the liquidation of unregistered microcap stocks. DiBlasi acknowledged in his 
testimony that during the relevant period 95% of the transactions Scottsdale did for its customers 
involved pelmy stocks, and penny stocks accounted for most of the Finn's revenue. 503 That 
business required heightened attention to compliance issues, as DiBlasi knew. TIle Film had 
previously settled regulatory charges that it had improperly sold unregistered securities without 
an applicable exemption.504 

In these circumstances, the designation CCO calTied with it responsibility for the WSPs 
relating to the Finn's Rule 144 business. DiBlasi's abdication of responsibility as to that business 
is fundamentally incompatible with what it means to be the Firm's CCO. 

We reject DiBlasi's assertion that Enforcement is trymg to hold him liable by virtue of 
his title alone. 505 Rule 3010 requires the designation and disclosure of a person responsible for 
establishing and maintaining a finn's procedures. By definition under the Rule, the person 
disclosed as the ceo has responsibility for the Firm's WSPs. TIle Rule fmiher sets a standard 
for the design of those procedures, which must be reasonably designed to achieve compliance 
with the laws and regulations applicable to the finn's business. The designation and disclosure of 
a finn's CCO is more than a meaningless title. It is one of the building blocks of a supervisory 
system reasonably designed to achieve compliance, and the CCO designation calTies with it 

500 Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1944-47, 1952-53, 1965-66. 

501 Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1970. According to DiBlasi, his predecessor as ceo had no responsibility for Rule 144 
compliance either. Id. 

502 Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1981. 

503 Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1923, 1946. 

504 Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1923-24; CX-12. 

505 Resp. PH Br. 38 n.220. 
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responsibilities. If DiBlasi is not carrying out those responsibilities, then the disclosure on the 
Finn's Fonn BD is false and misleading.506 

Second, throughout the relevant period the Film's WSPs expressly provided that the 
CCO-DiBlasi-had the duty to establish, maintain, and enforce all ofthe Film's WSPs. There 
were two sets of WSPs during the relevant period, the May 2013 WSPs that were in effect in 
October 2013 when DiBlasi became CCO, and the modified WSPs that became effective in May 
2014. The main body of both sets of WSPs expressly assigned to the CCO responsibility to 
"[ e ]stablish, maintain and update, as required the fiml rules and procedures" and specified that 
that responsibility included Appendix A and Appendix B to the WSPS. 507 Appendix A to both 
sets ofWSPs listed prillcipals and branches.508 Appendix B to both sets ofWSPs expressly 
assigned to DiBlasi, by name, the responsibility to "[ e] stablish, maintain and update, as required, 
the finn rules and procedures.,,509 Appendix B assigned to Cruz, DiekmalID, and others various 
operational tasks ill conducting Rule 144 due diligence, but it did not assign them responsibility 
for the WSPs.510 

DiBlasi conceded that there was no written delegation in the 2013 WSPs that gave 
responsibility for Rule 144 policies and procedures to anyone other than the CCO.Sll Moreover, 
the 2013 WSPs expressly imposed certain specific responsibilities on the CCO in comlection 
with sales of unregistered securities. The main body ofthe WSPs included a specific section 
dealing with Rule 144 stock that was headed "Rule 144 Restricted and Control Stock Sales."S12 
In that section, the 2013 WSPs stated that the CCO was responsible for establishing procedures 
reasonably designed to ensure that a stock certificate was validly issued and owned by the 
customer. 513 Importantly, the 2013 WSPs also provided that the CCO should establish 

506 The cases cited by Respondents are not relevant here. The cases did not involve the issue of whether a CCO was 
responsible for a finn's WSPs. Dep 't ofEriforcement v. Mutual Seili. Corp., No. EAF0400630001, 200S FINRA 
Discip. LEXIS 62, at *90-93 (OHO Dec. 16, 200S) (compliance department subordinates who were told to abandon 
red flag blotter review did not have supervisory responsibility for that review); Dep 't of Enforcement v. Kemweis, 
No. C029S0024, 2000 NASD Discip. LEXIS 49, at *67-70 (OHO Feb. 16,2000) (Director of Compliance held not 
to have line responsibility for unsuitable trading by registered representatives). 

507 CX-179, at 6 ("The Chief Compliance Officer ('CCO') is responsible for the establishment and maintenance [of 
Scottsdale's] policies and procedures. "); CX-1S0, at 6 (same). 

508 CX-179, at ISS; CX-1S0, at 151. 

509 Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1930; CX-1S1, at 2 (DiBlasi assigned to "[ e ]stablish, maintain and update, as required the 
firm rules and procedures, includes Appendices A and B"); CX-1S2, at 2 (same). It appears that AppendixB to the 
May 2013 WSPs were modified on November l3, 20l3, to identify DiBlasi by name as responsible for the WSPs. 
CX-1S1, footer bearing date of"111l3/2013." 

510 CX-lS1, at S-9; CX-1S2, at S-9. For example, Appendix B assigned to Diekmann responsibility for Rule 144 
stock deposit due diligence and approval. CX-1S1, at 9; CX-1S2, at 9. 

5ll Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1933, 1945, 1955-56. 

512 CX-179, at 63-65 (Rule 144 Restricted and Control Stock Sales, S.lS through S.lS.11). 

513 CX-179, at 64 (S.lS.2). 
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procedures to ensure that the resale of such a security was made in reasonable reliance on an 
exemption from registration.514 'TIle 2013 WSPs further provided that the CCO should be notified 
and consulted regarding the processing of Rule 144 sales.515 'TIley also specified that the CCO 
was responsible for "developing and implementing policies and procedures that provide for the 
review, approval and resale of Rule 144transactions.,,516 

Nevertheless, DiBlasi argues that he was not responsible for the 2013 WSPs because he 
inherited them. 517 The fact that the 2013 WSPs already existed when DiBlasi became CCO, 
however, does not absolve him of responsibility to examine them, and, if necessary, to amend 
them. 518 As noted above, Rule 3010 contemplates that amendments should be made to WSPs if 
there are changes in a firm's supervisory processes, so that the WSPs accurately reflect what the 
finn is doing. Indeed, shortly after DiBlasi became the Film's CCO, in November 2013, the Finn 
modified Appendix B to identify DiBlasi by name as the person responsible for establishing, 
maintaining, and updating the Finn's WSPs, including Appendices A and B.519 If Cruz had 
responsibility for WSPs to the extent that they related to its Rule 144 business, the correction 
could and should have been made in November 2013. 

DiBlasi also attempts to explain away aspects of the 2013 WSPs that contradict his 
position-such as the specific assignment of Rule 144 compliance tasks to the CCO. He testified 
thatthe 2013 WSPs "didn't accurately reflect how the division of responsibility was set up 
throughout the company. And it needed to be cOlTected.,,520 The 2013 WSPs, however, clearly 
stated that DiBlasi was responsible for the Fil1l1's policies and procedures and made him 
specifically responsible for policies and procedures relating to the Film's Rule 144 business. His 
disclaimer of responsibility cannot oven'ide that plain statement. 

Approximately six months after DiBlasi became CCO, in May 2014, the WSPs were 
modified. 521 Even then, however, the WSPs did not clearly reflect the division of responsibility 
that DiBlasi described in his testimony. The WSPs did not say that Cruz had responsibility for all 
aspects of Rule 144 compliance, including the WSPs relating to Rule 144. 

In place of the CCO, the main body ofthe modified WSPs designated the "General 
Principal" as responsible for developing procedures to ensure that a stock certificate was validly 
issued and owned by the customer, and that the resale of such a security was made in reasonable 

514 Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1940-41; CX-179, at 64 (8.18.2). 

515 CX-179, at 64 (8.18.3). 

516 CX-179, at 64 (8.18.3). 

517 Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1932-33. See Resp. PH Br. 38-39. 

518 Ranni, 2012 FINRA Discip. LEXIS 6, at *27 & n.93. 

519 CX-182, at 2. 

520 Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1969. 

521 Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1921, 1932-33, 1939-42. 
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reliance on an exemption.522 Similarly, the modified WSPs instructed that the General Principal 
should be consulted in connection with Rule 144 transactions. Under the modified WSPs, the 
General Principal was responsible for developing and implementing Rule 144 policies and 
procedures. 523 

Although the title "General Principal" might appear to refer to a single person, the tenn 
General Principal was defined in the modified WSPs as the "Management Committee. ,,524 The 
WSPs declared that the Management Committee had been set up to serve in the role of president 
of the Fiml. 525 The Management Committee was defined in yet another location to consist of 
four persons-including DiBlasi. 526 Accordingly, even under the modified WSPs, as a member 
of the Management Committee, DiBlasi still retained some vaguely defined responsibility for 
Rule 144 transactions. 

DiBlasi relies on the delegation to the Management Committee in arguing that he had no 
responsibility for compliance matters related to the Finn's Rule 144 business. He maintains that 
the specific assignment of responsibility for the WSPs to him by name in Appendix B did not 
"overwrite" the provision in the main body of the WSPs referring to the Management 
Committee.527 

Given the ambiguity ofthe delegation of responsibility in the main body of the WSPs
ostensibly to the General Principal but actually to a committee that included DiBlasi-we think 
the clear, explicit assignment of responsibility for the WSPs to DiBlasi by name contained in 
Appendix B forecloses DiBlasi's argument. That conclusion is bolstered by the description in the 
main body of the WSPs of the CCO's duties, which include responsibility for the Finn's policies 
and procedures. 

DiBlasi's argument also is undennined by the fact that he took actions in connection with 
certificate deposits. For example, he signed a foreign account application by Unicom under the 
label "Compliance Approval. ,,528 FUlthennore, others at the Film reached out to him in 
connection with issues regarding certificate deposits. For example, Diekmann had concems 
about a deposit because Ruzicka said that the customer was pressing to sta1t trading a stock when 

522 CX-180, at 64 (8.18.2). 

523 CX-180, at 64 (8.18.3). 

524 CX-180, at 7 (Compliance and Supervision 1.1.2). 

525 Hearing If. (DiBlasi) 1972; CX-180, at 7. 

526 Hearing If. (DiBlasi) 1933-34, 1939-40, 1942-43. Ihe other mem bers of the :Management Committee were Cruz, 
Jay Noiman, and Elizabeth Arndt. Hearing Ir. (Noiman) 1065-66; Hearing If. (DiBlasi) 1972. 

527 Hearing Ir. (DiBlasi) 1974-75. 

528 Hearing If. (DiBlasi) 1956-57. DiBlasi maintained that his signature meant nothing more than that a foreign 
financial institution was involved. Hearing If. (DiBlasi) 1957. Whatever it meant, DiBlasi's signature appeared 
under the heading "Compliance Approval," and it demonstrated that he was involved in some type of compliance 
review in connection with the Firm's penny stock accounts. 
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there was zero market for it, so Diekmann forwarded the con'espondence to DiBlasi. Diekmann 
said that he did so because he thought Ruzicka's comment called into question whether the 
deposit should have been approved by Scottsdale in the first place. He sent the email to DiBlasi 
because DiBlasi was the CCO.529 

c. The Finn's WSPs 'Vere Not Reasonably Designed To Ensure 
Compliance With Section 5 

i. The WSPs Did Not Accurately Reflect The Way The Finn 
Conducted Its Rule 144 Business 

TIle Fiml's WSPs were not reasonably designed to ensure compliance with Section 5 
because they did not accurately reflect the way the Finn conducted its Rule 144 business. 
DiBlasi testified that Cmz was the principal responsible for Rule 144 compliance and the 
establishment of policies and procedures relating to that business. Cmz testified that DiBlasi 
never had any role in the Rule 144 review process. 530 Cmz created the procedures for Rule 144 
transactions that were in effect during the relevant period, the Finn's OTC Restricted Stock 
Deposit Procedures, dated November 2012.531 He testified, however, that during the relevant 
period DiBlasi had responsibility for updating them.532 

Accepting Respondents' testimony about the allocation of responsibilities, during the 
relevant period the WSPs should have clearly said which aspects of the WSPs were Cmz's 
responsibility and which were DiBlasi's. Neither the 2013 WSPs not· the modified WSPs had any 
clear indication of who was responsible for what. 

DiBlasi admitted that the 2013 WSPs did not accurately reflect the way the Finn was 
operating its Rule 144 business.533 We further find that the modified WSPs also did not 
accurately reflect the way the Finn operated its business. 

DiBlasi's testimony revealed that the modified WSPs allocated responsibility to a 
committee that no longer existed. DiBlasi testified that in January 2014 the Management 
Committee disbanded. He said that Justine Huny took on the Committee's responsibilities in 
Febmary 2014. Then, in March 2014, Cruz officially became president ofthe Finn and took on 

529 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 782-87; CX-222a. 

530 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 563-64. 

531 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 582; RX-27. 

532 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 665-66; RX-27. 

Confusion over who had responsibility for the WSPs apparently is nothing new at the Firm. Cruz did not remember 
who the CCO was at the time he created the Rule 144 procedures, and he did not recall anyone specifically 
delegating to him the responsibility for creating the procedures. Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 665-66. When asked who now 
has responsibility to update the Rule 144 procedures, Cruz testified, "I believe that responsibility now falls on Henry 
Diekmann as president and also as head of the 144 cert team." Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 584. 

533 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 783-86; CX-222a. 
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the responsibilities of the Management Committee. The Committee never reconstituted itself 
again-and yet in May 2014 the Finn put in place the modified WSPs that supposedly gave Rule 
144 compliance responsibility to the Management Committee.534 

Even if the Management Committee had been functioning in May 2014, we find that the 
modified WSPs were misleading regarding the allocation of responsibilities, and, therefore, not 
reasonably designed to achieve compliance. They purported to designate a registered principal as 
responsible for compliance with Rule 144. Rule 3010 requires that supervisory responsibilities 
be delegated to an appropriately registered principal. But, in fact, the WSPs delegated 
responsibility for Rule 144 procedures to a group of people. In so doing, the WSPs obscured who 
had responsibility, making it more difficult to hold anyone accountable for compliance oversight 
over the bulk of the Finn's business. 

This failure to clearly indicate who was responsible for Rule 144 compliance is 
particularly egregious here. It would have been relatively simple to designate Cmz the 
responsible principal, since everyone agreed that he was. 

It is fundamental that a finn's WSPs must clearly designate responsibilities to 
appropriately registered persons and must accurately reflect the way a member finn conducts its 
business. That is why Rule 3010 specifies that supervisory responsibilities be assigned to an 
appropriately registered principal. The person responsible for supervising a pruticular line of 
business must have the appropriate background to do it. That is also why a finn's WSPs must 
address the particular business ruld the particular circumstances of a finn. Only then will the 
WSPs be well designed to reasonably ensure compliance.535 

ii. The WSPs Did Not Require A Reasonable Inquiry Into 
Beneficial Ownership 

We also find that Scottsdale's WSPs were not reasonably designed to achieve complirulce 
with Section 5 because the WSPs failed to require a reasonable inquiry into the identity ofthe 
purpolted beneficial owners of the stock the Finn was selling. The WSPs do not discuss the 
concept of nominees, and the Finn's principals responsible for approval of stock deposits did not 
focus on the potential problem of nominees in conducting their review. The due diligence files 
for the transactions at issue demonstrate that the Film's general practice for reviewing stock 
deposits was inadequate to identify and investigate situations in which nominees might be 
concealing the identity ofthe tme beneficial owners of securities. Diekmru111 testified that he 
knew nothing about the pUl"{Jolted beneficial owner of Sky Walker but that the person was a 

534 Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1973. DiBlasi's testimony that Justine Hurry briefly served as president of the Finn in 
February 2014 is corroborated by the Firm's Fonn BD Amendment dated February 13,2014, which lists Justine 
Hurry as president, as well as a director, of the Firm. CX-17, at 3. That document identifies Cruz as legal counsel 
since:tv1ay 2008. CX-17, at 3. 

535 See NASD Notice to Members 99-45 (June 1999), http://www.fima.org/sites/defaultifileslNoticeDocumenti 
p004311.pdf. 
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customer ofUnicolTI. The lack of focus on the potential use of nominees to conceal the identity 
ofthe hue beneficial owners is particularly egregious in light of the four prior SEC actions 
charging that nominees had been used to facilitate fraud and manipulation. 

The Finn's listing of every FFI on its red flag list was not sufficient to address beneficial 
ownership or to ensure that an unlawful distribution was not OCCUlTing. The WSPs did not 
indicate why or what should be done in response to the red flag designation. When asked what 
additional scmtiny comes from the red flag designation, Diekmann could not think of any. He 
said that the designation "just reflects the heightened risk.,,536 To recognize a heightened risk but 
provide no guidance for dealing with it is not reasonable. WSPs must provide a "reliable 
mechanism" for identifying securities sales that should be investigated or halted. 537 

3. Cruz's Violation 

The Third Cause of Action charges that Cmz failed to adequately and meaningfully 
analyze the collected documents and infonnation. Consequently, he and the staff he supervised 
failed to respond appropriately to red flags strongly indicating that the transactions were not 
entitled to an exemption. He approved the deposits for resale based on a cursory collection and 
verification effort. Enforcement proved the charges. 

There is no dispute that Cmz supervised the processing of deposits for resale pursuant to 
Rule 144. He drafted the Film's procedures for handling restricted stock sold pursuant to Rule 
144 and other fonus used to process deposits. For each transaction, he also met with the person 
who had put together the due diligence file to support the Rule 144 exemption. After talking with 
the person, he gave the final approval that allowed Scottsdale to trade the securities without 
registration. He was critical to the transactions, and, even though the WSPs did not identify him 
as the responsible person, everyone at the Finn looked to Cruz as the person responsible for Rule 
144 compliance. 

Cruz violated his responsibility in two ways. 

First, Cmz failed to analyze whether the debt obligations that fonned the foundation for 
tacking were securities. In light of the circumstances, this failure was egregious. Diekmann, who 
is not a lawyer, was incapable of recognizing and conecting Cmz's enol'. The members of the 
Rule 144 team who were lawyers did not have experience with penny stocks before they came to 
the Finn and were trained by Cmz and the Film's personnel. Everyone depended on Cmz's 
analysis and expeliise. As an experienced securities lawyer, Cruz should have recognized the 
problem. But he failed to meaningfully analyze the infonnation in the due diligence packages. 

Second, Cmz failed to react appropriately to myriad red flags. As set forth above in 
connection with each transaction, the stock deposits were rife with discrepancies and suspicious 

536 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 990. 

537 Midas Sec., 2012 SEC LEXIS 199, at *51. 
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circumstances that constituted red flags. However, Cruz and his staff did not make the required 
"searching inquiry" or obtain independent verification. 

Cruz's failure is egregious because he knew that the Finn was acting as a gatekeeper, 538 

and that broker-dealer finns playa critical role in helping to prevent illegal unregistered resales 
of restricted securities into the public markets. 539 He also acknowledged that at the time ofthe 
events at issue he was aware ofthe red flags in Regulatory Notice 09_05. 540 It is well established 
that the "duty of supervision includes the responsibility to investigate 'red flags' that suggest that 
misconduct may be occurring and to act upon the results. ,,541 

Cruz argues, however, that he was an effective supervisor. He notes that he created the 
Rule 144 manual, the due diligence questionnaire, and beneficial ownership declaration, and that 
the Film dedicated one-third of its staff to perfonning due diligence reviews on stock deposits. 
He states that he inserted himself into the review process as a second set of eyes and additional 
resource when Scottsdale began accepting stock deposits from customers ofsub-FFIs. He also 
asserts that the due diligence packages at issue contained all the required paperwork and that 
there is no instance of an issue being brought to Cruz's attention and him ignoring it. Finally, he 
maintains that the "rigor" of the stock deposit reviews under his leadership is demonstrated by 
the fact that Scottsdale frequently rejected stock deposits. 542 

All of this is beside the point. Cruz is charged with failing to respond appropriately to 
specific red flags identified in connection with the transactions at issue. The mere creation of 
paperwork does not qualify as effective supervision. As FINRA noted in conjunction with 
Regulatory Notice 09-05, in Rule 144 transactions, representations made by the interested pat1ies 
have to be evaluated with a skeptical eye. Independent verification may be required. Instead, 
Cruz guided the staff through a check-the-box exercise. 

Even when Cruz acknowledged that something might be a red flag, he indicated that his 
response would not be to obtain independent verification. Rather, his response would be merely 
to remind the interested pm1ies of the infOlmation that needed to be disclosed. 111is is a totally 
inadequate response to a red flag. 

Cruz's testimony regarding language on Unicom's website illustrates the problem. The 
language on the website indicated that Unicom would appoint nominees for its customers so that 
their names would not appear as an officer or director of the company on their account at 

538 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 86. 

539 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 89. 

540 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 84-90. 

541 KeD Fin, Inc., 2016 FINRA Discip. LEXIS 38, at *70 (quoting Michael T. Studer, 57 S.E.C. 1011, 1023-24 
(2004), ajJ'd, 260 F. App'x 342 (2d Cir. 2008)). See also Ronald Pellegrino, Exchange Act Release No. 59125, 
2008 SEC LEXIS 2843, at *33 (Dec. 19,2008). 

542 Resp. PH Br. 40-41. 

99 

- 744a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:51:32 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:51:32 PM



Unicorn. Cmz said he did not recall seeing that language at the time he reviewed Unicorn's 
deposits, but he agreed that if he had it "could have been" a red flag. In response to that red flag, 
however, he did not say that he would have sought independent verification of the identity of 
Unicorn's customers. Rather, he indicated that Scottsdale would merely emphasize to the 
interested parties that ''they needed to - to disclose the underlying beneficial owner. ,,543 In other 
words, he would continue to rely on the representations ofthe interested parties. 

Cmz argues that he supervised more actively than did respondents in other disciplinary 
proceedings in which supervisory violations were found. 544 Even if that were tme (which we are 
not persuaded it is), the fact that other supervisors in other cases did even less than Cmz to 
respond to red flags is no excuse. The standard for reasonable supervision is not merely 
something marginally better than bad. Moreover, whether supervision is reasonable depends on 
1 . I . f h 545 t le partlCU ar Circumstances 0 eac case. 

Cmz also argues that Enforcement is improperly second-guessing Cmz's exercise of 
reasoned business judgment, and that Enforcement has failed to provide affirmative evidence 
that his jUdgments were incorrect. 546 This argument is en'oneous in two regards. 

First, the argument ignores the record. The transactions at issue were rife with red flags 
that could not be ignored, but Cmz did ignore them. 

Second, the argument confuses the burden on the Finn when it detennined that an 
exemption existed with the burden of proof in litigation. Cmz, acting on behalf of the Firm, had 
the burden of developing a reasonable basis for believing that an exemption existed before the 
securities could be sold without registration. Enforcement proved that he and the Firm did not 
have a reasonable basis for believing that an exemption existed, but nevet1heless Cmz approved 
the sale of the securities at issue without registration. That is all that Enforcement had to prove 
for the supervisory violation. 

In sum, Cmz did not make sure that the transactions met the legal requirements for an 
exchange of securities, and he was oblivious to numerous red flags strongly suggesting that the 
transactions at issue were sham transactions using nominees to effect unlawful distributions of 
securities without registration. He violated his supervisory duties. 

IV. SANCTIONS 

In considering the appropriate sanction for a violation, adjudicators in FINRA 
disciplinary proceedings look to FINRA's Sanction Guidelines ("Guidelines"). TIle Guidelines 

543 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 307-08. 

544 Resp. PH Br. 41 n.236. 

545 E.g., Dep 't ofEnforcementv. Wedbush Sec., Inc., No. 20070094044, 2014 FINRA Discip. LEXIS 40, at *27-28 
(NAC Dec. 11, 2014). 

546 Resp. PH Br. 41. 
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contain recommendations for sanctions for many specific violations, depending on the 
circumstances. They also contain overarching Principal Considerations and General Principles, 
both of which are applicable in all cases.547 

TIle Guidelines are intended to be applied with attention to the regulatory mission of 
FINRA-to protect investors and strengthen market integrity.548 The Guidelines caution that 
sanctions must be significant enough to prevent and discourage future misconduct by a 
respondent and to deter others from similar misconduct. Sanctions also should encourage 
improved business practices.549 

Applying the Guidelines, we first discuss below the appropriate sanctions for the Finn, 
DiBlasi, and Cruz. We separately discuss the sanction for RutTY. 

A. Scottsdale 

As authorized by the Guidelines, we aggregate all the Film's violations. 55o The violations 
are inextricably intertwined and are the result of a systemic failure at the Firm-the Finn's 
failure to have procedures in place that would reasonably ensure compliance and the Finn's 
failure to respond appropriately to red flags led to the Finn's failure to have a reasonable basis 
for an exemption before selling the securities. Furthennore, as discussed below, the Panel 
believes stringent sanctions are watTanted here, and separately sanctioning the Finn for the 
different violations, even at the high end of the range of recommended sanctions, would not 
adequately remediate the Finn's misconduct. We view the Finn's systemic failure to pelfOlm its 
gatekeeping function better addressed as a whole, rather than in piecemeal fashion. 

The Finn violated FINRA Rule 2010 because, in connection with the transactions at 
issue, it did not have a reasonable basis for an exemption. Selling securities without registration 
and without an exemption violated Section 5. TIle Guidelines contain specific recommendations 
for this type of violation. TIle Guidelines recommend a fine of $2,500 to $73,000, but in 
egregious cases the fine may be higher. In egregious cases, a film may also be suspended with 
respect to any or all activities or functions for up to 30 business days or until procedural 
deficiencies are remedied.551 

The Finn, through DiBlasi, failed to have in place WSPs reasonably designed to achieve 
compliance with Section 5. For deficient WSPs, the Guidelines reconunend a fine ranging from 
$1,000 to $37,000. They also suggest that adjudicators consider suspending a finn with respect 

547 FINRA Sanction Guidelines (2016) ("Guidelines"), http://www.finra.orglindustry/sanction-guidelines. 

548 Guidelines at 1, Overview. 

549 Guidelines at 2, General Principle No.1. 

550 Guidelines at 4, General Principle No.4. 

551 Guidelines at 24. 
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to any or all relevant activities or functions for up to 30 business days or until the supervisory 
procedures are amended to confonn to the lUle requirements. 552 

The Fiml, through ClUZ, failed to supervise its Rule 144 process appropriately. The Finn, 
through Cruz, failed to adequately and meaningfully analyze the infonnation collected and thus 
failed to respond appropriately to red flags that the transactions were unlawful distributions. For 
a failure to supenlise, the Guidelines recommend a fine of $5,000 to $73,000. In egregious cases, 
they suggest that adjudicators consider suspending a finn with respect to any or all relevant 
activities or functions for up to 30 business days. An even longer suspension may be imposed, up 
to two years, or the finn may be expelled, where the case involves systemic supervision 
failures. 553 

We find the Finn's violations to be egregious. We also find that there are a large number 
of aggravating factors that increase the need for stringent sanctions. There are no mitigating 
factors. 

1. Aggravating Factors 

a. Specific Principal Considerations Related To Section 5 
Violations 

One ofthe specific Principal Considerations in a case involving a Section 5 violation is 
whether the respondent attempted to comply with an exemption.554 We conclude here that the 
Film did not tlUly attempt to comply. Rather, it created the appearance of compliance. Although 
the Film created thick due diligence packages, it did not meaningfully evaluate the infOlmation 
in those packages. If it had, it would have known it could not sell the securities without further 
investigation and the development of a reasonable basis for an exemption. We further find it 
aggravating that the Finn expended its resources on creating the appearance of compliance, 
rather than hue compliance, because such conduct is deceptive and displays a lack of regard for 
the applicable law and regulatory requirements. This aggravating factor applies not only to the 
Finn but to ClUZ, on whom everyone at the Film depended for Rule 144 compliance. 

Another specific Principal Consideration is the share volume and dollar amount ofthe 
transactions involved. 555 The transactions at issue involved millions of shares and resulted in 

552 Guidelines at 103. 

553 Guidelines at 102. 

554 Guidelines at 24. 

555 Guidelines at 24. See also Guidelines at 7, General Principal Consideration 18. 
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proceeds of more than $1.75 million. 556 The amounts involved are substantial and constitute an 
aggravating factor. 

A third specific Principal Consideration is whether the respondent implemented 
reasonable procedures to ensure that it did not participate in an umegistered distribution.557 The 
Firm's procedures were not reasonable. To the contrary, they seemed designed to obscure who 
was responsible for Rule 144 compliance and they failed to require specific, reliable evidence to 
support the application of an exemption. Nor did the Finn implement good practices. 
Scottsdale's staff uncritically relied on the self-serving representations of the interested parties. 
When they did notice a discrepancy, the staff assumed an innocent explanation or accepted a 
plainly unreliable representation from the interested parties, rather than pursuing the "searching 
inquiry" that was required. This aggravating factor applies to DiBlasi, as the CCO, and to ClUZ, 
as the person ultimately responsible for Rule 144 compliance, as well as the Firm. 

A fourth specific Principal Consideration is whether the respondent disregarded red flags 
suggesting the presence of an umegistered distribution.558 As discussed above, the Film 
repeatedly failed to identify and disregarded numerous red flags indicating that the transactions 
were unlawful distributions of securities. The multiplicity of red flags is another aggravating 
factor. This aggravating factor applies to ClUZ as well as the Fiml. 

h. Specific Principal Considerations Related To Deficient WSPs 

One of the specific Principal Considerations relating to deficient WSPs is whether those 
deficiencies allowed violative conduct to occur or to escape detection. We find here that the 
WSPs allowed violations to occur. The failure to provide guidance on dealing with discrepancies 
and suspicious circumstances allowed those involved with Rule 144 review to proceed in a rote 
fashion, without analyzing the infonnation they collected. This aggravating factor applies to both 
the Finn and DiBlasi. 

Another specific Principal Consideration is whether the deficiencies made it difficult to 
determine the individuals responsible for specific areas of supervision or compliance. We find 
that the failure to clearly and accurately delineate responsibility lessened transparency and 
accountability, making regulatory oversight more difficult. It is patiicularly aggravating that the 
person designated CCO should disclaim responsibility for the vast majority ofthe Firm's 
business. This aggravating factor applies to both the Finn and DiBlasi. 

556 JX-268 (NHPI-Related Activity in CSCT Account: Total Net Proceeds of $264,711.70); JX-281 (VPLM-Related 
Activity in CSCT Account: Total Net Proceeds of$1,408,173.39); JX-310 (ORFG-Related Activity in CSCT 
Account: Total Net Proceeds of $91,408.43). 

557 Guidelines at 24. See also Guidelines at 6, General Principal Consideration 5. 

558 Guidelines at 24. 
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c. Specific Principal Considerations Related To Failure To 
Supervise 

One of the specific Principal Considerations in connection with a failure to supervise is 
whether the respondent ignored red flags waming of the need for additional supervisory scrutiny. 
Another is the nature, extent, size, and character of the underlying misconduct. Both ofthese are 
aggravating factors in this case. The Finn, through Cruz, ignored multiple red flags that the 
transactions required additional scrutiny. The transactions were substantial and were typical of 
the bulk of the Film's business. The supervisory failure was in fact built into the Film's standard 
practice for processing Rule 144 stock deposits, which is an aggravating factor. These 
aggravating factors apply to both the Finn and Cruz. 

d. General Principal Considerations 

Several general Principal Considerations are relevant to this case. 559 Principal 
Consideration 1 is a respondent's relevant disciplinary history. 560 Scottsdale has a disciplinary 
history, and some of that histolY involves misconduct like the misconduct here. As noted above, 
in the 2011 AWC the Finn settled charges that it had sold unregistered securities and that it had 
inadequate supervisory procedures and WSPs to detect and prevent the sale of unregistered 
securities. The Finn resolved other charges in the 2009, 2012, and 2015 AWCs. Finally, 
although the Finn was not charged in connection with the four SEC cases, Ruettiger, Gibraltar I, 
Gibraltar II, and Tavella, those cases did involve alleged misconduct through accounts at the 
Finn. These cases put the Finn on notice of the risk of sham transactions and the use of 
nominees to conceal beneficial ownership and facilitate unlawful distributions of securities. They 
heightened the need for the Film to be alert to red flags. hllight of this history, it is aggravating 
that Scottsdale pelfonned its gatekeeping function so poorly. 

Principal Consideration 2 concems whether a respondent has accepted responsibility for 
and acknowledged the misconduct prior to detection and intervention. The Finn here has not. It 
maintains that its procedures are "market-leading" and create an "unfriendly environment" for 
stock manipulation.561 The facts do not support that characterization. 

Furthennore, in light of the fact that the transactions at issue involved persons who have 
been indicted for engaging in securities fraud and other crimes, it is particularly aggravatillg that 
the Finn's CutTent president, Diekmann, testified that if any of the three deposits at issue were 
presented to him today-NHPI, VPLM, or ORFG-he would approve it. He expressed no 
qualms.562 This means that the person in charge of approving stock deposits as satisfying the 
Rule 144 exemption is likely to commit the same violations again. 

559 Guidelines at 6-7. 

560 Guidelines at 6, General Principal Consideration 1. 

561 Resp. PH Br. 37-38. 

562 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1799-80. 
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Adding to our concerns in this regard, Cruz echoed Diekmatill. Cruz said that, despite the 
evidence presented to him during his testimony relating to the five certificate deposits charged in 
the Complaint (three NHPI, one VPLM, and one ORFG), he believed that the Rule 144 
exemption applied and the transactions complied with Section 5.563 

Principal Consideration 8 is whether a respondent engaged innumerous acts or a pattern 
of misconduct. 564 Principal Consideration 16 is whether the misconduct is aben-ant behavior. 565 

Scottsdale engaged in a pattern of misconduct and it was not aberrant behavior. Indeed, the Finn 
institutionalized its misconduct, by papering its files with documents that it did not meaningfully 
analyze. It is aggravating that the misconduct is actually the standard way the Finn conducts all 
its business. Moreover, Cruz testified that the pattern of deposits based on buying loan notes and 
exchanging them for stock was a typical transaction for the Finn. Because it was typical he saw 
nothing suspicious in it. TIlese aspects of the misconduct are aggravating as to both the Finn and 
Cruz. 

Principal Consideration 13 is whether the misconduct was the result of an intentional act, 
recklessness or negligence. 566 TIle Finn's misconduct was not the product of negligence. It acted 
intentionally when it created and imp lemented the procedures for reviewing deposits of stock 
certificates for resale that created a false appearance of compliance. This aggravating factor 
applies not only to the Finn but to both DiBlasi and Cruz. 

Principal Consideration 18 focuses on the number, size, and character of the 
transactions. 567 The transactions at issue had many red flags indicating that they were schemes to 
evade the securities laws and the scrutiny that comes with registration. Given that character, it is 
aggravating that, as a result of Scottsdale's failure to petfOrnl its gatekeeping function, millions 
of dollars of securities were sold to the investing public without the safeguards that accompany 
registration. 

e. General Principles 

TIle Guidelines instruct adjudicators to take into account certain General Principles 
applicable to all sanction determinations.568 One ofthose General Principles is that disciplinary 
sanctions should be designed to deter misconduct, both by the respondent and by others, and 
should uphold high standards of business conduct. Adjudicators should impose sanctions that are 

563 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 555. 

564 Guidelines at 6, General Principal Consideration 8. 

565 Guidelines at 7, General Principal Consideration 16. 

566 Guidelines at 7, General Principal Consideration 13. 

567 Guidelines at 7, General Principal Consideration 18. 

568 Guidelines at 2-5. 
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meaningful and significant enough to accomplish these goals, and the sanctions should reflect the 
. f h . d . 569 senousness 0 t e mlscon uct at lssue. 

The Finn's business is almost entirely the processing of penny stock deposits for resale 
into the public marketplace. In light of that fact, it is aggravating that the Finn had a check-the
box approach to its review of the deposits, without meaningful analysis of the multitude of red 
flags. The confession by Diekmann, the CUlTent president of the Finn, that, even after compiling 
a thick due diligence book, he knew nothing about the beneficial owner of one ofthe NHPI 
deposits is disturbing. It suggests that the person who now has authority to give final approval to 
stock deposits for resale has no understanding of what is required to ensure that the Finn does 
not participate in an unlawful distribution of securities without registration. The sanctions here 
must be stringent to deal with the seriousness of the misconduct and to show the Finn that it 
cannot simply continue with its business in its usual fashion. We believe that only a substantial 
sanction will deter the Finn from future misconduct. 

Another General Principle is that disciplinary sanctions should be more severe for 
recidivists in order to deter and prevent future misconduct. The imposition of more severe 
sanctions emphasizes the need for con"ective action.57o As noted above, the Finn has a 
disciplinary history. It has been disciplined for selling unregistered securities and for other 
violations. In light ofthis history, it is appropriate to impose more severe sanctions. 

f. Overview 

The mission ofFINRA's regulatory and disciplinary process is to protect investors and 
promote market integrity. In fulfilling that mission, adjudicators are not limited to the sanctions 
recommended in the Guidelines. Based on the facts and circumstances presented in each case, 
adjudicators may impose sanctions that fall outside the ranges recOlmnended and may consider 
aggravating and mitigating factors in addition to those listed in the Guidelines. 571 

2. Potential :Mitigating Factor 

Principal Consideration 3, which is applicable to all sanctions detenninations, concems 
whether, prior to detection or intervention by a regulator, a finn voluntarily employed cOlTective 
measures to avoid reCUlTence of misconduct. This might be argued to be a mitigating factor. 

The Finn maintains that it enhanced its procedures after the SEC filed the complaints in 
the four cases involving nominees. In pruticular, it claims that it enhanced its reviews of stock 
promotions and notes that it ended all commissioned representatives at the Finn. It asserts that its 
requirement of a beneficial ownership declaration is a "market-leading practice" that has been 

569 Guidelines at 2, General Principle 1. 

570 Guidelines at 2, General Principle 2. 

571 Guidelines at 1. 
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adopted as a recommended method for detelmining beneficial ownership. It also points to its use 
of a Red Flag List and a Stock Watch List as enhancements to its reviews. 572 

We find that whatever changes the Film made in its procedures were insufficient to be 
mitigating. To some degree, they appear to be more of the same. They created the appearance of 
compliance without actual compliance. Even with the so-called enhancements, the Finn's 
procedures were woefully lacking. The record is replete with red flags that the Film and Cruz 
ignored. 

3. Sanction 

In light of the egregious nature of the Finn's violation, the Finn's institutionalization of 
the misconduct as its standard way of doing business, and the other aggravating factors set forth 
above, we believe that a stringent sanction is appropriate. Only such a sanction will serve the 
remedial purposes of the disciplinary process. The Finn must be detelTed from similar 
misconduct in the future. We impose on Scottsdale a fine of $1. 5 million. 

B. HUlTY 

Hurry's violation of his duty to observe high standards of commercial honor and just and 
equitable principles oftrade was purposeful and egregious. These two qualities lead us to 
conclude that Hurry is a threat to investors and the integrity of the markets. Our concem is 
compounded by our credibility findings. We found that he repeatedly testified falsely, and that 
there was a pattem of doing so when he thought no contradictory evidence would come to light. 

When misconduct is intentional, General Prillciple 1 provides that adjudicators should 
assess sanctions that exceed the recommended range in the Guidelines. 573 Principal 
Consideration 13 also focuses on whether a respondent's misconduct is the result of an 
intentional act, recklessness, or negligence. 574 When a violation is egregious, the Guidelines 
often suggest more severe sanctions. In egregious cases in connection with violations of Rule 
2010 and Section 5, the specific Guidelines recommend that an individual be suspended for up to 
two years or batTed. 

Even though he has no disciplinary history, the devious nature of Hurry's violation 
evidences disregard for regulatory requirements, an aggravating factor under General Principle 2 
and Principal Consideration 10.575 We have no confidence that ifhe remained in the securities 
industry he would not again devise a way to evade the law and regulatory requirements. For this 
reason also, we believe HutTY is a threat to the investing pUblic. 

572 Resp. PH Br. 37-38. 

5T3 Guidelines at 2, General Principle 2. 

574 Guidelines at 7, General Principal Consideration 13. 

575 Guidelines at 2, General Principle 2; Guidelines at 6, General Principal Consideration 10. 
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As discussed in connection with the Finn's violation and sanction, the scheme enabled 
large amounts of stock certificates to be sold in a number of transactions without the protections 
of registration and without an exemption. Under Principal Consideration 18, the size ofthe 
transactions is an aggravating factor. 

Finally, we note that Hlmy had by far the most to gain financially from setting up CSCT 
and enabling shares deposited from offshore customers to be shielded from scrutiny. He and his 
wife own all three entities involved in the process: CSCT, Scottsdale, and Alpine. And although 
Respondents emphasize that the particular transactions at issue did not generate a huge amount 
of money, the microcap securities liquidation business as a whole was highly remunerative for 
Huny and his wife. We earlier noted that, from Scottsdale alone, in 2014 they received 
approximately $6.2 million in directors' fees and $1.45 million in net income. The compensation 
for all other employees and for professional and consulting fees for that year totaled less than 
half that-approximately $2.7 million. It was to Hun'y's financial advantage to facilitate the 
processing of FFI deposits and to minimize regulatory oversight. The misconduct added to his 
financial gain and is an aggravating factor under Principal Consideration 17.576 

We bar Hurry from associating with any FINRA member in any capacity and believe it 
appropriately remedial to fine him $100,000. In light of the bar, however, we do not impose the 
fine. 

C. DiBlasi 

The Guidelines provide with respect to an individual who is responsible for deficient 
WSPs that in egregious cases he may be suspended in any or all capacities for up to one year. 
The Guidelines also provide for a fine ranging from $1,000 to $37,000. 

In this case we find more stringent sanctions appropriately remedial. DiBlasi's violation 
was egregious, and there are aggravating factors. The WSPs created the appearance of a set of 
procedures designed to achieve compliance, but they did not accurately reflect the way the Finn 
actually handled its Rule 144 deposits. They did not even reflect DiBlasi's tme role. Even though 
he was purportedly the CCO, he claimed that he had nothing to do with the vast majority of the 
Finn's business. Essentially, he perfonned back-office functions for the Firm. The result of the 
deficiencies in the WSPs was that violations occurred and regulatory eff011s to detelmine the 
persons responsible were hindered. 

We suspend DiBlasi from associating with any FINRA member finn in any capacity for 
two years and fine him $50,000. 

D. Cruz 

The Guidelines provide with respect to an individual supervisor who fails to respond to 
red flags that, in egregious cases, an adjudicator should consider suspending the person in any or 

576 Guidelines at 7, General Principal Consideration 17. 
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all capacities for up to two years or ban'ing him. A fine of $5,000 to $73,000 also may be 
imposed. 

Cruz's violation was egregious. As a lawyer with considerable background in the 
securities laws, he had the background that others did not to scrutinize the due diligence 
packages and identify red flags. Furthennore, as the person at the Finn everyone else depended 
upon for Rule 144 compliance, he knew that he was critical to the Firm's perfonnance of its 
gatekeeping duty. He was the principal at the Finn who gave final approval to the sales of 
deposited securities, signing under a certification that the transactions, to his knowledge, were 
lawful. In light ofthese circumstances and the many aggravating factors identified above, Cruz's 
failure to recognize and appropriately address multiple red flags was inexcusable. 

We suspend Cruz from associating with any FINRA member film in any capacity for two 
years and fine him $50,000. 

E. Respondents' Arguments For Lesser Sanctions Rejecte(l 

We reject Respondents' arguments for lesser sanctions. TIley asselt that the relief 
requested by Enforcement camlOt be reconciled with the Guidelines because the sanctions are 
more stringent than the recommended range. 577 However, the Guidelines are not absolute. TIley 
are recommendations. As provided in the Overview, adjudicators may impose sanctions outside 
the recommended range where the particular facts and circumstances make that appropriate. 578 

We are concemed that the misconduct here is the Finn's standard approach to processing 
deposits of stock certificates for sale. As long as the Finn continues with that check-the-box 
approach, without a meaningful evaluation of the infonnation it collects, it is a risk to public 
investors. More stringent sanctions are necessary to emphasize the necessity for cOl1'ective action 
and to remediate the violation. 

Respondents also compare their case to other cases involving Section 5 and supervisory 
violations, asselting that in those other cases the misconduct was worse and the sanctions less.579 

The appropriateness of sanctions, however, depends on the facts and circumstances of the 
pmticular case and cm1l10t be detennined by comparison to sanctions in other cases that involve 
different facts and circumstmlces.580 FUlthelmore, Respondents' misconduct was far more 
egregious thml Respondents acknowledge. 

577 Resp. PH Br. 47. 

578 Guidelines at 1. 

579 Resp. PH Br. 47-49. 

580 See, e.g., William Scholander, Exchange Act Release No. 77492, 2016 SEC LIDGS 1209, at *42 & n.65 (Mar. 
31,2016). 
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With respect to disciplinary history, Respondents argue that the individual Respondents 
have no disciplinary history.S81 It is well established that the absence of a disciplinary history is 
not mitigating as to sanctions. A wrongdoer should not be rewarded for acting in accord with his 
duties as a securities professional. 582 

In sum, we find that the sanctions we impose here are necessary, appropriate and 
remedial. They serve the twin goals of protecting public investors and contributing to market 
integrity. 583 

v. CONCLUSION 

The Firm, Scottsdale Capital Advisors, violated FINRA Rule 2010. Accordingly, it is 
ordered to pay a fine of $1.5 million. John J. Hurry violated FINRA Rule 2010. For his 
misconduct he is barred from association with any FINRA member in any capacity. He would be 
fined $100,000, but, in light of the bar, the fine is not imposed. Timothy B. DiBlasi violated 
NASD Rules 3010(a) and (b) and FINRA Rule 2010. For his misconduct, he is suspended for 
two years from association with any FINRA member in any capacity and fined $50,000. D. 
Michael Cruz violated NASD Rule 3010(b) and FINRA Rule 2010. Forbis misconduct, he is 
suspended for two years from association with any FINRA member in any capacity and fined 
$50,000. 

Respondents are also ordered to pay costs in the amount of $22,124.29, which includes a 
$750 administrative fee and $21,374.29 for the cost of the transcript. Iftbis decision becomes 
FINRA's final disciplinary action, Hurry's bar will take immediate effect. DiBlasi's and Cruz's 
suspension will begin with the opening of business on August 21,2017. The fines and assessed 
costs shall be due on a date set by FINRA, but not sooner than 30 days after this amended . 
decision becomes FINRA's final disciplinary action in this proceeding. 

581 Resp. PH Br. 47. 

ucinda O. McConathy 
Hearing Officer 
For the Extended Hearing Panel 

582 See, e.g., Kenny A. Akindemowo, Exchange Act Release No. 78352,2016 SEC LEXIS 2522, at *5 & n.5 (July 18, 
2016). See a/so Guidelines at 6 and n.2. 

583 The Hearing Panel has considered and rejects without discussion any other arguments made by the Parties that . 
are inconsistent with this decision. 

110 

- 755a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:51:32 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:51:32 PM



Copies to: Scottsdale Capital Advisors (via overnight and first-class mail) 
John J. Huny (via overnight and first-class mail) 
Timothy B. DiBlasi (via overnight and first-class mail) 
D. Michael Cmz (via overnight and first-class mail) 
Kevin J. Harnisch, Esq. (via electronic and first-class mail) 
Ryan E. Meltzer, Esq. (via electronic mail) 
Michael Edney, Esq. (via electronic mail) 
Jeffrey D. Pariser, Esq. (via electronic and first-class mail) 
Gregory R. Firehoc~ Esq. (via electronic mail) 
Laura Blackston, Esq. (via electronic mail) 
Heather Freiburger, Esq. (via electronic mail) 
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Under MCR 2.116(C)(8), MLM and Goode offer this Memorandum in sup

port of their Motion to dismiss the Second Amended Complaint (" Complaint") with 

prejudice on summary disposition for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be 

granted. 

INTRODUCTION 

This is a defamation action. Scottsdale has sued MLM and Goode for allegedly 

libelous statements posted in an online article at goodetrades.com, a blog reporting on 

news about penny-stock trading. 

A "penny stock" refers to a security issued by a very small company that trades 

at less than $5.00 per share.! Also known as "microcap stocks," penny stocks are 

issued by companies, many of which do not file financial reports with the U. S. Secu

rities & Exchange Comrnission.2 The SEC describes these securities as "among the 

most risky," suffering from a scarcity of publicly-available information that allows 

"fraudsters [to] easily spread false information about microcap companies, making 

profits while creating losses for unsuspecting investors."3 They are very speculative 

investments, and Congress has tightly regulated broker-dealers who facilitate penny

stock trading under the Exchange Act. 4 

One fraud particularly affecting penny stocks is the classic pump-and-dump 

scheme. The scheme involves touting a company's stock through false and mislead

ing statements to the marketplace to ignite a buying frenzy that "pumps" the price of 

1 U.S. Secs. & Exch. Comrn'n, Penny Stock Rules (May 9,2013) ("PENNY STOCK 
RULES") (available at http://bit.ly/SEC-Penny-Stock-Rules). 

2 U.S. Secs. & Exch. Comrn'n, Microcap Stock: A Guide for Investors, Introduc
tion (Sept. 13, 2013) (available at http://bit.ly/ SEC-Microcap-Guide) . 

3 [d. 

4 PENNY STOCK RULES, supra at n.l 
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a stock (usually a penny stock). The hucksters then sell (or "dump") their stocks at 

the "pumped" up price, realizing a handsome profit. Once they dump their shares 

and stop hyping the stock, the price falls and investors lose their money.5 

MLM and Mr. Goode reported on pump-and-dump schemes, including one 

involving stock in Biozoom, which was touted as a biomedical technology company. 

Before April 2013, Biozoom was known as Entertainment Art, Inc., and it produced 

leather bags. In April 2013, it announced that it was changing its name to Biozoom 

and exiting the leather-bag business to develop biomedical technology. From March 

2013 (the month before the announcement) to June 2013, at least eight people opened 

accounts with broker-dealers and deposited millions of shares of Biozoom that they 

(falsely) claimed were purchased from the original shareholders of Entertainment Art 

in the previous few months and could be freely traded.6 From May 16, 2013 to June 

17, 2013, these people sold 14 million shares yielding almost $34 million, of which 

nearly $17 million was wired to overseas bank accounts.7 Eventually, the stock col

lapsed. The SEC brought an enforcement action, US. Securities & Exchange Comm 'n 

v. Tavel/a, to recover the ill-gotten gains and make swindled investors whole. 

Scottsdale, a broker-dealer that facilitated penny-stock trading and claims to be 

one of the dominant companies in the microcap securities market for handling more 

than $l25 million worth of trades in 2015 alone,8 accepted Biozoom stocks for deposit 

and facilitated trading in the microcap market. Many of the trading accounts frozen 

5 U. S. Secs. & Exch. Comm 'n, "Pump-and-Dumps" and Market Manipula
tions Gun. 25, 2013) (available at http://bit. ly/SEC-Pump-and-Dumps). 

6 US. Sees. & Exch. Comm 'n v. Tavella, Civ. No. 13-4609 (SDNY), Complaint at 2, 
Ijfljf 3-5 Gul. 3, 2013) . 

7 [d. at 2-3, Ijfljf 6- 7. 

8 Complaint at 3, Ijf 11. 
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through the SEC's enforcement action were held at Scottsdale.9 And, notably, since 

Scottsdale filed this lawsuit against MLM and Mr. Goode, the SEC entered an order 

sanctioning Scottsdale's representative Timothy Scarpino for facilitating the sale of 

8.2 million Biozoom shares that generated $18.5 million in gains-just over half the 

shares and half the gains-for the fraudsters. 1O His offense was "fail[ing] to conduct 

a searching inquiry into facts surrounding the proposed sales" of unregistered Bio

zoom stock, despite the presence of "significant red flags."l1 

Among other things, it was this same kind of failure to conduct searching in

quiries that resulted in the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority taking discipli

nary action against ScottsdaleY FINRA imposed a $1.5 million fine against Scotts

dale for "institutionaliz[ing] misconduct as its standard way of doing business," 

among other aggravating factors.B Part of the institutionalized misconduct included 

Scottsdale's failure to revise its procedures to focus on potential sham transactions 

after botching its gatekeeping role in the Biozoom pump-and-dump scheme that led 

to the SEC's enforcement action.14 

9 Tavella, Civ. No. 13-4609 (SDNY), Stipulated Order Granting Prelim. Inj., Asset 
Freeze, and Other Relief (R. 16, Jul. 16, 2013); Final J. Defs. Graciarena and Loureyro 
(R. 67, Dec. 8, 2014); Final Default J., Order Granting Inj. & Other Relief Against 
Tavella [and Others] (R. 69, Jan. 9, 2015). 

10 In re Timothy C. Scarpino, SEC No. 3-18483, Order Instituting Admin. and Cease
and-Desist Proceedings, Making Findings, Imposing Remedial Sanctions, and a Cease
and-Desist Order (May IS, 2018) . 

11 !d. at 2, Part III, Summary. 

12 Answer Exh. A, FINRA v. Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corp., No. 2014041724 
601, Amended Extended Hr'g Panel Decision Oun. 20, 2017) (available at http:// 
bit.ly/FINRA-Panel-Decision) ("FINRA PANEL DEC.") 

13 Id. at 107, Part IV(A)(3) . 

14 Id. at 11-12,101-102,104. 
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FINRA had equally harsh words for Scottsdale's owner, John Hurry. FINRA 

found that he "violat[ ed] his duty to observe high standards of commercial honor and 

just and equitable principles of trade," and it was" purposeful and egregious," which 

led FINRA to conclude that " [he] is a threat to investors and the integrity of the mar

kets. "15 Worse yet, FINRA found that Hurry "repeatedly testified falsely, and that 

there was a pattern of doing so when he thought no contradictory evidence would 

come to light." 16 FINRA barred Hurry from associating with any other FINRA mem

ber for any reasonY 

Which brings us to this lawsuit. The statements that Scottsdale claims are li

belous are contained within an article written by Goode and published by MLM about 

three years after the Biozoom fraud. (The article is attached to the Complaint, and is 

part ofthe pleading for all purposes. Slaterv.AnnArbor Pub. Sch. Ed. ofEduc., 250 Mich. 

App. 419, 427 (2002).) The article include extensive quotations from FINRA's enforce-

ment decision. It also include a link to the decision. 

Scottsdale doesn't argue that the reporting about the FINRA action is inaccu

rate. Rather, it plucks a few sentences from the articles and claims that they wrongfully 

accuse it of actively engaging in a pump-and-dump scheme. In context, however, the 

articles do nothing more than note that penny stocks were illegally traded through 

Scottsdale brokerage accounts. And the notion that these articles damaged Scottsdale 

in any way- much less in some way unique and independent of (a) FINRA castigating 

and fining Scottsdale, or (b) FINRA excommunicating Mr. Hurry from the securities 

industry-is risible. 

15 /d. at 107, Part IV (B). 

16 Ibid. 

17 Id. at 108. The FINRA National Adjudicatory Council affirmed this ruling. FINRA 
v. Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corp., No. 2014041724601 (FINRA Dec. Jul. 20, 2018) 
at 104, Part V (available at http://bit.ly/FINRA-National-Decision). 

-4-

- 763a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:51:32 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:51:32 PM



This lawsuit is about one thing: shutting down free speech. It is commonly 

known as a "strategic lawsuit against public participation.» It is brought with the in

tent to censor the speaker's message because it is unwanted, not because it is false or 

defamatory. But the First Amendment no more allows a "litigation veto» than it does 

a "heckler's veto. » 

For the reasons that follow, the Court should dismiss the Complaint with prej

udice for failing to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. 

SPECIAL STANDARD OF REVIEW FOR 
FIRST AMENDMENT CASES 

Motions for summary disposition brought under MCR 2.l16(C)(8) in defama

tion actions test the legal sufficiency of the complaint. Singerman v. Municipal Sen;, 

Bureau, 455 Mich. l35, l39 (1997). The Court must limit its review to the pleadings

which by court rule includes both the complaint and the answer. MCR 2.l16(G)(5) 

(review of a (C)(8) motion is limited to the pleadings); MCR 2.llO(A) (defining a 

pleading to include complaints and answers). The Court must take the well-pleaded 

factual allegations as true and construe them in the light most favorable to the non

moving party. Dalley v. Dykema Gossett, 287 Mich. App. 296, 304-305 (2010). 

Importantly, however, courts have a special, heightened duty under the First 

Amendment to review the sufficiency of defamation complaints to make sure that 

pleading requirements are met. Bose Corp. v. Consumers Union, 466 U. S. 485 (1984). 

Although Bose Corp. involved a public figure and this case (allegedly) involves a private 

figure, the distinction between public and private figures is irrelevant to the scrutiny 

that must be brought to bear when assessing whether a defamation claim is properly 

pleaded - the distinction goes only to the level of fault that applies in a given case. The 

heightened scrutiny of the pleadings applies to all defamation cases, regardless of 

whether the plaintiff is a public or private figure. Rouch v. Enquirer & News (After Remand) 
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("Rouch Ir'), 440 Mich. 238, 272-27 (1992) (Riley, J. concurring) (in a private-figure 

case reviewed on appeal from a (C)(1O) ruling, Justice Riley noted that the pleadings 

in a defamation case are also to be reviewed with heightened scrutiny when challenged 

under (C)(8)). Although stated in a concurrence, "Justice Riley ' s position [in his con

curring opinion in Rouch II is consistent with previous decisions of this Court." Royal 

Palace Homes, Inc. v. Channello/Detroit, Inc., 197 Mich. App. 48, 52-53 (1992) (also 

apparently a private-figure case). See also Trost v. BuckStop Lure Co., Inc., 249 Mich. 

App. 580, 587 n.2 (2002) (observing, in a private-figure case, that Justice Riley out

lined the proper procedure for (C)(8) challenges) . 

Michigan courts take this duty seriously. Recognizing that summary disposi

tion is "an essential tool" to protect against "forbidden intrusions into the field of 

free expression," Kevorkian v. American Med. Ass 'n, 237 Mich. App. I, 5 (1999) (citing 

Ireland v. Edwards, 230 Mich. App. 607, 613 and n.4 (1998)), our courts long ago 

adopted an Iqbal-like pleading standard that requires plaintiffs to specifically plead: (1) 

the defamatory words and the facts that would establish that the words are false; (2) 

the facts identifying the publication of those words to a third party; (3) the level of 

fault that must be proved and the facts that would establish that the speaker acted with 

that level of fault; and (4) the harm suffered by the publication. Gonyea v. Motor Parts 

Fed. Credit Union, 192 Mich. App 74, 76-77 (1991). AccordAshcroftv. Iqbal, 556 U. S. 

662 (2009) (requiring plaintiffs in federal cases to "plausibly" plead claims through 

specific factual allegations). Pleading specific facts is a "relatively simple require

ment"; defendants are entitled to summary disposition under MCR 2.116(C)(8) "on 

this ground alone» when plaintiffs fail to follow it. Rouch II, 440 Mich. at 279. 

Also important, the heightened pleading requirement in defamation cases per

mits courts to resolve several questions oflaw on the pleadings, including: (1) whether 

a statement is capable of being defamatory; (2) the nature of the speaker and the level 
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of constitutional protections afforded to the statement; and (3) whether actual malice 

exists, if the plaintiff is required to show that level of fault . Thomas M. Cooley Law 

School v. Doe 1,300 Mich. App. 245, 342 (2013). In making these assessments, a court 

must read the challenged statement in context, fairly and reasonably construing the 

entire article to determine whether the challenged statement is libelous. Sanders v. 

Evening News Ass 'n , 313 Mich. 334, 340 (1946); Croton v. Gillis, 104 Mich. App. 104, 

108 (1981). A statement "does not become actionable merely because it could be 

taken out of context." Nehls v. Hillsdale Call., 178 F. Supp. 2d 771,779 (ED Mich. 

2001), aff'd 65 Fed. Appx. 984 (CA6 2003) (citing Michigan law). 

ARGUMENT 

In Michigan, a libel plaintiff must prove that the defendant: (1) made a false 

statement, (2) that was defamatory, (3) which was "of and concerning the plaintiff, 

(4) in the form of an unprivileged publication to a third party, (5) with a level of fault 

amounting to at least negligence on the part of the publisher, and (6) thereby damaged 

the plaintiff. Northland Wheels Roller Skating Ctr. v. Detroit Free Press, 213 Mich. App. 

317,323 (1995) (citing Rouch II). 

I. FAULT NOT PLEADED: The Complaint fails to plead facts establishing that 
MLM and Goode acted negligently. 

To adequately plead fault, a plaintiff must identify the level of fault that applies 

to the claim and allege facts that would establish that level of fault if proved. Gonyea, 

192 Mich. App. at 76-77; Rouch II, 440 Mich. at 279. There are two levels of fault: 

negligence and actual malice. Ibid. The negligence standard applies in cases involving 

private figures; the actual-malice standard applies in cases involving public officials, 

public figures , and limited-purpose public figures. Ibid. Scottsdale alleges that it is a 

private figure and that MLM and Goode are the direct and proximate cause of its dam

ages, Compl. 9\23, so it impliedly pleads the level of fault to be negligence. 
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Negligence is defined as the failure to use the care that an ordinary person 

would use under the circumstances. MrCH. Crv. J. INSTR. 10.02. Thus, in order to 

meet the Iqbal-like pleading standard, Scottsdale must alleged what a reasonably care

ful reporter and reasonably careful publisher would have done under the circum

stances, and then plead facts alleging that MLM and Goode failed to do those things. 

Michigan MicrotechJ Inc. v. Federated PublJnsJ Inc., 187 Mich. App. 178, 186 (1991). 

These standards are intertwined with the "reasonable audience" standard. Air Wis. 

Airlines Corp. v. Hoeper, 71 U.S. 237, 246-251 (2014). The Complaint does not satisfy 

these pleading requirements for either of the two statements. A reasonably careful 

journalist and publisher can reasonably expect that those who visit the Website are 

sophisticated readers-i.e., people familiar with the microcap market. Those readers, 

being well versed in the industry, would conclude that Scottsdale was the means by 

which a pump-and-dump was accomplished, not that Scottsdale had itself engaged in 

illegal activity-particularly with the benefit of links to source documents. 1s 

Under Rouch II, a failure to plead both the level of fault that must be proved and 

the facts that would establish the speaker acted with that level of fault entitles MLM and 

Goode to summary disposition under MCR 2.116(C)(8) "on this ground alone." Rouch 

II, 440 Mich. at 279 (Riley, J., concurring). The failure to plead any facts supporting 

negligence (or actual malice) is fatal to the Complaint. 

Previously, the Court applied the doctrine of res ipsa loquiturto conclude that fault 

is adequately pleaded if the Complaint adequately pleads the challenged statements to be 

18 To the extent that Scottsdale apparently tries to plead actual malice in the 
alternative-" notwithstanding [its] status as a private figure, ... [MLM and Goode] 
knew that the [challenged statements] were false and/or acted in reckless disregard of 
whether [they] were true or false"-the Complaint is likewise devoid of any factual 
allegations supporting how they knew the statements were false or why they were 
reckless in their alleged disregard of the truth. 
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false. But error alone is not negligence. "The doctrine implies that the court does not 

know, and cannot find out, what actually happened in the individual case. Instead, the 

finding of likely negligence is derived from knowledge of the causes of the type or 

category of accidents involved.» RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF TORTS § 17 (2010) (empha

sis added). It is applied in negligence cases where there is an injury for which there 

is no direct evidence that a particular individual caused it, but the nature of the injury 

is such that it must have been caused as a result of negligence. Hence the thing speaks 

for itself. 

No Michigan court has ever applied this doctrine to a claim of defamation. In

deed, the doctrine cannot apply in defamation cases because a false statement is never 

automatically the result of actual malice or negligence. Scottsdale must plead how the 

reasonable reporter and publisher would have acted differently than Defendants did in 

this situation. Rouch II, 440 Mich. at 279 (Riley, J., concurring) ("The relatively simple 

requirement of pleading facts to support allegations of material falsity, negligence, or reck

less disregard for the truth should be followed ... in defamation actions, and, pursuant 

to MCR 2.116(C)(8), defendant should have been entitled to summary disposition on 

this ground alone a decade ago.» (emphasis added)). The Complaint does not allege 

what a reasonable reporter or publisher would have done differently in this case. Without 

that connection spelled out in the Complaint, Scottsdale has failed to plead facts estab

lishing why Defendants are at fault if the challenged statements are false. Thus, they 

have failed to adequately plead a required element with the required specificity. 
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II. STATEMENT NO.1: Scottsdale has not pleaded facts sufficient to show 
that this statement is actionable. 

If you have followed penny stocks and pump and dumps for 
a few years then you know Scottsdale Capital Advisors. 

A. Statement No.1 is an opinion; opinions are not actionable. 

To be actionable, the challenged statement must be provably false. Ireland, 230 

Mich. App. 607 (citing Milkovich v. Lorain Journal Co., 497 U.S. 1, 17-22 (1990)). In 

other words, the statement must state "actual, objectively verifiable facts." Milkovich, 

497 U.S. at 17-21. Nonfactual hyperbole is not provably false. As noted in Part II.B, 

infra, Scottsdale has been connected to at least two pump-and-dump schemes in the 

years preceding publication of the Article. The challenged statement thus amounts to 

"everyone knows" about the connection - which is classic rhetorical hyperbole that 

is not actionable. See, e.g., Komarov v. Advance Magazine Publ 'rs, Inc., 691 N.Y.S.2d 

298,301-302 (NY Sup. Ct. 1999) (plaintiff was as "well known" in the community 

as notorious mobster John Gotti was rhetorical hyperbole that cannot be proven false 

and not actionable). Scottsdale cannot objectively prove that those who followed penny 

stock pump-and-dump schemes did not know of Scottsdale. 

B. Statement No.1 is not false. 

If the Court holds that Statement No.1 is not an opinion, it should still find 

that Scottsdale has failed to plead facts sufficient to show that Statement No.1 is false. 

Scottsdale says Statement No.1 is false because it has "never been involved in any 'pump 

and dump' schemes, has never been a defendant in any 'pump and dump' lawsuits, 

and has never been convicted of engaging in 'pump and dump' activity." (Compl. IJj13.) 

On its face, Statement No.1 doesn't accuse Scottsdale of these things, as the Court 

previously held in dismissing this statement from the First Amended Complaint. 
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C. Statement No.1 is not defamatory. 

Undeterred, Scottsdale alleges that the juxtaposition of the headline" FINRA 

fines Scottsdale Capital Advisors $1.5 million" implies that FINRA fined Scottsdale 

for its involvement in the pump and dump of penny stocks-and that this the only 

conclusion that a "reader" could make. (Comp!. 'II13a.) In the context of the substan

tial truth defense, a defamation defendant "is not responsible for every defamatory 

implication a reader might draw from his report of true facts, absent evidence that he 

intended the defamatory implication.)) Royal Palace Homes, Inc. v. Channel 7 of Detroit, 

Inc., 197 Mich. App 48, 56. A statement "does not become actionable merely because it 

could be taken out of context." Nehls v. Hillsdale Coli., 178 F. Supp. 2d 771, 779 (ED 

Mich. 2001), aff'd 65 Fed. Appx. 984 (CA6 2003). There are no facts pleaded that 

would establish Defendants intended to imply that Scottsdale was committing pump

and-dump schemes, as opposed to the means by which such schemes were accomplished. 

As noted earlier, the Court must read the challenged statement in context, fairly 

and reasonably construing the entire article to determine whether the challenged state

ment is libelous. Sanders, 313 Mich. at 340; Croton, 104 Mich. App. at 108. The linked 

FINRA decision provides the context. It details how Scottsdale's business is suscep

tible to sham transactions. For example, among Scottsdale's many shortcomings, 

FINRA noted that the SEC had previously sued two of Scottsdale 's registered represent

atives in case involving a pump-and-dump scheme. (Answer, Exhibit A, FINRA PANEL 

DEC. at 11, Part III.B(l)(a)(iv) (citing Comp!., SEC v. Ruettiger, Civ. No. 11-2011 (D 

Nev. 2011». FINRA fined Scottsdale in part because FINRA directly tied the success 

ofthe $34 million Biozoom pump-and-dump scheme to Scottsdale's lax anti-fraud safe

guards, which it never improved despite being on notice that its existing safeguards were 

inadequate to detect and prevent fraud. (Answer, Exhibit A, FINRA PANEL DEC. at 107, 

Part IV.A(3) .) 
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Of course, even if the Court were to conclude that the statement is capable of a 

defamatory implication, the alleged implication is substantially true. Substantial truth is 

an absolute defense to a defamation claim. Collins v. Detroit Free Press, 245 Mich. App. 

27, 33 (2001). The doctrine precludes liability if the gist or sting of the statement is true; 

a statement is not considered false unless the literal truth would have produced a different 

effect in the mind of the reader. Ibid. 

Scottsdale's claim rests on the distinction between actively committing fraud and 

being used as a tool for fraudsters. Although these are concededly two different things, a 

person who followed pump-and-dump schemes-i.e., the reasonable audience-would 

know the difference between these two things and understand from the linked FINRA 

report that Scottsdale was involved in pump and dumps as a tool. Moreover, the linked 

FINRA report shows that regulators found Scottsdale to effectively be a willing tool be

cause it "institutionalized misconduct as its standard way of doing business." (Ibid.) An

yone who followed pump-and-dump schemes would know of Scottsdale. Anyone who 

read the entire article (including the linked FINRA report) -as the Court must under 

Sanders-would also understand how Scottsdale was involved. Thus, Statement No.2 is 

substantially true. 
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III. STATEMENT NO.2: Scottsdale has not pleaded facts sufficient to show 
that this statement is false or capable of defamatory meaning. 

They are one of the few brokers left that have continued to allow the 
deposit and sale of shares of illiquid penny stocks. Larger brokers 
and discount brokers stopped allowing that over five years ago. 

A. Statement No.2 is not false. 

Scottsdale says Statement No.2 is false because many other brokers still trade in 

penny stocks. (Compl. <IT 13b.) But the statement is conjunctive. Depositing shares and 

selling shares are two different activities. As written, Statement No.2 says few brokers 

still allow both activities. The Complaint only identifies brokers who still sell penny stock. 

(Compl. <IT 13b.) Nowhere in the Complaint does SCA identify any other brokers who 

still accept shares for deposit. Therefore, it has not sufficiently alleged that the state-

ment as written-" deposit and sale"-is false. 

B. Statement No.2 is not defamatory. 

Scottsdale alleges that Statement No.2 is per sedefamatory. (Compl. '!I 22.) For 

something to be "inherently defamatory" it must "either hold a person up to contempt, 

ridicule, or scorn, impute crime, impute unchastity in a woman, or impute a loath-

some disease." Bufalino v. Maxon Bros.) Inc., 368 Mich. 140, 151-152 (1962). State

ment No.2 does not say or imply that there is anything illegal about accepting penny 

stocks for deposit. Indeed, the statement acknowledges that a few other brokers do so. 

It simply notes that most brokers have exited this segment of the securities market. 

As a matter of law, there is nothing defamatory about stating that Scottsdale 

serves a niche area. In Bufalino, the Court held that saying someone is in a particular 

line of business is "not in and of itself defamatory," if it is a "perfectly legitimate 

business" - i.e. , a legal one. Ibid. Plainly, a federally regulated business is a lawful busi

ness. See Penny Stock Reform Act of 1990,104 Stat. 931, 951-958 (subjecting penny

stock broker-dealers to enhanced regulatory oversight). 
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IV. DISMISSAL WITH PREJUDICE: Scottsdale cannot cure the flaws in the 
Complaint by further amendment. 

Leave to amend should be withheld when amendment would be futile. Allegheny

Ludlam Corp. v. Michigan Dept. of Treas. , 207 Mich. App. 604, 605 (1994). Amendment 

would be futile in this case. Statement No. 1 is non actionable opinion, and no amount 

of re-pleading will change that. Both of the statements are substantially true when 

considered in light ofFINRA's disciplinary decision. And Statement No.2 is not de

famatory as a matter of law. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

For these reasons, MLM and Goode respectfully request that the Court grant 

summary disposition in their favor under MCR 2.116(C)(8) and dismiss the Com

plaint with prejudice. 

Dated: NOVEMBER 14, 2018 

BH2644632.3 

Respectfully submitted, 

BUTZEL LONG, P.e. 

I I~ 
EPH E. RIC OTTE (P70902) 

DOAA K. AL-HOWAISHY (P82089) 
Stoneridge West 
41000 Woodward Avenue 
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304 
(248) 258-1616 
richotte@butzel.com 
al-howaishy@butzel.com 
Counsel for MLM and Michael Goode 
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9TH CIRCUIT COURT 
KALAMAZOO COUNTY 

PRAECIPE 

o FAMILY DIVISION - 1536 GULL ROAD, KALAMAZOO, MI 49048 
181 TRIAL DIVISION -150 E. Crosstown Center, Kalamazoo, MI49001 

Pla intiffs Name(s) 

Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corporation , et al. 

Pla intiffs Attorney, Bar No., Address & Te lephone No. 
Jordan D. Susman (CA# 246116) 
132 South Rodeo Drive , Fourth Floor 
Beverly Hills, California 90212 
(424) 203-1600 - Telephone 
Counsel for Scottsdale Capital Advisors 
Pro Hac Vice Pending 

v 

Defendant's Name(s) 

MorningLightMountain , LLC, et al. 

I 
(269) 385-6000 
(269) 383-8837 

Defendant's Attorney, Bar No., Address & Telephone No. 
BUTZEL LONG, P.C. 
Joseph E. Richotte (P70902) 
Stone ridge West, 41000 Woodward Avenue 
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304 
(248) 258-1616 - Telephone 
Counsel for MLM and Michael Goode 

Additional names and addresses may be added at the bottom of this form or as an attachment. 

Please schedule this case for: [Title of motion(s) or other matter(s)] 

Defendants ' Motion for Summary Disposition of Second Amended Complaint 

Moving party:--,D~e~fe",n-"d~a".!nt!i!s,--__________________________ _ 

The estimated amount of time for hearing this matter is:..,3'''0-''M'''i,.,.nu'''t'''es''--__________ _ 

Dated : November 14, 2018 

Additional names/addresses: 
PINSKY, SMITH, FAYETTE & KENNEDY, LLP 
H. Rhett Pinsky (P18920) 
146 Monroe Center Street, NW, Suite 805 
Grand Rapids, Mich igan 49503 
(616) 451-8496 
Counsel for Scottsdale Capital Advisors 

Signature of Requesting Attorney/Pro Per Party 
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3J~J tbc ~alama?oo <!Countp <!Circuit <!Court 
I jf or tbc ~tatc of ;1Micbigan 

SCOTTSDALE CAPITAL ADVISORS 
CORPORATION, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

MORNINGLIGHTMOUNTAIN, LLC, 
MICHAEL GOODE, and 
DOES 1- 10 , 

Defendants. 

HARDERLLP 
Charles J. Harder (CA# 184593) 
Jordan D. Susman (CA# 246116) 
132 South Rodeo Drive, Fourth Floor 
Beverly Hills, California 90212 
(424) 203-1600 
charder@harderllp.com 
i susman@harderllp.com 
Counsel for Scottsdale Capital Advisors 
Pro Hac Vice Pending 

PINSKY, SMITH, FAYETTE & 
KENNEDY, LLP 
H. Rhett Pinsky (P 18920) 
146 Monroe Center St., NW, Suite 805 
Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503 
(616) 451-8496 
hpinskv@psfklaw.com 
Counsel for Scottsdale Capital Advisors 

Civil No. 18-0153-CZ 

HON. ALEXANDER C. LIPSEY 

BUTZEL LONG, P.C. 
Joseph E. Richotte (P70902) 
Doaa K. AI-Howaishy (P82089) 
Stoneridge West 
41000 Woodward Avenue 
Bloomfield Hill s, Michigan 48304 
(248) 258-1616 
richotte@butzel.com 
al-howaishy@butzel.com 
Counselfor MLM and Michael Goode 

PROOF OF SERVICE 

Michelle L. Guardiola hereby states that on November 14,2018, she served a copy of 

the Motion for Summary Disposition of Second Amended Complaint, Answer to Plaintiffs 

First Amended Complaint with Affirmative and Other Defenses and thi s Proof of Service via 

Federal Express, addressed to Plaintiff s counsel at the following addresses: 
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HARDERLLP. 
Charles J. Harder (CA# 184593) 
Jordan D. Susman (CA# 246116) 
132 South Rodeo Drive, Fourth Floor 

Beverly Hills, California 90212 

PINSKY, SMITH, FAYETTE & 
KENNEDY, LLP 
H. Rhett Pinsky (P 18920) 
146 Monroe Center St., NW, Suite 805 

Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503 

I declare that under the penalty of perjury that the statements above are true to the best 

of my information, knowledge and belief. 

~ BUTZE L LONG 

MiciJ.l.uL~ 
MICHELLE L. GUARDIOLA 
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i 

STATE OF MICHIGAN 
KALAMAZOO COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT 

! 

l 

SCOTTSDALE CAPITAL 
ADVISORS CORPORA nON, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

MORNINGLIGHTMOUNTAIN, LLC, 
MICHAEL GOODE, and DOES 1-10, 

Defendants. 

Charles J. Harder (CA #184593) (pro hac vice to be filed) 
Jordan Susman (CA #246116) (pro hac vice pending) 
Margo J. Arnold (CA #278288) (pro hac vice filed) 
HARDERLLP 
Attorney for Plaintiff 
132 South Rodeo Dr., 4th Floor 
Beverly Hills, CA 90212 
424/203-1600 

H. Rhett Pinsky (PI8920) 
PINSKY, SMITH, FAYETTE & KENNEDY, LLP 
Local Counsel for Plaintiff 
146 Monroe Center St., NW - Suite 805 
Grand Rapids, MI 49503 
616/451-8496 

File No.: 2018-0153-CZ 

Hon. Alexander C. Lipsey 

Joseph E. Richotte (P70902) 
BUTZEL LONG, PC 
Attorney for Defendants 
41000 Woodward Avenue 
Bloomfield Hills, MI 48304 
248/258-1616 

PLAINTIFF'S RESPONSE IN OPPOSITION TO MOTION FOR SUMMARY 
DISPOSITION OF SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT 

Plaintiff Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corp. ("Scottsdale"), submits its Response in 

Opposition to Defendants' MCR 2.116(C)(8) Motion for Summary Disposition of Second 

Amended Complaint ("Current Motion"). 
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INTRODUCTION AND RELEV ANT PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

This action arises from Defendants' online publication of false, defamatory, and highly 

misleading statements on Defendants' website, www.goodetrades.com. 

On April 16, 2018, Scottsdale filed its First Amended Complaint ("F AC") that alleged four 

defamatory statements made by Defendants. 

On June 7, 2018, Defendants filed a Motion for Summary Disposition of the F AC (the 

"Previous Motion"). 

On October 4, 2018, the Court entered its Opinion and Order on Defendants' Previous 

Motion (the "October 4 Order") and held that one of the four defamatory statements (Statement 

#2) was sufficiently pleaded, but the other three defamatory statements (Statements #1, #3, and 

#4) were not sufficiently pleaded. 

Subsequently, Defendants filed a Motion for Reconsideration, alleging palpable errors by 

the Court. 

On October 25, 2018, the Court entered an Order Denying Defendants' Motion for 

Reconsideration (the "October 25 Order"). 

On November 8, 2018, Scottsdale filed its operative Second Amended Complaint ("SAC") 

that alleged two defamatory statements by Defendants: Statement #2, the statement already 

deemed sufficiently pleaded by the Court, and Statement #1. The SAC alleged additional facts 

concerning Statement # 1 that demonstrate its defamatory nature. 

{00096490;4} 21 Page 
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On November 14, 2018, Defendants filed their Current Motion, which is substantially 

identical to their Previous Motion, l alleging that Statements #1 and #2 are insufficiently pleaded. 

Defendants' Current Motion should be denied. 

Regarding Statement #2, the Court has already held on two separate occasions that it 

sufficiently pleads a claim for defamation. Defendants' current attempt to dismiss the statement 

is legally unjustified and sanctionable. See Ortega v. Trudel, No. 239744, 2003 WL 22018391 , at 

*1 (Mich. Ct. App. Aug. 26, 2003). 

Regarding Statement # 1, Scottsdale has supplemented and bolstered the allegations against 

Defendants, demonstrating that the statement, when read in context, falsely implies that Scottsdale 

was fined $1.5 million for its involvement in the pump and dump of penny stocks. Statement #1 

also falsely alleges and/or implies that Scottsdale is so deeply entrenched in the illegal pump and 

dump of penny stocks that it is identified and known by the association. 

LEGAL STANDARD 

As with their Previous Motion, Defendants again allege that there is a heightened scrutiny 

for reviewing defamation case for legal sufficiency based on the pleadings. (Current Motion at 

pp.5-7). The Court already rejected these arguments in the October 4 Order and October 25 

Order. Defendants' claim of a heightened pleading standard "is without merit." (October 4 

Order at pA). Moreover, the cases cited by Defendants in the Current Motion, Bose Corp. v. 

Consumers Union and Thomas M Cooley Law School v. Doe 1 "are improperly interpreted" by 

Defendants. (Jd.). 

"[T]his Court should not implement a higher standard as the Defendant suggests, but 

I The Current Motion even begins with the exact same three and a half-page vilification of the 
penny stock industry and ad hominin attacks on Scottsdale, and one of its principals, as the 
Previous Motion. 
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instead maintain a nonnal course of action regarding MCR 2.116(C)(8) that reviews only 

pleadings for legal sufficiency in light ofthe alleged wrongdoing." (Id. at p.5). 

ARGUMENT 

A. Statement #2 Sufficiently Pleads A Claim For Defamation 

False Statement #2 states: "They [Scottsdale] are one of the few brokers left that 

have continued to allow the deposit and sale of shares of illiquid penny stocks. Larger 

brokers and discount brokers stopped allowing that over five years ago." 

1. The Court Has Already Held That Statement #2 Is Sufficiently 

Pleaded 

In its ruling on Defendants' Previous Motion, the Court held: 

[Statement #2] is inherently defamatory by implying the practices 
of Scottsdale Capital Advisors is not in line with others in its field. 
The statement would likely affect the opinions of its viewers, even 
if not illegal, that the practices by the Plaintiff are unusual and not 
for the bettennent of its clients. For this reason, this statement is 
likely false and defamatory. 

(October 4 Order at p.8). The Court affinned its ruling in the October 25 Order, holding that there 

was no palpable error by the Court. The Court should therefore deny Defendants' third attempt 

to have Statement #2 dismissed. 

2. The Current Motion Should Be Denied Because It Seeks The Same 

Relief Based Upon The Same Facts As The Previous Motion 

MCR 2.612(C) provides limited bases for challenging a court's order, such as fraud, 

mistake, or newly discovered facts. See Moore v. Vines, No. 221846, 2001 WL 684561, at *1 

(Mich. Ct. App. June 15, 2001) ("The doctrine of res judicata generally precludes relitigation of 

matters already decided absent certain compelling circumstances, such as those specified in MCR 

2.612(C)."). Similarly, MCR 2.119(F) allows for reconsideration of an order based upon a 
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showing of "palpable error by which the court and parties have been misled and that a different 

disposition would result from correction of the error." Burda Bros, Inc. v. Wayne Cly. Prosecutor, 

No. 250487, 2005 WL 156621, at *3 (Mich. Ct. App. Jan. 25, 2005). 

Michigan courts routinely deny motions that seek the same relief based upon the same facts 

as an earlier motion. In Burda Bros, Inc., the Court of Appeals upheld a trial court's denial of a 

plaintiff s third motion for attorney fees, stating: 

Plaintiffs' third motion for attorney fees pleaded virtually identical 
facts and requested the same substantive relief as plaintiffs' second 
motion for attorney fees, when the court filled against them. We, 
therefore, agree with the trial court's treatment of plaintiffs' third 
motion for attorney fees as a motion for reconsideration of the 
court's decision on their second motion for attorney fees. 

No. 250487,2005 WL 156621, at *3 (Mich. Ct. App. Jan. 25, 2005). 

In Ortega v. Trudel, the defendant brought a motion to remove a court-appointed 

counselor and to reinstate certain parenting time. After that motion was denied, the defendant 

filed a second motion seeking the same relief. The trial court awarded sanctions pursuant to 

MCR 2.1 14(D)(3) and (E) (holding that the motion was interposed for an improper purpose, such 

as "to harass or to cause unnecessary delay or needless increase in the cost of litigation"). After 

the defendant appealed, the Court of Appeals upheld the sanctions, stating, "Under the 

circumstances, we conclude that the court's action was proper." No. 239744, 2003 WL 

22018391, at *1 (Mich. Ct. App. Aug. 26, 2003). 

The Current Motion seeks the same relief based upon the same facts as Defendants' 

Previous Motion. Because the Court already filled that there was no palpable error with its 

earlier ruling, the purpose of the Current Motion is clearly to harass and needlessly increase the 

cost of litigation. Consequently, in denying Defendants' Current Motion, the Court should also 

award sanctions pursuant to MCR 2.114. 
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---------------------

3. Statement #2 Is False And Defamatory 

Lest there be any mistake, Statement #2 is, in fact, false and defamatory. 

As stated in Scottsdale's Opposition to the Previous Motion, Statement #2 is false 

because numerous large brokers continue to trade in penny stocks, including without limitation, 

interactive brokers, Merrill Lynch, Charles Schwab, Cor Clearing, and TradeKing. (SAC ~ 13). 

Statement #2 is defamatory because it implies that Scottsdale is doing something that 

"larger brokers and discount brokers stopped allowing" five years earlier. Statement #2 paints 

Scottsdale as a pariah company, engaging in trades that other company do not "allow." The 

statement therefore lowers Scottsdale in the esteem of the community and deters people from 

dealing with it. See Locricchio v. Evening News Ass'n, 438 Mich. 84, 115 (1991) (a defamatory 

statement "tends so to harm the reputation of persons so as to lower them in the estimation of the 

community or to deter others from associating or dealing with them"). 

The Court should therefore deny the Current Motion regarding Statement #2. 

B. Statement #1 Sufficiently Pleads A Claim For Defamation 

Statement #1 states: "If you have followed penny stocks and pump and dumps for a 

few years then you know Scottsdale Capital Advisors." Scottsdale alleges that this statement 

is false and defamatory when read in context: 

False Statement #1 is immediately preceded by the headline: 
"FINRA fines Scottsdale Capital Advisors $1.5 million." This 
juxtaposition makes it appear that SCA [Scottsdale] was fined $1.5 
million for its involvement in the pump and dump of penny stocks. 
Given the placement of False Statement #1 under a headline 
regarding a $1.5 million fine by FINRA, a reader could only 
conclude that SCA was fined for its involvement in a pump and 
dump. Moreover, the Article quotes extensively from a FINRA 
decision that has nothing to do with any pump and dump scheme. 
In addition, False Statement #1 falsely alleges and/or implies that 
SCA is so heavily involved in the illegal pump and dump of penny 
stocks that it is identified and known by the association. This is 
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SAC ~ 13(a). 

false. Because SCA has never been involved in any "pump and 
dump" schemes, has never been a defendant in any "pump and 
dump" lawsuits, has never been charged by FINRA or any 
regulatory agency with involvement in a "pump and dump" scheme, 
and has never been fined for its involvement in a "pump and dump", 
the implications created by False Statement #1 in the context of the 
Article are false and defamatory. 

A cause of action for defamation by implication occurs when the defamatory implications 

of a statement are materially false, and "that such a cause of action might succeed even without a 

direct showing of any actual literally false statements." Hawkins v. Mercy Health Servs., Inc., 

230 Mich. App. 315, 329-30, 583 N.W.2d 725, 731 (1998). "[E]ven if defendant's statements 

were true, if the implications the statements created were false, the question of whether the 

statements were defamatory must be left up to the jury." Am. Transmission, Inc. v. Channel 7 of 

Detroit, Inc., 239 Mich. App. 695, 702 (2000). "Direct accusations or inferences of criminal 

conduct or wrongdoing are not protected as opinion. There is no First Amendment protection for 

a charge which could reasonably be understood as imputing specific criminal conduct or other 

wrongful acts." Hodgins v. Times Herald Co., 169 Mich. App. 245, 253-54 (1988) (internal 

citations omitted). 

1. Statement #1 Is Not Mere "Opinion" 

Defendants attempt to evade liability by claiming that Statement #1 is mere "opinion," 

when it clearly is not. 

Statement #1 is immediately preceded by the headline: "FINRA fines Scottsdale Capital 

Advisors $1.5 million." This juxtaposition can "reasonably be understood as imputing specific 

criminal conduct" to Scottsdale, namely: that Scottsdale was fined $1.5 million for its 

involvement in the pump and dump of penny stocks. In fact, Scottsdale has never been fined 

for its involvement in a pump and dump scheme. 
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Defendant' s inference of criminal conduct is not protected opinion, and its Current 

Motion should be denied. 

2. Statement #1 Implies Something False 

Defendants next try to evade liability by arguing that Statement # 1 is not false, 

Defendants' argument must fail because Statement # 1 falsely implies that Scottsdale was fined 

$1.5 million for its involvement in the pump and dump of penny stocks. Given the placement of 

Statement # 1 under a headline regarding a $1.5 million fine by FINRA, a reader could 

reasonably conclude that Scottsdale was fined for its involvement in a pump and dump. 

Consequently, the implications created by Statement #1 are false. 

3. Statement #1 Is Defamatory 

Defendants' final argument-that Statement #1 is not defamatory-is a strawman 

argument that ignores the controlling legal standard. 

First, as stated above, "There is no First Amendment protection for a charge which could 

reasonably be understood as imputing specific criminal conduct or other wrongful acts." 

Hodgins, 169 Mich. App. at 253-54 (emphasis added). Instead of addressing this legal standard, 

Defendants dispute Scottsdale's allegation in the SAC that, "Given the placement of False 

Statement # 1 under a headline regarding a $1.5 million fine by FINRA, a reader could only 

conclude that [Scottsdale] was fined for its involvement in a pump and dump." Although 

Scottsdale genuinely believes that a reader "could only conclude" something defamatory, the 

standard for defamation by implication is much more lax, and Defendants fail to address this 

more lax standard. Put simply, because of the placement of Statement #1 under a headline 

regarding a $1.5 million fine by FINRA, a reader could reasonably conclude that Scottsdale 

was fined for its involvement in a pump and dump, when in fact, it was not. 
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-------------

Second, Defendants misconstrue defamation by implication. When Statement # 1 is read 

in context, it falsely implies that Scottsdale was fined $1.5 million for its involvement in a pump 

and dump. Statement #1 is immediately followed by Statement #2, which the Court already held 

"is inherently defamatory by implying the practices of Scottsdale Capital Advisors is not in line 

with others in its field." Defendants argue that a link to a Ill-page FINRA ruling later in the 

article "provides the context" for their false and defamatory statements. However, by the time a 

reader arrives at that link, the damage has been done: Defendants have already falsely accused 

Scottsdale of being fined $1.5 million for its involvement in a pump and dump and of engaging 

in practices not in line with others in its field. 

Third, Defendants mischaracterize the FINRA ruling to which the article linked. The 

Ill-page FINRA ruling concerned a purported violation of Section 5 of the Securities Act 

relating to the sale of unregistered securities-not Scottsdale's involvement in a pump and dump 

scheme.2 

In sum, Statement #1 is false, defamatory, and not mere opinion. The Court should 

therefore not dismiss Statement # 1. 

C. The SAC Sufficiently Pleads Fault 

Defendants argue that the SAC does not plead facts sufficient to show that Defendants 

acted negligently. Defendants are wrong. 

The Court already addressed this argument in the October 4 Order, holding: 

If the Defendants were journalist[ s] that work within the realm of 
the investment banking, as they do, then they would likely know if 
the statements were intentionally false .... If this court deems the 
statements to be false, then it consequently also determines that the 

2 Defendants argue that Scottsdale conflates committing fraud with being a tool of fraud. 
(Current Motion at p.12). Defendants are grasping at straws, as Statement #1 falsely implies that 
Scottsdale was fined $1.5 million for its involvement in a pump and dump scheme. 
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I " 

Defendant's actions were negligent when reporting false statements. 
Because ofthis, only the falsity or defamatory nature will need to be 
assessed per statement within the Complaint. 

(October 4 Order at pp.6-7). 

The Court gave two reasons for its holding: (1) the doctrine of res ipsa loquitor, and (2) 

Defendants' refusal to retract, correct, or apologize for the statements. (Id.) 

In their Current Motion, Defendants do not dispute that their refusal to retract, correct, or 

apologize for the false statements demonstrates fault, thereby conceding that the SAC 

sufficiently pleads fault on that basis. 

Defendants' claim that "no Michigan court has ever applied res ipsa loquitor to a claim 

for defamation" ignores the fact that the Court already ruled on this exact same argument in the 

October 4 Order. Further, in the October 25 Order, the Court held that its application of res ipsa 

loquitor was not palpable error. The Court should therefore deny Defendants' third attempt to 

argue that the SAC insufficiently pleads fault. 3 

D. Leave To Amend Should Be Granted If Necessary 

Leave to amend a pleading "shall be freely given when justice so requires." MCR 

2.118(A)(2). "Michigan's court rule regarding the amendment of pleadings provides for a liberal 

handling of requests to amend." Clapham v. Yanga, 102 Mich. App. 47,52 (1980). 

Should the Court determine that the SAC is somehow lacking, Scottsdale respectfully 

requests an opportunity to amend. 

CONCLUSION 

As demonstrated herein, the SAC alleges sufficient facts to state causes of action for 

Defamation against Defendants. Therefore, the Current Motion should be denied. 

3 Defendants' request for the exact same relief based on the exact same facts as before is 
sanctionable per MCR 2.114. See Ortega, 2003 WL 22018391, at *1. 
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Dated: November 29,2018 
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By: (f Wli 
H. Rhett Pinsky (PI8920) 
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(616) 451-8496 
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Jordan D. Susman, HARDER LLP, 132 South Rodeo Dr., 4th Floor, Beverly Hills, CA 90212 
via first class mail, postage prepaid. 
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I. SANCTIONS GAMESMANSHIP: Scottsdale is hoping the Court will reflexively apply 
its earlier rulings without carefully reviewing the new legal arguments raised in support 
of Defendants' arguments. 

Scottsdale notes that Defendants raise arguments similar to those raised in their motion 

to dismiss the original complaint. Looking to avoid the new dimensions of those arguments, 

Scottsdale pronounces them to be "the same" and therefore worthy of sanctions.1 Defendants 

explain infra the nuances that Scottsdale missed, showing Scottsdale's position to be meritless. 

While Scottsdale accuses Defendants of "clearly" trying to harass it by re-raising these arguments, 

Defendants are offering the Court an opportunity to correct errors oflaw and supplying the bases 

to do so. 

Of course, even if Defendants had raised the exact same arguments without adding to 

them, doing so would have been proper to preserve the arguments for appeal. The new complaint 

supersedes the original complaint. MCR 2.118(A)(4). The original complaint is "abandoned and 

withdrawn." Grzesick v. Cepela, 237 Mich. App. 554, 562 (1999). Thus, the Court's earlier rulings 

are of no practical effect for appellate purposes. Any appeal would review the Court's ruling on the 

new complaint. So, in order to preserve their challenges to the Court's earlier rulings, 

Defendants must re-raise them here. Cf. iii. at 562-563. 

Regardless, Scottsdale 's request is just poor form. It missed the 14-day deadline the Court 

imposed to file its new complaint. (Exhibit 1, Motion Hr'g Tr. 40:13-15 (Aug. 22, 2018).) Rather 

than force Scottsdale to file a motion to explain why it missed the deadline, Defendants consented 

to the filing as a matter of professional courtesy. Asking for sanctions over a matter of issue 

preservation is an exercise in repaying mercy with malice. 

Scottsdale erroneously contends that Rule 2.612(C) applies to bar Defendants from raising 
"the same" arguments. The Rule "applies only toftnal judgments andftnal orders," not inter
locutory orders like the one the Court previously entered that do not dispose of the entire case. 
McDanielv. Jackson, 78 Mich. App. 218, 223 (1977). 
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II. SPECIAL STANDARD OF REVIEW: Scottsdale ignores the new points raised in support 

of Defendants' contention that a special standard applies to defamation cases. 

Although the Court previously ruled that the special standard of review in defamation 

cases is limited to cases involving public officials and public figures, (Order at 4), Defendants 

offer case law proving that the special standard also applies in private-figure cases. (Motion at 6, 

citing Rouch II, 440 Mich. at 272-27 (1992) (in a private-figure case reviewed on appeal from a 

(C)(1O) ruling, Justice Riley noted that the pleadings in a defamation case are also to be reviewed with 

heightened scrutiny when challenged under (C)(8»; Trostv. BuckStop Lure Co.) Inc., 249 Mich. App. 

580, 587 n.2 (2002) (observing, in a private-figure case, that Justice Riley out-lined the proper 

procedure for (C)(8) challenges); Royal Palace Homes) Inc. v. Channel 7 of Detroit) Inc., 197 Mich. 

App. 48, 52-53 (1992) (in another apparently private-figure case: "Justice Riley's position is con

sistent with previous decisions of this Court.") Scottsdale offers no critique of these cases. 

III. STATEMENT No.1: Scottsdale has not responded to Defendants' arguments. 

Falsity. Defendants argue that Statement No. I is opinion in the form of rhetorical hyper

bole that cannot be proven false. Scottsdale does not deny that it was connected to two other pump

and-dump schemes in the years preceding publication of the Article. Indeed, the HI-page FINRA 

report specifically identifies those other schemes, a Panamanian-based pump-and-dump in 2008-

2012 and Bahamian-based pump-and-dump in 2008. (Answer Exh. A, FlNRA Rpt. at 11-12 and 

nn. 18 and 20, with links to Securities & Exchange Commission enforcement actions concerning 

those schemes in Ruettiger, Gibraltar, and Tavella.) The report explains that, in accepting penny 

stocks for deposit in those schemes, Scottsdale failed to exercise its gatekeeping role to safeguard 

against being used by its customers as a means to execute a pump-and-dump fraud.2 So, anyone 

2 Scottsdale's failure to adequately police the Biozoom transaction and halt the pump-and
dump scheme through vigorous due diligence-as it was required to have done by law under SEC 
Rule 17a-8, the Bank Secrecy Act ("BSA "), and its implementing regulations, see BSA, 31 U.S.C. 
§ S3l1, et seq.; 31 C.F.R. § 1023.320(a)(2) (" SAR Rule "); and 17 C.F.R. 240.17a-8 (SEC regulation 
requiring brokers to follow the BSA and its rules) (for a convenient summary with links to applic-
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following pump-and-dump schemes over the previous years would be familiar with Scottsdale. As 

noted in Defendants' opening briefs, the challenged statement thus amounts to "everyone knows" 

about the connection-which is classic rhetorical hyperbole that is not actionable. (Oefs.' Br. at 10 

(citing Komarav v. Advance Magazine Publ 'rs, Inc., 691 N.Y.S.2d 298, 301-302 (NY Sup. Ct. 1999». 

Scottsdale doesn't deny that it lacks the ability to objectively prove that those who followed such 

schemes did not know of Scottsdale. 

Defamatory Meaning. Scottsdale harps on the juxtaposition between the headline and the first 

sentence. It essentially concedes that anyone reading the linked FINRA report would understand 

the context of the challenged statement, but that the "damage is done" before the reader gets to the 

FINRA report. (Opp'n at 9.) That's like saying the reader can't be expected to read the entire text 

if the article is too long. But that isn't the law. In making these assessments, a court must read the 

challenged statement in context, fairly and reasonably construing the entire article to determine 

whether the challenged statement is libelous. Sanders v. Evening News Ass'n, 313 Mich. 334, 340 

(1946); Croton v. Gillis, 104 Mich. App. 104, 108 (1981). 

Although Scottsdale wants to emphasize the "could reasonably be understood" standard, 

it ignores that a person is not responsible for every defamatory implication a reader might draw from 

his report of true facts, absent evidence that he intended the defamatory implication." Royal Palace Homes) 

able law, visit https: IIwww.sec.goy/about/offices/ocie/amlsourcetool.htm)-signaied to FINRA 
that Scottsdale had not heeded lessons of its earlier roles in pump-and-dump schemes. It considered 
this an aggravating factor, which formed a basis for the $1.5 million fine: 

Finally, although [Scottsdale] was not charged in ... Ruettiger, Gibraltar I, Gibraltar II, 
and Tave/la, those cases did involve alleged misconduct through accounts at [Scotts
dale]. These cases put [Scottsdale] on notice of the risk of sham transactions and the 
use of nominees to conceal beneficial ownership and facilitate unlawful distributions 
of securities. They heightened the need for [&:ottsdale] to be alert to red flags. In light 
of this history) it is aggravating that Scottsdale performed irs gatekeepingfunction so poorly. 

(Answer Exh. A, FINRA Rpt. 104 at §IV.A(l)(d) (emphasis supplied). Accordingly, it is Scotts
dale that mischaracterizes the FINRA report by suggesting the report and the fine have nothing to 
do with Scottsdale's role in pump-and-dump schemes. (See Opp'n at 9 and n.2.) 
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Inc. v. ChannellofDet.) Inc., 197 Mich. App 48,56 (1992). A statement "does not become action

able merely because it could be taken out of context." Nehls v. Hillsdale Coil., 178 F. Supp. 2d 771, 

779 (ED Mich. 2001), aff'd 65 Fed. Appx. 984 (CA6 2003). The new complaint alleges no facts 

that show Goode intended the defamatory implication Scottsdale has pleaded. 

IV. STATEMENT No.2: Scottsdale has not responded to Defendants' arguments. 

Defendants argue that Scottsdale has failed to sufficiently plead that Statement No.2 is 

false because: (1) the statement says Scottsdale is one of the few remaining brokers that both accept 

deposits of penny stocks and trade them; but (2) Scottsdale only identifies brokers who trade in 

penny stocks. (Compl. 'lf13b.) In its opposition, Scottsdale does not dispute Defendants' argument 

that depositing shares and selling shares are distinct activities. Nowhere in the new complaint does 

SCA identify any other brokers who still accept shares for deposit. Therefore, it has not sufficiently 

aUeged that the statement as written-" deposit and sale"-is false. 

In addition, Scottsdale alleges that Statement No.2 is per se defamatory because it implies 

Scottsdale engages in business activities that are not allowed. (Compi. 'If 22; Opp'n Br. at 6, § A.3) In 

their opening brief, Defendants cited Bufalino, in which the Supreme Court held that saying someone 

is in a particular line of business is not defamatory, ifit is a "perfectly legitimate business "-i.e. , 

a legal one. (Defs. ' Br. at 13 (citing Bufalino v. Maxon Bros.) Inc., 368 Mich. 140, 151-152 (1962». 

Scottsdale does not dispute that it operates a business authorized by law. Thus, Bufalino is fatal 

to its claim for defamation by implication. Rather than acknowledge this, or make any attempt to 

distinguish Bufalino, Scottsdale merely emphasizes the alleged "implication" that it serves a niche 

market that others have chosen to abandon. 

v. FAULT: It is still improper for Scottsdale to rely on its retraction demand topJead fault, 

and Scottsdale admits no other court has ever applied res ipsa loquitur. 

The only fact that Scottsdale purportedly pleads in support of its fault aUegation is that the 

Article remains on the website after Scottsdale served a retraction demand. (Opp'n at 9.) Fault is 

assessed atthe time of the publication. Peisnerv. Detroit FreePress, 104 Mich. App. 59, 64 (1981), mod. 
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on other grounds, 4Z1 Mich. lZ5 (1984). For Scottsdale's pleading to sufficiendy allege fault, each 

new day the Article remains on the website would have to constitute a republication of the Article

that way, Goode could be negligent for republishing the article after receiving the retraction demand. 

But that is wt the law. Michigan follows the single-publication rule for Michigan. Milan v. Campbell, 

474 Mich. 21, 24-Z5 (ZOOS). Applying the single-publication rule, the Michigan Court of Appeals 

has held that leaving allegedly defamatory material on a website is not a new publication each day 

it remains online. Roberts v. Detroit Pub. SCM., No. Z69414, Z007 WL 127791, at ·3 (Mich. App.Jan. 

18, 2007) (unpublished). 

On the issue of res ipsa klquitur, Scottsdale has not pointed to any other court that has applied 

this doctrine in a defamation case. Nor has it disputed Defendants' explanation for why it is improper 

to do so. It simply asks the Court to unthinkingly apply its earlier, incorrect ruling. The Court should 

take this opportunity to revisit this legal issue. 

CONCLUSION 

For these reasons, and those in their opening brief, Defendants respectfully request that 

the Court dismiss the new complaint with prejudice. 

Dated: December 7, Z018 

BH26S7016.1 

Respectfully submitted, 

Stoneridge West 
41000 Woodward Avenue 
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304 
(248) 258-1616 
richotte@butzel.com 
al-howaishy@butzel.com 
Counsel for MLM and Michael Goode 
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24 
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THE COURT: Yes. 

MR. KURTZ: --if you'll entertain those. 

My interpretation is if we want to amend on those 

other statements we can. Do we want to send some kind of 

deadline or--or have that--

THE COURT: Yeah. 

MR. KURTZ: --as part of the order as well? 

THE COURT: I--I think--yeah, I think that 

probably makes some sense. 

I--I--. Well, yeah, we getting--we getting the 

end of vacation seasons. 

So, we'll do 14-days to amend, and then if you do 

amend the defendant has, under the rules, a period of time 

to respond--to file an answer. 

MR. KURTZ: And, to be somewhat (inaudible) it 

sounds like you had to prepare a written something-

THE COURT: Something--something written-

MR. KURTZ: --or--

THE COURT: --I will--. What I can do is--I can 

whip this up. Technically, as this is a business court 

case you're entitled to have a document prepared and I will 

so prepare it and issue that opinion. 

MR. KURTZ: 1--I really appreciate that, because 

we didn't have the forethought of having a court recorder 

FTP - VIDEO -I 2018, 8/22/2018 PAGE ~40 
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SCOTISDALE CAPITAL ADVISORS 
CORPORATION, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

MORNlNGLIGHTMOUNTAlN, LLC, 
MICHAEL GOODE, and 
DOES 1-10, 

Defendants. 

HARDERLLP 
Charles J. Harder (CA# 184593) 
Jordan D. Susman (CA# 246116) 
132 South Rodeo Drive, Fourth Floor 
Beverly Hills, California 90212 
(424) 203-1600 
charder@harderllp.com 
jsusman(a!harderllp.com 
Counsel for Scottsdale Capital Advisors 
Pro Hac Vice Pending 

PINSKY, SMITI-I, FAYETIE & 
KENNEDY, LLP 
H. Rhett Pinsky (PI8920) 
146 Monroe Center St., NW, Suite 805 
Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503 
(616) 451-8496 
hpinsky@pstklaw.col1l 
Counsel for Scottsdale Capital Advisors 

Civil No. 18-01S3-CZ 

HON. ALEXANDER C. LIPSEY 

BUTZEL LONG, P.e. 
Joseph E. Richotte (P70902) 
Doaa K. AI-Howaishy (P82089) 
Stoneridge West 
41000 Woodward Avenue 
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304 
(248) 258-1616 
richotte(a!butzel.com 
al-howaishvial,butzel .col1l 
Counselfor MLM and Michael 
Goode 
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Michelle L. Guardiola hereby states that on December 7, 2018, she served a copy 
of Defendants' Reply in Support of Motion for Summary Disposition of Second 
Amended Complaint and this Proof of Service via Federal Express, addressed to 
Plaintiff's counsel at the following addresses: 

HARDERLLP 
Charles J. Harder (CA# 184593) 
Jordan D. Susman (CA# 246116) 
132 South Rodeo Drive, Fourth Floor 
Beverly Hills, California 90212 
jsusman@harderllp.com 

Tracking No. 77390922 1559 

PINSKY, SMITH, FAYETTE & 
KENNEDY, LLP 
H. Rhett Pinsky (P18920) 
146 Monroe Center St., NW, Suite 805 
Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503 
hrpinsky@sbcgJobal.net 

Tracking No. 7739 0922 7730 

I declare that under the penalty of perjury that the statements above are true to 
the best of my information, knowledge and belief. 

~ BUTZEL LONG 

~cl11lh.L.~ 
MICHELLE L. GUARDIOLA 
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STATE OF MICHIGAN 
IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE COUNTY OF EATON 

SCOTTSDALE CAPITAL ADVISORS CORP., 
an Arizona corporation, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

MORNINGLIGHTMOUNTAIN, LLC, a 
Michigan limited liability company d/b/a 
GoodeTrades.com; MICHAEL GOODE, an 
individual; and DOES 1-10, inclusive, 

Defendants. 

CASE NO. 2018-01S3-CZ 

Hon. Alexander C. Lipsey 

PLAINTIFF'S THIRD AMENDED COMPLAINT AND JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiff Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corp., for its Complaint against 

MorningLightMountain, LLC d/b/a GoodeTrades.com and Michael Goode, alleges as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. Plaintiff Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corp. ("SCA") is a successful securities 

broker-dealer. 

2. In an effort to smear SCA's reputation, MorningLightMountain, LLC d/b/a 

GoodeTrades.com and Michael Goode (collectively, "Defendants") published an article on their 

website, www.goodetrades.com. which contained false, defamatory, and highly misleading 

statements of and concerning SCA. Among other things, the articles falsely alleged that SCA is 

involved in penny stock "pump and dump" schemes and improperly permits the deposit and sale 

of penny stocks. 

3. By this action, SCA seeks to clear its good name and hold Defendants liable for 

{00097118;3} 
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the harm caused by their misconduct. 

THE PARTIES 

4. Plaintiff Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corp. is, and at all times relevant hereto was, 

a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Arizona, with its principal place of 

business in Maricopa County, Arizona. 

5. SCA is informed and believes and based thereon alleges that Defendant 

MorningLightMountain, LLC d/b/a GoodeTrades.com ("MorningLightMountain") is, and at all 

times relevant hereto was, a corporation organized under the laws of the Michigan, with its 

principal place of business in Eaton County, Michigan. SCA is informed and believes and based 

thereon alleges that MorningLightMountain owns and operates the website goodetrades.com. 

6. SCA is informed and believes and based thereon alleges that Defendant Michael 

Goode ("Goode") is an individual who resides in Kalamazoo County, Michigan. Upon 

information and belief, Goode is the sole owner and officer of Defendant 

MorningLightMountain. 

7. SCA is informed and believes and based thereon alleges that the fictitiously-

named defendants sued herein as Does 1 through 10, and each of them, are in some manner 

responsible or legally liable for the actions, events, transactions and circumstances alleged 

herein. The true names and capacities of such fictitiously-named defendants, whether individual, 

corporate, or otherwise, are presently unknown to SCA, and SCA will seek leave of Court to 

amend this Complaint to assert the true names and capacities of such fictitiously-named 

. defendants when the same have been ascertained. For convenience, each reference to a named 

defendant herein shall also refer to Does 1 through 10. All defendants, including 

MorningLightMountain, LLC d/b/a GoodeTrades.com, Michael Goode, and those referred to 

herein as Does 1 through 10, are collectively referred to herein as "Defendants." 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

8. This COUli has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because they have minimum 

contacts with the State of Michigan, and defendant Goode is a domiciliary of the State of 

{00097118;3} 
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Michigan. 

9. Venue in Kalamazoo County is proper because Defendant Goode resides in 

Kalamazoo County. 

10. The amount in controversy exceeds Twenty Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00) 

exclusive of interest, costs, and attorney fees and the matter is otherwise within the jurisdiction 

of this Court. 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

11. Founded in 2002, SCA is a full service broker-dealer focused on serving the 

micro cap securities market, often referred to as the OTC market. In this time, SCA has grown to 

become one of the dominant companies in the OTC market, with more than $125 million worth 

of trades in 2015. 

12. On April 17, 2017, Defendants published an article written by Goode on the 

website goodettrades.com, entitled "FINRA fines Scottsdale Capital Advisors $1.5 million" (the 

"Article"): https:llwww.goodetrades.comI20 17 104/finra-fines-scottsdale-capital-advisors-1-5-

million!. A true and correct copy of the Article is attached hereto as Exhibit 1 and incorporated 

by this reference. 

13. The Article contained statements that are defamatory and outright false, 

including: "If you have followed penny stocks and pump and dumps for a few years then you 

know Scottsdale Capital Advisors" (False Statement #1 ") 

14. False Statement #1 is immediately preceded by the headline: "FINRA fines 

Scottsdale Capital Advisors $1.5 million." To a reasonable reader, this juxtaposition makes it 

appear that SCA was fined $1.5 million for its involvement in the pump and dump of penny 

stocks. This is false. In fact, FINRA fined SCA $1.5 million for allegedly violating FINRA 

Rule 2010 by selling securities without registration and without an exemption - this fine is 

presently being appealed. The Article disingenuously quotes extensively from the FINRA 

decision, which has nothing to do with any pump and dump scheme, further giving the 

impression that SCA was fined for its involvement in a pump and dump. 

{00097118;3} 
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15. In addition, False Statement #1 falsely alleges and/or implies that SeA is so 

heavily involved in the illegal pump and dump of penny stocks that it is identified and known by 

the association. This is also demonstratively false. If people who "followed penny stocks and 

pump and dumps for a few years" were polled, most respondents would not be aware of seA. 

Because SeA has never been involved in any "pump and dump" schemes, has never been a 

defendant in any "pump and dump" lawsuits, has never been charged by FINRA or any 

regulatory agency with involvement in a "pump and dump" scheme, has never been fined for its 

involvement in a "pump and dump", and has never been either identified or known as being 

involved in the illegal pump and dump of penny stocks, the implications created by False 

Statement #1 in the context of the Article are false and defamatory. 

16. On September 21, 2017, SeA's counsel sent a letter to Defendants identifying the 

foregoing false statements in the Article, and demanding that Defendants remove each one and 

publish a retraction, correction, and apology as to each of those statements. Defendants have 

failed and refused to comply with seA's demand. 

17. The false, defamatory, and highly misleading statements written and published by 

Defendants have caused and are continuing to cause SeA economic harm and damage to its 

reputation. Accordingly, SeA has no alternative but to file this lawsuit for compensatory 

damages, punitive damages, and injunctive relief, as explained more fully herein. 

COUNT ONE 

(Against All Defendants) 

(Defamation) 

18. SeA incorporates by reference all of the preceding paragraphs as though fully 

restated herein. 

19. Defendants wrote and published False Statement # 1. 

20. False Statement #1, whether by itself or by implication, is false or involves 

materially false implications. 

{00097118;3} 

- 802a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:51:44 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:51:44 PM



21. Moreover, the statement, individually and jointly, tends to harm the reputation of 

Plaintiff as to lower its reputation in the community or deter third persons from associating or 

dealing with it. Specifically, False Statement #1 accuses SeA of illegal, unsavory, and unusual 

business activity - engaging in the pump and dump of penny stocks. 

22. At a minimum, Defendants were negligent in creating the implication in False 

Statement #1 that FINRA fined seA $1.5 million for participating in illegal pump and dump 

schemes. In the Article, Defendants cite to a Stockwatch article and a Ill-page FINRA decision 

as support for False Statement #1, but a plain reading of both of these documents indicates that 

FINRA fined SeA for selling securities without registration and without an exemption, as 

required by FINRA Rule 2010, and not for participating in illegal pump and dump schemes. A 

reasonable journalist reads the documents he cites and would not report, or imply that, a fine for 

procedural noncompliance is the equivalent of a fine for intentional pump and dump activity. 

23. Defendants intended, or acted with reckless disregard for the truth, to cause the 

reasonable reader to read False Statement #1 and conclude that FINRA fined seA $1.5 million 

for participating in illegal pump and dump schemes by juxtaposing certain facts together and by 

purposefully omitting that the FINRA fine was for seA "violat[ing] FINRA Rule 2010 by 

selling securities without registration and without an exemption." 

24. Defendants were also negligent in making False Statement # 1. Defendants, as 

journalists in the penny stock industry, knew or should have known that SeA has not been 

charged by any regulatory agency with involvement in a "pump and dump" scheme, has never 

been fined for its involvement in a "pump and dump", and has never been either identified or 

known as being involved in the illegal pump and dump of penny stocks. Defendants had no 

reason to conclude that followers of penny stock pump and dumps would have any knowledge of 

SeA, yet published a statement specifically to that affect. 

25. Defendants intended, or acted with careless disregard for the truth, to cause the 

reasonable reader to read False Statement #1 and conclude that seA is such a major player in 

penny stock pump and dumps that it is commonly associated with such activity. 

{00097118;3} 
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26. False Statement #1 has caused SCA to be damaged. 

27. Defendants have refused to retract, correct or apologize for False Statement #1 

after being given notice and ample time to do so. 

28. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants' conduct, SCA has suffered 

damages to its reputation and business interests in an amount to be determined at trial, and in an 

amount not less than the jurisdictional minimum ofthis Court. SCA's damages may also be 

presumed because False Statement #1 imputes to SCA offenses regarded by public opinion as 

involving moral turpitude, and unfitness for the proper conduct of its lawful business, trade, and 

profession. 

29. SCA is a private figure for purposes of a defamation analysis. 

30. Notwithstanding SCA's status as a private figure, at the time False Statement #1 

was published, Defendants knew the False Statement #1 was false and/or acted in reckless 

disregard of whether False Statement #1 was true or false. As such, in addition to compensatory 

damages and/or presumed damages, SCA is entitled to an award of punitive damages in an 

amount to be determined at trial. 

JURY TRIAL DEMAND 

SCA hereby demands a jury trial of all issues in this case. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, SCA requests that judgment be entered against the Defendants, and each 

of them, as follows: 

A. For compensatory, consequential, exemplary, and punitive damages in an amount 

to be determined at trial; 

B. For pre- and post-judgment interest on the foregoing sum at the highest lawful 

rate from entry of judgment until paid in full; 

C. For an injunction enjoining further publication of False Statement #1; 

D. For SCA's costs of suit; and 

E. For all other relief the Court deems appropriate. 
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RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 11th day of January 2019. 

{00097118;3} 

PINSKY, SMITH, FAYETTE & KENNEDY, 
LLP 
Local Counsel for Plaintiff 
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H. Rhett Pinksy (P 1892 ) 
146 Monroe Center, NW, Suite 80 
Grand Rapids, MI 49503 
(616) 451-8496 

HARDERLLP 

By; ~#' 
Charles J. Harder (pro hac vice granted) 
Jordan Susman (pro hac vice granted) 
132 S. Rodeo Drive, Fourth Floor 
Beverly Hills, California 90212 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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MICHAEL GOODE, and 
DOES 1-10, 
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HARDER LLP 
Charles J. Harder (CA# 184593) 
Jordan D. Susman (CA# 246116) 
132 South Rodeo Drive, Fourth Floor 
Beverly Hills, California 90212 
(424) 203-1600 
charder@harderllp.com 
jsusman@harderllp.com 
Counsel for Scottsdale Capital Advisors 
Pro Hac Vice 

PINSKY, SMITH, FAYETTE & 

KENNEDY, LLP 
H. Rhett Pinsky (PI8920) 
146 Monroe Center St., NW, Suite 805 
Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503 
(616) 451-8496 
hpinsky@psfklaw.com 
Counsel for Scottsdale Capital Advisors 
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Joseph E. Richotte (P70902) 
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Stoneridge West 
41000 Woodward Avenue 
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304 
(248) 258-1616 
richotte@butzel.com 
al-howaishy@butzel.com 
Counsel for MLM and Michael Goode 
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-2-

Under MCR 2.108, Defendants MorningLightMountain, LLC ("MLM"), and 

Michael Goode jointly answer Plaintiff Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corp. 's Third Amended 

Complaint as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. Plaintiff Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corp. (" SCA") is a successful 

securities broker-dealer. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode admit that SCA is a broker-dealer of securities. 

They deny the allegation that SCA is a "successful" broker-dealer for lack of knowledge or 

information sufficient to form a belief about whether it is true. 

2. In an effort to smear SCA's reputation, MorningLightMountain, LLC d/b/a 

GoodTrades.com and Michael Goode (collectively, "Defendants") published an article on 

their website, www.goodetrades.com. which contained false, defamatory, and highly 

misleading statements of and concerning SCA. Among other things, the articles falsely 

alleged that SCA is involved in penny stock "pump and dump" schemes and improperly 

permits the trading of penny stocks. 

ANSWER: MLM admits that it operates the website www.goodetrades.com (the 

"Website"). MLM admits that it published, and Goode admits that he caused MLM to 

publish, an article on the Website. MLM and Goode deny the rest of the allegations in 

Paragraph 2 as untrue. 

3. By this action, SCA seeks to clear its good name and hold Defendants liable 

for the harm caused by their misconduct. 

ANSWER: Denied as untrue. SCA's primary purpose in initiating this strategic 

lawsuit against public participation is to harass or injure MLM and Goode; SCA has no 

reasonable basis to believe that the facts underlying its legal position are true; and/or SCA's 

legal position is devoid of arguable merit. 
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THE PARTIES 

4. Plaintiff Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corp. is, and at all times relevant 

hereto was, a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Arizona, with its 

principal place of business in Maricopa County, Arizona. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode deny these allegations for lack of knowledge or 

information sufficient to form a belief about whether they are true. 

5. SCA is informed and believes and based thereon alleges that Defendant 

MorningLightMountain, LLC d/b/a GoodeTrades.com ("MorningLightMountain") is, 

and at all times relevant hereto was, a corporation organized under the laws of the [State of] 

Michigan, with its principal place of business in Eaton County, Michigan. SCA is informed 

and believes and based thereon alleges that MorningLightMountain owns and operates the 

website goodtrades.com. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode deny these allegations as untrue. In the interest of 

judicial economy, however, MLM admits the following: (1) it is a limited liability 

corporation organized under the laws of the State of Michigan; (2) its principal place of 

business is Kalamazoo County; and (3) it operates the Website. 

6. SCA is informed and believes and based thereon alleges that Defendant 

Michael Goode (" Goode") is an individual who resides in Kalamazoo County, Michigan. 

Upon information and belief, Goode is the sole owner and officer of Defendant 

MorningLightMountain. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode admit these allegations, except the allegation that 

Goode is an officer of MLM. As a limited liability company, MLM does not have officers. 

7. SCA is informed and believes and based thereon alleges that the fictitiously-

named defendants sued herein as Does 1 through 10, and each of them, are in some manner 

responsible or legally liable for the actions, events, transactions and circumstances alleged 
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herein. The true names and capacities of such fictitiously-named defendants, whether 

individual, corporate, or otherwise, are presently unknown to SCA, and SCA will seek leave 

of Court to amend this Complaint to assert the true names and capacities of such 

fictitiously-named defendants when the same have been ascertained. For convenience, each 

reference to a named defendant herein shall also refer to Does 1 through 10. All defendants, 

including MorningLightMountain, LLC d/b/a GoodeTrades.com, Michael Goode, and 

those referred to herein as Does 1 through 10, are collectively referred to herein as 

"Defendants. " 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode lack knowledge or information sufficient to form a 

belief about whether the Doe defendants exist or have engaged in any acts giving rise to 

liability. For purposes of answering the Third Amended Complaint, MLM and Goode treat 

the term Defendants as applying only to them. None of their answers shall be construed to 

admit the existence or liability of the Doe defendants or to in any way answer for the Doe 

defendants. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

8. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because they have 

minimum contacts with the State of Michigan, and defendant Goode is a domiciliary of the 

State of Michigan. 

AN SWER: Denied as pleaded, but in the interest of judicial economy, MLM and 

Goode submit to the personal jurisdiction of the Court without objection. 

9. Venue in Kalamazoo County is proper because Defendant Goode resides in 

Kalamazoo County. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode admit this allegation. 

10. The amount in controversy exceeds Twenty Five Thousand Dollars 

($25,000.00) exclusive of interest, costs, and attorney fees and the matter is otherwise 
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within the jurisdiction of this Court. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode admit that SCA seeks to recover an amount in 

excess of $25,000, but they deny that SCA is entitled to any recovery. 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

11. Founded in 2002, SCA is a full service broker-dealer focused on serving the 

microcap securities market, often referred to as the aTC market. In this time, SCA has 

grown to become one of the dominant companies in the aTC market, with more than $125 

million worth of trades in 2015. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode admit that SCA is a broker-dealer that services the 

microcap securities market, which is often referred to as the aTC [over-the-counter] 

market. MLM and Goode deny the rest of the allegations in Paragraph 11 for lack of 

knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief about whether they are true. 

12. On April 17, 2017, Defendants published an article written by Goode on the 

website goodtrades.com, entitled "FINRA fines Scottsdale Capital Advisors $1.5 million" 

(the" Article "): https:/ /goodetrades.com/2017 /04/finra-fines-scottsdale-capital-advisors

I-S-million/. A true and correct copy of the Article is attached hereto as Exhibit 1 and 

incorporated by this reference. 

ANSWER: MLM admits that it published, and Goode admits that he caused 

MLM to publish the Article on the Website. They deny that Exhibit 1 is a true and correct 

copy of the Article because it was not served upon them with the Complaint; they therefore 

cannot assess its content. In the interest of judicial economy, however, MLM and Goode 

attach a true and correct copy of the Article as Exhibit A. 

13. The Article contained statements that are defamatory and outright false, 

including: "If you have followed penny stocks and pump and dumps for a few years then 

you know Scottsdale Capital Advisors." ("False Statement #1 "). 
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ANSWER: MLM and Goode admit that the Article contained the quoted sentence. 

They deny SCA' s characterization of the quoted sentence as false and defamatory as untrue. 

They also deny SCA' s allegation that other statements in the Article are false and 

defamatory as untrue. 

14. False Statement #1 is immediately preceded by the headline: ((FINRA fines 

Scottsdale Capital Advisors $1.5 million." To a reasonable reader, this juxtaposition makes 

it appear that SCA was fined $1.5 million for its involvement in the pump and dump of 

penny stocks. This is false_ In fact, FINRA fined seA $1.5 million for allegedly violating 

FINRA Rule 2010 by selling securities without registration and without an exemption

this fine is presently being appealed. The Article disingenuously quotes extensively from 

the FINRA decision, which has nothing to do with any pump and dump scheme, further 

giving the impression that seA was fined for its involvement in a pump and dump. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode admit that the Article contained the quoted 

headline, that the Article quoted from the FINRA decision, and that SCA - after the 

Article was published and after filing this lawsuit-appealed the $1.5 million fine that 

FINRA imposed for selling securities without registration and without an exemption, 

which appeal remains pending before the U.S. Securities & Exchange Commission. MLM 

and Goode deny as untrue the rest of the allegations in Paragraph 14. 

15. In addition, False Statement #1 falsely alleges and/or implies that SCA is so 

heavily involved in the illegal pump and dump of penny stocks that it is identified and 

known by the association. This is also demonstratively false. If people who "followed 

penny stocks and pump and dumps for a few years" were polled, most respondents would 

not be aware of SeA. Because SCA has never been involved in any "pump and dump" 

schemes, has never been a defendant in any "pump and dump" lawsuits, has never been 

charged by FINRA or any regulatory agency with involvement in ((pump and dump" 
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scheme, and has never been fined for its involvement in a "pump and dump", and has 

never been either identified or known as being involved in the illegal pump and dump of 

penny stocks, the implications created by False Statement #1 in the context of the Article 

are false and defamatory. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode deny as untrue SeA's characterization of the 

challenged statement at issue as false and defamatory or that it creates a false and 

defamatory implication. MLM and Goode also deny as untrue seA's allegation that most 

people who have followed penny stock pump-and-dump schemes would deny being aware 

of SeA if polled. MLM and Goode deny the rest of the allegations in Paragraph 15 for lack 

of knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to whether they are true. 

16. On September 21, 2017, SeA's counsel sent a letter to Defendants 

identifying the foregoing false statements in the Article, and demanding that Defendants 

remove each one and publish a retraction, correction, and apology as to each of those 

statements. Defendants have failed and refused to comply with seA's demand. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode admit that SeA's counsel sent a letter to them on 

September 12,2017 demanding, among other things, that they remove the certain 

statements, including the challenged statement identified in Paragraph 13, and publish a 

retraction, correction, and apology. A true and correct copy of this letter is attached to this 

Answer as Exhibit B. 

MLM and Goode responded on September 13, 2017. A true and correct copy of 

their response is attached to this Answer as Exhibit C. 

MLM and Goode admit that they did not remove the statements or publish a 

retraction, correction, or apology. They deny that the statements are false or that they had 

any duty to comply with SeA's demand. MLM and Goode deny the rest of the allegations 

in Paragraph 16 as untrue in the manner and form stated. 
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17. The false, defamatory, and highly misleading statements written and 

published by Defendants have caused and are continuing to cause SeA economic harm and 

damage to its reputation. Accordingly, SeA has no alternative but to file this lawsuit for 

compensatory damages, punitive damages, and injunctive relief, as explained more fully 

herein. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode deny as untrue all of the allegations in Paragraph 

17. Answering further, seA has admitted in answers to Interrogatories that it has suffered 

no actual economic harm or compensatory damages and cannot identify a single customer it 

has lost because of the challenged statement identified in Paragraph 13. 

COUNT 1 
DEFAMATION 

18. SeA incorporates by reference all of the preceding paragraphs as though 

fully restated herein. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode incorporate by reference all of their answers to the 

preceding paragraphs as though fully restated herein. 

19. Defendants wrote and published False Statement #1. 

ANSWER: Goode admits to writing, and MLM admits to publishing the 

challenged statement identified in Paragraph 13, but they deny that the statement is false. 

MLM and Goode deny as untrue the rest of the allegations in Paragraph 19. 

20. False Statement #1, whether by itself or by implication, is false or involves 

materially false implications. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode deny as untrue all of the allegations in Paragraph 20. 

21. Moreover, the statement, individually and jointly, tends to harm the 

reputation of Plaintiff as to lower its reputation in the community or deter third persons 

- 813a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:51:44 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:51:44 PM



- - ------

-9-

from associating or dealing with it. Specifically, False Statement #1 accuses SCA of illegal, 

unsavory, and unusual business activity-engaging in the pump and dump of penny stocks. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode deny as untrue all of the allegations in Paragraph 21. 

22. As a minimum, Defendants were negligent in creating the implication in 

False Statement #1 that FINRA fined SCA $1.5 million for participating in illegal pump 

and dump schemes. In the Article, Defendants cite to a Stockwatch article and a ll1-page 

FINRA decision as support for False Statement #1, but a plain reading of both of these 

documents indicates that FINRA fined SCA for selling securities without registration and 

without an exemption, as required by FINRA Rule 2010, and not for participating in illegal 

pump and dump schemes. A reasonable journalist reads the documents he cites and would 

not report, or imply that, a fine for procedural noncompliance is the equivalent of a fine for 

intentional pump and dump activity. 

ANSWER: MLM admit that the Article cites to a Stockwatch article and a 111-

page FINRA decision as support for the challenged statement identified in Paragraph 13. 

They deny as untrue that the challenged statement implies FINRA fined SCA $1.5 million 

for participating in illegal pump-and-dump schemes, much less negligently so. SCA's 

allegation about what a reasonable journalist would or would not do is an allegation of law 

that requires no response. If the Court determines that a response is required to that 

allegation, MLM and Goode deny that it is an accurate statement of the governing legal 

standard. 

23. Defendants intended, or acted with reckless disregard for the truth, to cause 

the reasonable reader to read False Statement #1 and conclude that FINRA fined SCA $1.5 

million for participating in illegal pump and dump schemes by juxtaposing certain facts 

together any by purposefully omitting that the FINRA fine was for SCA "violat[ing] FINA 

Rule 2010 by selling securities without registration and without an exemption. " 
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ANSWER: MLM and Goode deny as untrue all ofthe allegations in Paragraph 23. 

Answering further, the Article does disclose that the FINRA fine concerned violations of 

Rule 2010 and Section 5 of the Securities Act. (See Exhibit A at 1, Excerpt <jf 2.) 

24. Defendants were also negligent in making False Statement #1. Defendants, 

as journalists in the penny stock industry, knew or should have known that SeA has not 

been charged by an regulatory agency with involvement in a "pump and dump" scheme, 

has never been fined for its involvement in a "pump and dump," and has never been either 

identified or known as being involved in the illegal pump and dump of penny stocks. 

Defendants had no reason to conclude that followers of penny stock pump and dumps 

would have any knowledge of SeA, yet published a statement specifically to that affect [sic]. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode deny as untrue that they negligently made the 

challenged statement identified in Paragraph 13. They admit that Goode is a journalist who 

writes about the penny-stock industry. MLM and Goode deny as untrue the rest of 

allegations in Paragraph 24. 

25. Defendants intended, or acted with careless disregard for the truth, to cause 

the reasonable reader to read False Statement #1 and conclude that SeA is such a major 

player in penny stock pump and dumps that it is commonly associated with such activity. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode deny as untrue all of the allegations in Paragraph 25. 

26. False Statement #1 has caused SeA to be damaged. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode deny as untrue the allegation in Paragraph 26. 

27. Defendants have refused to retract, correct, or apologize for False Statement 

#1 after being given notice and ample time to do so. 

AN SWER: MLM and Goode admit that they did not retract the challenged 

statement identified in Paragraph 13. They deny that the statement is incorrect, false, or 
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defamatory. The law does not require an apology. MLM and Goode deny that SCA gave 

them "ample time" to respond to SCA' s demands. SCA demanded a response within 24 

hours. 

28. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants , conduct, SCA has suffered 

damages to its reputation and business interests in an amount to be determined at trial, and 

in an amount not less than the jurisdictional minimum of this Court. SCA' s damages may 

also be presumed because False Statement #1 imputes to SCA offenses regard by public 

opinion as involving moral turpitude, and unfitness for the proper conduct of its lawful 

business, trade, and profession. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode deny as untrue all of the allegations in Paragraph 28. 

29. SCA is a private figure for purposes of a defamation analysis. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode deny as untrue the allegation in Paragraph 29. 

30. Notwithstanding SCA's status as a private figure, at the time False 

Statement #1 was published, Defendants knew the False Statement #1 was false and/or 

acted in reckless disregard of whether False Statement #1 was true or false. As such, in 

addition to compensatory damages and/or presumed damages, SCA is entitled to an award 

of punitive damages in an amount to be determined at trial. 

ANSWER: MLM and Goode deny as untrue all of the allegations in Paragraph 30. 

AFFIRMATIVE AND OTHER DEFENSES 

Under MCR 2.11I(F), MLM and Goode assert the following special, affirmative, 

and other defenses that may apply in whole or in part to the claims that SCA purports to 

assert in the Third Amended Complaint, without assuming the burden of proof on any 

matters where the burden rests with SCA or any other party. 
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MLM and Goode give notice that they lack knowledge or information sufficient to 

form a belief as to the truth of many of the allegations in the Third Amended Complaint. 

Until they avail themselves of their rights to discovery, they cannot determine which, if any, 

of the following defenses will be asserted at trial or by dispositive motion. These defenses 

are pleaded to preserve MLM and Goode's right to assert them at trial or by motion, to give 

fair notice of their intention to assert these defenses, and to avoid a waiver of any defenses. 

MLM and Goode reserve the right to assert all special, affirmative, and other 

defenses that may appear or become available during discovery in this case. They also 

reserve the right to amend their Answer under MCR 2.118(A)(1), or to seek leave from the 

Court to amend their Answer under MCR 2.118(A)(2) if necessary, to assert such defenses. 

Subject to the foregoing, SCA' s claims and requests for relief are barred in whole or 

in part for one or more of the following reasons: 

1. The Complaint fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. 

2. The challenged statement is not actionable because it is hyperbole or 

otherwise a statement of opinion, not a statement of fact. 

3. The challenged statement is not materially false. 

4. The challenged statement is not defamatory. 

5. The challenged statement is not "of and concerning" SeA. 

6. seA has failed to plead fault with the specificity required by law. 

7. SCA is a public figure for purposes of this lawsuit. 

8. If SeA is a public figure, the challenged statement is not actionable because 

MLM and Goode did not know the statement was false. 

9. If SeA is a public figure, the challenged statement is not actionable because 

MLM and Goode did not act with reckless disregard for whether it was false (i.e., with 

"actual malice "). 
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10. If SCA is a public figure, the challenged statement is not actionable because 

SCA cannot prove, with clear and convincing evidence, that MLM and Goode published 

the statement with actual malice. 

11. If SCA is a private figure, the challenged statement is not actionable because 

MLM and Goode did not negligently publish it. 

12. The challenged statement is privileged under the statutory fair-report 

privilege codified at M.C.L. § 600.2911. 

13. The challenged statement is privileged under the common-law fair-comment 

privilege. 

14. The challenged statement does not give rise to any defamatory inference or 

innuendo because of the omission of material facts. 

15. The challenged statement is a matter of legitimate public interest and 

concern and received from reliable and official sources, and is privileged under (a) the 

common law and statutes of Michigan; (b) Article I, Section 5 of the Michigan Constitution 

of 1963; and (c) the First Amendment to the U. S. Constitution. 

16. SCA is libel-proo£ 

17. The incremental-harm doctrine prevents SCA from recovering damages. 

18. MLM and Goode are not the proximate cause of any damages SCA claims to 

have suffered; SCA or persons other than MLM and Goode caused SCA' s damages. 

19. SCA is barred from recovering punitive and/or exemplary damages because 

that would violate Article I, Section 5 of the Michigan Constitution of 1963 and the First 

Amendment to the United States Constitution. 

20. 

estoppel. 

21. 

estoppel. 

SCA cannot sue on the challenged statement under the doctrine of judicial 

SCA cannot sue on the challenged statement under the doctrine of collateral 
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22. seA is not entitled to presumed damages. 

23. SeA has suffered no damages. 

24. If SeA was damaged as alleged, then SeA is limited to its actual damages 

because it has failed to plead and prove that Defendants acted with actual malice. 

25. If SeA was damaged as alleged, then SeA failed to reasonably mitigate its 

damages. 

26. All special, affirmative, and other defenses asserted by a Doe defendant who 

becomes identified or by any other defendant later added to this action, which MLM and 

Goode adopt and incorporate as additional defenses. 

RELIANCE ON JURY DEMAND 

MLM and Goode rely on SeA's demand for a jury trial on all issues that can be 

tried to a jury, but object to seA's demand for a jury trial on its request for injunctive relief. 

There is no right to a trial by jury on equitable issues. Smith v. University of Detroit, 145 

Mich. App. 468 (1985). 

II 
II 
II 
II 
II 
II 
II 
II 
II 
II 
II 
II 
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RELIEF REQUESTED 

WHEREFORE, MLM and Goode respectfully request that the Court: 

1. DISMISS the Third Amended Complaint with prejudice; 

2. DECLARE this lawsuit "frivolous" within the meaning ofMCR 2.114(F), 

MCR 2.625(A)(2), and MCL 600.2591, and AWARD Defendants their reasonable 

attorney fees and costs. SCA' s primary purpose in initiating this strategic lawsuit against 

public participation is to harass or injure MLM and Goode; SCA has no reasonable basis to 

believe that the facts underlying its legal position are true; and/or SCA's legal position is 

devoid of arguable merit. 

3. Grant such other and further relief as it deems appropriate. 

Dated: JANUARY 29, 2019 

BH2679286.1 

Respectfully submitted, 

Stone ridge West 
41000 Woodward Avenue 
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304 
(248) 258-1616 
richotte@butzel.com 
al-howaishy@butzel.com 
Counsel for MLM and Michael Goode 
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GOODE TRADES 
The Best Source for Stock Promotion & Penny Stock News and Insight 

FINRA fines Scottsdale Capital 
Advisors $1.5 million 
April 17, 2017 I By Michael Goode I All Categories, Fraud, Microcap, SEC actions 

---_ .... _ ._ .. _-, 

If you have followed penny stocks and pump and dumps for a few years then you 

know Scottsdale Capital Advisors (hereafter referred to as Scottsdale Capital), 

They are one of the few brokers left that have continued to allow the deposit and 

sale of shares in illiquid penny stocks. Larger brokers and discount brokers 

stopped allowing that over five years ago. When the big Biozoom (BIZM) pump 

happened back in 2013 many of the frozen accounts were at Scottsdale Capital. 

On March 31 st, FINRA fined Scottsdale Capital $1.5 million. Unfortunately I 

cannot find any public posting of that news so the prior link is to a Stockwatch 

article (full article only available to subscribers; see this copy if not a subscriber). 

In addition to the fine, John Hurry, owner of Scottsdale Capital, was permanently 

banned from working in the securities industry. 

The full 111-page FINRA decision can be found on their website. Unfortunately 

FINRA prevents direct-linking so you need to go 

to http://disciplinaryactions.finra.org/Search/ and then enter IIJohn Hurry" as the 

name. I have downloaded a copy of the decision in case they delete it. 

Excerpt from the decision: 

Hurry's violation of his duty to observe high standards of commercial 

honor and just and equitable principles of trade was purposeful and 

egregious. These two qualities lead us to conclude that Hurry is a threat to 

investors and the integrity of the markets. Our concern is compounded by 

our credibility findings. We found that he repeatedly testified falsely, and 

that there was a pattern of doing so when he thought no contradictory 

evidence would come to light. 
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When misconduct is intentional, General Principle 1 provides that 

adjudicators should 572 assess sanctions that exceed the recommended 

range in the Guidelines. Principal Consideration 13 also focuses on 

whether a respondent's misconduct is the result of an intentional act, 

recklessness, or negligence.573 When a violation is egregious, the 

Guidelines often suggest more severe sanctions. In egregious cases in 

connection with violations of Rule 201 o and Section S,the-specific 

Guidelines recommend that an individual be suspended for up to two 

years or barred. 

Even though he has no disciplinary history, the devious nature of Hurry's 

violation evidences disregard for regulatory requirements, an aggravating 

factor under General PrinCiple 2 and Principal Consideration 10.574 We 

have no confidence that if he remained in the securities industry he would 

not again devise a way to evade the law and regulatory requirements. For 

this reason also, we believe Hurry is a threat to the investing public. 

The decision also shows just how remunerative running Scottsdale Capital has 

been for Hurry - in 2014 he and his wife made "approximately $6.2 million in 

directors' fees and $1.45 million in net income." 

Disclaimer. No position in any stocks mentioned and I have no relationship 

with anyone mentioned in this post. This blog has a terms of use that is 

incorporated by reference into this post; you can find all my disclaimers 

and disclosures there as well. 

This site uses Akismet to reduce spam. Learn how your comment data is 

processed. 
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GOODE TRADES 
The Best Source for Stock Promotion & Penny Stock News and Insight 

SEC Freezes accounts used in illegal 
sales of lin registered shares of 
Biozoom $BIZM 
July 3, 2013 I By Michael Goode I All Categories, All Categories, Fraud, Microcap, Stock 

Promotions, Very Important Posts 

Earlier today the SEC announced that it froze accounts of eight different 

Argentinians who had illegally sold unregistered shares of Biozoom (BIZM). Two 

others who had not yet sold shares also had their accounts frozen. A week ago 

the SEC suspended trading in Biozoom. See my original post on the Biozoom 

promotion as well as the Promotion Stock Secrets post on the individuals behind 

the promotion. 

SEC press release 

SEC complaint 

The sheer number of shares sold and the profits involved are impressive. Here is 

a good description of what transpired from the SEC press release: 

The SEC's complaint alleges that from March to June 2013, the ten 

defendants received more than 20 million shares of Entertainment Art, 

which was one-third of the company's total outstanding shares. In a one

month period beginning in mid-May, eight of them sold more than 14 

million shares. The sales yielded almost $34 million, of which almost $17 

million was wired to overseas bank accounts. Their U.s. brokerage 

accounts, which include approximately $16 million in cash, are subject to 

the asset freeze. 

The ten defendants in the litigation are: Magdalena Tavella, Andres Horacio 

Ficicchia, Gonzalo Garcia Blaya, Lucia Mariana Hernando, Cecilia De Lorenzo, 

Adriana Rosa Bagattin, Daniela Patricia Goldman and Mariano Pablo Ferrari 
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(Mariano Graciarena and Fernando Loureyro are also named but had not yet 

sold shares). The defendants claimed to have purchased shares in Biozoom (then 

known as Entertainment Art Inc.) from the company's original seed shareholders 

between November 2012 and March 2013, but those shareholders had already 

sold all their shares back in 2009. 

Despite the5ECsquickac;tiorl, over$17min illicit profits were alreadywired 

overseas and are now beyond the reach of American authorities. Most likely 

none of the individuals whose names appeared on the accounts were behind the 

fraud. It is believed by many that Francisco Abelian has controlled scheme from 

the start. 

The US brokerages used by the defendants are well-known to everyone who is 

familiar with the penny stock world: Legend Securities and Scottsdale Capital 

Advisors. 

For further details, I suggest reading Promotion Stock Secret's post on this 

litigation (same post as here). 

Disclaimer: I am net long 1700 shares of BIZM (long 11,700 shares in one 

account and short 10,000 shares in another account); I have no positions in 

any other stock mentioned and no relationship with any parties mentioned 

above. This blog has a terms of use that is incorporated by reference into 

this post; you can find all my disclaimers and disclosures there as well. 

4 thoughts on "SEC Freezes accounts used in 
illegal sales of unregistered shares of Biozoom 
$BIZM" 

Michael Goode says: 

July 21, 2013 at 5:41 pm 

BIZM got a OTCI OTCC global lock. Read more about that here: 

http://promotionstocksecrets.com/what-are-dtc-chills-and-Iocks-

a nd-how-ca n-they-affect -mel 
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xerty says: 

July 22, 2013 at 3:37 am 

Do you know who gets stuck holding the bag for these 

illegal/unregistered stock sales? Clearly these guys walked with 

$17M, but is it their trade counter parties, the brokers who 

accepted the shares, or someone else who gets stiffed? 

Michael Goode says: 

July 22, 2013 at 11 :48 am 

That is a good question. In this case the shares they sold did 

exist (share counterfeiting happens sometimes) although 

they were not free-trading. So the trades stand and whoever 

bought those shares still has them. It is too late to go back 

and bust the trades made days or weeks ago. 

xerty says: 

July 24, 2013 at 11 :40 am 

So I guess it's the average shareholder of the company 

who lost, since they just got diluted by the addition of 

these new, duplicate shares. In fact, they got diluted for 

the full $34M amount, not just the $17M amount the 

criminals escaped with, since the funds seized by the 

SEC tend to go to the Treasury if they can't figure out a 

directly harmed party to reimburse. With 60M shares 

outstanding, this scam resulted in a 1/31055 of value for 

prior shareholders. 

This site uses Akismet to reduce spam. Learn how your comment data is 

processed. 
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Press ReLease 

SEC Obtains Freeze on Proceeds from 
Unlawful Distribution of Biozoom Securities 
FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 

2013-122 

Washington, D. C., July 3, 2013 - The Securities and Exchange Commission today announced charges against 

eight Argentine citizens who unlawfully sold millions of shares of Biozoom, Inc. in unregistered transactions . The 

SEC also obtained an emergency order to freeze assets in the U.S. brokerage accounts of the eight defendants 

and two other Argentine citizens who had Biozoom shares but had not yet sold them. The action follows last 

week's suspension of trading in Biozoom due to concerns that some shareholders may be unlawfully distributing 

its securities. 

Biozoom, formerly Entertainment Art, Inc., announced in April that it was changing its name and moving from 

producing leather bags to developing biomedical technology. The SEC's complaint alleges that from March to June 

2013, the ten defendants received more than 20 million shares of Entertainment Art, which was one-third of the 

company's total outstanding shares. In a one-month period beginning in mid-May, eight of them sold more than 14 

million shares. The sales yielded almost $34 million, of which almost $17 million was wired to overseas bank 

accounts. Their U.S. brokerage accounts, which include approximately $16 million in cash, are subject to the asset 

freeze. 

The SEC's complaint, filed in U.S. District Court in Manhattan, charges the eight defendants - Magdalena Tavella, 

Andres Horacio Ficicchia, Gonzalo Garcia Blaya, Lucia Mariana Hernando, Cecilia De Lorenzo, Adriana Rosa 

Bagattin, Daniela Patricia Goldman and Mariano Pablo Ferrari - along with two others, Mariano Graciarena and 

Fernando Loureyro, who received shares but have yet to sell them. 

"Today's action, along with the SEC's trading suspension order last week, demonstrate the SEC's ability and 

commitment to act swiftly to halt ongoing illegal conduct and preserve assets," said Antonia Chion, Associate 

Director in the SEC's Division of Enforcement. 

According to the SEC's complaint, when the defendants deposited the Biozoom stock into their U.S. brokerage 

accounts, they claimed to have acquired the bulk of the shares in March 2013 from Entertainment Art shareholders 

who purchased them in private placements that began in 2007. Each of the defendants provided stock purchase 

agreements between them and the former shareholders purportedly sig.ned by the defendants and those 

shareholders. The SEC alleges that the documents were false because the Entertainment Art investors had sold 

all of their stock in the company in 2009, almost four years earlier. The defendants' shares of Biozoom were 

deposited into their accounts as shares that purportedly eQuid be freely traded and the defendants sold them even 

though no registration statement was filed with the SEC for any of the sales transactions, in violation of U.S. law. 

In addition to the temporary restraining order and asset freeze granted by the court, the SEC is seeking preliminary 

and permanent injunctions, return of the selling defendants' allegedly ill-gotten sale proceeds, and civil penalties. 

The SEC also seeks preliminary and permanent injunctions against the non-selling defendants, Graciarena and 

Loureyro, because of the likelihood that both defendants will offer or sell their Biozoom shares to the public in 

violation of the registration requirements of U.S. securities law. 
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Ricky Sachar, Scott lowry, Deborah Tarasevich, Jennie Krasner, and Robert Nesbitt conducted the SEC's 

investigation, which is continuing. Patrick M. Bryan will lead the litigation. The SEC acknowledges the assistance 

of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA). 

### 

Related Materials · 

• SEC Complaint 
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, . 

tJNI'J:'EDS'fAT¢s'I)lS'l'Rf¢TCOURT 
SOU'flI~RN'I),I$l'R1CTQF NEW YORK 

·.' · '·~· .. ~~~1[§r5~'''EX:t~G.E 
:':," ';' ,:," 

MAGPALENkTAVELLb. . ..... '. .' .'" 
. ANDRESHORACIOfICICCFrrA', GONZALO ' 
GARCIABLAVALUCIA MARiANA , - . ) . - , 

H)~R,NANDO; CEG1LIA DE LORENZO, 
ADRIANA ROSA BAGATTIN, 
DANIELA PATRICIA GOLDMAN, 
MARlANOP A'eLO FERRARI, 
MARlAND GRACIARENA,and 
FERNANDO LOUREYRO, 

Defendants. . . 
--~~------~--~----------~----

COMPLAINT 

PlaihtiffSecurities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission"} f9rits ' 

1. The Commission brings this civil ' law enforcement a~tiori . ar'ainst E!;. 
'. , '" ': ','. 

Magdal'ennTavella, . Andres Horacio Fisicchia, GonzalqGiU'cia, Blaya; o, Ltici.a N1ar~an& 
. - ' . ,. ,' ," .,.: :. '.' ." 

l~enl}lndo,C~cjlia ' l)e Lorell~b, AdrianaJ.{osaBagattin, ' ])~niela Patdci'a' Goldma;l,aJld 
~ - . . - , ' .' ' ' . ' . " .' - . ..; . ,.. 

Marlano;P~lbloFerr~rJ ,c collectively, the "SeJlirig De(endants")6tian ,emergenc'y :basisto 

prevent ' milliorisofdollars of proceeds ·.from· tlnl~Wr{il s.alesof securitiesbe{ng :tr~nsferr~d 

out ofthecou:ritry. 'Over the past month, the .SeltYJ1gDefendantshave sol~ialmost: $34 

million wOlth of securities in Bio2ooni, Int. C'Biozoom")(itkla.Entcrtaiiiment'Ait,lnc.), 

a penny. stockCOlnpany tradedontheOveHhe-Col.lnterBtilletih Board ("OTCEB"); and 
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.. -' . 
. ' . ... . . 

:~:\~o:;':r:~~fl¢·itti.;[~t~i's~r~Cf·wjo;j:l~j\~~;W~;t:t: /< 
Defendrui~s' ~eshle ' Of~~~curiti~L:thu~: th~ir ' ~;~les ~ere . in, violatio~ '~f S~4ti~n .. 5 of the ., .:' ;:;'.: . 

I ,,:,:,'/,; .. ,; .-,: ' ~ " ' I" /' .~. • : ... ,' ... . . ,: .\:1~ ": ' , ,:. :;. '. ,' :" ' : :-" ~ , :.' .. '::</;;" " .' .. / ~:. . . >.:<.-: ;: ' ::" " ' )<'~'."::--;. 

U nited.~t!lt(!s. , lJll1~ssJn: . as~Y~:'fl.'~~~~'.co'Verin~ 'th~8elli~gQe.fenda1i11>1~.i9f?'qJ1iis~atesis ( .; ·. .' ...•..• ' ~ '.< ..... . 
, ,: ' ---,-,;. , . :--.. -':--:~"':':;,;::~/<- .'" .--. -; .' . ... ;.,. :-. ---- I' ---- .,' ...• ,-.;,.~ .• • .• .':;::---.~ ••• .•. ;-:;.... . ... . " .. ,,,.,;.::- , : .:, , .: .. : .. : ... . -, .::; •• •.. : 

", . . " - . . -... - . - . - .. -. . -"-""'" - - -'.' -' ','- ' - ' .. - <". ~.:(~.~:/J;.;~ 

issued,the·. uhl~wr\l(siue,sQf :~¢~ti;itIesahd\ tiiilisfero;'< di~~ipitibh':Qfth~·! ~k6Beed~i frbm. :; / ;;·' :> i; ' '. 5' 

:' :', :.":::" /:, ,, : . 

2. TheCom,missiQrtalso ; brings ' this civil law enforcement action against 

Mariano Graciaren~. an.dF~I11~ndQ Lollreyro . . These defendantsrec.ently deposited · over a ... 
... < .. -..... 

totuI of approximately <4.4 : ·fu.l~li~n$h?Iesof Bipzoom ' stock into their re~pect~ye ' . 

brokerage accounts. Like> 'tl~~ ; $ha~es sold by the SeIling pef~ndril1ts, . therehf ilo 

registration statementhieffectpeITnitting the lawful resale oftileB;ozoom sharesheldby ' 
-' '," ', '.: , '.-" , 

Graciarena and Loureyro.Be9a,llseGraciarena and Loureyroare ;likely toepgage in the' : . . :' .. - '- '" _._ .... . / -- .', -',' 

sale of securities in vio!~ti()d6t'Se6tion 50fthe Securities A<;t,theCommissiori seeks to . 
. )::.,. : ~ . ".~ -::. .: :-" .-';-':<.:: ,.' . ;:' ' 

enjoin them from.offeringfoJ.';r¢~~i~:i~ei): Biozo0l11 shares untHsllchtimy as ' a registration ," 

statement is filed andih effdct,' .. ' ... 

3. FromMriiT:li ,1d,i~<t.gd dbe20d, daelidalifsbpened ;brOke~age .accounts ~{',. ' · 

broker-dealers and d~posit~dm~lliops of .· shares .of ·· Bio~ool11.Il1c. " (flkla,Ente*irimellt . 
. f ...... ...; .. . 0:> .. ' .•... ••.. ...' '" • 

Art, Jnc.) that theyclainl,~dd~4i ~iotqy~t at:est~;icti v~J~ge!lC.l . andYlere ' [ree7# adjpg ,shar~s. , 

All of'the dd~pdaht~ ~i'~itl1d<i Ah~i"±4e; ' h~d~ilithased · ' &U .oi' $on1{· oftheiish~es ·from·. 
: . : 

SOUle of the 6dgin-alshW~eh~1~e.t!V 
.- ,; : '.'. .... - : ." ;:- i ~ .. , :', :, ,'. 

NovemberZ012 and March' 2013. 

2 
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. '. . ' ~:: ... ' .' . 

4. To bolster their claims,eacho't th~deKen.qilii~i; sUbiliitted · stoYkpurcMse 
, .. . ' ". . ,', . ... ....... ' ..... . ' 

, &gteemehtsdate~be.tween Novemb¢r 2012 MdM:arch2qX$CtJ1iJ,{;Po/P()l-t~dlyeyiqepced , ' 

' tliei*pur~h~ii-" -of J~l1tetW~~nt ';Aitstq¢~ " 'fro~" TtW~';! ¥6~¥i-'>i~~t~fuunmentAh" " 

.. ;::~t~:~t:~~~~~;;:~;::~~t~~!:;,,;!~~ti:~~:o:~:i i 
. ' : .",' ~ ::. : ::... ': . ' 

;'" 

5, ,',', ' ,, '· the ' defendant~rcdUlkPri(j,t, •• ho\'{~;~i,:;ha~~; ~pf2h1iri4. ahy ".Of,thbir\shiu:es · , . 

from th~ original Enteruiinment Art, shareholders as' :th6y ' ~laimed because those " 
. . .-, " 

shar<~holdeI's ,ceased to have any interest in the company on or around May 2009 -'more . " . " ,' , : .. ' ,' ' . 

th.anthree )lC'al'searIier than the defendants' claime~purcl1a~esi 

6..J\lmost inunediately after defendants dep()sit~dshares of Biozoom in their 

brokerage accounts, Biozoom beganisSllin& a serieso:fpressreleases and a stock 

promotiollaicampaign for the company began. Followingtllese press releases and stock 

prol11Ptionafyflh1pClign, from May 16, 2013 ·to June2f,2Ql),the company's stock price 
, . : ' .... ., ' .. " " " . , '. ; .. ~ , ' 

and vohli)i(!iIlci'eased ,qi;amatically. For exarripl~, ' pri6rt6MaY16, 2013, no shares in 
. ' ',-::;' :. :': !:," ,:,:: .. ',' : ' : 

BiozoomhadtI'~cled.However, from. May 16,2Q}J ·t()J~e;21,2013', Biozoom's stock 
<,:::/.:{. 

price shOLpast$4 pershare,with total volume of11ioreJhiUl'S7 ,~illionshares. 

7. During thi~ saine period, eight of1:l1ed~fe#d,a~ts; sold ~illionsof BiozQom . 

sh!lres.into the rising niarket - reaping millions Of dqllar$ ) n proceeds as a result. It1 
" ' .. ' I ' ' .. " . "", ; ':: ' , . " , 

total, overanapproximatylY ol1e ' l110ntl1periodfrom~laY16;:~Q13 "" June17, 20 t3) eight ... 

of the de'fen4arits' sdldatotalof over 14. 111illi6ilSllar6S ;;~f$iQzoomstock into the publit; · . 

markets for .proceeds of@nost$34mlllioll . .. 
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r-- -.. - ------------
I 

8. 
" ,-. 

statement; By· .. epg@iligil1,.th~,. · fqX¢gding'.cQnduct~ . ··.the , eigllt :S~l~ihg»~fell'dari!s/yiol~te,d 

.~,~,~ ... ~.O:, .:.J.: .• ~." " 
.'. " ; '':,::';;i'iF:;: : -: '.:/; ; . . ' .. ... , .. , 

· ·· ···9. i", >\Vh~1~,,'~~,t~m~hW1~tyl.oA~fT~~~t~'·:f::pr~9i~l~r:~i~~;~~%~W8·f.'»~re. y~t . 
, ',". , :. : '. . ::. /: . . : .... ': ' ,:-:,.; . :', ' , .- " '. " . . '; . .., . .-. i.,' (, : : '; • .:' . ~. '; .. ", - . 

. to ·· seJl ... ·anyof1ttejrai6zq()msh#es, .·.·~ey~i:e(.·li~~ly)t().· .. do···. so': 1.#1i~ssr~$tfa,ilXeq ~ .·· .·.rrhey· 
. ,", >.., '.:', '., -; .' ....... ,: . i· . ; ' :" . . - ' . : '~".' : " . ''',: ' :':', " - "'. ":'. ,: .: " ,- . . ' , . ', .. __ ,., ' _< _ :,: " .• ." ",';".: - ": ' . ,', , ' . . .. 

: . " '... . . '.' '.".':;' .;- .. ' .:: ... ' .. '. . .. ... ~: .. 

· ~e(;entiY " depOii1te.d .• r#il\ion~ , .of' $h~resint()th¢H': i&sp#~tiVe ' ~t6kdr~~i· ·hccO:unts"21~il11iIlg': 

(as the other d~fendants)lhat thes~ ·shan:shave no'r~~,trictive )ege~d ::ruidare available for 
, , , . . - . 

resale tothepubHc. " Therefore, the COminission se.eks an~rdeipur:maIlt tq Securities Act . '. . 
. .. .- . ,- ':; 

Section 20(b) [I'5U;S; C~ 77t(b)] toenj oin them frolnviolationsofSections Sea} and 5 (c) 
'. , 

.·ofthe Securitie,sAct ' 

JURlSDICTIONANJ) .VENlJlt . 

10. Th~SECbrjngs this action pursuantto.Sec\i,on .5TlS .U.S:C.§77e]and 

Section iO(b) of-tile .SeclllitiesAct of 193.3 ("Sesuritie,~ . 1ct'lx.'J15U.S , C. §77t(b)] . .... . 

Deferidal-tts havedire~t!y or indirectly made useoftheine~s6r ;iIlStrumeiltaJities . of 
..... _--- '. ' '- -'. .",-- .- . .-. :" ) .. - .. .;" ',.: . .•. _ .. - : .. : ..... : : 

':'.---;-. . - , .. 

interstate .comIl1erce,~r . 9£ the ' mails, or. the faciJities'~fa~~tio~~ . sepi~ritiese)(chaJ1gein 

cOl1necti(lJ~ . with"tli6acts, 'practices, transactions)aridc6~rse,s' ot • .bllsitiess . alleged in tI1is 

Complaiilt . 
. . . .' . ~- . . . : -.. . . 

.11. ThisCourthasjm'isdictiQnover thisactiClnpUrStlarlt'toSection21 of the 
""'<'.;':.>. :' " ' .. :'- .. , . ~ . .' -..... ,.> . ",.;.<.,.:-:-.; ,. - -.: :",:. :":- :":','.: ", .", : ." -.' ._, .. ---:" 

· secttiitiesActll ?D.S.Q,§ 71" },and,28 U .s~C, § 1331. / 

i2; 

.' Act [15 US.C~ §71yJ, b~cal.lse certaiiiElcts, pl:actic'es, . ar\c1C9~1I'~eSbf\)usiness ,cQlistituting 
." , ,' ' . . ..." ' ... • ' . ,' - ' • ."' •• .. , • • ' ,' :,,',- •• ' . "C-, " 

.,. 
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,', 

· .:: .. _.: ..... . 

14. 

aridisa.tlArgeritiriecitiie~. - ", 

15. Deferid~hFG6nz~idGarciaBlayareside&ihj3ti~n()s.Aiies; :kgeritina, ' andi.!,'· ' 
'. . ._- . - . ' . '- .! -- ' - ' --, . - --- •. '- - . . 

is an Argentine citizen; ~ " . 

, ' 

16. Defendant.Lu~ianaMarianaHernandore~ides , i!1 Bnenos Aires, Argentina, 

and is an Argentine citizen, 

17. Defenda).1tCeci~ia De Lorenzo resides in Buenos Aires, Argentil1a, and is 

an Argentine citizen. 

18. D efend ani Magdaiena , T~vel1a resides in Buenos Aires,Argentina, and is , 

~U1 Argentine citizen. 
, ' 

19, DefendaritAdriariaRo~aBagattin resideslti Buenos Aires, Argentina, and 

is an Argentine Gitizen. 

20. DefendantDaniela. Patricia:Ooldman, resides in B\lelloS Aires, Argentina, 
.. .... .:. _ .. : -.. : - ...... . :. . ' . .- ' ... .- . .. - .... '. : 

and is an Argentine 'cltiZpl~ 

21. Defendant MariahdPablo .Fei:ral:f resides in.Buenos .Aires, ' Argentina, and : 
...... :,. -" -·- - c· ·····:. - .:........ ,. ... --. .. . -. -:<----. --' -- '. ..... : 

is arlf\rgentine citizeh. : " 

22. Defe;ld<ijlf 'M~ian(l(}raciar¢ha 'resid~S}l1d311en0sAires, Argentina, and is 

an Argentine citizen. , 

5 
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. . - .' 

23. Defendant Fem.ahdo L()Ur~yr() :n~sid¢.~,'in BveriosAir6$,'Argeritini( 'and is 
:, . ,- - : -: , ---_ .. . " -.':",-'- - ' . ". , - -" - , 

all Argel)tinecitiz(!t1. 
i, ;, --> .; 

OTH:ERRELEYA:~i>~NiclTiES "".,. ", i; , 

, :"·:":,'g4; . " ;'~id~§W) 'Inc .. ,.; (fikta';:En,(€~I~~~i~~jf: x~.g.j{i;i#;,'~~~W~~d:q ' ¢?@~raf12Ii' .. 
Witlfdts ' Bnli¢ip~rpla~~ ,·OfbUS!il~llS ·. iri .. KCli~ei; ~g~~~'J~'i'~i~~()~,;~9~9Fs;tSf,~~;iOJhe. :··':" ..• 

':"-:';.'.!; 

.btisir1(!$s····' of res earchi rig, developing, andli6~hsi~g r technologies ··· refatin~tothe : !ilopiie ···.··'· 

remote' collection of'biomedical.qata 'as \V~lIasb'iIaterMdiaJ~;ti6 'co~rr1®i¢ation> 
Biozoorrl~S .comllionstock is registered with the Commissio~puriuantto Sect.icm12 of 

the Securities' Exchange Act of 1934 ("Exchange Act") [15 U.S.C. §781] ,and is quoted on . 

the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board ("OTCaB',}under the trading symbol "BTZM. j, 

25. . Legend Securities ("Legend'Tisa registeredbroker~dealer located in New 

York, New York. 

~6. Scottsdale Capital Advisors ("Scottsdale") is a registered broker-dealer 

located in Phoenix, Arizona. 

,:,.,' FACTUALBACKGR.OUND 

A. The Creation of Enterf;ljnme~tAl"(:j~d]lliti,aIS:tie of Company. 

27. On June 15, 2007 ,Entertainniel1tArt' ~llS 'in~o{P6r,<"tted 1.mder the laws of 

th~state of Nevada. In publicfilings;E~i~rtainmenf' Art-tepijes6fited' 't~at it was a 

d;ev~l()p.rt1.e~!al '~tage co.mpany fomied tOclesjgp,pro4uP9' W1d. s~ll '~ Ii~e Qf)eat~~tbags, 

withQffiCes~d~~tecl)n \\lest Hempstead, Ne¥ YQrk. < EIlt¢rtainme.n~Art ,.was controlled 
: ' > - , -" . ..- i . , . - , '~ ';' < - • • • i -! " _ .. -. . . ,. ,: , .. 

hythetm-eerrt¢rnhers of company IJlaQ~geln.~4t~ · 

28~ FtoniNQvell1her 2001th\'Wgh':Mllrqh'i,Qpa; Eriter,[ainril'ept Art '6ffer~d apd . 

soJda:tbla!'Of:61:0;OO() shares. to, 34 differen( ll1vestors hiPrivatep~aCell1~Il{;tfalls:actions~ . " . - _. - ' : - '-." . ' - ,- -. '" '; . 
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A share"certificatereflecting Entertainment Altsh1lre )¢virl¢rship .\Vasissuedtoeach;, . 
. . - ... - . ' - .. :..:' . .. . . " . . -, 

: , ' . 

investor, r" • 

· · · ,, ~9. . ... ··';'<)D!'. ~.'J41~'; i'l~/ . ZOQS, Entet:hu~erit '~ ·~l~d .', : a ' f~iiJ:l ' s~t ' ' I:egE>tf~don' i ' 
. .' , .. ' . , .::.-.:- , ~ ," : . i ':. " 

state~;~#t·' ~h~·~~'; :~~WBiSsr9rtJ6;,~.~~i,;~'t~i);th6 ;T;~S~~;!};~¥'#ii~~~~9~ :tfi~'34{S~¥~~9i~~f~>/ 

;;~!!I!liE:;:zglti~llfji~f~a~flj~< 
company'sthenoutstruidingsbares. 

30, The,remaining 1,200,000 shares of Erttertairunent Art stock wer~heldby 

the, three :(;0p1pany officers, in three identi cal 400,000 'share plocks. 

31.0~May 1,2009, EnteItainment Arta~ounced,in apublicfWng ,withtqe 
':':', . -' 

Commission, thatthethree Entertairunent Art offic~rss()rd their tot~ll ,200,000 shares of " 

EntertalnmenfArttc; 'Medford Financial Ltd, ("MedfbtdFinancial"),~ Belizerul entity, 

for a purchase prjcebf $120.,000, 

3:tContrary."to . this ' disci osure" , however; '~ Medford Financial purchased more 

than 1,ZOO,OOOsharesof Entertainment Art. In ·.fact, Jy1ed{ord .Fin@cialalso.purchased '" 

al1ofthe91Q;QOOsh~'esthat had been Ptirchasedby th~Forrn s-ishar~holders>Thus, in 

this , tra:1)sii~tiori; M~dfc)id FinanCialpurchu:secl )lIfM the 'outstancling :sJ1i!fes,incltidillg the" 
;':_" , '_ ___ :0'. _. ' .'_- __ " '_''-'.' 

sharesthehcheldbythe Form S"'lShareh?Jders. 

33. Each ()f the Form Se 1 sharehqldets rec.eiVedtheirinitial investmentback, 

with allag{Htion4~, ' s'n1all return on their inve'strn6nL :Thlls',' byo.tl. or. ~ouridMaY.2009, 

each of the .ForinS-lshareholdershad norem~inipg shilresoJ'otherihterest in " 

Entertairu.nent Art. 
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34. Asc9rding to cOI11Fgftyifilibgs,onJun,e 30, 2009,Ent¢rtaillInenrArCs 

board··· .oldirectors •.• approved thej~~1~I1le#i~ti0I1·.·.9f .•. ~ .•• ?3:1 •. fQrward.· .. SPHrJ()rE~t#ftaiIllllent···' 
. Art •• st()CkwrthOl1t)~onesPOhdi~glyjin~r~~~ihgt~~a\lmorized·~h~es •.• ofcBtTIrrtG~;st6cICfor·· 

'(;',; 

whichwas.aU()\VIled·.byiMedfotdEi#aIJcial.··· . 
,.;::.;-::"::-::.-',.:<,' <'::': :':,,':,~-,':"::"~i.·' .. l:··ii .... ,.,: ... :,",.. .- ... : . : .. , .... : .... " , ,', .,' 

B. 

35. 

AnotherSak ()f.ll1nt~rtain~.ent ArfandAcqtli~lti~h6iBj6i()QDi 
Technology 

On October 25, 20 12, Entertainment Art reported, in a public filing with 

the Commission, thaton October 19 Medford Financial sold 39,600,000 commonshares 

of Entertainment Art in a private transaction with Le Mond Capital for a purchase price 

of $430,000, which equates toapproxi1).latdy $0.01 per share. 

36. Le Mond Capitalpurports to be a foreign entity bas(;d in theBritishVirgin 

Islands. As a re~ult of thes~lt),Entertainment Art disclosed that Le MondCapital 

controlled over 66J%oftheCQmpan)"sisstied and outstanding common stoc].;.; 

37. However, on. inf()fm~tionand belief, I.e Mond Capital purchased the 

elllire companyfi'om Meclf()rdFil1arlcial-'andaIlof 59,730,000 outstanding shares. 

38. The owner.ofLeMondC~pital, . .Sara.peutsch; bt)caIne<Ehte1tainm.e,Pt· 

Art's new President, ChiefExecllti"eOfficer, Principal Executive Officer, Treasur~r, 
, .. ' _. '. 

Chief:Firiancial Officer, Secrctary,\Tl;~aSllre~;,and Director. On illionl1ationa,ndbejief, 

Deutschis a resident.ofBuehdsAWe~,Arg~rtjna. 

39. From September 201J toatJeustc>ctober 2012, Deutsqh.'Nprked as a 

manager· of Magdalena'sPmty .• /Accotdingjothe pusiness' website, Magdale,na' s P artyi~ 
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a restaurant 10catedin,BuehQsA:ites, Argentina. Accbrdingto ,<t!l.other.websitedescrjbing " ~, , 
. - ::" , ··f·· ·· . " .. -. ' . ; '.' ... . ,. :.' .'" . . .... . ,. . 

Maggalena' s 'PartY,itis ' Cb~O~edbyneutsch; pefend~tM~gdaleh<lT:avella, ari.cl9thers . 
.-.. -::~ ... '.-.. ~ . 

40.0n,Mal'qh12,:f(13) Entertain:riJ.ent:, ,A..rtftled ' (iFonn '&-Kwith ;the , 

, Comm,ission' in 'Wllich' i~ ' arino~ce&i;~'.'drarnatib bhari~~'. iri, "h:.',buslness ,operations:' from' ,(1 "'" 
. " ". " - -,: . . 

cornpanythatdeVel()peclfaslji9i)ableJeather"bags , tri~C()n1panythat was involved iritht! :; ", ' 

bioIlledicalind1.lstry. , Inp~iCUl1lI,EntertainriientArtat1Uo.unced '~ ' transactiOriptirS\la!lt~· : ' ' 

, , , 

patents; licenses, and related assets from each of three separate companies: Opso1uti9n 

Spectroscopic Systems, Opsolution NanoPhotonics; and Opsolution GmBH, (the 

"Opsolution acqui,sition") in exchange for cash of $50,000 and 39 million shares of 

Entertainment Art common stock. 

41. Entcrtairunent Art described that, through Biozoom, it was now in the " 

business of "researching, developing, and licensing technologie~ relating to the mobile 

remote collection ofbiomedical data a,s well as bilateral diagnostic communication." 

4~, Erlt~rtairunentAlt ful'therdisclosed that- as of immediately after closing ' 

of the ()p~olutionaqquisition and filitigoftheFOnIl8~K-Deutsch would step down as ,', 

CEO and Chief Financial Offi.cer of E~tertairumn~t !\rt,but would stay on as a Director ' 

I?nly. 

43. As a re!)ult of the transaction, the 59,730,000 outstanding shares of 

Entertainment Art wereallocatedirlthe followirigmanner. First; Le Mond Capital 
. . . . 

retmnecl 39,000,000 shares tathe company, and th~rithose 39,600,000 shares were 

,allocated ..., as sharesbeuringarestdctivelegend- to roW entities that were associated 

with the Opsohjtion .entities~ 
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44. Thus, ,afte{th~se" a1l6cations; 20,730,000 sIiaresi ofcEntertaiPlllent 'Art ' 
. . ,'- , '" ,:: - .,.: ," 

rymained; ,', Le MOil9C;apit~i ,i(,~~iried' 6.90~900()fUies~ :~hfu.6~ hearing~restri¢tive !egend; " 
. : ~-. ,,;: " .. : " "'! .. ;: ... :.. ... " .... , .. --.... :: ...... :::" ..• . - -.. . :: \.": : .. :.:.: .... .' ... .', . . .. ' : ; .' .. ' " ... <' ': .< " : . . 

.. .. . ',.: ... ' ; ; 

F orrn ;S-l Sharel)oldef~., (~Il!isubseqll~llt1 Ysoldill. ~4eMedfo~dFhlilicihltransa,6tlon ,on or 
. ;'; ' ;::. __ .' .• r ' .: .. ", '. .' c. .- .. '.- -:. -," :- - . ••. ' •• ... 

aroundNlay2009) ~ we,re. ul1~iIO~ated .• 
45. 

. -,': . 
" 

the trading symbol \~BIZM~' ohthe:OTCI3ulletil1'Bdard) 

C. Defendants Deposit BiQzoom Shar,es In Tf{tir Newly Opened 
Bro}{erage Accounts 

46. From January 2013 to May 2013, brokerage accounts were opened at 

Legend, a registered broker-dealer based in New York; in the .' name of four of the 

defemdants: Ficicchia,Blaya, Hernando, and De LorenZo, 

47. In May 2013, brokerage accounts wcreopened at Scottsdale, a registered 

broker-dealer based in Phoenix, Arizona,in the . name 'of another four defendants: ' . 

Tavella, Bagattih, Goldman, and Fenari. 

, 48. According lolh~account opening docu.ri'l~ntation- and as reflected in the 

table below :- with . oneexcepiion, lloncofthedefei\4antsworked in fields related ,to 
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Ferran 

Goldman 

1, Accounts at Legend 

Andres Horacio }i'icicchia 

49. Defendant Ficicchia opened his ac.count at Legend on or about January 24, 

2013 ,mel funded the account with $26,000 cash, 

50. On November 30, 2012, Entertainmellt Art's transfer agent issued an 

Entertairutlent Art certificate for 165,000 shares to Ficicchia. 

51. On March 13, 2013,.Entertainment Art's transfer agcnt issued. an 

Entcliairul1cnt Altcertificatc for 1,237,500 shares to Ficicchia. 

52. The certificate for 1,237,500 shares was accompanied by a c()rporate 

certification stating that Deutsch certified - at a board meeting of Entertainment Art on 

March 22, 2013 - the company approved the issuance of that certificate to Ficicchia, 

53. In order todepositthccertificatefor 1,237,500 shnres and the certificate of 

165,000 shares of EhtertainmentArt into his brokerage account at Legend, defendant 

Ficicchia completed a "Deposit for S~curitiesRequest Certificate Questionnaire" that was 

required by Legend, .and provided adpitional documentation. 
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54. The documellta.tionref1~ct~d~ fhlltFicicChia . aCqtiired : fh~1,231,500Shares . 
-": -. ,", .. ;.-'. ,"' -- ' :" . ' - '. '." /-, '.:" " . ," . ", " . 

pUrsuant to tw() . privatesafe$.;ibat : wer6,,'so~p;Wed o.ll]1ebruary 19,Z()13: ;(I) ,~PUf.dli~s.e ;6f···· 
.' - - -- . .' ,- .,~ , ;. '-.~ ' .. ,". . - - . ..... - . . . .. . . . .',. - . , '. ',' ," '~. , - -. . . 

'. " " ,',: . " :;. ,f,~·: 

!hedocumentatioli 'als&ref1¢cted::ihat,'Piyibchiapai&a totalo{appr9;)({l!l~t#l Y :~9;30d .f(H' 
. . . 

. these . shares~which equ.al& .~ppro,){illl~WW.$:9P:5 ;~~l"share . • Foi'fhe folJ()~iilg .r~a8(}ns,th¢ .. ';" . 
':: :;',.::. -

·d~cumenta.ti6h . sUbmjtteci~)'~icibfhi;~~a~ .f~lse. , 
" : ::";,;,.,',:': 

55. . Investor" A:-.kas ,; 6n(:6f; Qi~ 'Fhnfi, s:r shar~hbld~rs\Vh6h~'d '$oldhisshrires •. , .. ·; 

of Entertainment Art on 'or hl'6undMaY· 2009 .... . almost four years before ficicciua's 

claimed purchase of shares from Investor A. Investor B was purportedly a shareholder 

that acquired its shares frqrl1 some of the Form S-l shareholders in 2011 - approximately 

two years after the Form S-Hharelt6jgers actually sold their shares . 
. . -. . ", : . ,-, 

56. The docurr).entationmrtherreflected that Defendant Ficicchia acquired the 
. : ... . . ,'- . 

165,000 shares pursuant t?apr~vatesal~that was comple,tedon November 30, 2012' ~ith 

Investor C - shares that he acquired to; $24,750, which equals $0.15 per share. In;estor · 

C 'was also one ofthe;FomlS-1Slulfeholders who had sold his shares of Entertainment 
. . 

Art on or around May 2009- over 'three years ·before Ficicchia's clai,ned purclu~se of 

shares from Investor C. 

57. On MarchS,2Q13,' PisicGhiadep6siteci"165,000 shares ofEiltertaillllent . 

Art not bearing a restrictiYelegen4illt~hj~9rokerageac:countat LegeI1d; and the~on 

Nhu'ch 27, 2013, Ficicchiad~p6sitedan;adtlitionall,237,500shares (ag~in not bearing a 

restrictive legend) - for a tOta.l of'1,4Q2;500~hares, 

58. On April 1, 2Q13,atle)to 'm~name change qf Ente~1!\irlInent Art to 
.-:. 

Biozoom, these shares became ' }31ozoomshares; Thus. defendant Ficicdhla. heid 
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i-' 

I 

I 

I 

I 
i 1,402,500. shares of Biozoom that were purportedly 'availableJopesold on the public 

miiTkets. 

". 'qqnzalo Qarci~-Blaya 

59. " OIl.'6r · aboutMarch26, . 26J3i/'defe,n(iaAtj~i~Y~; open~d an acco\l~t .. ~t , 
. . - ' . .) - ' .' .... ." '. - '. 

Legend and furidedthis accountwitlf$26,()OOc~h. 

60. 
. . . - - . 

Entertainment Ares .• transfer agentisslled aC~hific~iefo;l.485;600 .Enteitainri1enfArt · 
. . . . ' -,- . . ," . -; - . ' ;' - . " ' ; " 

shares to Blaya. 

61. In order to deposit his certificate for 1,485,000 shares of Entertairunent 

Art into his " brokerage account at Legend, defendant 'Blayacompleted a "Deposit for 

Securities.Request Celtificate Questionnaire" that was Jeguired by Lcgend, and provided 

additional documentation. For the followingteasons, thedocumentatioll submitteq by 

Blaya "vas t1\lse. 

62. The documentation reflected thatBlaya acquired the 1,485,000 shares in 

four separate private sales that were completed on March 4, 2013: (1) a purchase of 

165,OOOsh~es from Investor D; (2) ,apurchaseof 49S,OOOsh~es from Investor E; (3) a 

purchasepf 165,000 shares from Investor F; and '(4) apurch~seof 660,000 shares from 

Investor G. The documentation alsoret1ect~dth~tBl~y&paida \0 tal of upproximately 
" . ; ... -, .::- : '''''- ' " . 

$6,765 for the$e shares, which equals approX:im~teIY$.005per share, 
.. " 

63. Each of InvestorsJ),E, F,and(twereForj'llS-IShareholders who had 

sold their Entertainment Art shares ' on or ~rou~clMay ;20'0'9- ~lri:iost fotlf years before 

Blaya's claimed purchase of shares fr()ffithese investors. 
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64. OrtApril ~6, 20 i3~J31ay~.qeposited '1,485,000 shar~s .6fEnteI}ai)uiwnt Art 
. ,: ~ 

· nothpati~lg . a!~Wi c~iy¢q~g~~d cint~Jiisbroke~age ;account . at. L'~g~i1d' As a.:r§.s4ltqrthe .' 
- ..... ~ ..... ---" _. . ~ - ... . : .. . . ; :" -; ~~ --- -- - --- -= . .". . .. ' . " ; ' . ', ' : . . ". '. 

busi~es~. llWech~ger:onA~~H. i l;·'· .iifl,~~ .• i~~se.sKk~es . bdqiUrie· ~~i<>i~bni~hafes. :'.Thtis; ,: 

defel1dant 'Blayah81d"d;4'85,OobshCli~[!bf~i6zo()hi ;ih'atwer,~(JlUl;#qitedIY':~V~il~~j~ , to be ': .,; ....• 

. -, 

Lu~iallaMariariI\Herh:hido ' . 

65. On orabotitJYlar~1l7, '2()I:3;defendant Hernandoo~enedal1.acc6untat 
' , ' _, ' " ,' " , . • . " ., •. ,' , ' , I ." ' 

Legend and funded the accountWith,$50;OOO cash. 

66. On March22, 20 13,. Entertainment Art's transfer agent issued a ,certificate . 

for 1,815;000 EntertainmentA,rt shal'es to Hemando. 

67. In order to deposit her 1,815,000 shares of Entertainment Art into her 

brokerage account at Legend; def6ndant Hemando completed a "Deposit for Securities 

RequestCertiticate Questionnairc"that was required by Legend,an,dpro-videdad(JitionaI ' 

documentation. For th~ following reasons, the docwnentation submitted by Hemando 

was false. 

68. 

". " ' r ' 

The dOCi.li11enta,tionrefleGted that Hernando acquitedthe 'l ,815,000 ~hares " 

pursuant to two separatiprivatesales that were cOiTlpleted on 'March· 5, 2oi3: (1) a: 

purcha~e Ofl,650,OOO : ~~~(!~ .iri~InVe~t6rH; and ' (2)apurchase'of 165,066~haresfrQm 
Investor 1. The documentatiol1also-ref1ec~ed that Hernando paid&totalofapproximate(y 

. . - . ,.' - - . 

$5,445forthese shares; which eq1,lals approximately $.003 per shal;e ~ 

69. Both Investors' }! aMI were 'Form S-l shareholderi irho '!1adSQldtheiI' 

Entertai~meritArt sha:res 0ll.-grWciund May 2009 -almostfour Yt:ars ,before]-te1Jlando~s ' 

c1aimep purchase ofsharesfr()il)' .th~s~itlY~$t6rs. 
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70. ,'On May '14,20lJ, d,efert~llntHenlallqo d~po~ited 1,81S,OOO'share,s .of 

" E~t~rtaimnent Att.notbe~il1g : <l.t(wric~i'v.~ : legen~ itlt'9her:ijro¥eiage~cCQunt "at Leg~rid , , " 
'. . .. , ' ... .. _;.-:. .: ".- ._ " ,"' ." , " ... ," :"::.' . ,,' ". . . . .. " . ' . . 'i -"' :" . 

, .. ' ; ' 
. -.. ..... . 

' . " 

h~crune Biozoo,m shares: Thus,aeferidaili ,Heniilild6 :'heIdl;81S;OOO shates , of Bio~ooni' : 
. . -' . .. '.' .~ . . . . . - . - . 

thatwe~e purpo,.-tc;:dl'javailabl{to besqldqilth~ PribHc 'rnar~~~~. 

Cecilia De torel1i6 

71. "On or abotltieb@arY'4;2013;d¢i~~~A11t])eL6renzo opened anaccouhtaf: ' 

Legend und flUlded :the account with $S'O,OOOcash. , 

72. On March 13,2013, Entertainment Art's transfer agent issued a certificate 

for 2,062,500 shares to De Lorenzo. 

73. The certificate was accompanied by a corporate certification stating that 

Deutsch certified - at a board meeting of Entertainm,ent Art on March 22, 2013 - the 

company approved the issuance of the above certificate to De Lorenzo. 

74. In order to deposit her 2,062,500 shares of Entertainment Art into her 

brokerage account at Lpgend, pe Lorenzo completed a "Deposit for Securities Request 

Certificate Qtlcstionnaire"Jhat was required " by Legend, and provided additional 
" ' 

documentation. For the following i:eas()ns,thedo~un).elltation$Llbmitted by De Lorenzo 

was false. 

75. The documelitation reflected that. be Lorenzo acquired the 2,062,500 

shares pursuanttd two separateptivatesaies thatwerecomplete~lon February 19,2013-

the same day as, the purported llUrchases ofEntei-taii:llr;~nrArt stock by Ficicchia: (1) a " 

purchas(:!of 1,650,000 sharesf'!'omIirvestorJ ;anq(~)itPllrd)aseof 412,$00 shares from ' 
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;InvestorK . . 'The docUmentation alsoreflected,thaf,Defendarit De ' LCli~nzo paid a f6tal of 
. : , 

! approxi~ateIY " $8,:3()Qfo.rtbe$C; . ' $hare$;,\¥l1icheq~~J~ · ~PPJ;Q)(irhatelY:$:604Per:;har~) . : 
, I . .... '-c~:L::" :; ,/ .' .' ~~ , : .: : _. ', ",.: ;".;," ,<_: .• 

76. ' Bo.thI~'Vestots J and! !l(, 'boW~v¢rXyj¢r~F()lmiS~lsh~ehglders :'lNh() ; ha<i ,., 

so'ldtheji- Entermihrnent ,Art sharJs :~p ' ot' arb\lh~~;~~Y2()d~ .~ 'al~~~t·fJur' , ;e~s !befo;e 
defendimtDe Lorenzo's c,lahned Pllrcl1as~ : ofsl1aI¢~trornthesejn~!estots. : , 

:.: - .::: ;' • : .' I ~ 

77. On March 22, 1013),,'d~fendMfi5eJ;6ff;J#Q, !dep.dsited(#,06~~~0'O$h!~¢~.'pf' " 

, " EI1teffui~bht , ' Art notbeartng !a 'r6s'ti-i~ti;6 !le~eJa ,:i~tdi,~d~. brok¢~~~~'~6¢ClJAtatJ:1~g~ri((: ',', 
As aresultoftbe business name change on Aprill;2013, theses~~eSbecameBi6zppm ' 
shares. Thus, defendant De Lorenzo held 2,062,500 shares of Biozoom that ptirpor~edly 

cpuldbe sold on the public markets. 

2. Accounts at Scottsdale 

.1\ilagdale:na Tavella 

'78. OI:}March 22, 2013, Entertallilllcntj\rt'sstock transfer agenfi,$sued ri 

ce,(tifi,cate fo:r 1,815,000 shares of EntertainmentArt to Tavella, 

79 , On or "bout May 16, 2013, defendant Tavella opened an account at 

Scottsdale. 

80. In order to deposit her 1 ,815,000 sha~es of EritcrtaiIlll1Cnt Art into her ' 

bj~kerage account, Scottsdale, ' using , information'ririd ., dOcUnierl~1ti6n' provided : by 

Tavena, completed a securities deposit checklist For the following reasons, the 

doctunentationsu bmitted by Tavena was false. , 

81. The dOCllmentation ref1~cted ,tlratTavella acquired, the 1,815,000 shares ' 

"pmsnanHothree separate private ~aleslhat\V~re90,m;pleted9n lYiarch 5,2()13- thes~me 

day as thepuIported purchases of Entertaititriem Art .. bY def.eIld~tH6mando; (1) a 
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. " ,', 

purcMse of 165,000 sh~e.~ from Investor L; (2) a purcq~seof 165;bQOshar~from 

. Inyestor M; and (:3) apurchase(}f 1,48~,OOOsh!U"es from Investor N·. Thg'do(:Umeritation , .. '". .... . ., ' .' .';" . . .. 
- c:.,:' " . "" " , 

ref1ectedtha~ Ta\leUapaid<~JotaI9fat)proX:im~tely $9;075 forlliesesh1ites, whicheqllals . 
, ..' :' . '. ".- ." ;' .. ;. . . """ " " ; ' 

appro~imatelY$.006 per share ... 

82 . JnYestor$,:~andM .Were . two o(the · For:m~ S~ l' sh~eh()ldef~whoha:ci .sold 

their shares of En,tertahfrheJltAit.bnor aro:undMay 2.009 :..a:linos(~gur years .b;ef~re . ' .... _ .,- ' , ' ,"" " 

Tavella's claimed pUf9hase6f /shares from them. Inyek~or ·NWa~ .p1.l,tporledlya 

shareholder that acquired its shares 'from some of the Form S-lsharehOlders in March 

2011 - almost two years after the Form 8-1 shareholders sold their shares. 

83. On May 22. 2013, defendant Tavella deposited 1,8J5,000 shares of 

Entertainment Art not bearing a restrictive legend into her brokera$e account at 

Scottsdale. As a result of the business name change on April 1,2013. these shares 

became Biozoom shares. Thus, defendant Tavena held 1,815,000 .sharesofBiozoomthat 

were purportedly available to be sold .on the public markets. 

Adriana Rosa Bagattin : 

84. OnMal'ch 13, 2013, Entertainment Art's tnmsfer agent issued a certificate 

for 2,310,000 Entertainment Art shares to defendant Bagattin. 
. . . 

85. On or a:lJ~utMay f6; :2013, defendant Bagattin opcried iulaccoi.lnt at 

Scottsdale. 

86. In order.to deposIJ h~.r 2,310,000 shares of Enter,tainrrient Art into her 

brokerage account, Scottsdale, using information ffild docllmentati6n provided by 

Bagattin, completed asecutWesdeposit checklist. For ~he Jollgwing rea~on$~ the 

docunlentationsubmitted by Bagf,lttih' was false. 
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87. ne documentation refle¢ted that~~agattiri ; acquired Jhe 2,310,000 shares 
,- , - " ,-" - "' .. -- - -.'" ,.-., - . : 

plirs~ant'to threepriyat¢$alesthatwer'ecQmpletedQri>F~brtaty26,' 2.Ql~i . (l).apUi'ehase 
•• ,' : - ' ,-- - " '-,- < ' - . " - ,. " .. " - .... " ,._" ' ,' " . - • .,. , 

-. ~! • ,. 

. ofi ,650;OOO ,s~ares fl"dfu. Investor O;(2)a : ~y~c~~s~ ,cif33Riodo ' ~§~esfrQm JnvAstqrP; .', 

ancl(3)aPtlfchase 0030;000 Sh?i'esfrOillIriVest6r 'Q: T1i~>documentati6n refleciedthat' 

Defendant . Bagattin 'paid approximately :$6;930 · for these shares, ·. whi.che~u;tls 

apprQxirp,ately$.003 per share. 
. . . 

sa. Eacho:flnvestors 0, P)&rldQ; h()~e~e.r,Yi¢r.'b. F.· ()rmS~l Shareh()ldetswh6:.· •. · . ' . :' ," -, ,,'/ . . 

had sold their Entertainment Art shares on or' around May 2009- almost four years 

before defendant Bagattin' s claimed purchase of shares from these persons. 

89. On May 22,2013, Bagattin deposited 2,310,000 shares of Entertainment 

Art not bearing a restrictive Legend into her brokerage account at Scottsdale. As a result 

of tb~ b~siness name change on April I, 2013, these shares became Biozoom shares. 

Thus, defendant Bagattin held 2,310,000 shares of Biozoom that were purportedly . 

available to be sold on thc public markets. 

Daniela Patricia Goldwan 

90. On March 22, 2013, EntertailllnentArt's transfer agent issued a certificate · 

for 2,485,OQO Entertaimnent Alt shares to Goldman; 
; >. 
" , :' , 

91. . ' On or ~b6tit May 13, 2013, def~#dahf>GoldmM opened an account at 

SCQttsdale. 

92. In order to deposit her 2,485;000 .sh,aresofEntertainment Art into her · 

brokerage account, Scottsdale, llsing documel1tat.ion aild il1formationprovided by 

Goldman, corl1pleteda securities dep()sit~,fie~klist For the following reasons, the 

doclimentatiort s'il~miJted by'Gpldllla:tl was fa.(se~ 
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93. The do~ulJl.entationteflected that Goldman acq~iredthe. 2,485,000 shares 

pursuant tQ. two private S!llesthat;werecomp~etedon M<lichMio13,~ .. (l}~pw.chase or 
1 ,485 ;000 sllares frorrinrl/e~tQrR.;Jm.d(2) a p1.ll"chas~of 1 ,o60~(}(){)Sha.resfr6in;investor 

.'.. ,,'" .. ,..... .. ,' ".." .. ,.';: '.; _,. .... :," '.,":-" ,', _. ," ',' , "i 

S .• 1'hedocumentation also· rem~ct~d Wat GQ IdlJl.aripai(fapprQ~i~~tely$7 ,455 tor these 

shares, which equals apprmdrnatelY$.Op3per$hare. 

94. Investor R purportedly obtained its sharesfJoU1someofthefonnS~I 

Shareholders. in Marcli20U --"~most two years after t1ieF~rin;s-i/~hlU'eholqers sold 

their shares. Investor S was one of the FOIln S,.} shareholders and sold his shares on or 

arQlmd May 2009 - almost four years before defendant Goldman's claimed purchase of 

shares from him. 

95. On May 22, 2013, Goldman deposited 2,485,000 shares of Enteltairunent 

Alt not bearing a restrictive legend into her brokerage account at Scottsdale. As a result 

of the business name change on April I j 2013, these shares became Biozoom share~. 

Thus, defendant Goldman held 2,485,000 shares of Biozoom that were purportedly 

available for sale on tht:!iPublic markets. 

Mariano Pablo Ferrari 

96. On M:arch 22, 2013, Entertahunent Ali's transfer agenrissued a certificate 

for 2,310,000 Entertainment Art shares to Fenari. 

97. Oll.or abqut May. 20, 2013, Ferrari opened ~;l.l1aGcountatScottsda1e. 

98. In~rder to deposit his 2,310,000 .$haresof EntertaJrunent Art into his 

brokerage account, Scottsdale, using documentation and informalionprovided by Ferrari, 

completeld a securities deposit cheCklist. .For the following rCllsohs, the d.ocum entati on 

provided by Ferrari was false. 
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99. The doqumentation refl~cted ,that Ferrari fl,cquin'!d the 2,3,10~OOOshar~s • 

Purs~®tto t\."o . J)riya~e ' ~;de~4hatw¢recompletedon ;March· 5>.2013:(lYa ,fii~rC:11~y · of , 
. - . ' " " - . ! " .; - . . 

·1 ,6$O,()O,OsharesftOiUlhv'eS~()i: :f; :an~: (2~ .,~p.utchase ' 9f~66,.QQOsbares ; fr()rI{i~Ye.storU~ ; , 

'ThedqciunentatH>uc; ;llSO ,reflee:teqJhat · 06idm~ ; paid ,~ppro~iniaiely ,$9;i1(}/f9r ' these ' 

shales, or approximat~ly$ .004per,share. 
. -: " . ,: - . " .- ' ' . ,. .. . .' . 

LOO. Investor TwaSoMofthe'f()fm:S~l shareh()ldersaridso.Idihis~B'aiesoll or 
" -', .,:-:: 

aro~d May , 2009 - ' almost fouryeaI"s bef6redefendant.Ferrarl's dlliitie<i ,J?l.lIchaSe of. 
,-- -. . : ' . . . .- '. " . : . ,-, .. - - ' : " . 

shares from him. Investor U purportedly obtained its shares from some of theporm $-1 
. . ' , . 

shareholders in September 2009. 

101. On May 22, 2013, Ferrari deposited 2,310,000 shares of Entertainment Art 

not bearing a restrictive legend into his brokerage account at Scottsdale. Asa result of 

the business name change on April I, 2013, these shares became Biozoom shares; Thus, 

defendant Ferrari held 2,31 O,OOOsh~es of Biozoom that were purportedly avai1ab~e for 

sale on the public markets. 

Two Other Accounts ~NamesofDefendants Graciareua and Loureyro 
; 

102. On March 22, 2013, . Manhattan Transfer issued a certificate tor 2,145,000 

Entertaimnent Art shares to Graciarena and 2,300,000 Entertai!lment Art shares , to 
. , 

LOlll'eyro. Graciareriaand Loureyrosubrnitted docLUnentatiQPr~t1eytingthaf' ~lJ~yhad ' 

obtained their shares in the ,same mamler. . as the other eightdefenrlahts .~ ' i.e . .,... by 

purport~dlY ptlrchasing sharesfroin the Porin 8-1 shareholders. 

103. On or about June.14, '2013,Fernando Loureyro aIld Mariano Graciarena 

openedsep~rateaccounts at Sco~ts.d?le.Like,the other eight defendants, both stated in 

brokerage'firrridocumen~sthatJheYre,sidediriBueno3 A,h;es, Argentina. 
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104. On June 18, 2013, these shares were deposited in the brokerage accounts 

of these tVv'olndividuals.Todate, none ofthese shares have been sold . . 

1'05 . . ' Ins1.Un, R()mNovember· 2012 to Jllne 2013? the ten .c;lefendantaCco\ints 

received atotal 0f20,130,OOOsbares of Entertaihlnent Art.Theseshaie~ representedal1 

of the .sharesthat were unallocated after theOpsoJutionacquisition. Moreover,these . .. .. . - . 

shar~s represented JOO%percent of the. total sh~eswithout a restrictive <Jegend 

outstanding ill Biozo0n'l at the time, and more than 33% · pe~centof theib~l . otitstahding 
shares of Biozoom. 

D. Defendants Sell Millions of Biozoom Shares 

106. Beginning on May 22, 2013 -" and after nearly all of the defendants had 

deposited their Biozoom shares not bearing a restrictive legend in their aceOlUlts -

Biozoom began issuing a series of press releases in which it claimed it "created the 

world 'sfirstportablc, handheld consumer device" to instantly and nOll-invasively 

measure certain biomarkers. These claims were also made by other entities, including 

Global Financial, Inc., Stock Preacher.com, among others. 

107. Following these positive claims concerning Biozoom?sprospects, the 

accounts in the name of eight of the selling defendtUlts sold substanti,ll amounts of their 

Biozoomstock that did not bear a restrictive legend for !11assiveproceed~. In particular, 

and as l'eflected in the chart below, eight of the defendants s61d 14,078,406 shares of 

. BIZM stock for proceedsof$33,997,152. 

:D.W~lidant:,,;k\: ' ~I.~~i~ !~~n~~~; m~·t.~~i §~I(1;~1 ···'\·;Y~' ';'Pi1~:~~e~.s r\,·;;tl )'~~~~!~T~\1'i'~;1'\W 

Blay~ ~-- 1,312;053 I 5/16113":'::'-6/13/8 $3,01(965 172;947 

-Pe Lorc~" "'ll,328,OOO .· C' '-6/i77i3-6/18113 .$4;809,836 .111AOO 
Hernando ","~II 815>OOO~[?[0 - 6/17/13 _J~~5,048,217 ' 0 ---j 
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, " '" ,,; , " , ' " ' " , ' - -

· · :i}jef,~Pdalit :::';;:' :SharesiSBl~~~ i~,~t~~Is.Q)d~;~~:' ~!t(;~'~:~~~oc~,~1~:;if:'~~il ':~~~~~::',!j;~f'; ' 

, Ficcicnia , 1 402,S(}O ,_, ,5/2Q/l3,~;61S./13. $i,979,389 <; ' <~72;,6io' , 
" TaY~Hal;592;444 ' ',' :'-/6/7tf3,;;'i6/11113 $3 ;I:l()I$Q4":', ',38Z9S6:l', -
:)3a'i!;a:ttin _:2,J"76/7:?6 '" ",' :9II0l13 ",7'":6118113', $6,22:3;310 !" ~ltfq24r 
'Ferran l3?94;()~8 ' ; ~/7il3,,";6/19/13 " ' $$;4~(i;(;i90 ', ; ; 315 :962 ',,' 
;d6Idmiln 24576455ItS/13:;it;16Iia' ' -$3,171';761/: 27;355 

108. , AlIofthe ' ei~t selHn&defendants pl~~~dip.eii>.Qiders ;~o sell ,' BioioOll1' 

stock in the sa,tne manner ~viae-rnqiLand il1stantXl:lesSage't9¢itheJ::IJe~,~p'd o~ :S~6ttsdaJe, 

109. Upon selling shares in Bi6zoom, sevetai of the dcfendrult's instructed their 

brokerage firms to wire the proceeds of their sales to foreign bank accounts in various 

countries: 

• Ficicchia: On June 7, 2013, defendant Ficicchia instructed Legend, to wire $1 

million to Alpine Securities, Inc., a registered clearing ~rokel:~dealer. Alpine 

provides clearing services [or Scottsdale, and as described earlier, Ficicchia 

opened an account at Scottsdale on or around June 10, 2013 and funded it. with 

this $1 mitlion. On June 25, 2013 - the same day asth~Coinmission's order 

suspending trading in Biozoom - Ficicchia instnlcted Scottsdale to wire $325,000 

toa bank account iri Cyprus. This wire W<lSIlQt ex,e¢uted. 'FiCicchia's brokerage 

Account at Leg~nd clluentlyhasa c:aslJ. ballUj~e o(siigMlyoverf$Jmilli6h" , ~rid 
, . . . - '. . , . ' . ~ ' , ' . ~,' . . -. 

Ficic;:chia's brokerage account at Scottsdale c,urrentlyMsa c~sb balance of 

approximately $328;000. 

On or around JUIl~ 10, 20 1~, Ficicchiaopenedan. account at ' ScottSdaie~rid1\lnded this account 
with $1 million from his account at Legend, .' Ficicchia 's"Shares Rein~ining'icolu:inn reflteis· Bi9~qOm 
pur~has.es that-he has :i~·a~.e :in .h ~s· ac.cou.nl~~ ~cQ.ttsd~le .: . ' . 

TtlveUn'.s '~Sb!lr~sRemaining" columnjnclud~sI150.40() Blozoom sharcs:that, $h~Pllfchased in the 
openmarketol)1 une 19, 2013. . 
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• Blaya: On June 14, 2013, Blaya instruqted L(!g~nd to wire "all settle.d~ds 

except $30,000"to 'anacc()wit'field in Gep.e\I:~, SViif4er1aqd. This wire '''Ya~not 

executed. ThiS- a6¢()ulit. ~Ulle.ri~lY' has, ~ '. cas.h·: b.alaripeof a:ppfoxiinatelY '$3.5 

million. 

• Hern~ndQ: OnJune13, 2013, Hernando instructe~his b~oker-dealer;L~~end,to 

wire "all evaila:ple> settled cash" in her ;account, whiche{ ' the titrie,was 

approximately $606,000, to an. account held at Hellenic Bank Public Company 

Limited in Lemesos~ Cyprus. This wire was executed. On June 17, 2013, 

Hernando instructed his broker-dealer, Legend, to wire $2 million, again to an 

account held at Hellenic Bank Public Company Limited in Lemesos, Cyprus. 

This wire was not executed by Legend. This account has a cash balance of 

approximately $4.5 million. 

• Dc LO!'cnzo: De Lorenzo has not yet attempted to wire any money out of her 

account. De Lorenzo has a bank account in Dar Es Salaam. The account has a 

cash balance ohpproximately $4.8 million. 

• Tavclla: On June 25, 2013 - the day of the Commis~ion's order suspending 

trading in the securities of Biozoom - Tavella attempted to wire approximately 

$2,450,000 out of her account at Scottsdale to a bank account in St. Vincent and 

the Grenandines .. ' This wire-has not beeilexecuted ~ The current cash balance in 

Tavella' s brok~rage account is approxilllately $2.47 million. 

• Bagattill: On Jl1ne 20, 2013, Bagattin instructed Scottsdale to wire 

approximately $4.33 million to a bank aCColmt in Cyprus. This wire was 

executed. On Jun:e 24, ,2013; Bagattin .instJ;UctedScottsdale to send an adc!itional 
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apprOXimately $1.89 million to th~ same bank account. This wire was also 

executed, The cuh;entcash'bal8Il.cehiBagattin's brokerag¥8.cCoWlt is $3,000. 

• Goldman: On June 11,2013, Goldman instructed Scottsdale to wire 

approximately $3.77 million to an accoulltheld at a bank in Geneva,S~itzerland 

- a bank where Blaya a1soh()ld~:an.~cc()llnt.ThisWire was executed. The cash 

balance in Goldman's accotintJS:$O. 

• Ferrari: On June 19, 2013, F~rrari instructed Scottsdale to wire $500,000 to an 

accOlUlt held at a bank in Panama. This wire was executed. On June 24, 2013, 

Ferrari instructed Scottsdale to wire an additional $4.9 million, this time to a bank 

in Belize. This wire was also executed. The cash balance in Ferrari's account is 

$0. 

F. No Registration StMelrientWas In Effed At the Time Defendants Sold 
Biozoom Shares 

110. Section 5 of the Securities Act makes it unlawntl for any person, directly or 

indirectly, to offer or sell securities, using the U.S. mails or interstate conunerce, unless such 

offer or sale is registered with the Commission. 

Ill. No registration statement was in effect for the shares sold by the Selling 

Defendants. 

112. No registration statement is ill. effect for the Biozoom shares held by 

defendants Graciarena and Loureyro. 

G. Biozoom Is APenpy StockAs iDefiriedBy The Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934 ("Exchange Act") 

113. Biozoom's stock is .8. "penl})' st9C,k" asd.efined by the Exchange Act. At 

times relevant to this Cornplaint, Ute stock's shares tr"dedat l~ss than $5.00 per shate. 

During the same time period, Biozooni's stock did not meet any of the exceptions to 
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. penny stock classificatio,l1pursuantto .Sectibr.t3(a)(51) andRule3a51-l.bftheExchange 

Act. 

114. Forexanlple, thec.ompany's st()ck:i(l)didrj()ttrad~ on a: national 
. . 

securities exchange; (2) was not an "NMSstpck," ~s.ctefined in. 17 C.F;R. § 

242.242.600(b)(47); (3) did not have net tangible assets(j.~".tot~l asSetS. less intangible 

assets and liabilities) inexcessof$5,OOO,OOO; and (4). did.ri~ihaye aver~ge:revenue of at 

least$6,OOO,()OO for thel~tthree years. (See Excharige Ac.l, Ru(e 3 a51..; l(g).) 

COUNT I 

VIOLATION OF SECTION 5 OF THE SECURITIES ACT, lSU.S.C. §77c 

(Defendants Tavella,Ficicchia,Blaya, Hernando, De Lorenzo,Bagattin, Ferrari, 
Goldman) .. 

115. Paragraphs 1 through 114 are hereby re-alleged and. incorporated by 

reference-

116. Defendants, by engaging In the conduct described above, directly or 

indirectly, and without a registration statement in effect as to such securities: 

(a) mad(; use of means or instruments of transportation or communication 

in. interstate commerce or of the mails to sell, through the use or 

medium of a prospectus or otherwise; or 

(b) can-jed or caused to be carried through the mails or in interstate 

conunerce, by any means or instruments of transportation, securities 

for the purpose of sale or for delivery after sale. 

117. Defendtints,by engaging in the conduct described above, also directly or 

indirectly, m~lde llse of the.rneans or instruments of transportation or· communication in 

interstate commerce orofthe mails to offer to sell or offer to buy through the use or 
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medimnof any prospectus or othep.vise securities, without a iegi stratj on statement having 

hee!1 filed ·asto those secmities; 

118. By engaging in the foregoing conduct, Defendants directly or indirectly, · 
. ' . ',' , : . ', ". ,, ', , " ', . 

violated, and unless restrrunedandeiljoinedwiIl contiIluet6 vioi~teSections 5(a) and 

S(c) of the SecuritiesAct[15.U.S.C.§§77e(aYand77e(c)]: · 
, .. ' - " , " 

·· COuNlfJl 

INJUNC'fIONPuMuANi' 1'pSEC,tION20(l> )OFj'fIE SEC'ORlTIES ACT 

(Defendants <;raciarcna and LQureyro) 

119. Paragraphs 1 through 114 are re-alleged and incorporated by reference 

herein. 

120. Securities Act Section 20(b) provides that "whenever it shall appear to the 

Conunission that any person is engaged in or is about to engage in any acts or practices 

which constituk or will constitute a violation of the provisions of this title, the 

Commission may in its discretioll,bring an action in district court to enjoin such acts or 

practices . .. " . '. r '. ; 

121. Defendants Graciarena and Loureyro have deposited shares of Bio2oom in 

their respective brokerage accounts. Those shares do not bear a restrictive legend. 

However, noregislralion statement isin effectTorthe6fferof sale of those shares. 

122. Unless restrained · and enjoined, Gl'aciarena . and Loureyro are likely to 

offer or sellthejr Biozoomshares to the pl.lblicinviolation of Section 5 of the Securities 

Act. 

26 
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PRAYER ll'ORRELIEF 

WlIEREFOlUi!,tbe.Cpmrnission.respectfully rYCJuests tpattbisC()~: 

I. 

Issue. fmciingsoffactMcl.COllclUsioIl$of lawth,at~efendantSFicicchia, Blaya{ 

Hernando, De Lorenzo, Tavella, Goldlu!ill,Bagattin,anq FCl1"ari com,rriitted the violations 

charged and allegeo. herein: 

II. 

Enter an order temporarily restraining and enjoining defendants Ficicchia, Blaya, 

Hernando, De Lorenzo, Tavella, Goldman, Bagattin, Ferrari, Graciarena, "and Loureyro, 

their officers, agents, servants, employees, attorneys and those persons in active concert or 

participation with defendants who receive actual notice of the Order, by personal service or 

ot.herwise, and each of them from, directly or indirectly, engaging in the transactions, acts, 

practices or COUl'ses of business described above, or in conduct of similar pwport and object, 

in violation of Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a) and 17e(c)]. 

III. 

Entcr . an order freezing the brokerage accounts and any assets of defendants 

Ficicchia, Blaya, Hernando, De Lorenzo, Tavella, Goldn18.n, Bagattin, and Ferrari derived 

from the sale of Biozoom stock; and, fi"eezing the brokerage accounts of defendants 

Graciarenu and Lpureyro holding Biozoom shares_ 

IV. 

Enter an order reqUiring defendants Ficicchiu; Blaya, Hemando, De Lorenzo, 

Tavella,Goldman,Bagattin, and Fenarito return to the United.States anY proceeds from the 

sale of Biozoom stockthathavebeen transferred abroad and UlOse proceeds which are 
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retwned be frozen in a domestic banJ(diuing the p¢ndeJlcy of this ,action to preserve such 

assets for the satisfaction. ofdisgorgeme1:it. 

.v. 

Enter an , Order of Penn anent InjunctI6nr~stnlimng andenjqinirlg , defendants 

. Fic;icchia, BlaYFI,Hemando, .De .Lorenio,Ttwella,.Gqldinan, ,Bagattin, •• Ferrari, ·Graciarena, 
, - ', : .' . -." . .- .. ' - , " . . ; . . . - - '. . 

and Lomeyro, their ' officers, agents, ' serVimts,erripl()y~~i,: attomeysand ,thosepeJ;So~s in 
. . - . . " -- -: , .. . 

active concert or participation withd~f~n.d!m:tS -W1l6 rec,~ivell.ctuarriotice of the Ordh,hy 

personal service or otherwise, and eachoffuem from, directly or indirectly, engaging in the , 

tnmsactions, acts, practices or courses of business described above, or in conduct of similar 

purport and object, in violation of Sections Sea) and 5(c) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 

77e(a) and 77e(c)]. 

VI. 

Enter an Order requiring defendants Ficicchi1!, Blaya, Hernando, De Lorenzo, 

Tavella, Goldn1<ll1, Bagattin, and Ferrari to disgorge the ill-gotten gains received as a result 

of the violations alleged ,herein, including prejudgment interest. 

VII. 

Issue an Order imposing upon defendants Ficicchia, Blaya, Hcmando, De Lorenzo, 

Ta'vella, Goldman, Bagattin, ruld FelTariap~r6pl1ate civirpenalties pursuant to Section 20(d) 

oftheSecprities Act[1S US.C.§77t(d)]. 

VIII. 

Issue .an order pelmanently and .unconditionallYbrirring, pursuant to Section 20(g) of 

the Securities Act [15 U.S.C, § 77t(g)], theSell~)gDefendrults. 4'om Participating in an 
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offering of penn.ystockas defined by Exchang~ ./,-\c~ Section 3(a)(51) [15 U.S.C.§ 

78c(a)(51)landRule ; 3iisl~1t4ereunderJ17C.F.R~ §~~4~3a51-1]. · 

-0" JX.~<~ ."'",' .;:<: .. 
; ' , . ,; ~ .. . , .:. ' . 

Retain juri~dictioriofthis; actioii 'in '~c26;dahce:~th iliepririciples of equity and the \ .. 
. ' , " 

Federal Rules of CivilProcedt)i'einorder tojmpl/?me~tand caqyout the temis of all orders 
. ,. . , . 

and decrees that . may be ·' entered' Of toenterta~ . $ysuitabk.app1ication()r, motionfot··.··. 
; ,,' . ,' .' " . " ," "'. . ,- ,,' ' . ." : .,'-" 

additional relief within the jurisdiction,oft$iscow;t. 

X. 

Grant such other relief as this Court deems appropriate. 

Dated: July 3, 2013 

D/counsel: 

David}. Gottesman 
Patrick M. Bryan 

AntoniaChion 
Ricky Sachar 
Deborah 1. Tarasevich 
Scott M. Lowry 
Jemue R Krasner 

UN.lTEDSTATES SECUR1TlES AND 
EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

.' 'lZ~ /JL.,tt J ' By . . .. ' e¥...::S~~ 
Rich~d' E. Simpson (I\.S5859) 
U.S. 'Se'clrrities and ExchangeConunission 
100 F Street, NE 
Washington, DC 20549 
Teleph~>p,e: (202) 55 I -4420 
SimpsollR@sec.gQY 

U.S. S~c~ities (Uld Exchange Co.intnission .. 
100 FStreet,NE . . . 
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'._- - - ---- FINRA fines Scottsdale Capital $1.5-million (U.S.) 

2017-04-1210:42 ET - Street Wire 
Also Street Wire (U-VPLM) Voip Pal.com Inc 
by Mike Caswell 
The Financial Industry Regulatory Authority has 
imposed a $1 .5-million penalty on Arizona 
brokerage Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corp. and 
has permanently banned its owner, John Hurry. (All 
figures are in U.S. dollars.) FINRA found that 
Scottsdale facilitated the sale of tens of millions of 
unregistered shares in penny stocks while ignoring 
indications that insiders were behind the sales. The 
shares that it sold included those of a Vancouver
linked aTC Markets company, Voip Pal.eom 
Inc. LINKED IN 
John Hurry 
The sanctions are contained in a 111-page decision 
that FINRA released on March 31, 2017. The 
decision is a loss for Mr. Hurry and for Scottsdale, 
which had claimed that it was simply the broker on 
the sales. The firm also said that it had adequate 
procedures In place to detect insider activity, and 
would not accept deposits that involved more than 
10 per cent of a company's shares. 
FINRA, however, has found that Scottsdale ignored 
many indications that it was selling shares for 
insiders in unregistered transactions. The firm 
allowed sellers to operate through nominees and 
through an entity incorporated in the Cayman 
Islands. Its way of doing business amounted to 
"institutionalization of the misconduct," FINRA has 
found. Scottsdale's procedures only created the 
appearance of compliance. 
The sanctions stem from Scottsdale's sale of shares 
in three companies, including Voip Pal.com, in 2013 

GE Will Sell Baker Hughes Stake -- WSJ 

Siemens Gets Abu Dhabi Compressor Order 

Social-Media Must Confront Downsides of Scale, 

Inslagram Co-Founder Says 

Macy's Reports Strong Sales Growth, Raises 

Guidance 

Departure of Top Wells Fargo Executive Shows 

Chasm With Regulator 

Amazon Announces HQ2 Winners -- WSJ 

Retail Sales Seen Rising -- Data Week Ahead 

U.S. Slacks Open Higher Amid Volatlte Oil Moves 

U.S, Slocks Ollen Higher Amid Volatile Oil Moves 
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and 2014. According to FINRA, the sales generated 
$1.7 -million in proceeds. It should have been clear 
to Scottsdale that the share transactions leading to 
those sales required some investigation, the 
decision states. Insiders (who would normally be 
subject to heightened reporting requirements) 
looked to be connected to the selling, according to 
FINRA. 
With Voip Pal.com, most of the shares were initially 
issued to an entity controlled by the company's 
former president, Vancouver resident Richard 
Kippil1g. (Mr. Kipping isMt a respondent in FINRA's 
case, and the regulator has not made any finding 
against him.) In accepting the shares for deposit and 
subsequent sale, Scottsdale made little effort to 
determine if Mr. Kipping was an insider, FINRA says. 
The firm knew that he had been Voip Pal.com's 
president, but it did nothing to determine if he 
remained an insider. It did not obtain his resignation 
letter or even a date for his resignation, according to 
FINRA. 
Even more important, Scottsdale ignored indications 
that Mr. Kipping remained an insider through his 
ownership of more than 10 per cent of the 
company's shares, FINRA says. Documents in 
Scottsdale's possession showed that Mr. Kipping 
had received 80 million shares of Voip Pal.com in 
the two years prior to that date. That amounted to 
10.99 per cent of the company's total issued shares. 
The circumstances raised a strong suspicion that 
Voip Pal.com was "unlawfully distributing securities 
without registration in a two-step process designed 
to obscure what was actually happening and who 
was benefiting from the sales of stock," the decision 
states. 
While FINRA's decision mostly cites Mr. Hurry and 

I Scottsdale for selling shares in Voip Pal.com and 

I 
two other companies, the decision indicates that Mr. 
Hurry was engaged in other dubious dealings. In 
2013, he set up an entity in the Cayman Islands that 
he named Cayman Securities Clearing and Trading 
SECZ Ltd. According to FINRA, he formed Cayman 
Securities to act as a conduit for offshore institutions 
to deposit shares at Scottsdale for eventual sale into 
the U.S. markets. Over a seven-month period, 
Cayman Securities deposited billions of shares with 
Scottsdale, FINRA says. 
The risky nature of those dealings was exposed in 
the summer of 2014, according to the decision. The 
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission and 
criminal authorities began proceedings against 
some customers of Scottsdale and Cayman 
Securities. After those charges became public, the 
business of Cayman Securities substantially 
declined, FINRA says. 
(Included in those actions was an indictment filed in 
New York on Sept. 8, 2014, against an Oregon man 
named Bob Bandfield. Prosecutors claimed that Mr. 
Bandfield ran a massive money laundering 
operation that contributed to the manipulations of 
over 40 publicly traded companies. He set up an 
offshore system that allowed insiders of U.S. . . . 
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'ancfisnow's9rvlng'slxyearsln-Ji:iICR,s"co: "'-"" "',. 
defendants included West Vancouver's Gregg 
Mulholland and Kelowna's Phil Kueber. Both also 
pleaded guilty, with Mr. Mulholland receiving 12 
years in jail and Mr. Kueber awaiting sentencing.) 
Meanwhile Mr. Hurry and his wife were profiting 
substantially, according to FINRA's decision. In the 
year ended June 30, 2014, the firm paid $6.2-million 
in compensation to its directors. Since Mr. Hurry and 
his wife were the only directors, this money must 
have gone to them, FINRA says. 
Whileml..lth bfthe deCision deals with violations of 
securities rules, it also contains a few snippets that 
show Mr. Hurry's relationship with his employees 
was not always a fond one. Two of those employees 
stated that he would contact them at all times of the 
day and on weekends. If he could not reach them, 
he would start to send demanding, abrupt and 
increasingly impatient e-mails . In one e-mail, he 
wrote: "Your phone is not working TURN IT ON. I 
need a call." Another read: "Call me in 60 minutes. 
DO YOU NOT UNDERSTAND THAT?" Mr. Hurry 
also maintained a spreadsheet that detailed much of 
their activity, including the amount of time that they 
spent on cigarette breaks. 
The ban for Mr. Hurry prevents him from associating 
with any FINRA member in any capacity. In effect, 

I he can no longer be a brokerage employee. FINRA 
also fined two Scottsdale employees, Timothy 
DeBlasi and Michael Cruz. They each must pay 
$50,000 and serve a two-year ban. 
Voip Pal.com remains an active company, listing an 
address in Bellevue, Wash. The stock closed at four 
cents Monday. The company was not a respondent 
in the case or in any other action. 
© 2017 Canjex Publishing Ltd. All rights reserved. 
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FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY 
OFFICE OF HEARING OFFICERS 

DEP ARTMEN1~ OFENFORCEMENT; 

Complainant, 

v. 

SCOTTSDALE CAPITAL ADVISORS 
CORPORATION 
(CRD No. 118786), 

JOHN J. HURRY 
(CRD No. 2146449), 

TIMOTHY B. DIBLASI 
(CRD No. 4623652), 

and 

D. MICHAEL CRUZ 
(CRD No. 2450344), 

Respondents. 

Disciplinary Proceeding 
No. 2014041724601 

Hearing Officer-LOM 

AMENDED EXTENDED HEARING 
PANEL DECISIONl 

June 20,2017 

The Respondent firm violated FINRA Rule 2010 by selling securities without 
registration and without an exemption, in contravention of Section 5 of the 
Securities Act of 1933. The firm's owner, Respondent John Hurry, also 
violated Rule 2010, because he engaged in activities designed to enable the 
unlawful transactions and evade regulatory scrutiny. 

The Respondent firm and its Chief Compliance Officer, Respondent Timothy 
DiBlasi, violated NASD Rules 3010(a) and (b) and FINRA Rule 2010 by 
failing to establish and maintain a supervisory system, including written 

J The original Extended Hearing Panel Decision has been amended to correct a factual error. The amendment does 
not change the substance of the decision. 
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supervisory procedures, reasonably designed to ensure that tile firm 
complied with Section 5 of the SecuIities Act. 

The Respondent finn and its President, Respondent Michael Cruz, violated 
NASD Rule 3010(b) and FINRA Rule 2010 by failing to supervise and failing 
to respond appropIiately to numerous red flags indicative of unlawful 
unregistered distributions. 

The Respondent finn is fmed $1.5 million. Hul'ry is ban-ed in all capacities. 
He would also be fined $100,000, but, in light of the bal', the fme is not 
imposed. DiBlasi is suspended for two years and fmed $50,000. Cmz is 
suspended for two years and fined $50,000. In addition, Respondents are 
ordered to pay costs, for which they are jointly and severally liable. 

Appearances 

For the Complainant: Jeffrey D. Pariser, Esq., Gregory R. Firehock, Esq., Laura Leigh 
Blackston, Esq., and Heather L. Freiburger, Esq., Department of Enforcement, Financial Industry 

Regulatory Authority. 

FOl"the Respondents: Kevin J. Harnisch, Esq., Michael J. Edney, Esq., and Ryan E. Meltzer, 

Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP. 
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DECISION 

I. INTRODUCTION 

A. The Respondent Firm 

The Respondent ftnn, Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corporation ("Scottsdale" orthe 
"Firm"), is primarily engaged in the business of liquidating penny stocks for its customers 
without registration. The sale of securities without registration is unlawful unless an exemption 
exists. In selling securities without registration, Scottsdale usually relies on a "safe harbor" 
exemption created by the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), Rule 144. But the 
securities at issue here did not qualify for the Rule 144 exemption. Thus, the sales were 
unlawful. 

1. The Firm Relied On The Rule 144 Exemption 

SEC Rule 144 is highly detailed and technical. It both restricts some transactions and 
permits others that meet certain conditions. It comes into play where securities have been 
acquired from the issuer or an affiliate in an uru"egistered private transaction. Such securities 
typically are marked with a restrictive legend, and the holder may not sell such securities in the 
public marketplace unless an exemption applies to the sale. 

In determining whether a sale of securities is exempt from registration under Rule 144, a 
broker-dealer must conduct an inquiry that focuses primarily on identifying the individual who is 
the beneficial owner of the securities to be sold, analyzing that person's relationship (if any) to 
the issuer of the securities, i.nvestigating the circumstances of that person's acquisition of the 
securities, and calculating how long the person has held the securities. Rule 144 imposes 
different holding periods on affiliates and non-afftliates of an issuer before they can resell the 
issuer's securities. In some circumstances, the holder can "tack" his holding period to that of his 
predecessor in the chain of holders to meet the applicable holding period. 

The purpose of the Rule 144 inquiry is to ensure that the transaction is not a subterfuge 
for an issuer or its affiliates to distribute securities to the public while evading the disclosure 
requirements that accompany registration. Representations made by the patties interested in 
selling the securities must be carefuJly scrutinized by a broker-dealer firm because of the 
incentive to misrepresent the circumstances and conceal the true beneficial owners. 

2. The Finn Lacked A Basis For "Tacking" To Achieve The Require(1 
Holding Period Under SEC Rule 144 

In the transactions at issue, the purported beneficial owners claimed that neither they nor 
their predecessors were affiliates of the issuer. Their lack of affiliate status was critical to their 
ability to sell the shares pursuant to SEC Rule 144 because ofthe shoder holding period and 
fewer restrictions on non-affiliates. 
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Even as non~affiliates, however, none of the purported beneficial owners ofthe shares 
that Scottsdale accepted for resale had held the shares long enough to qualify for the Rule 144 
safe harbor holding period. Each seller therefore claimed that the applicable Rule 144 holding 
period was satisfied by tacking his holding period to the holding period of a prior holder. 

In the transactions at issue, one prior holder claimed that he had forgiven a loan that he 
had made to the issuer and had exchanged the right to payment on the loan for stock. One of the 
prior holders forgave a promissory note that the issuer had used to pay him for consulting 
services. Another prior holder claimed to have extended an oral line of credit to the issuer and 
then to have accepted shares in satisfaction of a sum owed on the line of credit. A third prior 
holder forgave a portion of a promissory note eA1ending an open-ended line of credit. 

Each of these prior holders received the shares around the same time that he transferred 
them. Thus, the prior holder did not actually hold the shares long enough for his successor to 
satisfy the applicable holding period by tacking, creating an impediment to resale. 

To overcome that impediment, the sellers of the securities claimed the benefit of another 
tacking provision under Rule 144. Rule 144 provides that where a holder of a security exchanges 
that security for another of the same issuer's securities, without any additional compensation, the 
holder may tack the holding period of the first security to the holding period of the second. The 
theory is that the exchange of one security for another of the same issuer does not change the 
nature of the holder' s capital at risk, so the holding period for the new security can tack back to 
the date the old security was acquired. The sellers here characterized their prior holders' 
exchanges of notes for stock as exchanges of one security for another. On that basis, the sellers 
claimed that they could tack back to the inception ofthe prior holders' loans. 

Whether the first instrument in the chain was a security is thus a tlu'eshold issue. The 
Finn treated the prior holders' promissory notes and lines of credit as securities and the 
conversion ofthat debt into stock as the exchange of one security ofthe issuer for another 
security of the same issuer. As a result, the Firm concluded that the sellers were permitted to tack 
their holding period all the way back to the inception of the prior holders' loans. 

TIle Firm en·ed. TIle promissory notes and lines of credit were not securities. Rather, they 
were ordinary debt liabilities. Accordingly, the purported beneficial owners could not establish 
the requisite holding period, and the Rule 144 exemption did not exist. 

3. The Finn Also Failed To Address Red Flags Signaling Unlawful 
DistIibutions 

The transactions at issue involved persons seeking to sell large blocks ofthinly traded, 
little-known securities acquired in a chain of private transactions originating with the issuer
generally a red flag that the SEC and FINRA have both said requires a "searching inquiry." TIle 
sellers acquired the shares from the prior holders and sought to resell the shares ahnost 
immediately. The immediate resale of a large block of stock that has never been the subject of 
registration disclosures strongly suggests an attempt to distribute securities to the public without 
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--- --- ---- -------------, 

registration. In addition, there were a large number of discrepancies and suspicious 
circwnstances indicating that sham transactions, false documents, and nominees were being used 
to evade the securities laws and effect unlawful securities sales without registration. These red 
flags ought to have been investigated and appropriately resolved before the securities could be 
sold. 

TIle Finn, however, blinded itself to the multiple red flags signaling that the transactions 
were unlawful public distributions of securities. It did not conduct the required searching inquiry. 
It sold the securities without a reasonable basis for a Rule 144 exemption. Because of the 
suspicious circumstances known to the Finn, it also was not entitled to the so-called "broker's 
exemption" under Section 4(4) of the Securities Act for ordinary trading. 

B. Other Respondents 

1. John Hurry 

Scottsdale is owned indirectly by Respondent John Hun,), and his wife, Justine Hurry, 
through other entities they own and control. John Hurry also owns the clearing finn that handles 
Scottsdale's business, Alpine Securities Corporation ("Alpine"), and an off-shore foreign 
financial institution ("FFI") located in the Cayman Islands, Cayman Securities Clearing and 
Trading SECZ, Ltd. ("CSCT"). 

Hun')' set up CSCT in 2013 to act as a conduit through which other FFIs could deposit 
penny stocks at Scottsdale for resale in the U.S. securities market. During the relevant period, 
December 1, 2013, through June 30, 2014, CSCT deposited billions of shares of penny stocks for 
resale by Scottsdale. All the transactions at issue were routed through CSCT to Scottsdale. 

2. Timothy DiBlasi 

Respondent Timothy DiBlasi became Scottsdale's chief compliance officer ("CCO") 
shortly before the events at issue, and he remains its CCO. He maintains, however, that his 
responsibilities do not extend to the Film's Rule 144 business. 

3. Michael Cruz 

Respondent Michael Cmz was the Finn's president, but now serves as general counsel to 
the collection of Hurry enterprises. During the relevant period, ClUZ had final approval authority 
over the Rule 144 transactions at issue. In that role, he reviewed the infonnation collected by 
others and detennined whether it was sufficient to approve a deposit of stock certificates for 
resale. Everyone at the Finn, including Henry Diekmann, who headed the Finn's Rule 144 team 
at the time ofthe transactions at issue, and who is now the Finn's president, considered Cruz 
responsible for Rule 144 compliance. 
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C. Parties To The Transactions At Issue 

This case concerns Scottsdale's sales of stock issued by three little-known companies
Neuro-Hitech Inc. (''NHPI''), VoipPal.com ("VPLM"), and Orofino Gold COIl'. ("ORFG"). 
CSCT deposited millions of the three issuers' shares in certificate fonn at Scottsdale for resale. 
Alpine cleared them, and Scottsdale soldthem into the U.S. securities market pursuant to Rule 
144 without registration. 

In making the deposits ofNHPI, VPLM, and ORFG stock, CSCT acted on behalf of three 
other FFls: (i) Montage Securities ("Montage"), (ii) Titan Intemational Securities ("Titan"), and 
(iii) Unicom Intemational Securities ("Unicom"). Montage was located in Panama; Titan and 
Unicorn were in Belize. The FFls, in tum, pUll'orted to act for the benefit of other entities, which 
were represented to be owned by individuals identified in documents as the beneficial owners of 
the shares. 

II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

FINRA's Department of Enforcement ("Enforcement") filed the Complaint on May 15, 
2015. After an extension oftime, Respondents filed an Answer on June 26, 2015. On December 
11,2015, Respondents filed a motion for summary disposition that challenged FINRA's 
authority to bring a disciplinary action for misconduct associated with the sale of unregistered 
securities. Briefing on the motion was completed on January 29,2016. The Hearing Officer 
issued an Order on February 26,2016, denying the motion and finding that FINRA has authority 
to bring this proceeding. 

The hearing ran a total of 12 days in two sessions. The first session in Los Angeles, 
Califomia, was held June 13-24,2016. The second session in Washington, D.C. was held July 
11-12,2016. Ten witnesses testified at the hearing, including two experts.2 In addition, the full 
transcript of an on-the-record interview ("OTR") was admitted into evidence, along with more 

2 In addition to Hurl)', DiBlasi, and Cruz, the following persons testified: Henry Diekmann, the Firm's current 
president; Jay Noiman, a former Scottsdale employee who served as ceo until DiBlasi took on that responsibility; 
David Byme, a FINRA examiner who is a manager of the AMI.. Investigative Unit; Craig D'Mura, a former 
Scottsdale employee who worked for a couple of months at CSCI; Christopher Frankel, the current CEO of Alpine; 
Marc Menchel, Respondents' expert; and Brian Underwood, Enforcement's rebuttal expert. 

References to hearing testimony are in the following format: "Hearing rr. (last name of witness), page of 
transcript." For example, Hurry's testimony is cited as "Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1542-43." 
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than 200 other exhibits.3 On September 9, 2016, Enforcement and Respondents each filed one 
post-hearing brief.4 

III. FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

A. Jurisdiction 

FINRA has jurisdiction to bring this proceeding against Scottsdale, Hurry, and DiBlasi 
because they are currently registered, and the Complaint charges them with misconduct 
committed while they were registered. FINRA has jurisdiction as to Cruz although he is no 
longer registered, because the Complaint was filed within two years of the time he was registered 
and it charges hiin with misconduct committed while he was registered.s 

B. Background 

We provide substantial background regarding Respondents and others connected to the 
transactions at issue to provide the context needed to understand the transactions, the Firm's 

3 Gregory V. Ruzicka, who worked at CSCT during the relevant period, gave an OTR on May 27,2015. The OTR 
be{:3me an exhibit. Complainant's exhibits are referred to with the prefix "cx" and an identifying number. 
Respondents' exhibits are referred to with the prefix "RX" and an identifYing number. Joint exhibits are referred to 
with the prefix "JX" and an identifying number. Ruzicka's OTR is CX-178. 

4 References to the post-hearing briefs are as follows: Enf. PH Br. and Resp. PH Br. Respondents attached graphs 
and other materials to their post-hearing brief that were not offered or admitted into evidence. Respondents 
apparently created the graphs after the hearing based on exhibits that were admitted into the record. However, the 
graphs were not subject to any testimony explaining their creation or testing their accuracy. Respondents' post
hearing brief also contained references to website articles that were not admitted into the record. No copies of the 
articles were attached to the post-hearing brief Respondents have not asked permission to reopen the record to 
admit any of these materials. Respondents simply refer and rely on the non-record materials. The Hearing Panel has 
not considered any of the following items (or assertions made in argument based on them) in formulating its 
decision: 

• Huperzine A in Alzheimer's Disease-website article relating to NHPI (Resp. PH Br. 5, n.9); 
• Same (Resp. PHBr. 7, n.20); 
• OTCMarkets.com website on VPLM (Resp. PH Br. 7, n.22); 
• The Markets OTCQB website article on VPLM (Resp. PH Br. 7, n.23); 
• Historical price figures derived from data on OTCMarkets.com (Resp. PH Br. 12, 11.58); 
• A purported page from a FINRA Continuing Education Module (Resp. PH Br. 17, n.86; Appendix 

A); 
• Graphs generated by Respondents purporting to use data in JX-264 and JX-268 (Resp. PH Br. 19, 

n.94; Appendix B); 
• Graphs generated by Respondents purporting to use data in JX-279 and JX-281 (Resp. PH Br. 25, 

n.l29; Appendix C); 
• Graphs generated by Respondents purporting to use data in JX-308 and JX-31O (Resp. PH Br. 29, 

n.l55; Appendix D); and 
• Statement about trading volume attributable to CSCf's sales of ORFG (Resp. PH Br. 29, n.156; 

statement made without reference to source of information or record citation). 

S FINRA By-Laws, Art. IV, Section 6; Art. V, Section 4. 
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culture, and the Respondents' failure to take reasonable action in response to obvious red flags in 
connection with the transactions at issue. The background also provides infornlation important in 
assessing the witnesses' credibility, and in evaluating the Respondents' likely future compliance 
with the laws and regulations governing Scottsdale's business. 

1. Respondents 

a. Scottsdale 

i. The Firm's Focus On Rule 144 Business 

Scottsdale, which is located in Scottsdale, Arizona, has been a FINRA member since 
2002.6 During the relevant period, the Film had approximately 14 to 20 employees. 7 

Scottsdale's principal business is the deposit and liquidation of penny stocks for its 
customers. g Ttu-oughout the proceeding, the pelmy stocks sold by Scottsdale were also referred to 
as "microcap" securities.9 Scottsdale sells most of these securities without registration. The 
primary exemption that Scottsdale relies on is Rule 144, so it has a dedicated Rule 144 team to 
review deposits of stock certificates for resale, and its procedures are oriented to Rule 144.10 

Scottsdale obtains customers by adveltising in OTC Markets and through refen·als. 11 

ii. The Firm's Direct Business With FFIs 

Prior to HUlTY'S creation ofCSCT in 2013, Scottsdale did business with FFls directly. 
Two of the FFIs involved in this case (Titan and Unicom) had pre-existing direct relationships 
with Scottsdale before they started doing business through CSCT.12 

6 CX-l, at 3-9. 

7 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 116; Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 1496. 

8 Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1318; Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 83; Hearing Tr. (Noiman) 1180. DiBlasi acknowledged that during 
the relevant period penny stock transactions accounted for most of the Firm's revenues, and that over 95% of the 
transactions that Scottsdale executed for its customers involved penny stocks, most of them unregistered. Hearing 
Tr. (DiBlasi) 1923. 

9 Microcap securities may be defined as low-priced stock issued by small companies with a market capitalization of 
$300 million or less, Microcap securities are generally more volatile and less liquid than the stock of larger 
companies. Most important, because many microcap issuers do not file financial reports with the SEC, it may be 
difficult for investors to obtain information about the management, products, services, and finances of microcap 
issuers. https://www.sec.gov/investor/pubs/microcapstockhtm. The SEC has expressed concern that the lack of 
publicly available infonnation about microcap issuers can enable the spread of false information that misleads 
investors. ld. Many microcap securities trade in the "over-the-counter" ("OTC") market instead of a national 
exchange such as the New York Stock Exchange or NASDAQ. ld, 

10 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 577,583; Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1952-54; Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 818-19,875-76,884-86; 
Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1600. 

11 Hearing Tf. (Cruz) 116. 

12 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 192; Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 727, 817-18; Hearing Tr. (Noiman) 1140-52. 
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iii. The Finn's Disciplinary History 

Scottsdale has been disciplined previously for selling unregistered securities and having 
inadequate supervisory procedures and written supervisory procedures ("WSPs") to detect and 
prevent the sale of unregistered securities. In October 2011, the Finn settled these and other 
charges, agreeing to a censure and a total fine for all the charges of $125,000("2011 
Settlement"). 13 

TIle Firm has also settled other types of disciplinary charges against it, which are relevant 
to the sanctions determinations. In 2009, it agreed to a censure and a $7,500 fine to settle charges 
that it had bought bonds from customers at unfair prices ("2009 AWC,,).14 In August 2012, the 
Finn settled charges that it had failed to take appropriate action after being on notice that one of 
its representatives had been using his name and CRD number in stock promotion press releases. 
TIle Film agreed to a censure and a $7,500 fine ("2012 AWC")Y In 2015, the Firm agreed to a 
censure and a fine of $10,000 to settle charges that it had submitted reports to FINRA for the 
Order Audit Trail System that were inaccurate, incomplete, or in the wrong fonnat ("2015 
AWC,,).16 

iv. The Finn Had Notice That Sham Transactions And The 
Use Of Nominees Were A Risk In Its Rule 144 Business 
With FFIs 

(a) Four Prior SEC Disciplinary Actions 

We find that prior to the events at issue in this case, the Firm was on notice that its 
business was susceptible to sham transactions and the use of nominees to conceal the true 
beneficial owners of securities. In four disciplinary actions involving Scottsdale's own 
employees and customers, the SEC alleged that sham transactions and nominees were used in 
unlawful sales in violation of Section 5 of the Securities Act of 1933. TIlOse unlawful sales in 
tum were used to facilitate fraud and manipulation. 

In December 2011, two of Scottsdale's registered representatives were named in an SEC 
complaint ("Ruettiger") involving the supposed assignment of portions of a convertible note to 
satisfy the applicable Rule 144 holding period, the use of nominees to conceal the identity ofthe 
tlUe beneficial owners, the use of a "pump-and-dump,,17 scheme to manipulate the market for the 
stock, and an unlawful distribution of securities without registration. According to the complaint, 

13 CX-12. 

14 eX-II. 

IS eX-l3. 

16 eX-14. 

17 "Pump-and-dump" schemes involve the touting of a company's stock (typically small, so-called "microcap" 
companies) through false and misleading statements to the marketplace. https://www.sec.gov/answers/ 
pumpdump.htm. 
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Scottsdale's registered representatives handled some of the accounts involved in the scheme, and 
one ofthem had an interest in an entity that received and sold some of the securities. The 
complaint alleged that a single person had used 16 Panamanian corporations to conceal his 
identity and enable him to sell approximately $6 million of stock without registrati on.18 

In March 2013, the SEC filed a complaint ("Gi braltar F') against a number of people and 
entities alleging a market manipulation scheme that was facilitated by a Scottsdale customer, 
Gibraltar. 111at complaint alleged that individual defendants had secretly sold shares through 
Gibraltar while simultaneously promoting the stocks and encouraging others to buy. It also 
alleged that Gibraltar had provided false affidavits and misleading statements that allowed an 
individual defendant to secretly sell shares of companies he was promoting. 19 

In April 2013, the SEC filed a second complaint against Gibraltar and its owner 
("Gibraltar IF'), alleging that they had facilitated unlawful sales of securities without registration 
through the use of nominees. According to that complaint, Gibraltar liquidated low-price, thinly 
traded stocks on behalf of its clients, often during periods of suspicious promotion. Gibraltar 
assisted its clients to incorporate international business corporations ("IDCs") and encouraged 
them to use nominee officers and directors so that their identities would remain confidential. The 
SEC charged that two persons had opened "fake nominee accounts" at Scottsdale?O 

Gibraltar had been a direct customer of Scottsdale since before the spring of 2010, at least 
two years before the SEC filed charges against it. 21 It shut down after the filing of the two 
Gibraltar complaints, and some of its customers transferred to Titan, one of the FFIs involved in 
this case.22 

In July 2013, the SEC filed an action against ten Argentinians, four of whom had opened 
accounts at Scottsdale ("Tavella"). 111at complaint alleged that the defendants had submitted 
false documentation to accompany their securities deposit checklist at Scottsdale, and sold 
millions of shares into the public markets without registration in violation of Section 5. The 
defendants claimed that they had purchased their shares from fonner shareholders, but the fonner 
shareholders had already sold their shares years before. Thus, the transactions in which the 
defendants claimed that they had acquired the shares were a sham. 23 

18 SECv. Ruetliger, No. 2:1l-cv-20l1 (D. Nev. filed Dec. 16,2011), available athttps:l/www.SECgov/litigation/ 
complaintsl20111comp2219S.pdf 

19 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 195-99; SEC v. Carrillo Huettel, No. 13 Civ. 1735 (S.D.N.Y. filed Mar. 15,2013), available at 
https:!!www.SEGgovllitigationfcomplaintsl2013/comp-pr2013-39.pdf 

20 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 185-192; SEC v. Gibraltar Global Sec., Inc., No. 13 Civ. 2575 (S.D-NY filed Apr. IS, 2013), 
available at https:llwww.sec .gov/litigationfcompJaints/2013/comp22683.pdf. 

21 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1912-13. 

22 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 727. 

23 SECv. Tavella, No. l3-cv-4609 (S.D-N.Y. filed July 3,2013), available athttps:llwww.SEGgov/litigationf 
comp!aintsl20 131 comp-pr20 13-122. pdf. 
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TIlese regulatory actions should have caused the Finn to take special care when dealing 
with FFIs, and to revise its procedures to focus 011 potential sham transactions and the use of 
nominees. The Finn did not. Its main reaction to Ruettiger was to eliminate the branch office 
involved in the case: Cruz believed that the misconduct identified in the Gibraltar cases was 
"isolated.,,24 Scottsdale's cun'ent president, Diekmann, who was the head of the Rule 144 team 
when the Tavella complaint was filed, testified that he could not remember if the Finn conducted 
any investigation of the four Argentinians named in the Tavella complaint who had Scottsdale 
accounts. 25 In Diekmann's view it was "just impossible to know that there was somebody else 
behind this.,,26 Cruz similarly said, "[I]t's almost impossible to detect these nominees, that 
they're going to be ... misrepresenting the-you know, the hue identity ofthese persons. ,,27 
Although the Film changed some procedures as a result of Tavella (it would not accept more 
than 9.9% of a security at anyone time from its customers and it instituted a stock watch list to 
monitor trading and promotions), Diekmann could not remember doing anything different to 
address the problem of nominees. 28 

(b) Respondents' Arguments Minimizing Significance Are 
Rejected 

In their post-hearing brief, Respondents argue that the SEC complaints are not relevant 
because they were classic pump-and-dump cases, and no charge is made here that the 
transactions at issue were part of a pump-and-dump fraud. It is not necessary, however, to prove 
that fraud occurred in order to conclude that Respondents failed to perfonn their gatekeeping 
duty adequately. The focus here is on Respondents' failure (i) to recognize as a threshold matter 
that the transactions lacked a legal underpinning, and (ii) to respond appropriately to an 
accumulation of red flags and suspicious circumstances, either conducting fU1iher investigation 
to make sure an exemption existed or declining to sell the securities, 

Respondents also claim that references in the prior complaints to nominees were 
"peripheral.,,29 To the contraly, the use of nominees was critical to facilitating the fraud and 
manipulation charged in those cases. We reject Respondents' attempt to b11lsh aside the SEC 
complaints. 

Cruz took a different approach at the hearing to minimizing the significance of the SEC 
complaints, which we also reject. He insisted on a benign definition of the tenn "nominee" to 
mean only someone designated to act on behalf of another. He declined to view the Ruettiger 
complaint as raising a concem about the use of nominees. He said, "I wasn't sure if this is a 

24 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 219. 

25 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 732-33. 

26 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 732. 

27 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 213-14. 

28 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 733-34. 

29 Resp. PH Br. 36-37. 
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... - . --_._----., 

situation where the-the nominees here that are being listed were purposely hiding their identity. 
It could be, but ... that just was not my takeaway when I was looking at this ... Complaint. ,,30 

When asked whether the allegation of ''fake nominee entities" gave him pause, Cruz responded, 
"I have no idea what fake - I mean, if it's an entity - I mean, if it - I don't know what they mean 
by 'fake. ",31 Cruz refused to admit that the complaint in Ruettiger put him on notice of the 
possibility of nominees hiding the actual true beneficial owner of securities. He testified,"I 
would say this is probably not a case that gave me a great concem about the nominee issue, per 
se .... 11Iere might be a nominee issue in there. I guess I don't know the context ofthat.,,32 

We fmd Cruz's refusal to acknowledge the plain import of the SEC's allegations in 
Ruettiger and the other complaints disingenuous. Even Respondents' expett agreed that 
Scottsdale was on notice that its customers could be nominees for beneficial owners as ofthe 

I . d' I' 33 re evant peno m t lIS case. 

(c) Later Actions Confinn Risk Of Sham Transactions And 
Nominees 

The risky nature of Scottsdale's Rule 144 business with FFIs became undeniable in the 
summer of 2014, when the SEC and criminal authorities initiated two new proceedings charging 
that certain Scottsdale customers and others had used sham transactions and nominees to sell 
penny stocks unlawfully without registration. 111ese proceedings were brought based on 
extensive evidence gathered through the use of undercover agents, cooperating witnesses, and 
recorded conversations. TIle allegations appeared well founded, and they finally caused 
Scottsdale and CSCT to react. 

The SEC filed a complaint on July 11,2014 ("Amogear"), charging five individuals with 
using nominee accounts in FFI trading to conceal beneficial ownership and facilitate a pump
and-dump scheme. TIle SEC alleged that Titan had agreed to assist in the scheme and that 
Alpine, the clearing filnt, was involved in readying shares for trading in connection with the 
scheme. hI reaction to Amogear, Scottsdale fi'oze its FFI trading for a couple ofmonths.34 

On September 8,2014, prosecutors filed an indictment in federal district court in New 
York ("Bandfield") that charged Titan, Unicom, and several individuals with whom Scottsdale 
and CSCT did bUf)iness with securities fraud, tax fraud, and a money-laundering conspiracy. 
TIlose individuals included the following persons, who were also involved in the transactions at 
issue here: Cern ("JillllUY") Can at Unicom; Kelvin Leach and Rohn Knowles at Titan; and 
Robelt Bandfield and Andrew Godfrey, who purported to represent customers of Montage, 

30 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 191. 

31 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 192. 

32 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 184. 

33 Heering Ir. (Menchel) 2488-89. 

34 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 705-]2; Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 204-08; CX-2S0. 
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Unicom, and Titan and appeared in connection with numerous sub-accounts and sub-sub
accounts at Scottsdale. According to the indictment, Robert Bandfield claimed in a recorded 
conversation that he had created Titan and more than 5000 sham companies. h1 that 
conversation, he explained how rep01ting requirements could be circumvented and beneficial 
ownership concealed by using nominees.35 After the indictment was unsealed and became public, 
CSCT'sbusiness substantially diminished.36

. 

b. John Hurry 

Indirectly, through a trust and a holding company, John Hurry and his wife, Justine 
Hurry, own Scottsdale.37 From the Fiml's inception in 2002 until December 2012, Respondent 
Hun), was a registered representative, among other roles. 38 John Hurry again registered with the 
Finn in October 2014, and remains registered today.39 Hurry admitted in his Answer to the 
Complaint that he has been the Firm's director since 2002. However, at the hearing, he claimed 
that he first became a director of Scottsdale in January 2013. Justine Hun), became its second 
director in May 2013.40 

Scottsdale has been highly profitable for Hurry and his wife. According to the Annual 
Audited Report Fonn for Scottsdale during the year beginning July 1, 2013, and ending June 30, 
2014, the Fin11 paid $6,222,550 in directors' compensation. Since John and Justine Huny were 
the Finn's only directors, this expense presumably was paid to them. 41 The Finn paid other 

35 CX-244; CX-226; Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 224-30; Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 1725-26, 1781. 

36 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 237-38; Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1529-30. 

37 CX-l, at 7-9; CX-5; Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 81-82. 

38 CX-15, at 11 . 

39 CX-15, at 4-5. 

40 CX-l, at 3-9 (showing the Firm's direct owners and directors); CX-17, at 1. In his Answer, Hurry admitted that he 
had been a director of Scottsdale since 2002. Answer' 16. At the hearing, however, Hurry denied that he had been a 
director of Scottsdale before January 2013. He did so despite the fact that his signature appeared over the 
designation "sole director" in a December 2012 document authorizing the creation of the Firm's Management 
Committee. At the hearing, he claimed that the designation as sole director was a typographical error and that he was 
acting president prior to January 2013, not sole director. CX-3; Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1306-09. Cruz testified as to the 
Decem ber 2012 document that Hurry had established the Firm's Management Comm ittee in his capacity as director 
of the Firm. Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 74-76. 

The conflict between the Answer and Hurry's testimony is inexplicable. We find the conflict between Hurry's 
testimony and the Firm's record of the creation of the Management Committee disturbing, because it reflects a lack 
of transparency and accountability. We find the typographical error ex-planation with regard to something as 
important as corporate authority to designate the responsibilities of senior management-particularly in a simple 
one-page document-not credible. There is no explanation for the conflict between Hurry's testimony that he was 
not a director of the Firm in December 2012 and Cruz's testimony that he was. The conflict in the evidence on this 
point diminishes Hurry's credibility. 

41 RX-42, at 7, 1 L When Cruz officially became Scottsdale's president in 1v1arch 2014, it was by unanimous consent 
of the Board of Directors, lohn and Justine Hurry. CX-4. 
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compensation of $1,665,574 and professional and consulting fees of $1,138,090. When these 
payments and other expenses were subtracted from the Film's gross profit of $11,569,817, the 
Finn reported net income of $1,446,655. Because Scottsdale is an S corporation, this income 
flowed through to the shareholders. In the ne},,'t year, ending June 30, 2015, although the Finn 
reported only $589 in net income, the Finn paid directors' compensation of $3,255,200.42 

... .. - -_ ... _----

During the relevant period, Respondent Hurry also was the indirect owner of Scottsdale's 
clearing firm, Alpine, which is located in Salt Lake City, Utah. BUllY has been its director since 
March 2011,43 and has been registered with Alpine since May 15,2015.44 

In 2013, Hurry established CSCT, the Cayman Islands broker-dealer through which the 
securities at issue were deposited at Scottsdale.45 HUlTY owns CSCT,46 and, as more fully 
discussed below, he made decisions, both large and small, about how it conducted its business.47 

Despite the highly specialized nature of CSCT's business, Hun'y hired Gregory Ruzicka- an 
out-of-work Califomia real estate attomey who had no prior experience in the securities broker
dealer industry, much less in the specialized business of liquidating microcap securities-to run 
CSCT.48 Ruzicka went down to the Cayman Islands in October 2013 to take on his CSCT 
duties.49 Hurry then monitored Ruzicka's activities almost daily, right down to his cigarette 
breaks, and visited the Cayman Islands at least monthly. 50 

Although Hurry attempted to conceal the extent of his involvement in CSCT's business, 
he admits that he spoke with the three CSCT customers involved in this case (Montage, Titan, 
and Unicorn), and that he personally visited two of them, Montage in Panama and Unicorn in 
Belize. 51 He claims that he did 110t solicit business for CSCT, but, as discussed below, that claim 
is not credible. 

42 RX-42, at 27. See also the Firm's FOCUS Reports for 2013-Q4, 2014-Ql, 2014-Q2, 2015-Q3, 2015-Q4, and 
2016-Q-l, and the summary of them created by Enforcement. CX-6 through eX-lO. 

43 eX-15, at 3, 11; eX-IS. 

44 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1307. 

4S Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1329; Hearing Ir. (Noiman) 1117-1S; eX-29. 

46 eX-178, at 40-41. 

47 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1333-35. 

48 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1631; CX-178, at 13-24. Ruzicka had limited experience in the early 1980s with intrastate 
real estate limited partnership offerings. In that context, he handled post-foreclosure unlawful detainers, relief from 
automatic bankruptcy stays, and receiverships on commercial properties. eX-178, at 15-18. 

49 CX-I78, at 20. 

so Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1437-40; eX-l78, at 138-41, 151-52; CX-132; eX-133. 

51 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1406-08, 1412-14, 1421-22. 
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TIlat Hurry was in charge was obvious to his employees and to CSCT customers. Ruzicka 
referred to him as ''the big bOSS.,,52 As noted below, one of the persons at Scottsdale who 
approved CSCT to become a Scottsdale customer did not even consider rejecting CSCT's 
application because he knew that Hurry had brought CSCT to the Finn.53 Similarly, Ruzicka said 
that CSCT never considered using any broker-dealer except Scottsdale because of Huny. 54 As 
Hurry acknowledged; customers also sought direct contact with him because he is "highest on 
the totem pole. ,,55 

Respondent HmTY thus owns and controls all three finns involved in the transactions at 
issue in this proceeding-Scottsdale, Alpine, and CSCT. In fact, the three fums were almost a 
self-contained system for processing and distributing microcap securities. CSCT did all its 
business through Scottsdale,56 and Scottsdale in tum did all its business with Alpine.57 Alpine's 
cunent CEO described Alpine as a small "boutique" clearing finn with a focus on the kind of 
business brought to it by CSCT.58 No independent third party was involved in preparing, 
approving, or clearing the deposits of stock cel1ificates by CSCT at Scottsdale for resale. 

c. Timothy DiBlasi 

DiBlasi first entered the securities industry in 2002. From December 2002 through March 
2012, he was a compliance analyst at First Investors Corporation in New Jersey. DiBlasi has 
been associated with Scottsdale since April 2012. In June 2012, he became the Film's anti
money laundering chief officer ("AMLCO"). In October 2013, shortly before the events at issue, 
DiBlasi became the Finn's CCO, and he remains the Finn's CCO today. Prior to joining the 
Finn, DiBlasi had limited experience in microcap securities, and he had not handled the type of 
restricted stock deposits that are the bulk of Scottsdale's business. 59 

52 CX-240; Hearing ·Tr. (Diekmann) 1764-65. 

'3 Hearing Tr. (Noiman) 1079,1103, 1105-06, 1117-18. See also CX-29, at 10,25 (forms to establish CSCI as a 
Scottsdale customer listed Hurry as referral or source of the business ). 

'4 CX-178, at 108. 

S5 Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1432. 

S6 Ruzicka testified that CSCT never considered using a fIrm other than Scottsdale because of Hurry. CX-178, at 
108. 

57 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 143, 306, 382; Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 759; Hearing Tr. (D'Mura) 2293. The person Huny 
hired to run CSCT, Gregory Ruzicka, described CSCT as an "adjunct" of Hurry's operations at Scottsdale. CX-178, 
at 34. 

58 Hearing Tr. (Frankel) 2342-43. Alpine did do business with other FFIs in addition to CSCT during the relevant 
period. Hearing Tr. (Frankel) 2343. 

59 Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1919-21; HearingTr. (Cruz) 122; CX-19. 
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-------_ .. "-- ,,----

d. Michael Cruz 

Cruz entered the securities business in 1994, when he began working at a San Francisco 
investment banking fum on undelwritings, asset-backed securities, and private placements. After 
approximately six years, he joined FINRA's predecessor, NASD, starting in its San Francisco 
office as a cause examiner and then moving to New York asa cycle examiner. Hethentook a job 
with Citigroup Smith Barney in their central risk group, repolting to the General Counsel and 
CCO. Subsequently, he moved with his family to Arizona and passed the bar there. In Arizona, 
he first worked for Wells Fargo in its audit department and then took a similar position at 
Countrywide in its bank legal department. He left Countrywide when Bank of America acquired 
it, and he began working at Scottsdale in May 2008.60 

Cruz has held Series 7,24, and 63 licenses. However, since January 29,2015, he has not 
been registered through Scottsdale. He currently is the general counsel for the holding companies 
thatown Scottsdale and its clearing fmn, Alpine.61 

At the beginning of the relevant period, Cruz was listed on the Finn's Fonn BD as legal 
counsel and member of the Management Committee.62 Cruz officially became the Film's 
president by a board resolution dated March 17, 2014. He testified that, at least since December 
1,2013, he had been acting as defacto president. 63 The Finn amended its Fonn BD on March 
31,2014, to disclose that Cruz was the president, as well as legal counse1.64 

During the relevant period, Cruz approved Rule 144 deposits, including the transactions 
at issue.65 Cruz signed the Deposited Securities Checklist ("Checklist") for the transactions at 
issue under the heading "144 Compliance Approva1." Between that heading and his signature is 
the statement "[B]ased on the infonnation received and reviewed as described in this Deposited 
Securities Checklist, SCA [Scottsdale] reasonably believes the subject securities are free 
trading. ,,66 

60 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 72-73, 557-59, 661; CX-20. 

61 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 72-73; CX-20. 

62 CX-I7, at 1. 

63 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 78-79; CX-4. Cruz said that the original plan had been for Justine Hurry to be president of the 
Firm. Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 79. Cruz's testimony that he was the acting president in December is inconsistent with 
Hurry's testimony that he was president at that time. This conflict concerning who was in charge illustrates the 
Finn's lack of appropriate supervisory procedures that clearly delegated authority and created accountability. 

64 CX-I7, at 7. 

6S Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 693-94. 

66 RX-1, at 2, 79, 159; RX-2, at 2, 107; RX-3, at 2. 
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Cmz acted as the conduit between senior management of the Finn and the board of 
directors, John and Justine Hurry. 67 

2. Otlier Key Figures At Scottsdale 

a. Henry Diekmann 

After graduating fi'om college with a degree in history, Diekmann spent approximately a 
year as a fmancial trainee with Morgan Stanley. He then was an insurance salesman for four 
months. After that, he was unemployed for about a year-and-a-halfbefore he joined Scottsdale in 
March 2010 as an office assistant. In January 2011, he moved to the Finn's Rule 144 team, 
where he spent two years before being promoted to head the teanl. Although many members of 
the team were lawyers, Diekmann is not. He had no experience with low-priced securities or in 
clearing unregistered securities for trading before he joined Scottsdale. He was trained to review 
deposits by Cruz and another person who worked on the Rule 144 team. 68 

During the relevant period, Diekmann focused solely on reviewing CSCT deposits. But 
he did not have authority to approve a deposit of certificates. Final approval authority rested with 
Cruz. 69 

Since January 2015, Diekmann has been the Finn's president. 7o As the Fum's cun'ent 
president, Diekmann now has the authority that once belonged to Cruz, 71 

b. Eric Miller 

Eric Miller was a Scottsdale salesman. He called potential customers and assisted in 
conducting due diligence on new accounts.72 Miller sometimes referred clients to Ruzicka at 
CSCT.73 

Although Miller did not testify at the hearing, there is substantial evidence that he was 
involved with Unicorn's deposits. Miller had a relationship with Unicorn because it had been 
Scottsdale's direct customer before moving its business to CSCT, and he continued to have 
contact with Unicorn even after it started doing bUSUless with Scottsdale through CSCT, as 
Diekmann admitted. 74 

67 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 80-82. 

68 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 686-90. 

69 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 694, 886. 

70 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 685; Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1954. 

71 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 129-30, 583-84; Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 685-86, 694, 908-09. 

72 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 116-17; Hearing Tr. (Noiman) 1075-76; CX-29, at 9. 

7J CX-I78, at 167-68. 

74 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 858, 934-35. 
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TIle fact that Miller continued to have at least some direct contact with Unicom is 
significant for the following four reasons: 

First, the evidence regarding Miller casts doubt on the effectiveness ofthe Film's 
compliance and supervisory efforts. Diekmann claimed that Miller's direct contact with Unicom 
was prohibited and that Miller was "written up" a number oftimes for cOlTesponding by email 
with Unicom. Diekmaml did not identify any written prohibition against direct contact with 
Unicorn, but he said that the prohibition was something that was a matter of business practice at 
the Firm.75 The supposed prohibition is inconsistent with the record, which contains a number of 
emails to and from Unicom that include Miller as a sender or recipient. 76 Moreover, in some 
Unicom emails, DiekmarUl is a recipient along with Miller. 77 l1lere is no evidence that 
Diekmann protested Miller's involvement or reprimanded him. If Miller was "written up" a 
number oftimes for contact with Unicom, as Diekmann testified, it apparently had little effect. 
Diekmann's testimony regarding the supposed prohibition was not credible. 

Second, the emails indicate that Miller was a "back door" for Scottsdale in dealing with 
Unicom. Although the Unicom deposits supposedly came through CSCT, Miller and others at 
Scottsdale cOlTesponded directly with Unicom personnel and directed Unicorn as to what needed 
to be done. 

For example, Miller engaged in exiensive email cOlTespondence with Natalie Bannister at 
Unicom in November 2013 about setting up its account with CSCT. Miller instlUcted her that the 
stock celtificates to be deposited at Scottsdale had to be made out in CSCT's name and sent by 
CSCT to Scottsdale. Bannister indicated that she did not like transfen'ing ownership to CSCT, 
"especially with it 110t in writing." Miller insisted, "TIlese are impOltant details." He said that the 
account at Scottsdale was in CSCT's name and the "cert[tificate deposit] NEEDS to be in 
[CSCT's] name, that is all there is to it.,,78 Thus, it was Scottsdale-not CSCT-that was making 
the alTangements and instmcting the customer on what had to be done. 

Miller shepherded Unicorn's due diligence packages through CSCT. In March 2014, he 
instmcted Unicorn staff and Ruzicka to get together on the telephone to discuss which 
documents were needed and could be provided for a deposit. 79 Similarly, in May 2014, Miller 
engaged in email conoespondencedirectlywithUnicom.sBackOfficeManager.Chinique Lewis, 
asking her about ORFG, one of the stock deposits at issue in this case. He asked her-not 
Ruzicka-how the package was coming along. Then Lewis emailed Miller-not Ruzicka-to 
ask if there was "[a]nything on the [ORFG] as yet?" At that point, Miller emaiIed her back 

75 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1664-65. 

76 See eX-216. 

77 See CX-119. 

78 eX-270. 

79 eX-l71. 
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directing her to call Ruzicka and have him call Miller.80 Miller's last instruction in the 
correspondence appears to us to reflect an awareness that Scottsdale should be seen to be dealing 
only with and through CSCT, when, in fact, Scottsdale, through Miller, was continuing to guide 
the business with Unicorn. 

In April 2014, when Diekmann was unable to obtain the infonnation he needed on a 
deposit of stock certificates by Unicorn from Ruzicka at CSCT, he emailed Miller a copy of his 
request to Ruzicka, saying he had not received a response. And Miller, in tum, forwarded the 
email directly to two persons at Unicom, Cern Can and Chinique Lewis, asking them to "please 
address this ASAP.,,&l Diekmann denied that he had asked Miller to obtain the infolmation for 
him, but the correspondence has no other reasonable explanation. Diekmann's testimony in this 
regard was not credible.&2 

In May 2014, Miller obtained infolmation from Chinique Lewis at Unicorn about the 
purpol1ed beneficial owner of the entity that had deposited VPLM stock through Unicorn for sale 
by Scottsdale and forwarded that to DiekmalID. The email correspondence was included in the 
VPLM due diligence package. 83 

The degree to which Miller cOlTesponded directly with Unicorn and managed the Unicorn 
deposits raises the question whether there was any need for CSCT at all. As discussed below in 
the credibility section, Hurry's decision to route Scottsdale's FFI business through CSCT had 
little discernible business rationale. His implementation of that decision and staffing ofCSCT 
with Ruzicka, who was unqualified to nm CSCT, coupled with the evidence of Miller's 
continuing role as a "back door" to Scottsdale, demonstrate that CSCT was a fa9ade. 

Third, we interpret certain email con"espondence between Miller and a client as 
suggesting that the Firm assisted its clients "all the time" to conceal beneficial ownership of 
stock. Scottsdale supposedly had a policy not to accept business from Canadian citizens residing 
in Canada, but, when a client in the Bahamas asked on behalf of a friend whether a Canadian 
citizen residing in Canada could do business with Scottsdale, Miller suggested that the friend set 
up a corporation to do the business. Miller called it a "work around." The client responded, "If 
they get a corporation set up US, Panama, Belize or wherever won[']t your Compliance want to 
know who is beneficial owner?" Miller responded, "Yes they will but the account holder is the 
corporation. Trust me on this one, we do it all the time. ,,84 

80 CX-311, at 1. 

81 Hearing Tf. (Diekmann) 1668-71; CX-221. 

82 CX-221; Hearing Tf. (Diekmann) 1665-71 . In denying that he intended for Miller to obtain the infonnation from 
Unicorn that Ruzicka had failed to supply, Diekmann testified that he had no interest whatever in whether he 
obtained the information Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 1665-71. That statement is not credible. Ifhe had no interest, 
there would have been no reason to send the email to Miller. 

83 RX-3, at 17. 

84 CX-21O; Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 1672-77. 
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We are unconvinced by Diekmann's benign reading ofthis c01l'espondence. He testified 
that he thought that the client was asking something different, "Won't your compliance know 
that a Canadian resident owns the LLC and, therefore, won't they reject the deposit or account 
opening?,,85 Diekmann's interpretation is a rewriting of the client's words. It ignores that 
Miller's implicit point was that the corporation would be identified as the account holder, not the 
Canadian owner.11mt is why the Canadian's deposit would not be rejected. Furthermore, 
Diekmann's interpretation does not reflect the tone of Miller's comments. When Miller 
suggested that the shares could be put in the name ofthe corporation, he treated that as a magical 
solution to the problem, saying "and wa-Ia! We get it done that way.,,86 Finally, ifDiekmatm's 
interpretation of the question were correct, then Miller never answered the question. Miller never 
explained why the Firm would not reject the deposit if it knew that a Canadian resident owned 
the LLC. 

Fourth, according to Diekma1Ul, after Miller left the Finn in April 2016, the Finn 
discovered that he had set up his work email to be forwarded to his personal email. 87 TIlis means 
that Miller could have engaged in communications with FFls like Unicorn "off the record," 
avoiding oversight. Although Diekmann testified that all of Scottsdale's emails remained on its 
system, and were not removed by Miller, Diekmann provided no basis for knowing whether that 
was true. Diekmann testified that the Film had asked Miller to confinn he had not removed any 
emails from the Film's system but that Miller had not responded. 88 

The inquiry suggests that the Firm in fact does not know whether Miller removed emails 
from the Firm's system. There was 110 evidence that the Finn employed any technical analysis of 
its systems to find out if emails or other infolmation had been deleted. There also was no 
evidence that the Finn made any effort to recover any email correspondence that Miller might 
have had with customers using only his personal email. 111Us, it is undisputed that Miller 
communicated directly with UnicoI11, and it is impossible to know the number or substance of all 
those communications. 

Given the allegations against Unicorn and Cern Can in the Bandjield indictment, the 
inability to review Miller's communications with them is a serious concem. The Firm's 
reaction-simply to ask MilIer to confilm he did not remove any emails from the Scottsdale's 
system-is an inadequate response. If Miller took emails from Scottsdale's system or deleted 
them, he would hardly be likely to confess to that wrongdoing. That is particularly so where the 
emails were with persons subject to a criminal indictment and might place Miller under 
suspicion. The request to a potential wrongdoer to confmn that he conunitted no wrongdoing is 
almost farcical. TIle inadequacy of the Finn's response mirrors the inadequacy of its checklist 

8j Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 1673. 

86 CX-21O, at 5. 

87 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 1662-63. 

88 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 1663-64. 
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approach to Rule 144 due diligence and contributes to our conclusion that stringent sanctions are 
required here. 

c. Jay Noiman 

Jay Noirnanjoined Scottsdale in September 2011 and left at the end of December 2014.89 

Prior to October 2013, when DiBlasi became CCO, Noiman was the Firm's CCO. 90 He was on 
the Management Committee fi'om approximately January 2013 through January 2014. He served 
as vice chairman of the Management Committee and second in command after Cruz. During the 
relevant period, Noiman was the trading manager and had responsibility for supervising the 
traders and sales staff He identified DiBlasi as his supervisor. 91 

Noiman was responsible for reviewing the blotter for restricted stocks. He focused on 
FFls,n and he approved the account opening documents for CSCT, which was an FFI. Noiman 
never considered not approving the CSCT account. He knew at the time that it was a refelTaI 
from Hurry.93 

Noiman also signed documents in the due diligence packages for the transactions in this 
case. His signature appears on the Checklist under the heading "Broker Approval." Between the 
heading and Noiman's signature was the statement that he had carefully reviewed the Checklist 
and the supporting documents and that to the best of his knowledge "any resale will be made in 
compliance with film policy and all applicable laws.,,94 By that language, the Checklist makes it 
appear that Noiman was celiifying that he believed that the transaction would comply with the 
law. 

Noiman testified, however, that his signature signified only that all the necessary forms 
were in the file-a check-the-box func:tion. 95 The palties stipulated that Noiman's signatures on 
the documents in the three due diligence packages meant the same thing: he checked that the 
documents were filled out but did not substantively approve or review them.96 TIms, Noiman's 
signature on the Checklist created only a fa9ade of compliance and accountability. 

89 Hearing Ir. (Noiman) 1041-42. 

90 Hearing Ir. (Noiman) 1043. 

91 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 81, 564; Hearing Ir. (Noiman) 1043-44. 

92 Hearing Ir. (Noiman) 1045-46, 1049-51. 

93 Hearing Ir. (Noiman) 1139-40. 

94 RX-1, at 2; RX-2, at 2; RX-3, at 2. 

95 Hearing Ir. (Noiman) 1156-68, 1171-73. 

96 Hearing Ir. (Noiman) 1172-73. 
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During the relevant period, Noiman, like Miller, had contact with one of the FFIs 
involved in this case, Titan.97 Noiman talked with ROM Knowles of Titan at least monthly and 
sometimes weekly and engaged in email correspondence with Knowles. 98 Both Titan and 
Knowles were defendants in the Bandfield indictment. As discussed below, Noiman obtained 
infonnation directly from Knowles, which he fOlwarded to Cruz, to resolve a serious potential 
problel1lwith aCSCTdeposit ofVPLM stock. CSCT's staff was notil1volved. 99 

TIlUS, Noiman 
was another "back door" to a CSCT customer, raising once again the question why CSCT even 
existed. 

3. CSCT AmI Its Key Figures 

a. Gregory V. Ruzicka 

PriOl,to joining CSCT, Gregory Ruzicka was a real estate attomey in Newport Beach, 
California. He began his legal career advising exclusively on real estate issues and continued in 
the real estate field. He did not advise on the federal securities laws. lOO Before beginning work at 
CSCT, Ruzicka had no experience with Rule 144 or any of the other exemptions from 
registration under the federal securities laws. 101 Nor did Ruzicka have any prior experience with 
Cayman Islands law, the Bank Secrecy Act, or anti-money laundering mles and regulations. l02 

Ruzicka met John Hurry in 2002 when Hurry hired him to do some work on a 
commercial real estate issue. From time to time after that, Ruzicka did work for Hurry, but none 
ofthat work involved the securities laws or Hurry's broker-dealer business. l03 

Later, Ruzicka suffered a substantial financial setback that left him out of work and 
adrift. 104 At this point, Ruzicka asked Hurry to give him ajob at a bicycle shop that Hurry 
owned. Hun'y admitted that he was "kind of taken back a little bit.,,105 Huny proposed instead 

97 Prior to the events at issue, Noiman was involved in the customer due diligence on Titan when it was a direct 
customer of Scottsdale. On January 18, 2012, Noiman signed a due diligence form as a principal of the Firm 
representing that to the best of his knowledge the infomlation provided by Titan was true and correct. Noiman also 
signed the form as the person giving compliance approval. CX-242, at 48. 

98 Hearing Tr. (Noiman) 1185-87. Ruzicka was under the impression that Titan "had a special pipeline to 
Scottsdale." CX-ln, at 110. He spoke of a young woman as being the "private liaison for Titan." CX-178, at 110. 

99 CX-296; CX-294; Hearing Ir. (Noiman) 1187-98. See infra at_. 

100 CX-ln, at 12-20. 

101 CX-178, at 22-23. 

102 CX-ln, at 18-19, 22-24. 

103 CX-178, at 25-29 

104 CX-178, at 14-15, 19-20,30,38,54. 

lOS Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1631, 1635-36. Hurry told D'Mura that Ruzicka had asked, "Would you be able to help me 
out? Is there any position or something? Could I work at your bike shop or your ice cream shop? You know, you 
don't have to pay me a lot, but at this point, I don't have anything. I have $50 in my pocket." Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 
2262. 
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that Ruzicka go to the Cayman Islands to run Hurry's operation there. According to Ruzicka, 
Huny told him that Ruzicka would be running the business and acting as Hurry's lawyer.106 

Ruzicka had been to the Cayman Islands once before to go scuba diving, but he was willing to 
relocate because he had been through such a hard time and wanted a "change of scenety. ,,107 

Hurry told Ruzicka that he had 30 days to read about Rule 144,108 so Ruzicka read Rule 144, the 
Securities Act of 1933~ and what he could find on the intemet about the Rule 144 exemption. 109 

hl mid-October 2013, Hun'y flew with Ruzicka in RUtTY'S private plane to the Cayman 
Islands so that Ruzicka could begin work. 1 

10 Ruzicka remained with CSCT until mid-October 
2014.1ll 

Diekmann testified that if CSCT had been his business, Ruzicka would not have been his 
choice to run the Cayman Islands broker-dealer. Ruzicka lacked securities experience, and he 
seemed disorganized, sending materials to Scottsdale piecemeal and failing to follow 
instructions.112 

Ruzicka never had a securities license or registered with FINRA. Consequently, FINRA 
had no jurisdiction to compel him to testify. Ruzicka testified voluntarily at an OTR, and he 
considered testifying voluntarily at the hearing. However, after being contacted by counsel for 
Respondents, as discussed below in the credibility section, Ruzicka declined to testify. 
Consequently, Ruzicka's entire OTR was admitted into evidence. 

b. Craig D'Mura 

Craig D'Mura graduated from Arizona State University in May 2006 and shortly 
aftelward began work at Vanguard Group in the retirement pruticipant services department. After 
a year and a half, he went to law school at Syracuse University. Although he finished law school, 
he never took the bar examination and did not become licensed as an attomey. He retumed to 
Phoenix and started a broker training program in 2010. However, he did not feel that being a 
broker was his "calling. ,,113 

D'Mura was unemployed in summer of2011. He responded to an adveltisement on 
Craigslist for an operations position at Scottsdale. In July or August 2011, after an interview with 

106 CX-178, at 38-40. 

107 CX-178, at 54. 

lOS CX-I78, at 40. 

109 CX-178, at 22, 62-63. 

1l0CX_178, at 37. 

111 CX-I78, at 231 . 

112 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 759-61, 765. 

113 Hearing Tf. (D'Mura) 2246-47. 
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Justine HUlry, Scottsdale hired him. Prior to his work at Scottsdale, D'Mura was not even aware 
of the microcap securities industry. I 14 

After two or three weeks in the operations position, D'Mura joined the Rule 144 team. 
His training was ongoing. By summer of2013, he was handling more complicated deposits and 

.. was able to review files·· asa principaL However, he did not review deposits by FFIs. 115 

In swnmer of 20 13, Hurry began discussing with Scottsdale staff his plan to open a 
broker-dealer in the Cayman Islands, and ClllZ asked D'Mura ifhe might be interested in 
working there. D'Mura began filling out the paperwork necessary ifhe took the position in the 
Cayman Islands, and in January 2014, he flew with Hurry in HutTY's private airplane to the 
Cayman Islands to visit and consider a position with CSCT.1l6 D'Mura decided to take the 
position, retumed to Phoenix for a few days, and then went back to the Cayman Islands on 
January 28, 2014. He stayed with CSCT only about six weeks. After concluding that the situation 
was intolerable and would never improve, he left on March 14, 2014. 117 

c. CSCT 

i. Hurry Set Up CSCT 

In early 2013, Hurry set up CSCT in the Cayman Islands. I 18 He became its director and 
intended to have overall management supervision of it and its business. ll9 Through a chain of 
entities, a Hurry family trust owns CSCT, and Hurry and his wife serve as co-trustees of the 
trust. 120 

Huny claimed that he set up CSCT because Alpine, his U.S. clearing finn, wanted to be 
relieved of IRS tax withholding obligations. According to Hurry, Alpine wanted to do business 
only with FFIs that had agreed with the IRS to take on tax withholding obligations, thereby 
becoming what is known as a qualified intennediary ("QI,,).I21 Huny testified that withholding 
obligations are complicated and burdensome. 122 He also testified that there are risks in getting 

114 Hearing Tf. (D'Mura) 2247-48. 

1lS Hearing Tr. (D'Mura) 2248-5]. 

116 Hearing Tr. (D'Mura) 2252-58. 

117 Hearing Tf. (D'Mura) 2266, 2306-09. 

118 Hearing Tr. (Htmy) 1329, 1333-34. 

119 Hearing Tr. (Htmy) 1394-95; CX-160, at 3. 

120 CX-21, at 2. 

121 Hearing Tr. (Htmy) 1373-74, 1552-61; Hearing Tr. (Frankel) 2345-46, 2349-51. Resp. PH Br. 8. 

122 Hearing Tf. (Htmy) 1554-57. 
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the paperwork wrong and incurring penalties, and that there were tax advantages to generating 
and retaining funds offshore .123 

HutTy's testimony was at a high level of generality, and there was no con'oborating 
evidence to show the analysis. There was no evidence regarding how Alpine made the decision 

. that it would only do business withQls, or who made the decision. 111ere was no evidence other 
than Hurry's testimony to demonstrate that CSCT made business sense. It is unclear how the 
expense of establishing and staffing a separate offshore office was less burdensome than 
Alpine's withholding obligations, or why the same goal of eliminating Alpine's withholding 
obligation could not have been achieved less expensively by requiring the Finn's FFI customers 
to obtain QI certification in order to do business with Scottsdale and Alpine. Moreover, since 
HutTy ultimately bore the costs regardless of which entity had the obligation, Alpine or CSCT, 
we are not persuaded that the claimed reason for creating CSCT made sense. 124 

Nor did the creation of CSCT make sense from the perspective of achieving regulatory 
compliance. As Cmz agreed, it is easier to spot problems with direct accounts than through an 
FFI like CSCT that operated as an intennediary for sub-accounts and sub-sub-accounts_125 

Hun-y's intense involvement in CSCT's operations did not abate after he hired Ruzicka in 
October 2013 to lun CSCT's day-to-day operations_ Hurry located and rented office space for 
CSCT before Ruzicka began work and then continued to closely oversee the details of 
establishing and opening the office after Ruzicka arrived_ Hurry obtained a floor plan from 
Ruzicka, told Ruzicka it was not correct, and asked Ruzicka to take measurements and create a 
revision. 126 Hurry provided Ruzicka with contact infonnation for shippers to ship furniture Hurry 
had found for the office. 127 Hurry reviewed the proposed CSCT website design and asked about 
the costs. 128 Hurry made the final decision on hiring a bookkeeper129 and all the decisions on 

·130 entenng contracts. 

123 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1554-57. 

124 Hurrry testified that he had allocated between $4 and $5 million for the project and had invested well over seven 
figures in CSCI . Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1552. When asked what he had taken out ofCSCI, he said "Zero." Hearing 
Tr. (Hurry) 1553. 

m Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 220. 

126 CX-48; CX-50; CX-52; CX-55; CX-75. 

127 CX-52; CX-53. 

128 CX-49; CX-84. 

129 CX-178, at 43-44. 

130 CX-178, at 46. 
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Hurry instructed Ruzicka on fundamental business operations, as well. For example, he 
explained to Ruzicka that he should open a separate bank account for customer funds to keep 
their funds separate from CSCT's funds. 131 

Hurry decided that CSCT should be in the Special Economic Zone within the Cayman 
Islands,andthatit should apply to be exempt from regulation by the Cayman Islands Monetary 
Authority ("CIMA"). In addition, Hurry instructed Ruzicka to apply to the IRS for QI status.132 

Although Ruzicka expressed concems about the obligations and representations associated with 
QI status and was reluctant to make the required representations without further study, Hurry 
insisted that Ruzicka do it. 133 

Hun), determined the fees and commissions CSCT clients would pay. He instlUcted 
Ruzicka to take whatever Scottsdale charged CSCT and tack on 200 basis points. 134 Hun'y in tum 
obtained a discount from Scottsdale on its charges to CSCT.135 By this means, he kept the cost of 
doing business through CSCT roughly the same as doing business directly with Scottsdale. 
Otherwise, the rerouting of the FFI business through CSCT would have made no economic sense 
for the customers. However, there was no evidence that it made economic sense for HlU1'y to 
keep customer expenses roughly the same as they would have been working directly with 
Scottsdale when he was incurring substantial extra expenses setting up and staffing the extra 
office in the Cayman Islands. 136 

Hurry was intimately involved in setting up CSCT's technical systems, Hurry made the 
an'angements for computer software for CSCT and instlUcted Ruzicka to download Office 2010 
for two users. 1 

37 Similarly, Hurry selected computer equipment for CSCT and brought it down to 
the Cayman Islands in mid-January 2014 at the same time that he brought D'Mura to look at 
joining CSCT. D'Mura testified that Hurry set up the office network for CSCT.138 When Ruzicka 
showed Hurry the infomlation he planned to send to clients, Hurry told him he should make it 
look better and instlUcted hinl on how to do that. HU11'Y told Ruzicka to print to PDF and get a 
clean file to email customers. He advised Ruzicka that he could do that on his computer. 1 

39 

131 CX-83. 

m CX-178, at 48-53. 

133 CX-105; CX-107; CX-l78, at 50-53. 

134 CX-l78, at 106-09. 

135 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 141-43; Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2294-95. 

136 Hurry and Diekmann testified that routing the FFI business through CSCI was actually a little less expensive for 
customers than dealing with Scottsdale directly. Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1642-44; Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1652-53. If 
true, that testimony further undercuts the business justification for CSCI. 

137 CX-94; Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 146l. 

138 Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2263, 2266-68. 

139 CX-77; cx-n. 
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Ruzicka, by contrast, was fairly unsophisticated about technology. He was vague on even 
identifying the programs that he used at CSCT. 140 

ii. Hurry Micro-Managed CSCT's Business 

Although Hurry portrayed Ruzicka as being in charge of CSCT, 141 the evidence is 
otherwise. Hurry micro-managed CSCT, and he bullied Ruzicka and D'Mura to get them to do 
what he wanted them to do. HutTY also closely tracked CSCT's business with Scottsdale and 
with its FFI customers. 

Ruzicka considered himself to be only an intennediary.142 Hun'y dictated what should be 
done, and Ruzicka complied. Ruzicka said with respect to Huny, "You don't discuss; you do as 
you are ordered.,,143 For example, when Ruzicka protested that he was not comfortable with 
signing off on the QI application, Hurry responded, "Stupid, just do it." Ruzicka said that he 
"kind of dropped the subject at that point. ,,1 44 Ruzicka signed off, despite his discomfort, because 
he knew if he did not ''there is a ticket back to LA coming tomon'ow. ,,145 

Similarly, although Ruzicka thought that UniGom engaged in some suspicious trading and 
constant pressure from Cern Can at Unicom gave him the "creeps," Ruzicka did not think he had 
authority to terminate the relationship with Unicom. Ifhe had done so without clear authority 
from Hurry, he thought that would have been his last day at CSCT.146 D'Mura continned that 
neither he nor Ruzicka could tenninate a client relationship, and, although they hated dealing 
with Cem Can at Unicom, they did not consider it an option to tum away the business. 147 

Some of the initial customers of CSCT were pre-existing customers of Scottsdale. When 
Ruzicka asked the commonsense question why the pre-existing business was going to flow 
through the new entity, Hurry told him to shut up. After that, Ruzicka just did as he was told. 148 

Ruzicka testified in his OTR, and D'Mura testified at the hearing, that Hun)' ban'aged 
them with telephone calls while they were working at CSCT. Huny called Ruzicka almost evelY 
day, sometimes multiple times, He called D'Mura less often, probably a couple of times a week. 

140 CX-77; eX-I78, at 24-25. 

141 Hearing TT. (Hurry) 1433, 1436, 1549-50. Hurry claimed that he hired Ruzicka to fulfill an "executive role." 
Hearing TT. (Hurry) 1648. 

142 eX-1'78, at 46. 

143 eX-l 78, at 51 . 

144 eX-178, at 51-S2. 

14~ eX-22; eX-I78, at 52-53. 

146 CX-178, at 177-80, 188-89. 

147 Hearing TT. (D'Mura) 2283-86. 

148 CX-I78, at 79-80. 
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TIle calls could come at all hours as well. 149 Often the calls were followed by demanding, abmpt, 
and increasingly impatient emails saying "call me. ,,150 In one email, Hurry wrote "Your phone is 
not working TURN IT ON. I need a ca11.,,151 hI another he wrote, "Call me in 60 minutes. DO 
YOU NOT UNDERSTAND THAT?,,152 hI another the subject line was "pick up your 
phone!!! !!!! !,,153 

Hurry developed an Excel spreadsheet to track various aspects of CSCT's business. 
Although Hun'y characterized it in his testimony as an "empowennent tool" that enabled his 
people to track their work for themselves without his having to keep track of their progress,154 
that characterization is not consistent with the evidence. 

The spreadsheet tracked daily gross production, number of trades placed, certificate 

deposits approved, new certificate deposits received, and number of new accounts. It also tracked 
Ruzicka's start and finish times,155 Ruzicka said that in telephone calls Hun'y would even ask 
about how many cigarettes he had smoked during the day. 156 An email from Hurry corroborated 

Ruzicka's testimony. hI the email, HUtTY told Ruzicka "Need all the below," including start time, 
fmish time, and "number of cig breaks.,,157 HUlTY acknowledged that the email included an 
inquiry about cigarette breaks, but he claimed that he was trying to help Ruzicka get himself 
organized. He claimed to know that Ruzicka was only in the office for ten minutes in an hour, 
which meant things were not getting done. 158 

Hurry wanted the numbers prepared every day, even if he did not ask for the infomlation 
every day. Ruzicka and D'Mura prepared themselves for Hurry'S frequent telephone calls and 
tried to have talking points and updated infonnation l~eady to go if Hun'y should calJ. 159 

RUtTY tracked Ruzicka's and D'Mura's contacts with CSCT customers, including the 
FFls involved in the transactions at issue, Ruzicka testified that in their frequent telephone calls 
HmTY would ask him about whether he had talked to Rohn Knowles at Titan or Cem Can at 

149 Hearing Tr. (D'Mura) 2301-02; eX-178, at 67-73. 

150 CX-63; CX-68; eX-71; eX-74; eX-lIS; eX-121; eX-126; CX-127. 

m CX-121. 

152 eX-127. 

153 eX-lIS. 

154 Hearing Tf. (Hurry) 1433-39. 

155 eX-13I; Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1433-34. 

156 eX-I 78, at 140-41. 

157 CX-133; Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1438-39. 

158 Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1438-40. 

159 eX-178, at 140-41; Hearing Tr. (D'Mura) 2301-04; Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1436-40. 
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Unicom or other particular people from the Bahamas, Panama, or Belize.16o D'Mura testified that 
Hurry would ask about customers, not particular deposits, but he and Ruzicka did discuss with 
Hurry how they were doing on specific deposits.161 For example, in email correspondence and 
telephone conversations, Ruzicka discussed with HUllY the amount of trading in at least two of 
the symbols at issue here, NHPI and VPLM. 162 

D'Mura decided to leave CSCT and the Cayman Islands, in part, as a result of Hurry's 
constant demands. Hurry had called on a day that Ruzicka was attending a wedding as best man 
and D'Mura was working at his rented condominium instead of the office. Hurry expressed 
aggravation that neither of them was in the office and spoke of "having a come to Jesus moment" 
when he arrived in the Cayman Islands in a few days. 163 D'Mura then packed his bag and said 
good-bye to Ruzicka, who expressed the wish that he could leave, too. However, Ruzicka said he 
had nowhere to go and no alternative. D'Mura left before Hurry arrived; Ruzicka stayed. 164 

Eventually, in October 2014, Ruzicka also left CSCT. Its business had dwindled in 
reaction to the SEC complaint in Amogear and the B andfield indictment. 1 65 According to 
Ruzicka, in October 2014 Hurry offered him other positions back in the United States, but 
Ruzicka concluded that he "did not want to work any long[ er] for that man," referring to Hurry. 
Ruzicka said, "I don't care what he offered, you know. Incremental value ofthat last dollar just 
was not worth it.,,166 

iii. Hurry Prospected For CSCT Customers 

CSCT did not advertise167 or engage in cold-calling to try to generate business. 168 Hun-y's 
business plan was for CSCT to develop clients through contacts and refen'als,169 but Ruzicka, 
who had no prior industry experience, had no network he could cultivate for potential customers. 

160 CX-I78, at 74-77,84-85. 

161 Hearing Tr. (D'Mura) 2304-05. 

162 CX-132. 

163 Hearing Tr. (D'Mura) 2308-09. Huny confinued that he was frustrated that Ruzicka and D'Mura were not in the 
office. Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1602-03. When people called CSCT and did not get an answer, they called Alpine trying 
to fmd Hurry. Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1622-23. 

164 Hearing Tr. (D'Mura) 2306-10. 

165 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 237-38. 

166 CX-178, at 232. 

167 CX-178, at 218. In contrast, even though Scottsdale had been in business for ten years, it advertised for business. 
Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 116. 

168 Hearing TT. (D'Mura) 2279-80. 

169 CX-160, at 3; Hearing TT. (Hurry) 1393. 
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Customers simply appeared seeking to establish a business relationship with CSCT. TIley 
were referred to CSCT by HUlTY or by someone at Scottsdale or Alpine. 170 Ruzicka testified at 
his OTR that he had an "express representation" that two of the FFIs involved in this case, Titan 
and Unicorn, were referred by Hurry.l7l Ruzicka did not know how Montage "found" CSCT.I72 

At the hearing, Hun'yflatly contradicted Ruzicka's testimony that Hurry had referred 
Titan and Unicom to CSCT.173 We do not credit Hurry's testimony because he gave the 
testimony only after he knew that Ruzicka would not appear at the hearing to dispute Hurry's 
statement. To the extent that Huny means that the referral came from someone at Scottsdale, we 
do not regard that as proving that Huny was not the ultimate source of the refen'al, even if he 
made the link to CSCT through Scottsdale. Hurry had a pre-existing relationship with Titan 
while it was a direct customer of Scottsdale, 174 and he admitted talking to existing Scottsdale 
customers about his plan to establish CSCT.175 He also admitted, as discussed below, to talking 
directly to Titan and other customers even after they became CSCT customers. 

Huny admits that he had at least one face-to-face meeting with Montage in Panama176 

and another face-to-face meeting with Unicom in Belize. 177 He flew to Central America in 
January 2014 for these meetings, after dropping off D 'Mura on his initial visit to CSCT. He did 
not take Ruzicka with him.178 

At the hearing, HUlTY claimed not to recall discussing business with either Montage or 
Unicorn during these visits. 179 Huny claimed that he went to Montage because Ruzicka had 
asked him to evaluate a back-office system Montage was using to see if it would be suitable for 
CSCT. Huny did not identify the nature ofthe system. He said that in the end they detenuined 
that it was not suitable for CSCT. He did not explain why it was unsuitable. 18o 

We do not find Hun-y's testimony with respect to his visit with Montage credible. 
Ruzicka was not technologically sophisticated and was too subordinate to suggest such a thing to 

170 CX-178, at 104,167-68. 

171 CX-178, at 203-04. 

m CX-I 78, at 203. 

173 Hearing Tf. (Hurry) 1410, 1416. 

174 Hurry was listed as the registered representative and financial consultant for Iitan when it was a direct customer 
of Scottsdale. Hearing If. (Hurry) 1413-14, 1610-12; CX-242, at 44,48. 

175 Hearing Ir. (Huny) 1401-06. 

176 Hearing If. (Hurry) 1412-13, 1612-13. 

177 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1406, 1422, 1613-14. 

178HearingIr. (D'Mura) 2300-01; Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1617-19. 

179 Hearing Ir. (lIuny) 1406, 1618-19. 

180 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1612-13, 1617-19. 
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Huny. Fmthelmore, D'Mura testified that he remembered no discussion of evaluating a back 
office system. 181 HUlTy's testimony was vague and lacked specificity, and, again, Hurry gave his 
testimony only after it was clear that Ruzicka would not appear at the hearing. Hurry knew he 
would not be contradicted. 

Hurry counseled Ruzicka to do busillesswith Montage and, in paIticular, to do business 
with a person who was not identified in Montage documents as being connected with it. Ruzicka 
testified in his OTR that he was unclear about the role of a Montage contact with whom HUlTy 
spoke from time to time. When Ruzicka asked HUITY about the contact, Hurry said to him "Hey, 
that's fine, you can interface with that guy. He's part of the operation.,,182 This evidence shows 
that Hun'y knew more about Montage than Ruzicka did, and that Hurry was instlUcting Ruzicka 
with regard to customer dealings. 

HUlTY claimed at the hearing that he only went to Belize to meet with Cern Can at 
Unicom (both named defendants in the Bandfield indictment) because Ruzicka asked him to do 
so. According to Hurry, Ruzicka was trying to open the account and Can had requested a 
meeting with Hurry. Hurry said it is not uncommon for people to WaIlt to meet the owner of a 
business. 183 However, in somewhat inconsistent testimony, Hurry testified that he did not recall 
discussing business during his visit with Unicom.I84 

HUITy'S hearing testimony was impeached by his OTR. In his OTR, HUlTY testified that 
Cem Can had asked him whether it would be better to do business with Scottsdale or CSCT. 
Huny told him that it might be quicker to go directly to Scottsdale, but there could be "holdups" 
because of potential withholding there. On the other hand, because CSCT was a QI, HUlTy told 
Can the "holdup" would be eliminated. I8s 

111ere was additional evidence that HUlTy discussed business with Unicom. In late 
January 2014, Chinique Lewis ofUnicom sent an email to Eric Miller, Diekmann, and Ruzicka 
asking for HUlTY to join a call on the processes and procedures to be used in connection with 
Unicom's business with CSCT and Scottsdale. She said from "our personal face to face 
conversation with Mr. Hurry, I am certain he will not mind getting on a call. ,,186 

With respect to the request to involve him 011 a call with Unicorn, Huny testified that it 
was no more than the common desire to deal with the person at the head of an organization.187 

181 Hearing Tr. (D'Mura) 2300-01. 

182 CX-178, at 123-24. 

183 Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1613-14. 

184 Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1406. 

185 Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1407-10, 1421-22. 

186 CX-l 19. 

187 Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1432 
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--------------, 

We fUld his explanation unconvincing. Re traveled to a potential CSCT client without taking 
Ruzicka, the designated head ofCSCT, discussed that client doing business with CSCT, and was 
viewed by the client as an important participant in the client's business dealings with CSCT. 

Although he denied it, HutTY provided other leads and refetTals to Ruzicka, too. In an 
emai-l dated November 17, 2013, for example, RUtTY wrote to Ruzicka, "RefetTalsand Leads call 
me on them." In the email, RutTY provided a couple of names and telephone numbers. One of 
those named was an "Andrew Fanner. ,,188 On November 20, 2013, Ruzicka wrote RUtTy that he 
had tried to call "Andy" at the number Hun'y had given him but the call did not go through. That 
same day RUtTY provided another telephone number.189 RUtTy maintained he had identified the 
people in the email to Ruzicka not as prospects or potential customers but because they knew 
FFIs.190 

RutTy revealed that, in fact, he was guiding Ruzicka's customer dealings, when he 
volunteered that Ruzicka did not in the end talk to tlle people Hun'y had identified in tlle email. 
HutTy said that he had afterward found out that tlley had some "issues" and had told Ruzicka, 
"Don't bother. ,,191 

D'Mura testified that while he was at CSCT RutTy and Ruzicka met with another 
potential customer, Caledonian Securities. CSCT received over 50 Caledonian deposits 
afterward. 192 

Despite this evidence that Run), was critical to developing CSCT's business, Hun), 
pOltrayed himself as offering only slight help to Ruzicka He claimed tllat all he did was to 
recommend to Ruzicka that he get a book of intemational financial institutions and prospect for 
customers using that. 193 TIlis testimony is not credible. Since Ruzicka and D'Mura engaged in no 
cold calling, they had no use for a book to help them prospect for customers. 194 Furthennore, 
such an approach to business promotion-cold calling people out of a book-was not likely to 
be successful. RutTy would certainly have known that, and he would not have been satisfied with 

188 CX-51. 

189 CX-62. 

190 Hearing Tr. 1401-04; CX-51. 

191 Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1404. 

192 Hearing Tr. (D'Mura) 2295-97. D'Mura testified that he received the initial documents from Caledonian in the 
last week before he left Scottsdale and laid them out on a table to review, so he was well aware of the volume 
submitted to CSCT. The Caledonian-related deposits were not passed on to Scottsdale before he left CSCT. Hearing 
Tr. (D'Mura) 2317. 

193 Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1403-04. 

194 Hearing Tr. (D'Mura) 2279. 
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that approach to marketing CSCT. He wanted CSCT to be successful and worked hard to make it 
195 so. 

iv. Hurry Tried To Conceal His Involvement With eSCT 

. Both Ruzicka ~nd D'Mura had the impression that secrecy was important to Huny 
Ruzicka said that Hurry "flat told me, 'I'm going to Caymans, because that way I don't have to 
give anything to anybody. ,,,196 D'Mura testified that when he first flew down to the Caymans 
with Hurry, Hurry spent time discussing with him the privacy laws of the Cayman Islands. Hurry 
noted that some of them were criminal, not just civil. 197 In so doing, Hurry stressed the serious 
consequences if a person failed to comply. 

HUllY denied any particular interest in secrecy.198 Hurry's denial is not credible. We find 
that he was intensely concerned with secrecy and concealing his involvement with CSCT's 
customers and business. His concern was manifested in the following ways. 

(a) Use Of Email Address That Hid His Identity 

Hurry used an email address that hid his identity. When Ruzicka started working at 
CSCT, he used as his work email addressgr@csct.ky. The address identified him by his initials, 
the fum by its initials, and the Cayman Islands location by the last two letters. Ruzicka set up a 
similar email addressforHurry.usingHUtTY·sfirstinitialandlastname:jhurry@csct.ky.199 

Hurry had an extreme reaction to his email address. Ruzicka said that Hurry "just 
crucified me." Hurry told Ruzicka that the address was too long, and instructed Ruzicka to 
change the individual identifier to X.200 Thus, during the relevant period HutTy's email address at 
CSCT was x@csct.ky, which did not identify Hurry. 

At the hearing, Hurry repeated the same explanation for changing his email address. He 
testified that he wanted an address that was short. 201 

We find HutTy's explanation to be false. He volunteered elsewhere in his testimony that 
his main email address is JHutTy@hurry.com. 202 Thus, Hurry's main email address is constructed 
in the same way that Ruzicka initially constructed HUllY'S address at CSCT. If that construction 

195 Hearing Ir. (Huny) 1417-18; CX-I78, at 74-75,135-42. 

196 CX-178, at 36. 

197 Hearing Tr. (D'Mura) 2259. 

198 Hearing Ir. (Huny) 1361-62, 1364-65. 

199 CX-178, at 146-47. 

200 CX-178, at 146-47. 

201 Hearing Ir. (Huny) 1459. 

202 Hearing Ir. (Huny) 1426. 
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was not too long for Hun-y's main email address, then it was not too long for his CSCT address. 
Furthennore, we find that the choice of x instead of an identifier such as JH was designed to 
conceal Hurry's involvement in CSCT business and perhaps give him the possibility of denying 
that it was his address. Finally, the extreme nature of his reaction to the initial email address
making Ruzicka feel almost "crucified"-strongly suggests that Hurry was concemed with 
something more important than having a Sh01t email address. 

(b) Assertion Of Attorney-Client Privilege 

HUll')' insisted on asserting the attomey-client privilege even where it was not 
appropriate. Hurry almost always marked his emails with Ruzicka as attorney-client privileged. 
He did so even when his emails simply asked Ruzicka to call him and when his emails concemed 
only floor plans and office furniture and the like, which emails neither sought nor received nor 
reflected any legal advice. 203 In contrast, Ruzicka rarely marked his emails to Hurry as 
privileged,204 even though Hurry insttucted Ruzicka that he should mark all his email 
correspondence with Huny as attorney-client privileged. 205 

Huny claimed at the hearing that he marked his emails privileged because Ruzicka 
advised him to use the privilege designation.206 TIlat claim is not credible in light of Ruzicka's 
practice of not marking his emails with Hurry as privileged. Nor is Hurry's claim consistent with 
the written record that it was HUlTY who instructed Ruzicka to use the privilege designation, not 
the other way around. We find that Hurry wanted all his correspondence with Ruzicka marked 
privileged because he believed that he might be able to shield that cOlTespondence from future 
regulatory scrutiny or litigation discovery. Similarly, in his hearing testimony, Hurry sometimes 
used the phrase "on advice of counsel" in his answer, as though it were a talisman against more 
probing inquiry or criticism. 207 

(c) A,'oiding Written Record 

Hurry tried to avoid creating a written record. Ruzicka wrote in an email to Diekmann 
that Hull'Y had directed him to take a particular deposit, specifying the symbol, SVLE. Diekmann 
forwarded the email to Huny and DiBlasi. When Hu11'Y saw the email, he "tore" into Ruzicka 

203 eX-48; eX-49; ex-so; CX-51; eX-52; eX-55; CX-58; CX-62; eX-63; CX-7l ; eX-75; eX-77; eX-78; eX-79; 
CX-83; eX-84; eX-92; CX-94; eX-107; eX-129; CX-ISI. 

204 CX-53; CX-62; eX-75; eX-77; eX-79; eX-84; eX-lSI . 

205 CX-53 and eX-84. 

206 Hearing Ir. (Huny) 1485. 

207 Hearing Ir. (Huny) 1333-35. 
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"like you wouldn't believe. ,,208 Hurry told Ruzicka something to the effect of "Never put in 
writing that I am directly involved in business decisions. ,,209 

Ruzicka said that Hun)' did not want any pe1manent record of his communications.210 For 
that reason he communicated with Ruzicka primarily through FaceTime, the iPhone tool for 
video communications. RutTY called Ruzicka frequently, sometimes as many as foul' times in a 
day. He called early in the morning and as late as 9:30 p.m.; he called on weekends as well as 
business days. Ruzicka viewed the video calls as invasive, but Hurry told him that he used 
FaceTime because it was free. 211 Notably, emails are similarly "fi'ee" communications once you 
have paid the internet provider, and Hurry would have incurred no additional expense ifhe had 
communicated with Ruzicka by email. 

Hurry disputed Ruzicka's testimony that he did not want a written record of his 
communications with CSCT?12 However, D'Mura confilmed that Hurry did not want a written 
record of his involvement in CSCT business. D'Mura testified that Hun'y expressed to him and 
Ruzicka both specifically and generally not to send him documents. 213 

(d) Use Of FaceTime To Conceal Contacts With Customers 

Hurry also communicated with CSCT customers (including all three FFIs involved in this 
case) using FaceTime, thereby concealing his contacts with them. Hun)' would call Ruzicka at 
CSCT and ask Ruzicka to call a customer on CSCT's landline. Then Ruzicka would hold his 
iPhone next to the landline telephone so that Hurry and the customer could talk. Ruzicka did not 
participate in the calls, although he had to be present to hold the telephones together. This 
manner of conducting the telephone conversation would avoid a record that HUlTY had talked to 
the customer. To the extent there was any record, it would appear that Hurry had only called 
CSCT. Ruzicka testified at his OTR that this happened roughly a dozen times and that Hurry had 
conversations in this manner with Rolm Knowles and Kelvin Leach at Titan, Cem Can at 
Unicorn, and an individual at Montage. 214 

In hearing testimony, D'Mura similarly described a FaceTime conference call with 
Caledonian. Caledonian was on the speaker phone in the CSCT office and Hun)' was on the 
iPhone. Ruzicka would hold the telephones next to each other. D'Mura remembered at least one 

208 CX-I78, at 155-61. 

209CX_178, at 16l. 

210 CX-l78, at 70. 

211 CX-178, at 67-7l. 

212 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1540. 

213 Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2300. 

214 CX-178, at 118-27. 
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other time that such a FaceTime conference happened.215 D'Mura believed that it was Hurry's 
idea to conduct the calls this way.216 

Huny does not deny that he conducted telephone calls with CSCT customers in this 
manner. However, he gives the practice an innocent explanation. He claims that he used the 
iPhone app because it cost less and because he found it difficulUo do a conference call on his 
cell phone. He claimed that Ruzicka was a participant in the call, disputing Ruzicka's OTR 
testimony after he knew that Ruzicka would not appear at the hearing. 217 

We find Hurry's explanation not credible. Hun·y generally did not conduct his business in 
such a frugal manner. He flew back and forth to the Cayman Islands in his own private airplane, 
and flew to Panama and Belize from there to meet with Montage and Unicorn.218 He funded 
expensive offices for CSCT219 and provided Ruzicka and D'Mura with housing when they 
worked there.22o He instructed Ruzicka to buy HUlTY a seven-seat vehicle to use while he was in 
the Cayman Islands.221 He liked to tell people how rich he is.Z22 It is unlikely that the costs 
associated with a dozen international telephone calls would trouble him much. 

We also find Hun·y's assertion that he used FaceTime because he was too technologically 
challenged to figure out how to do a conference call on his cell phone not credible. Hun·y was 
technologically sophisticated enough to set up CSCT's computer network. 223 He instructed 
Ruzicka on how to use PDFs and other software, and he created an elaborate Excel 
spreadsheet. 224 When he was asked whether he was aware that his use of FaceTime to speak with 
customers would conceal his involvement in a conversation with the customers, Hurry answered 

. I ·d· d· 225 evasIve y, avol lllg a trect yes or no. 

HUlry testified that he started using FaceTime in February 2014. 226 Coincidentally, his 
email traffic with Ruzicka and D'Mura at CSCT dropped to nearly nothing. 227 We find a 

215 Hearing If. (D'Mura) 2297-98. 

216 Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2302-03. 

217 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1540-42. 

218 Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2252-58,2300-01; Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1412-13, 1613-14, 1617-19. 

219 CX-178, at 35. 

220 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1447, 1649-51; Hearing Ir. (D'Mura) 2265, 2316-17. 

221 eX-58. 

222 CX-178, at 26, 70. 

223 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1461; Hearing If. (D'Mura) 2263, 2266-68; CX-94. 

224 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1433-34; CX-178, at 24-25; CX-77; CX-13l. 

225 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1541. 

226 Hearing Ir. (Hurry) 1540. 

227 Resp. PH Br. 45. 
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significant cOlmection between the two events. HUlTY's purposeful use of FaceTime enabled him 
to stop creating a trail of emails. 

c. The Firm's General Practice For Reviewing Deposits 

Everything that Scottsdale knew about adeposit when the Finn concluded that it could 
sell the deposited securities pursuant to the Rule 144 exemption is contained in a due diligence 
package for the deposit. 228 Generally, at the top ofthe package is a two-page Deposited 
Securities Checklist ("Checklist"). That is followed by various other documents, including a 
Beneficial Ownership Declaration signed by the purported beneficial owner ofthe shares 
deposited for resale by Scottsdale.229 

Scottsdale's general process for reviewing and approving a deposit of stock certificates 
was for a person on the Rule 144 team to assemble the due diligence package, working from the 
Checklist. Then, the person who had put together the file (sometimes referred to as the first 
reviewer) would go to Cruz and talk with him about it. Depending on the complexity ofthe 
deposit, the talk could take 15 minutes to an hour. Cruz did not review every page in the file. He 
would read through the Checklist and ask questions. He might ask to see pruticular documents 
and conduct Google searches while sitting together with the initial reviewer.23o 

The Firm heavily depended upon the representations made in the Beneficial Ownership 
Declaration for its conclusion that the pmported beneficial owner was not an affiliate of the 
issuer and was the person who had the economic interest in the shares on deposit. Diekmann 
initially denied that the persons signing as beneficial owners could be lying. He testified that he 
saw no reason for them to lie, and he emphasized that the document is very clear about the 
information it requests. Only upon being pressed did he eventually agree that if someone were 
acting as a nominee for a secret beneficial owner one would expect them to lie.231 We find his 
testimony on this subject evasive. 

Cruz similarly focused on the fact that the Beneficial Ownership Declaration was the tool 
that the Finn used to find out who owned the shares. 232 He stressed that the Declaration was 
"unequivocal," and that the pruties to the transactions understood the Finn's expectations when 
they made parallel representations regarding the person identified as the beneficial owner. 233 

When asked whether language on Unicom's website offering to appoint nominee officers and 
directors would be a red flag to him, Cruz responded that it "could have been." He suggested that 
the way he would deal with that red flag would not be to seek independent verification. Rather, 

228 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 1916-17. 

229R,"'{_1, at 1-2,11-12,78-79, 88-89,158-59,169-70; RX-2, at 1-2,12-13,106-07,117-18; RX-3, at 1-2,11-12. 

230 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 694-96; Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 278. 

231 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 1895-96. 

2J2 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 201-03. 

233 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 202. 
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· ... . _ .. _--------, 

he would simply emphasize to the interested persons the importance of disclosure. He said that 
the Firm would "reiterate and make sure they tmderstand the purpose of our fonns and ... that 
they need to - to disclose the underlying beneficial owner.,,234 

Cruz testified that during the relevant period, from December 2013 through June 30, 
. 2014; the Firm did notconduct a specific search for nominees.235 Diekmann1estified that he 

thought the Firm's general practice would pick up a problem with nominees, but he could not 
cite any palticular procedures that were geared to do that. He said the "procedures in sum" would 
address the nominee problem.236 Cruz confinned, however, that the tenn "nominee" appears 
nowhere in the Fiml's policies and procedures. 237 

Given the complexity of the analysis required, and the high potential for interested patties 
to obfuscate and make misrepresentations, we find the Finn's general process for final approval 
inadequate. A conversation that may last fifieenminutes and not involve review of all the 
documents in the file is not enough to atlalyze the content of the representations and understatld 
whether the business tratlsactions made sense. We also find that the Finn's reliatlce on the 
honesty of the interested patties filling out the fonns was unreasonable in light ofthe high 
potential for the use of nominees. 

We at'e concemed that the Fiml 's general process for review and approval was so poor 
when the processing of microcap stock certificates for resale to the public was its primary 
business. We are further concemed because the transactions at issue here were typical of 
Scottsdale's business. Cruz testified that the Firm's customers typically were persons who made 
loans to issuers and then sold the loans to others who then attempted to profit by exchanging 
them for shat·es. TIms, the Finn's lack of a good process for review and approval was not a minor 
aspect of the Film's business.238 

D. Transactions 

TIle Fiml followed a check-the-box approach to its Rule 144 reviews, without evaluating 
and independently verifying the infonnation it gathered. This approach is apparent from the 
following in-depth analysis ofthe three NHPI deposits. TIle Firm followed the satne approach 
with the VPLM and ORFG deposits, which we discuss in less detail. 

234 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 307-08. 

235 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 199-202, 211-13; Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 908-10. 

236 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 922. 

237 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 666-67. 

238 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 352-53. 
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1. NHPI (Three Unicorn deposits deIivell f)'om Collins promissory note) 

a. Due Diligence Package 

i. Purpol'ted Beneficial Owners 

CSCT madethree NHPI deposits. They all canie from Unic()l1i, which, in: tum; purported 
to act on behalf of other supposedly independent entities: Sky Walker, Inc. ("Sky Walker"), 
Swiss National Securities ("Swiss National"), and Ireland Offshore Securities ("Ireland 
Offshore"). The beneficial owner of Sky Walker is identified on the Checklist as Patrick Gentle; 
the beneficial owner of Swiss National is identified on a separate Checklist as Talal Fanni 
(apparently a misspelling, since the person signed documents as Talal Fouani); and the beneficial 
owner of Ireland Offshore is identified on the third Checklist as Jeff Cox.239 

Each purported beneficial owner signed a Beneficial Ownership Declaration representing 
that he was not an affiliate of the issuer, that the issuer was not to his knowledge a shell, and that 
the securities were free trading, without resale restrictions under Rule 144. TIle documents were 
not witnessed or notarized. No address, telephone number or other contact infonnation was given 
for the purported beneficial owner. 240 

Scottsdale did nothing to identify the purported beneficial owners more specifically. 
While it did a Google search combining the name of the beneficial owner with the words 
"securities fraud" and put the first page of the initial index of results in the due diligence 
package, it did not search for the person's name alone, or the person's name in combination with 
the llal11e of the entity through which he acquired the shares, or the person's name along with the 
names of the issuer and issuer's principals. 241 

TIle purpose of the Google search using the name of the purpol1ed beneficial owner with 
the w()rds securities fraud is unclear in light of the fact that Diekmann testified that a "hit" on 
such a search indicating that a person was engaged in some SOlt of securities fraud would be 
unrelated to beneficial ownership.242 That testimony demonstrates the check-the-box attitude of 
the Finn. Diekmann was insensitive to the possibility that if a person was engaged in securities 
fi-aud, then the representations made by that person and others connected to a deposit could be 
false. 

As discussed below, the three deposits shared the same origin. 

239 RX-I, at 1-2, 11-12, 78-79, 88-89, 158-59, 169-70. 

240 RX-l, at 11-12, 88-89, 169-70. 

241 RX-l, at 67,152,223. The Finn misspelled Fouani's name when it did the Google search, illustrating its careless 
approach to conducting due diligence. RX-l, at 67. 

242 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 927. 

41 

- 909a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:52:08 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:52:08 PM



it. Prior Holder Transaction 

The Checklists for the Sky Walker, Swiss National, and Ireland Offshore deposits state 
that the issuer, NHPI, gave a $10,000 promissory note dated May 1, 2012, to someone named 
TIlomas Collins. Each NHPI depositor purports to tack back its holding period to that date and 
that note}43 

A copy of the May 2012 promissory note is included with the Sky Walker and Ireland 
Offshore deposits. TIle note was due and payable no later than July 1, 2012. It provided that if 
NHPI did not pay the note by the due date, Collins would have the right to convert the debt into 
common shares. No address or contact information is given for the company or for Collins. 
Although the note provided that Collins would have a right of conversion upon the company's 
default, it contained no provision for either party to give notice to the other in the event of a 
default. The signatures for NHPI and Collins were not witnessed or notarized.244 

According to the attomey opinion in the due diligence package, the May 2012 note was 
the company's promise to pay Collins a fee for services. 245 The unaudited financial statements in 
the due diligence package similarly indicated that the note was for consulting services. 246 

With respect to Collins' identity and possible connection to the issuer, the due diligence 
package contains a statement signed by Collins declaring that he had never been an affiliate of 
th~ issuer. Again, the statement is not witnessed or notarized, and no contact information is 
provided. 247 

TIle issuer did provide the stock transfer agent with an address for Collins when it 
instmcted the transfer agent to issue new unrestricted shares to him, as reflected in the 
instmctions to thetransfer agent, which are in the due diligence package. Collins had a Texas 
address. 248 Also in the due diligence package is the transfer agent's list of shareholders, which 
showed that all active shareholders ofNHPI had U.S. addresses.249 

Scottsdale did not run a Google search on Collins using the address contained in the due 
diligence package. Nor did it search to see whether Collins had any links to the other persons on 
the NHPI shareholder list. Rather, it ran a Google search linking Collins' llame to the words 
"securities fraud." Apparently, a person named Thomas Collins had been involved in a securities 
fraud, but the Fiml obtained an SEC litigation release indicating that that person had died prior to 

243 RX-l, at 1, 78, 158. 

244 RX-l, at 106, 183. 

245RX_l,at22, 101, 178. 

246RX_l, at 40, 122, 198. 

247 RX-l, at 25. 

248 RX-I, at 31. 

249 RX-I, at 37. 
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1997. The Firm never detennined the identity of the particular Thomas Collins involved in the 
NHPI deposits. 250 

iii. Acquisition Of Shares By Depositors 

Collins gave Sky Walker, Swiss National, and Ireland Offshore each a separate $50,000 
note dated September 1,2013. The notes were to be paid in full by November 7,2013. The notes 
specified that in the event of a default the entire sum would become due.251 Each note was 
ostensibly secured by a Stock Pledge Agreement pledging 20 million shares ofNHPI,252 which, 
at the time, Collins did not own. These notes, like the note between Collins and NHPI, contain 
no address or contact infOlmatioll for any party and no provision for either party to give notice to 
the other in the event of a default. They are neither witnessed nor notarized.253 

The next items in the clu'onology are three Note Satisfaction Agreements dated 
September 16, 2013. These three identical Agreements indicate that Collins had already 
defaulted on the $50,000 note, although the due date was not until November 7,2013. Each 
depositor declared a desire to take title to the NHPI shares described in the pledge agreement. 254 

The Securities Deposit Pre-Review Request Unicorn submitted for Swiss National likewise gives 
September 16, 2013, as the date of acquisition, refen'ing to the Note Satisfaction Agreement, m 
as does the Deposited Securities Request Form submitted for Ireland Offshore. 256 

On November 15, 2013, more than a year after the due date for the May 2012 note, the 
issuer and Collins purpoltedly entered into a note conversion agreement whereby Collins agreed 
to forgive 90% of the note in return for 90 million shares ofNHPI. 257 The Note Conversion 
Agreement included in the due diligence package, like the May 2012 promissory note, contains 
no address or contact infOlmation for the company or for Collins and is not witnessed or 
notarized. The Note Conversion Agreement does not explain why the conversion occurred so 

250RX_l, at 57-58. 

251 RX-l, at 32, 112,190. 

252 RX-l, at 113-16, 191-94. 

253 RX-l, at32, 112, 190. 

254RX-I,at33,117,195. 

ZS5 RX-I, at 13. 

256 RX-I, at 161. Other documents give conflicting, later dates as the acquisition date. Some documents represent 
that the three depositors acquired the securities on November 25, 2013, pursuant to a Stock Purchase Agreement. 
RX-I, at II, 19, 88,98, 169. However, the due diligence package for NHPI contains no Stock Purchase Agreement. 
Another document says that the acquisition date was November 15,2013, the same date that Collins entered into the 
Note Conversion Agreement and the shares were issued to him. RX-I , at 81. The Firm did not resolve the 
discrepancy between the September acquisition date and the November acquisition dates before selling the 
securities. 

257 RX-l, at 1, 78, 158. 
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long after the default or how the remaining unpaid 10% of the May 2012 promissory note was to 
be treated.258 

NHPI issued the 90 million shares to Collins on November 15, 2013, the same day as the 
. 259 note converSiOn agreement. 

Although the exact date that Collins assigned the shares to the three beneficial owners is 
not clear, it was at most a few days after NHPI issued the shares to Collins. TIlUS, the transaction 
between the issuer and Collins, the issuance ofthe stock, and the transactions between Collins 
and the three purported beneficial owner entities all happened almost simultaneously. 

Although the transactions happened almost simultaneously, the value given to the shares 
differed substantially. There is no evidence of a corporate event or other explanation for the 
variance. In retum for forgiving a debt of $9,000, Collins obtained 90 million shares, but each 
beneficial owner entity forgave a debt of $50,000 for its 20 million shares. No money actually 
changed hands in these transactions. 

iv. Issuer Filings 

Although NHPI had once been a rep Otting company with the SEC, it stopped being a 
reporting company in 2009. After that it made less frequent and less regular filings on OTC 
Markets. 260 On November 20, 2013, a few days after the NHPI shares were issued and around 
the time that Sky Walker, Swiss National, and Ireland Offshore acquired the shares, the issuer 
filed an alIDual report for the year ending December 31,2012. 261 In the November 20,2013 
report, NHPI mainly discussed its pharmaceutical business and then stated in a single sentence 
that it had entered into the oil and gas business. It declared that fmiher disclosure related to the 
oil and gas business was in an Interim Infonnation and Disclosure Statement for the period 
ended November 20, 2013?62 

In the annual repOlt filed on November 20,2013, notes to unaudited financial statements 
declared that NHPI had given Collins a promissory note for unspecified conSUlting services?63 
Scottsdale relied upon this disclosure to verify the existence of the May 1, 2012 promissory note, 
which was critical to the ability of the beneficial owners to sell the securities without registration. 

258RX_I, at 26-28, 106-09, 184-86. 

259 RX-l, at 29. 

260 Hearing Tr. (Byrne) 2069-75; CX-255; CX-256; CX-260; CX-261; RX-l, at 130. 

261 CX-256. Diekmann testified that it appeared that the company had had a gap in its reporting prior to its 
November 2013 filing. Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 939. However, he did not believe that such a gap would be 
suspicious, even if it were as long as two-and-a-half years. Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 1011-13. 

262 CX-256, at 4. One page from the Interim Information and Disclosure Statement was in the due diligence package 
for the NHPI deposits. But that page did not contain the disclosure relating to the oil and gas business. RX-l at 39. 

263 RX-l, at 40. 
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,"-- - . __ ..... _--
I 

TIle only evidence that the note existed, however, was created about the same time as the 
transactions leading up to the sale of securities into the public markets. 

.. ---- . .. - ._---

In order to detelmine that NHPI was not a shell, Scottsdale relied on the representation by 
the president ofNHPI that it was not a sheU?64 It also relied on descriptions of the company's 
assets and liabilities in unaudited financial statements contained in the annual repod filed in 
November 2013 and in a quarterly report filed about the same time to cover the period ending 
June 30, 2012. However, those descriptions were vague; they showed mostly unspecific cash 
assets, not physical assets. In the annual repoli, for example, the company repolted that it had 
less than $28,000 in a checking account, accounts receivable over $600,000, unspecified 
inventory over $70,000, and investment assets over $750,000. TIle financial statements also 

, show that the issuer had incurred some expenses. TIle fmancial statements do not provide, 
however, any indication of the nature of the expenses or the business activities that supposedly 
gave rise to them. The issuer disclosed no verifiable facts. 265 

The company's public filings created a significant discrepancy between the disclosure in 
those filings and the NHPI deposits. TIle interim financial report for the period ending November 
20,2013, states that 981,408,909 shares were outstanding, of which 970,326,182 were 
restricted.266 That means that only around 11 million shares were free-trading shares. But the 
three depositors deposited 60 million for resale to the pUblic. There is no evidence that the Finn 
investigated this discrepancy. 

v. Attorney Opinion Letter 

The Finn relied upon an att011ley opinion letter stating that the shares could be issued as 
free trading shares and sold pursuant to Rule 144. However, that opinion made plain that the 
att011ley relied on certifications by the principal officers ofNHPI. The att011ley assumed that all 
signatures were genuine and the facts set forth in the certificates were correct.267 TIle att011ley 
relied on the company's filings for his conclusion that the company was actively marketing its 
phannaceutical products and exploring one or more strategic alliances and licensing 
arrangements. 268 Similarly, the attomey relied on company filings as showing that NHPI was 
actively pursuing the acquisition of mineral rights leases.269 The att011ley did not independently 
verify the facts in his opinion letter. 

264 RX-l, at 24. 

265 RX-l, at 38-40. 

266 RX-l, at 43. 

267 RX-I, at 20. 

268RX_l, at 21. 

269 RX-l, at 21. 
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vi. Scottsdale Appl'oval Ami Sales 

During the first week of February 2014, Noiman and Cruz approved the first NHPI 
deposit, Sky Walker, for resale by Scottsdale. At the time, the 20 million shares were given an 
estimated value of $268,000.270 Noiman and Cruz approved the Swiss National NHPI deposit on 
April 9,2014,whichwas given a valueof$98,000.271 They approved the keland OffshoreNI:IPI 
deposit at the end of April 2014 with a given value of $82,000. 272 

Sales ofNHPI shares began on February 26,2014, and continued through May 7,2014. 
Periodically, Scottsdale would wire out the proceeds of the sales ofNHPI and other securities in 
the CSCT account. 273 As with all transactions conducted with CSCT and its customers, after 
Scottsdale wired the proceeds of the sales to CSCT's bank account, Scottsdale did not know 
where the funds flowed after that. 274 Thus, it did not know who received the economic benefit. 

vii. Promotional Activity 

In December 2013, not long after the series of transactions by which the purported 
beneficial owners acquired their shares ofNHPI, there was promotional activity regarding NHPI, 
as reflected in the due diligence file for the NHPI deposits. Diekmatill testified that he would 
have looked at the promotional activity but he did not recall doing so. He asserted that 
promotional activity was not necessarily a red flag, but that he might try to see ifthere was a link 
to the customer. He acknowledged, however, that it would be difficult to know if a customer was 
behind the promotion if a nominee were being used. 275 

In February and March 2014, there also was promotional activity regarding NHPI. 276 In a 
February 19, 2014 email, Ruzicka wrote to Diekmann that Unicom was particularly eager to 
trade NHPI. Diekmann did not remember the email, and did not think it particularly remarkable. 
He said that no customer wants "to miss an opportunity to trade. ,,277 Scottsdale sold NHPI shares 
deposited by CSCT during February and March 2014, when the promotional activity was 

. 278 ongomg. 

270 RX-l, at 78-79 (Sky Walker). 

271 RX-I, at 1-2. 

212 RX-l, at 158-59. 

273 JX-268. 

274 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 661-62. 

m Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 1014-16; RX-l, at 132-33; CX-262, at 6. 

276 CX-262, at 2-5; CX-263. 

277 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 1016-18. 

278 JX-268. 
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h. Red Flags Signifying A Scheme To Evade The Secmitles Laws 

Even aside from the fact that the May 2012 promissory note was not a security, as 
discussed below, the circumstances ofthe three NHPI deposits raised a number of red flags 
signaling that the transactions were likely sham transactions using nominees to conceal the 
identity of the persons actuaU y benefiting from the sale of securities .. Some, but not all, . ofthe red 
flags are listed below. 

First, Collins and NHPI entered the agreement to convert the note he held fi·om the 
company to shares-and NHPI issued the shares-almost simultaneously with his execution of 
three separate agreements to transfer a portion of those shares to Sky Walker, Swiss National, 
and Ireland Offshore. TIle almost simultaneous transactions are compelling evidence that the 
parties were not truly independent. TIle suspect nature of the transactions is heightened by the 
identical terms of the notes to Sky Walker, Swiss National, and Ireland Offshore. 

Respondents attempted to rebut any suspicion arising from the timing and identical tenns 
of the Sky Walker, Swiss National, and Ireland Offshore transactions. Diekmann testified that he 
assumed that one person had put together the loan transactions for Collins, and that was why the 
three entities had agreed with Collins to the same loan terms. He acknowledged that he did not 
know who that person might be, but he did not think it was a red flag that Sky Walker, Swiss 
National, and Ireland Offshore agreed to the same tenns or that the same documents were used 
for the three loan transactions. 279 We find that Diekmann's unverified hypothesis did not excuse 
the failure to investigate this red flag. 

Second, Collins entered into the agreement with the tluee depositors, along with the 
agreement pledging NHPI shares as security, before he actually had any shares. However, he 
represented in the pledge agreement that he held title to them already. It should have been a 
concem that Collins apparently misrepresented his ownership. It also is suspicious that the 
depositors would loan him $50,000 each without verifying that he owned the shares. It is even 
more suspicious that Collins would take on a $150,000 obligation without knowing whether he 
could obtain the shares. The facts support the conclusion that Collins entered into the agreement 
with the depositors because he (or whoever was pretending to be Collins) was affiliated with the 
issuer and knew that the shares could be obtained. FUither investigation was required before 
proceeding to sell the securities. 

Third, the documents relating to the NHPI transactions in 2012 lack important elements 
that would pennit verification. For exanlple, the 2012 Collins-NHPI promissory note bears no 
physical address, telephone number, or other contact infonnatioll for Collins or NHPI. Similarly, 
the documents relating to the loan notes Collins gave the three depositors do not include any 
contact infonnation for Collins or for the depositors. The lack of contact infolmation is odd 
because there is no provision for where and how payment should be made. It is almost as though 
there is no expectation of payment. 

279 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 1699-1700. 
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Fourth, the obviously impossible September date declaring Collins in default on the notes 
held by the depositors-even before the notes became due on November 7, 20 13-should have 
been investigated. TIle fact that the identical mistake was made in three separate documents 
supposedly involving independent parties is suspicious. If the parties were independent, one 
would have expected someone to notice the mistake. That is pat1icularly so where the en"or was 
110t a tmnsposition of numbers but, rather, an inconect month; The en"or would have been easier 
to spot. 

Diekmann testified that the September 16, 2013 date on the note satisfaction agreement 
had to be a typographical enor. "hI all likelihood," he said, '<that's supposed to read November 
16,2013.,,280 When asked about the fact that the same enor appears in all three note satisfaction 
agreements signed by Sky Walker, Swiss National, and Ireland Offshore, Diekmann said that 
was not surprising. He noted that the agreements were all executed the same day, and 
hypothesized that someone must have done a search and replace function to change the words 
without noticing the mistake. 281 Cruz similarly explained the date as a typographical enor. He 
testified that even though the same mistake occun"ed in connection with the documentation for 
three purportedly separate transactions it gave him no pause.282 

Between hearing days, Respondents obtained a copy of the relevant stock certificate, 
which was then introduced into evidence. It showed a transfer date of November 21,2013. They 
argue that this proves that the September date was a typographical enor.283 

Respondents miss the point. Nothing in the due diligence package shows that the Finn 
noticed or investigated the discrepancy before selling the securities. Furthennore, if the 
September date was a typographical enol' generated by a search and replace function in 
documents governing supposedly independent transactions, that only increases the appearance of 
coordination among the pru1ies to those transactions. 

Fifth, Diekmann admitted that there was no evidence contemporaneous with the May 
2012 note to show that the note existed.284 111e only evidence that the 2012 promissory note from 
NHPI to Collins existed was created after Collins purported to convert the note to NHPI shares. 
Rather than confinning the existence of the note, the timing ofthe late filing suggests the 
fabrication offalse evidence to suppot1 the tacking period necessary for the exemption. 

Sixth, it is peculiar that Collins did not enforce his right to conversion of the shares at the 
time ifNHPI defaulted in July 2012 on the $10,000 promissory note. There is no explanation 
why he would have waited more than a year-until November 20 13-to do so. 

280 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 949,1835-37. 

281 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 949-52, 956. 

282 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 365-66, 390-98. 

283 RX-115; Resp. PH Br. 15. 

284 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 939. 
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Seventh, there were signs that NHPI was a shell. The change from being in the 
phanllaceutical business to entering the oil and gas business, without any explanation for why, 
when, and how it had done so, was not consistent with a real business plan. TIle Firnl collected 
no infornlation regarding the change in business, and the attorney opinion letter, which relied on 
representations by the interested parties and assumed the asselted facts to be true, was not a 
sufficient basis for concluding that NHPI was nota shell. 

Respondents maintained that the oil and gas business was added to NHPI's 
phannaceutical business as a "supplement" to its business line.285 We reject this characterization. 
TIlese were radically different businesses that involved different expertise and different business 
models. 

Eighth, the transactions have an air offantasy. Collins supposedly took the $10,000 note 
in exchange for unspecified consulting services-no money changed hands. And then he took 
shares in return for forgiving the note-no money changed hands. When Collins supposedly 
borrowed $50,000 each from Sky Walker, Swiss National, and Ireland Offshore, nothing in the 
documents provided how, when, or where he would receive the money. There is no evidence that 
any money changed hands then either. Collins merely entered into a promissory note with each 
pUlpolted lender in which he pledged to give them stock if he defaulted; and then he defaulted. 
No money changed hands when Sky Walker, Swiss National, and Ireland Offshore took the 
pledged shares. 286 

Ninth, there is little evidence to support the value given to the NHPI securities. Within 
the span of a few months the value of NHPI shares varied substantially without any explanation. 
In November 2013, Collins received 90 million shares in retum for forgiving $9,000 of his loan 
to NHPI. Simultaneously, he realized $150,000 for 60 million of those shares. By early Febluary 
2014, the 20 million shares in the Sky Walker deposit were estimated to have a value of 
$268,000. 111ere is no evidence of a basis for the increase in value. Then, in April 2014 the value 
ofthe shares held by Swiss National and Ireland Offshore declined to less than $100,000-again, 
without explanation. 111is is palticularly suspicious in light of the promotional activity that 
OCCUlTed in February and March 2014. 

285 Resp. PH Br. 16 and n.80. 

286 Diekmann testified that the only evidence the Firm had that the September 1, 2013 notes between Collins and the 
three depositors existed was the notes themselves. He never asked for documentation showing that $50,000 actually 
was transferred from Sky Walker to Collins. He was satisfied that the document looked like a loan to an individual 
and not an effort by a small company to raise capital. Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 943-45. 
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2. VPLM (Montage deposit derived from Kipping oral line of credit) 

a. Due Diligence Package 

i. Purported Beneficial Owner 

TIlere was evidence iii the record about two VPLM deposits by CSCT.TIle one included 
in the allegations of the Complaint was through Montage for the further benefit ofVHB 
Intemational. The Checklist identifies Victor Bretel as the president of VHB International. The 
deposit was for 9.3 million shares.287 

ii. Prior Holder Transaction 

In the Montage deposit, the prior holder in the VPLM chain was an entity called 
Locksmith Financial. The Checklist noted that Locksmith Financial was affiliated with Richard 
Kipping, who was the former president of VPLM. The Checklist stated, however, that Kipping 
was no longer an affiliate of the issuer because he had resigned more than two years earlier. 288 

In concluding that Kipping was not an affiliate, the Checklist relied on an attorney 
opinion dated September 6,2013, stating that Kipping had resigned more than two years 
before?89 As discussed below, that attomey opinion was insufficient to suppol1 the conclusion 
that Kipping was no longer an affiliate of VPLM. Cruz testified at the hearing that the Firm also 
relied on a December 16, 2013 letter signed by VPLM's Chairman, Thomas Sawyer, which 
made a representation that Locksmith was not an affiliate of the issuer.290 The Sawyer letter 
declared that the patties to the sale of securities from Locksmith to VHB Intemational (discussed 
below) were not affiliates of the issuer.291 

TIle Checklist for the VPLM deposit indicated that the depositor had satisfied the Rule 
144 holding period by tacking back to a "verbal [oral] line of credit" whereby the prior holder, 
Locksmith, had loaned the issuer, VPLM, $58,636.24. TIle Checklist stated that the last advance 
on the line of credit was made July 6,2012.292 

An August 15, 2013 written agreement purported to document and formalize the oral line 
of credit. According to the 2013 document, Locksmith agreed in 2012 to advance funds as loans 

287 RX-2, at 1. 

288 RX-2, at 1, 268. 

289 RX-2, at 1, 19-2l. 

290 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 441. 

291 RX-2, at 23-24. 

292 RX-2, at 1. 
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against a revolving line of credit and had received the right to demand payment in full or in part 
. 293 at any tIme. 

On the same day, August 15,2013, a debt settlement agreement was executed between 
the issuer and Locksmith. In that document, the issuer indicated that it wanted to settle the 
amount it owed Locksmith by giving stock to Locksmith. The patties agreed to settle the 
company's $58,636.24 debt as of July 31,2012. 294 

Although VPLM did not issue the shares to Locksmith until September 2013,295 the 
Beneficial Ownership Declaration later signed by Bretel treated the date on which Locksmith 
acquired the shares as August 1, 2012. 296 The depositor thus relied on tacking his holding period 
to Locksmith's oral line of credit. 

iii. Acquisition Of Shares By Depositor 

On August 23,2013, Locksmith entered into a stock purchase agreement with VHB 
Intemational. It was roughly a week after Locksmith had memorialized the purported oral line of 
credit and before the shares were actually issued. TIle aggregate purchase price for the stock was 
$240,000.297 There is no evidence explaining why Locksmith was able to sell the shares for more 
than four times the value placed on the shares when Locksmith and the issuer entered into the 
debt settlement agreement only days before. 298 The buyer, VHB Intemational, purported to 
acquire the shares for investment and not with a view to resale or distribution. 299 

Although Victor Bretel was identified as the beneficial owner of VHB Intemational, 
Andrew Godfrey signed the Stock Purchase Agreement.30o The Finn made an inquiry, and 
Montage responded that Godfrey "handles day to day operations due to Mr. Victor Bretel's 
travel schedule." Montage represented that Bretel remained the beneficial owner of VHB 
Intemational. 301 Diekmann testified that the response was, as far as he was concemed, 
sufficient.302 

293 RX-2, at 26-27. 

294 RX-2, at 28. 

295 RX-2, at 12. 

296 RX-2, at 13. 

297 RX-2, at 33. 

298 RX-2, at 32. 

299 RX-2, at 35. 

300 RX-2, at 37. 

301 RX-2, at 38. 

302 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 1744-45. 
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iv. Issuer Filings 

11le Fiffil relied on public filings for proof of the existence of the oral line of credit. The 
Finn characterized the oral line of credit as "generally disclosed" in the issuer's annual report for 
September 30,2012.303 The annual report for the period ending September 30,2013, which was 
only published on November 6, 20 13~after the oral line of credit hadbeenmemorializedill 
writing-attached a grid showing that the issuer had settled many of its debts and payments for 
professional services by issuing VPLM stock. According to the grid, on August 15,2013, VPLM 
issued a little over 29.3 million shares to Locksmith Financial as a debt settlement.304 

The grid actually raised more red flags. It showed that the company regularly followed a 
practice of compensating affiliates and others with stock. During the period from October 12, 
2011, through August 15,2013, VPLM issued shares to Locksmith three times and shares to 
Locksmith's owner, the fOffiler president ofVPLM, Richard Kipping twice. 11ms, during the 
two-year period, Kipping received, either directly or through Locksmith, roughly 80 million 
shares of VPLM. In fact, according to the grid, during the same period the company issued more 
than 185 million shares to various persons and entities, including Dennis Chang, the issuer's 
president, 11lOmas Sawyer, its Chaimlan and CEO, and Carl Mattera, an authorized signatory for 
the issuer.305 

Curiously, in May 2013 VHB International received directly from the issuer 
approximately 2.4 million shares ofVPLM. This was only a few months before it received the 29 
million shares from Locksmith Financial. 306 111at VHB had already received shares directly from 
the issuer raised a red flag that it might be an affiliate or might be coordinating its acquisition 
and resales of shares with others who were affiliates. There is no evidence that Scottsdale took 
note of that red flag. 

v. Scottsdale Approval And Sales 

On Febmary 10,2014, Noiman and Cmz approved the VPLM shares deposited by VHB 
International for sale to the public.307 Sales began on Febmary 20,2014, and continued through 
June 5, 2014. Periodically, Scottsdale wired out the proceeds from those and other sales for the 
account of CSCT. 308 

303 RX-2, at 1. 

304 RX-2, at 40. 

30S RX-2, at 40 (excluding an additional 265 million shares issued to consummate an acquisition of another 
company). 

306 RX-2, at 40. 

307 RX-2, at 2. 

308 JX-281. 
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h. Red Flags Signifying A Scheme To E"ade The Securities Laws 

A number of red flags were raised by this VPLM deposit. Here we discuss two that 
required the Finn to conduct fillther inquiry to establish that an exemption existed. 

First. the Finnknew tbat Kipping had been an affiliate of the issuer at some point. This 
red flag required heightened scrutiny of the transaction. The Finn failed. however, to gather 
sufficient evidence to conclude that Kipping was no longer an affiliate. 

There is no copy of a resignation letter in the due diligence package. Scottsdale did not 
even have a specific resignation date. It had a vague statement in a legal opinion that Kipping 
had resigned from the issuer over two years before. The attomey declared that she had reviewed 
documents filed with the SEC and had detennined that Locksmith was not an affiliate or control 
person of the issuer, but she did not specify the documents she reviewed or explain how she 
anived at her conclusion. She did not say she had seen the resignation letter. The attorney further 
stated that Locksmith and Kipping had represented to her that they were not controlled by any of 
the officers or directors of the issuer. In making that statement, the attorney was little more than 
a conduit for representations by the interested patties.309 Diekmann was unaware of anything that 
anyone at Scottsdale did to confinn that Kipping no longer had any duties as president of the 
issuer.31o 

Cruz vaguely testified that he thought the Finn had some sort of resignation or 
acknowledgement of Kipping's resignation in the file. 311 

CIllZ may have been refelTing to the 
December 16, 2013 letter from VPLM's Chairman, which represented that none of the parties to 
the sale of the securities to VHB International had been an affiliate of the company within 90 
days ofthe sale. 312 That bare representation provides no detail whatever. It does not indicate 
when Kipping might have resigned as an officer of VPLM or provide any other verifiable fact. 
For purposes of ensuring that an issuer is not behind a chain of transactions designed to effect a 
public distribution without registration, a representation by a principal of the issuer must be 
viewed more skeptically. 

Even more important, from the outset, Scottsdale had affinnative evidence in its due 
diligence package indicating that Kipping might be affiliated with the issuer regardless of 
whether he had resigned as president. Under Rule 144, if Locksmith and Kipping held 10% or 
more of the issuer, they would be affiliates for purposes of the exemption. TIle grid showed that 
Kipping, either directly or through Locksmith, had received 80,318,000 shares ofVPLM 
between October 2011 and August 2013.313 The total outstanding shat'es of the company at the 

309 RX-2, at 19-21. 

310 Hearing Tr. (Diekmatm) 1719-20. 

311 Hearing IT. (Cruz) 440-41. 

312 RX-2, at 23-24. 

313 RX-2, at 40. 
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time that Scottsdale evaluated the deposit were 730,460,237.314 Thus, Kipping and Locksmith 
received at least a 10.996% ownership interest in VPLM and Kipping could have been an 
affiliate regardless of whether he was still an officer of the company. 

There were other signs that Kipping could have been an affiliate. In the due diligence file 
.... is the ftrst page of results from a Google search for "Richard Kipping+ securities fraud."One of 

the results dated May 15, 2013, contains a fragment of content apparently referring to VPLM. 
That fragment says, "So Richard Kipping still has personal interest in this penny scam.,,315 
Another entry dated May 7,2013, also refers to VPLM and says, "TIle next few days will show 
if the stock can keep its unprecedented ... in fraud look at the shareholders Richard kipping 
pretty much owns the ... ,,316 TIle Google search page was ftled in the package, apparently 
without anyone looking at the full stories concerning Kipping or following up on his ownership 
of VPLM shares. 

If Scottsdale had conducted fmther due diligence, it might have discovered that Kipping 
was indeed an affiliate of VPLM. During the relevant period, the Board of Directors of VPLM 
ordered a review of Kipping and Locksmith's debt conversions to VPLM stock. The resulting 
"forensic audit" dated June 5, 2014, described Kippillg as a director and shareholder ofVPLM. It 
indicated that, at the time of the August 15, 2013 stock conversion that was the basis for tacking 
VHB International's holding period, Kipping had executive responsibilities at both VPLM and 
Locksmith, including check signing privileges at VPLM. 

The accountant who perfonned the forensic audit opined that many aspects of the August 
15, 2013 agreement purporting to memorialize the earlier oral line of credit were prob lematic. 
Many of the items that appeared to him to indicate that the arrangement was not a true anns
length transaction were facts known to Scottsdale at the time it approved the sale of VHB 
International's shares based on tacking to the oral line of credit. Among other things, the 
accountant noted that the written memorialization was a year after the purpOlted oral line of 
credit. He also noted that the stock for debt agreement did not specify any particular tenns for the 
conversion, and he viewed Locksmith's right to demand payment in full or palt at any time as 
onerous. 317 

TIle forensic audit illustrates that an objective analysis of the facts known to Scottsdale 
would raise strong doubt that Kipping was independent ofVPLM at the time of the August 15, 
2013 agreement and stock conversion. 

Second, the grid attached to the November 2013 public ftling shows that the issuer had a 
pattern of paying for services and its business expenses with stock. It issued much of this stock to 

314 RX-2, at 1. 

3lS RX-2, at 95. 

316 RX-2, at 95. 

317 RX-292, at 6-7. 
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company insiders.318 TIle pattem suggests that the issuer may have substituted the issuance of 
stock for compensation to insiders and business paliners, leaving them to realize any monetalY 
benefit by selling the stock to others. TIle constant flow of new issuer stock looks like a two-step 
process for unlawfully distributing securities into the public marketplace without registration. 

TI1is pattern is particularly troubling because all three patties in the chain of holders for 
the deposit-Xipping, Locksmith, and VHB Intemational-were on the list of persons and 
entities that had converted debt to shares. 319 TIlis was a red flag that they and the issuer could be 
coordinating. The Firm should have fmther investigated before concluding that the transaction 
was exempt under Rule 144. 

3. VPLM (Titan deposit delived from Kipping and Locksmith through 
the Lees) 

a. Due Diligence Pacl{age 

i. Purported Beneficial Owner 

CSCT deposited another 13 million shares of VPLM for the benefit of Titan and for the 
further benefit of Cumbre Company. The Checklist identified Patrick Gentle as the ultimate 
beneficial owner of Cumbre and the VPLM stock. 320 

We discuss the evidence regarding this transaction as evidence of other similar conduct 
for purposes of sanctions and as additional evidence that CSCT was no more than a fayade. 
Scottsdale continued to deal directly with the FFI and to ignore CSCT. 

ii. Prior Holder Transactions 

This is the one transaction that was not derived from the conversion of a debt liability 
into shares. However, it also traces back to Kipping and Locksmith in a chain of holders. 

TIle Checklist identified two prior holders, Jung Ju Lee and Soon Deuk (Kang) Lee. 321 

Jung Ju Lee acquired 1.5 million shares by a Stock Purchase Agreement dated June 12,2012, 
from Richard Kipping. In that Stock Purchase Agreement, Kipping represented that he was not 
an affiliate of the issuer and had not been an affiliate at least for the previous 90 days. An 
attaclunent to the Stock Purchase Agreement indicated that Lee paid Kipping $13,000 for the 
shares. A copy of a check written to Locksmith for $13,000 was attached. It appears to be written 
by Brooks K-9 Services Ltd., but it bears a notation saying "re VPLM celis." 322 Notl1ing in the 

318 RX-2, at 40. 

319 RX-2, at 40. 

320 RX-2, at 106. 

m RX-2, at 106. 

322 RX-2, at 126-29. 
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.. ... .. . _--- ---------------., 

due diligence package explains the connection between Brooks K-9 Services and Lee or the 
nature of Brooks K-9 Services. 

Jung Ju Lee acquired another 500,000 shares for $5,000 from Locksmith Financial 
pursuant to a Stock Purchase Agreement dated October 19, 2012. Locksmith made the same 
representation that itwas not an affiliate of the issuer. Kipping signed on behalf of Locksmith. 
Another check from Brooks K-9 Services Ltd. was attached.323 

Soon Deuk (Kang) Lee acquired three million shares of VPLM from Locksmith by a 
Stock Purchase Agreement dated August 1, 2012, for $20,000. Locksmith represented that it was 
not an affiliate of the issuer. Kipping signed on behalf of Locksmith. 324 

iii. Acquisition or Shares By Depositor 

Cumbre acquired five million shares of VPLM from Soon Deuk (Kang) Lee on January 
10, 2014.325 In a separate document written to Cumbre, Lee confinned receipt of $60,000 for the 
shares. 326 On January 13, 2014, in a separate document, Jung Ju Lee similarly confinlled receipt 
of $20,000 for 500,000 shares ofVPLM.327 

iv. Scottsdale Approval 

On May 29,2014, Noiman and ClUZ signed the Checklist approving the shares ofVPLM 
for sale.328 

v. Blackout Period 011 Trading VPLM Shares 

On June 5,2014, Thomas Sawyer, the Chairnlan of the Board of Directors ofVPLM, sent 
Titan by email a signed declaration notifying it of a blackout period statting June 6, 2014, on 
trading VPLM stock by certain "covered persons." Covered persons were defined to include 
directors, officers, and holders of 10% or more of the company's outstanding shares, among 
others. Richard Kipping (and his assigns) and Locksmith were on the list of covered persons. So 
was VHB International. The list also included FFls and broker-dealers. Montage, Titan, Alpine, 
and Scottsdale were all on the list. 329 Noiman discussed the blackout notice with Titan and 
requested a copy.330 

323 RX-2, at 136-39. 

324 RX-2, at 147-49. 

325 RX-2, at 160. 

326 RX-2, at 155. 

327RX_2, at 145. 

328 RX-2, at 107. 

329 CX-294. 

330 RX-I04. 
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On June 6, 2014, a lawyer named David Wise, who had often done work for Scottsdale, 
wrote an email to Sawyer claiming to represent unnamed clients on the covered"person list and 
threatening to sue Sawyer and others for "slow[ing] down or prevent[ing] the transfer of shares 
by my clients." Wise called the blackout notice an attempt to prevent sates of VPLM stock in 
order to conduct a promotional campaign to raise the share price. He characterized Sawyer's 

-actions as "clearly illegal" and said he would be calling the SEG.331 

On June 6, 2014, Wise sent a copy of his email to Sawyer to Kelvin Leach at Titan and to 
both Noiman and Diekmann at Scottsdale. His cover note to them was breezy: "Hi Guys, See 
below. David." The tenor of the cover note indicates that Scottsdale and Titan were working 
closely together to address the problem of the blackout notice. 

On June 9,2014, Titan fOlwarded the blackout notice to Noiman, and Noiman 
immediately forwarded it to CruZ.332 That same day, Noiman also forwarded the Wise email to 
CruZ. 333 The Firm stopped selling VPLM shares held by VHB Intemational in order to 
. . 334 lllvestlgate. 

On June 11,2014, Titan received what appears to be an unsigned clarifying 
memorandum from Sawyer stating that the broker-dealers and FFls such as Scottsdale and Titan 
were only on the list because they had been known to trade VPLM stock for covered persons. 
The memorandum declared that the broker-dealers and FFls were still free to trade on behalf of 
non-covered persons. Titan forwarded the clarification that same day to Noiman and 
Diekmann,335 and Noiman fOlwarded it to CruZ.336 The clarifying memorandum did not take 
Kipping (and his assigns), Locksmith, or VHB Illtemational off the list of covered persons. Nor 
did it explain why they were listed as covered persons. When Noiman fOlwarded the clarification 
to Cruz on June 11,2014, he wrote that "Titan received the attached after David Wise's VPLM 
notice. ,,337 

On June 24, 2014, a lawyer claiming to represent VPLM wrote to Noiman as Scottsdale's 
"Compliance Officer." Scottsdale had requested the transfer of two stock certificates, and the 
lawyer stated that the stock certificates appeared to be owned by covered persons. Kipping (and 
his assigns), Locksmith, and VHB Intemational were on the attached list of covered persons. 
One of the two stock ce11ificates identified, 2985, related to the VPLM deposit by Titan on 

331 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 578-79. Wise provided an attorney opinion letter on which the Firm relied in connection with 
the ORFG stock deposit. RX-3, at 70. Wise also went to the Cayman Islands to assist Ruzicka for a couple of weeks 
after D'Mura left. Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1603-04. 

332 CX-294. 

m Hearing Tr. (Noiman) 1265-67; RX-104. 

334 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 442-43; JX-281. 

335 CX-295. 

336 CX-296. 

337CX-296. 
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behalf ofCumbre.338 The other, 2228, may relate to a VPLM deposit not patt of the record in this 
case. TIle celtificate number for the deposit by VHB International is 2525. 339 

Notably, although the Titan deposit on behalf of the Lees nominally came through CSCT, 
Ruzicka was not included on any of the correspondence about the blackout period.34o TIle 
correspondence reveals that Scottsdale, through . N oiman, was continuing to manageFFI deposits 
without regard to CSCT. CSCT was performing no real function in connection with the VPLM 
deposit. 341 

h. Red Flags Signifying A Scheme To Evade The Secmities Laws 

Given what Scottsdale already had in its file on VPLM, it should not have approved the 
VPLM shares deposited by Cumbre for resale without obtaining better evidence that Kipping 
was not an affiliate of the issuer. The Lee transactions closely followed the VHB International 
transaction and revealed a pattern-Kipping was continually acquiring and selling large blocks 
ofVPLM shares. When coupled with the information from the grid showing that VPLM 
followed a practice of issuing stock to insiders in settlement of its debts, the circumstances raised 
a strong suspicion that the issuer or an affiliate was unlawfully distributing securities without 
registration in a two-step process designed to obscure what was actually happening and who was 
benefiting from the sales of stock. 

4. ORFG (Unicorn deposit derived from Forward line of credit) 

a. Due Diligence Package 

i. Purported Beneficial Owner 

In connection with the deposit of approximately 13.2 million shares ofORFG, CSCT 
acted for Unicom, and Unic01l1 acted for an entity called Media Central, which named Geovanni 
Moh as the beneficial owner. 342 Media Central was identified as a Belize corporation, and Moh 

338 RX-2, at 106-09. 

339 RX-2, at 3. 

340 When Ruzicka was shown the blackout notice at his OTR he expressed shock. He testified that he had never seen 
it, and that if he had he would not have processed the VPLM deposit for resale. He would have expected Scottsdale 
to treat it as a problem or red flag. CX-178 at 257-60. 

341 In the middle of explaining what he did in connection with investigating the VPLM blackout, Cruz made a half
hearted assertion that CSCT was involved, saying, "I asked or I briefed with CSCT to-to get an explanation if 
they-if they could." Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 442-43. We do not find that testimony credible. There is no corroborating 
evidence of any kind, and his testimony about CSCT, in contrast to his detailed testimony about Wise, was vague. 
Cruz did not say he had a conversation with Ruzicka-who was the only person at CSCT. Rather Cruz referred to 
CSCT in the abstract. Nor did Cruz say anything about the content of what he "asked" or "briefed" when he 
supposedly had contact with CSCT. 

342 RX-3, at 1. 
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was identified as a citizen of Belize. 343 Media Central was originally incorporated on February 
14,2014, under the name Lock Investments Ltd. Only two weeks later, on February 27,2014, 
the name was changed to Media CentraL344 Nothing in the due diligence package explains the 
reason for the name change or whether there was any change in the identity of the principals of 
the company. 

ii. Plior Holder Transaction 

Media Central claimed that it had satisfied the holding period for a non-affiliate by 
tacking to a prior holder's note as of September 1, 2012. 345 The prior holder was a person named 
Casey Forward. He purportedly took the issuer's note in retum for an open-ended line of credit 
up to the maximum amount of $600,000. TIle note provided that the issuer would pay on "loans, 
advances and debt as of August 31, 2011 '" with interest on the principal balance outstanding 
from time to time" up to a principal amount of $600,000.346 The note provided Forward with a 
right to convert any pottion of the unpaid principal amount of note to restricted common stock. 
This right was open-ended and did not specifY a palticular amount that could be convetted or a 
pat1icular date when the conversion could take place. 34

7 Furthemlore, the note provided that the 
holder could transfer in whole or in part any pottion ofthe note without the prior consent of the 
company. Any such transfer was at the discretion of the holder.348 

Forward subsequently assigned a $50,000 pOl1ion of the note to an entity called Anything 
Media in exchange for shares of Anything Media. As described on the first page of the Deposited 
Securities List, that transaction was reflected in an Assignment and Modification Agreement 
dated JatlUary 18,2014, by which ORFG agreed to modify the tenns of the original note. 349 

iii. Acquisition Of Shares By Depositol' 

On April 16, 2014, Anything Media sold 15 million shares of ORFG to Media Central for 
$75,000 pUrsuatlt to a stock purchase agreement. However, at that time, Anything Media did not 
own the shares. It acquired shares of ORFG only a few days afterward, on April 22, 2014, when 
it conve11ed a $9,000 pottion ofthe note into 15 million shares of ORFG. 350 There is nothing in 
the due diligence package to explain why Anything Media sold ORFG shares before it actually 
owned them. Nor is there anything to explain why the shares could be sold for $75,000 when 

343 RX-3, at 9, 13. 

344 RX-3, at 15-16. 

345 RX-3, at 36-41. 

346 RX-3, at 36. 

347 RX-3, at 38. 

348 RX-3, at 40. 

349 R.,'<-3, at 1,42-45. 

350 RX-3, at 1. 
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they only had a value of $9,000 when they were converted a few days later. Cruz testified that he 
did not consider these matters red flags that required fUliher inquiry and that the Finn did not 
conduct further inquiry based on these matters. 351 

iv. Scottsdale Approval And Sales 

On June 5, 2014, Noiman and Cruz signed the Checklist for ORFG approving the sale of 
securities.352 Sales began June 11,2014, and continued through the end of the relevant period on 
June 30, 2014. Periodically, Scottsdale would wire out the proceeds along with the proceeds 
from the sales of other securities out ofCSCT's account.353 

v. Promotional Activity 

From early May through early July, ORFG was the subject of multiple promotions.354 

Cruz testified that the promotions were consistent with the reviewer's findings on the Checklist. 
He said he probably would have looked at a couple of pages of printouts showing the existence 
of promotions. The Finn typically would look to see whether the customer had any involvement 
and whether the promotions were having any effect on the trading done in the security. 355 

h. Red Flag Signifying A Scheme To Eva(le The Securities Laws 

We discuss here only one of the red flags in the ORFG deposit. TIle initial transaction 
underlying the deposit made no business sense. With respect to the original line of credit, no 
reasonable company would agree to borrow money on a line of credit that pennitted the lender to 
convert the debt to stock at any time in any amount at the holder's discretion. Certainly a 
company would not agree that the open-ended conversion option could be assigned to an 
unknown third party without the issuer's prior consent. Under such an agreement the company 
would not know whether it was going to be required to pay back some or all of the money it 
borrowed on the line of credit or whether it would be required to issue shares. Nor could it know 
to whom the conversion option might be assigned. It could not manage its finances or be celiain 
of its shareholder dynamics and corporate control. 

As the forensic audit of the Kipping-Locksmith loan found with respect to the open
ended line of credit in that transaction, the onerous tenns from the issuer's perspective were a 
sign that the loan was not an arms-length transaction. Unless the Finn investigated and 
discovered some sensible explanation, it could not lawfully sell the securities. 

351 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 533-34. 

352 RX-3, at 2. 

353 JX-31O. 

354 CX-303, at 17-25. 

3SS Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 537-38. 
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E. Credibility 

1. Ruzicka 

As noted above, Ruzicka was never registered with FINRA and was never subject to its 
jurisdicti(>n. He voluntarily testified at an OTR, and considered testifying voluntarily at the 
hearing. Throughout the first week of the hearing, Enforcement reported at the end of each day 
on the likelihood of Ruzicka appearing. 356 On Friday of the first week, Enforcement announced 
that Ruzicka had agreed to appear the following Monday. 357 

However, Ruzicka changed his mind over the weekend and never appeared. He 
apparently changed his mind because of a text that Respondents' counsel sent to him on the 
Saturday after the first week of hearing. That text, although p0l1rayed by counsel afterward as 
nothing more than a request to talk, appears to us to have been an attempt to sow disttust 
between Ruzicka and Enforcement counsel. It made Ruzicka angry at the way he thought he was 
being portrayed by Enforcement at the hearing and unwilling to be "put through hell" by 
appearing.358 

Respondents' counsel telephoned Ruzicka on Saturday but only received an automated 
instmction to leave a message or text. Respondents' counsel then left him a text saying the 
following, which included quotations from Enforcement's opening statement: 

You may want to know how FINRA has been characterizing you during the first 
week ofthe hearing. For example, you were "hapless," "malleable," and "bereft 
of other options." You may want to know the other side of what FINRA is telling 
you. I would welcome the oppoltunity to discuss.359 

After receiving the text from Respondent's counsel, Ruzicka texted Enforcement counsel 
saying, in part, "If even veracity, I am done.,,36o We interpret Ruzicka's response to mean he was 
offended at the portrayal of him as desperate and easily manipulated, and to mean that he would 
not appear at the hearing ifthat was an accurate picture of Enforcement's comments about him. 

Enforcement reported at the hearing that it had neither confilmed nor denied to Ruzicka 
what Respondents' counsel told him in the text. Enforcement took the position that it could not 
reveal what was said in the proceeding because it was confidentiaI.361 

356 Initially, the discussions of Ruzicka's likely participation were off the record. Later, they were on the record. 
Hearing Tr. (remarks of counsel) 748,840-41, 1032, 1275, 1277. 

357 Hearing Tr. (remarks of counsel) 1275, 1277. 

358 Hearing If. (counsel reading te>..t into record) 1288. 

359 Hearing If. (counsel reading text into record) 1288. 

360 Hearing Ir. (counsel reading text into record) 1287. 

361 Hearing IT. (remarks of counsel) 1299. 

6l 

- 929a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:52:23 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:52:23 PM



Enforcement argued that Respondents' counsel had violated at least the spirit of the 
sequestration order in the case; Respondents' counsel asserted that the sequestration order was 
about witness testimony and that counsel's quotations from Enforcement's opening statement did 
not violate the order. The Hearing Officer declined to rule on the charge of misconduct. 362 

Based on legal analysis separate from the alleged misconduct of Respondents' counsel,as 
laid out at the hearing on the record, the Hearing Officer admitted the entire transcript of 
Ruzicka's OTR. The Hearing Officer declared that the Hearing Panel would detennine the 
probative value and weight to give the OTR after it had reviewed the OTR in the context of the 
evidence at the hearing, taking into account the circumstances that led to the admission of the 
OTR in lieu of live testimony from Ruzicka. 363 

The Hearing Panel now specifically finds that Ruzicka's testimony at his OTR was 
credible. It was consistent with other evidence in the record and corroborated by D'Mura's 
testimony. Wherever Ruzicka's testimony is cited here, it is cited because we credit it. 

We reject Respondents' arguments for discounting Ruzicka's testimony. 

First, Respondents assert that it is unfair to rely upon Ruzicka's testimony because they 
did not have an opportunity to cross-examine him.364 The shott answer to that argument is that 
Respondents' counsel was responsible for that lack of opportunity to cross-examine the witness. 
Respondents cannot complain about it now. 

Second, Respondents argue that Ruzicka was angry and biased against Hurry, so his OTR 
should not be viewed as reliable. 365 After review of the transcript, we conclude that, although 
Ruzicka evidently did not like the way Hun), treated him, Ruzicka was truthful as to the facts 
and as to Hurry's intimidating and controlling manner. 

Third, Respondents claim that Ruzicka gave inconsistent infonnation in a prior telephone 
call with FINRA staff.366 However, the inconsistency was explained by the fact that Ruzicka still 
felt "beholden" to Hurry at the time of the telephone call. By the time of the OTR he did not feel 
that way.367 

362 Hearing Tr. (remarks of Hearing Officer) 1302. 

363 Hearing Tr. (remarks of Hearing Officer) 1302-05. There had always been uncertainty about whether Ruzicka 
would give testim any at the hearing. In light of that uncertainty, the parties had earlier briefed the issue of whether 
the OIR should be admitted. The Hearing Officer's ruling was informed by that earlier briefing. 

364 Resp. PH Br. 44 and n253. 

36$ Resp. PH Br. 44 and n.253. 

366 Hearing Tr. (remarks of counsel) 1296. 

367 Hearing Tr. (remarks of counsel) 1298. 
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Fourth, Respondents claim that Ruzicka gave an affidavit inconsistent with his OTR. 
TIley assert that Ruzicka swore that Montage, Titan, and Unicorn came to CSCT through a 
refetTal from Scottsdale. However, Ruzicka signed that affidavit at Hurry's request while still 
working for HutTy.368 By the time of his OTR, Ruzicka no longer worked for HUtTY. For that 
reason, we credit his OTR testimony that he was told that Titan and Unicorn came to CSCT 
through Hurry. Moreover, the affidavit saying that the three FFIs wererefetTed by Scottsdale is 
not inconsistent with Ruzicka's understanding that ultimately HUtTY was behind the refen·al. 
Even if HUtTy persuaded the FFls to do business with Scottsdale through CSCT, it would be 
consistent with his desire for secrecy for him to anange for someone at Scottsdale to make the 
necessary introductions. 

Finally, we observe that although Ruzicka's OTR testimony is valuable, his absence from 
the hearing deprived the Eh1ended Hearing Panel of what would have been helpful live testimony 
and the opportunity for the Panel to ask him questions. Ruzicka's absence also encouraged Huny 
to dispute the OTR testimony without fear of being contradicted, as discussed below. The 
distrust sown by Respondents' counsel impeded our adjudicatory process. 

2. Hurry 

As indicated above in connection with specific testimony, we repeatedly found that HUtTY 
was not credible. Many of Huny's self-serving explanations were not convincing on their face. 
His testimony was often inconsistent with other reliable evidence. Much of what he said also 
conflicted with Ruzicka'S OTR testimony, which we find more credible than HUtTY'S 
unconoborated assertions. 

Huny's ostensible purpose for setting up CSCT -to relieve Alpine of IRS withholding 
obligations-was not suppOlted by any evidence that it made business sense. Rather, we 
conclude from C111Z'S and DiekmatUl's testimony regarding heightened regulatory sC111tiny in the 
period leading up to the establishment of CSCT, and the filing ofthe four prior SEC complaints 
against Scottsdale customers and employees, that Hun'y sought to insulate his business from 
regulatory oversight by moving Scottsdale's FFI business offshore. This conclusion is reinforced 
by the fact that Scottsdale personnel continued to manage the FFI business with entities such as 
Unicorn and Titan (through Miller and Noiman). They needed to do that because Ruzicka was 
not qualified to 111n a broker-dealer, particularly one in the highly specialized business of 
liquidating microcap stock pursuant to Rule 144. Moreover, CSCT got its business through 
HutTY and Scottsdale. CSCT did not, and indeed could not, operate as an independent entity. 
CSCT served no function that Scottsdale could not have perfonned without it. 

368 Hearing Ir. (Huny) 1565-69, 1638-39; RX-l1 O. 
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Hun), disputed that Ruzicka was not qualified to run CSCT and emphasized how 
accomplished Ruzicka was.369 His testimony in this regard was not credible. It is plain from 
Ruzicka's inquiry about working in Hurry's bike shop that Ruzicka had no releVant experience 
and was desperate.37o D'Mura described trying to educate Ruzicka about the securities industry 
and the elements for free-trading securities. D'Mura said it was "rough going" and that Ruzicka 
"wasn't picking itup.,,371 D'Mura said that Ruzicka was anxious, stressed, and not capable of 
handling due diligence on microcap deposits by himself. 372 Even more important for our 
purposes here, D'Mura testified that he had conversations with Hun), about Ruzicka's 
difficulties and how Ruzicka was not "getting it.,,373 Thus, contrary to his hearing testimony, 
Hurry knew that Ruzicka was not capable of running CSCT. 

Hun)"s asse11ion that he had little to do with CSCT was disproved. D'Mura testified that 
Hun), frequently bombarded him and Ruzicka with telephone calls about CSCT business and 
that he and Ruzicka tried to prepare for those calls with updated infonnation about deposits. 
D'Mura portrayed Hurry as an intense and constant presence in their lives while they worked at 
CSCT, and emails corroborate that testimony. Emails show that Hurry oversaw every detail of 
CSCT's business, and Hurry admitted that he traveled to the Cayman Islands at least once a 
month. He so closely oversaw the CSCT operation that he claimed to know that Ruzicka was in 
the office only ten minutes out of evel), hour. 

To the extent that Cruz, Diekmann, D'Mura, and Ruzicka all testified that Ruzicka, not 
Hurry, ran the daily operations of CSCT, as Respondents assert in their post-hearing brief,374 we 
do 110t view that testimony as contradicting the evidence that HUlTY was deeply involved in 

369 Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1574-77. \\!hen asked why he did not hire someone who had broker-dealer experience and 
who knew aboutFFIs to run CSCT, Hurry said that he hired Ruzicka to play an "executive role," someone who was 
"an all-around person, somebody who had some entrepreneurial skills, some management skills, proven to be able to 
do that." Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1648. 

370 Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1631, 1635-36. 

371 Hearing Tr. CD'Mura) 2273-77. 

372 Hearing Tr. CD'Mura) 2277-78. 

373 Hearing Tr. CD'Mura) 2274-77. D'Mura may not have been emphatic about Ruzicka's difficulties-he testified 
that it was against his self-interest to cause Hurry to fire Ruzicka-but D'Mura did raise concerns with Hurry. 
Hearing Tr. (D'Mura) 2314-15. 

Email correspondence corroborates D'Mura's judgment that Ruzicka did not understand the business. For example, 
in May 2014, Ruzicka sought Diekmann's approval to consider a deposit of 11 million shares with an ostensible 
value of two million dollars. Diekmann wrote back that the issuer's shares traded in so little volume-roughly 3,500 
per day-that it would take a "bazillion" years to sell the entire deposit. Diekmann said it was inappropriate to set 
the value that high and the transaction was the kind that should be avoided. CX-241. 

This email correspondence also illustrates that CSCT served no real function independent of Scottsdale. Ruzicka 
sought Diekmann's guidance before even considering the deposit. Ruzicka was not independently vetting deposits 
before presenting them to Scottsdale. CX-241, at 2. 

374 Resp. PH Br. 45. 
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CSCT's business. Ruzicka was responsible for the day-to-day processing of paper, but Hurry 
was responsible for bringing in business, cultivating the clients, and making all impo11ant 
decisions. Ruzicka, an out-of-work real estate attomey, did not have the background to do more 
than process the paper as directed. For Hurry to maintain that he left Ruzicka on his own to 
prospect for customers and manage client relationships defies belief. 

Based on D'Mura's testimony and various emails, Hurry's contention that he was not 
concemed with secrecy was false. D'Mura testified that Hurry emphasized to him the privacy 
laws of the Cayman Islands, and D'Mura thought HUtTY was very concemed about secrecy. 
HUlry's concem with secrecy was manifested in multiple ways, from his admitted use of 
FaceTime to confer with Montage, Titan, Unicom, and other customers, to his obsession with 
labeling every email to and from Ruzicka as privileged, to his use of an email address that did 
not reveal its connection to him, to his refusal to use em ails to discuss business and insistence on 
using telephone calls to do that. 

Ruzicka's testimony only confinns D'Mura's. Ruzicka testified that Hurry told him that 
he was moving the FFI business to the Caymans precisely because he would not have to "give 
anything" to anyone. According to Ruzicka, HUtry was fanatical about not creating a record of 
his involvement with CSCT. 

As for Hurry's efforts to develop business for CSCT, HUlTY admitted having telephone 
calls with principals of Montage, Titan, and Unicom, and he admitted personally visiting 
Montage in Panama and Unicom in Belize. Although he claimed that he discussed a back-office 
system with Montage at Ruzicka's request, his testimony was vague and unspecific. There was 
no corroboration for Hurry's assertion, and he only inade it when he knew that Ruzicka would 
not appear at the hearing to contradict him. Similarly, as to HUlTY's initial asseltion that he did 
not discuss business with Unicom when he went to Belize, Hurry was impeached by his own 
OTR testimony. In his OTR he testified that he discussed pros and cons of doing business with 
Scottsdale directly or going through CSCT. Emails showed that Hurry provided other leads and 
refelTals to Ruzicka, and D'Mura testified that Hurry was involved in developing Caledonian as 
a CSCT customer. 

We further find Hun'y not credible when he testified that he could not remember anything 
about his meetings with Montage in Panama and Unicol11 in Belize. HUlry appeared to have 
excellent recall of other infonnation and events. He testified in detail about the intricacies of 
taxation in the Cayman Islands and how it differed for Canadians and U.S. citizens, as well as the 
way the special economic zone in the Caymans operates. 375 He also testified about the Cayman 
Islands Monetary Authority, eIMA, and its information sharing agreement with the SEC, noting 

375 Hearing Tr. (Huny) 1554-65, 1647-48. 
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that the original agreement was in 2005 and that it was updated in 2012.376 He insisted that he 
knew the exact days on which Ruzicka and D'Mura began at CSCT. 377 

We observe that Hurry appeared to be a canny, sophisticated, controlling, and hard
driving businessman_ Hurry's attempt to pOltray himself as a distant figure, far removed from 
CSCT's business was not credible. Although he claimed that he likes to empower his people to 
run their businesses on their own,378 that is demonstrably untrue. 

3. DiBlasi 

We fmd DiBlasi's testimony that he was the CCO-but not in connection with the Finn's 
Rule 144 business- astonishing.379 Almost all ofthe Finn's business involved Rule 144 sales. 
As explained below in discussing DiBlasi's violation, DiBlasi was responsible for the WSPs, and 
nothing in the WSPs clearly allocated Rule 144 compliance to Cruz. Indeed, during much of the 
relevant period, the WSPs assigned the CCO specific responsibilities in cOlmection with Rule 
144.380 DiBlasi's testimony may accurately reflect what he believes his job responsibilities to be, 
but, if so, his designation as CCO was misleading. 

4. Cruz 

Cruz's testimony was vague and unreliable. He often said he could not recall whether he 
had looked at various materials in conducting his due diligence reviews but that he "could" have 
done so.381 Cruz also changed his testimony or made it vaguer as he was testifying if he became 
uncomfortable with his original statement For example, he said that the change in NHPI's 
business fi'om phannaceuticals to oil and gas was not so important because the company's 
"management team had been stable. It's not the situation where we had a roaming management 
team. ,,382 But when asked how he knew that the management team was stable, he could point to 
nothing in the due diligence package or elsewhere. He ended by denying that he had said that the 
management team had been stable, saying, "I didn't see any change of - evidence of a change of 
management. I didn't use 'stable. ,,,383 When pressed whether celtain items were red flags calling 
for a searching inquiry about the issuer, Cmz resorted to general statements such as it "depends 

316 Hearing TT. (Hurry) 1630. 

377 Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1620, 1624. 

378 Hearing TT. (Hurry) 1550. 

379 Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1921-23, 1946-47, 1952-53, 1965-66. 

380 Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1967-73. 

381 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 279,284,292-96,301-03,308. 

382 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 288. 

383 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 288-91. 
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on the facts and the circumstances. ,,384 He never explained any basis for detennining which facts 
and circumstances would trigger the duty to conduct a searching inquiry. 

5. DiekmalUl 

We fmdDi~ktnann'stestimony vague, evasive, and unreliable. He characterized 
documents in ways that on their face the documents did not suppo11, such as the Miller email 
indicating that a Canadian citizen could conceal himself by using a corporate entity as the owner 
of his Scottsdale account. Diekmann asse11ed that the Finn's procedures would root out a 
nominee problem but could point to nothing in the procedures that was designed to do that. 385 He 
was insensitive to suspicious circumstances such as a Google search that tumed up infonnation 
suggesting that a person was engaged in securities fraud/ 86 or the identical tetms and 
circumstances of the three supposedly independent NHPI deposits. 387 He contradicted his own 
OTR testimony. 388 He repeatedly resisted admitting that inconsistencies and suspicious 
circumstances could signify that a transaction was a sham until he had to admit what was 
obvious. 389 

Given Diekmann's position as the Finn's current president, we are concemed about his 
ability to ensure that the Film responds appropriately in the future to obvious red flags and 
suspicious circumstances. TIlis concem bears on the need for stringent sanctions, as discussed 
below. 

Illustrative of the issue is Diekmann's testinlony regarding infotmation on Unicorn's 
website. Unicorn adve11ised the use of nominees to give customers an "extra level of 
confidentiality" because the customer's "name will not show Up.,,390 At his OTR, Diekmann 
testified that he had not seen this page of the Unicom website before his OTR, but ifhe had it 
would have caused him concem whether the tlUe beneficial owner was being disclosed.391 At the 
hearing he testified differently. He said that he would not be concemed about the infonnation on 
Ullicom's website because he had seen nothing on the website that suggested that Unicom was 
offering to affinnatively lie about beneficial ownership.392 When asked whether Unicom would 

384 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 293. 

385 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 737-38. 

386 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 927. 

387 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1853-54,1901-04. 

388 Diekmann testified at his OIR that a print-out from the Unicorn website caused him concern about whether 
Patrick Gentle was the true beneficial owner of stock deposited at Scottsdale in his name. At the hearing, however, 
he denied that the information on the Unicorn site was a concern. Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 925-30. 

389 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1881-84, 1886-87. 

390 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1818-19. 

391 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1875-78. 

392 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1819. 
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have had to offer to lie about the beneficial owner before the website language would concern 
him, Diekmann answered "Yes. ,,393 That is not consistent with his and the Finn's gatekeeping 
function. 

A second example of Diekmann's insensitivity to suspicious circumstances is his 
response to questionsconcemillg an email exchallge between. one of the Rule .144 staff members 
and Titan. The staff member sent an email to Ryan Mendez at Titan saying that Scottsdale had 
mUltiple subaccounts at Scottsdale with Andrew Godfrey as the authorized signer. She requested 
a statement from Godfrey that explained the purpose for the multiple entities and provided an 
explanation of "any distinguishing features among the separate entities." She thenllamed the 
eight entities. 394 

Godfrey provided an astoundingly broad and vague response: 

[The eight companies] are holding company's [sic] that are used to invest in 
development and exploration stage companies that engage in local, regional, 
multinational, global, sporting, manufacturing, wholesale, transportation, 
teclmology and eco friendly companies, etc., etc. Each investment is placed into a 
holding company based on investment criteria such as location, industry, long or 
Sholt-tetID investment etc., etc. 

Godfrey made no distinction among the companies. He provided no facts that could be verified. 
The response was undated and addressed "To Whom It May Concern." Godfrey provided no 
address, telephone number, or other contact infotIDatioll for himself or any of the companies. 
The response was forwarded by email from Titan to Scottsdale.395 

Diekmann characterized Godfrey's response as reasonable.396 We do not find it so. It 
lacks specificity and has no indicia of reliability or authenticity. 

Finally, Diekmann displayed a lack of the skepticism, analytic acuity, and ingenuity that 
are required to perfonn the broker-dealer's gatekeepingfunction in the Rule 144 context. He 
testified that the identical documentation for the NHPI transactions did not trouble him because 
some unidentified person could have put Collins together with the three patties seeking to sell 
the NHPI shares they acquired from him. When asked whether that unidentified person could be 
the secret beneficial owner of the three sub-sub-accounts, he said that there was nothing in the 
documentation indicating that was so. He further declared that he did not know how you would 

393 Hearing Tf. (Diekmann) 1875. 

394 CX-247. 

395 CX-248. 

396 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 891. 
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investigate whether it was so. He seemed content not to know who the unidentified person was 

and to assume that it was a person who had put the three depositors in touch with Collins.397 

Diekmatm said that "there's always a risk that there could be some puppet master pulling 
the s[t]rings. ,,398 But he expressed frustration at the thought that the Firm could atId should have 
done more to ascertain whether a puppet master was at work. As he remarked regarding the 
Argentiniatl nominees in the Tavella case, "It's just impossible to know that there was somebody 
else behind tllis. ,,399 

For purposes of assessing the Film's ability to avoid violations in the future and crafting 
remedial sanctions, his remarks cause us concem. Diekmatm said that what happened with NHPI 
happens all the time.4oo 

6. ExpeI1s 

a. Marc Mencllel 

We give little weight to the testimony of Respondents' expert, Marc Menchel. Although 

he opined that Scottsdale's procedures were reasonable and consistent with industty custom and 
practice, his experience related to Rule 144 was both a long time ago and in a much different 
context than Scottsdale's business. Menchel ran a Rule 144 desk at a large broker-dealer more 
than 30 years ago. That desk did not concentrate the way Scottsdale does on large blocks 
(100,000 shares or more) of micro cap stoCks.401 

Fut1hennore, Menchel did not opine on the sufficiency of Scottsdale's due diligence in 
the context ofthe specific transactions at issue. He did not review the exhibits or the 

investigative testimony. While he did look at all the relevant due diligence packages, he did not 
review them with the idea of "second guessing" the Finn's handling ofthe deposits. He merely 
looked to see whether the due diligence packages contained the sOlis of items that one would 

expect them to contain.402 Essentially, Respondents ' expe11, like Respondents, took a check-the
box look at the due diligence packages. 

Finally, Menchel's opinion seemed influenced by his admittedly idiosyncratic view that 
Regulatory Notice 09-05 goes beyond Rule 144, and his claim that many of the red flags listed in 
the Regulatory Notice are not really red flags for purposes of Rule 144.403 Menchel's opinion 

397 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1901-03. 

398 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 720. 

399 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 732. 

400 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 1901, 1903. 

401 Hearing Ir. (Menchel) 2459-61. 

402 Hearing Ir. (Menchel) 2478-80,2496-98,2529-33,2554-65, 2572-73,2575. 

403 Hearing Ir. (Menchel) 2503-07,2515-24. 
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similarly seemed influenced by his view that FINRA has no authority to charge a broker-dealer 
finn with a Rule 2010 violation for a Securities Act violation, a view that he admits has no 
decisional SUPP0l1.404 Menchel's opinion regarding FINRA's authority is contrary to the Hearing 
Officer's prior determination in the Order dated February 26,2016, that FINRA has jurisdiction 
to bring this case. We decline to accept Menchel's view for the reasons stated in that Order, 
which we do not repeat here. 405 

b. BIian Underwood 

We find the opinion of Enforcement's expert, Brian Undelwood, more reliable, more 
persuasive, and entitled to greater weight than Menchel's. His experience with Rule 144 was 
more extensive and more recent. Until retiring in 2008, Undenvood served as the Chief 
Compliance Officer oftwo major broker-dealers for a combined period of almost 20 years. The 
broker-dealers traded microcap securities on a fairly frequent basis and their Rule 144 desks 
reported to Undelwood through one of his direct repol1s.406 He also served on two NASD 
working groups in the 1990s that reviewed roughly 300 sets of policies and procedures as part of 
an effort to develop a model set of procedures. 407 Undelwood has maintained a consulting 
practice since he retired, and in that capacity he has more recently seen between 20 and 25 entire 
policies and procedures of different films. 408 

Undelwood also reviewed more ofthe materials relating to the pa11iculars of this case, 
including the pleadings, the parties' memoranda, the exhibits, and the OTRs conducted in 
connection with the investigation.409 He, unlike Menchel, evaluated the substance of Scottsdale's 
due diligence and whether it was consistent with industry custom and practice.410 

Underwood expressed the following opinions, among others, which we find consistent 
with our own views and supportive of our conclusions: 

(i) In its WSPs, the Film did not adequately address the risk of nominees being used 
to conceal the identity of the beneficial owners of the shares-it did not even 
mention the risk.411 

404 Hearing Tr. (Menchel) 2593-99. 

405 See also KeD Financial Inc., Exchange Act Release No. 80340, slip op. at 5-6 & nn.8-13 (SEC Milr. 29, 2017). 

406 Hearing Tr. (Underwood) 2609,2615-21. 

407 Hearing T r . (Underwood) 2711-12. 

408 Hearing Tr. (Underwood) 2712-13. 

409 Hearing Tr. (Underwood) 2619-20. 

410 Hearing Tr. (Underwood) 2651-57, 2665-67,2669-71, 2673-78, 2685-89, 2691-94. 

411 Hearing Tr. (Underwood) 2682-83. 
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(ii) The Finn's practice of placing all FFIs on its red flag list was counterproductive 
because it did nothing to narrow the focus to the kinds of anomalies that required 
a searching inquiry.412 

(iii) The Finn's general practice of accepting the registered agent's address without 
requiring the physical address of the entities and persons purporting to own the 
shares was inconsistent with industry custom and practice.413 

(iv) Even though the Finn gathered large volumes of paper in connection with the 
transactions, it failed to analyze the infonuation, did not identify issues raised by 
the files, and did not conduct the type of searching inquiry necessary to resolve 
those issues.414 As Underwood testified, a searching inquiry "means asking 
questions. It means not just assuming an answer that is possible to explain the 
transaction when there are other answers that might not properly explain or satisfy 
the question. It means asking and inquiring and doing it independently .... ,,415 

(v) Underwood made plain that a broker-dealer cannot go fOlward with a Rule 144 
transaction simply because it finds it too difficult to detennine the identity of the 
beneficial owner. The broker-dealer must have reliable evidence of the identity of 
the purpotted beneficial owner. Otherwise it cannot proceed with the 
transaction. 416 

Underwood also explained that it would be typical in the industry to use other resources 
in addition to the intemet to verify representations by the interested patties and make sure that 
those patties were not actually participating in an unregistered distribution of securities. With 
respect to whether the issuer is a shell, for example, it is not enough to obtain a representation 
from the issuer's principal as to its non-shell status. Underwood said that it would be common in 
the industry to obtain what is known as a "Bradstreet report." That report "can be quite 
enlightening in tenus both of [the issuer's] operations, revenues, assets, who the key officers and 
directors are, shareholders-a great deal of infomlation that is not necessarily available simply 
by going on the intemet.,,417 

Underwood concluded that a finn engaged in Rule 144 sales would also have more 
detailed written procedures that "would describe who did what, when, and hOW.,,418 He said that 

412 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2685-86, 2752-55. 

413 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2679-80. 

414 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2689. 

4B Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2694. 

416 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2734. 

417 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2661. 

418 Hearing Ir. (Underwood) 2677-78. 
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a finn would "anticipate questions that would be investigated with respect to issuers, with 
respect to sellers, with respect to the transfers of securities. ,,419 FUlthennore, they would analyze 
the infonnation collected and would "independently satisfy themselves to clear any red flags that 
arose. And that did not happen in any of these instances in my opinion.',420 He declared that the 
Finn did not meet the industry custom and practice for the conduct of this type ofbusiness.421 

F. Law And Regulations Relating to Section 5 

1. It Is Unlawful To Sell Securities Without Registl'3tion, Unless An 
Exemption Exists 

It is unlawful for a finn to sell securities without an effective registration statement in 
place unless an exemption applies. Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act prohibit the "sale" 
and "offer for sale" of securities in interstate commerce unless a registration statement has been 
flIed or is in effect, or an exemption from registration applies. 422 The prohibition applies to "any 
person,,,423 and the Securities Act defines "person" broadly to include both individuals and 
entities such as corporations and partnerships.424 The prohibition also applies to any person who 
"directly or indirectly" sells or offers to sell securities.425 TIms, Section 5 may be violated by a 
perSOll who does not pass title to the securities but who is involved in the process of offering the 
securities for sale.426 

The registration requirements are not merely technical-they are the "healt" of the 
Securities ACt.427 They serve to protect investors by promoting full disclosure of infonnation 
thought necessary to infol111ed investment decisions.428 As the preamble to the Securities Act 

419 Hearing Tr. (Underwood) 2678. 

420 Hearing Tr. (Underwood) 2678. 

421 Hearing Tr. (Underwood) 2689. 

422 15 U.S.C. § 77e(a), § 77e(c). See also Ronald S. Bloomfield, Exchange Act Release No. 71632, 2014 SEC LEXIS 
698, at >1<20-21 (Feb. 27, 2014). A violation of Securities Act Section 5 also is a violation ofFINRA Rule 2010, 
which requires members and associated persons to conduct their business consistent with high standards of 
commercial honor and just and equitable principles of trade. Midas Sec., Exchange Act Release No. 66200, 2012 
SEC LEXIS 199, at >1<46 n63 (Jan. 20,2012); Dep'tofEnforcementv. Padilla, No. 2006005786501, 2012 FINRA 
Discip. LEXIS 46, at *1 n.2 (NAC Aug. 1,2012). 

423 15 U.S.C. § 77e(a), § 77e(c). 

424 15 U.S.C. § 77b(a)(2). 

425 15 US.C. § 77e(a), § 77e(c). 

426 Pinter". Dahl, 486 U.S. 622, 642-47 (1988). 

427 ACAP Fin. Inc., Exchange Act Release No. 70046,2013 SEC LEXIS 2156, at *28 (July 26,2013) (quoting 
Pinterv. Dahl, 486 US. at 638), aff'd, 783 F.3d 763 (10th Cir. 2015). 

428 SECv. Elliott, 2012 US. Dist. LEXIS 82992, at *1 (June 12,2012); Bloomfield, 2014 SEC LEXIS 698, at *21; 
ACAP, 2013 SEC LEXIS 2156, at *28 (quoting Pinter, 486 U.S. at 638); Dep't ofEnforcementv. KCD Fin., Inc., 
No. 2011025851501, 2016 FINRA Discip. LEXIS 38, at >1<49 (NAC Aug. 3,2016), aff'd, KCD Fin. Inc., Exchange 
Act Release No. 80340, slip op. at 5-6 & nn8-13 (SEC Mar. 29, 2017). 
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states, the purpose ofthe Act is "[t]o provide full and fair disclosure of the character of securities 
... and to prevent frauds." 429 

2. Sales Are Not Exempt If They Involve A Distribution By An 
"UndenvIiter" 

A sale of securities is not exempt from registration if it involves a distribution of 
securities to the public. The Securities Act distinguishes between a distribution-which requires 
registration-and ordinary trading, which does not. In general, a distribution involves the sale of 
a substantial block of securities that is accompanied by sales solicitations, recommendations and 
other promotional activities that may induce investors to make investment decisions without the 
benefit of accurate infonnation concerning the issuer, its management, and its plans and 
prospects. That is the reason registration is required. In contrast, ordinary trading by an 
individual investor who has little or no influence over the issuer is not accompanied by the same 
promotional pressures, and, consequently, the same protections are less necessary.430 

The distinction between a distribution and ordinary trading is reflected in Section 4(a)(l) 
of the Securities Act, which exempts a securities transaction from registration if it does not 
involve "an issuer, underwriter, or dealer.,,431 In this case, the tenn "underwriter" is critical. TIle 
ternl is not limited to financial industry professionals. It encompasses individual investors "if 
they act as links in a chain of transactions through which securities move from an issuer to the 
public.'.432 Section2(a)(1l) of the Securities Act broadly defines the tenn to include "any 
person" who has purchased from an issuer "with a view to '" the distribution of any security. ,,433 

Because it is difficult to know whether a person acquired securities "with a view to" 
distributing them to the public, the surrounding circumstances and the investor's actions after 
acquiring the securities must be analyzed. For example, when a person acquires securities from 
the issuer in a non-public transaction and shortly thereafter resells, the circumstances suggest that 
the person acquired the securities with a view to distribution, which would make that person an 
undenvriter. The transactions function like a two-step indirect distribution and may be a public 
offering in disguise. 434 

429 Securities Actof1933, Pub. L. No. 22, § 1,48 Stat. 74, ch. 38. 

430 See the Preliminary Note to Rule 144 ("If any person sells a non-exempt security to any other person, the sale 
must be registered unless an exemption can be found for the transaction. "). 

431 See generally Hicks, Resales of Restricted Securities at § 2.4, 12-13, § 2: 1 0, 22-23, § 2.11, 23-24 (2015 ed.) . See 
the Preliminary Note to Rule 144 ("Section 4( 1) of the Securities Act provides one such exemption for a transaction 
'by a person other than an issuer, undelWriter, or dealer. '''). 

432 Preliminary Note to Rule 144. 

433 15 U.S.C. § 77b(a)(11). See also SECv. McNamee, 481 F.3d 451, 455 (7th Cir. 2007). 

434 See general~' Hicks, Resales of Restricted Securities at § 4: 101,250 (2015 ed.). See the Preliminary Note to Rule 
144. 
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· .. _--------, 

3. Broker-Dealer Has The Burden Of Showing A Reasonable Basis For 
An Exemption 

Once a prima facie case is made out, as it was here,435 a broker-dealer has the burden of 
showing that it had a reasonable basis at the time it sold the securities for concluding that an 
exemption from registrationexisted.436 Exemptions from the registration requirements are 
affinnative defenses that must be established by the person claiming the exemption.437 TIle 
Securities Act requires a broker-dealer and its associated persons to act as gatekeepers to prevent 
unlawful distributions, and the responsibility rests on them to take all steps reasonable in the 
circumstances to assure themselves that an exemption applies before they sell securities without 

. . 438 re glstratlon. 

A broker-dealer's duty to investigate is not satisfied by simply checking boxes on a 
checklist. Rather, a finn must examine the infonnation it receives with a skeptical eye because 
the interested parties have an incentive to mislead and deceive a finn in order to facilitate their 
sale of securities. A broker-dealer must independently investigate suspicious facts to satisfy itself 
that an exemption exists. As the SEC has explained, 

A dealer who offers to sell, or is asked to sell a substantial amount of securities 
must take whatever steps are necessary to be sure that this is a transaction not 
involving an issuer, person in a control relationship with an issuer[,] or an 
undelwriter. For this purpose, it is not sufficient for him merely to accept "self
serving statements of his sellers and their counsel without reasonably exploring 
the possibility of contrary facts. ,,439 

Exemptions from registration requirements are construed narrowly.440 Accordingly, 
evidence in support of an exemption must be "explicit, exact, and not built on mere conc1usory 
statements.',441 

It is important to bear in mind that there are two distinct burdens in this case. While it 
was Enforcement's burden to prove the elements of its claims, it was the Firm's burden before 

43S See infra p. 80. 

436 Bloomfield, 2014 SEC LEXIS 698, at *23; ACAP, 2013 SEC LEXIS 2156, at *29 (citations omitted); Dep 't of 
En/oreementv. Midas Sec., UC, No. 2005000075703, 2011 FINRADiscip. LEXIS 62, at *11 & n.8 (NAC Mar. 3, 
2011), affd, 2012 SEC LEXIS 199, at *28 & n.36. 

437 Midas Sec., 2011 FINRADiscip. LEXIS 62, at *28 & n.36, *38. 

438 Padilla, 2012 FINRA Discip. LEXIS 46, at *29. 

439 Laser Arms Corp., 50 S.E. C. 489, 503 (Feb. 14, 1991 ) (quoting Distribution by Broker-Dealers of Unregistered 
Securities, Exchange Act Release No. 4445, 1962 SECLEXIS 74 (Feb. 2,1962». 

440 Midas Sec., 20 II FINRA Discip. LEXIS at *11-12 (quoting SEC v. Blazon, 609 F. 2d 960, 968 (9th Cir 1979). 

441 Midas Sec., 20 II FINRA Discip. LEXIS at *12 (quoting Robert G. Weeks, Exchange Act Release No. 48684, 
2003 SEC LEXIS 2572, at *42 n.34 (Oct. 23, 2003). 
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selling the securities to establish a reasonable basis for the existence of an exemption from 
registration. 

4. Respondents Claim Two Exemptions 

With respect to the transactions atissue,Respondents claim that Rule 144 applied to the 
transactions, or, failing that, the so-called "broker's exemption" in Section 4(a)(4) of the 
Securities Act for ordinary unsolicited trading. 442 

a. Securities Act Rule 144 

TIle SEC adopted Rule 144 both to provide a "safe harbor" for certain transactions and to 
protect against transactions by non-professionals as a means of circumventing the registration 
requirements. Among other things, Rule 144 restricts the resale of securities acquired directly or 
indirectly fi'om the issuer or an affiliate in a transaction not involving a public offering. The SEC 
defines such securities as "restricted securities," and requires an owner of restricted securities to 
hold them for a length of time before reselling them in another transaction without registration. 
TIle holding period and other conditions for resale differ if the holder of the restricted securities 
is an affiliate or non-affiliate.443 Thus, the identity of the person selling the securities and the 
nature of any relationship that person might have to the issuer become important to the 
exemption analysis. 

Rule 144 defines an affiliate of an issuer as a person who directly or indirectly controls or 
is controlled by or is under common control with the issuer. Although Rule 144 does not define 
control, it is commonly understood that the definition in SEC Rule 405 of Regulation C applies. 
It defines control as "the possession, direct or indirect, of the power to direct or cause the 
direction of the management and policies of a person whether through the ownership of voting 
securities, by contract, or otherwise." Control depends on the totality ofthe circumstances and 
does not tum simply on whether a person is an officer of a company or the holder of a certain 
amount of stock.444 

The identity ofthe issuer is important, too. The Rule 144 safe harbor is not available for 
shell companies. A shell company is defined as an issuer ''with no or nominal operations and no 
or nominal non-cash assets.',445 

A person who satisfies the applicable conditions of Rule 144 is deemed not to be engaged 
in a distribution of the securities and therefore not to be an underwriter for purposes of the 

442 Resp. PH Br. at 2-5. 

443 17 C.F.R § 230.144. See generally Hicks, Resales of Restricted Secl/rities at § 2.4, 12-13, § 2:10, 22-23, § 2.11, 
23-24 (2015 ed.). 

444 SECv. Zenergy Int'/, Inc., 141 F. Supp. 3d 846,853-54 (N.D. Ill. 2015). 

445Id at 853. 
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Securities Act. 446 TIle burden is on the person claiming an exemption under Rule 144 to prove 
that all the applicable conditions have been met.447 

The provisions of Rule 144(d)(3) relating to tacking are important here because tacking 
was the only way that the sellers in the transactions at issue could satisfy the required holding 
period, TIlereare two categories of tacking. One category applies where a person who acquires 
restricted securities cannot personally meet the applicable holding requirement, but he is able to 
tack the holding period of another person to his. The other category applies where a person seeks 
to tack the period oftime he has held restricted securities to the time he held other securities of 
1 . 448 

t Ie same Issuer. 

Both categories are relevant in this case. First, to establish the requisite holding period, 
the purported beneficial owners needed to tack their holding period to that of the prior holders. 
111eir ability to tack depended on the prior holders not being affiliates of the issuer. Second, in 
connection with the transactions charged in the Complaint, the prior holders needed to tack their 
acquisition of the securities to the earlier inception of the debt obligation exchanged for the 
securities. In order to do that, the debt obligation had to be a security. Rule 144 pennits tacking 
based on the exchange of a security for another security of the same issuer (as long as no 
additional consideration is involved).449 

In this case, Respondents claim that they had sufficient evidence that the sellers of the 
securities at issue were not affiliates of the issuers, the issuers were not shell companies, and the 
sellers had met the applicable holding period for the securities. We conclude that they did not. 

h. Broker's Exemption Under Section 4(4) 

Respondents argue they were entitled to the so-called broker's exemption under Section 
4(4) ofthe Securities Act even if the transactions at issue were not exempt under Rule 144.450 

446 See generally Hicks, Resales afRestricted Securities at § 4: I, 86 (2015 ed.). 

447 See Rule 144(b). 

448 See generally Hicks, Resales afRestricted Securities at § 4: 139,318 (2015 ed.). 

449 See generally Hicks, Resales afRestricted Securities at § 4: 139, 318-19 (2015 ed.). Rule 144(d)(3) contains the 
provisions governing tacking. Two provisions are relevant here. Rule 144(d)(3)(iv) provides that securities that are 
acquired as a result of a default on a bona fide pledge of the securities shall he deemed to have heen acquired when 
they were acquired by the pledger. However, if the securities were pledged without recourse they shall he deemed to 
have been acquired by the pledgee at the time of the pledge. Rule 144(d)(3)(ii) permits a person to tack the period of 
time he has held certain restricted securities to the period of time he has held related securities of the same issuer. It 
provides for tacking where the securities to be sold were acquired from the issuer solely in exchange for other 
securities of the same issuer. 

450Resp. PH Br. 4-5. 
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I 
I 
I 
I 

.. __ .. _-----------, 

Section 4(4) is intended to exempt ordinary trading transactions that a broker may be asked to 
execute.451 

As discussed above, a person can be an underwriter within the meaning of the Securities 
Act ifhe acquires the securities from an issuer or affiliate of the issuer with a view to 
distribution. hlorder to ensure thatthe person offering restricted securities for resale iSllotactillg 
as an underwriter, it is necessary for a broker to evaluate the circumstances in which that person 

acquired restricted securities and offers them for resale. A broker cannot be a mere order taker. It 
must make whatever inquiries are necessary under the circumstances to ensure that its customer 
is not an underwriter. 452 

This exemption is not available when the broker "knows or has reasonable ground[s] to 
believe" that his customer is an undelwriter, since in that event the broker would also violate 
Section 5 by participating in a non-exempt transaction.453 As FINRA has stated, "[T]his 
exemption is available only if a broker is not aware, after a reasonable inquiry, of circumstances 
indicating that the selling customer is pat1icipating in a distribution of securities. ,,454 

Contrary to Respondents' arguments, we conclude that Respondents were confronted by 
abundant evidence that they were likely participating in unlawful distributions of securities. They 
cannot claim that they were unaware of facts signifying that possibility or the need to conduct 
further inquiry. 

5. Both Exemptions Required A "Searching Inquiry" To Ensure That 
No Underwritel· Was Involved 

Neither the Rule 144 exemption nor the broker's exemption is available ifthe person 
selling the securities is an underwriter within the meaning of the Securities Act. Accordingly, 
where there are red flags indicating the possibility that a person may be acting as an underwriter, 
both exemptions require that a broker make a "searching inquiry" to satisfy itself that an 
exemption applies. Only then can a broker ensure that it does not participate in an unlawful 
distribution of unregistered securities. 455 

The SEC observed over half a century ago, "[W]here the sUlTounding circumstances raise 
a question as to whether or not the ostensible sellers may be merely intennediaries for 
controlling persons or statutory underwriters, then searching inquiry is called for.,,456 

451 World Trade Fin. Corp., Exchange Act Release No. 66114,2012 SEC LEXIS 56, at *26 (Jan. 6,20]2). 

452 Bloomfield, 20] 4 SEC LEXIS 698, at *24-25 & nn.35-36. 

453 Bloomfield, 2014 SEC LillCIS 698, at *24; World Trade Financial Corp., 2012 SEC LEXIS 56, at *26 & n.31. 

454 CX-l97 at 2 (emphasis supplied). 

455 eX-I97. 

456 Bloomfield, 2014 SECLEXIS 698, at "'26-27. 
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.. _-_._- -----------, 

6. FINRA Guidance On Red Flags Signaling That UnderwIiter May Be 
Involved 

hl Regulatory Notice 09-05, FINRA published guidance on the specific kinds of facts that 
give rise to the duty of conducting a searching inquiry.457 In that guidance, FINRA made plain 
that "[a]ll firms must have procedures reasonablydesigtlecl to avojd becoming pruticipantsin the 
potential unregistered distribution of securities. ,,458 It further explained, "Before selling securities 
in reliance on an exemption, a finn must take reasonable steps to ensure that the transaction 
qualifies for the ~xemption .... ,,459 

Regulatory Notice 09-05 identifies a non-exhaustive list of red flags that signal the 
"possibility of an illegal, unregistered distribution.,,46o TIlese red flags are by no means 

comprehensive. TIley are merely illustrative. The generally recognized red flags in the Notice 
include the following: 461 

1. A customer opens a new account and delivers physical celtificates that represent a 
large block of thinly traded or low-priced securities. 

2. A customer has a pattem of depositing physical share certificates, immediately selling 
the shares, and then wiring out the proceeds ofthe resale. 

3. A customer deposits share celtificates that are recently issued or represent a large 
percentage of the float for the security. 

4. Share certificates reference a company or customer name that has been changed or 
that does not match the name on the account. 

5. TIle lack of a restrictive legend on deposited shares seems inconsistent with the date 
the customer acquired them or the nature of the transaction in which they were 
acquired. 

6. TIlere is a sudden spike in investor demand for a thinly traded or low-priced security, 
coupled with a rising price. 

7. The company was a shell company when it issued the shares. 

8. A customer with little or 110 assets at the finn receives an electronic transfer or joumal 
transactions of large runounts of low-priced unlisted securities. 

457 CX-197. 

458 CX-197, at 2. 

459 CX-197, at 2. 

460 CX-197, at L 

461 CX-197, at 3-4. 
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9. TIle issuer has been through several recent name changes, business combinations or 
recapitalizations, or the company's officers are also officers of numerous similar 
companies. 

10. The issuer's SEC filings are not cUITent, are incomplete, or are nonexistent. 

G. Ethical Violations (First Cause Of Action-Scottsdale And Hurry) 

The First Cause of Action charges that Scottsdale and HUlTY violated FINRA Rule 2010 
by acting in contravention of Section 5 of the Securities Act. It alleges that during the relevant 
period, Scottsdale sold millions of shares of securities without registration and without an 
exemption. It fmther alleges that Huny was a necessary palticipant and substantial factor in the 
unlawful transactions through his close management and control of all the entities involved in the 
process of depositing, approving, and reselling the securities, and through his prospecting for 
CSCT customers. TIle Complaint alleges that Huny took actions to evade regulatory scrutiny and 
enable the Finn to make the unlawful sales. 

1. Rule 2010 

FINRA Rule 2010 requires FINRA members and their associated persons to "observe 
high standards of commercial honor and just and equitable principles of trade" in the conduct of 
their business. The Rule requires members of the securities industlY not merely to confonn to 
legal and regulatory requirements, but to conduct themselves with integrity, faimess, and 
honesty.462 

Scienter is not required for a Rule 2010 violation. Rather, the SEC has established a 
disjunctive test for a Rule 2010 violation that applies either (i) to intentional or conscious bad 
conduct or (ii) to a failure to meet ethical nonns, regardless of intention. The SEC has held that 
Rule 2010 may be violated if the respondent has acted either in bad faith 01' unethically.463 In the 
context of a Rule 2010 violation, the SEC has defined bad faith as a dishonest belief or purpose, 

462 Robert Marcus Lane, Exchange Act Release No. 74269, 2015 SEC LEXIS 558, at *22 n.20 (Feb. 13,2015) 
(discussing NASD predecessor to FINRA Rule 2010: U[T]his general ethical standard ... is broader and provides 
more flexibility than prescriptive regulations and legal requirements. [FINRA Rule 2010] protects investors and the 
securities industry from dishonest practices that are unfair to investors or hinder the functioning of a free and open 
market, even though those practices may not be illegal or violate a specific rule or regulation.") (internal quotations 
omitted). 

463 Blair Alexander West, Exchange Act Release No. 74030, 2015 SEC LEXIS 102, at *20 (Jan. 9, 2015); Thomas 
W. Heath, lll, Exchange Act Release No. 59223,2009 SECLEXIS 14, at *13-17 & nn.9-16 (Jan. 9, 2009), aff'd, 
586 F.3d 122, 130 (2d Cir. 2009), certdenied, 2010 U.S. LEXIS 3029 (Apr. 5, 2010)(discu'lsing NYSE predecessor 
of Rule 201 0); Dep 't of Enforcement v. Shvarts, No. CAF980029, 2000 NASD Discip. LEXIS 6, at *11-18 (NAC 
June 2, 2000). 
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.. ..... _-- .. _-------, 

and unethical conduct as conduct inconsistent with the moral nonns or standards of professional 
conduct. 464 

Because the securities industry is built on trust, any ethical failure damages the industry 
generally by casting doubt on the integrity of its participants. An ethical failure also casts doubt 
on the ability of the· particular miscreant to confonn to ethical nonns in the future. Enforcement 
ofFINRA Rule 2010 is therefore fundamental to FINRA's regulatory mission, which, as 
expressed in FINRA's Sanction Guidelines, "is the building of public confidence in the financial 
markets. ,.465 

2. Enforcement Established A Prima Facie Case Of A Section 5 
Violation 

The elements of a prima facie case for violation of Section 5 are the following: (i) 
respondents sold or offered to sell securities; (ii) through use of interstate facilities or the mails 
(the jurisdictional means); and (iii) when no registration statement was filed or in effect as to 
those securities. Scienter is not an element.466 A Section 5 violation does not require a showing 
that the sale actually facilitated a fi·aud. A sale without registration and without an exemption is 
an unlawful distribution of securities regardless of whether it is proven to be connected to a 
fraud. 

Enforcement established a prima faCie case. It proved that from December 1, 2013, 
through June 30,2014, Scottsdale sold shares of three issuers, NHPI, VPLM, and ORFG, using 
the jurisdictional means and without registration.467 

Respondents do not dispute these facts. They argue only that the transactions were 
c. •. 468 exempt .trom registratIOn. 

3. The Firm Lacked A Reasonable Basis For An Exemption 

Scottsdale failed to have a reasonable basis for an exemption at the time that it sold the 
securities in the transactions at issue. 

464 Edward S. Brokaw, Exchange Act Release No. 70883, 2013 SECLEXIS 3583, at "'33 (Nov. 15,2013). See also 
Simpson v. Bear, Steams & Co., No. C07950030, 1997 NASD Discip. LEXIS 13, at *27 n.9 (NAC Jan. 29, 1997) 
("Ienn 'bad faith' is not simply bad judgment or negligence, but rather it implies the conscious doing of a wrong 
because of dishonest purpose or moral obliquity .... "). 

465 FINRA Sanction Guidelines at 1 (2016) (Overview), https:llwww.finra.orglindustrylsanction-guidelines. 

466 Bloomfield, 2014 SEC LEXIS 698, at "'22 & n.29. See also SEC v. Cavanagh, 445 F.3d 105, 111 n.13 (2d Cir. 
2006); SEC v. Calvo, 378 F.3d 1211, 1214-15 (lIth Cir. 2004). 

467RX_l; RX-2; RX-3; JX-268; JX-28 I; JX-310. 

468 Resp. PH Br. 2-5. 
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First, in its due diligence the Finn did not even address the question whether the debt 
obligation was a security, despite having lawyers on its Rule 144 review team and despite 
Respondent Cmz being a lawyer with significant experience in the securities laws. It had no 
foundation for the tacking necessary to achieve the required holding period because the 
promissory notes and lines of credit on which the tacking was based were not securities. 

Second, the documentation to support the Rule 144 exemption was rife with 
discrepancies and suspicious circumstances-all of which raised red flags strongly suggesting 
that the chain of transactions leading to deposits at Scottsdale were sham transactions using false 
documents and nominees to conceal the identity of the beneficial owners. 

Although the Finu compiled thick due diligence packages for the transactions, it did so 
with a "check-the-box" attitude. It did not appropriately evaluate the infonnation in the due 
diligence packages, did not investigate the many red flags, and did not independently verify the 
infonnation received from the interested parties. The due diligence packages created only the 
false appearance of due diligence: 

TIle Finu's conduct was unethical and did not meet the industry nonns. The persons 
involved in the Rule 144 review did not obtain any meaningful information about the individuals 
and entities involved in the transactions. Diekmann confessed that he knew nothing about the 
purported beneficial owner of one of the deposits other than that the person was a client of 
CSCT's client. Scottsdale knew little more about any of them. It failed to pelfonn its 
gatekeeping function. The testimony of Enforcement's expe110nly confirms our conclusion that 
the Finn failed to conduct itself in a manner consistent with industry nonns. 

a. The Prior Holders' Debt Obligations Were Not SecuIities 
Available For Tacking 

i. Reves Governs Whether Note Is A Security 

Not every note or debt obligation is a security.469 TIle Supreme Court's decision in Reves 
govenlS the analysis.47o Any note with a tenn of more than nine months is presumed to be a 
security unless it resembles one of the judicially enumerated itlStmments that are not securities, 
such as a note delivered in connection with consumer finance or a mOltgage. In Reves, the Court 
set the analytic framework for detennining whether a note bears a resemblance to one of the 
enumerated instmmel1ts or should be held to be a security. Four factors may be considered in 
deciding whether a note is a security: 

(i) whether the seller's purpose is to raise money for general use of business or to 
finance substantial investments, and the buyer is motivated by the profit to be 

469 Reves v. Ernst & YOllng, 494 U. S. 56, 65-67 (1990). 

470 I d. 
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generated, in contrast to a note to facilitate a minor purchase or sale or to 
correct for cash-flow difficulties; 

(ii) whether the note involves an individual transaction or common trading for 
speCUlation or investment; 

(iii) whether there is a reasonable public expectation that the note would be viewed 
as security; and 

(iv) whether another regulatory scheme applies that would reduce risk of the 
instnnnent.471 

In another case, the Court later summed up the distinguishing characteristic of a security 
as "any instmment that might be sold as an investment. ,,472 

As we explain below, we conclude that none ofthe debt obligations held by the prior 
holders were securities. That includes the NHPI note in payment for consulting services, the oral 
line of credit to VPLM, and the outstanding balance on the ORFG line of credit. As a result, 
when the prior holder accepted stock in satisfaction ofthe debt, it was not an exchange of 
securities that would suppol1 tacking. 

ii. NHPI 

It is plain that the note written by NHPI to Collins, the prior holder in the chain of 
holders, was not a security. We observe at the outset that the note's tenn was much shorter than 
the nine months required to presume a note to be a security-roughly two months. But it also 
fails the test set forth in Reves. NHPI did not enter into the note agreement in order to finance its 
general business or to make a substantial investment. Nor was Collins motivated by some profit 
to be generated from the note. According to documents in the due diligence package, the note 
was no more than a promise to pay Collins $10,000 for consulting services. FurthelIDore, the 
note was issued in a single transaction. A note that "merely reflects a single transaction" and is 
"not offered to the public" is not a security.473 Nor could there be any public expectation that an 
individual note promising to pay for services was a security. The fourth factor, whether another 
regulatory scheme applied and diminished the need for treating the instrument as a security, is 
inapplicable where no other factor supports labeling the note a security. 

471 Jd at 65-67. See also Bass v. Janney Montgomery Scott, Inc., 210F.3d 577, 583-86 (6thCir. 2000). 

m SECv. Edwards, 540 U.S. 389, 393 (2004). See also Fran/ifurtv. Mega Entertainment Grollp II, 2016 u.s. Dist. 
LEXIS 73613, at *11 (N.D. Ill. June 7, 2016) (stating that "only those notes that were issued in an investment 
context" are securities). 

473 New Earthshell Corp. v. Jobookit Holdings Ltd, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 27141, at *10-11 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 5, 
2015) 
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As another similar note was aptly described by a federal district coUti, the note held by 
Collins was "akin to an 'IOU' for services rendered.,,474 

iii. VPLM 

With respect to the issue. of whether the oral line of credit extended by Locksmith to 
VPLM was a security, the focus at the hearing was on whether there is any distinction between 
an oral agreement and a written agreement. Diekmann maintained that there is no difference 
between an oral line of credit and a written line of credit for purposes of Rule 144 and tacking. 
He understood that in either case the successor holder could tack back to an advance on the line 
of credit. He based his understanding on his experience with the treatment of written lines of 
credit and discussions with legal counsel-who exactly he could not recall.475 

In their post-hearing brief,476 Respondents relied on a Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals 
decision, Canadian Imperial Bank.477 TIleir reliance is misplaced. TIle issue in Canadian 
Imperial Bank was whether a private plaintiff had sufficiently pleaded the existence of a security 
for purposes of establishing subject matter jurisdiction. The plaintiff alleged that a certificate of 
deposit from a Bahama bank was a security, but no document was attached that could be 
analyzed for purposes of jurisdiction. The Court held that the complaint did not allege sufficient 
facts to establish jurisdiction, but it hastened to say that its decision did not mean that only 
written instruments can be securities, noting that oral promises of participation in a profit sharing 
plan have been held to be investment contracts even where not evidenced in writing.478 The 
Court's remarks regarding oral promises as investment contracts provide no basis for concluding 
that the oral credit line here was a security. 

TIle oral line of credit, unlike an oral promise of palticipation in a profit sharing plan, was 
not represented to be an investment. Nor was it easily tradeable as an investment. There was no 
means of being certain of the tenns, confident of the effective transfer of rights, or sure that those 
rights might later be enforced. Accordingly, the oral line of credit was not a security. 

Moreover, even ifwritten, the line of credit did not meet the Reves test. The line of credit 
was a loan to the issuer by a single individual. Such an individual transaction would not be 
viewed as a security by the public and would not ordinarily be traded as an investment. 

474 SEC v. Garber, 959 F. Supp. 2d 374,377 (S.D.N.Y. 2013). 

475 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 1711-17. 

476 Resp. PH Br. 22 n 114. 

477 Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce Trust Co. v. Fingland, 615 F. 2d 465 (7th Cir. 1980). 

478 Id. at 466-67 & n.5. 
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iV.ORFG 

The open-ended line of credit extended by Forward to ORFG for $600,000 was not a 
security. As discussed above in connection with the other debt conversion transactions, it did not 
meet the Reves test. It was an individual transaction that was not designed to trade as an 
investment. Nor would the public view itasa security.479 . 

b. The Firm IgnOl'ed Red Flags 

Even if the notes had been securities, the transactions were not entitled to the safe harbor 
of Rule 144. Many of the red flags set forth in Regulatory Notice 09_05480 existed in the 
transactions at issue. The following red flags are examples: 

• All the stock deposits in the transactions at issue consisted of large blocks of thinly 
traded, low-priced stocks issued by obscure companies. (Reg. Notice 09-05 Red Flag I). 

• CSCT had a pattern of making large deposits of thinly traded microcap stocks, selling the 
securities, and immediately wiring out the proceeds. Respondents knew that CSCT was 
acting on behalf of its FFI customers involved in the transactions and that the FFls also 
engaged in the same pattern while acting on behalf of other entities and individuals. 
Despite the pattern, Scottsdale did nothing to investigate who actually was receiving the 
funds from the securities sales. Because the only account at Scottsdale was in the name of 
CSCT, Scottsdale could not and did not track where the proceeds ultimately went. It 
could not tell if the proceeds went to the different purported beneficial owners or to other 
persons who were repeatedly engaging in the deposit and immediate resale of securities. 
(Reg. Notice 09-05 Red Flag 2). 

• The deposited shares were recently issued, which suggested that the issuer or its control 
persons could be initiating a distribution. Nothing in the due diligence packages indicates 
that Scottsdale took any note of that fact. (Reg. Notice 09-05 Red Flag 3). 

• Although the issuer claimed not to be a shell corporation, there was little evidence of 
ongoing business operations. The Firm mainly relied on a representation by a principal of 
the issuer that the entity was not a shell. (Reg. Notice 09-05 Red Flag 7). 

• Two of the issuers involved in this case had business histories that suggested shell status. 
Only a few months before the deposit ofNHPI securities at Scottsdale, NHPI, a 
pharmaceutical company, announced it was going into the oil and gas business. ORFG, 

419 Furthermore, even if the note had been a security, Forward did not transfer the ORFG note for securities of 
ORFG. He transferred a portion of the note for securities of a different entity, Anything Media. He also did so in 
connection with an agreement by ORFG to modifY the terms of the original line of credit. His exchange involved 
securities of a different issuer and different consideration. Accordingly, Media Central was not entitled to tack back 
to Forward's original note. 

480 See supra pp. 78-79. 
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which described itself as an automotive detailing company that used casual part-time 
labor as required, similarly indicated it was considering going into mineral exploration 
and set forth an anticipated payment schedule for three unspecified mining concessions. 
In both cases, the new business venture was radically different from the old line of 
business, the infolmation regarding either line of business was scant, and the company's 
purported resources did not appear sufficient to engage in the new line of business. (Reg. 
Notice 09-05 Red Flags 7 and 9). 

Finally, we note that it is critical in a Rule 144 transaction to know the identity ofthe 
purported beneficial owners and any relationship they might have to the issuers or affiliates of 
the issuers of the shares they seek to sell. Even after collecting voluminous documents, the Finn 
in fact knew nothing about the purported beneficial owners or about the businesses through 
which they held the securities except their names. Diekmann, who headed the Rule 144 team at 
the time of the transactions at issue, admitted that he knew nothing about the purported beneficial 
owner of one of the NHPI deposits other than that the person was a customer of Unicom. 481 The 
Firm knew little more than that about any of the other purpOlted beneficial owners involved in 
the transactions at issue. DiekmalUl's testimony is a stark confession that the Firm did not 
pe1iolm its gatekeeping function and did not adhere to high standards of commercial honor and 
just and equitable principles oftrade. 

c. Respondents' Arguments Are Unavailing 

i. NHPI 

Respondents' arguments relating to the NHPI deposits rest on treating the representations 
by the interested parties in the documentation for the NHPI deposits as though they were true. 
For example, Scottsdale asselts that Collins was not an affiliate ofNHPI, and therefore he could 
freely sell the stock derived from his note in the fall of 2013 regardless of any tacking to the 
inception of the May 2012 note.482 Respondents then reason that Collins' transactions with Sky 
Walker, h'eland Offshore, and Swiss National could not be fake loan transactions, as 
Enforcement pOltrays them, because, as a non-affiliate holder for more than a year, Collins could 
simply have sold the shares to the three depositors. Respondents conclude that there could be no 
reason to fake the loan transactions. Respondents likewise assert that the beneficial owners of 
Sky Walker, Ireland Offshore, and Swiss National were not affiliates ofNHPI based on the 

. h = b h . d' 483 representattons to t at euect y t e 111tereste parttes. 

In making arguments that depend upon the tmth of the representations made by the 
interested pat1ies, Respondents only demonstrate their continuing lack of appropriate response to 

481 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 911-13, 919. 

482 In so arguing, the Firm abandons the basis on which the deposit was justified at the time Scottsdale sold the 
shares. On its Checklist for the transaction, the Finn relied on tacking back to the inception of the May 2012 note. 
Rt"'{ -1, at 1. 

483 Resp. PH Br. 13-15. 
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the suspicious circumstances and glaring red flags raised by the NHPI deposits. As the SEC has 
noted, a broker-dealer may not rely on representations by interested parties because those 
interested parties have an incentive to make misrepresentations. 484 

ii. VPLM 

Again, Scottsdale's arguments largely assume the tmth ofthe representations by the 
interested parties. They assert that they reasonably relied on those representations.485 We reject 
Respondents' position. Red flags signaled that the transaction could be a scheme to evade the 
registration requirements while distributing securities to the public. The Firm could not sell the 
securities unless it investigated further and obtained better support for an exemption. 

Scottsdale also argues that Enforcement failed to prove that any proceeds of the sales of 
VPLM flowed back to the issuer or that there were any links between the issuer and the persons 
involved in selling VPLM stock through CSCT and Scottsdale.486 As discussed above, the Film 
misunderstands the law. It was not Enforcement's burden to prove who was behind the 
transactions~ rather, it was Respondents' burden to probe the suspicious circumstances and 
establish that the transaction was entitled to the Rule 144 exemption before the Fitm sold the 
securities. 

iii.ORFG 

As with the other transactions, Respondents' arguments assume the tmth of the 
representations in the transaction documents. For instance, they argue that the Fiml obtained 
satisfactory evidence that the transaction met the requirements of Rule 144 because the Finn 
obtained a letter from ORFG's Chaimlan and CEO dated May 19,2014, confinningthat Media 
Central and its purpolted owner were not affiliates of the company. 

Given that the underlying transaction-the $600,000 open-ended credit line giving the 
holder discretion to convelt stock at will-made no sense, it was unreasonable to rely on that 
letter as the only evidence that the seller was not an affiliate. If the chain of transactions were 
really a series of steps in a distribution for the ultimate benefit of the issuer or those persons 
controlling the issuer, then such a representation by the issuer's Chainnan and CEO would be in 
service of the unlawful distribution of securities without registration. 

4. Hurry's Violation 

The First Cause of Action also charges that HUllY was a necessary pruticipant and 
substantial factor in the unlawful transactions, through his close mrulagement and control of all 
the entities involved in the process of depositing, approving, and reselling the securities, and 

484 Laser Arms, 1991 SEC LEXIS 257, at *36. 

48S Resp. PH Br. 21. 

486 Resp. PH Br. 22. 
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through his prospecting for CSCT customers. It expressly alleges that Huny purposely 
established CSCT as a means of evading regulatory scrutiny and enabling the Finn to make the 
unlawful sales. Enforcement proved the charges. 

a. Hurry Was A Necessary Participant And Substantial Factor 

Section 5 makes it unlawful for a person to offer or sell securities without registration. 
Liability, however, is not limited to the person or entity that ultimately passes title to the 
security. Courts have developed the "necessary participant/substantial factor" test as a way of 
holding other persons involved with the transactions accountable under Section 5 as offerors or 
sellers.487 TIle "necessary participant/substantial factor" test is based on statutory language in 
Section 5, which imposes liability on persons who "directly or indirectly" offer or sell securities 
in violation of Section 5. 488 

TIle "necessaty participant/substantial factor" test distinguishes between those persons 
who have only a de minimis or insubstantial role in securities sales in violation of Section 5 and 
those who should be liable. The test is more than a "but for" test. Even if a person is necessary to 
the completion of the transaction, such as a transfer agent might be, that does not necessarily 
mean the person was a substantial factor in the violation. Detennining whether someone was a 
substantial factor in the unlawful sales is a fact issue requiring extensive analysis. 489 

It is not clear that the "necessary participant/substantial factor" test is appropriate here. 
HutTY is not charged with offering or selling securities in violation of Section 5. He is charged 
with an ethical violation under Rule 2010. He does not have to be proven to be an offeror or 
seller in order to be proven to have violated Rule 2010. 

The parties briefed Huny's liability using the "necessary participant/substantial factor" 
test, however, and we use it to assist in detennining whether Hurry was sufficiently linked to the 
transactions at issue to hold him liable for violating Rule 2010 in connection with them. We also 
sepamtely apply the more familiar standard for Rule 2010 violations, which we discuss below. 

Based on the above factual record and analysis, which we do not repeat in detail here, we 
conclude that Hurry was a necessaty participant and a substantial factor in the transactions. He 
was sufficiently linked to the transactions to hold him accountable for his conduct in connection 
with them. His role was not de minimis or insubstantial. 

We reject Hurry's argument that he cannot be linked to the transactions at issue. He 
assel1s that there is "not a single document relating to the stocks in question with [his] name 

487 SEC v. CMKM Diamonds, Inc., 729 F.3d 1248, 1255 (9th Cir. 2013). 

488 SEC v. Boock, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 95363, at *47 & n.l7 (S.D.N. Y. Aug. 25, 2011). 

489 CMKM Diamonds, 729 F.3d at 1255-57; SEC v. Blackburn, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 178325, *8-9 (E.D. La. Sept. 
11 , 2015). 
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anywhere on it.,,49o While there was little in the way of a paper trail directly linking Hurry to the 
patiicular transactions at issue, the absence of such a direct link was the result of Huny's own 
demonstrated obsession with secrecy. He purposely concealed his involvement in CSCT's 
business. It is not surprising that there is not a single document relating to the deposits at issue 
with his natne on it, because he made sure of it. 

In fact, Hurry was the master puppeteer for all the FFI business that flowed through 
CSCT to Scottsdale and, ultimately, to public investors. CSCT existed only because he 
established and closely managed it. Given Ruzicka's lack of experience, qualifications, and 
contacts, CSCT could not have survived without Hurry's active involvement. We reject Hurry's 
assertion that, because Ruzicka had decades of experience as a real estate lawyer who ratI his 
own law finn, hiring Ruzicka to run CSCT was a reasonable and logical decision.491 

With respect to the particular transactions at issue, there is sufficient evidence of a link 
between Hurry and the FFls that made the deposits. Huny developed CSCT's business with the 
three FFls that engaged in those transactions, Montage, Titan, and Unicorn. As set forth more 
fully above, Hurry admits that he flew to Panama to see Montage and to Belize to see Unicom 
and that he discussed with Unicom doing its business through CSCT. He admits to talking to the 
principals of Montage, Titan, and Unicom multiple times using FaceTime. He admits to creating 
the spreadsheet that tracked CSCT deposits, including those by Montage, Titan, and Unicom. 
D'Mura testified that he and Ruzicka talked about deposits with Huny, and an email shows that 
Huny specifically discussed trading in NHPI and VPLM with Ruzicka. Ruzicka testified that 
Huny told him to deal with a specific contact at Montage. Both Ruzicka atId D'Mura said they 
disliked dealing with Cern Can at Unicom, but that they knew that they had no authority to 
decline his business without Hun·y's consent. 

Huny's direct contact with the tlu-ee FFls involved in the transactions at issue made him 
a substantial factor in their transactions. He did not take Ruzicka with him when he flew to 
Panama atId Belize to talk to Montage and Unicom, and Ruzicka testified in his OTR that he did 
not participate in Hurry's FaceTime calls with customers. Hurry was the critical link between 
CSCT and the tlu·ee FFls. Huny's importance was reflected in Unicom's demand for Hurry to 
join a telephone call with Miller, Diekmalll, and Ruzicka to discuss the processes atId 
procedures to be used in cOlllection with Unicom's business with Scottsdale tlu-ough CSCT. 
Whenever something beyond paper-pushing was involved, HUlTY's input was necessary. We 
reject Hurry's argument that he merely displayed the nonnal interest of an owner in the overall 
financial perfornlance of his finn. 492 His involvement in CSCT's business was intense and 
pervasive. 

490 Resp. PH Br. 45. 

491 Resp. PH Br. 43-44. 

492 Resp. PH Br. 46-47. 
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Hun), fmther argues that the case law only imposes liability under Section 5 where the 
defendant has either sold the unregistered securities himself or has taken concrete steps 
necessary to effectuate those sales, such as negotiating transactions, issuing opinion letters, or 
directing the issuance of shares. He contends that he engaged in no such activities here.493 

We reject the argument. As noted above, Hurry is not charged with a Section 5 violation, 
but, rather, a Rule 2010 violation. Unethical conduct in violation of Rule 2010 is not constrained 
by case law defining who is liable as a statutory seller under Section 5. In any event, substantial 
participation is a broad concept without precise bounds. One who conceives of and plans a 
scheme, or one who is a substantial motivating factor behind it, can be liable under Section 5.494 

To hold otherwise would allow a person to mastermind a Section 5 violation, and, by directing 
others to pelfonn the mechanical tasks necessary to effect the sale of securities without 
registration, escape liability. 

b. Hurry Acted In Bad Faith 

FINRA Rule 2010 is a broad ethical principle that may be violated either by conduct that 
fails to meet ethical nonns, regardless of intention, or conduct that is undeltaken in bad faith. We 
find here that, in comlection with the business he routed through CSCT, Hurry acted in bad faith 
and violated FINRA Rule 2010. We conclude that he was engaged in a scheme to evade the 
securities laws, in particular the registration requirements of Section 5. 

Hun-y claimed that he established CSCT because Alpine wanted to shed its IRS tax 
withholding obligations, but there was no evidence that it made business sense to set up an office 
in the Cayman Islands to do that. In fact, the insertion of CSCT into the process of preparing 
stock celtificates for resale to the public made no business sense because, due to the discounts 
Scottsdale extended to CSCT, Hurry's enterprises as a collective group made no more money 
than when Scottsdale was handling the business directly-but CSCT imposed additional costs. 

That HUlTY had no legitimate business reason for setting up CSCT is further apparent 
from the way the Film handled the business purportedly routed through CSCT. The Firm, 
through Miller and Noiman, continued to deal directly with the FFls and often handled issues 
that arose with the deposits without involving Ruzicka or CSCT. Rather than independently 
preparing deposits for submission to Scottsdale, Ruzicka also sought guidance from Diekmann 
as to what deposits he should consider. 

FUlther casting doubt on the legitimacy ofHUlry's reasons for setting up CSCT, 
Diekmann testified that an individual in Belize or Panama could have a direct account with 

493 Resp. PH Br. 46 and n.261. 

494 SEC v. Elliott, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 91946, at *20 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 17,2011). See also SECv. Holschuh, 694 F. 
2d 130, 139-40 (7th Cir. 1982); SEC v. Friendly Power Co., 49F. Supp. 2d 1363,1372 (S.D. Fla. 1999)(a person 
has indirectly sold a security to the public if he has "employed or directed others to sell ... or has conceived of and 
planned the scheme by which the unregistered securities were offered or sold"). 
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Scottsdale without going through an FFI like Unicom or CSCT.495 Cruz admitted that it would be 
easier to conduct due diligence on a direct customer of the Fum than a customer who came 
through an FFI such as CSCT or Unicom.496 In fact, the creation ofCSCT diminished 
Scottsdale's access to information about the purported beneficial owners, and neither Scottsdale 
nor Alpine, Hurry's clearing film, knew where the proceeds from sales ofthe securities were 
flowulg. 497 This testimony raises the question oHhe purpose served by the multiple layers of 
entities-if not to conceal the identity of the true beneficial owners ofthe securities. 

HUtTY's bad faith was amply proven by his elaborate stratagems for concealing his 
involvement ill CSCT's business, mc1uding his use of the "x" email address at CSCT, his 
insistence on using the attomey-c1ient privilege m inappropriate circumstances, and his use of 
FaceTime to conceal his contacts with customers. He specifically wrote to Ruzicka in an email 
that there should be no written record of HUtTy'S involvement, which is powerful evidence of 
Huny's scheme to avoid regulatory scrutiny. Ruzicka testified in his OTR that Hull'Y told hitn he 
was going to the Cayman Islands so that he would not have to "give anything to anyone." 

Hull'Y's actions betray an attitude antithetical to the public interest, and his attempt to 
evade regulatory scrutiny is inconsistent with his duties as a securities professional. He failed to 
adhere to high standards of commercial honor and just and equitable principles of trade, thereby 
violating FINRA Rule 2010. 

H. Supervisory Violations (Second And Third Causes Of Action-DiBlasi And 
Cruz) 

1. NASD Rule 3010 Imposes Supervisory Duties 

NASD Rule 301O(a) mandates that each member finn "shall establish and maintain a 
system to supervise" the activities of its associated persons. It flU1her mandates that a firm's 
supervisory system be "reasonably designed to achieve compliance with the applicable securities 
laws and regulations, and with applicable NASD Rules." 

Rule 301OCa)Cl) provides that a finn's supervisory system "shall provide, at a minimum," 
for the "establishment and maintenance of written procedures." Rule 301 O(b) details 
requirements for WSPs. Rule 30 lOCb)(1) requires that a member finn "shall establish, maintain, 
and enforce written procedures to supervise the types of business in which it engages." Those 
WSPs must be "reasonably designed to achieve compliance with applicable securities laws and 
regulations, and with the applicable Rules ofNASD." 

Rule 30 lOCb )(3) ftu1her requires that the WSPs set f011h the titles, registration status, 
locations and responsibilities of each of its supervisolY personnel, and that assigrunents be made 

495 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 1675. 

496 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 220. 

497 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 661-62; Hearing Tr. (Frankel) 2349-50. 
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covering all relevant areas of the finn's business and the applicable securities laws and FINRA 
Rules_ Finns are required to preserve a record of these designations and their effective dates for 
at least three years. Under Rule 301O(b)(4), a finn is required to amend its WSPs as changes 
occur in its supervisory system. 

Broadly speaking, WSPs are a written set of policies and procedures that describe 
concrete steps to supervise a finn's activities. They identify who is responsible for taking those 
steps and set up a system of documentation to allow for review and ensure proper 
implementation. Every broker-dealer finn must create, maintain, update, and adhere to those 
policies and procedures.498 Those policies and procedures contribute to the establishment and 
maintenance of a supervisory system that is reasonably designed to achieve compliance with the 
laws, regulations, and lUles applicable to the finn's business. To achieve accountability and 
ensure compliance, the WSPs must be clear and accurate regarding the allocation of supervisory 
responsibilities. 

2. DiBlasi's Violation 

a. Charge 

The Second Cause of Action charges that Scottsdale and DiBlasi, the Finn's ceo, 
violated NASD Rules 3010(a) and (b) and FINRA Rule 2010. The Complaint alleges that 
DiBlasi failed to establish a supervisOly system, including WSPs, reasonably designed to ensure 
compliance with Section 5. This failure occurred even though DiBlasi knew that the Firm had 
been sanctioned once before in settling prior charges of selling unregistered nonexempt 
securities. Among other things, the Complaint charges that the Finn's WSPs were deficient 
because they did not set forth clear responsibilities for its persolmel and did not provide for a 
reasonable inquiry into beneficial ownership. TIle Complaint alleges that the WSPs did not 
require that the Finn's personnel take steps to independently verify the self-serving 
representations made by parties interested in the transactions and did not address the possible use 
of nominees to obscure the identity of the tlUe beneficial owners of unregistered securities 
deposited at the Finn for resale. Enforcement proved the charge. 

b. DiBlasi Had Responsibility For The Firm's WSPs 

TIlroughoutthe relevant period, DiBlasi was the Finn's ceo; and he is stil1 the Finn's 
CCO. DiBlasi contends, however, that he has never had responsibility for the Firm's Rule 144 
business. He asselis that he does only what he calls "broker-dealer compliance," and not Rule 
144 compliance.499 According to DiBlasi, the Film's fonner president, ClUZ, had responsibility 

498 Dep'tofEnforcementv. Ranni, No. 20080117243,2012 FINRADiscip. LEXIS 6, at *15-16 (OHO Mar. 9, 
2012). 

499 Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1921-22, 1927, 1952-53, 1976-77. DiBlasi described what he meant by broker-dealer 
compliance. He makes sure that the Fiml's filings, such as the Fonn BD and the Forms U4 and US, are done. He 
maintains records and makes sure correspondence and em ails are reviewed. He summed up his work as taking care 
of all the "back office" tasks. Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1976-77. 
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for Rule 144 procedures and everyone deferred to him.500 DiBlasi agreed that ClUZ had a 
longstanding practice regarding responsibilities for Rule 144 compliance.50l 

We reject DiBlasi's assel1ion that he had no responsibility for the Fum's procedures in 
connection with the Finn's Rule 144 business for two reasons. First, in the circumstances of this 
case, the assertion isinconsistentwith his designation as the Finn's Chief Compliance Officer; 
and, second, the asseltion is inconsistent with the WSPs themselves, as is plain from reading 
them. 

First, DiBlasi is the sole person disclosed on the Film's Fonn BD as CCO. There is no 
co_CCO.502 That means that DiBlasi has been identified to the Finn's regulator as the one person 
responsible for establishing and maintaining the Film's WSPs. 

The Finn's WSPs were required to cover its Rule 144 business, since the Finn's business 
is almost entirely the liquidation of unregistered microcap stocks. DiBlasi acknowledged in his 
testimony that during the relevant period 95% of the transactions Scottsdale did for its customers 
involved peilly stocks, and penny stocks accounted for most of the Finn's revenue. 503 That 
business required heightened attention to compliance issues, as DiBlasi knew. The Film had 
previously settled regulatory charges that it had improperly sold unregistered securities without 
an applicable exemption.504 

In these circumstances, the designation CCO can'ied with it responsibility for the WSPs 
relating to the Finn's Rule 144 business. DiBlasi's abdication of responsibility as to that business 
is fundamentally incompatible with what it means to be the Fiml's CCO. 

We reject DiBlasi's assertion that Enforcement is trying to hold him liable by virtue of 
his title alone. 505 Rule 3010 requires the designation and disclosure of a person responsible for 
establishing and maintaining a finn's procedures. By definition under the Rule, the person 
disclosed as the CCO has responsibility for the Firm's WSPs. The Rule further sets a standard 
for the design ofthose procedures, which must be reasonably designed to achieve compliance 
with the laws and regulations applicable to the finn's business. TIle designation and disclosure of 
a finn's ceo is more than a meaningless title. It is one of the building blocks of a supervisory 
system reasonably designed to achieve compliance, and the CCO designation carries with it 

500 Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1944-47, 1952-53, 1965-66. 

501 Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1970. According to DiBlasi, his predecessor as ceo had no responsibility for Rule 144 
compliance either. ld. 

502 Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1981. 

503 Hearing Tf. (DiBlasi) 1923, 1946. 

,)04 Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1923-24; CX-12. 

505 Resp. PH Br. 38 n220. 
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responsibilities. If DiBlasi is not carrying out those responsibilities, then the disclosure on the 
Finn's Fonn BD is false and misleading.s06 

Second, throughout the relevant period the Fiml's WSPs expressly provided that the 
CCO-DiBlasi-had the duty to establish, maintain, and enforce all ofthe Film's WSPs. There 
were two sets of WSPs during the relevant period, the May 2013 WSPs thatwere in effect in 
October 2013 when DiBlasi became CCO, and the modified WSPs that became effective in May 
2014. The main body of both sets of WSPs expressly assigned to the CCO responsibility to 
"[e]stablish, maintain and update, as required the fiml rules and procedures" and specified that 
that responsibility included Appendix A and Appendix B to the WSPs. S07 Appendix A to both 
sets ofWSPs listed prillcipals and branches.s08 Appendix B to both sets ofWSPs expressly 
assigned to DiBlasi, by name, the responsibility to "[ e] stablish, maintain and update, as requil'ed, 
the firm rules and procedures. "S09 Appendix B assigned to Cruz, Diekmann, and others various 
operational tasks in conducting Rule 144 due diligence, but it did not assign them responsibility 
for the WSPs.S10 

DiBlasi conceded that there was no written delegation in the 2013 WSPs that gave 
responsibility for Rule 144 policies and procedures to anyone other than the CCO.51

! Moreover, 
the 2013 WSPs expressly imposed cel1ain specific responsibilities on the CCO in comlection 
with sales of unregistered securities. The main body of the WSPs included a specific section 
dealing with Rule 144 stock that was headed "Rule 144 Restricted and Control Stock Sales."S12 
In that section, the 2013 WSPs stated that the CCO was responsible for establishing procedures 
reasonably designed to ensure that a stock certificate was validly issued and owned by the 
customer. 513 Importantly, the 2013 WSPs also provided that the CCO should establish 

S06 The cases cited by Respondents are not relevant here. The cases did not involve the issue of whether a eeo was 
responsible for a finn's WSPs. Dep 't of Enforcement v. Mutual Senl• Corp., No. EAF040063000 1, 2008 FINRA 
Discip. LEXIS 62, at "'90-93 (OHO Dec. 16,2008) (compliance departrrient subordinates who were told to abandon 
red flag blotter review did not have supervisory responsibility for that review); Dep 't of Enforcement v. Kemweis, 
No. C02980024, 2000 NASD Discip. LEXIS 49, at *67-70 (OHO Feb. 16,2000) (Director of Compliance held not 
to have line responsibility for unsuitable trading by registered representatives). 

S07 CX-179, at 6 ("The Chief Compliance Officer ('CCO') is responsible for the establishment and maintenance [of 
Scottsdale's] policies and procedures. "); eX-I 80, at 6 (same). 

S08 CX-I79, at 158; eX-I 80, at 151. 

509 Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1930; CX-18I, at 2 (DiBlasi assigned to "[ e ]stablish, maintain and update, as required the 
firm rules and procedures, includes Appendices A and B"); CX-182, at 2 (same). It appears that AppendixB to the 
May 2013 WSPs were modified on November 13, 2013, to identify DiBlasi by name as responsible for the WSPs. 
CX-181, footer bearing date of"11/13/2013." 

jl0 CX-I81, at 8-9; eX-182, at 8-9. For example, Appendix B assigned to Diekmann responsibility for Rule 144 
stock deposit due diligence and approval. eX-181, at 9; eX-182, at 9. 

m Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1933, 1945, 1955-56. 

m CX-179, at 63-65 (Rule 144 Restricted and Control Stock Sales, 8.18 through 8.18.11). 

Sl3 eX-179, at 64 (8.18.2). 
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procedures to ensure that the resale of such a security was made in reasonable reliance on an 
exemption from registration.514 111e 2013 WSPs fmiher provided that the eeo should be notified 
and consulted regarding the processing of Rule 144 sales.515 They also specified that the ceo 
was responsible for "developing and implementing policies and procedures that provide for the 
review, approval and resale of Rule 144transactions.,,516 

Nevertheless, DiBlasi argues that he was not responsible for the 2013 WSPs because he 
inherited them. 517 The fact that the 2013 WSPs already existed when DiBlasi became eeo, 
however, does not absolve him of responsibility to examine them, and, if necessary, to amend 
them.Sl8 As noted above, Rule 3010 contemplates that amendments should be made to WSPs if 
there are changes in a firm's supervisory processes, so that the WSPs accurately reflect what the 
firm is doing. Indeed, shortly after DiBlasi became the Film's eeo, in November 20l3, the Finn 
modified Appendix B to identify DiBlasi by name as the person responsible for establishing, 
maintaining, and updating the Fiml's WSPs, including Appendices A and B.519 If Cruz had 
responsibility for WSPs to the extent that they related to its Rule 144 business, the correction 
could and should have been made in November 2013. 

DiBlasi also attempts to explain away aspects ofthe 2013 WSPs that contradict his 
position-such as the specific assignment of Rule 144 compliance tasks to the CCO. He testified 
that the 2013 WSPs "didn't accurately reflect how the division of responsibility was set up 
throughout the company. And it needed to be cOlTected."S20 The 2013 WSPs, however, clearly 
stated that DiBlasi was responsible for the Firm's policies and procedures and made him 
specifically responsible for policies and procedures relating to the Film's Rule 144 business. His 
disclaimer of responsibility cannot oven'ide that plain statement. 

Approximately six months after DiBlasi became CCO, in May 2014, the WSPs were 
modified.52l Even then, however, the WSPs did not clearly reflect the division of responsibility 
that DiBlasi described in his testimony. The WSPs did not say that Cruz had responsibility for all 
aspects of Rule 144 compliance, including the WSPs relating to Rule 144. 

In place ofthe ceo, the main body of the modified WSPs designated the "General 
Principal" as responsible for developing procedures to ensure that a stock certificate was validly 
issued and owned by the customer, and that the resale of such a security was made in reasonable 

514 Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1940-41; CX-179, at 64 (8.18.2). 

SIS CX-179, at 64 (8.18.3). 

516 CX-179, at 64 (8.18.3). 

517 Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1932-33. See Resp. PH Br. 38-39. 

518 Ranni, 2012 FINRA Discip. LEXIS 6, at *27 & n.93. 

519 CX-182, at 2. 

520 Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1969. 

521 Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1921, 1932-33, ]939-42. 
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reliance on an exemption.522 Similarly, the modified WSPs instructed that the General Principal 
should be consulted in connection with Rule 144 transactions. Under the modified WSPs, the 
General Principal was responsible for developing and implementing Rule 144 policies and 
procedures. 523 

Although the title "General Principal" might appear to refer toa single person, the Jenn 
General Principal was defined in the modified WSPs as the "Management Committee. ,,524 The 
WSPs declared that the Management Committee had been set up to serve in the role of president 
ofthe Fiml. 525 The Management Committee was defined in yet another location to consist of 
four persons-including DiBlasi. 526 Accordingly, even under the modified WSPs, as a member 
of the Management Committee, DiBlasi still retained some vaguely defined responsibility for 
Rule 144 transactions. 

DiBlasi relies on the delegation to the Management Committee in arguing that he had no 
responsibility for compliance matters related to the Finn's Rule 144 business. He maintains that 
the specific assignment of responsibility for the WSPs to him by name in Appendix B did not 
"overwrite" the provision in the main body ofthe WSPs referring to the Management 
Committee.527 

Given the ambiguity ofthe delegation of responsibility in the main body ofthe WSPs
ostensibly to the General Principal but actually to a committee that included DiBlasi-we think 
the clear, explicit assignment of responsibility for the WSPs to DiBlasi by name contained in 
Appendix B forecloses DiBlasi's argument. That conclusion is bolstered by the description in the 
main body ofthe WSPs of the CCO's duties, which include responsibility for the Finn's policies 
and procedures. 

DiBlasi's argument also is undelmined by the fact that he took actions in connection with 
celtificate deposits. For example, he signed a foreign account application by Unicom under the 
label "Compliance Approval. ,,528 Fm1hennore, others at the Film reached out to him in 
connection with issues regarding certificate deposits. For example, Diekmann had concems 
about a deposit because Ruzicka said that the customer was pressing to sta11 trading a stock when 

522 CX-180, at 64 (8.IS.2). 

523 CX-ISO, at 64 (8.18.3). 

524 CX-180, at 7 (Compliance and Supervision 1.1.2). 

525 Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1972; CX-180, at 7. 

526 Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1933-34, 1939-40, 1942-43. The other mem bers of the Management Comm ittee were Cruz, 
Jay Noiman, and Elizabeth Arndt. Hearing Tr. (Noiman) 1065-66; Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1972. 

s27Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1974-75. 

S2S Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1956-57. DiBlasi maintained that his signature meant nothing more than that a foreign 
financial institution was involved. Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1957. Whatever it meant, DiBlasi's signature appeared 
under the heading "Compliance ApprovaL" and it demonstrated that he was involved in some type of compliance 
review in connection with the Firm's penny stock accounts. 
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there was zero market for it, so Diekmann forwarded the con'espondence to DiBlasi. Diekmann 
said that he did so because he thought Ruzicka's comment called into question whether the 
deposit should have been approved by Scottsdale in the first place. He sent the email to DiBlasi 
because DiBlasi was the CCO. 529 

c. . The Firm's WSPsWereNot Reasonably Designed To Ensure 
Compliance With Section 5 

i. The WSPs Did Not Accurately Reflect The Way The Finn 
Conducted Its Rule 144 Business 

TIle Firm's WSPs were not reasonably designed to ensure compliance with Section 5 
because they did not accurately reflect the way the Finn conducted its Rule 144 business. 
DiBlasi testified that Cmz was the principal responsible for Rule 144 compliance and the 
establishment of policies and procedures relating to that business. ClUZ testified that DiBlasi 
never had any role in the Rule 144 review process.530 Cruz created the procedures for Rule 144 
transactions that were in effect during the relevant period, the Finn's OTC Restricted Stock 
Deposit Procedures, dated November 2012.531 He testified, however, that during the relevant 
period DiBlasi had responsibility for updating them.532 

Accepting Respondents' testimony about the allocation of responsibilities, during the 
relevant period the WSPs should have clearly said which aspects of the WSPs were Cmz's 
responsibility and which were DiBlasi's. Neither the 2013 WSPs nor the modified WSPs had any 
clear indication of who was responsible for what. 

DiBlasi admitted that the 2013 WSPs did not accurately reflect the way the Finn was 
operating its Rule 144 business. 533 We further find that the modified WSPs also did not 
accurately reflect the way the Finn operated its business. 

DiBlasi's testimony revealed that the modified WSPs allocated responsibility to a 
committee that no longer existed. DiBlasi testified that in January 2014 the Management 
Committee disbanded. He said that Justine Hurry took on the Committee's responsibilities in 
Febmary 2014. Then, in March 2014, Cmz officially becanle president ofthe Finn and took on 

529 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 782-87; CX-222a. 

530 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 563-64. 

5Jl Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 582; RX-27. 

532 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 665-66; RX-27. 

Confusion over who had responsibility for the WSPs apparently is nothing new at the Finn. Cruz did not remember 
who the CCO was at the time he created the Rule 144 procedures, and he did not recall anyone specifically 
delegating to him the responsibility for creating the procedures. Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 665-66. When asked who now 
has responsibility to update the Rule 144 procedures, Cruz testified, "1 believe that responsibility now falls on Henry 
Diekmann as president and also as head of the 144 cert team." Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 584. 

533 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 783-86; CX-222a. 
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the responsibilities of the Management Committee. The Committee never reconstituted itself 
again-and yet in May 2014 the Finn put in place the modified WSPs that supposedly gave Rule 
144 compliance responsibility to the Management Committee.534 

Even uthe Management Committee had been functioning in May 2014, we find that the 
-modifiedWSPsweremisleading regarding the allocation of responsibilities, and, therefore,llQt 
reasonably designed to achieve compliance. They purpOlted to designate a registered principal as 
responsible for compliance with Rule 144. Rule 3010 requires that supervisolY responsibilities 
be delegated to an appropriately registered principal. But, in fact, the WSPs delegated 
responsibility for Rule 144 procedures to a group of people. In so doing, the WSPs obscured who 
had responsibility, making it more difficult to hold anyone accountable for compliance oversight 
over the bulk ofthe Finn's business. 

This failure to clearly indicate who was responsible for Rule 144 compliance is 
particularly egregious here. It would have been relatively simple to designate ClUZ the 
responsible principal, since everyone agreed that he was. 

It is fundamental that a finn's WSPs must clearly designate responsibilities to 
appropriately registered persons and must accurately reflect the way a member finn conducts its 
business. That is why Rule 3010 specifies that supervisOlY responsibilities be assigned to an 
appropriately registered principal. The person responsible for supervising a patticular line of 
business must have the appropriate background to do it. That is also why a finn's WSPs must 
address the particular business and the particular circumstances of a finu. Only then will the 
WSPs be well designed to reasonably ensure compliance.535 

ii. The WSPs Did Not Require A Reasonable Inquiry Into 
Beneficial Ownership 

We also find that Scottsdale's WSPs were not reasonably designed to achieve compliance 
with Section 5 because the WSPs failed to require a reasonable inquiry into the identity of the 
purported beneficial owners of the stock the Finn was selling. The WSPs do not discuss the 
concept of nominees, and the Film's principals responsible for approval of stock deposits did not 
focus on the potential problem of nominees in conducting their review. TIle due diligence files 
for the transactions at issue demonstrate that the Fiml's general practice for reviewing stock 
deposits was inadequate to identify and investigate situations in which nominees might be 
concealing the identity of the true beneficial owners of securities. Diekmann testified that he 
knew nothing about the purported beneficial owner of Sky Walker but that the person was a 

534 Hearing Tr_ (DiBlasi) 1973. DiBlasi's testimony that Justine Hurry briefly served as president of the Finn in 
February 2014 is corroborated by the Firm's Fonn BD Amendment dated February 13,2014, which lists Justine 
Hurry as president, as well as a director, of the Firm. eX-17, at 3. That document identifies eruz as legal counsel 
since May 2008. CX-17, at 3. 

m See NASD Notice to Members 99-45 (June 1999), http://www.firrra.org/sites/defaultlfiles/NoticeDocumenti 
p004311 .pdf. 
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customer ofUnicoln. The lack of focus on the potential use of nominees to conceal the identity 
of the hue beneficial owners is pal1icularly egregious in light of the four prior SEC actions 
charging that nominees had been used to facilitate fraud and manipulation. 

The Finn's listing of every FFI on its red flag list was not sufficient to address beneficial 
ownership or to ensure that an unlawful distribution was not OCCUlTing. TheWSPsdid not 
indicate why or what should be done in response to the red flag designation. When asked what 
additional scmtiny comes from the red flag designation, Diekmann could not think of any. He 
said that the designation "just reflects the heightened risk.,,536 To recognize a heightened risk but 
provide no guidance for dealing with it is not reasonable. WSPs must provide a "reliable 
mechanism" for identifying securities sales that should be investigated or halted. 537 

3. Cruz's Violation 

The Third Cause of Action charges that Cmz failed to adequately and meaningfully 
analyze the collected documents alld infonnation. Consequently, he and the staff he supelvised 
failed to respond appropriately to red flags strongly indicating that the transactions were not 
entitled to all exemption. He approved the deposits for resale based on a cursory collection and 
verification effort. Enforcement proved the charges. 

There is no dispute that Cmz supelvised the processing of deposits for resale pursuant to 
Rule 144. He drafted the Film's procedures for handling restricted stock sold pursuant to Rule 
144 and otherfonns used to process deposits. For each transaction, he also met with the person 
who had put together the due diligence file to support the Rule 144 exemption. After talking with 
the person, he gave the final approval that allowed Scottsdale to trade the securities without 
registration. He was critical to the transactions, and, even though the WSPs did not identify him 
as the responsible person, everyone at the Finn looked to Cmz as the person responsible for Rule 
144 compliance. 

CIUZ violated his responsibility in two ways. 

First, Cmz failed to analyze whether the debt obligations that fonned the foundation for 
tacking were securities. In light of the circumstances, this failure was egregious. Diekmann, who 
is 110t a lawyer, was incapable of recognizing alld con'ecting Cmz's error. The members of the 
Rule 144 team who were lawyers did not have experience with penny stocks before they came to 
the Finn and were trained by Cmz and the Finn's personnel. Everyone depended on Cmz's 
analysis and expeltise. As an experienced securities lawyer, Cmz should have recognized the 
problem. But he failed to meaningfully analyze the infonllation in the due diligence packages. 

Second, Cmz failed to react appropriately to myriad red flags. As set forth above in 
connection with each transaction, the stock deposits were rife witll discrepancies alld suspicious 

536 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) 990. 

537 Midas Sec. , 2012 SEC LEXIS 199, at *51. 
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circumstances that constituted red flags. However, Cruz and his staff did not make the required 
"searching inquiry" or obtain independent verification. 

Cruz's failure is egregious because he knew that the Finn was acting as a gatekeeper, 538 

and that broker-dealer finns playa critical role in helping to prevent illegal unregistered resales 
of restricted securities into the public markets.539He also acknowledged that at the time ofthe 
events at issue he was aware of the red flags in Regulatory Notice 09_05.540 It is well established 
that the "duty of supervision includes the responsibility to investigate 'red flags' that suggest that 
misconduct may be occurring and to act upon the results. ,,541 

Cruz argues, however, that he was an effective supervisor. He notes that he created the 
Rule 144 manual, the due diligence questionnaire, and beneficial ownership declaration, and that 
the Firm dedicated one-third of its staff to performing due diligence reviews on stock deposits. 
He states that he inserted himself into the review process as a second set of eyes and additional 
resource when Scottsdale began accepting stock deposits from customers ofsub-FFIs. He also 
asserts that the due diligence packages at issue contained all the required paperwork and that 
there is no instance of an issue being brought to Cruz's attention and him ignoring it. Finally, he 
maintains that the "rigor" of the stock deposit reviews under his leadership is demonstrated by 
the fact that Scottsdale frequently rejected stock deposits. 542 

All of this is beside the point. Cruz is charged with failing to respond appropriately to 
specific red flags identified in connection with the transactions at issue. The mere creation of 
paperwork does 110t qualify as effective supervision. As FINRA noted in conjunction with 
Regulatory Notice 09-05, in Rule 144 transactions, representations made by the interested patties 
have to be evaluated with a skeptical eye. Independent verification may be required. Instead, 
Cruz guided the staff through a check-the-box exercise. 

Even when Cruz acknowledged that something might be a red flag, he indicated that his 
response would not be to obtain independent verification. Rather, his response would be merely 
to remind the interested parties of the infotmation that needed to be disclosed. TIlis is a totally 
inadequate response to a red flag. 

Cruz's testimony regarding language on Unicom's website illustrates the problem. The 
language on the website indicated that Unicom would appoint nominees for its customers so that 
their names would not appear as an officer or director of the company 011 their account at 

538 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 86. 

5J9 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 89. 

540 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 84-90. 

541 KeD Fin, Inc. , 2016 FINRA Discip. LEXIS 38, at ~'70 (quoting Michael T. Studer, 57 S.E.C. 1011, 1023-24 
(2004), aff'd, 260 F. App'x 342 (2d Cir. 2008». See also Ronald Pellegrino, Exchange Act Release No. 59125, 
2008 SEC LEXIS 2843, at *33 (Dec. 19, 2008). 

542 Resp. PH Br. 40-41 . 
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Unicorn. C11lZ said he did not recall seeing that language at the time he reviewed Unicorn's 
deposits, but he agreed that if he had it "could have been" a red flag. In response to that red flag, 
however, he did not say that he would have sought independent verification of the identity of 
Unicom's customers. Rather, he indicated that Scottsdale would merely emphasize to the 
interested parties that "they needed to - to disclose the underlying beneficial owner. ,,543 In other 
words, he would continue to rely on the representations of the . interested parties. 

C11lZ argues that he supervised more actively than did respondents in other disciplinary 
proceedings in which supervisory violations were found. 544 Even if that were true (which we are 
not persuaded it is), the fact that other supervisors in other cases did even less than Cruz to 
respond to red flags is no excuse. The standard for reasonable supervision is not merely 
something marginally better than bad. Moreover, whether supervision is reasonable depends on 
I . I . f h 545 tIe partlcu ar circumstances 0 eac ca,se. 

Cruz also argues that Enforcement is improperly second-guessing ClUZ'S exercise of 
reasoned business judgment, and that Enforcement has failed to provide affirnlative evidence 
that his judgments were incorrect. 546 This argument is erroneous in two regards. 

First, the argument ignores the record. The transactions at issue were rife with red flags 
that could not be ignored, but Cruz did ignore them. 

Second, the argument confuses the burden on the Finn when it detennined that an 
exemption existed with the burden of proof in litigation. Cruz, acting on behalf of the Firm, had 
the burden of developing a reasonable basis for believing that an exemption existed before the 
securities could be sold without registration. Enforcement proved that he and the Finn did not 
have a reasonable basis for believing that an exemption existed, but nevel1heless Cruz approved 
the sale of the securities at issue without registration. That is all that Enforcement had to prove 
for the supervisory violation. 

In sum, Cruz did not make sure that the transactions met the legal requirements for an 
exchange of securities, and he was oblivious to numerous red flags strongly suggesting that the 
transactions at issue were sham transactions using nominees to effect unlawful distributions of 
securities without registration. He violated his supervisory duties. 

IV. SANCTIONS 

In considering the appropriate sanction for a violation, adjudicators in FINRA 
disciplinary proceedings look to FINRA's Sanction Guidelines ("Guidelines"). TIle Guidelines 

543 Hearing Ir. (Cruz) 307-08. 

544 Resp. PH Br. 41 n.236. 

545 E.g., Dep 't of Enforcement". Wedbush Sec., Inc., No. 20070094044, 2014 FINRA Discip. LEXIS 40, at *27-28 
(NACDec. 11,2014). 

546 Resp. PH Br. 41. 
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contain recommendations for sanctions for many specific violations, depending on the 
circumstances. They also contain overarching Principal Considerations and General Principles, 
both of which are applicable in all cases.547 

TIle Guidelines are intended to be applied with attention to the regulatory mission of 
FINRA~to protect investors and strengthen market integrity. 548 The Guidelines caution that 
sanctions must be significant enough to prevent and discourage future misconduct by a 
respondent and to deter others from similar misconduct. Sanctions also should encourage 
improved business practices.549 

Applying the Guidelines, we first discuss below the appropriate sanctions for the Firm, 
DiBlasi, and Cruz. We separately discuss the sanction for HUlTY. 

A. Scottsdale 

As authorized by the Guidelines, we aggregate all the Firm's violations.55o The violations 
are inextricably intertwined and are the result of a systemic failure at the Firm-the Film's 
failure to have procedures in place that would reasonably ensure compliance and the Finn '8 

failure to respond appropriately to red flags led to the Finn's failure to have a reasonable basis 
for an exemption before selling the securities. Furthermore, as discussed below, the Panel 
believes stringent sanctions are walTanted here, and separately sanctioning the Film for the 
different violations, even at the high end of the range of recommended sanctions, would not 
adequately remediate the Finn's misconduct. We view the Finn's systemic failure to pelfolnl its 
gatekeeping function better addressed as a whole, rather than in piecemeal fashion. 

The Finn violated FINRA Rule 2010 because, in connection with the transactions at 

issue, it did not have a reasonable basis for an exemption. Selling securities without registration 
and without an exemption violated Section 5. TIle Guidelines contain specific recommendations 
for this type of violation. TIle Guidelines recommend a fine of $2,500 to $73,000, but in 
egregious cases the fine may be higher. In egregious cases, a fiml may also be suspended with 
respect to any or all activities or functions for up to 30 business days or until procedural 
deficiencies are remedied. 551 

The Finn, through DiBlasi, failed to have in place WSPs reasonably designed to achieve 
compliance with Section 5. For deficient WSPs, the Guidelines reconunend a fine ranging from 
$1,000 to $37,000. They also suggest that adjudicators consider suspending a firm with respect 

~47 FINRA Sanction Guidelines (2016) ("Guidelines"), hUp:llwww.fima.orgiindustry/sanction-guidelines. 

S48 Guidelines at I, OveIYiew. 

S49 Guidelines at 2, General Principle No. I . 

~~o Guidelines at 4, General Principle NO. 4. 

m Guidelines at 24. 
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to any or all relevant activities or functions for up to 30 business days or until the supervisory 
procedures are amended to confonn to the rule requirements. 552 

The Fiml, through Cruz, failed to supervise its Rule 144 process appropriately. The Finn, 
through Cruz, failed to adequately and meaningfully analyze the infonnation collected and thus 
failed to respond appropriately to red flags that the transactions were unlawful distributions. For 
a failure to supervise, the Guidelines recommend a fine of $5,000 to $73,000. In egregious cases, 
they suggest that adjudicators consider suspending a fmn with respect to any or all relevant 
activities or functions for up to 30 business days. An even longer suspension may be imposed, up 
to two years, or the fmn may be expelled, where the case involves systemic supervision 
failures. 553 

We find the Fiml's violations to be egregious. We also find that there are a large number 
of aggravating factors that increase the need for stringent sanctions. There are no mitigating 
factors. 

1. Aggravatblg Factors 

a. Specific Principal Considerations Related To Section 5 
Violations 

One of the specific Principal Considerations in a case involving a Section 5 violation is 
whether the respondent attempted to comply with an exemption.554 We conclude here that the 
Finn did not truly attempt to comply. Rather, it created the appearance of compliance. Although 
the Film created thick due diligence packages, it did not meaningfully evaluate the infOlmation 
in those packages. If it had, it would have known it could not sell the securities without further 
investigation and the development of a reasonable basis for an exemption. We further find it 
aggravating that the Fiml expended its resources 011 creating the appearance of compliance, 
rather than true compliance, because such conduct is deceptive and displays a lack of regard for 
the applicable law and regulatory requirements. This aggravating factor applies not only to the 
Finn but to Cruz, on whom everyone at the Film depended for Rule 144 compliance. 

Another specific Principal Consideration is the share volume and dollar amount of the 
transactions involved.555 The transactions at issue involved millions of shares and resulted in 

m Guidelines at 103. 

m Guidelines at 102. 

554 Guidelines at 24. 

m Guidelines at 24. See also Guidelines at 7, General Principal Consideration 18. 
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proceeds of more than $1.75 million.556 The amounts involved are substantial and constitute an 
aggravating factor. 

A third specific Principal Consideration is whether the respondent implemented 
reasonable procedures to ensure that it did not participate in an unregistered distribution.557 TIle 
Firm's procedures were not reasonable. To the contrary, they seemed designed to obscure who 
was responsible for Rule 144 compliance and they failed to require specific, reliable evidence to 
support the application of an exemption. Nor did the Finn implement good practices. 
Scottsdale's staff uncritically relied on the self-serving representations of the interested parties. 
When they did notice a discrepancy, the staff assumed an innocent explanation or accepted a 
plainly unreliable representation from the interested parties, rather than pursuing the "searching 
inquiry" that was required. This aggravating factor applies to DiBlasi, as the CCO, and to Cruz, 
as the person ultimately responsible for Rule 144 compliance, as well as the Firm. 

A fourth specific Principal Consideration is whether the respondent disregarded red flags 
suggesting the presence of an unregistered distribution.558 As discussed above, the Fiml 
repeatedly failed to identify and disregarded numerous red flags indicating that the transactions 
were unlawful distributions of securities. The multiplicity of red flags is another aggravating 
factor. TIlis aggravating factor applies to Cruz as well as the Fiml. 

b. Specific Principal Considerations Related To Deficient WSPs 

One of the specific Principal Considerations relating to deficient WSPs is whether those 
deficiencies allowed violative conduct to occur or to escape detection. We find here that the 
WSPs allowed violations to occur. The failure to provide guidance on dealing with discrepancies 
and suspicious circumstances allowed those involved with Rule 144 review to proceed in a rote 
fashion, without analyzing the infonnation they col1ected. This aggravating factor applies to both 
the Finn and DiBlasi. 

Another specific Principal Consideration is whether the deficiencies made it difficult to 
detennine the individuals responsible for specific areas of supervision or compliance. We find 
that the failure to clearly and accurately delineate responsibility lessened transparency and 
accountability, making regulatory oversight more difficult. It is particularly aggravating that the 
person designated CCO should disclaim responsibility for the vast majority of the Firm's 
business. This aggravating factor applies to both the Finn and DiBlasi. 

556 JX-268 (NHPI-Related Activity in CSCT Account: Total Net Proceeds of$264,711 .70); lX-28I (VPLM-Related 
Activity in CSCT Account: Total Net Proceeds of $1,408, 173.39); JX-31O (ORFG-Related Activity in CSCT 
Account: Total Net Proceeds of $91,408.43). 

557 Guidelines at 24. See also Guidelines at 6, General Principal Consideration 5. 

558 Guidelines at 24. 

103 

- 971a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:52:37 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:52:37 PM



.. _ .... _-------------, 

c. Specific Principal Considerations Related To Failure To 
Supervise 

One of the specific Principal Considerations in connection with a failure to supervise is 
whether the respondent ignored red flags waming ofthe need for additional supervisory scrutiny. 
Another is the nature, extent,size, and characteroftlle underlying misconduct. Both of these are 
aggravating factors in this case. The Finn, through Cruz, ignored multiple red flags that the 
transactions required additional scrutiny. The transactions were substantial and were typical of 
the bulk of the Fiml's business. The supervisory failure was in fact built into the FimI's standard 
practice for processing Rule 144 stock deposits, which is an aggravating factor. These 
aggravating factors apply to both the Film and Cruz. 

d. General Principal Considerations 

Several general Principal Considerations are relevant to this case. 559 Principal 
Consideration 1 is a respondent's relevant disciplinary history.56o Scottsdale has a disciplinary 
history, and some of that history involves misconduct like the misconduct here. As noted above, 
in the 2011 AWC the Finn settled charges that it had sold unregistered securities and that it had 
inadequate supervisory procedures and WSPs to detect and prevent the sale of unregistered 
securities. The Finn resolved other charges in the 2009,2012, and 2015 A WCs. Finally, 
although the Finn was not charged in connection with the four SEC cases, Ruettiger, Gibraltar I, 
Gibraltar II, and Tavella, those cases did involve alleged misconduct through accounts at the 
Finn. These cases put the Finn on notice of the risk of sham transactions and the use of 
nominees to conceal beneficial ownership and facilitate unlawful distributions of securities. They 
heightened the need for the Finn to be alert to red flags. In light of this history, it is aggravating 
that Scottsdale petfonned its gatekeeping function so poorly. 

Principal Consideration 2 concems whether a respondent has accepted responsibility for 
and acknowledged the misconduct prior to detection and intervention. The Finn here has not. It 
maintains that its procedures are "market-leading" and create an "unfriendly environment" for 
stock manipulation. 561 The facts do not support that characterization. 

Fut1hennore, in light of the fact that the transactions at issue involved persons who have 
been indicted for engaging in securities fraud and other crimes, it is patticularly aggravating that 
the Finn's cutTent president, Diekmann, testified that if any of the three deposits at issue were 
presented to him today-NHPI, VPLM, or ORFG-he would approve it. He expressed no 
qualms.562 This means that the person in charge of approving stock deposits as satisfying the 
Rule 144 exemption is likely to commit the same violations again. 

559 Guidelines at 6-7. 

560 Guidelines at 6, General Principal Consideration] . 

561 Resp. PH Br. 37-38. 

562 Hearing Ir. (Diekmann) ] 799-80. 

104 

- 972a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:52:37 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:52:37 PM



.- ...... - ._----------, 

Adding to our concems in this regard, Cruz echoed Diekmalll. Cruz said that, despite the 
evidence presented to him during his testimony relating to the five certificate deposits charged in 
the Complaint (three NHPI, one VPLM, and one ORFG), he believed that the Rule 144 
exemption applied and the transactions complied with Section 5.563 

Principal Consideration 8 is whether a respondent engaged innumerous acts or a pattern 
of misconduct. 564 Principal Consideration 16 is whether the misconduct is aben-ant behavioL 565 

Scottsdale engaged in a pattem of misconduct and it was not aben-ant behavior. Indeed, the Finn 
institutionalized its misconduct, by papering its files with documents that it did not meaningfully 
analyze. It is aggravating that the misconduct is actual1y the standard way the Finn conducts all 
its business. Moreover, Cruz testified that the pattem of deposits based on buying loan notes and 
exchanging them for stock was a typical transaction for the Finn. Because it was typical he saw 
nothing suspicious in it. l1lese aspects of the misconduct are aggravating as to both the Finn and 
Cruz. 

Principal Consideration 13 is whether the misconduct was the result of an intentional act, 
recklessness or negligence. 566 TIle Finn's misconduct was not the product of negligence. It acted 
intentionally when it created and implemented the procedures for reviewing deposits of stock 
certificates for resale that created a false appearance of compliance. This aggravating factor 
applies not only to the Finn but to both DiBlasi and Cruz. 

Principal Consideration 18 focuses on the number, size, and character of the 
transactions. 567 The transactions at issue had many red flags indicating that they were schemes to 
evade the securities laws and the scrutiny that comes with registration. Given that character, it is 
aggravating that, as a result of Scottsdale's failure to perfoml its gatekeeping function, millions 
of dollars of securities were sold to the investing public without the safeguards that accompany 
registration. 

e. General Principles 

TIle Guidelines instruct adjudicators to take i11to account certain General Principles 
applicable to all sanction detenninations.568 One of those General Principles is that disciplinary 
sanctions should be designed to deter misconduct, both by the respondent and by others, and 
should uphold high standards of business conduct. Adjudicators should impose sanctions that are 

563 Hearing Tf. (Cruz) 555. 

564 Guidelines at 6, General Principal Consideration 8. 

565 Guidelines at 7, General Principal Consideration 16. 

566 Guidelines at 7, General Principal Consideration 13. 

567 Guidelines at 7, General Principal Consideration 18. 

568 Guidelines at 2-5. 
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._- ------------, 

meaningful and significant enough to accomplish these goals, and the sanctions should reflect the 
seriousness of the misconduct at issue. s69 

The Finn's business is almost entirely the processing of penny stock deposits for resale 
into the public marketplace_ hllight of that fact, it is aggravating that the Finn had a check -the
box approach to its reviewofthe deposits,without meaningful analysis ofthe multitude of red 
flags. The confession by Diekmann, the CUITent president ofthe Finn, that, even after compiling 
a thick due diligence book, he knew nothing about the beneficial owner of one ofthe NHPI 
deposits is disturbing. It suggests that the person who now has authority to give final approval to 
stock deposits for resale has no understanding of what is required to ensure that the Finn does 
not participate in an unlawful distribution of securities without registration. The sanctions here 
must be stringent to deal with the seriousness of the misconduct and to show the Finn that it 
cannot simply continue with its business in its usual fashion. We believe that only a substantial 
sanction will deter the Finn from future misconduct. 

Another General Principle is that disciplinary sanctions should be more severe for 
recidivists in order to deter and prevent future misconduct. The imposition of more severe 
sanctions emphasizes the need for corrective action.57o As noted above, the Finn has a 
disciplinary history. It has been disciplined for selling unregistered securities and for other 
violations. In light of this history, it is appropriate to impose more severe sanctions. 

f. Overview 

The mission ofFINRA's regulatory and disciplinary process is to protect investors and 
promote market integrity. In fulfilling that mission, adjudicators are not limited to the sanctions 
recommended in the Guidelines. Based on the facts and circumstances presented in each case, 
adjudicators may impose sanctions that fall outside the ranges recommended and may consider 
aggravating and mitigating factors in addition to those listed in the Guidelines.571 

2. Potential :Mitigating Factor 

Principal Consideration 3, which is applicable to all sanctions detenninations, concerns 
whether, prior to detection or intervention by a regulator, a finn voluntarily employed con'ective 
measures to avoid reCUlTence of misconduct. This might be argued to be a mitigating factor. 

The Finn maintains that it enhanced its procedures after the SEC filed the complaints in 
the four cases involving nominees. In pruticular, it claims that it enhanced its reviews of stock 
promotions and notes that it ended all commissioned representatives at the Finn. It asserts that its 
requirement of a beneficial ownership declaration is a "market-leading practice" that has been 

569 Guidelines at 2, General Principle 1. 

570 Guidelines at 2, General Principle 2. 

m Guidelines at 1. 
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adopted as a recommended method for detelmining beneficial ownership. It also points to its use 
of a Red Flag List and a Stock Watch List as enhancements to its reviews. 572 

We find that whatever changes the Fum made in its procedures were insufficient to be 
mitigating. To some degree, they appear to be more of the same. They created the appearance of 

... compliance without actual- compliance. Even with the so-called enhancements, the Finn's 
procedures were woefully lacking. TIle record is replete with red flags that the Finn and Cruz 
ignored. 

3. Sanction 

In light ofthe egregious nature of the Finn's violation, the Finn's institutionalization of 
the misconduct as its standard way of doing business, and the other aggravating factors set f011h 
above, we believe that a stringent sanction is appropriate. Only such a sanction will serve the 
remedial purposes of the disciplinary process. The Finn must be detelTed from similar 
misconduct in the future. We impose on Scottsdale a fine of$1.5 million. 

B. Hun), 

Hurry's violation of his duty to observe high standards of conunercial honor and just and 
equitable principles oftrade was purposeful and egregious. These two qualities lead us to 
conclude that Hurry is a threat to investors and the integrity of the markets. Our concem is 
compounded by our credibility findings. We found that he repeatedly testified falsely, and that 
there was a pattem of doing so when he thought no contradictory evidence would come to light. 

When misconduct is intentional, General Principle 1 provides that adjudicators should 
assess sanctions that exceed the recommended range in the Guidelines. 573 Principal 
Consideration 13 also focuses 011 whether a respondent's misconduct is the result of an 
intentional act, recklessness, or negligence. 574 When a violation is egregious, the Guidelines 
often suggest more severe sanctions. In egregious cases in connection with violations of Rule 
2010 and Section 5, the specific Guidelines recommend that an individual be suspended for up to 
two years or barred. 

Even though he has no disciplinary history, the devious nature of Hurry's violation 
evidences disregard for regulatory requirements, an aggravating factor under General Principle 2 
and Principal Consideration 10.575 We have no confidence that ifhe remained in the securities 
industry he would not again devise a way to evade the law and regulatory requirements. For tIus 
reason also, we believe Hun'y is a threat to the investing public. 

m Resp. PH Br. 37-38. 

m Guidelines at 2, General Principle 2. 

m Guidelines at 7, General Principal Consideration 13. 

m Guidelines at 2, General Principle 2; Guidelines at 6, General Principal Consideration 10. 
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As discussed in connection with the Finn's violation and sanction, the scheme enabled 
large anlOunts of stock certificates to be sold in a number of transactions without the protections 
of registration and without an exemption. Under Principal Consideration 18, the size of the 
transactions is an aggravating factor. 

Finally, we note that Hunyhad by far the most to gain financially from setting upCSCT 
and enabling shares deposited from offshore customers to be shielded from scrutiny. He and his 
wife own all three entities involved in the process: CSCT, Scottsdale, and Alpine. And although 
Respondents emphasize that the particular transactions at issue did not generate a huge amount 
of money, the microcap securities liquidation business as a whole was highly remunerative for 
Huny and his wife. We earlier noted that, from Scottsdale alone, in 2014 they received 
approximately $6.2 million in directors ' fees and $1.45 million in net income. The compensation 
for all other employees and for professional and consulting fees for that year totaled less than 
half that-approximately $2.7 million. It was to Hun-y's financial advantage to facilitate the 
processing of FFI deposits and to minimize regulatory oversight. TIle misconduct added to his 
financial gain and is an aggravating factor under Principal Consideration 17.576 

We bar Hurry from associating with any FINRA member in any capacity and believe it 
appropriately remedial to fine him $100,000. In light of the bar, however, we do not impose the 
fine. 

C. DiBlasi 

TIle Guidelines provide with respect to an individual who is responsible for deficient 
WSPs that in egregious cases he may be suspended in any or all capacities for up to one year. 
TIle Guidelines also provide for a fine ranging from $1,000 to $37,000. 

In this case we find more stringent sanctions appropriately remedial. DiBlasi's violation 
was egregious, and there are aggravating factors. The WSPs created the appearance of a set of 
procedures designed to achieve compliance, but they did not accurately reflect the way the Finn 
actually handled its Rule 144 deposits. They did not even reflect DiBlasi's true role. Even though 
he was purportedly the ceo, he claimed that he had nothing to do with the vast majority of the 
Finn's business. Essentially, he perfonned back-office functions for the Firm. The result of the 
deficiencies in the WSPs was that violations OCCUlTed and regulatory efforts to detelmine the 
persons responsible were hindered. 

We suspend DiBlasi fro111 associating with any FINRA member finn in any capacity for 
two years and fine him $50,000. 

D. Cruz 

The Guidelines provide with respect to an individual supervisor who fails to respond to 
red flags that, in egregious cases, an adjudicator should consider suspending the person in any or 

:576 Guidelines at 7, General Principal Consideration 17. 
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all capacities for up to two years or ban'ing him. A fine of $5,000 to $73,000 also may be 
imposed. 

Cruz's violation was egregious. As a lawyer with considerable background in the 
securities laws, he had the background that others did not to scrutinize the due diligence 
packages and identify red flags. Furthennore, as the person at the Finn everyone else depended 
upon for Rule 144 compliance, he knew that he was critical to the Firm's perfonnance of its 
gatekeeping duty. He was the principal at the Finn who gave fmal approval to the sales of 
deposited securities, signing under a certification that the transactions, to his knowledge, were 
lavvful. In light of these circumstances and the many aggravating factors identified above, Cruz's 
failure to recognize and appropriately address multiple red flags was inexcusable. 

We suspend Cruz fi'om associating with any FINRA member finn in any capacity for two 
years and fme him $50,000. 

E. Respondents' Arguments For Lesser Sanctions Rejectell 

We rej ect Respondents' arguments for lesser sancti ons. TIley assel1 that the relief 
requested by Enforcement cannot be reconciled with the Guidelines because the sanctions are 
more stringent than the recommended range.577 However, the Guidelines are not absolute. TIley 
are recommendations. As provided in the Overview, adjudicators may impose sanctions outside 
the recommended range where the particular facts and circumstances make that appropriate. 578 

We are concerned that the misconduct here is the Finn's standard approach to processing 
deposits of stock certificates for sale. As long as the Finn continues with that check-the-box 
approach, without a meaningful evaluation of the information it collects, it is a risk to public 
investors. More stringent sanctions are necessary to emphasize the necessity for conective action 
and to remediate the violation. 

Respondents also compare their case to other cases involving Section 5 and supervisory 
violations, asse11ing that in those other cases the misconduct was worse and the sanctions less.579 

The appropriateness of sanctions, however, depends on the facts and circumstances of the 
pat1icular case and CatUlot be detennined by comparison to sanctions in other cases that involve 
different facts and circumstances.58o FUlthelmore, Respondents' misconduct was far more 
egregious that1 Respondents acknowledge. 

m Resp. PH Br. 47. 

578 Guidelines at 1. 

579 Resp. PH Br. 47-49. 

580 See, e.g., William Scholander, Exchange Act Release No. 77492, 2016 SEC LEXIS 1209, at *42 & n.65 (Mar. 
31,2016). 

109 

- 977a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:52:37 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:52:37 PM



--- .. _.- ---- ------, 

With respect to disciplinary history, Respondents argue that the individual Respondents 
have no disciplinary history. 58 I It is well established that the absence of a disciplinary history is 
not mitigating as to sanctions. A wrongdoer should not be rewarded for acting in accord with his 
duties as a securities professional. 582 

In sum, we find that the sanctions we impose here are necessary, appropriate and 
remedial. They serve the twin goals of protecting public investors and contributing to market 
integrity.583 

v. CONCLUSION 

The Firm, Scottsdale Capital Advisors, violated FINRA Rule 2010. Accordingly, it is 
ordered to pay a fine of$1.5 million. John J. Hurry violated FINRA Rule 2010. For his 
misconduct he is barred from association with any FINRA member in any capacity. He would be 
fined $100,000, but, in light of the bar, the fine is not imposed. Timothy B. DiBlasi violated 
NASD Rules 3010(a) and (b) and FINRA Rule 2010. For his misconduct, he is suspended for 
two years from association with any FINRA member in any capacity and fined $50,000. D. 
Michael Cruz violated NASD Rule 301 O(b) and FINRA Rule 2010. For his misconduct, he is 
suspended for two years from association with any FINRA member iIi any capacity and fined 
$50,000. 

Respondents are also ordered to pay costs in the amount of $22,124.29, which includes a 
$750 administrative fee and $21,374.29 for the cost ofthe transcript. If this decision becomes 
FINRA's final disciplinary action, Hurry's bar will take immediate effect. DiBlasi's and Cruz's 
suspension will begin with the opening of business on August 21,2017. The fines and assessed 
costs shall be due on a date set by FINRA, but not sooner than 30 days after this amended . 
decision becomes FINRA's final disciplinary action in this proceeding. 

581 Resp. PH Br. 47. 

ucinda O. McConathy 
Hearing Officer 
For the Extended Hearing Panel 

582 See, e,g., Kenny A. Aldndemowo, Exchange Act Release No. 78352,2016 SEC LEXIS 2522, at·S & n.S (July 18, 
2016). See also Guidelines at 6 and n.2. 

583 The Hearing Panel has considered and rejects without discussion any other arguments made by the Parties that . 
are inconsistent with this decision. 
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Copies to: Scottsdale Capital Advisors (via overnight and first-class mail) 
John J. Huny (via overnight and first-class mail) 
Timothy B. DiBlasi (via overnight and first-class mail) 
D. Michael Cruz (via overnight and first-class mail) 
Kevin J. Harnisch. Esq. (via electronic and first-class mail) 
RyanE. Meltzer. Esq. (via electronic mail) 
Michael Edney. Esq. (via electronic mail) 
Jeffrey D. Pariser. Esq. (via electronic and first-class mail) 
Gregory R. Firehock, Esq. (via electronic mail) 
Laura Blackston. Esq. (via electronic mail) 
Heather Freiburger. Esq. (via electronic mail) 
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VIA E-MAIL AND U.S. MAIL 

Mr. Michael Goode 
MomingLightMountain, LLC 
2285 S. Michigan Rd. 
PO Box 266 
Eaton Rapids, MI 48827 
michael.goode@gmail.com 

September 12, 2017 

· _.- --------------, 

132 S. RODEO DRIVE, FOURTH flOOR 
BEVERLY HILLS, CA 90212 
424.203.1600 • WWW.HMAFIRM.COM 

Re: Scottsdale Capital Advisors - Demand for Retraction and Apology 

Dear Mr. Goode: 

This law firm is litigation counsel for Scottsdale Capital Advisors and John Hurry 
(collectively, "Scottsdale Capital"). We write in connection with the many libelous statements in 
the article published on or about April 17, 2017, at GoodeTrades.com bearing the headline, 
"FINRA fines Scottsdale Capital Advisors $15 million"i (the "April Article") and the article 
published on or about June 14,2017 bearing the headline "SEC Sues Alpine Securities, 
continuing a run of bad news for owner John Hurry,,2 (the "June Article") (collectively the 
"Articles"). 

The following statements in the Articles, among others, are false, defamatory and/or 
portray my clients in a false light. See Morganroth v. Whitall, 411 N.W.2d 859,863-64 (Mich_ 
Ct. App. 1987) (discussing defamation and the tort of false light in Michigan)_ We therefore 
demand that you immediately and permanently remove each of these statements from the 
Articles, and print a full and complete retraction and apology, with as prominent placement as 
the original Articles: 

April Article: 

False Statement #1: "If you have followed penny stocks and pump and dumps for a few 
years then you know Scottsdale Capital Advisors." In truth, Scottsdale Capital has never been 

1 Available at https:llwww.goodetrades.coml2017 I04/finra-fines-scottsdale-capital-advisors-l-S-million/. 
2 Available at https:llwww.goodetrades.coml2017/06/sec-sues-alpine-securities-continuing-a-run-of-bad-news-for
owner-john-hurry/. 
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Michael Goode 
September 12, 2017 
Re: Demand for Retraction and Apology 
Page 2 

.... _ - ...... - -------------. 

involved in any "pump and dump" schemes, has never been a defendant in any "pump and 
dump" lawsuits, and it has never been convicted of engaging in "pump and dump" activity. 

False Statement #2: "They [Scottsdale Capital] are one of the few brokers left that have 
continued to allow the deposit and sale of shares in illiquid penny stocks. Larger brokers and 
discount brokers stopped allowing that over five years ago." In truth, numerous large brokers 
continue to trade in penny stocks, including without limitation, interactive brokers, Merrill 
Lynch, Charles Schwab, Scottrade, Cor Clearing, and TradeKing. 

False Statement #3: "When the big Biozoom (BIZM) pump happened back in 2013 
many of the frozen accounts were at Scottsdale Capital." In truth, only a handful of accounts at 
Scottsdale Capital were frozen as a result of Biozoom trading. Moreover, Scottsdale Capital has 
not been a defendant in any lawsuit involving the trading of Biozoom stock. 

June Article: 

False Statement #1: "Lest anyone think that these are just minor paperwork deficiencies 
with no real consequences, I remind you that one pump and dump alone, Biozoom (BIZM), led 
to over $17 million in fraudulent profits for manipulators / insiders, and many of their accounts 
were at Scottsdale Capital Advisors." In truth, other than hosting a handful of accounts that 
traded in Biozoom shares, Scottsdale Capital had nothing to do with the trading of Biozoom 
shares. Moreover, as discussed above, Scottsdale Capital has never been involved in any "pump 
and dump" schemes (including any "pump and dumps" involving Biozoom shares), has never 
been a defendant in any "pump and dump" lawsuits, and it has never been convicted of engaging 
in "pump and dump" activity. 

Your publication of the false and defamatory statements listed above, among others, 
constitutes libel per quod, false light, intentional infliction of emotional distress, and tortious 
interference with business relations, among other claims. Actual malice easily can be proven 
given the Articles total disregard for the truth. In addition, this letter constitutes direct notice of 
the false and defamatory nature of the foregoing statements, and actual malice can be proven 
should you fail to comply with the demands herein to remove and retract, and instead continue to 
publish the false and defamatory statements discussed above. 

Remedies for your legal violations include, among others, actual damages, special 
damages, punitive damages, and temporary and permanent injunctive relief. See Mich. Compo 
Laws Ann. § 600.2911; Lothschuetz V. Carpenter, 898 F.2d 1200, 1209 (6th Cir. 1990). As you 
should know, the individual and company you have defamed have very substantial net worth, 
and damages in this matter are massive. 

Please confirm in writing within twenty-four (24) hours of the transmission of this letter 
that the foregoing demands will be, and are being, fully complied with. Failure to do so will 
leave my clients with no alternative but to evaluate their legal options which could include 

{00083589;4 } 
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Michael Goode 
September 12, 2017 
Re: Demand for Retraction and Apology 
Page 3 

-- -_.- .. _-------------. 

immediate legal proceedings against you. Should that occur, my clients would pursue all 
available causes of action and seek all available legal remedies to the maximum extent permitted 
by law. 

You are officially on notice of this dispute and therefore you are required to undertake 
steps to affirmatively preserve, and not delete, any and all physical and electronic documents, 
materials, information, and data, including without limitation all emails, text messages, instant 
messages (lMs), letters, memoranda, handwritten notes, typewritten notes, charts, summaries, 
financial information, audio and/or video footage etc. that pertain in any way to John Hurry, 
Scottsdale Capital, and/or might otherwise be relevant or related to the foregoing matters. All 
sources of documents, materials, information, and data should be preserved, including without 
limitation, physical files, electronic and digital files, computer servers, email servers, backup 
tapes, cloud storage, personal computers, hard drives, smart phones, tablets, and other types of 
storage devices including external drives, thumb drives, zip drives, disks and DVDs. 

Please govern yourselves accordingly. 

This letter is not intended as a full or complete statement of all relevant facts or 
applicable law, and nothing herein is intended as, nor should it be deemed to constitute, a waiver 
or relinquishment of any of my clients' rights, remedies, claims or causes of action, all of which 
are hereby expressly reserved. 

{00083589;4 } 

Very truly yours, 

CHARLES J. HARDER Of 

HARDER MIRELL & ABRAMS LLP 
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BUTZEL LONG 
ATTORNEYS AND COUNSELORS 

a professional corpora.tion 

VIA ELECTRONIC MAIL 
charder@hmafirm.com 

Charles.T. Harder 
Harder MirelJ & Abrams LLP 
132 S. Rodeo Drive, Fourth Floor 
Beverly Hills, CA 90212 

Dear Mr. Harder: 

September 13, 2017 

Suite 100 150 West Jefferson 
Detroit, Michigan 48226 

T: 3132257000 F: 3132257080 
butzel.com 

We represent Michael Goode, MomingLightMountain LLC, and goodetrades.com. We 
have received and reviewed your September 12,2017 demand letter. We do not agree with your 
allegations that Mr. Goode's pUblications of April 17,2017 or June 14,2017 that you referenced 
would support a defamation or false light privacy claim, nor do we conclude that the statements 
in the articles are false. We also question the supposed urgency that requires a response within 
twenty-four hours as the statements were all published months ago. Regardless, we are willing to 
discuss the articles with you, with a goal of attempting to address your clients' concerns as an 
alternative to litigation. 

As a preliminary matter, Scottsdale and Mr. Hurry have been publicly sanctioned in 
connection with their involvement in the secwities business, specifically in connection with their 
mishandling of microcap stock registrations and sales. Tbis means that each of the statements to 
which your clients object implicate matters 'of publicconcem, and likely renders both of your 
clients public figures for this purpose. Any claim by your clients WOUld, consequently, have to 
prove actual malice to succeed. Given the public record about your clients, we respectfully 
submit they would never be able to provide proof our client made any statement with the intent 
that satisfies the actual malice standard. 

Regarding the first statement you identified in your demand letter, from the April 2017 
publication, there is nothing false about the statement. It does not accuse your client of engaging 
in a 'pump and dump' scheme, nor does it say your client has been sued or convicted of atiything 
in connection with such a scheme. The statement is true because, as your demand letter 
concedes, your client had multiple accounts that were identified in a complaint filed by the SEC 
in connection with a microcap stock fraud scheme. As your letter also concedes, the SEC made a 
sufficient factual shOWing to successfully freeze those Scottsdale Capital Advisors ("Scottsdale") 
trading accounts. Therefore, merely saying that readers would "know" Scottsdal.e in connection 
with pump and dump schemes is factually true. In addition, whether readers would 'know' 

Ann Arbor Bloomfield Hills Detroit Lansing New York Washington D.C. 

AlllanceOfflces Beijing Shanghai Mexico City Monterrey Member Lex Mundi www.butxel.com 
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Charles J. Harder 
September 13,2017 

Scottsdale is a matter of opinion and not actionable under either defamation or false light privacy 
theories. 

In addition, your clients have no privacy concerns with respect to the manner in which 
they operate in the securities business. It is a matter of public record that both the SEC and 
FINRA have investigated your clients in connection with violations of U.S. securities laws, and 
FINRA sanctioned both Scottsdale and Jolm Hurry. Needless to say, Michigan's Fair Report 
privilege would cover reporting about your clients as a result ofthese public proceedings. 

Regarding the second statement you identified, also from the April 2017 publication, the 
statement that few brokers allow the deposit of penny stock shares is true, and our client has 
made the same statement in the past. While various brokers might stilI engage in trading of 
penny stocks, that is a different issue than accepting the deposit of shares. Other brokers in the 
industry acknowledge that few brokers and market makers will accept the deposit of penny stock 
share certificates. In any eVent, there is nothing about this statement that defamed your clients, as 
nothing in the statement says or implies that there is anything illegal or improper about accepting 
the deposit of shares of penny stocks. We fail to see how your client's reputation in the business 
of handling or trading penny stocks could be harmed by this statement, given the manner in 
which FINRA excoriated your clients' compliance practices in conducting that business when 
FINRA sanctioned your clients. 

Regarding the third statement you identified from the April 2017 publication, that 
statement is also true. According toa complaint filed by the SEC, eight trading accounts were 
implicated in the scheme, and half of those accounts were with Scottsdale. Because these facts 
have been the subject of public litigation, the Fair Report privilege would protect our client from 
allegations related to this statement as well. In addition, public reports about the investigation of 
Biozoom from 2013 clearly stated that Scottsdale was being investigated by the FBI and 
'securities officials.' The statement simply does not say your clients were sued or convicted of 
anything in connection with Biozoom, and it accurately states that Scottsdale accounts were used 
in that pump and dump scheme. 

Regarding the fourth statement you identified, from the June 2017 publication, the 
statement contains no false statements and does not harm your clients' respective reputations. It 
does not accuse your clients of being involved in any pump and dump scheme, and it does not 
say your clients were sued or convicted of anything in connection with Biozoom. It accurately 
states that "many" (half, to be precise) of the trading accounts that were implicated in the trading 
of Biozoom stock in a 'pump and dump scheme' were trading accounts opened with Scottsdale. 
Indeed, the compliance failures for which your clients were sanctioned concerned compliance 
failures that would allow such misuse of trading accounts. 

It is a matter of public record that the SEC ultimately proved itsa.llegations regarding 
Biozoom in SEC v. Magdalena Tavella, so as We alreadY observed, the statements are covered by 
the Fair Report Privilege. 
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Charles J. Harder 
September 13, 2017 

As we indicated at the outset, we are open to discussing ways to address your clients' 
concerns. Please contact either of the undersigned at your convenience. 

2443614.vl 

Andrew M. Friedman 
Butzel Long 
1909 K. Street, NW, Suite 500 
Washington, D. C. 20006 
friedmana@butzel.com 
(202) 454-2877 
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Defendants MorningLightMountain, LLC, and Michael Goode ask the Court to 

dismiss the Third Amended Complaint with prejudice for failure to state a claim upon 

which relief can be granted. 

Dated: JANUARY 29, 2019 

Respectfully submitted, 

Stoneridge West 
41000 Woodward Avenue 
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304 
(248) 258-1616 
richotte@butzel.com 
al-howaishy@butzel.com 
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-1-

Under Rule 2.116(C)(8), MLM and Goode offer this Memorandum in support of 

their Motion to dismiss the Third Amended Complaint ("Complaint") with prejudice on 

summary disposition for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. 

INTRODUCTION 

This is a defamation action. Scottsdale has sued MLM and Goode for allegedly 

libelous statements posted in an online article at goodetrades.com, a blog reporting on news 

about penny-stock trading. 

A "penny stock" refers to a security issued by a very small company that trades at 

less than $5.00 per share. l Also known as "microcap stocks," penny stocks are issued by 

companies, many of which do not file financial reports with the U. S. Securities & Exchange 

Commission.2 The SEC describes these securities as "among the most risky," suffering 

from a scarcity of publicly-available information that allows" fraudsters [to] easily spread 

false information about microcap companies, making profits while creating losses for 

unsuspecting investors."3 They are very speculative investments, and Congress has tightly 

regulated broker-dealers who facilitate penny-stock trading under the Exchange Act.4 

One fraud particularly affecting penny stocks is the classic pump-and-dump scheme. 

The scheme involves touting a company's stock through false and mislead-jng statements 

to the marketplace to ignite a buying frenzy that" pumps" the price of a stock (usually a 

penny stock). The hucksters then sell (or "dump") their stocks at the "pumped" up price, 

realizing a handsome profit. Once they dump their shares and stop hyping the stock, the 

United States Secs. & Exch. Comm'n ("SEC"), Penny Stock Rules (May 9,2013) 
("PENNY STOCK RULES") (available at http://bit.ly/SEC-Penny-Stock-Rules). 

2 SEC, Microcap Stock: A Guide for Investors, Introduction (Sept. 13, 2013) 
(available at http://bit.ly/ SEC-Microcap-Guide). 

3 Ibid. 

4 PENNY STOCK RULES, supra at n.1 
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price falls and investors lose their money.5 

MLM and Mr. Goode reported on pump-and-dump schemes, including one 

involving stock in Biozoom, which was touted as a biomedical technology company. Before 

April 2013, Biozoom was known as Entertainment Art, Inc., and it produced leather bags. In 

April 2013, it announced that it was changing its name to Biozoom and exiting the leather

bag business to develop biomedical technology. From March 2013 (the month before the 

announcement) to June 2013, at least eight people opened accounts with broker-dealers and 

deposited millions of shares of Biozoom that they (falsely) claimed were purchased from 

Entertainment Art's original shareholders in the previous few months and could be freely 

traded.6 From May 16-July 17,2013, these people sold 14 million shares yielding almost $34 

million, of which nearly $17 million was wired to overseas bank accounts? Eventually, the 

stock collapsed. The SEC brought an enforcement action, U. S. Securities & Exchange 

CommJn v. Tavella, to recover the ill-gotten gains and make swindled investors whole. 

Scottsdale, a broker-dealer that facilitated penny-stock trading and claims to be one 

of the dominant companies in the microcap securities market for handling more than $125 

million worth of trades in 2015 alone,8 accepted Biozoom stocks for deposit and facilitated 

trading in the microcap market. Many of the trading accounts frozen through the SEC's 

enforcement action were held at Scottsdale.9 And, notably, since Scottsdale filed this 

lawsuit against MLM and Mr. Goode, the SEC entered an order sanctioning Scottsdale's 

5 SEC, "Pump-and-Dumps" and Market Manipulations (Jun. 25, 2013) (available at 

http://bit.ly/SEC-Pump-and-Dumps). 

6 

7 

8 

SEC v. Tavella, Civ. No. 13-4609 (SDNY), Complaint at 2, 'If'lf 3-5 (Jui. 3, 2013). 

Id. at 2-3, 'If'lf 6-7. 

Compi. at 3, 'If 11. 

9 Tavella, Civ. No. 13-4609 (SDNY), Stipulated Order Granting Prelim. Inj., Asset 

Freeze, and Other Relief (R. 16, Jui. 16, 2013); Final J. Defs. Graciarena & Loureyro (R. 67, 
Dec. 8, 2014); Final Default J. Against Tavella [and Others] (R. 69, Jan. 9, 2015). 
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-3-

representative Timothy Scarpino for facilitating the sale of 8.2 million Biozoom shares that 

generated $18.5 million in gains-just over half the shares and half the gains-for the 

fraudsters.IO His offense was "fail[ing] to conduct a searching inquiry into facts 

surrounding the proposed sales" of unregistered Biozoom stock, despite the presence of 

"significant red flags."11 

Among other things, it was this same kind of failure to conduct searching inquiries 

that resulted in the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (" FINRA") taking disciplinary 

action against Scottsdale.12 FINRA imposed a $1.5 million fine against Scottsdale for 

"institutionaliz[ing] misconduct as its standard way of doing business," among other 

aggravating factors.13 Part of the institutionalized misconduct included Scottsdale's failure to 

revise its procedures to focus on potential sham transactions after botching its gatekeeping 

role in the Biozoom pump-and-dump scheme that led to the SEC's enforcement actionY 

FINRA had equally harsh words for Scottsdale's owner, John Hurry. FINRA 

found that he "violat[ed] his duty to observe high standards of commercial honor and just 

and equitable principles of trade," and it was" purposeful and egregious,)) which led 

FINRA to conclude that " [he] is a threat to investors and the integrity of the markets. ))15 

Worse yet, FINRA found that Hurry "repeatedly testified falsely, and that there was a 

10 In re Timothy C. Scarpino, SEC No. 3-18483, Order Instituting Admin. and Cease
and-Desist Proceedings, Making Findings, Imposing Remedial Sanctions, and a Cease-and
Desist Order (May 15, 2018). 

11 Id. at 2, Part III, Summary. 

12 Answer Exh. A, FINRA v. Scottsdale CapitalAdvisors Corp., No. 2014041724601, 
Am. Extended Hr'g Panel Dec. (Jun. 20, 2017) (available at http://bit.ly/FINRA-Panel
Decision) (" FINRA PANEL DEC.") 

13 Id. at 107, Part IV(A) (3). 

14 Id. at 11-12, 101-102, 104. 

15 Id. at 107, Part IV(B). 
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-4-

pattern of doing so when he thought no contradictory evidence would come to light. ))16 

FINRA barred Hurry from associating with any other FINRA member for any reasonP 

Which brings us to this lawsuit. The statement that Scottsdale claims is libelous is 

contained within an article written by Goode and published by MLM about three years after 

the Biozoom fraud. The article includes extensive quotations from FINRA's enforcement 

decision. It also include a link to the decision. 

Scottsdale doesn't argue that the reporting about the FINRA action is inaccurate. 

Rather, it plucks a few sentences from the articles and claims that they wrongfully accuse it 

of actively engaging in a pump-and-dump scheme. In context, however, the articles do 

nothing more than note that penny stocks were illegally traded through Scottsdale brokerage 

accounts. And the notion that these articles damaged Scottsdale in any way-much less in 

some way unique and independent of (a) FINRA castigating and fining Scottsdale, or (b) 

FINRA excommunicating Mr. Hurry from the securities industry-is risible. 

After four attempts at pleading a sufficient claim, Scottsdale has now conceded it is 

one of a few remaining brokers that still allow the deposit and sale of penny stocks,18 and 

16 Ibid. 

17 Id. at 108. The FINRA National Adjudicatory Council affirmed this ruling. 
FINRA v. Scottsdale CapitalAdvisors Corp., No. 2014041724601 (FINRA Dec. Jul. 20, 
2018) at 104, Part V (available at http://bit.ly/FINRA-National-Decision). Scottsdale has 
appealed to the SEC, which has stayed the fine until pending its decision. The appeal is 
irrelevant to this action, however, since the Court must assess the Statement at the time of 
publication, not based on later developments. Peisnerv. Detroit Free Press, 104 Mich. App. 
59,64 (1981), mod. on other grounds, 421 Mich. 125 (1984). 

18 On December 17, 2018, Scottsdale sued FINRA in the U.S. District Court for the 
District of Columbia. It alleged: "At this point, only a handful of firms are still willing and 
able to process and clear sales of microcap securities, and those firms are under intense 
pressure to cease their participation in the market.)) R. I, Compl. <Jf 6, Scottsdale Capital 
Advisors Corp. v. FINRA., Civil No. 18-02973 (DDC Dec. 17, 2018). What Scottsdale 
claimed was false and defamatory is now so true that it supports a lawsuit against FINRA. 
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-5-

that most of the accounts frozen in the Biozoom pump-and-dump were at Scottsdale. So, 

what started as a defamation claim over four statements across two articles is now down to 

just one statement-a statement the court has already ruled is not defamatory: 

If you have followed penny stocks and pump and dumps for a 
few years then you know Scottsdale Capital Advisors. 

(the "Statement," which appeared in an article on goodetrades.com (the "Website") in 

April 2017 (the "Article"». 

One must question Scottsdale's motives for continuing to press this claim. 

Although irrelevant for (C)(8) purposes, Scottsdale has admitted in discovery that: (1) none 

of its clients has mentioned the Statement; (2) it has lost no customers; and (3) it has 

suffered no lost revenue.19 Even assuming Scottsdale could prevail on a theory of 

defamation per se,20 a plaintiff is only entitled to nominal damages, unless he can prove that 

the defendant acted maliciously. Burden v. Elias Bros. Big Boy Restaurants, 240 Mich. App. 

723, 727-728 (2000). Having accused Goode and MLM of acting only negligently, 

carelessly, or recklessly,21 and having suffered no actuallosses,22 the only apparent reason 

for continuing this lawsuit is to gain editorial control over unfavorable news coverage.23 In 

other words, this lawsuit is about one thing: shutting down free speech. It is commonly 

known as a "strategic lawsuit against public participation. " It is brought with the intent to 

19 Exhibit 1, Scottsdale Interrog. Answers 27-30. 

20 Goode and MLM argue, infra, that this is not a case of defamation per se because: 
(1) the challenged statement does not accuse Scottsdale of a crime; and (2) no reasonable 

reader-a sophisticated person familiar with the penny stock market and Scottsdale's role 
in that market as a broker (not as a depositor-seller of the stock)-reading the article in its 
entirety (including the linked FINRA article) could reasonably conclude otherwise. 

21 Compi. 'If'lf 22-25. 

22 Id. at 'If 17. Allegations about economic losses, like all others, must be pleaded in 

good faith and not for an improper purpose. MCR 1.109(E)(5». 

23 See CompI., Prayer for Relief 'If C. 
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censor the speaker's message because it is unwanted, not because it is false or defamatory. 

Fortunately, the First Amendment no more allows a "litigation veto" than it does a 

"heckler's veto." 

For the reasons that follow, the Court should dismiss the Complaint with prejudice 

for failing to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. 

SPECIAL STANDARD OF REVIEW FOR 
FIRST AMENDMENT CASES 

Motions for summary disposition brought under MCR 2.116(C)(8) in defamation 

actions test the legal sufficiency of the complaint. Singerman v. Municipal Servo Bureau, 455 

Mich. 135, 139 (1997). The Court must limit its review to the pleadings-which by court 

rule includes both the complaint and the answer. MCR 2.116(G)(5) (review of a (C)(8) 

motion is limited to the pleadings); MCR 2.110(A) (defining a pleading to include 

complaints and answers). The Court must take the well-pleaded factual allegations as true 

and construe them in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Dalley v. Dykema 

Gossett, 287 Mich. App. 296, 304-305 (2010). 

Importantly, however, courts have a special, heightened duty under the First 

Amendment to review the sufficiency of defamation complaints to make sure that pleading 

requirements are met. Bose Corp. v. Consumers Union, 466 U. S. 485 (1984). Although Bose 

Corp. involved a public figure and this case (allegedly) involves a private figure, the 

distinction between public and private figures is irrelevant to the scrutiny that must be 

brought to bear when assessing whether a defamation claim is properly pleaded - the 

distinction goes only to the level of fault that applies in a given case. The heightened scrutiny 

of the pleadings applies to all defamation cases, regardless of whether the plaintiff is a 

public or private figure. Rouch v. Enquirer & News (After Remand) ("Rouch IP'), 440 Mich. 

238,272-27 (1992) (Riley,]. concurring) (in a private-figure case reviewed on appeal from 

a (C)(lO) ruling, Justice Riley noted that the pleadings in a defamation case are also to be 
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reviewed with heightened scrutiny when challenged under (C)(8)). Although stated in a 

concurrence, "Justice Riley's position [in his concurring opinion in Rouch lIis consistent 

with previous decisions of this Court." Royal Palace Homes., Inc. v. Channel 7 of Detroit., Inc., 

197 Mich. App. 48,52-53 (1992) (also apparently a private-figure case). See also Trostv. 

BuckStop Lure Co . ., Inc., 249 Mich. App. 580, 587 n.2 (2002) (observing, in a private-figure 

case, that Justice Riley outlined the proper procedure for (C)(8) challenges). 

Michigan courts take this duty seriously. Recognizing that summary disposition is 

"an essential tool" to protect against "forbidden intrusions into the field of free expression, " 

Kevorkian v. American Med. Ass)n, 237 Mich. App. 1,5 (1999) (citing Ireland v. Edwards, 230 

Mich. App. 607, 613 and n.4 (1998)), our courts long ago adopted an Iqbal-like pleading 

standard that requires plaintiffs to specifically plead: (1) the defamatory words and the facts 

that would establish that the words are false; (2) the facts identifying the publication of those 

words to a third party; (3) the level of fault that must be proved and the facts that would 

establish the speaker acted with that level of fault; and (4) the harm suffered by the 

publication. Gonyea v. Motor Parts Fed. Credit Union, 192 Mich. App 74, 76-77 (1991). Accord 

Ashcroftv. Iqbal, 556 U. S. 662 (2009) (federal plaintiffs must "plausibly" plead claims 

through specific factual allegations). Pleading specific facts is a "relatively simple 

requirement"; defendants are entitled to summary disposition under MCR 2.116(C)(8) "on 

this ground alone" when plaintiffs fail to follow it. Rouch II, 440 Mich. at 279. 

Also important, the heightened pleading requirement allows courts to resolve 

several questions oflaw on the pleadings, including: (1) whether a statement is capable of 

being defamatory; (2) the nature of the speaker and the level of constitutional protections 

afforded to the statement; and (3) whether actual malice exists, if the plaintiff is required to 

show that level of fault. Thomas M. Cooley Law School v. Doe 1, 300 Mich. App. 245, 342 

(2013). In making these assessments, a court must read the challenged statement in 

context, fairly and reasonably construing the entire article to determine whether the 
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challenged statement is libelous. Sanders v. Evening News Ass )n, 313 Mich. 334, 340 (1946); 

Croton v. Gillis, 104 Mich. App. 104, 108 (1981). A statement "does not become actionable 

merely because it could be taken out of context." Nehls v. Hillsdale Coli., 178 F. Supp. 2d 

771,779 (ED Mich. 2001), ajpd 65 Fed. Appx. 984 (CA6 2003) (citing Michigan law). 

ARGUMENT 

Scottsdale has again failed to sufficiently plead a claim for defamation. In Michigan, 

a libel plaintiff must prove that the defendant: (1) made a false statement of fact, (2) that 

was defamatory, (3) which was "of and concerning the plaintiff, (4) in the form of an 

unprivileged publication to a third party, (5) with a level of fault amounting to at least 

negligence on the part of the publisher, and (6) thereby damaged the plaintiff. Northland 

Wheels Roller Skating Ctr. v. Detroit Free Press, 213 Mich. App. 317, 323 (1995) (citing Rouch 

II). As an initial matter, the Statement is nonactionable hyperbole. Even if it were a 

statement of fact, it is not neither false nor defamatory. The Statement is also subject to the 

fair-comment privilege. The Complaint does not plead a claim in avoidance of the privilege. 

Finally, Scottsdale's most recent amendments have not cured its failure to adequately plead 

the level of fault with the required factual support. 

I. HYPERBOLE: The Statement is not a false material statement offactbecause 
it is nonactionable hyperbole. 

To be actionable, the challenged statement must be provably false. Ireland, 230 

Mich. App. 607 (citing Milkovich v. Lorain Journal Co., 497 U.S. 1, 17-22 (1990)). In other 

words, the statement must state" actual, objectively verifiable facts." Milkovich, 497 U.S. at 

17-21. Nonfactual hyperbole is not provably false. As noted in Part III, infra, Scottsdale has 

been connected to at least two pump-and-dump schemes in the years preceding publication 

of the Article. The Statement thus amounts to "everyone knows" about the connection-

which is classic rhetorical hyperbole that is not actionable. See, e.g., Komarov v. Advance 

Magazine PubPrs) Inc., 691 N.Y.S.2d 298, 301-302 (NY Sup. Ct. 1999) (plaintiff was as 
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"well known" in the community as notorious mobster John Gotti was rhetorical hyperbole 

that cannot be proven false and not actionable).24 Scottsdale cannot objectively prove that 

those who followed penny stock pump-and-dump schemes did not know of Scottsdale. It 

says that it could do so through a poll, (Compl. «jf 15), but we do not try cases by polling the 

community. Trials are not gameshows where people "text their vote" to the jury. The 

absence of any legal mechanism to conduct and admit such a poll into evidence only 

underscores that this is Komarov-style hyperbole, not a provable statement of fact. 

II. TRUTH: The Statement is not actionable because it is not materially false. 

If the Court holds that the Statement is not an opinion, it should still find that 

Scottsdale has failed to plead facts sufficient to show that the Statement is false. Scottsdale 

says the Statement is false because it has "never been involved in any 'pump and dump' 

schemes, has never been a defendant in any 'pump and dump' lawsuits, and has never been 

convicted of engaging in 'pump and dump' activity." (Compi. <if 15.) But, on its face, the 

Statement doesn't accuse Scottsdale of these things, as the Court previously held in 

dismissing this statement from the First Amended Complaint. (Op. 7 (Oct. 4, 2018).) 

24 See also Hogan v. Winder, 762 F.3d 1096,1107-1108 (CAI0 2014) (accusing 
someone of blackmail for threatening to sue a former employer was not actionable because, 
in context, it was nonactionable hyperbole); Fasi v. Gannett Co., 930 F. Supp. 1403 (D Haw. 
1995) ("Frank 'the Extortionist' Fasi is at it again" was hyperbole, not a true accusation of 
criminal activity); Haberstroh v. Crain Pubflns) Inc., 189 Ill. App. 3d 267 (1989) (saying a 
professor was on an "acid trip" was not an accusation of illegal drug use); McGilvray v. 
Springett, 68 Ill. App. 275 (1896) (statement that the plaintiff had stolen money from the 

town treasury "and everybody knows it" was not slanderous; bystanders understood this 
was not an accusation oflarceny, but allegedly overbilling the town for services). 
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Ill. NOT LIBELOUS: The Statement is not actionable because it is not 
reasonably capable of a defamatory meaning. 

Undeterred, Scottsdale alleges that the juxtaposition of the headline" FINRA fines 

Scottsdale Capital Advisors $1.5 million" implies that FINRA fined Scottsdale for its 

involvement in the pump and dump of penny stocks-and that this the only conclusion that 

a "reader" could make. (CompI. err 14.) 

In a lengthy and strongly worded opinion in Locricchio v. Evening News Association, 

438 Mich. 84 (1991), the Michigan Supreme Court placed severe restrictions on "libel by 

implication. " Relying on Sanders v. Evening News Association, 313 Mich. 334 (1946), the 

Court held that, under Michigan law, "imposing liability on a media defendant for facts it 

publishes accurately and without material factual omissions about public affairs" is 

prohibited. Locricchio, 434 Mich. at 117. Noting that defamation by implication was not so 

"analytically distinct" as to "require a departure from the guiding principles of general 

libel and First Amendment libel law, " id. at 132, the Court emphasized the" severe 

constitutional" burden of proving falsity that a plaintiff must carry. Id. at 122. Locncchio 

renders it extremely difficult, if not practically impossible, to advance a defamation by 

implication claim under Michigan law. This is as it should be. The falsity requirement 

should be construed and applied in a manner that assures true speech will not be punished. 

The courts look with extreme skepticism upon any theory that threatens to soften 

the requirement that a libel plaintiff plead and prove a specific false statement of fact. 

Emphasizing the principles articulated Locricchio, the Michigan Court of Appeals has held 

that a libel defendant" is not responsible for every defamatory implication a reader might 

draw from his report of true facts, absent evidence that he intended the defamatory 

implication." Royal Palace Homes) Inc. v. Channell oiDet.) Inc., 197 Mich. App 48, 56 

(1992). A statement "does not become actionable merely because it could be taken out of 

context." Nehls v. Hz"llsdale ColI., 178 F. Supp. 2d 771, 779 (ED Mich. 2001), ajTd 65 Fed. 

Appx. 984 (CA6 2003). There are no facts pleaded that, if proven, would establish that 
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MLM and Goode intended to imply that Scottsdale was committing pump-and-dump 

schemes, as opposed to serving as the means by which such schemes were accomplished. 

As noted earlier, the Court must read the Statement in context, fairly and reasonably 

construing the entire article to determine whether the challenged statement is libelous. 

Sanders, 313 Mich. at 340j Croton, 104 Mich. App. at 108. The linked FINRA decision 

provides the context. It details how Scottsdale's business is susceptible to sham transactions. 

FINRA noted, among Scottsdale's many shortcomings, that the SEC had 

previously sued two of Scottsdale's registered representatives in a case involving a pump-

and-dump scheme: a Panamanian-based pump-and-dump in 2008-2012 and Bahamian-

based pump-and-dump in 2008. FINRA PANEL DEC. at 11-12 and nn. 18 and 20. FINRA 

fined Scottsdale in part because FINRA directly tied the success of the $34 million 

Biozoom pump-and-dump scheme to Scottsdale's lax anti-fraud safeguards, which it never 

improved despite being on notice that its existing safeguards were inadequate to detect and 

prevent fraud. Id. at 107, Part IV.A(3). FINRA explained that, in accepting penny stocks for 

deposit in the earlier schemes, Scottsdale failed to exercise its gatekeeping role to safeguard 

against being used by its customers as a means to execute a pump-and-dump fraud. 

Scottsdale's subsequent failure to adequately police transactions-as it was required to do 

under SEC Rule 17a-8, the Bank Secrecy Act (" BSA "), and its implementing regulations, 

see BSA, 31 U.S.C. § 5311, et seq. j 31 C.F.R. § 1023.320(a)(2)j and 17 C.F.R. 240.17a-8 (SEC 

regulation requiring brokers to follow the BSA and its rules)-signaled to FINRA that 

Scottsdale had not heeded the lessons of its earlier roles in pump-and-dump schemes. It 

considered this an aggravating factor, which formed a basis for the $1.5 million fine: 

Finally, although [Scottsdale] was not charged in ... 
Ruettiger, Gibraltar I, Gibraltar II, and Tavella, those cases 
did involve alleged misconduct through accounts at 
[Scottsdale]. These cases put [Scottsdale] on notice of the 
risk of sham transactions and the use of nominees to conceal 

beneficial ownership and facilitate unlawful distributions of 
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securities. They heightened the need for [Scottsdale] to be 
alert to red flags. In light of this history) it is aggravating that 
Scottsdale performed its gatekeepingfunction so poorly. 

FINRA PANEL DEC. lO4 at Part IV.A(I)(d) (emphasis supplied). Accordingly, Scottsdale 

grossly mischaracterizes the FINRA report by suggesting the report and the fine have 

"nothing to do" with Scottsdale's role in pump-and-dump schemes. (See CompI. <if 14.) 

Under Section 5 of the Securities Act, the sale of securities without registration is 

unlawful unless an exemption exists. 15 U.S.c. § 77e(a)(I). In selling penny stocks without 

registration, Scottsdale "usually reIie[d] on a 'safe harbor' exemption created by the 

[SEC], Rule 144." FINRA PANEL DEC. 5 at Part LA. When a securities transaction 

involves" large blocks of thinly traded, little-known securities acquired in a chain of private 

transactions," like the Biozoom stock, it is "a red flag that the SEC and FINRA have both 

said requires a 'searching inquiry.'" Id. at 6, Part LA(3). "These red flags ought to have 

been investigated and properly resolved before the securities could be sold. [Scottsdale], 

however, blinded itself to the multiple red flags signaling that the transactions were unlawful 

public distributions of securities. It did not conduct the required searching inquiry. It 

[therefore] sold the securities without a reasonable basis for a Rule 144 exemption." Id. at 7, 

Part LA(3) (emphasis added). 

Explaining Scottsdale's willful blindness, FINRA noted that "[Scottsdale] was on 

notice that its business was susceptible to sham transactions and the use of nominees to 

conceal the true beneficial owners of securities. In four disciplinary actions involving 

Scottsdale's own employees and customers, the SEC alleged that sham transactions and 

nominees were used in unlawful sales in violation of Section 5 of the Securities Act. Those 

unlawful sales in turn were used to facilitate fraud and manipulation." FINRA PANEL DEC. 

11, Part III.B(I)(a)(iv)(a) (emphasis added). FINRA identified the nature of the fraud and 

manipulation, two of which involved pump-and-dump schemes. Id. at 11-12, Part IILB(l)(a) 

(iv)(a). After detailing Scottsdale's shortcomings in each of the earlier regulatory actions-
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including the Biozoom fraud - FINRA held that those actions "should have caused 

[Scottsdale] to take special care ... to revise its procedures to focus on potential sham 

transactions and the use of nominees. [Scottsdale] did not." Id. at 13, Part III.B(l)(a)(iv)(a). 

Scottsdale attempted to minimize the significance of its gatekeeping function, 

arguing that it was unfair to look back to the pump-and-dump schemes because no formal 

accusation had been made in the current disciplinary case that the challenged transactions 

were part of a pump-and-dump fraud. Id. at 13, Part III.B(l)(a)(iv) (b). FINRA was 

unmoved: "It is not necessary, however, to prove that fraud occurred in order to conclude 

that [Scottsdale and other respondents] failed to perform their gatekeeping duty 

adequately." Ibid. In trying to make the same argument here, (CompI. 'If 14), Scottsdale 

ignores the central thrust of the Article: a company with a history of being used by third 

parties as a tool to execute pump-and-dump schemes because of its repeated failure to take 

its gatekeeping function seriously was fined $1.5 million for yet again not doing its job to 

adequately safeguard the investing public. 

In its last brief on this subject, Scottsdale essentially conceded that anyone reading 

the linked FINRA report would understand this context, but argued that the "damage is 

done" before the reader gets to the FINRA report. (Opp'n at 9, Mot. Summ. Dispo., 

Second Am. Com pI.) This is just another way of saying the reader can't be expected to read 

the entire text if the article is too long. But that isn}t the law. In making these assessments, a 

court must read the challenged statement in context, fairly and reasonably construing the 

entire article to determine whether the challenged statement is libelous. Sanders, 313 Mich. 

at 340; Croton v. Gillis, 104 Mich. App. 104, 108 (1981). In context, the Statement is not 

libelous. 

Even if the Court were to conclude that the Statement is capable of a defamatory 

implication, the alleged implication is substantially true. Substantial truth is an absolute 

defense to a defamation claim. Collins v. Detroit Free Press, 245 Mich. App. 27, 33 (2001). 
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The doctrine precludes liability if the gist or sting of the statement is true; a statement is 

not considered false unless the literal truth would have produced a different effect in the 

mind of the reader. Ibid. 

Scottsdale's claim rests on the distinction between actively committing fraud and 

being used as a tool for fraudsters. A person who followed pump-and-dump schemes-i.e., 

the reasonable audience-would know the difference between these two things and 

understand from the linked FINRA report that Scottsdale was involved in pump and dumps 

as a tool. Moreover, the linked FINRA report shows that regulators found Scottsdale to be a 

willing tool because it "institutionalized misconduct as its standard way of doing business." 

FINRA PANEL DEC. 105 at Part IV.A(l)(d). Anyone who followed pump-and-dump 

schemes would know of Scottsdale. Anyone who read the entire article (including the linked 

FINRA report)-as the Court must under Sanders-would also understand how Scottsdale 

was involved. Thus, the Statement is substantially true. 

IV. PRIVILEGED: The Article addresses a matter ofpuhlic concern-enforcement 
of securities regulations to guard against frauds on the market - making the 
Statement privileged under Michigan's common law fair·comment privilege. 

A news story about any matter of public interest or concern is protected under 

Michigan's common law fair-comment privilege. Lawrencev. Fox, 357 Mich. 134 (1954). 

There is no requirement that the publication deal with a "public controversy,)) a term of art 

that applies in other contexts in First Amendment cases. Bichler v. Union Bank & Trust, 745 

F.2d 1006, 1011 (CA 9184) (applying Michigan common law). The fair-comment privilege 

is a qualified privilege that exists based upon the circumstances surrounding the 

publication, not the publication's content. Lawrence, 357 Mich. at 140. The privilege also 

applies regardless of whether the plaintiff is a public or private figure. Peisner v. Detroit Free 

Press} Inc., 82 Mich. App. 153, 161 (1978). "Everyone, citizen and reporter, has the right to 

comment on matters of public importance, and expressions of opinion and even 
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misstatements of fact are not actionable in a libel suit unless made maliciously for the 

purpose of damaging another's reputation." Orrv. Argus-Press Co., 586 F.2d 1108,1113 

(CA61978) (applying Michigan law). "Negligence on the part ofthe newspaper is not 

sufficient to establish liability. Scienter is required. If the statement is honestly believed to be 

true and published in good faith, there is no scienter and no liability." Ibid. (internal 

quotations omitted) (emphasis added). "The burden is on the plaintiff to prove the untruth 

of the statements and actual malice." Daddv. Mount Hope Church, 486 Mich. 857 n.l (2010) 

(quoting Van V#etv. Vander Naald, 290 Mich. 365, 371 (1939)) (emphases added). 

The source of the content bears on the privilege's application: "If the source of the 

publisher's information is a person or organization of probity and good repute, the jury 

would have warrant to find that he honestly believed that what he published was the truth 

... On the other hand, if his sources were notably mendacious, there might well be warrant 

to find otherwise." Lawrence, 357 Mich. at 143. Although the reliability of the source is 

often a question for the jury, that is not the case here. The source that Goode and MLM 

relied upon here is a detailed legal decision from a licensing authority empowered to act 

as the frontline regulator of securities brokers like Scottsdale. (FINRA is a self-regulatory 

organization that is responsible under the Exchange Act of 1934 for policing enforcement 

of federal securities laws by its members. See 15 U.S.C. § 78f.) As a matter of law, no 

reasonable juror could conclude that the functional equivalent of a court decision is 

"mendacious" or otherwise of bad repute; a reasonable juror could only conclude that 

reliance on a de facto judicial decision is a trustworthy source. Cf. Sherwood v. Evening 

News Ass)n, 256 Mich. 318, 321 (1931) ("fair and impartial reports of judicial, executive, 

legislative, or other official public proceedings are considered qualifiedly privileged. "); 

M.C.L. § 600.2911(3) (more or less codifying the Sherwood privilege). 

A plaintiff can overcome the fair-comment privilege only by pleading and proving 

that the defendant abused the privilege by recklessly disregarding the truth-i.e., by 
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entertaining serious doubts about the truth of the publication. Schultz v. Newsweek) Inc., 

668 F.2d 911, 918 (CA61982) (applying Michigan law and recognizing that Michigan has 

replaced the old definition of "actual malice," meaning spite or ill will, with the new 

"actual malice" standard articulated in New York Times Co. v. Sullivan, 376 U.S. 254 

(1964». Michigan requires plaintiffs to allege facts in the complaint that would establish 

actual malice. Gonyea, 192 Mich. App. at 76-77; Rouch II, 440 Mich. at 279. It is not 

enough to offer conclusory allegations that the defendant entertained serious doubt-the 

plaintiff must plead facts that, if proved, would allow a jury to make that finding. 

Scottsdale alleges that Goode and MLM "purposefully omitted" that FINRA fined 

Scottsdale for rule violations instead of its involvement in pump-and-dump activity. 

(CompI. <il23.) Not only is this a conclusory allegation entitled to no weight, but it is 

contradicted by the Article, which includes a reference to FINRA Rule 2010 and Section 5 

of the Securities Act, and the FINRA report, which is part of the article. Moreover, the 

report explained that FINRA fined Scottsdale in part for failing to remedy lax procedures 

that had proven to be inadequate to prevent pump-and-dump schemes, including the 

Biozoom fraud. FINRA PANEL DEC. 107 at Part IV.A(3). On a pleadings-based motion to 

dismiss, a court needn't accept as true allegations that are plainly contradicted by an exhibit 

to a pleading. Sprewellv. Golden State Warriors, 266 F.3d 979,988 (CA9 2001) (applying 

Fed. Rule Civ. Proc. 12(b)(6), the equivalent ofM.C.R. 2.116(C)(8». 

In short, Scottsdale is displeased that Goode and MLM published an Article stating 

that FINRA tied its $1.5 million fine to rule violations that had previously allowed pump

and-dump schemes to succeed. But since that is exactly what the FINRA report says, 

Scottsdale has failed to plead facts from which the jury could find that they entertained 

serious doubt correctness of the conclusion they drew from the report. At most, Scottsdale 

has alleged that Goode and MLM failed to adequately investigate and understand the legal 

issues in the FINRA report before reporting on it. But allegations of inadequate 
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investigation are insufficient to constitute malice. Beckley Newspapers Corp. v. Hanks, 389 

U.S. 81 (1967). And nonlawyers are not held liable for technical errors in reporting on legal 

matters, as long as the gist or sting of the legal report is substantially true. Rouch II, 440 

Mich. at 249-265 (collecting authorities and offering in detail as an example the case of a 

Wisconsin judge who could not sue a newspaper for libel over a story mischaracterizing his 

remarks - in which he wondered aloud if a 15-year-old convicted of sexual assault should 

receive a more lenient sentence having grown up in a sexually permissive society-as a 

"ruling," which story led to his recall from office). 

v . FA UL T: The Complaint does not adequately plead negligence. 

To adequately plead fault, a plaintiff must identify the level of fault that applies to 

the claim and allege facts that would establish that level of fault if proved. Gonyea, 192 

Mich. App. at 76-77; Rouch II, 440 Mich. at 279. There are two levels of fault: negligence 

and actual malice. Ibid. The negligence standard applies in cases involving private figures; 

the actual-malice standard applies in cases involving public officials, public figures, and 

limited-purpose public figures. Ibid. Scottsdale alleges that it is a private figure and that 

MLM and Goode are the direct and proximate cause of its damages, Compi. 'If 29, so it 

impliedly pleads the level of fault to be negligence. 

Negligence is defined as the failure to use the care that an ordinary person would 

use under the circumstances. MICH. CIV.J.INSTR. 10.02. Thus, in order to meet the Iqbal

like pleading standard, Scottsdale must allege what a reasonably careful reporter and 

reasonably careful publisher would have done under the circumstances, and then plead 

facts alleging that MLM and Goode failed to do those things. Michigan Microtech) Inc. v. 

FederatedPubl)ns) Inc., 187 Mich. App. 178, 186 (1991). These standards are intertwined 

with the (( reasonable audience" standard. Air Wis. Airlines Corp. v. Hoeper, 71 U.S. 237, 

246-251 (2014). The Complaint does not satisfy these pleading requirements. 
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Scottsdale alleges that a reasonably careful reporter "reads the documents he cites 

and would not report, or imply that a fine for procedural noncompliance is the equivalent of 

a fine for intentional pump and dump activity." (CompI. 'If 24.) Scottsdale would 

presumably have the Court draw an inference that Goode did not read the FINRA report. 

Yet the Article in which the Statement appears quotes from the report at length. Thus, the 

Article itself precludes this from being a reasonable inference. Lakeside Oakland Dev. v. 

H&J Beef Co. , 249 Mich. App. 517, 530 n4 (2002) ("[w]hen considering a motion under 

MCR 2.U6(C)(8), ... any reasonable inferences or conclusions that can be drawn from the 

facts, are accepted as true." (cleaned up) (emphasis added)). 

Alleging that Goode did not read the FINRA report is also a rather odd allegation 

to make. Essentially, Scottsdale's position is that a reasonable journalist would take the 

time to read source material, but: (1) a reasonable reader would not do so, even though the 

material forms part of the article; and (2) the Court should not do so when assessing the 

sufficiency of the Complaint. Not only does the law presume that the reasonable reader 

reads the entire story, but in this case the law also presumes they're sophisticated readers. 

Under Air Wisconst·n, Goode and MLM can reasonably expect that the reasonable audience 

of visitors to the Website are people familiar with the microcap market, including the 

players in the market and their roles (e.g., depositor-sellers, broker-dealers, and buyers, 

etc.). Those readers, being versed in the industry, would conclude that Scottsdale was the 

means by which a pump-and-dump was accomplished, not that Scottsdale had itself 

engaged in illegal activity-particularly with the benefit oflinks to source documents.25 

Under Rouch II, a failure to plead both the level of fault that must be proved and the 

facts that would establish the speaker acted with that level of fault entitles MLM and Goode 

25 Indeed, this probably explains why Scottsdale hasn't suffered any loss of business. 

(Goode and MLM do not rely on the absence of damages for this Motion; it is merely an 
observation.) 
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to summary disposition under MCR 2.116(C)(8). Rouch II, 440 Mich. at 279 (Riley,]., 

concurring). Scottsdale's failure to plead facts adequately supporting a claim of negligence 

is fatal to the Complaint. 

VI. DISMISSAL WITH PREJUDICE: Scottsdale cannot cure the flaws in the 
Complaint by further amendment. 

Leave to amend should be withheld when amendment would be futile. Allegheny-

Ludlam Corp. v. Michigan Dept. ofTreas., 207 Mich. App. 604, 605 (1994). Amendment 

would be futile in this case. The Statement is nonactionable hyperbole, and no amount of 

re-pleading will change that. Even if could be construed as a statement of fact, it is 

substantially true when considered in light of FINRA 's disciplinary decision, it is not 

capable of defamatory meaning, and it is privileged. After four failed attempts at a proper 

pleading, it is time to bring this case to a close. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

MLM and Goode respectfully request that the Court grant summary disposition in 

their favor under Rule 2.116(C)(8) and dismiss the Complaint with prejudice. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Dated: ]ANUARY 29,2019 

BH2677861.1 
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STATE OF MICHIGAN 
KALAMAZOO COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT 

RECEIVED 
NOV 8 0 2018 

SCOTTSDALE CAPITAL 
ADVISORS CORPORATION, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

MORNINGLIGHTMOUNTAIN, LLC, 
MICHAEL GOODE, and DOES 1- I 0, 

Defendants. 

Charles J. Harder (CA #184593) (pro hac vice to be filed) 
Jordan Susman (CA #246116) (pro hac vice to be filed) 
HARDERLLP 
Attomey for Plaintiff 
132 South Rodeo Dr., 4th Floor 
Beverly Hills, CA 90212 
424/203-1600 

H. Rhett Pinsky (P 18920) 
PINSKY, SMITH, FA YETTE & KENNEDY, LLP 
Local Counsel for Plaintiff 
146 Monroe Center St., NW - Suite 805 
Grand Rapids, MI 49503 
616/451-8496 

File No.: 2018--0153-CZ 

Hon. Alexander C. Lipsey 

Joseph E. Richotte (P70902) 
BUTZEL LONG, PC 
Attomey for Defendants 
41000 Woodward Avenue 
Bloomfield Hills, MI 48304 
248/258-1616 

PLAINTIFF'S ANSWER TO DEFENDANTS' FIRST SET OF INTERROGATORIES 

Under Rule 2.309(B), Plaintiff Scottsdale Capital Advisors, Corporation ("Plaintiff'), 

answers Defendants MorningLightMountain, LLC, and Michael Goode (collectively 

"Defendants") First Set ofInterrogatories as follows: 

RESERVATION OF RIGHT TO SUPPLEMENT 

1 

- 1014a -

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:52:47 PM

R
E

C
E

IV
E

D
 by M

C
O

A
 4/25/2019 10:52:47 PM



Interrogatory to the extent that it is ambiguous, overbroad as to tinle, burdensome, and harassing. 

In light of the foregoing objections, Plaintiff will not respond to this Interrogatory. 

25. Identify every act, fact, and event that supports SCA's answer to Interrogatory 

No.24. 

OBJECTION: PlaintifT objects to this Request to the extent that it is not reasonably 

calculated to lead to the discovery of relevant evidence in light of the fact that Plaintiff is not 

seeking special damages for specific lost business relationships. PlaintifffUliher objects to this 

InteITogatory to the extent that it is ambiguous, overbroad as to time, burdensome, and harassing. 

In light of the foregoing objections, Plaintiff will not respond to this InteITogatory. 

26. Identify each person and business that SCA knows, believes, or suspects has 

factual information supporting SCA's answers to Interrogatory Nos. 24 and 25, providing the full 

name of the person or business. For each person, provide their business address, business 

telephone number, business email, personal address, personal telephone number, and personal 

email. For cach business, provide their state of incorporation; resident agent's name, business 

address, business telephone, and business email; and chief executive's name, business address, 

business telephone, and business email. 

OBJECTION: Plaintiff objects to this Request to the extent that it is not reasonably 

calculated to lead to the discovery of relevant evidence in light of the fact that Plaintiff is not 

seeking special damages for specific lost business relationships. Plaintiff further objects to this 

Intcnogatory to the extent that it is ambiguous, overbroad as to time, burdensome, and harassing. 

In light of the foregoing objection, Plaintiff will not respond to this Intenogatory. 

27. Identify each person and business that declined to enter into, or declined to renew, 

a business relationship with SCA because of the Statement in the April Article, providing the full 

legal name of the person or business. For each person, provide their business address, business 

telephone number, business email, personal address, personal telephone number, and personal 

email. For each business, provide their state of incorporation; resident agent's name, business 
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address, business telephone, and business email; and chief executive's name, business address, 

business telephone, and business emaiL 

OBJECTION: Plaintiff objects to this Interrogatory to the extent that it is not reasonably 

calculated to lead to the discovery of relevant evidence in lj ght of the fact that Plaintiff is not 

seeking special damages for specific lost business relationships. Plaintiff further objects to this 

Interrogatory to the extent that it is ambiguous, overbroad as to time, burdensome, and harassing. 

In light ofthe foregoing objection, Plaintiff will not respond to this Interrogatory. 

28. Identify every act, fact, and event that supports SCA's answer to Interrogatory No. 

27. 

OBJECTION: Plaintiff objects to this Interrogatory to the extent that it is not reasonably 

calculated to lead to the discovery of relevant evidence in light of the fact that Plaintiff is not 

seeking special damages for specific lost business relationships. In light of the foregoing 

objection, Plaintiff will not respond to this Interrogatory. 

29. Identify each person and business that seA knows, believes, or suspects has 

factual infolTI1ation supporting SCA's anSwers to Interrogatory No. 27 and 28, providing the fuJI 

name of the person or business. For each person, provide their business address, business 

telephone number, business email, personal address, personal telephone number, and personal 

email. For each business, provide their state of incorporation; resident agent's name, business 

address, business telephone, and business email; and chief executive's name, business address, 

business telephone, and business email. 

OBJECTION: Plaintiff objects to this Intenogatory to the extent that it is not reasonably 

calculated to lead to the discovery of relevant evidence in light of the fact that Plaintiff is not 

seeking special damages for specific lost business relationships. In light of the foregoing 

objection, Plaintiff will not respond to this Interrogatory. 

30. Identify all damages that SeA claims as a result of the Statement in the April Article, 

itemized by the type of damages, monetary value, and the date(s) the damages were incurred. 
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-- - -_ .. _------------, 

OBJECTION: Plaintiff objects to this Interrogatory to the extent that it is not reasonably 

calculated to lead to the discovery of relevant evidence in light of the fact that Plaintiff is not 

seeking special damages. 

ANSWER Without waiving the foregoing objection, Plaintiff states that it is seeking 

general damages for the halm the Statement in the Aplil Article has caused to its business 

reputation. This harm is ongoing. 

31. Identify every act, fact, and event that supports SCA's answer to Intenogatory 

No.30. 

OBJECTION: Plaintift objects to this Interrogatory to the extent that it requests 

information not fully available to Plaintift because those who have fomled negative opinions of 

Plaintiff are unlikely to voice those opinions of Plaintiff. 

ANSWER: Without waiving the foregoing objection, Plaintift states that the Statement in 

the April Aliicle directly calls Plaintiff's business reputation into question by insinuating that it 

engages in practices that typical brokers do not do. This has damaged Plaintiff's business 

reputation by making it appear to be a sub-par brokerage that is engaging in questionable, non

standard, potentially illegal business practices. 

32. Identify each person and business that SCA or any of its Agents knows, believes, 

or suspects has factual information supporting SeA's answer to Intenogatory Nos. 30 and 31, 

providing the full name ofthe person or business. For each person, provide their business 

address, business telephone number, business email, personal address, personal telephone 

num bel', and personal email. For each business, provide their state of incorporation; resident 

agent's name, business address, business telephone, and business email; and chief executive's 

name, business address, business telephone, and business email. 

OBJECTION: Plaintiff objects to this Interrogatory to the extent that it is not reasonably 

calculated to lead to the discovery of relevant evidence in light of the fact that Plaintiff is not 

seeking special damages. 
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.- ._----------

3Jn tbe 1kalama?oo ~ountp ~ircuit ~ourt 
jf or tbe $>tate of ;iMicbigan 

SCOTTSDALE CAPITAL ADVISORS 
CORPORATION, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

MORNINGLIGHTMOUNTAIN, LLC, 
MICHAEL GOODE, and 
DOES 1-10, 

Defendants. 

HARDERLLP 
Charles J. Harder (CA# 184593) 
Jordan D. Susman (CA# 246116) 
132 South Rodeo Drive, Fourth Floor 
Beverly Hills, California 90212 
(424) 203-1600 
charder@harderllp.com 
j susman@harderllp.com 
Counsel for Scottsdale Capital Advisors 
Pro Hac Vice Pending 

PINSKY, SMITH, FAYETTE & 
KENNEDY, LLP 
H. Rhett Pinsky (P18920) 
146 Monroe Center St., NW, Suite 805 
Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503 
(616) 451-8496 
hpinsky@psfklaw.com 
Counsel for Scottsdale Capital Advisors 

Civil No. 18-0153-CZ 

HON. ALEXANDER C. LIPSEY 

FILED 
FEB 01 2019 

LerH JUOIC'IALCtRCOl 
COUNTY OF KAlAMAZOO 
KAlAMAZOO. MICIdIGAN 

BUTZEL LONG, P.C. 
Joseph E. Richotte (P70902) 
Doaa K. AI-Howaishy (P82089) 
Stoneridge West 
41000 Woodward Avenue 
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304 
(248) 258-1616 
richotte@butzel.com 
al-howaishy@butzel.com 
Counsel for MLM and Michael Goode 

PROOF OF SERVICE 

Michelle L. Guardiola hereby states that on January 29, 2019, she served a copy of 

Defendants' Joint Answer to Third Amended Complaint, Motion for Summary Disposition of 

Third Amended Complaint, Memorandum in Support and this Proof of Service via U.S. First 

Class Mail, addressed to Plaintiff's counsel at the following addresses: 
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HARDERLLP 
Charles J. Harder (CA# 184593) 
Jordan D. Susman (CA# 246116) 
132 South Rodeo Drive, Fourth Floor 

Beverly Hills, California 90212 

PINSKY, SMITH, FAYETTE & 
KENNEDY, LLP 
H. Rhett Pinsky (P 18920) 
146 Momoe Center St., NW, Suite 805 

Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503 

I declare that under the penalty of perjury that the statements above are true to the best 

of my information, knowledge and belief. 

~ BUTZEL LONG 

fw.wJ1&t L. ~.~ 
MICHELLE L. GUARDIOLA 
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H. RHETI PINSKY 
MICHAEL L. FAYETTE 
KATHERINE SMITH KENNEDY 
SARAH RILEY HOWARD 

OF COUNSEL: 
ERIN L. DORNBOS 
CRYSTALJ . BULTJE 

PINSKY, SMITH, FAYETTE & KENNEDY, LLP 
ATTORNEYS AT LAW 

146 MONROE CENTER STREET, NW, SUITE 805 
GRAND RAPIDS, MICHlGAN 49503 

TELEPHONE (616) 451-8496 
FAX (616) 451-9850 

RECEIVED 
MAR 2 5 2019 

JOSEPH E. RICHOTTE 

March 18, 2019 

Clerk of the Court 
Kalamazoo County Circuit Court 
150 East Crosstown Parkway 
Kalamazoo, MI 49001 

A. ROBERT KLEINER 
1916 - 1987 

. EDWARD M. SMlTH 
1939-20 17 

H. RHETf PINSKY 
DIRECT DIAL: (616) 451-6 194 

EMA IL: h rpins 1<yrat~hcg1ohn1.nct 

Re: Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corp. v. MorningLightMountain, LLC, et al 
Case No.: 2018-0153-CZ 

Dear Clerk: 

Enclosed please find an original and "Judge's Copy" of Plaintiffs Response in 
Opposition to Motion for Summary Disposition of Third Amended Complaint, together 
with Proof of Service. 

If you have any questions, please contact me. 

Very truly yours, 

PINSKY, SMITH, FAYETT~%~ ~tmEDY, LLP 

. t l" ~ 1/ / /-:,;.1 : Y; 1 
x,/ lC'/(lIll , - j . 

J J j,l U 1.1 

{; tl r !/ f 
H: Rhett Pinsky 

HRP/esd 
Enclosures 
c: Jordan D. Susman, Esq. (w/o encs) 

Joseph E. Richotte, Esq, (w1encs) 

I 
" 
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STATE OF MICHIGAN 
KALAMAZOO COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT 

SCOTTSDALE CAPITAL 
ADVISORS CORPORATION, File No.: 2018-0153-CZ 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

MORNINGLIGHTMOUNTAIN, LLC, 
MICHAEL GOODE, and DOES 1-10, 

Defendants. 

Jordan D. Susman (CA#184593) 
HARDERLLP 
Attorney for Plaintiff 
132 South Rodeo Dr., 4th Floor 
Beverly Hills, CA 90212 
42 4/2 03-1600 

H. Rhett Pinsky (P18920) 
PINSKY, SMITH, FAYETIE & KENNEDY, LLP 
Local Counsel for Plaintiff 
146 Monroe Center St., NW - Suite 805 
Grand Rapids, MI 49503 
616/451-8496 

Hon. Alexander C. Lipsey 

Joseph E. Richotte (P70902) 
BUTZEL LONG, PC 
Attorney for Defendants 
41000 Woodward Avenue 
Bloomfield Hills, MI 48304 
248/258-1616 

PROOF OF SERVICE 

Erika Dech, Legal Assistant at Pinsky, Smith, Fayette & Kennedy LLP, states that on March 18, 
2019, she served PLAINTIFF'S RESPONSE IN OPPOSITION TO MOTION FOR 
SUMMARY DISPOSITION OF THIRD AMENDED COMPLAINT upon Joseph E. 
Richotte, BUTZEL LONG, PC, 41000 Woodward Avenue, Bloomfield Hills, MI 48304 and 
Jordan D. Susman, HARDER LLP, 132 South Rodeo Dr., 4th Floor, Bever ills, CA 90212 via 
first class mail, postage prepaid. 

Erika Dech 
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STATE OF MICHIGAN 
KALAMAZOO COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT 

SCOTTSDALE CAPITAL 
ADVISORS CORPORATION, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

MORNINGLIGHTMOUNT AIN, LLC, 
MICHAEL GOODE, and DOES 1-10, 

Defendants. 

Charles J. Harder (CA #184593) (admitted pro hac vice) 
Jordan Susman (CA #246116) (admitted pro hac vice) 
Margo J. Arnold (CA #278288) (admitted hac vice) 
HARDERLLP 
Attorney for Plaintiff 
132 South Rodeo Dr., 4th Floor 
Beverly Hills, CA 90212 
424/203-1600 

H. Rhett Pinsky (PI8920) 
PINSKY, SMITH, FA YETTE & KENNEDY, LLP 
Local Counsel for Plaintiff 
146 MOlioe Center St., NW - Suite 805 
Grand Rapids, MI 49503 
616/451-8496 

File No.: 2018- 0153-CZ 

Hon. Alexander C. Lipsey 

Joseph E. Richotte (P70902) 
BUTZEL LONG, PC 
Attorney for Defendants 
41000 Woodward Avenue 
Bloomfield Hills, MI 48304 
248/258-1616 

PLAINTIFF'S RESPONSE IN OPPOSITION TO MOTION FOR SUMMARY 
DISPOSITION OF TIllRD AMENDED COMPLAINT 

Plaintiff Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corp. ("Scottsdale"), submits its Response in 

Opposition to Defendants ' MCR 2.116(C)(8) Motion for Summary Disposition of Third 

Amended Complaint ("Current Motion"). 
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INTRODUCTION AND RELEVANT PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

This action arises from Defendants' publication on www.goodetrades.com of a false, 

defamatory, and highly misleading article (the "Article"). The Article, titled "FINRA fines 

Scottsdale Capital Advisors $1.5 million," opened with the sentence "If you have followed 

penny stocks and pump and dumps for a few years then you know Scottsdale Capital Advisors," 

thus leading the reader to immediately conclude that Scottsdale was fined by FINRA for pump 

and dump activity. 

On November 8, 2018, Scottsdale filed its Second Amended Complaint ("SAC"), which 

alleged two defamatory statements by Defendants, including Statement #1: "If you have 

followed penny stocks and pump and dumps for a few years then you know Scottsdale 

Capital Advisors." 

On November 14,2018, Defendants filed a Motion for Summary Disposition of the SAC 

(the "SAC Motion"). 

During the December 14,2018, hearing on the SAC Motion, the Court held that 

Scottsdale had adequately amended its complaint "to specifically allege those two statements as 

defamatory," but granted Defendants' SAC Motion because Scottsdale had not pleaded "the 

necessary elements of negligence in their pleadings." (Transcript at 20:13-20; 24:3-8). The Court 

granted Scottsdale leave to "fashion a complaint that does comport with this Court's rulings 

relating to establishing at least some factual basis for negligence that can be explored in the 

litigation process." (Transcript at 24:9-18) 

On January 16, 2019, Scottsdale filed its operative Third Amended Complaint ("TAC"). 

Per the Court's order, Scottsdale alleged additional facts to establish that Defendants negligently 

published Statement #1. 

On January 29,2019, Defendants filed the Current Motion, which (1) alleges Scottsdale 

has failed to plead the requisite fault standard, (2) real leges that Scottsdale has failed to state a 

claim for defamation and (3) alleges for the first time that Scottsdale's defamation claim is 

barred as a matter of law based on the substantial truth defense and public interest privilege. 
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The Current Motion should be denied because (1) Scottsdale has sufficiently alleged that 

Defendants were negligent in publishing Statement #1, (2) the Court already held that Scottsdale 

sufficiently pleaded a claim for defamation, and (3) neither the substantial truth defense nor the 

public interest privilege bar Scottsdale's claim. 

LEGAL STANDARD 

As with their SAC Motion, Defendants again allege that there is a heightened scrutiny for 

reviewing a defamation case for legal sufficiency based on the pleadings. (Current Motion at 

pp.5-7). The Court already rejected these arguments in its October 4,2018 Order on Defendants' 

motion to dismiss the First Amended Complaint. (October 4,2018 Order at p.5). ("[T]his Court 

should not implement a higher standard as the Defendant suggests, but instead maintain a normal 

course of action regarding MCR 2.116(C)(8) that reviews only pleadings for legal sufficiency in 

light of the alleged wrongdoing."). The Court further held that Defendants' claim of a heightened 

pleading standard "is without merit" and "improperly interpreted" the cases cited by Defendants, 

Bose Corp. v. Consumers Union and Thomas M Cooley Law School v. Doe 1. (October 4,2018 

Order at p.4). 

The proper standard of review for a MCR 2.116(C)(8) motion is to test the legal 

sufficiency of the pleadings. Ben-Tech Indus. Automation v. Oakland Univ., No. 247471,2005 

WL 50131, at *2 (Mich. Ct. App. Jan. 11, 2005). "All factual allegations in support of the claim 

are accepted as true" and "any reasonable inferences or conclusions which can be drawn from 

the facts" must be "construed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." Id A MCR 

2.116(C)(8) motion should only be granted if "the claim is so clearly unenforceable as a matter 

of law that no factual development could possibly justify recovery." Id 

ARGUMENT 

A. The TAC Sufficiently Pleads Fault 

"The negligence standard under Michigan law is understood to measure whether a 

defendant's actions were those ofa 'reasonably careful journalist' or 'reasonably careful 

publisher.'" Compuware Corp. v. Moody's Inv'rs Servs., Inc., 371 F. SUpp. 2d 898,902 (E.D. 
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Mich. 2005) (citing Michigan Microtech, Inc. v. Federated Publ'ns, Inc. , 187 Mich. App. 178, 

466 N.W.2d 717, 722 (1991)). The TAC easily satisfies this standard. 

The TAC states, "Defendants were negligent in creating the implication in False 

Statement #1 that FINRA fined SCA $1.5 million for participating in illegal pump and dump 

schemes." (TAC ~ 22). The TAC further alleges that although the Article references a 

Stockwatch article and a Ill-page FINRA decision as support for False Statement # 1, a plain 

reading of both of those documents indicates that FINRA filled SCA for selling securities 

without registration and without an exemption, as required by FINRA Rule 201 O-not for 

participating in illegal pump and dump schemes. (Id.) Defendants acted negligently because "a 

reasonable journalist reads the documents he cites and would not report, or imply that, a 

fme for procedural noncompliance is the equivalent of a fme for intentional pump and 

dump activity." (Id) (emphasis added). 

Accordingly, the TAC clearly states that Defendants were negligent because their actions 

were not those of a reasonably careful journalist or publisher. Stated differently, Defendants 

were negligent because they failed to give "a full and accurate account of the relevant facts" 

regarding the decision upon which they claimed to reporting. In re Thompson, 162 B.R. 748, 770 

(Bankr. E.D. Mich. 1993). 

Accordingly, there is no dispute that the TAC sufficiently pleads negligence, and the 

Current Motion should be denied. 

B. The Court Already Held That Statement #1 Sufficiently Pleads Defamation 

In ruling on Defendants' SAC Motion, the Court held: "plaintiffs amended their 

complaint to specifically allege [Statement #1] as defamatory." (December 14,2018 Transcript 

at 20:13-20). Despite the Court's unambiguous holding, Defendants improperly try to relitigate 

the Court's earlier order and argue the TAC does not sufficiently allege Statement #1 is 

defamatory. 

Michigan courts routinely deny motions that seek the same relief based upon the same 

facts as an earlier motion. See Moore v. Vines, No. 221846, 2001 WL 684561, at *1 (Mich. Ct. 
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App. June 15, 2001) ("The doctrine of res judicata generally precludes relitigation of matters 

already decided absent certain compelling circumstances, such as those specified in MCR 

2.612(C)."). In Burda Bros, Inc. , the Court of Appeals upheld a trial court's denial of a plaintiff's 

third motion for attorney fees, stating: 
Plaintiffs' third motion for attorney fees pleaded virtually identical 
facts and requested the same substantive relief as plaintiffs' second 
motion for attorney fees, when the court ruled against them. We, 
therefore, agree with the trial court' s treatment of plaintiffs ' third 
motion for attorney fees as a motion for reconsideration of the 
court's decision on their second motion for attorney fees. 

No. 250487, 2005 WL 156621, at *3 (Mich. Ct. App. Jan. 25,2005). 

Because the Current Motion seeks the exact same relief based upon the exact same facts 

as Defendants' SAC Motion, it should be denied. l 

C. Statement #1 Sufficiently Pleads a Claim for Defamation 

Statement #1 states: "If you have followed penny stocks and pump and dumps for a 

few years then you know Scottsdale Capital Advisors." Scottsdale alleges that this statement 

is false and defamatory when read in context: 

False Statement #1 is immediately preceded by the headline: 
"FINRA filles Scottsdale Capital Advisors $1.5 million." This 
juxtaposition makes it appear that SCA [Scottsdale] was filled $1.5 
million for its involvement in the pump and dump of penny stocks. 
Given the placement of False Statement #1 under a headline 
regarding a $1.5 million fine by FINRA, a reader could only 
conclude that SCA was fined for its involvement in a pump and 
dump. Moreover, the Article quotes extensively from a FINRA 
decision that has nothing to do with any pump and dump scheme. 
In addition, False Statement #1 falsely alleges and/or implies that 
SCA is so heavily involved in the illegal pump and dump of penny 
stocks that it is identified and known by the association. This is 
false. Because SCA has never been involved in any "pump and 
dump" schemes, has never been a defendant in any "pump and 
dump" lawsuits, has never been charged by FINRA or any 

1 Because the Court already ruled that there was no palpable error with its earlier ruling, the 
purpose of the Current Motion is clearly to harass and needlessly increase the cost oflitigation. 
Consequently, in denying Defendants' Current Motion, the Court should also award sanctions 
pursuant to MCR2.114. 
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SAC ~ l3(a). 

regulatory agency with involvement in a "pump and dump" scheme, 
and has never been fined for its involvement in a "pump and dump", 
the implications created by False Statement #1 in the context of the 
Article are false and defamatory. 

A cause of action for defamation by implication occurs when the defamatory implications 

of a statement are materially false, and "that such a cause of action might succeed even without a 

direct showing of any actual literally false statements." Hawkins v. Mercy Health Servs., Inc., 

230 Mich. App. 315, 329-30, 583 N.W.2d 725,731 (1998). "[E]venifdefendant's statements 

were true, if the implications the statements created were false, the question of whether the 

statements were defamatory must be left up to the jury." Am. Transmission, Inc. v. Channel 7 of 

Detroit, Inc., 239 Mich. App. 695, 702 (2000). "Direct accusations or inferences of criminal 

conduct or wrongdoing are not protected as opinion. There is no First Amendment protection for 

a charge which could reasonably be understood as imputing specific criminal conduct or other 

wrongful acts." Hodgins v. Times Herald Co ., 169 Mich. App. 245, 253-54 (1988) (internal 

citations omitted). 

Statement #1 is defamatory because it falsely alleges and/or implies that Scottsdale is so 

heavily involved in the illegal pump and dump of penny stocks that it is identified and known by 

the association. Consequently, the Current Motion should be denied. 

1. Statement #1 Is Not "Nonactionable Hyperbole" 

Defendants attempt to evade liability by claiming that Statement #1 is mere "hyperbole," 

when it clearly is not. Defendants falsely accused Scottsdale of being fmed $1.5 million for its 

purported involvement in criminal pump and dump schemes, when, in fact, Scottsdale was fined 

for mere regulatory violations. Statement #1 is not hyperbolic; it is simply false. 

The one case that Defendants rely upon, Komarov v. Advance Magazine Publ'rs, Inc., 

691 N.Y.S.2d 298 (NY Sup. Ct. 1999), is easily distinguished. In Komarov, the court held that an 

author's comment during an interview about the plaintiff being as "well known" in his 

community as John Gotti, "especially read in the context of the article [at issue], where the 
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author was clearly trying to elicit a response from [a close associate of the plaintiff about his 

relationship with the plaintiffJ ," was "clearly understood as conjecture." 

Statement #1, when read in context, is not mere conjecture and it does not merely convey 

that "everyone knows" there is a connection between pump and dumps and Scottsdale as 

Defendants claim. Rather, Statement #1 leads the reader to understand that Scottsdale is actively 

involved in pump and dumps and was recently fmed by FINRA for such involvement. This is 

provably false, because Scottsdale has never been fmed for its involvement in a pump and dump 

scheme. 

Defendants' inference of criminal conduct is not protected hyperbole, and the Current 

Motion should be denied. 

2. Statement #1 Is False 

Defendants next try to evade liability by arguing that Statement # 1 is not false. 

Defendants ' argument must fail because Statement #1 falsely implies that Scottsdale was fmed 

$1.5 million for its involvement in the pump and dump of penny stocks. Given the placement of 

Statement #1 tmder a headline regarding a $1.5 million fine by FINRA, a reader could 

reasonably conclude that Scottsdale was fined for its involvement in a pump and dump. 

Consequently, the implications created by Statement #1 are false. 

3. Statement #1 Is Defamatory 

Defendants ' final argument- that Statement # 1 is not defamatory-is a strawman 

argument that ignores the controlling legal standard. 

First, as stated above, "There is no First Amendment protection for a charge which could 

reasonably be understood as imputing specific criminal conduct or other wrongful acts." 

Hodgins, 169 Mich. App. at 253-54 (emphasis added). Instead of addressing this legal standard, 

Defendants dispute Scottsdale's allegation in the SAC (not the operative TAC) that, "Given the 

placement of False Statement #1 under a headline regarding a $1.5 million fine by FINRA, a 

reader could only conclude that [Scottsdale] was fined for its involvement in a pump and dump." 

(See Current Motion at p.10 citing SAC ~14) . Although Scottsdale genuinely believes that a 
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reader "could only conclude" something defamatory, the standard for defamation by implication 

is much more lax (i.e., "could reasonably be understood" as defamatory). Defendants fail to 

address this more lax standard. Because Defendants placed Statement #1 under a headline 

regarding a $1.5 million fine by FINRA, a reader could reasonably conclude that Scottsdale 

was fined for its involvement in a pump and dump, when in fact, it was not. 

Second, Defendants misconstrue defamation by implication. While a media defendant is 

not "liable for the reader's possible inferences, speculations, or conclusions, where the defendant 

has not made or directly implied any provably false factual assertion," a media defendant is 

liable if it has "by selective omission of crucial relevant facts , misleadingly conveyed any false 

factual implication." Locricchio v. Evening News Ass'n, 438 Mich. 84, 144, 476 N.W.2d 112, 

139 (1991) (Cavanaugh, C.l. , concurring). 

When Statement # 1 is read in context, it falsely implies that Scottsdale was fined $1.5 

million for engaging in illegal pump and dump practices. At no point in the Article do 

Defendants mention that Scottsdale was filled for selling securities without registration and 

without an exemption, and not for engaging in pump and dump schemes. 

Defendants argue that a link to a Ill-page FINRA ruling later in the Article "provides 

the context" for their false and defamatory statements. (Current Motion at p.l1). However, 

"context" for the purposes of determining defamatory meaning is limited to the four corners of 

the publication. the alleged defamatory statements must be construed only in the context of the 

document in which they are contained. Nucor Corp. v. Prudential Equity Grp. , LLC, 189 N.C. 

App. 731 , 736, 659 S.E.2d 483 , 487 (2008); Mandel v. O'Connor, 99 S.W.3d 33,36 (Mo. Ct. 

App. 2003) ("When considering a writing, it is to be interpreted from its four corners and given 

its ordinary meaning."). Further, by the time a reader arrives at that link and reviews the FINRA 

decision, the damage has been done: Defendants have already falsely accused Scottsdale of being 

fined $1.5 million for its involvement in pump and dumps and of engaging in practices shunned 

by others in its field. 
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In sum, Statement #1 is false, defamatory, and not hyperbole. The Court should therefore 

deny the Cunent Motion. 

D. Statement #1 Is Not Protected by the Substantial Truth Defense 

Defendants attempt to evade liability by claiming that the implication created by 

Statement #1 is substantially true. Defendants are wrong. 

A substantial truth defense requires that the gist or sting of the statement be true. Collins 

v. Detroit Free Press, 245 Mich. App. 27, 33 (2001). Here, the gist of Statement # l- that 

Scottsdale was fined $1 .5 million for its involvement in a pump and dump scheme- is 

demonstrably false. 

Defendants argue that Scottsdale conflates committing fraud with being a tool of fraud. 

(Current Motion at p.12). Defendants are grasping at straws, as Statement #1 falsely implies that 

Scottsdale was fmed $1.5 million for its involvement in a pump and dump scheme. And the 

FINRA decision to which the Article contains a hyperlink does not provide context for the false 

and defamatory statement nor evidence that the statement is substantially true. The Ill-page 

FINRA ruling concerned a purported violation of Section 5 of the Securities Act relating to the 

sale of unregistered securities- not Scottsdale' s involvement in a pump and dump scheme. 

Hawkins v. Mercy Health Servs. , Inc., 230 Mich. App. 315, 335, 583 N.W.2d 725, 734 

(1998), is instructive. In Hawkins, the court held that a news release stating that a nurse had 

been terminated for her involvement in administering an overdose was not substantially true 

because the nurse had actually been terminated for denying that she participated in a 

conversation criticizing a doctor' s standard of care. "Looking at the evidence in a light most 

favorable to [the nurse] it was enoneous to conclude as a matter of law that the implication 

created by the [news] release would have the same effect on the mind of the audience as would a 

statement accurately identifying the reasons underlying the discharge." Id. 

Hawkins is similar to the fact pattern here, as Defendants stated that Scottsdale was 

punished for actions that were worse than what actually occurred. Defendants falsely wrote and 

published that Scottsdale was fmed for affirmative intentional actions (pump and dump schemes) 
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when it was actually fined for administrative negligence (believing it qualified for an exemption 

to the requirement to be registered to sell securities). When the allegations in the TAC are 

viewed in a light most favorable to Scottsdale, it would be erroneous to conclude as a matter of 

law that the implication created by Statement # 1 would have the same effect on the mind as 

would a statement that accurately identified the reasons for FINRA's fine. Consequently, the 

Current Motion should be denied. 

E. Statement #1 Is Not Protected by the Public Interest Privilege2 

Defendants' final argument, that Statement #1 is protected by the "fair-comment 

privilege", is baseless. 

Michigan's common law public concern privilege does not require private-figure 

plaintiffs to allege actual malice. Rouch v. Enquirer & News of Battle Creek, 427 Mich. 157, 

182, 398 N.W.2d 245,256 (1986). In Rouch, the Michigan Supreme Court questioned whether 

the common law public concern privilege, which requires the plaintiff to prove both falsity and 

actual malice if the statements at issue are of a matter of public concern, equally applied to both 

public figure and private figure plaintiffs. In reviewing cases where the privilege had been 

applied, including Lawrence v. Fox, 357 Mich. 134, 97 N.W.2d 719 (1959), Peisner v. Detroit 

Free Press, 82 Mich. App. 153, 266 N.W.2d 693 (1978), the Supreme Court held that Michigan 

had "never applied the privilege in a case involving a strictly private-person plaintiff." Id. After 

considering recent constitutional changes to libel law, including the United States Supreme Court 

decision in Gertz v. Robert Welch, the Michigan Supreme Court held that the heightened fault 

2 Michigan has both a fair comment privilege and a qualified public-interest privilege. "Although 
federal courts applying Michigan law have sometimes confused the fair-comment privilege with 
the qualified public-interest privilege, the fair-comment privilege is involved only where the 
matter complained of is comment, as distinguished from statement of fact. " Rouch v. Enquirer & 
News of Battle Creek, 427 Mich. 157, 180,398 N.W.2d 245, 255 (1986) (internal quotes and 
citations omitted). While Defendants' moving papers use the term "fair comment privilege," the 
arguments made and cases cited demonstrate that Defendants ' are actually referring to the 
"public-interest privilege." 
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requirement would apply to libel cases involving public figures. 3 This decision was affirmed by 

the Michigan Supreme Court in Locricchio v. Evening News Ass'n, 438 Mich. 84, 114,476 

N.W.2d 112, 125 (1991). 

Defendants' arguments based upon the public interest privilege are fatally defective. 

First, the fine levied on Scottsdale by FINRA is not a matter of public interest. "There is 

an important distinction between matters which truly promote the public interest and matters 

which are merely interesting to the public." Rouch, 427 Mich. at 163, at 247 (citing 3 

Restatement Torts, 2d, § 598, comment [bJ). Criminal matters, while interesting, are not always 

matters of public interest. Rouch v. Enquirer & News a/Battle Creek, 137 Mich. App. 39,49, 

357 N.W.2d 794,800 (1984), affd and remanded, 427 Mich. 157,398 N.W.2d 245 (1986). 

Articles meant to update the public on "a continuing violation of the law, like a police burglary 

ring" have been held as matters of public interests. Id. (citing Stice v. Beacon Newspaper Corp., 

Inc., 185 Kan. 61, 340 P.2d 396, 76 A.L.R.2d 687 (1959». Similarly, articles about crime by 

government officials or judicial misconduct when prosecuting crimes have been held as matters 

of public interest. Id. (citing Miner v. The Detroit Post & Tribune Co., 49 Mich. 358, 364, 13 

N.W. 773 (1882»; Lawrence v. Fox, 357 Mich. 134,97 N.W.2d 719 (1959) (publication reported 

that plaintiff, a deputy superintendent of police, had engaged in fraud, corruption, and protection 

of criminals.); Peisner v. Detroit Free Press, 82 Mich. App. 153,266 N.W.2d 693 (1978) (article 

accused plaintiff of failing to raise the issue of judicial misconduct on appeal of an indigent 

defendant's criminal conviction because the plaintiff was the judge's longtime friend and former 

campaign manager). 

Comparatively, publications that simply report that a private-figure previously committed 

a crime are not necessarily matters of public interest. Rouch, 137 Mich. App. at 54-55,357 

3 Gertzv. Robert Welch, Inc., 418 U.S. 323,347,94 S. Ct. 2997, 3010, 41 L. Ed. 2d 789 (1974), 
held that the New York Times v. Sullivan heightened fault standard must be used for actions 
involving public figures, but "States may defme for themselves the appropriate standard of 
liability for a publisher or broadcaster of defamatory falsehood injurious to a private individual." 
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N.W.2d at 802 (citing McAllister v. The Detroit Free Press Co. , 76 Mich. 338, 43 N.W. 431 

(1889); Lancour v. Herald & Globe Ass'n., 111 Vt. 371, 17 A.2d 253, 132 A.L.R. 486 (1941); 

Hornby v. Hunter, 385 S.W.2d 473 (Tex. Civ. App. 1964); Phillips v. The Evening Star 

Newspaper Co. , 424 A.2d 78 (D.C. App. 1980). Rouch concerned a news article reporting the 

arrest of a man for allegedly raping his ex-wife's teenage babysitter. The Court of Appeal found, 

and the Supreme Court affirmed that "the details of plaintiffs alleged crime were merely matters 

that the public would find generally interesting and not matters deserving of robust public 

debate." Rouch, 137 Mich. App. at 58,357 N.W.2d at 804 ("The fact that plaintiff had been 

arrested for raping his ex-wife's teenage baby sitter and cutting off the baby sitter's clothes with a 

knife does not contribute to the public's interest in reducing or detecting crime."). 

Here, Defendants allegedly reported on the outcome of a FINRA proceeding in which 

Scottsdale was fined (although the Article misconstrued the subject of Scottsdale's violation). 

The Article did not contribute to the reduction or detection of FINRA violations nor report on the 

wrongdoing of a government officer. Rouch, 137 Mich. App. at 58,357 N.W.2d at 804. Rather, 

the Article simply reported that a proceeding occurred and on the outcome of the proceeding 

(albeit, it grossly misstated the outcome). 

Even ifthe Article concerned a matter of public interest (it didn't), the public interest 

privilege would still not apply because Scottsdale adequately pleaded that Defendants were, at a 

minimum, negligent in the publication. (See Section A, herein). 

This instant matter is strikingly similar to the facts in McAllister v. Detroit Free Press 

Co., 76 Mich. 338, 355, 43 N.W. 431, 437 (1889), in which a newspaper accused the plaintiff of 

being arrested for felony post office burglary, and the Court found the article to be unprivileged 

defamation because the plaintiff had actually been arrested for the misdemeanor sale of stamps 

without a license. The Court held that there was a lack of care on the part of the author and 

newspaper because they had a copy of the plaintiffs arrest complaint, which stated the charges. 

Here, Defendants had access to the FINRA ruling against Scottsdale for violation of 

Section 5 of the Securities Act but falsely reported that Scottsdale was filled for its involvement 
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in pump and dump schemes. Consequently, Statement #1 is not privileged, and the Current 

Motion should be denied. 

F. Leave To Amend Should Be Granted If Necessary 

Leave to amend a pleading "shall be freely given when justice so requires." MCR 

2.118(A)(2). "Michigan's court rule regarding the amendment of pleadings provides for a liberal 

handling of requests to amend." Clapham v. Yanga, 102 Mich. App. 47, 52 (1980). 

Should the Court determine that the TAC is somehow lacking, Scottsdale respectfully 

requests an opportunity to amend. 

CONCLUSION 

As demonstrated herein, the TAC alleges sufficient facts to state a cause of action for 

Defamation against Defendants. Therefore, the Current Motion should be denied. 

Dated: March 19, 2019 By:--------r----7~-=¥+--_7~----_r---
. Rhe Pinsky '(P18920) 

146 Momoe Center NW, Suite ,05 
Grand Rapids, MI 49503 
(616) 451-8496 
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-1-

I. SPECIAL STANDARD OF REVIEW: Scottsdale ignores the new points raised in 
Defendants' opening brief that the special standard applies in private-figure cases. 

Although the Court previously ruled that the special standard of review in defamation 

cases is limited to cases involving public officials and public figures, (Op. 4 (Oct. 4, 2018», 

Defendants have offered caselaw proving that the special standard also applies in private-figure 

cases. (Br. 6-8 (citing Rouch II, Trost, and Royal Palace Homes).) Scottsdale offered no critique of 

these cases when opposing the last motion for summary disposition, and it has failed to do so 

again. The Court should treat this as a concession that Defendants' analysis is correct. 

n. THE STATEMENT: Scottsdale has not addressed Defendants' core arguments. 

A. Hyperbole. As noted in Defendants' opening brief, a challenged statement is not 

actionable unless it is prO'Vably false. (Br. 8.) In opposition, Scottsdale simply says the facts of 

this case are different than the KomtJT"O'V example cited in the opening brief. (Opp 'n 6-7.) 

(Notably, Scottsdale ignores Hogan, Fasi, Haberstroh, or Springett. (Br. 9, n. 24.» Of course, the 

factual differences are irrelevant; the legal principle is the same. Statements of the "everyone 

knows" variety are not prO'Vably false. Scottsdale cannot "poll" the community for its proofs. 

(Br. 9.) Scottsdale does not dispute this; it offers not a single case where "polling the 

community" was recognized as a viable means of proving an "everybody knows" statement. 

(See Opp 'n 6-7.) Indeed, Scottsdale just ignores the impossibility of its proofs altogether. 

B. Substantial Truth. Scottsdale does not dispute that the actual words of the 

challenged statement are true. The Court has already agreed with Defendants that the 

statements are true, too. (Op. 7.) 

Instead, Scottsdale argues that the statement falsely implies that FINRA fmed it $1.5 

million for its involvement in a penny stock pump-and-dump scheme, which it says is an 

"inference of criminal conduct." (Opp'n 7, Part C.L) This is unpersuasive for three reasons. 

First, FINRA is a civil regulatory authority that would have no authority to punish 

Scottsdale for criminal conduct. Keeping in mind that Air Wisconsin requires the Court to assess 
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-2-

the challenged statement from the perspective of the reasonable audience - here, sophisticated 

consumers of news concerning the penny-stock market-the implication Scottsdale wishes to 

read into the statement is not reasonable. The reasonable audience for the Article would 

understand that FINRA fines are civil in nature. 

Second, even if the reasonable audience made that unreasonable inference, Scottsdale 

refuses to acknowledge that a libel defendant" is not responsible for every defamatory 

implication a reader might draw from his report of true facts, absent evidence that he intended 

the defamatory implication." Royal Palace Homes, Inc. v. Channel 7 of Del., Inc., 197 Mich. App. 

48, 56 (1992) (emphasis added). Scottsdale has not pleaded any facts from which the Court 

could reasonably infer that Defendants intended the implication that Scottsdale tries to read into 

the statement. Tellingly, Scottsdale does not cite a single fact pleaded in the complaint to 

establish this intent element. (See Opp'n 7-9.) 

Third, the implication of which Scottsdale complains is substantially true. " [A] 

statement is not considered false unless it would have a different effect on the mind of the reader 

from that which the pleaded truth would have produced. " Hawkins v. Men)' Health Servs., 230 

Mich. App. 315, 332 n.ll (1998) (cleaned up). Here, the pleaded truth is that Scottsdale was 

fined for selling securities without a registration or an exemption from registration, not for 

engaging in pump-and-dump schemes. (Compl. If 22; Opp 'n 8.) Yet Scottsdale does not dispute 

Defendants' analysis of the FINRA panel's decision, which details how and why FINRA tied 

the fme to Scottsdale's failure to properly police transactions susceptible to pump-and-dump 

frauds. (Br. 11-14). FINRA held that shares sold through Scottsdale were not exempt from 

registration because the exemption required Scottsdale tQ properly police transactions, which it did 

not do. (Id. at 12-13.) Thus, in FINRA 's estimation, Scottsdale was partly responsible for the 

pump-and-dump schemes. Had Scottsdale done its job properly, innocent people would not have 

lost money. The reasonable audience-sophisticated consumers of news concerning the penny

stock market -would detect no meaningful difference between "engaging in" behavior and 
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-3-

"being responsible for" that behavior. In both cases, the reasonable audience would understand 

Scottsdale was culpable for frauds perpetrated on the market. 

C. Del_tory Meaning.! Scottsdale argues that the FINRA report is not part of the 

Article that must be reviewed when assessing context. (Opp'n 8.) It cites Nueor Corp. and Mandel, 

cases from North Carolina and Missouri, for the proposition that defamatory meaning is judged by 

the content within the "four comers of the publication." (Ibid.) Defendants do not quarrel with 

that statement of the law conceptually, but the four comers of a publication includes documents 

attached to the publication, Service Employees lnt'/ Union LocalS v. Professional Janitorial Serv. of 

Houswn, Inc., 415 S.w.3d 387,402-403 (Tex. App. 2013), just like attachments to a complaint are 

part of the complaint, if. Slaterv. Ann Arbor Pub. Schs. Bd. of £due., 250 Mich. App. 419, 427 

(2002). Neither Nucor Corp. nor Mandel involved online publications or publications with 

attachments.2 Links embedded in online articles are the functional equivalent of attachments. 

Scottsdale can't complain that the Article omits relevant information about the FINRA report, but 

then ignore that the Article links the audience to the report, making it available in lO keystrokes and 

a few clicks of a mouse-the digital equivalent of turning to a motion's index of exhibits, finding the 

right exhibit number, and then flipping to the correct tab. See Adelson v. Harris, 973 F. Supp. 2d 467 

(SONY 2013), affirmed 876 F.3d 413 (CA2 2017); Adelson v. Harris, 402 P.2d 665 (Nev. 2017). 

Scottsdale renews its request for sanctions, arguing the Court has already held the 
challenged statement to be defamatory. (Opp 'n 5, n.l.) Scottsdale misinterprets the Court's 
statement. (See Part I1.B, supra.) Otherwise, it is dictum; any ruling on the element of truth was 
not germane to the Court's ruling on the element of fault. Regardless, earlier rulings have no 
effect for appellate purposes because the new complaint supersedes the previous complaint, which is 
"abandoned and withdrawn." MCR 2.118(A)(4); Grzesickv. Cepela, 237 Mich. App. 554, 562 
(1999). Defendants must re-raise their arguments here to preserve their challenges to any 
earlier rulings. Cf. id. at 562-563. This was explained in Defendants' reply brief in support of 
its last motion. Yet here Scottsdale is again asking for sanctions, recycling the same argument 
and caselaw, without any effort to rebut Grzesick. 

2 The challenged statements were in an email, Nucor Corp. v. Prudential Equity Group, 659 
S.E.2d 483, 485 (N.C. App. 2(08), and a letter written to members of a city council. Mandel v. 
O'Connor, 99 S.W.3d 33, 37 (Mo. App. 2003). 
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-4-

Scottsdale also renews its argument that the damage is done by the time the audience reads 

the FINRA report. This isn't the law. The whole article, including attachments, must be considered. 

(Br.13.) 

D. Fair-Comment Privilege. The challenged statement is privileged from liability 

under Michigan's fair-comment privilege. Rather than address this privilege, Scottsdale argues 

why the largely defunct public-interest privilege does not apply. Rouch II, 427 Mich. 157, 180-

182 n.13 (1986) (observing that the public-interest privilege has been largely subsumed under 

the New York Times test). The fair-comment privilege remains and has more recently been called 

the "qualified privilege," Dadd v. Mount Hope Church, 486 Mich. 857 (2010). In that private

figure case, the Supreme Court held that plaintiffs must prove untruth and actual malice" when 

the privilege applies. [d. at 857, n.1. In a partial concurrence,Justice Markman traced the 

contours of the privilege. See a/so, id. at 860-862, 864-867 (Markman, J., dissenting in part).3 

"The principle of 'fair comment' affords legal immunity for the honest expression of 

opinion on matters oflegitimate public interest when based upon a true or privileged statement 

of fact." Deitz v. Wometco Uist Mich. TV, 160 Mich. App. 367, 376 (1987).4 Here, the statement 

is fair comment by a media defendant about disciplinary action taken against a regulated entity 

whose willful nonfeasance facilitated pump-and-dump frauds, according to a trustworthy 

source. Scottsdale says that "criminal matters" are not always matters of public interest, (Opp'n 

11), but that confuses the real issues of interest to the public in two respects. First, as noted in 

Part II.B, supra, the FINRA fme is a civil matter. Second, Defendants provide news to investors, 

including warnings about stock manipulation schemes to prevent them from being fleeced. The 

3 Justice Markman's discussion of the qualified privilege is consistent with the majority 
opinion. The Court differed over whether the jury was properly instructed. The majority did not 
believe it reversible error for the instructions to omit a reference to "actual malice," finding the 
use of "reckless disregard" to be sufficient under the circumstances. 

4 Deitz says the fault standard is negligence, but that holding is inconsistent with Dadd, a 
subsequent Supreme Court decision that plainly holds to the contrary. Dadd 486 Mich. at 857 n.l. 
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-5-

public has an interest in understanding how pump-and-dump schemes work, how they succeed 

(in part through companies like Scottsdale failing to police transactions), whether a scheme has 

been detected or is suspected (so that investors can protect themselves), and whether they have 

been victimized by a scheme (so they can seek redress), among other interests. To overcome the 

privilege, Scottsdale must plead and prove actual malice under Dadd, even if it claims to be a 

private figure. It has not done so. (See Br. 14-17.) 

E. Fault. Scottsdale alleges that a reasonable journalist "reads the documents he 

cites." (Compl. If 22.) The Article in which the Statement appears quotes from the FINRA 

report at length. The only reasonable inference is that Mr. Goode read the report. (Br. 18.) 

Scottsdale also alleges that a reasonable journalist would not report or imply that a fine 

for procedural noncompliance is the equivalent of a fine for intentional pump-and-dump 

activity. (Compl. 'Il22.) As noted in Part Il.B, the Court has already ruled that Defendants did 

not report this. Proceeding on a defamation-by-implication theory requires Scottsdale to plead 

facts from which the Court can infer that Defendants intended the implication. In their opening 

brief, and in Part II.B, supra, Defendants observed that Scottsdale has pleaded no such filets. 

(Br. 17-19.) Scottsdale does not dispute this. (Opp'n 3-4.) Instead, it merely points to its 

conclusory allegation that Defendants "acted negligently." (Ibid.) This is inadequate to state a 

claim upon which relief can be granted. 

Dated: MARCH 25, 2019 

BH2701774.1 

Respectfully submitted, 

BUTZEL LONG, P.C. 
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Stoneridge West 
41000 Woodward Avenue 
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304 
(248) 258-1616 
richotte@butzel.com 
al·howaishy@butzel.com 
Counsel for MLM and Michael Goode 
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MOHNINGUGHTMOUNTAIN, LLC, 
MICHAEL GOODE, and 
DOES HO, 

Defendants. 
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Charles J. Harder (CA# 184593) 
Jordan D. Susman (CAli 24(116) 
132 South Hodeo Drive, Fourth Floor 
Beverly Hills, California 90212 
(424) 203-1600 
charder@harderllp.colll 
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Counsel for Scottsdale Capital Advisors 
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Coltnsel for Scottsdale Capilal Aduisors 
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PROOF OF SERVICE 

Michelle L. Guardiola hereby states that on March 25,2019, she served a copy 

of Defendants' Reply ill Support of Motion for Summary Disposition of Third 

Amended Complaint and this Proof of Service via Federal Express and E-mail. 
addressed to Plaintiff's counsel at the following addresses: 
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Charles J. [-larder (CA# 184593) 
Jordan D. Susman (CA# 246116) 
132 South Hodeo Drive, Fourth Floor 
Beverly Hills, California 90212 
charder@'harderl\p.cotl} 
jSllsman@hardcrllp.collJ. 

I Federal Express Tracking No.: 
774783879057 

:-:-::~=.- .. - .. . .. -
PINSKY, SMITH, FAYETTE & 
KENNEDY, LLl' 
H. Hhett Pinsky (1'18920) 
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Federal Express Tracking No.: I 
! 77478389 5513. __ ._ ... ____ ._J 

I declare that under the penalty of perjUly that the statements above are true 
to the best of my information, knowledge and belief. 

~ BUTZE L LONG 

~L~IA 
MICHELLE L. GUAHDIOLA 
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